
SERB OPINION 1000-001 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 

Respondent. 

Case No, 98-ULP-12-0748 

ORDER 
(OPINION AITACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
January 6, 2000. 

On December 17, 1998, the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, 
AFSCME Local 4, AFl-CIO and its local 69 ("local 69") and Philip Johnson (collectively 
"Intervenor") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Lawrence County Board of 
Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities ("Respondent"). On May 6, 1999, the 
State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") found probable cause to 
believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and 
(A)(3). 

A hearing was held on August 23 and 25, 1999. On October 25, 1999, the 
Proposed Order was issued. On October 26, 1999, the Supplement to the Proposed Order 
was issued. On November 15, 1999, the Intervenor filed exceptions to the Proposed 
Order. On November 17, 1999, the Complainant filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board adopts the Findings of Fact, 
Analysis and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the Proposed Order, incorporated by 
reference. If an employer takes actions against individuals for engaging in protected 
activities, the Board will impose an appropriate remedy. This case also demonstrates, 
however, that SERB will not protect individuals for actions that are not protected activities. 
During the time period after the Respondent took actions against Mr. Johnson in violation 
of ORC. Sections 4117.11 (A)( 1) and (A)(3), Mr. Johnson showed a blatant disregard for 
the Respondent's policies regarding attendance and reporting off from worK Mr. Johnson 
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intentionally flaunted the policies outside the area of protected activity. As a direct result 
of his intentional actions, Mr. Johnson was suspended and later terminated. Mr. Johnson 
was given additional and direct advice by the Respondent at the time of his notice of 
suspension that his actions were improper, as well as the proper manner in which to 
handle any further absence. Even with this notification, Mr. Johnson continued to 
disregard the specific instructions of the Respondent, openly working for another employer 
at the same time he was unavailable to the Respondent, and acting outside the scope of 
protected activity. These actions resulted in his termination, which was not in violation of 
0 R.C. Chapter4117. 

The Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities 
is ordered to: 

A CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing Philip Johnson in the exercise 
of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, or 
discriminating in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term 
or condition of employment on the basis of the exercise of rights 
guaranteed by Ohio Revised Code Chapter41 17, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and 
4117.11 (A)(3). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining unit employees work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board stating that the Lawrence County Board of Mental 
Retardation and Developmental Disabilities shall cease and 
desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); 

(2) The Respondent shall restore Mr. Johnson to his original bus 
route assignment, with back pay for any loss of income caused 
by the route change; 

(3) The Respondent shall rescind the written reprimand of 
August 4, 1998. However, the Respondent's order of a ten
day suspension dated September 3, 1998, and the order of 
removal dated September 14, 1998, for unexcused absences 
are both upheld; and 
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(4) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final 
of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this _;);·~day of ,_~Ji._, , 4 '-'-/ 

2000. -y-

~~ ---;:· 0~~{~'--iC'f--
SALLY L. BARAlLLOUx, EXECUTIVE SECRETARY-

direct\01-06-00.09 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a heal'Jng in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment Relations Board 
has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this Notice. We intend to carry out the 
order of the State Employment Relations Board and abide by the following 

The Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities is hereby ordered to 

A Cease and desist from: 

\ntertering with, restraining, or coercing Ph\!ip Johnson in the exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Re1Jised 
Code Chapter 4117, or discriminating in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term or condition 
of employment on the basis of the exercise of rights guaranteed by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117. and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Sections 411711 (A)(I) and 4117.11 (A)(3) 

8. Take the following affirmative acUon 

Ei:lB 2012 

(1) Post for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where the bargaining-unrt 
employees worl<, the NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board stating that the Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental 
Disabilities shall cease and desist from the actions set forth 1n paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); 

{2) The Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities shall restore 
Philip Johnson to his original bus route assignment, with back pay for any loss of income caused 
by the route change; 

(3) 

(4) 

The Lawrence County Boaro o1" Mental Retardation and Oe\le\opmental Disabdrties shall rescind 
the written reprimand of August 4, 1998. However, the Lawrence County Board of Mental 
Retardation and Developmental Disabilities' order of a ten-day suspension dated September 3. 
1998, and the order of removal dated September 14, 1998, for unexcused absences are not 
rescinded: and 

Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar days from the date 
the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities 
Case No. 9B·ULP-05-0224 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 
This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 



SERB OPINION 2000-00I 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

LAWRENCE COUNTY BOARD OF 
MENTAL RETARDATION AND 
DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 98-ULP-12-0748 

GERALD L. PURSLEY 
Chief Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 17, 1998, the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, 
AFSCME Local 4, AFL-CIO and its Local 69 ("Local 69" or "Union") and Philip Johnson 
filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Lawrence County Board of Mental 
Retardation and Developmental Disabilities ("Respondent" or "Employer") alleging that the 
Respondent had violated §§ 4117. 11 (A)(I), (A)(2), (A)(3), and (A)(8)' by interfering with, 
restraining, or coercing Mr. Johnson and other employees in the bargaining unit, by 
disciplining Mr. Johnson in retaliation for his exercise of rights guaranteed under 
Chapter41 17, and by taking actions that were designed to discourage others from actively 
participating in the Union. 

On June 24, 1999, the Complaint and Notice of Unfair Labor Practice Hearing and 
Prehearing Orders, and the Administrative Law Judge's Prehearing Order were issued. 
The Complaint recited a finding of probable cause by the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") that §§ 4117. 11 (A)(I) and (A)(3) had been violated by 
the Employer's termination of Mr. Johnson's employment for neglect of duty. Local 69 
moved to intervene in this action on July 12, 1999, and the motion was granted on 
August 23, 1999. The hearing was held on August 23 and 25, 1999. Post hearing briefs 
were filed on October 4, 1999. 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117. 
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II. ISSUES 
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OCTOBER 25, 1999 

1. Whether the Respondent violated §§ 4117 .11 (A)( 1) and (A)(3) by harassing and 
discriminating against Mr. Johnson in retaliation for his exercise of guaranteed 
rights. 

2. Whether the Respondent violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(3) by discharging 
Mr. Johnson in retaliation for his exercise of guaranteed rights. 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The Respondent is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). (S. 1) 

2. Local 69 is an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). Local 69 is the 
exclusive bargaining representative for all full-time and part-time employees of the 
Respondent in the classifications of bus driver and mechanic. (S. 2) 

3. Philip Johnson has been employed by the Respondent since 1996 as a nine-month 
bus driver, is a member of Local 69, and is a "public employee" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(C). (S. 3) 

4. The Respondent and Local 69 are parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
("CBA") effective June 23, 1998 to June 30, 2001, containing a grievance procedure 
that culminates in final and binding arbitration. Following approximately one year 
of negotiations, fact finding, SERB mediation, and a strike from April 30, 1998 to 
June 22, 1998, the parties reached their agreement on or about June 23, 1998. 
(S. 6) 

5. Philip Johnson was initially hired by the Respondent to drive a school bus as an 
independent contractor for which he was paid $.45 cents per mile less the cost of 
fuel. (T. 31) 

6 While attending a bus drivers' meeting in November 1996, Mr. Johnson asked his 
supervisor, Ms. Secrest, if he and the other drivers would be paid for the 
Thanksgiving Day holiday. Ms. Secrest responded by asking Mr. Johnson if he 
would be working on Thanksgiving Day. When Mr. Johnson replied that he would 
not be working since the school was closed, Ms. Secrest advised him that if he did 
not work, he would not be paid. Mr. Johnson then asked Ms. Secrest whether she 
was paid for Thanksgiving Day to which she replied that it was none of his business. 
For his questioning Ms. Secrest, Mr. Johnson was given a written reprimand for 
insubordination. (T. 19, 22; Jt Exh. 2) 
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7. Following the bus drivers' meeting in November 1996, Mr. Johnson suggested to 
his fellow drivers and mechanics that they unionize. (T 22) 

a. Mr. Johnson contacted OAPSE about representing the drivers and mechanics. 
OAPSE was unanimously elected the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit 
of eight bus drivers and two mechanics. (T 23) 

9. After organizing efforts began, it was determined that the Respondent had 
improperly failed to make contributions for the bus drivers to the Public Employees 
Retirement System ("PERS"). The Respondent was required to make payment to 
PERS in excess of $300,000. (T 326,462) 

10. Mr. Johnson was elected president of the local union, and the local began contract 
negotiations with the Respondent in July 1997. Mr. Johnson served on the union 
negotiating committee, attending and speaking at all of the negotiation sessions. 
(T 24-25) 

11. When negotiations were unsuccessful, impasse was declared, and a fact-finding 
hearing was conducted. (T 26) 

12. The union rejected the fact-finder's report. When mediation through SERB was 
unsuccessful, the union went on strike in April 1996. (T. 26-27) 

13. During the strike, the Respondent hired replacement drivers and mechanics. 
Mr. Johnson participated in the strike and picketing. (T. 27) 

14. Paul Brown, an employee who worked as a janitor and substitute bus driver before 
the strike, was promoted to the position of Transportation Supervisor during the 
strike. Supervisor Brown trained the replacement drivers and also drove buses 
during the strike. Mr. Johnson and others referred to Supervisor Brown as a "scab" 
during and after the strike. (T 63, 257) 

15. As a result of mediation sessions at SERB, the labor dispute was settled in 
June 1998. (T. 28) 

16. The Respondent's Superintendent, Jimmy Thacker, knew that Mr. Johnson was a 
leader in organizing the Union. Superintendent Thacker testified that he was 
unhappy when Mr. Johnson and other union members went on strike. (T. 406,407, 
463) 



PROPOSED ORDER 
PAGE 4 OF 19 

Post-Strike Events 
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17. After the strike was settled, all the Union members except Mr. Johnson returned to 
work. Mr. Johnson did not return to work at that time because, unlike the other 
union members, he worked a nine-month schedule. (T. 29) 

18. On August 13, 1998, all drivers attended a preschool year meeting at the 
Employer's board office. Present representing the Respondent were Transportation 
Director Paul Mollett and Supervisor Brown. (T. 29) 

19. At this meeting, the drivers were told to report any absences to Supervisor Brown, 
who was introduced as having been appointed to the newly created position of 
Transportation Supervisor. (T. 29) 

20. Before the Transportation Supervisor position was created, all drivers reported 
directly to Mr. Mollett. (T. 276) 

21. Bus routes were handed out to all drivers at the August 13, 1998 meeting. (T. 109) 

22. Upon receiving his route assignment, Mr. Johnson became aware that his route had 
been changed from previous years. His new route required that he transport adults, 
rather than school-age children, and that he serve a new geographic area. (T. 109-
110) 

23. Mr. Johnson is the only driver to have ever had his previous route completely 
changed. (T. 169) 

24. When he received his route assignment sheet, Mr. Johnson tossed the paper back 
on the table and said, "This ain't my damn route." He also stood up on at least two 
occasions during the meeting, but sat back down when he was advised that the 
meeting was not over. Another driver, Don Mays, who was seated next to 
Mr. Johnson, stood up and stated, "This shit's not right." (T. 109, 145, 167) 

25. The school-age route previously driven by Mr. Johnson was assigned to Gregg Fox 
who, because of his prior service as substitute bus driver, was paid a higher hourly 
rate than Mr. Johnson. (T. 34-35) 

26. The CBA contains a sidebar agreement that states "Mike Fraley and Gregg Fox 
(individuals with the most seniority shall be able to select first) shall be offered 
vacant routes as the routes become available. Both Fraley and Fox shall be offered 
routes beore [sic] the Board offers routes to anyone not currently employed by the 
Board " (Jt. Exh. 1) 
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27. The Respondent claims the reason for changing Mr. Johnson's route was that 
Mr. Johnson drove the route too slowly, and it was, therefore, more efficient to 
assign Gregg Fox to the route. Supervisor Brown also testified that the route 
change was made because a parent had complained that Mr. Johnson let kids 
move around on the bus, stick their arms out the windows, and eat things on the 
bus. This complaint was made by an MR/DD Board Member. This same board 
member complained that Mr. Johnson and Mr. Mays had stayed too long at a "BP" 
station in Proctorville while on break. As a result of this complaint, Superintendent 
Thacker counseled both employees but no discipline was administered. (T 228, 
300,455456) 

28. The Respondent had never advised Mr. Johnson that he was driving too slowly on 
his route. (T. 513) 

29. In the past, the Respondent counseled at least one driver on a couple of occasions 
that she was driving too slowly and disciplined her. This employee had driven a bus 
for 25 years and received no discipline until after the strike. (T. 258-259, 408) 

30. At the conclusion of the August 13, 1998 meeting, Mr. Johnson confronted 
Supervisor Brown and asked him, "Who died and left you God" and further stated 
that Supervisor Brown "thought he was king" and that Supervisor Brown was 
"Thacker's flunkie." (Jt. Exh. 3) 

31. Subsequently, Supervisor Brown prepared an incident reportwherein he stated that 
Mr. Johnson had "become very verbal almost to the point of insubordination during 
the meeting." (T. 265-266; Jt. Exh. 3) 

32. When the discipline against Mr. Johnson was reduced to writing in the form of a 
written reprimand, it was for insubordination for using abusive and threatening 
language against a supervisor. (Jt. Exh. 4) 

33. Mr. Johnson was served with the written reprimand on September 3, 1998, when 
he returned to attend a pre-disciplinary meeting. (Jt. Exh. 4.) 

Sick Leave Issue 

34. The first day of school was August 18, 1998, which was also the first day 
Mr. Johnson was scheduled to work. (T. 240) 

35. Mr. Johnson called off sick on August 18 and 19, 1998, complaining of nausea and 
diarrhea. Mr. Johnson believed he had a virus that had to run its course and for 
which medical treatment would be fruitless. (T. 37) 
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36, On August 20, 1999, Mr. Johnson reported to work but became sick while preparing 
his bus for the morning run. Mr. Johnson told Lacey Lucas, a mechanic working in 
the bus garage, that he was still sick and unable to work. Mr. Johnson was in the 
bathroom at the bus garage when Mr. Lucas radioed Supervisor Brown to advise 
him that Mr. Johnson was sick and unable to drive. Supervisor Brown radioed back 
to Mr. Lucas stating (according to both Mr. Lucas and Mr. Johnson), "tell him not to 
come back to work 'Iii he gets a doctor's statement" Mr. Johnson asserts that he 
understood Supervisor Brown's order to mean that he must produce a doctor's 
statement releasing him for work before he would be allowed to return to work, and 
since he was still sick at the time, he could not produce such a statement; he was, 
therefore, unable to return to work. (T. 36-37, 40, 48) 

37. Nothing in either the CBA or the Respondent's Policies and Procedures Manual 
allows the Respondent to require a doctor's statement. However, unrebutted 
testimony by both Supervisor Brown and Personnel Director Elizabeth Murray 
indicated that it had been the Employer's "standard practice" to require a doctor's 
statement for sick leaves of more than three days." (T. 242, 370-371) 

38. Mr. Johnson went home sick and was absent on August 21, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 
and 31, and September 1, 1998. He never called in to report off work during this 
entire period. ( R. Exh. 14) 

39. On or about August 19, 1998, Supervisor Brown had a conversation with an aide, 
Diane White. Ms. White told Supervisor Brown that she had a conversation with 
Philip Johnson on August 17, 1998, and Mr. Johnson stated he would not be driving 
by her house the next day because he "would be sick with the flu." Supervisor 
Brown gave this information to Personnel Director Murray, who called Ms. White 
in and asked her to put her statement in writing. (T. 250; R. Exh. 24 )2 

40. On August 20, 1998, Superintendent Thacker sent Mr. Johnson a memo that stated 
in part: "I am requiring you to provide a doctor's statement that you are too ill to 
perform the essential functions of your position. By providing that statement, you'll 
remove all doubts and disprove reports that you are not ill, but only withholding your 
services to express your displeasure at the new assignment." Mr. Johnson received 
the memo on August 26, 1998, (T. 378; Jt Exh 6) 

2Testimony involving this conversation and the introduction of R. Exh. 24, were strongly objected to 
by the Complainant and Intervenor at the hearing on the grounds that the statements were hearsay and 
prejudicial. The testimony was received and the exhibit admitted for the single purpose of establishing that 
Ms. White related the substance of the conversation to the Respondent, not for the truth of any matter 
asserted therein. 
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41. Beginning Friday, August 21, 1998, Mr. Johnson started working for a used-car lot 
during hours he would have worked for the Respondent. Mr. Johnson claimed that 
he could work at the used-car lot while he was still unable to drive a bus because 
he still suffered from diarrhea, and the car lot had restroom facilities readily 
available. He could not, however, leave a bus loaded with MR/DD children 
unattended to use a restroom. (T. 41) 

42. Mr. Johnson made arrangements to work part-time at the car lot sometime before 
actually starting there. He was, in fact, able to work at the car lot from September 2 
through September 4, 1998, and also run his bus route. Mr. Johnson was "very 
honest" when asked about his outside employment. (T. 42, 417-418) 

43. Superintendent Thacker, upon hearing that Mr. Johnson was working at a car lot 
while off sick from the Employer, hired a private investigator to confirm that 
Mr. Johnson was in fact working at the car lot. The Respondent had never before 
hired a private investigator for employee disciplinary matters. (T. 452) 

44. On August 26, 1998, Superintendent Thacker sent notice of a pre-disciplinary 
hearing to Mr. Johnson. The notice charged Mr. Johnson with "dishonesty, sick 
leave abuse, misrepresentation in an attempt to obtain an MR/DD benefit, and 
greater than three unexcused absences." The notice accused Mr. Johnson of, 
"calling off sick from work for three consecutive days without a doctor's excuse after 
telling coworkers that you were planning to be ill, and failing to report to work for 
three additional consecutive days without contacting your employer." Specifically, 
Mr. Johnson was charged with various violations of the Respondent's Personnel 
Policy and Procedures Manual and violations of Article 13(A)(3)(d), (e), (f), and (h) 
of the CBA The hearing on these charges was scheduled for September 1, 1998. 
Mr. Johnson received this notice on August 27 or August 28, 1998. (T. 69; Jt. 
Exh. 8) 

45. On September 1, 1998, Mr. Johnson attended the pre-disciplinary hearing along 
with the OAPSE Staff Representative and his union steward. Personnel Director 
Murray served as the hearing officer with Transportation Director Mollett and 
Supervisor Brown appearing on behalf of the Respondent. (T. 44) 

46. The Respondent did not provide Mr. Johnson with a copy of the Personnel Policies 
and Procedures Manual until September 3, 1998, after the pre-disciplinary hearing 
was concluded. (T. 45; R. Exh. 26) 

47. At the September 1, 1998 pre-disciplinary hearing, Mr. Johnson stated that the 
reason he did not call off work on August 27 and 28, 1998, was because Supervisor 
Brown told him not to report to work without a doctor's excuse. He felt he could not 
get a doctor to release him for work since he was still ill. Mr. Johnson further stated 
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that by August 31, 1998, he was no longer too ill to drive bus, but since he still did 
not have a doctor's statement, he could not report to work. He did not call to report 
off work on August 31, 1998. He also did not report off work on the morning of 
September 1, 1996, even though he was no longer ill. (T. 123-1 24, 362) 

48. At the September 1, 1996 pre-disciplinary hearing, Transportation Director Mollett 
told Mr. Johnson that if he would obtain a doctor's statement he could return to 
work. Mr. Johnson obtained a doctor's statement that afternoon and returned to 
work on September 2, 1996. (T. 49-50, 347) 

49. Mr. Johnson drove his assigned route on September 2, 3, and 4, 1996. He also 
worked at the used-car lot on those days. (T. 50) 

50. Mr. Johnson was never informed that the doctor's statement he provided was not 
acceptable. (T. 346) 

51. Following the pre-disciplinary hearing on September 2, 1998, Personnel Director 
Murray recommended that Mr. Johnson be suspended for at least ten days without 
pay for failure to report to work or produce a valid physician's statement of illness. 
She also recommended that further discipline be considered for the five unexcused 
absences that occurred after Mr. Johnson received the memo from Superintendent 
Thacker on August 26, 1998. (Jt. Exh. 9) 

52. On September 4, 1998, Superintendent Thacker upheld Ms. Murray's 
recommendation, suspending Mr. Johnson without pay from September 8, 1996 
through September 21, 1996, for violating Board policies "in accordance with ORC 
124.34 and Article 16 of the MR/DD and OAPSE union No. 069 contract: three 
consecutive unexcused absences from work." (Jt. Exh. 11) 

53. On September 4, 1996, Superintendent Thacker also sent Mr. Johnson notice of a 
second pre-disciplinary hearing scheduled for September 8, 1996, for "neglect of 
duty through five consecutive absences." The notice further accused Mr. Johnson 
of "working for another agency while withholding your services from the Board, and 
withholding your services from the Board to support your grievance regarding a 
change made in your bus route." The notice alleged violations of Lawrence County 
Board of MR/DD Policies and Procedures Manual, Section 5.5.3 (f) Group II # 22, 
OAPSE Local #069 contract Article 13(A)(3)(e), (0, and (h), and Ohio Administrative 
Code Chapter 123:1-31-03. The notice also informed Mr. Johnson that he was 
"being considered for removal." (Jt. Exh. 12) 

54. The second pre-disciplinary hearing was held on September 8, 1998, with the same 
individuals in attendance as the first pre-disciplinary hearing. Again, Mr. Johnson 
maintained that he could not return to work without a doctor's excused because of 
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what Supervisor Brown told him on August 20, 1998. Mr. Johnson stated that he 
was too ill to drive a bus during the week of August 24-28, 1998, because he still 
had diarrhea. Yet he was able to work at the car lot during this period because of 
restrooms were available to him. Mr. Johnson further stated that although he was 
well enough to drive bus on Monday, August 31, 1998, he could not report to work 
without a doctor's excuse. He also did not report to work on September 1, 1998, 
because he did not have a doctor's excuse, and he was scheduled to attend the 
pre-disciplinary hearing at 10:30 a.m. that day. On neither August 31 nor 
September 1, 1998, did Mr. Johnson report off. Mr. Johnson denied withholding 
services from the board. (T. 69-70) 

55. On September 13, 1998, Personnel Director Murray sent her findings and 
recommendation to Superintendent Thacker. She found that Mr. Johnson's 
absences from August 26 through September 1, 1998, were unexcused and 
recommended that he be removed from his position as a bus driver "for neglect of 
duty." (Jt Exh. 14) 

56. On September 14, 1998, Superintendent Thacker issued notice to Mr. Johnson that 
he was terminated from his employment with the Lawrence County Board of MR/DD 
effective September 21, 1998, "for the following violation of board policies in 
accordance with O.R.C. 124.34 and Article 16 of the MR/DD and OAPSE union 
#069 contract: Neglect of duty based on five consecutive unexcused absences from 
work (August 26, 1998 through September 1, 1998)." (Jt. Exh. 15) 

57. On September 28, 1998, Mr. Johnson filed a grievance challenging his removal and 
asking for reinstatement with back pay. The grievance was ultimately arbitrated 
with the result that on July 22, 1999, the arbitrator denied the grievance in its 
entirety. (R. Exh. 25) 

Disciplinary Actions Against Employees 

58. The following employees have been terminated by the Respondent for the reasons 
stated: 

A. Chris Stubbs-neglect of duty for failure to arrive at work on time to run routes 
and letting the bus run out of fuel. 

B. Mary Russel-refused a direct order to prepare meals for the preschool 
program. 

C. Richard Collins-insubordination for yelling at and threatening the 
Superintendent and others. 

D. Jerry Alfred-neglect of duty for leaving work and not returning. 
E. C.J. Anderson-took sick leave and never returned. 
F. Ira Wilson- neglect of duty for failing to show up and run his routes. 
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G. Lacy Lucas-falsification for reporting off sick and attending training for 
another employer. 

(T. 459-461) 

59. The following is the entirety of the Respondent's disciplinary actions taken against 
Mr. Johnson: 

A. Written reprimand for alleged insubordination dated November 21, 1996; 
B. Written reprimand issued to Mr. Johnson regarding alleged insubordination 

dated August 17, 1998; 
C. Ten-day suspension for alleged failure to report to work or produce a valid 

physician's statement of illness; 
D. Termination based on alleged neglect of duty and five consecutive 

unexcused absences. 

(S. 12) 

60, Relevant sections of the collective bargaining agreement: 

Article 13 LEAVES 
A Sick Leave 

1. Upon approval of the Superintendent, bargaining unit 
members may use sick leave for absences as provided in Section 124.38 of 
the Ohio Revii~C! Code, and under the procedures contained in this Article. 

3. The following are additional features of the cumulative 
sick leave pla1y_ • 

d. In the case of absence due to personal illness or 
pregnancy, illness in the immediate family, injury to exposure to contagious 
diseases which could be communicated to others, the employee must furnish 
a written signed statement on forms prescribed by the Board to justify the 
use of sick leave. If medical attention is required, the employee's statement 
shall list the name and address of the attending physician and the dates 
when he was .cpi;isulted 

h. When reporting off, bargaining unit members shall notify 
the Superintendent according to the following schedule: 

1. By 6 a.m. if assigned to morning run, 
2. By 12 noon if assigned to an afternoon run, and 
3. No later than two hours prior to any scheduled run. 
4. Mechanics shall notify the Superintendent by 6 a.m. 
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A. Except as modified by this agreement, the Board or 
Superintendent in order to carry out its statutory mandates and goals, 
maintains the right to promulgate and enforce work rules, policies, 
procedures and directives, consistent with Chapter 4117. For the purpose 
of this article, all of the above shall be considered inclusive in the terminology 
of work rules. Work rules which affect employees of this bargaining unit may 
cover subjects not addressed in this agreement. The employer shall not 
promulgate and enforce work rules which unilaterally change wages, hours 
or terms of thi~ ,,.J)greement. 

Article 17: GRJ(i\:'ANCE PROCEDURE 

F.2.a. The second step of the grievance procedure starts with the 
written appeal of the supeivisor's response given in Step One (F-1-b).This 
appeal must be made within ten (10) calendar days to the Superintendent. 

F.2.b. Within ten (10) calendardaysof the appeal, the Superintendent 
will hold a meeting with the grievant and, within five (5) working days from 
the close of said meeting, will render a decision to the employee in writing. 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Respondent is alleged to have violated §§ 4117.11 (A)( 1) and (A)(3), which state 
in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the 
exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the 
Revised Code(;) 

• • • 
(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment 

or any term or condition of employment on the basis of 
the exercise of rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117 of 
the Revised Code(.] 

Based upon the preponderance of evidence in the record and for the reasons that follow, 
the Respondent is found to have violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(3). 

In State Employment Relations Bd. v. Adena Local School District Board of 
Education (1993), Syllabus 2, 66 Ohio St.3d 485, 1993 SERB 4-43, the Ohio Supreme 
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Court articulated the following test to be applied by SERB to determine whether an 
individual has been the victim of discrimination on the basis of protected activity under 
§ 4117.11 (A)(3) 

Under the "in part" test to determine the actual motivation of 
employer charged with an unfair labor practice, the proponent 
of the charge has the initial burden of showing that the action 
by the employer was taken to discriminate against the 
employee for the exercise of rights protected by R.C. 
Chapter 4117. When the proponent meets this burden, a 
prima facie case is created which raises a presumption of 
antiunion animus. The employer is then given opportunity to 
present evidence that its actions were the result of other 
conduct by the employee not related to protected activity, to 
rebut the presumption. The State Employment Relations 
Board then determines, by a preponderance of the evidence, 
whether an unfair labor practice has occurred. 

To make a prima facie case of discrimination under § 4117.1 l(A)(3), the 
Complainant must establish the following elements: (1) that the employee at issue is a 
public employee and was employed at relevant times by the Respondent; (2) that he or she 
engaged in protected activity under Chapter 4117, which fact was either known to the 
Respondent or suspected by the Respondent; and (3) that the Respondent took adverse 
action against the employee under circumstances that could, if left unrebutted by other 
evidence, lead to a reasonable inference that the Respondent's actions were related to the 
employee's exercise of protected activity under Chapter41 17. In re Fort Frve Local School 
Dist Bd. of Ed, SERB 94-017 (10-14-94) 

In this case, it is undisputed that the first element of the prima facie case is 
established. The Respondent stipulated that Philip Johnson is a public employee 
employed at all relevant times by the Respondent As to the second element, no serious 
dispute exists as to whether Mr. Johnson engaged in protected activity under 
Chapter 4117. He was the leader in bringing the Union to Lawrence County MRIDD. He 
was elected the first president of Local 69. He was a member of the negotiating committee 
that negotiated the first collective bargaining agreement, and he initialed each provision 
of the agreement as the parties reached agreement Mr. Johnson also participated in the 
strike that was called by the Union; he also served on the picket lines. The Respondent 
was well aware of Mr. Johnson's engagement in such activities. The record is replete with 
such acknowledgment by all levels of management from Mr. Johnson's immediate 
supervisor, Paul Brown, to Superintendent Thacker. In considering the third element, 
Mr. Johnson was subjected to disciplinary action in August 1998, after his first meeting 
upon returning to work after the strike; in September 1998, he was given a ten-day 
suspension without pay for failure to report to work or produce a valid physician's 
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statement; and in the same month, his employment was terminated for five consecutive 
unexcused absences. 

At issue, however, is the seminal event allegedly giving rise to Mr. Johnson's 
negative attitude toward the Respondent and leading to his subsequent absences the 
changing of his bus route. A preliminary determination must be made regarding whether 
that act constituted an adverse action against Mr. Johnson. The Respondent argues that 
since the change in routes did not result in a loss of pay or benefits, it was not an adverse 
action against Mr. Johnson. I disagree. 

The school-age route that Mr. Johnson drove before his reassignment was a larger 
route and since drivers are paid based on hours worked, any reduction in route is a 
reduction in pay. 3 Thus, the third element of the prima facie case is established by three 
disciplinary actions as well as the bus route change. Since all of these events occurred 
in rapid succession almost immediately upon Mr. Johnson's returned to work after the 
strike, a prima facie case is plainly established. 

A. Chanaina the Bus Route 

It remains to be determined whether the Respondent presented evidence sufficient 
to rebut the inference that the Respondent's actions were related to Mr. Johnson's 
engaging in protected activity under Chapter 4117. The Respondent concedes that the 
"initial impression" supports a finding that changing Mr. Johnson's bus route "must have 
been in retaliation for Johnson's engaging in protected activities." (Respondent's 
Posthearing Brief, p. 4). 

The announcement of the route change was made less than one month after the 
Union and the Employer signed a collective bargaining agreement following a protracted 
process that included a strike. Furthermore, Mr. Johnson was the Union president involved 
in the initial organizing campaign, contract negotiations, and even in picketing. The 
Respondent asserts, however, that "this evidence is purely circumstantial" and has been 
rebutted by the evidence presented. 

To rebut the reasonable inference that it changed Mr. Johnson's route, at least in 
part, due to antiunion animus, the Respondent presented evidence that Mr. Johnson's 
route was changed for reasons of efficiency, past misuse of breaks, and because of 
"complaints from parents." (Respondent's Posthearing Brief, p. 7). For reasons discussed 
below, the Respondent's justifications are unconvincing. 

3R. Exh. 14 shows that Mr. Johnson averaged 6.62 hours per day on the school-age route and 
5.52 hours per day on the newly assigned adult route. Thus, Mr Johnson lost over an hour of pay per day 
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The Respondent's claim of improved efficiency is based on time studies purportedly 
done by Supervisor Brown and on an analysis of drivers' time cards. A conflict in testimony 
exists as to when these "time studies" were done. Supervisor Brown testified first that they 
were done in November or December 1997, at the request of the Board. (T.224). Later, 
he testified they were done after he became Transportation Supervisor in April 1998. 
(T. 277). Superintendent Thacker testified that the studies were done after the Board 
requested them sometime in March 1998. (T.455). According to the studies, however, 
Mr. Johnson was taking anywhere from 45 minutes to an hour per day longer than 
Supervisor Brown when Supervisor Brown drove the route. (T. 225). When Greg Fox 
drove the route, he averaged 5.95 hours driving time compared to Mr. Johnson's 
6.62 hours. (R. Exh. 14). The Respondent concluded that Mr. Johnson was driving his 
route too slowly in order to receive more in hourly pay. But the Respondent never informed 
Mr. Johnson that he was driving too slowly so he could either correct the problem or 
explain why he took longer. This omission is especially curious given the fact that another 
driver, Carolyn Attis, was not only told that she was driving her route too slowly, she was 
disciplined for slow driving. (F.F. 30). Moreover, testimony was presented that when 
Mr. Johnson drove the school route, he transported two children in wheelchairs requiring 
operation of a lift to provide them with ingress and egress to the bus. Gregg Fox 
transported no children in wheelchairs. (T. 515-516) This may or may not have explained 
any additional time Mr. Johnson took on the route. But nobody asked him. Finally, if the 
Respondent thought Mr. Johnson was "padding" hours, merely assigning him to another 
route would accomplish no cost savings since he would presumably continue the same 
practice on his new route. 

The justification that Mr. Johnson misused breaks is similarly questionable. 
Superintendent Thacker apparently did not consider the infractions serious enough to 
warrant more than counseling. (F.F. 28). More importantly, the record contains no 
evidence to show that he repeated this conduct after the counseling by the Superintendent. 

Finally, the record shows "complaints" from only a single "parent" regarding how kids 
allegedly misbehaved on Mr. Johnson's bus and that "parent" also happened to be a 
member of the MR/DD Board. This board is the same MR/DD Board that had to pay out 
over $300,000 to PERS partly as a result of Mr. Johnson's union organizing efforts. 
(F.F. 9) This board is the same MR/DD Board that had to suffer through a seven-week 
strike by the Union. In short, the record shows that Mr. Johnson transported a number of 
children on his bus each school day for approximately two years without a single complaint 
from parents, with the exception of the cited MR/DD Board member. Even the arbitrator 
who denied Mr. Johnson's grievance for reinstatement found: 

[T]here is no question in the Arbitrator's view that the Employer was 
hard pressed to justify Grievant's wholly changed bus route on grounds of 
operational efficiencies. All in all it looks very much like the Employer singled 
Grievant out for "special treatment[.]"* * * 
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There is no question either, in the view of the Arbitrator, that taking 
Grievant's route away from him, the route he had been assigned to drive 
from the date he first commenced his employment at the Board, and giving 
him a wholly new route consisting of only adult clients, was more than a 
coincidence since grievant happened to be the local union president and the 
only bus driver ever to have a completely new route assigned him. (R. 
Exh. 25, p. 66) 

I find that the Respondent has failed to rebut the inference that its actions were 
related to Mr. Johnson's protected activities. 

B, Disciplinary Actions 

1. Written Reprimand 

The Respondent has also failed to rebut the inference that its action in disciplining 
Mr. Johnson for his conduct at the August 1998 drivers' meeting was related to 
Mr. Johnson's protected activities. The best evidence that Supervisor Brown did not 
believe Mr. Johnson's conduct at the meeting was insubordinate comes out of his own 
report on the incident. (Jt. Exh. 3). Supervisor Brown's incident report states: "During the 
bus drivers meeting, Phil Johnson became very verbal, almost to the point of 
insubordination." (emphasis added). Yet, one day later when the written reprimand is 
issued, Supervisor Brown concludes that "Johnson behaved in an insubordinate manner 
toward myself and the Transportation Director." (Jt. Exh. 4). When given an opportunity 
to explain this apparent discrepancy during the hearing, Supervisor Brown first says 
Mr. Johnson was not insubordinate at the meeting but became insubordinate after the 
meeting, then reversed himself and claimed Mr. Johnson was insubordinate during the 
meeting because he said, "[T]his ain't my damn route" and he would not sit down. (T. 267-
269). Whatever else such conduct may be, it is not "use of abusive or threatening 
language toward supervisors" in violation of the MR/DD Personnel Policies Manual 
section 5.5.3 as cited by Supervisor Brown in his reprimand of August 14, 1998. The 
record does not support the Employer's claim that Mr. Johnson exhibited insubordinate 
behavior at the meeting or that he committed a violation of the Board's Personnel Policies. 
(R. Exh. 25, p. 69). 

2. Suspension and Termination 

It is against the background recited above that one must consider further conduct 
of Mr. Johnson and disciplinary actions taken against him by the respondent. After having 
been removed from his bus route and wrongfully disciplined, Mr Johnson contracted flu
like symptoms of vomiting and diarrhea. After calling off sick the first two days of the new 
school year, Mr. Johnson reported for work of August 20, 1998, only to experience the 
same symptoms, he was forced to go home. When Supervisor Brown was told over the 



PROPOSED ORDER 
PAGE 16 OF 19 

98-ULP-12-07 48 
OCTOBER 25. 1999 

radio that Mr. Johnson was going home sick, Supervisor Brown stated that Mr Johnson 
was "not to come back to work until he gets a doctor statement."4 Mr. Johnson interpreted 
Supervisor Brown's order to mean that he would not be allowed to return to work until he 
got a release to return to work from a doctor. Mr. Johnson reasoned that since he was still 
sick, he could not get such a release and was, therefore, unable to return to work. 
(FF. 37). 

On Aug. 20, 1998, Superintendent Thacker sent Mr. Johnson the memo requiring 
him to provide the doctor's statement "that you are too ill to perform the essential functions 
of your position." (F.F. 40). This memo was motivated by reports that Mr. Johnson was 
not ill. (F.F. 39). The Respondent argues that it had the right to require Mr. Johnson to 
produce a doctor's statement or, in the alternative, even if it did not have that right, it had 
routinely required such statements in the past so it could not be guilty of bad faith or 
disparate treatment of Mr. Johnson. (Respondent's Posthearing Brief, pp. 10-1 1 ). 

The CBA is quite clear as to what the Respondent can require in case of employee's 
personal illness. Article 13:A.3.d. of the CBA provides that "if medical attention is required, 
the employee's (written, signed) statement shall list the name and address of the attending 
physician and the date when he was consulted." Nothing in this language allows the 
Employer to require a doctor's statement Moreover, attention is drawn to paragraph 3.a. 
of the same Article, wherein it states that "in case of absence due to the illness in the 
employee's immediate family, sick leave may be used with a doctor's statement citing the 
need for the bargaining unit members' presence." (emphasis added). Thus, the parties 
knew full well how to include a doctor's statement requirement for the employee's personal 
illness if that was their intent Furthermore, the Respondent's reliance on the sick leave 
provision of their personnel policies is misplaced in view of the language contained in 
Article 38: B of the CBA, which states: "[T]his agreement shall supersede any rules, 
regulations, or practices of the board which shall be contrary to or inconsistent with its 
terms. The provisions of this agreement shall be considered part of the established 
policies of the board." 

The Respondent's alternative argument, that if it routinely violated the CBA by 
requiring the statement of a physician for employees' personal illnesses it could not be 
guilty of discriminatory or disparate treatment, is novel but unpersuasive. The CBA entered 
into by the parties had been in effect for slightly less than two months when Mr. Johnson's 
troubles started. Article 38:B of the CBA makes it clear that the agreement supersedes 
rules, regulations or practices of the board that are contrary or inconsistent with its terms. 
Therefore, if the Employer had a past practice of requiring a physician's statement, the past 
practice ended on June 23, 1998, the effective date of the CBA 

4
Supervisor Brown denies making this statement He insists that he said Mr. Johnson needed to have 

a doctors statement wt\en he returned to w0111. I find Mr. Johnson's and Mr. Lucas' version al what was said 
more credible. 
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Far more problematic for Mr. Johnson, though, is the fact that he did not report off 
work after August 20, 1998, and his employment at the used-car lot while off sick. The 
CBA clearly requires employees like Mr. Johnson to report off by 6:00 a.m. if assigned to 
a morning run and by noon if assigned to an afternoon run. (Jt. Exh.1, Article Xlll.h.) 
Mr. Johnson's claim that he understood Supervisor Brown's order not to return to work 
without a doctor's statement to somehow relieve him of his duty to call off as required by 
the CBA is simply not believable. Nor is it believable that Mr. Johnson could work at the 
used-car lot from August 21-28, 1998, but he was not able to drive a bus during this entire 
period .5 

I find that Mr. Johnson deliberately refrained from complying with his reporting 
obligation to notify his employer of his daily absences and that his claim that he was able 
to work at the used-car lot because of his access to a restroom is simply not credible. For 
this conduct, Mr. Johnson must share responsibility for his troubles with his employer. 

Based upon the testimony taken at the hearing on this matter, I find that 
Mr Johnson's conduct was a means of getting back at the Employer for the way in which 
he perceived the Employer had mistreated him. But the employer must accept some 
degree of responsibility because of its mistreatment of Mr. Johnson. Having already found 
that this mistreatment of Mr. Johnson was motivated, at least in part, by antiunion animus, 
a remedy must be fashioned that holds each party responsible for its misconduct. 

D. REMEDY 

Because Mr. Johnson's bus route reassignment was motivated, in part, by the 
Respondent's anti-union animus, Mr. Johnson should be restored to the bus route for 
school-age children, and he should receive back pay for any loss of income caused by the 
route change. 

Similarly, because the record does not support the Employer's claim that 
Mr. Johnson used abusive or threatening language toward supervisors at the August 13, 
1998 bus drivers' meeting, the written reprimand dated August 14, 1998, should be 
rescinded. 

Mr. Johnson's failure to report off work, however, is inexcusable under almost any 
circumstance, and it is clearly inexcusable where, as here, it is the result of Mr. Johnson's 
attempt to get back at his employer for his perceived mistreatment. 

5Mr. Johnson admitlad Iha\ he was no longer ill on August 31 or September 1, 1998, bu\ did no\ report 
for work because he did not have a doctor's statement. 
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Moreover, Mr. Johnson's deliberate refusal to notify the Respondent of his daily 
absences resulted in the Respondent's clients on Mr. Johnson's route not being 
transported, thus denying them the service to which they were entitled on at least one 
occasion. Supervisor Brown testified that on Friday, August 21, 1998, "The route didn't get 
run. The people had to stay home" because Mr. Johnson failed to call-off work and no sub 
drivers were available. (T. 243) 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 
is a "public employer" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (B) 

2. Philip Johnson was a "public employee" at all relevant times within the meaning of 
§ 4117.01 (C). 

3. The Ohio Association of Public School Employees, AFSCME Local 4, AFL-CIO and 
its Local 69 is an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

4. The Respondent violated §§ 4117.1 l(A)(I) and (A)(3) by changing Mr. Johnson's 
bus route and initiating disciplinary actions against him due to his engaging in 
protected activities under Chapter 4117. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, it is recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant to 
Section 4117.12(B)(3), requiring the Lawrence County Board of Mental 
Retardation and Developmental Disabilities to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing Philip Johnson in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117, or discriminating in regard to hire or 
tenure of employment or any term or condition of employment on the basis 
of the exercise of rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117, and from otherwise 
violating Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and 4117.11 (A)(3). 
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B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining unit employees work, the NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Lawrence County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental 
Disabilities shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); 

2. The Respondent shall restore Mr. Johnson to his original bus route 
assignment, with back pay for any loss of income caused by the route 
change; 

3. The Respondent shall rescind the written reprimand of August 4, 
1998. However, the Respondent's order of a ten-day suspension 
dated September 3, 19g9, and the order of removal dated 
September 14, 1998, for unexcused absences are not rescinded; and 

4. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 

ISSUED and SUBMITTED to the State Employment Relations Board in accordance 

with Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-1-15 and SERVED on all parties listed below by 

Certified U.S. Mail, return receipt requested, this 25th day of October, 1999. 

ls/GERALD L. PURSLEY 
Chief Administrative Law Judge 
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Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., 
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Ohio Attorney General, 

Employer. 

Case No. 99-REP..03.0060 

DIRECTIVE DISMISSING REQUEST FOR RECOGNITION 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
March 2, 2000. 

On March 15, 1999, the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. 
("Employee Organization") filed a Request for Recognition seeking to represent certain 
employees of the Ohio Attorney General ("Employer"). On June 3, 1999, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("Board") directed this matter to hearing to determine an 
appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant issues. On August 26-30, 1999, a 
hearing was held. on the issue of whether the employees in question are "public 
employees" under Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.01. On October 29, 1999, the 
Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Determination was issued. No exceptions 
were timely filed. On January 13, 2000, the parties' representatives presented oral 
arguments to the Board. 

After reviewing the record, Including the transcript and the post-hearing briefs, the 
Board finds, for the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, incorporated by reference, 
that the Special Agent Supervisor 1 positions in the Bureau of Criminal Identification and 
Investigation and the Special Agent Supervisor 1 and 2 positions in the Medicaid Fraud 
Unit are supervisors, pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F), and are not public employees under 
O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) and that the Criminal Justice Administrator position is not included 
in the bargaining-unit description for the proposed unit. As a result, the Request for 
Recognition is hereby dismissed. 
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It is so directed. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

~~~-
SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 119.12, by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the 
Franklin County Court of Common Pleas within fifteen (15) days after the mailing of the 
Board's directive. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 
'-

mail, return receipt requested, on this ~ ,{/·/. · day of )·)J lt · \... ,~./<-
2000. 

direct\03-02-00.05 
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OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

On March 15, 1999, the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. filed with 

the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") a Request for Recognition 

seeking to represent "All full-time Special Agent Supervisors in the Attorney General's 

Office." On June 3, 1999, this matter was directed to hearing to determine whether the 

employees in the proposed unit are "public employees" as defined by Ohio Revised Code 

("O.R.C.") § 4117.01 (C) and for all other relevant issues, including whether the description 

of the proposed unit included the Criminal Investigations Administrator. A hearing was 

conducted and, on October 29, 1999, the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended 

Determination was issued. On December 9, 1999, SERB directed the parties' 

representatives to appear for an oral argument. The oral argument was held on 

January 13, 2000. 

For the reasons below, we find that the Special Agent Supervisor 1 positions in the 

Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation ("BCI") and the Special Agent 

Supervisor 1 and 2 positions in the Medicaid Fraud Unit are supervisors, pursuant to 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F), and are not public employees under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) We also 
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find that the Criminal Justice Administrator position is not included in the bargaining-unit 

description for the proposed unit. As a result, the Request for Recognition must be 

dismissed. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT' 

1. The Ohio Attorney General is a "public employer" as defined in O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01(B). (S) 

2. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. is an "employee 
organization" as defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). (S.) 

3. BCI is a division within the Ohio Attorney General's Office; it is directed by 
Superintendent Ted Almay. The Medicaid Fraud Unit is also within the Ohio 
Attorney General's Office; it is directed by John Guthrie. (S.) 

4. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. currently represents 
Bargaining Unit 46, which includes the following classifications of employees of the 
Ohio Attorney General: BCI Special Agent, Medicaid Special Agent, Special 
Agent 4, Medicaid Fraud Intake Officer, Radio Dispatcher, Law Enforcement 
Training Officer, Certification Officer, Peace Officer Training Compliance Officer, 
Trainer, and Environmental Background Investigator. (S.) 

Special Agent Supervisor 1s at BC/ (including narcotics, major crimes, environmental 
enforcement and financial investigation, and advanced technology unit) 

5. BCI has twelve Special Agent Supervisor Is ("SAS1s"), all of whom work under a 
Deputy Director, the Deputy Superintendent of Investigation, and the BCI 
Superintendent. The Investigations Section comprises Narcotics Investigations, 
which has five SAS 1 s, and a subdivision titled Marijuana Eradication that has a 
Special Agent 4, who is a member of the bargaining unit; Environmental 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by 'T.," followed by the 
page number(s). All references to the Joint Exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by 
the exhibit number. All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S." All 
references to the Employer's exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "E. Exh.," followed by the exhibit 
number. All references to the Employee Organization exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "E.O. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number. References to the transcript and/or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are 
intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in 
the record for that related finding of fact. 
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Enforcement,. which has one SAS1; and Major Crimes, which has six SASls, a 
Special Investigations Unit (computer and financial crime section) and a Crime 
Scene Unit. (JI. Exh. 4.) 

6. Each SAS 1 is assigned to one of six district offices but is not required to live in the 
district. The special agents (four to eight per each SAS 1) who report to each SAS 1 
usually are required to live within the district. (T. 22-24, 64, 134, 205, 278, 352, 
410,491, 536, 633; JI. Exh. 4) 

7. The district offices process assistance requests from local Jaw enforcement 
agencies, Requests for assistance may come to the Deputy Director or Deputy 
Superintendent, a special agent, an SAS 1, or the SASl's secretary. Assistance 
requests generally are granted or redirected to a more appropriate agency. (T. 27, 
66, 156-159, 220, 353-354, 546-547, 568, 636.) 

8. The SASls assign cases to the special agents based on various criteria, such as 
past cases worked by an agent, the agent's proximity to the assignment, volume of 
case work, complexity of the case assignment, investigative experience, ties with 
local law enforcement, the agent's history with a police department, training, and the 
unique characteristics of the agent, such as age, appearance, mannerisms, sex, 
and race. (T. 73-78, 260-261, 294, 357, 427-429, 518-519, 571, 593, 638) 

9. The SAS1 s approve special agents' leave requests. Leave requests can be denied 
by the SASls. Denials are rare because special agents know not to ask for leave 
during mandatory training periods or when operational needs make the exercise of 
leave prohibitive. The SASls informally work through any leave request problems 
with the special agents so that leave can be taken as requested. After receiving the 
SASl's approval, the leave requests are sent up the chain of command for sign-off 
Leave requests could be denied by anyone up the chain of command, but those 
denials have never occurred because the leave requested has been taken by the 
time the request is completely processed. (T. 36-37,87,89-91, 142, 177-178, 187-
189, 224-228, 288-290, 359, 419-420, 423-424, 498-500, 519, 543-544, 557.) 

10. The SASls approve the accrual of overtime and compensatory time. The SASls 
sometimes tell special agents to do work the next day or week as opposed to 
through the accrual of overtime. The SAS 1 s use different methods for determining 
when to approve overtime. They are not required to use any particular method. 
Several SASls use the "ten hours per agent per week rule": If the anticipated 
overtime exceeds ten hours per agent per week, the SAS 1 consults with his 
supervisor; if the anticipated overtime is less than ten hours per agent per week, the 
SAS1 does not consult with his supervisor. Other SASls will consult with their 
supervisors on a case-by-case basis where a large amount of overtime is 
requested. (T. 140, 230-231, 263-265, 290, 361, 430, 437-439. 515-516.) 
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11. The SASls prepare performance evaluations (mid-probation, final probation, and 
annual) for special agents and secretaries. Performance evaluations are used to 
determine whether probationary employees are to be retained. As the rater, the 
SAS1 gives ratings of "meets," "below," and "above" in eight categories. If a 
probationary employee is rated "below" by the SAS 1 , the employee is automatically 
not retained. If a probationary employee is rated "meets" or "above" by the SAS 1, 
the employee is automatically retained. The SAS 1 s' recommendations are followed 
in this area. Performance evaluations go up the chain of command for sign-off by 
the Deputy Director, Deputy Superintendent, and Superintendent after being signed 
by the SAS 1 . Evaluations may be returned with comments agreeing or disagreeing 
with the SAS 1. The SAS 1 is not required to change evaluations in accordance with 
the supervisor's views. (T. 134, 145-151, 155-156, 189-190, 198-201, 21 0-21 2, 
215-216, 269, 245-247, 279-283, 327, 365, 385-386, 395, 417, 455-457, 477-478, 
507, 543, 555, 573-576, 583, 640-644, 650-652; E. Exhs. 1 and 3.) 

12. The SAS1 s develop action plans and discuss goal setting with their special agents. 
The SAS 1 and the special agent meet and develop the plan together, or the special 
agent prepares the action plan and then meets with the SAS1. (T. 152-154, 218-
219, 284-285, 365, 394,453, 588) 

13. Under the Bureau directives that became effective in 1998, "supervisors" are 
authorized, in cases of minor infractions, to counsel employees, issue oral 
reprimands with notice to the Deputy Director, and issue written reprimands with 
consultation with the Deputy Director and notice to the Deputy Superintendent and 
BCI Personnel Department. The SAS 1 s issue verbal and written reprimands. The 
SASls believe that some level of communication with a supervisor before issuing 
an oral or written reprimand is appropriate, but not required. (T. 121, 366-369, 493, 
639; Jt. Exh. 3.) 

14. The SASls counsel employees about various performance issues, such as the 
amount of work an SAS1 expects an agent to produce, following proper procedures, 
and the agents' written work product. Counselings include a discussion of steps to 
take to correct the problem. Frequently, counselings result in improved work 
performance and alleviate the need for the SASls to issue verbal or written 
reprimands. (T. 160-161, 247, 296, 370, 493-494, 509, 537-538.) 

15. The SAS1 s serve on interview panels for special agents. A panel usually includes 
a Deputy Director, a Human Resources representative, and an SAS 1 . Each panel 
member rates the applicant on rater sheets that are returned to the Personnel 
Department, where the scores are averaged. The SAS1 s may comment that they 
like several of the applicants, or their opinions may be demonstrated by the 
numerical score or wording used to comment on the rater sheet The forms are 
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then submitted to the Chief of Staff and the Superintendent. (T 105-1 06, 11 0-1 13, 
162, 242-244, 286-287, 381-384, 400-401, 412-415,473, 492, 537, 634-635.) 

16. The SASls in Narcotics approve confidential funds used by the special agents in 
performing their duties. Confidential funds reports are signed by the special agent, 
the SAS1, and the Division Chief. (T. 251-252, 379-381, 550-551.) 

17. The SAS1 s review paperwork for special agents in their departments, including car 
reports, subject data sheets, and case reports. The SASls review the substantive 
content of special agents' case reports and discuss them with the agents. On 
occasion, the SASls ask special agents for more detail or clarification of case 
reports, ask agents to rewrite reports, and discuss with agents the direction being 
taken on a case and the questions asked during witness interviews. When agents 
request input, the SASls also offer suggestions on how to approach a particular 
case. (T 138-139, 295-296, 357-358, 432-433, 451-452, 545, 611.) 

Special Agent Supervisor ts in the Medicaid Fraud Unit 

18. The Medicaid Fraud Unit investigates and prosecutes allegations of medicaid fraud 
and patient abuse and neglect in long-term care facilities. The Medicaid Fraud Unit 
is governed by its own rules contained in the Medicaid Fraud handbook; it does not 
follow SCI directives. The Medicaid Fraud Unit has two SASls, who work under 
one Special Agent Supervisor 2 ("SAS2") and the Section Chief. One SAS1 
oversees six patient-abuse-team special agent investigators. The other SAS 1 
oversees eight fraud-team special agent investigators. (T. 306-308, 310-31 1,599; 
Jt. Exhs. 4 and 7.) 

19. The Medicaid Fraud Unit has a toll-free complaint line. The Medicaid Fraud Unit 
also receives and reviews referrals from other agencies, law enforcement, and the 
general public. A case intake officer (a bargaining-unit position) sorts through the 
assistance requests and prepares the paperwork for a bimonthly case meeting at 
which the SAS2, Section Chief, Assistant Section Chief, and Section Attorney 
assign cases to a particular team and transfer the cases to the appropriate SAS 1 . 
The SAS1 decides which agent will be assigned a particular case based upon the 
type and complexity of the cases being worked by the agent. (T. 313-315, 601-602, 
604.) 

20. The SAS 1 s prepare performance evaluations (mid-probation, final probation, and 
annual) for special agents and secretaries. Performance evaluations are used to 
determine whether probationary employees are to be retained. As the rater, the 
SAS1 gives ratings of "meets," "below," and "average" in eight categories. If a 
probationary employee is rated "below" by theSAS1, the employee is automatically 
not retained. If a probationary employee is rated "meets" or "above" by the SAS1, 
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the employee. is automatically retained. The SAS1 s' recommendations have been 
followed in this area. Since the SASls have mostly experienced agents reporting 
to them, the SASls use annual performance evaluations to convey goals and 
objectives, and the SAS1's expectations, to the agents. (T. 316-317, 608-610.) 

21. The SAS1 s serve on interview panels for special agents. A panel usually includes 
a Deputy Director, a Human Resources representative, and an SAS 1 . Each panel 
member rates the applicant on rater sheets that are returned to the Personnel 
Department, where the scores are averaged. The SAS1 s may comment that they 
like several of the applicants, or their opinions may be demonstrated by the 
numerical score or wording used to comment on the rater sheet The forms are 
then submitted to the Chief of Staff and the Superintendent (T 320-322, 603, 608-
610, 613.) 

22. The SASls in the Medicaid Fraud Unit go to the SAS2 with disciplinary matters. 
(T 608-610.) 

23. The SASls in the Medicaid Fraud Unit counsel employees about various 
performance issues, such as the amount of work an SAS1 expects an agent to 
produce. Counselings include a discussion to correct the problem. The 
counselings result in improved work performance and alleviate the need for further 
action by the SASls. (T. 334, 610). 

24. The SAS/s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit approve leave requests for their agents in 
the absence of the SAS2. The SASls approve the accrual of overtime and 
compensatory time in the absence of the SAS2. (T. 312, 318-319, 605606.) 

Special Agent Supervisor 2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit 

25. The Medicaid Fraud Unit has one SAS2 who oversees two SASls and a team of 
nine special agent investigators (T. 306-308, 310-31 1, 59,9; JI. Exhs. 4 and 7.) 

26. The SAS2 approves leave requests for the special agents who report directly to him. 
(T. 312, 318-319, 605606.) 

27. The SAS2 approves overtime and compensatory time requests for the special 
agents. (T 312, 318-319, 605-606.) 

28. The SAS2 participates in the hiring process for special agent investigators by 
screening applications and conducting interviews. Participants individually prepare 
rater sheets on which they rank candidates after the interview. They usually decide 
as a group who will be recommended. The SAS2 then writes a recommendation 
memo. (T. 320-322, 603, 608-610, 613.) 
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29. The SAS2 prepares probationary evaluations for the SAS1s and for the special 
agent investigators who report directly to the SAS2. The SAS2 has recommended 
that fourteen probationary employees be retained; all of these recommendations 
have been followed. The SAS2 also recommended that one probationary special 
agent's employment be terminated for theft; the agent's employment was 
terminated. In other situations, the SAS2 recommended suspensions after 
consulting with the supervisor; the SAS2's recommendations were followed. The 
SAS2 also recommended a suspension when Human Resources was 
recommending termination; the SAS2's recommendation was followed. The SAS2 
has issued approximately 8 to10 verbal or written reprimands. The SAS2 has 
chosen to consult with the Section Chief before issuing the discipline, except in two 
instances which the SAS2 determined required immediate action. (T. 316-318, 325-
328, 331-333.) 

30. The SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit counsels employees about various 
performance issues. No further acts have been necessary to correct any problems. 
The SAS2 has consulted with the Section Chief before some of the counselings; no 
testimony was presented that the SAS2 is required to consult before acting. 
(T. 334). 

Criminal Investigation Administrator 

31. Terrence Neely, whose title is Criminal Investigation Administrator, works under the 
Deputy Superintendent of Investigations and the SCI Superintendent. Mr. Neely 
does not evaluate SAS1 s or any of the special agents. (T. 615, 617; Jt. Exh. 4.) 

32. The proposed bargaining unit in the Request for Recognition is described as "All 
full-time Special Agent Supervisors in the Attorney General's Office." Excluded from 
the proposed unit are "All other employees of the Attorney General." 

II. DISCUSSION 

The primary question in this matter is whether the SAS 1 s at SCI and the SAS 1 s and 

SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit are supervisors, pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01(F). 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F) defines "supervisor" and provides in relevant part as follows: 

"Supervisor' means any individual who has authority, in the interest of the 
public employer, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off. recall, promote. 
discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other public employees; to 
responsibly direct them; to adjust their grievances; or to effectively 
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recommend such action, if the exercise of that authority is not of a merely 
routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment[.] 

An individual will be excluded from a bargaining unit if the record contains 

substantial evidence that the employee has the authority to perform one or more of the 

functions listed in O.R.C. § 4117.01(F), actually exercises that authority, and uses 

independent judgment in doing so. In re Mahoning County Dept of Human Services, 

SERB 92-006 (6-5-92) ("Mahoning") at 3-19. Those individuals found to be supervisors 

under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F) are not considered "public employees" pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C)(10); consequently, a public employer cannot be compelled to bargain 

collectively with them. Id. Supervisory issues are a question of fact in each case, and 

such status must therefore be determined on a case-by-case basis. In re Lucas County 

Recorder's Office, SERB 85061 (11-27-85). The burden of establishing an exclusion from 

a bargaining unit under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) rests upon the party seeking it. In re SERB 

v Fulton County Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96); In re Franklin Local Schoof Dist Bd of 

Ed, SERB 84-008 (11-8-84 ), rev'd on other grounds (CP, Franklin, 4-30-87). 

In construing the statutory definition of a supervisor, recognition must be given to 

the basic reality in the public sector that final decisions regarding areas such as hiring, 

discipline, and salaries are reserved to persons far removed from the employee's 

immediate supervision. See, e.g., Sweetwater Union High School District, 1PERC~10 

(CA EERB, 1976). The ability to effectively recommend these changes in employment 

status, as described in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F), is accorded great weight in the public sector. 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F) directs us to find that an employee is a supetvisor if the employee has 

the authority to effectively recommend the promotion, discharge, or hiring of other 

employees. 

An "effective recommendation" has been defined as one "which, under normal policy 

and circumstances, is made at the chief executive level or below and is adopted by higher 

authority without independent review or de novo consideration as a matter of course." 
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Davenport v. Public. Employment Relations Board, 264 N.W.2d 307, 319, 98 LR.RM. 

2582, 2590-2591 (IA S.Ct, 1978). SERB cited this definition with approval in In re 

University of Cincinnati, SERB 89-028 (1 O~ 2-89) at 3-1 93 

The individual must use independent judgment in the interest of the employer when 

carrying out the responsibilities set out in 0. R. C. § 4117.01 (F). The individual must not be 

using judgment of a routine or clerical nature. Independent judgment is the opportunity to 

make a clear choice between two or more significant alternative courses of action without 

plenary review or approval. California Dept of Forestry and Fire Prevention, 21 PERC 

~ 28144 (CA PERB 1997). SERB has held that a management employee who assigns 

tasks equally and as needed to balance the workload among employees who work 

independently on a routine schedule of familiar tasks exercises no independent judgment 

"beyond choosing between narrowly defined parameters." In re University of Cincinnati, 

supra at 3-192. SERB also has held that independent judgment can constitute evaluating 

an employee's workload as well prioritizing it on a weekly basis. In re Medina County 

Health Dept, SERB 95-006 (4-21-95) at 3-43. Since the case law mandates that 

supervisory issues be determined on a case-by-case basis, the type of work being 

performed must be examined, too. 

In its posthearing brief, the Employer contends that the positions in the proposed 

unit effectively recommend employees for hire, effectively recommend discharge, 

effectively recommend discipline, or responsibly direct special agents, clerical staff, and 

some exempt positions in their commands. 

The SAS 1 s in BCI and the SAS 1 s and SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit participate 

on interview panels as raters along with a Deputy Director from the section and a 

representative from Human Resources. All three panelists rate the candidates. The rater 

sheets are returned to the Personnel Department, where scores are tallied, averaged, and 
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sent up the chain of command. Under this procedure, no hiring decision or true effective 

recommendation for hire is made by an SAS 1 . Equally weighted participation on interview 

panels does not demonstrate effective recommendation of the outcome. California Dept. 

of Forestry and Fire Prevention, supra; State System of Higher Education, 28 PPER 

~ 28046 (PA PLRB 1997). When individuals act collectively and make a joint 

recommendation, no individual employee is responsible for the hiring recommendation, and 

no individual appears responsible for the hiring recommendation. Atlantic County Dept. 

of Social Services, 15 NJ PER~ 20243 (NJ PERC 1989). Panels of this type do not meet 

the requirements for an effective recommendation. We cannot say, however, that hiring 

panels could never be set up to allow for effective recommendations. Thus, these 

positions do not hire or effectively recommend hiring decisions. 

A. The Twelve Special Agent Supervisor Is at BCI Are Supervisors 

The twelve SAS 1 s at SCI prepare performance evaluations for special agents and 

secretaries in the middle and at the end of their probationary periods. If the probationary 

employee receives a "meets" or "above" rating from the SAS1, the probationary employee 

is retained. If a probationary employee receives a "below" rating from the SAS 1, the 

probationary employee is not retained. Although the SAS 1 s recommending discharge are 

asked to provide the supporting facts, they are still effectively recommending discharge. 

In re Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Assn, SERB 99-023 (9-16-99) The fact that a 

recommendation is submitted for final approval for budgetary and affirmative action 

considerations does not diminish the authority to effectively recommend where no evidence 

is presented that the recommendations are rejected by those in higher authority. County 

of Passaic, 20 NJPER '125066 (NJ PERC Rep. Dir., 1994); see also Eastern Greyhound 

Lines v. NLRB, 57 L.R.R.M. 2241 (6th Cir. 1964). Thus, theSAS1s effectively recommend 

discharge. 
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With regard to discipline, the SAS 1 s at BCI are authorized in cases involving minor 

infractions to issue verbal reprimands with notice to the Deputy Director, and to issue 

written reprimands in consultation with the Deputy Director and with notice to the Deputy 

Superintendent and BCI Personnel Department. According to the record, four of the twelve 

SASls at BCI have actually issued reprimands. Under the Bureau directives, these 

positions are required to notify or consult before the reprimands are issued. The 

requirement to notify or consult does not nullify the authority given to the SASls. The 

SASls are not required to obtain approval before they act It is reasonable for a public 

employer to have a safeguard at a higher level to ensure that discipline is imposed 

consistently, whether in a collective bargaining setting or not The record shows that 

discipline is rarely needed at BCI. All of the SAS 1 s do not have to have actually imposed 

discipline for us to find that this group of employees has exercised that authority. Under 

these facts, we find that the SAS 1 s have the authority to discipline, that they have actually 

exercised that authority, and that they have exercised their independent judgment in doing 

so as required under Mahoning. Thus, the SASls at BCI discipline employees. 

To determine whether the SASls at BC! responsibly direct public employees, we 

will look in this case at factors such as assigning cases, counseling employees, preparing 

performance evaluations with performance action plans, and granting overtime and 

compensatory time. The SAS 1 s assign cases to the special agents based on a variety of 

factors, including past cases worked by an agent, the agent's proximity to the assignment, 

volume of case work, complexity of the case assignment, investigative experience, ties with 

local law enforcement, the agent's history with a police department, training, and the 

unique characteristics of the agent, such as age, appearance, mannerisms, sex, and race. 

Unlike the clerical and record-keeping functions being performed in In re University 

of Cincinnati, supra, the work of the special agent investigators is not routine. The 

investigative techniques employed by these investigators necessarily vary from case to 
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case and from agent.to agent. Most important, unlike the assignment of clerical duties, the 

assignment of an investigator could risk the life of the agent in a narcotics investigation. 

Considering all of these factors, we find that the SASls exercise independent judgment 

in making case assignments and, by doing so, responsibly direct these employees. 

Under BCl's directives, the SASls are authorized in cases of minor infractions to 

counsel employees. Nearly all the SAS1 shave counseled employees. The SAS1 s have 

used counseling as a method for correcting problems, improving performance, and 

avoiding discipline. Thus, the SAS 1 s use corrective counseling as a means to responsibly 

direct employees. 

Performance evaluations, whether for a probationary period or an annual review, 

are one vehicle for a supervisor to "responsibly direct" or to "effectively recommend" such 

action. In re City of Dayton, SERB 98-004 (2-27-98), aff'd sub nom. Dayton Firefighters 

Loca/#136, IAFF v. SERB, 1998 SERB 4-69 (CP, Franklin 12-1 0-98). Performance action 

plans provide one form of responsibly directing subordinate employees. The performance 

action plans need not be limited to employees who demonstrate a need for direction or a 

route to improvement. 

The SASls at BCI prepare performance evaluations for the special agents they 

oversee. The performance evaluations in this case, including the action plans, are 

prepared by the SASls and are used in discussions with the employee to identify areas 

where the employee needs to improve and areas where the employee is performing at an 

acceptable level. Evaluations may be returned with comments agreeing or disagreeing 

with the SAS 1 , but the SAS 1 is not required to change evaluations in accordance with the 

supervisor's view. Even though the SAS 1 submits the performance evaluation to other 

individuals in the chain of command, the record does not indicate that the evaluation is 

subject to an independent review. In re Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Assn, supra. All 

SASls develop action plans and discuss goal setting with their special agents. Some 
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develop the plan together; in other situations, the special agent may prepare the action 

plan and then meet with the SAS 1 . Neither circumstance diminishes the SAS 1 's control 

over the plan. Thus, the SAS!s responsibly direct the special agents through the 

performance action plans. 

The SAS 1 s at BCI approve special agents' leave requests that may or may not be 

initialed by their supervisors. Those requests then proceed up the chain of command for 

sign-off. Since the leave requested has been taken by the time the request is completely 

processed through the chain of command, the requests have never been denied. As a 

result, the SAS 1 s exercise more than merely conditional or preliminary approval. Leave 

requests can be denied by the SAS 1 s, but such instances are rare. The SAS 1 s informally 

work through any leave request problems with the special agents so that leave can be 

taken as requested. Thus, the SAS 1 s responsibly direct employees through their approval 

of leave requests 

The SAS 1 s at BC! approve the accrual of overtime and compensatory time for the 

special agents they oversee. They use different methods in making this decision. For 

example, several SAS!s use the "ten hours per agent per week rule" for approving 

overtime and compensatory time requests. These SASls do not consult with their 

supervisor unless the anticipated overtime exceeds ten hours per agent per week. Other 

SAS!s will consult with their supervisors on a case-by-case basis where a large amount 

of overtime is requested. Thus, the SASls responsibly direct employees through their 

approval of overtime and compensatory time requests. 

Based upon their discretion in assigning cases, counseling employees, the direction 

to employees given through the performance evaluations, and approving leave requests, 

overtime, and compensatory time, the SAS1 sat BCI responsibly direct employees. Since 

the SASls at SCI effectively recommend discharges and discipline and responsibly direct 

the employees they oversee, they are supervisors under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F). 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-REP-03-0060 
Page 14 of 18 

B. The Two Special Aaent Supervisor Is in the Medicaid Fraud Unit Are 
Supervisors 

Like the SAS\s at BC\, the two SAS\s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit prepare 

probationary performance evaluations for the special agents they oversee. At the end of 

the probationary period, they recommend whether the employee should be retained. 

These recommendations have been followed. Thus, the SAS\s have the authority to 

effectively recommend discharge. 

Like the SASls at BC\, the SAS\s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit prepare annual 

performance evaluations for the employees they oversee. The Section Chief does not 

review the evaluations until after the SAS 1 has met with the employee. The SAS 1 s have 

never been ordered to change an evaluation. Because the SASls have mostly 

experienced agents reporting to them, the SAS1 s use performance evaluations to convey 

goals and objectives, and the SAS 1 's expectations, to the agents. Thus, the SAS\s use 

performance evaluations as a means to responsibly direct employees. 

Like the SAS\s at BC\, the SAS\s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit have counseled 

employees about expectations, but no further acts have been necessary to correct the 

problem. Thus, the SAS\s use corrective counseling as a means to responsibly direct 

employees. 

The SAS 1 s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit do not sit on the intake committee that meets 

to open and assign cases to the teams. Cases are assigned to a particular team and then 

are transferred to the appropriate SAS 1. The SAS 1 decides which agent will be assigned 

a particular case based upon the type and complexity of the cases being worked by the 

agent. The SAS2 never interferes with the case assignments. Thus, the SAS 1 s use case 

assignments as a means to responsibly direct employees. 
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Based upon their discretion in assigning cases, counseling employees, and the 

direction to employees through the performance evaluations, the SAS 1 s responsibly direct 

employees. Since the SAS 1 s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit effectively recommend discharge 

through performance evaluations and responsibly direct the employees they oversee, they 

are supervisors under O.R.C. §4117.01 (F). 

c. The Special Aaent Supervisor 2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit Is a Supervisor 

The SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit has participated in the review and 

recommendation for retention of fifteen probationary employees. In fourteen cases, the 

SAS2 has recommended that the employee be retained. In one case, the SAS2 has 

recommended that a probationary employee be terminated for theft. In all cases, these 

recommendations have been followed. Thus, the SAS2 effectively recommends discharge. 

With regard to discipline, the SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit has recommended 

suspensions after consulting with his supervisor; the SAS2's recommendations have been 

followed. The SAS2 has also recommended suspension when Human Resources 

recommended termination; again, the SAS2's recommendation has been followed. The 

SAS2 has issued 8 to10 verbal or written reprimands. The SAS2 has consulted with the 

Section Chief before issuing the discipline, except in two instances. But the record does 

not indicate that the consultation was required or that it constituted a new, plenary review. 

Thus, the SAS2 has exercised the authority to discipline and has effectively recommended 

discipline. 

The SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit has counseled employees, but no further acts 

have been necessary to correct problems. Although the SAS2 has consulted with the 

Section Chief before some of the counselings, the SAS2 has not been required to consult. 

Thus, the SAS2 use corrective counseling as a means to responsibly direct employees. 
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The SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit prepares probationary evaluations for the 

special agents who report directly. These evaluations include preparing performance 

action plans to follow for the next year. Thus, the SAS2 uses action plans as a means to 

responsibly direct employees. 

The SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit approves special agents' leave requests. 

Those requests then proceed up the chain of command for sign-off. Since the leave 

requested has been taken by the time the request is completely processed through the 

chain of command, the requests have never been denied. As a result, the SAS2 exercises 

more than merely conditional or preliminary approval. Thus, the SAS2 in the Medicaid 

Fraud Unit responsibly directs employees through the approval of leave requests. 

The SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit approves the accrual of overtime and 

compensatory time for the special agents who report directly to the SAS2. The SAS2 is 

not required to consult with the Section Chief before approving the request Thus, the 

SAS2 responsibly directs employees through the approval of overtime and compensatory 

time requests. 

Based upon the discretion in approving leave requests, accrual of overtime and 

compensatory time, and the direction to employees given through the performance action 

plans, the SAS2 responsibly directs employees. Since the SAS2 in the Medicaid Fraud 

Unit effectively recommends discharges and responsibly directs employees, the SAS2 is 

a supervisor under O.RC. § 4117.01 (F). 

D. The Criminal lnvestiaations Administrator Position Is Not in the Proposed 
Baraaining Unit 

The proposed bargaining unit is described in the Request for Recognition filed by 

the Employee Organization on March 15, 1999. Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-3-
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01 (A)(2) requires that a Request for Recognition must contain "a description of the 

bargaining unit which the employee organization proposes to represent, specifying 

inclusions and exclusions and the approximate number of employees in the unit" The 

Employee Organization is specifying whom it wants in the bargaining unit It fills out the 

Request for Recognition. The Employee Organization's description does not include the 

Criminal Investigations Administrator position. Since this position was not included within 

the description of the bargaining unit, it is not part of the bargaining unit before us. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Ohio Attorney General is a "public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc, is an "employee 
organization" within the meaning of O.RC. § 4117.01 (D) 

3. The Special Agent Supervisor Is at BCI are supervisors within the meaning of 
O.RC. § 4117.01 (F) and, therefore, are not public employees within the meaning 
ofO.RC §4117.01 (C). 

4. The Special Agent Supervisor 1 s in the Medicaid Fraud Unit are supervisors within 
the meaning of O.RC. § 4117.01 (F) and, therefore, are not public employees within 
the meaning ofO.R.C. §4117.01 (C). 

5. The Special Agent Supervisor 2 in the Medicaid Fraud Unit is a supervisor within the 
meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F) and, therefore, is not a public employee within the 
meaning ofO.RC. §4117.01 (C). 

6. The Criminal Justice Administrator position is not included in the proposed 
bargaining unit 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Special Agent Supervisor 1 positions in the 

Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation and the Special Agent Supervisor 1 
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and 2 positions in. the Medicaid Fraud Unit are supervisors, pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (F), and are not public employees under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). We also find that 

the Criminal Justice Administrator position is not included in the bargaining-unit description 

for the proposed unit. Consequently, the Request for Recognition is hereby dismissed. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 



SERB OPINION 2000-003 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Ohio State Troopers Association, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME, Local 11, AFL-CIO, 
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DIRECTIVE DISMISSING PETITION FOR CLARIFICATION OF BARGAINING UNIT 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
March 23, 2000. 

On May 18, 1998, the Ohio State Troopers Association ("Petitioner') filed a Petition 
for Clarification of Bargaining Unit seeking to have the State Employment Relations Board 
("Board") clarify State Bargaining Unit 1 to include certain employees of the State of Ohio, 
Department of Public Safety, Division of Highway Patrol ("Employer''). On February 10, 
1999, the Board directed this matter to hearing to determine the bargaining-unit status of 
the employees in question and for all other relevant issues. A motion to intervene was filed 
by the Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO ("OCSEA"); 
the motion was granted. A hearing was conducted on September 21, 1999. On 
December 1, 1999, the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Determination was 
issued. On December 21, 1999, the Employer filed objections to the Recommended 
Determination. On December 22, 1999, OCSEA filed exceptions to the Recommended 
Determination. On December 28, 1999, the Petitioner filed its response to the objections 
and exceptions. On February 16, 2000, the parties' representatives presented oral 
arguments to the Board. 
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After reviewing the record, including the transcript and the parties' briefs, the Board 
finds, for the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, incorporated by reference, that 
Radio Operators employed by the State Highway Patrol are "public employees" as that 
term is defined in 0.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) and are "members of the highway patrol" as that 
term is defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (O); that the Radio Operators were not included in the 
description of State Unit 1 at the time their positions were reclassified and the Radio 
Operators' duties were not being perfomied by State Bargaining Unrt 1 members when the 
unit was last certified; and that the Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit filed by the 
Petitioner is inappropriate and. as a result, is hereby dismissed. 

It is so directed. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 119.12, by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 432154213, and with the 
Franklin County Court of Common Pleas within fifteen (15) days after the mailing of the 
Board's directive. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this , a{ 1-g, day of fe ~ 
2000. 

J 

direct\03·23-00.17 



SERB OPINION 2000-003 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Ohio State Troopers Association, 

Employee Organization, 

and 
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Case No. 98-REP-05.0120 

OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

This representation case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("Board") upon the filing of exceptions and response to exceptions to the Administrative 

Law Judge's Recommended Determination issued on December 1, 1998, and upon the 

oral arguments presented to the Board by the parties on February 16, 2000. For the 

reasons below, we find that the Radio Operators employed by the State Highway Patrol 

are "public employees" as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") 

§ 4117.01(C) and are "members of the highway patrol" as that term is defined in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (0). Since the Radio Operators were not included in State Unit 1 when their 

positions were reclassified and the Radio Operators' duties were not being performed by 

State Unit 1 members when the unit was last certified, the Petition for Clarification of 

Bargaining Unit filed by the Ohio State Troopers Association ("OSTA" or "Petitioner") is 

inappropriate and must be dismissed. 
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I. BACKGROUND' 

The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, Local 11, AFL-CIO ("OCSEA") is the 

employee organization that represents employees of the State of Ohio ("Employer'') in 

approximately 980 classifications in State Bargaining Unit 9 ("Unit 9"), including Telephone 

Operator 1, Telephone Operator 2, Radio Dispatcher, and Radio Operator. Employees in 

Unit 9 are permitted to strike. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. 

represents 27 classifications in State Bargaining Unit 2 ("Unit 2"), including the Police 

Officer 1 and Police Officer 2 classifications (collectively "Police Officers"); employees in 

Unit 2 are not permitted to strike. The OSTA represents State Bargaining Unit 1 ("Unit I"), 

which includes the following classifications for employees of the State of Ohio, Department 

of Public Safety, Division of Highway Patrol ("Highway Patrol"): Highway Patrol Trooper, 

Highway Patrol Communication Technician 1, Highway Patrol Communication 

Technician 2, Highway Patrol Radio Dispatcher, Highway Patrol Radio Technician 1, 

Highway Patrol Radio Technician 2, and Highway Patrol Radio Technician 3.2 Employees 

in Unit 1 are not permitted to strike. (F.F. Nos. 7, 13-15). 

Before 1991, the Troopers were assigned to duty at the Governor's residence. 

Before 1993, the Troopers were also assigned to duty at the Ohio Statehouse 

("Statehouse"). Starting in 1993, the Police Officers were assigned to provide 24-hour 

uniformed security at the Statehouse. From 1993 to 1996, the Police Officers handled the 

telephone and radio traffic for the Statehouse and Governor's residence. The number of 

Police Officers employed at the Statehouse also rose from 15 to approximately 18. 

'Few of the facts in this case are disputed. Most of the Findings of Fact (''F.F.") are derived 
from the parties' 26 Stipulations ("Stip."). 

'See "Certification of Election Results and of Exclusive Representcitive," Ohio Stale 
Troopers Association and State of Ohio, 96-REP-12-0261 (4-24-97). 
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On June 24, 1996, the Highway Patrol hired a Telephone Operator 1 who was 

assigned to the Statehouse. The Telephone Operator 1 classification is in Unit 9. Three 

additional Telephone Operator 1 s were hired on October 27, 1997, November 24, 1997 

and December 7, 1997. They were also assigned to the Statehouse The Statehouse 

Police Officers performed dispatching duties when no Telephone Operator Is were 

scheduled to work. (F.F. Nos. 7-8). 

On December 1, 1997, a "working out of classification" grievance was.filed by a 

Telephone Operator 1. The grievance alleged that the Highway Patrol Telephone 

Operator Is were performing the duties of the Radio Operator classification. OCSEA 

represented the Telephone Operator 1 during the processing of this grievance The 

grievance settlement agreement between the Employer and OCSEA reclassified the 

Telephone Operator Is employed by the Highway Patrol as Radio Operators, which 

afforded these employees a raise. (F.F. Nos. 9-10). 

Before the grievance settlement, the Highway Patrol did not utilize or have any 

employees classified as Radio Operators. In January 1998, the Highway Patrol moved its 

general headquarters to 1970 West Broad Street. Three additional employees were hired 

then and were classified as Radio Operators. (F.F. No. 11 ). 

Radio Operators, formerly known as Radiomen until 1991, have been part of the 

State of Ohio's classification plan since the establishment of the State Classification Plan 

in January 1976. Radio Operator classifications are used by the Department of 

Administrative Services/General Services; the Department of Mental Retardation and 

Developmental Disabilities at the Northwest Ohio Developmental Center; the Department 

of Natural Resources, Division of Geological Survey and Parks and Recreation; and the 

Department of Transportation. The Radio Operators employed by these departments are 

not appointed pursuant to O.R.C. § 5503.01. (F.F. Nos. 12, 17-18). 
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The Radio Operators working for the Highway Patrol are appointed pursuant to 

O.R.C. § 5503 01. (F.F. No. 2; Stip. 24). The Radio Operators are listed on the 

Organizational Chart of the Office of Field Operations along with other Highway Patrol 

employees. (F.F. No. 13; Joint Exhibit 13). Six employees are currently employed by the 

Highway Patrol in that capacity. The main function of the Radio Operators is to support 

the Police Officers performing security functions at the Statehouse, the Public Safety 

Building, and the Governor's residence with radio communication. 

The Radio Operators occupy a room at the Statehouse that is accessible to 

employees and the public. For eight hours a day, this position is supervised by a Highway 

Patrol Sergeant; for another eight hours a day, it is supervised by a State Police Officer 

Sergeant. The final shift, which begins at midnight, is not supervised. (F.F. No. 19). 

Dispatchers are assigned to all Highway Patrol posts throughout the state as well 

as to the Highway Patrol Communications Center in Columbus. At the Department of 

Public Safety Building, Radio Operators have no public contact and only relate to other 

employees as they arrive at and leave from work. Dispatchers at the Communication 

Center have no public contact and only relate to other employees as they arrive at and 

leave from work and are supervised by a Radio Dispatcher Supervisor. (F.F. Nos. 17, 20). 

The Law Enforcement Automated Data System ("LEADS") certification is required 

by both Radio Operators and Dispatchers. LEADS machines are placed at all Highway 

Patrol posts, including the Shipley Building and the Statehouse. "COPS" is a mechanism 

to enter information for Troopers, Police Officers, and other Highway Patrol members 

before a warrant is actually issued. Both Radio Operators and Dispatchers have the 

capability to interact with COPS. 

The Dispatchers in Bargaining Unit 1 have responsibilities and duties that include 

handling emergency telephone calls, dispatching ambulances and other Troopers to 
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accident scenes, handling calls for domestic violence, robberies, homicides, assaults and 

road conditions for weather emergencies. The Dispatchers also maintain warrant files, 

enter criminal cases into the computer, coordinate court appearances of Troopers, and 

handle inquiries by the public. 

The Radio Operators at issue performed many of the same duties performed by the 

Dispatchers. The Radio Operators used the Dispatchers' policy and procedure manual 

when being trained and on the job. The greatest difference between the two positions was 

that the Dispatchers handled a higher volume of calls than Radio Operators. In addition, 

the Dispatchers received hazardous duty pay, but the Radio Operators did not Since the 

Telephone Operators were reclassified as Radio Operators, their days and hours of 

coverage increased. As Telephone Operators, coverage was Monday through Friday with 

a day and afternoon shift. Once they became Radio Operators, the coverage went to 365 

days per year and 24 hours per day. 

On May 18, 1998, the OSTA filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 

pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code ("0.A.C.") Rule 4117-5-01 (E)(2) seeking to have the 

Board clarify Unit 1 to include individuals in the Radio Operator classification who are 

employed by the Highway Patrol. On February 10, 1999, the State of Ohio filed a position 

statement opposing the petition. On July 29, 1999, SERB found reasonable cause to 

believe that the petition was sufficient and that a question concerning representation 

existed, and directed this matter to hearing to determine the bargaining-unit status of the 

employees in question, and for all other relevant issues. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The Radio Operators are appointed pursuant to O.R.C. § 5503.01. See F.F. No. 2. 

O.R.C. § 4117.01(0) states: 
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"Members of the state highway patrol" means highway patrol 
troopers and radio operators appointed under section 5503.01 
of the Revised Code. (emphasis added). 

The Radio Operator posrtions at issue came into existence as a result of a grievance 

settlement between the State of Ohio and OCSEA. A "working out of classification" 

grievance was filed by an employee holding the position of Telephone Operator 1. The 

grievance alleged that the Telephone Operator 1 s were performing the duties of the Radio 

Operator classification. In settlement of the grievance, the State of Ohio and OCSEA 

agreed to reclassify the Telephone Operator Is as Radio Operators. The statutory 

provisions relative to the Radio Operators employed by the Highway Patrol had been 

enacted before the settlement was reached. It is well established in Ohio that all persons 

are charged with knowledge of the law. See, e.g., In re Ohio Dept of Health, SERB 99-007 

(5-21-99). We must assume that the parties were aware of the statutory provisions relative 

to the Radio Operators at the time the settlement was reached. 

Since the Radio Operators are "members of the highway patrol" pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (0), the next step is to review O.R.C. § 4117.06 to determine if any statutory 

provision exists that would prohibit their continued inclusion in Unit 9. O.R.C. § 4117.06 

states in pertinent part as follows: 

( D) In addition, in determining the appropriate unit, the board 
shall not: 

(3) Include members of a police or fire department or members of 
the state highway patrol in a unit with other classifications of public 
employees of that department[.] (emphasis added). 

Once the Telephone Operator Is were reclassified as Radio Operators employed 

by the Highway Patrol, appointed pursuant to O.R.C. § 5503.01, their continued inclusion 

in Unit 9 with employees who are not members of the highway patrol was prohibited under 
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O.R.C. § 4117.06(D)(3). Therefore, these Radio Operators have been improperly treated 

as if they are included in Unit 9.3 

The OSTA has filed its Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit concerning Unit 1. 

The purpose of a petition for clarification is to determine whether a particular employee or 

group of employees is included in or excluded from the unit based upon the unit description 

and the duties performed by the employees in question. OAC. Rule 4117-5-01(E)(1) 

and (2); In re Shawnee State Univ, SERB 97-01 O (6-30-97); In re Ohio Council 8, 

AFSCME, SERB 95-021 (12-29-95). "Unit clarification does not alter the status quo, but 

rather maintains it." Id. at 3-143. 

When Unit 1 was last certified on April 24, 1997, the unit included the following 

classifications: Highway Patrol Trooper, Highway Patrol Communication Technician 1, 

Highway Patrol Communication Technician 2, Highway Patrol Radio Dispatcher, Highway 

Patrol Radio Technician 1, Highway Patrol Radio Technician 2, and Highway Patrol Radio 

Technician 3. The Radio Operator classification was not included in Unit l's description. 

The duties of the former Telephone Operator 1 s and the current Radio Operators, although 

similar to the Highway Patrol Radio Dispatchers, were not being performed by members 

of Unit 1. Therefore, the request to include the Radio Operators in Unit 1 by way of a 

Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit was inappropriate since it would alter the status 

quo. Consequently, the OSTA's Petition for Clarification Bargaining Unit relative to Unit 1 

must be dismissed.4 

'We note that no petition for amendment or clarification of Unit 9 concerning these positions 
has been filed at this time. 

•1n this case, we have not explored - and the employees have not had an opportunity to 
express their desire -whether the Radio Operators could be added to Unit 1, any other State Unit, 
or a new unit by a Petition for Representation Election, Petition for Amendment of Certification, opt
in voluntary recognition, or opt-in election. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Radio Operators employed by the State 

H'1ghway Patrol are "public employees" as that term is defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) and 

are "members of the highway patrol" as that term is defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (0). Since 

the Radio Operators were not included in the description of State Unit 1 at the time their 

positions were reclassified and the Radio Operators' duties were not being performed by 

Unit 1 members when the unit was last certified, the Petition for Clarification of Bargaining 

Unit filed by the OSTA is inappropriate and is hereby dismissed. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Austintown Township Trustees, Mahoning County, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 98-ULP.07-0394 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board MemberVerich: May4, 

On September 17, 1999, the State Employment Relations Board ("Board") issued its 
Opinion and Order (SERB 99-024) in this case. The Austintown Township Trustees, 
Mahoning County ("Respondent"), appealed the Board's Orderto the Mahoning County Court 
of Common Pleas. The Respondent requested, but did not obtain, a stay of the Board's 
Order. 

On December 15, 1999, the Respondent filed an "Application for Instructions" in which 
it asked the Board for instructions concerning benefits that were not accrued by Matthew 
F. Romeo for the period from his termination to his reinstatement. On December 16, 1999, 
Mr. Romeo filed a "Notice of Noncompliance and Motion for Contempt" concerning the 
Respondent's alleged noncompliance with the Board's Order. On January 6, 2000, the Board 
directed this matterto the Hearings Section for a Show Cause hearing to determine whether 
the Respondent had complied with the Board's Order and, if not, what actions were necessary 
to be in compliance with the Order. After the parties submitted this matter on briefs and joint 
stipulations offact, the Board transferred this case from the Hearings Section to the Board for 
a decision on the merits. 
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After reviewing the record, including the parties' stipulations of fact and briefs, the 
Board, for reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, incorporated by reference, orders the 
Austintown Township Trustees, Mahoning County, to comply immediately with and implement 
the terms of the prior Order of the Board by taking the affirmative action of immediately 
reinstating Matthew F. Romeo to the position of Catch-Basin Leader and by making Mr. 
Romeo whole for the wages he is owed at the rate of pay as the Catch-Basin Leader 
beginning October 18, 1999, less the amount of pay he has received as a member of the road 
crew from November 4, 1999, to the present 

It is so directed. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have 
been engaged in, orwhere the person resides ortransacts business, within fifteen days after 
the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

.. n. """ '~''' "'""'"" '° '"''"~ ,,,,, ffi , I 
~'£0~~ 
sAlLYLBA1LlOU)( EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 

direct\0504-00.08 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Austintown Township Trustees, Mahoning County, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 98-ULP-07-0394 

OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("Board" or "Complainant") upon the filing of Joint Stipulations of Fact and Supplemental Trial 

Briefs to determine whether the Austintown Township Trustees, Mahoning County, have 

complied with the priorOrderof the Board in this case and, if not, what actions are necessary 

to be in compliance with the Order. For the reasons below, we find that the Austintown 

Township Trustees, Mahoning County, have not fully complied with the prior Order of the 

Board. 

I. BACKGROUND 

On September 17, 1999, the Board issued its Opinion and Order (SERB 99-024) in 

this case. The case was appealed by the Austintown Township Trustees, Mahoning County 

("Respondenf'), to the Mahoning County Court of Common Pleas. The Respondent 

requested, but did not obtain, a stay of the Board's Order. 
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On November 4, 1999, the Respondent reinstated Matthew Romeo, pending the 

outcome of its appeal of the Board's decision. At the time of his discharge, Mr. Romeo was 

employed as a Catch-Basin Leader and was paid at the rate of $14.96 per hour. Upon 

reinstatement, Mr. Romeo was not placed back into the position of Catch-Basin Leader, but 

was placed in a position as a road crew member at the rate of $13.98 per hour. The Catch

Basin Leader position had been filled by employee Dan Balint in January 1999, pursuant to 

the terms ofthe collective bargaining agreement between the unit's exclusive representative 

and the Respondent. Mr. Romeo was not given back pay or any other retroactive benefit upon 

his reinstatement. 

By letters sent in November 1999 by his counsel, Mr. Romeo informed the Respondent 

that, upon his reinstatement, he had not received certain benefits retroactively, and he had not 

been reinstated to the position and pay that he had held before his discharge. Mr. Romeo 

contended that these actions and inactions violated the prior Order of the Board. 

On December 15, 1999, the Respondent filed an "Application for Instructions" in which 

it asked the Board for instructions concerning benefits that were not accrued by Mr. Romeo 

for the period from his termination to his reinstatement. On December 16, 1999, Mr. Romeo 

filed a "Notice of Noncompliance and Motion for Contempt" concerning the Respondent's 

alleged noncompliance with the Board's Order. On January 6, 2000, the Board directed this 

matter to the Hearings Section for a Show Cause hearing to determine whether the 

Respondent had complied with the Board's Order and, if not, what actions were necessary 

to be in compliance with the Order. 

The parties agreed that no substantial or material issues offact were in dispute. They 

decided that, ratherthan have a full hearing, the parties would submit this matter on briefs and 

joint stipulations of fact On March 23, 2000, the Board transferred this case from the 
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Hearings Section to the Board for a decision on the merits. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The only issues pending before the Board are whether, pursuant to the Board's 

September 17, 1999 Order in this case, Mr. Romeo is entitled to (1) all sick leave, seniority, 

and longevity benefits that accrued between his date of discharge and the date of his 

reinstatement; (2) the position that he held prior to his discharge for the appropriate period 

underthe terms of the collective bargaining agreement; and (3) reimbursement of $1,024.72 

out-of-pocket insurance costs that would have been paid had he not been discharged by the 

Respondent. 

In the Board's September 17, 1999 Order, the Respondent was ordered to take the 

affirmative action to: "Immediately reinstate Matthew F. Romeo to his job assignment as an 

Austintown Township road crew worker without back pay{.]" (emphasis added). The 

emphasis added to the language outlined above is to demonstrate that the Board intended 

that Mr. Romeo would return to the position he held at the time of his termination, not an 

equivalent position or some other position. Clearly, Mr. Romeo was to be returned to the 

position of Catch-Basin Leader at the rate of pay applicable to the position at the time of 

Mr. Romeo's return according to the Board's Order. Further, the Board's Order was issued 

on September 17, 1 ggg, and was received by the Respondent on September20, 1999. But 

reinstatement did not occur until November 4, 1999, more than six weeks later. Six weeks to 

carry out this Order was an unreasonable amount of time. Consequently, we find that 

Mr. Romeo should have been reinstated by October 18, 1999, which was fourweeks afterthe 

Respondent received the Board's Order. Therefore, Mr. Romeo is to be immediately placed 

in the position of Catch-Basin Leader at the applicable rate of pay for the position, and he is 

owed wages at the rate of pay as the Catch-Basin Leader beginning October 18, 1999, less 

the amount of pay he has received as a member of the road crew from November 4, 1999, 
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to the present. 

As to Mr. Romeo's entitlement to the other benefits at issue in this case, the Board's 

previous Order did not award those benefits to Mr. Romeo. The action taken by the Board in 

returning Mr. Romeo without back pay was done to specifically recognize Mr. Romeo's 

culpability with respect to his actions, and therefore, the only remedy Mr. Romeo was to 

receive was reinstatement. The return of Mr. Romeo without back pay was to reflect that Mr. 

Romeo's time off between discharge and reinstatement was to be considered similar to a 

disciplinary suspension, and Mr. Romeo would not be entitled to any other benefit during the 

time frame covered by the suspension. Thus, Mr. Romeo was not entitled to sick leave, 

seniority, and longevity benefits that accrued between the time of his discharge and the date 

of hrs reinstatement, norwas Mr. Romeo entitled to reimbursement of $1,024.72 out-of-pocket 

insurance costs that would have been paid had he not been discharged by the Respondent. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Respondent has not complied with the 

September 17, 1999 Order of the Board in this case. The Austintown Township Trustees, 

Mahoning County, are hereby ordered to comply immediatelywith and implement the terms 

of the prior Order of the Board. Further the Austintown Township Trustees, Mahoning County, 

are ordered to take the affirmative action of immediately reinstating Mr. Romeo to the position 

of Catch-Basin Leader, and to make him whole for the wages he is owed at the rate of pay 

as the Catch-Basin Leader beginning October 18, 1999, less the amount of pay he has 

received as a member of the road crew from November 4, 1999, to the present. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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V, 

Greenville Patrol Officers Association, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP-06-0349 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
June 6, 2000. 

On June 17, 1999, the City of Greenville filed an unfair labor practice charge against 
the Greenville Patrol Officers Association ("Respondent"). On September 16, 1999, the 
State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") found probable cause to 
believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Section 4117 .11 (B)(3) and 
directed the matter to hearing. 

The parties agreed to submit the case on stipulations and briefs in lieu of a hearing. 
On November 19, 1999, the "Stipulations of the Parties" were filed. On December 20, 
1999, the parties filed their briefs. On February 3, 2000, the Board transferred the case 
from the Hearings Section for a decision on the merits; coordinated this case with SERB 
v. City of Greenville, Case No. 99ULP-07-0427, for hearing; and directed the parties' 
representatives to appear for an oral argument. On March 20, 2000, the parties presented 
their oral arguments to the Board. Also on March 20, 2000, the Board directed the parties 
to mediation; the Board also stated that its decision in this matter would be withheld while 
mediation continues during the thirty-day period. 

After reviewing the stipulations of fact, the parties' briefs, oral arguments, and all 
filings, the Board finds for the reasons stated in the attached Opinion, incorporated by 
reference, that the Greenville Patrol Officers Association committed an unfair labor practice 
in violation of O.RC. Section 4117.11 (B)(3) when it did not file its prehearing statement 
until one day before the conciliation hearing, contrary to O.RC. Section 4117.14(8)(3). 
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The Greenville Patrol Officers Association is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Refusing to bargain collective with the public employer by not timely 
filing its prehearing statement before a conciliation and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117. 11 (8)(3). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

( 1 ) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining unit employees work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board stating that the Greenville Patrol Officers Association 
shall cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) 
and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); 
and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final 
of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

The Board also orders that when the new conciliator is appointed [pursuant to the 
Judgment Entry in City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers Association, Case No. 99-
CV-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County, Ohio], the Greenville Patrol Officers 
Association will not be permitted to submit a written statement or present evidence, 
pursuant to OAC. Rule 4117-9-06(E). 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

Su POHLER, CHAIRMAN 
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You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117 .13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was file10 ano ~ served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this /~ o.-- day of k..t 41 IZ • (l w 

2000. 

direct\06-06-00. 06 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTEDPURSUANTTOANORDEROFTHE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all panies had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has 1determined that we have violated the Jaw and has ordered us to post this 
Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and abide by 
the fo!lowing: 

The Greenvitte Patrol Officers Association is hereby ordered to· 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Refusing to bargain collective with the public employer by not timely filing its 
prehearing statement before a conciliation and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code SectlOn 4117.11 (8)(3). 

Take the foUowing affirmative action: 

( 1} Post for sixly days in aH the usual and normal postmg locations 
where bargaining unit employees work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations Board 
slating that the Greenville Patrol Officers Association shall cease 
and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the Order becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Greenville Patrol Officers Association, Case No. 99-ULP-06-0349 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board, 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 



SERB OPINION 2000-005 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

V, 

Greenville Patrol Officers Association, 

Respondent 

Case No. 99-ULP-06-0349 

OPINION 

VER/CH, Board Member: 

On June 17, 1999, the City of Greenville filed with the State Employment Relations 

Board ("Board" or "Complainant") an unfair labor practice charge against the Greenville 

Patrol Officers Association, pursuant to and in accordance with 0.RC. § 4117.12(B) and 

OAC. Rule 4117-7-01. On September 16, 1999, the Board determined that probable 

cause existed for believing that an unfair labor practice had been committed, authorized 

the issuance of a complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. The parties agreed to 

submit the case on stipulations and briefs in lieu of a hearing. On March 20, 2000, the 

parties presented oral arguments to the Board. For the reasons below, we find that the 

Greenville Patrol Officers Association committed an unfair labor practice in violation of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(3) when it did not file its prehearing statement until one day before 

the conciliation hearing, contrary to O.RC. § 4117.14(G)(3). 
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I. FINDINGS OF FACT' 

1. The City of Greenville ("City") is a "public employer" as defined in O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01 (8). (Stipulation ["Stip.11). 

2. The Greenville Patrol Officers Association ("Association") is an "employee 
organization" as defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). (Stip. 2). 

3. The City and the Association were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
effective January 1, 1996 to December 31, 1998 ("Agreement"), containing a 
grievance procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (Slip. 5; Joint 
Exhibit ["Jt. Exh."] 2). 

4. On or about November 2, 1998, the Association filed with the Board a Notice to 
Negotiate. (Stip. 6; Jt. Exh. 3). 

5. On February 5, 1999, the parties submitted their outstanding issues to a fact finder. 
(Stip. 7) 

6. On March 3, 1999, the fact finder issued his report and recommendations. The fact
finders report and recommendations were rejected by the City on March 9, 1999. 
The fact finder's report and recommendations were accepted by the Association on 
March 9, 1999. (Stip. 8; Jt. Exhs. 4-6). 

7. By a letter dated March 30, 1999, with an attachment, the Board confirmed the 
parties' selection of a conciliator by appointing Lawrence I. Donnelly as such. 
(Slip. 9; Jt. Exh. 7). 

8. The parties agreed to a conciliation hearing date of May 12, 1999. On May 7, 1999, 
the Association and the Board received the City's position statement, which was 
accompanied by specific language proposals. (Stip. 10; Jt. Exh. 8). 

9. On May 10, 1999, the Association transmitted to the conciliator and to the City only, 
via UPS next day air, the Association's position statement. The Association did not 
file a copy of the report with the Board. The City and the conciliator received the 
position statement on May 11, 1999. On May 11, 1999, the Association transmitted 

'References to the transcript or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for 
convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the 
record for that related finding of fact. 
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to the conciliator and the City a correction to Article 17, Vacations. (Stip. 11; Jt. 
Exhs. 9-1 0). 

10. O.RC. § 4117.14(G)(3), Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-06(E), and the 
SERB letter appointing the conciliator (and accompanying guidelines) refer to the 
submission of prehearing statements during the conciliation process. (Stip. 12; Jt 
Exh. 7). 

11. Conciliator Lawrence I. Donnelly issued his Award on May 28, 1999. He overruled 
the City's objections to the Association's late filing of its prehearing statement 
(Stip. 13; Jt Exh. 11) 

12. On or about June 18, 1999, the City filed a Motion for Order Vacating or Modifying 
Arbitration Award, in the case of City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers 
Association, Case No. 99-CV-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County, Ohio. 
(Slip. 14; Jt Exh. 12). 

13. On November 10, 1999, the Judgment Entry was entered by the Darke County 
Court of Common Pleas in the case of City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers 
Association. The Court, pursuant to O.R.C. § 2711 .10, ordered and decreed "that 
the State Employment Relations Board shall appoint a new conciliator to conduct 
further binding interest arbitration (conciliation) proceedings and shall schedule 
proceedings pursuant to law." (Stip. 15; Jt Exh. 13) 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. The Association Violated O.R.C. § 4117.1118)(3) 

0. RC. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, i;ii;. representatives, of public employees to: 

(3) Refuse to bargain collectively with a public employer if the 
employee organization is recognized as the exclusive representative or 
certified as the exclusive representative of public employees in a bargaining 
unit[.] 
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The City and the Association engaged in negotiations for a successor collective 

bargaining agreement. After going through the fact-finding proceedings, the parties still 

had not reached an agreement After selecting a conciliator, the parties agreed to a 

conciliation hearing date of May 12, 1999. On May 7, 1999, the Association and the Board 

received the City's position statement, which was accompanied by specific language 

proposals. The Association did not transmit its position statement to the conciliator and 

to the City until May 10, 1999. The Association did not file a copy of the report with the 

Board. The City and the conciliator received the position statement on May 11, 1999. On 

May 11, 1999, the Association transmitted to the conciliator and the City a correction to 

Article 17, Vacations. 

The conciliation process is contained in O.RC. § 4117.14(G), which provides in 

relevant part: 

(3) The conciliator shall conduct the hearing pursuant to rules 
developed by the board. He shall establish the hearing time and place, but 
it shall be, where feasible, within the jurisdiction of the state. Not later than 
five calendar days before the hearing, each of the patties shall submit to the 
conciliator, to the opposing party, and to the board, a written report 
summarizing the unresolved issues, the party's final offer as to the issues, 
and rationale for that position. (emphasis added). 

Absent ambiguity, a statute is to be construed without resort to a process of 

statutory construction. Central Ohio Transit Aufh v Transport Workers Union of America, 

1987 SERB 4-26, 4-28 (CP, Franklin, 2-27-87). V\lhere the language of a statute is plain 

and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for 

resorting to rules of statutory interpretation. Sears v. Weimer (1944), 143 Ohio St 312, 

Syllabus 11 5. An unambiguous statute is to be applied, not interpreted. Id. 
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The Association argues that its actions conformed with O.A.C. Rule 411 7-9-06(E)2 

and the SERB letter appointing the conciliator. It contends that the statute sets forth a 

general requirement concerning the submission of position statements while the Ohio 

Administrative Code elaborates upon that requirement to impose a penalty only if the 

position statement is not filed prior to the day of the hearing. "It is axiomatic that 

administrative rules are valid unless they are unreasonable, or in clear conflict with the 

statutory intent of the legislation governing the subject matter." Woodbridge Partners 

Group, Inc. v. Ohio Lottery Comm., 99 Ohio App.3d 269, 273 ( 1 O'h Dist Ct App., Franklin, 

1994). When the potential for conflict arises, the proper subject for determination is 

whether the rule contravenes an express provision of the statute. Id.; Carroll v. Dept. of 

Admin. Services (1983), 10 Ohio App.3d 108; Kelly v. Accountancy Bd. of Ohio (1993), 

88 Ohio App.3d 453. We note that the statute and the rule can be read together if we 

interpret "prior to the day of hearing" to mean five days before the hearing as the statute 

requires. But we do not need to look to an administrative rule to interpret this statute. 

O.R.C. § 4117. 14(G)(3) plainly requires the employer and the employee organization to file 

their position statements no later than five days before the conciliation hearing. Our duty 

is to apply this statute in its clear and unambiguous form. 

The filing of the position statements is a critical step in the conciliation process, 

which is reinforced by the mand<1tory language used by the General Assembly. The failure 

to timely file a position statement constitutes a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5) by a 

public employer or a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.1 l(B)(3) by an employee organization 

Therefore, we find that the Association, by not timely filing its position statement in 

20.A.C. Rule 4117-9-06(E) provides in relevant part: 

Upon notice of the conciliator's appointment, each party shall submit to the 
conciliator and serve on the other party a written statement. A failure to submit 
such a written statement to the conciliator and the other party prior to the day of the 
hearing shall require the conciliator to take evidence only in support of matters 
raised in the written statement that was submitted prior to the hearing. • ' • 
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accordance with this statutory requirement, has committed an unfair labor practice in 

violation ofO.RC. §4117.11 (8)(3). 

B. Remedy 

On or about June 18, 1999, the City filed a Motion for Order Vacating or Modifying 

Arbitration Award, in the case of City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers Association, 

Case No. 99-CV-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County, Ohio. On November 10, 

1999, the Judgment Entry was entered by the Court The Court, pursuant to ORC. 

§ 2711 .1 0, ordered and decreed "that the State Employment Relations Board shall appoint 

a new conciliator to conduct further binding interest arbitration (conciliation) proceedings 

and shall schedule proceedings pursuant to law." 

The Association asserts that the Court's Entry is appropriate and fulfills the 

purposes of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 because the statute "is designed to give each of the 

parties an equal opportunity to formulate their last best offer to present in conciliation." 

Association's Brief, p. 7. Consequently, the Association submits that the appropriate 

remedy for this violation is to appoint a new conciliator and give the parties an opportunity 

to submit their final offer positions and proceed to hearing under O.R. C. § 4117. 14(G)(3) 

Under OAC. Rule 4117-9-06(E), the failure to submit timely a position statement 

will result in the conciliator taking evidence only in support of matters raised in the written 

statement that was timely submitted. While the violation that was committed was the 

untimely filing of the position statement, the errorthat was committed was the conciliator's 

acceptance of the position statement Thus, to carry out both O.R.C. § 4117.14(G)(3) and 

OAC. Rule 4117-9-06(E), the remedy must be imposed at the point in the conciliation 

process where the conciliator's procedural error occurred. If the conciliator had not allowed 

the untimely submission, he would have taken evidence only in support of the matters 
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raised in the City's position statement. Therefore, when the new conciliator is appointed, 

the new conciliator can take evidence only in support of matters raised in the City's written 

statement. The Association will not be permitted to submit a written statement or present 

evidence pursuant to OAC. Rule 4117-9-06(E). In addition, a cease-and-desist order will 

be issued, and the Association will be ordered to post a notice to employees as a part of 

this remedy. 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Greenville is a "public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C. 
§ 4117 01 (B). 

2. The Greenville Patrol Officers Association is an "employee organization" within the 
meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

3. When the Greenville Patrol Officers Association submitted its written report 
summarizing the unresolved issues to the conciliator and the City less than five 
days before the conciliation hearing, the Association acted contrary to O.R.C. 
§ 4117.14(G)(3) and in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(3). 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Greenville Patrol Officers Association 

committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(3) when it did not file 

its prehearing statement until one day before the conciliation hearing, contrary to ORC. 

§ 4117.14(G)(3). When the new conciliator is appointed, the Association will not be 

permitted to submit a written statement or present evidence pursuant to OAC. Rule 4117-

9-06(E). In addition, a cease-and-desist order will be issued, and the Association will be 

ordered to post a notice to employees for sixty days as a part of this remedy. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

V, 

City of Greenville, 

Respondent 

Case No. 99-ULP-07..0427 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
June 6. 2000. 

On July 21, 1999, the Greenville Patrol Officers Association filed an unfair labor 
practice charge against the City of Greenville ("Respondent'). On November 4, 1999, the 
State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") found probable cause to 
believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and 
(A)(5) and directed the matter to hearing. 

The parties agreed to submit the case on stipulations and briefs in lieu of a hearing. 
On November 19, 1999, the "Stipulations of the Parties" were filed. On December 20, 
1999, the parties filed their briefs. On February 3, 2000, the Board transferred the case 
from the Hearings Section for a decision on the merits; coordinated this case with SERB 
v. Greenville Patrol Officers Association, Case No. 99-ULP-06-0349, for hearing; and 
directed the parties' representatives to appear for an oral argument. On March 20, 2000, 
the parties presented their oral arguments to the Board Also on March 20, 2000, the 
Board directed the parties to mediation; the Board also stated that its decision in this 
matter would be withheld while mediation continues during the thirty-day period. 

After reviewing the stipulations of fact, the parties' briefs, oral arguments, and all 
filings, the Board finds for the reasons stated in the attached Opinion, incorporated by 
reference, that the City of Greenville committed an unfair labor practice in violation of 
O.R.C. Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally implemented terms and 
conditions of employment that had been rejected by the conciliator. 
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The City of Greenville is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing its bargaining-unit employees 
in the exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117, or refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive 
representative of its employees, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)( 1) and 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining unit employees work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board stating that the City of Greenville shall cease and desist 
from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final 
of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

The Board also orders the parties to maintain the current terms and conditions of 
employment, which include the unilateral changes made by the City of Greenville, as the 
status quo until the new conciliator's award is issued. [The new conciliator is to be 
appointed pursuant to the Judgment Entry in City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers 
Association, Case No. 99-CV-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County, Ohio]. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 
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You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117. 13(D) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 432154213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

m•"· rerum """'',.,,.,led,,,, fu" L&~, 01 r 
2000. 

direct\06-06-00.07 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

fRS 21)12 

POSTED PURSUANT TD AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing \n which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, \he Stale Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered vs to post this 
Notice. We intend to crny out ttie order of the State Employment Relations Board and abide by 
the following: 

The City of Greenville is hereby ordered to· 

A Cease and desist from: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing its bargaining-unit employees in the 
exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, or refusing lo 
bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its employees, and from 
otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and 4117.11 (A)(5). 

Take the following affirmative action: 

( 1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posfing locations 
where bargain'1ng unit employees work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the Stale Employment Relations Board 
staling that the City of Greenville shall cease and desist from actions 
set forth in paragraph {A) and shall take the affirmative action set 
forth in paragraph (B); and 

{2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writin9 within twenty 
calendar days from the date the Order becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. City of Greenville, Case No. 99-ULP-07-0421 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be attered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

City of Greenville, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP-07-0427 

OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member: 

On July 21, 1999, the Greenville Patrol Officers Association filed with the State 

Employment Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant') an unfair labor practice charge 

against the City of Greenville, pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(8) and 

OAC. Rule 4117-7-01. On November4, 1999, the Board determined that probable cause 

existed for believing that an unfair labor practice had been committed, authorized the 

issuance of a complaint, referred the matter to hearing, and directed the parties to the 

unfair labor, practice mediation process. The parties agreed to submit the case on 

stipulations and briefs in lieu of a hearing. On March 20, 2000, the parties presented oral 

arguments to the Board. For the reasons below, we find that the City of Greenville 

committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) by 

unilaterally implementing terms and conditions of employment rejected by the conciliator. 
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I. FINDINGS OF FACT' 

1. The City of Greenville ("City") is a "public employer" as defined in O.RC. 
§ 4117.01 (B). (Stipulation ["Stip.'1 I). 

2. The Greenville Patrol Officers Association ("Association") is an "employee 
organization" as defined in O.RC. § 4117 01 (0). (Stip. 2). 

3. The City and the Association were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
effective January 1, 1996 to December 31, 1998 ("Agreemenr'), containing a 
grievance procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (Stip. 5; Joint 
Exhibit ["Jt Exh.") 2). 

4. On or about November 2, 1998, the Association filed with the Board a Notice to 
Negotiate (Stip. 6; Jt. Exh. 3). 

5. On February 5, 1999, the parties submitted their outstanding issues to a fact finder. 
(Stip. 7). 

6. On March 3, 1999, the fact finder issued his report and recommendations. Thefact
finder's report and recommendations were rejected by the City on March 9, 1999. 
The fact finder's report and recommendations were accepted by the Association on 
March 9, 1999. (Stip. 8; Jt Exhs. 4-6) 

7. By a letter dated March 30, 1999, with an attachment, the Board confirmed the 
parties' selection of a conciliator by appointing Lawrence I. Donnelly as such. 
(Stip 9; Jt Exh. 7). 

8. The parties agreed to a conciliation hearing date of May 12, 1999. On May 7, 1999, 
the Association and the Board received the City's position statement, which was 
accompanied by specific language proposals. (Stip. 10; Jt. Exh. 8). 

9. On May 10, 1999, the Association transmitted to the conciliator and to the City only, 
via UPS next day air, the Association's position statement The City and the 
conciliator received the position statement on May 11, 1999. On May 11, 1999, the 
Association transmitted to the conciliator and the City a correction to Article 17, 
Vacations. (Stip. 11; Jt Exhs. 9-10). 

'References to the transcript or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for 
convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the 
record for that related finding of fact. 
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1 o. O.RC. § 4117.14(G)(3), Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-06(E), and the 
SERB letter appointing the conciliator (and accompanying guidelines) refer to the 
submission of prehearing statements during the conciliation process. (Stip. 12; Jt 
Exh. 7). 

11. Conciliator Lawrence I. Donnelly issued his Award on May 28, 1999. He overruled 
the City's objections to the Association's late filing of its prehearing statement He 
awarded the Association's positions on vacations, wages, and the first effective date 
of the Agreement; he awarded the City's position on insurance. (Stip. 13; Jt 
Exh. 11) 

12. On or about June 18, 1999, the City filed a Motion for Order Vacating or Modifying 
Arbitration Award, in the case of City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers 
Association, Case No. 99-W-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County, Ohio. 
The City did not request or obtain a stay of the Conciliator's Award. (Slips 14-15; 
Jt Exh. 12). 

13. On November 10, 1999, the Judgment Entry was entered by the Darke County 
Court of Common Pleas in the case of City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol Officers 
Association. The Court, pursuant to O.R.C. § 2711.10, ordered and decreed "that 
the State Employment Relations Board shall appoint a new conciliator to conduct 
further binding interest arbitration (conciliation) proceedings and shall schedule 
proceedings pursuant to law." (Stip. 15; Jt. Exh. 13). 

14. On July 6, 1999, while the matter was pending in the Darke County Court of 
Common Pleas, the City unilaterally implemented the 3.0% wage increase that the 
City had proposed at the conciliation hearing. The Conciliator had awarded a 3.5% 
wage increase effective January 1, 1999. (Stip. 17; Jt Exh. 11) 

15. By a letter dated July 9, 1999, the City notified the Association of the City's intention 
to implement its own proposals at the conciliation hearing contrary to the 
conciliator's award. (Stip. 18; Jt Exh. 14). 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. The Citv Violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 
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(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rigt}.t~ guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 
employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.) 

The City and the Association engaged in negotiations for a successor collective 

bargaining agreement. After going through the fact-finding proceedings, the parties still 

had not reached an agreement. After selecting a conciliator, the parties agreed to a 

conciliation hearing date of May 12, 1999. On May 7, 1999, the Association and the Board 

received the City's position statement, which was accompanied by specific language 

proposals. The Association did not transmit its position statement to the conciliator and 

to the City until May 10, 1999. The Association did not file a copy of the report with the 

Board. The City and the conciliator received the position statement on May 11, 1999. On 

May 11, 1999, the Association transmitted to the conciliator and the City a correction to 

Article 17, Vacations. 

The conciliator issued his award, which overruled the City's objections to the 

Association's late filing of its prehearing statement. He awarded the Association's 

positions on vacations, wages, and the first effective date of the Agreement; he awarded 

the City's position on insurance. The City filed a Motion for Order Vacating or Modifying 

Arbitration Award, in the case of CityofGreenvifle v. Greenville Patrol Officers Association, 

Case No. 99-CV-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County, Ohio. The City did not 

request or obtain a stay of the Conciliator's Award. While the matter was pending in the 

Darke County Court of Common Pleas, the City unilaterally implemented the 3.0% wage 

increase that the City had proposed at the conciliation hearing; the Conciliator had 

awarded a 3.5% wage increase effective January 1, 1999. 

The issuance of a final offer settlement award constitutes a binding mandate to the 

parties to take whatever actions necessary to implement the award, pursuant to O.R.C. 
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§ 4117.14(1). In re Clermont County Sheriff, SERB 87-015 (7-21-87). The City 

acknowledges that implementing a wage increase that is contrary to a conciliator's award 

would be an unfair labor practice "under ordinary circumstances." City's Brief, p. 3. The 

City asserts "that the circumstances of this case are far from ordinary." Id. In support, the 

City points to the Association's alleged violation of O.R.C. § 4117.14{G){3), which is the 

subject of an unfair labor practice charge (Case No. 99-ULP-06-0349) filed by the City. 

This argument is without merit and contrary to SERB precedent. In re Clermont County 

Sheriff, supra. 

With this act, the City has engaged in self-help remedies for potential statutory 

violations. Self-help remedies against unfair labor practices invade SERB's exclusive 

jurisdiction in O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 and 4117.12 and undermine the statutory mechanisms 

that provide protection against, and remedies for, unfair labor practices. In re City of North 

Royalton, SERB 99-002 (1-22-99) at 3-14. If the Association has acted improperly, the 

City's appropriate response is to file an unfair labor practice charge, which the City has 

done. If the conciliator has committed an error by accepting the Association's prehearing 

statement and taking evidence in support of the issues contained in it, the City's 

appropriate response is to appeal the decision to the court of common pleas under 0. R. C. 

§ 4117.14(H), which the City has done. To unilaterally implement the terms and conditions 

of employment rejected by the conciliator is an inappropriate response that violates O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5), which the City has done. 

B. Remedv 

Ordinarily, the remedy would be to rescind the City's implementation of its own 

proposals and to return the parties to the status quo prior to implementation, as the 

Complainant suggests. But in the Judgment Entry in City of Greenville v. Greenville Patrol 

Officers Association, Case No. 99-CV-57669, Court of Common Pleas, Darke County. 
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Ohio, the Court, pursuant to O.R.C. § 2711 .10, ordered and decreed "that the Stale 

Employment Relations Board shall appoint a new conciliator to conduct further binding 

interest arbitration (conciliation) proceedings and shall schedule proceedings pursuant to 

law" Consequently, we cannot return the parties to the status quo before implementation 

since it no longer exists. As a result, we order the parties to maintain the current terms and 

conditions of employment, which include the City's unilateral changes, as the status quo 

until the new conciliator's award is issued, unless they mutually agree otherwise. The error 

committed by the conciliator's acceptance of the position statement will also be corrected 

through the new conciliation hearing. Thus, the only remaining remedy is to issue a cease

and-desist order with a notice to employees to be posted by the City. 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Greenville is a "public employer'' within the meaning of O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Greenville Patrol Officers Association is an "employee organization" within the 
meaning ofO.R.C. §4117.01 (D). 

3. When the City of Greenville unilaterally implemented the terms and conditions of 
employment rejected by the conciliator, the City engaged in bad-faith bargaining in 
violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ) and (A)(5). 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the City of Greenville committed an unfair labor 

practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.1 l(A)(I) and (A)(5) by unilaterally implementing 

terms and conditions of employment rejected by the conciliator. The parties are ordered 

to maintain the current terms and conditions of employment, including the City's unilateral 

changes, until the new conciliator's award is issued. A cease-and-desist order will be 

issued, and the City will be ordered to post a notice to employees as a part of this remedy. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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STA TE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Cuyahoga County Commissioners, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99·ULP.05.0273 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
June 22, 2000. 

On May 13, 1999, the Service Employees International Union, Local 47 ("Charging 
Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Cuyahoga County Commissioners 
("Respondent'). On September 16, 1999, the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" 
or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) and directed the matter to hearing. 

On December 1, 1999, a hearing was conducted. On February 14, 2000, an 
Administrative Law Judge issued a Proposed Order recommending that the Board find that 
the Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117. 11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) when it 
refused to honor an executed Settlement Agreement resolving a grievance filed by David 
Clopper. On March 8, 2000, the Respondent filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On 
March 20, 2000, the Complainant filed its response to the exceptions. Also on March 20, 
2000, the Charging Party filed its cross-exceptions to the Proposed Order. On April 1 O, 
2000, the Complainant filed its response to the cross-exceptions. 

After reviewing the record, including the transcript, exceptions, cross-exceptions, 
and responses, the Board adopts additional Finding of Fact No. 14, which states: "Once 
a settlement agreement is reached for a grievance, the matter is presented as a 'personnel 
action form' to the Board of County Commissioners for approval at a public meeting 
Before January 19, 1999, the Board of County Commissioners had always voted whether 
ta approve the settlement agreement and, as a result, to take the personnel action 
recommended."; renumbers the conclusions of law in the Proposed Order; amends new 
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Conclusion of Law No. 4 to read: "The Cuyahoga County Commissioners violated O.R.C. 
§§ 4117 .11 (A)(I) and (A)(S) by refusing to take action in any manner on an executed 
Settlement Agreement resolving a grievance filed by David Clopper."; adopts the Findings 
of Fact and Conclusions of Law, as amended, in the Proposed Order; and finds for the 
reasons stated in the attached Opinion, incorporated by reference, that the Cuyahoga 
County Commissioners committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. 
Sections 4117 .1 l(A)(I) and (A)(S) by refusing to take action in any manner on the 
executed Settlement Agreement resolving a grievance filed by Mr. Clopper. 

We hereby order the Cuyahoga County Commissioners to: 

A Cease and desist from: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing its bargaining-unit employees 
in the exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117, or refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive 
representative of its employees, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(I) and 4117.11 (A)(S). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

( 1 ) Place the Settlement Agreement resolving the grievance filed 
by David Clopper on the agenda for the Board of County 
Commissioners for a regularly scheduled meeting within forty. 
five days of receipt of this Opinion and Order and act upon the 
Settlement Agreement at such meeting; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Service 
Employees International Union, Local 47 work, the NOTICE 
TO EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the Cuyahoga County 
Commissioners shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final 
of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

,~,r-01..~ 
OHLER. CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 432154213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

m•B, return -~ "'"~''"'" oo fu;, o\ J. ~ d•y of 21-' d m ' , 

2000. 

direct\06-22·00. 13 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing ·in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us ta post this 
Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and abide by 
the following: 

The Cuyahoga County Commissioners are hereby ordered ta 

A Cease and desis1 from: 

interfering with, restraining, or coercing its bargaining~unit employees in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, or refusing to bargain collectively 
with the exclusive representative of its employees, and from otheiwise violating Ohio 
Re~sed Code Sections 4117.1 l(A)(I) and 4117.1 l(A)(5). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

Place the Settlement Agreement resolving the grievance filed by David Clopper on 
the agenda for the Board of County Commissioners for a regularly scheduled 
meeting within forty-five days of receipt of this Opinion and Order and act upon the 
Settlement Agreement al such meeting; 

Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where . bargaining-
unit employees represented by the Service Employees lntemat1onal Union, local 
47 work, the NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the Cuyahoga County Commissioners shall cease and 
desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action 
set forth in paragraph (B); and 

Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar days 
from (he date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply 
therewith. 

SERB v. Cuyahoga County Commissioners 
Case No. 99-ULP-05-0273 

BY DATE 

I E 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

ERS 2cr2 This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be a!tered, defaced, or covered hy any other material. My questions concemlng this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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ST ATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Cuyahoga County Commissioners, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP-05-0273 

OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") on the exceptions, cross-exceptions, and responses to the 

exceptions and cross-exceptions to the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order issued 

on February 14, 2000. The issue to be decided is whether the Cuyahoga County 

Commissioners' refusal to take action on a settlement agreement resolving a grievance 

constitutes an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") 

§§ 4117.1 l(A)(I) and (A)(5). For the reasons below, we find that the Cuyahoga County 

Commissioners violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)( 1) and (A)(5). 

I. BACKGROUND 

Service Employees International Union, Local 47 ("Union") is the exclusive 

representative for certain employees of the Cuyahoga County Commissioners ("County"). 

At all relevant times, the Union represented Custodial Worker David Clopper. The County 

and the Union have had a collective bargaining relationship for many years and are parties 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-05-0273 
Page 2 of 7 

to a collective bargaining agreement effective January 1, 1997 to December 1, 1999 

("CBA"), containing a grievance procedure that culminates in binding arbitration. The 

grievance procedure provides in relevant part as follows: 

SECTION 1 A grievance is any matter concerning the interpretation 
application [sic] or alleged violation of this Agreement between the County 
and the Union, or which alleges an employee has been discharged or 
~i,?l(iplined without just cause. 

SECTION 3 A grievance relating to discharge, suspension, layoff, recall, 
bumping rights or job bidding, may be filed at Step 3 of the grievance 
i;ir.or;edure. 

SECTION 7 Any grievance not answered by Management within the 
stipulated time limits shall be considered to have been [sic] and may be 
appealed to the next step of the grievance procedure. Pending and future 
g~~vances shall be resolved in the following manner: 

STEP 3 Countv Office of Labor Relations If the grievance is not 
thereby resolved [at Step 2), a written copy shall be submitted to the 
County's Manager of Labor Relations or his designee within five (5) working 
days after the Union receives the answer under Step 2. A meeting shall be 
held between the County Manager and/or designee, the Local 47 Business 
Representative, the Steward and the Grievant. Within ten (10) working days 
from the date of the meeting, a written response to the grievance shall be 
sent to the Union. 
SECTION 8 If the grievance is not settled at Step 3, the matter will then be 
submitted to the Executive Board of the Union at its next regular meeting 
following receipt of the Step 3 answer, and if it is the decision of the 
Executive Board to submit the matter to binding arbitration, such matter will 
then be submitted. • • • (emphasis added). 

Once a settlement agreement is reached for a grievance, the matter is presented 

as a "personnel action form" to the Board of County Commissioners for approval at a public 

meeting. Before January 19, 1999, the Board of County Commissioners had always voted 

whetherto approve the settlement agreement and, as a result, to take the personnel action 

recommended. 
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On July 2, 1998, Mr. Clopper was relieved of his duties as a Custodial Worker, but 

continued to receive pay as a full-time employee. On July 6, 1998, Mr. Clopper filed a 

grievance under the CBA concerning his relief from duty. On August 11, 1998, the Board 

of County Commissioners voted at its meeting to terminate Mr. Clapper's employment 

effective August 19, 1998. 

On October 22, 1998, a document titled "Settlement Agreement" was signed by 

Mr. Clopper and Union Business Representative Dennis Dingow. On October 23, 1998, 

the Settlement Agreement was signed by County Labor Relations Specialist Gerard 

Vancavage, the County's designee under Step 3 of the grievance procedure. 

On October 26, 1998, Nicholas E. Vaccariello, Personnel Administrator for the 

County's Department of Central Services, sent Mr. Clopper a letter informing him that he 

was to report to work on November 16, 1998. The letter also stated that his removal was 

reduced to a 62-day suspension without pay. Before November 16, 1998, however, the 

County informed Mr. Clopper that he was not to report to work. 

Labor Relations Administrator Egdilio Morales, who became employed by the 

County in November 1998, spoke with Mr. Dingow about the Settlement Agreement in 

December 1998 and January 1999. Mr. Morales informed Mr. Dingow that the County 

Commissioners had to vote on whether Mr. Clopper would be reinstated. When 

Mr. Dingow asked why the County might decide not to allow Mr. Clopper to return to work, 

Mr. Morales said a Commissioner had received a letterfrom the County Prosecutor's Office 

recommending that Mr. Clopper not be reinstated. 

In January 1999, Mr. Morales sent Mr. Dingow a letter stating that the Settlement 

Agreement would be placed on the Board of County Commissioners' agenda for 

January 19, 1999, for reinstatement on January 19, 1999. Mr. Clopper reported to work 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-05-0273 
Page 4 of 7 

on January 19, 1999, but was not allowed to work. The Board of County Commissioners 

did not vote to accept or reject the Settlement Agreement on January 19, 1999; the matter 

was removed from the agenda. The Board of County Commissioners never voted whether 

to accept or reject the Settlement Agreement 

II. DISCUSSION 

0. RC. § 4117 .11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
rights 9\!f!ranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 
employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

Whether a party has engaged in good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality 

of the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, AFL-CIO, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). 

The Union argues that the County has repudiated a settlement agreement that its 

representative signed while exercising actual authority. Although an employer may be 

willing to meet at length with the exclusive representative and discuss substantive issues, 

an employer refuses to bargain in good faith if it offers a proposal that it knows it does not 

have authority to implement In re Springfield Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-007 

(5-1-97). This principle holds true unless the party to whom the offer is made knows or has 

reason to know that the party lacks the capacity to make such an offer. Jn re Ohio Dept 

of Health, SERB 99-007 (5-6-99). In the present case, the Union knew or should have 

known that the representative could not enter into an agreement that would bind the 

County without the contract being approved by the Board of County Commissioners at a 

public meeting. The Union's cross-exceptions address alleged violations occurring after 
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the alleged repudiation. But we cannot reach the issue of a possible repudiation because 

the Board of County Commissioners has refused to take action on the settlement 

agreement resolving a grievance. The inaction of the Board of County Commissioners 

demonstrates that good faith can also be breached when an employer has the authority 

to implement, but refuses to act, thereby committing an unfair labor practice in violation of 

ORC. §§ 4117.1 l(A)(I) and (A)(5). 

A. The Grievance Procedure 

Good-faith bargaining extends to the grievance process. Grievance meetings are 

both an extension and an inherent part of the collective bargaining process. Jn re Bryan 

City Bd of Ed, SERB 97-003 (3-14-97) ("Bryan"). In Bryan, supra at 3-13, the Board 

obseNed that the goal of any grievance procedure is for the parties to make a good faith 

attempt to settle disputes and to adjust the grievances presented. 

The material facts are essentially undisputed. In negotiating the Settlement 

Agreement, Mr. Vancavage was acting as the County's representative under Step 3 of the 

grievance procedure. As a Labor Relations Specialist, Mr. Vancavage makes efforts to 

resolve grievances by settlement during Step 3 and the entire grievance process. His 

authority to negotiate and settle grievances on behalf of the County is set forth in Article 8 

of the CBA, which clearly contemplates settlement of grievances at Step 3. Before the 

settlement of Mr. Clopper's grievance occurred, Mr. Vancavage's grievance settlements 

were always voted on by the Board of County Commissioners. The grievance settlements 

were addressed by the settlement being placed on the agenda for a regular meeting and 

being voted on by the Board of County Commissioners. 

The County argues that O.R.C. § 305.25 renders the Settlement Agreement invalid 

absent the approval of the Board of County Commissioners. This argument has merit. 

O.R.C. § 305.25 provides in relevant part as follows: 
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No contract entered into by the board of county commissioners * * * shall be 
valid unless it has been assented to at a regular or special session of the 
board and entered in the minutes of its proceedings by the county auditor or 
the clerk of the board. 

The provisions of a collective bargaining agreement entered into pursuant to O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117 prevail over conflicting laws. O.R.C. § 4117.1 O(A); City of Cincinnati v. Ohio 

Council 8, American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO 

(1991), 61 Ohio St.3d 658, at Syllabus 1) 1, 1991 SERB 4-87. However, no conflict exists 

between the CBA and O.R.C. § 305.25. It is undisputed that the CBA was duly adopted 

by the Board of County Commissioners. The CBA contains a grievance procedure that 

provides for the resolution of grievances by designated representatives of the County. The 

grievance procedure in the CBA allows for grievance settlement agreements. O.R.C. 

§ 305.25 then requires that such agreements, to be valid, must be approved by the Board 

of County Commissioners at a public meeting. The Union knew or should have known that 

Mr. Vancavage lacked actual or apparent authority to bind the County without the final 

approval of the Board of County Commissiohers. 

The problem in this case is that the Board of County Commissioners refused to act 

in any manner. The Board of County Commissioners had placed this Settlement 

Agreement on the agenda several times, but the Board of County Commissioners had 

removed the agreement from the agenda before taking action. Thus, Mr. Clopper was 

placed in a constant state of limbo by being told to report to work, and then not being 

allowed to work when he reported as instructed by the County. 

In this case, a grievance was filed and processed through the steps to settlement. 

By taking no action whatsoever, the grievance is being held hostage by the County; thus. 

the County is preventing the Union from taking any further action on the grievance. If for 

some reason, the County is not prepared to approve the terms of the Settlement 

Agreement, then the Union must be allowed to continue to process the grievance through 
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the remainder of the grievance and arbitration procedure. At the time the grievance was 

deemed settled, any time restraints for processing the grievance were tolled and will restart 

after the Board of County Commissioners acts on the Settlement Agreement. Accordingly, 

the County's refusal to take any action on the Settlement Agreement constitutes bad-faith 

bargaining in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5).' 

B. Intervenor Is Not Entitled to Its Costs or Attornev Fees 

Intervenor asserts that it is entitled to its costs and attorney fees in this action. 

Intervenor cites no legal authority in support of this provision. Moreover, SERB brought 

this action as the Complainant and was represented throughout by the Attorney General. 

No extraordinary circumstances are present in this case that would warrant an award of 

costs and fees to Intervenor. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Cuyahoga County Commissioners 

committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.RC. §§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) by 

refusing to take action in any manner on an executed Settlement Agreement resolving a 

grievance filed by Mr. Clopper. The Cuyahoga County Commissioners are ordered to 

place the Settlement Agreement resolving the grievance filed by Mr. Clopper on its agenda 

for a regularly scheduled meeting within forty-five days of receipt of this Opinion and Order 

and act upon the Settlement Agreement at such meeting. In addition, a cease-and-desist 

order will be issued, and the County will be ordered to post a notice to employees for sixty 

days as a part of this remedy. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 

'O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(I) represents a derivative violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5) in this 
instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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ST ATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

City of North Ridgeville, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP.09-0506 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
June 22, 2000. 

On September 2, 1999, the North Ridgeville Fire Fighters, Local 2129, IAFF 
("Charging Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of North Ridgeville 
("Respondent"). On December 9, 1999, the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" 
or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) and directed the matter to hearing. 

The parties agreed to submit the case on stipulations and briefs in lieu of a hearing. 
On February 11, 2000, the "Joint Stipulations of Fact" were flied. On March 27, 2000, the 
parties filed their briefs. On April 6, 2000, the Board transferred the case from the 
Hearings Section for a decision on the merits. 

After reviewing the stipulations of fact, the parties' briefs, and all filings, the Board 
finds for the reasons stated in the attached Opinion, incorporated by reference, that the 
City of North Ridgeville committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. 
Sections 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally implemented physical fitness 
standards for fire fighters hired after June 9, 1999, since the City failed to show that the 
minimum physical fitness abilities or qualifications ii established are valid measures of a 
fire fighters's ability to perform one or more essential functions of his or her job. 
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We hereby order the City of North Ridgeville to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing its bargaining-unit employees 
in the exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117, or refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive 
representative of its employees, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)( 1) and 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

concur. 

( 1 ) Reinstate the physical fitness policy as it existed before the 
unilateral changes on June 9, 1999; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the North 
Ridgeville Fire Fighters, Local 2129, IAFF work, the NOTICE 
TO EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the City of North Ridgeville shall 
cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and 
shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final 
of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 

........ / (8_~ ~ D 
SUPOHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 432154213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 
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I certify that this document was filed and a copy seNed upoMach party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this J), n «' ~ -, ,. · - day of ,~ J..A-'<. 

2000. 

( y 
·~, f< Y.k~tW.t 

SALLY L. BARAttLOUX, EXECUTIVE SECRETAM-

direct\06-22-00. 10 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

EF18 2012 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing ln which all parties hac an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this 
Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and abide by 
lhe following 

The Cily of North Ridgeville IS hereby ordered to: 

A Cease and desist from· 

lnlertering wilh, reslraining, or coercing ifs bargaining-unit employees in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117. or refusing to bargain collectively 
with the exclusive representative of its employees, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Seclions 4117.1 l(A)(I) and 4117.I 1(A)(5). 

B. Take the following affirmative action 

(1) Reinstate the physical fitness policy as it existed before the unilateral changes on 
June 9, 1999: 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining~ 
unit employees represented by the North Ridgeville Fire Fighters, Local 2129, IAFF 
work, lhe NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES furnished by lhe Slale Employmenl Relations 
Board stating that the City of North Ridgeville shall cease and desist from actions 
set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B): and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in wnting within twenty calendar days 
from the date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply 
therewith. 

SERB v. City of North Ridgeville 
Case No. 99-ULP-09-0506 

BY 

TITLE 

DATE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be altered, defaced, or covered by any . other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed lo the State Employment Relations Board. 



SERB OPINION 2000-008 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

City of North Ridgeville, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP-09-0506 

OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon joint stipulations of fact and briefs filed by the parties. The 

issue to be decided is whether the unilateral implementation of physical fitness standards 

for fire fighters hired after June 9, 1999, by the City of North Ridgeville ("City") constitutes 

an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A){1) and 

(A)(5). For the reasons below, we find that the city violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 {A){1) and 

(A)(5) by unilaterally implementing physical fitness standards for fire fighters hired after 

June 9, 1999, since the City failed to show that the minimum physical fitness abilities or 

qualifications it established are valid measures of a fire fighter's ability to perform one or 

more essential functions of his or her job. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The City of North Ridgeville ("City") is a public employer as defined by O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01(B). (Stipulation ("S.'11) 

2. The North Ridgeville Professional Fire Fighters, Local 2129, IAFF ("Union") is an 
"employee organization" as defined by R.C. § 4117.01(0). The Union is the 
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exclusive bargaining representative for the full-time fire fighters, lieutenants, and 
captains employed within the City's fire department. (S. 2) 

3. The City and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective 
January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2000 ("Agreement") containing a grievance 
procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (S. 3; JI. Exh. ["Jt. 
Exh."] 1. 

4. On June 9, 1999, the City's Division of Fire issued its "Guidelines for Physical 
Fitness Standards." The directive stated: "(l]t is the policy of this Department that 
all Firefighters hired after June 9, 1999 and all members who choose to voluntarily 
participate, will achieve and maintain established minimum physical fitness 
standards while employed by this Department." The individuals required to 
participate in the program will be tested at least twice per year. The directive further 
stated that failure to meet the minimum physical standards required reevaluation, 
counseling, a letter of reprimand, and more severe discipline. (S. 4; Jt. Exh. 2) 

5. The City did not negotiate with the Union concerning the establishment of the 
minimum physical standards nor was this subject ever discussed during contract 
negotiations. It was the City's position that it was not obligated to bargain with the 
Union under these circumstances. A request to bargain was not filed by the Union. 
(S. 5) 

6. After the June 9, 1999 directive, but prior to being hired as fire fighters for the City, 
Tony Carrozzino and Mark Cominsky were both required to sign a document 
acknowledging and agreeing to the directive and to have it notarized before starting 
work. (S. 6; Jt. Exhs. 6 and 8) 

7. The Union filed an unfair labor practice charge with SERB on September 2, 1999, 
pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and 0.A.C. Rule 4117-7-
01. On December 9, 1999, SERB determined that probable cause existed for 
believing the City had committed or was committing unfair labor practices, 
authorized the issuance of a complaint, referred the matter to hearing, and directed 
the parties to the unfair labor practice mediation process. (S. 7 and 8) 

8. The Union filed a grievance in this matter on August 23, 1999. Pursuant to the 
Agreement, the grievance was pursued through the third and final step of the 
grievance process, but was not pursued to arbitration. (S. 9; Jt. Exh. 3) 

9. Pursuant to a directive issued in April 1995, candidates for a fire fighter's position 
in the City of North Ridgeville were required to be licensed paramedics. Before that 
date, a paramedic license was not a requirement. (S. 11) 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-09-0506 
Page 3of11 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. The Citv's Unilateral Implementation of Phvslcal Fitness Standards for Fire 
Fiqhters hired after June 9, 1999, violated O.R.C. !i!i 4117.11 IA)l1) and 1All5). 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) provide as follows 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;) 

* * * 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code 

Unless otherwise provided, public employers maintain the authority to determine 

matters of inherent managerial policy as outlined in O.R.C. § 4117.08(C). They are 

required, however, to bargain with an exclusive representative on all matters relating to 

wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment under O.R.C. § 4117.0B(A). 

Thus, if a given subject involves the exercise of inherent managerial discretion and also 

materially affects any of these factors, a balancing test must be applied to determine 

whether the subject is a mandatory or permissive subject of bargaining. In re SERB v. 

Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 95010 (6·30-95) (hereinafter 

"Youngstown'). Those management decisions that are found, on balance, to be 

mandatory subjects must be bargained before implementation, upon notice by the 

employer and a timely request by the employees' organization, except where emergency 

situations render prior bargaining impossible. 

In Youngstown, SERB adopted a balancing test for determining whether subjects 

of bargaining are mandatory or permissive when tension between O.R.C. § 4117.0B(A) and 

O.RC. § 4117.08(C) exists, as mentioned above. Under this test, the following factors 

must be balanced: 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-09-0506 
Page 4of11 

1) The extent to which the subject is logically and reasonably related to 
wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment; 

2) The extent to which the employer's obligation to negotiate may 
significantly abridge its freedom to exercise those managerial 
prerogatives set forth in and anticipated by O.R.C. 4117.0B(C), 
including an examination of the type of employer involved and 
whether inherent discretion on the subject matter at issue is 
necessary to achieve the employer's essential mission and its 
obligations to the general public; and 

3) The extent to which the mediatory influence of collective bargaining 
and, when necessary, any impasse resolution mechanisms available 
to the parties are the appropriate means of resolving conflicts over the 
subject matter. Id. at 3-76 • 3-77. 

In Cuyahoga County Sheriff3 Department, SERB 99-018 (6-30-99), the employer 

unilaterally issued a dress code providing that if a Corrections Officer failed to report to 

duty in compliance with the policy, the officer would not be allowed to work, would be 

declared A.W.O.L., and would be subject to further disciplinary action. We noted that the 

dress code would have been a management prerogative if it had been properly formulated 

and implemented. We held that where an employer introduces a disciplinary component 

to a work rule or policy and the potential discipline affects wages, hours, or terms and other 

conditions of employment, the work rule or policy, whether new or revised, is a mandatory 

subject of bargaining. Id. at 3-1 17. Our focus in that case was on the disciplinary 

component, especially when the employer could declare a Corrections Officer A.W.O.L., 

which can result in the loss of income and other adverse employment consequences We 

found that the disciplinary component directly affected wages. Employees can anticipate 

receiving discipline for insubordination or neglect of duty if they break a work rule or policy. 

The Cuyahoga County Sheriff's Department case is distinguishable from the present case 

because it introduced a new disciplinary component, the A.W.O.L. declaration and its 

subsequent effects, in addition to any discipline for breaking a work rule. We will apply its 

holding to cases with similar facts. 
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In Youngstown, we found that the aim of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 is not realized by 

requiring bargaining over every management decision that affects employee working 

conditions. Similarly, we find that the aim of O.RC. Chapter 4117 is better realized by not 

requiring bargaining over every work rule or policy where a violation could result in some 

type of disciplinary action. Just as almost any managerial policy will have some effect on 

conditions of employment, so too will the violation of a work rule or policy always present 

the potential for disciplinary action affecting the terms and conditions of the violator's 

employment Therefore, we incorporate disciplinary components of any challenged work 

rule or policy into prong one of the Youngstown balancing test. Thus, if the subject of the 

work rule or the type and degree of discipline specified for an infraction of any work rule 

or policy is alleged to affect and is determined to have a material influence upon wages, 

hours, or terms and other conditions of employment and the underlying work rule or policy 

involves the exercise of inherent management discretion, implementation of the work rule 

or policy must be bargained unless, on balance, it is determined to be a permissive subject 

of bargaining. 

By a directive dated June 9, 1999, the City unilaterally established minimum 

physical fitness standards for all fire fighters hired after June 9, 1999. The directive 

required all new fire fighters to adhere to the established standards and required that they 

be tested twice a year to determine compliance. Moreover, the directive stated that failure 

to meet the minimum physical standards would require counseling, a letter of reprimand, 

and increasingly more severe discipline. The City did not negotiate with the exclusive 

representative of its full-time fire fighters, lieutenants, and captains, regarding the 

implementation of the minimum physical standards or the effects of a failure to meet said 

standards. The Union did not request to bargain over the standards; because of the 

policy's immediate implementation date, a request to bargain was not necessary since the 

matter was a fait accompli under Youngstown. 
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Under the first prong of the balancing test, the standards fall within the statutory 

phrase "wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment." Failure to meet the 

standards established by the City will result in disciplinary action against an employee. 

Continued failure will result in "increasingly more stringent disciplinary measures." 

Presumably, continued failure ultimately could result in an employee's removal. Therefore, 

it is clear that the minimum physical fitness standards established by the City have a 

material influence upon wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment 

Under the second prong of the test, the record is simply devoid of evidence showing 

any connection between an employee's failure to perform satisfactorily on the prescribed 

physical fitness test and his or her inability to perform one or more essential functions of 

the job of fire fighter. We note that the physical fitness test requirements applied only to 

fire fighters hired after June 9, 1999, instead of all fire fighters. By not applying these 

standards to the current fire fighters, the City itself is saying that the standards are not 

essential for performance of the fire fighters' duties. If an employer establishes minimum 

abilities or qualifications necessary to perform the workforwhich the employees were hired 

and it can be shown through validated tests, or other reliable evidence, that any employee 

not possessing the established abilities or qualifications simply cannot perform one or more 

essential functions of the job, then the employer could very effectively argue that inherent 

discretion in the area of physical fitness standards is necessary to achieve the employer's 

essential mission and its obligations to the general public. Further, an employer could 

argue that any obligation to negotiate such standards would significantly abridge its 

freedom to exercise those management prerogatives set forth in and anticipated by 0 .R. C. 

§ 411"7 .08(C) - especially its ability to maintain and improve the efficiency and 

effectiveness of governmental operations and to suspend, discipline, demote or discharge 

for just cause or layoff, transfer, assign, schedule, promote, or retain employees. O.R.C. 

§ 4117 .08(C)(3) and (C)(5). For public safety and policy considerations, no employer 

should be required to bargain over the implementation of a policy or work rule requiring 
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employees to possess the abilities and qualifications necessary to do their jobs or face 

discipline. 

Under the third prong of the test, the City has not shown a nexus between the 

physical fitness standards and ability to do the job of a fire fighter. Absent such evidence, 

we cannot find that the work rule or policy does or does not lend itself to the mediatory 

influence of collective bargaining. Because no such evidence was presented, tie cannot 

reach this conclusion in this case. 

Balancing the three prongs, we find that the Union's interest under the first prong 

is strong. The City's interest under the second prong is weak because it failed to establish 

that its physical fitness standards were valid indicators of the ability to perform the duties 

of a fire fighter. As a result of such failure, the City's physical fitness standards are not 

demonstrably job related. Under the third prong, the mediatory influence of collective 

bargaining is appropriate for this subject matter. Therefore, we find that the physical 

fitness standards for fire fighters are a mandatory subject of bargaining under these facts. 

Thus, the City violated O.RC. §§ 4117.1 l(A)(I) and (A)(5) when it implemented the 

standards without bargaining with the Union. 

B. Waiver 

Having concluded that physical fitness standards under the specific facts of this 

case are a mandatory subject of bargaining, it remains to be determined whether the Union 

has waived its right to bargain based on the Agreement's bargaining history and other 

extensive evidence. The City contends that several provisions of the parties' Agreement 

show that the Union has waived its right to bargain over physical fitness standards. 

Specifically, the City cites the language of Articles IV ("Management Rights"), IX ("Rules 

and Regulations"), XXX ("Obligation to Negotiate"), and XXXVI ('Total Agreement") of the 

Agreement. 
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It is well-settled that the waiver of a statutory right to bargain over a mandatory 

subject of bargaining must be established by clear and unmistakable action by the waiving 

party. Youngstown, supra at 3-81. It is not necessary that contract language specifically 

waive the right to bargain over a particular issue before the conduct of the parties can be 

considered. Id. A party's intent regarding waiver can be determined by examining contract 

language, bargaining history, and extrinsic evidence. Id. The question to be resolved is 

whether the Union by contract, bargaining history, or other extrinsic evidence waived its 

right to bargain over physical fitness standards for fire fighters hired after June 9, 1999. 

We find that the Union did not waive its right to bargain. 

The City first claims the Union waived its right to bargain over physical fitness 

standards by the language contained in items 3 and 7 in Article IV of the Agreement 

Item 7, by its terms, applies only to employees or positions "not within the bargaining unit 

established by this agreement" (emphasis added). Item 3, on the other hand, gives 

management the right to "determine the qualifications of employees covered by this 

Agreement consistent with applicable Civil Service Rules and Regulations." But the City 

has never claimed that the physical fitness standards it has imposed are qualifications for 

the position of fire fighter. If the standards were qualifications for the position of fire fighter, 

then al/fire fighters employed by the City would be required to meet the standards, not just 

new hires. Moreover, no evidence has been presented to show that the standards are 

consistent with applicable Civil Service Rules and Regulations as required by the language 

of Item 7. 

Article 9. 01 of the Agreement provides that the City has the authority to promulgate 

work rules, policies, procedures and directives to regulate the conduct of the City's 

business. Such language is far too general and vague to meet the "clear and 

unmistakable" standard. It is also not controlling in this case that the Union may have 

waived its right to bargain in 1995, when the City imposed the requirement that candidates 
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for a fire fighter position possess a paramedic license. Waiver of rights in one instance 

does not constitute a waiver of rights in all instances. To hold otherwise would result in 

parties forcing negotiations even when they may agree with the proposed change simply 

because failure to do so could be used against them in subsequent, unrelated matters. 

The City also argues that the so-called "zipper" clauses in the Agreement give it the 

right to implement its physical fitness policy without bargaining. Such clauses are intended 

to protect the status quo rather than provide justification for unilaterally changing the 

employment relationship. See, e g., NLRBv. Genera/ Electric Co. (C.A. 2, 1969), 418 F.2d 

736, cert. denied, 397 U.S. 965, 90 S. Ct. 995. Such clauses represent an agreement that 

the parties have resolved all proper subjects of bargaining for the duration of the collective 

bargaining agreement and allow either party to decline to negotiate on otherwise 

bargainable subjects. City of St. Bernard v SERB, 1994 SERB 4-52, 4-54 (1 st Dist Ct 

App, Hamilton, 7-24-94) citing Ohio Council 8, AFSCME v. Kent State University, 93 Ohio 

App.3d 728, 1994 SERB 4-9 (10'h Dist Ct App, Franklin, 3-29-94). 

Article 30.02 of the Agreement states in clear and unmistakable language: 

[F]or the life of this Agreement, the Employer and the Union each voluntarily 
and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not 
be obligated to negotiate collectively with respect to any subject or matter not 
specifically referred to or covered by this Agreement, even though such 
matters or subject may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation 
of either or both parties at the time they negotiated and signed this 
Agreement 

This language limits the rights and obligations of both parties. It does not expand those 

rights and responsibilities. 

Similarly, the language of Article 36.01 limits the City's right to modify or discontinue 

rules, regulations, benefits, and practices to those "previously and presently in effect" 
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unless specifically set forth in the express provisions of the Agreement. No evidence has 

been presented showing that physical fitness standards had previously been in effect or 

were presently in effect at the time the Agreement was signed. In addition, the Agreement 

does not expressly grant to the City the right to impose such standards. 

In conclusion, the physical fitness standards promulgated by the City are mandatory 

subjects of bargaining as they apply to members of the bargaining unit, and the Union has 

not waived its right to bargain over said standards. Therefore, the City is required to follow 

the procedure laid out in Youngstown, supra, and the City should have bargained over both 

the implementation of the physical fitness standards and their effect on wages, hours, 

terms, and other conditions of employment. 

C. Remedv 

To remedy this violation, the parties must be returned to the status quo that existed 

before the City implemented the physical fitness standards for the fire fighters. The City 

will be ordered to reinstate the physical fitness policy as it existed before the unilateral 

changes. In addition, a cease-and-desist order with a Notice to Employees shall be posted 

by the City for sixty days in the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining-unit 

employees represented by the Union work. 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of North Ridgeville is a public employer as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The North Ridgeville Professional Fire Fighters, Local 2129, IAFF is an "employee 
organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D}, 

3. When the City of North Ridgeville unilaterally implemented physical fitness 
standards for fire fighters hired after June 9, 1999, the City committed an unfair 
labor practice in violation of O.R.C. § 4117. 11 (A)(I) and (A)(5). 
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IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the City of North Ridgeville violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(I) and (A)(5) by unilaterally implementing physical fitness standards for fire 

fighters hired after June 9, 1999, since the City failed to show that the minimum physical 

fitness abilities or qualifications it established are valid measures of a fire fighter's ability 

to perform one or more essential functions of his or her job. The City will be ordered to 

reinstate the physical fitness policy as it existed before the unilateral changes. In addition, 

a cease-and-desist order with a Notice to Employees shall be posted by the City for sixty 

days in the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining-unit employees 

represented by the Union work. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., 

Employee Organization, 

and 

Darke County Sheriff, 

Employer. 

Case No. 99·REP-06-0150 

DIRECTIVE DISMISSING PETITION FOR AMENDMENT OF CERTIFICATION 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
June 22, 2000. 

On June 28, 1999, the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. 
("Employee Organization") filed a Petition for Amendment of Certification seeking to split 
the existing bargaining unit into four separate bargaining units. On July 14, 1999, the 
Darke County Sheriff ("Employer") filed its "Employer's Position Statement" objecting to the 
petition. On December 9, 1999, the State Employment Relations Board ("Board") directed 
this matter to hearing to determine an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant 
issues. 

The parties agreed to submit the case on stipulations and briefs in lieu of a hearing. 
On February 3, 2000, the "Stipulations of the Parties" were filed. On February 18, 2000, 
the parties filed their briefs. On March 23, 2000, the Board transferred the case from the 
Hearings Section for a decision on the merits. On April 20, 2000, the Board directed the 
parties' representatives to appear for an oral argument. On May 17, 2000, the parties 
presented their oral arguments to the Board. 

After reviewing the stipulations of fact, the parties' briefs, oral arguments, and all 
filings, the Board finds, for the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, incorporated by 
reference, that the Deputy Sheriffs employed by the Darke County Sheriff are "full-time 
deputy sheriffs appointed under section 311.04 of the Revised Code" and are "members 
of a police department" as that term is defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01(N) and that the 
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Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. has not satisfied any standard for 
changing the composition of the existing bargaining unit over the Employer's objections. 
As a result, the Petition for Amendment of Certification is hereby dismissed. 

It is so directed. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 119.12, by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 432154213, and with the 
Franklin County Court of Common Pleas within fifteen (15) days after the mailing of the 
Board's directive. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upoq eacn par'ty by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this ~ 7~.i,' day of· kL../JL.J<.. 
(/ 

2000. 

I 

~I~, q{\~.L~u~ 
SALLY L BJXRAILLOUX, EXECUTIVE SECRET ARY 

direcl\06-22-00.11 
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In the Matter of 

Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., 

Employee Organization, 

and 

Darke County Sheriff, 
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Case No. 99·REP-06-0150 

OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This representation case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("Board") upon the joint stipulations and briefs of the parties and upon the oral arguments 

presented to the Board by the parties on May 17, 2000. For the reasons below, we find 

that the employees in the current bargaining unit are all full-time deputy sheriffs appointed 

pursuant to Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 311.04. The unit was certified by the Board 

on February 18, 1993, following an election held pursuant to a consent election agreement, 

and includes "[a]ll Deputy Sheriffs appointed pursuant to Section 311.04 of the Revised 

Code which includes the classification of Correction Officer, Patrol Officer, Dispatcher and 

Cook." Since the stipulations of fact do not reveal any substantial changes, any disparity 

in the quality of representation, any history of inadequate representation, any changes in 

the factual underpinnings of the consent election agreement, or any fraud or initial mistake 

involving the consent election agreement, the Petition for Amendment of Certification filed 

by the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. must be dismissed. 
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I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Darke County Sheriff ("Employer'') is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01(8). (S 1) 

2. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. ("FOP" or "Petitioner'') is an 
"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. $4117.01 (D). It is the Board-certified 
representative of a unit of the Employer's employees. (S. 2 and 3; Joint Exhibit ["Jt. 
Exh."] 1 ) 

3. The bargaining unit was first certified by the Board in 1964. (S. 4; Jt. Exh. 3) 

4. All of the employees in the bargaining unit are Deputy Sheriffs appointed pursuant 
to O.R.C. § 311.04, and are all full-time employees of the Employer, although all 
those employees are not in the classification of Deputy Sheriff. (S. 5) 

5. On June 26. 1999, the FOP filed a Petition for Amendment of Certification seeking 
to split the current bargaining unit into four (4) separate bargaining units. (S. 13: Jt. 
Exh. 9) 

6. On July 14, 1999, the Employer filed an "Employer's Position Statement" objecting 
to the petition for amendment of certification referenced in Stipulation 13. (S. 14; 
Jt Exh. 10) 

7. On December 15, 1999, the Board directed the instant matter to hearing for 
"determination of an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant issues." 
(S. 15; Jt. Exh. II) 

a. The parties have stipulated that the sole issue to be determined by the Board is 
whether all of the employees in the bargaining unit are "members of a police 
department' as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (N), and whether the bargaining unit 
is therefore prohibited by O.R.C. § 4117.06(0)(3). (S. 16) 

9. The parties have stipulated that there is insufficient evidence to justify the 
severance of a portion of the bargaining unit in accordance with the requirements 
established by In re State of Ohio, SERB 95-012 (6-30-95). (S. 17) 
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II. DISCUSSION 

The Petitioner contends that the current composition of the bargaining unit is 

proscribed by O.R.C. § 4117.06(0)(3). O.R.C. § 4117 06(0)(3) states that the Board may 

not "include members of a police or fire department or members of the state highway patrol 

in a unit with other classifications of public employees of the department." 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 provides as follows: 

(N) "Member of a police department" means a person who is in the 
employ of a police department of a municipal corporation as a full-time 
regular police officer as a result of an appointment from a duly established 
civil service eligibility list or under section 737.15 or section 737.16 of the 
Revised Code, a full-time deputy sheriff appointed under section 311.04 of 
the Revised Code, a township constable appointed under section 509.01 of 
the Revised Code, or a member of a township police district police 
department appointed under section 505.49 of the Revised Code. 

For the employees in the existing bargaining unit to be "members of a police 

department', they must be full-time deputy sheriffs appointed under O.R.C. § 311.04. The 

parties have stipulated that all of the employees in the bargaining unit are deputy sheriffs, 

are full-time employees, and have been appointed pursuant to O.R.C. § 311.04.' The 

Petitioner argues that all of these employees are not deputy sheriffs because they are all 

not in the classification of deputy sheriff. The Petitioner seeks to add a requirement to the 

definition of "member of a police department" that is not within the statute. Where the 

language of a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, 

there is no occasion for resorting to rules of statutory interpretation. Sears v. Weimer 

(1944), 143 Ohio St. 312, Syllabus~ 5. The Board must apply the plain language of the 

definition in the statute. As a result, we find that all of the members of the bargaining unit 

meet the definition for a "member of a police department." Because a// of the employees 

'Finding of Fact ("F.F.") No. 4. 
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in the current bargaining unit are members of a police department, the unit does not run 

afoul of O.RC. § 4117 .06(0)(3).2 

The Petitioner seeks to split the current bargaining unit into four separate units. The 

severance standard adopted by the Board in In re State of Ohio, SERB 95-012, at p. 3-90 

(6-30-95), provides as follows: 

Where a petition for election is filed to sever a group of employees 
from an existing bargaining unit, the Board will allow such severance only if 
the petitioner proves that: 

1. Since the establishment of the existing unit, substantial 
changes have taken place in the classifications, job duties, working 
conditions, or other circumstances of the petitioned-for employees making 
the existing unit inappropriate or unworkable; or 

2. Since the establishment of the existing unit, substantial 
changes in circumstances have taken place showing the existence of a 
conflict of interest between the petitioned-for employees and other 
employees in the unit making the existing representation inadequate; or 

3. Since the establishment of the existing unit, substantial 
changes have taken place in the employer's operations or administrative 
structure making the existing unit inappropriate or unworkable; or 

4. The history of collective bargaining in the existing unit shows 
inadequate representation of the petitioned-for employees and disparity in 
the quality of representation provided to them as distinguished from that 
provided to the other employees in the unit. 

Under this test, it is the petitioner's burden to prove that one of the four parts of the 

test have been met. The parties have stipulated that there is insufficient evidence to justify 

the severance of a portion of the bargaining unit in accordance with the requirements 

established by In re State of Ohio, SERB 95012 (6-30-95). 3 Indeed, the stipulations do 

not reveal any substantial changes that have taken place nor do they reveal a history of 

'By reaching this conclusion, the Board does not need to address the Petitioner's request 
to overturn the holding in /n re Warren County Sheriff, SERB 85-016 (5-1-85). 

'F.F. No. 9. 
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inadequate representation of the employees or disparity in the quality of representation 

provided Consequently, the severance standard has not been met by the Petitioner. 

The Employer urges the Board to dismiss the petition as improper under the holding 

in In re Cincinnati Technical College, SERB 94-018 (10-17-94) ("Cincinnati Tech']. In 

Cincinnati Tech, the Board addressed the issue of whether and under what circumstances 

a bargaining unit agreed upon by the parties in a consent election agreement can be 

altered over the objections of one of the parties. The Board held that it will allow a change 

in the specific terms of the unit over the objections of one party only (1) when a substantial 

change occurred in the factual underpinnings of the parties' agreement after the signing 

of the consent election agreement or (2) when traditional equity considerations existed that 

would relieve a party from a contract term, such as situations of fraud and initial mistake 

of fact. Cincinnati Tech, 1994 SERB 3-1 16. 

In 1992, the FOP and the Employer were parties to a consent election agreement 

that described the current bargaining unit as "all Deputy Sheriffs appointed pursuant to 

§ 311.04 of the Revised Code which includes the classifications of Correction Officer, 

Patrol Officer, Dispatcher and Cook." The Board certified the FOP as the exclusive 

representative of this unit. The parties' stipulations revealed that no claim of fraud or initial 

mistake is involved. Moreover, the parties' stipulations do not reveal that any substantial 

change has occurred in the factual underpinnings of the parties' consent election 

agreement. Since the Petitioner does not meet the standard for changing the specific 

terms of a consent election agreement as established in Cincinnati Tech, the existing unit 

as set forth in the consent election agreement negotiated and signed by the parties should 

stand intact. Therefore, the Petitioner has not met the State of Ohio or Cincinnati Tech 

standards, and the Petition for Amendment of Certification must be dismissed. 
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Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Darke County Sheriff is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., is an "employee 
organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

3. The Deputy Sheriffs employed by the Darke County Sheriff are "full-time deputy 
sheriffs appointed under section 311.04 of the Revised Code" and are "members 
ofa police department" as defined by O.R.C. §4117.01 (N). 

4. The Petitioner has failed to meet the severance standard set forth in In re State of 
Ohio, SERB 95012 (6-30-95). 

5. The Petitioner has not demonstrated that any substantial change has occurred in 
the factual underpinnings of the parties' consent election agreement that would 
allow for amendment of the bargaining unit's certification over the objections of the 
other party to the consent election agreement, as required under In re Cincinnati 
Technical College, SERB 94-018 (1 0-1 7-94). 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Deputy Sheriffs employed by the Darke 

County Sheriff are "full-time deputy sheriffs appointed under section 311 04 of the Revised 

Code" and are "members of a police department" as that term is defined in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (N). Since the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. has not 

satisfied any standard for changing the composition of the existing bargaining unit over the 

Employer's objections, the Petition for Amendment of Certification is hereby dismissed. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Wright State University Chapter of the American Association of University Professors, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99·ULP.07.0425 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATIACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
June 22, 2000. 

On May 13, 1999, Wright State University ("Charging Party") filed an unfair labor 
practice charge against the Wright State University Chapter of the American Association 
of University Professors ("Respondent"). On November 18, 1999, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the 
Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (8)(3) and directed the 
matter to hearing. 

On February 7, 2000, a hearing was conducted. On March 23, 2000, the 
Administrative Law Judge issued a Proposed Order recommending that the Board find that 
the Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117 .11 (B )(3) when it attempted to 
negotiate the prohibited subject of faculty workload. On April 12, 2000, the Respondent 
filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On April 24, 2000, the Complainant filed its 
response to the exceptions. On April 26, 2000, the Charging Party filed a notice of its 
adoption of the Complainant's response to the exceptions. 

After reviewing the record, including the transcript, exceptions, cross-exceptions, 
and responses, the Board renumbers the conclusions of law in the Proposed Order; 
amends new Conclusion of Law No. 3 to read: "The Respondent did not violate O.R.C. 
§ 4117.11 (8)(3) when it attempted to bargain over faculty workload because, during the 
relevant time period, the Ohio Supreme Court had found O.R.C. § 3345.45 to be 
unconstitutional under the Ohio Constitution."; adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
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of Law, as amended, in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order; dismisses the 
complaint; and dismisses with prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

~-e~ 
SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served u1po 
.J' /')cJ . 

mail, return receipt requested, on this ''"1"6 - day of '--

2000. 

I 

direct\06-22-00.12 



SERB OPINION 2000-010 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 
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Complainant, 

v. 

Wright State University Chapter of the American Association of University Professors, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99·U LP-07-0425 

OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of exceptions and responses to exceptions to an 

Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order issued on March 23, 2000. The issue in this 

case is whether the Wright State University Chapter of the American Association of 

University Professors ("Union") attempted to negotiate a prohibited subject of bargaining. 

For the reasons below, we find that the Union did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(3) 

because. during the relevant time period of this case, the statute making faculty workload 

a prohibited subject of bargaining, O.R.C. § 3345.45, had been found by the Ohio Supreme 

Court to be unconstitutional under the Ohio Constitution. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The Union is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of full-time, tenure· 

track. faculty employed by Wright State University ("University"). The University and the 

Union began negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement on or about 

January 25, 1999. From February 1, 1999 through October 6, 1999, the parties had a 
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continuing dialogue about what discussions relating to workload would be prohibited and 

what discussions might be allowed pursuant to O.RC. § 3345.45, which makes faculty 

workload a prohibited subject of bargaining. 

On March 18, 1999, the Union provided a copy of a proposal entitled "12 Workload" 

to the University's chief negotiator. This proposal discussed workload distribution, 

maximum workload, and what activities were included in teaching, scholarship, and 

service. On June 7, 1999, the Employer told the Union that workload was a prohibited 

subject of bargaining and that the Employer would not bargain workload. 

Section 12.7 of the Union's "12 Workload" proposal addressed overload 

compensation. Before September 29, 1999, the Union revised and moved this language 

to a different article, entitled "Compensation." Believing it was not a workload issue, the 

Employer agreed to bargain the rate of pay for overload courses. 

Section 12.6.7 of the Union's "12 Workload" proposal addressed release time. This 

language was moved to Article 30. Believing it was not a workload issue, the Employer 

agreed to bargain the 32 credit hours release time. 

On September 29, 1999, the Union submitted a proposal to replace, in part, the 

"I 2 Workload" proposal. The new proposal provided: 

In the event that O.R.C. Section 3345.45 is declared unconstitutional, or if 
SERB and/or a court issues a final decision that the issue of workload 
remains a mandatory subject of bargaining, in spite of the constitutionality of 
O.R.C. Section 3345.45, then either side may request a reopener of 
negotiations to address the issues of workload. In that event, a notice to 
negotiate will be filed with SERB and the normal dispute resolution process 
contained in Section 4117.14 will apply 

The Employer did not object to bargaining on the above-quoted language. 
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Also on September 29, 1999, the Union withdrew the "12 Workload" proposal and 

replaced it, in part, with a proposal titled "Article 19, Workload," which provided: 

19.1 During the term of this Agreement, if ORC 3345.45 is declared 
unconstitutional, or if SERB and/or a court issues a final decision that the 
issue of workload is a mandatory subject of bargaining, in spite of the 
constitutionality of ORC 3345.45, the University, upon request, shall bargain 
with the WSU-AAUP [Union] regarding any proposed changes to the 
University's faculty workload policy or its college faculty workload policies 
using the normal dispute resolution process contained in ORC 
Section 4117.14. 

On October 8, 1999, the parties agreed to this proposal, which is now contained in 

Article 19 of the collective bargaining agreement 

II. HISTORY OF O.R.C. § 3345.45 

The Ohio General Assembly enacted Am.Sub. H.B. No. 152, which included O.RC. 

§ 3345.45. This provision, which was effective July 1, 1993, provided as follows: 

On or before January 1, 1994, the Ohio board of regents jointly with 
all state universities, as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code, 
shall develop standards for instructional workloads for full-time and part-time 
faculty in keeping with the universities' missions and with special emphasis 
on the undergraduate learning experience. The standards shall contain clear 
guidelines for institutions to determine a range of acceptable undergraduate 
teaching by faculty. 

On or before June 30, 1994, the board of trustees of each state 
university shall take formal action to adopt a faculty workload policy 
consistent with the standards developed underthis section. Notwithstanding 
section 411 7. 08 of the Revised Code, the policies adopted under this section 
are not appropriate subjects for collective bargaining. Notwithstanding 
division (A) of section 4117.10 of the Revised Code, any policy adopted 
under this section by a board of trustees prevails over any conflicting 
provisions of any collective bargaining agreement between an employees 
(sic) organization and that board of trustees. (emphasis added). 
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The constitutionality of O.RC. § 3345.45 plays a significant role in this case. Acts 

of the General Assembly are presumed to comply with the Ohio and United States 

Constitutions. O.R.C. § 1.47. As the Ohio Supreme Court stated in State ex rel. Dickman 

v. Defenbacher, Dir. (1955), 164 Ohio St 142, 147: "A regularly enacted statute of Ohio 

is presumed to be constitutional and is therefore entitled to the benefit of every 

presumption in favor of its constitutionality. This court has held enactments of the General 

Assembly to be constitutional unless such enactments are clearly unconstitutional beyond 

a reasonable doubt" 

On May 17, 1995, the American Association of the University Professors, Central 

State University Chapter ("CSU-AAUP") filed a complaint for declaratory judgment and 

injunctive relief and a motion for a preliminary injunction pursuant to Ohio Civil Rule 65(B), 

alleging that O.R.C. § 3345.45 violated the Equal Protection Clauses of the Ohio and 

United States Constitutions, and Section 1, Article I of the Ohio Constitution. The Court 

of Common Pleas of Greene County denied the requested injunctive relief and held that 

O.R.C. § 3345.45 was constitutional in its entirety. The CSU-AAUP appealed that decision 

to the Second District Court of Appeals. On January 1, 1997, the Court of Appeals 

reversed the trial courts judgment and concluded that the statute was unconstitutional. 

Upon appeal and cross-appeal, the Ohio Supreme Court was asked to determine 

the constitutionality of O.R.C. § 3345.45 under the Equal Protection Clauses of both the 

United States and Ohio Constitutions, in addition to Section 34, Article II of the Ohio 

Constitution. On September 30, 1998, the Ohio Supreme Court held that O.R.C. 

§ 3345.45 violated the Equal Protection Clause under the Ohio and U.S. Constitutions; the 

Court did not reach the issue of constitutionality under Section 34, Article II of the Ohio 

Constitution. Am. Assoc. of Univ. Professors, Cent. State Univ. Chapter v. Cent. State 

Univ. (1998), 83 Ohio St.3d 229, 1998 SERB 4-51 ("AAUP f'). 
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Upon appeal by Central State University, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed AAUP I 

to the extent that it held the statute unconstitutional under the federal Equal Protection 

Clause. Cent. Sfafe Univ. v. Am. Assn. of Univ. Professors, Cent Sfafe Univ. Chapter 

(1999), 526 U.S. 124, 1999 SERB 4-1. The U.S. Supreme Court emphasized that AAUP I 

had misapplied the federal rational-basis review by requiring the state to provide evidence 

of a rational relationship between the statute and its goal. The U.S. Supreme Court held 

that O.R.C. § 3345.45 rationally relates to the statute's legitimate goal and therefore 

survived the federal equal protection challenge. The U.S. Supreme Court then remanded 

this case to the Ohio Supreme Court for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. 

On October 20, 1999, the Ohio Supreme Court held that the classification contained 

in O.R.C. § 3345.45 does not violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Ohio Constitution. 

Am. Assoc. of Univ. Professors, Cenf Sfafe Univ. Chapferv. Cenf Sfafe Univ. (1999), 87 

Ohio St.3d 55, 1999 SERB 4-21 ("AAUP fr). The Court also held that O.R.C. § 3345.45 

is a valid exercise of legislative authority under Section 34, Article 11 of the Ohio 

Constitution. Id. 

In summary, from July 1, 1993 to September 30, 1998, O.R.C. § 3345.45 was 

presumed constitutional because a binding court decision had not yet been issued to the 

contrary. Then, on September 30, 1998, the Ohio Supreme Court held in its syllabus in 

AAUP I that O.R.C. § 3345.45 violated the Equal Protection Clause under the Ohio and 

U S Constitutions because it did not rationally relate to a legitimate government interest 

The constitutionality of the statute under the U.S. Constitution was subject to further appeal 

to the U.S. Supreme Court. But the Ohio Supreme Court- as the highest court in Ohio -

is the ultimate interpreter of the Ohio Constitution. Its declaration that O.R.C. § 3345.45 

was unconstitutional under the Ohio Constitution established the rights of the parties until 
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a subsequent decision from the same court varied or departed from that declaration.' On 

October 20, 1999, the Ohio Supreme Court held in AAUP If that O.RC. § 3345.45 was 

constitutional under the Ohio Constitution. Thus, from September 30, 1998 to October 20, 

1999, O.R.C. § 3345.45 was unconstitutional under the Ohio Constitution as determined 

by the Ohio Supreme Court in AAUP /. 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The issue before the Board is whether the Union attempted to negotiate a prohibited 

subject of bargaining, faculty workload. We find that the Union did attempt to bargain over 

faculty workload when it presented its "12 Workload" proposals. We also find that during 

the relevant time period of this case, O.R.C. § 3345.45 had been found by the Ohio 

Supreme Court to be unconstitutional under the Ohio Constitution. 

"Prohibited" subjects of bargaining are certain provisions that, by law, cannot be 

included in a collective bargaining contract.2 These provisions are described in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.08(6), which states: "The conduct and grading of civil service examinations, the 

rating of candidates, the establishment of eligible lists from the examinations, and the 

original appointments from the eligible lists are not appropriate subjects for collective 

bargaining." (emphasis added). This list of prohibited subjects is not exclusive. For 

example, under O.R.C. § 4117.09(C), a collective bargaining agreement cannot require 

membership in an employee organization as a condition of employment. The General 

Assembly created an additional prohibited subject of bargaining when it passed O.R.C. 

§ 3345.45, which provides in pertinent part: "Notwithstanding section 4117.08 of the 

Revised Code, the policies adopted under this section are not appropriate subjects for 

'See, e.g., Lewis v. Taylor, 10 Ohio C.D. 205, 18 Ohio C.C. 443, 1899 WL 658 (Ohio Cir. 
1899); Green Co. v. Conness, 109 U.S. 104 (1883); Anderson v. Santa Anna, 116 U.S. 356 (1886). 

2City of Cincinnati v Ohio Council 8, AFSCME (1991), 61 Ohio St.3d 658, 1991 SERB 4-87. 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-07-0425 
Page 7 of 8 

collective bargaining." (emphasis added). The plain language of these statutes indicates 

that a prohibited subject of bargaining is a subject over which no bargaining is to take 

place.3 A violation would occur when the proposal concerning a prohibited subject is first 

presented. 

The complaint alleges that the Union violated 0. R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(3) by attempting 

to negotiate the prohibited subject of faculty workload, pursuant to O.R.C. § 3345.45, 

during contract negotiations. O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 

* * * 
(3) Refuse to bargain collectively with a public employer if the 

employee organization is recognized as the exclusive representative or 
certified as the exclusive representative of public employees in a bargaining 
unit[.] 

In this case, the content and timing of the Union's actions are critical to determining 

whether O.R.C. § 4117.1 1(8)(3) has been violated. The Union's initial proposal entitled 

"1 2 Workload" discussed workload distribution, maximum workload, and what activities 

were included in teaching, scholarship, and service. In addition, its proposal also 

addressed overload compensation and release time before these items were moved to 

different articles of the collective bargaining agreement. Thus, the content of these 

proposals fell within the parameters of faculty workload addressed in O.R.C. § 3345.45. 

The timing of the various court decisions is pivotal because the present case 

concerns the Union's actions when it was bargaining with the University from March 18, 

1999 to October 8, 1999. On September 30, 1998, the Ohio Supreme Court decided in 

AAUP I that O.R.C. § 3345.45 was unconstitutional under the Ohio Constitution. It did not 

3See, e.g., National Maritime Union (Texas Co.), 78 NLRB 971, 22 L.R.R.M. 1289 (1948). 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-07-0425 
Page 8 of 8 

subsequently rule in AAUP II that this statute was constitutional under the Ohio 

Constitution until October 20, 1999. Thus, during the relevant time period when the parties 

were bargaining and the Union presented its "12 Workload" proposals, the Union was 

attempting to bargain over a subject that was not a prohibited subject at that time due to 

the AAUP /decision. Therefore, when we apply O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(3) to these facts, we 

find that the Union did not commit an unfair labor practice under the facts and law in effect 

at that time. 

IV CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Wright State University Chapter of the 

American Association of University Professors did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(3) when 

it attempted to bargain over faculty workload because, during the relevant time period of 

this case, O.R.C. § 3345.45 had been found to be unconstitutional by the Ohio Supreme 

Court under the Ohio Constitution. As a result, the complaint is dismissed, and the unfair 

labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP-10.0597 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
November 9, 2000. 

On October 26, 1999, the Union Township Board of Trustees, Clermont County 
("Intervenor") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Fraternal Order of Police, 
Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112 ("Respondent'). On February 17, 2000, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant') found probable cause to believe that the 
Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(3) when it amended it 
wage proposal fewer than five days before the conciliation hearing. 

On May 1, 2000, a hearing was conducted by the Administrative Law Judge. On 
June 29, 2000, the Proposed Order was issued. On July 18, 2000, the Respondent and 
the Intervenor filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On July 25, 2000, the Intervenor 
filed a response to the Respondent's exceptions. On July 26, 2000, the Respondent filed 
its response to the Intervenor's exceptions. On July 31, 2000, the Complainant filed its 
responses to the Respondent's and Intervenor's exceptions. 

On September 7, 2000, the Board directed the parties' representatives to appear 
for an oral argument; the oral argument was held on October 4, 2000. After reviewing the 
record and the arguments presented, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the 
Proposed Order are adopted, and for reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, 
incorporated by reference, the Board finds that the Respondent committed an unfair labor 
practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11(B)(3) when it submitted an 
amendment to its wage proposal to the conciliator and the employer fewer than five days 
before the conciliation hearing. 
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The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112 is ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Refusing to bargain collectively with the public employer by amending 
its wage proposal fewer than five days before a conciliation hearing 
and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117 .11 (B)(3). 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117 .13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a co:J. served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this o{o< '7l day of /J ~ 
2000. 

direcM 1-09-00.10 
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v. 

Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 99-ULP-10-0597 

OPINION 

VER/CH, Board Member: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of exceptions and responses to the exceptions 

to the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order issued on June 29, 2000. On 

September 7, 2000, SERB directed the parties' representatives to appear for an oral 

argument. The oral argument was held on October 4, 2000. For the reasons below, we 

find that the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112 violated Ohio Revised 

Code ("0.R.C.") § 4117.11 (B)(3) when it submitted an amendment to its wage proposal to 

the conciliator and the employer fewer than five days before the conciliation hearing. 

I. SUMMARY OF FACTS 

The Union Township Board of Trustees, Clermont County ("Township") and the 

Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112 ("Union") were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement effective June 11, 1996 to March 31, 1999, containing a grievance 

procedure that culminated in final and binding arbitration. The Township and the Union 
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engaged in contract negotiations for a successor agreement. After going through fact

finding proceedings, the parties still had not reached an agreement. A conciliator was then 

appointed by SERB to hear the matter. A conciliation hearing was set for September 24, 

1999. 

The Union filed its position statement with the conciliator, the Township, and SERB 

at least five days before the commencement of the conciliation hearing. The Union's initial 

wage proposal contained a proposed "sign-in bonus" that provided for bonuses dependent 

upon an employee's job classification and step level under the collective bargaining 

agreement. The initial sign-in bonus proposal gave the employees the equivalent of a five

percent raise commencing after March 31, 19g9, the date of the conclusion of the prior 

collective bargaining agreement. The initial sign-in bonus proposal also included overtime 

pay, and it provided for a compounding of the five-percent raise through the three-year 

term of the collective bargaining agreement. The Union received the Township's wage 

proposal at least five days before the commencement of the conciliation hearing; the 

Township did not include any sign-in bonus in its wage proposal. 

On September 23, 1999, the Union's chief negotiator called the conciliator and 

requested permission to file an amended wage proposal. The conciliator told the Union 

that it could submit a revised wage proposal as long as the Township was notified. The 

Union's chief negotiator then faxed a copy of the revised position statement to the 

Township's chief negotiator, who objected to the modification. 

The Union's revised wage proposal eliminated both overtime pay and the bonus 

distinctions between the various steps of each job classification. The sign-in bonus in the 

revised wage proposal provided a five-percent increase for only the period from April 1, 

1999 through December 31, 1999, thereby eliminating the compounding element from the 

sign-in bonus in the initial wage proposal. 
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At the conciliation hearing on September 24, 1999, the conciliator attempted to 

engage the Township in mediation. After this attempt, the same outstanding issues 

remained pending. During the opening remarks at the conciliation hearing, the Union 

again submitted the revised wage proposal. On September 27, 1999, the conciliator 

issued the Final Offer Settlement Award, which awarded the Union's modified wage 

proposal. 

On December 13, 1999, the Township filed a Motion to Vacate Conciliator's 

Arbitration Award in the case of Board of Trustees, Union Township, Clermont County v. 

FOP Ohio Valley Lodge No. 112, Case No. 99-CVF-1055, Court of Common Pleas, 

Clermont County, Ohio. This matter was pending at the time of hearing and oral argument 

in the present case. 

JI. DISCUSSION 

A. The Union Violated O.R.C. Section 4117.11(8)(31 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 

••• 
(3) Refuse to bargain collectively with a public employer if the 

employee organization is recognized as the exclusive representative or 
certified as the exclusive representative of public employees in a bargaining 
unit[.] 

The Township and the Union engaged in negotiations for a successor collective 

bargaining agreement. After going through fact-finding proceedings, the parties still had 

not reached an agreement. SERB appointed a conciliator. and a conciliation hearing was 

set for September 24, 1999. 
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O.R.C. § 4117.14(G) sets forth the conciliation process and provides in relevant part 

as follows: 

(3) The conciliator shall conduct the hearing pursuant to rules 
developed by the board. He shall establish the hearing time and place, but 
it shall be, where feasible, within the jurisdiction of the state. Not later than 
five calendar days before the hearing, each of the parties shall submit to the 
conciliator, to the opposing party, and to the board, a written report 
summarizing the unresolved issues, the party's final offer as to the issues, 
and rationale for that position. (emphasis added). 

The statutory requirement that position statements be filed no later than five days 

before a conciliation hearing is clear and unambiguous; therefore, the failure to timely file 

a position statement constitutes a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5) by a public employer 

or a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(3) by an employee organization. In re Greenville 

Patrol Officers Assn, SERB 2000-005 (6-13-2000). In the present case, both parties timely 

filed their final offers with the conciliator. The Union, however, took the additional step of 

amending its final offer within five days of the conciliation hearing. As a result of the 

Union's action, the pending question is whether a party engages in bad-faith bargaining 

when it submits an amendment to one of its final positions to the conciliator and the other 

party fewer than five days before the conciliation hearing. 

Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-06(E) establishes a limited exception in 

which a party could amend its final offer after the position statements have been submitted 

for the conciliation hearing. The rule provides in pertinent part as follows: 

(E) Upon notice of the conciliator's appointment, each party shall 
submit to the conciliator and serve on the other party a written statement. A 
failure to submit such a written statement to the conciliator and the other 
party prior to the day of the hearing shall require the conciliator to take 
evidence only in support of matters raised in the written statement that was 
submitted prior to the hearing. The statement shall include: 
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••• 
(4) A report defining all unresolved issues, stating the party's final 

offer as to each unresolved issue, and summarizing the position of the party 
with regard to each unresolved issue. If, after submission of the parties' 
reports, mediation efforts result in a change in a final offer. a party may, with 
the permission of the conciliator, submit a revised final offer to the conciliator. 
(emphasis added). 

The filing of the position statements is a critical step in the conciliation process. In 

re Greenville Patrol Officers Assn, supra. O.R.C. § 4117.14{G) requires nearly 

simultaneous filings by the parties. The conciliator must choose from either the employer's 

proposal or the employee organization's proposal on each of the outstanding issues. By 

the very design of this process, each party has an incentive to issue a final proposal that 

it believes the conciliator will select as the more reasonable position. If a party amends its 

position after receiving the other party's statement, the amending party might gain an unfair 

advantage over the other party: the amending party could modify its position based upon 

its knowledge of the other party's final position. Such an amendment creates a potential 

for abuse. We conclude that an amendment of a final offer violates O.R.C. § 4117.11 {9)(3) 

when the amendment occurs outside the limited exception permitted by O.A.C. Rule 4117-

9-06(E){4 ). 

In this case, the Union submitted its revised final offer the day before the conciliation 

hearing. The conciliator did not attempt mediation until the day of the hearing. Thus, the 

Union did not submitits revised proposal in accordance with O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-06(E)(4) 

because mediation efforts did not lead to the change in the final offer as required by the 

rule. If mediation efforts had occurred after the submission of the position statements, 

resulting in a party changing its final offer, and the conciliator had approved the request to 

submit a revised final offer, then a different result could be reached. The conclusion 

reached under these facts is that the Union committed an unfair labor practice in violation 

of O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(3) when it submitted its revised final offer fewer than five days 

before the conciliation hearing. 
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This result is consistent with the recent holding of the Ohio Supreme Court. In 

Fairborn Professional Fire Fighters' Assn., IAFF Local 1235 v. Fairborn (2000), 90 Ohio 

St.3d 170, the negotiations between the employee organization and the employer had 

reached the conciliation process. One week before the employer was to file its position 

statement for the conciliation hearing, the employee organization sent a proposal regarding 

the employee evaluation procedure. When the employee organization submitted its 

position statement, its final offer regarding performance appraisals was nearly identical to 

its first proposal. The Ohio Supreme Court held that the employee organization's proposal 

"was not a surprise thrown in by the union in its final-offer statement.• Id. at 175. Although 

the Court warned that "arbitration by ambush" should not be used in collective bargaining, 

the Court found that the "one-week gap between proposal and final-offer statement, 

whether planned or not, is about as close to a surprise attack as we would be comfortable 

allowing." Id. 

In this case, the Union's revised wage proposal eliminated both overtime pay and 

the bonus distinctions between the various steps of each job classification. It also 

eliminated the compounding element from the sign-in bonus in the initial wage proposal. 

The amendment presented substantive changes to the Union's final offer. The Union did 

not request to submit its revised final offer until the day before the conciliation hearing. 

The timing of the amendment is exactly the "surprise attack" about which the Ohio 

Supreme Court warned. 

B. Remedy 

To determine the appropriate remedy, we must look at all of the circumstances. The 

Union's amendment to its final offer occurred only after it requested and received 

permission from the conciliator. 0.A.C. Rule 4117-9-06(E)(4) authorizes a conciliator to 

permit an amendment to a final offer fewer than five days before the conciliation hearing 

only ifthe amendment is the result of mediation efforts. This rule vests the conciliator with 



Opinion 
Case No. 99-ULP-10-0597 
Page 7 of 7 

great discretion in determining whether "mediation efforts result in a change in a final offer." 

In this case, however, the conciliator permitted the Union to file an amendment to its wage 

offer before the parties engaged in mediation efforts. Thus, the conciliator's granting of 

permission to the Union, while not the cause of the unfair labor practice in this case, 

contributed to the facts that resulted in the Union's unfair labor practice. 

The remedy for this violation is the issuance of a cease-and-desist order to the 

violating party along with the posting of a notice to employees. However, given the Union's 

reliance upon the conciliator's erroneous permission, we are waiving the posting of the 

notice to employees. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Valley Lodge 

No. 112 committed an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117. 11 (8)(3) when it submitted an amendment to its wage proposal to the conciliator 

and the Union Township Board of Trustees, Clermont County fewer than five days before 

the conciliation hearing. A cease-and-desist order will be issued to the Union. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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State Employment Relations Board, 
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v. 

District 1199, Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO, 
Michele Gray, and Deborah Perkins, 

Respondents. 

CASE NOS. 2000-ULP-01-0044 & 2000-ULP-01-0045 

ORDER 
(OPINION AITACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
March 1, 2001. 

On January 21, 2000, Ms. Pauline Bryant filed an unfair labor practice charge 
against District 1199 Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO, ("Union"), 
Ms. Michelle Gray and Ms. Deborah Perkins (collectively "Respondents"), alleging that the 
Respondents violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117. 11 (B)(1) and (B)(6). On July 11, 
2000, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") determined that 
probable cause existed to believe that the Respondents violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117. 11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) by filing a grievance that did not include all potential 
grievants, failing to adhere to the grievance process, and failing to represent all bargaining
unit members equally. On August 4, 2000, a Complaint was issued. 

A hearing was held on September 6, 2000, wherein testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented. All parties filed post-hearing briefs on October 18, 2000. On 
November 21, 2000, the Administrative Law Judge issued the Proposed Order, 
recommending that SERB find that the Respondents had violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) by settling a grievance without including a known 
grievant who was a member of the affected class. The recommended remedy was the 
issuance of a cease-and-desist order with the posting for sixty days of a Notice to 
Employees, and the payment to the affected employee for missed overtime opportunities 
arising between May 31, 1999 and June 16, 1999, in accordance with the terms of the 
settlement agreement. 
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On December 13, 2000, the Respondents filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. 
On December 14, 2000, the State of Ohio, Office of Collective Bargaining, filed an amicus 
brief. On December 29, 2000, the Complainant filed its response to the exceptions. 

After reviewing the record, the parties' exceptions and responses, and all other 
filings, SERB finds for the reasons stated in the attached Opinion, incorporated by 
reference, that District 1199 Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO, Michele 
Gray, and Deborah Perkins violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) 
by settling a class grievance without including a known member of the affected class in the 
settlement. 

We hereby order the Respondents to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

1. Restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of 
their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117 and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11(B)(1 ); and 

2. Failing to fairly represent all public employees in a 
bargaining unit and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(6). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

1. Post the attached Notice to Employees furnished by the 
State Employment Relations Board for sixty days in all 
of the usual and normal locations where employees 
represented by District 1199, Service Employees 
International Union, AFL-CIO work, stating that District 
1199, Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO, 
Michele Gray, and Deborah Perkins shall cease and 
desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall 
take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph {B); 

2. Pay Ms. Bryant in accordance with the terms of the 
November 8, 1999, settlement agreement for missed 
overtime opportunities arising between May 31, 1999 
and June 16, 1999; and 
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3. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
twenty calendar days from the date the Order becomes 
final of the steps that have been taken to comply 
therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117. 13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a c~y served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this / 4/--- day of Jn CLAJ , , 
2001. 

~~L .. ~ SALLYL:B RAILLOUX, EXECUTIVE 8EcRruY 
direct\03-01-01.08 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE STATE EMPLOYMENT 
RELATIONS BOARD AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has de1ermined trat we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this 
Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and abide by 
the following: 

District 1199, Service Employees International Union, AFL·CIO, Michele Gray, and Deborah 
Perkins, are hereby ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

1. Restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed 
in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117. 11 (B)(1 ); and 

2. Failing to fairly represent aJJ public employees in a bargaining unit and from 
otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117 .11 (B)(6). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

1. Post the attached Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board tor sixty days in all of the usual and normal locations where 
employees represented by District 1199, Service Employees International 
Union, AFL-C!O work, stating that District 1199, Service Employees 
International Union, AFL-CIO, Michele Gray, and Deborah Perkins shall 
cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B): 

2. Pay Ms. Bryant in accordance with the terms of the November 8, 1999, 
settlement agreement for missed overtime opportunities arising between 
May 31, 1999 and June 16, 1999; and 

3. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty calendar 
days from the date 1he Order becomes final of the steps that have been 
taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Distrjct 1199, Service Employees fnternatlonaf Union, AFL-CIO, Michele Gray, and 
Deborah Perkins, Case Nos. 2000-ULP-01-0044 & 2000-ULP-01-0045 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of pos1ing and must not 
be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of exceptions and responses to the exceptions 

to the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order issued on November 21, 2000. For the 

reasons below, we find that District 1199, Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO 

("Union"), Ms: Michele Gray, and Ms. Deborah Perkins violated Ohio Revised Code 

("0.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) by settling a class grievance without including a 

known member of the affected class in the settlement. 

I. SUMMARY OF FACTS 

Ms. Pauline Bryant is employed by the Ohio Corrections Medical Center ("CMC") 

as a Registered Nurse 2 ("RN 2") within the bargaining unit represented by the Union, of 

which she is a member. She is also a "public employee" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C). Ms. Deborah Perkins and Ms. Michele Gray are Union delegates who serve 

approximately 30 employees. Ms. Gray is the more senior delegate. 
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The CMC and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 

effective August 3, 1997 through May 31, 2000. The CBA contains a grievance procedure 

that culminates in final and binding arbitration. The CBA's grievance procedure allows for 

the filing of a class grievance at Step 3 as specified in Article Seven, Section 7.04 of the 

CBA, which provides in part as follows: 

7.04 Grievant 
When a group of bargaining unit employees desires to file a grievance 
involving an alleged violation that affects more than one (1) employee in the 
same way, the grievance may be filed by the Union. A grievance so initiated 
shall be called a Class Grievance. 

The Union shall identify the class involved, including the names if necessary, 
if requested by the agency head or designee. 

Class grievances can be filed in several ways. They can be marked "class action," 

they can be considered a class grievance by listing a number of names of similarly situated 

grievants, or they can be called a class grievance with no specific names listed. 

Article 24.03 of the CBA discusses how overtime is to be offered, and it states: 

In institutional settings when the agency determines that overtime is 
necessary, overtime shall be offered on a rotating basis, at least to the first 
five (5) qualified employees with the most state seniority who usually work 
the shift where the opportunity occurs. 

In order to implement Article 24.03 of the CBA, the Union and CMC management 

originated an overtime "call sheet." During the time period in question, management was 

required to use the call list when offering voluntary overtime. Opportunities for overtime 

were to be offered on a rotating basis, according to seniority, among those employees on 

the call list. The eligible employees on the call list from May 21, 1999 to June 16, 1999, 

included John Kershner, Michelle Gray, Pauline Bryant, Kevin Swords, Toni Brady, and 

Lesa Morris. 
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On June 16, 1999, Ms. Perkins, in her capacity as a Union delegate, filed a 

grievance relative to the denial of overtime. The grievance alleged a violation of 

Article 24.03 of the CBA. Under "Statement of the Grievance," Ms. Perkins wrote, 

"Management did not contact any staff members on any shifts regarding overtime 

opportunities on all shifts that resulted from call offs or other staff shortages." Ms. Perkins 

also wrote the names of the following employees in the space provided for "Grievant's 

Name": Mary Phillians, Ramon Perez, Kevin Swords, John Kershner, Lesa Morris, and 

Toni Brady. Ms. Perkins and Lesa Morris were the only persons to sign the grievance. 

Ms. Gray was out of the office at the time the grievance was filed. Ms. Bryant was not 

specifically named as a grievant although she was an RN 2 who was named on the 

overtime call list and was eligible to work overtime during the time period covered by the 

grievance. 

Grievants Swords, Kershner, Morris, and Brady all personally asked Ms. Perkins to 

file a grievance on their behalf. Another Union delegate told Ms. Perkins about Grievants 

Phillians and Perez; they were included in the grievance. Ms. Perkins filed the grievance 

as a class grievance at Step 3 of the CBA's grievance procedure as _specified in 

Article Seven, Section 7.04 of the CBA. At the time the grievance was filed, Ms. Perkins 

was aware of a call sheet listing Kershner, Gray, Bryant, Swords, Brady, Morris, and 

C. Campbell.1 

On August 12, 1999, a Step 3 hearing was held. The grievance was denied. At 

mediation, Grievants Phillians and Perez were dropped from the grievance because their 

complaints were the subject of a separate grievance. Ms. Perkins attempted to add 

'Although the name C. Campbell appears on both the call lists from May 21 - June 2, 1999 
and June 3-16, 1999, the name was crossed out on the list and the designation "no number" 
appeared on both lists. C. Campbell was not used in calculating the eventual settlement of the 
grievance. Michelle Gray was not eligible for the overtime grievance because she was on disability 
leave during the time the overtime policy was not followed. 
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Ms. Bryant to the grievance at the mediation stage but was not successful. The mediator 

would not allow Ms. Bryant to be added because her name was not on the grievance. 

On September 22, 1999, Ms. Perkins filed a grievance on behalf of Grievants Brady, 

Morris, Bush, Swords, and Bryant for missed overtime opportunities since September 12, 

1999. Ms. Bryant had not approached Ms. Perkins about this grievance. 

On November 8, 1999, at Step 4 of the grievance procedure, the Union and CMG 

entered into a settlement agreement for the June 16, 1999 grievance. In mid-December 

1999, Ms. Bryant became aware of the grievance and asked Ms. Perkins why she was not 

included. Ms. Perkins told Ms. Bryant that although Ms. Bryant had not approached her 

about filing a grievance, she would try to get her added to the grievance. In conjunction 

with the settlement of the grievance, the parties met on December 21, 1999, to determine 

what amounts were due to the four remaining named grievants for missed overtime 

opportunities. Ms. Gray was present at this meeting as a Union delegate. 

Ms. Perkins and Ms. Gray asked to have Ms. Bryant included in the November 8, 

1999 grievance settlement and drafted an amendment to the grievance to include her, but 

the CMG refused. Under the terms of the grievance settlement agreement, Ms. Bryant was 

denied overtime for seven, eight-hour shifts payable at the time-and-a-half rate. 

Ms. Bryant's hourly pay rate at the time overtime was denied was $22.18. 

On January 11, 2000, the Union and CMG entered into a settlement of the 

September 22, 1999 grievance. The grievants were awarded appropriate overtime from 

September 12, 1999 to December 31, 1999, based on the rotation. 

On January 21, 2000, Ms. Bryant filed this unfair labor practice charge against the 

Union, Ms. Gray, and Ms. Perkins (collectively "Respondents"), alleging that the 
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Respondents violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6). On July 11, 2000, the Board 

determined that probable cause existed to believe that the Respondents had violated 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) by filing a class grievance that did not include all 

known members of the class as grievants, failing to adhere to the grievance process, and 

failing to represent all bargaining-unit members equally. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A.. The Respondents Did Not Violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11{8)(1) and (8)(6) by Filing 
a Class Grievance That Did Not List the Names of All Grievants in the Affected 
Class. 

The Respondents are alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6), 

which state in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117.11 of the Ohio Revised Code [.] 

* * * 
(6) Fail to fairly represent all public employees in a bargaining 

unit[.] 

When an unfair labor practice charge alleges that a Union has violated its duty of 

fair representation, SERB will look to see if the Union's actions are arbitrary, discriminatory, 

or in bad faith. A breach of the duty exists if any of these elements is found. In re 

OCSEA/AFSCME LOCAL 11, SERB 98-010 (7-22-98). 

In the case before us, the unfair labor practice charge does not allege that the Union 

discriminated against Ms. Bryant, or that it acted in bad faith, during the processing and 

settling of the class grievance. The complaint also does not allege discrimination or bad 

faith by the Union. The remaining question is whether the Union's actions were arbitrary. 
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In determining whether conduct is arbitrary, we have adopted the analysis of the 

U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals in Vencl v. Int'/ Union of Operating Engineers, 137 F. 

3d 420, 426, 157 L.R.R.M. 2530 (6'h Cir. 1998), citing Ruzicka v. General Motors Corp., 

649 F. 2d 1207, 1209 (6th Cir. 1981 ): "Absent justification or excuse, a Union's negligent 

failure to take a basic and required step, unrelated to the merits of the grievance, is a clear 

example of arbitrary and perfunctory conduct which amounts to unfair representation." In 

re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, supra at 3-58. A union has certain basic and required steps 

that it must take when fulfilling its duty of fair representation. The specific steps will vary 

depending upon the nature of the representation being provided; a non-exhaustive list of 

these representation functions includes filing a grievance, processing a grievance, and 

deciding whether to take a grievance to arbitration. Id. Failure to take a basic and required 

step while performing any of these representation functions creates a rebuttable 

presumption of arbitrariness. The articulated criteria to consider when looking at the issue 

include, but are not limited to, what steps were basic and required, how severe the mistake 

or misjudgment was, what the consequences of the Union's acts were, and what the 

Union's reasons for its acts were. Id. 

The negotiations process involved in settling a grievance short of arbitration also 

contains certain basic and required steps. The basic and required steps do not include a 

requirement that the Union explicitly label a grievance as a "class grievance" and list the 

names of everyone in the affected class when it is first filed. 

The Complainant has the burden to show that the Union failed to take a basic and 

required step, thereby acting arbitrarily and failing in its duty of fair representation. Once 

the burden is met, the Union must present justification or viable excuse for its actions or 

inactions. In re OCSEAIAFSCME Local 11, supra. 
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Four bargaining-unit members came to Ms. Perkins to file a grievance. She listed 

their names and requested relief for all of the RN 2s who missed overtime opportunities 

as a result of management's failure to contact them for overtime work. The grievance was 

not specifically labeled a "class grievance." Before she filed the grievance, Ms. Perkins 

added additional names based on information received from another Union delegate. 

Ms. Bryant's name was not listed on the grievance. 

In our review of what constitutes arbitrary acts, we are not requiring union officials 

to endlessly search for all potential unnamed grievants to determine if any of them wishes 

to file a grievance on a particular issue before filing a grievance. Under many collective 

bargaining agreements, the time period for initiating a grievance is relatively brief. Also, 

the filling out of a grievance form will fall within the union's discretion. "Union discretion is 

essential to the proper functioning of the collective bargaining system." Foust v. Electrical 

Workers, 442 U.S. 42, 51, 101L.R.R.M.2365 (1979). 

In the present case, the CBA requires the Union to identify the class members by 

name only when requested by the Agency Head or designee. Under "Statement of the 

Grievance" Ms. Perkins wrote: "Management did not contact any staff members on any 

shifts regarding overtime opportunities on all shifts that resulted from call offs or other staff 

shortages." (Emphasis added). The essential elements of a class grievance under the 

CSA are met when more than one bargaining-unit member files a grievance alleging a 

violation that affects more than one member in the same way. Although the grievance in 

question was not labeled a class grievance, it falls within the description of a class 

grievance according to the CBA's terms. 

The documents acknowledging receipt of the grievance and rescheduling the 

grievance both refer to it as a class action. See Complainant's Exhibits 4 and15. The 

grievance itself lists six names and a statement of the grievance that makes it clear that 
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it is applicable to all eligible class members. The grievance was filed at Step 3 in 

accordance with the CBA requirement for class grievances. The absence of the specific 

words "class grievance" on the original grievance is immaterial to the grievance's actual 

status as a class action. Ms. Perkins' failure to write "class grievance" on the grievance did 

not deprive it of its status as a class grievance. The omission of Ms. Bryant's name did not 

deprive Ms. Bryant of her status as a member of the affected class. 

The Complainant failed to meet its burden of proof concerning the filing of the 

grievance. The grievance filed by the Union and Ms. Perkins described a class grievance, 

and Ms. Bryant was a member of the affected class of RN 2s. Thus, under the facts of this 

case, the Union did not act arbitrarily when it filed the June 16, 1999 grievance even 

though it did not specifically name Ms. Bryant as a grievant. 

B. The Respondents Violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(8)(1) and (Bl(6) By Settling a 
Grievance Without Including a Known Grlevant Who Was a Member of the 
Affected Class. 

Ms. Bryant and the Complainant have demonstrated that the Union violated 0. R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) when it acted arbitrarily and did not fairly represent Ms. Bryant 

when it agreed to exclude Ms. Bryant in the grievance settlement when she was a known 

member of the affected class. Before November 8, 1999, Ms. Perkins knew that 

Ms. Bryant was an unnamed grievant who was entitled to the relief sought by the other 

members of the class of RN 2s. She asked the mediator to include Ms. Bryant, but the 

mediator would not. She prepared a proposed amendment to the grievance specifically 

naming Ms. Bryant, but the Employer refused to include Ms. Bryant in the settlement. 

Notwithstanding the CBA's language about class grievances, the Union then agreed to 

settle the case on November 8, 1999, without including Ms. Bryant. In conjunction with the 

settlement, the parties agreed to meet on December 21, 1999, to review overtime call 

sheets and rosters to determine when the listed grievants were available for work but were 
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not called. The Union took no action when its request to add Ms. Bryant to the grievance 

settlement was denied. 

The record demonstrates that the parties had treated the grievance as a class 

grievance. The documents acknowledging receipt of the grievance and rescheduling the 

grievance both refer to it as a class action. The grievance itself lists six names and a 

statement of the grievance that is broadly written to apply to "any staff members on any 

shifts regarding overtime opportunities on all shifts that resulted from call offs or other staff 

shortages." The grievance was filed at Step 3 in accordance with the CBA requirement for 

class grievances. The absence of the specific words "class grievance" on the original 

grievance does not deprive it of its status as a class grievance. The CBA does not require 

the grievance to be marked as a class grievance to be treated as such. Ms. Perkins' failure 

to specifically list Ms. Bryant's name did not deprive Ms. Bryant of her status as an eligible 

member of the affected class. By settling the grievance without including Ms. Bryant and 

without pursuing all avenues to include her, the Union failed to take a basic and required 

step to fulfill its duty of fair representation and, therefore, acted arbitrarily. By unequally 

representing the members of the bargaining unit, the Union breached its duty of fair 

representation. 

Once the Complainant met its burden to show that the Union acted arbitrarily, the 

Union was then required to provide justification for its actions or inactions. From the 

record, the only justification for its actions was that the mediator had not agreed to include 

Ms. Bryant in the grievance, and that the CMC had refused to agree to include her in the 

settlement. When looking at the severity of the mistake or misjudgment, the consequences 

of the Union's acts, and the Union's stated reasons for its acts, a violation of the duty of fair 

representation is evident. In re OCSEAIAFSCME Local 11, supra. The Union's actions 

in not exhausting all avenues to include Ms. Bryant in the settlement were deliberate. It 

knew it was settling the grievance without including her and took that action for reasons 
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unknown. As a result, an eligible member of the class was denied her portion of the 

settlement. 

The Respondents contend that they were entitled to rely upon the advice of the 

mediator and that the administrative law judge simply did not agree with the merits analysis 

made by the Union. If the record showed that the decision to settle and not pursue 

arbitration was based upon a merits decision, the outcome of this case would probably be 

different. But under this record, settling a grievance without including Ms. Bryant once it 

became apparent that she was part of the impacted class with no other reason than 

articulated goes beyond simple negligence. We remain committed to the use of the 

grievance-mediation process to further the harmonious relationships between public 

employers and their employees in the collective bargaining setting. Again, we do not 

require unions to endlessly search for potential unnamed grievants to determine whether 

they wish to file a grievance. But Ms. Bryant was a known member of a small class. Nor 

should this holding have a chilling effect on settlement proceedings. The Union had 

options it could have pursued to resolve the grievance while protecting the rights of all of 

the members of the class. For example, the Union could have settled the grievance as to 

the other members of the class and pursued the remaining grievance issues, including 

Ms. Bryant's status, to arbitration. What the Union could not do legally was protect the 

rights of some, but not all, of the known members of a small class without justification or 

excuse. The statutory duties of the parties cannot be superseded by the non-binding 

"opinion" of a grievance mediator. Based upon the facts and circumstances of this case, 

we must find a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(6). 

An O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(1) violation occurred because the Union's failure to exhaust 

all remedies to include Ms. Bryant in the settlement restrained her from exercising rights 

guaranteed in O.R.C. Chapter 4117, namely under O.R.C. § 4117.03(A)(5), the right to 

present grievances and have them adjusted, and under O.R.C. § 4117.03(A)(3), the right 

to representation by an employee organization. 
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C. Remedy: 

After finding a violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6), the next step is 

determining whether Ms. Bryant's grievance would have been meritorious. In re Ohio 

Health Care Employees Union Dist 1199, SERB 93-020 (12-20-93). Ms. Bryant's standing 

under the June 19, 1999 grievance was identical to the other RN 2s. The other bargaining

unit members of the class received back pay pursuant to the November 8, 1999 

settlement. Since the other class members received a substantial settlement, we must 

conclude that Ms. Bryant would have been eligible for a similar settlement. The record 

does not contain any facts that distinguish her from the other class members. As a result, 

Ms. Bryant would have been eligible for back pay for missed overtime opportunities arising 

between May 31, 1999 and June 16, 1999, which was the time period covered by the 

grievance. According to the record, Ms. Bryant missed seven overtime opportunities for 

eight-hour shifts. Her base pay rate at that time was $22.18 per hour. 

D. The Unfair Labor Practice Charge Was Timely Filed. 

On January 21, 2000, Ms. Bryant filed the pending unfair labor practice charge. On 

August 11, 2000, the Respondents filed a motion for partial dismissal, alleging that some 

of the allegations in the complaint are time barred. The complaint alleges that the Union 

violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) by filing a grievance on June 16, 1999, which 

did not include all potential grievants. The Respondents conclude that this, as well as all 

remaining allegations in the complaint are derivative, but for purposes of the motion seeks 

only to dismiss the allegations related to the filing of the grievance. 

In In re City of Barberton, SERB 88-008 (7-5-88), appeal dismissed sub nom. SERB 

v. City of Barberton (1990), SERB 4-46 (CP, Summit, 7-31-90), we held that in order for 

the ninety-day period to begin rolling, two conditions must be met. The first condition is the 
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charging party's acquired or constructive knowledge of the alleged unfair labor practice that 

is the subject of the charge. The second condition is the occurrence of actual damage to 

the charging party resulting from the alleged unfair labor practice. According to the record, 

Ms. Bryant did not become aware of the June 16, 1999 grievance until mid-December 

1999;2 actual damage did not occur until December 21, 1999, when the grievance was 

settled without any payment to Ms. Bryant. Both dates are well within the ninety-day 

statute of limitations. As a result, the Respondent's motion to dismiss was properly denied 

by the administrative law judge. 

E. The Union Is a Proper Party to the Pending Charge and Complaint 

The Respondents also allege that the Union is not a proper party to the pending 

unfair labor practice charge and complaint. Specifically, the Respondents allege that the 

Union was not correctly named in the charge. The Respondents refer to the fact that the 

unfair labor practice charge in case No. OO-ULP-01 -0044 has the box checked for 

"employee organization" as the party against whom the charge is brought, but then lists 

Michelle Gray's name and address instead of the Union's name and address. The unfair 

labor practice charge in Case No. OO-ULP-01 -0045 has no box checked in the column, 

"party against whom this charge is brought," but then lists Deborah Perkins' name and 

address. This argument was not raised by the Union during the investigation of the 

charges or before probable cause was found. A review of the Board's records revealed 

that the Union fully participated in investigation of the charges and the litigation of the 

complaint. Despite the technical defects in both unfair labor practice charges, it is 

apparent from the attached explanation of the charges that the intent of Ms. Bryant was 

to bring unfair labor practice charges against District 1199, Service Employees 

International Union, AFL-CIO, Michelle Gray, and Deborah Perkins. The Union's motion 

to dismiss on this basis was properly denied by the administrative law judge. 

'Transcript, pp. 157-158, 171. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State Employment Relations Board finds that 

District 1199 Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO, Michele Gray, and Deborah 

Perkins violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6) by settling a class grievance without 

including a known member of the affected class in the settlement. Thus, a cease-and

desist order will be issued requiring the Respondents to post a Notice to Employees for 

sixty days in all of the usual and normal locations where employees represented by 

District 1199, Service Employees International Union, AFL-CJO work; to pay Ms. Bryant in 

accordance with the terms of the November 8, 1999 settlement agreement for missed 

overtime opportunities arising between May 31, 1999 and June 16, 1999; and to notify the 

Board in writing twenty calendar days from the date the Order becomes final of the steps 

that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Marion City School District Board of Education, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2000·ULP·03-0150 

ORDER 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
March 20, 2001. 

On March 14, 2000, the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, Local 154 
("Charging Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Marion City School 
District Board of Education ("Respondent"). On October 29, 2000, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the 
Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11(A)(1 ). 

A hearing was held on November 15, 2000. On January 12, 2001, the Proposed 
Order was issued. On February 5, 2001, the Respondent filed exceptions to the Proposed 
Order. On February 16, 2001, the Complainant filed a response to the exceptions. On 
February 20, 2001, the Charging Party filed a response to the exceptions. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board adopts the Findings of Fact, 
Analysis and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the Proposed Order, incorporated by 
reference. 

The Marion City School District Board of Education is ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the 
exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
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Chapter 4117 by asking bargaining-unit members not to bid on 
an open secretarial position, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented 
by the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, 
Local 154, work, the Notice to Employees furnished by 
the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Marion City School District Board of Education shall 
cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) 
and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER 
becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 
comply therewith. 

It "is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117 .13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 
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I certify that this document was filed and a copl served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this c/? I 8::!:- day of ~ ~J _ , 
2001. 

~ x:.L,~ 
SALLY L:i3AAILLOUX, EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 

direct\03-20·00.0 i 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State 
Emp!oyment Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has 
ordered us to post this Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the Board and to abide 
by the !ollowing» 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by asking bargaining.unit members 
not lo bid on an open secretarial position, and from otherw'1se violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117. 11 (A)(1 ). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining 4 

unit employees represented by the Ohio Associatron of Public School Employees, 
Local 154, work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the Marion City School District Board of Education shall 
cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (Al and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

2. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty calendar days from 
the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply 
therewith. 

SERB v. Marlon City School District Board of Education 
Case No. OO·ULP-03-0150 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

MARION CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
BOARD OF EDUCATION, 

Respondent. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

CASE NO. OO·ULP-03-0150 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

On March 14, 2000, the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, Local 154 
("OAPSE") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Marion City School District 
Board of Education ("Respondent") alleging that the Respondent violated Ohio Revised 
Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3).' On October 29, 2000, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") determined that probable cause existed to 
believe that the Respondent had violated § 4117.11 (A)(1) by interfering with, restraining, 
or coercing employees from exercising guaranteed, protected rights by asking employees 
not to bid on an open secretarial position. The Board dismissed the § 4117.11 (A)(3) 
allegation for lack of probable cause. 

On September 19, 2000, a complaint was issued. OAPSE's motion to intervene, 
filed on October 12, 2000, was granted on October 20, 2000. A hearing was conducted 
on November 15, 2000, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. 
All parties filed post-hearing briefs on December 14, 2000. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Respondent violated§ 4117.11 (A)(1) by asking employees not 
to bid on an open secretarial position. 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117. 
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111. FINDINGS OF FACT" 

1 . The Marion City School District Board of Education is a "public employer" as defined 
by§ 4117.01 (B). (S.) 

2. OAPSE is an "employee organization" as defined in § 4117.01 (D). (S.) 

3. Ms. Sue Seckel, Ms. Mary Sprague, and Ms. Cindy Huff are employed by the 
Respondent, are members of OAPSE, and are "public employees" as defined by 
§ 4117.01 (C). (S.) 

4. The Respondent and OAPSE are parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
("CBA") effective March 1, 1998 to June 30, 2002, containing a grievance procedure 
that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (S.) 

5. Ms. Amy Piacentino is the Principal at Silver Street Elementary School ("Silver 
Street"), a school operated by the Respondent, and has served in that capacity at 
all times relevant. (S.) 

6. Silver Street employs 30 individuals in both teaching and non-teaching capacities. 
Silver Street averages 300 students. (T. 261, 262) 

7. Each school within the district has a HEAT team pursuant to the terms of the CBA. 
HEAT is an acronym that stands for Hiring Effective Appropriate Teammates. The 
HEAT team at Silver Street was composed of two certified employees, Ms. Renee 
Smith and Principal Piacentino, and two classified employees, Ms. Pat Coldren and 
Ms. Janet Hulse. (T. 18-20, 52, 98) 

8. The role of the HEAT team is to review applications for employment, decide which 
applicants will receive an interview, and conduct the interviews. On occasion, the 
initial screening may be done by the principal alone. Two applicants are selected 
and sent to a panel of three members of the school district who make the final 
recommendation to the school board. (T. 146, 180-190) 

9. Ms. Huff was a kindergarten teacher's aide for four years at Silver Street. She was 
employed at Silver Street as a cook for three years before becoming an aide. She 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by 
"S." References to the transcript in the Findings of Fact are intended tor convenience only and are 
not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for that related 
finding of fact. 
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had also been a full-time secretary at Dayton Children's Hospital before becoming 
a teacher's aide. In February 2000, she applied for an open secretarial position at 
Silver Street. (T. 10-13) 

1 o. Approximately a week after Ms. Huff submitted her application, Principal Piacentino 
called Ms. Huff into the office and asked her to consider withdrawing her application. 
Principal Piacentino felt that it would be unfair for the HEAT team to have to choose 
among applicants from the same building and that the decision could cause hurt 
feelings. (T. 21-26, 43) 

11. Ms. Huff did not withdraw her application, but she was not interviewed tor the 
secretarial position. (T. 35) 

12. Ms. Seckel has been an elementary library media aide at Silver Street since 1981. 
She has been employed for a total of 29 years with the school and was a teacher's 
aide for both elementary school and high school. (T. 61-62) 

13. After hearing about the secretarial position posting, Ms. Seckel prepared a letter 
expressing interest in the position and decided to talk to Principal Piacentino about 
it. In January 2000, Principal Piacentino had encouraged Ms. Seckel to apply for 
another secretarial position at George Washington School. (T. 63-65, 67) 

14. Principal P1acentino told Ms. Seckel she did not want her to apply for the position 
because she did not want the HEAT team to have to choose between Ms. Seckel 
and three others. (T. 68-69, 85) 

15. Ms. Seckel threw her application away that same day. (T. 70-71) 

16. Ms. Sprague has been a teacher's aide for more than two years. She is now at Oak 
Street School, but split time her first two years, including the 1999-2000 school year, 
between Silver Street and Oak Street. (T. 90-91) 

17. Prior to her employment with the Respondent, Ms. Sprague had substituted as a 
secretary in the main office and in the guidance department at several schools. On 
occasion she has substituted as a secretary at various schools. (T. 94) 

18. After applying for the Silver Street secretarial position, Ms. Sprague received a note 
in her mailbox from Principal Piacentino, asking to meet with her. (T. 99) 

19. Principal Piacentino told Ms. Sprague that submitting the application would cause 
hard feelings, and that if Ms. Sprague submitted her application, Principal 
Piacentino would not consider it. Ms. Sprague submitted her application, but was 
not interviewed for the position. (T. 100-103, 112, 122) 
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20. Principal Piacentino told Ms. Seckel, Ms. Huff, and Ms. Sprague that she hoped 
none of them would apply but said that she did not actively try to discourage anyone 
from applying. (T. 265-271) 

21. Principal Piacentino did not want any of the three to apply because she did not want 
the close-knit atmosphere of the school to change and feared that the animosity and 
conflict that could occur as a result of competition for the position would impact 
negatively upon the morale of the school and, as a result, on the students. (T. 283-
285, 293·294, 307-309) 

22. Thirty applications were submit1ed 1o 1he HEAT learn for the Silver S1reet secretarial 
position. Principal Piacentino did the initial screening and narrowed the applicant 
pool from 30 to 12. She then told the HEAT team members that the applications 
were on her desk for them to pick up and review at their convenience and to 
recommend 6 applicants for interviews. (T. 195, 236, 275) 

23. Ms. Hulse and Ms. Smith reviewed 12-15 applications including those of 
Ms. Sprague and Ms. Huff. The applicants were tested, and six persons were 
recommended to be interviewed. One withdrew. (T. 220, 238) 

24. Ms. Coldren received five applications to review immediately before the interviews, 
none of which included those of Ms. Huff or Ms. Sprague. She asked Ms. Smith 
about Ms. Huff's and Ms. Sprague's applications, and Ms. Smith told her that they 
were in a stack of five that did not receive interviews. The HEAT team interviewed 
five applicants, narrowed the choices to two, and submitted their names to the 
three-member school district panel. (T. 168·173, 192-193, 227-228, 275-277, 325) 

25. The secretarial position was filled on March 9, 2000, by Ms. Nancy Davis, an 
employee from outside the bargaining unit. (T. 196-197, 200-201) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Respondent is alleged to have violated § 4117.11 (A)(1 ), which provides in 
relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the 
Revised Code[.] 
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In determining whether a§ 4117 .11(A)(1) violation occurred, the appropriate inquiry 
is an objective one as opposed to a subjective one. A violation will be found if, under the 
totality of the circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the employer's conduct 
interfered with, restrained, or coerced an employee in the exercise of Chapter 4117 rights. 
In re Springfield Local School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 97-007 (5-1-97) ("Springfield"); In re 
Pickaway County Human SeNices Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93) aff'd sub nom. SERB v. 
Pickaway Human SeNices Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist. Ct. App., Pickaway, 12-7-95). 
Because this is an objective test, neither the intent of the employer nor the individual 
employee's subjective view of the employer's conduct are relevant. 

Applying this standard to the case at bar, the first question is whether Ms. Sprague, 
Ms. Huff, and Ms. Seckel were exercising rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117 by bidding 
on the secretarial position at Silver Street. Section 4117.03(A)(4) gives employees the 
right to bargain collectively with their public employers to determine wages, hours, terms 
and other conditions of employment and the continuation, modification, or deletion of an 
existing provision of a collective bargaining agreement, and to enter into collective 
bargaining agreements. An individual acting alone may engage in concerted activity by 
invoking a contract right. In re Cincinnati Metropolitan Housing Authority, SERB 93-002, 
at p. 3-11 (4-6-93). Concerted activity is also protected activity if the policies or rules have 
their genesis in collective bargaining. Id. In this case the parties negotiated a CBA that, 
among its provisions, provided a process for employees to bid on open positions. Bidding 
on an open position within a bargaining unit pursuant to the terms of a CBA is protected 
activity. 

The second question is whether Principal Piacentino's comments to Ms. Sprague, 
Ms. Huff, and Ms. Seckel interfered with, restrained, or coerced them in the exercise of 
their Chapter 4117 rights. In the context of the job application process, Principal 
Piacentino's statements were inherently coercive. The statements were made to 
employees over whom Principal Piacentino was in a position of authority. The statements 
were directly related to the employees' protected activity of participating in the bidding 
process. The Respondent argues that the applicants were extended every right under the 
CSA and that they all understood they had a right to apply for the position. This argument 
misses the point that Springfield requires an objective test. Independent of the applicants' 
reactions to the statements, viewing the statements in the context of the totality of the 
conduct and the circumstances under which they were made, the chilling effect of Principal 
Piacentino's comments created an environment that interfered with, restrained, or coerced 
the employees in accessing the terms and conditions set forth in the CSA, thereby 
rendering the rights guaranteed under§ 4117.03(A)(4) meaningless. 

The Respondent argues that no violation has been committed because no one was 
harmed. As Springfield points out, threatening statements tied directly to protected activity 
are sufficient to constitute a § 4117.11 (A)(1) violation. 
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Principal Piacentino's rationale was that if three people in a small school setting 
applied for the same job, hard feelings would occur, causing a drop in morale and a 
resultant adverse impact on students. Although Principal Piacentino said her intent in 
telling the three people that she hoped they would not apply was not to discourage them 
from applying, one cannot imagine nor did Principal Piacentino articulate another more 
likely result of her statements. Although one can sympathize with Principal Piacentino's 
stated efforts to set the "social tone" of the school by nurturing a "warm, caring, trusting 
environment" (T. 291 ), these actions cannot be taken at the expense of statutorily 
guaranteed rights. Therefore, the Respondent, through the conduct and actions of 
Principal Piacentino, its agent or representative, violated § 4117.11 (A)(1) when it dealt 
directly with the bargaining-unit employees concerning their bidding on the open position. 

OAPSE requests a five-part remedy that is essentially a redo of the posting and 
bidding process for the Silver Street secretarial position. OAPSE's request is an extreme 
remedy under the facts presented and is not recommended. Although Principal 
Piacentino's statements were inappropriate and interfered with the potential applicants' 
rights to participate in the bidding process, her statements did not carry any direct threat 
of reprisal. Two of the individuals still applied for the opening; the other applicant simply 
chose not to apply for the position. The Board's responsibility is to remedy the violation 
committed, which is accomplished in this case by issuing a cease-and-desist order with the 
sixty-day posting of a Notice to Employees in all of the usual and normal locations where 
OAPSE members work. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Marion City School District Board of Education is a "public employer" as defined in 
§ 4117.01(8). 

2. The Ohio Association of Public School Employees, Local 154 is an "employee 
organization" as defined in § 4117.01 (D). 

3. Sue Seckel, Mary Sprague, and Cindy Huff are "public employees" within the 
meaning of§ 4117.01(C). 

4. The Respondent's conduct and actions in asking Mary Sprague, Sue Seckel, and 
Cindy Huff not to bid on an open secretarial position constitutes a violation of 
§ 4117.11(A)(1). 
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VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1 . The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant to O.R.C. 
§ 4117.11 (B)(3) requiring the Marion City School District Board of Education to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the 
exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117 by asking bargaining-unit members not to bid on 
an open secretarial position, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1 . Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented 
by the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, 
Local 154, work, the Notice to Employees furnished by 
the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Marion City School District Board of Education shall 
cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) 
and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

2. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER 
becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 
comply therewith. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Brimfield Township, Portage County, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2000·ULP·04·0242 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATIACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
April 26, 2001. 

On April 19, 2000, the Freight Drivers, Dockworkers and Helpers, Teamsters 
Local 24 ("Charging Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against Brimfield 
Township, Portage County ("Respondent"). On August 17, 2000, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the 
Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), and (A)(4), 
and directed the matter to hearing. 

On November 2, 2000, a hearing was conducted. On January 10, 2001, the 
Administrative Law Judge issued a Proposed Order recommending that the Board find that 
the Respondent did not violate Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(3), and (A)(4) 
when it suspended Mr. Rolland Hoover for six days. On February 1, 2001, the 
Complainant filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On February 27, 2001, the 
Respondent filed a motion for leave to file counter-exceptions instanter because the 
Respondent's counsel had not received the Complainant's exceptions due to an incorrect 
address in the certificate of service. On February 28, 2001, the Administrative Law Judge 
granted the motion. On March 12, 2001, the Respondent filed its response to the 
exceptions. 

Alter reviewing the record, exceptions, and response, the Board adopts the Findings 
of Fact, Analysis and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the Administrative Law 
Judge's Proposed Order; dismisses the complaint; and dismisses with prejudice the unfair 
labor practice charge. 
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It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman: GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this -ic ~ day of ka t.L (. 
ii 

2001. 

J. u~ AL._ u,"cfk 
SALL y L. B RAiLCoux, EXECUTIVE SECRET RY 

diroct\04-26-01.01 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

BRIMFIELD TOWNSHIP, PORTAGE COUNTY, : 

Respondent. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

CASE NO. OO-ULP-04-0242 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

On April 19, 2000, the Freight Drivers, Dockworkers and Helpers, Teamsters 
Local 24 ("Union") filed an unfair labor practice charge against Brimfield Township, Portage 
County ("Respondent" or "Township"), alleging that the Respondent violated 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), and (A)(4). 1 On August 17, 2000, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") determined that probable cause existed to 
believe that the Respondent committed an unfair labor practice by suspending bargaining
team member Rolland Hoover for six days in retaliation for his engaging in protected 
activity. 

On September 20, 2000, a Complaint was issued. A hearing was conducted on 
November 2, 2000, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. All 
parties filed post-hearing briefs on December 7, 2000. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Respondent suspended Rolland Hoover for six days in 
retaliation for his protected Union activity, in violation of§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), 
(A)(3), and (A)(4). 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. Brimfield Township is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). (S.) 

2. The Freight Drivers, Dockworkers and Helpers, Teamsters Local No. 24 is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). (S.) 

3. Mr. Rolland Hoover has been an employee of the Township's road department for 
three years and is a "public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01(C). (S.) 

4. As early as April 1999, Mr. Hoover started inquiring into union representation tor the 
road department. At a Township meeting in March 1999, Mr. Hoover raised an 
objection as to the amount ot a pay raise and the lack of dialogue between 
management and the road department. When the Township did not respond, the 
road department employees decided to organize. (T. 10-13, 84-85) 

5. Alter the Union was certified, Mr. Hoover was the only bargaining-unit member to 
participate in the negotiating sessions. The Township's Board of Trustees was 
aware of his participation. (S.) 

6. The Township and the Union had their first negotiating session on December 30, 
1999. (S.) 

7. The bargaining unit consists of three employees. (T. 11) 

8. At the start of contract negotiations, the parties discussed whether Mr. Steve 
Detwiler, Road Department Supervisor, and Mr. Hoover would take earned time, 
vacation, or compensatory time for negotiations. (T. 35-37, 86) 

9. After the initial meeting, the Board of Trustees decided that Mr. Detwiler did not 
have to take earned time because attendance at the meetings was part of his job. 
(T. 87, 121) 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T. ,"followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the Complainant's exhibits are indicated parenthetically 
by "C. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to the Joint Exhibits are indicated 
parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to the Respondent's 
exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh." All references to the Stipulations of Fact are 
indicated parenthetically by "S." References to the transcript or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are 
intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for that related finding of fact 
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10. Before April 1999, the Respondent did not require a two-week notice to use 
vacation time. After April 1999, a two-week notice in writing was required. (T. 33-
34, 156-157) 

11. On March 9, 2000, Mr. Hoover called Mr. Dennis Grund, the supervisor under 
Mr. Detwiler, and took a sick day on the day he attended a Union meeting to 
prepare a final contract offer to the Township. (T. 24-25) 

12. Mr. Hoover knew about the March 9, 2000 Union meeting two days before the 
meeting, which did not allow him enough time to request vacation. (T. 66) 

13. On March 9, 2000, Mr. Hoover had 34.73 hours compensatory time available, which 
did not require a two-week notice to utilize. (T. 54) 

14. At the March 9, 2000 meeting, Mr. Jarrell Williams, State Teamsters Director, 
received a telephone call from Assistant County Prosecutor, Linda Hastings, ("Ms. 
Hastings"), which he transferred lo the speaker phone during the meeting. (T. 31) 

15. Mr. Hoover made no effort to conceal his presence at the meeting from 
Ms. Hastings during her phone call. (T. 31) 

16. Upon his return to work on March 10, 2000, Mr. Hoover turned in a time sheet 
reflecting March 9, 2000, as a sick day. (T. 67; R. Exh. A) 

17. Several days later, Mr. Detwiler asked Mr. Hoover if he had been sick on March 9, 
2000. Mr. Hoover responded "No," and told Mr. Detwiler that he had gone to a 
Union meeting. (T. 26) 

18. On March 17, 2000, Mr. Hoover received a six-day suspension without pay and no 
pay for the "sick day." The reason for the suspension was described as two acts of 
dishonesty: making a false statement to Mr. Grund and falsifying a lime card. The 
discipline also was issued for an abuse of absenteeism, using sick leave for 
unauthorized purposes. (C. Exh. B) 

19. Mr. Hoover appealed the suspension to the Township's Board of Trustees. The 
Board of Trustees voted to uphold the suspension. (T. 29-30, 133) 

20. Section 7, Corrective Action, in Brimfield Township's personnel policies and 
procedures manual provides as follows: 

7.~ CAUSES FOR CORRECTIVE ACTION 

An employee may be disciplined for inefficiency, dishonesty, 
drunkenness, immoral conduct, abuse of absenteeism, 
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insubordination, and violation of established rules of the 
Township Board of Trustees. Reference is made to 
section 124.35 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

7.4 STEPS TO BE TAKEN 

Steps to be taken that [sic] adequately administer this section 
include the following: 

1. If the employee is in violation of the 
aforementioned, the supervisor shall first 
warn the employee verbally and suggest 
ways to improve the situation. 

2. If the condition continues to exist, the 
employee shall then receive a written 
explanation of the situation along with 
corrective actions to be taken. 

3. If the condition continues to exist, the 
employee shall be given three (3) days 
off. This also shall be in writing and must 
be filed in the employee's personnel tile. 

4. If the condition continues to exist, then 
the employee shall be given six (6) days 
off. This also shall be in writing and filed 
in the employee's personnel file. 

The action in Step A may be written. All other steps must be in writing. 

(Jt. Exh. 1) 

5. If the employee continues the violation, 
he or she shall be dismissed. The 
employee shall be notified of the 
termination with the reasons tor the action 
provided in writing. 

6. The right of dismissal remains the sole 
prerogative of the Board of Trustees, and 
this procedure may be accelerated 
depending on the gravity of the offense. 



Case No. 2000-ULP-04-0242 
Page 5 of 10 

21. In his March 17, 2000 Notice of Disciplinary action to Mr. Hoover, Mr. Detwiler 
stated: 

(C. Exh. B) 

The acts of dishonesty and abuse of absenteeism for which 
you are charged justify an acceleration of the disciplinary 
progression. 

22. Mr. Detwiler ruled out oral and written reprimands and the three-day suspension, 
believing the only appropriate options under the policy and procedural manual were 
the six-day suspension or termination. (T. 128) 

23. In making his decision, Mr. Detwiler relied on the fact that he viewed the incident as 
involving two separate instances of lying, first to a supervisor and second on a time 
card. (T. 128, 160) 

24. Mr. Hoover's prior disciplinary record consists of a written reprimand on 
February 23, 2000, for backing the Township truck into a car containing a female 
and a small child and causing damage to the vehicle. (T. 39, R. Exh. F) 

25. The only other accident involving a Township vehicle and another car occurred 
when the private vehicle struck the Township vehicle. (T. 161) 

26. After the March 9, 2000 incident, Mr. Hoover received a written reprimand for tailing 
to make a timely report to Mr. Detwiler about compliance with the Board-issued 
requirement that all road department employees were to have a Class A license 
with lull endorsements including Combination, Tanker, and Haz-Mat. Although 
Mr. Hoover obtained his COL license within 60 days, he did not provide this 
information within 60 days to Mr. Detwiler or anyone else. (T. 43·47, 152; C. Exh. I) 

27. Mr. Hoover appeared at SERB on several occasions in conjunction with Case 
No. 99-ULP-07-0407, an unfair labor practice case that was settled before hearing. 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Township is alleged to have violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), and (A)(4), which 
provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 



Case No. 2000-ULP-04-0242 
Page 6 of 10 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117[;] 

(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment 
or any term or condition of employment on the basis of 
the exercise of rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117[;] 

(4) Discharge or otherwise discriminate against an 
employee because he has filed charges or given 
testimony under Chapter 4117[.] 

Due to a lack of a preponderance of evidence in the record in support of the allegations 
and for the reasons contained within the analysis and discussion to follow, the Respondent 
is found to have not violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), or (A)(4). 

The standard of review by SERB to determine whether a§ 4117. 11 (1) viola1ion has 
occurred has been clearly stated.3 More recently, in In re Hamil1on County Sheriff, SERB 
98·002 (1 ·23-98), aff'd sub nom. Hamilton County Sheriff v. SERB, No. A98·00714 (Mag. 
Dec., CP, Hamilton, 10-9-98), SERB restated this standard: 

This inquiry is objective, rather than subjective; neither the 
employer's intent nor the individual employee's subjective view 
of the employer's conduct would be considered by SERB in 
determining whether an O.R.C. Section 4117.11 (A)(1) violation 
has occurred; and a violation will be found if, under the totality 
of the circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the 
employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the 
exercise of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by the public 
employer's conduct. 

It is not in dispute that Mr. Hoover's activities as a Union steward, participating in 
negotiation sessions and appearing at SERB in conjunction with the filing and eventual 
settlement of an unfair labor practice, are protected rights under § 4117.03(A). Public 
employees have the right to form, join, assist, or participate in any employee organization 
of their own choosing under§ 4117.03(A)(1 ), and to engage "in other concerted activities 
for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid and protection" under 
§ 4117.03(A)(2). 

'See, e.g., In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd 
SERBv. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB4-46 (4~ Dist. Ct. App., Pickaway, 12-7-95); 
In re Springfield Local School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 97-007 (5·1-97). 
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The question then is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, Mr. Hoover 
was interfered with, restrained, or coerced by the Township in the exercise of his 
Chapter 4117 rights. In State Emp. Relations Bd. v. Adena Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn., 
66 Ohio St. 3d 485, 498, 1993 SERB 4-43, 4-50 (1993) ("Adena"), the Ohio Supreme Court 
articulated the following test to be applied by SERB to determine whether an individual has 
been the victim of discrimination on the basis of protected activity under§ 4117.11 (A)(3): 

[T]he "in part" approach must be broad enough to take into 
account the actual or true motive of the employer. Thus, only 
when the employer's decision regarding the employee was 
actually motivated by antiunion animus must a ULP be found. 
In determining actual motivation in the context ot the "in part" 
test, the requirements ot R.C. Chapter 4117 are best fulfilled 
when SERB considers the evidence before it in the framework 
of a single inquiry, focusing on the intent of the employer. 

Improper employer motivation may be inferred from circumstantial as well as direct 
evidence. Discriminatory motivation may reasonably be inferred from a variety of factors, 
such as the employer's express hostility toward unionization combined with knowledge of 
employees' union activities; inconsistencies between the proffered reason for discipline or 
discharge and other actions ot the employer; disparate treatment of certain employees 
compared to other employees with similar work records or offenses; an employer's 
deviation from past practices in implementing discipline; and proximity in time between the 
employees' union activities and their discipline. In re Fairland Local School Dist Bd of Ed, 
SERB 98-013 (6-17-99); In re Columbus Bd of Health, City ot Columbus, SERB 96-003 (3-
26-96), at 3-21; Turnbull Cone Baking Co. v. NLRB, 778 F.2d 262, 267 (6'" Cir. 1985), cert. 
denied, 476 U.S. 1159 (1985) (citing NLRB v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours, 750 F.2d 524, 529 
(6'h Cir. 1984). 

To make a prima facie case of discrimination under § 4117.11 (A)(3), the 
Complainant must establish the tallowing elements: (1) that the employee at issue is a 
public employee and was employed at relevant times by the Respondent; (2) that he or she 
engaged in protected activity under Chapter 4117, which fact was either known to the 
Respondent or suspected by the Respondent; and (3) that the Respondent took adverse 
action against the employee under circumstances that, if left unrebutted by other evidence, 
could lead to a reasonable inference that the Respondent's actions were related to the 
employee's engaging in protected activity under Chapter 4117. In re SERB v. Fulton 
County Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96). 

Stipulation Number 5 establishes the first element concerning Mr. Hoover. 
Stipulation Numbers 6 and 7 satisfy the second element. Also, Mr. Hoover acted as Union 
steward for the local chapter. He was named as a witness in an earlier unfair labor 
practice charge, Case No. 99-ULP-07-0407, filed July 14, 1999, which, after his attendance 
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at numerous meetings at SERB, was settled on January 28, 2000. These activities are 
protected under§§ 4117.03(A)(1) and (A)(2). 

The Respondent took adverse action against Mr. Hoover by suspending him for six 
days. If left unrebutted, this action could lead to a reasonable inference that the 
Respondent's actions were related to the employee's engaging in protected activity. 

The Respondent successfully rebuts any presumption of anti-union animus by 
proving that its actions were merely punishment for Mr. Hoover's offense. The punishment 
may be harsher than the Union, Complainant, another employer, or even this 
Administrative Law Judge would have recommended, but SERB will not question the 
severity of the punishment so long as it was not meted out because of Mr. Hoover's 
protected activity. 

The Complainant argues that Mr. Hoover did not receive a copy of the Township's 
policies and procedures manual immediately upon his employment and that this shows 
anti-union animus. It is evident from the record, however, that both Mr. Hoover and 
Mr. Richards had a copy when they made their initial proposal to the Township in 
December 1999, quoting the original sick leave policy from the handbook. This is not a 
case in which Mr. Hoover needed to have studied some complex or hidden portion of the 
manual in order to avoid a violation. His own testimony shows that he knew what he was 
doing was wrong. "It was just a dumb decision; I could have used a comp day. I was trying 
to save the comp days, thinking, you know, I've got some other things I might want to do 
... and was just kind of being selfish with a little bit of time for me." (T. 82, Hoover). He 
simply underestimated his employer's opinion as to the seriousness of the offense. "I didn't 
really see that it was any big fiasco." (T. 50, Hoover) 

The Complainant then goes on to argue that the Respondent did not follow its own 
policies and procedures in imposing discipline, thereby showing anti-union animus. 
Section 7.3 of the policies and procedures manual provides that an employee can be 
disciplined for, among other things, dishonesty and abuse of absenteeism. Section 7.4 of 
the policies and procedures manual provides for a verbal warning, a written warning, three 
days off, and then six days off if the condition causing the need for discipline persists. The 
section goes on to provide that the procedure may be accelerated depending upon the 
gravity of the offense. Mr. Detwiler explained his use of the acceleration clause by saying 
that he viewed Mr. Hoover's violation as two separate offenses, lying about taking a sick 
day and falsifying a time card. Mr. Detwiler determined that in his opinion the magnitude 
of the offense ruled out his use of an oral or written reprimand or a three-day suspension, 
leaving him with a choice of a six-day suspension or termination. He added that this 
offense had not been committed in the 21 years he had been with the Township, that he 
did not do it, and that he did not expect any of his employees to do it. 
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Mr. Detwiler also considered Mr. Hoover's previous record of sick time use. The 
Complainant argued that this factor was irrelevant, because the record did not contain any 
proof that Mr. Hoover was not sick at the time such leave had been used. This argument 
misstates the issue. It is contrary to reason to argue that a factor in giving employees the 
benefit of the doubt cannot be the legitimate use of sick time. 

An issue of disparate treatment of other similarly situated employees is not present. 
The record reflects no documented circumstances of sick leave abuse in the previous 
twenty-one years of Township history. The Township is entitled to take a strong stand on 
such a violation, whether from inexperience with dealing with the issue or from a deliberate, 
reasoned decision to punish severely for this offense. It is the Township's prerogative. 
While Mr. Hoover could have lied when asked if he was really sick or he could have 
attempted to conceal his presence at the meeting, he did neither. An employer may or 
may not choose to take these mitigating factors into consideration in imposing discipline. 
In this case, the Township did not. Mr. Hoover knowingly did something wrong and 
received a harsher punishment than expected, but within the existing disciplinary policy. 
Unless this Administrative Law Judge finds circumstantial evidence of anti-union animus, 
for example that the Employer deviated from past practice or the policies and procedures 
manual when imposing such punishment for the offense in question, the fact is that the 
employee knowingly committed the offense and took his chances on the employer's 
punishment. 

The Complainant also cites two unrelated instances of discipline, one occurring 
before the incident in question, and one occurring alter the incident in question. 
Mr. Hoover received a written reprimand for backing his snowplow into a car behind him 
containing a motorist and her young child. Because this was described as a safety 
violation that concluded in a harmful event (an accident causing damage to a non
Township vehicle), a written reprimand was issued. The Complainant alleges this was the 
only discipline issued to a Township employee for an accident. The record reflects that it 
was the only accident involving damage to a private vehicle by a Township vehicle. 
Certainly nothing precludes an employer from issuing discipline under these 
circumstances. 

To show an alleged continuing course of conduct, the Complainant cites an incident 
subsequent to the March 9, 2000 discipline wherein Mr. Hoover and others were given sixty 
days to get a Class A license. Mr. Hoover obtained the license within the 60 days, but as 
of May 23, 2000, he had not reported his compliance to anyone. His lackadaisical attitude 
toward reporting his compliance to his employer is reflected in his testimony. "I figured I'd 
just give it back to my boss when he asked for it." (T. 47 Hoover). "I didn't go chasing after 
him to give him something ... and it's like okay, when you're ready for it you'll let me know." 
(T. 49, Hoover). His only response after the May 23 request for information was to put a 
note and a copy of his driver's license on his boss's desk; the note stated: "Driver license 
issues referred to Teamsters Local 24. If any questions, contact Steward or Local 24 Dave 
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Richards." The mention of a union and referral of a matter to a union official combined with 
a negative response on the part of the Township does not automatically make anti-union 
animus. The Township was attempting, after four months, to ascertain whether Mr. Hoover 
had complied with the license requirement. The Township was reacting to Mr. Hoover's 
failure to timely respond to its inquiry as opposed to reacting to Mr. Hoover's referral of the 
matter to the Union. 

The factors necessary to infer discriminatory employer motivation are not present 
in this case. The record is devoid of any express hostility by the Township toward 
unionization. The record contains no inconsistencies between the proffered reasons for 
discipline and other actions of the Township. Nothing in the record shows that Mr. Hoover 
was treated differently than other employees or that the Township deviated from past 
practice in disciplining him. Mr. Hoover's behavior created a case of first impression in the 
Township. The Township came down hard, but it had every right to do so. 

In short, Mr. Hoover was disciplined for calling in sick and using sick leave when he 
was not sick. He could have used compensatory time for his absence, but he chose 
otheiwise. Reasonable minds may disagree over the level of discipline, but the Township 
had the authority to determine the appropriate level and to impose it. The Complainant did 
not demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that the Township violated 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), or (A)(4). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Brimfield Township is a "public employer'' as defined in§ 4117.01 (B). (S. 1) 

2. The Freight Drivers, Dockworkers and Helpers, Teamsters Local 24 is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(D). 

3. The Respondent's actions in suspending Mr. Hoover for six days did not violate 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), or (A)(4). 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss with prejudice the unfair labor 
practice charge and the complaint. 
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CASE NUMBER: 2001-STK-04-0001 

ISSUANCE OF OPINION 

This case came before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB") upon the 
filing of a Request for Determination of Unauthorized Strike by the City of Cleveland 
("Employer") under the provisions of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.23. On May 2, 
2001, SERB issued its Determination that the Cleveland Police Patrolman's Association 
("Employee Organization") is not engaged in an unauthorized strike under O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01 (I) and denied the Employee Organization's motion to dismiss as moot. The 
opinion relating to and referenced in that determination is attached. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party's 

representative by certified U. S. Mail, return receipt requested, on this d9f6 day of 

May, 2001. 

SANDRA A.M. IVERSEN, ADMINISTRA TIVEASSISTANT 

generaf\2ooi ·STK·01.issue~opi.wpd 
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OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This case comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB") upon the 

filing of a Request for Determination of Unauthorized Strike by the City of Cleveland 

("City") under the provisions of Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C. ") § 4117 .23. SERB is required 

to determine whether the alleged work slowdown by bargaining-unit members represented 

by the Cleveland Police Patrolman's Association ("Union") is an "unauthorized strike" as 

defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (I). SERB is required to render its determination within 

seventy-two hours of the filing of the request. The request was filed on April 30, 2001, at 

9:57 a.m. On May 2, 2001, SERB conducted a hearing on the request. SERB found that 

the Union was not engaged in an unauthorized strike under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (I) and 

denied the Union's motion to dismiss as moot. The determination was issued on May 2, 

2001, at 12:26 p.m. The reasons for this determination are set forth below. 

On April 26, 2001, the City filed a Request for Determination of Unauthorized Strike, 

seeking a determination that the patrol officers represented by the Union are engaged in 

an unauthorized strike "by dramatically reducing their issuance of parking tickets during the 

current contract negotiations with the City(.]" The burden of proof in this type of case rests 
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with the City as the requesting party. See, e.g., In re Jefferson County Human Services 

Dept, SERB 92-015 (9-25-92). 

A "slowdown" is a form of a partial strike, which is achieved through the slowing 

down of production by employees. For example, the withholding of incentive production 

and overtime work has been found to be an illegal slowdown under the National Labor 

Relations Act. Phelps Dodge Copper Products Corp., 101 NLRB 360, 31 L.R.R.M. 1072 

(1952). The term "slowdown" was originally part of the definition of a "strike." The 

enactment of House Bill 200, in 1995, specifically made partial strikes illegal and amended 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.01 (H) and (I). As a result, a "slowdown" became part of the definition of 

an "unauthorized strike," which is now defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (I): 

"Unauthorized strike" includes, but is not limited to, concerted action 
during the term or extended term of a collective bargaining agreement or 
during the pendency of the settlement procedures set forth in 
section 4117.14 of the Revised Code in failing to report to duty; willful 
absence from one's position; stoppage of work; slowdown, or abstinence in 
whole or in part from the full, faithful, and proper petformance of the duties 
of employment for the purpose of inducing, influencing, or coercing a change 
in wages, hours, terms, and other conditions of employment. "Unauthorized 
strike" includes any such action, absence, stoppage, slowdown, or 
abstinence when done partially or intermittently, whether during or after the 
expiration of the term or extended term of a collective bargaining agreement 
or during or after the pendency of the settlement procedures set forth in 
section 4117.14 of the Revised Code. (Emphasis added}. 

Whether concerted action has occurred is a threshold issue in this case. The 

National Labor Relations Board standard used to define concerted activity is set out in the 

Meyers Industries cases,' where it held: "In general, to find an employee's activity to be 

'Meyers Industries, Inc., 268 NLRB 493, 115 L.R.R.M. 1025 (1984), remanded sub nom., 
Prill v. NLRB755 F. 2d 941, 11 B L.R.R.M. 2649 (0.C. Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 948, 106 
S.Ct. 313, 88 L.Ed. 294, 120 LR.R.M. 3392 (1985) (Meyers I), on remand, Meyers Industries, Inc., 
281 NLRB 882, 123 L.R.R.M. 1137 (1986), enforced sub nom., Prill v. NLRB, 835 F. 2d 1481, 127 
L.R.R.M. 2415 (D.C. Cir. 1987), celtdenied, 487 U.S. 1205, 108 S.Ct. 2847, 101 L.Ed. 2d 884, 128 
L.R.R.M. 2664 (1988) (Meyers If). 
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'concerted', we shall require that it be engaged in with or on the authority of other 

employees, and not solely by and on behalf of the employee himself." (Emphasis added) 

Meyers I, 115 L.R.R.M. at 1029. 

In In re Cincinnati Metropolitan Housing Auth, SERB 93-002 (4·6-93) ("CMHA"), 

SERB adopted the Meyers standard for future application as the proper measure of 

concerted activity under the Ohio Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act and held: 

"Concerted" by its very definition, mandates more than one and clearly 
anticipates group action. The concept of collective activity, under the statute 
and under this standard, embraces the actions of employees who have 
joined together in order to achieve common goals. Id. at 3-1 O. 

To determine whether the employees are engaged in concerted action, we must 

begin with the Request to Determine Unauthorized Strike form. Under O.A.C. Rule 4117-

13-02(8), when an employer believes that its employees are engaging in an unauthorized 

strike,. it may request from SERB a determination of whether the strike is authorized. The 

employer's written request is to state: 

(4) The names and addresses, if known and job classifications or 
functions of the striking employees; 

(5) The date the strike commenced; 

(6) The approximate number of employees on strike and the nature of the 
strike activity involved[.] 

In the City's request, when asked to identify the names, addresses, and job 

classifications or functions of the employees who are on strike, the City answered: 

"Numerous patrol officers, whose names are undeterminable at this time." When asked 

the date on which the alleged strike commenced, the City answered: "On or 

about 2115/01." When asked the number of employees on strike, the City answered: 

"undetermined." At the May 2, 2001 hearing, the City was still unable to provide this 

information. 
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The actual comments made by Union President Bob Beck are innocuous and do not 

rise to the level of encouraging a slowdown by the patrol officers. The anecdotal 

obseNations by the news broadcasters presented disagreement over whether a slowdown 

was occurring. Thus, the City's statistics comprise the only evidence on which to base a 

finding of concerted action. 

At the May 2, 2001 hearing, the parties stipulated that the first negotiation session 

occurred on March 2, 2001, and that the City presented its initial wage proposal at this 

session. Consequently, this date became the focus as to when the alleged unauthorized 

strike began. To support its allegation of a slowdown, the City provided statistical 

information occurring at the level of the six police districts. But the City's own statistics did 

not support its claim of a slowdown. These statistics showed fluctuations in the number 

of tickets issued occurring on a week-to-week basis even before the parties' negotiations 

began on March 2, 2001. These fluctuations were as great or greater than those in the 

weeks following the beginning of negotiations. In addition, the Cleveland Division of Police 

UTT/PIN [Uniform Traffic Tickets and Parking Infraction Notices] Accountability Report for 

1990 to 2001 (through 04/30/2001 )2 demonstrated wide variations in the number of tickets 

issued for each year. 

According to Police Chief Martin Flask, the patrol officers do not have quotas for the 

number of tickets they are to issue each week or each year. "Goals" have been 

established for the Division of Police in several areas. The 2001 goals for total Uniform 

Traffic Tickets and Parking Infraction Notices are 5.9% and 7. 7% higher, respectively, than 

the number of tickets issued during 2000. Police Chief Flask testified that 2000 was a 

record year for the City in these areas, which it now claims are the subject of a slowdown. 

The year-to-date numbers meet or exceed the same categories for 1999 when projected 

over the whole year. In addition, during 2001, the Division has never fielded 100% of the 

cars that it planned; the total number of cars fielded by the districts ranges from 85.3% to 

2Union Exhibit 11. 
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95.5%. It could be argued that the reason the goals are not being reached is because the 

Division is not sending out the number of cars in its plan needed to reach these goals. 

It is extremely difficult to establish concerted action based entirely on statistical 

evidence. In United Air Lines v. Machinists, 166 l.R.R.M. 2769 (7'" Cir., 3-14-2001), in 

addition to statistical evidence of a slowdown, the employer presented testimony by its 

managers describing their personal observations of slowdown activities by mechanics, 

letters and bulletins issued by the union during the time period that the employer claimed 

constituted a deliberate slowdown campaign directed by the union, and letters and flyers 

posted by individual mechanics during the same period that encouraged work slowdowns 

and other job actions. 

In Pan American World Airways, Inc. v. Independent Union of Flight Attendants, 93 

Lab. Gas. (CCH) ~ 13,307, 20,036 (S.D. N.Y. July 20, 1981), the court relied upon 

statistical evidence that revealed a "dramatic increase" in sick leave absences. Relying in 

part on this evidence, the court issued an injunction against the "sickour'; the court 

concluded that a serious question existed regarding whether the union had violated its 

obligations under the Railway Labor Act "by encouraging, or at least making no reasonable 

efforts to discourage[.]" abuse of sick leave by union members. Id. at 20,039. Even in that 

case, the record indicated the union's involvement in the sickout was shown by statistical 

evidence along with reports in the media and a notice posted on the union bulletin board. 

It is possible, though, to establish concerted action based entirely on statistical 

evidence. In In re City of Youngstown, SERB 87-002 (1-30-87), the Board was presented 

with a question as to concerted action. In that case, the evidence before the Board 

showed that sixteen out of seventeen police officers on the "C" turn of the Youngstown 

Police Department ("YPD") and twelve out of sixteen police officers on the "B" turn reported 

in sick or injured on the same day. The next day, the YPD received three call-off reports 

for the "C" turn and two call-off reports for the "B" turn. Various reasons were given by the 
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employees. In the Determination of Unauthorized Strike, the Board found that these facts 

"rebut coincidence and demonstrate concerted unauthorized job action." Id. at 3-5. The 

Board found that an unauthorized strike was being conducted and held: 

Whoever or whatever triggered the traumatic and/or viral epidemic 
which engulfed the YPD, only the naive would attribute it to coincidence. 
Even a modicum of street sense will recognize the events in this case for 
what they are. They are symptom's (sic) of blue-flu--a euphemism for a 
badly camouflaged job action. [The Board] will not characterize as aleatory 
the conjunction of group trauma and collective contagion which has settled 
so selectively on the officers of the YPD. 

When all of the statistical information is reviewed and compared, we are presented 

in this case with a stark contrast to the situation in the Youngstown case, where we were 

presented with overwhelming statistical evidence. In the present case, the number of 

tickets fluctuates on a weekly basis, and the patrol officers do not have established quotas. 

The fluctuations in numbers of tickets have been present for as long as these statistics 

have been reported. Therefore, we must find that the City did not demonstrate, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that the employees are engaged in concerted action in the 

form of a slowdown. Thus, we do not find that the employees are engaged in an 

unauthorized strike as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (I). 

For the reasons above, we find that the City of Cleveland has not shown that the 

employees were engaged in "concerted action." The City's statistics show fluctuations 

within the year that do not prove its allegations. Consequently, we find that the Cleveland 

Police Patrolman's Association is not engaged in an "unauthorized strike" under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(1). 

Pohler, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Toledo City School District Board of Education, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2000·ULP-05-0274 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
September 20, 2001. 

On May 1, 2000, the Toledo Association of Administrative Personnel ("Charging 
Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Toledo City School District Board 
of Education ("Respondent"). On September 7, 2000, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("Board" or "Complainanr) found probable cause to believe that the Respondent 
had violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(S). 

A hearing was held on December 19, 2000. On April 16, 2001, the Proposed Order 
was issued. On May 9, 2001, the Charging Party and the Complainant filed exceptions to 
the Proposed Order. On May 1 B, 2001, the Respondent filed a response to the Charging 
Party's and Complainant's exceptions. On June 21, 2001, the Board directed the 
representatives of the parties to appear before the Board for an oral argument on the 
merits of this case. On July 1 B, 2001, the parties' representatives presented their oral 
arguments to the Board. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board amends Conclusion of Law No. 3 
by replacing "did not constitute• with •constituted" and adopts the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law, as amended, in the Proposed Order, incorporated by reference, for 
the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, also incorporated by reference. 
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The Toledo City School District Board of Education is ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in 
the exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised 
Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally implementing an 
extended school-day proposal, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A}(1 ); 
and 

(2) Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive 
representative of its employees by unilaterally 
implementing an extended school-day proposal, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(S). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Pay back pay for any hours worked over the standard 
work day to the Toledo Association of Administrative 
Personnel bargaining-unit members who worked an 
extension of the work day without additional 
compensation; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented 
by the Toledo Association of Administrative Personnel 
work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the State 
Employment Relations Board stating that the Toledo 
City School District Board of Education shall cease and 
desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall 
take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); 
and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER 
becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 
comply therewith. 
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It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, on this !ff day of Q~. , 
2001. 

SANDRAA.M. IVERSEN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 

direci\09-20-01.05 



• NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunily to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this 
Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the Board and to abide by the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

1 . Interfering with, restraining, or coercing ttmployees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed 
in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally Implementing an extended school-day 
proposal, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ); and 

2. Refusing to bargain collectlvely with the exclusive representative of its employees by 
unilaterally implementing an extended sehoot.oay proposal, and from otherwise violating 
Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(S). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Pay back pay tor any hours worked over lhe standard work day to the Toledo Association 
of Administrative Personnel bargaining-unit members who worked an extension o1 the work 
day without additional compensation; 

2. Post for sixty days in all lhe usual and normal posting locations where bargaining-unit 
employees represented by the Toledo Association of Administrative Personnel work, the 
Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations Board staling that the 
Toledo Cily School District Board of Education shall oease and desist from actions set forth 
in paragraph (A) and shan take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

3. Notify the Slate Employmenl Relations Bosrd in writtng twenty calendar days from the dale 
the ORDER becomes final of the steps tnal have been laken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Toledo City School District Soard of Education 
Case No. 2000-ULP-05-0274 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE ANO MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
ba ai\ared, dafacad, or covered Dy any other material. Any questions concerning \his Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on April 16, 2001, and 

the filing of joint exceptions by the Complainant and Toledo Association of Administrative 

Personnel and a response to those exceptions by the Toledo City School District Board of 

Education ("School Board" or "Respondent"). On July 18, 2001, the parties presented oral 

arguments to SERB. For the reasons below, we find that the Respondent violated Ohio 

Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally implemented an extended 

school-day proposal. 

I. SUMMARY OF FACTS 

The Toledo Association of Administrative Personnel ("Union" or "TAAP") is the 

exclusive representative for a deemed-certified bargaining unit of the School Board's 

administrative employees. The School Board and T AAP were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement effective February 1, 1998 to January 31, 2000 ("CBA"), containing 
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a grievance procedure that culminated in final and binding arbitration. The CBA was 

extended through March 31, 2001, by agreement of the parties. Article VIII addresses 

extended time, including extended time for the work day, and compensation for employees 

who work beyond their normal work day or work week. Article VIII, Section B(2)(a), is titled 

"Extensions of the Work Day" and states: 

Extensions of the work day when students are to be present for regular 
coursework which are mandated by the appropriate assistant superintendent 
shall be compensated in a manner agreed upon by TAAP and the 
superintendent or his/her designee. 

In 1997, the Ohio General Assembly passed Senate Bill 55. One of the effects of 

the legislation is to require students to complete an increased number of units in order to 

graduate after September 15, 2001. In order to carry out Senate Bill 55, the School Board 

decided to establish a program to help students who are at risk of graduating late (after 

September 15, 2001). On February 24, 2000, Assistant Superintendent Cotner sent a 

proposal to TAAP President David McClellan that would extend the school day by 

implementing a seven period day. The proposal contained no provision for additional 

compensation for the extension of the school day. On February 25, 2000, a meeting was 

held between representatives of T AAP and the District. Among those present were T AAP 

President David McClellan, Deputy Superintendent Richard Daoust, and Assistant 

Superintendent Craig Cotner. 

On March 2, 2000, TAAP President David McClellan sent a counterproposal to 

Deputy Superintendent Richard Daoust and Assistant Superintendent Craig Cotner that 

included compensation for persons working the extended day. On March 6, 2000, 

Assistant Superintendent Cotner sent TAAP President McClellan a revised proposed 

memorandum of understanding regarding extending the high school day. The proposal 

contained no provision for additional compensation for TAAP members for the extension 

of the school day. On March 10, 2000, a negotiation meeting took place between TAAP 
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and the School Board; TAAP President McClellan and Assistant Superintendent Cotner 

were among those present. At that meeting, TAAP explained its March 2, 2000 

counterproposal, and the School Board explained its March 6, 2000 counterproposal. 

On March 17, 2000, Assistant Superintendent Cotner provided TAAP President 

McClellan with the District's proposed memorandum of understanding extending the school 

day for the 2000/2001 school year, and indicated that the District was going to implement 

the proposal over the objections of TAAP. The extended school day would begin in 

September 2000. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The Respondent is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (5), which 

state in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative • • • pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code{.) 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the Respondent has committed an unfair labor practice. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.12(8)(3). Article VIII, Section 8(2)(a) of the CBA states that extensions of the work 

day when students are to be present for regular coursework that is mandated by the 

appropriate assistant superintendent shall be compensated in a manner agreed upon by 

TAAP and the superintendent or designee. This subsection of Article VIII does not apply 

to the present case since the District was proposing an extra period for classes that were 
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remedial in nature, not regular coursework, and the extra period was only for tenth and 

eleventh grade students who had been identified as being at risk of not graduating with 

their classes. The issue presented is whether the District engaged in bad-faith bargaining 

when it implemented its final proposal and modified Article VIII of the CBA. 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 

1199/HCSSUISEIU, AFL-C/O, SERB 96-004 (4·8·96). Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (G), 

the duty to bargain does not compel either party to agree to a proposal or require either 

party to make a concession. A circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of 

subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 

(12-20-89); NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 82 S.Ct. 1107 (1962). 

The negotiations concerning the extended school-day proposal occurred within the 

context of midterm bargaining. In In re Franklin County Sheriff, SERB 90-012 (7-18-90) 

("Franklin County Sheriff') at pp. 3-79- 3·80, SERB found that the language of O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117 establishes that the statutory dispute resolution procedure does not apply 

to midterm disputes. "In the absence of a settlement procedure, the Board will deal with 

specific incidents on a case-by-case basis.• Id. at 3·80. In In re SERB v. Youngstown City 

School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 95-010 (6·30-95) ("Youngstown"), SERB discussed the 

requirements for midterm bargaining over subjects not covered by the collective bargaining 

agreement. SERB held that an employer may implement its last, best offer when the 

parties have reached ultimate impasse in bargaining or when the employer has made 

good·faith attempts to bargain the matter before time constraints necessitated the 

implementation of its last, best offer. Id. Ultimate impasse is the point at which good faith 

negotiations toward reaching an agreement have been exhausted. In re Vandalia-Butter 

City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 90-003 (2·9·90) ("Vandalia-Butler"). During negotiations 

for a successor agreement, the employee organization may pursue issues that required 

mandatory midterm bargaining and were not resolved by mutual agreement as part of its 

overall contract negotiations, including the submission of the issues to any applicable 
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dispute settlement procedure that may include binding conciliation or arbitration, or the 

right to strike as permitted by statute. SERB has not yet addressed what standard to apply 

to determine whether an unfair labor practice has been committed when a party unilaterally 

modifies a provision in an existing collective bargaining agreement. 

Under the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"), an employer commits an unfair 

labor practice if it unilaterally changes a term in an existing agreement only if the term is 

a mandatory subject of bargaining. Once the parties agree to permissive subjects of 

bargaining, those subjects continue to exist essentially at the will of either party; although 

civil remedies may apply, parties to a contract may rescind any permissive term of the 

contract at any time without violating § 8(a)(5) of the NLRA. Allied Chemical & Alkali 

Workers of America v. Pittsburgh Plate Glass Co., 404 U.S. 157, 185-86, (1971) 

("Pittsburgh Plate Glass'). The midterm unilateral modification of a collective bargaining 

agreement is "a prohibited unfair labor practice only when it changes a term that is a 

mandatory rather than a permissive subject of bargaining." Pittsburgh Plate Glass, supra 

at 185. See also Pall Biomedical Products Corporation, 331 NLRB No. 192 (2000); Tampa 

Sheet Metal Company, Inc., 288 NLRB 322 (1988). Once agreement is reached, the terms 

of the written bargaining agreement are preserved and neither management [Int'/ Union v 

NLRB, 246 U.S. App. D.C. 306, 310; 765 F.2d 175 (1985)] nor labor[Teamsters Cannery 

Local 670 v NLRB, 856 F.2d 1250, 1257 (CA 9, 1988)] may unilaterally modify the 

agreement without the consent of the other party. A minority of public-sector jurisdictions, 

including Illinois' and Pennsylvania', follows this standard. 

'Barry Community Unit School District 1, 15PERI111064 (IELRB Opinion and Order, 10-6-
98); Vienna School District No. 55 v. IELRB, 162111.App.3<1503, 515 N.E.2d 476 (4th Dist. 1987); 
Service Employees International Local Union #316 v. IELRB, 153 lll.App.3d 744, 505 N.E.2d 418 
(4th Dist. 1987); East St. Louis School District 189, 12 PERI 111074, Case No. 96-CA-0008-S 
(IELRB Opinion and Order, 9-19-96); Kewanee Community Unit School District No. 229, 4 PERI 
~ 1136, Case No. 86-CA-0081-C (IELRB Opinion and Order, 9-15-88). 

2Jersey Shore School District, 18PPER1118117 (Final Order, 1987); AppealofCumberlancl 
Valley School District, 483 Pa. 134, 394 A.2d 946 (S.Ct. 1978). 
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The NLRA standard is unworkable under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. Under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.08 the continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective 

bargaining agreement is treated like a mandatory subject of bargaining regardless whether 

the topic would otherwise fall in the category of a mandatory or permissive subject of 

bargaining. In addition,§ B(d) of the NLRA specifically prohibits an employer from altering 

contractual terms concerning only mandatory subjects of bargaining during the life of an 

agreement without the consent of the union. O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5) does not contain 

similar language distinguishing between how mandatory and permissive subjects of 

bargaining are treated. 

A majority of public-sector jurisdictions, including Florida, California, New Jersey, 

and Michigan, applies a form of the following standard: a party cannot modify the existing 

collective bargaining agreement without negotiation by and agreement of both parties. For 

example, the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission ("PERC") has adopted and 

steadfastly adheres to the principle that an employer breaches its bargaining obligation and 

commits a per se violation of the Florida Act if, in the absence of a clear and unmistakable 

waiver by the bargaining agent, it unilaterally alters the status quo with respect to the 

wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment of its employees represented 

by a bargaining agent.3 

The majority standard is too restrictive to accomplish the purposes of O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117. The parties must be able to respond to emergency situations that arise 

during the term of the collective bargaining agreement, especially in situations where they 

cannot reach agreement after engaging in good-faith negotiations. O.R.C. § 4117.22 

3 See Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind Teachers United v. Florida School for the 
Deaf and the Blind, 11 FPER 'IJ 16080 at p. 263 (1985), aff'd, 483 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); 
City of Pinellas County PBA v. City of St. Petersburg, 6 FPER 'II 112n (1980); St. Petersburg 
Association of Fire Fighters, Local 747v. City of St. Petersburg, 5 FPER '1110391, aff'd, 388 So.2d 
1124 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); Indian River CC:A v. School Board of Ind/an River County, 4 FPER 
'IJ 4262 (1978), aff'd, 373 So.2d 412 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). 
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mandates that SERB liberally construe O.R.C. Chapter 4117 "for the accomplishment of 

the purpose of promoting orderly and constructive relationships between all public 

employers and their employees." In Franklin County Sheriff, supra at 3-80, SERB 

recommended that the parties adopt procedures especially designed to deal with midterm 

disputes since the statutory dispute procedure did not apply. 

Where the parties have not adopted procedures in their collective bargaining 

agreement to deal with midterm bargaining disputes, SERB will apply the following 

standard to determine whether an unfair labor practice has been committed when a party 

unilaterally modifies a provision in an existing collective bargaining agreement after 

bargaining the subject to ultimate impasse as defined in Vandalia-Butler: 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining agreement without 
the negotiation by and agreement of both parties unless immediate action is 
required due to ( 1) exigent circumstances that were unforeseen at the time 
of negotiations or (2) legislative action taken by a higher-level legislative 
body after the agreement became effective that requires a change to 
conform to the statute. 

In addition, to clarify Youngstown, follow Franklin County Sheriff, and assure consistency 

in future cases involving issues not covered in the provisions of a collective bargaining 

agreement, but which require mandatory midterm bargaining, SERB will apply the same 

two-part test as stated above. 

In the present case, the Ohio General Assembly passed Senate Bill 55 in 1997, and 

the statutory change affected students who graduate from high school after September t 5, 

2001. The parties' CBA was effective from February t, 1998 to January 31, 2000, and 

later extended through March 31, 2001. On February 24, 2000, which was nearly 21h years 

after Senate Bill 55 was passed, Assistant Superintendent Cotner sent to T AAP a proposal 

that would extend the school day by implementing a seven-period day, but it contained no 

provision for additional compensation for the extension of the school day. On February 25, 
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2000, a meeting was held between the representatives for TAAP and the School Board. 

On March 2, 2000, TAAP sent a counterproposal to the School Board that included 

compensation for persons working the extended day. On March 6, 2000, the School Board 

sent to T AAP a revised proposed memorandum of understanding regarding extending the 

high school day; it contained no provision for additional compensation for T AAP members 

for the extension of the school day. On March 1 o, 2000, a negotiation meeting took place 

between TAAP and the School Board. On March 17, 2000, Assistant Superintendent 

Cotner provided TAAP President McClellan with the School Board's proposed 

memorandum of understanding extending the school day for the 2000-2001 school year, 

and indicated that the School Board was going to implement the proposal over the 

objections of T AAP beginning September 2000. 

The legislative change was passed in 1997. The CBA was not effective until 

February 1, 1998. As a result, the parties were on notice concerning this requirement at 

the lime they entered into the collective bargaining agreement. Since the School Board 

waited 2112 years after the legislative change to begin negotiating with TAAP, immediate 

action in 2000 was not necessitated by legislative action. The School Board implemented 

its proposal approximately seven months after the CBA's original expiration date, which 

was also approximately six months before the CBA's extension expired. These facts do 

not demonstrate that immediate action was required due to exigent circumstances that 

were unforeseen at the time of negotiations. We do not find a violation of O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(S) as to any individuals who did not change their work schedules 

or who merely adjusted their starting and ending times without any change in the number 

of hours worked each day. We do find that the Respondent violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it implemented its proposed memorandum of 

understanding that modified Article VIII of the CSA without the agreement of TAAP, 

resulting in bargaining-unit members working beyond the standard work day without 

additional compensation. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Toledo City School District Board of 

Education violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally 

implementing an extended school-day proposal. As a result, a cease-and-desist order with 

a Notice to Employees shall be issued to the Respondent requiring it to rescind the 

unilateral implementation of the longer school day, thereby returning the parties to the 

status quo ante; to cease and desist from unilaterally implementing changes to an existing 

collective bargaining agreement; to pay back pay to any bargaining-unit members who 

worked beyond the standard work day that the bargaining-unit members worked before the 

unilateral implementation of the extended school-day proposal; and to post the Notice to 

Employees for sixty days at all locations of the Toledo City School District Board of 

Education where bargaining-unit members represented by the Toledo Association of 

Administrative Personnel work. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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Toledo City School District Board of Education 
and Assistant Superintendent Craig Cotner, 

Respondents. 
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ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
September 20, 2001. 

On May 1, 2000, the Toledo Federation of Teachers, Local 250, AFT ("Charging 
P"\rly") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Toledo City School District Board 
ot Education and Assistant Superintendent Craig Cotner (collectively "Respondents"). On 
September 21, 2000, the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainanr) 
dismissed the charge for lack of probable cause. On October 20, 2000, the Charging Party 
filed a motion for reconsideration. On November 21, 2000, the Board granted the motion 
for reconsideration and found probable cause to believe that the Respondents had violated 
Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(S). 

A hearing was held on March 13, 2001. On May 8, 2001, the Proposed Order was 
issued. On June 6, 2001, the Charging Party tiled exceptions to the Proposed Order. On 
June 8, 2001, the Complainant filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On June 28, 2001, 
the Respondents filed a response to the Charging Party's and Complainant's exceptions. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board amends Conclusion of Law No. 3 
by replacing "did not violate" with "violated" and adopts the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law, as amended, in the Proposed Order, incorporated by reference, for 
the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, also incorporated by reference. 
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The Toledo City School District Board of Education and Assistant Superintendent 
Craig Cotner are ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in 
the exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised 
Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally implementing a 
longer school day, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ); and 

(2) Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive 
representative of its employees by unilaterally 
implementing a longer school day, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117 .11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented 
by the Toledo Federation of Teachers, Local 250, AFT 
work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the State 
Employment Relations Board stating that the Toledo 
City School District Board of Education and Assistant 
Superintendent Craig Cotner shall cease and desist 
from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take 
the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER 
becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 
comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER. CHAIRMAN 
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You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117 .13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon 

mail, return receipt requested, on this 

2001. 

dlrect\09-20-01.06 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

Atter a hearing In which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this 
Notice. We Intend to carry out the order of the Board and to abide by the following: 

A. CEASE AND DEStST FROM: 

1. Interfering with, restraining, Of coercing employees in the eqrcise of their rights guaranteed 
in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally implementing a longer school day, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Coda Section 4117.11(A)(1); and 

2. Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its employees by 
unilaterally implementing a longer oohool day, and from otherwise violattng Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining·unit 
employees represented by the Toledo FederatiOn ot Teachers, Local 250, AFT work, the 
Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Toledo City School District Board of Education and Assistant Superintendent Craig Cotner 
shall cease and desist from actions set forth In paragraph (A) and shall take the attirmative 
action set forth In paragraph (B); and 

2. Notify the State Employment Relations Board In wrlttng twenty calender days from the date 
the ORDER becomes final of the steps ttiat have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Toledo City School Dl•trlc:t BOllrd of l!duCllflon 
and Anlalllnt Superintendent Crlllfl Cotner 
CaH No. 2000-ULP-05-0275 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted tor sixty conseoutive dsys from the date ot posting and must not 
be altered, defaced, or oovered by any other material. Any questtons concerning ttiis Nottce °' 
compliance with Jts provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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Toledo City School District Board of Education and 
Assistant Superintendent Craig Cotner, 
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Case No. 2000-ULP-05-0275 

OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on May 8, 2001, and 

the filing of joint exceptions by the Complainant and the Toledo Federation of Teachers, 

Local 250, AFT, AFL-CIO ("TFT") and a response to those exceptions by the Toledo City 

School District Board of Education ("School Board") and Assistant Superintendent Craig 

Cotner (collectively, the School Board and Mr. Cotner are referred to as "Respondents"). 

For the reasons below, we find that the Respondents violated Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when they unilaterally implemented a longer school day. 

I. SUMMARY OF FACTS 

The Toledo Federation of Teachers, Local 250, AFT, AFL-CIO is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit that includes certain employees of the School Board. 

The School Board and the TFT were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CSA") 

effective from December 1, 1997 to November 30, 2000, containing a grievance procedure 
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that culminated in final and binding arbitration. On September 15, 2000, the TFT and the 

School Board agreed to extend the term of the CBA through March 31, 2001. 

Article XXVIJ of the CBA, titled "SCHOOL CALENDAR, ARRIVAL, DISMISSAL 

TIME," provides in relevant part: 

N. If a longer school day is adopted upon agreement by the Federation 
and the Board, teacher schedules, pay and other working conditions 
shall be implemented after the agreement of the Federation and the 
Board. The Board and Federation will explore the implementation of 
a year-round school pilot. Teacher schedules. pay. and other working 
conditions shall be suQject to agreement of the Federation and the 
Board. (Underlining in original). 

In 1997, the Ohio General Assembly passed Senate Bill 55, which requires students 

who graduate from high school after September 15, 2001, to complete more units in core 

curriculum areas in order to graduate. During the 1999-2000 school year, the School 

Board identified approximately 700 students of a sophomore class of approximately 3,000 

who were at risk of not graduating with their class because of the increased unit 

requirement. In January 2000, the School Board and the TFT began discussing 

alternatives to scheduling for the high schools for the 2000-2001 school year in order to 

provide students with increased opportunities to earn the required number of units. One 

alternative the parties discussed was extending the school day with "early bird" or "late 

bird" sessions. 

Development of the high school schedule and courses to be taught during a given 

school year begins during the previous school year. Counselors meet with students 

beginning in December or January to plan each student's course of study for the next 

school year. Pursuant to the terms of the CBA, preference forms for teaching assignments 

are to be submitted to teachers by April 15, and teaching assignments for the next school 

year are to be posted by June 1. 
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Representatives from the School Board and the TFT met on January 14, 2000 and 

January 20, 2000. On January 21, 2000, Assistant Superintendent Cotner, an agent or 

representative of the School Board at all relevant times, prepared a draft memorandum of 

understanding ("MOU") based upon the parties' discussions up to that point, which focused 

on the alternative of extending the school day with "early bird" and "late bird" sessions. On 

January26, 2001, Mr. Cotnersentthedrafttothe TFT. On February3, 2000, the TFT sent 

Mr. Cotner a response and proposed revisions to the draft MOU. On February 4, 2000, the 

parties met again, and the School Board submitted a counterproposal. On February 11, 

2000, the TFT submitted another counterproposal with a proposed addendum. On 

February 24, 2000, the School Board submitted a counterproposal to the TFT's 

February 11, 2000 counterproposal and proposed addendum. 

On February 28, 2000, Mr. Cotner spoke by telephone with TFT President Francine 

Lawrence to dlscuss outstanding issues regarding the proposed early bird and late bird 

sessions. Ms. Lawrence told Mr. Cotner that the TFT would not agree to any proposal 

without a "me too" provision.' Mr. Cotner explained that the School Board was offering flex 

time to administrative personnel who would need to come in early or work late. 

Ms. Lawrence maintained that a •me too" provision was necessary for the parties to reach 

agreement. On February 28, 2000, Ms. Lawrence faxed a memo to Mr. Cotner that read: 

"No 'me too'? No deal." On March 1, 2000, Mr. Cotner telephoned Ms. Lawrence, asking 

about the status of the proposed MOU. Ms. Lawrence again stated that the TFT would not 

agree to a proposal without a "me too" provision. On March 6, 2000, Mr. Cotner sent 

Ms. Lawrence revised drafts of the proposed MOU and addendum; he wrote that he would 

contact Ms. Lawrence to see if the parties could finalize the discussions. 

'A "me too" provision typically requires an employer to give the second bargaining-unit's 
employees the same benefit or wage increase received by the first bargaining unit without any 
additional bargaining between the employer and the second unit's exclusive representative. 
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Mr. Cotner and Ms. Lawrence spoke again on March 20, 2000. Mr. Cotner informed 

Ms. Lawrence that the School Board would not agree to a "me too• provision. Mr. Cotner 

also explained that the School Board was not offering additional compensation to either 

the administrative personnel unit or the nonteaching staff unit. Ms. Lawrence continued 

to maintain that the TFT required the "me too• provision. Mr. Cotner expressed his concern 

that although the parties had discussed the issues, it appeared that they could not come 

to a final agreement, and that the School Board was going to have to move ahead. On 

March 21, 2000, Mr. Cotner sent a letter to Ms. Lawrence, informing her that because of 

the time constraints involved in scheduling classes for the 2000-2001 school year and 

because the parties could not reach agreement on all terms, the School Board would be 

implementing the MOU and addendum in their most recent draft forms. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The Respondents are alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (5), 

which state in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;) 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative • • • pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the Respondents have committed an unfair labor practice. 

O.R.C. § 4117.12(8)(3). The issue in this case is whetherthe School Board engaged in 

bad-faith bargaining when it unilateral!y implemented a longer school day. 
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Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 

1199/HCSSU!SEIU, AFL·CIO, SERB 96-004 (4·8·96). Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (G), 

the duty to bargain does not compel either party to agree to a proposal or require either 

party to make a concession. A circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of 

subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 

(12·20-89); NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 82 S.Ct. 1107 (1962). 

In In re Franklin County Sheriff, SERB 90-012 (7·18·90) at p. 3-80, SERB 

recommended that the parties adopt procedures especially designed to deal with midterm 

disputes since the statutory dispute procedure did not apply. The parties have negotiated 

such a procedure in this case. Under Article XXVll of the CBA, tilled "SCHOOL 

CALENDAR, ARRIVAL, DISMISSAL TIME," a requirement was established that the parties 

must bargain to agreement issues involving longer school days, teacher schedules, pay, 

and other working conditions. The parties did not reach such an agreement in this case. 

Thus, the School Board's actions were an unlawful modification of the CBA. 

Even if the CBA's language were not clear on the requirement for agreement, the 

negotiations concerning the extended school-day proposal occurred within the context of 

midterm bargaining. In In re Franklin County Sheriff, SERB 90-012 (7·18·90) at pp. 3-79-

3-80, SERB found that the language of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 establishes that the statutory 

dispute resolution procedure does not apply to midterm disputes. In In re Toledo City 

School Dist Bdof Ed, SERB 2001-005 (10·1·2001) at slip op. p. 7, SERB addressed what 

standard to apply to determine whether an unfair labor practice has been committed when 

a party unilaterally modifies a provision in an existing collective bargaining agreement after 

bargaining the subject to ultimate impasse: 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining agreement without 
the negotiation by and agreement of both parties unless immediate action is 
required due to (1) exigent circumstances that were unforeseen at the time 
of negotiations or (2) legislative action taken by a higher-level legislative 
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body after the agreement became effective that requires a change to 
conform to the statute. 

In the present case, the Ohio General Assembly passed Senate Bill 55 in 1997, and 

the statutory change affected students who graduate from high school after September 15, 

2001. The parties' CBA was effective from December 1, 1997 to November 30, 2000, and 

later extended through March 31, 2001. As a result, the parties were on notice concerning 

this requirement at the time they entered into the collective bargaining agreement. The 

School Board waited 2¥.i years after the legislative change to begin negotiating with the 

TFT, and the School Board implemented its proposal approximately six months before the 

CBA's original expiration date. These facts demonstrate that immediate action was not 

required due to exigent circumstances that were unforeseen at the lime of negotiations or 

by legislative action. Thus, we find thatthe Respondents violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) 

and (A)(S) when the School Board implemented the MOU and addendum, resulting in a 

longer school day, without the agreement of the TFT. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Toledo City School District Board of 

Education and Assistant Superintendent Craig Cotner violated Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and (A)(S) by unilaterally implementing a longer school day. As a result, 

a cease-and-desist order with a Notice to Employees shall be issued to the Respondents 

requiring the School Board to rescind the unilateral implementation of the longer school 

day, thereby returning the parties to the status quo ante; to cease and desist from 

unilaterally implementing changes to an existing collective bargaining agreement; and to 

post the Notice to Employees for sixty days at all locations of the Toledo City School 

District Board of Education where bargaining-unit members represented by the Toledo 

Federation of Teachers, Local 250, AFT, AFL-CIO work. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 



2001 

SERB OPINION 2001-007 

STATE OF OHIO 
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Elida Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 4020, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

Elida Community Fire Company, Inc., 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2000·REP-09·0183 

DIRECTIVE 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: November 15, 

On September 11, 2000, Elida Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 4020 ("Petitioner") filed a Request 
for Recognition seeking to represent certain employees of the Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. 
("Company''). On September 27, 2000, the Company filed a Peti1ion for Representation Election -
Employer and an Objection to Request for Recognition. On May 25, 2001, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("Board") directed this matter to hearing to determine whether the Elida 
Community Fire Company, Inc. is a public employer and for all other relevant issues. 

On June 6, 2001, a Notice of Hearing and Prehearing was sent to the parties. On June 25, 
2001, Prehearing Statements were filed by parties. On July 2, 2001, Joint Stipulations were filed 
by the parties in lieu of a hearing. On July 31, 2001, the Company 1iled its posthearing brief; on 
August 1, 2001, the Petitioner filed its posthearing brief. On September 6, 2001, the case was 
transferred from the Hearings Section to the Board for a determination on the merits. 

After reviewing the joint stipulations, parties' briefs, and all filings in this case, the Board 
finds that the Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. is not a "public employer" as that term is defined 
by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B), dismisses the Request for Recognition, Petition for Representation 
Election, and Objections to Request for Recognition for lack of jurisdiction, and issues the attached 
Opinion, incorporated by reference, with supporting Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; arid VERICH, Board Member, concur. 

~t~ s EPOHLER, CHAIRMAN 
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You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 
Section 119.12, by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations Board at 65 East 
State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the Franklin County Court of 
Common Pleas within fifteen days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's 
directive. 

direct\11-15-01.11 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Elida Fire Fighters, International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 4020, 

Petitioner, 

and 

Elida Community Fire Company, Inc., 

Respondent. 

Case Number: 2000-REP-09-0183 

OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On September 11, 2000, the Elida Fire Fighters, International Association of Fire 

Fighters, Local 4020 ("Local 4020") filed a Request for Recognition, with the showing of 

interest, seeking to represent all full-time fire fighters and captains employed by the Elida 

Community Fire Company, Inc. ("Company"). On September 27, 2000, the Company filed 

a Petition for Representation Election and Objections to the Request for Recognition. On 

May 24, 2001, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") directed this 

matter to hearing to determine whether the Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. is a public 

employer and for all other relevant issues. The parties entered into Joint Stipulations of 

Fact in lieu of a hearing on July 2, 2001, and filed briefs on the merits. On September 6, 

2001, the Board transferred this case from the Hearings Section to the Board for a decision 

on the merits. For the reasons below, we find that the Elida Community Fire Company, 

Inc. is not a "public employer'' as that term is defined under Ohio Revised Code ("O. R.C.") 

§ 4117.01(B). 
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II. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. is a nonprofit corporation that was 

organized under the Ohio General Corporation Act. The Company's Articles of 

Incorporation were filed with the Ohio Secretary of State in July 1949. (Stipulation 

["Stip."] 4; Joint Exhibit ["Jt. Exh."] 2). 

2. The Elida Fire Fighters, International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 4020 

is an "employee organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D), and it exists, in 

whole or in part, for the purpose of dealing with the Company concerning grievances, labor 

disputes, wages, hours, terms and other conditions of employment. (Stip. 4). 

3. The Company presently has contracts to provide firefighting services in four 

townships in Allen County: American, Sugar Creek, Marion, and Amanda. The contracts 

do not grant the right to terminate the agreement to the townships upon inadequate 

performance by the Company. The townships have not reserved for themselves the right 

to revoke or limit the money they are obligated to pay the Company to provide firefighting 

and rescue services upon the happening or nonoccurrence o! various events. The 

contracts do not discuss how the Company is to go about discharging its basic contractual 

duty to provide firefighting and emergency-response services to the townships. The 

Company has no obligation to satisfy any township that the Company is performing its task 

properly. No governmental body has delegated its duties to the Company. Once the 

Company is paid by the townships under the contracts, all decisions about how the 

Company spends the money it receives rest entirely with the Company. No township 

controls how the Company uses those funds. (Slip. 5; Jt. Exhs. 3-6, 8). 

4. The Company is governed by a Board of Directors, and membership in the 

corporation is open to all who meet basic firefighting and rescue-training standards. The 
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Company's bylaws were not drafted by any political subdivision or arm of government and 

imposed on the Company. The bylaws were adopted by a vote of the Company's 

membership. The Board of Directors has ten members; five members are selected by vote 

of tre membership, two members are appointed by the board of trustees for American 

Township, and one member is appointed by each of the boards of trustees for Sugar 

Creek, Marion, and Amanda Townships. The Board of Directors has authority to amend 

the bylaws without the approval of any township. (Slip. 6; Jt. Exhs. 7-8). 

5. The Company's bylaws are included in the Company's Standard Operating 

Guidelines ("Guidelines"). The Guidelines address such topics as emergency response 

policy, shift hours, daily work procedures, order of command, maintenance of vehicles, 

response area for crews, routes to be taken, and order of departure. The Guidelines also 

include a number of policies and protocols that dictate how the Company is to be operated. 

The Guidelines have been drafted, considered, discussed, adopted, and implemented by 

the Company. No political subdivision provided input or oversight or otherwise participated 

in this process. (Stip. 6; Jt. Exhs. 7-8). 

6. Most of the money that the Company uses to operate is paid by the 

townships pursuant to their contracts with the Company. The money from the townships 

is derived from tax-levy funding. The Company has other sources of operating income, 

including donations, fund-raising activities, memorial gifts, and EMS (emergency medical 

services) billings. The fire stations used and operated by the Company are owned by the 

Board of Trustees of American Township. (Stip. 8; Jt. Exhs. 8-1 O). 

7. The Company has employees who are compensated by it; it does not 

consider these workers to be public employees. These employees do not participate in 

any state public employment retirement system and do not receive other benefits provided 

to employees of state or local governments. The Company also utilizes the services of 
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approximately 20-25 unpaid volunteer fire fighters and rescue personnel. (Slip. 9; JI. 

Exh. 8). 

8. The Company has historically operated in a manner completely independent 

of control by any township or other governmental unit. No township has directed the 

Company in the daily performance of its functions. No township has exercised any type 

of daily operational control over the corporation. The townships do not prescribe training 

standards or employment criteria for the fire fighters and rescue officers who work for the 

Company. The Company is not audited by the State of Ohio. None of the Company's 

employees or volunteers reports to any elected or appointed public official. Compensated 

employees of the Company, as opposed to the volunteers, are paid by the Company, not 

by any political subdivision. The Company maintains workers' compensation insurance on 

the employees' behalf. (Jt. Exh. 8). 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The key issue in this case is whether the Company is a "public employer" as defined 

in 0 R.C. § 4117.01 (B). If the Company is a public employer, the Board may exercise 

jurisdiction over it for labor relations purposes. Ohio Historical Soc. v. State Emp. 

Relations Bd. (1993), 66 Ohio St.3d 466, 1993 SERB 4-35 ("Ohio Historical Society"); 

Cincinnati Metro. Haus. Auth. v. State Emp. Relations Bd. (1990), 53 Ohio St.3d 221, 1990 

SERB 4-67 O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B) provides in pertinent part: 

As used in this chapter: ... 
(B) "Public employer" means the state or any political subdivision 

of the state located entirely within the state, including, without limitation, any 
municipal corporation with a population of at least five thousand according 
to the most recent federal decennial census; county; township with a 
population of at least five thousand in the unincorporated area of the 
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township according to the most recent federal decennial census; school 
district; governing authority of a community school established under 
Chapter 3314. of the Revised Code; state institution of higher learning; public 
or special district; state agency, authority, commission, or board; or other 
branch of public employment. 

Under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B) an entity is a public employer if it is one of three things: 

(1) the state, (2) a political subdivision of the state, or (3) an "other branch of public 

employment." Ohio Historical Society, supra at 475, 1993 SERB at 4-39. Local 4020 

argues that the Company is a "public employer'' because it operates within four townships 

in Allen County, it is effectively controlled by local government, and it performs a uniquely 

governmental function using government-derived revenues. 

The Company is veny similar to the Ohio Historical Society. The Company is a 

private, nonprofit corporation. The Company was created by a group of individuals, in their 

capacities as private citizens, not by governmental entities. The Company is not subject 

to governmental control. The Company's relationships with the townships are based on 

contracts. The Company contracts with the different townships to perform certain public 

functions designated in 0. R.C. § 505.37 for which the Company receives public funds. 

The company receives public funding only because it has entered into contracts to provide 

senvices to the townships. The contracts between the Company and the four townships 

set out tbe senvices to be performed by the Company. The contracts do not give the 

townships the authority to determine how the work is performed. The Company is 

governed by a set of corporate bylaws written and adopted by its Board of Directors. 

Those bylaws may be amended by the Board of Directors itself without input or oversight 

from the townships. The Company's Board of Directors is responsible "for hiring a 

management staff which shall carny out the day-to-day functions of the Company, and shall 

take such other actions as may be delegated to the management staff by the Board of 

Directors." Jt. Exh. 7, p. 47. Neither the Company's leaders nor its members are subject 

to the political process. The Company is not required by statute to perform governmental 
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functions. Thus, since the Company was neither created by the townships nor is it subject 

to the townships' control, the Company is not a public or government entity. In both form 

and substance, the Company is a private corporation. 

In In re Greenville Area Emergency Rescue Service, SERB 94-003 (2-8-94) 

("GAERS'), the Board compared the facts in Ohio Historical Society to the facts in the case 

before it to determine whether the Rescue Service was a "public employer." The facts in 

GAERS are in sharp contrast to the facts in the present case. In GAERS, the Rescue 

Service was created by public bodies; here, the Company was created as a nonprofit 

corporation by a group of individuals acting as private citizens. In GAERS, the Rescue 

Service's "membership" was identical to its board of trustees, and all of the board of 

trustees of the Rescue Service were appointed by the township trustees. Here, according 

to the Company's bylaws, five of its ten board directors are elected at the annual meeting 

of the members of the Company; the members with voting rights are those individuals who 

serve as unpaid volunteers and are not full-time paid employees of the Company. Jt. 

Exh. 7, p. 47. The American Township trustees appoint two board directors; the Marion, 

Sugar Creek, and Amanda Township trustees each appoint one board director. Id. 

Further, the Company's Board of Directors can amend the Company's bylaws without any 

input or oversight from the townships with which it has contracts. In GAERS, the Rescue 

Service had no independent existeQCe apart from its role as provider of ambulance 

services for Greenville Township; here, the Company has its primary contractual 

responsibility with the lour townships, but it can enter into written mutual aid agreements 

with other emergency responders. In GAERS, the citizens of Greenville indirectly, if not 

directly, exercised control over the GAERS board of trustees; here, no township has direct 

or indirect control over the Company, and the four townships collectively do not have 

control, directly or indirectly, over the Company's Board of Directors. Thus, following the 

Board's analysis in GAERS, the Company is not a "public employer" under O.R.C. 

§4117.01(8). 
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In Ohio Historical Society, the Ohio Supreme Court set forth the three requirements 

to find an entity to be a political subdivision of the state. First, the entity must exercise 

authority in a limited geographic area of the state. In GAERS, the Rescue Service was 

limited to Greenville Township and Darke County. While the Company currently operates 

in four townships within Allen County, its bylaws and contracts with the townships 

recognize that it could operate in other places. Hence, its authority is not restricted to a 

limited geographic area. Second, the entity must be a public agency. In GAERS, the 

Rescue Service was a public body that was created by two public bodies, the City of 

Greenville and Greenville Township. The Company is a nonprofit corporation created by 

private citizens and does not meet this requirement. Third, the entity must be authorized 

to exercise some governmental function. "Emergency rescue service is an essential 

service to the public at large, and one that is provided by government and thus, clearly 

meets the definition of 'some governmental function' • • '." GAERS, supra at 3-38. The 

Company clearly meets this requirement. Thus, since the Company meets only one of the 

three requirements, it is not a political subdivision of the state. 

Local 4020 also cites the Ohio Supreme Court's decision in State, ex rel. Freedom 

Communications, Inc. v. Elida Community Fire Co. (1998), 82 Ohio St.3d 578 ("Freedom 

Communications''), to support its position that the Company is a "public employer." In 

Freedom Communications, the Company's status under the Public Records Act was the 

issue before the Court. O.R.C. § 149.43(A)(1) defines a "public record" as "any record that 

is kept by any public office, including, but not limited to, state, county, city, village, 

township, and school district units[.]" The issue before the Court was whether the 

Company is a "public office" as defined by 0.R.C. § 149.011, which states: 

As used in this chapter: 

(A) "Public office" includes any state agency, public institution, 
political subdivision, or any other organized body, office, agency, institution, 
or entity established by the laws of this state for the exercise of any function 
of government. (Emphasis added). 



Opinion 
Case No. 2000-REP-09-0183 
Page 8 of 8 

The Court stated: "An entity need not be operated by the state or a political subdivision 

thereof to be a public office under R.C. 149.011 (A)." Id. at 579. The Court found that the 

Company was a "public office" because it was a public institution, i.e., an entity organized 

for rendering service to residents of the community and supported by public taxation, that 

is performing a function that is historically a government function. A comparison of the 

definitions of "public office" and "public employer'' reveals that the terms are not used 

interchangeably. The scope of the term "public office" is significantly broader than the 

definition of a "public employer." Thus, Freedom Communications is not on point and is 

not controlling precedent for the issue herein. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Elida Fire Fighters, International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 4020 

is an "employee organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

2. The Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. is not a "public employer" within 

the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

3. Since the Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. is not a public employer, it is 

not within the jurisdiction of the State Employment Relations Board under O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117. 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Elida Community Fire Company, Inc. is not 

a "public employer'' as that term is defined under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (8). Accordingly, the 

Request for Recognition filed by the Elida Fire Fighters, International Association of Fire 

Fighters, Local 4020 must be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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SERB OPINION 200I-008 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Pierce Township, Clermont County, 

Respondent. 

Case Nos. 2000·ULP·12·0741 & 2000-ULP-12·0742 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: December 6, 

On December 20, 2000, the Pierce Township Professional Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 4061 
("Local 4061") and Dene Riggenbach (collectively, Local 4061 and Mr. Riggenbach are referred 
to as "Charging Parties") filed unfair labor practice charges against Pierce Township, Clermont 
County ("Respondent") alleging that the Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), (A)(3), (A)(4), and (A)(7). On April 26, 2001, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainanf') consolidated the charges and determined that probable 
cause existed to believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3). 

A hearing was held on July 10 and 20, 2001. On September 24, 2001, the Proposed Order 
was issued. On October 24, 2001, the Respondent filed exceptions to the Proposed Order and a 
motion for oral argument. On November 6, 2001, the Charging Parties and the Complainant filed 
their responses to the Respondent's exceptions. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board adopts the Findings of Fact, Analysis 
and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the Proposed Order, incorporated by reference. The 
motion to dismiss is denied as moot. 

Pierce Township, Clermont County, is ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees by making numerous changes 
that interfered with, restrained, or coerced employees in the exercise of their 
guaranteed rights, and by terminating employees following the filing of a 
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representation petition and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), 4117.11 (A)(2), and 4117.11 (A)(3). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees work, the NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES furnished 
by the State Employment Relations Board stating that Pierce Township, 
Clermont County shall cease and desist from the actions set forth in 
paragraph A and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph B; 

(2) Offer reinstatement to Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, and Joe Tvrdy to the 
same or to positions comparable to the positions they held immediately 
before December 12, 2000; 

(3) Make Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, and Joe Tvrdy whole for all wages and 
benefits lost from December 12, 2000, to the date of reinstatement; 

(4) Pay interest on the wage amounts in number (B)(3) above at the rate 
payable on such awards in the common pleas courts commencing from the 
date of the State Employment Relations Board's order in this case; 

( 5) Offer Mark McDowell the opportunity to return to the same or to a position 
comparable to the position he held immediately before December 12, 2000; 

(6) Return to the status quo as it existed before August 10, 2000, by rescinding 
the changes enumerated in 'l]'l] 8, 9, 10, and 11 of the complaint: and 

(7) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 20 calendar 
days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been 
taken to comply therewith. 

The State Employment Relations Board also directs that the following actions are to be 
taken in Case No. 2000-REP-07-0150: 

(1) The August 9, 2001 dismissal of the Petition for Representation Election is 
rescinded; 

(2) The direction to hearing is reinstated; 

(3) The matter is to be expedited; and 

(4) The Respondent is directed to file with the State Employment Relations 
Board and serve upon the other party, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code 
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Rule 4117 -5-04(C), an alphabetized, numbered list of all employees in the 
proposed unit as of the pay period ending just prior to July 10, 2000 (the 
date that the petition was filed), in accordance with the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law in Case Nos. 2000-ULP-12-0741 and 2000-ULP-12-
0742, including proof of service upon the other party. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, concur. 

~d~ 
POHLER, CHAIRMAN <:::: 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117 .13(0) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations Board at 65 
East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court of common pleas 
in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of the State 
Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was file~d a copy nd upon each party by certified ma'il, 

return receipt requested, on this /~ - day of ~. 2001. 

diroct\12-06·01. 13 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 
AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this Notice. We intend 
to carry out the order of the Board and abide by the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees by making numerous changes that interfered 
with, restrained, or coerced employees in the exercise of their guaranteed rights, and by 
terminating employees following the filing of a representation petition and 1rom otherwise violating 
Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), 4117.11 (A)(2), and 4117.11 (A)(3). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining-unit 
employees work, the NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that Pierce Township, Clermont County shall cease and desist 
from the actions set forth in paragraph A and shall take the affirmative action set forth 
in paragraph B. 

(2) Offer reinstatement to Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, and Joe Tvrdy to the same or to 
positions comparable to the positions they held immediately before December 12, 2000. 

(3) Make Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, and Joe Tvrdy whole for all wages and benefits lost 
from December 12, 2000, to Iha date ot reinstatement. 

(4) Pay interest on the wage amounts in number (B)(3) above at the rate payable on such 
awards in the common pleas courts commencing from the date of the State Employment 
Relations Board's order in this case. 

(5) Offer Mark McDowell the opportunity to return to the same or to a position comparable 
to the position he held immediately before December 12, 2000. 

(6) Return to the status quo as it existed before August 10, 2000, by rescinding the changes 
enumerated in 11118, 9, 10, and 11 of the complaint. 

(7) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 20 calendar days from the 
date the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v, PIERCE TOWNSHIP, CLERMONT COUNTY 
CASE NOS. 2000-ULP·12·0741 & 2000-ULP·12·0742 

BY DATE 

Title 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be altered, 
defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or compliance with its provisions 
may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

PIERCE TOWNSHIP, CLERMONT COUNTY, 

Respondent. 

CASE NOS. 2000-ULP-12·0741 
2000-ULP-12-07 42 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 20, 2000, the Pierce Township Professional Fire Fighters, IAFF 
Local 4061 ("Local 4061") and Dene Riggenbach (collectively, Local 4061 and 
Mr. Riggenbach are referred to as "Charging Parties") filed unfair labor practice charges 
against Pierce Township, Clermont County ("Township") alleging that the Township 
violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), (A)(3), (A)(4) and (A)(7). 1 On April 26, 2001, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") consolidated the charges and 
determined that there was probable cause to believe that Respondent violated 
§§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(3). SERB dismissed the§§ 4117.11(A)(4) and (A)(7) 
allegations for lack of probable cause. On June 5, 2001, a complaint was issued. On 
June 26, 2001, the Charging Parties filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in 
accordance with Rule4117·1-07(A). A hearing was held on July 10 and 20, 2001, wherein 
testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post
hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Township violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3) by 
making numerous changes that interfered with, restrained, or coerced 
employees in the exercise of their guaranteed rights, and by terminating 
employees following the filing of a representation petition? 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

Procedural History of Representation Petition: 

1. On July 7, 2000, Local 4061 filed a Petition for Representation Election (the 
"petition"). Local 4061 sought to represent a proposed bargaining unit of captains, 
lieutenants, fire fighters, emergency medical technicians, and paramedics. Five 
employees were in the proposed bargaining unit: Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, 
Joe Tvrdy, Mark McDowell, and Scott Light (the "proposed bargaining-unit 
members"). (Answer, ii 5; T. 38-39) 

2. The petition was assigned SERB Case No. OO-REP-07-0150. The petition was 
served upon the Township on July 7, 2000, and notice of the petition was posted 
on the Township bulletin board. The Township filed objections, asserting that the 
members of the proposed bargaining unit were not "public employees," and that the 
Township fire department consisted solely of volunteers. The SERB representation 
case eventually was directed to hearing. A prehearing was scheduled for 
December 11, 2000; it was continued to and held on December 20, 2000. The 
hearing was scheduled for January 8, 2001. (T. 40) 

Facts Forming the Basis for the Unfair Labor Practice Charges and Complaint: 

3. Before the petition was filed, the proposed bargaining-unit members wore a uniform 
consisting of blue pants, T-shirt, sweatshirt, and jacket. Printed on the uniforms 
were logos that read,"Pierce Township Fire Department, EMS." (T. 23-24) 

4. The proposed bargaining-unit members worked full time. They were hired and 
referred to by various titles including "full-time fireman/EMT and maintenance 
worker,'' "Fireman, E.M.T. and Maintenance Department Employee," "full-time 
EMT/maintenance personnel," "EMT/maintenance worker/ground crew," 
"emergency medical technician/firefighter and service department employee," and 
"EMT/maintenance personnel." The proposed bargaining-unit members were paid 
hourly and accrued sick pay, vacation pay, and holiday pay. (T. 9, 25, 33-34, 35, 
90; U. Exhs. 1, 21, 22) 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed 
by the page number(s). References to Complainant and Charging Parties' exhibits in the record 
are indicated parenthetically by "U. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to 
Respondent's exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Twp. Exh.," followed by the 
exhibit number(s). References to the transcript and/or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended 
for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in 
the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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5. Historically, the Township maintained a volunteer fire department. However, during 
the 1990s, the proposed bargaining-unit members had been hired to provide 
daytime coverage, as it was difficult to obtain volunteer coverage during these 
hours. The proposed bargaining-unit members either had received EMT, advanced 
EMT, or fire-fighting training when they were hired or agreed to obtain EMT and 
advanced EMT certification as a condition of their continued employment. The 
Township paid for paramedic and fire fighter training for some of the proposed 
bargaining-unit members while they were employed by the Township. (T. 12-13, 14-
15, 33-35, 65, 76, 90-91, 100-101, 262-263; U. Exhs. 11, 21) 

6. The proposed bargaining-unit members' work days would begin atthe Township fire 
department, checking the Township life squads to make sure they were stocked and 
in working order. While on standby for fire and EMS runs, the proposed bargaining
unit members performed other duties both inside and outside the fire department, 
including building and grounds cleaning and maintenance, lawn mowing, and 
cemetery work. The proposed bargaining-unit members made fire and EMS runs 
that included assisting injured persons at the scene of traffic and other accidents, 
assisting persons who had sustained weather-related injuries, and fighting structure 
and field fires. (T. 16, 18-19, 84, 88, 103) 

7. In January 2000, the Township hired Thomas Behymer as Administrator. 
Previously, Mr. Behymer had served as Township Clerk for 20 years. (T. 208-209) 

8. In February 2000, the Township hired David Coyle as Director of Planning, Zoning, 
and Engineering. Mr. Coyle was to work with Mr. Behymer to make the Township 
more efficient. Mr. Coyle and Mr. Behymer started looking at the workload of 
Township employees. (T. 125-127) 

9. In the spring of 2000, Mr. Riggenbach met a member of the Ohio Association of 
Professional Fire Fighters ("OAPFF") while he was at a paramedic training in 
another township. The union member gave Mr. Riggenbach the business card of an 
OAPFF representative, and Mr. Riggenbach contacted the representative. When 
Mr. Riggenbach approached Mr. Light about the union, Mr. Riggenbach mentioned 
preserving the proposed bargaining-unit members' health insurance benefits and 
jobs as two reasons for forming a union. Subsequently, the proposed bargaining
unit members met with the representative and Local 4061 was formed. In 
July 2000, the petition was filed. (T. 38-40, 198-199) 

10. In May 2000, Robert Connell, who was Chief of the fire department from July 1990 
to September 2000, began a multi-year plan for the fire department, which he 
submitted to the Township Trustees. The plan called for the continued employment 
of the proposed bargaining-unit members to provide daytime coverage. (T. 181-
184) 
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11. On August 10, 2000, the Township issued a memorandum informing the proposed 
bargaining-unit members that they were no longer to wear their fire department 
uniforms and instead were issued brown pants and orange shirts, the same uniform 
as the Township's road crew employees. Following the uniform change, the 
proposed bargaining-unit members continued to make fire and EMS runs. (T. 41-
44, 165, 233-235) 

12. Before the petition was filed, the proposed bargaining-unit members worked four 
ten-hour days each week, and had done so since December 1998. The four-day 
work week had been implemented to eliminate the need for the Township to pay 
overtime between the hours of 4 and 6 p.m. and to improve EMS response time. 
(T. 45-46, 230·231; U. Exh. 28) 

13. On September 26, 2000, the Township posted a memorandum changing the work 
schedules of the proposed bargaining-unit members to five eight-hour days per 
week. (Answer, ii 6; T. 44·46; U. Exh. 27) 

14. Before October 3, 2000, the proposed bargaining-unit members received paid half· 
hour lunch breaks because they were required to be available in the event of an 
EMS squad run. On October 3, 2000, the Township posted a memorandum 
informing the proposed bargaining-unit members that they would no longer be paid 
for lunch. (T. 46-47, 164; U. Exh. 28) 

15. Before November 2000, the proposed bargaining-unit members received holiday 
pay and overtime pay at the rate of time and one-half if they worked on a holiday. 
In November 2000, the Township began paying the proposed bargaining-unit 
members holiday pay and straight-time pay instead of overtime pay when they 
worked holidays. (T. 48-49; 273) 

16. In November 2000, a 2.9-mill Township fire/EMS levy was passed. The purpose of 
the levy, as described in campaign literature, was to "complement the services of 
the Township's volunteers" and to "upgrade the fire department's equipment." 
Trustee Bonnie Batchler actively campaigned in support of the levy. (T. 261-262; 
Twp. Exh. 2) 

17. In the fall of 2000, the Township posted a notice and published a newspaper 
advertisement seeking to hire part-time paramedics. (T. 53-54) 

18. On December 12, 2000, Mr. Coyle presented a "Report on Contracting For 
Services" ("report") at a meeting of the Township Trustees. At the meeting, the 
Township eliminated the positions of the proposed bargaining-unit members and 
terminated the employment of three of the proposed bargaining-unit members, 
including Mr. Riggenbach, President of Local 4061. Proposed bargaining-unit 
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member Mr. McDowell was transferred to the Township's road crew, and proposed 
bargaining-unit member Mr. Light was promoted to Manager of the Township's EMS 
Operations. The Township issued a press release stating that it had eliminated its 
Buildings and Grounds Department, resulting in the termination of four employees. 
(T. 49-51, 201-202; Twp. Exh. 1; U. Exh. 31) 

19. On December 18, 2000, the Township filed a motion to dismiss the petition, 
asserting that the proposed bargaining unit consisted solely of volunteers and that 
the Township's decision to "outsource" rendered moot any determination regarding 
the appropriateness of the proposed bargaining unit or any other question 
concerning representation. The petition was dismissed without prejudice. (SERB 
Case No. 00-REP-07-0150) 

20. In January2001, afterthe proposed bargaining-unit members had been terminated, 
transferred, or promoted, the Township hired permanent part-time paramedics and 
compensated various individuals for work they had done as part-time 
paramedics/fire fighters during December 2000 and January 2001. (T 53-56, 269-
270) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3) provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[,] 

(2) [D]ominate ... or interfere with the formation ... of any employee 
organization[,] 

(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term or 
condition of employment on the basis of the exercise of rights 
guaranteed by Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

A. The Townshio Violated§ 4117.11'A)C1> and§ 4117.11'A)C3) 

1. Section 4117.111A)(1 l 

In In re Pickaway Countv Human Services Dept, SERB 93-001 (3-24-93) at 3-3, 
SERB explained as follows: 
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When a violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an 
objective rather than a subjective one. That is, we must determine whether 
under all the facts and circumstances, one could reasonably conclude that 
employees were restrained or coerced, or that their rights under § 4117 .03 
had been interfered with, by the Respondent's conduct. This objective 
inquiry is used whether the alleged misconduct is a change in status quo, 
interrogation about union activity, or some other alleged interference with 
rights protected under Chapter 4117. 

Accordingly, proper consideration of any § 4117.11 (A)(1) allegation must 
necessarily entail a thorough review of the circumstances under which the 
alleged misconduct occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights of 
employees. 

In examining the§ 4117.11 (A}(1) allegation, the Township asserts that Mr. Behymer 
was merely taking actions that were within his discretion and part of his mandate to 
improve efficiency. After two decades as Township Clerk, Mr. Behymer became 
Administrator in January 2000. No changes were made, however, until August 1 O, 2000, 
a month after the petition requesting an election for a proposed bargaining unit of fire 
fighters was filed. On August 10, 2000, the uniform of all five employees in the proposed 
bargaining unit was changed from blue pants and shirts bearing the words "Pierce 
Township Fire Department, EMS" to the brown pants and orange shirts worn by the 
employees in the Township's road crew. Subsequently, on September 26, 2000, the 
Township changed the work days and hours of the proposed bargaining-unit members to 
match the schedule worked by the road-crew employees. Simultaneously, the Township 
was objecting to the petition filed at SERB by asserting that the proposed bargaining-unit 
members were not employees of its fire department, but rather were serving only as 
volunteers when they performed fire or EMS duties. 

The proposed bargaining-unit members' duties were hybrid in nature. The evidence 
in the record plainly reveals that these employees were responsible both for providing 
daytime fire and EMS coverage and for performing maintenance work on the Township's 
buildings and grounds. Viewed objectively and under the totality of the circumstances, 
including the circumstantial evidence of anti-union animus discussed in parts 2 and 3 
below, the Township's actions following the filing of the petition in July 2000 can be viewed 
only as actions undertaken by the Township to bolster its position in the administrative 
proceeding at SERB. The apparent intent of the Township was to align these employees 
with the employees in the road crew or "service department" rather than with the fire 
department, with the goals of either succeeding in demonstrating that the employees 
served the fire department only as volunteers, or of defeating the petition on the basis that 
it did not describe an appropriate unit. Indeed, and ironically, the Township's principal 
defense with regard to the changes it made to the proposed bargaining-unit members' 
uniforms, hours of work, holiday pay, and lunch breaks was that it made these changes to 
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bring the proposed bargaining-unit members' terms and conditions of employment in line 
with those of its "other service department" employees, the road crew. Viewed objectively, 
the Township's actions in making these changes interfered with, restrained, and coerced 
the proposed bargaining-unit members, who were engaged in the exercise the concerted, 
protected activity of seeking an exclusive representative, and constitute violations of 
§4117.11(A)(1). 

2. Section 4117 .11(A)(3) 

In State Emp. Relations Bd. v. Adena Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn., 66 Ohio St. 
3d 485, 498, 1993 SERB 4-43, 4-48, 4-50 (1993), the Ohio Supreme Court analyzed unfair 
labor practices under § 4117.11 (A)(3) and articulated the test to be applied by SERB to 
determine whether an individual has been the victim of discrimination on the basis of 
protected activity under § 4117.11 (A)(3): 

The motivation behind an employer's decision to take an action 
regarding an employee is the central question that must be resolved in a 
ULP case. R.C. Chapter 4117 makes it SERB's responsibility to evaluate. the 
factual situation surrounding a ULP charge, and to determine whether a ULP 
has in fact occurred. Determining the motivation underlying an employer's 
decision almost always presents difficulties which are not easily overcome. 
Motivation is rarely clear. An employer charged with a ULP will almost 
always claim that the particular action was undertaken for sound business 
reasons, totally unrelated to the employer's participation in protected 
activities. The employee will almost always claim that the action was taken 
to retaliate for his or her exercise of protected rights. Since evidence of the 
employer's motivation is rarely direct, SERB must rely on a good deal of 
circumstantial evidence in arriving at its conclusion. • • • 

••• 

[T]he "in part" approach must be broad enough to take into account 
the actual or true motive of the employer. Thus, only when the employer's 
decision regarding the employee was actually motivated by antiunion animus 
must a ULP be found. In determining actual motivation in the context of the 
"in part" test, the requirements of R.C. Chapter 4117 are best fulfilled when 
SERB considers the evidence before it in the framework of a single inquiry, 
focusing on the intent of the employer. 

The Court further defined the test as follows: 

We further hold that under the "in part" test to determine the actual 
motivation of an employer charged with a ULP, the proponent of the charge 
has the initial burden of showing that the action by the employer was taken 
to discriminate against the employee for the exercise of rights protected by 
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R.C. Chapter 4117. Where the proponent meets this burden, a prima facie 
case is created which raises a presumption of antiunion animus. The 
employer is then given an opportunity to present evidence that its actions 
were the result of other conduct by the employee not related to protected 
activity, to rebut the presumption. SERB then determines, by a 
preponderance of the evidence, whether a ULP has occurred. 

Id. at 499, 1993 SERB at 4-50. 

To make a prima facie case of discrimination under § 4117.11 (A)(3), the 
Complainant must establish the following elements: (1) that the employee at issue is a 
public employee and was employed at relevant times by Respondent; (2) that he or she 
engaged in concerted, protected activity under Chapter 4117, which fact was either known 
to Respondent or suspected by Respondent; and (3) that Respondent took adverse action 
against the employee under circumstances which could, if left unrebutted by other 
evidence, lead to a reasonable inference that Respondent's actions were related to the 
employee's exercise of concerted, protected activity under Chapter 4117. In re SERB v. 
Fulton County Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96). 3 

The proposed bargaining-unit members were public employees of the Township, as 
is demonstrated by the minutes of various Township Trustees' meetings hiring them, by 
Township payroll records, and by the Township's own admissions at the hearing and in its 
post-hearing brief. Local 4061 asserts that the proposed bargaining-unit members were 
fire fighters, while the Township asserts they were building and grounds employees. The 
dispute about the proposed bargaining-unit members' duties, however, is not relevant to 
the initial determination that they were public employees of the Township. Second, the 
proposed bargaining-unit members obviously were engaged in the concerted, protected 
activity of attempting to organize a union at the Township, which was known to the 
Township no later than July 7, 2000, when it was served with the petition. 

The culmination of the Township's response to the proposed bargaining-unit 
members' petition occurred on December 12, 2000, when it was able to halt the 
representation process entirely by decimating the proposed bargaining unit. The Township 
abruptly terminated, without notice, the employment of the President of Local 4061, 
Mr. Riggenbach, and the employment of Ms. Doty and Mr. Tvrdy. The Township never met 
with or provided a written or verbal explanation for their terminations to these individuals. 
The terminations of the employment of three of the five proposed bargaining-unit members 
within days of the dates SERB had scheduled for prehearing and hearing on the petition, 

'Section 4117.11 (A)(1) represents an alleged derivative violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(3) in this 
instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union. Local 268. SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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constitutes an adverse action against these employees under circumstances creating a 
reasonable inference that the Township's actions were related to the employees' exercise 
of activity protected under Chapter 4117. Similarly, the elimination of a paid lunch break 
in October 2000, and the elimination of holiday overtime pay for all five proposed 
bargaining-unit members in November 2000, constitute such adverse actions. Accordingly, 
the Complainant and Charging Parties have established a prima facie case of 
discrimination, which raises a presumption of anti-union animus. 

3. The Township's Defense to the §§ 4117 .1 HA)(1) and fA)(3) Cha roes 

Viewed under the totality of the circumstances, an analysis of the circumstantial 
evidence of employer motivation reveals, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the 
Township has not adequately rebutted the presumption of anti-union animus. A cursory 
review of the December 12, 2000 personnel changes reveals a clever strategy. The 
Township transferred Local 4061 Vice President McDowell to the road crew, and promoted 
Mr. Light to lead the "new'' EMS department. Mr. McDowell and Mr. Light were the most 
senior members of the proposed bargaining unit. The Township claims that it undertook 
these actions to terminate as few employees as possible under its plan to "outsource" the 
buildings and grounds work. The Township also claims that it has rebutted any 
presumption of anti-union animus because after ii eliminated the positions held by the five 
proposed bargaining-unit members, it transferred one proposed bargaining-unit member 
and promoted another. 

A close examination of the facts of record reveals the fallacies of the Township's 
argument. First, the transfer and promotion effectively eliminated the existence of the 
proposed bargaining unit. Mr. McDowell, as a member of the road crew, would no longer 
be doing fire or EMS work, nor would he be working in the same department as Mr. Light. 
Mr. Light, as a supervisor, arguably would no longer be a "public employee" entitled to the 
protections of Chapter 4117. Second, the Township terminated the employment of the 
three remaining proposed bargaining-unit members, each of whom performed EMS work, 
while simultaneously seeking part-time EMS employees for its "new'' EMS program. (T. 53-
56). In light of the fact that Mr. Riggenbach, Ms. Doty, and Mr. Tvrdy all had been hired 
to perform fire and EMS duties, had actually performed such duties, and had been required 
as part of their employment with the Township to obtain further fire and EMS training, no 
conclusion can be drawn other than that they were terminated by the Township with the 
goal of eliminating any possibility of a successful union organizing campaign in its fire and 
EMS operations. The Township's terminations of Mr. Riggenbach, Ms. Doty, and Mr. Tvrdy 
constitute violations of§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3). 

The Township's defense to the§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3) violations is devoid of 
merit and credibility. The Township claims that the numerous changes it made to the 
proposed bargaining-unit members' terms and conditions of employment were a result of 
its desire to streamline and enhance the efficiency of its service department, and that the 
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position eliminations, terminations, transfer, and promotion were a result of its decision to 
"outsource" the buildings and grounds work that previously constituted part of the proposed 
bargaining-unit members' duties. The only truth to be found in the theory of the case 
advanced by the Township is that in the spring of 2000 it had begun examining the 
processes it used to accomplish needed buildings and grounds work. 

In NLRBv. Kentucky May Coal Co., 89 F.3d 1235, 152 L.R.R.M. 2821 (6'h Cir. 1996) 
("Kentucky May"), the employer terminated employees who had sought union recognition 
by contracting out their work. The employer argued that it could avoid liability because the 
issue of contracting out had been raised before the union organizing effort. Rejecting that 
argument, the U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals stated: 

Although there is evidence [sic] that David Carter, Electric Fuels' senior vice 
president of operations, first raised the possibility of con1racting out mining 
operations in October of 1993 [sic], a reasonable inference can be drawn 
from the record as a whole that little, if any, action was taken on this 
recommendation until the Company became aware that its employees were 
beginning a union organizing campaign. 

!Q., 152 L.R.R.M. at 2826. 

As in Kentucky May, the evidence of record reveals that it was the filing of the 
petition that led to changes made during the following four months, and ultimately to the 
December 2000 "outsourcing" decision, the elimination of the positions in the proposed 
bargaining unit, and the termination of three employees. The Township was unable to 
provide any documentation to show that contracting out was a serious possibility or under 
serious consideration before the petition was filed. The minutes of the trustees' meetings 
before December 2000 lack any reference to the issue, and no reports, working papers, 
or other documents exist to show that the Township was working on an outsourcing study 
at any time before December 12, 2000, when Mr. Coyle made a presentation to the 
trustees and the trustees voted to eliminate the proposed bargaining-unit members' 
positions that same day. 

Notably, at hearing, the Township put forth no documentation other than the 
undated, computer-generated Power Point "report" that Mr. Coyle presented at the 
December 12, 2000 trustees' meeting as the basis for the trustees voting to make the 
aforementioned personnel changes. The "report'' is little more than a brief outline. It is 
completely lacking in footnotes or other verifiable sources of the alleged cost-savings 
claimed by the Township to have been realized by "outsourcing" the buildings and grounds 
work. Moreover, neither Mr. Coyle nor any other Township witness presented any other 
evidence, testimonial or documentary, of the calculations, estimates, or processes used 
to undertake and complete the "report." No invoices or reports from the outside consultant 
the Township allegedly used to observe and evaluate buildings and grounds work were 
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presented, nor were any estimates or invoices from the alleged providers of the 
"outsourced" work. 

Only one meeting about the outsourcing was recounted by the Township at hearing. 
Mr. Coyle and Mr. Behymer asserted that they held a May 2000 meeting with Mr. Light and 
the road crew supervisor at which they announced that the Township would not be hiring 
summer help and was looking into outsourcing. Obviously, this testimony was a significant 
part of the Township's defense that it was contemplating outsourcing before the petition 
was filed. At hearing, the Township called Mr. Light, who was promoted by the Township 
on December 12, 2000, as one of its witnesses. However, the Township did not ask him 
one question to confirm that the May 2000 meeting took place or that outsourcing was 
discussed. This omission weakens the credibility of Mr. Coyle and Mr. Behymer's 
assertions and further weakens the Township's defense. 

The Township's defense lacks merit for other reasons as well. The Township failed 
to adequately explain the timing of the numerous changes it made to the terms and 
conditions of employment of the five proposed bargaining-unit members. The Township 
states that the changes were made as a result of the hiring of Mr. Coyle and Mr. Behymer, 
with the mandate to revitalize and make efficient the "service department," and not in 
response to the filing of the petition. But no changes were made until after the petition was 
filed, at which time they came in rapid succession, affecting each time only the five 
proposed bargaining-unit members. Moreover, no changes were made affecting the road 
crew, which comprises the remainder of the "service department." 

Perhaps most telling, however, is the Township's continuous failure to acknowledge 
and address the obvious: the overwhelming weight of the evidence reveals that the 
proposed bargaining-unit members were more than maintenance workers. "Outsourcing" 
maintenance work- even if the Township had offered credible evidence that it actually did 
do so - did not eliminate all of the work the proposed bargaining members were hired to 
perform, and did perform, for the Township. The proposed bargaining-unit members did 
not simply "volunteer" in the fire department: the documentary evidence in addition to the 
testimony of the proposed bargaining-unit members confirms that they were hired and paid 
to perform fire and EMS duties as well. The proposed bargaining-unit members either had 
received EMT, advanced EMT, or fire-fighting training when they were hired or agreed to 
obtain EMT and advanced EMT certification as a condition of their continued employment; 
in addition, the Township paid for paramedic and fire fighter training for some of the 
proposed bargaining-unit members while they were employed by the Township. (Finding 
of Fact 5). Thus, any determination by the Township to "outsource" service department 
work does not rebut the inference that anti-union animus led to the termination of three of 
the proposed bargaining-unit members, particularly in this case when the Township was 
simultaneously expanding its fire and EMS operations and actively seeking and paying 
other individuals to perform fire and EMS duties. Accordingly, the Township has violated 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3). 
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B. The Township Violated§ 4117.11(A)(2) 

In In re Springfield Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-007 (5-1-97) at 3-48, the 
Board suggested that interference with the continued existence of an employee 
organization might constitute a violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(2). Eliminating the positions of 
all proposed bargaining-unit members, terminating the employment of three of them, 
transferring one to another work area, and promoting another individual interfered with the 
continued existence of Local 4061. Under the circumstances of this case, in which a 
representation petition to determine the status of Local 4061 was pending, the hearing date 
was imminent, and no legitimate nondiscriminatory business reason for the personnel 
actions affecting the proposed bargaining unit has been proven, the Township's actions 
also constitute a violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(2). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Pierce Township Professional Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 4061 is an "employee 
organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). 

2. Pierce Township, Clermont County is a "public employer'' within the meaning of 
§ 4117.01(B). 

3. Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, Joe Tvrdy, Mark McDowell, and Scott Light, at all 
relevant times, were employed by the Township and were "public employees" within 
the meaning of§ 4117.01(C). 

4. The Township violated § 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3) by making numerous 
changes that interfered with, restrained, or coerced employees in the exercise of 
their guaranteed rights, and by terminating employees following, and in retaliation 
for, the filing of a representation petition. 

V. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.12(8)(3), requiring the Township to do the following: 
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A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees by making numerous 
changes that interfered with, restrained, or coerced employees in the 
exercise of their guaranteed rights, and by terminating employees following 
the filing of a representation petition and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(1 ), 4117.11 (A)(2), and 4117.11 (A)(3). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees work, the NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that 
Pierce Township, Clermont County shall cease and desist from the 
actions set forth in paragraph A and shall take the affirmative action 
set forth in paragraph B. 

(2) Offer reinstatement to Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, and Joe Tvrdy 
to the same or to positions comparable to the positions they held 
immediately before December 12, 2000. 

(3) Make Dene Riggenbach, Faith Doty, and Joe Tvrdy whole for all 
wages and benefits lost from December 12, 2000, to the date of 
reinstatement. 

(4) Pay interest on the wage amounts in number (B)(3) above at the rate 
payable on such awards in the common pleas courts commencing 
from the date of the State Employment Relations Board's order in this 
case. 

(5) Offer Mark McDowell the opportunity to return to the same or to a 
position comparable to the position he held immediately before 
December 12, 2000. 

(6) Return to the status quo as it existed before August 10, 2000, by 
rescinding the changes enumerated in 'll'll 8, 9, 10, and 11 of the 
complaint. 

(7) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 20 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

City of Cleveland, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2001·ULP-03·0132 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Ve rich: December 6, 

On March 7, 2001, the Communications Workers of America, Local 4340, AFL·CIO 
("Charging Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of Cleveland 
("Respondent"), alleging that the Respondent violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). On June 21, 
2001, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") determined that probable 
cause existed to believe that the Respondent had violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 

The parties agreed to submit this case tor determination on stipulations of fact and exhibits 
in lieu of a hearing. On October 16, 2001, the Proposed Order was issued. On November 5, 2001, 
the Respondent filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On November 8, 2001, the Complainant 
filed its response to the Respondent's exceptions. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board adopts the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law in the Proposed Order for the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, 
incorporated by reference. 

The City of Cleveland is ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

1. Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally 
refusing to bargain with the Communications Workers of America. 
local 4340, AFL-CIO while seeking a change in the composition of the 
bargaining unit, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 
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2. Refusing to bargain collectively with the Communications Workers of 
America, Local 4340, AFL-CIO while seeking a change in the composition 
of the bargaining unit, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1 . Post the attached Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal locations where 
employees represented by Communications Workers of America, 
Local 4340, AFL-CIO, work stating that the City of Cleveland shall cease 
and desist from the actions set forth in paragraph A and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph B; and 

2. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty calendar 
days from the date of the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been 
taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, concur. 

STIOHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.13(D) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations Board at 65 
East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court of common pleas 
in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of the State 
Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy serve upon each party by certified mail, 

return receipt requested, on this /cB'!:: day of ---1P,,~~~~~~(.;ru01. 

direct\ 12·06·01.12 



NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF 
THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this Notice. We intend 
to carry out the order of the Board and abide by the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

t. Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally refusing to bargain with 
the Communications Workers of America, Local 4340, AFL-CIO while seeking a change 
in the composition of the bargaining unit, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

2. Refusing to bargain collectively with the Communications Workers of America, Local 
4340, AFL-CIO while seeking a change in the composition of the bargaining unit, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Post the attached Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal locations where employees 
represented by Communications Workers of America, Local 4340, AFL-CIO, work stating 
that the City of Cleveland shall cease and desist from the actions set forth in paragraph 
A and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph B; and 

2. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty calendar days from the 
date of the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. CITY OF CLEVELAND 
CASE NO. 2001-ULP-03-0132 

BY DATE 

Title 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be altered, 
defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or compliance with its provisions 
may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 



SERB OPINION 2001-009 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 
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Case No. 2001-ULP-03-0132 

OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on October 16, 2001, 

and the filing of exceptions by the City of Cleveland ("City") and responses to the 

exceptions by the Communications Workers of America, Local 4340, AFL-CIO ("CWA") 

and the Complainant. For the reasons below, we find that the City violated Ohio Revised 

Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to bargain with CWA while 

seeking a change in the composition of the bargaining unit without obtaining a stay of its 

duty to negotiate from SERB. 

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

CW A is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the City's Emergency 

Medical Services ("EMS") Supervisors. On October 1, 1998, CWA filed a Request for 

Recognition in Case No. 98-REP-10-0236 seeking to represent a bargaining unit consisting 

of the City's EMS Supervisors. The City did not timely object to the Request for 
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Recognition, and SERB certified CWA as the exclusive representative on August 5, 1999. 

On November 16, 1999, the City filed a Notice to Negotiate, seeking to negotiate the 

parties' initial collective bargaining agreement. On March 6, 2000, the City filed a Petition 

for Clarification of Bargaining Unit in Case No. 2000-REP-03-0047, asserting that all 

employees in the bargaining unit are supervisors and not "public employees" under 

§ 4117.01 (C). On January 25, 2001, the City filed a motion to withdraw the petition, which 

was granted on March 1, 2001. 

On January 25, 2001, the City also filed a Petition for Amendment of Certification 

in Case No. 2001-REP-01-0017, again asserting that all employees in the bargaining unit 

are supervisors and not "public employees" under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). By a letter dated 

February 5, 2001, the City informed CWA that with the filing of the Petition for Amendment 

of Certification, "the City will not engage in collective bargaining while this matter is 

pending." The City did not request, and SERB did not grant, a stay in the negotiations 

between the City and CWA. 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code•••; 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative • • • pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

0.R.C. § 4117.04(8) requires an employer to bargain collectively with an exclusive 

representative designated under 0.R.C. § 4117.05. The duty to bargain arises when an 
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employee organization becomes the exclusive representative of a bargaining unit. SERB 

certified CWA as the exclusive representative for the relevant bargaining unit on August 5, 

1999. 

CWA filed the required Notice to Negotiate for the initial collective bargaining 

agreement between itself and the City on November 16, 1999. The City refused to 

bargain; instead, it chose to file a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit, which it later 

withdrew. The City then filed its Petition for Amendment of Certification on May 9, 2001. 

The City continued to refuse to bargain with CWA. 

In In re Marion County Children's Services Board, SERB 92-017 (10-1-92) 

("Mariort'), a decertification petition was filed during the window period of the collective 

bargaining agreement between the public employer and the exclusive representative, and 

the employer suspended bargaining with the incumbent union. After the decertification 

petition was dismissed, the employer refused to resume bargaining, which Jed to the filing 

of an unfair labor practice charge. SERB then held: 

A continuation of the bargaining process with the incumbent employee 
organization might taint the "laboratory conditions" which are essential for the 
coming election by giving one party an advantage over the other. Also, the 
imminent possibility of changing or eliminating the employee representation 
justifies staying negotiations upon an Employer's motion until an election has 
established which party, if any, the employer is to negotiate with. Thus, it is 
sound policy to stay ongoing negotiations with the incumbent organization 
on a motion by the employer, so long as a question of representation is 
pending before the Board in the form of [a] petition for representation or 
decertification. We do not agree with the hearing officer, however, that good 
faith doubt may be established apart from a pending petition . 

• • • 

A public employer must bargain collectively with a certified employee 
organization so long as the organization retains its certification. A public 
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employer is not relieved of this obligation simply because it feels a majority 
of its employees no longer support the certified employee organization. The 
obligation to bargain imposed by Chapter 4117 depends not upon the 
majority status of the employee organization, but rather upon the certification 
of the employee organization by SERB as exclusive bargaining agent. The 
duty to bargain, once imposed, is relieved only upon revocation of 
certification by the Board or temporarily by granting a motion to stay. 
[citation omitted] 

Id. at 3-57 - 3-58 (emphasis added). 

In State Emp. Relations Bd. v. Miami Univ. (1994), 71 Ohio St.3d 351, 1995 SERB 

4-1, the Ohio Supreme Court held in its Syllabus: "An Ohio public employer may not 

unilaterally withdraw recognition of and/or refuse to bargain collectively with a certified 

incumbent union, despite any good faith doubt the employer may have concerning the 

union's continuing majority status." The Court also reviewed SERB's position announced 

in Marion and found that it "strikes a balance between employee rights and the status of 

a certified union under the Ohio Act." Id. al 357, 1995 SERB at 4-4. In noting that O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117 "clearly establishes SERB as the conduit through which Ohio public sector 

bargaining relationships must pass," the Court held that it was consistent with the statutory 

scheme for SERB to preclude the cessation of bargaining without SERB's involvement. Id. 

Whether a motion to stay negotiations will be granted under Marion depends upon 

whether a valid petition is pending before SERB and whether the petition presents a 

question concerning representation. A question concerning representation is usually 

present in an election petition or a decertification petition. If a question concerning 

representation is present, an amendment petition or a clarification petition may not be filed 

pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-01 (E); thus, Marion does not apply to 

these petitions. A stay of negotiations rarely will be granted where an amendment or 

clarification petition has been filed. The City's Petition for Amendment of Certification in 

Case No. 2001-REP-01-0017 asserts that all employees in the bargaining unit are 
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supervisors and not "public employees" under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C); this petition presents 

one of those rare situations where a stay may have been granted upon the filing of an 

amendment petition. As a result, the City may have avoided committing an unfair labor 

practice by requesting and receiving a stay of negotiations from SERB pending resolution 

of its Petition for Amendment of Certification. 

CWA's certification has not been revoked. SERB has not granted a stay of 

negotiations. Thus, when the City unilaterally discontinued negotiations on February 5, 

2001, it acted without authority and violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 )1 and (A)(5). 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the City of Cleveland committed an unfair labor 

practice and violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally 

refused to bargain with the Communications Workers of America, Local 4340, AFL-CIO 

while the City was seeking a change in the composition of the bargaining unit, without 

obtaining a stay of its duty to negotiate from the State Employment Relations Board. Thus, 

a cease-and-desist order will be issued requiring the City to post a Notice to Employees 

for sixty days in all of the usual and normal locations where employees represented by the 

Communications Workers of America, Local 4340, AFL-CIO work and to notify the State 

Employment Relations Board in writing twenty calendar days from the date the Order 

becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Pohler, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 

10.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) represents a derivative violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5) in this 
instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 



SERB OPINION 2002-001 

STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Chauffeurs, Teamsters, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local 377, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

Poland Township, Mahoning County, 

Employer. 

Case No. 2001·REP·03..Q058 

DIRECTIQN TO ELECTION 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
January 24, 2002. 

On March 6, 2001, the Chauffeurs, Teamsters, Warehousemen and Helpers, 
Local 377 ("Employee Organization") filed a Request For Recognition with the State 
Employment Relations Board ("Board") seeking to represent certain employees of the 
Poland Township, Mahoning County ("Employer"). On March 23, 2001, the Employer filed 
objections to the Request For Recognition. On September 6, 2001, the Board directed this 
matter to hearing to determine an appropriate unit and for all other relevant issues. 

On December 13, 2001, a Recommended Determination was issued; the 
administrative law judge recommended that the Board find that the Police Secretary 
position was not a "confidential employee" under Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.01(K) or a 
"management level employee" under Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.01 (L), that an individual 
serving as both the Poland Township Police Department Secretary and the Poland 
Township Clerk is not a "person holding elective office" under Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117 .01 (C)(1) because the elective office position that would preclude bargaining-unit 
membership is not a position within the bargaining unit or one that the Employee 
Organization was seeking to include within the unit; that "the unit appropriate for purposes 
of collective bargaining" is the Employee Organization's petitioned-for unit; and that the 
Board direct an election in the appropriate unit. On December 21, 2001, the Employer filed 
exceptions to the Recommended Determination. On December 31, 2001, the Employee 
Organization filed its response to the Employer's exceptions. 



Direction to Election 
Case No. 2001-REP-03-0058 
January 24, 2002 
Page 2 of 2 

After reviewing the Recommended Determination and the record in this matter, the 
Board adopts the Findings of Fact, Analysis and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the 
Recommended Determination, incorporated by reference, and directs an election in the 
appropriate bargaining unit at a time and place established by the Representation Section 
Administrator in consultation with the parties. 

The bargaining unit is described as follows: 

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time zoning and 
clerical employees, including zoning inspectors, assistant 
zoning inspectors, and secretaries. 

EXCLUDED: All other township employees. 

As required by Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5·07(A), no later than 
February 4, 2002, the Employer shall serve on the Employee Organization and shall file 
with the Board a numbered, alphabetized election eligibility list containing the names and 
home addresses of all employees eligible to vote as of the pay period ending immediately 
prior to January 24, 2002. 

It is so directed. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party on this 

.2Sm day of 'JI WIAA' • 2002. 

ANDRA A.M. IVERSEN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 

direct\01 ·24·02.05.wpd 
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On March 8, 2001, the Chauffeurs, Teamsters, Warehousemen and Helpers, 
Local 377 ("Union" or "Employee Organization") filed a Request for Recognition seeking 
to represent certain employees of Poland Township, Mahoning County ("Township" or 
"Employer''). The Union seeks to represent a bargaining unit described as "all full-time and 
regular part-time zoning and clerical employees, including zoning inspectors, assistant 
zoning inspectors, and secretaries." 

On March 23, 2001, the Employer filed an objection to the Request for Recognition, 
arguing that the proposed bargaining unit contains a position that is both a "confidential 
employee" and a "management level employee" and should be excluded pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code§§ 4117.01 (K) and (L). 1 The Employer also argued that the position should 
be excluded pursuant to § 4117.01 (C)(1) because it excludes persons holding elective 
office from the definition of a public employee. 

On September 6, 2001, after a preliminary investigation, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") directed this matter to hearing to determine an 
appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant issues. A hearing was conducted on 
October 2, 2001. Both parties filed post-hearing briefs on November 14, 2001. 

II. ISSUES 

A. Whether an individual who serves as Police Secretary for Poland 
Township, Mahoning County, is a "confidential employee" within the 
meaning of§ 4117.01 (K). 

1All references are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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B. Whether an individual who serves as Police Secretary for Poland 
Township, Mahoning County, is a "management level employee" 
within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (l). 

C. Whether an individual who serves as both the Police Secretary for 
Poland Township, Mahoning County, and the duly-elected Poland 
Township Clerk should be excluded from the bargaining unit pursuant 
to§ 4117.01(C)(1). 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. Poland Township, Mahoning County, is a "public employer" within the meaning of 
§ 4117.01 (B). (S.; T. 6) 

2. The Chauffeurs, Teamsters, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local 377 is an 
"employee organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). (S.; T. 6) 

3. Ms. Catherine Stacy is the duly elected Poland Township Clerk pursuant to §§ 507 
et. seq. (S.) 

4. Ms. Stacy is presently employed by the Township as the full-time Police Secretary. 
Ms. Stacy has held this position since 1997. Prior to this position, she was a clerical 
employee for all Township departments. {T. 57-58, 82) 

5. Ms. Stacy became the Township Clerk on April 1, 1992, having previously served 
as Township Secretary since July 30, 1990. (T. 75, 79) 

6. The Township comprises approximately 15,000 residents and has an annual budget 
of approximately $2 million. (T. 31) 

7. The Township has a Road Department consisting of seven employees who are 
covered by a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA"); a Police Department 
consisting of the Chief, three sergeants, and seven or eight patrol officers covered 
by two CBAs; and a Zoning Inspector, an Assistant Zoning Inspector who serves as 

2 All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T .,"followed 
by the page number. All references to the Union's exhibits in the record are indicated 
parenthetically by "U. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to the Employer's 
exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Emp. Exh." Followed by the exhibit letter. 
All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the 
stipulation number. References to the transcript and/or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are 
intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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a secretary, the Police Department Secretary, the Township Secretary who serves 
as a receptionist, and a part-time Recycling Coordinator. (T. 18, 31-32) 

8. Ms. Stacy's position is the only portion of the Union's proposed bargaining unit that 
the Employer contests. (S.) 

9. In her position as Township Clerk, Ms. Stacy is the chief fiscal officer of the 
Township. She keeps the books and all financial records of the Township. (T. 19-
20, 35) 

10. In her position as Township Clerk. Ms. Stacy has provided input to the Township 
Trustees for their pre-negotiation strategy sessions on cost'benefit analysis so they 
are aware of what they can or cannot afford at negotiations. This input has not 
occurred since she became Police Secretary because negotiations have not 
occurred since she became Police Secretary. She is not included in the Township 
Trustees' meetings when the topics being discussed do not pertain to information 
she can provide as a result of her position as Township Clerk. (T. 19, 42-43, 59, 82-
83) 

11. In her position as Township Clerk, she issues purchase orders and prepares payroll 
checks and checks for paying operating expenses. Two other employees issue 
purchase orders in her absence. (T. 24-25, 92) 

12. The Township does not employ a Human Resources director or have a separate 
Human Resources department. Any records that are generally maintained in a 
Human Resources department, i.e., personnel records, insurance benefit 
information, medical claim information, etc., are maintained by the Township Clerk. 
The Township Secretary also has access to this information. Any files containing 
employee evaluations and disciplinary material are in each department supervisor's 
office. (T. 23, 89) 

13. In her role as Township Clerk, Ms. Stacy retyped a record-retention policy from a 
seminar. The policy was later adopted by the Township. Ms. Stacy solicited 
proposals from various banks and then made a recommendation to the Township 
Trustees as to which bank should serve as a depository institution. (T. 90-91) 

14. In her position as Police Secretary, Ms. Stacy has access to police payroll files. The 
main personnel files, health insurance and benefits, and medical records are kept 
in the Chief's office. (T. 61-62, 88) 

15. Pursuant to an order from the Chief of Police, Ms. Stacy segregates her Police 
Secretary duties from her Township Clerk duties by both the location of and the time 
during which she performs these duties. (T. 73, 81-82) 
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16. Ms. Stacy works full-time as Police Secretary on Monday from 7:00 a.m. -
3:00 p.m., and on Tuesday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. She 
conducts her part-time Township Clerk duties after her Police Secretary hours in a 
separate office upstairs. (T. 84, 109) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.01 (C)(6) excludes confidential employees from the definition of public 
employees. Section 4117.01 (K) defines a "confidential employee" as follows: 

"Confidential employee' means any employee who works in the personnel 
offices of a public employer and deals with information to be used by the 
public employer in collective bargaining; or any employee who works in a 
close continuing relationship with public officers or representatives directly 
participating in collective bargaining on behalf of the employer. 

The concept of excluding confidential employees from a bargaining unit for 
purposes of collective bargaining exists in the private sector, but without the benefit of 
express statutory definition. NLRB v. Bell Aerospace Co., 416 U.S. 267, L.R.R.M. 2945 
(1974). The general intent behind this exclusion is to prevent employees with access to 
the employer's confidential labor relations information from passing it to the union to which 
they belong. Westinghouse Elec. Corp. v. NLRB, 398 F. 2d 669, 68 L.R.R.M. 2849 (61

" Cir. 
1968). The National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB") has adopted a narrow definition of 
confidential employee "because most employees have an arguably confidential relationship 
with management, and because an expansive application of the exclusionary rule would 
deprive many employees of the right to bargain collectively." Union Oil of California v. 
NLRB, 607 F. 2d 852, 853 (9'" Cir. 1979). See also Dun and Bradstreet, Inc. 240 NLRB 
162, 13, 100 L.R.R.M. 1297 (1979). 

Similarly, the Board has strictly interpreted § 4117.01 (D), stating that, given the 
statutory mandate of liberal construction, the exclusions set forth in § 4117.01 must be 
narrowly construed to facilitate employees' rights to organize and bargain collectively. !n 
re University of Cincinnati, SERB 86-023 (6-5-86). Employees who work in a close, 
continuing relationship with individuals involved in collective bargaining on behalf of the 
employer or who deal with information to be used in collective bargaining are properly 
excluded to prevent them from being a direct conduit of this information to the union. !Q,, 
These exclusions, however, must occur sparingly given the intent of the Act to give more 
persons, rather than fewer, opportunity for representation in the bargaining unit. !Q,, 

The Police Secretary does not work in a close, continuing relationship with 
individuals involved in collective bargaining. The Police Secretary does not deal with 
information to be used in collective bargaining. Since the record is devoid of any evidence 
to show that the Police Secretary works with individuals involved in collective bargaining 
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or deals with information to be used in collective bargaining, the Police Secretary position 
does not meet any of the requirements to be a "confidential employee" under§ 4117.01 (K). 

Section 4117.01 (C)(7) excludes management level employees from the definition 
of public employees. Section 4117.01(L) defines a "management level employee" in 
relevant part as follows: 

"Management level employee" means an individual who formulates policy on 
behalf of the public employer, who responsibly directs the implementation of 
policy, or who may reasonably be required on behalf of the public employer 
to assist in the preparation for the conduct of collective negotiations, 
administer collectively negotiated agreements, or have a major role in 
personnel administration. 

The Police Secretary does not formulate policy, responsibly direct the 
implementation of policy, assist the Township in preparing to conduct collective bargaining 
negotiations, administer collectively negotiated agreements, or play a major role in 
personnel administration. Thus, the Police Secretary position does not meet any of the 
requirements to be a "management level employee" under§ 4117.01 (L). 

Section 4117.01(C)(1) excludes persons holding elective office from the definition 
of a public employee. In this case Ms. Stacy's elected position as Township Clerk is not 
the position that SERB will be including in or excluding from the bargaining unit. The 
representation in question pertains only to the position she holds in the unit petitioned-for 
by the Union. 

The Employer rests its entire case on the mistaken conclusion that SERB can 
exclude a particular person as opposed to a particular position from the bargaining unit. 
Rather than presenting evidence to show that the position in question (Police Secretary) 
was confidential or management level, the Employer attempted to show that another 
position (Township Clerk) also held by Catherine Stacy was both management level and 
confidential. Whether the latter position is management level or confidential is totally 
irrelevant to the issue before SERB, which is whether the position of Police Secretary (also 
held by Catherine Stacy) is properly within the bargaining unit or whether it should be 
excluded because it is management level or confidential. The Union does not seek to 
represent Ms. Stacy in her capacity as Township Clerk. 

The elected official exclusion cited by the Employer is equally misplaced. The 
§ 4117.01 (C)(1) exclusion is intended to preclude elected officials from organizing as 
elected officials. No rational reading of the statute can extend this exclusion to positions 
outside the bargaining unit in question. The Employer does not provide any legal or logical 
precedent for its argument. 
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The Employer's apparent fear is that information Ms. Stacy would have access to 
as Township Clerk would be information that it would be inappropriate for her to have as 
Police Secretary and as a member of the bargaining unit. The statutory exclusions do not 
address the issue of a bargaining-unit employee having access to particular types of 
information in conjunction with a totally separate position. The statutory exclusions are 
intended to address the issue of an employee within the bargaining unit having 
management level or confidential duties as part of that bargaining-unit position's job 
responsibilities. Ms. Stacy keeps her duties as Township Clerk separate from her duties 
as Police Secretary. She performs these duties at different times and in different locations. 
No allegation has been made that any duties performed by her as Police Secretary are 
confidential or management level in nature. Therefore, the Employer's argument is without 
merit and has no bearing on whether the position of Police Secretary is included in the 
bargaining unit. 

The burden of proof to establish an employee's exclusion from a bargaining unit is 
placed upon the party seeking the exclusion. In re Franklin Local School District Bd of Ed, 
SERB 84-008 (11-8-84). In this case, the Township has not proven by a preponderance 
of the evidence that Catherine Stacy meets the criteria for either a "confidential employee" 
or a "management level employee." In addition, the evidence does not support excluding 
her Police Secretary position from the bargaining unit as an elected official. Thus, the 
Police Secretary position should remain in the bargaining unit. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Poland Township, Mahoning County is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. Chauffeurs, Teamsters, Warehousemen & Helpers, Local 377 is an "employee 
organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). 

3. The position of Police Secretary is not a "confidential employee" as defined by 
§4117.01(K). 

4. The position of Police Secretary is not a "management level employee" as defined 
by§ 4117.01(L). 

5. An individual serving as both the Poland Township Police Department Secretary 
and the Poland Township Clerk is not a "person holding elective office" within the 
meaning of § 4117.01 because the elective office position that would preclude 
bargaining-unit membership is not a position within the bargaining unit or one which 
the Union seeks to include in the bargaining unit. 
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6. "The unit appropriate for purposes of collective bargaining" is the Union's petitioned
for unit all full-time and regular part-time zoning and clerical employees, including 
zoning inspectors, assistant zoning inspectors, and secretaries. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, it is recommended that: 

1. The Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The Board direct an election in the bargaining unit consisting of all full-time and 
regular part-time zoning and clerical employees, including zoning inspectors, 
assistant zoning inspectors, and secretaries. 
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DIRECTIVE DISMISSING PETITION FOR AMENDMENT OF CERTIFICATION 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
February 28, 2002. 

On November 3, 2000, the State of Ohio ("Employer'') filed a Petition tor 
Amendment of Certification seeking to exclude an Office Assistant 2 position in the Office 
of the Director of the Department Administrative Services from the bargaining unit 
represented by the Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO 
("Employee Organization"). On July 19, 2001, the State Employment Relations Board 
("Board") directed this matter to hearing to determine whether the amendment is 
appropriate and tor all other relevant issues. 

On September 26, 2001, a hearing was held. After the parties filed post-hearing 
briefs, the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Determination was issued on 
November 28, 2001. On December 10, 2001, the Employer filed exceptions to the 
Recommended Determination and a motion for oral arguments. On December 20, 2001, 
the Employee Organization filed a response to the exceptions and a memorandum in 
opposition to the motion. On January 24, 2002, the Board granted the motion for oral 
arguments. The parties presented their oral arguments to the Board on February 7, 2002. 

After reviewing the record, the parties' exceptions, response to exceptions, all other 
filings in this case, and the parties' oral arguments, the Board amends Finding of Fact 
No. 14 to read: "On occasion, Ms. Frye copies documents that are not available for public 
viewing."; adopts the Findings of Fact, as amended, and Conclusions of Law in the 
Recommended Determination; finds that the Office Assistant 2 employed in the Office of 
the Director of the Department of Administrative Services is not a "confidential employee" 
pursuant to Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.01 (C)(6) and (K), is not an employee who "acts 



Directive Dismissing Petition for Amendment of Certification 
Case No. 2000-REP-11-0241 
February 28, 2002 
Page 2 of 2 

in a fiduciary capacity" pursuant to Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.01 (C){9), and is a "public 
employee" as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code § 4117.01 (C); dismisses the 
Petition for Amendment of Certification; and issues the attached Opinion, incorporated by 
reference. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 119.12, by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the 
Franklin County Court of Common Pleas within fifteen days after the mailing of the State 
Employment Relations Board's directive. 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party's representative 

by regular U.S. Mail this J 8m day of ~'i'.'.u.1\-RY , 2002. 
' 

X, EXECUTIVE SECRETA Y 

dlroct\02-28-02.09 
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OPINION 

POHLER, Chairman: 

This representation case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("Board"} upon the filing of exceptions and response to exceptions to the Administrative 

Law Judge's Recommended Determination issued on November 28, 2001, and upon the 

oral arguments presented to the Board by the parties on February 7, 2002. For the 

reasons below, we find that the Office Assistant 2 employed in the Office of the Director 

of the Department of Administrative Services is not a "confidential employee" pursuant to 

. Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") §§ 4117.01 (C)(6) and (K), is not an employee who "acts in 

a fiduciary capacity" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(9), and is a "public employee" as that 

term is defined in O.R.C. § 4117.01(C). As a result, the Petition for Amendment of 

Certification filed by the State of Ohio ("State") must be dismissed. 

I. SUMMARY OF FACTS 

The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO 

("OCSEA") is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of State employees, 



OPINION (FEBRUARY 19, 2002 DRAFT) 
CASE NO. 2000-REP-11-0241 
Page 2 of 8 

including Office Assistant 2s. The State and OCSEA are parties to a collective bargaining 

agreement effective March 1, 2000 through February 28, 2003. 

Ms. Amanda Frye is employed by the State of Ohio, Department of Administrative 

Services ("DAS") as an Office Assistant 2. Ms. Frye works in the suite of offices of Scott 

Johnson, the Director of DAS ("Director''). She has worked in her current position since 

May 2000. The staff in the Director's Office consists of a legal counsel, two Assistant 

Directors (Carol Drake and Greg Jackson), two Administrative Assistant 4s (Julie Trackler 

and Katrina Flory), one Executive Secretary (Rose Steward), one administrative staff 

person, a college intern, and the Office Assistant 2 position held by Ms. Frye. On the table 

of organization, Ms. Frye's position is the lowest full-time permanent position in the 

Director's Office. Ms. Frye reports directly to Ms. Trackler. Ms. Frye provides clerical 

support to the Director and to Assistant Directors Drake and Jackson. The positions held 

by Ms. Trackler, Ms. Steward, and Ms. Flory are not bargaining-unit positions. 

Ms. Frye performs general clerical tasks in the Director's office. She answers 

phones, sorts and distributes incoming mail, maintains a log-in book for contracts, land 

leases, and controlling board requests, helps put together and distribute meeting packets, 

makes and distributes copies, checks the fax machine, delivers fax copies, and orders 

supplies. If an envelope is designated "personal" or "confidential," Ms. Frye gives it directly 

to the addressee unless she is given permission to open it. Ms. Frye's involvement in letter 

writing is limited to occasional proofreading. Ms. Frye does not have access to the 

Director's e-mail, nor can she sign for him except for packages or mailings. Ms. Frye 

attends weekly team meetings, which include all staff members and interns in the Director's 

Office. Ms. Frye does not attend the monthly senior team meetings at which the Director 

may solicit proposals from his senior staff concerning collective bargaining. On occasion, 

Ms. Frye copies documents that are not available for public viewing. Ms. Frye takes 

incoming calls, ascertains the caller's identity, and the nature of the call. She then takes 

a message or directs the call to the appropriate person. 
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The Office of Collective Bargaining ("OCB") is in the Division of Human Resources 

of DAS. Assistant Director Charles Wheeler oversees the Human Resources Division. 

DAS completed a predicate study to determine if minority female businesses 

received disparate treatment. This study was deemed to be confidential until it was 

delivered to and released by the Ohio General Assembly. Ms. Frye's role with regard to 

the predicate study was to make copies, throw away duplicate copies, and make airplane 

and hotel reservations for persons traveling to Georgia in connection with the study. 

11. DISCUSSION 

The State contends that the Office Assistant 2 position in the Director's Office is 

a "confidential employee" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (K) and is a "fiduciary employee" 

as described by 0.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(9). The burden of proof to establish an employee's 

exclusion from a bargaining unit is placed upon the party seeking the exclusion. In re 

Poland Twp, Mahoning Cty, SERB 2002-001 (1-25-2002); In re Franklin Local School Dist 

Bd of Ed, SERB 84-008 (11-8-84) rev'd on other grounds, Franklin Co. Ct. C.P. (4-30-87). 

The exclusions set forth in O.R.C. Chapter 4117 should be narrowly construed to facilitate 

employees' rights to organize and bargain collectively. See 0.R.C. §§ 4117.03 and 

. 4117.22; Poland Twp, Mahoning Cty, supra; In re University of Cincinnati, SERB 86-023 

(6-5-86) ("Cincinnati'). 

A.· The Office Assistant 2 position Is not a "confidential employee" 

O.R.C. § 4117 .01 (C)(6) excludes confidential employees from the definition of public 

employees. O.R.C. § 4117.01 (K) defines a "confidential employee" as follows: 

"Confidential employee" means any employee who works in the 
personnel offices of a public employer and deals with information to be used 
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by the public employer in collective bargaining; or any employee who works 
in a close continuing relationship with public officers or representatives 
directly participating in collective bargaining on behalf of the employer. 

The statutory definition of "confidential employee" in 0. R.C. § 4117 .01 (K) has two 

alternative aspects. The first alternative excludes "any employee who works in the 

personnel offices of a public employer and deals with information to be used by the public 

employer in collective bargaining." The second alternative refers to an employee who 

works in a "close, continuing relationship with public officers or representatives directly 

participating in collective bargaining on behalf of the employer." An employee who meets 

either of these tests is a "confidential employee." 

The concept of excluding confidential employees from a bargaining unit for 

purposes of collective bargaining exists in the private sector, but without the benefit of 

express statutory definition. NLRB v. Bell Aerospace Co., 416 U.S. 267, L.R.R.M. 2945 

(1974). The general intent behind this exclusion is to prevent employees with access to 

the employer's confidential labor relations information from passing it onto the union to 

which they belong. Westinghouse Elec. Corp. v. NLRB, 398 F. 2d 669, 68 L.R.R.M. 2849 

(6'h Cir. 1968). Following the rationale in the federal cases, if an employee, by virtue of 

working in a personnel office and dealing with information to be used by the employer in 

. collective bargaining or by virtue of the employee's relationship with a public officer or 

representative who is directly participating in collective bargaining on the employer's behalf, 

could act as a conduit of collective bargaining information to an employee organization, 

then that employee is a "confidential employee" as defined by O.R.C. §§ 4117.01 (C)(6) 

and (K). 

The first alternative under O.R.C. § 4117.01(K) excludes employees who work in 

the employer's personnel offices and deal with information to be used by the public 

employer in collective bargaining. DAS' Human Resources Division serves as the 
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personnel office for the State. Unlike the employer in Cincinnati, supra, 1 DAS, with its 

hundreds of employees and multiple functions, did not seek a blanket exclusion based on 

that criterion. As we found in Cincinnati, supra, such a blanket exclusion would be 

inappropriate. DAS also has its Office of Employee Services that serves as the personnel 

office for its own employees. Although Ms. Frye does not work directly in the Human 

Resources Division or the Office of Employee Services, due to DAS' unique responsibilities 

whereby both operations report to the Director, the Office Assistant 2 position works in the 

"personnel office of a public employer." 

The State rested much of its case on sensitive documents such as briefing 

statements to the Governor's office, memoranda concerning negotiation strategies, reports, 

or studies before they are released to the general public to demonstrate the type of 

document that might pass through the office of the Director and that Ms. Frye may handle. 

But the key documents containing "information to be used by the public employer in 

collective bargaining," such as the Director's weekly reports to the Governor that included 

collective bargaining negotiation strategy and the "Recap of Issues Likely to be Considered 

Most Important by OCSEA and the State" sent from OCB to the Director in 1999, were 

transmitted before Ms. Frye assumed her current position or even before the position was 

created by the State. Of the documents that were received after Ms. Frye became an 
-

. Office Assistant 2, the record failed to establish that she composed, typed, studied, copied, 

or gave input on any document related to collective bargaining. Consequently, at this point 

'In that case, the employer requested an exclusion of 44 persons from the bargaining unit 
as confidential because these employees had access to grievances, disciplinary actions, 
promotions, tenure decisions, and other matters relating to the administration of the collective 
bargaining agreement. The Board interpreted the language in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (J) as applying to 
those persons directly participating in collective bargaining negotiations. Id. at 290. As a result, 
the Board excluded only four employees as confidential: the secretary to the Director of Personnel, 
two secretaries in Employee/Labor Relations, Personnel, and the secretary to the Director of 
Compensation and Acting Director of Benefits, Personnel. 
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in lime, the Office Assistant 2 position's involvement with documents involving collective 

bargaining information is speculative. 

The second alternative prong of 0. R.C. § 4117.01 (K) refers to employees working 

in a close, continuing relationship with public officers or representatives who are directly 

participating in collective bargaining on the employer's behalf. Under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.1 O(D)(1 ), OCB is charged with assisting the Director in "formulating management's 

philosophy for public collective bargaining as well as planning bargaining strategies." The 

Director has regular contact with OCB. Although the Director may not be personally 

present at the bargaining table, the Director oversees all bargaining activity and, therefore, 

directly participates in collective bargaining on behalf of the State. 

Ms. Frye's working relationship with the Director cannot be described as a "close 

continuing relationship." Ms. Frye reports directly to Ms. Trackler, an Administrative 

Assistant 4. Ms. Frye performs general clerical tasks in the Director's office. Her primary 

responsibilities are to answer phones, to sort and distribute incoming mail, and to maintain 

a log-in book for contracts, land leases, and controlling board requests. If an envelope is 

designated "personal" or "confidential," Ms. Frye gives it directly to the addressee unless 

she is given permission to open it. Ms. Frye's involvement in letter writing is limited to 

. occasional proofreading. Ms. Frye does not have access to the Director's e-mail, nor can 

she sign for him except for packages or mailings. Ms. Frye attends weekly team meetings 

that include all staff members in the Director's Office, including interns. Ms. Frye does not 

attend the monthly senior team meetings at which the Director may solicit proposals from 

the senior staff concerning collective bargaining. On occasion, Ms. Frye copies documents 

that are not available for public viewing. Ms. Frye takes incoming calls, ascertains the 

caller's identity, and the nature of the call; she then takes a message or directs the call to 

the appropriate person. While the Office Assistant 2's duties may be integral to the office 

operations, this position cannot be described as being in a "close continuing relationship" 
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with the DAS Director based upon the record before us. The record does not establish that 

the Office Assistant 2 position could act as a conduit of confidential collective bargaining 

information to an employee organization. Therefore, the Office Assistant 2 position is not 

a "confidential employee" under O.R.C. §§ 4117.01(C)(6) and (K). 

B. The Office Assistant 2 position is not a flduciarv employee 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 does not define "act in a fiduciary capacity." In re SERB v. 

Fulton County Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96). The phrase "act in a fiduciary capacity'' 

indicates that the mere designation of an employee as a fiduciary is insufficient to warrant 

exclusion from the definition of "public employee"; as with cases involving supervisors, 

management level employees, and confidential employees, it must be proved that the 

employee's actual job duties meet the test for finding an employee to be a fiduciary. Id. 

at 3-76- 3-77. When determining whether an individual is a fiduciary employee, the focus 

should be on whether the assigned job duties require a high degree of trust, confidence, 

reliance, integrity, and fidelity, above and beyond whatever technical competence the 

position may require. Id. A high degree of discretion in carrying out assigned duties 

indicates a trust relationship. 

Based on a review of the record before us, Ms. Frye's position as an Office 

Assistant 2 does not rise to the level of a fiduciary employee and, therefore, should not be 

excluded from the definition of 'public employee" in 0.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). She performs 

ba'sic clerical duties for her employer. Sorting and distributing mail, answering the phone, 

and faxing, while vital in any office operation, do not "require as essential qualifications, 

over and above technical competency requirements, a higher degree of trust, confidence, 

reliance, integrity, and fidelity." State ex rel. Charlton v. Corrigan (1988), 36 Ohio St.3d 68, 

71. The duties are routine. Even with DAS' predicate study, Ms. Frye's role was to make 

copies, throw away duplicate copies, and make airplane and hotel reservations for persons 
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traveling to Georgia in connection with the study. The Office Assistant 2 has not been 

given a great degree of discretion in the performance of these duties, not because of any 

lack of ability on her part, but simply because the level of the duties assigned to her does 

not require her to exercise discretion. The record does not contain any facts to show that 

the relationship of an Office Assistant 2 with the Director is "more than the ordinary 

relationship of employer and employee." Id. The State has not proven by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Ms. Frye, as an Office Assistant 2, meets the criteria 

for a fiduciary employee. Thus, this position should not be excluded from the bargaining 

unit. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Office Assistant 2 position in the Office of 

the Director of the Department of Administrative Services is not a "confidential employee" 

pursuant to O.R.C. §§ 4117.01 (C)(6) and (K), is not an employee who "acts in a fiduciary 

capacity" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(9), and is a "public employee" as that term is 

defined in 0. R.C. § 4117.01 (C). As a result, the Petition for Amendment of Certification 

filed by the State of Ohio is hereby dismissed. 

Gillmor~ Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Southeast Local School District Board of Education, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2001·ULP-05-0341 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Pohler, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: May 9, 2002. 

On May 31, 2001, the Southeast Local School District Teachers Association, OENNEA 
("Union") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Southeast Local School District Board 
of Education ("Districf'), alleging that the District violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). On October 4, 2001, the State Employment Relations Board 
("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the District violated Ohio Revised 
Code Sections 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally assigning the duties of the Athletic Director 
position to a nonbargaining-unit position. 

On November 7, 2001, a complaint was issued. A hearing was held on January 9, 2002, 
wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post
hearing briefs. On March 6, 2002, the Proposed Order was issued. On March 26, 2002, the 
Respondent filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On April 16, 2001, the Complainant and the 
Union filed their responses to the Respondent's exceptions. 

After reviewing the record and all filings, the Board adopts the Findings of Fact, Analysis 
and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the Proposed Order, incorporated by reference, and 
finds thatthe Respondent has violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). The 
Southeast Local School District Board of Education is hereby ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

1. Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally 
reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director supplemental contract position 
to an exempt position, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ); and 
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2. Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by unilaterally reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director 
supplemental contract position to an exempt position, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Reinstate Richard Young to the supplemental contract position of Athletic 
Director for the 2001-2002 school year and pay as back pay all monies to 
which Mr. Young would have been entitled had his contract not been 
non renewed; 

2. Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees represented by the Southeast Local School 
District Teachers Association, OENNEA work, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Southeast Local School District Board of Education shall cease and desist 
from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action 
set forth in paragraph (B); and 

3. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty calendar 
days from the date of the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been 
taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

POHLER, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, concur. 

SUE POHLER, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117 .13(D) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations Board at 65 
East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court of common pleas 
in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of the State 
Employment Relations Board's order. 



Order 
Case No. 2001-ULP-05-0341 
May9, 2002 
Page 3 of 3 

I certify that this document was filed and a copy served upon each party by certified mail, 

return receipt requested, on this /lJm day of ~/11; __ Yi_,,Y _____ , 2002. 

XECUTIVE SECRET AR 

dlrectives\05-09-02.04 



N 0 TICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing In which ell parties had en opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated tho law and has ordered us to post this 
Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the Board and to abide by the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

1. Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally 
reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director supplemental contract position 
to an exempt position, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(1); and 

2. Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by unilaterally reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director 
supplemental contract position to an exempt position, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(S). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Reinstate Richard Young to the supplemental contract position of Athletic 
Director for the 2001 ~2002 school year and pay as back pay all monies to 
which Mr. Young would have been entitled had his contract not been 
non renewed; 

2. Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining·unit employees represented by the Southeast Local School 
District Teachers Association, OEAfNEA work, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Southeast Local School District Board of Education shall cease and desist 
from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action 
set forth in paragraph (B); and 

3. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing_ within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps that 
have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Southeast Local School District Board of Education 
Case Number 2001-ULP-05-0341 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be altered, 
defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or compliance with its 
provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

SOUTHEAST LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT 
BOARD OF EDUCATION, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 01-ULP-05-0341 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On May 31, 2001, the Southeast Local School District Teachers Association, 
OEA/NEA (the "Union") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Southeast Local 
School District Board of Education (the "District"), alleging that the District violated 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5).' On October 4, 2001, the State Employment Relations Board 
("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the District violated 
§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally assigning the duties of the Athletic Director 
position to a nonbargaining-unit position. 

On November 7, 2001, a complaint was issued. On November 13, 2001, the Union 
filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). A 
hearing was held on January 9, 2002, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was 
presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the District violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally 
assigning the duties of the Athletic Director position to a nonbargaining-unit 
position? 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Southeast Local School District Board of Education is a "public employer" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(B). (S. 1) 

2. The Southeast Local School District Teachers Association, OEA/NEA is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01 (D) and is the deemed-certified 
exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the District's certificated personnel. 
(S. 2) 

3. The District and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective 
from June 29, 2000 to June 28, 2003 (the "CBA"), containing a grievance procedure 
that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (S. 5; Jt. Exh. 3) 

4. The bargaining unit is identified in the CBA as follows: 

(S. 2) 

[A)ll of the following full-time and part-time certificated 
personnel: classroom teachers, guidance personnel, remedial 
teacher(s), full-time L.D. tutors, school nurse(s), librarian(s) 
employed by the Southeast Local Board of Education except 
casual, day-to-day certificated personnel working on an hourly 
or per diem basis and excluding all administrative and 
supervisory personnel as defined in Chapter 4117 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. 

5. Article 26 of the CBA contains the supplemental pay schedule for each 
supplemental position, including Athletic Director, which is the highest-paying 
supplemental position. (JI. Exh. 3) 

6. Article 9.B.1 of the CBA provides that a "Supplemental Contract shall be issued for 
any Board approved [sic] extra duty in addition to regular teaching duties." 
Article 10.B of the CBA provides as follows: 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by 
"S." References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.,'' 
followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the transcript and exhibits in the Findings of Fact 
are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the 
sole support in the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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Non-renewal of [a supplemental) contract shall be preceded by 
written notification to the teacher from the Superintendent 
stating the intent to recommend non-renewal of a contract and 
the reason(s) for such recommendation. Teachers being so 
notified for either termination of contract or non-renewal of 
contract shall be given the opportunity to address the Board, 
with counsel, in Executive Session, prior to any official action 
by the Board. 

(Jt. Exh. 3, at pp. 14-15) 

7. Richard Young, a certificated teacher employed by the District, held the position of 
Athletic Director from 1977 through 1984, and from 1988 through 2001. 
Mr. Young's job duties as athletic director, set forth in Joint Exhibits 1 and 2, 
included recommending the hiring of coaches and assistant coaches and evaluating 
their work. From 1984 through 1988, Mr. Young worked for the District as an 
Assistant Principal. (T. 99, 101, 104-109) 

8. The Superintendent of the District, Linda Fuline, has held her position since the 
1997-1998 school year. Ms. Fuline was involved in the negotiations for the CBA, 
which were completed in the fall of 2000. For as long as Ms. Fuline has been 
Superintendent, and for as many years back as she has been able to research, the 
practice has been to give first priority to bargaining-unit member applicants when 
awarding supplemental contracts. If a qualified bargaining-unit applicant is not 
available, nonbargaining-unit applicants are considered. (T. 10, 29, 48-49, 51, 68-
69) 

9. On or about February 15, 2001, the Superintendent of the District, Linda Fuline, 
informed Mr. Young, the 2000-2001 Athletic Director, that she did not intend to 
recommend the District renew his contract for the supplemental position of Athletic 
Director for the 2001-2002 school year. (S. 7; Jt. Exh. 4) 

10. On February 21, 2001, Carolyn Wilkerson, a Labor Relations Consultant 
representing the Union, sent a letter to Ms. Fuline. Ms. Wilkerson asked Ms. Fuline 
to confirm rumors that the District was going to hire an administrator to perform the 
duties of the Athletic Director position. Ms. Wilkerson wrote that the District "must 
cease and desist from making any change in the contract. Unilateral changes in the 
contract cannot be made which have an effect on the working conditions of 
bargaining unit [sic] members• • *. If this rumor were fact, it would have an effect 
on the working conditions of bargaining unit [sic] members, and therefore, it cannot 
be implemented without bargaining any effect." (S. 8; Jt. Exh. 5) 

11. On March 7, 2001, Ms. Wilkerson wrote to Ms. Fuline again, stating that such "a 
unilateral change in the contract• • • cannot be made without bargaining." (S.8; Jt. 
Exh. 6) 
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12. On March 19, 2001, Ms. Wilkerson wrote again, stating that ''this attempt to make· 
this position an administrative position is a change in the working conditions of 
bargaining unit [sic] members and thus is an attempt to make unilateral changes to 
the bargaining unit without negotiations. The [Union] believes [this] to be a 
mandatory subject of bargaining." (S. 8; Jt. Exh. 7) 

13. On or about March 20, 2001, Ms. Fuline sent a letter to Mr. Young, advising himthat 
she intended to recommend that the District nonrenew his supplemental contract 
as Athletic Director for the 2001-2002 school year. Ms. Fuline further explained: 
"The reason for the recommendation is that I am recommending the position of 
Athletic Director not be filled and that the supervision and evaluation of athletic 
supplemental positions be part of the responsibility of an administrative position.• 
(S. 9; Jt. Exh. 8; T. 18) 

14. On April 12, 2001, Ms. Fuline sent a letter to Ms. Wilkerson, stating that the District 
had "decided not to fill the position of Athletic Director. This is a right the District 
has without any duty to bargain with the Union." (S. 1 O; Jt. Exh. 9) 

15. On April 24, 2001, Mr. Young addressed the District at a school board meeting 
about the District's decision to nonrenew his supplemental contract as Athletic 
Director. Also at the April 24, 2001 meeting, the school board voted to nonrenew 
Mr. Young's supplemental contract as Athletic Director for the 2001-2002 school 
year. (S. 11, 12) 

16. On August 1, 2001, the District hired Felix Carmello for the nonbargaining-unit 
position of Director of Student Services/Athletics. Mr. Carmello is performing all of 
the duties that Mr. Young previously performed as Athletic Director. The District is 
considering a possible future plan to reassign the duties Mr. Carmello is performing 
that are not "administrative or supervisory'' in nature to the supplemental contract 
position of Assistant Athletic Director. (T. 20-22, 23) 

17. Had Mr. Young served as Athletic Director during the 2001-2002 school year, he 
would have earned $8000 in supplemental contract pay. (JI. Exh. 3; T. 116-119) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Refusal to Bargain 

Section 4117 .11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 
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(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of 
the Revised Code*'*; ... 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of 
its employees recognized as the exclusive 
representative *** pursuant to Chapter 4117. of the 
Revised Code[.] 

The issue is whether the District engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally assigned the duties of the Athletic Director 
supplemental contract position to a nonbargaining-unit position. Good-faith bargaining is 
determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-
004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, 
is unlaw1ul. In re Mav1ield Citv School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89).3 

When an unfair labor practice charge alleges a unilateral change of an established 
past practice, SERB's analysis must begin with the determination of whether the activity 
changed was, in fact, a "past practice" as that term is used in settled labor law. If the 
activity is determined to be a "past practice," SERB will first look to the existing collective 
bargaining agreement to determine whether the collective bargaining agreement clearly 
addresses that issue. If it does, the collective bargaining agreement's terms will prevail 
over any past practice since the collective bargaining agreement is what the parties 
bargained for and accepted as the rules governing the way the parties intend their working 
relationships to operate. In re Defiance City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-016 
(11-21-97) ("Defiance"). The CBA makes references to supplemental contract pay and 
nonrenewal. The CBA contains a list of supplemental contract positions and states that 
a supplemental contract will be issued for District-approved extra duties in addition to 
regular teaching duties. The CBA does not state that supplemental contract duties are 
bargaining-unit duties; nor does the CBA describe the process for awarding supplemental 
contracts. Where, as here, the collective bargaining agreement is silent on the activity at 
issue, SERB must determine: (a) whether the past practice is "a term or condition of 
employmenf' and (b) if it is a term or condition of employment, whether it is a mandatory 
or permissive subject of bargaining. Id.; In re Olmsted Twp. Cuyahoga County, 
SERB 99-022 (9-7-99) ("Olmsted Twp."). 

'A case alleging a refusal to bargain is properly before SERB for decision on the merits. 
The District's reliance on In re Upper Arlington Bd of Ed, SERB 92-01 O (6-30-92) ("l.hmfil 
Arlington") is misplaced. Upper Arlington stands for the proposition that SERB has discretion lo 
defer such cases to arbitration when it appears that contract interpretation will resolve the 
underlying conflict. In the instant case, SERB exercised its discretion in favor of proceeding with 
a complaint and hearing on the allegation of a statutory violation of Chapter 4117. 



CASE NO. 01-ULP-05-0341 
PAGE 6OF10 

"A past practice is a custom or practice evolved as a normal reaction to a recurring· 
situation; it must be shown to be an accepted course of conduct characteristically repeated 
in response to a given set of underlying circumstances." Defiance, §Yilla at 3-109. An 
employer's past practice refers to an activity that has been satisfactorily established by 
practice or custom. Id.; Dow Jones & Co., 150 L.R.R.M. 1089, 1091(NLRB1995); Exxon 
ShippingCo.,291NLRB489,131 L.R.R.M.1233(1988). "Thenatureofthepastpractice, 
its duration, and the reasonable expectations of the parties may justify its attaining the 
status of a term or condition of employment." Defiance, supra. The record in the present 
case shows that for as long as anyone can remember, and indeed even before the 
enactment of Chapter 4117, the practice of the District has been to offer supplemental 
contract positions first to bargaining-unit members. Moreover, the Athletic Director position 
had been offered to a bargaining-unit member, Mr. Young, annually since 1988. This 
activity falls squarely within the generally accepted definition of a past practice. 

The next determinations to be made are whether the assignment of the duties of the 
Athletic Director position involves the exercise of inherent managerial prerogatives and, if 
so, whether the subject also materially affects wages, hours, or terms and conditions of 
employment. Olmsted Twp., supra. Section 4117.08(C) lists as managerial prerogatives 
the hiring of employees and the determination of the personnel by which governmental 
operations are to be conducted. These prerogatives are involved in the District's decision 
to reassign the duties of the Athletic Director supplemental position to an exempt position. 
Unless otherwise provided, a public employer maintains the authority to determine matters 
of inherent managerial policy as outlined in§ 4117.08(C). The reassignment of these 
duties, however, impacts the terms and conditions of the employment of bargaining-unit 
employees, who formerly were the first priority applicants for the position performing these 
duties. Moreover, wages are affected, as the Athletic Director supplemental position 
carried with it substantial additional pay. The employer is required to bargain with an 
exclusive representative on all matters relating to wages, hours, or terms and other 
conditions of employment under § 4117.08(A). In re City of Broadview Heights, SERB 
99-005 (3-5-99); In re Ottawa County Riverview Nursing Home, SERB 96-006 (5-31-96). 
Thus, if a given subject involves the exercise of inherent managerial discretion and also 
materially affects any of these factors, a balancing test must be applied to determine 
whether the subject is a mandatory or permissive subject of bargaining. SERB v. 
Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 95-010 (1995) ("Youngstown"). See also 
In re City of Akron, SERB 97-012 (7-10-97). 

If a given subject is alleged to affect and is determined to have a material influence 
upon wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment and involves the exercise 
of inherent management discretion, the following factors must be balanced to determine 
whether it is a mandatory or permissive subject of bargaining: 1) the extent to which the 
subject is logically and reasonably related to wages, hours, terms and conditions of 
employment; 2) the extent to which the employer's obligation to negotiate may significantly 
abridge its freedom to exercise those managerial prerogatives set forth in and anticipated 
by§ 4117.0B(C), including an examination of the type of employer involved and whether 
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inherent discretion on the subject matter at issue is necessary to achieve the employer's· 
essential mission and its obligations to the general public; and 3) the extent to which the 
mediatory influence of collective bargaining and, when necessary, any impasse resolution 
mechanisms available to the parties are the appropriate means of resolving conflicts over 
the subject matter. Youngstown, supra at 3-76 to 3-77. 

Examining the first prong, the Athletic Director supplemental contract position 
carries with it additional wages and hours, and the process of filling the position was a term 
or condition of employment of bargaining-unit employees within the District. Examining the 
second prong, the employer is a public school district with the essential mission of 
educating children; no evidence in the record is present to demonstrate that inherent 
discretion in reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director, a position with duties ancillary 
to the employer's essential mission, is necessary to achieve this essential mission. 
Examining the third prong, the mediatory influence of collective bargaining would have 
been the ideal mechanism for the District to achieve its articulated interest in moving the 
supervisory and managerial components of the Athletic Director's duties to an exempt 
position and for the Union to articulate and achieve its interest in retaining a term and 
condition of employment enjoyed by bargaining-unit members. Even more telling in this 
regard is the evidence in the record that the District is now considering returning the 
nonsupervisory and nonmanagement duties of the Athletic Director position to a 
supplemental contract position. Indeed, it is difficult to conceive of a conflict more 
amenable to a negotiated resolution. The pay scale for supplemental contract positions 
is set forth in the CSA; had the District proposed changing the duties of the Athletic 
Director position or eliminating the position and reassigning many of its duties to another 
supplemental position, the District and the Union could have negotiated the preferred 
alternative and the appropriate rate of pay commensurate with the new duties. The three
prong analysis reveals that, on balance, the reassignment of the duties of the Athletic 
Director supplemental contract position is a mandatory subject of collective bargaining. 

Management decisions which are found, on balance, to be mandatory subjects must 
be bargained before implementation, upon notice by the employer and timely request by 
the employee organization, except where emergency situations render prior bargaining 
impossible. In re Toledo Citv School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-005 (9-20-2001) 
("Toledo"); Youngstown, supra. The District argues that the Union waived its right to 
bargain. "[W]aiver of a statutory right to bargain • • • must be established by clear and 
unmistakable action by the waiving party. • • • [l]f an employer offers no reasonable basis 
for giving little or no advance notice and when bargainable subjects are affected by the 
management decision, the intended implementation may be found to be a fait accomplifor 
which a bargaining request would have been futile and, therefore, would not be required." 
Youngstown, supra at 3-81 (emphasis in original). 

The Union took numerous steps to preserve its right to bargain over the 
reassignment of the duties of the Athletic Director position. On February 21, 2001, 
March 7, 2001, and March 19, 2001, the Union's representative, Ms. Wilkerson, advised 
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Ms. Fuline by letter that the change could not be made "without bargaining" or "without·· 
negotiations." On or about March 20, 2001, Ms. Fuline sent a letter to Mr. Young, advising 
him that she intended to recommend that the District nonrenew his supplemental contract 
as Athletic Director for the 2001-2002 school year, and to recommend that ''the position of 
Athletic Director not be filled and that the supervision and evaluation of athletic 
supplemental positions be part of the responsibility of an administrative position." 
Ms. Fuline responded by notifying the Union on April 12, 2001, that the District believed it 
could reassign the duties of the Athletic Director "without any duty to bargain." 

The District argues thatthe statements made by the Union in Ms. Wilkerson's letters 
reveal that the Union, rather than requesting bargaining over any such change, would not 
bargain even if the District had brought the reassignment of the duties to the Union for 
consideration in the form of a proposal. Therefore, the District argues, it had no choice but 
to unilaterally implement the reassignment. This conclusion on the part of the District is 
erroneous. The District's options were to request the Union to engage in midterm 
bargaining and then work with the Union toward a negotiated change, or to wait until 
negotiations for a successor CBA to propose changes. SERB's recent Toledo decision 
states the controlling legal principle, as follows: 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining 
agreement without the negotiation by and agreement of both 
parties unless immediate action is required due to (1) exigent 
circumstances that were unforeseen atthe time of negotiations 
or (2) legislative action taken by a higher-level legislative body 
after the agreement becomes effective that requires a change 
to conform to the statute. 

In addition, to clarify Youngstown, follow [Jn re] Franklin County 
Sheriff [SERB 90-012 (7-18-90)], and assure consistency in 
future cases involving issues not covered in the provisions of 
a collective bargaining agreement, but which require 
mandatory midterm bargaining, SERB will apply the same two
part test as stated above. 

Toledo, supra at 3-29.4 The Union did not waive its right to bargain. Rather, it asserted 
its position that changes could not be made without bargaining, and the District's response 
was disagreement with this position, followed by unilateral implementation of the 

'This case does not involve exigent circumstances or legislative action. The evidence in 
the record reveals that the duties of the Athletic Director, including those the District now identifies 
as supervisory and administrative, had existed virtually unchanged for years. While the District 
may have identified circumstances that constituted business reasons to make changes in the 
Athletic Director position, these reasons do not constitute exigent circumstances. 
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reassignment. The District's actions were in contravention of its duty to bargain and in
violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 

B. The Remedy 

The District and the Union should be returned to the status quo ante that would 
have existed had no unfair labor practice occurred. Toledo, supra at 3-29. The District 
should be ordered to cease and desist from unilaterally reassigning the duties of the 
Athletic Director supplemental contract position to an exempt position during the term of 
the existing CBA. Further, because the District nonrenewed Mr. Young as part of its 
implementation of this unilateral change, the District should be ordered to reinstate 
Mr. Young to the supplemental contract position of Athletic Director, and to pay to 
Mr. Young as back pay those monies to which he would have been entitled had the 
nonrenewal not occurred. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The Southeast Local School District Board of Education is a "public employer" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Southeast Local School District Teachers Association, OEA/NEA is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

3. The Southeast Local School District Board of Education violated §§ 4117.11(A)(1) 
and (A)(5) by unilaterally reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director position to 
a nonbargaining-unit position. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant§ 4117.12(B), 
requiring the Southeast Local School District Board of Education to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 
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(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of 
their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by 
unilaterally reassigning the duties of the Athletic Director 
supplemental contract position to an exempt position, and from 
otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ); and 

(2) Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by unilaterally reassigning the duties of the Athletic 
Director supplemental contract position to an exempt position, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Reinstate Richard Young to the supplemental contract position of 
Athletic Director for the 2001-2002 school year and pay as back pay 
all monies to which Mr. Young would have been entitled had his 
contract not been nonrenewed; 

(2) Post for six1y days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees represented by the Southeast Local 
School District Teachers Association, OEA/NEA work, the Notice to 
Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations Board 
stating that the Southeast Local School District Board of Education 
shall cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and 
shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

CASE NO. 01-ULP-11-0705 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

On November 29, 2001, the State of Ohio, Department of Administrative Services, 
Office of Collective Bargaining ("OCB") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the 
Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO (the "Union"), 
alleging that the Union violated Ohio Revised Code§ 4117. 11(B)(8).1 On October 4, 2001, 
the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB," "Board," or "Complainant") found 
probable cause to believe that the Union violated§ 4117. 11 (B)(8) by failing to give proper 
notice before engaging in picketing on September 5, 2001, authorized the issuance of a 
complaint, and directed the matter to hearing. 

On April 29, 2002, a complaint was issued. On May 8, 2002, OCB filed a motion to 
intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). A hearing was held 
on June 6, 2002, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. 
Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Union violated§ 4117. 11 (B)(8) when bargaining-unit employees 
participated on non-work time in two gatherings near the Gallipolis 
Developmental Center on September 5, 2001, without giving a ten-day notice 
of intent to picket. 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACr2 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01(B). OCB is 
designated by statute as the State of Ohio's representative in collective bargaining 
matters. (S. 2) 

2. The Union is an "employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01(D), and 
represents a bargaining unit of State of Ohio employees including employees of 
Gallipolis Developmental Center ("GDC"). (S. 1, 5) 

3. The District and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement that 
provides for final and binding arbitration. (S. 3) 

4. The Ohio Department of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities 
("ODMRDD") is an agency of the State of Ohio. ODMRDD's operations include 
GDC, a Gallia County campus residence providing housing and care for 
approximately 300 residents. Michael Dye is the Superintendent of GDC. (S. 4) 

5. Danny Brown, Sharon Brown, William "Monty" Blanton, and Beth Sheets are Union 
members and GDC employees. Mr. Brown serves as President of the local chapter 
of the Union. Mr. Blanton is president of the Union's Mental Health, Mental 
Retardation, and Ohio Veterans' Homes ("MHMROVH") Assembly. (S. 5; T. 23-24) 

6. On September 5, 2001, the four individuals mentioned in paragraph 5, along with 
other individuals, including non-employees and a GDC employee in a bargaining 
unit represented by the Service Employees International Union District 1199, 
gathered at two locations near the GDC campus. One gathering was held at the 
private property of First Baptist Church, 1100 Fourth Avenue, Gallipolis, Ohio. The 
other gathering was held on city park property alongside a public road. (S. 6; 14; 
T. 66, 84, 96, 97; I. Exhs. A to D and B-1 to E-1) 

7. Neither the Union nor District 1199 filed a Notice of Intent to Strike or Picket before 
the September 5, 2001 gatherings. (S. 9) 

8. No GDC employee at the gatherings was on active work status. No work stoppage 
occurred during the gatherings. Access to GDC continued as usual during the time 
period of the gatherings. (S. 7) 

2All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T. ,"followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by 
"S .. " followed by the stipulation number. References to OCB's exhibits in the record are indicated 
parenthetically by "I. Exh .. " followed by the exhibit letter. References to the transcript and exhibits in 
the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended tosuggest that such 
references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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9. The gatherings addressed GDC employees' concerns about the "reassessment" of 
services rendered by GDC to Ohio citizens, as well as potential budget cuts 
proposed by Ohio's Governor or General Assembly. (S. 8) 

10. The reassessment proposed eliminating some GDC departments, including the 
commissary and some allied health services, and reassigning affected employees to 
direct-care positions. (T. 27, 46-50, 76) 

11. At the time of the September 5, 2001 gatherings, the Union was not concerned that 
its members would lose jobs as a result of the reassessment or proposed budget 
cuts. The Union already had been assured that no jobs would be lost. (T. 46-50, 
55-57) 

12. The primary purpose of the September 5, 2001 gatherings was to call the attention 
of the local community and the Ohio General Assembly to the loss of services that 
would be incurred by GDC residents if the proposed 4.1 percent ODMRDD budget 
cut, which amounted to at least $4 million, was passed. The Union selected the 
September 5, 2001 date because of its proximity to legislative committee hearings 
on the proposed cut. (T. 15-19, 39, 47-51, 55-56) 

13. The GDC bargaining unit represented by the Union enjoys a positive relationship 
with the local community. Various local elected officials testified at the budget 
hearings. (T. 33-34) 

14. Ultimately, the conference committee restored $1.5 million of the proposed cut to 
the ODMRDD budget. (T. 18) 

15. During 2001, similar rallies organized by the Union's MHMROVH Assembly took 
place near other ODMRDD developmental centers, including Apple Creek, 
Springview, and Mount Vernon. Notices of Intent to Strike or Picket were not filed. 
OCB did not file any unfair labor practice charges regarding the other rallies. (S. 1 O; 
T. 23, 92, 95) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Complaint alleges that the Union failed to give a ten-day notice as required by 
§ 4117.11 (8)(8), which provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee 
organization, its agents, or representatives, or public 
employees to: 

*** 
(8) Engage in any picketing, striking, or other concerted 
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refusal to work without giving written notice to the public 
employer and to the State Employment Relations Board 
not less than ten days prior to the action. The notice 
shall state the date and time that the action will 
commence and, once the notice is given, the parties 
may extend it by written agreement of both. 

The Union agrees that it did not provide a notice, but asserts that no notice was 
required under the facts of this case. The evidence of record reveals that neither 
Complainant nor OCB has carried the burden of proving a violation of§ 4117.11 (8)(8). 

The case law developed by the Board under§ 4117 .11 (B)(8) reveals that SERB has 
endeavored to interpret and apply this provision consistent with the First Amendment to the 
United States Constitution. In re Ohio Civil Service Employees Assn, Local 11, AFSCME, 
SERB 94-009 (5-26-94) ("In re OCSEA"). In re OCSEA recounts the history of the Board's 
interpretation, explaining that the Board's decision in In re University of Akron, SERB 86-
010 (3-14-86), required that picketing have a nexus to a labor dispute under Chapter 4117 
in order to trigger the notice requirements of§ 4117.11 (8)(8). In In re OCSEA, 1994 SERB 
at 3-62 to 3-63, the Board examined both the purposes of Chapter 4117 and the legitimate 
state interests for requiring a ten-day notice related to Chapter 4117 rights and issues. The 
Board summarized its analysis as follows: 

Picketing by bargaining unit employees may involve any of those 
areas delineated above intended to be regulated by Chapter 4117, including 
but not limited to picketing related to recognition demands, unfair labor 
practices, to bring pressure or publicity to bear on contract negotiations, 
picketing in support of or ancillary to the filing of grievances and, of course, 
picketing related to a strike. Accordingly, ... 'any picketing' which relates to 
those activities intended by the Legislature to be regulated by Chapter 4117 
and falling within SERB's jurisdiction pursuant to Chapter 4117 constitutes 
picketing subject to the notice requirements of § 4117.11 (B)(8). Hence, 
purely informational picketing related to First Amendment rights not intended 
to be regulated by Chapter 4117, such as in support of political candidates or 
general social issues not related to a labor relations dispute involving a public 
employer or public employee rights under Chapter 4117, is not subject to the 
notice requirements of§ 4117.11 (B)(8). 

Also, in Dale v. Ohio Civil Service Employees Ass'n (1991), 57 Ohio St.3d 112, 116 
("Dale") the Ohio Supreme Court defined "labor dispute" as "any controversy over the terms 
and conditions of employment or the representation of employees for collective bargaining 
purposes." The evidence in the record does not demonstrate a connection between the 
September 5, 2001 picketing and activities intended by the legislature to be regulated by 
Chapter 4117. Moreover, the picketing did not relate to a labor dispute as defined in Dale. 

The testimony of the Union witnesses was consistent on both direct and cross-
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examination. This testimony reveals that the picketing was intended to call attention to the 
proposed ODMRDD budget cut pending in the State's legislative branch by providing 
information to the local community about the loss of services that would be incurred by 
GDC's residents if the budget cut was enacted as proposed. Indeed, the Union selected 
September 5, 2001, as the date for the picketing precisely because of its proximity in time 
to finance committee hearings on the proposed budget cut. As such, the picketing was 
concerned with, and designed to impact, a matter under consideration by the State as 
lawmaker, rather than by the State as employer. Furthermore, the subject matter of the 
picketing was a proposed cut in services to citizens, rather than a controversy over terms 
and conditions of employment or representation of employees for collective bargaining 
purposes. 

Both Complainant and OCB attempted ardently at hearing to elicit testimony from 
the Union's witnesses to the effect that employee organizations exist for the purpose of 
protecting the jobs of their members. Thus, Complainant and OCB assert that the 
picketing necessarily concerned job preservation and, therefore, the notice requirement in 
§ 4117. 11 (B)(8) applies. Yet, conversely, Complainant and OCB elicited testimony from 
the same witnesses that ODMRDD had already informed the Union that no jobs would be 
lost by Union members as a result of either the reassessment or the proposed budget cut. 
The Union and OCB were not engaged in contract negotiations at the time of the picketing. 
The picketing did not relate to a pending grievance. While the Union had at some 
unspecified time filed an unfair labor practice charge against ODMRDD alleging bad-faith 
bargaining during the reassessment process, the record is devoid of evidence linking the 
September 5, 2001 gatherings to that unfair labor practice charge. Indeed, no evidence of 
the status of that charge is present in the record. Therefore, the Union members' 
testimony is credible that the purpose of the picketing was to call attention to the political 
and general social issue of the loss of services to GDC residents. 3 Consistent with the 
Board's articulated goal in applying § 4117. 11 (B)(8) consistent with First Amendment 
rights, this provision does not apply to the political expression at issue in this case. 

The evidence reveals that on September 5, 2001, the Union did not engage in 
picketing related to a labor relations dispute or other activity intended to be regulated under 
Chapter 4117. Accordingly, Complainant and Intervenor have not demonstrated a violation 
of§ 4117. 11 (B)(8). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

3 At hearing, counsel for Intervenor attempted to introduce a document titled "Stop GDC Job 
Abolishments and Layoffs." (See Intervenor's Closing Brief, Proposed Finding of Fact No. 5.) 
Counsel for Intervenor had not disclosed this document as required by the Administrative Law 
Judge's Prehearing Order. Therefore, the Administrative Law Judge excluded the document from 
the record and struck all testimony related to it (T.29-31, 126) 
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Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by §4117.01(8). OCB is 
designated by statute as the State of Ohio's representative in collective bargaining 
matters. 

2. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association. AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

3. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AF SC ME Local 11, AFL-CIO did not 
violate § 4117.11 (B)(B). 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss the complaint and dismiss with 
prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 
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ASSOCIATION, 

Rival Employee Organization, 

and 

UNITED AUTO WORKERS-REGION 2, 
LOCAL 70, 

Incumbent Employee Organization, 
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CUYAHOGA COUNTY SHERIFF'S 
DEPARTMENT, 

Employer. 

CASE NO. 02-REP-03-0062 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On March 28, 2002, the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association ("OPBA") filed a 
Petition for Representation Election - Employee Organization with the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB") seeking to displace the incumbent employee organization, 
United Auto Workers-Region 2, Local 70 ("UAW') as the exclusive representative for a 
bargaining unit consisting of "All Corrections Corporals" employed by the Cuyahoga County 
Sheriffs Department ("Employer"). On May 23, 2002, SERB issued a Direction to Election 
to the parties that included a requirement that the Employer, no later than June 3, 2002, 
serve on each Employee Organization and file with SERB a numbered, alphabetized 
election eligibility list setting forth the names and home addresses of all employees eligible 
to vote as of May 23, 2002. 

The Employer did not file with SERB or serve on all parties an alphabetized election 
eligibility list containing the names and home addresses of all employees eligible to vote as 
of May 23, 2002. Pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-07(E), an 
alphabetized list containing names only was used as the eligibility list for the election 1 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117. 
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On July 23, 2002, SERB conducted the secret ballot election. Of thirty-six (36) 
eligible voters, twenty (20) ballots were cast. The OPBA received four (4) votes, the UAW 
received fifteen (15) votes, and No Representative received one (1) vote. 

The OPBA filed post-election objections maintaining collusion between the 
Employer and the UAW. The OPBA challenged the election results because the election 
eligibility list it was provided did not contain the home addresses of the employees in the 
bargaining unit. The OPBA maintains that, through its actions, the Employer was 
determined to prevent a fair election. 

The OPBA also filed Case No. 02-ULP-06-0453 alleging that the Employer violated 
§§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and (2) by refusing to provide the alphabetized election eligibility list 
containing names and home addresses. On August 15, 2002, SERB found probable 
cause to believe an unfair labor practice had been committed and directed the case to 
hearing. SERB has coordinated these proceedings. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether SERB should sustain the OPBA's election objections, set aside the 
July 23, 2002 election, and direct a rerun election? 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Cuyahoga County Sheriff's Department is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(B). (S. 1) 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). (S. 2) 

3. The United Auto Workers-Region 2, Local 70 is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01 (D). (Complaint,~ 5; Answer,~ 5) 

4. On March 23, 2002, the OPBA filed a Petition for Representation Election -
Employee Organization ("Petition") with the State Employment Relations Board 
("SERB"), seeking to represent a bargaining unit of the Employer's Corrections 

: All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by 
the stipulation number. All references to the Joint Exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number. References to the stipulations and exhibits in the Findings of Fact 
are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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Corporals. The UAW is the incumbent exclusive representative for this bargaining 
unit. (Complaint, ii 5; Answer, ii 5; S.3; Jt. Exh. A) 

5. SERB notified the Employer of the Petition through correspondence dated April 3, 
2002. The correspondence requested that not later than April 17, 2002, the 
Employer provide an alphabetized, numbered list of employees in the proposed 
bargaining unit to SERB and the other parties pursuant to Rule 4117-5-04(C). On 
April 15, 2002, an alphabetized, numbered list of Corrections Corporals was 
transmitted to SERB, the OPBA, and the UAW. (S. 4-7; Jt. Exhs. B, C) 

6. On April 30, 2002, SERB transmitted a Consent Election Agreement to the parties, 
asking that it be returned by May 7, 2002. Paragraph 3 of the Consent Election 
Agreement states as follows: 

Pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-07, the 
employer shall file with the Board and serve on the parties an 
accurate alphabetized, numbered list of eligible voters' names and 
home addresses. The list shall be filed by the earlier of these two 
dates: (1) ten days after the Board issues the direction to election, or 
(2) ten days prior to the election. 

(S. 8; Jt. Exh. D) 

7. The Employer and the UAW negotiated a successor collective bargaining 
agreement that was executed on May 7, 2002. (Complaint, ii 6; Answer, ii 6) 

8. On May 23, 2002, SERB issued and served on the parties a Direction to Election, 
and on June 4, 2002, SERB issued and served on the parties a corrected Direction 
to Election. Each document stated, in relevant part, as follows: 

The election shall be held at a date, time, and place to be 
determined by the Representation Section in consultation with the 
parties. No later than June 3, 2002, the Employer shall serve on each 
Employee Organization and file with the Board a numbered, 
alphabetized election eligibility list setting forth the names and home 
addresses of all employees eligible to vote as of May 23, 2002. 

(S. 9-1 O; Jt. Exhs. E, F) 
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9. On June 6, 2002, SERB mailed the Employer's attorney a letter stating, in part, as 
follows: 

The directive states that the Employer shall serve on each Employee 
Organization and file with us a numbered alphabetized election 
eligibility list no later than June 3, 2002. We have not received the 
list. You must file the list no later than June 14, 2002. 

(S. 11; Jt. Exh. G) 

10. On June 24, 2002, SERB notified all parties that the election would be held on 
July 11, 2002. The correspondence from SERB indicated that SERB would use 
"the alphabetized list of employees as provided by the Employer dated April 15, 
2002." (S. 12-13; Jt. Exh. H) 

11. On June 25, 2002, the OPBA filed an unfair labor practice charge with SERB. The 
charge concerned the Employer's failure to file and serve an eligibility list containing 
an alphabetized list of names and home addresses of those eligible to vote in the 
election. (S. 14; SERB Case No. 02-ULP-06-0453) 

12. On June 26, 2002, the Employer's counsel wrote a letter to SERB outlining the 
Employer's objections to the upcoming election. (S. 15; Jt. Exh. I) 

13. On July 10, 2002, SERB notified the parties that the July 11, 2002 election was 
postponed. (S. 16; Jt. Exh. J) 

14. On July 11, 2002, SERB notified the parties that the election was rescheduled to 
July 23, 2002, and that SERB would use "the alphabetized list of employees as 
provided by the Employer dated April 15, 2002." (S. 17; Jt. Exh. K) 

15. The election was held on July 23, 2002. Of thirty-six (36) eligible voters, twenty (20) 
ballots were cast. The OPBA received four (4) votes, the UAW received fifteen (15) 
votes, and No Representative received one (1) vote. (S.18) 

16. On July 25, 2002, the OPBA timely and properly filed post-election objections. 
(S 19) 

17. On September 5, 2002, SERB directed the post-election objections to an evidentiary 
hearing and coordinated the representation proceeding with the unfair labor practice 
case. (S. 20) 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Rule 4117-5-07 provides as follows: 

(A) After the board directs an election, the employer shall file with the 
board and serve upon each party to the election an alphabetized 
numbered election eligibility list containing the names and home 
addresses of all eligible voters. Unless otherwise directed by the 
board, the eligibility list must be filed and served by the earlier of 
these two dates: 

(1) Ten days after the board issues the direction of election; or 

(2) Ten days prior to the commencement of the election. 

(B) The board may require the employer to arrange the list according to 
polling sites or in any other manner which it deems appropriate. 

(C) Failure to object in writing to the board to the form or content of the 
election eligibility list prior to the commencement of an election shall 
constitute a waiver of the objection if the objecting party knew of the 
defect prior to the election, or through the exercise of reasonable 
diligence should have known. 

(D) At any time prior to or during the pre-election conference, the parties 
may jointly agree in writing to additions to or deletions from the 
eligibility list. 

(E) If the employer fails to timely file a proper eligibility list, the board may, 
at it [sic] discretion, compile a list from any sources available to it. 

The parties do not dispute that the Employer never produced an alphabetized 
numbered election eligibility list containing the names and home addresses of all eligible 
voters, as required by Rule 4117-5-07(A). The Employer's refusal to produce this list 
cannot be attributed to inadvertence. SERB provided the Employer with written notice of 
this requirement on four separate occasions: (1) the Consent Election Agreement (Jt. 
Exh. D); (2) the Direction to Election (Jt. Exh. E); (3) the Corrected Direction to Election (Jt. 
Exh. F); and (4) SERB's June 6, 2002 letter to the Employer's legal counsel (Jt. Exh. G). 
Moreover, the OPBA objected in writing, as contemplated by Rule 4117-5-07(C), to the 
Employer's refusal to provide the election eligibility list when the OPBA filed an unfair labor 
practice with SERB on June 27, 2002. 
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Rule 4117-5-1 O(B) provides in relevant part as follows: 

If post-election objections are filed or if challenged ballots are sufficient in 
number to affect the results of the election, the board shall investigate such 
objections or challenges. Position statements on challenged ballots must be 
filed within ten days of the service of the tally of ballots. The board shall 
issue a directive resolving relevant issues based upon the investigation; 
provided, however, that disputed issues of material fact may be determined 
upon an evidential hearing. The board may dismiss the post-election 
objections or challenges, direct the counting of some or all of the challenged 
ballots, or where warranted, set aside the previous election and direct 
another election. 

The official Notice of Election that SERB requires the Employer to post to give notice 
to the affected employees states in relevant part as follows: 

Every effort will be made to protect your right to a free choice. Improper 
conduct will not be permitted. All parties are expected to cooperate fully with 
the Board in upholding the basic principles of a fair election. If agents of 
either the employee organization or the employer interfere with your rights to 
a free election, the election may be set aside by the Board. 

The question presented in this representation proceeding is whether setting aside 
the previous election and directing another election is warranted. In In re Lake County 
Engineer, SERB 86-046 (11-20-86) ("Lake County"), 1984-86 SERB 343, SERB addressed 
the issue of whether an employer's refusal to provide an election eligibility list to the 
incumbent employee organization before a decertification election warranted setting aside 
the election. In setting aside the election and directing a rerun election, SERB stated in 
relevant part as follows: 

The Employer admits that no eligibility list was served on the 
Employee Organization, but contended that this failure was not prejudicial to 
the Employee Organization because it was the incumbent exclusive 
representative and knew the names and addresses of all the eligible 
employees in the bargaining unit. * * * 

The obligation imposed on the Employer by Ohio Administrative Code 
Rule 4117-5-0?(A) to furnish each party an alphabetized election eligibility list 
is explicit. It provides for no exemptions or exceptions and is not dependent 
on the showing of an Employee Organization's need for such information. 
The Employer's reliance on the assumption that the Employee Organization 
knew the names and addresses of all eligible employees was wrong. If any 
assumption is to be made, it is that every name and every address on the 
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roster of eligible employees is not necessarily known to the Employee 
Organization. The eligibility list is an integral part of the elections process and 
the purpose of the list is to facilitate that process. It is essential to the fair 
conduct of the election procedure. The Employer erred by ignoring the 
requirement of Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-07(A). 

Lake County, supra at 344 (emphasis added}. 

The concerns identified by SERB in Lake County apply with even more force here, 
in an election involving a rival employee organization, an outsider, in addition to an 
incumbent employee organization. The arguments advanced by the Employer in its post
hearing brief. and by the UAW in its post-hearing brief, are without merit. 

The Employer's primary argument is that it was excused from furnishing a proper 
election eligibility list because, notwithstanding the lack of such a list, SERB held the 
election. In so doing, SERB exercised the discretion afforded it under Rule 4117-5-07(E) 
and "compile[d] a list from any sources available to it," specifically, the alphabetized, 
numbered list the Employerfurnished to SERB when SERB undertook its initial investigation 
of the OPBA's petition. 3 But SERB's exercise of its discretion can in no way be considered 
an excusal of the Employer's failure to follow the rules, a waiver of the OPBA's right to 
object to the Employer's failure to furnish the list required by Rule 4117-5-07(A), or a waiver 
of the OPBA's right to request that the election results be set aside. In addition, the record 
does not demonstrate that the OPBA ever agreed or acquiesced to the use of the SERB list. 
Put simply, the Employer acted at its peril in failing to furnish the required election eligibility 
list. 

Additionally, SERB's Lake County decision calling for strict enforcement of the rule 
requiring a proper election eligibility list is supported by an analysis of the underlying 
reason for the rule: ensuring that the affected employees are provided with information 
necessary for free and fully informed exercise of their statutory rights. The National Labor 
Relations Board ("NLRB") has an analogous rule, which has been upheld and enforced by 
the United States Supreme Court. NLRB v. Wyman-Gordon Co. (1969), 394 U.S. 759. In 
North Macon Health Care Facility (1994), 147 L.R.R.M. 1185 ("North Macon"), the NLRB 
reviewed the significant policy concerns underlying this requirement. 

The NLRB has the responsibility to ensure that elections are conducted free from 
interference, restraint, or coercion, or any other elements that prevent or impede a free and 

3 The April 15, 2002 list of employees was filed by the Employer pursuant to, and to comply with, 
Rule 4117-5-04(C). SERB uses this alphabetized, numbered payroll list to determine whether the 
petitioner's showing of interest is sufficient and whether a question concerning representation 
exists. Since this list lacks the employees' addresses and the names of all of the employees eligible 
to vote as of May 23, 2002, pursuant to the Direction to Election, it does not satisfy the Employer's 
obligations under Rule 4117-5-0?(A). 
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reasoned choice. Among the factors that undoubtedly tend to impede such a choice is lack 
of information about one of the choices available. "An employee who has had an effective 
opportunity to hear the arguments concerning representation is in a better position to make 
a more fully informed and reasonable choice." North Macon, 147 L.R.R.M. at 1186 
(quoting Excelsior Underwear, Inc. (1966), 156 N.L.R.B.1236, 1241 ("Excelsior"). Second, 
the election eligibility list provides employee organizations with the ability to reach all 
employees with its arguments in favor of representation. "This is not, of course, to deny 
the existence of various means by which a party might be able to communicate with a 
substantial portion of the electorate even without possessing their names and addresses. 
It is rather to say what seems to us obvious--that the access of a// employees to such 
communications can be insured only if all parties have the names and addresses of all the 
voters." North Macon, supra at 1187 (quoting Excelsior) (emphasis in original). 

The UAWs argument that the OPBA could have accessed the employees by other 
means is without merit. The election eligibility list is the means by which SERB ensures 
that a// parties have access to all eligible employees. Both SERB, in Lake County, supra, 
and the NLRB have recognized that the rule is prophylactic, so that evidence of bad faith 
and actual prejudice is unnecessary. "[A]n employer's failure to provide a complete and 
accurate list of eligible voters is an injury to employees, not just to [employee 
organizations]: an incomplete or inaccurate list can effectively prevent employees from 
obtaining information necessary for the free and fully informed exercise of their [statutory] 
rights .... '[T]he potential harm from list omissions is deemed sufficiently great to warrant a 
strict rule that encourages conscientious efforts to comply."' North Macon, 147 L.R.R.M. at 
1187 (emphasis in original) (quoting Excelsior, 156 N.L.R.B. at 1244). 

The OPBA's objections to the July 23, 2002 election have merit and warrant setting 
aside the election results and conducting a rerun election. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Cuyahoga County Sheriff is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. The United Auto Workers-Region 2, Local 70 is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

4. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association's objections to the July 23, 2002 
election have merit and warrant setting aside the election results and conducting a 
rerun election in accordance with Rule 4117-5-1 O(B). 
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VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board sustain the objections filed by the Ohio 
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association and issue a DIRECTIVE setting aside the 
results of the July 23, 2002 election and directing a rerun election in the bargaining 
unit described below: 

INCLUDED: All Corrections Corporals. 

EXCLUDED: All others. 



I SERB OPINION 2003-002] 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD,: 

Complainant, 

and 

OHIO PATROLMEN'S BENEVOLENT 
ASSOCIATION, 

Intervenor, 

v. 

CUYAHOGA COUNTY SHERIFF'S 
DEPARTMENT, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 02-ULP-06-0453 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On June 27, 2002, the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association ("OPBA")filed an 
unfair labor practice charge with the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB") alleging 
that the Cuyahoga County Sheriffs Department ("Employer") violated Ohio Revised Code 
§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (2) by refusing to provide the alphabetized election eligibility list 
containing names and home addresses.' On August 15, 2002, SERB found probable 
cause to believe an unfair labor practice had been committed and directed the unfair labor 
practice case to hearing. 

On July 23, 2002, SERB conducted a secret ballot election for certain employees of 
the Employer. On July 26, 2002, the OPBA filed post-election objections in Case No. 02-
REP-03-0062. On September 4, 2002, SERB directed the election objections to hearing, 
coordinated the representation and unfair labor practice cases, and expedited the 
proceedings. 

On October 24, 2002, the parties submitted both cases on Stipulations of Fact and 
Exhibits. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter4117. 
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II. ISSUES 

1. Whether, by refusing to provide a numbered alphabetized list of the 
names and home addresses of employees who are eligible for a 
pending representation election, through the acts and conduct 
described above, the Employer is interfering with, restraining, or 
coercing employees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed by 
Chapter 4117, in violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

2. Whether, by refusing to provide a numbered alphabetized list of the 
names and home addresses of employees who are eligible for a 
pending representation election, through the acts and conduct 
described above, the Employer is initiating, creating, dominating, or 
interfering with the formation or administration of an employee 
organization in violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(2). 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Cuyahoga County Sheriff's Department is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117 01(B). (S. 1) 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). (S. 2) 

3. The United Auto Workers-Region 2, Local 70 ("UAW') is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). (Complaint, ii 5; Answer, 115) 

4. On March 23, 2002, the OPBA filed a Petition for Representation Election -
Employee Organization ("Petition") with SERB, seeking to replace the incumbent 
employee organization, UAW, as the exclusive representative for the bargaining unit 
of the Employer's Corrections Corporals. (Complaint, 115; Answer,11 5; S. 3; Jt. 
Exh. A) 

5. SERB notified the Employer of the Petition through correspondence dated April 3, 
2002. The correspondence requested that not later than April 17, 2002, the 

: All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by 
the stipulation number. All references to the Joint Exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh. ," 
followed by the exhibit number. References to the stipulations and/or exhibits in the Findings of Fact 
are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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Employer provide an alphabetized, numbered list of employees in the proposed 
bargaining unit to SERB and the other parties pursuant to Rule 4117-5-04(C). On 
April 15, 2002, an alphabetized, numbered list of Corrections Corporals was 
transmitted to SERB, the OPBA, and the UAW. (S. 4-7; Jt. Exhs. B, C) 

6. On April 30, 2002, SERB transmitted a Consent Election Agreement to the parties, 
asking that it be returned by May 7, 2002. Paragraph 3 of the Consent Election 
Agreement states as follows: 

Pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-07, the 
employer shall file with the Board and serve on the parties an 
accurate alphabetized, numbered list of eligible voters' names and 
home addresses. The list shall be filed by the earlier of these two 
dates: (1) ten days after the Board issues the direction to election, or 
(2) ten days prior to the election. 

(S. 8; Jt. Exh. D) 

7. The Employer and the UAW negotiated a successor collective bargaining 
agreement that was executed on May 7, 2002. (Complaint, 1] 6; Answer, 1] 6) 

8. On May 23, 2002, SERB issued and served on the parties a Direction to Election, 
and on June 4, 2002, SERB issued and served on the parties a corrected Direction 
to Election. Each document stated, in relevant part, as follows 

The election shall be held at a date, time, and place to be 
determined by the Representation Section in consultation with the 
parties. No later than June 3, 2002, the Employer shall serve on each 
Employee Organization and file with the Board a numbered, 
alphabetized election eligibility list setting forth the names and home 
addresses of all employees eligible to vote as of May 23, 2002. 

(S 9-1 O; Jt. Exhs. E, F) 

9. On June 6, 2002, SERB mailed the Employer's attorney a letter stating, in part, as 
follows: 

The directive states that the Employer shall serve on each Employee 
Organization and file with us a numbered alphabetized election 
eligibility list no later than June 3, 2002. We have not received the 
list. You must file the list no later than June 14, 2002. 

(S. 11; Jt. Exh. G) 
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10. On June 24, 2002, SERB notified all parties that the election would be held on 
July 11, 2002. The correspondence from SERB indicated that SERB would use 
"the alphabetized list of employees as provided by the Employer dated April 15, 
2002." (S. 12-13; Jt. Exh. H) 

11. On June 25, 2002, the OPBA filed an unfair labor practice charge with SERB. The 
charge concerned the Employer's failure to file and serve an eligibility list containing 
an alphabetized list of names and home addresses of those eligible to vote in the 
election. (S. 14; SERB Case No. 02-ULP-06-0453) 

12. On June 26, 2002, the Employer's counsel wrote a letter to SERB outlining the 
Employer's objections to the upcoming election. (S. 15; Jt. Exh. I) 

13. On July 10, 2002, SERB notified the parties that the July 11, 2002 election was 
postponed. (S. 16; Jt. Exh. J) 

14. On July 11, 2002, SERB notified the parties that the election was rescheduled to 
July 23, 2002, and that SERB would use "the alphabetized list of employees as 
provided by the Employer dated April 15, 2002." (S. 17; Jt. Exh. K) 

15. The election was held on July 23, 2002. Of thirty-six (36) eligible voters, twenty (20) 
ballots were cast. The OPBA received four (4) votes, the UAW received fifteen (15) 
votes, and No Representative received one (1) vote. (S.18) 

16. On July 25, 2002, the OPBA timely and properly filed post-election objections. 
(S. 19) 

17. On September 5, 2002, SERB directed the post-election objections to an evidentiary 
hearing and coordinated the representation proceeding with the unfair labor practice 
case. (S. 20) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code or an 
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employee organization in the selection of its representative for the 
purposes of collective bargaining or the adjustment of grievances; 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation or 
administration of any employee organization, or contribute financial or 
other support to it; except that a public employer may permit 
employees to confer with it during working hours without loss of time 
or pay, permit the exclusive representative to use the facilities of the 
public employer for membership or other meetings, or permit the 
exclusive representative to use the internal mail system or other 
internal communications system[.] 

When a violation of § 4117 .11(A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an 
objective rather than subjective one. SERB must determine whether, under all the facts 
and circumstances, one could reasonably conclude that employees were restrained or 
coerced, or that their rights under § 4117.03 had been interfered with, by the 
Respondent's conduct. This objective inquiry is used whether the alleged misconduct is a 
change in status quo, interrogation about union activity, or some other alleged interference 
with rights protected under Chapter 4117. Proper consideration of any§ 4117.11(A)(1) 
allegation must necessarily entail a thorough review of the circumstances under which the 
alleged misconduct occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights of employees. 
In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept. SERB 93-001 (3-24-93). 

The question presented is whether the Employer violated § 4117.11 (A)(1) when it 
failed to provide the election eligibility list required by SERB's administrative rules 
governing elections. Rule 4117-5-07 provides as follows: 

(A) After the board directs an election, the employer shall file with the 
board and serve upon each party to the election an alphabetized 
numbered election eligibility list containing the names and home 
addresses of all eligible voters. Unless otherwise directed by the 
board, the eligibility list must be filed and served by the earlier of 
these two dates: 

(1) Ten days after the board issues the direction of election; or 

(2) Ten days prior to the commencement of the election. 

(B) The board may require the employer to arrange the list according to 
polling sites or in any other manner which it deems appropriate. 

(C) Failure to object in writing to the board to the form or content of the 
election eligibility list prior to the commencement of an election shall 
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constitute a waiver of the objection if the objecting party knew of the 
defect prior to the election, or through the exercise of reasonable 
diligence should have known. 

(D) At any time prior to or during the pre-election conference, the parties 
may jointly agree in writing to additions to or deletions from the 
eligibility list. 

(E) If the employer fails to timely file a proper eligibility list, the board may, 
at it [sic] discretion, compile a list from any sources available to it. 

The parties do not dispute that the Employer never produced a numbered 
alphabetized election eligibility list containing the names and home addresses of all eligible 
voters. The Employer's refusal to produce this list cannot be attributed to inadvertence. 
SERB provided the Employer with written notice of this requirement on four separate 
occasions: (1) the Consent Election Agreement (Jt. Exh. D); (2) the Direction to Election 
(Jt. Exh. E); (3) the Corrected Direction to Election (Jt. Exh. F); and (4) SERB's June 6, 
2002 letter to the Employer's legal counsel (Jt. Exh. G). Moreover, the OPBA objected in 
writing, as contemplated by Rule 4117-5-07(C), to the Employer's refusal to provide the 
election eligibility list when the OPBA filed this unfair labor practice charge with SERB on 
June 27, 2002. 

In In re Lake County Engineer, SERB 86-046 (11-20-86) ("Lake County"), 1984-86 
SERB 343, SERB addressed the issue of whether an employer's refusal to provide an 
election eligibility list to the incumbent employee organization before a decertification 
election warranted setting aside the election. In setting aside the election and directing a 
rerun election, SERB stated in relevant part as follows (emphasis added): 

The Employer admits that no eligibility list was served on the 
Employee Organization, but contended that this failure was not 
prejudicial to the Employee Organization because it was the 
incumbent exclusive representative and knew the names and 
addresses of all the eligible employees in the bargaining unit. * * * 

The obligation imposed on the Employer by Ohio 
Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-07(A) to furnish each party an 
alphabetized election eligibility list is explicit. It provides for no 
exemptions or exceptions and is not dependent on the showing of an 
Employee Organization's need for such information. The Employer's 
reliance on the assumption that the Employee Organization knew the 
names and addresses of all eligible employees was wrong. If any 
assumption is to be made, it is that every name and every address on 
the roster of eligible employees is not necessarily known to the 
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Employee Organization. The eligibility list is an integral part of the 
elections process and the purpose of the list is to facilitate that 
process. It is essential to the fair conduct of the election procedure. 
The Employer erred by ignoring the requirement of Ohio 
Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-07(A). 

Lake County, supra at 344 (emphasis added). 

The Employer's primary argument is that it was excused from furnishing a proper 
election eligibility list because, notwithstanding the lack of such a list, SERB held the 
election. In so doing, SERB exercised the discretion afforded it under Rule 4117-5-07(E) 
and "compile[d] a list from any sources available to it," specifically, the alphabetized, 
numbered list the Employer furnished to SERB when SERB undertook its initial investigation 
of the OPBA's Petition. But SER B's exercise of its discretion can in no way be considered 
an excusal of the Employer's failure to follow the rules. SERB's Lake County decision strictly 
enforcing the requirement that a proper election eligibility list be furnished is supported by 
an analysis of the underlying reason for the requirement: ensuring that the affected 
employees are provided with information necessary for free and fully informed exercise of 
their statutory right to vote. The National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB") has an analogous 
requirement, which has been upheld and enforced by the United States Supreme Court. 
NLRB v. Wyman-Gordon Co. (1969), 394 U.S. 759. In North Macon Health Care Facility 
(1994), 147 L.R.R.M. 1185 ("North Macon"), the NLRB reviewed the significant policy 
concerns underlying this requirement. 

The NLRB, like SERB, has the responsibility to ensure that elections are conducted 
free from interference, restraint, or coercion, or any other elements that prevent or impede a 
free and reasoned choice. Among the factors that undoubtedly tend to impede such a 
choice is lack of information about one of the choices available. "An employee who has had 
an effective opportunity to hear the arguments concerning representation is in a better 
position to make a more fully informed and reasonable choice." North Macon, 147 L.R.R.M. 
at 1186 (quoting Excelsior Underwear, Inc. (1966), 156 N.L.R.B. 1236, 1241 ("Excelsior"). 
The election eligibility list provides employee organizations with the ability to reach all 
employees with its arguments in favor of representation. "This is not, of course, to deny the 
existence of various means by which a party might be able to communicate with a 
substantial portion of the electorate even without possessing their names and addresses. It 
is rather to say what seems to us obvious--that the access of al/ employees to such 
communications can be insured only if all parties have the names and addresses of all the 
voters." North Macon, supra at 1187 (quoting Excelsior) (emphasis in original). 

SERB has already discussed the importance of the eligibility list. "The eligibility list 
is an integral part of the elections process and the purpose of the list is to facilitate that 
process. It is essential to the fair conduct of the election process." Lake County, supra. 
The NLRB has held that "an employer's failure to provide a complete and accurate list of 
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eligible voters is an injury to employees, not just to [employee organizations]: an incomplete 
or inaccurate list can effectively prevent employees from obtaining information necessary for 
the free and fully informed exercise of their [statutory] rights .... '[T]he potential harm from 
list omissions is deemed sufficiently great to warrant a strict rule that encourages 
conscientious efforts to comply.'" North Macon, supra (emphasis in original) (quoting 
Excelsior, 156 N.L.R.B. at 1244). 

Viewed objectively in accordance with the foregoing factual and legal circumstances, 
it can only be concluded that the Employer violated § 4117.11 (A)(1) when it refused to 
furnish the election eligibility list. The employees' rights under Chapter 4117 were interfered 
with and restrained when they were denied an effective opportunity to hear the OPBA's 
reasons for representation and, thus, to cast informed ballots in the representation election. 
The Employer also violated § 4117 .11 (A)(2) by interfering with the OPBA's efforts to contact 
the affected employees about forming an OPBA-affiliated employee organization. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Cuyahoga County Sheriffs Department is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(D). 

3. The United Auto Workers-Region 2, Local 70 is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(D). 

4. By refusing to provide a numbered alphabetized list of the names and home 
addresses for the employees who are eligible to vote in a pending representation 
election, through the acts and conduct described above, the Cuyahoga County 
Sheriff's Department is interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the 
exercise of their rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117, in violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

5. By refusing to provide a numbered alphabetized list of the names and home 
addresses for the employees who are eligible to vote in a pending representation 
election, through the acts and conduct described above, the Cuyahoga County 
Sheriffs Department is initiating, creating, dominating, or interfering with the 
formation or administration of an employee organization in violation of 
§ 4117.11 (A)(2). 
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VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER pursuant to§ 4117. 12(8), 
requiring the Cuyahoga County Sheriffs Department to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of 
their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by 
refusing to provide a numbered alphabetized list of the names and 
home addresses for the employees who are eligible for a pending 
representation election, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117. 11 (A)(1 ); and 

(2) Initiating, creating, dominating, or interfering with the formation or 
administration of an employee organization by refusing to provide a 
numbered alphabetized list of the names and home addresses for the 
employees who are eligible for a pending representation election, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117. 11(A)(2). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees work, the Notice to Employees furnished 
by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the Cuyahoga 
County Sheriffs Department shall cease and desist from actions set 
forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

TOLEDO AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT 
AUTHORITY, 

Respondent. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

CASE NO. 02-ULP-06-0431 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

On June 18, 2002, Ms. Lynette Taylor filed an unfair labor practice charge against 
the Toledo Area Regional Transit Authority ("Respondent" or "TARTA"), alleging that the 
Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3) and (A)(4 ). 1 On 
September 19, 2002, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") 
determined that probable cause existed to believe that the Respondent committed an 
unfair labor practice by failing to promote Ms. Taylor to full-time employment. 

On October 16, 2002, a Complaint was issued. A hearing was conducted on 
December 17, 2002, and December 30, 2002, wherein testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented. All parties filed post-hearing briefs on January 17, 2003. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Respondent failed to promote Ms. Taylor to full-time 
employment in retaliation for her exercise of guaranteed rights in violation of 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), and (A)(4). 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Toledo Area Regional Transit Authority is a "public employer" as defined by 
§4117.01(8) (S.) 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 697 of Toledo, Ohio ("ATU") is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive 
representative of a bargaining unit of TART A's employees, including part-time bus 
operators. (S.) 

3. Ms. Taylor is employed by TARTA as a part-time bus operator, is a member of the 
ATU, and was, at all relevant times, a "public employee" as defined by 
§4117.01(C). (S) 

4. Part-time bus operators are assigned to work 20 hours or less per week. (T. 19; Jt. 
Exh. 1 ). 

5. Ms. Taylor started bus operator training with TARTA on November 17, 1997. She 
started driving a bus for TARTA on December 17, 1997. (T. 27-29) 

6. The ATU and TARTA are parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
effective November 1, 2001 through October 31, 2005, containing a grievance 
procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (S.; Jt. Exh. 1) 

7. The CBA provides in Section 31, at p.37: "Part-time bus operators will be given 
consideration for full-time openings and if accepted must go through the complete 
eligibility requirements as established by TARTA for all applicants for full-time 
positions." (T. 30; Jt. Exh. 1) 

8. Ms. Taylor is the most senior part-time bus operator who has not been chosen to 
take full-time bus operator training. (S.) 

9. Ms. Taylor filed unfair labor practice charges ("ULPs") with SERB regarding 
TARTA's failure to promote her to full-time status and other related issues on 

2 All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T. ," followed by the 
page number(s). All references to Complainant's exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "C. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number. All references to Intervenor's exhibits are indicated parenthetically by 
"Int. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to the joint exhibits in the record are 
indicated parenthetically by "JI. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to Respondent's 
exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh." All references to the Stipulations of Fact are 
indicated parenthetically by "S." References to the transcript or exhibits in the Findings of Fact are 
intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for that related finding of fact. 



SERB OPINION 2003-003 
Case No. 2002-ULP-06-0431 
Page 3 of 9 

April 9, 2001, in case number 2001-ULP-04-0220; on June 25, 2001, in case 
number 2001-ULP-06-0402; on January 4, 2002, in case number 2002-ULP-01-
0010; and on February 1, 2002, in case number 2002-ULP-02-0069. These 
charges were dismissed for lack of probable cause, and SERB determined that the 
failure to promote was due to reasons other than protected activity. (JI. Exh. 2) 

10. Ms. Taylor was not accepted for the June 2002 and October 2002 training classes 
for full-time drivers. Ms. Taylor had not been accepted for training classes for full
time drivers held in 1998, 1999, or 2000. (T. 334) 

11. In February 2001, Ms. Taylor and two other part-time drivers, Ms. Regina Green and 
Ms. Lillian Powell, attempted to file an ATU member complaint form regarding the 
full-time employment issue through TARTA. Ms. Taylor's only connection with the 
ATU member complaint form was the fact that she signed it. ATU did not file the 
grievance but a meeting was held with the ATU Business Agent, Mr. John Deslatte, 
Respondent's Superintendent of Transportation, Mr. John Stewart, and Ms. Taylor, 
wherein Ms. Taylor was told she was not the most qualified candidate. (T. 120, 148, 
161, 411-412; C. Exh. 1) 

12. Ms. Green is no longer employed by TARTA. After being involved in a personal 
injury accident, she failed to appear at a related deposition, attempted to get a bus 
route while under suspension, and made an improper 911 call. (T. 221-223) 

13. Although the CBA does not provide any specific criteria for promotion from part-time 
to full-time, the Employer looks at attendance records, accident records, complaint 
records, discipline records, scores in the Bus Operator Selection Survey Test 
("Boss Test")3

, and input from station office personnel who interact with the drivers 
on a daily basis. (T. 31, 36, 121-122) 

14. The Superintendent of Transportation makes the decision as to who qualifies for the 
full-time training and also when there is a need for a training class. Mr. Stewart was 
the Superintendent of Transportation from January 1, 1990 until August 1, 2002, 
and made the decision for the June 2002 class. Mr. Gerald Austin was the interim 
Superintendent of Transportation from September 1, 2002 until October 10, 2002, 
and made the decision for the October 2002 class. (T. 30, 32-33, 231, 261) 

3 The Boss Test is a selection device developed for transit employees that measures and gives 
scores for attendance, safety, customer service, time urgency, safe driving behavior, hazardous 
thought patterns. temperament, social involvement, timeliness, and self confidence. It is given to all 
bus operators, both full-time and part-time. while they are in training The highest score on the Boss 
Test is 1, representing a high likelihood of success as a bus operator, and 5 is the lowest score, 
representing a low likelihood of success as a bus operator. The only categories actually utilized are 
attendance, safety, and customer service, in which a higher score is better than a lower score. (T. 
36-40; C. Exh. 11) 
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15. Ms. Taylor scored a 5 on her Boss Test. (R. Exh. 5-0, 5-1) 

16. Ms. Taylor had seven accidents in five years of driving and was absent 35 days in 
1999 and 75 days in 2000. (T. 5-12, 5-14, 5-49; R. Ex. 5) 

17. Bus operators moving from part-time to full-time status must familiarize themselves 
with all TARTA routes. To do so, they are assigned to ride buses on the various 
routes, some driven by full-time operators, some driven by part-time operators. The 
bus operators answer the student operators' questions about the route; because of 
such additional duty, they are paid 30 cents more per hour in accordance with the 
CBA when they have student riders on buses. The bus operators' routes, not their 
skill levels, are the only criterion used to determine on which buses the student 
operators ride. (T. 43-44, 266-271, 291-292; Jt. Exh. 4) 

18. TARTA allows eligible employees to participate in a yearly competition called a Bus 
Roadeo ("ROADEO"), which is sponsored by the American Public Transportation 
Association ("APTA"). APTA rules dictate who is eligible to participate. APTA's 
criteria for ROADEO include accidents and attendance, but they are not the same 
as TARTA's criteria for selection for full-time bus operator training. Approximately 
half of the TARTA drivers qualify for the ROADEO on a yearly basis. In order to 
participate, one must have been a bus operator for one calendar year prior to the 
ROADEO date. Ms. Taylor was ROADEO eligible in 2000, but she did not 
participate due to another job commitment. (T. 47, 105-106, 129, 149, 169) 

19. At a Step 2 grievance meeting with Mr. Deslatte and Ms. Taylor, TARTA's Human 
Resource Director, Mr. Gerald Bowsher, told Mr. Deslatte that he viewed the filing of 
ULPs and grievances on the same issue as borderline harassment because it 
required TARTA to defend essentially same charge in two separate venues. (T. 55-
56, 114, 116, 230, 241-242) 

20. Ms. Peaches Bankston is a part-time bus operator for TARTA. She started in part
time training in April 2001, and went into training for full-time status in August 2001. 
After beginning full-time employment, she had some problems and asked to be 
temporarily reassigned to part-time. She then filed a complaint against TARTA 
through the Union and was successful in returning to full-time driving. She was 
demoted to part-time again for disobeying an order. She talked to Mr. Stewart and 
was allowed to go back to full-time training in June 2002, but was not promoted to 
full-time status. (T. 59-62, 66-73, 75-76, 81-80, 84, 86) 

21. In July 2002, Ms. Bankston filed a grievance over her last attempt to go back to full
time training. The grievance is still pending. (T. 65, 90) 

22. Mr. Destatte sent Mr. Stewart a letter on March 25, 2002, asking TARTA to identify 
the specific criteria used to determine who would be promoted from part-time to full-
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time status. Mr. Stewart's response simply referred Mr. Deslatte to the CSA. (T. 
98-99; C. Exh. C-2, C-3) 

23. Ms. Taylor sent Mr. Stewart a letter on June 13, 2002, asking why she was not 
promoted from part-time to full-time status. Mr. Stewart responded by memo of 
June 18, 2002, referring to Section 31 of the CSA and indicating that other 
candidates better fit TARTA's needs. (C. Exh. 7, 8) 

24. On April 18, 2002, Mr. Deslatte filed a ULP with SERB in case number 2002-ULP-
04-0283, alleging that TARTA refused to provide information regarding the selection 
process as well as with regard to other procedures and policies. SERB dismissed 
the ULP with prejudice for lack of probable cause to believe that a violation had 
occurred. (T. 119-120) 

25. Ms. Taylor has worked three part-time jobs while employed byTARTA. She worked 
at Montgomery Ward until March 2001, and at Toledo Building Services in early 
2002. She has worked at Sunset Village since May 2002. (T. 170-173) 

26. TARTA asked Ms. Taylor to work part-time during the summer of 2000, but she 
declined because she was working at Montgomery Ward. (T. 174-175, 224) 

27. Although Ms. Taylor was passed over for promotion from part-time to full-time status 
in 1998, 1999, 2000, and in early 2001, she did not file either a grievance or ULP at 
SERB until April 2001. (T. 180-181) 

28. Of the three people selected for the October 2002 full-time training class, two had 
fewer absences than Ms. Taylor. One had one more absence but no accidents, 
complaints, or disciplines; moreover, his attendance issues had occurred earlier in 
the year and appeared to be resolved. All three selections had fewer accidents, 
fewer complaints, fewer disciplines, and had better Boss Test scores. (T. 285-287; 
R. Exh. 5-0) 

29. In his decision not to promote Ms. Taylor to full-time status, Mr. Austin did not take 
into consideration her declining to work the summer of 2000 at TARTA. (T. 323-
324) 

30. Of the six people selected for the June 2002 training class, all had fewer absences 
and accidents than Ms. Taylor. Five people had fewer complaints; the person who 
had the same number of complaints as Ms. Taylor had no disciplines and a Boss 
Test score of 3 while Ms. Taylor had four disciplines and a Boss Test score of 5. 
(T. 340-344; R. Exh. 5-0) 
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31. Mr. Stewart did consider Ms. Taylor's unwillingness to work for TARTA in the 
summer of 2000 when he made his decision not to promote her to full-time status. 
(T. 362-363, 401-402) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

At hearing, counsel for TARTA argued that the trier of fact could not consider events 
outside the ninety-day statute of limitations for filing an unfair labor practice charge. 
TARTA sought to exclude evidence relating to previous promotional classes in July 2001, 
November 2001, and March 2002 for which the Charging Party was not selected. This 
evidence was allowed pending final decision after briefing. The statute of limitations is not 
the same standard as that for the admission of evidence. Section 4117.12(B) states in 
part: "The board may not issue a notice of hearing based upon any unfair labor practice 
occurring more than ninety days prior to the filing of the charge with the board, unless the 
person aggrieved thereby is prevented from filing the charge by reason of service in the 
armed forces, in which event the ninety-day period shall be computed from the day of his 
discharge." This provision simply means that an unfair labor practice must be filed within 
ninety days of its occurrence. This provision does not preclude admission of relevant 
evidence from outside the ninety-day window that may be probative to the issue of whether 
an unfair labor practice occurred. 

TARTA is alleged to have violated §§4117.11(A)(1), (A)(3), and (A)(4), which 
provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117[;] 

* * * 

(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment 
or any term or condition of employment on the basis of 
the exercise of rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117[;] 

(4) Discharge or otherwise discriminate against an 
employee because he has filed charges or given 
testimony under Chapter 4117[.] 

Due to a lack of a preponderance of evidence in the record in support of the allegations 
and for the reasons contained within the analysis and discussion to follow, the Respondent 
is found to have not violated §§ 4117 .11 (A)(1 ), (A)(3), or (A)( 4). 
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The standard of review by SERB to determine whether a§ 4117.11 (1) violation has 
occurred has been clearly stated.4 More recently, in In re Hamilton County Sheriff, 
SERB 98-002 (1-23-98), affd sub nom. Hamilton County Sheriff v. SERB, No. A98-00714 
(Mag. Dec., CP, Hamilton, 10-9-98), SERB restated this standard: 

This inquiry is objective, rather than subjective; neither the employer's intent 
nor the individual employee's subjective view of the employer's conduct 
would be considered by SERB in determining whether an O.R.C. 
Section 4117.11 (A)(1) violation has occurred; and a violation will be found if, 
under the totality of the circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that 
the employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise of 
their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by the public employer's conduct 

It is not in dispute that Ms. Taylor's activities, filing ULPs and grievances, are 
protected rights under§ 4117.03(A). Public employees have the right to form, join, assist, 
or participate in any employee organization of their own choosing under§ 4117.03(A)(1 ), 
and to engage "in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other 
mutual aid and protection" under§ 4117.03(A)(2). 

The question then is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, Ms. Taylor 
was interfered with, restrained, or coerced by TARTA in the exercise of her Chapter 4117 
rights. In State Emp. Relations Bd. v. Adena Local School Dist Bd. of Edn., 66 Ohio St 3d 
485, 498, 1993 SERB 4-43, 4-50 (1993) ("Adena"), the Ohio Supreme Court articulated the 
following test to be applied by SERB to determine whether an individual has been the 
victim of discrimination on the basis of protected activity under§ 4117.11 (A)(3): 

[T]he "in part" approach must be broad enough to take into account the 
actual or true motive of the employer. Thus, only when the employer's 
decision regarding the employee was actually motivated by antiunion animus 
must a ULP be found. In determining actual motivation in the context of the 
"in part" test, the requirements of R.C. Chapter 4117 are best fulfilled when 
SERB considers the evidence before it in the framework of a single inquiry, 
focusing on the intent of the employer. 

To demonstrate a prima facie case of discrimination under § 4117.11 (A)(3), the 
Complainant must establish the following elements: (1) that the employee at issue is a 
public employee and was employed at relevant times by the respondent; (2) that he or she 
engaged in protected activity under Chapter 4117, which fact was either known to the 
respondent or suspected by the respondent; and (3) that the respondent took adverse 

4See, e.g., In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept, SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd, 
SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept, 1995 SERB 4-46 (41h Dist Ct App., Pickaway, 12-7-95): 
In re Springfield Local School Dist Bd. of Ed., SERB 97-007 (5-1-97). 
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action against the employee under circumstances that, if left unrebutted by other evidence, 
could lead to a reasonable inference that the respondent's actions were related to the 
employee engaging in protected activity under Chapter 4117. In re SERB v. Fulton County 
Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96).5 

Ms. Taylor filed unfair labor practices over not being promoted to full-time status and 
related issues on four occasions other than the instant charge. These activities are 
protected under§§ 4117.03(A)(1) and (A)(2). TARTA responded to these unfair labor 
practices during the investigation stage and was obviously aware that Ms. Taylor had filed 
them, which satisfies the second element 

The Respondent took adverse action against Ms. Taylor by failing to promote her to 
full-time status. If left unrebutted, this action could lead to a reasonable inference that the 
Respondent's actions were related to the employee's engaging in protected activity. 

The Respondent, however, successfully rebuts any presumption of anti-union 
animus by proving that its actions in not promoting Ms. Taylor to full-time were based upon 
its conclusion that other candidates were better suited for full-time training. The CBA gives 
TARTA wide discretion in determining who will be accepted for full-time training. It states 
only that "part-time bus operators will be given consideration for full-time openings." Right 
or wrong, TARTA has succeeded in negotiations in resisting the Union's desire to insert 
definite criteria into this section. T 121-122, 213-214. 

TARTA takes this "victory" very seriously, often asserting to its practical detriment 
during the course of these proceedings that "we don't have to give a reason." Under 
ordinary circumstances, although it may not play well in terms of open communication 
between an employer and its workforce, this assertion is correct, so long as the reason is 
not a discriminatory one. Complainant has established a prima facie case of discrimination 
by TARTA against Ms. Taylor for assertion of Chapter 4117 rights. As a result, TARTA 
must show that its motivation in failing to promote Ms. Taylor was not discriminatory. 6 

Ms. Taylor scored lowest on the Boss Test Ms. Taylor had seven accidents in five 
years of part-time driving. Her attendance record was poor. She was absent thirty-five 
days in 1999 and seventy-five days in 2000. She had deficiencies in every category, unlike 
the other part-time drivers who were considered and selected. Ms. Taylor was also not 

5 Section 4117.11 (A)(1) represents an alleged derivative violation of§ 411711 (A)(3) in 
this instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n. 14. 

'This situation is not the same as saying that TARTA must offer specific reasons or criteria. 
TARTA correctly points out that the CBA gives it the right to give consideration without articulating 
specific criteria. But TARTA must understand the practical risk of its management style. Failure to 
simply and rationally state the basis for its full-time bus operator selections might cause the Union to 
continue to raise the specter of discrimination, leading to costly litigation, which a healthy dose of 
communication could cure. 
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chosen for promotion before she filed unfair labor practice charges. She was treated no 
differently after filing her ULPs than before. Her work record remained substantially the 
same. The other employees who were chosen for full-time training may not have filed any 
unfair labor practice charges, but they also were not consistently deficient in as many 
categories as was Ms. Taylor. Moreover, the determination of the § 4117.11 (A)(4) 
allegation essentially is subsumed within the above analysis and discussion. Having found 
that the Respondent did not violate § 4117.11 (A)(3) by failing to promote Ms. Taylor, but 
instead had legitimate "business" reasons for its treatment of Ms. Taylor, likewise, the 
Respondent's actions do not constitute a violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(4). For the foregoing 
reasons, the Respondent has successfully rebutted the Complainant's prima facie case 
and presumption of anti-union animus. The unfair labor practice charge and complaint 
should be dismissed. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Toledo Area Regional Transit Authority is a "public employer" as defined in 
§4117.01(8). (S 1) 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 697 of Toledo Ohio is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. The Respondent's actions in failing to promote Lynette Taylor did not violate 
§§4117.11(A)(1), (A)(3), or (A)(4). 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, : 

Complainant, 

v. 

CITY OF SHEFFIELD LAKE, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 2002-ULP-11-0751 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 15, 2002, the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association ("OPBA") 
filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of Sheffield Lake ("City") alleging that 
the City violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (5). 1 On February 27, 2003, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the City 
violated§§ 4117.11 (A) (1) and (5) by refusing to execute a successor collective bargaining 
agreement that reflected all of the agreed-upon terms. 

On April 23, 2003, a Complaint was issued. On April 28, 2003, the OPBA filed a 
motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07 (A). A hearing 
was held on May 20, 2003, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. 
All parties filed post-hearing briefs on July 9, 2003. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the City violated§§ 4117.11 (A) (1) and (A)(5) by refusing to execute 
a successor collective bargaining agreement that reflected all of the terms 
that had been agreed upon by the parties. 

1All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The City of Sheffield Lake is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01(8). (S.) 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by § 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive representative for three bargaining 
units consisting of all full-time police officers, sergeants, and full-time dispatchers 
within the City's Police Department. (S.) 

3. The City and the OPBA were parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective 
from January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2001 ("CBA"}, containing a grievance 
procedure that culminated in final and binding arbitration. Negotiations for a 
successor collective bargaining agreement began in late October 2001, and were 
resolved through a conciliation award dated July 15, 2002. (S.; T. 11) 

4. The initial proposal presented by the OPBA at the first negotiating session with 
regard to health insurance read as follows: 

The union proposes that the current health plans be maintained for 
the life of the agreement and that the employer pays the full premium. 

(T.11; U. Exh. 3) 

5. In the fall of 2001, the City received notice that the medical insurance premiums 
under its current plan would increase for all of its employees. The family plan would 
now cost the City $1,277.64 per month. Through Lorain County ("County"}, the City 
received a proposal for health insurance for all of its employees. Under the County 
proposal, the monthly family plan premium would cost the City $632.41 per month. 
In order to benefit from the savings contained the new proposal, the City needed to 
contact the County before December 1, 2001, to enroll. (S.) 

6. Under the Insurance article, the previous CBA provided as follows: 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by 'T," followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by 
"S." All references to the OPBA exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "U. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number(s). All references to the City Exhibits in the record are indicated 
parenthetically by "Cty.Exh." followed by the exhibit number(s.) References to the transcript and 
exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest 
that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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Section 1. The employer shall pay the entire cost of the 
medical insurance health plan that the employer provides for 
the employee. In the event the employee chooses family 
coverage, the employee shall pay the lesser of one-half (1/2) 
of the difference between single and family member cost. or 
the sum of Ninety and 00/100 Dollars ($90.00) per month. 
Should the City exercise its right to change the medical 
insurance health plan, the method of paying for the coverage 
shall be subject to reopening for resolution by negotiations. 

(S; T. 85-87) 

7. In November 2001, the parties' second negotiation session, the OPBA agreed to 
allow the City to switch to the new health plan before the negotiations for the 
successor CBA were completed, so long as the City paid the full cost of any 
premiums for the life of the successor agreement. (T. 17-18, 67-68, 191-192) 

8. The City did not present any written contract proposals to the OPBA until the City 
submitted its pre fact-finding brief and pre-hearing brief before conciliation. In this 
submission, the City listed health insurance as one of the items upon which the City 
and the Union had reached tentative agreement. Therefore, neitherthe fact-finder's 
report nor the conciliator's award addressed health insurance. (T. 19-23; U. 
Exhs. 6, 7) 

9. In early September 2002, OPBA bargaining committee member Sgt. Jerry Paysor 
received a draft of the successor CBA from City Law Director Daniel Wightman. 
The draft contained the following health insurance provision: 

Article XXIX 

Section 1. The City shall provide employee hospitalization coverage 
on all employees. The employer shall pay the entire cost on the 
medical insurance plan the employer provides the employee. In the 
event the employee chooses family coverage, the employee shall pay 
the lesser of one-half ( 1 /2) of the amount the cost of the family 
membership exceeds $700.00, but not to exceed $90.00 per month. 

(T. 22; Cty. Exh. 2) 

1 O. Upon receipt of the draft CBA, Sgt. Paysor called OPBA in-house legal counsel 
Kevin Powers to inform him that the insurance provision was incorrect. (T. 22, 44) 

11. At approximately the same time, Mr. Wightman called Mr. Powers and asked him 
what his recollection of the health insurance provision was. Mr. Powers agreed to 
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check his notes regarding the health insurance prov1s1on and get back to 
Mr. Wightman. Mr. Powers sent a letter dated September 12, 2002, confirming 
Mr. Powers' and Sgt. Paysor's recollections that there would be no cost sharing by 
OPBA during the term of the successor CBA. (T. 25, 26; U. Exh. 8) 

12. Mr. Powers, receiving no response from Mr. Wightman, wrote him another letter on 
October 29, 2002, to remind him they needed to get the CBA signed and that he 
had not yet received a first draft. (T. 26, 27 U. Exh 9) 

13. Mr. Powers then received a letter from Mr. Wightman dated October 31, 2002, 
which made no reference to health insurance, but stated that City Council had 
"passed" the enclosed police and dispatch contracts. (U. Exh. 10) 

14. After reviewing the enclosed contracts, Mr. Powers struck the health insurance 
language that the OPBA had not agreed to, initialed and dated his changes, and 
sent the contracts back to Mr. Wightman via letter dated November 11, 2002. 
(T. 26-28, U. Exh 11) 

15. On November 15, 2002, Mr. Powers filed the unfair labor practice charge herein 
regarding the City's failure to execute the CBA. (T. 29-30) 

16. To date the City has not collected any health insurance premiums from OPBA 
bargaining-unit members. The members have received pay increases, longevity, 
and other cash payments under the terms of the successor CSA. (T. 45, 59, 61, 
115-116, 119) 

17. Then-OPBA representative Shawn Carr's notes on the OPBA contract proposal 
reflect a handwritten "agreement" next to Article XXIX, Insurance, which called for 
the employer to pay the entire health insurance premium. (T. 74-77; U. Exh. 4) 

18. At the November 2001 negotiations session, when the OPBA agreed to allow the 
City to contract with the new carrier, Sgt. Paysor told Mr. Wightman that their 
agreement was based upon the Union making no co-payments. Mr. Wightman 
disagreed, saying they'd have to work on the co-payment issue. (T. 101, 166-167) 

19. The Law Director's report, contained in the minutes from the September 10, 2002 
Sheffield Lake City Council meeting, reflects a dispute with the police regarding the 
health insurance provisions in the CBA and that Mr. Wightman would be getting 
together with an OPBA representative to discuss the issue further. (U. Exh. 13) 

20. Despite the differences regarding the health-insurance provisions, City Council 
passed ordinances on September 10, 2002, adopting the full-time police 
dispatcher's CBA and authorizing the City to enter into an agreement with the 
Sheffield Lake full-time patrol officers and sergeants. (T. 129-130; Cty. Exhs. 1, 2) 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Refusal to Bargain 

The Complaint in this case alleges that by refusing to execute the agreement 
reached between the parties, the City has refused to bargain collectively with the OPBA, in 
violation of§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). Sections 4117.11(A) (1) and (A)(5) state in 
relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives, to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

* * * 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 
employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified 
pursuant to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

It is not disputed that the OPBA is recognized as the exclusive representative of 
three bargaining units consisting of all full-time police officers, sergeants, and full-time 
dispatchers within the City's police department. Included in the definition of "to bargain 
collectively" in§ 4117.01 (G) is "executing a written contract incorporating the terms of any 
agreement reached." Section 4117.09(A) provides that "the parties to any collective 
bargaining agreement shall reduce the agreement to writing and both execute it." SERB 
has held that failure to sign a collective bargaining agreement, once reached, may 
constitute the foundation for a refusal-to-bargain unfair labor practice charge against either 
the employer,§ 4117.11 (A)(5), or the employee organization,§ 4117.11 (B)(3). In re New 
Lexington Ed Assn/Ohio Federation of Teachers, SERB 95-009 (6-26-95) ("New 
Lexington"), citing In re Fort Jennings Bd of Ed, SERB 86-014, p. 256 at n.3 (4-11-86). In 
New Lexington, SERB held that acceptance of an employer's contract offer is present 
when no evidence of fraud on the employer's part exists, the employee organization has 
voted to ratify the employer's offer, and the employee organization has accepted the 
benefits of the contract. 

In New Lexington, the employee organization refused to sign a CBA on the grounds 
that no meeting of the minds occurred on a first year "me-too" clause or on some alleged 
discrepancies in the salary schedule. The employee organization argued that the school 
board's "final offer" was accepted by the membership contingent only on working out 
discrepancies in the salary schedules. The members received raises under the same 
agreement that they failed to sign. SERB held: "NLEA cannot have it both ways, it cannot 
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accept all the benefits of the CBA while refusing to sign a contract***. Having accepted 
the benefits, NLEA has accepted the school district's 'final offer'." Id at 3-66. 

In the instant case, the testimony reflects that the Union understood, in return for its 
agreement to allow the City to enter into the new health insurance contract in advance of 
the completion of negotiations, that the City would pay the entire health insurance premium 
for the life of the CSA The testimony also reflects that the City's only comments, after 
much silence, regarding the Union's understanding came at the first negotiation session 
wherein the City stated it would have to work on the no co-payment issue, and again at the 
second negotiation session in late November 2002, wherein the City indicated that it could 
not go along with the premium payment as it expected to offer the same deal to all three 
unions. Rather than stop, acknowledge the lack of an agreement, and continue to 
negotiate, the City accepted the benefits of the deal by contracting with the county for the 
less costly plan. The City then presented an unsigned CSA that included a premium
sharing provision to City Council for approval. 

The City has failed to bargain in good faith by refusing to execute a successor 
agreement. Under circumstances in which it has accepted the benefits of the agreement, it 
is now estopped from alleging the non-existence of the same agreement. The City's 
agreement to the terms of the CBA must be inferred from its actions. 

B. The Remedy 

The City should be ordered to cease and desist from refusing to bargain collectively 
with the Union. Additionally, the City should be ordered to execute immediately the 
successor collective bargaining agreement to which it agreed, including the provision 
requiring the City to pay the total health insurance premium for the life of the contract. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The City of Sheffield Lake is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (8). 

2. The Ohio Patrolman's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01 (0). 

3. The City has violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to execute a successor 
collective bargaining agreement under the terms to which it has agreed and under 
which it has already accepted a benefit. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

On March 24, 2003, the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association (the "Union") filed 
an unfair labor practice charge against the Geauga County Sheriff (the "Sheriff'), alleging 
that the Sheriff violated §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 1 On May 22, 2003, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe 
that the Sheriff violated§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to bargain over the effects of 
a new health care coverage and benefits program. 

On August 18, 2003, a complaint was issued. The Union filed a motion to intervene, 
which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). On October 8, 2003, the parties 
submitted joint stipulations of fact and exhibits in lieu of hearing. Subsequently, all parties 
filed briefs setting forth their legal arguments. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Sheriff violated§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to bargain 
over the effects of a new health care coverage and benefits program? 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Sheriff is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). (S. 1) 

2. The Union is an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D) and is the 
exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the Sheriff's employees. (S. 2) 

3. The Geauga County Commissioners (the "Commissioners") are a "legislative body" 
as defined by§ 4117.10(8). (S. 3) 

4. The Sheriff and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
("Agreement") effective from January 1, 2001 through December 31, 2003, 
containing a grievance procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. 
The Agreement does not have a midterm bargaining procedure. The Agreement 
was reached through the statutory conciliation process. The Agreement was 
executed on September 29, 2001. (S. 7; Jt. Exh. 1; SERB Case Nos. OO-MED-11-
1280 to -1290) 

5. Article XXXV of the current Agreement covers health insurance. Under the 
Agreement, bargaining-unit employees were given the option of choosing between 
one HMO Plan and one PPO Plan for health, medical services, or hospitalization 
benefits. Article XXXV, Section 1 provides as follows: "The Employer shall provide 
hospitalization, medical service coverage, and health insurance benefits at a benefit 
level substantially comparable to or better than the existing coverage. There will be 
no increase in the employee contribution or reduction in coverage for this 
insurance." Section 4 provides as follows: "The Employer expressly reserves the 
right to change coverage's [sic] or carriers, so long as the new coverage is 
substantially comparable to the existing coverage." (S. 8; Jt. Exh. 1, at p. 26) 

6. On October 11, 2002, the Commissioners announced changes in the health care 
plans effective January 1, 2003, for all Geauga County employees, including the 
bargaining-unit employees employed by the Sheriff and represented by the Union. 
Under the new plans, the employees were given the option of choosing among two 
different HMO and two different PPO plans. Regardless of the HMO or PPO plan 
chosen, in order to maintain the same level of health insurance coverage as an 
employee had before the change, the employee contribution increased 
substantially. The other HMO and PPO plan choices offered reduced levels of 

2 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are indicated 
parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number. References to the Joint Exhibits in the 
record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to 
the stipulations and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not 
intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of 
Fact. 
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coverage and also involved an increase in the employee contribution. (S. 9; Jt 
Exh. 2; the Appendix, infra, sets forth the full text of parties' stipulation of the 
insurance changes) 

7. The Union contacted the Sheriff regarding the Commissioners' announcement of 
mid-term health insurance changes. The Sheriff responded that he had no statutory 
authority to contract for health insurance, and therefore had no ability to prevent the 
changes to be made to the employees' health care coverage. The Sheriff did not 
offer to bargain with the Union over the health insurance changes. (S. 10) 

8. The Union contacted the Commissioners and asked them to reconsider the health 
insurance changes. The Commissioners refused to consider the Union's request. 
(S. 11; Jt. Exhs. 3, 6) 

9. On January 1, 2003, the Commissioners implemented the announced changes to 
the employees' health care coverage without bargaining with the Union over either 
the changes themselves or the implementation of the changes. (S. 12) 

10. Since January 1, 2003, the bargaining-unit employees have experienced higher 
employee contributions, higher medical expenses, and reductions in coverage and 
benefits. (S. 13) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 
• • • 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its employees 
recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

Section 4117.01(G) provides as follows: 

"To bargain collectively" means to perform the mutual obligation of the public 
employer, by its representatives, and the representatives of its employees to 
negotiate in good faith at reasonable times and places with respect to wages, 
hours, terms, and other conditions of employment and the continuation, 
modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective bargaining 
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agreement, with the intention of reaching an agreement, or to resolve 
questions arising under the agreement. "To bargain collectively" includes 
executing a written contract incorporating the terms of any agreement 
reached. The obligation to bargain collectively does not mean that either 
party is compelled to agree to a proposal nor does it require the making of a 
concession. 

The role and the description of the legislative body for collective bargaining are set 
forth in § 4117.1 O(B), which provides as follows: 

The public employer shall submit a request for funds necessary to 
implement an agreement and for approval of any other matter requiring the 
approval of the appropriate legislative body to the legislative body within 
fourteen days of the date on which the parties finalize the agreement, 
unless otherwise specified, but if the appropriate legislative body is not in 
session at the time, then within fourteen days after it convenes. The 
legislative body must approve or reject the submission as a whole, and the 
submission shall be deemed approved if the legislative body fails to act 
within thirty days after the public employer submits the agreement. The 
parties may specify that those provisions of the agreement not requiring 
action by a legislative body are effective and operative in accordance with 
the terms of the agreement, provided there has been compliance with 
division (C) of this section. If the legislative body rejects the submission of 
the public employer, either party may reopen all or part of the entire 
agreement. 

As used in this section, "legislative body" includes the general assembly, the 
governing board of a municipal corporation, school district, college or 
university, village, township, or board of county commissioners or any other 
body that has authority to approve the budget of their public jurisdiction. 

Good-faith bargaining requires that the public employer and the legislative body 
each keep within their respective roles in the collective bargaining process. The public 
employer who engages in negotiations is separate and apart from the legislative body. 
SERB v. Martins Ferrv, 1991 SERB 4-62, 4-65 (7th Dist Ct App, Belmont, 6-6-91 ). 

In In re Columbiana County Bd of Comm rs, SERB 99-019 (6-30-99) ("Columbiana 
County"), at 3-122, SERB discussed the obligations of the public employer and the 
legislative body, holding as follows: 

Once a collective bargaining agreement is reached, whether through the 
negotiation process or by operation of law under O.R.C. §§ 4117.1 O(B) or 
4117.14(G), the agreement is binding upon the legislative body, the 
employer, the employee organization, and the employees covered by the 
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agreement. 0.R.C. § 4117.10(C). At that point, the legislative body is 
obligated to fund the agreement. 

After the collective bargaining agreement is in place, the responsibilities 
under the agreement fall on the employees, along with their exclusive 
representative, and the employer. It is the employer's duty to administer the 
agreement properly. If the employer does not comply with the agreement and 
receives a grievance-arbitration award in the employees' favor, it is the 
employer's obligation to comply with the award. The employer may seek 
additional funds from the legislative body, and the legislative body may 
approve additional funds for the employer. 

In In re Toledo City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-005 (10-1-01) ("Toledo"), at 3-
29, when addressing a midterm change to a collective bargaining agreement, SERB 
established the following standard: 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining agreement without 
the negotiation by and agreement of both parties unless immediate action is 
required due to ( 1) exigent circumstances that were unforeseen at the time of 
negotiations or (2) legislative action taken by a higher-level legislative body 
after the agreement became effective that requires a change to conform to 
the statute. 

Ohio Revised Code § 305.171, entitled "Group Health Insurance for County 
Employees," provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) The board of county commissioners of any county may contract for, 
purchase, or otherwise procure and pay all or any part of the cost of 
group insurance policies that may provide benefits including, but not 
limited to, hospitalization, surgical care, major medical care, disability, 
dental care, eye care, medical care, hearing aids, or prescription 
drugs, and that may provide sickness and accident insurance, group 
legal services, or group life insurance, or a combination of any of the 
foregoing types of insurance or coverage for county officers and 
employees and their immediate dependents from the funds or 
budgets from which the officers or employees are compensated for 
services, issued by an insurance company. 

(B) The board also may negotiate and contract for any plan or plans of 
health care services with health insuring corporations holding a 
certificate of authority under Chapter 1751. of the Revised Code, 
provided that each officer or employee shall be permitted to do both 
of the following: 



SERB Opinion 2004-001 
Case No. 2003-ULP-03-0143 
Page 6 of 9 

(1) Exercise an option between a plan offered by an insurance company 
and such plan or plans offered by health insuring corporations under 
this division, on the condition that the officer or employee shall pay 
any amount by which the cost of the plan chosen by such officer or 
employee pursuant to this division exceeds the cost of the plan 
offered under division (A) of this section; 

(2) Change from one of the plans to another at a time each year as 
determined by the board. 

The parties do not dispute that matters related to health insurance benefits 
constitute mandatory subjects of collective bargaining. See, e.g., In re Office of Collective 
Bargaining (Ohio Health Care Employees, District 1199), SERB 89-026 (10-5-89). Nor do 
they dispute that under Toledo, the Sheriff was required to bargain to agreement with the 
Union before modifying the existing contract language regarding health care coverage and 
benefits. Rather, the Sheriff defends his actions in not bargaining the effects of the 
Commissioners' announced changes to the health care coverage provided to all Geauga 
County employees by asserting his lack of statutory authority to contract for health care 
coverage for the employees represented by the Union. 

The Sheriff does not argue that exigent circumstances exist that excuse his failure to 
bargain; nor does he assert that the changes to the health care coverage and benefits 
program were made by a higher-level legislative body. Rather, he argues that the 
Commissioners acted as his agent or representative under Chapter 4117 for the purpose 
of securing the health care benefits portion of the Agreement. The Sheriff argues that the 
facts of this case are distinguishable from those before SERB in Columbiana County, 
supra. The Sheriff argues that the Commissioners were not acting in a policy-making 
capacity when they procured and made changes to the health insurance benefits for 
Geauga County employees; rather, he asserts that the Commissioners took these actions 
in an agency capacity seeking to ensure the fulfillment of a term of employment found in a 
collective bargaining agreement. (Respondent's post-hearing brief, at 8)3 

It is true, and the parties do not dispute, that the Sheriffs powers and duties, set 
forth in Ohio Revised Code § 311. 07, do not include the power to contract for employee 
health care coverage. Ohio Revised Code § 305.171 permits the Commissioners to 

3 These arguments were previously presented to SERB in Case No. 03-ULP-03-0142. In that 
case, also filed on March 24, 2003, the Union filed an unfair labor practice charge against the 
Geauga County Commissioners, alleging that the Commissioners had also violated 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by implementing a new health care coverage and benefits program for 
bargaining-unit employees without bargaining. On May 22, 2003, SERB dismissed that unfair labor 
practice charge for lack of jurisdiction and because the charge did not allege a violation covered 
under Chapter 4117. SERB's dismissal of that charge is the subject of a pending mandamus action 
in the Ohio Court of Appeals, Tenth Appellate District. That proceeding does not affect the liability 
of the Sheriff under§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 
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contract for this benefit for County officers and employees, and establishes parameters for 
the Commissioners to follow when entering into such contracts. 

SERB has construed the Union's unfair labor practice charge against the Sheriff as 
a charge stemming from the Sheriff's refusal to bargain with the Union over the effects of 
the Commissioners' announced changes to the health care coverage and benefits program 
for all Geauga County employees for calendar year 2003. This situation is analogous to 
the one SERB addressed in In re City of Akron, SERB 97-006 (5-1-97), at 3-37. 
Addressing the legislative acts of a city's civil service commission, SERB recognized: 
"SERB cannot prohibit a city or its civil service commission from enacting legislation, 
including civil service rules, because such a remedy exceeds SERB's jurisdiction; SERB 
must focus on the public employer's implementation of those legislative enactments." 

The express terms of the Agreement require the Sheriff, as employer, to provide 
health care coverage. For the duration of the Agreement, Article XXXV, Section 1 
promises no increases in employee contributions or reductions in coverage. When the 
Commissioners announced changes in the coverage available under the county plan, the 
Sheriff, as the public employer, had the obligation to bargain with the exclusive 
representative over the effects of these changes.4 Instead of requesting midterm 
bargaining, however, the Sheriff violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by effectively 
engaging in a unilateral midterm modification of the Agreement. The Sheriff unilaterally 
modified Article XXXV, Section 1, by simply passing along the changes announced by the 
Commissioners, including increases in the employee contribution and reductions in 
coverage, to the bargaining-unit employees. One can easily identify, without limitation, a 
few of the options the parties might have considered through collective bargaining, such as 
the following: (A) the Sheriff might have absorbed the cost of the employee contribution for 
calendar year 2003, so that the employees could retain the previously existing level of 
coverage without incurring an increased contribution, while possibly impacting another area 
of the Sheriff's operations; (B) through negotiations, the Union and the Sheriff might have 
concluded that the increase in the cost of providing health care coverage would be best 
addressed by establishing a cost-sharing mechanism, and then negotiated the amount of 
the cost to be shared by each; (C) the Union might have negotiated a non-economic 
benefit for bargaining-unit members in exchange for the increased economic burden 

4 The relationship among the employee organization. the public employer, the legislative 
body, and the binding nature of the collective bargaining agreement under § 4117.1 O(C) as 
mentioned in Columbiana County. supra, is one that might be more fully explored by the Ohio 
General Assembly. Under Chapter 4117, if a legislative body takes an actionthat might arguably 
constitute a repudiation of a term of the collective bargaining agreement, how is the legislative body 
held accountable? Or does the binding nature of the collective bargaining agreement extend to the 
legislative body only to the extent that it is required to fund the agreement? Under what 
circumstances is a public employer entitled to additional funding during the term of a collective 
bargaining agreement? If no adequate remedy at law exists, either under Chapter 4117 or in a 
common pleas court action to enforce the terms of the collective bargaining agreement, perhaps a 
mandamus action against the legislative body is necessary. 
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caused by increased health care coverage costs; or (D) the Sheriff and the Union might 
have reviewed the Sheriffs budget and level of funding and then addressed possible 
means to shift budget dollars toward employee health care costs. 

By refusing to engage in collective bargaining, however, the Sheriff foreclosed the 
formulation of any options for addressing the effects of the Commissioners' actions, and 
required the bargaining-unit employees to accept the announced changes as a fail 
accompli. This action constitutes a failure to bargain in good faith in violation of 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). The appropriate remedy is to return the parties to the status 
quo as it existed before January 1, 2003. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The Geauga County Sheriff is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. The Geauga County Sheriff violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it failed to 
bargain over the effects of a new health care coverage and benefits program. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant§ 4117.12(B), 
requiring the Geauga County Sheriff to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of 
their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by failing 
to bargain over the effects of a new health care coverage and benefits 
program, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ); and 
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(2) Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by failing to bargain over the effects of a new health care 
coverage and benefits program, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117. 11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Return the bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio 
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association to the status quo as it existed 
before January 1, 2003, including reimbursing bargaining-unit 
employees for any increased contributions and expenses incurred as 
a result of the changes in the health care coverage and benefits 
program effective January 1, 2003; 

(2) Bargain in good faith with the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent 
Association over the effects of the changes in the health care 
coverage and benefits program; 

(3) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio Patrolmen's 
Benevolent Association work, the Notice to Employees furnished by 
the State Employment Relations Board stating that the Geauga 
County Sheriff shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(4) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 



APPENDIX 

Under the new plan, effective January 1, 2003, bargaining unit employees have the option of 

choosing between two (2) different HMO plans: 

HMO 3001-M HMO 1001-M 
Network Network 

Deductible None None 

Out of Pocket Maximum $1,000/$2,000 None 

Coinsurance 80%120% 100% 

Office Visit Co-Pav 5 $10 
Specialist Office Visit Co-Pav 5 --$10 
Urgent Care Cooav 5 $10 
V 1s1on Exam/hardware 5 $10 
Emergency Room Copay '20 $50 
Prescription DruE! $10/' ,201$35 $5/$157$30 
Employee Contribution (Month iv 1 

Single 0 $42.40 
Family 0 $104.73 

Dental 0 $0 
Vision 0 $0 

As is evident. in order to maintain coverage in the same HMO plan provided prior the change (HMO 

1001-M), employees with families must pay an additional $104.73 per month plus additional prescription co-

pays. A single employee must pay an additional $42.40 per month plus additional prescription co-pays. 

Previously. there was no monthly contribution requirement. 

The other HMO offered (HMO 3001-M) also drastically reduces benefits and increases employee 

contributions. Under this plan. the insurance coverage is reduced from 100% to an 80% coinsurance plan. 

Moreover. prescription drug insurance is increased similar to the new 1001-M plan. 

The PPO plan that was in effect prior to January 1, 2003 was as follows: 

PPO 10080-M 
Network Non-Network 

DeductiblC" $ l 00/$200 $3001$600 

Out of Pocket Maximum $01$0 $I ,800/$3,600 

Coinsurance 100% 80%/20% 

Office Visit Co-Pav 10 Ded. 80%/20% 
Specialist Office Visit Co-Pav JO Ded. 80%/20% 
Urgent Care ConaY 10 Ded. 80°/o/20o/o 
V 1sion Exam/hardware 0Ptional Optional 
Emergency Room Copay $50 $50 
Prescriotion Drue $51$5 DAW Not Covered 
Employee Contribution (Monthly) 

Single $0 
~ 

Familv $0 
Dental $0 

-

Vision 
Single $0 
Familv $0 

-



Under the new plan, employees choose among three (3) PPO plans: 

PPO 8656-M 
Network Non-Network --Deductible ~200/MOO $5001$ I .000 

Out of Pocket Maximum $I ,000/$2.000 $3,0001$6,000 
Coinsurance 80%/20% 60o/o/40% 
Office Visit Co-Pav 20 

·-. 
Ded. 60%/40% 

Specialist Office Visit Co-Pav 40 Ded. 60%/ 4 0% 
Urgent Care Conav ,40 Dcd. 60%/40% 
Vision Exam/hardware 20 $20 
Emeroency Room Cooav $100 $100 
Prescriotion Drug $I 0/$20/$3 5 Not Covered 
Emolovee Contribution (Monthlvl 

.. 

Single $0 
- .. 

Family $0 i 

Dental $0 
I 

Vision g Single $0 
Familv $0 

PPO 9726-M 
Network Non-Network 

Deductible $100/$200 $500/$1,000 
Out of Pocket Maximum $600/$1,200 $3,5001$7.000 

- -

Coinsurance 90%/10% 70%130% 
-Office Visit Co-Pav 15 Ded. 70~10/30°/o 

Specialist Office Visit Co-Pav 30 Ded. 70o/o/30°/o i Urgent Care Copay 30 Ded. 70%130% 
Vision Exam/hardware 15 $15 

I 

Emergency Room Cooav 75 $75 
Prescription Drue. $5/ 15/$30 Not Covered 

-

Employee Contribution fMonthlv1 
Single $27.69 -
Familv $68.41 

Dental $0 ·----· 
Vision 

Single $0 
-----

Family $0 

PPO 10080-M I 
Network Non-Network 

Deductible $1001$200 $3001$600 
Out of Pocket Maximum 

-
:tiO/:!:iO $ i.8001$3 ,1!9_Q 

Coinsurance 100% 80%/20% 
Office Visit Co-Pav 10 Ded. 80%/20% 
Snecialist Office Visit Co-Pav 10 Ded. 80%/20% -
Urgent Care Copay 10 Ded. 80%/20% 
Vision Exam/hardware Optional Optional 
Emergency Room Cooav $50 $50 
Prescription Drug $51$5 DAW Not Covered 
Emolovee Contnbution I Monthlvl ------

Single $86.77 
Familv $214.32 

Dental $0 1 
Vision ~ ] Single $0.45 

Family $1.02 



Similar to the HMO situation, in order for the employees to retain similar coverages and benefits. their 

contributions must be increased dramatically. For an employee with a family to have the same PPO plan 

(PP0-10080-M) that was employed previously, said employee must pay an additional $214.32 per month plus 

$1.02 for vision. Single employees will have to pay an additional $86.77 per moth plus 45¢ for vision. 

Previously, there was no monthly contribution requirement. 

The other plans offered, PPO 9726-M and PPO 8656-M, also reduce 100% coverage to 90% and 

80%, respectively. Further, the plans increase line item co-pays for every medical item, including prescriptions 

by as much as 400% for some items. On top of that, PPO 9726-M imposes an additional monthly employee 

contribution of $68.41 for family coverage and $27.69 for single coverage. 

(Joint Stipulation of Fact No. 9) 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

MAHONING COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 03-ULP-04-0178 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On April 4, 2003, the International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Local No. 377 
("Local 377") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Mahoning County Board of 
Commissioners ("Respondent"), alleging that the Respondent violated §§ 4117.11 (A}(1) 
and (A}(5). 1 On July 10, 2003, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or 
"Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the Respondent violated 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by bargaining in bad faith by participating in negotiations, 
agreeing to wages and hospitalization, and then rejecting the contract. 

On August 25, 2003, a complaint was issued. On September 8, 2003 the 
Mahoning County Engineer (the "Engineer") filed a motion to intervene, and on 
October 9, 2003, Local 377 filed a motion to intervene. These motions were granted in 
accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). On October 30, 2003, all parties presented joint 
stipulations of fact and joint exhibits. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Respondent violated §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by 
bargaining in bad faith by participating in negotiations, agreeing to wages 
and hospitalization, and then rejecting the contract? 

1All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all 
references to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, 
unless otherwise indicated. 



SERB Opinion 2004-002 
Case No. 2003-ULP-04-0178 
Page 2 of 9 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Mahoning County Engineer is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(B). (S. 1) 

2. The Mahoning County Board of Commissioners is a "public employer" as defined 
by § 4117.01 (B) and is the "legislative body" for the Engineer. (S. 2) 

3. The International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Local 377 is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive representative for a 
bargaining unit of the Engineer's employees. (S. 3) 

4. Local 377, the Engineer, and Respondent were parties to a collective bargaining 
agreement effective May 1, 1999, through April 30, 2002, which contained a 
grievance procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. On March 6, 
2002, the parties began negotiations for a successor agreement. (S. 6; Jt. 
Exh. A) 

5. Constance E. Pierce, Mahoning County Human Resource Director, was 
Respondent's designated representative at the negotiations. Ms. Pierce 
participated in the negotiations for the purpose of negotiating the self-funded 
healthcare package. (S. 7) 

6. Local 377 and the Engineer had agreed that healthcare would be negotiated first. 
As a condition of agreeing to negotiate healthcare, Local 377 insisted that wages 
be included in the negotiations over healthcare. (S. 9) 

7. Tentative agreement was reached on wages, other economic issues, and 
healthcare, and the agreement was reduced to writing. Ms. Pierce signed this 
tentative agreement. (S. 1 O; Jt. Exh. C) 

8. On April 26, 2002, Local 377's membership voted on and approved the tentative 
agreement on the issues of healthcare and wages. (S. 12) 

9. On May 1, 2002, Ms. Pierce informed the Respondent via e-mail of the terms of 
the tentative agreement on the issues of healthcare and wages, stating, "[t]he 
Union will also accept our hospitalization package." (Jt. Exh. D, p. 2) 

2All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S." 
References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed 
by the exhibit letter(s). References to the stipulations of fact and exhibits in the Findings of Fact 
are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the 
sole support in the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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10. After the tentative agreement on health insurance and wages was reached, 
Constance Pierce did not participate in the negotiations for the issues that 
remained. (S. 14) 

11. On February 20, 2003, a complete tentative agreement resolving all remaining 
issues was reached. This agreement was reduced to writing and signed by 
representatives of Local 377 and the Engineer. (S. 13; Jt. Exh. E) 

12. On March 30, 2003, the Respondent timely voted to reject the tentative 
agreement. The Respondent rejected the tentative agreement because of wages 
and the hospitalization provision. (S. 15, 16; Jt. Exh. F) 

13. The terms and conditions of the tentative agreement, including wages and 
hospitalization, were implemented. (S. 17; Jt. Exh. C) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117. 11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 
••• 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 
employees recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The issue is whether the Respondent engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation 
of §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). The Respondent's designated representative 
participated in the negotiations for the purpose of negotiating Respondent's self-funded 
healthcare package. Local 377 insisted that wages and healthcare be negotiated 
together. Respondent's designated representative signed off on a tentative agreement 
on wages and hospitalization. Respondent's designated representative did not 
participate in the negotiation of the remaining issues between the Engineer and 
Local 377. Respondent subsequently voted to reject the tentative agreement because 
of the wages and the hospitalization provision. 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 
Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to 
bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist 
Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

Section 4117.01 (G) provides as follows: 
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"To bargain collectively" means to perform the mutual obligation of the 
public employer, by its representatives, and the representatives of its 
employees to negotiate in good faith at reasonable times and places with 
respect to wages, hours, terms, and other conditions of employment and 
the continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a 
collective bargaining agreement, with the intention of reaching an 
agreement, or to resolve questions arising under the agreement. "To 
bargain collectively" includes executing a written contract incorporating the 
terms of any agreement reached. The obligation to bargain collectively 
does not mean that either party is compelled to agree to a proposal nor 
does it require the making of a concession. 

Good-faith bargaining requires that the public employer and the legislative body 
each keep within their respective roles in the collective bargaining process. The public 
employer who engages in negotiations is separate and apart from the legislative body. 
SERB v. Martins Ferry, 1991 SERB 4-62, 4-65 (7th Dist Ct App, Belmont, 6-6-91) 
("Martins Ferry"). 

The role and the description of the legislative body for collective bargaining are 
set forth in § 4117.1 O(B), which provides as follows: 

The public employer shall submit a request for funds necessary to 
implement an agreement and for approval of any other matter requiring 
the approval of the appropriate legislative body to the legislative body 
within fourteen days of the date on which the parties finalize the 
agreement, unless otherwise specified, but if the appropriate legislative 
body is not in session at the time, then within fourteen days after it 
convenes. The legislative body must approve or reject the submission as 
a whole, and the submission shall be deemed approved if the legislative 
body fails to act within thirty days after the public employer submits the 
agreement. The parties may specify that those provisions of the 
agreement not requiring action by a legislative body are effective and 
operative in accordance with the terms of the agreement, provided there 
has been compliance with division (C) of this section. If the legislative 
body rejects the submission of the public employer, either party may 
reopen all or part of the entire agreement. 

As used in this section, "legislative body" includes the general assembly, 
the governing board of a municipal corporation, school district, college or 
university, village, township, or board of county commissioners or any 
other body that has authority to approve the budget of their public 
jurisdiction. 
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The designated representative for the public employer in the negotiations 
process is set forth in § 4117.10(C), which provides as follows (emphasis added): 

The chief executive officer, or the chief executive officer's representative, 
of each municipal corporation, the designated representative of the board 
of education of each school district, college or university, or any other 
body that has authority to approve the budget of their public jurisdiction, 
the designated representative of the board of county commissioners and 
of each elected officeholder of the county whose employees are covered 
by the collective negotiations, and the designated representative of the 
village or the board of township trustees of each township is responsible 
for negotiations in the collective bargaining process; except that the 
legislative body may accept or reject a proposed collective bargaining 
agreement. When the matters about which there is agreement are 
reduced to writing and approved by the employee organization and the 
legislative body, the agreement is binding upon the legislative body, the 
employer, and the employee organization and employees covered by the 
agreement. 

Under§ 4117.10, the elements of the existence of a collective bargaining agreement 
are (1) the approval of a tentative agreement by the employee organization and the 
employer and (2) the approval of the employer's submission by the legislative body, 
either through its active assent or by operation of law. 

On May 2, 2002, Local 377 notified the Engineer in writing of its approval by 
ratification vote of the tentative agreement on economic issues. On February 20, 2003, 
following the completion of collective bargaining negotiations between Local 377 and 
the Engineer on the remaining issues, the Engineer submitted to the Respondent 
legislative body the tentative collective bargaining agreement agreed to by Local 377 
and the Engineer, along with a request for legislative approval under§ 4117.10(8). The 
Respondent passed a resolution rejecting the tentative agreement on March 20, 2003. 

Section 4117.10(8) distinguishes between the roles of the public employer and 
the legislative body in order to keep legislative bodies out of the give-and-take of the 
negotiation process. As the Seventh District Court of Appeals stated in Martins Ferry, 
supra at 4-62: 

Pursuant to R.C. 4117.10(C), the public employer's chief executive officer 
or his designated representative is responsible for negotiations. The 
legislative body may accept or reject a proposed collective bargaining 
agreement but has no other function in the bargaining process. The 
acceptance or rejection must be made in whole. 

The separation of powers must be construed as the legislature's way of 
maintaining the relationship between the legislative bodies, particularly 
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their fiscal authority, and the powers of the executive and administrative 
offices. 

The separation also has a very practical application because it places the 
legislative body, who must accept or reject the collective bargaining 
agreement, above the fray of the often emotionally charged bargaining 
process. Thus legislative bodies, which are elected by the populace, are 
removed from the rigors and direct political pressures that can generate in 
a bargaining confrontation. 

In In re Fairfield County Human Services Dept. SERB 99-020 (6-30-99) ("Fairfield 
County"), SERB clarified the principle announced in Martins Ferry. In Fairfield County, 
supra at 3-127, SERB stated as follows (emphasis added): 

If the legislative body voluntarily becomes involved before the process 
reaches this step, it takes on a new role - the employer's role. Under 
such circumstances, the legislative body cannot be permitted to accept an 
agreement in the role of employer and then to reject it in the role of 
legislative body. See, ~. In re City of Saratoga Springs, 20 PERS 
,-i 3031, (NY PERB, 6/2/87). The legislative body is not "involved" in the 
process by merely being briefed as to the status of negotiations. When 
the legislative body is so involved in the negotiation process that it has 
final authority on what proposals are offered or accepted, however, it has 
stepped into the role of employer. At that point in time, whatever the 
legislative body offers or accepts when it acts as the employer, it must 
approve when it formally acts as the legislative body. !Q. 

Once the separation of roles between employer and legislative 
body contemplated by§ 4117.10(8) has been broken, and the legislative 
body has already approved everything in an employer's last, best offer, the 
§ 4117.1 O(C) requirement for approval by the legislative body has been 
met. The required act by the legislative body under § 4117.10(8) to 
accept or reject the employer's entire submission becomes a ministerial 
formality. 

The parties have stipulated that Respondent's designee, Ms. Pierce, participated 
in the negotiations for the purpose of negotiating the healthcare package. Ms. Pierce 
signed off on a tentative agreement involving wages, health insurance, and other 
economic benefits, which was subsequently implemented. Eventually, after the 
Engineer and Local 377 negotiated the remaining non-economic issues, a complete 
tentative collective bargaining agreement was submitted to the Respondent legislative 
body. Under § 4117.1 O(B), Respondent timely voted to reject the tentative agreement. 
The parties have stipulated that the Respondent rejected the tentative agreement 
because of wages and the hospitalization provision. Complainant, the Engineer, and 
Local 377 argue that Ms. Pierce's actions in the negotiations process preclude the 
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Respondent legislative body's action in rejecting the tentative collective bargaining 
agreement as a whole. In response, Respondent asserts that the actions of Ms. Pierce 
and the legislative body are in compliance with the express statutory language of 
Chapter 4117. Respondent's arguments are persuasive. 

Respondent first asserts that § 4117. 1 O(C) contemplates the joint participation in 
negotiations of a designated representative of a board of county commissioners and of 
each elected officeholder whose employees are covered by the collective negotiations. 
This assertion is a straightforward reading of the statute. Furthermore, Respondent 
points out that this reading makes practical sense, in that it furthers the progress of 
negotiations when a representative of the funding authority participates. Moreover, 
Respondent accurately points out that the county commissioners have the statutory 
authority to provide healthcare coverage for county employees under Ohio Revised 
Code § 305. 171. Therefore, it was not only legally appropriate but also practically 
appropriate for Ms. Pierce to participate in the negotiations between the Engineer and 
Local 377 for the purpose of negotiating the healthcare package. 

In Fairfield County, SERB found that the county commissioners themselves 
became so intimately involved in the negotiations that they were bound by the tentative 
agreements reached in the negotiations. The facts, however, were significantly different 
in that case. All proposals or modifications to the tentative agreements had to have the 
commissioners' prior approval before being offered to or accepted from the employee 
organization. The commissioners met regularly with the employer's negotiation team to 
be kept abreast of developments and to plan the give-and-take of negotiation strategy. 
kl at 3-124 - 3-125. 

In this case, the involvement of the Respondent commissioners themselves was 
limited to the vote to reject the tentative collective bargaining agreement on March 30, 
2003. The fact that Respondent's designated representative, Ms. Pierce, sat in on part 
of the negotiations and presented and negotiated the self-funded healthcare package 
into a portion of one of the tentative agreements does not bind the Respondent to 
accept the terms of the entire agreement. Section 4117.1 O(C) contemplates a board of 
county commissioners having a designated representative responsible for negotiations 
along with the designee of the elected office holder. Although Ms. Pierce signed off on 
a tentative agreement along with representatives from the Engineer's office and from 
Local 377, the Respondent legislative body was not involved. The evidence in the 
record demonstrates only that Ms. Pierce updated the Respondent commissioners on 
one occasion, informing them via e-mail of the terms of the tentative agreement on 
wages and healthcare and Local 377's approval of that tentative agreement. SERB has 
held that the legislative body does not become so involved in the process as to take on 
the status of employer by merely being briefed as to the status of negotiations. Id at 3-
127. 

The Complainant and Local 377 also argue that Ms. Pierce was an agent of the 
Engineer for the purpose of negotiating healthcare, and that this act of agency bound 
Respondent and caused Respondent to commit an unfair labor practice by later 
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rejecting the tentative collective bargaining agreement. SERB has pointed out on two 
recent occasions that the authority of other parties to bind county commissioners is 
quite limited. In In re Columbiana County Bd of Commrs, SERB 99-019, at 3-121 (6-30-
99), SERB explained the law of agency as it relates to the collective bargaining process 
under Chapter 4117. To demonstrate an agency relationship, it must be shown that one 
person consented to another that the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his 
control, and that the other consented to so act. In In re Cuyahoga County Commrs, 
SERB 2000-007 (6-22-00), SERB explained that a grievance settlement agreement 
entered into by a designee of the county commissioners and the exclusive 
representative of a bargaining unit of county employees was only a tentative contract 
subject to the approval of the county commissioners under Ohio Revised Code 
§ 305.25. 

No evidence is present in the record that the Engineer consented to Ms. Pierce 
acting on the Engineer's behalf. The record does not reveal any degree of control by 
the Engineer over Ms. Pierce's actions. The only question involving any agency 
relationship involves the relationship between Ms. Pierce and Respondent. 

Respondent can be bound by Ms. Pierce's actions only to the extent of her 
authority. The parties have stipulated that Ms. Pierce had authority only to negotiate 
healthcare. Thus, Ms. Pierce's signature on the tentative agreement on wages and 
healthcare could, at most, bind the Respondent to its proposal on healthcare. However, 
the limited agency relationship between Ms. Pierce and Respondent does not change 
Respondent's status from legislative body to employer in negotiations under§ 4117.10. 
As discussed above,§ 4117.10 contemplates a board of county commissioners having 
a designee present and responsible for negotiations in the collective bargaining process 
along with a designee of the elected office holder. Thus, notwithstanding Ms. Pierce's 
participation in negotiations, Respondent retained the right to act as a legislative body 
and to reject the tentative collective bargaining agreement in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in § 4117.1 O(B). 

The fact that the terms of the tentative agreement have been implemented does 
not change the analysis of whether Respondent committed an unfair labor practice. 
Respondent was not able to vote on the entire tentative collective bargaining agreement 
until the Engineer and Local 377 presented the agreement to Respondent for its vote, 
quite some time after the initial tentative agreement on wages and healthcare was 
reached. Nonetheless, Respondent's action in rejecting the tentative agreement was in 
accordance with § 4117.10(B) and is another step in the collective bargaining process 
contemplated by Chapter 4117. As SERB stated in In re City of Martins Ferry, SERB 
89-021, at 3-146 (affd sub nom. SERB v. Martins Ferry, supra): 

In the instant case, the next step toward finality was the submission of the 
proposal to the legislative body. It was then their responsibility to 
determine if the package as a whole is acceptable, or that one or more 
provisions are so unacceptable that the entire package must be rejected. 
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This requirement to accept or reject on a whole compels serious 
evaluation and responsible action on the part of the legislative body, 
because either way they, along with the union membership, shall bear the 
ultimate responsibility for their respective decisions. 

Respondent bears the ultimate responsibility for its decision to reject the tentative 
agreement. Its actions were consistent with the statutory framework for the collective 
bargaining process, and it did not commit an unfair labor practice by exercising its 
statutory authority as the legislative body. Thus, Respondent did not commit an unfair 
labor practice when it timely rejected the tentative agreement on March 30, 2003. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge 
recommends the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The Mahoning County Engineer is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Mahoning County Board of County Commissioners is a "public employer" as 
defined by § 4117.01(B) and is the "legislative body" for the Mahoning County 
Engineer. 

3. The International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Local No. 377 is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

4. The Mahoning County Board of County Commissioners did not violate 
§§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and (A)( 5) when it timely voted to reject the tentative 
agreement. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss with prejudice the unfair labor 
practice charge and the complaint. 



STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

WILMINGTON FIRE FIGHTERS, 
IAFF LOCAL 3011, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

CITY OF WILMINGTON, 

Employer. 

CASE NO. 02-REP-11-0230 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 8, 2002, the Wilmington Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 3011 ("Union"), 
filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit seeking to clarify the existing unit to 
include the positions of Lieutenant and Fire Inspector. On December 6, 2002, the City of 
Wilmington ("Employer" or "City") filed a position statement and a motion to dismiss. On 
December 19, 2002, the Union filed a memorandum in opposition. On January 18, 2003, 
the Employer filed a motion to strike, and a motion to substitute affidavit and reply. 

On July 10, 2003, after a preliminary investigation, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB") granted the Employer's motions to strike and to substitute affidavit and 
reply, denied the Employer's motion to dismiss, directed this case to hearing to determine 
the bargaining-unit status of the employees in question, and directed the parties to 
mediation. Prior to hearing, the parties stipulated that the Lieutenants were to be included 
in the bargaining unit, leaving only the status of the Fire Inspector position for 
determination. A hearing was held on December 3, 2003, wherein testimonial and 
documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the existing bargaining unit should be clarified to include the 
position of Fire Inspector? 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. The City of Wilmington, Ohio, is a "public employer" within the meaning of 
§ 4117 01(B). 2 (S.) 

2. The Wilmington Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 3011, is an "employee organization" 
within the meaning of§ 4117.01(0). (S.) 

3. ln1986, the Wilmington Fire Department consisted of a Fire Chief, an Assistant Fire 
Chief, Battalion Chiefs, and Fire Fighters. The Union filed a petition to represent the 
members of the Fire Department, excluding the Fire Chief and Assistant Fire Chief. 
Battalion Chiefs and Fire Fighters were to be in the bargaining unit. The parties 
agreed to a consent election, with the representation election to be held on April 10, 
1986. The Union received a majority of the votes cast in the election. (S.; Case 
No. 86-REP-1-0029) 

4. In connection with the consent election, the City of Wilmington provided a list of 
employees eligible to vote in the election. The list included the name of Thomas H. 
Gauden, who held the rank of Battalion Chief and who performed Fire Inspector 
duties at the time. Mr. Gauden was a charter member of the Union. (S.) 

5. In May 1986, SERB certified a bargaining unit of certain employees working in the 
Employer's fire department. SERB's order in Case Number 86-REP-01-0029 
described the bargaining unit as follows: 

Included: All Fire Fighters and Battalion Chiefs of the Wilmington 
Fire Department. 

Excluded: The Fire Chief, Assistant Fire Chief, and all other 
employees not included above. (S.) 

6. In 1986, the Employer and the Union executed an initial collective bargaining 
agreement ("CBA") covering the bargaining unit. The CBA, which became effective 

1 All references to the Joint Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S. ,"followed by the 
stipulation number(s). All references to the transcript of hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," 
followed by the page number(s). All references to the Employer's exhibits in the record are indicated 
parenthetically by "Er. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). All references to the Union's exhibits 
in the record are indicated parenthetically by "U. Exh. ,"followed by the exhibit numbers. References 
to the record are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such 
references are the only support in the record for thatrelated Finding of Fact. 

2 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references to 
rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise indicated. 
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on November 20, 1986, contained an Article 2, entitled "Union Recognition," which 
included the following provisions, among others: 

Section 2.1. The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and 
exclusive representative for those full-time employees included in the 
bargaining unit. Whenever used in this Agreement, the term 
"bargaining unit" shall be deemed to include those individuals 
employed by the Employer in the classifications of Fire Fighter and 
Battalion Chief, as certified by the Ohio State Employment Relations 
Board in Case Number 86-REP-01-0029, on May 7, 1986. 

Section 2 .2. All positions and classifications not specifically 
established herein as being included in the bargaining unit shall be 
excluded from the bargaining unit. (S.) 

7. The Employer and the Union subsequently executed a series of successor CBAs 
containing language identical to that included in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of the 
1986 CBA. (S.) 

8. In the autumn of 1997, the Employer and the Union commenced negotiations for a 
successor CBA. (S.) 

9. On November 12, 1997, the parties' bargaining teams reached a tentative 
agreement on Article 2, Union Recognition. The tentative recognition article called 
for the exclusion of the previously included Battalion Chief position from the 
bargaining unit and expressly stated: "The result of such exclusion will change the 
makeup of the bargaining unit so as to include only the classification of firefighter 
within the bargaining unit." (S.) 

10. The bargaining teams ultimately reached a tentative agreement embracing all 
contract issues, including the revised recognition article addressing the composition 
of the bargaining unit. Under the applicable bylaws and constitution, an agreement 
by the Union's bargaining committee is tentative and, to be effective, must be 
ratified by the membership. Although the bargaining committees for the City and 
the Union reached a tentative agreement to exclude Lieutenants (formerly Battalion 
Chiefs) from the bargaining unit, making firefighters the only individuals in the 
bargaining unit, this tentative agreement was rejected by the local membership on 
January 21, 1998, and did not become part of the CBA. (S.) 

11. The parties executed the CBA on April 3, 1998, with a recognition article stating: 
"All positions and classifications not specifically established herein as being 
included in the bargaining unit shall be excluded from the bargaining unit." As with 
all of the previous agreements, the only positions and classifications specifically 
established in the 1998 contract as being in the bargaining unit were Battalion Chief 
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and Fire Fighter. The CBA did not expressly list the position of Fire Inspector as 
being included in or excluded from the bargaining unit. (S.) 

12. The remaining employees in the Battalion Chief position retired shortly after the 
execution of the 1998 CBA. (S.) 

13. The parties never jointly submitted a petition to SERB requesting that the bargaining 
unit certification be altered in any way. (S.) 

14. On November 4, 1999, the Wilmington City Council enacted Ordinance 3973, 
reorganizing the fire department to eliminate the Battalion Chief classification and to 
establish the following officers and members of the fire department: one Chief, two 
Assistant Chiefs, one Inspector, not more than three Lieutenants, not more than 
thirteen Full-time Firefighters, not more than twenty Intermittent Firefighter/EMTs to 
include one regular call Intermittent Captain and two regular-call Intermittent 
Lieutenants. (S.) 

15. The Union did not file a grievance or unfair labor practice charge challenging the 
City's enactment or implementation of Ordinance 3973. (S.) 

16. On January 25, 2001, the Employer and Union executed a successor CBA, effective 
through December 31, 2003. (S.) 

17. In the negotiations leading to the current collective bargaining agreement, the 
parties again bargained over the wording of the recognition article, dropping the 
previous reference to the now- abolished Battalion Chief classification and expressly 
including in the bargaining unit only individuals in the Fire Fighter and Lieutenant 
classifications, and excluding "all positions and classifications not specifically 
established herein as being included in the bargaining unit." (S.) 

18. Prior to October 8, 2001, the Employer often assigned fire inspection responsibilities 
to employees who occupied bargaining-unit positions, including Battalion Chiefs and 
other positions. David Meyers, who performed fire inspection duties prior to 
October 2001, was a Lieutenant, the President of the Union, and the negotiator for 
the Union who signed the 2001 collective bargaining agreement on behalf of the 
Union. (S.) 

19. The Employer has also assigned fire inspection duties to Craig Rauch. When he 
began to perform those duties, Mr. Rauch was a Battalion Chief and a bargaining
unit member. Mr. Rauch continued to perform inspector duties for a period of time 
after he was promoted to Assistant Chief. (S.; T.71) 
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20. In January 2002, the City's Representative asked the Union to join in a Petition for 
Amendment of Certification. In that petition, drafted by the City, it was stated: 'The 
parties have agreed to add Lieutenants to, and remove Fire Inspectors from, the 
Bargaining Unit." The Union refused to sign the Petition. (S.) 

21. On November 8, 2002, the Union filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 
seeking to clarify the existing unit to include the position of Lieutenants and Fire 
Inspector. (S.) 

22. The Wilmington Fire Department currently consists of 18 full-time career Fire 
Fighters including the Chief, Assistant Chief, and Fire Inspector and 10-12 part-time 
Fire Fighters. (T. 42) 

23. The current Fire Inspector, Jerry Quigley, started with the Wilmington Fire 
Department as a part-time Fire Fighter in 1995 and became a career Fire Fighter in 
1999. (T. 10-11) 

24. Mr. Quigley started as Fire Safety Inspector in October 2001. He replaced 
Mr. Meyers, a bargaining-unit member who had held the position of Fire Inspector 
for approximately one year. Since October 8, 2001, the Employer has not treated 
Mr. Quigley as a bargaining-unit member. (S.; T. 11-12) 

25. The Fire Inspector's duties include inspecting existing businesses to ensure 
compliance with fire and building codes, issuing citations, reviewing plans for new 
construction, evaluating sites for hydrant water supplies, providing public education 
for schools and civic groups, conducting fire scene investigations and determining 
cause and origin, developing and coordinating fire-prevention and in-service training 
programs, and administering the Buster Program involving installation, removal, and 
abandonment of underground storage tanks. (T. 16-18, 21) 

26. The last classification specification for Fire Inspector required the individual filling 
the position to have the rank of Battalion Chief, although the Fire Inspector position 
is an unranked position. (U. Exhs. 9-11 ; T. 33-35) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Union filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit to have the position of 
Fire Inspector included in the existing unit. The purpose of a clarification petition is to 
determine whether a particular employee or group of employees is included in or excluded 
from an existing bargaining unit based upon the unit description and the duties performed 
by the employees in question. Rule4117-5-01(E)(2). See, e.g., In re Ohio State Troopers 
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Assn, SERB 2000-003 (3-27-00); In re Shawnee State Univ, SERB 97-010 (6-30-97), aff'd 
in part, rev'd in part sub nom. Shawnee Ed Assn v SERB, 1999 SERB 4-16 (CP, Franklin, 
9-27-99), aff'd 2000 SERB 4-33 (10th Dist Ct App, Franklin, 11-16-00).Unit clarification 
does not alter the status quo, but rather maintains it. In re Ohio Council 8, AFSCME, 
SERB 95-021 

The specific position of Fire Inspector did not exist when SERB certified the 
bargaining unit in May 1986. The unit description included "all Fire Fighters and Battalion 
Chiefs of the Wilmington Fire Department" and excluded "the Fire Chief, Assistant Fire 
Chief, and all other employees not included above." At that time, Tom Gaud en, a Battalion 
Chief and bargaining-unit member, performed the fire inspection duties. In 1999, Craig 
Rauch, also a Battalion Chief, performed fire inspection duties. Mr. Rauch was promoted 
to Assistant Chief, but continued to perform fire inspection duties until later in 1999, when 
the Employer assigned the fire inspection duties to David Meyers, a Lieutenant and 
President of the Union. As of October 8, 2001, the Employer assigned the fire inspection 
duties to Jerry Quigley. Mr. Quigley was sworn into the Fire Inspector position as a 
Lieutenant but was told approximately one year later that he was an unranked officer. The 
Employer continued to treat Mr. Quigley as being outside the bargaining unit. 

The sole purpose of a petition for clarification is to maintain the status quo. The 
status quo at the time SERB certified the bargaining unit was that a bargaining-unit 
member was performing the fire inspection duties. This status changed only briefly when 
Mr. Rauch continued to perform fire inspection duties after being promoted to Assistant 
Chief until a replacement was named, and then again in October 2001, when the Employer 
made the decision to treat the Fire Inspector position as being outside the bargaining unit. 
Although the specific position of Fire Inspector was not created until November 1999, the 
fire inspection duties were in existence and being performed by bargaining-unit members 
at the time of certification. The current Fire Inspector spends in excess of 90% of his time 
performing fire inspection duties that have been performed since the inception of the 
department. 

The Employer argues that the parties agreed to place only Fire Fighters and 
Lieutenants in the bargaining unit, excluding all other positions, including that of Fire 
Inspector. The parties did not address this point in 1999, even though they knew that the 
position of Battalion Chief had been replaced by the Lieutenant position and that the 
Employer's reorganization ordinance specifically referenced one Inspector position. Both 
parties effectively ignored the issue until January 2002, when the Employer asked the 
Union to file a Joint Amendment of Certification excluding the Fire Inspector position. The 
Union declined and, instead, filed its Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit seeking to 
include the positions of Lieutenant and Fire Inspector. Any discussions or tentative oral 
agreements between the parties were never reduced to writing and filed with SERB in a 
joint petition to amend the certification of the bargaining unit under Rule 4117-5-01(E)(1) 
and, therefore, remain unenforceable. 
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Based upon the analysis above, the duties of the Fire Inspector were being 
performed by a position within the bargaining unit at the time of the most recent 
certification. Therefore, the existing bargaining unit should be clarified to include the 
position of Fire Inspector. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Wilmington is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Wilmington Fire Fighters, IAFF Local 3011 is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. The existing unit should be clarified to include the position of Fire Inspector. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board grant the Petition for Clarification of 
Bargaining Unit and clarify the bargaining unit's description accordingly. 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 03-ULP-06-0322 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On June 17, 2003, the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor 
Council filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of Cleveland (the "City"), 
alleging that the City violated§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 1 On October 1, 2003, the 
State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to 
believe that the City violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to bargain in good 
faith. 

On February 17, 2004, a complaint was issued. An expedited hearing was held 
on February 26, 2004, wherein the parties presented testimonial and documentary 
evidence. Subsequently, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the City violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to 
bargain in good faith? 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code. Chapter 4117, and all 
references to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, 
unless otherwise indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The City of Cleveland is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). (S. 1) 

2. The Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Local Council (the "Union") is 
an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(0) and is the exclusive 
representative for a bargaining unit of the City's employees. (S. 2) 

3. The Union was certified as the exclusive representative on January 30, 2003, 
replacing the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18. (S. 3) 

4. Before the parties' initial collective bargaining session, as its initial proposal, the 
City mailed the Union a copy of a collective bargaining agreement it had recently 
reached with the Cleveland Building and Construction Trades Council 
("CBCTC"). On May 14, 2003, the Union mailed the City a counterproposal. 
(S. 5, 6; C. Exhs. 3,4, 5,6, 7) 

5. The City and the Union met for their first collective bargaining session on 
June 13, 2003. (S. 4) 

6. The June 13, 2003 meeting began at 10 a.m. in Cleveland City Hall and was 
attended by five negotiating-team members from each side. (T. 20; Jt. Exh. 2) 

7. Assistant Law Director William Sweeney spoke first. He outlined the City's 
position and explained how the City's proposal came about from extensive 
negotiations between the City and the CBCTC. Mr. Sweeney explained that the 
City did not want to enter into a collective bargaining agreement with the Union 
that differed substantially from the City's collective bargaining agreement with the 
CBCTC because this situation would cause "labor chaos" and disrupt the 
relationships the City had established with other unions. The City also stated 
that it could not offer different benefits to the Union. (T. 21-23, 26, 95-96, 97) 

8. The City demanded that the Union move off its wage counterproposal of 
100 percent of the prevailing wage rate contained in a contract known as the 
"Building Agreement" between the International Union of Operating Engineers, 

2 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are 
indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number. References to the transcript 
of hearing are indicated parenthetically by 'T," followed by the page number(s). References to 
the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by the exhibit 
number(s). References to the Complainant's exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically 
by "C. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the City's exhibits in the record 
are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the 
stipulations, transcript, and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only 
and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the 
related Finding of Fact. 
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Local 18 and a number of private employers of construction equipment 
operators. The City demanded that the Union accept the City's wage proposal of 
80 percent of a different prevailing wage rate contained in a contract known at 
the "Heavy Highway" contract. (T. 26-30) 

9. The City reviewed with the Union a list of 31 items in the Union's counterproposal 
that the City viewed as unacceptable. Some of these items were unacceptable 
to the City because they differed from the City's current practices. The City also 
stated that it believed that the Union's proposals on management rights, 
overtime, and hiring were "illegal." The Union responded to the City's concern 
regarding management rights by offering to include a management rights clause 
in the collective bargaining agreement. (T. 31-32, 35, 61--62, 75-76, 79; C. 
Exh. 8) 

10. The Union asked the City to set aside the wage issue and move forward to 
negotiate the remaining items of concern that the City had reviewed with the 
Union. The City refused, stating only that the Union's counterproposal was 
unacceptable. The City took the position that it would not discuss anything 
further until the Union moved off its wage proposal. The City asked the Union to 
caucus for the purpose of preparing a different counterproposal on the wage 
issue and on the other issues. (T. 32, 33-34, 99, 105-106, 126-128, 154-155; R. 
Exh. 2) 

11. The Union refused to withdraw its counterproposal and submit new 
counterproposals. The City would not discuss anything further. The City left the 
bargaining session. The session lasted 52 minutes. (T. 33-35 .. 126-128) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 
* * * 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 
employees recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant 
to Chapter4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

Section 4117.01 (G) provides as follows: 



SERB OPINION 2004-004 
Case No. 2003-ULP-06-0322 
Page 4 of 6 

"To bargain collectively" means to perform the mutual obligation of 
the public employer, by its representatives, and the representatives of its 
employees to negotiate in good faith at reasonable times and places with 
respect to wages, hours, terms, and other conditions of employment and 
the continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a 
collective bargaining agreement, with the intention of reaching an 
agreement, or to resolve questions arising under the agreement. "To 
bargain collectively" includes executing a written contract incorporating the 
terms of any agreement reached. The obligation to bargain collectively 
does not mean that either party is compelled to agree to a proposal nor 
does it require the making of a concession. 

At issue in this case is whether the City engaged in bad-faith bargaining during 
the June 13, 2003 negotiation session. Based upon the record herein, the City 
bargained in bad faith in violation of§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 3 In In re Springfield 
Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-007 (5-1-97), at 3-46, SERB stated as follows: 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the 
circumstances. The duty to bargain does not compel either party to agree 
to a proposal or require either party to make a concession. A 
circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is 
unlawful. Hard bargaining, however, is not bad-faith bargaining. 

In the private sector, when a party is found to have used 
negotiation techniques to frustrate or avoid mutual agreement, that party is 
said to have engaged in "surface bargaining." A party is alleged to have 
engaged in surface bargaining based upon the totality of its conduct at or 
away from the bargaining table, since an intent to frustrate an agreement 
is rarely articulated. "More than in most areas of labor law, distinguishing 
hard bargaining from surface bargaining calls for sifting a complex array of 
facts, which taken in isolation may often be ambiguous." "[l]f the Board is 
not to be blinded by empty talk and by the mere surface motions of 
collective bargaining, it must take some cognizance of the reasonableness 
of the positions taken by an employer in the course of bargaining 
negotiations." Although an employer may be willing to meet at length and 
confer with the union, the employer has refused to bargain in good faith if 
it merely goes through the "motions" of bargaining, such as where an 
employer offers a proposal that cannot be accepted, along with an 
inflexible attitude on major issues and no proposal of reasonable 
alternatives. We adopt the foregoing treatment of "surface bargaining" as 
persuasive authority under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 

3 Section 4117.11 (A)(1) represents an alleged derivative violation of § 4117.11 (A)(5) in 
this instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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In In re Toledo City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-006 (10-1-01) ("Toledo"), 
the Board found that "hard bargaining" had occurred. In that case, the union was not 
required to back down from its position, nor was the employer required to give in to the 
union's demands. But in that case, the parties exchanged proposals and counter
proposals on several occasions. Through negotiations, the parties were able to resolve 
many issues before reaching ultimate impasse on the remaining issue. 

Despite its protestations that it was not refusing to bargain, the City's conduct at 
the June 13, 2003 meeting can only be described as "surface bargaining." The City 
refused to engage with the Union in any give-and-take whatsoever. The City expressed 
a desire to obtain the Union's consent to the terms set forth in the CBCTC agreement. 
The City's expressed desire for uniformity evidenced an inflexible attitude on major 
issues. The City's refusal to make any counterproposals to the Union's opening 
counterproposal indicates that while the City was willing to "meet and confer" with the 
Union on June 13, 2003, the City was not willing to propose any reasonable alternatives 
on the 31 items at issue. Thus, the City, unlike the employer in the Toledo case, 
engaged in "surface bargaining," not hard bargaining. 

The City rejected the Union's suggestion that the parties table the wage issue for 
the moment and move on to negotiate other items. When the Union refused to submit 
another counterproposal despite the lack of movement by the City, the City terminated 
the negotiation session. The City's inflexible attitude on June 13, 2003, constituted bad
faith "surface bargaining" in violation of§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge 
recommends the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The City of Cleveland is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Local Council is an "employee 
organization" as defined by § 4117.01 (D). 

3. The City of Cleveland violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by engaging in bad
faith "surface bargaining" when it refused to propose any reasonable alternatives 
to the 31 pending bargaining items. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

------·--
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1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant 
§ 4117.12(B), requiring the City of Cleveland to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise 
of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by 
engaging in bad-faith "surface bargaining" when it refused to 
propose any reasonable alternatives to the 31 pending bargaining 
items, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11(A)(1); and 

(2) Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of 
its employees by engaging in bad-faith "surface bargaining" when it 
refused to propose any reasonable alternatives to the 31 pending 
bargaining items, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11(A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Bargain in good faith with the Municipal Construction Equipment 
Operators' Local Council toward an initial collective bargaining 
agreement; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Municipal 
Construction Equipment Operators' Local Council work, the Notice 
to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations Board 
stating that the City of Cleveland shall cease and desist from 
actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative 
action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of 
the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

OHIO COUNCIL 8, AMERICAN FEDERATION 
OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL 
EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 100, AFL-CIO, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 02-ULP-06-0455 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On June 28, 2002, Artis Gillam, Jr., filed an unfair labor practice charge against 
Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 
Local 100, AFL-CIO ("AFSCME" or "Local 100"). On October 10, 2002, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") determined there was 
probable cause for believing that the Respondent had committed or was committing 
unfair labor practices, authorized the issuance of a complaint, referred the matter to 
hearing, and directed the parties to the unfair labor practice mediation process. On 
December 5, 2002, the parties filed a settlement agreement with SERB that resolved 
the underlying issue within the charge. On December 12, 2002, SERB approved and 
adopted the settlement agreement, construed the settlement agreement as a motion to 
withdraw, granted the motion, dismissed the complaint, and dismissed with prejudice 
the unfair labor practice charge. 

On August 6, 2003, Mr. Gillam filed a motion to show cause, asserting that 
AFSCME had not complied with the terms of the settlement agreement. On 
September 18, 2003, SERB directed this matter to a show cause hearing to determine 
whether AFSCME has complied with the settlement agreement in this case and, if not, 
what acts must be taken to be in compliance. 

On October 2, 2003, a notice of hearing and prehearing order was issued. 
Mr. Gillam filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-
1-0?(A).1 A hearing was held on January 28, 2004, at which testimonial and 
documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing 
briefs. 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117; and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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II. ISSUE 

Whether AFSCME has complied with the terms of the settlement 
agreement and, if not, what acts must be taken to be in compliance? 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. Ohio Council 8, AFSCME, AFL-CIO ("OCB") and Local 100, AFSCME, AFL-CIO 
("Local 100") (collectively referred to as "AFSCME") are "employee 
organizations" as defined by§ 4117.01(D). (S. 1) 

2. The December 12, 2002 settlement agreement resolving the underlying unfair 
labor practice charge filed by Mr. Gillam against AFSCME included the following: 

1. The Charged Party agrees to fairly represent all employees and 
process grievances in accordance with the terms of the parties' 
collective bargaining agreement. 

2. The Charged Party agrees to proceed to Step 4 arbitration with 
Grievance No. 20-03-100-085-99 without undue delay. 

3. On February 26, 2003, an arbitration hearing was held before Arbitrator Nels 
Nelson in regards to Grievance No. 20-03-100-085-99 involving Mr. Gillam's 
termination from employment with the City of Cleveland ("City") for neglect of 
duty and insubordination for failure to properly submit overtime cards, making 
false claims or misrepresentations in an attempt to secure a City benefit, and 
unacceptable job performance in monitoring contractors' work. AFSCME Staff 
Representative James Ciocia presented AFSCME's case before the arbitrator. 
Mr. Gillam was present for the arbitration hearing and was the only witness who 
testified on behalf of AFSCME. (S. 2) 

4. Mr. Gillam was employed by the City as an Assistant Civil Engineer in the Water 
Pollution Control Division of the Department of Public Utilities from January 27, 
1997, until the City terminated his employment effective April 16, 1999. As an 
Assistant Civil Engineer, Mr. Gillam was assigned to monitor construction 
projects being done for the City by outside contractors. Mr. Gillam was required 
to be at the construction site. Mr. Gillam was to view plans and specifications to 
determine whether the contractors were doing the work in accordance with the 
specifications. (T. 195; C & I Exh. 10) 

2 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are 
indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number. References to the Joint 
Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by the exhibit 
number(s). References in the record to Complainant and Intervenor's Exhibits are indicated 
parenthetically by "C & I Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the stipulations 
and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended to 
suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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5. On April 20, 1999, the City suspended Mr. Gillam pending discharge following a 
predisciplinary hearing held concerning events that occurred between April 2, 
1999 and April 12, 1999. Mr. Gillam grieved this discipline. Subsequently, 
Mr. Gillam filed the underlying unfair labor practice charge against AFSCME 
alleging that AFSCME did not fairly represent him in handling his grievance. (C 
& I Exhs. 27, 28, 29, 30, 30A) 

6. Mr. Ciocia has been a Staff Representative for five years. Previously, Mr. Ciocia 
was an attorney in private practice working primarily in the area of labor law. As 
a Staff Representative, Mr. Ciocia is not permitted to practice law and has not 
engaged in legal practice. Mr. Ciocia does maintain his license to practice law. 
(T. 79-82, 85-86, 256-257) 

7. Mr. Ciocia is assigned to the Cleveland Region of Ohio Council 8. He is 
assigned to 11 local unions. As a Staff Representative, Mr. Ciocia's duties 
include Step 3 grievance representation, representation at arbitrations, 
negotiating collective bargaining agreements, and promoting the use of labor
management committees. Angela Caldwell is the Staff Representative assigned 
to Local 100; however, Ms. Caldwell does not represent Local 100 at arbitration 
hearings. Ms. Caldwell's duties include contract negotiations, representing 
grievants at Step 3 grievance hearings, assisting in the preparation of and 
attending arbitration hearings, union organizing, and handling various labor
management issues. The Cleveland Regional Director for Ohio Council 8 
occasionally assigns Mr. Ciocia to represent Local 100 at arbitration hearings. 
(T. 82-83, 237-238) 

8. Mr. Ciocia spoke with Mr. Gillam five times in telephone conversations of various 
lengths before meeting with him in person for about three hours to prepare him 
for the arbitration hearing. The day he was initially scheduled to meet with 
Mr. Gillam, Mr. Ciocia became ill, went to see his doctor, and then went home for 
the balance of the day. He asked his office to attempt to reach Mr. Gillam to 
cancel the meeting. When Mr. Gillam arrived at Mr. Ciocia's office for the 
meeting, a secretary apologized for not calling him and explained that Mr. Ciocia 
was ill and would be calling Mr. Gillam to reschedule. The meeting was 
rescheduled and held during the week preceding the arbitration hearing. (T. 87-
89, 199) 

9. The number of in-person meetings AFSCME Staff Representatives hold with 
grievants during preparation for arbitration depends upon the circumstances of 
the particular grievance, and can be from one to two or three or more times. 
(T. 162-163, 167-168, 266) 

10. Mr. Ciocia's preparation for the arbitration hearing also included reviewing 
applicable provisions of Local 100's collective bargaining agreement with the 
City, reviewing Local 100's grievance file, reviewing Mr. Gillam's prior discipline 
and grievances, and meeting with Ms. Caldwell in the AFSCME regional offices 
on several occasions. (T. 87-89, 95, 119-120, 130, 153-154) 
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11. Mr. Gillam provided Mr. Ciocia with the names of three potential witnesses, 
Ramona Lowery, Brian Grancha, and Louis Brown. Mr. Ciocia contacted 
Ms. Lowery. Ms. Lowery told Mr. Ciocia that Mr. Gillam had complained to her 
about harassment on the job, but that she was not an eyewitness to anything 
Mr. Gillam had experienced. Mr. Ciocia determined that Ms. Lowery's testimony 
would not be helpful because she did not have personal knowledge. Mr. Ciocia 
determined that Mr. Grancha's testimony and Mr. Brown's testimony would not 
be helpful because, based upon what Mr. Gillam had told Mr. Ciocia, neither 
Mr. Grancha nor Mr. Brown had personal knowledge of the events surrounding 
Mr. Gillam's termination from employment with the City. Mr. Grancha's personal 
knowledge related only to the events that occurred in the summer of 1998 that 
led to a ten-day suspension that Mr. Gillam had previously received. (T. 21, 31-
32, 97-98, 115, 129-132, 148-149; C & I Exh. 36) 

12. The City and AFSCME were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
effective December 11, 1995 through March 31, 1998, which was in effect until 
the parties executed a successor CBA on April 23, 1999. Paragraph 147 of the 
CBA states, in part, that "any materials in the employee's personnel record which 
have not been seen or signed by him or which are more than two (2) years old at 
the time discipline is being considered shall not be used against him." (S. 4) 

13. During the arbitration hearing, the City presented documentary evidence of an 
April 7, 1997 cautioning/instruction given to Mr. Gillam. The documentary 
evidence was admitted into the record of the arbitration hearing without 
AFSCME's objection. Mr. Ciocia did not object to the introduction of this 
evidence because he had determined from his review of the grievance file that on 
April 7, 1999, the City was considering disciplining Mr. Gillam for events that had 
occurred in April 1999. The collective bargaining agreement did not serve to bar 
the introduction of the April 7, 1997 cautioning/instruction, as it was issued within 
two years of the time when the City was considering the April 1999 discipline, 
termination, at issue in the arbitration. (S. 3; T. 98-106; C & I Exhs. 29, 46; R. 
Exh. F) 

14. Mr. Gillam's prior discipline in his file from April 7, 1997 to the date of his 
termination was admitted into the record at the arbitration by stipulation. 
AFSCME Staff Representatives testified that this practice is common in 
arbitration; the goal is to lessen the negative impact of the prior discipline by not 
focusing on the prior discipline during the arbitration hearing. (T. 108-111, 155-
156, 259) 

15. During a conversation before the day of the arbitration hearing, Mr. Gillam told 
Mr. Ciocia that Mr. Gillam suffered from a sleep disorder. Mr. Ciocia asked 
Mr. Gillam to bring to Mr. Ciocia medical documentation of Mr. Gillam's medical 
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condition.3 Mr. Gillam did not provide any medical documentation stating that he 
suffers from sleep apnea or any other chronic medical condition. (T. 89-92, 111, 
124-125, 189-190; C & I Exhs. 20, 38) 

16. After his review of the documents, his conversations with Mr. Gillam, and his 
meetings and discussions with Ms. Caldwell, Mr. Ciocia formulated a strategy for 
Mr. Gillam's arbitration hearing. Mr. Ciocia decided he would focus on the City's 
burden of proof and argue that a heightened standard, beyond a reasonable 
doubt, was appropriate. Mr. Ciocia further decided he would focus on the 
credibility surrounding the City's case for Mr. Gillam's termination because 
Mr. Ciocia believed Mr. Gillam would present well as a testifying witness. 
Mr. Ciocia decided not to contest the prior disciplines in the termination 
arbitration because AFSCME had no basis on which to contest them. The prior 
disciplines were in Mr. Gillam's personnel file and were either not grieved or had 
been grieved but the grievances were not sustained. (T. 110-111, 115-116, 120-
121, 123-124, 134-135) 

17. During the arbitration hearing, the City presented three witnesses. Mr. Ciocia 
cross-examined each of the City's witnesses. (T. 144-145, 169-170, 242-248) 

18. AFSCME's post-arbitration brief, focusing on the legal issue of the appropriate 
burden of proof, was sent to the arbitrator on April 25, 2003. (S. 5; T. 134-135) 

19. On occasions when all parties agree, post-arbitration briefs are submitted. 
These briefs are intended to be summaries of what the representative believes 
are the important facts or arguments to be made in the case. Brief content is 
dependent upon the unique circumstances of each case. (T. 137-138, 260-264) 

20. The arbitrator issued his decision and award denying the grievance on June 10, 
2003. (S. 6) 

21. AFSCME notified Mr. Gillam of the arbitrator's decision by letter dated June 12, 
2003. (S. 7) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The question presented is whether AFSCME has complied with the 
December 12, 2002 settlement agreement. Complainant and Mr. Gillam contend that 
AFSCME has not complied with the first paragraph of the settlement agreement. 

3 The only items in the exhibits of record that Complainant and Mr. Gillam cite as supporting the 
assertion that he has a sleep disorder are a letter from Mr. Gillam to Ms. Caldwell in which 
Mr. Gillam himself wrote that he had sleep apnea, and a doctor's note dated June 20, 1998, 
stating generally that Mr. Gillam was ill and experiencing "considerable discomfort" during the 
month of February 1998, but providing no diagnosis. (C & I Exhs. 20, 38) 
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Specifically, Complainant and Mr. Gillam assert that AFSCME did not fairly represent 
Mr. Gillam when processing his termination grievance to arbitration. 

The duty of fair representation is set forth in § 4117.11, which provides in 
relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 

* * * 
(6) Fail to fairly represent all public employees in a bargaining unit[.] 

When an unfair labor practice is charged because a union has allegedly violated 
its duty of fair representation, to determine whether § 4117.11 (B)(6) has been violated 
SERB will look to see if the union's actions are arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith. If 
SERB finds any of these components, the duty has been breached. The Complainant 
has the burden of proving that the union did not fairly represent its bargaining-unit 
members. In re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, SERB 98-010 (7-22-98), at 3-57 to 3-58. 

In determining whether conduct is arbitrary, SERB has adopted the analysis of 
the U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals in Vencl v. lnt'I Union of Operating Engineers, 
137 F. 3d 420, 426, 157 L.R.R.M. 2530 (6th Cir. 1998), citing Ruzicka v. General Motors 
Corp., 649 F.2d 1207, 1209 (6th Cir. 1981): "Absent justification or excuse, a Union's 
negligent failure to take a basic and required step, unrelated to the merits of the 
grievance, is a clear example of arbitrary and perfunctory conduct which amounts to 
unfair representation." In re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, supra at 3-58. The basic and 
required steps a union must take when fulfilling its duty of fair representation will vary 
depending upon the nature of the representation. In re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, 
supra. One of these representation functions is the processing of a grievance. Id. 
Failure to take a basic and required step while performing any of these representation 
functions creates a rebuttable presumption of arbitrariness. Id. Once that burden has 
been met, the Union must come forth with its justification or viable excuse for its actions 
or inactions. Id; see also In re OCSEA, AFSCME, Local 11, SERB 99-009 (5-21-99). 

SERB has followed federal court precedent under the National Labor Relations 
Act (" NLRA") in developing its interpretation and application of § 4117 .11 (B)(6). The 
complete satisfaction of all who are represented is hardly to be expected. A wide range 
of reasonableness must be allowed a statutory bargaining representative in serving the 
unit it represents, subject always to complete good faith and honesty of purpose in the 
exercise of discretion. Ford Motor Co. v. Huffman, 345 U.S. 330, 338 (1953). 

SERB has contrasted the meaning of "fair representation" with the meaning of 
"legal representation" in developing the standard for determining when a union's actions 
are arbitrary. 

[E]ssential to the analysis of the duty is an understanding that the concept 
of "representation," in this instance, is not the equivalent of "legal 
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representation" which, in general, prescribes zealous advocacy of the 
client's lawful position regardless of the representative's perception of the 
merits. [citation omitted] Rather, the union's representative duty involves 
balancing the interests of a diverse group. This balancing occurs most 
often in bargaining, * * * but it also may be a legitimate concern in 
resolving grievances and other contract administration issues. Given this 
essential component of an exclusive representative's function, flexibility 
and deference must be accorded the union in its efforts to seek benefits 
and enforcement for the unit as a whole, even though the desires of 
individual employees or groups of employees within the unit may go 
unfulfilled. 

The foregoing practical considerations form the foundation for our 
determination of whether a union's action is "arbitrary." In making such an 
assessment, this Board will look to the union's reason for its action or 
inaction. Is there a rational basis for the union's position? If there is, the 
action is not arbitrary. We accord the union great deference in evaluating 
approaches to bargaining and contract enforcement. Exclusive 
representatives must be able to form, evaluate, and pursue strategies for 
bargaining and contract enforcement. In interpreting and pursuing contract 
rights, unions must have leeway to assess and allow for ramifications and 
merits. Thus, a union's reason for a given approach will be examined not 
for its wisdom, for we cannot second-guess a union on its assessment of 
merit, but to determine merely whether the reason is rational. 

In re AFSCME, Local 2312, SERB 89-029 (10-16-89), at 3-203. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam raise several issues about Mr. Ciocia's preparation 
and presentation of Mr. Gillam's grievance at arbitration that they assert constitute 
evidence of AFSCME's failure to adequately represent Mr. Gillam. The record reflects, 
however, that AFSCME has articulated a rational basis for its actions in processing 
Mr. Gillam's grievance to arbitration. Moreover, no evidence is present in the record 
that AFSCME's actions were discriminatory or in bad faith. Accordingly, AFSCME has 
complied with the terms of the settlement agreement. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam complain that Mr. Ciocia failed to call the witnesses 
that Mr. Gillam suggested be called. Mr. Ciocia has articulated a rational basis for his 
decision to call only Mr. Gillam: other than the City's management and supervisory 
employees, each of whom was called by the City and cross-examined by Mr. Ciocia at 
the arbitration hearing, Mr. Gillam was the only witness with personal knowledge of the 
incidents that formed the basis for his termination. Mr. Ciocia had reviewed Mr. Gillam's 
prior disciplinary history and had determined that the only disciplinary action Local 100 
had a contractual basis to contest was the termination. Ms. Lowery, Mr. Grancha, and 
Mr. Brown did not have personal knowledge of the events of 1999 giving rise to 
Mr. Gillam's termination. 
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Mr. Gillam suggests that Mr. Grancha had knowledge of a "confined space" 
safety issue and should have been called to testify about this matter. But the record 
reveals that Mr. Gillam never brought this issue to Mr. Ciocia's attention either before or 
during the arbitration. Moreover, the record reveals that Mr. Gillam never raised a 
safety issue with the City when the City was considering Mr. Gillam's inadequate work 
performance when his supervisor observed him on April 12, 1999, as a basis for his 
termination. Mr. Gillam did not raise this issue when his supervisor questioned him 
about the contractor's progress on the sewer project, nor did he raise it at his 
predisciplinary hearing. Instead, the exhibits reveal that Mr. Gillam offered other 
explanations when questioned about his lack of knowledge of the status of the project. 
(T. 240; C & I Exhs. 29, 30) Under these circumstances, AFSCME did not act arbitrarily 
when it did not introduce evidence of a "confined space" safety issue at the arbitration 
and when it did not call Mr. Grancha to testify regarding this issue. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam argue that Mr. Ciocia did not present evidence that 
Mr. Gillam suffered from a sleep disorder. Mr. Ciocia determined that, while sleeping on 
work time had been a basis for earlier discipline, Mr. Gillam's termination was not for 
sleeping on work time. Nonetheless, Mr. Ciocia asked Mr. Gillam to bring in medical 
documentation of his sleep disorder. Mr. Gillam did not do so. Indeed, the exhibits 
cited by Complainant and Mr. Gillam in support of Mr. Gillam's allegation that he suffers 
from a sleep disorder consist only of Mr. Gillam's own statement in a letter he wrote to 
Ms. Caldwell and a doctor's note from July 1998 that contains no reference to a sleep 
disorder or to any diagnosis. It is implicit that the duty of fair representation 
encompasses not only the union's duty to act in the best interests of the grievant, but 
also that the grievant not hinder this duty and assist when so requested. In re Ohio Civil 
Service Employees Assn Local 11 Chapter/Bureau of Motor Vehicles, SERB 94-015 (8-
25-94), affd sub nom. Owens v SERB, 1995 SERB 4-26 (CP, Franklin, 6-6-95). 
Grievants who act otherwise may later find themselves unsuccessful with charging the 
union with violating its duty of fair representation. Id. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam argue that Mr. Ciocia did not adequately prepare for 
the arbitration hearing. Mr. Ciocia undertook AFSCME's usual preparation, including 
reviewing Local 1 OO's grievance file, conducting several telephone calls and one in
person meeting with the grievant, holding several office conferences with Ms. Caldwell, 
the Staff Representative involved in the grievance process, conducting legal research, 
and developing a strategy for presenting the case at arbitration. AFSCME's witnesses 
confirmed that no set standard exists for the number of in-person meetings with a 
grievant; it might be one, two, or three, and it is a case-specific, discretionary matter. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam argue that Mr. Ciocia's brief was inadequate 
because it did not contain a detailed analysis of the facts adduced at the arbitration 
hearing. AFSCME's witnesses explained that an arbitration brief is not intended to be 
the same as a legal brief. Arbitration briefs are not submitted in all cases; they are 
submitted upon the agreement of the arbitrator and the representatives of the parties. 
They are not intended to be all-inclusive or to contain alternative arguments. Rather, 
the goal is to place before the arbitrator what the representative considers to be an 
important point for consideration. Mr. Ciocia's brief is consistent with his strategy for the 



SERB OPINION 2004-005 
Case No. 2002-ULP-06-0455 
Page 9 of 11 

arbitration. He focused on the burden of proof, arguing that a "beyond a reasonable 
doubt" standard was appropriate rather than the lower, "preponderance of the evidence" 
standard. He also pointed out the significance of credibility in determining whether the 
City met its burden of proof. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam complain that Mr. Ciocia did not object to the City's 
evidence that Mr. Gillam had complained of harassment and discrimination. 
Complainant's and Mr. Gillam's own exhibits, however, reveal that Mr. Gillam had 
written memoranda to his supervisors suggesting that he was being treated in the same 
manner that previous African-American Assistant Civil Engineers had been treated and 
complaining of harassment as recently as April 1, 1999, the month of his termination. 
(C & I Exhs. 31, 32) 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam complain that it was improper for Mr. Ciocia to 
stipulate that Mr. Gillam had received a cautioning/instruction on April 7, 1997. 
Mr. Ciocia articulated a rational basis for the decision to stipulate to this evidence rather 
than argue about it at arbitration. Mr. Ciocia did not object to the introduction of this 
evidence because he had determined from his review of the grievance file that on 
April 7, 1999, the City was considering disciplining Mr. Gillam for events that had 
occurred in April 1999. The collective bargaining agreement did not serve to bar the 
introduction of the April 7, 1997 cautioning/instruction, as it was issued within two years 
of the time when the City was considering the April 1999 discipline, termination, at issue 
in the arbitration. 

Mr. Ciocia had asked Mr. Gillam to provide Mr. Ciocia with documents before the 
day of the arbitration hearing so that he would have time to review them. On the 
morning of the arbitration hearing, Mr. Gillam brought several boxes of documents to 
Mr. Ciocia. Complainant and Mr. Gillam complain that Mr. Ciocia did not introduce any 
of these documents into the record of the arbitration hearing. Mr. Ciocia has set forth a 
rational basis for his handling of the boxes of documents. When Mr. Ciocia asked Mr. 
Gillam what the documents were, Mr. Gillam responded that the boxes contained his 
personal notes. Mr. Gillam wanted to use the notes to refresh his recollection. Mr. 
Ciocia was concerned because he did not have enough time to review the documents 
before the hearing. Mr. Ciocia was also concerned because if Mr. Gillam used the 
documents while testifying, the City would be entitled to examine them as well, and as 
Mr. Ciocia did not have time to review the documents, he did not know if the documents 
would be prejudicial to Mr. Gillam. (T. 126-127) 

Mr. Gillam also appears to argue in his post-hearing brief that Mr. Ciocia should 
have advanced Mr. Gillam's grievance over his August 1998 ten-day suspension to 
Step 3. This argument is curious as Mr. Ciocia is not the staff representative assigned 
to Local 100, and was not involved with Mr. Gillam's grievance before the arbitration 
stage. In any event, the direction to show cause hearing involves compliance with the 
December 2002 settlement agreement, in which AFSCME made agreements involving 
its conduct after, not before, December 2002. Thus, this argument is not relevant. 
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Complainant and Mr. Gillam point out that Mr. Ciocia did not introduce into 
evidence at the arbitration a December 11, 1998 memorandum stating that Mr. Gillam 
was removed from the Absence Abuse List, having made "a sincere effort to correct the 
problem of abusive and/or excessive absenteeism." (C & I Exh. 35) The record reflects 
that on March 4, 1998, Mr. Gillam signed a First Letter of Warning-Absence Abuse, 
acknowledging that he had been advised of his abusive absence leave pattern and that 
he had been advised that he would remain on the Absence Abuse List for nine months. 
The letter that Mr. Ciocia did not introduce into evidence at arbitration reflects the 
completion of this nine-month disciplinary period. AFSCME points out that Mr. Gillam's 
eventual removal from the Absence Abuse List did not negate the fact that Mr. Gillam 
had been disciplined previously for absence abuse. 

While the arbitration record would have been more complete had the 
December 11, 1998 memorandum been admitted into the record along with the 
stipulated prior disciplines, this omission alone does not constitute a failure to take a 
basic and required step. At most, the omission is merely simple negligence, which does 
not constitute arbitrary conduct. In re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, SERB 98-010 (7-22-
98), at 3-57 to 3-58. Thus, this omission cannot lead to the conclusion that AFSCME 
has failed to adequately represent Mr. Gillam. 

Complainant and Mr. Gillam have not demonstrated that AFSCME failed to 
comply with the terms of the settlement agreement by processing Mr. Gillam's 
grievance to arbitration in an arbitrary manner. Furthermore, Complainant and 
Mr. Gillam have presented no evidence that AFSCME or Mr. Ciocia made any decision 
during the processing of Mr. Gillam's grievance to arbitration that involved AFSCME's 
use of irrelevant and invidious considerations, hostile action, or malicious dishonesty. 
Therefore, no evidence is present in the record that AFSCME has acted in bad faith or 
in a discriminatory manner. Accordingly, no basis is present to determine that AFSCME 
has failed to comply with the terms of the settlement agreement. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge 
recommends the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. Ohio Council 8, AFSCME, AFL-CIO and Local 100, AFSCME, AFL-CIO are 
"employee organizations" as defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

2. Artis Gillam, Jr., was a "public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01(C). 

3. Ohio Council 8, AFSCME, AFL-CIO and Local 100, AFSCME, AFL-CIO have 
complied with the settlement agreement entered into in this case. 
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VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss the Direction to Show Cause 
Hearing. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION 
LOCAL 627, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 03-ULP-05-0252 

BETH C. SHILLINGTON 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On May 9, 2003, Johnny Brantley filed an unfair labor practice charge against the 
Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 (the "Union"). 1 On October 16, 2003, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to 
believe that the Union violated §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) by failing to file a grievance on 
Mr. Brantley's behalf or to provide Mr. Brantley with the appropriate form to file a 
grievance. 

On December 10, 2003, a complaint was issued. Mr. Brantley filed a motion to 
intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). A hearing was 
held on February 18, 2004, wherein all parties presented testimonial and documentary 
evidence. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Union violated§ 4117.11(B)(1) by failing to file a grievance 
on Mr. Brantley's behalf or to provide Mr. Brantley with the appropriate 
form to file a grievance? 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all 
references to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, 
unless otherwise indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority ("SORTA") is a "public employer" 
as defined by§ 4117.01(B). (S. 1) 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 is an "employee organization" as 
defined by § 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit 
of SORTA's employees. (S. 2) 

3. Johnny Brantley is a "public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01 (C), is employed 
by SORTA, and is a member of the bargaining unit represented by the Union. 
(S. 3, 4, 5) 

4. SORTA and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
effective from February 1, 2003 through January 31, 2005, containing a 
grievance procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (S. 8-9; R. 
Exh. 1) 

5. On May 8, 1998, SORTA and the Union entered into an Appointed Storeroom 
Seniority Agreement ("SSA") as a resolution of a class action grievance. 
Included in the SSA was a provision that SORTA is to treat the maintenance 
department seniority of appointed storekeepers as frozen effective with the date 
such employees were appointed to the storeroom. (S. 1 O; T. 85-86; C & I Exh. 2) 

6. When Mr. Brantley began his employment with SORTA, he worked in the 
maintenance department as a janitor. After six months of employment, 
Mr. Brantley transferred to the storeroom. At that time, representatives of both 
SORTA and the Union told him that his maintenance department seniority would 
be frozen. In May 2003, as the result of SORTA's elimination of one storeroom 
position, Mr. Brantley was bumped out of the storeroom and returned to the 
maintenance department. Mr. Brantley's maintenance department seniority had 
been frozen as of the date he was appointed to the storeroom position. 
Therefore, in selecting his maintenance department job assignment, his 
placement on the seniority list reflected only the amount of time he had worked 
as a janitor in the maintenance department. (S. 11, 12, 13; T. 34, 50, 74-75, 77, 
82-83, 97-98; C & I Exh. 1) 

2 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are 
indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number. References to the 
Respondent's Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh.," followed by the 
exhibit number. References to the Complainant and Intervenor's Exhibits in the record are 
indicated parenthetically by "C & I Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. References to the 
stipulations and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not 
intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related 
Finding of Fact. 
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7. Mr. Brantley was upset that following his involuntary transfer out of the storeroom 
he was placed near the bottom of the maintenance department seniority list. 
Mr. Brantley told his immediate supervisor, Terry Bender, about his concerns. 
Mr. Bender told Mr. Brantley to raise the issue with the Union. Mr. Brantley 
spoke with Union Steward James Nerlinger, a mechanic employed by SORTA. 
Mr. Brantley told Mr. Nerlinger that he wanted to file a grievance. Mr. Nerlinger 
told Mr. Brantley that Mr. Brantley did not have a grievance. Mr. Nerlinger gave 
Mr. Brantley copies of the class action grievance documents that had resulted in 
the SSA. Mr. Brantley asked Mr. Nerlinger for a grievance form. Mr. Nerlinger 
would not give Mr. Brantley a grievance form because it was Mr. Nerlinger's 
opinion that Mr. Brantley did not have a grievance. Mr. Nerlinger told 
Mr. Brantley that Mr. Brantley could talk to Mr. Hampton. (T. 66, 72-73, 74, 101-
102, 103; C & I Exhs. 2, 7) 

8. Mr. Brantley telephoned Union President Mitchell Hampton. Mr. Hampton 
explained the SSA to Mr. Brantley. Mr. Hampton told Mr. Brantley that 
Mr. Brantley could file a grievance if he wanted to, but that Mr. Hampton was not 
sure how successful such a grievance would be. Mr. Brantley did not ask 
Mr. Hampton how to file a grievance or for a grievance form. (T. 20-25, 50-52) 

9. Section 3 of the CBA contains a grievance procedure. An employee who 
believes that a grievance exists is to first meet informally with his or her direct 
supervisor. The employee's Union Steward may also attend this meeting. If 
informal discussion does not resolve the problem, the Union or the employee 
may initiate the grievance procedure. Section 3 of the CBA provides in relevant 
part as follows: 

Step One - If the grievance is a complaint of an employee or the 
Union, the grievance complained of shall be submitted in writing to 
the other party within ten (10) days after the incident giving rise to 
the same becomes known with reasonable diligence, stating the 
nature of the grievance and the remedies sought from the Authority. 
The Union will submit the written grievance to the immediate 
supervisor or his/her designee. 

The parties' practice has been for the affected employee to advise his or her 
Union Steward of the problem, and, if informal discussion does not resolve the 
problem, to reduce the grievance to writing on a grievance form or on a plain 
sheet of paper attached to the grievance form. (T. 18-19, 68; C & I 6; R. Exh. 1, 
at pp. 3-4) 

10. Before 1997, bargaining-unit members were able to select job assignments both 
in and out of the storeroom by seniority. Beginning with the collective bargaining 
agreement executed in 1997, SORTA selected and assigned storeroom 
employees. Section 22(b)(7) in the Mechanical Departments section of the 
current CBA explains the process as follows: 
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Effective with the 1997 general pick in Maintenance all 
Storekeeper positions shall become appointed positions. [SORTA] 
will select and assign the employees. Appointed employees will 
continue to accrue overall seniority for the purpose of vacation 
eligibility and selection, job selection within the Inventory and 
Stores department, or in the event of lay-off. 

(T. 64-65, 68-69; R Exh. 1, at p. 47) 

11. The SSA was signed on May 8, 1998, to resolve a class action grievance filed 
after the new storeroom selection and assignment process was implemented. 
Paragraphs 3 and 4 of the SSA read as follows: 

In accordance with the Union's request, "maintenance 
department" seniority of appointed storeroom employees will be 
frozen effective with the date of their appointment to the storeroom. 
Employees appointed to the position of storekeeper will continue to 
accrue overall seniority for benefit purposes. An employee's 
appointed storekeeper seniority date will be used for appointed 
storekeeper job selection. However, employees appointed to the 
storekeeper position will not continue to accrue departmental 
seniority within the mechanical (maintenance) department. 

The Union and SORTA agree that all issues relating to 
maintenance employees' seniority in the storeroom, as well as the 
interview and selection process for appointed storekeeper 
positions, are now fully and finally closed, and the Union agrees 
that no unfair labor practices have occurred during the appointment 
process. 

(C & I Exh. 2) 

12. Section 22(c) of the CBA provides in relevant part as follows: 

When an employee applies for and is awarded a job in a different 
department, that employee will move into the new department at 
the bottom of the department seniority list. The employee will retain 
his/her overall seniority for purposes of benefits. Picking rights will 
be determined by his/her place on the new department seniority list. 
Any such employee moving from the department to another as 
outlined above, will serve a sixty (60) day probationary period in the 
new department and job. The Authority may at any time during the 
probationary period elect to move the employee back to his/her 
former department. In such a case, the employee will move back to 
their old department with full seniority for picking and benefits. In 
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case of layoff an employee shall be allowed to return to his/her 
former department with the seniority attained at the time they left. 
For this paragraph only, departments are defined as 
Transportation, Mechanical including Building Maintenance, 
Farebox Pullers and Traffic Checkers. 

(R. Exh. 1, at p. 48) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.03 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) Public employees have the right to: 

••• 
(5) Present grievances and have them adjusted, without the 

intervention of the bargaining representative, as long as the 
adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of the 
bargaining agreement then in effect and as long as the 
bargaining representatives have the opportunity to be 
present at the adjustment. 

Section 4117 .11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 

(1) Restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code. 

The question presented is whether the Union restrained or coerced Mr. Brantley 
in the exercise of his guaranteed right to present grievances. The parties' actual 
practice reflects the language of the CBA, which contemplates the involvement of the 
Union from the beginning of the formal grievance process at Step One. While the CBA 
notes that a grievance is a complaint of either an employee or the Union, at Step One 
the CBA states that "[t]he Union will submit the written grievance to the immediate 
supervisor or his/her designee." The Union, through Mr. Nerlinger, Mr. Brantley's Union 
Steward, refused either to undertake this process or to give Mr. Brantley a grievance 
form so that he could submit the grievance on his own. The Union's defense is, 
primarily, that notwithstanding the language of the CBA calling for the Union to submit 
the written grievance, Mr. Brantley could have simply filed the grievance on his own. 
Mr. Nerlinger, however, refused to give Mr. Brantley a grievance form despite 
Mr. Brantley's request for the form. Therefore, the Union restrained Mr. Brantley in his 
attempt to exercise his guaranteed right to present grievances as set forth in 
§ 4117.03(A)(5). Accordingly, the Union violated § 4117.11 (B)(1 ). 
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The Union argues that evidence of restraint or coercion is not present. The 
Union cites In re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, SERB 95-020 (11-8-95), in which the 
employee organization was found to have violated § 4117.11 (B)(6), but not 
§ 4117.11(B)(1), when it failed to file a grievance on a bargaining-unit member's behalf. 
But this case is distinguishable because the Union, in refusing Mr. Brantley's request for 
a grievance form, actively restrained him in his attempt to present his grievance on his 
own. The Union further argues that it did not violate § 4117.11 (B)(1) because 
Mr. Brantley's grievance was meritless and the Union so determined and informed 
Mr. Brantley. This argument would be relevant in an analysis of whether 
§4117.11(B)(6) was violated, and is relevant to remedy, as discussed below. This 
argument however, is not a defense to a § 4117.11 (B)(1) violation, in which the inquiry 
is whether the Union restrained Mr. Brantley in his attempt to exercise his guaranteed 
rights as a public employee, rather than whether the Union failed to fairly represent its 
bargaining-unit members. Therefore, the Union violated § 4117.11 (B)(1) when it 
refused to either file a grievance on Mr. Brantley's behalf or to provide Mr. Brantley with 
the grievance form he requested so that he could present the grievance himself. 

The remedy for the violation in this case should be limited to a cease-and-desist 
order and a notice posting. Mr. Brantley's grievance was not reasonably likely to 
succeed on the merits. No conflict exists between the SSA and the CBA. Both the SSA 
and section 22(c) of the CBA support the conclusion that when employees return to a 
department where they worked previously, they return with only the departmental 
seniority they had when they left the former department. The only circumstance in 
which this scenario is not the case is set forth in section 22(c), which provides 
specifically that when an employee is returned to his or her former department while 
serving a probationary period in a new department, the employee will return with full 
seniority for both benefit and picking purposes. The present case does not fall within 
the section 22(c) exception. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge 
recommends the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority is a "public employer" as defined 
by§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. Johnny Brantley is a "public employee" as defined by § 4117.01 (C). 
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4. The Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 violated § 4117.11(B)(1) when it 
refused to either file a grievance on Mr. Brantley's behalf or to provide him with 
the grievance form he requested so that he could present the grievance himself. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant 
§ 4117.12(B), requiring the Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 to do the 
following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

( 1) Restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by failing to file a 
grievance on Johnny Brantley's behalf or to provide Mr. Brantley 
with the appropriate form to file a grievance, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(1 ). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Amalgamated 
Transit Union Local 627 work, the Notice to Employees furnished 
by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 shall cease and desist from 
actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative 
action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of 
the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On April 14, 2004, the Teamsters Local Union No. 284, IBT ("Teamsters"), filed a 
Petition for Representation Election under Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.05 and 4117.0?1, 
seeking to represent a bargaining unit of Unit Clerical Associates, Patient Care Associates, 
and Licensed Practical Nurses employed by The Ohio State University ("OSU"). The 
Teamsters filed an amended petition on April 29, 2004. OSU filed a position statement 
opposing the proposed bargaining unit. The Communications Workers of America, 
Local 4501, AFL-CIO ("CWA"), filed a motion to intervene in accordance with Ohio 
Administrative Code Rule 4117-1-07(B). On July 22, 2004, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") granted the motion to intervene and directed this case 
to mediation and to hearing to determine an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other 
relevant issues. 

On September 28, 2004, after the parties narrowed the disputed issues through 
mediation, a hearing was held, during which all parties had the opportunity to present 
testimonial and documentary evidence. Subsequently, CWA and OSU filed post-hearing 
briefs. 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117. and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Core, Chapter 4117. 
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II. ISSUES 

1. Whether Licensed Practical Nurses should be included in the 
proposed bargaining unit. 

2. Whether employees in the petitioned-for classifications who work at 
OSU East Hospital should be included in the proposed bargaining 
unit. 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. All employees in the petitioned-for jobs are employees of OSU who work within the 
University Medical Center. (S. 1) 

2. "Full-time employees" includes employees with an appointment of 75 percent or 
greater. (S. 2) 

3. OSU East Hospital is located approximately five miles from University Hospital, the 
Ross Heart Hospital, and the James Cancer Hospital. (S. 3) 

4. Patient Care Associates ("PCAs"), Unit Clerical Associates ("UCAs"), and Licensed 
Practical Nurses ("LPNs") support patient care. The LPN position requires a state 
license and is regulated by the State Board of Nursing. (S. 4) 

5. The Ohio State University Health Services is divided into six business units. This 
proceeding involves four of the six units: University Hospital ("UH"), a 960-bed 
tertiary care center located on OSU's main campus; the James Cancer Hospital, a 
130-bed cancer service provider adjacent to UH; the Ross Heart Hospital, a 90-bed 
heart patient hospital adjacent to UH and scheduled to open in October 2004; and 
OSU East Hospital ("OSU East"), a 400-bed family practice and community hospital 
located five miles east of the main campus. (T. 12-15; OSU Exhs. 1, 2) 

6. Approximately 5,000 employees work in the hospitals on the main campus. The 
main campus hospital complex is a comprehensive academic medical center, 

:All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by 'T ", followed 
by the page number. All references to the CWA's Exhibits are indicated parenthetically b'/CWA 
Exh. ,"followed by the exhibit letter. All references to OSU's Exhibits are indicated parenthetically by 
"OSU Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated 
parenthetically by "S. ,"followed by the stipulation number. References to the transcript and exhibits 
in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such 
references are the sole support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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where teaching and research is done in addition to patient care. OSU East is 
located five miles away on the east side of Columbus. OSU East is a community 
hospital focusing primarily on patient care and has approximately 900 employees. 
Of the employees in the three petitioned-for job titles as of September 28, 2004, 
605 worked at the main campus hospital complex and 111 worked at OSU East. In 
the LPN classification, 41 were employed at the main campus, and 15 worked at 
OSU East. (T. 93-95. 104; OSU Exh. 14) 

7. UCAs' duties are carried out primarily at the nursing unit to which they are 
assigned. UCAs answer and direct internal and external telephone calls and the 
patient call lights at the nursing unit. UCAs assemble patient records and transfer 
them to the medical records department when a patient is discharged. UCAs report 
to the Nurse Manager of the nursing unit and are responsible to the Charge Nurse 
on each shift. To be hired as a UCA, an applicant is required to pass a civil service 
test. (T. 18-21, 210) 

8. PCAs assist Registered Nurses ("RNs") with patient care. PCAs have responsibility 
for assisting patients with activities of daily living ("ADLs"), which include bathing, 
eating, walking, and sitting up. PCAs take and record vital signs, including blood 
pressure, pulse, and respirations. PCAs at the main campus hospitals also have 
responsibility for phlebotomy (blood draws) and electrocardiograms ("EC Gs") for the 
patients on their nursing unit. At OSU East, lab technicians are responsible for 
phlebotomy, and ECGs are performed by respiratory therapists. PCAs are 
assigned to a nursing unit and have the same reporting structure as UCAs. To be 
hired as a PCA, an applicant must have a high school diploma or graduate 
equivalency diploma. (T. 23-29, 61, 145-149) 

9. LPNs perform all of the functions PCAs perform. Additionally, LPNs assess patient 
treatment needs, provide tube feedings, put catheters in patients, change complex 
wound dressings, observe wounds and look for indications of infection, document 
findings on patient medical records, and make decisions about whether to report 
their findings to the patient's RN or physician. LPNs also administer oxygen and 
medications either by injection or by mouth, including administering narcotics for 
pain relief. LPNs must have a high school diploma and complete a licensed 
practical nursing program of 12-18 months. LPNs must pass a State Board of 
Nursing test to obtain a license to practice. To administer medication, LPNs must 
have an "LPNP" designation, indicating that they have completed a pharmacology 
course. An LPN's license expires every two years, and LPNs must acquire 
24 continuing education units over each two-year period in order to renew the license. 
(T. 31-36, 76, 78) 

10. When caring for a patient, LPNs may, under certain circumstances, administer 
treatment that they feel is warranted. For example, LPNs monitor skin condition 
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and blood pressure. If an LPN sees a red spot on a patient, the LPN will determine 
whether the red spot needs a prescribed surface treatment, whether it needs to be 
monitored and rechecked, or whether an RN needs to be notified. If an LPN sees 
that a spinal patient's blood pressure is elevated, the LPN will evaluate what actions 
should be taken, such as administering a catheter, looking for other problems, or 
doing a rectal exam, and will take these or other actions until the situation is 
alleviated. The LPN would also review the patient's medical record and physician's 
orders and administer any medications that the physician may have ordered for that 
patient, such as a blood pressure medication to be administered as necessary. A 
PCA who recognizes an elevated blood pressure or skin condition warranting 
attention would instead notify the RN on duty. (T. 38-39, 81-85) 

11. LPNs typically care for a portion of the group of patients for whom a particular RN is 
responsible, and the PCAs assist the RN with the remainder of his or her patients. 
LPNs are assigned to a nursing unit and have the same reporting structure as 
UCAs and PCAs. (T. 40) 

12. The position description for each of the three classifications states that the 
incumbent "[f]unctions as an integral member of a team of care providers on a 
patient care unit." The RN-Patient Care Coordinator directs the work of the team. 
(OSU Exhs. 3-5) 

13. OSU East is a community hospital. OSU East has a family atmosphere, and was 
purchased by OSU to provide an opportunity for training in a community setting 
because ultimately most doctors, nurses, and other health care professionals find 
employment and careers in a community setting. Because OSU East is small in 
size, its employees get to know each other and their administrators. Also 
contributing to the community atmosphere is the fact that many OSU East 
employees also live in the surrounding neighborhoods and know the patients OSU 
East serves. OSU East functions as an autonomous business unit, with a separate 
Board of Directors, a separate provider number, a separate administrative staff, a 
separate Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Nursing Officer, 
and Chief Financial Officer. Physicians who work at any of the main campus 
hospitals must apply separately for privileges to practice at OSU East. (T. 93-95, 
97-98, 154) 

14. The hospitals on main campus provide certain complex services that cannot be 
obtained at OSU East. University Hospital is a tertiary care center, designated as a 
Level I Trauma Center, which is the highest level of trauma that a hospital can 
accept. University Hospital also provides care for highly complex transplant 
patients and services for women and infant care, including a level three N.l.C.U., 
which is the highest level of care that can be provided for neonates. In addition to 
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the medical and surgical services provided at University Hospital, the facility has 
rehabilitation services. (T. 12, 15, 95) 

15. No interchange or interaction exists among PCAs, UCAs, and LPNs at OSU East 
and those at the main campus hospitals. The PCAs, UCAs, and LPNs at OSU East 
and the main campus hospitals have separate reporting structures. Employees at 
the three main campus hospitals interact frequently. (T. 99, 100, 133) 

16. Working conditions at OSU East are different from those at the main campus 
hospitals. OSU East has its own cafeteria and free parking for employees. 
Employees at the main campus hospitals share common eating areas and must pay 
for parking. Social functions or celebrations that relate to all entities are generally 
held on the main campus separately from similar events held for employees at OSU 
East. (T. 110, 111, 114, 154) 

17. The Ross Heart and James Cancer hospitals share with or purchase services from 
University Hospital, such as dietary, pharmacy, radiology, facilities maintenance, 
and respiratory therapy services. OSU East makes its own arrangements for such 
services. The hospitals have two separate Human Resource Offices - one for OSU 
East and one serving the main campus hospitals. (T. 117, 118, 164) 

18. RNs at the main campus hospitals are represented by the Ohio Nurses Association 
("ONA"), but RNs at OSU East are not. CWA represents two wall-to-wall bargaining 
units of employees, service and skilled trades, who work in these classifications 
throughout OSU. The service classifications include custodial, food service, and 
bus drivers. The skilled trade classifications include maintenance, carpenters, 
plumbers, and HVAC. These bargaining units have existed for over 20 years. 
(T. 120-121, 174-175, 181) 

19. UCAs and PCAs spend their first day in a common orientation with all new hires 
that covers University-wide benefits and safety issues. On their second day of 
employment, they spend a half-day in a business unit-level orientation. UCAs then 
move on to classroom training and transition to the particular nursing unit to which 
they are assigned. PCAs hired to work at main campus hospitals have a four- to 
five-week training program. Half of their training program is devoted to gaining 
competency in phlebotomy and ECGs. The orientation for PCAs at OSU East is 
shorter because their responsibilities do not include phlebotomy or ECGs. (T. 21-
22, 29-30) 

----~•r---
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

In State ex rel. Glass. Molders. Pottery, Plastics & Allied Workers v. SERB (1994), 
70 Ohio St.3d 252, 1994 SERB 4-64, 638 N.E.2d 556, the Ohio Supreme Court set forth 
procedural guidelines for unit determinations when the employer objects to the unit 
description proposed by the employee organization or when more than one proposed unit 
description is pending before SERB. SERB's first opportunity to apply these procedural 
guidelines was in In re St. Marys City School District Bd of Ed, SERB 95-007 (4-21-95) ("St. 
Marys"). In St. Marys, the Board stated that an employer who objects to the employee 
organization's proposed unit has the burden to show by substantial evidence that the 
objectionable unit is inappropriate. If the employer carries its burden of proof, the 
petitioned-for unit will not be found to be appropriate. 

Section 4117.06(B) provides as follows: 

The board shall determine the appropriateness of each bargaining 
unit and shall consider among other relevant factors: the desires of 
the employees; the community of interest; wages, hours, and other 
working conditions of the public employees; the effect of over
fragmentation; the efficiency of operations of the public employer; the 
administrative structure of the public employer; and the history of 
collective bargaining. 

This framework is utilized in determining the appropriate bargaining unit. St. Marys, 
supra at 3-47. The determination of the appropriate unit must be made on a case-by-case 
basis. examining the particular facts involved and analyzing all relevant factors. Id. 

In this case, OSU filed objections to the bargaining unit proposed in the Teamsters' 
Petition for Representation Election. The Teamsters sought to represent UCAs, PCAs, 
and LPNs who work at University Hospital. In its position statement, OSU proposed 
excluding LPNs and including UCAs and PCAs who work at the James Cancer and Ross 
Heart hospitals. CWA proposes a bargaining unit consisting of UCAs, PCAs, and LPNs 
who work at University, James Cancer, Ross Heart, and OSU East hospitals. All parties 
agreed to submit only the following two issues to SERB for resolution: (1) Whether LPNs 
should be included in the proposed bargaining unit, and (2) whether the bargaining should 
include employees who work at OSU East. 

A. LPNs should be included in the proposed bargaining unit 

In examining the first issue, the only evidence of the desires of the employees is the 
confidential showing of interest that SERB's investigation found sufficient to determine that 
a question concerning representation exists. This factor favors including LPNs in the 
bargaining unit. 
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The community of interest factors, including wages, hours, and other terms and 
conditions of employment, also favor the inclusion of the LPNs in the bargaining unit. 
Smaller units with less variety of classifications have tighter community of interest than 
larger units with more variety of classifications. Additional factors to be considered in 
analyzing community of interest include a similarity in job functions, geographic proximity, 
common supervision, the degree of employee interchange, and operational integration. 
University of Akron, supra at 3-31; In re Stark County Bd of Mental Retardation and 
Developmental Disabilities, SERB 93-018 (12-16-93). PCAs, UCAs, and LPNs are all 
based on nursing units and are supporting members of a patient care team based on the 
unit to which they are assigned. These three employees serve as part of an integrated 
operation and share common supervision at the nursing unit. They share common 
benefits. 

Their wages vary, with the average UCA wage being $11.71 per hour, the average 
PCA wage being $12.21 per hour, and the average LPN wage being $17.57 per hour. The 
minimum qualifications are different for each position as well, with the LPN position 
requiring 12-18 months of post-high school education. These differences, however, are 
not sufficient to override the overall community of interest shared by these support workers. 
Both PCAs and LPNs assist RNs with direct patient care. Both PCAs and LPNs assist 
patients with ADLs. PCAs at the main campus hospitals are trained in drawing blood and 
performing ECGs, each of which demands a level of technical competence. While OSU 
emphasizes the differences between LPNs and the other two classifications in the 
proposed bargaining unit, no evidence was presented that LPNs share common duties, 
working conditions, educational requirements, or supervision with other allied health 
workers employed by OSU and only briefly mentioned by OSU witnesses at hearing. Such 
workers as respiratory therapists, radiology technicians, medical technicians, laboratory 
technicians, and dieticians are not based at a nursing unit with the LPNs, and do not share 
common supervision with the LPNs as do the PCAs and UCAs. 

This proposed bargaining unit would be efficient for OSU's administrative structure, 
which at the patient care level is designed around the nursing unit. Moreover, with 
reference to the history of collective bargaining, the only other bargaining unit specific to 
OSU Health Services consists of RNs represented by the ONA. No evidence is present 
that any other employees desire to organize and be represented by an employee 
organization that includes the LPNs. OSU has not succeeded in its burden of 
demonstrating that a unit of UCAs, PCAs, and LPNs is not appropriate for collective 
bargaining. 

OSU argues that SERB should follow a National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB") 
administrative rule that supports categorizing LPNs as technical employees who belong in 
separate bargaining units. SERB has not enacted an analogous administrative rule. 
Indeed, before this administrative rule was promulgated, the NLRB applied a community of 
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interest analysis to proposed health care bargaining units that included LPNs with other 
classifications that support patient care. See, e.g., Vicksburg Hospital Inc. v. NLRB, 653 
F.2d 1070 (51

h Cir. 1981 ). Rather than establishing presumptions in favor or against certain 
combinations of employees, except as identified specifically in§ 4117.06, SERB's case law 
supports a case-by-case review of proposed bargaining units. None of the specific 
situations identified in § 4117.06 is applicable to alter the case-by-case analysis of the 
appropriate bargaining unit. 

B. OSU East Employees Should Be Excluded From the Proposed Bargaining Unit 

A bargaining unit including the UCAs, PCAs, and LPNs at OSU East would not be 
appropriate. OSU and the Teamsters agree on this point; only CWA argues for their 
inclusion. OSU East's administrative functions would be hampered were its employees 
included in the proposed bargaining unit. The evidence reveals that OSU acquired OSU 
East for specific education, training, and community service purposes. Maintaining the 
cohesive, family-oriented atmosphere at OSU East is an important goal of OSU, and it has 
structured OSU East accordingly as a separate business entity. 

Employee interaction between the main campus hospitals and OSU East exists only 
at the most senior management levels. OSU East is geographically remote, serving a local 
community population. The human resource functions are decentralized, with OSU East 
maintaining its own human resources office. The job duties of the PCAs at OSU East differ 
significantly from those at the main campus hospitals in that the most complex job duties, 
phlebotomy and ECGs, are not handled by PCAs or even at the nursing-unit level at OSU 
East. This difference reflects the different business operations in place at OSU East. OSU 
East maintains a small hospital atmosphere, with 900 employees - less than 20 percent 
of the number of employees at the main hospital complex. OSU East employees enjoy 
plentiful, free, on-site parking. The patient population is different at OSU East, which is a 
primary care facility. The main campus hospitals treat many patients who require highly 
specialized care, including, for example, heart patients, cancer patients, and transplant 
patients. 

While maintaining OSU East as a separate facility may result in some fragmentation 
of bargaining units, over-fragmentation would not result from continuing to maintain OSU 
East as a separate entity. A single-facility bargaining unit at OSU East would be aligned 
with the administrative goal of maintaining OSU East as a separate business entity. 
Moreover, with 111 OSU East employees in the UCA, PCA, and LPN classifications, a 
single-facility bargaining unit of these employees would not be inefficient or unworkable. 
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V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Ohio State University is a "public employer" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Teamsters Local Union No. 284, IBT and the Communications Workers of 
America, Local 4501, AFL-CIO are "employee organizations" within the meaning of 
§ 4117.01(D). 

3. The following described unit is appropriate for collective bargaining: 

INCLUDED: All full-time employees (meaning employees with an 
appointment of 75 percent or greater) in the classifications 
of Patient Care Associate, Unit Clerical Associate, and 
Licensed Practical Nurse employed at The Ohio State 
University Hospital, The James Cancer Hospital, and The 
Ross Heart Hospital. 

EXCLUDED: All other employees, including confidential and supervisory 
employees and all employees at OSU East Hospital. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board direct a representation election in 
accordance with § 4117.07 and the rules set forth in Ohio Administrative Code 
Chapter 4117-5 in the bargaining unit described below: 

INCLUDED: All full-time employees (meaning employees with an 
appointment of 75 percent or greater) in the classifications 
of Patient Care Associate, Unit Clerical Associate, and 
Licensed Practical Nurse employed at The Ohio State 
University Hospital, The James Cancer Hospital, and The 
Ross Heart Hospital. 

EXCLUDED: All other employees, including confidential and supervisory 
employees and all employees at OSU East Hospital. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
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CITY OF JACKSON, 
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CASE NO. 03-ULP-11-0586 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 7, 2003, the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, Local 4, 
AFL-CIO and its Local 410 ("OAP SE") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City 
of Jackson ("the City"), alleging that the City violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) 
and (A)(5). 1 On January 22, 2004, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or 
"Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the City violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and 
(A)(5) by failing to recognize the parties' collective bargaining agreement. 

On May 12, 2004, OAPSE filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in 
accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). On May 17, 2004, a complaint was issued. A hearing 
was held on June 4 and 10, 2004, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was 
presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the City violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to recognize 
the parties' collective bargaining agreement? 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The City of Jackson is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (8). (S.) 

2. The Ohio Association of Public School Employees, Local 4, AFL-CIO and its 
Local 410 is an "employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01 (D) and is the 
SERB-certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of employees of the 
City of Jackson that includes all of the following: Executive Assistant of 
Administrative Services Water Distribution/Waste Water Collection, Mechanical 
Supervisor, Electric Superintendent, Waste Water Plant Supervisor, Street and 
Alley/Sanitation, and Utilities Superintendent. (S.) 

3. A special audit that occurred in the City of Jackson in 2002 strained relations 
between the City Council and the administration of Mayor John T. Evans, including 
Public Service/Safety Director William Sheward, so as to render communications 
between City Council and the administration virtually non-existent. (T. 85-86, 230, 
235-236) 

4. On March 13, 2003, SERB certified OAP SE as the exclusive representative for the 
bargaining unit pursuant to a Request for Recognition. (S.) 

5. OAPSE and the City's bargaining representatives met and negotiated an initial 
collective bargaining agreement ("CBA''). On or about August 8, 2003, the parties 
reached tentative agreement on the initial CSA. (S.; T. 8, 46-47) 

6. On August 8, 2003, Public Service/Safety Director Sheward asked Executive 
Assistant Robin Bissell to prepare a memorandum to City Council for issuance 
under his name and that of Mayor Evans. The memorandum referred to the 
tentative agreement between OAPSE and the City, which was attached to the 
memorandum. The memorandum asked City Council to review the tentative 
agreement before its August 25, 2003 City Council meeting. The memorandum 
indicated that Mayor Evans and Mr. Sheward would be present at the meeting on 
August 25, 2003, to answer questions and indicated that an ordinance would be 
presented at that time. The memorandum further stated that if City Council needed 
information prior to August 25, 2003, either the Mayor or Mr. Sheward could be 
contacted. (Jt. Exh. 1; T. 10-13, 100) 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by 
"S." References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number(s). All references to the Complainant and Intervenor's exhibits in the 
record are indicated parenthetically by "C - I Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to 
the transcript and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not 
intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of 
Fact. 
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7. Mayor Evans gave the memorandum and tentative agreement to Ms. Bissell and 
asked her to give it to City Council members. (T. 33, 55) 

8. On August 8, 2003, Ms. Bissell gave copies of the memorandum and attached 
tentative agreement to Jackson City Law Director John "Jack" Detty. Also on 
August 8, 2003, Mr. Detty took copies of the memorandum and attached tentative 
agreement and placed the copies into City Council member's packets. (T. 101) 

9. Both Mayor Evans and Public Service/Safety Director Sheward were out of town the 
week of the August 11, 2003 City Council meeting. (T. 34, 48, 57) 

10. On August 23, 2003, Mr. Detty drafted ordinance 112-03 to be presented at the 
August 25, 2003 City Council meeting. Ordinance 112-03 authorized the City to 
enter into an agreement between the City and OAPSE. (Jt. Exh. 3) 

11. On August 25, 2003, the City Council gave Ordinance 112-03 its first reading. (S.) 

12. On September 8, 2003, the City Council had a second reading on Ordinance 112-
03. (S.) 

13. On September 22, 2003, the City Council had a third reading on Ordinance 112-03. 
(S.) 

14. On September 22, 2003, a majority of the City Council voted not to pass 
Ordinance 112-03. (S.) 

15. To date, City Council has not signed, recognized, or implemented the terms of the 
CBA. (S) 

16. In October 2003, OAPSE representative Lynda Bolin asked Ms. Bissell if Mr. Detty 
would write a letter indicating when he received the memorandum and tentative 
agreement from the Mayor Evans and Public Service/Safety Director Sheward and 
when he had given it to City Council. (T. 106-107) 

17. On October 23, 2003, Ms. Bissell asked Mr. Detty if he would do as Ms. Bolin 
requested. Mr. Detty said if Ms. Bissell typed such a letter he would sign it. (T. 107) 

18. Mr. Detty reviewed the letter prepared by Ms. Bissell. Since Mr. Detty was uncertain 
if he placed the memorandum and tentative agreement in the packets for City 
Council members on August 8, 2003, or whether he took the documents directly to 
the August 11, 2003 City Council meeting, he had Ms. Bissell correct the letter to 
say he received the memorandum and tentative agreement on August 8, 2003, and 
placed the documents in the members' packets so they would have them for the 
August 11, 2003 City Council meeting. (T. 107; C-1 Exh. 1) 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117. 11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 
*** 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its employees 
recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant to 
Chapter4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The issue is whether the City engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of 
§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it failed to recognize the parties' collective bargaining 
agreement. Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 
Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain. 
regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 
SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

Section 4117. 1 O(B) provides in relevant part as follows: 

The public employer shall submit a request for funds necessary to 
implement an agreement and for approval of any other matter requiring the 
approval of the appropriate legislative body to the legislative body within 
fourteen days of the date on which the parties finalize the agreement, unless 
otherwise specified, but if the appropriate legislative body is not in session at 
the time, then within fourteen days after it convenes. The legislative body 
must approve or reject the submission as a whole, and the submission is 
deemed approved if the legislative body fails to act within thirty days after the 
public employer submits the agreement. The parties may specify that those 
provisions of the agreement not requiring action by a legislative body are 
effective and operative in accordance with the terms of the agreement, 
provided there has been compliance with division (C) of this section. If the 
legislative body rejects the submission of the public employer, either party 
may reopen all or part of the entire agreement. 

Section 4117.10(8) requires an employer to submit "a request for funds necessary 
to implement an agreement" within fourteen days of the date the parties finalize the 
agreement. Since it is undisputed that the parties reached tentative agreement on 
August 8, 2003, this section required the public employer to submit "a request for funds" to 
the legislative body by August 22, 2003. The City states that the request for funds was 
made on August 25, 2003, when it argues that the tentative agreement was submitted for 
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the first time to City Council along with an ordinance. Section 4117. 1 O(B) also states that 
the submission shall be deemed approved if the legislative body fails to act within thirty 
days after the public employer submits "the agreement." The first inconsistency within 
§ 4117.10(B) is the reference in the first sentence to "a request for funds" and in the 
second sentence to "the agreement" when referring to the submission. 

The question of what constitutes a proper submission is not specifically answered by 
SERB case law. OAG Opinion 88-030, however, provides a useful analogy. The opinion 
discusses what procedures are sufficient to produce a proper submission to the General 
Assembly when a public employer submits a request for funds necessary to implement a 
collective bargaining agreement to the General Assembly. The opinion notes that 
§ 4117.1 O(B) imposes a duty upon a public employer to make a submission for approval or 
rejection but specifies only the time within which such a submission must be made. The 
opinion cites Jewett v. Valley Ry. Co., 34 Ohio St. 601 (1878), and State ex rel. Hunt v. 
Hildebrandt, 93 Ohio St. 1, 112 N.E. 138 (1915), in concluding that "in the absence of 
statutory guidelines as to the manner in which the submission is to be made, it is presumed 
that the legislature intended that the submission be made in any reasonable manner." 

It does not seem unreasonable for Mayor Evans and Public Service/Safety Director 
to draft a memorandum, attach a copy of the tentative agreement thereto, and give the 
memorandum and attachment to their Executive Assistant to give to City Council. It also 
does not seem unreasonable for the Executive Assistant to give the memorandum and 
tentative agreement to the Law Director when he offers to take it over to City Council for its 
next meeting. In the absence of any case law to the contrary, the question of whether the 
submission of the tentative agreement without an ordinance is sufficient to cause the thirty
day clock to start ticking must be answered in the affirmative. 

The City argues that Ms. Bissell's version of what transpired between herself and 
Law Director Detty on August 8, 2003, should not be believed. The City argues that 
Ms. Bissell's credibility in this regard is suspect in that she stood to gain economically by 
implementation of the tentative agreement. But by the same token, it stands to reason that 
the already fiscally strapped City would be negatively impacted by implementation of the 
tentative agreement. Is the testimony of Council members and current city administration 
to be disbelieved as well? The City's argument, absent more, is not a legitimate basis 
upon which to discount Ms. Bissell's testimony. 

The City further argues that the memorandum alone was submitted to City Council 
for its August 11, 2003 meeting. The City argues that it is clear from the testimony of 
members of City Council that they received only the memorandum and no attached 
tentative agreement at the August 11, 2003 City Council meeting. The actual testimony of 
Council members, however, was in conflict. Councilman Heath testified that he received 
both the memorandum and the tentative agreement. Councilmen Hodge and Goodman 
testified they received the memorandum but not the tentative agreement. Councilman 
Brown testified that he received neither. 
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What is most telling in this case is the letter signed by Law Director Detty stating that 
he provided the memorandum and the tentative agreement to City Council before their 
August 11, 2003 meeting. Although Mr. Detty now claims absolutely no memory of 
anything related to his actions in this regard, he does admit that his signature is affixed to 
the letter. It is more reasonable to conclude that this letter contains what actually occurred 
than to speculate as to another version of events based solely upon Law Director Detty's 
current memory lapse. Whether he put the documents in the City Council packets on 
August 8, 2003, or between August 8, 2003 and August 11, 2003, Mr. Detty's letter is clear 
that both the memorandum and tentative agreement were in the hands of City Council 
members at the August 11, 2003 City Council meeting. 

The parties reached tentative agreement on August 8, 2003. By a preponderance 
of the evidence, the record supports, that at City Council's August 11, 2003 meeting, City 
Council members had before them a copy of the tentative agreement and of the 
memorandum from Mayor Evans and Public Service/Safety Director Sheward. The 
memorandum stated that an ordinance would be presented at the August 25, 2003 City 
Council meeting and that Mayor Evans and Mr. Sheward would be present then to discuss 
the terms of the tentative agreement. Any questions in the interim could be directed to 
Mayor Evans or Mr. Sheward. City Council met on August 11, 2003. The tentative 
agreement was not discussed. An ordinance was submitted to City Council on August 25, 
2003, authorizing the City to enter into an agreement with OAPSE. City Council gave the 
ordinance its first reading on August 25, 2003, a second reading on September 8, 2003, 
and a third reading on September 22, 2003. 

Under § 4117.1 O(B), City Council had thirty days from August 11, 2003, to either 
approve or reject the tentative agreement. City Council rejected the tentative agreement 
on September 22. 2003. By failing to take action to approve or reject the City's submission 
within the thirty-day time limit, City Council allowed the tentative agreement to become the 
parties' collective bargaining agreement by operation of law. In re East Palestine City 
School Dist Bd of Ed. SERB 86-011 (3-20-86), at 247. Thus, the City has committed an 
unfair labor practice in violation of§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to recognize the 
parties' collective bargaining agreement. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The City of Jackson is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Ohio Association of Public School Employees, Local 4, AFL-CIO and its 
Local 410 is an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 
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3. The City of Jackson violated§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to recognize the 
parties' CBA. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant§ 4117.12(B), 
requiring the City of Jackson to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of 
their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by failing 
to recognize the parties' Collective Bargaining Agreement, and from 
otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1 ); and 

(2) Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by failing to recognize the parties' Collective Bargaining 
Agreement, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Recognize the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the Ohio 
Association of Public School Employees, Local 4, AFL.-CIO and its 
Local 410 and the City of Jackson. 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio Association of 
Public School Employees, Local 4, AFL-CIO and its Local 41 O work, 
the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the City of Jackson shall cease and 
desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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OPINION 

DRAKE, Chairman: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on December 2, 2003, aOO--the 

filing of exceptions to the Proposed Order by the Professionals Guild of Ohio, and the 

filing of a response to the exceptions by the Counsel for Complainant. For the reasons 

that follow, the Board grants the Counsel for Complainant's motion to dismiss the 

Professionals Guild of Ohio's motion to enforce compliance. 

BACKGROUND 

On December 17, 1999, and January 4, 2000, the Professionals Guild of Ohio 

("Union") filed unfair labor practice charges against the Riser Military Academy 

("Respondent"). On January 4, 2000, Theodore E. Wade and Paul S. Whisman filed 

unfair labor practice charges against the Respondent. On March 2, 2000, the Board 

determined that probable cause existed for believing the Respondent had committed or 
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was committing unfair labor practices, authorized the issuance of a complaint, referred 

the matter to hearing, and directed the parties to unfair labor practice mediation. 

On May 2, 2000, the parties filed a settlement agreement that resolved the 

underlying dispute. The settlement included the Respondent's agreement to pay 

various sums of money to nine persons for reduced wages. Darryl Riser, 

Superintendent, and John W. Waddy, Attorney, signed the settlement agreement on 

behalf of the Respondent. On May 18, 2000, the Board approved and adopted the 

settlement agreement, construed the settlement agreement as a motion to withdraw and 

dismiss, granted the motion, dismissed the complaint, and dismissed with prejudice the 

unfair labor practice charges. 

On June 5, 2000, the Union filed a motion to enforce compliance with the 

settlement agreement. In the motion, the Union contended that the Respondent had 

failed to comply with the terms of paragraphs 1-10 of the settlement agreement. On 

June 19, 2000, the Counsel for Complainant filed a memorandum in response to the 

motion to enforce, raising questions as to whether a reasonable time had elapsed 

before the motion was filed, the fact that some of the Charging Parties had already 

recovered judgments in Municipal Court, and the fact that the Respondent's charter was 

to be revoked on July 5, 2000. This matter was directed to hearing without these issues 

being formally addressed. The matter had been stayed due to Darryl Riser's numerous 

bankruptcy filings and re-filings, as well as his military status. The Respondent's charter 

was revoked on July 5, 2000. 

DISCUSSION 

At stake in this matter are the settlement agreements agreed to by the 

Respondent, Riser Military Academy, and executed by its superintendent, Darryl Riser, 

on May 2, 2000, to compensate several members of the Professionals Guild of Ohio, 
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who were former employees of the Respondent. The settlement agreement included 

language that clearly stated the Board "retains jurisdiction over this matter for purposes 

of enforcement." 

The vehicle of settlement agreements - utilized by the Counsel for Complainant, 

a charging party, and a respondent - facilitates resolution of a pending charge or 

charges before the Board. Historically, the Board retains jurisdiction for purposes of 

enforcement in order to ensure that the parties fully comply with the settlement 

agreement. The settlement agreement in the matter before the Board does not contain 

a date by which the Respondent agreed to compensate the various parties. 

The Respondent, through its superintendent, executed the settlement 

agreements on May 2, 2000. The agreements were entered into before the Board 

made a determination on the merits in any of the pending cases, although the Board 

had made initial determinations that probable cause existed, thereby triggering the 

issuance of complaints in each of the cases. On May 18, 2000, the Board approved 

and adopted the settlement agreements. On June 5, 2000, the Professionals Guild of 

Ohio filed the motion to enforce compliance with the settlement agreements. Such a 

filing indicated that approximately thirty days after signing the settlement agreements, 

the Respondent had not compensated some or all of the members listed in the 

settlement agreements. In the interim, some of the initial Charging Parties sought and 

recovered judgments in the Franklin County Municipal Court against Riser Military 

Academy and Darryl Riser, individually. 

Several factors complicated the Board's hearing of the motion in a timely 

manner. The Respondent, Riser Military Academy, at the time of the initial unfair labor 

practice filings, was operating as a charter school. Darryl Riser was the superintendent 

of the Academy. Mr. Riser was not listed as an individual Respondent in any of the four 

unfair labor practice charges. While Mr. Riser executed each of the settlement 
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agreements as the superintendent and obvious agent of Riser Military Academy, he did 

not incur personal liability for the terms of payment under the settlement agreements. 

The Respondent was a so-called charter or community school, and was 

organized pursuant to Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 3314.01 et seq. It owed its 

legal existence entirely to a corporate status created by the General Assembly in O.R.C. 

Chapter 3314 as a purely corporate entity. The terms of that corporate existence 

specifically called for a "governing authority" to be the Respondent's governing body. 

O.R.C. § 3314.071, which was in effect when Mr. Riser executed the settlement 

agreements, provides: 

Any contract entered into by the governing authority or any officer 
or director of a community school, including the contract required by 
sections 3314.02 and 3314.03 of the Revised Code, is deemed to be 
entered into by such individuals in their official capacities as 
representatives of the community school. No officer, director, or member 
of the governing authority of a community school incurs any personal 
liability by virtue of entering into any contract on behalf of the school. 

Mr. Riser, aka Riser Alternative Educational Academy and Riser Military 

Academy, filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy action in the United States Bankruptcy Court, 

Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division on August 25, 2000. Mr. Riser also filed for 

a stay and continuance of all bankruptcy proceedings in 2001, invoking the Soldiers' 

and Sailors' Civil Relief Act, in support of his motion. Mr. Riser indicated that he was a 

member of the United States Army who had been called up for active duty for a period 

beginning October 27, 2001 and ending December 31, 2001. The active duty could be 

extended for up to two years. During this time frame, the Chapter 7 proceeding was 

converted to a Chapter 13 action. 

A hearing on the debtor's Chapter 13 plan was scheduled for November 15, 

2001. Two of the people covered under the settlement agreements filed objections to 
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confirmation of Chapter 13. Judge B.J. Sellers, in her Order, continued the confirmation 

hearing to a date after December 31, 2001, and indicated that if the debtor did not file 

the necessary amendments and make the scheduled plan payments, then the 

confirmation of Chapter 13 would be denied, and the case may be dismissed or re

converted to a Chapter 7 proceeding. Ultimately, the Chapter 13 proceeding was 

dismissed on February 27, 2002. Mr. Riser filed for personal bankruptcy on April 9, 

2003. O.R.C. § 3314.071 precludes any recovery against Darryl Riser personally. 

The Board has not previously determined under what circumstances a settlement 

agreement should be set aside or should be dispositive of the issues in dispute. 

Common law favors agreements that resolve litigation or potential litigation. Bd. of 

Commrs. of Columbiana Cty. v. Samuelson (1986), 24 Ohio St.3d 62, 24 OBR 142, 

493 N.E.2d 245. Such compromises and settlements are contracts that once made and 

performed on one side become binding on the other party. SERB v. East Palestine City 

School Dist. Bd. of Ed, 1989 SERB 4-138 (GP, Columbiana, 10-31-89). 

When both parties are satisfied with the bargain reached, absent any outstanding 

important public policy questions, that agreement will generally be dispositive. Without 

question, the Board favors settlements. "Settlements constitute the 'lifeblood' of the 

administrative process, especially in labor relations." Ohio Council 8, AFSCME v. 

SERB, SERB 89-003 (2-8-89), citing NLRB v. United Food & Commercial Workers, 484 

U.S. 112, 108 S.Ct. 413, 98 L. Ed. 2d 429 (1987). But in instances such as this case 

where one of the parties claims that the settlement has been repudiated, the Board 

must determine whether question must be addressed regarding • ...,hen a failed 

settlement merits litigation of the unfair labor practice, or when the parties should seek 

enforcement of the settlement agreement in the appropriate forum, or neither because 

the lack of a remedy would make litigation or enforcement an exercise in futility. 
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Once the parties agree to the terms of a settlement agreement to be enforced by 

the Board, they must adhere to its terms. A remedy provided by a settlement 

agreement is not the only remedy available to the Board; the Board has wide discretion 

in fashioning remedies based on the circumstances of each individual case. In re 

Princeton City School District Board of Education, SERB 86-008 (2-28-86). 

The National Labor Relations Board recognizes a procedure for case closing 

when the respondent is without any means of making payment of back pay or other 

monetary liabilities. While the NLRB sets out a procedure for closing a case without 

further proceedings, it does so after an investigation. Section 10605 of the NLRB 

Casehandling Manual provides: 

When the investigation has established that the respondent is without any 
means of making any payment of backpay or other monetary liabilities, the 
Region may request authorization from the Division of Operations
Management to close the case without further proceedings. 

The request should be through a memorandum that sets forth fully the 
basis for the Region's recommendation. Appropriate to the circumstances 
of each case, the memorandum should address such issues as the 
background of the underlying unfair labor practice; the amount owed; the 
current status of the respondent's operations and the likelihood of their 
future resumption; the disposition of the respondent's assets; a description 
of liens and judgments against the respondent; whether the corporate 
charter or business licenses have been revoked; whether there are related 
entities, such as parent or subsidiary corporations, which may be held 
liable for backpay; whether there is evidence to establish derivative liability 
through determination of alter ego, successorship, or individual liability of 
corporate officers or owners; and an assessment as to whether those for 
whom there may be derivative liability have the financial means to make 
payment of the monetary remedy. 

The charging party's position regarding further compliance efforts should 
be solicited prior to submitting a recommendation to close. As 
appropriate, further investigation should be conducted in the face of any 
leads identified by the charging party. The charging party's position should 
be reflected in the Region's memorandum recommending closure. 
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The case, once closed pursuant to Division of Operations-Management 
authorization, is subject to reopening should subsequent events reveal 
that compliance could then be achieved. 

If it is deemed appropriate to have a judgment lien before closing the 
case, see Compliance Manual section 10593.4 for more information. 

The Board hereby adopts a similar standard for public sector cases in Ohio. 

When an investigation establishes that a party is without any means of making any 

payment of back pay or other monetary liabilities, the Board may dismiss the case 

without further proceedings. If subsequent events reveal that compliance could then be 

achieved, the case will be reopened. The Board would not apply this standard if a party 

were merely arguing that compliance would create a hardship or that it might have a 

prospective inability to pay. 

Applying this new standard, the Board finds that the Respondent, Riser Military 

Academy, has not complied with the settlement agreement for the four unfair labor 

practice charges. It is clear from the timing of the bankruptcy filing that the 

Respondent's agent, Darryl Riser, was unable to make, or did not intend to make, any 

payments on behalf of Riser Military Academy when he signed the settlement 

agreements. The various Charging Parties have not been compensated fully under the 

terms of the agreement. 

The Board also finds that the Respondent, Riser Military Academy, is no longer 

in business and has no apparent likelihood of future operation or resumption of activity. 

It is undisputed that the Respondent's contract with the Ohio Department of Education 

has been terminated pursuant to O.R.C. § 3314.07. The Respondent is not operating 

now and has not operated in several years. The four pending cases should be 

dismissed because the Respondent is without the means of making any payment of 

back pay or other monetary liabilities. Unfortunately, the Board has no ability at this 
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juncture to continue to litigate the unfair labor practice cases or seek enforcement of the 

settlement agreements in the appropriate forum via a judgment lien against Riser 

Military Academy. 

Therefore, granting the Counsel for Complainant's motion to dismiss the Union's 

motion to enforce compliance is appropriate at this time. If the Union acquires evidence 

that Riser Military Academy exists, or should subsequent events reveal that compliance 

with the settlement agreements by the Respondent could be achieved, the Union may 

re-file its motion to enforce the settlement agreement. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Board grants the Counsel for Complainant's 

motion to dismiss, dismisses without prejudice the Professionals Guild of Ohio's motion 

to enforce compliance, and rescinds the direction to show cause hearing. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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GILLMOR. Vice ChairmanMITHOR 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on March 19, 2004, and the filing of 

exceptions to the Proposed Order by the Charging Party, Maria R. Coccia, M.D., Ph.D., 

("Dr. Coccia") and the Counsel for Complainant, and a response to the exceptions by the 

Respondent, State of Ohio, Rehabilitation Services Commission. For the reasons that 

follow, the Board finds Dr. Coccia lacks standing to file the charge, overrules the 

exceptions, dismisses the complaint, and dismisses with prejudice the unfair labor practice 

charge. 

BACKGROUND 

The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by Ohio Revised Code 

("O.R.C.") § 4117.01(8). The Rehabilitation Services Commission ("RSC") is a commission 

of the State of Ohio. Dr. Coccia was a medical consultant under contract to provide 

services for RSC. "Medical consultants" under contract with RSC were included within a 
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Request for Recognition filed with the Board by the Doctors Professional Association 

("DPA"). 

On a Friday evening in September 2002, Dr. Coccia observed a Board notice in her 

work area at RSC that related to the DPA's Request for Recognition. Dr. Kathleen 

Johnson, RSC's Medical Director, was looking for places to post additional copies of the 

notice. The notice stated that the DPA sought to represent the medical consultants and 

advised the medical consultants that if they had any objections to the Request for 

Recognition, their objections must be filed with the Board by October 8, 2002. 

Dr. Coccia suggested additional posting locations to Dr. Johnson. While 

Dr. Johnson posted the additional copies, Dr. Villanova, another medical consultant, told 

Dr. Johnson to "be sure to tell the higher-ups that he had nothing to do with" the DPA's 

organizing effort. Dr. Johnson responded that "it was out of her hands." Dr. Villanova 

commented that he should not have to call anyone when he did not have anything to do 

with the organizing effort. Dr. Coccia testified that Dr. Johnson asked Dr. Coccia to 

encourage other doctors not to join the DPA, and that Dr. Johnson pointed to the language 

on the Board notice regarding filing objections with the Board. 

From November 2002 through January 2003, Dr. Coccia discussed the possibility of 

organizing with other medical consultants. Dr. Coccia spoke with other RSC medical 

consultants about the possibility of joining another union instead of the DPA. When 

Dr. Coccia's last contract with RSC expired on June 30, 2003, RSC did not renew it. 

On December 20, 2002, the Board determined in the DPA representation 

proceeding, SERB Case No. 2002-REP-09-0180, that the medical consultants are 

independent contractors and not "public employees" within the meaning of O.R.C. Chapter 

_4117, and dismissed the Request for Recognition. On July 16, 2003, the Court of 

Common Pleas of Franklin County, Ohio, affirmed the Board's dismissal. The Tenth 
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District Court of Appeals affirmed the common pleas court's decision. Doctors' 

Professional Assn. v. State Emp. Relations Bd., 2004-0hio-5839 (101
h Dist Ct App, 

Franklin, 11-4-2004). 

On June 10, 2003, Dr. Coccia filed the unfair labor practice charge in this case 

against the RSC. On November 6, 2003, the Board found probable cause to believe that a 

violation occurred, authorized the issuance of a complaint, and directed that a hearing be 

held to determine whether MsDr. Coccia had standing to file an unfair labor practice charge 

and, if so, whether the Respondent violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3) by not 

renewing Dr. Coccia's contract as a medical consultant because she engaged in activities 

protected under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. On December 10, 2003, a complaint was issued. 

On January 21, 2004, the parties' joint motion to bifurcate the issues to be presented at 

hearing was granted, and a hearing was held to determine whether Dr. Coccia had 

standing to file an unfair labor practice charge. On March 19, 2004, the Administrative Law 

Judge issued a Proposed Order recommending that the Board find that Dr. Coccia lacked 

standing to file this charge and the Respondent did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) 

and (A)(3) when it did not renew Dr. Coccia's contract as a medical consultant, and also 

recommending that the Board dismiss the complaint and dismiss with prejudice the charge. 

DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

*** 
(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any 

term or condition of employment on the basis of the exercise of rights 
guaranteed by Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code. 
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The Board has determined that RSC's medical consultants are not "public 

employees" within the meaning of O.R.C. Chapter 4117. The first question to address is 

whether Dr. Coccia has standing to file and pursue an unfair labor practice charge alleging 

that RSC violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A}(3) when it did not renew her medical 

consultant contract. 1 Dr. Coccia alleged RSC did not renew her contract because she 

engaged in activities protected under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 

To demonstrate a prima facie case of discrimination under O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(3), 

the Complainant must establish the following elements: (1) the employee at issue is a 

public employee and was employed at relevant times by the Respondent; (2) the employee 

engaged in concerted, protected activity under O.R.C. Chapter 4117, which fact was either 

known by the Respondent or suspected by the Respondent; and (3) the Respondent took 

adverse action against the employee under circumstances that could, if left unrebutted by 

other evidence, lead to a reasonable inference that the Respondent's actions were related 

to the employee's exercise of concerted, protected activity under O.R.C. Chapter4117. In 

re Warren County Sheriff, SERB 88-014 (9-28-88) ("Warren County Sheriff"); In re Ft. Frye 

Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 94-017 (10-14-94) ("Ft. Frye"). 

In the Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge stated: "SERB has already 

determined that Dr. Coccia was not a 'public employee.' Accordingly, the first prong of the 

prim a facie case cannot be met." This analysis is accurate under the test for a prima facie 

case set forth in Warren County Sheriff and Ft. Frye. But the analysis also demonstrates 

that this test is too narrow in its application under O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(3). Although this 

statute makes it an unfair labor practice to discriminate in the hiring of employees, the 

prima facie test applies only if "the employee at issue is a public employee and was 

employed at relevant times by the Respondent." Under the prima facie test in Warren 

1 O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1} represents an alleged derivative violation ofOR.C. § 4117.11(A}(3) 
in this instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 2611 SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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County Sheriff and Ft. Frye, a public employer could commit an unfair labor practice only if 

it discriminated in the hiring of an individual who is already employed by the employer. 

Thus, to carry out the intent in O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(3), the test for a prima facie 

case is hereby revised as follows: 

To demonstrate a prima facie case of discrimination under O.R.C. 
§ 4117.11(A)(3), the Complainant must establish the following elements: 
(1) the individual at issue is a public employee and was employed at relevant 
times by the Respondent, or the individual was an applicant for hire tfor a 
position as a "public employee"; (2) the individual engaged in concerted, 
protected activity under O.R.C. Chapter 4117, which fact was either known 
by the Respondent or suspected by the Respondent; and (3) the Respondent 
took adverse action against the individual under circumstances that could, if 
left unrebutted by other evidence, lead to a reasonable inference that 
Respondent's actions were related to the individual's exercise of concerted, 
protected activity underO.R.C. Chapter4117. 

As a medical consultant for RSC, Dr. Coccia was an independent contractor - and 

not an employee - of RSC. Consequently. she does not meet the first element of the 

current test for prima facie case. At all relevant times herein, Dr. Coccia was not an 

applicant for hire te-for a position as a "public employee." Thus, Dr. Coccia does not meet 

the first element of the test for a prima facie case under the new test. either. 

Examining the second element of the test, Dr. Coccia has not engaged in concerted, 

protected activities under O.R.C. Chapter4117. O.R.C. §4117.03(A) describes the 

activities in which public employees have the right to engage. These protected activities 

are rights inuring to public employees. Dr. Coccia engaged in activities that could fall under 

O.R.C. § 4117.03(A) if done by a public employee. But since the medical consultants are 

independent contractors and Dr. Coccia is not a "public employee," her actions could not 

fall within "concerted, protected activities under O.R.C. Chapter 4117." Therefore, the 

second element of the test is not met. 



OPINION (Marsh 29, 2lllle Draft) 
Case No. 2003-ULP-06-0307 
Page 6 of 8 

Under the third element of the test, Dr. Coccia experienced an adverse action when 

RSC did not renew her contract. But, again, since the medical consultants are 

independent contractors and Dr. Coccia is not a "public employee," this adverse action did 

not occur under circumstances that could, if left unrebutted by other evidence, lead to a 

reasonable inference that RSC's actions were related to the individual's exercise of 

concerted, protected activity under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 

Dr. Coccia did not meet all of the elements to establish a prima facie case. She was 

not a public employee or an applicant for hire to a position as a public employee; she did 

not engage in concerted, protected activity under O.R.C. Chapter 4117; she cannot 

demonstrate that the adverse action occurred under the circumstances required by the 

third element for a prima facie case. 

It is against this backdrop -the inability to establish a prima facie case of a violation 

of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(3) - that the analysis of standing must begin. O.R.C. § 4117.12 

provides the procedural mechanism to adjudicate alleged unfair labor practices. 

Paragraph (B) of that section establishes that the Board shall investigate when "anyone 

files a charge" with the Board. 

The Board has used common-law principles to determine who can file and pursue 

an unfair labor practice charge. In In re City of Canton, SERB 90-006 (2-16-90) ("Canton"), 

the Board examined standing under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. The theory of standing evolved 

as a way to ensure that a live dispute exists so that the case will not present a hypothetical 

or abstract question or an ill-defined controversy. This result is achieved by inquiring 

whether the initiating party has alleged such a personal stake in the outcome of the 

controversy as to warrant his or her invocation of jurisdiction and to justify exercise of 

remedial powers on his or her behalf. Canton, supra at 3-145, citing Warlh v. Seldin 

(1975), 422 U.S. 490, 498. "It is reasonable for the Board to seek comparable assurance 
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that there is an active dispute to be resolved rather than a hypothetical issue and to ensure 

that the charging party possesses a direct interest, relevant knowledge of alleged harm, 

and a right to be protected." Canton, supra (emphasis added). 2 

Standing arises from an invasion of legal rights. As neither a public employee nor 

an applicant for hire to a position as a public employee, Dr. Coccia has alleged no invasion 

of any legal right under O.R.C. Chapter 4117 inuring to her benefit. Dr. Coccia lacks 

standing to allege that the Respondent violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A){3) by not 

renewing her contract as a medical consultant, and she cannot demonstrate that she 

engaged in activities protected under 0. R.C. Chapter 4117. Consequently, she can neither 

allege nor establish that rights guaranteed to her under O.R.C. Chapter 4117 were 

violated. Accordingly, the unfair labor practice charge should be dismissed for lack of 

standing. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds that Maria R. Coccia, M.D., Ph.D., 

as a former independent contractor for the State of Ohio, lacks standing to allege that the 

nonrenewal of her contract was an unfair labor practice that violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3). The Board further finds that the Counsel for Complainant and 

Dr. Coccia did not establish a prima facie case of discrimination under O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3). Therefore, the Board overrules the objections of the Counsel 

for Complainant and Dr. Coccia, dismisses the complaint, and dismisses the unfair labor 

practice charge with prejudice. 

2 It should be noted that effective January 2, 2005, Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-
01 (A) was amended so that it now provides in relevant part: "A charge that an unfair labor practice 
has been or is being committed may be filed by any person with standing. To have standing, the 
charging party must possess a direct interest, relevant knowledge of the alleged harm, and a right to 
be protected." (New language shown in italics). 
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Drake. Chairman, and Verich. Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations 

Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of joint stipulations by the parties and the 

subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. The issue to be decided is whether the actions 

taken by the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority ("SORTA") constituted an unfair 

labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

For the reasons below, we find that SORTA did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and 

(A)(5) by unilaterally implementing revisions to its Drug and Alcohol Policy (the "Policy" or 

"Program"). 

II. JOINT STIPULATIONS 

1. SORTA is a "public employer" as defined by O.RC. § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 627 ("Union"), Intervenor, is an 
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"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) and is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit of SORTA's employees, including bus operators, 

mechanics, and clerks. 

3. SORTA operates a mass transit system servicing the public in Cincinnati 

and other parts of Hamilton County, Ohio. 

4. As a mass transit provider, SORTA is and has been required by 

Department of Transportation ("DOT") and Federal Transit Administration ("FTA") 

regulations to implement and maintain a drug and alcohol program, as well as perform 

various types of drug and alcohol testing. 

5. In the early 1980's, SORTA unilaterally implemented a Coach Operator 

Manual. (Jt. Exh. 1) 

6. The Coach Operator Manual contained (and still contains) a work rule on 

Page 7G that prohibits operating a coach while under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

7. The Union did not file a grievance under the applicable collective bargaining 

agreement over SORT A's unilateral implementation of the Coach Operator Manual. 

8. The Union did not file an unfair labor practice charge with SERB over 

SORT A's unilateral implementation of the Coach Operator Manual. 

9. SORTA first implemented its Drug & Alcohol Program (the "Program") in 

1988. (Jt. Exh. 2) 

10. On or about November 17, 1988, the Union filed an unfair labor practice 
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charge with SERB over SORTA's unilateral implementation of its Program. The Union 

alleged that SORTA refused to collectively bargain over the Program in violation of 

O.R.C. § 411711(A)(5). (Jt. Exh. 3) 

11. On or about December 14, 1988, the Union filed a grievance under the 

applicable collective bargaining agreement over SORTA's unilateral implementation of its 

Program. The Union asserted that SORTA violated the collective bargaining agreement 

by unilaterally implementing the Program. (Jt. Exh. 4) 

12. Joint Exhibits 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 are true and accurate copies of the collective 

bargaining agreements that have been in effect between SORTA and the Union from 

February 12, 1988 to the present. 

13. Each of the collective bargaining agreements referenced above in 

Paragraph 12 contains a grievance process that culminates in final and binding 

arbitration. 

14. None of the collective bargaining agreements referenced above in 

Paragraph 12 contains a midterm bargaining process. 

15. On October 24, 1989, an arbitration hearing was held before Arbitrator 

Richard W. Dissen on the Union's grievance over SORTA's unilateral implementation of 

its Program. 

16. In a Directive dated February 1, 1990, SERB dismissed with prejudice the 

unfair labor practice charge filed by the Union over SORTA's unilateral implementation of 

its Program, after granting the Union's request to withdraw the same. (Jt. Exh. 10) 
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17. In an Opinion and Award dated March 7, 1990, Arbitrator Dissen denied the 

grievance filed by the Union over SORTA's unilateral implementation of its Program. (Jt. 

Exh. 11) 

18. Joint Exhibit 12 is a true and accurate copy of the Hamilton County Court of 

Appeals' decision in Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority v. Amalgamated Transit 

Union, 1994 WL 525543 (Ohio Ct. App. 9/28/94). 

19. In February 1995, SORTA unilaterally implemented revisions to its 

Program. (Jt. Exh. 13) 

20. The Union did not file a grievance under the applicable collective bargaining 

agreement over SORT A's unilateral implementation of the 1995 revised Program. 

21. The Union did not file an unfair labor practice charge with SERB over 

SORTA's unilateral implementation of the 1995 revised Program. 

22. From February 1995 to April 2002, SORTA updated the Program as 

necessary due to changes in the federal regulations. 

23. By letter dated April 23, 2002, SORTA notified the Union that SORTA again 

was revising the Program and provided the Union with a copy of the revised Program and 

a summary of the revisions. (Jt. Exh. 14) 

24. By letter dated April 29, 2002, the Union made a demand to bargain over 

the revised Program. (Jt. Exh. 15) 

25. By letter dated May 24, 2002, SORTA responded to the Union, indicating 
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that, under the Dissen Award and the Hamilton County Court of Appeals' decision in 

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority v. Amalgamated Transit Union, SORTA had 

the right to unilaterally implement the revisions to its Program. (JI. Exh. 16) 

26. In July 2002, SORTA unilaterally implemented the revisions of its Program. 

Joint Exhibit 17 is a true and accurate copy of correspondence dated July 23, 2002 and 

attachments from SORTA to the Union regarding SORTA's unilateral implementation of 

the revisions to its Program. Also attached to the July 23, 2002 correspondence were the 

revised 1995 Program, referenced in Paragraph 19 and attached as Joint Exhibit 13, and 

the revised April 2002 Program, referenced above in Paragraph 23 and attached as part 

of Joint Exhibit 14. 

27. Joint Exhibit 18 is a true and accurate copy of an excerpt of a transcript of 

an arbitration hearing between SORTA and the Union captioned Southwest Ohio 

Regional Transit Authority, Metro Operating Division and Amalgamated Transit Union, 

Local 627, Case No. 52 390 00550 95 (the "Wynn Arbitration"). 

28. Joint Exhibit 19 is a true and accurate copy of an excerpt of a transcript of 

an arbitration hearing between SORTA and the Union captioned Southwest Ohio 

Regional Transit Authority, Metro Operating Division and Amalgamated Transit Union, 

Local 627, Case No. 52 390 00251 97 (the "Sundstrom Arbitration"). 

29. Joint Exhibit 20 is a true and accurate copy of an excerpt of a transcript of 

an arbitration hearing between SORTA and the Union captioned Southwest Ohio 

Regional Transit Authority, Metro Operating Division and Amalgamated Transit Union, 

Local 627, Case No. 52 390 00377 98 (the "Kendrick Arbitration"). 

30. The parties stipulate that no legislative action taken after the effective date 
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of the current collective bargaining agreement, February 1, 2000, is at issue in this SERB 

proceeding. 

31. The parties stipulate to an absence of exigent circumstances unforeseen at 

the time of negotiations of the current collective bargaining agreement such as would 

affect this SERB proceeding. 

32. The parties stipulate that no witness testimony is necessary to authenticate 

documents or augment the essential facts at issue as set forth here. 

33. The parties jointly request that the Administrative Law Judge submit the 

matter directly to SERB for decision on the merits. 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The issue is whether SORTA's unilateral implementation of revisions to its Drug 

and Alcohol Policy without bargaining as to the bargaining-unit employees constitutes an 

unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5), which provide in 

relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code • • • ; 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his employees 

recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant to Chapter 
4117 of the Revised Code[.] 
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A. SORTA Did Not Violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) By Unilaterally 
Implementing Revisions to the Drug & Alcohol Policy. 

(1) The Four Corners of the Dissen Award 

In 1988, SORTA attempted to consolidate existing physical examination policies 

into a single comprehensive program. General guidelines as to the administration of the 

drug/alcohol screen, the dissemination of results, and the consequences of positive 

testing were contained within the written program. Upon implementation of the program, 

a grievance was filed on behalf of the entire Union membership. SORTA denied the 

grievance and, after unsuccessful attempts to resolve the issue, the matter proceeded to 

arbitration. The question presented to Arbitrator Dissen was whether SORTA improperly 

implemented a "Medical and Drug Testing Program" during the term of an existing 

collective bargaining agreement ("1988-1991 Agreement"). 1 Specifically, the Union's 

central contractual complaint was that SORTA's unilateral implementation of the program 

touched upon a mandatory subject of bargaining and, moreover, altered certain 

negotiated provisions of the existing contract. 2 

To the contrary, SORTA argued that the unilateral action taken was within the 

scope of its authority under the 1988-1991 Agreement. Specifically, SORTA emphasized 

that Sections 1(b) and 26(a) of the Agreement, and management's long practice of 

unilaterally instituting health and safety-related rules of employee conduct, indicated that 

the establishment of the Medical and Drug Testing Program was within the contemplated 

scope of management's rights. Arbitrator Dissen concurred with SORTA, denied the 

grievance, and noted that the "record strongly supports [SORTA's] assertion that since, at 

least 1980, management has asserted and exercised broad unilateral authority on the 

1 Jt. Exhibit 11, p. 2 
2 Jt. Exhibit 11, p. 17 
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matter of ascertaining and monitoring employees' fitness for work."3 

Arbitrator Dissen's explanations are fundamentally relevant to the present case. 

The thrust of Dissen's Award was that the 1988-1991 Agreement did not prohibit SORTA 

from introducing and establishing a drug-testing program. Arbitrator Dissen concluded 

that "Section 26(a) of the parties' agreement plainly contemplates that [SORTA] will from 

time to time establish new rules, provided such rules are promulgated for the purpose of 

ensuring successful and efficient operations." Accordingly, Arbitrator Dissen declared 

that SORTA management was not precluded from introducing a rule establishing drug 

and alcohol testing as a facet of its overall fitness policy. Arbitrator Dissen further 

acknowledged that given the authorization within Section 26(a) and given that SORTA 

had previously exercised unilateral authority in monitoring employee fitness, SORTA's 

authority to introduce, unilaterally, a drug/alcohol program could not be convincingly 

challenged under the 1988-1991 Agreement.4 

The parties in the present case have construed the Dissen Award to hold 

distinctive meanings. SORTA asserts that the Dissen Award recognized its right to 

unilaterally implement the Program.5 Thus, SORTA interpreted the Opinion to mean it 

had the right to introduce and subsequently implement its entire program. 

On the other hand, the Union holds firm to the principle that the Dissen Award 

does not establish SORTA's right to unilaterally impose disciplinary consequences under 

the Drug and Alcohol Policy. Specifically, the Union asserts that its grievance leading to 

the Dissen Award protested the implementation of a testing program altogether. Unlike 

the Dissen grievance, the complaint at hand protests SORTA's refusal to bargain over the 

3 JI. Exhibit 11, pp. 19-20 
4 JI. Exhibit 11, p. 21 
5 SORTA Brief at p. 13 
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disciplinary consequences for positive test results. 6 

After extensive review of the Dissen Award, the interpretation of the Award hinges 

upon a key phrase: "[t]he board makes the general finding that [SORTA's] unilateral 

action was within its authority under the collective bargaining agreement."7 More 

specifically, the key words within that phrase are "unilateral action." Hence, the 

determination to be made at this point is what constitutes the "unilateral action" that gave 

rise to the present case. 

While significant unilateral actions pertaining to the Program have occurred since 

1986, the most noteworthy unilateral action, and, hence, what gave rise to the instant 

dispute, is the grievable event. In the grievance before Arbitrator Dissen, the Union 

contended that the grievable event in the matter occurred on December 1, 1988. It was 

on this date that SORTA's Medical and Drug Testing Program was implemented.8 

Arbitrator Dissen concurred with the Union as he ruled that the grievance was timely filed 

since it was filed within ten workdays of the date of implementation of the Medical and 

Drug Testing Program.9 Consequently, the "unilateral action" Arbitrator Dissen speaks of 

in his key phrase is the implementation of the Medical and Drug Testing Program. 

Finally, and most importantly, is the issue of Medical and Drug Testing Program 

"implementation." The focal point, as the Union argues, is that the Dissen Award does 

not establish SORTA's right to unilaterally impose disciplinary consequences under its 

Program. As noted above, the written program contained general guidelines as to the 

administration of the drug/alcohol screen, the dissemination of results, and the 

6 Union Brief at p. 10 
7 JI. Exhibit 11, p. 24 
8 JI. Exhibit 11, p. 5 
9 JI. Exhibit 11, p. 16 
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consequences of positive testing. 10 Arbitrator Dissen concluded that SORT A's unilateral 

action (i.e. Program implementation) was within its authority under the collective 

bargaining agreement. Thus, despite the Union's contentions, implementation of the 

Program meant executing the specifics of the program, including the enforcement of 

disciplinary consequences for positive testing. Thus, for the reasons outlined above, 

the Union's argument concerning the Dissen Award fails. 

(2) Mandatory and Permissive Subjects of Bargaining 

Another issue for clarification is whether SORTA unlawfully implemented a written 

policy affecting terms and conditions of employment without first bargaining with the 

Union. 

In In re SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. Of Ed., SERB 95-010 (6-30-95) 

("Youngstown"), the Board adopted a balancing test to better identify those subjects 

about which public employers must bargain in Ohio. 11 In Youngstown, the Board held 

that the Youngstown City School District Board of Education committed an unfair labor 

practice by unilaterally implementing its Early Retirement Incentive Plan ("ERIP") because 

the ERIP was a mandatory subject of bargaining under the three-part balancing test 

announced within the opinion. 12 Specifically, the Board set forth a balancing test that can 

be utilized "if a given subject is alleged to affect and is determined to have a material 

influence upon wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment and involves 

the exercises of inherent management discretion ... " The following three factors must be 

balanced to determine whether a given subject is a mandatory or permissive subject of 

bargaining: 

10 Jt. Exhibit 11, p 2 
11 In re SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. Of Ed., SERB 95-010 (6-30-95), p. 3-70 
12 Id. at 3-83 
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(1) The extent to which the subject is logically and reasonably 
related to wages, hours, terms and conditions of 
employment; 

(2) The extent to which the employer's obligation to negotiate 
may significantly abridge its freedom to exercise those 
managerial prerogatives set forth in and anticipated by 
O.R.C. 4117.0B(C), including an examination of the type of 
employer involved and whether inherent discretion on the 
subject matter at issue is necessary to achieve the 
employer's essential mission and its obligation to the 
general public; and 

(3) The extent to which the mediatory influence of collective 
bargaining and, when necessary, any impasse resolution 
mechanisms available to the parties are the appropriate 
means of resolving conflicts over the subject matter. 1 

Accordingly, management decisions that are found, on balance, to be permissive 

subjects, can be implemented without bargaining the decision unless it would conflict with 

a contract provision. 14 

As noted in Youngstown, the three-part balancing test is not necessary or 

appropriate in every situation. The test should be used when the subjects have both a 

material influence upon wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment and 

involve the exercise of inherent managerial discretion. 15 Given the Union's assertion that 

disciplinary consequences are mandatory subjects of bargaining and SORTA's assertion 

that the implementation of the Policy was within its management rights, analysis under 

the three-part balancing test is necessary. 

Under the first part of the balancing test, it can be established that the 2002 Drug 

and Alcohol Policy ("Policy"}, including disciplinary consequences, is logically and 

13 In re SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. Of Ed., SERB 95-010 (6-30-95), p. 3-76 
14 Id. at 3-77 
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reasonably related to terms and conditions of employment. Specifically, the 2002 Policy 

recognized, "the penalty for any violation of the 'Substance Abuse Policy' or 'Drug-Free 

Workplace Act' is discipline up to and including termination depending on 

circumstances."
16 

A violation of the Policy can result in discipline and, therefore, the 

Policy established by SORTA does have an influence on the terms and conditions of 

employment. 

However, under the second part of the test, the extent to which the employer's 

[SORTA's] obligation to negotiate may significantly abridge its freedom to exercise 

managerial prerogatives is great. For instance, the Policy is a necessary element to 

assist in "effectively manag[ing] the work force" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.08(C)(8) and, 

likewise, the Policy affects SORTA's right to "suspend, discipline, demote or discharge for 

just cause ... " pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.08(C)(5). Furthermore, SORTA's inherent 

discretion on implementing the Policy is necessary to achieve its mission of protecting 

passengers and the general public when operating its mass transit system. Unlike 

Youngstown, the Policy does not speed up any staff reduction process. To the contrary, 

the Policy's purpose is to provide guidelines to be followed should an unfortunate violation 

occur. 

In In re City of North Ridgeville, SERB 2000-008 (6-22-00) ("North Ridgeville"), the 

Board held that "for public safety and policy considerations, no employer should be 

required to bargain over the implementation of a policy or work rule requiring employees 

to possess the abilities and qualifications necessary to do their job or face discipline "17 

While North Ridgeville involved a unilateral implementation of physical fitness standards 

for fire fighters, the principle of both the SORTA policy and the North Ridgeville policy is 

15 Id. at 3-78 
16 Jt. Exhibit 14, p. 14 
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indistinguishable: to ensure the employees are fully capable of performing their job tasks, 

particularly because both positions involve the safety of the general public. One purpose 

behind the SORTA Policy is to require employees to be void of drugs or alcohol so that 

they possess the abilities to adequately perform their jobs in light of public safety 

concerns. Accordingly, SORTA has established an overriding management objective that 

justifies its unilateral action under the second part and should not be required to bargain 

over the implementation of its Policy. 

The third part of the balancing test requires an examination of the extent to which 

the collective bargaining process is an appropriate method to resolve the conflict over the 

instant subject matter. We conclude that the collective bargaining process is not to a 

great extent an appropriate method in resolving the present conflict. While the collective 

bargaining process is a powerful, meaningful process, the parties' history demonstrates 

that bargaining over the Drug and Alcohol Policy is unnecessary. This history is 

evidenced by the several previous collective bargaining agreements between the parties 

that did not contain negotiated provisions pertaining to the Drug and Alcohol Policy and, 

specifically, its disciplinary consequences section. Balancing the three prongs, we find 

that the Drug and Alcohol Policy, including the disciplinary consequences section, is not a 

mandatory subject of bargaining. 

Next, both the Complainant and the Union cite to In re Toledo City School District 

Board of Education, SERB 01-005 (10-1-01) ("Toledo"). In Toledo, the Board stated as 

follows: 

Where the parties have not adopted procedures in their collective 
bargaining agreement to deal with midterm bargaining disputes, 
SERB will apply the following standard to determine whether an 
unfair labor practice has been committed when a party unilaterally 
modifies a provision in an existing collective bargaining agreement 

17 In re City of North Ridgeville, SERB 2000-008 (6-22-00), p. 3-51 
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after bargaining the subject to ultimate impasse as defined in 
Vandalia-Butler. 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining agreement 
without the negotiation by and agreement of both parties unless 
immediate action is required due to (1) exigent circumstances that 
were unforeseen at the time of negotiations or (2) legislative action 
taken by a higher-level legislative body after the agreement became 
effective that requires a change to conform to the statute. 

In addition, to clarify Youngstown, follow Franklin County Sheriff, and 
assure consistency in future cases involving issues not covered in 
the provisions of a collective bargaining agreement, but which 
require mandatory midterm bargaining, SERB will apply the same 
two-part test as stated above." 18 

Specifically, the Complainant and the Union argue that under Toledo the 

circumstances present in the case at hand do not permit SORTA to modify a mandatory 

subject of bargaining. While the Complainant and Union are correct in arguing that there 

is no mid-term bargaining procedure, they are incorrect in concluding that the Toledo 

standard applies to the case at hand. In order for Toledo to apply, a provision within an 

existing CBA must be modified,19 or a mandatory subject of bargaining not covered by the 

CBA must be unilaterally changed midterm. 

Here, no contractual provision was ever modified. Specifically, the bargaining 

agreement in effect at the time provided, in Section 3(b), that "there shall be no discharge, 

suspension or other disciplinary action without sufficient cause or without notification to 

employee of reason, in writing" 20 (emphasis added). Likewise, the Policy's section on 

disciplinary consequences provided that "the penalty for any violation of the 'Substance 

Abuse Policy' or 'Drug-Free Workplace Act' is discipline up to and including termination 

18 Complainant Brief at p. 6; Union Brief at p. 7 
19 Id. at 3-29 
20 Jt. Exhibit 9, p. 3 
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depending on circumstances"21 (emphasis added). The CBA and Policy work in tandem. 

The CBA requires sufficient cause, and the Policy simply defines what may constitute 

sufficient cause. 

Neither does this case present the other trigger for the Toledo standard to be 

applied, i.e., a midterm change in a mandatory subject not covered by the CBA. For the 

reasons stated in Section (2) above, the Drug and Alcohol Policy, including the 

disciplinary consequences section, is not a mandatory subject of bargaining in this case. 

Because the Toledo standard does not apply to the case at hand, we need not decide 

whether SORTA's actions satisfied the limited circumstances under which the Toledo 

decision permits midterm unilateral changes. 

Finally, after the Dissen Arbitration in 1990, SORTA and the Union negotiated four 

successor contracts, none of which changed the arbitrator's interpretation or included 

modified disciplinary provisions. For instance, SORTA formally revised the 1988 Drug 

and Alcohol Policy in February 1995 and unilaterally implemented the Program without 

bargaining with the Union.22 Specifically, the disciplinary consequences section was 

revised to provide that "[t]he penalty for any violation of the 'Substance Abuse Policy' or 

'Drug-Free Workplace Act' is immediate termination of employment, except for item #3 

and #12 listed below.''23 SORTA informed the Union of the changes to the Program; and 

the Union did not file a grievance or ULP charge with SERB.24 When it came time for a 

new CBA, the final version, effective from 1997-2000, did not revoke, modify, or eliminate 

the Dissen Arbitration. 

Likewise, Section 28 of the 2000-2003 Agreement, specifically states, in part, as 

21 Jt. Exhibit 14, p. 14 
22 Jt. Stipulation ,-r19 
23 Jt. Exhibit 13, p 20 



Opinion 
Case No. 2002-ULP-08-0522 
Page 16of19 

follows: 

All prior concessions granted by agreement. .. or arbitration and 
not summarily revoked, modified or eliminated and not 
conflicting with this Agreement, shall remain in force during the 
period of this agreement so far as consistent with the proper 
schedules and operating methods.25 

Consequently, the interpretation of the contract in the Dissen Award thereby continued in 

effect as a part of the contract. 

For the reasons listed above, we find that the Drug and Alcohol Policy is not a 

mandatory subject of bargaining and, thus, the unilateral implementation of the Policy 

does not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (5). 

(3) Collateral Estoppel 

In reference to the doctrine of collateral estoppel, the Supreme Court of Ohio has 

held that: 

[A] fact or a point that was actually and directly at issue in a 
previous action, and was passed upon and determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, may not be drawn into question 
in a subsequent action between the same parties or their 
privies, whether the cause of action in the two actions be 
identical or different. .. [T]he collateral estoppel aspect 
precludes the relitigation, in a second action, of an issue that 
has been actually and necessarily litigated and determined in a 
prior action that was based on a different cause of action. 26 

SORT A contends that the Dissen Award and a Court of Appeals decision raise a 

24 Jt. Stipulations '1!'1120-21 
25 Jt. Exhibit 9, p. 53 
26 Fort Frye Teachers Ass'n v. SERB, 81 Ohio St. 3d 392, 692 N.E.2d 140, 144 (1998) 
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collateral estoppel bar. Specifically, SORTA argues that the finding in the Dissen Award, 

recognizing SORTA's right to unilaterally implement the Program, was expressly 

acknowledged by the Ohio Court of Appeals in SORTA v. Amalgamated Transit Union, 

1994 WL 525543 (Ohio Ct. App. Sept. 28, 1994) ("ATU 1994").27 

In contrast, the Union disputes the contention that the complaint is barred by 

collateral estoppel and argues that to the extent collateral estoppel is applicable, it should 

foreclose SORTA's argument in support of unilateral implementation. The Union 

contends that the Court of Appeals' observation in A TU 1994 pertaining to SORT A's right 

to promulgate the drug and alcohol program was merely dicta with no legal effect. The 

Union asserts the observation was not integral to the Court's holding that the disputed 

arbitration award should be vacated because it violated public policy 28 Additionally, the 

Union maintains that even if that portion of the Opinion constituted binding precedent, it 

would no longer be good law due to SORTA v. Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 627, 

91 Ohio St.3d 108 (2001) ("ATU 2001").29 In ATU 2001, the Supreme Court found that 

"SORTA did not have the right to unilaterally adopt automatic termination without 

possibility of reinstatement as a sanction for positive testing, because such a sanction 

conflicts with the "sufficient cause" requirement for dismissal found in Section 3(b) of the 

[collective bargaining agreement]."30 

As established earlier in this Opinion, the disputed disciplinary consequences 

section in the 2002 Drug and Alcohol Policy does not modify or conflict with the "sufficient 

cause" requirement for dismissal as identified in Section 3(b) of the collective bargaining 

agreement. The Policy simply defines what may constitute sufficient cause. Hence, the 

Union's argument that the A TU 2001 case is controlling fails. 

27 SORTA Brief at p. 10 
28 Union Brief at p. 9. 
29 Id. 
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Regardless, courts have upheld the application of collateral estoppel to the 

decisions of arbitrators. In Boyle v. City of Portsmouth, 18 OPER il 1485 (Ohio Ct. App. 

2001 ), the court applied the doctrine of collateral estoppel and held that an issue had 

already been litigated between the parties where the case was initially decided by an 

arbitrator and then later reviewed by a common pleas court. 31 SERB is not legally bound 

to accept an arbitrator's interpretation of a contract in an unfair labor practice case. 32 In 

the present matter, however, we do agree with the arbitrator's interpretation of the 

contract. Moreover, having recognized that the contract language remains the same and 

that the arbitrator's interpretation has not since been revoked, modified, or eliminated, we 

hold that the Union is collaterally estopped from pursuing the current unfair labor practice 

charge. 

Having established that the Dissen Award was still in effect and applicable to 

disciplinary consequences, that the Drug and Alcohol Policy was not a mandatory subject 

of bargaining but rather within SORTA's management rights, and that the Union is 

collaterally estopped from pursuing this unfair labor practice charge, SORTA's actions 

and conduct do not constitute bad faith bargaining in contravention of §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) 

and (A)(5). 33 

------------------------------ ----·-

30 Id. 
31 Id. at 5-6. 
32 In re SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 95-010 (6-30-95), p. 3-79 
33 Because we are persuaded that these listed defenses are sufficient, we need not 
specifically address other defenses offered by SORTA, i.e., that the Charging Party had slept 
on its rights, that ii was equitably estopped through acquiescence in the Policy, and that it was 
collaterally estopped by means of voluntarily dismissing an unfair labor practice charge 
challenging the Policy. 
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IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. SORTA is a "public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01(8). 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 627, Intervenor, is an "employee 

organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

3. SORTA's unilateral changes to the Drug and Alcohol Policy without 

bargaining as to bargaining-unit employees does not constitute an unfair labor practice in 

violation ofO.R.C. §§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority 

did not make unlawful unilateral revisions to its Drug and Alcohol Policy. Accordingly, we 

find that the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority did not commit an unfair labor 

practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 

Drake, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order, the filing of exceptions to the Proposed 

Order by the Respondent, City of Cincinnati ("City"), the filing of responses to exceptions by the 

Intervenor, Queen City Lodge No. 69, Fraternal Order of Police ("Union"), and the Complainant. 

and the oral arguments presented to the Board by the parties. For the reasons that follow, we 

find that the Respondent did not commit an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised 

Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally changing the terms and conditions 

of employment for Assistant Police Chiefs when it did not promote Captain Gregoire to a 

vacancy in the position of Assistant Police Chief. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The City is a charter municipality with home-rule authority as provided by the Ohio 

Constitution. The Union is the exclusive representative for two bargaining units collectively 

comprising all sworn members of the City's police division. The City and the Union were parties 

to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") governing the supervisors' unit effective December 

10, 2000 through December 31, 2002, containing a grievance procedure that culminates in final 

and binding arbitration. 



On August 1, 2001, the City Council passed an emergency ordinance placing on the 

November 6, 2001 ballot a 2001 Charter Amendment modifying Article V of the City Charter (the 

"Charter Amendment"). On November 6, 2001, the Charter Amendment passed with a majority 

of votes. Under the terms of the Charter Amendment, a person who holds a position in the 

classified civil service that becomes unclassified under the terms of the Charter Amendment 

shall be deemed to hold a position in the classified civil service until he or she vacates the 

position, after which time the position shall be filled as an unclassified position. The position of 

Assistant Police Chief became unclassified under the Charter Amendment, and, under its terms, 

future vacancies would be filled through appointment by the City Manager. 

Before the Charter Amendment passed, all promotions to vacancies in the classification 

of Assistant Police Chief were made from the civil service promotional eligibility list following the 

"Rule of 1." Under the "Rule of 1," if a vacancy exists in a municipal police department above 

the rank of patrol officer and an eligibility list exists, the municipal civil service commission shall 

immediately certify the name of the person with the highest rating, and the appointing authority 

shall appoint that person within thirty days from the date of certification, pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 124.44. 

On September 10, 2002, Assistant Police Chief (Lieutenant Colonel) Ronald J. Twitty 

submitted a notice of intent to retire within 90 days. Assistant Police Chief Twitty's retirement 

was effective December 7, 2002. During the time period from September 10, 2002 to 

December 7, 2002, Assistant Police Chief Twitty was on paid administrative leave. 

The Union filed Grievance #29-02 regarding whether Captain Stephen R. Gregoire 

should be placed in the vacancy created by Assistant Police Chief Twitty's retirement. Captain 

Gregoire was the person with the highest rating on the promotional eligibility list for Assistant 

Police Chiefs. 

In November 2002, the Union filed a motion for a preliminary injunction in the Court of 

Common Pleas, Hamilton County, Ohio. On December 4, 2002, the parties to the common 

pleas court action filed an agreed judgment entry ("Entry"). In the Entry, the parties agreed to 

extend the expiration date for the promotional eligibility list for Assistant Police Chiefs pending 

the final resolution of both this unfair labor practice case and Grievance #29-02, unless the 

parties mutually agree otherwise The Entry also set forth a procedure the parties agreed to 

follow should the City decide to conduct a search and fill an Assistant Police Chief vacancy 

other than through the promotional eligibility list. 



The City and the Union met to negotiate a successor collective bargaining agreement to 

the Agreement that expired on December 31, 2002. The City and the Union proceeded to fact 

finding and, subsequently, to binding conciliation. The conciliator issued the award on July 2, 

2003. The City had not filled the vacancy in the position of Assistant Police Chief created by 

Assistant Police Chief Twitty's retirement. 

On January 29, 2004, the City filed a motion to supplement the record; the City provided 

a copy of the Arbitrator's Opinion, AAA No. 52 390 00595 02, rendered by Arbitrator Hyman 

Cohen, Esq., on January 15, 2004, denying the Union's grievance (Grievance #29-02). 

Arbitrator's Opinion, City of Cincinnati and Queen City Lodge No. 69 Fraternal Order of Police, 

AAA No. 52 390 00595 02, issued 1-15-2004 ("Arbitrator's Award"). Arbitrator Cohen found that 

Section 22 of the CBA - specifically the "voluntary cessation" language - is not applicable to the 

facts of this grievance. On February 17, 2004, the Union filed a motion to supplement the 

record to include the parties' post-hearing briefs from the grievance arbitration and the 

arbitrator's decision. The motions were unopposed and were granted by the Board on March 

11, 2004. 

On March 18, 2004, the City filed a Notice of Citation of Additional Authority, which 

contained a copy of the common pleas court's decision in Oak Hills Local School Dist Bd of Ed 

v. SERB, 2004 SERB 4-14 (CP, Hamilton, 2-23-04). On January 5, 2005, the Union filed a 

Notice of Citation of Additional Authority, which contained a copy of the appellate court decision 

in Oak Hills Edn. Assn. v. Oak Hills Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn., 158 Ohio App.3d 662, 2004-

0hio-6843, 2004 SERB 4-59 (1'' Dist Ct App, Hamilton, 12-17-2004). On February 28, 2005. 

the Union filed a Notice of Citation of Additional Authority. which included the Report and 

Recommendations issued by the fact finder, Michael Paolucci, on February 25, 2005, in SERB 

Case Nos. 2004-MED-08-0741 and 04-MED-08-0742. On March 7, 2005, the Union filed a 

Notice of Citation of Additional Authority, which included City Ordinance 74-2005 in which it 

voted to approve the fact-finder's report in SERB Case Nos. 2004-MED-08-0741 and 04-MED-

08-0742. On June 14, 2005, the Union filed a Notice of Citation of Additional Authority, which 

contained the Conciliator's Opinion and Award of June 7, 2005, SERB Case Nos. 2004-MED-

0741 and 2004-MED-0742, in which the City proposals to remove the newly appointed Assistant 

Police Chiefs from the Bargaining Unit were rejected. 

11. DISCUSSION 

A. The Unfair Labor Practice Charge Was Timely Filed 



In its exceptions, the City alleges that the Administrative Law Judge erred in determining 

that the unfair labor practice charge was both timely filed and ripe for review. O.R.C. § 

4117.12(B) establishes a ninety-day period in which the charge must be filed. In In re City of 

Barberton, SERB 88-008 (7-5-88), aff'd sub nom. SERB v. City of Barberton, 1990 SERB 4-46 

(CP, Summit, 7-31-90), the Board set forth the following two-prong test to be utilized in 

determining when the statute of limitations begins to run: 

To begin rolling of the ninety-day period, two conditions must be present. 

The first is the acquired knowledge, or constructive knowledge, by the Charging 

Party of the alleged unfair labor practice which is the subject of the charge. The 

second is the occurrence of actual damage to the Charging Party resulting from 

the alleged unfair labor practice. 

The Union filed its unfair labor practice charge on October 17, 2002. apparently based 

upon its belief that under the Agreement, the City was required to fill the vacancy being created 

by Assistant Police Chief Twitty's then-upcoming retirement within thirty days of September 10, 

2002, the date on which he submitted his notice of intent to retire. The City's refusal to appoint 

Captain Gregoire to fill the vacancy was the first instance since the passage of the Charter 

Amendment that the City had sought to apply the Charter Amendment's terms to the bargaining

unit members. 

The unfair labor practice charge may have been prematurely filed since the effective 

date of Assistant Police Chief Twitty's retirement was not until December 7, 2002. But the unfair 

labor practice charge was not filed after the expiration of the limitations period, and it most 

certainly was ripe for review when SERB issued the complaint in this case on April 10, 2003. 

Thus, the City's timeliness and ripeness arguments are denied. 

B. Captain Gregoire Did Not Have A Contractual Right To The Promotion 

The Agreement does not specify the promotional process for Assistant Police Chiefs. 

The parties stipulated that they have historically followed the "Rule of 1" when filling promotional 

vacancies. The "Rule of 1" is set forth in the state civil service law under O.R.C. § 124.44. 

Article VII, Section 22 of the Agreement, entitled "Terminal Benefits." mentions the filling 

of vacancies. This provision does not describe the promotion process itself. Instead, the 

provision discusses the process whereby a bargaining-unit member must retire due to illness or 

injury but elects to remain on the payroll until his or her leave balances are exhausted rather 

than taking a lump-sum payment. It also describes when a position becomes vacant, stating: 



Upon the effective date of the officer's actual voluntary cessation of the duties of 

said position, such position shall immediately become vacant and shall 

immediately be filled from the existing promotional eligibility list for that officer's 

rank, or shall be filled through the competitive promotional examination process 

mandated by state civil service law. 1 

The foregoing provision in Article VII, Section 22 of the Agreement was at issue in 

Grievance #29-02, which eventually went to arbitration. After outlining the events that led to 

Assistant Police Chief Twitty's retirement, Arbitrator Cohen stated: "The phrase 'actual 

voluntary cessation of duties of such position' in Section 22 implies a choice with respect to 

relinquishing the duties of the position. There is nothing in the evidentiary record to infer that 

Twitty had such a choice." See Arbitrator's Award, p. 10. On this issue, the arbitrator found: 

In summing up this aspect of the dispute between the parties, the 

evidentiary record establishes that there was no "actual voluntary cessation" by 

Twitty of the duties of his position to warrant that the position of Assistant Police 

Chief "shall immediately become vacant and shall immediately be frlled from the 

existing promotional eligibility list for that officer's rank" as required by the Forced 

Retirement provisions of Section 22 of the Labor Agreement. 

Id at p. 13. In the Conclusion of the Arbitrator's Award, Arbitrator Cohen held: "There is no 

question that the Grievant [Captain Gregoire) has an exemplary background, service with the 

City, and character. However, the interpretation of the applicable terms of Section 22 of the 

Agreement governs this dispute. Accordingly, the grievance is denied." Id at p. 24. Thus, 

Captain Gregoire had no contractual right to the promotion. 

C. Captain Gregoire Did Not Have A Statutory Right To The Promotion 

The next question is whether Captain Gregoire had a statutory right to the position under 

O.R.C. § 124.44, which provides as follows: 

No position above the rank of patrolman in the police department shall be filled 

by original appointment. Vacancies in positions above the rank of patrolman in a 

police department shall be filled by promotion from among persons holding 

positions in a rank lower than the position to be filled. No position above the rank 

1 Joint Exhibit 27, pp. 30-31. 



of patrolman in a police department shall be filled by any person unless he has 

first passed a competitive promotional examination. Promotion shall be by 

successive ranks so far as practicable, and no person in a police department 

shall be promoted to a position in a higher rank who has not served at least 

twelve months in the next lower rank. No competitive promotional examination 

shall be held unless there are at least two persons eligible to compete. Whenever 

a municipal or civil service township civil service commission determines that 

there are less than two persons holding positions in the rank next lower than the 

position to be filled, who are eligible and willing to compete, such commission 

shall allow the persons holding positions in the then next lower rank who are 

eligible, to compete with the persons holding positions in the rank lower than the 

position to be filled. An increase in the salary or other compensation of anyone 

holding a position in a police department, beyond that fixed for the rank in which 

such position is classified, shall be deemed a promotion, except as provided in 

section 124.491 of the Revised Code. Whenever a vacancy occurs in the position 

above the rank of patrolman in a police department, and there is no eligible list 

for such rank, the municipal or civil service township civil service commission 

shall, within sixty days of such vacancy, hold a competitive promotional 

examination. After such examination has been held and an eligible list 

established, the commission shall forthwith certify to the appointing officer the 

name of the person receiving the highest rating. Upon such certification, the 

appointing officer shall appoint the person so certified within thirty days from the 

date of such certification. If there is a list, the commission shall, where there is a 

vacancy, immediately certify the name of the person having the highest rating, 

and the appointing authority shall appoint such person within thirty days from the 

date of such certification. 

No credit for seniority, efficiency, or any other reason shall be added to an 

applicant's examination grade unless the applicant achieves at least the 

minimum passing grade on the examination without counting such extra credit. 

The City asserts that as a Charter City it is not covered by state civil service law. 

"Express charter authorization is necessary to enable municipalities to adopt ordinances or 

administrative rules that will prevail over statutory provisions in case of conflict." State ex rel. 

Lightfield v. Indian Hill (1994), 69 Ohio St.3d 441, 633 N.E.2d 524, Syllabus. 

O.R.C. § 4117.10(A) provides in relevant part as follows: 



An agreement between a public employer and an exclusive 

representative entered into pursuant to this chapter governs the wages, hours, 

and terms and conditions of public employment covered by the agreement. If the 

agreement provides for a final and binding arbitration of grievances, public 

employers, employees, and employee organizations are subject solely to that 

grievance procedure and the state personnel board of review or civil service 

commissions have no jurisdiction to receive and determine any appeals relating 

to matters that were the subject of a final and binding grievance procedure. 

Where no agreement exists or where an agreement makes no specification 

about a matter, the public employer and public employees are subject to all 

applicable state or local laws or ordinances pertaining to the wages, hours, and 

terms and conditions of employment for public employees. (emphasis added) 

In State ex rel. Bardo v. City of Lyndhurst (Ohio 1988) 37 Ohio St.3d 106 ("Bardo"), the 

Ohio Supreme Court addressed the application of O.R.C. § 124.44 to the promotion of a police 

officer to a vacant lieutenant position in a city with home rule powers under the Ohio 

Constitution. The Court stated, at 110, the following: 

Although the Constitution gives municipalities the authority to adopt home rule, 

local self-government, the exercise of those powers by the adoption of a charter 

should clearly and expressly state the areas where the municipality intends to 

supersede and override general state statutes. Accordingly, we hold that 

express charter language is required to enable a municipality to exercise local 

self-government powers in a manner contrary to state civil service statutes. 

The Court in Bardo found that the Lyndhurst Charter did not contain a clear and express 

exercise of the home rule powers specifically authorizing the civil service commission to adopt 

rules with regard to certification of names from promotion lists. As a result, neither the 

commission's rules nor the charter superseded the requirements of O.R.C. § 124.44 as to 

certification of candidates from eligibility lists. Consequently, when a vacancy in a position 

arose under that statutory section, the highest-ranked employee on the current eligibility list was 

entitled to a writ of mandamus compelling the city to appoint him to the vacancy. 

The record in this case does not indicate that the City exercised its home rule powers in 

this area before the passage of the Charter Amendment on November 6. 2001. The parties 

stipulated that before the passage of the Charter Amendment, "all promotions to vacant 

positions within the classification of Assistant Police Chief were made from the promotional 



eligibility list pursuant to the Rule of 1."2 Thus, the City's argument would fail if the vacancy 

occurred before November 6, 2001. 

Establishing the date of a vacancy is also important under O.R.C. § 124.44: 

No positions above the rank of patrolman in the police department shall 

be filled by original appointment. Vacancies in positions above the rank of 

patrolman in a police department shall be filled by promotion from among 

persons holding positions in a rank lower than the position to be filled. No 

position above the rank of patrolman in a police department shall be filled by any 

person unless he has first passed a competitive promotional examination. 

Promotion shall be by successive ranks so far as practicable, and no person in a 

police department shall be promoted to a position in a higher rank who has not 

served at least twelve months in the next lower rank. * * * Whenever a vacancy 

occurs in the position above the rank of patrolman in a police department, and 

there is no eligible list for such rank, the municipal or civil service township civil 

service commission shall, within sixty days of such vacancy, hold a competitive 

promotional examination. After such examination has been held and an eligible 

list established, the commission shall forthwith certify to the appointing officer the 

name of the person receiving the highest rating. Upon such certification, the 

appointing officer shall appoint the person so certified within thirty days from the 

date of such certification. If there is a list, the commission shall, where there is a 

vacancy, immediately certify the name of the person having the highest rating, 

and the appointing authority shall appoint such person within thirty days from the 

date of such certification. 

Under the "Rule of 1," within approximately 30 days from the date of the vacancy, the 

person with the highest rating on the promotional eligibility list is to be appointed to the vacancy. 

A Promotional Eligibility List for Assistant Police Chief (lieutenant Colonel) was approved and 

posted by the Cincinnati Civil Service Commission on October 24, 2001, with an expiration date 

of October 23, 2002. 3 The record does not contain a promotional eligibility list for any period 

after October 23, 2002. 

The Agreement does not specifically state when a vacancy occurs. Article VIII of the 

Agreement is titled "Publication of Assignment" and "Availability." It states in part: "When a new 

2 Stipulation 15. 
3 JI. Exh. 7; Transcript 149-150. 



assignment or vacancy in an existing assigned area becomes available by reason of promotion, 

retirement, resignation, or transfer, notice of such assignment availability shall be forwarded to 

all units within ten (10) days of creation of the new assignment or vacancy and conspicuously 

posted." 

In the Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge found that the vacancy appeared 

to have begun, consistent with the language cited above from Article VII, Section 22 of the 

Agreement, on September 10, 2002, when Assistant Police Chief Twitty submitted his letter and 

went on paid administrative leave. But the Administrative Law Judge did not have the benefit of 

the Arbitrator's Award that interpreted this provision. 

If the vacancy occurred when Assistant Police Chief Twitty submitted his retirement on 

September 10, 2002, the promotional eligibility list was still in effect. The civil service 

commission was required to immediately certify the name of the person having the highest 

rating, and the appointing authority was required to appoint that person within thirty days from 

the date of such certification. If the vacancy occurred when Assistant Police Chief Twitty's 

retirement was effective, which was December 7, 2002, then the City had exercised its home 

rule powers through the Charter Amendment. 

In the absence of language in the Agreement defining when a vacancy occurs, we must 

revert to the state civil service law if the municipality has not exercised its home rule powers on 

this point. In Mccarter v. City of Cincinnati (Ohio App. 1 Dist., 11-25-1981) 3 Ohio App.3d 244, 

444 N.E.2d 1053, 3 O.B.R. 276, the City of Cincinnati claimed that under the home rule and civil 

service provisions of the Ohio Constitution - Sections 3 and 7, Article XVIII, and Section 10, 

Article XV, Ohio Constitution, respectively - the appointing authority can determine whether or 

when a vacancy occurs, and that in the absence of any ordinance establishing a specific 

complement of police captains, a vacancy does not occur upon the retirement of an incumbent 

captain until the city manager decides that the position is to be filled. The court disagreed with 

this argument. Instead, the court held: 

We have no difficulty in affirming the trial court's conclusion that the 

retirement of Captain Stout created a vacancy that had to be filled in accordance 

with RC. 124.44. Among other conceivable circumstances creating a vacancy, a 

vacancy in public office occurs when a position that has been established and 

occupied becomes vacant (by reason of the death, retirement, dismissal, 

promotion or other permanent absence of the former incumbent). Ballantine's 

Law Dictionary 1331 (3 Ed. 1969) . 

• • • 



We hold that a vacancy in that position was created by the retirement of 

the incumbent during the continuance of the position, without the necessity of 

any further action whatsoever. The vacancy occurred even though the city 

manager as appointing authority did not "declare" ii to be in existence. There is 

no requirement for certification of a vacancy in the police department under R. C. 

124.44, as there is under R.C. 124.48 in the case of a vacancy in the fire 

department. 

In Bardo and later in Zavisin v. City of Loveland (1989), 44 Ohio St.3d 158, 541 N.E.2d 

1055, the Ohio Supreme Court cited with approval Mccarter v. City of Cincinnati, supra. 

Therefore, the vacancy in the present case occurred upon the retirement of Assistant Police 

Chief Twitty, which was effective December 7, 2002, and after the Charier Amendment was 

approved on November 6, 2001. 

D. The Charter Amendment Does Not Conflict With The Provisions Of The Collective 

Bargaining Agreement 

The next question to be addressed is whether the Charter Amendment, approved on 

November 6, 2001, was in conflict with the parties' collective bargaining agreement. In the 

case, Jurcisin v. Cuyahoga Cly. Bd. of Elections (1988), 35 Ohio St.3d 137, appellants Paul 

Jurcisin and the Cleveland Police Patrolmen's Association ("CPPA") sought an injunction, prior 

to the election, in the Cuyahoga County Common Pleas Court, against the submission of the 

proposed charter amendment to the voters. 

In Jurcisin, the proposed charter amendment sought to establish a police review board 

to investigate complaints of police misconduct and to recommend disciplinary action. The trial 

court declared the unofficial election results null and void, enjoined the certification of the 

election results by the board of elections, and enjoined the amendment from becoming part of 

the charter. ruling that under O.R.C. § 4117.1 O(A), the amendment would conflict with the city's 

collective bargaining agreements with the appellant CPPA and was therefore void. Upon 

appeal, the Eighth District Court of Appeals held that no conflict existed between the charter 

amendment and the collective bargaining agreements. II further noted that O.R.C. § 4117.1 O(A) 

does not invalidate laws that conflict with provisions of a collective bargaining agreement. 

Instead, the statute provides that, in the event of a conflict between a law and a particular 

collective bargaining agreement, the agreement rather than the law governs the relationship 

between that particular bargaining unit and the employer. 



In upholding the decision of the Court of Appeals, Chief Justice Moyer stated: 

Appellants argue that the grievance procedures contained in the collective 

bargaining agreements are in conflict with the police review board process. 

Under RC. 4117.10(A), where a law conflicts with a wage, hour, or term and 

condition of employment provision (such as grievance procedures) found in a 

collective bargaining agreement entered into pursuant to RC. Chapter, 4117. the 

collective bargaining agreement, prevails over the conflicting provisions of the 

law. 

In his analysis, Chief Justice Moyer compared the management rights clauses in both 

contracts and determined that this was not a case of an attempt by a public employer to 

"disregard the terms of their collective bargaining agreements whenever they find it convenient 

to do so." Mahoning Cly. Bd. of Mental Retardation v. Mahoning Cly. TMR Edn. Assn. (1986), 

22 Ohio St.3d 80, 84, 22 OBR 95, 99, 488 N.E. 2d 872, 876. Rather, this case involved the 

proper exercise of management powers created by the city charter and recognized in the 

collective bargaining agreements. 

The facts support the conclusion that the City of Cincinnati's Charter Amendment did not 

conflict with the collective bargaining agreement or O.R.C. § 4117.10(A) The agreement 

between the parties contains a Management Rights article similar to the one found in Jurcisin. 

Under Article 11, Management Rights, the following language exists: 

The FOP recognizes that, except as provided in this labor agreement, the City of 

Cincinnati retains the following management rights as set forth in Ohio Revised 

Code Section 4117.0B(C) 1-9: 

1. To determine matters of inherent managerial policy which include, but are not 

limited to areas of discretion or policy such as the functions and programs of 

the public employer, standards of services, its overall budget, utilization of 

technology and organizational structure; 

2. To direct, supervise, evaluate or hire employees; 

3. To maintain and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of governmental 

operations; 

4. To determine the overall methods. process. means, or personnel by which 

governmental operations are to be conducted; 

5. To suspend, discipline, demote or discharge for just cause, or lay-off, 

transfer, assign, schedule, promote or retain employees; (Emphasis added) 



6. To determine the adequacy of the work force; 

7. To determine the overall mission of the employer as a unit of government; 

8. To effectively manage the work force; 

9. To take actions to carry out the mission of the public employer as a 

governmental unit. 

With respect to these management rights, the City of Cincinnati shall have the 

clear and exclusive right to make decisions in all areas and such decisions, 

except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, shall not be subject to the 

grievance procedure. 

The City is not required to bargain on subjects reserved to the management and 

direction of the City in Revised Code Section 4117.08 except as affect wages, 

hours, terms and conditions of employment and the continuation, modification, or 

deletion of this collective bargaining agreement. The FOP may raise a legitimate 

complaint or file a grievance based on this collective bargaining agreement. 

In the Proposed Order, the SERB Administrative Law Judge stated: "The Agreement 

does not specify the promotional process for Assistant Police Chiefs." (Proposed Order, page 

4) Additionally, the Agreement contains, within Article XIII, an Integrity of Agreement clause, 

that states: 

This contract represents complete collective bargaining and full agreement by the 

parties with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment or other 

conditions of employment which shall prevail during the term hereof and any 

matters or subjects not herein covered have been satisfactorily adjusted, 

compromised or waived by the parties for the life of this Agreement. During the 

term of this Agreement neither the City nor the FOP will be required to negotiate 

on any further matters affecting these or any other subjects set forth in the 

Agreement. 

Finally, the Agreement also contained Article XX, Abolishment of Promoted Positions, which 

vested the City Manager with authority to abolish any promoted positions in the police division in 

accord with Section 124.37 of the Revised Code or any successor statute. While the 

abolishment of promoted positions is not the issue in this case, the inclusion of this Article within 

the parties' collective bargaining agreement is further indication of the understanding between 

the parties that the City of Cincinnati, through its City Manager, maintained authority in 

determining, establishing, and setting the maximum number of authorized positions for a 



specific promoted rank in the police division. It would appear, therefore, that the subsequent 

Charter Amendment, which included language that the "city manager shall appoint the police 

chief and assistant police chiefs to serve in said unclassified position," does not conflict with the 

express terms in the contract. See also Cincinnati v. Ohio Council 8, AFSCME (1991 ), 61 Ohio 

St.3d 658, 1991 SERB 4-87 ("Ohio Council 8'') 

E. The City Did Not Commit An Unfair Labor Practice 

The City is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5), which provide in 

relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 

representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the 

rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 

* *. 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative ••• pursuant to Chapter 

4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The ultimate issue before the Board is whether the District engaged in bad-faith 

bargaining in violation of O.R.C. §§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to appoint Captain 

Gregoire to the vacant Assistant Police Chief position Good-faith bargaining is determined by 

the totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A 

circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re 

Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

Essentially, the City advances the argument that it is duty-bound to protect and advance 

the cause of its voting public (the "People," as they are referred to in the City's post-hearing 

brief), and, thus, to fill Assistant Police Chief vacancies through the process it would use for 

unclassified employees, rather than through the classified civil service process. Unless 

otherwise provided, a public employer maintains the authority to determine matters of inherent 

managerial policy as outlined in O.R.C. § 4117.08(C). O.R.C. § 4117.08(C)(5) lists as a 

managerial prerogative the promotion of employees. The change in the method of filling the 

promotional position of Assistant Police Chief, however, impacts the terms and conditions of 

employment of bargaining-unit employees, who formerly were the exclusive candidates for such 



promotional opportunities. See generally Devennish v. Columbus (1991), 57 Ohio St.3d 163. 

1991 SERB4-7. 

The employer is required to bargain with an exclusive representative on all matters 

relating to wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.0B(A). In re City of Broadview Heights, SERB 99-005 (3-5-99); In re Ottawa County 

Riverview Nursing Home, SERB 96-006 (5-31-96). Thus, if a given subject involves the 

exercise of inherent managerial discretion and also materially affects any of these factors. a 

balancing test must be applied to determine whether the subject is a mandatory or permissive 

subject of bargaining SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed, SERB 95-010 (1995) 

("Youngstown"); see also In re City of Akron, SERB 97-012 (7-10-97). 

If a given subject is alleged to affect and is determined to have a material influence upon 

wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment and involves the exercise of 

inherent management discretion, the following factors must be balanced to determine whether it 

is a mandatory or permissive subject of bargaining: (1) the extent to which the subject is 

logically and reasonably related to wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment; (2) the 

extent to which the employer's obligation to negotiate may significantly abridge its freedom to 

exercise those managerial prerogatives set forth in and anticipated by O.R.C. § 4117.08(C), 

including an examination of the type of employer involved and whether inherent discretion on 

the subject matter at issue is necessary to achieve the employer's essential mission and its 

obligations to the general public; and (3) the extent to which the mediatory influence of collective 

bargaining and, when necessary, any impasse resolution mechanisms available to the parties 

are the appropriate means of resolving conflicts over the subject matter. Youngstown, supra at 

3-76 - 3-77. 

Examining the first prong, the promotional process in the City's police department was a 

term or condition of employment of bargaining-unit employees. Examining the second prong, 

the City operates a police department, and its essential mission is enforcing the criminal laws of 

the City and the State of Ohio. The record reflects that the operation of the City's Police 

Department has been the subject of intense debate through the news media, citizen 

committees, and City Council meetings, among other venues. The record does not contain any 

evidence demonstrating that inherent discretion in filling vacancies in the position of Assistant 

Police Chief is necessary to achieve the police department's essential mission. Indeed, the 

intensity of the debate, on both sides of the issue, would indicate otherwise, as would the 

parties' longstanding use of the procedure set forth in the state civil service law. Examining the 

third prong, the mediatory influence of collective bargaining would have been the ideal 

mechanism for the City to negotiate for and attempt to achieve its articulated interest in making 



the voice of the "People" part of the collective bargaining agreement, and for the Union to 

articulate its interest in retaining a term and condition of employment enjoyed by bargaining-unit 

members. The three-prong analysis reveals that, on balance, the promotional process for 

Assistant Police Chiefs is a mandatory subject of collective bargaining. 

Management decisions that are found, on balance, to be mandatory subjects must be 

bargained before implementation, upon notice by the employer and timely request by the 

employee organization, except where emergency situations render prior bargaining impossible. 

In re Toledo City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-005 (9-20-2001) ("Toledo"); Youngstown, 

supra. The Toledo decision states the controlling legal principle: 

Where the parties have not adopted procedures in their collective bargaining 

agreement to deal with midterm bargaining disputes, SERB will apply the 

following standard to determine whether an unfair labor practice has been 

committed when a party unilaterally modifies a provision in an existing collective 

bargaining agreement after bargaining the subject to ultimate impasse as defined 

in Vandalia-Butler: 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining agreement 

without the negotiation by and agreement of both parties unless 

immediate action is required due to (1) exigent circumstances that 

were unforeseen at the time of negotiations or (2) legislative 

action taken by a higher-level legislative body after the agreement 

becomes effective that requires a change to conform to the 

statute. 

In addition, to clarify Youngstown, follow [In re] Franklin County Sheriff [SERB 

90-012 (7-18-90)], and assure consistency in future cases involving issues not 

covered in the provisions of a collective bargaining agreement, but which require 

mandatory midterm bargaining, SERB will apply the same two-part test as stated 

above. 

Toledo, supra at 3-29. 

The City argues that the Union waived its right to bargain. "[W]aiver of a statutory right 

to bargain * * • must be established by clear and unmistakable action by the waiving party." 

Youngstown, supra at 3-81. The record does not contain clear and unmistakable action by the 

Union that it waived its right to bargain. The Union asserted its position that changes could not 



be made without bargaining, and the City's response was disagreement with this position, 

followed by unilateral implementation of the Charter Amendment when the City refused to fill the 

Assistant Police Chief vacancy 

This case does not involve the "exigent circumstances" exception under Toledo. The 

City argues that the Charter Amendment was enacted by a higher-level legislative body. Thus, 

the City argues, it must follow the terms of the Charter Amendment, and in so doing, the City is 

complying with the second exception set forth in Toledo. The Union and the Complainant argue 

that the City Council is a same-level legislative body, rather than a higher-level legislative body. 

O.R.C. § 4117.10(8) defines the term "legislative body" to include "the general 

assembly, the governing board of a municipal corporation, school district, college or university, 

village, township, or board of county commissioners or any other body that has authority to 

approve the budget of their public jurisdiction." O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(b) provides: "As used in 

division (C)(6)(a) of this section, 'legislative body' means the controlling board when the state or 

any of its agencies, authorities, commissions, boards, or other branch of public employment is 

party to the fact-finding process." The term "higher-level legislative body" is not defined in the 

Ohio Revised Code. As a result, SERB can define the term as long as the definition is 

consistent with the objectives of Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117. 

The Charter Amendment was enacted by the vote of the majority of the City's voters in 

the election. Although the City Council voted to authorize the placing of the Charter 

Amendment on the ballot, it was not the City Council that enacted the change. Instead, the 

electorate was responsible for the change. When the voters decide an issue at the ballot box, 

they are acting as a "higher-level legislative authority" to the City Council under the second 

exception to the bargaining requirement set forth in Toledo. This situation 1s not comparable to 

one party holding back an issue from bargaining and then springing it on the other party after 

the collective bargaining agreement has been ratified by both parties. A review of the record 

does not support a finding that the City was engaged in trickery or gamesmanship with the 

Union. The City was attempting to implement the change approved by a higher-level legislative 

body, the voters, after the agreement became effective. While the agreement was silent on the 

promotional process, such a change impacted a past practice between the parties. In Toledo, 

we extended the two-part test to issues not covered in the provisions of a collective bargaining 

agreement, but which require mandatory midterm bargaining. See In re Southeast Local School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2002-003 (5-14-2002). 



The Ohio Supreme Court's decision in Ohio Council 8 is instructive as it explains the 

interplay between local laws and collective bargaining agreements. In Ohio Council 8, supra at 

662, 1991 SERB at 4-88 - 4-89, the Ohio Supreme Court explained as follows: 

The Collective Bargaining Act, most specifically R.C. 4117.10(A), 

provides, in pertinent part: 

••• 

"* • • Laws pertaining to civil rights, affirmative action, unemployment 

compensation, workers' compensation, the retirement of public employees, 

residency requirements, the minimum educational requirements contained in the 

Revised Code pertaining to public education including the requirement of a 

certificate by the fiscal officer of a school district pursuant to section 5705.41 of 

the Revised Code, and the minimum standards promulgated by the state board 

of education pursuant to division (D) of section 3301.07 of the Revised Code 

prevail over conflicting provisions of agreements between employee 

organizations and public employers. * * * " 

This provision lists laws which prevail over a conflicting provision in a 

collective bargaining agreement. "Under the principle of statutory construction 

that inclusion of a list of items will exclude other items not on the list, the 

remaining thousands of state and local laws which may conflict with the 

contracts, do not prevail over those contracts." (citations omitted] 

R. C. 4117.1 O(A) simplifies contract administration by eliminating concern over 

whether an agreement is "contrary to law," and encourages honesty and good 

faith in collective bargaining by requiring the parties to live up to the agreement 

they make. 

R.C. Chapter 4117, of which R.C. 4117.10(A) is a part, is a law of a 

general nature which is to be applied uniformly throughout the state. State, ex 

rel. Dayton Fraternal Order of Police Lodge No. 44, v. State Emp. Relations Bd. 

(1986), 22 Ohio St.3d 1, 22 OBR 1, 488 N.E.2d 181. As such, it prevails over 

any inconsistent provision in a municipal home-rule charter by virtue of Section 3, 

Article XVIII of the Ohio Constitution. [citations omitted] We have also recognized 

that R. C. Chapter 4117 prevails over home-rule charters because it was enacted 

pursuant to Section 34, Article II of the Ohio Constitution. [citations omitted] 

Thus, the language in R.C. 4117.10(A) is applicable to collective bargaining 

agreements executed by a home-rule city. By virtue of this provision, where the 

agreement conflicts with any local law, including the charter itself, the agreement 



prevails unless the conflicting local law falls into one of the specific exceptions 

listed in the statute. (emphasis added) 

In Ohio Council 8, the Ohio Supreme Court established that a local law, such as the 

Charter Amendment, does not prevail over the terms of a previously agreed-upon collective 

bargaining agreement. Conversely, the City was not required to change the terms of the 

Agreement to conform to the Charter Amendment because the Agreement does not specify the 

promotional process for Assistant Police Chiefs. Since the Agreement did not speak specifically 

to promotions, the Ohio Council 8 decision is not controlling over the parties on this issue. 

Therefore, the second exception to the bargaining requirement set forth in Toledo excuses the 

City's unilateral implementation. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the unfair labor practice charge was both timely filed 

and ripe for review; Captain Gregoire had no contractual right to the promotion; Captain 

Gregoire had no statutory right to the promotion; the Charter Amendment does not conflict with 

the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement; the change in the promotional process for 

Assistant Police Chiefs is a mandatory subject of collective bargaining; the second exception to 

the bargaining requirement set forth in Toledo - legislative action taken by a higher-level 

legislative body after the collective bargaining agreement became effective - excuses the City's 

unilateral implementation; and the City of Cincinnati did not violate Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally changed the terms and conditions of 

employment for Assistant Police Chiefs when it did not promote Captain Gregoire to a vacancy 

in the position of Assistant Police Chief. Therefore, the complaint is hereby dismissed, and the 

unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

DRAKE, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of joint stipulations by the parties and the 

subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. The issue to be decided is whether the actions 

taken by the City of Circleville ("City") constituted an unfair labor practice in violation of 

Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). For the reasons below, we find 

that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by withholding payment on the 

selling back of sick leave by bargaining-unit members represented by the Circleville 

Firefighters Local 1232, IAFF ("IAFF") while the parties awaited the conciliator's award 



Opinion 
Case No. 2002-ULP-05-0341 
Page 2 of 10 

II. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. The International Association of Firefighters, Local 1232 is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (0). 

2. The City of Circleville is a "public employer'' as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(8). 

3. The IAFF and the City were parties to a collective bargaining agreement that 

was effective from September 20, 1998 through September 22, 2001 ("Agreement"). (Joint 

Exhibit ["Jt. Exh."] 1) 

4. On July 17, 2001, the IAFF filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB, seeking to 

commence negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement. (Jt. Exh. 2) 

Subsequently, the parties met in an effort to negotiate a successor agreement. The parties 

met for purposes of negotiations on August 10, 2001, August 31, 2001, September 14, 

2001, and September 24, 2001. 

5. On September 14, 2001, the City offered a proposal to the IAFF concerning 

annual sick leave sellback. This proposal sought to increase the number of sick leave 

hours that an employee was required to accumulate in order to be eligible for sick leave 

sellback and to reduce the number of hours that each employee could sell back each year. 

(Jt. Exh. 3) 

6. On November 29, 2001, the parties proceeded to a fact-finding hearing. The 

issues presented to the fact finder included the City's proposal concerning sick leave 

1 The Findings of Fact are based upon the Joint Stipulations filed by the parties on 
October 30, 2002, except where indicated otherwise. 
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sellback. The parties agreed that all modifications to the Agreement would be retroactive 

to September 22, 2001. 

7. On December 12, 2001, the fact finder issued his recommendation. With 

respect to the sick leave sellback, the fact finder recommended that the sick leave hour 

threshold be increased from 500 hours to 1040 hours and that the hours that an employee 

could cash in be reduced from 167 hours per year to 100 hours per year. This 

recommendation was based on the City's proposal. (Jt. Exh. 4) 

8. On December 19, 2001, the IAFF rejected the fact-finder's report. The City 

did not reject the report. (Jt. Exh. 6) 

9. On January 14, 2002, the City sent a letter to the IAFF concerning the sick 

leave sellback under the Agreement that expired on September 22, 2001. {JI. Exh. 5)2 

10. The IAFF filed a grievance in response to the letter referenced in stipulation 

number nine. The IAFF did not pursue this grievance to arbitration. 

11. The parties met in an effort to resolve the outstanding issues prior to the 

conciliation hearing. 

12. In February 2002, pursuant to and under the terms of the expired Agreement, 

members of IAFF Local 1232 submitted accumulated sick leave buy-out forms to the City, 

to be paid, according to the expired Agreement, no later than February 22, 2002. 

2 Although Paragraph 9 of the Joint Stipulations recites a date of September 22, 2002, we 
find, consistent with Paragraph 3 of the Joint Stipulations, the Agreement expired on September 22, 
2001. 
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13. The City informed the Union that the City would not be purchasing the 

accumulated sick leave by February 22, 2002, and in fact did not do so, as provided for in 

the expired Agreement. Instead, the City deferred payment on the buy-out until such time 

as the conciliator's award issued. 

14. On February 20, 2002, a conciliation hearing was held between parties. The 

issues presented to the conciliator were wages, EMT/paramedic supplement, and sick 

leave sellback. The City waived the restrictions placed on the conciliator as to the 

retroactivity of economic issues set forth in O.R.C. § 4117.14(G)(11 ). The conciliator had 

the authority to issue an award that was retroactive to September 22, 2001. (Jt. Exh. 8-9) 

15. Both parties presented positions on the outstanding issues that were 

retroactive to September 22, 2001, except that the IAFF proposed no change to the sick 

leave payback. 

16. On March 5, 2002, the conciliator issued his award; the award included 

retroactive increases for wages and EMT/paramedic supplement. With respect to the sick 

leave sellback, the Conciliator awarded the City's proposal, which he noted was consistent 

with the fact-finder's recommendation. (Jt. Exh. 10) 

17. In February 2002, several members of the bargaining unit filed grievances, 

alleging that the City failed to comply with the Agreement that expired on September 22, 

2001, as it related to the sick leave sellback. The City denied the grievances and they 

were not pursued to arbitration. (Jt. Exh. 11-16) 

18. On June 5, 2002, the parties executed a successor collective bargaining 

agreement that is effective from September 23, 2001 through December 31, 2003. (Jt. 

Exh. 17) 



Opinion 
Case No. 2002-ULP-05-0341 
Page 5 of 10 

19. Since June 5, 2002, the City has paid the sick leave sellback in accordance 

with the conciliation award. 

20. The parties agreed to waive the evidentiary hearing and requested this case 

be submitted on briefs, stipulations of fact, and stipulations of evidence directly to the 

SERB members. 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The issue is whether the City's unilateral change to the status quo of an expired 

collective bargaining agreement without bargaining as to the bargaining-unit employees 

constitutes an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5), 

which provide as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code * * * ; 

* * * 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

A. The City Violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1J and (A)(5J By Unilaterally Changing 
the Status Quo of the Expired Agreement 

Unless the parties otherwise agree upon mutual dispute settlement procedures, 

existing case law in Ohio affirms unequivocally that a unilateral change to the status quo 

during negotiations, and before ultimate impasse has been reached, is a violation of 

established labor law. In In re City of Fostoria, SERB 86-037 (9-15-86) ("Fostoria"), SERB 

held that the terms of an expired collective bargaining agreement continue in effect until 

the parties reach "ultimate impasse." Similar to Fostoria, strike-prohibited employees are 

involved in this case. 
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In Fostoria, SERB stated that the word "impasse" is used frequently in the statutory 

impasse procedure to indicate the time for advance to the next step of the procedure. In 

the opinion, the phrase "ultimate impasse" was used to connote that definitive point at 

which strike action (in the case of strike-permitted employees) or conciliation (in the case of 

strike-ineligible employees) is the next step. The end of the publication period triggers the 

strike option when strike-permissible employees are involved. For strike-prohibited 

employees, SERB affirmed that "conciliation" (i.e., arbitration) is the substitute for strike 

action. By analogy the end of the publication period after the rejection of the fact-finding 

recommendation is also the ultimate impasse point for those public employees who must 

arbitrate in lieu of withholding work. 3 

While initially SERB defined the point of ultimate impasse as occurring at the end of 

the publication period following the rejection of the fact-finding recommendation, Ohio 

Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-02(E) modified the point at which "ultimate impasse" 

occurs: 

Except as the parties may modify the negotiation process by mutually 
agreed-upon dispute settlement procedures, the parties shall continue in full 
force and effect all the terms and conditions of any existing collective 
bargaining agreement, without resort to strike or lockout, for a period of sixty 
days after the party gives notice, until the expiration date of the collective 
bargaining agreement, or the statutory dispute settlement procedures are 
exhausted, whichever occurs later. (emphasis added). 

Therefore, unless otherwise agreed upon, SERB's administrative rules are essentially 

dispositive on the issue. 

The Agreement between the parties, which expired on September 22, 2001, 

contained a provision for the sellback of accumulated sick leave by IAFF members to the 

3 In re City of Fostoria, SERB 86-037 (9-15-86), p. 318. 
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City. In September 2001, during negotiations, the City offered a proposal to the IAFF 

concerning annual sick leave sellback. This proposal sought to increase the number of 

sick leave hours that an employee was required to accumulate in order to be eligible for 

sick leave sellback and to reduce the number of hours that each employee could sell back 

each year.
4 

Since this proposal would result in a substantial reduction in earnings for 

bargaining-unit employees, who had come to depend on the sick leave sellback provision, 

the proposal was rejected. In January 2002, the City communicated to IAFF its intention 

not to pay for the sick leave sellback under the provisions that were set forth in the 

previous collective bargaining agreement. Ultimate impasse had not yet occurred when the 

City refused to purchase sick leave because the parties were continuing to meet to 

negotiate and because a conciliation hearing was scheduled for February 20, 2002. 5 

The City refused to await the conclusions of negotiations and conciliation before 

unilaterally changing the terms and conditions of Union members by refusing to purchase 

accumulated sick leave pursuant to the language in the expired collective bargaining 

agreement, which was the focus of the negotiations and conciliation. This period, termed 

the "status quo ante," is a middle period between official contract expiration and the 

exhaustion of the dispute settlement procedures; while the application of this rule can be 

waived by a mutually agreed-upon dispute settlement procedure, as with a waiver of any 

statutory right such waiver must be clear and unmistakable. The City and IAFF never 

waived the application of this rule or arranged to modify the negotiation process by 

mutually agreed-upon dispute settlement procedures. 

Although courts have accepted the idea and necessity of the employer maintaining 

the status quo ante until the bargaining process has been completed, courts have held that 

certain contractual provisions, such as fair share fees, do not survive the expiration of a 

4 Jt. Exhibit 3. The change would increase the eligibility requirements for members from 
500 to 1040 hours and decrease the amount of hours a member could sell back from 167 to 100. 

5 Jt. Stipulations 11, 13, and 14, pp. 2-3. 
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collective bargaining agreement. The status quo ante includes carryover of all prior 

contract provisions in an expired contract because O.R.C. Chapter4117, unlike most other 

labor statutes, requires bargaining over the "deletion of an existing provision of a collective 

bargaining agreement." O.R.C. § 4117.01 (G). Thus, a contractual provision such as the 

one at issue, stating that the contract is "exhausted" on its expiration date unless the 

contract is extended by mutual agreement, does not affect or operate to waive the 

separate status quo ante rule. 

It is a well-established principle of collective bargaining law that even after contract 

expiration, parties can change employment terms only through mutual agreement or, if 

ultimate impasse is reached, through the employer's implementation of its last, best offer. 6 

Therefore, the City's argument that it clearly manifested its intent not to be bound by 

certain provisions of the prior agreement fails. Thus, an employer's failure to maintain the 

terms of an expired collective bargaining agreement (i.e., the status quo ante) prior to 

ultimate impasse constitutes bad faith bargaining in contravention of O.R.C. 

§§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

8. The Appropriate Remedy Must Recognize the Need to Maintain Both the 
Status Quo Ante and the Integrity of the Conciliator's Award 

SERB possesses broad discretion to remedy unfair labor practices by not only 

issuing a cease-and-desist order, but also by taking "such affirmative action * * * as will 

effectuate the policies of Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code." O.R.C. § 4117.12(B)(3). 

The Board has traditionally remedied unlawful unilateral changes by ordering the 

respondent to restore the charging party to the status quo as it existed before the unlawful 

change took effect. Here, however, a full restoration of the status quo ante would require 

that the City return employees to the more general terms of the sick leave sellback 

provisions that existed under the expired Agreement. Such an order would fly in the face 

6 /n re University of Cincinnati, SERB 93-007 (5-13-93), p. 3-48. 
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of the less generous terms contained in the Conciliator's award, to which all parties agreed 

to be bound retroactively. 

We are aware that conciliation awards reflect compromises made by both parties in 

the bargaining process, and that a party receiving a favorable ruling on one issue may well 

have received less favorable treatment on another, as the conciliator seeks to craft a 

binding award that is fair for both sides. Out of respect for the final and binding nature of 

the conciliation process, we decline to issue a remedy here that will essentially modify the 

Conciliator's award. Rather, in addition to issuing a cease-and-desist order, we order the 

City to make bargaining-unit employees whole for any nonpayment or delay in payments 

due to them under the Conciliator's award. 

Accordingly, to the extent that the sick leave sellback has not been paid in 

accordance with the Conciliator's award retroactive to September 22, 2001, we are 

ordering the City to tender payment to those employees affected, together with interest at a 

rate of 6% per annum, from the date that the payment was due. To the extent that the sick 

leave sellback has been paid in accordance with the Conciliator's award retroactive to 

September 22, 2001, we are ordering the City to pay interest to those affected employees 

for the period during which payment was deferred at a rate of 6% per annum. The ordered 

interest rate is consistent with the rate being charged by the Internal Revenue Service 

during the Third Quarter of 2005. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Circleville is a "public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(8). 

2. The International Association of Firefighters, Local 1232 is an "employee 

organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). 



Opinion 
Case No. 2002-ULP-05-0341 
Page 10 of 10 

3. The City of Circleville's unilateral changes to the sick leave sellback provision 

without bargaining as to bargaining-unit employees constitutes an unfair labor practice in 

violation ofO.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the City of Circleville made a unilateral change 

of the status quo as to the sick leave sellback provision of the expired collective bargaining 

agreement before ultimate impasse for its public employees; that such a change involves a 

mandatory subject of bargaining; that the City refused to bargain the changes; and that the 

employee organization, under these circumstances, did not waive the bargaining-unit 

members' right to bargain the change. Accordingly, we find that the City committed an 

unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 

Drake, Chairman, and Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concur. 
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On September 22, 2003, the Mahoning Education Association of Developmental 
Disabilities ("MEADD" or "Union") filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 
pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-01 (E)(2), seeking to clarify the existing 
unit to include the position of Service and Support Administrator. On November 12, 2003, 
the Mahoning County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities 
("Employer") filed a position statement in response to MEADD's position statement filed 
November 10, 2003. On July 1, 2004, the Employer filed a motion to coordinate and a 
motion to stay Case No. 2003-ULP-11-0590, a related unfair labor practice case involving 
the same parties. 

On August 5, 2004, after a preliminary investigation, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") granted the Employer's motion to coordinate, denied 
the Employer's motion to stay Case No. 2003-ULP-11-0590, directed this case to hearing 
to determine the bargaining-unit status of the employees in question, and directed the 
parties to mediation. A hearing was held on October 19, 2004, wherein testimonial and 
documentary evidence was presented Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUES 

1) Does Ohio Revised Code§ 5126.15(A)1 preclude the granting of a 
petition for clarification to include Service and Support Administrators 
in a bargaining unit that includes employees who perform non
administrative duties? 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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2) Whether the existing bargaining unit should be clarified to include the 
position of Service and Support Administrators. 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Mahoning County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities 
is a "public employer" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (B). (S.) 

2. The Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities, OEA/NEA is 
the exclusive representative of a bargaining unit of the Employer's employees, and 
is an "employee organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). (S.) 

3. The Employer and MEADD have been parties to collective bargaining agreements 
("CBAs") since prior to April 1, 1984, the effective date of Chapter 4117, Ohio's 
Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act. The pertinent CBA between the 
parties was effective from September 1, 2001 through August 31, 2004. (S.) 

4. On August 9, 1990, the parties filed a Joint Petition for Amendment of Certification 
with the Board in Case No. 90-REP-08-0183. The petition represented that the 
bargaining unit was deemed certified. On August 30, 1990, the Board approved an 
Amendment of Certification that referred to MEADD as the "Board-certified" 
exclusive representative. (S.; Amendment of Certification, Case No. 90-REP-08-
0183) 

5. On September 24, 2001, the parties filed a Joint Petition for Amendment of 
Certification with the Board (Case No. 01-REP-09-0231). On October 18, 2001, the 
Board approved an Amendment of Certification that referred to MEADD as the 
"Board-certified" exclusive representative. (Amendment of Certification, Case 
No. 01-REP-09-0231) 

6. On July 17, 2003, the Employer posted a vacancy notice for 14 vacancies in a 
position entitled Service and Support Administrator ("SSA"). The posting contained 
a statement that the positions were not bargaining-unit positions. (S.) 

2 All references to the Joint Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed 
by the stipulation number(s). All references to the transcript of hearing are indicated parenthetically 
by "T.," followed by the page number(s). All references to the Joint Exhibits in the record are 
indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the record 
are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the only 
support in the record for that related Finding of Fact. 
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7. The position classifications of Case Manager, Service Coordinator, and Service 
Coordinator II have, at all times pertinent, been positions within the bargaining unit 
represented by MEADD. (S.) 

8. On September 22, 2003, MEADD filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 
with SERB. The petition seeks to clarify the bargaining unit by including the SSA 
positions. (S.) 

9. The Employer required those persons holding the positions of Case Manager, 
Service Coordinator, and Service Coordinator II to bid on the newly created SSA 
positions to ensure their continued employment. All individuals who worked as 
Case Managers, Service Coordinators, and Service Coordinator lls are now working 
as SSAs. The Case Managers, Service Coordinators, and Service Coordinator lls 
are "temporarily reassigned" to SSA positions. (T.16, 26, 50,62, 75) 

10. The duties performed by the SSA positions are such that make the holders of the 
position "public employees" within the meaning of § 4117.01 (C). (S.) 

11. All of the duties previously performed by Case Managers, Service Coordinators, and 
Service Coordinators lls are performed by the SSAs. Some of the duties are 
performed on an expanded basis. (T. 28, 40, 58, 70, 107-108) 

12. The only difference between the duties of the Case Managers, Service 
Coordinators, and Service Coordinator lls and the SSAs is that the SSAs no longer 
handle major unusual incidents. (T. 58) 

13. The pertinent CBA between the parties contained a section stating as follows: "if 
the official classification of any person presently performing all of the duties of any 
of the classifications referred to is changed, such new official classification shall be 
included in the bargaining unit." (T. 30-32; Jt. Exh. 2) 

14. The hours of work, days worked per week, work location, and supervisor for the 
SSA positions are the same as they were for the Case Managers, Service 
Coordinators, and Service Coordinator II positions. (T. 49, 63, 75-76) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Union filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit to have the position of 
Service and Support Administrator included in the existing bargaining unit. The purpose of 
a clarification petition is to determine whether a particular employee or group of employees 
is included in or excluded from an existing bargaining unit based upon the unit description 
and the duties performed by the employees in question. Rule 4117-5-01 (E)(2). See. e.g., 
In re Ohio State Troopers Assn, SERB 2000-003 (3-27-00); In re Shawnee State Univ, 
SERB 97-010 (6-30-97), affd in part. rev'd in part sub nom. Shawnee Ed Assn v SERB, 
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1999 SERB 4-16 (CP, Franklin, 9-27-99), aff'd 2000 SERB 4-33 (101
h Dist Ct App, Franklin, 

11-16-00) ("Shawnee"). 

Unit clarification does not alter the status quo, but rather maintains it. In re Ohio 
Council 8, AFSCME, SERB 95-021 (12-29-95). Because of this fact, the 101

h District Court 
of Appeals in Shawnee Ed Assn v SERB, 2000 SERB 4-33 (1 oth Dist Ct App, Franklin, 11-
16-00), distinguished a unilateral petition to change or alter a deemed-certified unit (i.e., a 
Petition for Amendment of Certification), which is prohibited, from a unilateral Petition for 
Clarification of Bargaining Unit, which is allowed. The court found that neither Ohio 
Council 8, AFSCME v. Cincinnati, 64 Ohio St.3d 677, 1994 SERB 4-37 (1994) ("OC8 & 
Cincinnati") nor State ex rel Brecksville Ed Assn v SERB, 74 Ohio St.3d 665, 1996 
SERB 4-1 ( 1996) dealt with petitions for clarification and as such, did not preclude 
unilateral petitions for clarification. Therefore, based upon the rationale in Shawnee Ed 
Assn, MEADD' s unilateral petition for clarification in this case is appropriately before 
SERB. 

The positions of Case Manager, Service Coordinator and Service Coordinator II 
have always been positions within the MEADD bargaining unit. Effective June 6, 2001, the 
Ohio General Assembly enacted § 5126.15, which provides in part at division (A) as 
follows: "Individuals employed or under contract as Service and Support Administrators 
shall not be in the same collective bargaining unit as employees who perform duties that 
are not administrative." Section 4117.06, which provides that SERB has the final right to 
designate a unit appropriate for bargaining and which prohibits the Board from finding units 
of a particular configuration to be an appropriate unit, was not amended. 

In July 2003, the Employer posted the position of SSA. The Employer required 
those persons holding the positions of Case Manager, Service Coordinator, and Service 
Coordinator II to bid on the SSA positions to maintain their employment. Persons holding 
the positions of Case Manager, Service Coordinator, and Service Coordinator II now hold 
the SSA positions. 

A. The bargaining unit is deemed certified. 

A threshold question posed by the Employer is whether the originally deemed
certified unit, which on two occasions has been amended by joint petitions for amendment 
of certification and subsequent SERB approval, remains a deemed-certified unit or became 
a Board-certified unit by virtue of the two approvals of joint petitions to amend. A joint 
Petition for Amendment of Certification was filed with SERB on August 9, 1990. The box on 
the form was checked indicating that the unit was deemed-certified. This petition sought to 
amend the unit to add the position of physical therapist. The Amendment of Certification 
issued by SERB on August 30, 1990, referred to the unit as being Board certified. 

A joint Petition for Amendment of Certification to add the positions of LPN, Service 
Coordinator II, and Dispatch Secretary to the existing unit was filed on September 24, 
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2001. The box checked on the joint petition form indicated that the unit was "board 
certified." The Board-certified designation was repeated in the Board's Amendment of 
Certification issued on October 18, 2001. 

The Employer cites no authority for any of the following: that the box checked on a 
petition controls the status of a bargaining unit, that a joint petition to amend a deemed
certified bargaining unit subsequently results in a Board-certified unit when that change is 
not an issue in dispute before the Board, and that the reference to a "board-certified" unit in 
an Amendment of Certification issued after a joint petition to amend a deemed-certified unit 
is anything other than a clerical error or, at worst, "dicta." The Employer has presented no 
authority to support the proposition that a deemed-certified unit loses its deemed-certified 
status once a joint petition to amend that deemed-certified unit has been approved by 
SERB, such as occurred in the instant case in 1990 and 2001. 

It makes no sense to suggest that an employee organization would lose its deemed
certified status by making a joint, agreed-upon request to add certain newly created 
positions to the bargaining unit. If an employee organization would lose its deemed
certified status by so doing, unions would be reluctant to agree to amend the composition 
of deemed-certified bargaining units. The resulting inflexibility would be contrary to the 
aim of Ohio's collective bargaining law to encourage orderly and cooperative resolution of 
disputes. A union should not have to choose between retaining its deemed-certified status 
(i.e., its protection against unilateral attack by an employer) and working cooperatively with 
an employer to add positions to a bargaining unit that both employer and union agree 
should be bargaining-unit positions. Furthermore, it is undisputed that there has been no 
challenge to MEADD's deemed-certified status by another employee organization. 
Therefore, the unit remains deemed certified. 

B. A deemed-certified bargaining unit cannot be altered by application of 
§ 5126.15(A). 

Section 4(A) of Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133, effective April 1, 1984 (140 Ohio Laws, Part I, 
367), states in part: "Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, an employee 
organization recognized as the exclusive representative shall be deemed certified until 
challenged by another employee organization under the provisions of this act and the State 
Employment Relations Board has certified an exclusive representative." Section (B) states: 
"Any employee organization otherwise recognized by the public employer without a written 
contract, agreement, or memorandum of understanding shall continue to be recognized 
until challenged as provided in this act, and the Board has certified an exclusive 
representative." 

The instant case deals with a unit that was deemed-certified under Sections 4(A) 
and 4(B) of Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133. Exclusive collective bargaining relationships that arose 
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before April 1, 1984, are "deemed certified" under Sections 4(A) and 4(B) of Am.Sub.S.B. 
No. 133, and neither the employer nor the Board has the power to grant or withhold 
recognition to the exclusive representative in such cases since the exclusive representative 
is already certified by the law itself. In re City of Bedford Heights, SERB 87-016 (7-24-87). 
Section 4(A) of Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133 essentially "grandfathers in" bargaining relationships 

in existence as of the effective date of Chapter 4117. These units are to be treated as if 
there had been a post-Act, Board-conducted and Board-certified election and the Board's 
designation of a bargaining agent. 

Section 4(A) states that an employee organization's deemed-certified status 
continues "until challenged by another employee organization." The composition of the unit 
and the exclusive bargaining relationship are protected from interference until the union 
negotiates it away, another union successfully challenges, or SERB alters the composition 
after a joint petition. State ex rel Brecksville Ed Assn v. SERB (1996), 74 Ohio St.3d 665, 
1996-0hio-310, 1996 SERB 4-1. It follows that a deemed-certified unit is also free from 
change by the legislature unless the legislature approaches such change by modifying 
SERB's jurisdictional enabling legislation. 

The Employer argues that § 5126.15 (A) controls the Board's resolution of the 
petition in this case. By its terms Section 5126.15(A) excludes SSAs from a bargaining unit 
that also contains employees who perform duties that are not administrative. 
Section 5126.15(A) is a legislative attempt to define the composition of a bargaining unit. 
Unit determination can be made only in two ways, through the collective bargaining 
grievance procedure, Ohio Council 8, Am. Fedn. of State, Cty. and Mun. Emp., AFL-CIO v. 
State Emp. Relations Bd. (2000), 88 Ohio St.3d 460, 2000-0hio-370, 2000 SERB 4-13, or 
by SERB's original, exclusive jurisdiction to do so under § 4117.06. Ohio Council 8, 
AFSCME v. City of Bucyrus, 1994 SERB 4-41 (10th Dist Ct App, Franklin, 6-16-94); 
Shawnee Ed Assn v. SERB, 2000 SERB 4-33(10th Dist Ct App, Franklin, 11-16-00). 

SERB does not have jurisdiction over the composition of deemed-certified 
bargaining units. An attempt to exercise jurisdiction was found to be invalid in OC8 & 
Cincinnati. In that case, an administrative rule of SERB gave the employer the right to 
challenge a deemed-certified unit when the enabling legislation restricted the challenge to 
a rival employee organization. The Court held that the administrative rule "is in clear 
conflict with Section 4(A) of Am. Sub. SB No. 133 and is, therefore, invalid." 
Section 5126.15(A) attempts to compromise the authority of SERB to determine the 
composition of a bargaining unit under§ 4117.06. Section 5126.15 does not place any 
restrictions or limits on Sections 4(A) and (B) of Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133. Consequently, 
§ 5126.15 cannot preclude SERB from granting a petition to clarify that the existing 
bargaining unit includes the SSAs because§ 5126.15 does not apply to the composition of 
deemed-certified bargaining units. 
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C. Article 1. §1.021 of the parties' collective bargaining agreement provides that 
the position of SSA shall be included in the bargaining unit. 

Parties have the ability to resolve bargaining-unit composition issues via their own 
collective bargaining agreements. Ohio Council 8, Am. Fedn. of State, Cty. and Mun. 
Emp., AFL-CIO v. State Emp. Relations Bd., supra, involved a collective bargaining 
agreement between a deemed-certified bargaining unit and the Employer. The parties' 
CBA called for employees in newly created, non-supervisory positions to become part of 
the bargaining unit if the position was generally similar to a position already in the 
bargaining unit. The CBA also contained a grievance procedure that culminated in 
arbitration. The grievance procedure was initiated, and the arbitrator resolved the dispute. 
Even in a deemed-certified unit, the Court found the collective bargaining agreement's 
grievance procedure to be an appropriate vehicle to resolve bargaining-unit composition 
issues. 

The same analysis is applicable here. Similar language exists in the MEADD and 
Employer's CBA effective from September 1, 2001 through August 31, 2004. 
Section 1.021 of the CBA provides as follows: "If the official classification of any person 
presently performing all of the duties of any of the classifications referred to is changed, 
such new official classification shall be included in the bargaining unit." Thus, the parties 
anticipated bargaining-unit composition issues and provided for resolution thereof in their 
CBA. 

D. The rules of statutory construction do not mandate that§ 5126.15 prevail. 

The Employer also cites the rules of statutory construction contained in§§ 1.51 and 
1.52 as support for the proposition that § 5126.15 prevails over Chapter 4117. 
Section 1.52(A) provides as follows: "If statutes enacted at the same or different sessions 
of the legislature are irreconcilable, the statute latest in date of enactment prevails." 
Section 1.51 provides as follows: 

If a general provision conflicts with a special or local provision, they shall be 
construed, if possible, so that effect is given to both. If the conflict between 
the provisions is irreconcilable, the special or local provision prevails as an 
exception to the general provision, unless the general provision is the later 
adoption and the manifest intent is that the general provision prevail. 

These rules of statutory construction do not dictate a contrary result. Section 1. 51 is on 
point. Under that statute, if a general provision conflicts with a special or local provision, 
the two provisions shall be construed, if possible, so that effect is given to both. In looking 
at §§ 4117 .06 and 5126.15 of the Ohio Revised Code and the uncodified law in 
Sections 4(A) and (B) of Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133, effect can be given to all of these 
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provisions by applying the uncodified law provisions to deemed-certified bargaining units 
and §§ 4117.06 and 5126.15 to Board-certified units. How the latter two statutory 
provisions may affect Board-certified units is not an issue in this case. Since the statutes 
are reconcilable, § 1.52 does not apply. 

E. The existing unit should be clarified to include the position of Service and 
Support Administrator. 

What is critical in this case is that the duties performed by Case Managers, Service 
Coordinators and Service Coordinator lls - and now by SSAs - have always been duties 
performed by the deemed-certified bargaining-unit. The position names have changed, but 
the duties have not. Section 5126.15(A) does not preclude the clarification petition, which 
does not alter or amend the existing bargaining-unit's composition. Therefore, the Petition 
for Clarification of Bargaining Unit should be granted to include the position of SSA within 
the existing deemed-certified bargaining unit. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Mahoning County Board of Retardation and Developmental Disabilities is a 
"public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities is an "employee 
organization" as defined by § 4117. O 1 (D) and is the deemed-certified exclusive 
representative of a bargaining unit of the Employer's employees. 

3. The existing deemed-certified bargaining unit should be clarified to include the 
position of Service and Support Administrator. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue a directive granting the Petition for 
Clarification of Bargaining Unit and clarifying the bargaining-unit's description 
accordingly. 
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v. 
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CASE NO. 04-ULP-03-0137 

KAY A. KINGSLEY 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On March 4, 2004, the Professionals Guild of Ohio ("Union") filed an unfair labor 
practice charge against Montgomery County Children's Services ("MCCS"), alleging that 
MCCS violated §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) 1 On September 30, 2004, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe 
that MCCS violated§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to bargain over the effects of 
medical plan changes. 

On December 29, 2004, a complaint was issued. On February 3, 2005, the Union 
filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). A 
hearing was held on February 10, 2005, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence 
was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether MCCS violated §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to bargain 
over the effects of medical plan changes. 

1All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. Montgomery County Children's Services is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(8). (S.) 

2. The Professionals Guild of Ohio is an "employee organization" as defined by 
§ 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive representative for bargaining units of MCCS's 
professional and non-professional employees. (S.) 

3. MCCS and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective from 
June 1, 2003 through May 31, 2006 ("CBA"), containing a grievance procedure that 
culminates in final and binding arbitration. (S. 5; Jt. Exh. 3) 

4. Article 27, Section 1 of the CBA provides as follows: 

All employees, except part-time (working twenty (20) hours or 
less per week), temporary, seasonal and intermittent 
employees, shall be entitled to participate in the County's 
group health insurance program in accordance with the Plan. 

This language has been included in each collective bargaining agreement between 
MCCS and the Union since 1989. Management negotiation notes from March 27, 
1992, reflect acknowledgement that both MCCS and the Union were required to 
"follow what the county does in terms of carriers and details associated with the 
coverage." (Jt. Exh. 4; T. 14-15, 45, 82-83) 

5. Article 27, Section 4 of the CBA provides as follows: "The benefits provided for 
herein shall be provided through group coverage selected by the County." (Jt. 
Exh. 4) 

6. The health insurance plan year for the County is July 1 through June 30. The 
Employee Benefits Manager, Human Resources Director, County's Director of 
Administrative Services, and the broker review bids to determine the insurance 
plans for the year. This group makes a recommendation to the County 

'All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T. ,"followed 
by the page number(s}. All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by 
"S." References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the Respondents Exhibits in the record are 
indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s}. References to the 
transcript and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not 
intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of 
Fact. 
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Administrator, who makes a recommendation to the Board of County 
Commissioners. The Board of Commissioners contracts for the health insurance 
and makes it available to MCCS and the other County employer entities. Because of 
the number of separate entities involved, the County has chosen to adopt a uniform 
health-care plan. Each year between May and June during open enrollment, the 
County provides information on the available plans. The employees make their 
choice in June, and coverage is effective July 1. An employee cannot switch plans 
again until open enrollment the following year. Although plans have changed 
previously on this annualized basis, this situation is the first instance of coverage 
changing after the Board of County Commissioners had approved a plan. (T. 7-8, 
43-44, 46-48, 54-57, 64) 

7. County employees currently have three options available to them pertaining to 
insurance coverage. They may choose United Health Care, Anthem, or no 
insurance. Anthem was the only insurance carrier that covered gastric-bypass 
procedures. (T. 7, 25-26) 

8. In May 2003, the County met with the Union and MCCS about changes in the 
health-care plan that would be effective July 1, 2003. No mention was made of 
changes in coverage of specific procedures. In April 2003, the County sent out a 
summary plan-description booklet for the Anthem Plan (effective July 1, 2003), 
which included gastric-bypass procedures. (Jt. Exh. 1; T. 9-10, 20-21) 

9. In December 2003, the County sent out a revised plan that indicated gastric-bypass 
procedures would no longer be covered effective July 1, 2003. (Jt. Exh. 3; T. 10-12) 

10. On January 26, 2004, the Union made a written demand to bargain the changes in 
the health insurance coverage. (Jt. Exh. 5; T. 12-13) 

11. The Union and MCCS met on March 5, 2004, to discuss changes in the health 
insurance. No bargaining occurred because initially MCCS told the Union that 
MCCS could not do anything about the changes. (T. 13) 

12. Subsequently, MCCS arranged for twelve employees who had started the process 
for the gastric-bypass procedures to continue with the process as though coverage 
still existed. (T. 23, 65-66) 

13. During negotiations for the current CBA the Union proposed language that 
would maintain a particular level of benefit, however it did not become part of 
the CBA. (T. 84-85) 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of 
the Revised Code***; 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of 

its employees recognized as the exclusive 
representative *** pursuant to Chapter 4117. of the 
Revised Code[.] 

The issue is whether MCCS violated §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it refused to 
bargain over the effects of health-care-plan changes. 3 Good-faith bargaining is determined 
by the totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). 
A circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. !!! 
re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

The Complainant cites In re Geauga County Sheriff, SERB 2004-001 (3-17-04) 
("Geauga County Sheriff'), in which the Sheriff argued unsuccessfully that it had no duty to 
bargain changes to the coverage that resulted in increased costs and reduced benefits 
because the Sheriff had no statutory authority to contract for health insurance. What 
distinguishes the cases is the language of the parties' collective bargaining agreements. In 
Geauga County Sheriff, the agreement required the employer to provide health benefits at 
a benefit level substantially comparable to or better than the existing coverage. The 
agreement gave the employer the right to change coverage or benefits only so long as the 
new coverage was substantially comparable to the existing coverage. 

In this case, the language of the CBA entitles employees to participate in the 
County's group health insurance in accordance with the plan. Neitherthe Union nor MCCS 
has control over the benefits provided in the plan. This language has been in the parties' 
collective bargaining agreements since 1989. The CBA further provides that the benefits 
provided shall be provided through group coverage selected by the County. The CBA does 
not guarantee any particular plan, level of benefits, or availability of particular procedures. 
The CBA simply does not require that the benefits be identical, comparable, or 
substantially similar to any existing level of benefits. The CBA guarantees the employee's 
right to participate in whatever health insurance program the County has. 

3 Section 4117.11 (A)(1) represents an alleged derivative violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(5) in this 
instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 26!3, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n. 14. 
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In essence, MCCS and the Union have agreed through the language of the CBA 
that the County has control over all matters relating to the provision of health insurance 
benefits for the term of the CBA. The matter was bargained during negotiations for the 
most recent CBA and for those agreements in existence since 1989. MCCS did not violate 
§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it refused to bargain over the effects of the health-care
plan changes because the requisite bargaining had taken place already during negotiations 
for the parties' CBA. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. Montgomery County Children's Services is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Professionals Guild of Ohio is an "employee organization" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(0). 

3. Montgomery County Children's Services did not violate§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) 
by refusing to bargain the effects of medical plan changes. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss with prejudice the unfair labor 
practice charge and the complaint. 
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OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on June 18, 2004, and the filing of 

exceptions to the Proposed Order by the Respondent, Twinsburg City School District Board 

of Education ("District"), and a response to the exceptions by the Intervenor, Twinsburg 

Support Staff Association, OEA/NEA ("Union"), and the Counsel for Complainant. For the 

reasons that follow, the Board finds that the District violated Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") 

§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it implemented its "last, best, and final" offer prior to 

reaching ultimate impasse. 

BACKGROUND 

The Union is the Board-certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the 

District's support staff personnel. The unit consists of approximately 200 employees. The 

District and the Union were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") effective 

January 1, 2000 to December 31, 2002. 
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In September 2002, the District's Superintendent, James Jones, discussed with the 

Union President, David Zeitlow, delaying the start of bargaining, both because of an 

ongoing tax levy campaign and to allow the District additional time to prepare its proposal. 

The tax levy passed. 

On November 12, 2002, the Union filed a Notice to Negotiate, pursuant to Ohio 

Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-02, seeking negotiation on a successor CBA. The Union 

agreed to delay the start of negotiations until November 25, 2002. The parties further 

agreed that the CBA would be extended until January 31, 2003, and that the District would 

postpone implementation of the health care rate increase during the contract extension 

period. 

The CBA provides as follows at Article 5, Section C: "All Association and Board 

proposals for discussion shall be presented in writing at the first meeting. Following the 

initial submission of issues, only counter proposals may be submitted." The initial District 

proposal did not include a proposal on health insurance, Article 30, Fringe Benefits. The 

Union's initial proposal contained proposed changes to Article 30. 

The Union's representative, Labor Relations Consultant Karen Gee, informed the 

District that its insurance proposal must be submitted at the first session and gave them an 

opportunity to do so. The District informed Ms. Gee that its insurance proposal was not 

ready. 

The initial session on November 25, 2002, lasted less than one hour and involved 

only the physical exchange of proposals. The previous CBA contained 37 substantive 

articles and an execution clause (Article 38). Neither party sought or proposed changes to 

21 of the 37 articles. 
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The parties held their next session on December 9, 2002, and it lasted 

approximately 2Yi hours. The District made a proposal, and the Union made a counter 

proposal. The District's proposal contained language modifying Article 30, Fringe Benefits. 

The Union informed the District that since the District's initial proposal had not contained 

proposed modifications to Article 30, the Union would not accept such a proposal now. 

The District told the Union that if the Union did not accept this proposal after the first 

session, then premiums would increase to the extent that no one would be able to afford 

coverage. The District had to contract for the new health insurance program it was 

proposing by June 1, 2003, or it would have to maintain the current health insurance 

program. 

The District made a counter proposal on the issue of multiple handicapped 

assistants. The District indicated that it was not interested in the Union's proposals on 

several issues. The parties signed off on a tentative agreement involving bus washing that 

modified the CBA to comport with current practice. 

The next session was tentatively scheduled for December 16, 2002, but it did not 

occur until January 7, 2003. The session lasted approximately 1 hour and 45 minutes. 

The Union's counter proposal and the initial proposals were all that were on the table. The 

District spent significant time discussing its position on insurance. 

The next session was held on January 15, 2003. Proposals and counter proposals 

were exchanged, and the District had Transportation Superintendent Mariola attend to help 

respond to transportation proposals. Before the session, Mr. Mariela had not seen either 

the District's or the Union's proposals on transportation issues. 

The next session was scheduled for January 21, 2003, but was rescheduled due to 

illness to January 27, 2003. The parties negotiated for approximately two hours. 
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The parties met on January 30, 2003, for approximately one-half hour. The District 

gave its proposal that included a modest wage increase and a modest increase in field-trip 

wage rates to the Union before the Union could give its proposal. Upon receipt of the 

District's proposal, Ms. Gee denounced the proposal and stated, "We're out of here." 

When asked, "Are you saying we're at impasse?" her response was, "We need to get a 

mediator in here." 

The parties met with the assistance of a mediator on February 25, 2003, March 13, 

2003, March 26, 2003, and April 7, 2003. The District presented its" last, best, and final" 

offer on April 7, 2003. On April 7, 2003, the mediator suggested to Ms. Gee that a financial 

research consultant from the Ohio Education Association review the finances of the District 

and make a presentation to the parties. A financial review session was set for May 27, 

2003. The consultant reviewed the District's finances and made a presentation on May 27, 

2003, to Union President Zietlow, Ms. Gee, the mediator, Assistant Superintendent 

Marlowe, and District Treasurer Aho. The consultant concluded that the Twinsburg District 

was financially sound and that it was one of the 20% of school districts in the state that do 

not receive parity aid. 

The District established and continued to contribute to a non-mandatory "rainy day" 

or reserve fund. Only one-third of the districts in the state maintain such a fund, and most 

are spending it down or at least not contributing to the fund. The District's reserve-fund 

balance in 2003 was $629,727.00. 

On May 29, 2003, after being notified by the District's legal counsel that a meeting 

had been scheduled for unilateral implementation, the Union proposed at a sidebar with 

the mediator and the District's counsel that if the District came down on the employee co

pays the Union would waive Section 5d of the CSA and allow the District to put its proposal 

for the new health insurance plan on the table. This Union offer was made despite the 

District's failure to include a health insurance provision in its initial proposal. The Union 
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also indicated to the District's counsel that it had movement available on all issues on the 

table. The District's counsel met with his team, refused the Union's offer, and referred the 

Union back to the District's last, best, and final offer. At a joint session the same day, the 

Union again indicated that it had movement on all issues on the table. The District again 

referred back to its last, best, and final offer. 

On May 30, 2003, the District unilaterally implemented its May 29, 2003 proposal. 

Implementation of the proposal was effective June 1, 2003. The new health insurance plan 

was effective July 1, 2003. 

On July 15, 2003 and August 26, 2003, the Union rejected the unilaterally 

implemented contract and requested dates to continue bargaining. During negotiations, 

the parties executed tentative agreements on the following articles: Article 18, Bus 

Washing; Article 20, Paychecks; and Article 25, Facilities and Supplies. 

DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 

• • • 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative ••• pursuant to 
Chapter4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The issue is whether the Employer engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by implementing its "last, best, and final" offer before 

reaching ultimate impasse. 1 O.R.C. § 4117.01(G) provides: 

1 O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) represents an alleged derivative violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(3) 
in this instance. Jn re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 26a SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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"To bargain collectively" means to perform the mutual obligation of the 
public employer, by its representatives and the representatives of its 
employees to negotiate in good faith at reasonable times and places with 
respect to wages, hours, terms and other conditions of employment and the 
continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective 
bargaining agreement, with the intention of reaching an agreement, or to 
resolve questions arising under the agreement. This includes executing a 
written contract incorporating the terms of any agreement reached. The 
obligation to bargain collectively does not mean that either party is compelled 
to agree to a proposal nor does it require the making of a concession. 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 

Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-6-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain, 

regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

An exhaustion of all efforts at good-faith bargaining must have occurred prior to the 

Employer declaring ultimate impasse and unilaterally deciding to implement its "last, best, 

and final" offer. In In re Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 90-003 (2-9-90) 

at 3-16, SERB discusses the concept of ultimate impasse. Ultimate impasse is a legal 

concept adopted from the private sector. The test developed by the NLRB as to whether 

ultimate impasse has been reached is reflected and approved in the case of American 

Federation of Television and Radio Artists (Taft Broadcasting Co.), 395 F. 2d 622, 628 

(D.C. Cir. 1968) ("Taft Broadcasting"), and appears to be whether there is "no realistic 

possibility that continuation of discussion at that time would have been fruitful." 

Under NLRB case law, the existence of an impasse is very much a question of fact, 

and many factors are considered in such factual determinations. "The bargaining history, 

the good faith of the parties in negotiations, the length of the negotiations, the importance 

of the issue or issues as to which there is disagreement, the contemporaneous 

understanding of the parties as to the state of negotiations are all relevant factors to be 

considered in deciding whether an impasse in bargaining exists. Taft Broadcasting Co., 
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163 NLRB 475, 478 (1967) aff'd sub nom. American Federation of Television and Radio 

Artists, 395 F.2d 622 (D.C. Cir. 1968) ("Taft Broadcasting"). 

In In re SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed, SERB 95-01 O (6-30-95), 

we held that an employer may implement its last, best offer when the parties have reached 

ultimate impasse in bargaining or when the employer has made good-faith attempts to 

bargain the matter before time constraints necessitated the implementation of its last, best 

offer. The Board described "ultimate impasse" as follows: 

Ultimate impasse is a legal concept adopted from the private sector. The test 
developed by the NLRB as to whether there is an ultimate impasse *** 
appears to be whether there is "no realistic possibility that continuation of 
discussion at that time would have been fruitful." Under NLRB case law the 
existence of an impasse is very much a question of fact, and many factors 
are considered in such factual determinations. ***Thus, an ultimate impasse 
is not a point in time which can be predetermined in theory. It is a case by 
case determination involving the development of a record with enough 
factual data to determine whether at what point good faith negotiations 
towards reaching an agreement have been exhausted. 

In re Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 90-003 (2-9-90) at p. 3-10 (citations 

omitted), aff'd sub nom. Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed v. SERB, 1990 SERB 4-

90 (CP, Montgomery, 10-1-90), aff'd 1991 SERB 4-81 (2d Dist Ct App, Montgomery, 8-15-

91). 

Under the "totality of the circumstances" test, the record does not support a finding 

that the parties had reached the point in their negotiations where they had exhausted good

faith negotiations. Instead, at all relevant times surrounding the District's unilateral 

implementation of its "last, best, and final" offer, the Union indicated it was ready, willing, 

and able to move on any remaining issues on the table. The Union's proposed movement 

included allowing the District to put its new insurance proposal on the table in return for a 

break on employee co-pays. This proposal was one that the Union believed was barred by 
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Section 5d of the CBA given the District's failure to include an insurance provision in its 

initial proposal. The District has not adequately explained why, given the Union's ability to 

move on all issues, the District believed the parties were at ultimate impasse, and the 

answer is not obvious from the record, either. Thus, the record reveals that the parties still 

had a realistic possibility that a continuation of discussion at that time would have been 

fruitful. 

"An environment for good faith bargaining can be compromised in a variety of ways." 

In re City of Twinsburg, SERB 87-011 at 3-39 (6-4-87). In In re Springfield Local School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-007 at 3-46 (5-1-97), we adopted the analysis of "surface 

bargaining" contained in Virginia Holding Corp., dba Hotel Roanoke, 293 NLRB 182, 132 

L.R.R.M. 119 (1989); Eastern Main Medical Center v. NLRB, 638 F. 2d 1, 108 L.R.R.M. 

2234, 2251 (1 51 Cir. 1981); NLRB v. General Electric Co., 418 F. 2d 736, 72 L.R.R.M. 2530 

(2d Cir. 1969), and NLRB v. Wright Motors, 603 F. 2d 604, 102 L.R.R.M. 2021 (ih Cir. 

1979). 

In the private sector, when a party is found to have used negotiation techniques to 

frustrate or avoid mutual agreement, that party is said to have engaged in "surface 

bargaining." A party is alleged to have engaged in surface bargaining based upon the 

totality of its conduct at or away from the bargaining table since intent to frustrate an 

agreement is rarely articulated. Virginia Holding Corp., dba Hotel Roanoke, supra. "More 

than in most areas of labor law, distinguishing hard bargaining from surface bargaining 

calls for sifting a complex array of facts, which taken in isolation may often be ambiguous." 

Eastern Main Medical Center v. NLRB, supra. "(l]f the Board is not to be blinded by empty 

talk and by the mere surface motions of collective bargaining, it must take some 

cognizance of the reasonableness of the positions taken by an employer in the course of 

bargaining negotiations." NLRB v. Reed & Prince Mfg. Co., 205 F.2d 131, 134, 32 

L.R.R.M. 2225 (1st Cir 1953), cert. denied, 346 U.S. 887, 74 S.Ct. 139, 33 L.R.R.M. 2133 

(1953). Although an employer may be willing to meet at length and confer with the Union, 
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the employer has refused to bargain in good faith if it merely goes through the "motions" of 

bargaining, such as where an employer offers a proposal that cannot be accepted, along 

with an inflexible attitude on major issues and no proposal of reasonable alternatives. 

Certain facts lead to an inescapable conclusion of surface bargaining on the part of 

the District. The District wished to delay the start of negotiations, but even after the delay 

did not have a proposal on insurance when insurance and wages were the two biggest 

areas of contention between the parties. The District was unwilling to agree to a health 

insurance committee with the Union prior to negotiations to make for more informed 

negotiation on that issue. At the initial session, the Union presented almost thirty proposals 

to the District. The District failed to participate in any meaningful discussion with regard to 

these proposals by responding "not interested" on many of them. The District refused to 

engage in any real give and take during the sessions. When asked by the Union about the 

rationale behind some of the District's own proposals, the answers were vague responses 

such as "we prefer it that way," which were not designed to stimulate further 

communication on the issues. 

The only tentative agreements executed were on relatively minor issues such as bus 

washing, paychecks, and facilities and supplies. These tentative agreements, far from 

breaking new ground, simply memorialized for purposes of the CBA what was actually 

taking place. The District insisted on having a session devoted primarily to obtaining 

information and input on transportation issues from its Transportation Superintendent, yet 

at that meeting, the Transportation Superintendent had not even reviewed any of either 

sides' transportation proposals. The District's witnesses were unable to provide clarification 

as to how the parties were at ultimate impasse. The Superintendent described the 

negotiations as "productive, meaningful, and beneficial" (T. 661-662), yet the result was a 

unilaterally implemented "last, best, and final" offer. 

The evidence presented in no way supports a finding that no realistic possibility 
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existed that continuing the discussion at that time would have been fruitful. Therefore, the 

parties were not at ultimate impasse, and as a result the District was not warranted in 

implementing its "last, best, and final" offer in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and 

(A)(5). 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds that the Twinsburg City School 

District Board of Education violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it 

implemented its "last, best, and final" offer prior to reaching ultimate impasse. An order 

shall be issued to the District requiring it to cease and desist from interfering with, 

restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed in O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117, and refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 

employees, by implementing its last, best offer prior to reaching ultimate impasse and from 

otherwise violating O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). The order shall also require the 

District to take the following actions: (1) return the bargaining-unit employees represented 

by the Union to the status quo as it existed before May 30, 2003, including reimbursing 

bargaining-unit employees for any losses incurred as a result of the unlawful unilateral 

implementation of changes to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment 

effective May 30, 2003; (2) bargain with the Union on all issues remaining on the table as 

of May 29, 2003; (3) post the Notice to Employees furnished by the Board for sixty days in 

all of the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining unit employees represented 

by the Union work; and (4) notify the Board in writing within twenty calendar days from the 

date the order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Verich, Board Member, concurs. 
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OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

On July 30, 2004, the American Association of University Professors, Kent State 

University Chapter ("the AAUP") filed an unfair labor practice charge against Kent State 

University ("the University"). On November 5, 2004, the State Employment Relations 

Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the University 

violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to 

bargain in good faith with respect to the distribution of licensing and royalty income. For 

the reasons below, we find that the University did not commit an unfair labor practice 

when it refused the AAUP's demand to bargain over patent income distribution in 

negotiations for the parties' successor collective bargaining agreement. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The University is a state-funded, public institution of higher learning with its main 

campus in Kent, Ohio. The AAUP is the deemed-certified exclusive representative for a 

bargaining unit of the University's full-time tenure track faculty. The University and the 

AAUP were parties to a collective bargaining agreement covering the period of 
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September 16, 2001 through September 16, 2004 ("CBA"). At all relevant times, the 

University and the AAUP were negotiating a successor agreement to the CBA. 

Article XVIII of the CBA, "Intellectual Property Rights," provides in Section 1, "Scope," 

as follows: 

This Article sets forth the rights and obligations of the parties hereto as to 
intellectual property rights of the University and the Faculty, such rights to 
include, but not be limited to, rights in intellectual property that can be 
copyrighted. The conditions of this Article exist within the context of, and 
are not intended to contravene, applicable federal or state statute or 
regulations, including but not limited to Section 201 (b) of the Copyright 
Revision Act of 1976 and Ohio Revised Code Section 3345.14, and extant 
University policy and established procedures. Works subject to trademark 
or patent registration as defined in University Policy 5-10, as in effect 
January 1, 1999, are explicitly excluded from the provisions of this Article. 

The University's three key missions are research, education, and public service. 

Its faculty, staff, and students engage in basic and applied research to further their 

knowledge in their respective academic disciplines. The faculty and staff are paid a 

regular salary for the performance of their regular duties and responsibilities, which is 

not conditioned on, or measured by, the extent to which any research conducted by the 

faculty or staff member culminates in an invention that the University patents and 

licenses to third parties. 

A full-time, tenure-track, faculty member's regular duties and responsibilities 

include actively pursuing research and engaging in scholarly pursuits and/or creative 

activity. Under O.R.C. § 3345.14, the University possesses exclusive ownership rights 

to, and control over, any invention by a faculty member, any patent that may result from 

such invention, and any income derived from such patent, including all license income, 

if the invention arises in the course of the faculty member's work for the University or is 

the result of the faculty member's use of University facilities. 

The Board of Trustees for the University has adopted policies regarding patents, 

including University Policy Nos. 3342-5-10 and 3342-5-11. The University has the 
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responsibility - economic and otherwise - to protect such inventions by applying for 

patents and otherwise safeguarding the inventions, including patent prosecution. The 

University's Office of Technology Transfer and Economic Development ("OTT") 

oversees the patenting of faculty, staff, and student inventions. on is responsible for 

coordinating efforts to identify and protect the University's intellectual property rights. 

The University employs approximately 1,000 faculty members. Thirty-four 

different faculty members have disclosed an aggregate of 183 inventions since 1984. 

The University has obtained a total of 62 United States patents on the inventions of a 

total of 16 different faculty members. The University has formulated an "Invention 

Disclosure Form" to be completed by faculty members and submitted to on upon the 

creation of a claimed invention. After OTT receives an invention disclosure form, the 

University Patent and Copyright Board decides whether to apply for a patent for the 

invention. 

If the University Patent and Copyright Board decides to seek a patent, the 

University obtains outside patent counsel at University expense. If the University 

obtains a patent, it has the exclusive right to license the patent through licensing 

agreements with third parties. On markets the patent to interested companies. No 

guarantee exists that any patent obtained by the University will be licensed to any third 

party. The development of a licensing agreement is a function of several factors, 

including the nature of the invention covered by the patent, the market demand for the 

use of the patented invention, the ability of the licensee to compensate the University for 

use of the University's intellectual property, and the perceived commercial value of the 

intended use of the patented invention. 

Through licensing agreements, third parties are granted the right to use the 

University's patented inventions in exchange for certain consideration. Typically, the 

consideration consists of cash payments in the form of upfront fees, yearly minimum 

fees, and running royalties. Upfront fees are fees paid when a license agreement is 
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executed. Running royalties are received if and when a company produces a 

commercial product that is introduced into the marketplace. The extent and nature of 

these payments are determined and controlled solely by the terms of the license 

agreements that are negotiated by University representatives and the third party. 

The time from disclosure of an invention to the receipt of a patent is 

approximately three years. It then takes three or more years from the time a patent is 

obtained to the time the University receives any income from the licensing of the patent. 

The University's portfolio currently includes 21 licensing agreements. From 1988 to 

2004, the University received approximately $7,466,000 in patent income from its 

licensing agreements. 

The AAUP does not have any role in negotiating a licensing agreement on behalf 

of the University. On occasion, the University will consult with bargaining-unit members 

regarding potential licensees and technical aspects of the patents to be licensed. 

Neither the AAUP nor any faculty member that is listed as an "inventor" on an Invention 

Disclosure Form or a patent obtained by the University ever has been a signatory to any 

license agreement covering any of the University's patents. 

In 1988, the University developed and implemented its Patent Income Guidelines 

("the Guidelines"). The purposes of the Guidelines are to promote continuing research, 

to share income with inventors, and to recover a portion of research and patenting 

expenses. According to the Guidelines, a percentage of the patent income is distributed 

to faculty members who are "inventors": 40 percent is distributed to the inventor, 

15 percent to the inventor's University research unit, 15 percent to the University 

general fund, and 30 percent to the Research and Graduate Studies Department 

("RAGS"). 

Commercialization of research is increasingly an important part of what potential 

faculty members seek in their employment. The University structured the Guidelines to 
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be generous to inventors. A share of 40 percent of patent income is within the upper 

range. Among research universities, the distribution range for patent income to 

inventors is between 25 and 50 percent. 

The income received from licensing the University's patents supports the 

University's mission to promote and maintain its research programs. RAGS promotes 

research and administers the University's graduate studies programs. OTT is an office 

within RAGS. Currently, 100 percent of OTT's budget is funded through patent income. 

Patent income also supports research by providing seed money for new projects, 

providing funds for equipment and infrastructure, providing funds to hire adjunct faculty 

to fill teaching duties so that full-time faculty members can devote more time to 

research, and providing funds to send faculty and students to research seminars and 

conferences. The University also receives federally funded grants to partially support its 

research programs. 

Distributions of license income are made to "inventors" pursuant to the 

Guidelines only if and when such income is obtained by the University from the third 

party pursuant to a license agreement. Distributions of license income are necessarily 

dependent upon several conditions that are beyond the University's and the inventor's 

control, such as the licensee's financial well-being and the commercial viability of the 

third party's product in which the invention is used. When distributions of license 

income are made by the University to an inventor, the University provides the inventor 

with an l.R.S. Form 1099-MISC for any license income paid out to the faculty 

member/inventor for that tax year. 

When the Guidelines were implemented in 1988, the University and the AAUP 

were parties to a collective bargaining agreement covering the period of September 16, 

1987 through September 16, 1990. At that time, the AAUP did not request that the 

University bargain the decision to create or implement the Guidelines. The AAUP also 

did not file any grievance protesting the creation or implementation of the Guidelines. 
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In 2003, the University notified the AAUP of its intent to revise and codify its 

procedures relating to the distribution of license income. The notification was, in part, a 

response to a grievance filed on behalf of a University professor, who was also a 

bargaining-unit member, concerning the application of the Guidelines to a license 

relating to an invention he created. The professor claimed that he had not received any 

income owed to him under the Guidelines based on a licensing agreement; the 

University disputed the claim. Ultimately, the parties resolved the grievance through a 

settlement agreement. The settlement agreement provided in part: "The University 

further agrees to codify its procedures relating to the distribution of licensing fees and 

royalty income. * * * The Union will be given the opportunity to review and comment on 

a draft policy prior to its submission to the governance process." 

In order to codify a University policy as a part of the University's policy register, 

the policy must be approved by the Board of Trustees. Any University policy that 

directly affects the educational mission of the University is reviewed and considered by 

the appropriate governing bodies, including the Faculty Senate. The University's 

proposed revisions to the Guidelines are embodied in a Proposed University Policy. 

On October 2, 2003, the AAUP sent a letter to the University demanding to 

bargain over the Proposed University Policy. On November 3, 2003, the AAUP 

representatives and University officials met informally concerning the AAUP's demand 

to bargain. By a letter dated November 19, 2003, the University rejected the AAUP's 

demand to bargain the terms of the Proposed University Policy. On December 9, 2003, 

the AAUP filed a grievance under the collective bargaining agreement based upon the 

University's decision not to bargain over the Proposed University Policy. 

On May 6, 2004, the AAUP filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB and served the 

University, seeking to negotiate a successor collective bargaining agreement. During 

negotiations for the successor collective bargaining agreement on May 28, 2004, and 
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July 23, 2004, the AAUP made a formal request to the University to bargain over issues 

relating to the distribution of licensing income the University receives from the licensing 

agreements covering its patents, including bargaining over the terms of the Guidelines. 

The University's chief negotiator advised the AAUP that the University would not 

bargain with the AAUP on those issues. On July 30, 2004, the AAUP filed the ULP 

charge in this matter relating to the University's refusal to bargain. 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 
of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code • • *; 

• • • 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative • • • pursuant to 
Chapter4117. of the Revised Code[.) 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. The duty 

to bargain does not compel either party to agree to a proposal or require either party to 

make a concession. A circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective 

good faith, is unlawful. Hard bargaining, however, is not bad-faith bargaining. In re 

Springfield Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-007 (5-1-97) ("Springfield'), at 3-46. 

A. Neither the Bayh-Dole Act nor O.R.C. § 3345.14 Preempt the Application of 
O.R.C. Chapter 4117 to the Facts of this Case 

The federal Bayh-Dole Act, in 35 U.S.C. § 202(c)(7)(B), requires that any funding 

agreement providing federal funds for university research contain appropriate provisions 

to effectuate "a requirement that the contractor share royalties with the inventor." 

35 U.S.C. § 202(c)(7)(C) requires a university to utilize the balance of any royalties or 

income earned from the inventions for the support of scientific research or education. 
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O.R.C. § 3345.14 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) As used in this section, "state college or university" means 
any state university or college defined in division (A)(1) of section 3345.12 
of the Revised Code, and any other institution of higher education defined 
in division (A)(2) of that section. 

(B) All rights to and interests in discoveries, inventions, or 
patents which result from research or investigation conducted in any 
experiment station, bureau, laboratory, research facility, or other facility of 
any state college or university, or by employees of any state college or 
university acting within the scope of their employment or with funding, 
equipment, or infrastructure provided by or through any state college or 
university, shall be the sole property of that college or university. No 
person, firm, association, corporation, or governmental agency which uses 
the facilities of such college or university in connection with such research 
or investigation and no faculty member, employee, or student of such 
college or university participating in or making such discoveries or 
inventions, shall have any rights to or interests in such discoveries or 
inventions, including income therefrom, except as may, by determination 
of the board of trustees of such college or university, be assigned, 
licensed, transferred, or paid to such persons or entities in accordance 
with division (C) of this section or in accordance with rules adopted under 
division (D) of this section. 

(C) As may be determined from time to time by the board of 
trustees of any state college or university, the college or university may 
retain, assign, license, transfer, sell, or otherwise dispose of, in whole or in 
part and upon such terms as the board of trustees may direct, any and all 
rights to, interests in, or income from any such discoveries, inventions, or 
patents which the college or university owns or may acquire. Such 
dispositions may be to any individual, firm, association, corporation, or 
governmental agency, or to any faculty member, employee, or student of 
the college or university as the board of trustees may direct. Any and all 
income or proceeds derived or retained from such dispositions shall be 
applied to the general or special use of the college or university as 
determined by the board of trustees of such college or university. 

O.R.C. § 4117.10 provides in relevant part: 

Except for sections 306.08, 306.12, 306.35, and 4981.22 of the 
Revised Code and arrangements entered into thereunder, and 
section 4981.21 of the Revised Code as necessary to comply with 
section 13(c) of the "Urban Mass Transportation Act of 1964," 87 Stat. 
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295, 49 U.S.C.A. 1609(c), as amended, and arrangements entered into 
thereunder, this chapter prevails over any and all other conflicting laws, 
resolutions, provisions, present or future, except as otherwise specified in 
this chapter or as otherwise specified by the general assembly. 

The University argues that a requirement that it collectively bargain an 

agreement with the AAUP on the distribution of patent income to bargaining-unit 

member inventors would contravene the Bayh-Dole Act and O.R.C. § 3345.14, which 

the University argues are controlling. A requirement to bargain collectively is not 

inconsistent or in conflict with either the Bayh-Dole Act or O.R.C. § 3345.14. In 

addition, O.R.C. Chapter 4117, pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.10, would prevail over 

O.R.C. § 3345.14 if the provisions were in conflict. 

The Bayh-Dole Act, in 35 U.S.C. § 202(c)(7)(B), requires universities receiving 

federal funding for research projects that result in patented inventions to share patent 

royalties with inventors. The University has cited no provision of the Bayh-Dole Act that 

places restrictions or a stipulation on the method by which such sharing is to be 

accomplished. A collectively bargained provision describing how such income will be 

shared with faculty member inventors presents no conflict with the Bayh-Dole Act. The 

application of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 is not preempted by the Bayh-Dole Act. 

The University next argues that O.R.C. § 3345.14 gives the University unfettered 

discretion over the disposition of its patent rights, and that an obligation to negotiate 

with the AAUP over the distribution of patent income would conflict with this unfettered 

discretion. O.R.C. § 3345.14 specifies that no faculty member of a college or university 

"participating in or making such discoveries or inventions, shall have any rights to or 

interests in such discoveries or inventions, including income therefrom, except as may, 

by determination of the board of trustees of such college or university, be assigned, 

licensed, transferred, or paid to such persons or entities" in accordance with O.R.C. 

§ 3345.14(C). 
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O.R.C. § 3345.14 contemplates that a university board of trustees may enter into 

various contractual relationships, each having as their subject matter the university

owned inventions and patents. The licensing agreements the University enters into with 

third parties are examples of such contracts. The proviso in O.R.C. § 3345.14 that 

patent rights may be licensed "upon such terms as the board of trustees may direct" 

(emphasis added) does not preclude contract negotiations from occurring among the 

University and potential third-party licensees. Indeed, the parties stipulate that 

University representatives negotiate the terms of license agreements with third parties. 

Similarly, under O.R.C. Chapter4117, a university board of trustees acts to accept or 

reject a proposed collective bargaining agreement after its designated representative 

has completed the collective bargaining negotiations process. O.R.C. §§ 4117.1 O(B) 

and (C). 

The University asserts that it has absolute discretion over its inventions, patents, 

and license incomes under the Bayh-Dole Act and O.R.C. § 3345.14. In its post

hearing brief, it pointed out that this issue is a case of first impression in Ohio and cited 

a recent Kansas case dealing with the same issue. In that case, Pittsburg State 

Univ./Kansas Nat'/ Educ. Ass'n v. Kansas Bd of Regents/Pittsburg State Univ., 101 P.3d 

740 (Kan. App. 2004), the employee organization took the position that intellectual 

property rights themselves, not royalty income from those rights, were subject to 

mandatory collective bargaining. The appellate court held that the Copyright Act of 

1976, 17 U.S.C. § 201 vested ownership and control of faculty-created intellectual 

property in the university as employer. The court further held that requiring collective 

bargaining over ownership and control of intellectual property conflicted with and was 

pre-empted by federal law. The court also noted that the applicable Kansas statutory 

provision [K.S.A. 75-4330(a)] expressly provides that "mandatorily negotiable conditions 

of employment are further limited if the subject matter of the conditions are preempted 

by federal or state law." 
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On appeal, the Kansas Supreme Court reversed in part the appellate court's 

decision. In Pittsburg State University v. Kansas Bd of Regents, 122 P.3d 336, 178 

L.R.R.M. 2521 (2005), the court concluded that "neither state nor federal law preempts 

the subject of ownership of intellectual property from being included within the scope of 

a memorandum of understanding. Therefore, the subject of the ownership of 

intellectual property is not 'preempted' within the meaning of K.S.A 75-430(A)(1)," the 

applicable provision of Kansas' Public Employer-Employee Relations Act The court 

then remanded the case to determine whether ownership of intellectual property is a 

condition of employment 

In the case before us, the AAUP does not seek to establish ownership rights. 

Instead, it seeks to negotiate only over the distribution of patent income, and the Bayh

Dole Act expressly requires the University to share such income with inventors. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.10 provides that except for certain statutory provisions not relevant to this case, 

"this chapter prevails over any and all other conflicting laws, resolutions, provisions, 

present or future, except as otherwise specified in this chapter or as otherwise specified 

by the general assembly." Even if we interpret O.R.C. § 3345.14 as giving the 

University sole discretion both to decide whether patent income will be distributed 

(decision bargaining) and to develop the terms on which patent income is distributed 

(effects bargaining, which is what the AAUP seeks in this case), O.R.C. Chapter 4117 

prevails over O.R.C. § 3345.14. Therefore, the analysis must next turn to an 

examination of whether, under O.R.C. Chapter 4117, the University is required to 

bargain in good faith with respect to the distribution of patent income. 

B. The AAUP Did Not Waive Its Right to Bargain over the Issue during 
Negotiations for a Successor Collective Bargaining Agreement 

The University cites several provisions in the now-expired CBA as evidence that 

the AAUP waived its right to bargain over patent income distribution. With respect to 

midterm bargaining on this issue, the CBA reflects the parties' agreement that no 

midterm bargaining was required on the Proposed University Policy. In Article 18, the 

University and the AAUP expressly agreed to exclude works subject to patent 
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registration from the CBA. Article 16, § 3 provides, in part, "that any discontinuance or 

modification of a practice, policy, pronouncement or benefit that affects Faculty and 

which is not set forth in this Agreement, will be developed and implemented only with 

due consultation and advice of appropriate Faculty bodies." (Emphasis added.) 

Article 3 provides that "it is understood and agreed that, except where expressly stated 

in this Agreement, nothing contained herein shall in any way limit the [University's] right 

to adopt new or modify or terminate existing policies, rules, regulations, and procedures 

in furtherance of its statutorily mandated authorities and responsibilities." Finally, 

Article 21, § 4 provides: "The parties by this Agreement have set forth their entire 

understanding on all matters which are or may properly be subject to collective 

bargaining." These provisions demonstrate the parties' agreement that no bargaining 

was required on University policies related to patent income during the term of the CBA. 

The settlement agreement that resolved the professor's grievance was signed in 

January 2002, was also within the term of the CBA. The settlement agreement 

provided in paragraph 1.C. as follows: 

The University further agrees to codify its procedures relating to the 
distribution of licensing fees and royalty income. Such policy (or policies) 
will be subject to review by the appropriate academic and administrative 
bodies, including the Patent and Copyright Board and Faculty Senate, and 
will be taken to the Board of Trustees for approval and incorporated in the 
University Policy Register. The Union will be given the opportunity to 
review and comment on a draft policy prior to its submission to the 
governance process. (Emphasis added.) 

From the record, it does not appear that the process contemplated by 

paragraph 1.C. was completed. In 2003, the University provided a proposed new policy 

on "Distribution of License Income from Inventions" to the AAUP Chapter President and 

to the Faculty Senate. In response, the AAUP formally demanded to bargain the terms 

and impact of the proposed policy. The University rejected the AAUP's demand. The 

AAUP filed a ULP charge, which SERB dismissed as premature because the Proposed 

University Policy was being considered but had not been implemented. 
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The basis for this ULP charge and complaint, however, involves negotiations for 

the successor collective bargaining agreement. On May 28 and July 23, 2004, during 

negotiations for the successor collective bargaining agreement, the AAUP made a 

formal request to the University to bargain over issues relating to the distribution of 

license income the University receives from the licensing agreements covering its 

patents, including bargaining over the terms of the Guidelines. The University's chief 

negotiator advised the AAUP that the University would not bargain with the AAUP on 

those issues. The AAUP then filed the ULP charge in this matter. 

The University asserts that the AAUP either "slept on its rights" or waived its right 

to request bargaining over patent income distribution in the context of negotiations for 

the successor collective bargaining agreement. The University cites the grievance 

settlement agreement, the expired CBA, and the length of time the unilaterally 

promulgated policies and procedures have existed - approximately 16 years at the 

time negotiations for the successor collective bargaining agreement began. The 

Proposed University Policy contemplated by paragraph 1.C. of the grievance settlement 

agreement was submitted to the AAUP during the term of the CBA. Paragraph 1.C. of 

the settlement agreement reflects the procedure contemplated in Article 16, § 3 of the 

CBA for midterm revisions of policies and practices not set forth in the CBA. In the 

CBA, the AAUP agreed that bargaining such matters was not required during the CBA's 

term. 

The present issue involves the AAUP's request to negotiate a new provision in 

the successor collective bargaining agreement. The waiver of a statutory right to 

bargain must be established by clear and unmistakable action by the waiving party. 

Metropolitan Edison Co. v. NLRB, 460 U.S. 693 (1983); In re SERB v. Youngstown City 

School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 95-010 (6-30-95) ("Youngstown") at 3-81. If the exclusive 

representative states that it does not wish to bargain collectively or does not request to 

bargain collectively within a reasonable period of time, then it will be found to have 
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waived its rights. What constitutes a reasonable time to request to bargain collectively 

will depend upon the facts and circumstances in each case. Id. 

On the facts of this case, the AAUP not only did not waive its right to request 

bargaining during negotiations for the successor collective bargaining agreement, it 

exercised its right on May 28, 2004, and July 23, 2004. Therefore, the AAUP's conduct 

over the past 16 years did not constitute a waiver or relinquishment of its right to 

demand to bargain over this issue in the context of negotiations for a successor 

collective bargaining agreement. 

C. Application of Youngstown Balancing Test 

Unless otherwise provided, public employers maintain the authority to determine 

matters of inherent managerial policy as outlined in O.R.C. § 4117.0S(C). They are 

required, however, to bargain with an exclusive representative on all matters relating to 

wages. hours. or terms and other conditions of employment under O.R.C. § 4117.08(A). 

Thus, if a given subject involves the exercise of inherent managerial discretion and also 

materially affects any of these factors, a balancing test must be applied to determine 

whether the subject is a mandatory or permissive subject of bargaining. Youngstown, 

supra. Those management decisions that are found, on balance, to be mandatory 

subjects must be bargained before implementation, upon notice by the employer and a 

timely request by the employee organization, except where emergency situations render 

prior bargaining impossible. Id. 

The aim of O.R.C. Chapter4117 is not realized by requiring bargaining over 

every management decision that affects employees' working conditions. Id at 3-76 - 3-

77. Therefore, we adopted the balancing test in Youngstown for determining whether 

subjects of bargaining are mandatory or permissive when tension between O.R.C. 

§ 4117.0S(A) and O.R.C. § 4117.0S(C) exists, as mentioned above. Under this test, the 

following factors must be balanced: 
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1) The extent to which the subject is logically and reasonably 
related to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment; 

2) The extent to which the employer's obligation to negotiate 
may significantly abridge its freedom to exercise those managerial 
prerogatives set forth in and anticipated by O.R.C. § 4117.0B(C), including 
an examination of the type of employer involved and whether inherent 
discretion on the subject matter at issue is necessary to achieve the 
employer's essential mission and its obligations to the general public; and 

3) The extent to which the mediatory influence of collective 
bargaining and, when necessary, any impasse resolution mechanisms 
available to the parties are the appropriate means of resolving conflicts 
over the subject matter. 

Because the University has cited matters of inherent managerial policy involved in the 

distribution of patent income, and the distribution of patent income relates to wages, 

hours, or terms and other conditions of employment, applying the balancing test is 

appropriate. 

The first prong of the Youngstown balancing test is the extent to which the 

distribution of patent income is logically and reasonably related to wages, hours, and 

terms and conditions of employment The University argues that the patent income 

distributions are not wages. The University argues that research is a job duty of faculty 

members and that, therefore, their regular salary already compensates them for this 

work. But University Policy No. 3342-5-10 states that one of its purposes is "(t]o provide 

appropriate compensation in accordance with the University policy on distribution of 

license and royalty income, for university faculty, students, and staff who invent" 

The National Labor Relations Board and the United States Supreme Court have 

found that analogous forms of "additional" compensation are part of employee wages. 

Oneita Knitting Mills, Inc., 204 NLRB 500 (1973) (implementation of merit increase 

program subject to mandatory bargaining); NLRB v. Citizens of Tel Co., 326 F.2d 501 

(51
h Cir. 1964) (Christmas bonuses constitute wages); NLRB v. Katz, 296 U.S. 736 

(1962) (merit increases subject to mandatory bargaining). The distribution of patent 

income is a term or condition of employment It is only because of the inventor's status 

as a University employee that the inventor is eligible to receive a distribution of patent 
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income under the policy. Finally, the University's own witness testified at hearing that 

the opportunity to receive patent-income distributions is an aspect of employment that 

may attract faculty to the University. The AAUP is correct that patent income 

distributions relate to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment. 

The University also argues that the distribution of patent income bears no 

relationship to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment because 

relatively few bargaining-unit members receive patent income distributions. The 

University cites In re Cleveland Heights-University Heights Bd of Ed, SERB 97-005 (3-6-

97) ("Cleveland Heights"), in support of its argument that the AAUP's interest in 

bargaining patent income distribution issues is de minimis. The focus of our concern in 

Cleveland Heights was not the number or percentage of bargaining-unit members 

affected by the non-bargained change, but rather with the impact of the change on 

those bargaining-unit members who were affected. In Cleveland Heights, the school 

board required guidance counselors, who were a small number of bargaining-unit 

members, to fill out additional paperwork related to Medicaid reimbursements. In 

finding the change to be de minimis, we did not mention, and were not concerned with, 

the number of bargaining-unit members affected; instead, we cited the fact that the 

additional paperwork took each affected bargaining-unit member only a few additional 

minutes each year to complete. 

In this case, the additional income received by those bargaining-unit members 

who receive patent income is significant. Dr. Kumar received patent income 

distributions of $16,232.14 and $1,875.00 in 2002 and 2003, respectively. It cannot be 

argued that these amounts of money are insignificant to a bargaining-unit member. But 

in determining the strength of the AAUP's interest under the first prong, it is significant 

to note that the invention by the faculty member is only the beginning of a lengthy 

process that involves University representatives, University patent counsel, and third 

party licensees, which may or may not lead, several years later, to the receipt of patent 

income. 
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The second prong of the Youngstown balancing test is the extent to which the 

employer's obligation to negotiate may significantly abridge its freedom to exercise 

those managerial prerogatives set forth in and anticipated by O.R.C. § 4117.0S(C), 

including an examination of the type of employer involved and whether inherent 

discretion on the subject matter at issue is necessary to achieve the employer's 

essential mission and its obligations to the general public. One of the University's three 

key missions is research. In fulfilling this mission, the University endeavors to promote 

and maintain its research programs. The income received from licensing the 

University's patents supports the University's research mission. The purposes of the 

University's Patent Income Guidelines are to promote continuing research, to share 

income with inventors, and to recover a portion of research and patenting expenses. 

Under the Guidelines, 40 percent of patent income is distributed to the inventor, 

15 percent to the inventor's University research unit, 15 percent to the University 

general fund, and 30 percent to the Research and Graduate Studies Department 

("RAGS"). RAGS promotes research and administers the University's graduate studies 

programs. OTT is an office within RAGS. Currently, 100 percent of OTT's budget is 

funded through patent income. Patent income also supports research by providing 

seed money for new projects, providing funds for equipment and infrastructure, 

providing funds to hire adjunct faculty to fill teaching duties so that full-time faculty 

members can devote more time to research, and providing funds to send faculty and 

students to research seminars and conferences. The Guidelines, therefore, involve 

management rights to determine the functions and programs of the University, to utilize 

technology, and to take actions to carry out the University's mission. In emphasizing its 

need for discretion in this area, the University points to the real issues in Ohio related to 

the availability of, and frequent changes in, public funding of higher education, and the 

University's need to have flexibility to devote patent income to areas of greatest need in 

furthering its research mission. The University has a strong interest in this prong. 
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The third prong of the Youngstown balancing test is the extent to which the 

mediatory influence of collective bargaining and, when necessary, any impasse 

resolution mechanisms available to the parties are the appropriate means of resolving 

conflicts over the subject matter. Under the third prong of the test, the parties have 

operated since 1988 under the Guidelines implemented by the University. The 

University has demonstrated a thorough knowledge of the patenting and licensing 

process, as well as an awareness of its income-sharing practices and how they 

compare with those of other research universities. 

The participatory governance structure in place at the University, including the 

University Patent and Copyright Board and the Faculty Senate, provides ample 

opportunity for the parties to discuss and address areas of concern regarding the 

Guidelines, while allowing the University to exercise the managerial discretion 

necessary to further its research mission. While the AAUP asserts that collective 

bargaining is necessary to address issues such as notification to faculty members when 

their inventions are licensed, the University already has agreed to notify faculty 

inventors, on an ongoing basis, when their inventions are licensed, and to inform faculty 

recipients of income distributions that an accounting of such income is available upon 

written request. The mediatory influence of collective bargaining is not necessary to 

resolve conflicts over this subject matter. 

Balancing the three prongs, the AAUP's interest under the first prong is 

moderate, while the University's interest under the second and third prongs is strong. 

Under the facts of this case, we conclude that patent income distribution is a 

permissive, rather than mandatory, subject of collective bargaining. Although the 

University may, at some future time, choose to bargain over patent income distribution, 

the University did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it refused the 

AAUP's demand to bargain over patent income distribution in negotiations for the 

parties' successor collective bargaining agreement. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that Kent State University did not 

violate Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it refused to bargain over 

the distribution of licensing and royalty income. The complaint is dismissed, and the 

unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

Verich, Board Member, concurs. 
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On August 16, 2004, the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council Inc., filed two 
Requests for Recognition under Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.05(A)(2) 1 seeking to represent 
two proposed bargaining units of employees of the Village of Granville ("Village"). On 
September 1, 2004, the Village filed objections and a Petition for Representation Election 
in response to each Request for Recognition, asserting, in part, that the Village of Granville 
is not a "public employer" under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117. 

On March 3, 2005, after a preliminary investigation, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB") consolidated the cases and directed that a hearing be held to determine 
whether the Village of Granville is a public employer and for all other relevant issues. On 
May 24, June 14, and October 21, 2005, the parties filed joint stipulations of fact and joint 
exhibits and agreed to submit the cases for decision upon the joint submissions. Both 
parties filed simultaneous legal briefs and supplemental legal briefs as allowed by the 
Administrative Law Judge in accordance with Rule 4117-1-11. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Whether the original Census 2000 population count of 3, 167 or the 
corrected Census 2000 population count of 5,098 is the population of 
the Village of Granville according to the "most recent federal 
decennial census." 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references to 
administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 



SERB OPINION 2006-002 
Case Nos. 2004-REP-08-0140 & 2004-REP-08-0141 
Page 2 of 8 

2. Whether the Village of Granville is a "public employer" within the 
meaning of§ 4117.01(8). 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council Inc. ("FOP") is an "employee 
organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (B). (S. 2) 

2. The Village of Granville ("Village") employs full-time Police Officers and Police 
Sergeants in the Granville Police Department. (S. 1) 

3. The proposed bargaining units consist of full-time Police Officers (Case No. 2004-
REP-08-0140) and full-time Sergeants (Case No. 2004-REP-08-0141 ). (S. 4) 

4. On March 30, 2001, the Ohio Secretary of State issued a Proclamation stating that 
"according to the Federal Census of Two Thousand for the State of Ohio and its 
various political subdivisions, the municipality of Granville in Licking County, Ohio 
has a population of 3,167, and is known as a Village in accordance with Ohio 
Revised Code§ 703.06." (Jt. Exh. 1) 

5. The original 2000 Census Tabulation for the Village of Granville is 3,167. The 
Corrected Census 2000 Total Population for the Village of Granville is 5,098. The 
additional 1,931 is the Group Quarters Population of the Village of Granville. The 
student population of Denison University constitutes the Group Quarters Population. 
(S. 17; Jt. Exhs. 2, 3, 4) 

6. The results of the 2000 federal decennial census were released on March 6, 2001. 
(S. 12; Jt. Exh. 3) 

7. The results of the Count Question Resolution ("CQR") Program became official 
when the CQR Program concluded on September 30, 2003. (S. 13) 

8. The CQR change for the Village of Granville was a data processing change due to 
the student population of Denison University. (S. 15) 

'All references to the Joint Exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," followed by the 
exhibit number. All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," 
followed by the stipulation number. References to the transcript and/or exhibits in the Findings of 
Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the 
sole support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Statutory Provisions 

Section 4117.01 (B) defines a "public employer" as follows: 

"Public employer" means the state or any political subdivision of the 
state located entirely within the state, including, without limitation, any 
municipal corporation with a population of at least five thousand 
according to the most recent federal decennial census; county; 
township with a population of at least five thousand in the 
unincorporated area of the township according to the most recent 
federal decennial census; school district; governing authority of a 
community school established under Chapter 3314. of the Revised 
Code; state institution of higher learning; public or special district; 
state agency, authority, commission, or board; or other branch of 
public employment. 

Section 4117.22 provides as follows: 

Chapter4117. of the Revised Code shall be construed liberally for the 
accomplishment of the purpose of promoting orderly and constructive 
relationships between all public employers and their employees. 

B. Previous Case Decisions 

Section 4117. 08 obligates public employers to engage in collective bargaining. 
SERB may exercise jurisdiction for labor relations purposes over the Village if it is a "public 
employer." Ohio Historical Soc. v. State Emp. Relations Bd. (1993), 66 Ohio St.3d 466, 
47 4. The statutory mandate to use the most recent federal decennial census to determine 
public employer status has been examined and applied in several cases. In In re Village of 
Riverside, SERB 94-01 O (6-3-94) at 3-67 - 3-68, SERB discussed the statutory definition 
of "public employer" and stated as follows: 

Pursuant to the statutory definition, where a township or a 
municipal corporation is involved, the size of the population is the 
controlling factor whether the township or the municipal corporation is 
a public employer. The way to determine the size of the population, 
according to the statute, is through the most recent federal decennial 
census. This legislative designation of the recent federal decennial 
census as the only source for population data to determine the public 
employer status serves two purposes. First, administrative 
convenience is clearly achieved where a specific and unique source is 
designated as controlling. Second, stability is achieved where the size 
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of the population and with it the status of public employer is 
determined only once in ten years. Without such decennial 
designation daily movements of population would have to be checked, 
public employer status would be gained and lost regularly and with it a 
chaos created in labor relations where contractual obligations are 
unmet, promises are undelivered and the door is wide open to 
manipulation. Thus, the Legislature's choice of the federal decennial 
census as the source for population data actually promotes labor 
peace and stability by fixing the public employer status at a certain 
point in time for the next ten years. 

In In re Fitzpatrick, SERB 86-035 (9-10-86) ("Fitzpatrick"), the Board identified the 
threshold question as whether the Village of Ada had a population of "'at least five 
thousand according to the most recent federal decennial census'? If it does, it is clearly 
within the definition of public employer in R. C. 4117.01 (B) and covered by Chapter 4117 of 
the Ohio Revised Code." 

In holding that the population of the Village of Ada did exceed 5,000 according to 
the applicable census, SERB contrasted the Ohio Revised Code sections dealing with 
determination of village status with SERB's mandate under Chapter 4117. 

The question answered in this case arose only because the 
federal decennial figures for Ada are in conflict with those in the "Ohio 
Population Report" published by the Secretary of State. The federal 
figure is 5,669. The population report puts Ada's population at 3,005. 
This difference results from the operation of Ohio Revised Code 
Section 703.01. That section governs the "Ohio Population Report" 
and provides in pertinent part: 

[V]illages, which, at any federal census, have a population 
of five thousand or more, shall become cities. No municipal 
corporation shall have its classification as a village changed 
to that of a city by virtue of there being counted, in 
determining the population of such municipal corporation, 
college or university students in attendance at an 
educational institution within the municipal corporation 
where the residential addresses of such students when not 
in attendance at the educational institution, or the 
residential addresses of the guardians of such students, as 
determined by the records of the institution kept by its 
registrar, are at a place other than the municipal 
corporation wherein such institution is located. After each 
decennial census the secretary of state shall issue a 
proclamation certifying the number of permanent residents 
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in such municipal corporation and the number of students 
attending a college or university therein. 

The Secretary issued a proclamation for the Village of Ada in 
response to the duties imposed by R.C. 703.01. That document 
proclaimed that Ada, Hardin County, Ohio" ... according to the Federal 
Census of Nineteen Hundred and Eighty has a population of 5,699, 
which population includes 2,664 students at an educational institution 
within the municipality who have residential addresses at places 
outside the municipality; and that in accordance with Section 703.01 
of the Revised Code of Ohio said municipality shall retain its 
classification as a village." 

It is apparent the Secretary of State's proclamation responds to a 
statute designed to regulate village status. Ohio Revised Code, 
Section 4117.01 (B), on the other hand, represents legislative 
implementation of the coverage and exemptions of Ohio's public 
sector collective bargaining law. 

The two statutes have a common interest in determining the 
population of Ohio villages. But that is where community ends. For the 
statutory objectives are entirely different. 

There is always a risk of misapprehending legislative intent when 
meanings are transported from one statute to another. But never is 
the hazard more obvious than when, as here, the statutory objectives 
are widely divergent. Moreover, the General Assembly could have 
used the same population standard in both statutes had it chosen to 
do so. That it did not is significant. Finally, it is a truism of construction 
that plain meanings do not require interpretation. R.C. 4117.01(B) 
could hardly have said more plainly in the English language that the 
source for population data to determine village status is the "most 
recent federal decennial census." Thus, the relevant census must 
guide the Board when population data is crucial to decision. 

C. Determination of the Population of the Village of Granville According to the Most 
Recent Federal Decennial Census 

1. The release of Census 2000 numbers 

On March 6, 2001, the results of the 2000 federal decennial census were released. 
This release indicated that the total population of the Village was 3, 167. (F. F. 6; Jt. Exh. 3) 
On September 30, 2003, the Census Bureau issued the Corrected Census 2000 Total 
Population, Group Quarters Population, Total Housing Unit, and Vacant Housing Unit 
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Counts for Governmental Units, indicating that the revised official population of the Village 
was 5,098. The difference in the two total population counts is 1,931. This number 
represents the Group Quarters Population of the Village. The corrected count was issued 
as a result of the CQR Program. (F.F. 5) The Group Quarters Population of the Village is 
comprised of college students attending Denison University. (F.F. 5, 8) 

2. The CQR Program 

On July 6, 2001, the Census Bureau published a notice entitled "The Census 2000 
Count Question Resolution Program" in the Federal Register, 66 Fed. Reg. 35,588 (2001) 
("Notice") (copy attached to the Village's post-hearing brief). The Notice explained that the 
CQR program procedures would "include researching challenges and, as appropriate, 
making corrections and issuing revised official population and housing unit counts, which 
also will be used for the Census Bureau's Postcensal Estimates program." Corrected CQR 
counts issued would be based on the housing unit and population counts as of April 1, 
2000, and "may be used by governmental entities for all programs requiring official Census 
2000 data." The Notice also stated that "[t]he CQR program is not a mechanism or process 
to challenge the March 6, 2001, decision of the Secretary of Commerce to release 
unadjusted numbers from Census 2000 for redistricting purposes; nor is it a mechanism or 
process to challenge or revise the numbers sent to the President on December 28, 2000, 
to be used to apportion the U.S. House of Representatives." Id. 

The Notice explained that the Census Bureau would only accept challenges from 
officials of state, local, and tribal governments or those representing them or acting on their 
behalf. All corrections would be made on the basis of appropriate documentation provided 
by the challenging entities and a thorough research and review of the official Census 2000 
records by the Census Bureau. No additional data would be collected as part of the CQR 
program. Only data already collected would be used. The corrected counts would be 
reflected in the Census Bureau's decennial file modified for use in making postcensal 
estimates that would be released on a flow basis beginning in December 2002. An 
inventory of corrections also would be available on the American FactFinder Internet Data 
Access System and updated periodically. Base files for the Census 2000 would remain 
unrevised so that none of the standard Census 2000 data products reflect the corrections. 
The Notice stated that the CQR program would become effective on June 30, 2001, and 
end on September 30, 2003. 

3. Resolution of the Question Presented 

A review of the stipulated facts of this case and the Notice leads to the conclusion 
that as of April 1, 2000, the collected census data for the Village included the group 
quarters population of Denison University, but the group quarters population was 
erroneously omitted from the March 6, 2001 release. The Notice states that corrected 
CQR counts are based on the housing unit and population counts as of April 1, 2000. The 
parties have stipulated that the CQR change to the Village's population was a data 
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processing change. With respect to data processing corrections, the Notice states as 
follows: 

Data Processing corrections--This category includes data on specific 
living quarters and persons residing therein that were identified and 
collected during the Census 2000 process but erroneously included or 
excluded due to processing errors. 

Essentially, the question presented is whether, in determining the population of the 
Village "according to the most recent federal decennial census," SERB should refer to the 
March 6, 2001 release of the results of the 2000 federal decennial census, indicating that 
the Village has a population of 3, 167, or to the September 30, 2003 release of the "revised 
official" population count of the Village, indicating that the Village has a population of 5,098. 
The fact that the additional population is comprised of college students is not relevant. 
SERB's Fitzpatrick decision stands for the proposition that, for purposes of Chapter 4117, 
college students are considered part of the population of the municipality when the student 
population is included in the most recent federal decennial census. 

The Village argues that the March 6, 2001 release constitutes the most recent 
federal decennial census figure for the Village, and that because that number is less than 
5,000, the Village is not a "public employer" within the coverage of Chapter 4117. The 
Village argues that the Ohio Revised Code requires public employers and employee 
organizations to adhere to the results of the most recent federal decennial census for 
1 O years, and that its population for "public employer" status cannot be changed until 2010. 
The Village points out that establishing a certain point in time to determine "public 
employer" status fosters orderly and constructive labor relationships. The Village argues 
that altering "public employer" status during the course of a decade creates confusion and 
lack of stability, contrary to the mandate of§ 4117. 22. Yet, another concern is whether it is 
orderly and constructive to bind Ohio's public employers and employee organizations for 
10 years to clearly erroneous population counts. 

Setting policy considerations aside, the overriding question in this case is which 
population figure actually represents the "most recent federal decennial census" figure. 
The record reveals that, in this case, the population of the Village according to the most 
recent federal decennial census is 5,098. This conclusion is reached from an examination 
of the facts in the record and an analysis of the Census Bureau's CQR Program. While 
the Village argues that a CQR change does not constitute the most recent federal 
decennial census, the Census Bureau does describe a CQR change as a "revised official" 
population and housing unit count, which "may be used by governmental entities for all 
programs requiring official Census 2000 data." The only exceptions are redistricting and 
apportionment for the United States House of Representatives. Neither exception is 
applicable here. Furthermore, the "revised official" population of the Village did not result 
from the collection of any additional data. Rather, it includes only data that the Census 
Bureau had collected as of April 1, 2000. The Census Bureau made a mistake in 
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processing the Census 2000 data it already had collected for the Village, and the CQR 
Program resulted in the correction of this mistake. Accordingly, it follows that the 
population of the Village is 5,098 according to the most recent federal decennial census. 
Therefore, the Village is a "public employer" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (B). In each 
of these consolidated cases, SERB should direct an election in the proposed bargaining 
unit identified in the Petition for Representation Election-Employer. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council Inc., is an "employee 
organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). 

2. The Village of Granville has a population of 5,098 according to "the most recent 
federal decennial census" and is a "public employer" within the meaning of 
§ 4117.01(8). 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board direct representation elections be held in 
accordance with § 4117.07 in the following proposed bargaining units: 

Case No. 04-REP-08-0140 

INCLUDED: All full-time Police Officers. 
EXCLUDED: All other employees. 

Case No. 04-REP-08-0141 

INCLUDED: All full-time Sergeants. 
EXCLUDED: All other employees. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member: 

On August 12, 2004, the Crestline Education Association, OEA/NEA ("the Union") 

filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Crestline Exempted Village School District 

Board of Education ("the District"). On February 10, 2005, the State Employment Relations 

Board ("the Complainant" or "SERB") found probable cause to believe that an unfair labor 

practice had been committed. For the reasons below, we find that the Crestline Exempted 

Village School District Board of Education violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally changed a term of the collective bargaining 

agreement during negotiations that affected the wages of bargaining-unit members by 

refusing to award step increases under the Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA'} 

I. BACKGROUND 

Crestline Education Association. OEA/NEA is the deemed-certified exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit of the District's classroom teachers, guidance 

counselors, and librarians. The District and the Union were parties to a collective 
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bargaining agreement effective from July 1, 2001 through June 30, 2004 ("2001-

2004 CSA"), containing a grievance-arbitration procedure that culminated in final and 

binding arbitration. 

Article 2, Section F of the CSA provides as follows: 

Disagreement 

1. In the event the parties are unable to reach an agreement within fifty 
days of the expiration of the existing contract, either party may declare 
impasse. That party shall, within five (5) days, contact the Federal 
Mediation and Conciliation Service and request the appointment of a 
mediator. 

2. The mediation period shall last for not longer than thirty (30) days 
from the first meeting with the mediator unless both parties agree to 
an extension. 

3. In the event a tentative agreement is reached during the mediation 
period, the procedure of paragraph E shall be followed. 

4. This procedure shall be deemed an alternative dispute resolution 
procedure pursuant to RC 4117.14 (C). 

5. In the event no agreement is reached during the mediation period, the 
parties are free to exercise all rights provided by law. 

Alternative Settlement Procedures 
Nothing in this article shall be construed to prohibit the parties at any time 
from voluntarily and mutually agreeing to submit any or all of the issues in 
dispute to any other alternative dispute settlement procedure. 

On April 30, 2004, the District filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB, which was also 

served upon the Union, for a successor collective bargaining agreement. On May 3, 2004, 

the Union filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB, which was also served upon the District, 

for a successor collective bargaining agreement. 
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The parties had five negotiating sessions from the first held on June 28, 2004, 

through August 2004. They reached tentative agreements on two and one-half articles out 

of nine. The parties agreed to meet with a mediator and had three sessions with the 

mediator starting September 7, 2004. The parties did not reach tentative agreements on 

any articles during the mediation sessions. Neither party declared impasse. 

On September 9, 2004, at the end of the third mediation session, the mediator 

asked the parties for additional mediation dates three to four weeks hence, as the mediator 

was going to be unavailable for that period of time. The Union provided the mediator with 

additional dates that it would be available for mediation. The mediator gave these dates to 

the Employer. The Employer told the mediator that its team members would need to 

discuss whether the Employer would participate further. 

On October 6, 2004, the Employer notified the Union and the mediator that the 

parties' mutually agreed dispute resolution procedure ("MAD") had expired, that there was 

no agreement to extend it and that the next step was for the parties to go to fact-finding. 

The Employer requested a fact finder. One was appointed, but the fact-finding process 

has not been completed. 

Article VIII, Section K of the CBA contains a salary schedule that includes a salary 

index including provisions for step increases corresponding to years of service. Each 

bargaining-unit member who completes a year of service or remains under contract for the 

next school year advances to the next step in the salary index. The Employer has been 

honoring all of the terms of the expired CBA with the exception of several about which 

grievances were filed and with regard to the step increases contained in the salary index 

incorporated into the CBA. 

During previous negotiations for successor agreements continuing after the 

expiration of a CBA, teachers received their step increases prior to the new CBA being 
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executed. Although no certificate of availability of funds existed for the 2004-2005 school 

year, the District continued to expend funds for its ongoing obligations. Although the Union 

and the Employer had no specific discussions regarding extension of the CBA, they 

continued to operate under the terms and conditions of the CBA after its June 30, 2004 

expiration date. Salaries were paid, insurance coverage remained the same, and 

grievances were filed and processed. 

On July 1, 2004, while the parties were still engaged in negotiations for a successor 

CBA, the Employer notified bargaining-unit members that they would not be advanced to 

the next successive step in the salary index at the beginning of the 2004-2005 school year. 

The Employer did not implement the step increases called for in the expired CBA for the 

2004-2005 school year. Bargaining-unit members are being paid at the same salary level 

for 2004-2005 as they were paid for 03-04. 

II DISCUSSION 

The issue is whether the District engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it changed a term of the contract during 

negotiations that affected the wages of bargaining-unit members by refusing to award step 

increases. O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant to 
Chapter4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 

Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain, 
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regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). An employer is required to bargain with an exclusive 

representative on all matters relating to wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of 

employment under O.R.C. § 4117.08(A). In re City of Broadview Heights, SERB 99-005 

(3-5-99); In re Ottawa County Riverview Nursing Home, SERB 96-006 (5-31-96). 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(B)(3) provides as follows: "The parties shall continue in full force 

and effect all the terms and conditions of any existing collective bargaining agreement, 

without resort to strike or lock-out, for a period of sixty days after the party gives notice or 

until the expiration date of the collective bargaining agreement, whichever occurs later, or 

for a period of ninety days where applicable." Ohio Administrative Code ("O.A.C.) 

Rule 4117-9-02(E) 1 provides as follows: 

Except as the parties may modify the negotiation process by mutually 
agreed-upon dispute settlement procedures, the parties shall continue in full 
force and effect all the terms and conditions of any existing collective 
bargaining agreement, without resort to strike or lockout, for a period of sixty 
days after the party gives notice, until the expiration date of the collective 
bargaining agreement, or the statutory dispute settlement procedures are 
exhausted, whichever occurs later. (Emphasis added). 

The primary issue in this case is whether a public employer can make a change in a 

term or condition of employment after the collective bargaining agreement expires but 

during negotiations for a successor agreement. In its post-hearing brief at p. 9, the 

Employer expressed the following: "R.C. 4117.14(B)(3) and OAC 4117-9-02(E)(1) do not 

require the maintenance of 'status quo' in perpetuity. Rather, the duty to maintain 'in full 

force and effect all the terms and conditions,' lasts ONLY until the LATER of contract 

expiration, or sixty (60) days after the Notice to Negotiate." (emphasis in original). This 

1 In In re City of Fostoria, SERB 86-037 (9-15-86), SERB found that ultimate impasse 
occurred at the end of the publication period following the rejection of the fact-finding 
recommendation in O.R C. § 4117.14(C)(6). "Fostoria was overruled and the policy enunciated by it 
repealed by the amendment of Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-02(E), effective May 18, 
1987." SERB v City of Lancaste~ SERB 88-001 (1-22-88) at p. 3-3. 
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view, which relies on the passage of time solely, is not consistent with the Ohio Supreme 

Court's Syllabus in State ex rel. Boggs v. Springfield Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn. (1998), 

82 Ohio St.3d 222, 1998-0hio-249 ("Boggs"): "Where a collective bargaining contract 

executed pursuant to R.C. Chapter4117 includes an express termination date, the 

agreement may be deemed to continue by implied mutual assent after that date only until 

such time as either party to the agreement acts in a manner inconsistent with the inference 

that both parties wish to be governed by the contract." 

In Boggs, the employees manifested their intention to no longer be bound by the 

terms of the expired agreement when, after going on strike, they terminated their strike, 

delivered to the school superintendent a signed statement that they wished to have their 

continuing contracts honored by the employer, returned to work, and then filed an action in 

mandamus against the employer contesting the employer's abolishment of their positions. 

Thus, the employees clearly expressed their desire to be governed by statutory law rather 

than the expired agreement. 

The record does not support a finding that the Employer has manifested a similar 

intention to no longer be bound by the terms of the expired agreement. Instead, the 

Employer has continued to honor most of the terms of the expired CBA except for several 

about which grievances were filed and with regard to the step increases contained in the 

salary index incorporated into the CBA. Thus, we are not presented with a Boggs 

scenario. 

We are not presented with a Rootstown scenario, either. In State ex rel. Rootstown 

Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn. v. Portage Cly. Court of Common Pleas (1997), 78 Ohio 

St.3d 489, the collective bargaining agreement between the school board and the union 

expired. After subsequent negotiations did not lead to a successor agreement and the 

parties reached ultimate impasse, the school board, thirteen months later, implemented its 

final contractual offer. In the present case, the Employer has not implemented its last, best 

-----·--. 
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offer. 

In In re University of Cincinnati, SERB 93-007 (5-13-93) at p. 3-48, we examined a 

set of facts involving the effect of a contract's expiration on the parties' negotiations and 

stated: "It is a well-established principle of collective bargaining law that even after contract 

expiration, parties can change employment terms only through mutual agreement or, if 

ultimate impasse is reached, through the employer's implementation of its last best offer. 

NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 82 SCt 1107, 8 LEd(2d) 230, 50 LRRM 2177 (1962)." 

(emphasis in original). Ultimate impasse is the point at which good-faith negotiations 

toward reaching an agreement have been exhausted. In re Vandalia-But/er City School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 90-003 (2-9-90) ("Vandalia-Butler"), aff'd sub nom. Vandalia-Butler 

City School Dist Bd of Ed v. SERB, 1990 SERB 4-90 (CP, Montgomery, 10-1-90), aff'd 

1991SERB4-81 (2d Dist Ct App, Montgomery, 8-15-91). 

The parties' MAD in this case provides as follows: "In the event no agreement is 

reached during the mediation period, the parties are free to exercise all rights provided by 

law." The MAD further provides: "Nothing in this article shall be construed to prohibit the 

parties at any time from voluntarily and mutually agreeing to submit any or all of the 

issues in dispute to any other alternative dispute settlement procedure." 

According to the terms of the MAD in this case, the mediation period expired after 

thirty days since the parties did not mutually agree to extend the mediation period. With no 

agreement having been reached during the mediation period, the parties were "free to 

exercise all rights provided by law" according to the MAD. The Employer viewed those 

rights as including the fact-finding process, which it attempted to invoke on October 6, 

2004. Thus, the Employer's actions demonstrated that the parties had not reached the 

point at which good-faith negotiations toward reaching an agreement had been exhausted, 

i.e., ultimate impasse. 

An employer's failure to maintain the terms of an expired collective bargaining 
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agreement (i.e., the status quo ante) prior to ultimate impasse constitutes bad-faith 

bargaining in contravention of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). "Freezing the status 

quo ante after a collective bargaining agreement has expired promotes industrial peace by 

fastening a noncoercive atmosphere that is conducive to serious negotiations on a new 

contract. Thus, an employer's failure to honor the terms and conditions of an expired 

collective bargaining agreement pending negotiations on a new agreement constitutes bad 

faith bargaining." In re Cuyahoga County Commrs., SERB 89-006 (3-15-89) at p. 3-29 

(citations omitted). 

The terms and conditions of employment in the CSA established the Salary Index 

that was labeled as "Effective 7-1-03." Article VIII, Section K of the CBA contained a salary 

schedule that included a salary index with provisions for step increases corresponding to 

years of service. Each bargaining-unit member who completed a year of service or 

remained under contract for the next school year advanced to the next step in the salary 

index. While the numbers in the salary schedule did not change from 2003-2004 to 2004-

2005, the years of service for each bargaining-unit member could change from one school 

year to the next. 

On July 1, 2004, the Employer notified the bargaining-unit members that they would 

not be advanced to the next successive step in the salary index at the beginning of the 

2004-2005 school year. The Employer contended that it was prevented from implementing 

the step increases for the following year because no certificate of availability of funds had 

been issued by the Treasurer pursuant to O.R.C. § 5705.41. 

O.R.C. § 5705.41 provides in relevant part: 

No subdivision or taxing unit shall: 
••• 
(D) (1) Except as otherwise provided in division (0)(2) of this section 

and section 5705.44 of the Revised Code, make any contract or give any 
order involving the expenditure of money unless there is attached thereto a 
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certificate of the fiscal officer of the subdivision that the amount required to 
meet the obligation or, in the case of a continuing contract to be performed in 
whole or in part in an ensuing fiscal year, the amount required to meet the 
obligation in the fiscal year in which the contract is made, has been lawfully 
appropriated for such purpose and is in the treasury or in process of 
collection to the credit of an appropriate fund free from any previous 
encumbrances. This certificate need be signed only by the subdivision's 
fiscal officer. Every such contract made without such a certificate shall be 
void, and no warrant shall be issued in payment of any amount due 
thereon. * * * 

When the Employer announced its intention to withhold the step increases, the 

parties were in the midst of negotiations. The Employer's witness, Wayne Hamilton, had 

been the Employer's Treasurer for the previous three years. He testified that the certificate 

of availability applies to all of the expenditures of the school district paid from each fund 

and not just to the expenditures tied to the Employer's contract with the Union. Despite the 

absence of such a certificate for the 2004-2005 school year, the Employer continued to pay 

all of its obligations, including teacher salaries, transportation costs, electricity, snow 

plowing, and other operating expenses. All of the Employer's ongoing obligations were 

paid with the exception of the step increases to the bargaining-unit members. During cross

examination, he testified as follows: 

Q. Okay. So am I correct to say that there was, in fact, a certificate of 
availability for the 2004-to-2005 school year? 

A. For the '04-'05? 
Q. Yes. 
A. No. 
Q. So the school didn't spend any money forthe 2004-2005 school year? 
A. Oh, we spent money. 
Q. And you had no certificate of availability? 
A. We did not have a certificate of resources. 
Q. And yet, you spent money for things during the '04-'05 school year? 
A. Correct. 
Q. Is that somehow prohibited by law to your knowledge? 
A. Most likely. 
Q. And these expenditures you made, were they for items other than for 

items payable under the - the Crestline Education Association 
contract? 
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A. They were for all the obligations of the district. 
Q. Give me an example of what some others might be? 
A. Well, you have an electric bill. You have snow plowing. You have, 

you know, all of those types of things that it takes to operate the 
school district. 

(T. 94-95) 

Mr. Hamilton's testimony on cross-examination also yielded the following exchange: 

Q. And I'm going to ask the question again because I don't think I got an 
answer to it. My question was even though the teachers in the school 
district were paid while you were there during the 2004-2005 school 
year, there was no certificate of availability to pay those teachers - or 
I'm sorry - there was no certificate of availability of funds for that 
school expenditure at the time you left the district; is that correct? 

A. Correct, correct. 
(T. 106-106) 

The record does not contain sufficient evidence to establish why the certificate of 

availability was not issued. The Employer asserted in its post-hearing brief at p. 10: "Here, 

there was no certificate of availability; as such, there could be no 'contract extension' 

(whether written or de facto); and no expenditure of funds beyond that which had been 

spent per teacher in academic year 2003-2004." But the issue before us is not the inability 

to pay for a new contract; we are looking at an obligation - through the salary schedule -

that was already established in the CBA. Further, the Employer was unable to link its 

limitation on the amount spent per teacher in the previous academic year to the provisions 

ofO.R.C. § 5705.41. 

Finally, the Employer asserted in its post-hearing brief at p. 11 that O.R.C. 

§ 5705.41 "is written in binary logic. There either 'is' or 'is not' a certificate of availability. 

Here, there was not, and no payments can be made." Yet, the Employer's own conduct in 

making payments for salaries and operating expenses during the 2004-2005 school year 

when it did not have a certificate of availability demonstrates that this argument is 

specious. 
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Therefore, we find that when the Employer unilaterally changed a term or condition 

of employment by refusing to award step increases under the collective bargaining 

agreement, which directly affected the wages of bargaining-unit members, the Employer 

committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). The 

appropriate remedy is to order the Employer to cease and desist from unilaterally changing 

a term of the contract during negotiations that affected the wages of bargaining unit 

members by refusing to award step increases under the CBA and from otherwise violating 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5), and to require the Employer to grant step increases to 

all eligible bargaining-unit members retroactive to the dates such raises should have been 

received. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the Crestline Exempted Village School 

District Board of Education violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when 

it unilaterally changed a term of the collective bargaining agreement during negotiations 

that affected the wages of bargaining-unit members by refusing to award step increases 

under the agreement. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, concurs. 
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OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of joint stipulations by the parties and the 

subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. The issue to be decided is whether the actions 

taken by the Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OENNEA and Eastern Local 

School Support Personnel Association, OENNEA (collectively "Respondents") constituted 

unfair labor practices in violation of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11 (8)(7). For the 

reasons below, we find thatthe Respondents violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(7) by engaging 

in picketing related to a labor relations dispute at the residence of Superintendent Treva 

Harmon and at the place of private employment of School Board President Stephanie 

Knipp. 
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II. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. The Eastern Local School District Board of Education ("District") is a "public 

employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). (March Slip. 1; May Slip. 1) 

2. The Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OEA/NEA ("ELCTA") is 

an "employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) and is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit of the District's regular and certificated personnel and 

tutors who work 1000 hours or more per school year. (March Slip. 2. May Slip. 2) 

3. The Eastern Local School Support Personnel, OEA/NEA ("ELSSP") is an 

"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit of the District's regular full-time and regular part-time 

non-certificated employees. (March Slip. 3; May Slip. 3) 

4. On October 11, 2002, the District filed two unfair labor practice charges 

(Case Nos. 2002-ULP-10-0667 and 2002-ULP-10-0668) with SERB pursuant to and in 

accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and Ohio Administrative Code ("O.A.C.") Rule 4117-

7-01. (MarchStip.4) 

5. On December 12, 2002, SERB consolidated Case Nos. 2002-ULP-10-0667 

and 2002-ULP-10-0668, determined that probable cause existed for believing the 

Respondents had committed or were committing unfair labor practices, authorized the 

issuance of a complaint, referred the matter to an expedited hearing, and directed the 

parties to unfair labor practice mediation. (March Stip. 5) 

1All references to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed on March 6, 2003, are indicated 
parenthetically by "March Slip.," followed by the stipulation number. All references to the Joint 
Stipulations of Fact filed on May 30, 2003, are indicated parenthetically by "May Stip.," followed by 
the stipulation number. 
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6. The District and ELCTA were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 

effective July 1, 1999 through June 30, 2002, containing a grievance procedure that 

culminates in final and binding arbitration. (March Stip. 6; May Stip. 6) 

7. The District and ELSSP were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 

effective January 1, 2000 through December 31, 2001, containing a grievance procedure 

that culminates in final and binding arbitration. (March Stip. 7; May Stip. 7) 

8. On September 12, 2002, the Respondents filed a notice of intent to strike. 

The strike commenced on September 26, 2002, and ended on January 13, 2003. (March 

Stip. 8; May Stip. 8) 

9. On October 9, 11, 16, and 18, 2002, the Respondents picketed the private 

residence of School Superintendent Treva Harmon, who is a public official and a 

representative of the District. (March Stip. 9) 

10. While the Respondents were engaged in picketing on October 9, 11, 16, and 

18, 2002, Respondents were expressing their dissatisfaction with the progress of 

negotiations in the Eastern Local School District. Specifically, Respondents were 

expressing their objections to the role Superintendent Treva Harmon played in the ongoing 

strike. (March Stip. 10) 

11. On January 6, 2003, the District filed two unfair labor practice charges (Case 

Nos. 2003-ULP-01-0009 and 2003-ULP-01-0010) with SERB pursuant to and in 

accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(8) and O.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01. (May Stip. 4) 
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12. On March 13, 2003, SERB consolidated Case Nos. 2003-ULP-01-0009 and 

2003-ULP-01-0010, determined that probable cause existed for believing the Respondents 

had committed or were committing unfair labor practices, authorized the issuance of a 

complaint, referred the matter to an expedited hearing, and directed the parties to unfair 

labor practice mediation. (May Stip. 5) 

13. On December 1 D and 13, 2002, the Respondents picketed the place of 

private employment for School Board President Stephanie Knipp, who is a public official 

and a representative of the District. (May Slip. 9) 

14. While the Respondents were engaged in picketing on December 10 and 13, 

2002, Respondents were expressing their dissatisfaction with the progress of negotiations 

in the Eastern Local School District. Specifically, Respondents were expressing their 

objections to the role Board President Knipp played in the ongoing strike. (May Stip. 10) 

15. Neither party waived any argument concerning public forum nor was any 

party precluded from presenting evidence concerning public forum in any subsequent 

proceeding. (March Stip. 11; May Stip. 11) 

16. The parties agreed to waive the evidentiary hearing in this matter and to 

submit the case on Briefs, Joint Stipulations of Fact, and Stipulations of Evidence directly 

to the State Employment Relations Board members. (Amended March Stip. 12; May 

Slip. 12) 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The issue is whether the Respondents committed unfair labor practices in violation 

of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(7) by picketing at the private residence of School Superintendent 
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Treva Harmon and the place of private employment for School Board President Stephanie 

Knipp, who are public officials and representatives of the District. O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) 

provides as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

* * * 
(7) Induce or encourage any individual in connection with a labor 

relations dispute to picket the residence or any place of private employment 
of any public official or representative of the public employer[.] 

The Respondents contend that O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) is unconstitutional and, thus, 

SERB cannot find that a violation occurred. The Respondents acknowledge that O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (B)(7) prohibits the picketing of the residence of a public official, and the place of 

private employment of a public official, in connection with a labor dispute. They assert that 

the statute does not prohibit, nor does it address, other forms of picketing that are not 

connected to a labor relations dispute. As a result, the Respondents contend that O.R.C. 

§ 4117 .11 (B)(7) imposes a content-based restriction on speech in a public forum. 

As authority for their position, the Respondents rely upon United Electrical Radio & 

Mach. v SERB, 1998 SERB 4-41 (8th Dist Ct App, Cuyahoga, 5-7-98) ("Turnpike 

Commission"). In that case, the Eighth District Court of Appeals held that O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (B)(7) was unconstitutional. In In re City of North Royalton, SERB 99-002 

(1-22-99) at n.4, SERB addressed the Turnpike Commission case and stated that "since 

the Ohio Supreme Court declined to hear the appeal of this decision, it exists as binding 

precedent only in the 8th Ohio Appellate District, which is composed solely of Cuyahoga 

County." The events in the present case take place in Pike County. We still decline to 

broadly extend that decision into the other appellate districts throughout the state. 

A First Amendment challenge to a statutory provision that limits speech in a public 
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forum will be subject to varying tests of constitutionality depending upon whether the 

restriction is content-based or content-neutral. Burson v. Freeman (1992), 504 U.S. 191. 

"The central inquiry with respect to content neutrality is 'whether the government has 

adopted a regulation of speech because of disagreement with the message it conveys.'" 

Ater v. Armstrong (6th Cir. 1992), 961 F.2d 1224, 1227, cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 493 (1992), 

quoting Bamon Corp. v. City of Dayton (6th Cir. 1991), 923 F.2d 470, 473. 

Content-based restrictions on speech, in a public forum, are subject to exacting 

scrutiny. The state must show that the "regulation is necessary to serve a compelling state 

interest and that it is narrowly drawn to achieve that end." Perry Education Assn. v. Perry 

Local Educators Assn. (1983), 460 U.S. 37, 45, citing Carey v. Brown, 447 U.S. 455, 461 

(1980). A "significant" governmental interest is required for a content-neutral restriction on 

the time, place, and manner of speech in a public forum. Burson v. Freeman, supra. Once 

a state demonstrates that its interests rise to the level necessary to meet the court-imposed 

standard, a state must also show that the statute is narrowly tailored to achieve those 

interests. Id. A statute is narrowly tailored if it targets and eliminates no more than the 

exact source of the evil it seeks to remedy. City Council of Los Angeles v. Taxpayers for 

Vincent (1984), 466 U.S. 789. 

In determining whether this statute is content-based or content-neutral, we are aided 

by two decisions of the United States Supreme Court invalidating two different statutes that 

limited picketing and drew distinctions between labor and non-labor picketing. At issue in 

Police Department of Chicago v. Mosley (1972), 408 U.S. 92, was an ordinance that 

prohibited picketing on a public way within 150 feet of a school during school hours. The 

statute specifically exempted peaceful labor picketing. Although the City of Chicago 

argued the restriction concerned the time, place, and manner restriction, the U.S. Supreme 

Court disagreed. The Court found that the regulation was content-based because it 

distinguished between labor and non-labor picketing. 
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In Carey v. Brown (1980), 447 U.S. 455, the U.S. Supreme Court reviewed a statute 

that prohibited all picketing of residences or dwellings except for the peaceful picketing of a 

place of employment involved in a labor dispute. The court determined that the law 

distinguished between labor and non-labor picketing and, therefore, was a content-based 

restriction. The Court found that in exempting only the "peaceful picketing of a place of 

employment involved in a labor dispute," the Illinois statute discriminates between lawful 

and unlawful conduct based upon the content of the communication. "The permissibility of 

residential picketing under the Illinois statue is thus dependent solely on the nature of the 

message being conveyed." Carey v. Brown, supra at 461. 

Unlike the "peaceful picketing" exception in Carey v. Brown, supra, O.R.C. 

§ 4117. 11 (8)(7) does not impose any restrictions on what may be said as part of the 

picketing. The statute also does not restrict where picketing can take place except for the 

residence or place of private employment of a public official or representative of a public 

employer. The basis for the restriction, in that it arises only "in connection with a labor 

relations dispute," does not serve to limit the content of the picketing; instead, it goes to 

limiting where the picketing can take place. Accordingly, O.R.C. § 4117. 11 (B)(7) regulates 

picketing solely on the basis of its time and place, not its content. 

A state's interest in protecting and preserving the residential privacy of its citizenry is 

unquestionably a compelling state interest. See Frisby v. Schultz (1988), 487 U.S. 474, 

484. "The State's interest in protecting the well being, tranquility, and privacy of the home 

is certainly of the highest order in a free and civilized society." Carey v. Brown (1980), 

supra at 471. A state may legitimately impose legislation designed to protect the privacy of 

its citizens within their homes. Frisby v. Schultz, supra. "Individuals are not required to 

welcome unwanted speech into their own homes and the government may protect this 

freedom. * * * There is simply no right to force speech into the home of an unwilling 
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listener." Frisby v. Schultz, supra at 485. 

The preservation and furtherance of labor peace in Ohio is a compelling state 

interest. O.R.C. § 4117.22 provides that O.R.C. Chapter 4117 "shall be construed liberally 

for the accomplishment of the purpose of promoting orderly and constructive relationships 

between all public employers and their employees." "The [Ohio] General Assembly was 

exercising its police power to promote the general safety and welfare in enacting" O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117. See, e.g., Kettering v. State Emp. Relations Bd. (1986). 26 Ohio St.3d 50, 

55, 1984-86 SERB 382, 284-385. O.R.C. Chapter 4117 provides "a comprehensive 

scheme to facilitate the orderly resolution of labor disputes involving public employees." 

Central Ohio Transit Auth. v. Transport Workers Union of America, Local 208 (1988), 

37 OhioSt.3d 56, 62. The state's ability to provide vital safety, educational, and other 

services can only be assured through the maintenance of stable labor relations between 

public employers and their employees. Kettering v. State Emp. Relations Bd., supra. 

The State of Ohio also has an interest in maintaining its ability to encourage private 

citizens to serve in a public capacity as officials and leaders of a public employer. Most 

township trustees, county commissioners, and school board members serve the State of 

Ohio only in a part-time capacity while maintaining full-time employment in the private 

sector. See O'Reilly, James T., Ohio Public Employee Collective Bargaining, p. 119 

(Anderson Publishing Co., 1984). The State of Ohio's ability to encourage its citizens to 

serve the public as governmental officials and representatives of the public employer is a 

compelling interest that justifies the minor limitation on speech at issue herein. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) is a regulation that concerns expression in a public forum. 

The statutory proscription speaks only to speech related to a labor relations dispute. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) is actually a viewpoint-neutral "place" regulation. This restriction 

limits labor disputes to the proper forum and protects the residential privacy of public 
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officials and those who serve the public employer. "The allowable area of economic 

conflict should not be extended to an invasion of the privacy of the home." Pipe Machinery 

Co. v. DeMore (Ohio Ct. App. Cuyahoga, 1947), 76 N.E.2d 725, 727. Any residential 

picketing in connection to a labor dispute should be prohibited. Id. 

It is true that by peaceful picketing workingmen communicate their 
grievances. As a means of communicating the facts of a labor dispute 
peaceful picketing may be a phase of the constitutional rights of free 
utterance. But recognition of peaceful picketing as an exercise of free 
speech does not imply that the states must be without power to confine the 
sphere of communication to that directly related to the dispute. Restriction of 
picketing to the area of the industry within which a labor dispute arises leaves 
open to the disputants other traditional modes of communication. To deny to 
the states the power to draw this line is to write into the Constitution the 
notion that every instance of peaceful picketing - anywhere and under any 
circumstances - is necessarily a phase of the controversy which provoked 
the picketing. 

Id, quoting Carpenters' and Joiners' Union of America, Local 231 v. Ritter's Cafe (1942), 

315 U.S. 722, 727. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(7) seeks to limit communication by an employee organization 

to the workplace rather than have that message disseminated on the front lawn of a public 

official's home. It is not the content of the message that is of concern to the state; it is the 

place where that message is delivered that this statute seeks to regulate. The state's 

interest in protecting the privacy of public officials in their homes and maintaining labor 

peace takes precedence over an employee organization's right to communicate its 

message in all places and at all times. Thus, O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(7) is more similar to a 

time, place, and manner restriction than it is a restriction on the content of the speech. 

The resolution of constitutional conflicts requires a balancing of interests on both 

sides of a case. The compelling state interests at stake here are the maintenance and 

furtherance of labor peace in the public sector and protection of an individual's right to 
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privacy in his or her own home. The state also has an interest in protecting its ability to 

encourage its citizens to enter public service. When balanced against the employee 

organizations' interest in communicating their message at an inappropriate location, one 

must conclude that 0. R. C. § 4117 .11 (B)(7) is narrowly drafted to meet constitutional 

requirements. The statute targets and limits no more speech than necessary to meet the 

state's compelling interests. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(7) defines an unfair labor practice wherein an employee 

organization may not "induce or encourage" another in connection with a labor dispute to 

picket the residence of a public official or a representative of the public employer. The 

purpose behind this statute is to encourage employee organizations to confine their 

disputes to the most appropriate forum for those disputes - the workplace. Picketing the 

home of a public official is counterproductive to those aims and may lead to the escalation 

of a labor dispute with the consequent potential to disrupt. 

Also critical in this analysis is that SERB, as an administrative agency, is without 

authority to declare any portion of its enabling statute as unconstitutional. "SERB, like 

other administrative agencies, does not have jurisdiction to determine [constitutional] 

claims. State ex rel. Rootstown Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn. v. Portage Cty. Court of 

Common Pleas (1997), 78 Ohio St.3d 489, 494 (citations omitted)." 

It is axiomatic that all legislative enactments enjoy a presumption of constitutionality. 

Benevolent Assn. v. Parma (1980), 61 Ohio St.2d 375, 377. A court must, where possible, 

interpret a statute to avoid constitutional difficulty. Frisby v. Schultz, supra at 483. As the 

Ohio Supreme Court stated in State v. Dorso (1983), 4 Ohio St.3d 60, 61, "courts must 

apply all presumptions * * * so as to uphold, if at all possible, a statute or ordinance 

assailed as unconstitutional." "An enactment of the General Assembly is presumed to be 

constitutional, and before a court may declare it unconstitutional it must appear beyond a 
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reasonable doubt that the legislation and constitutional provisions are clearly incompatible." 

State ex rel. Dickman v. Defenbacher (1955), 164 Ohio St. 142, paragraph one of the 

Syllabus. SERB, likewise, must interpret and apply the statutory provision in a 

constitutional manner and must presume that the statutory provisions are constitutional. In 

re Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, AFL-CIO, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). 

The facts in these cases are not in dispute. On September 12, 2002, each of the 

Respondents filed a notice of intent to strike. The strike commenced on September 26, 

2002, and ended on January 13, 2003. On October 9, 11, 16, and 18, 2002, the 

Respondents picketed the private residence of School Superintendent Treva Harmon, who 

is a public official and a representative of the District. On December 10 and 13, 2002, the 

Respondents picketed the place of private employment of School Board President 

Stephanie Knipp, who is a public official and a representative of the District. Findings of 

Fact Nos. 8, 9, and 13. Thus, the Respondents' conduct at the private residence of the 

School Superintendent and at the place of private employment of the School Board 

President was in connection with the ongoing labor dispute and was in violation of O.R.C. 

§4117.11(B)(7). 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Eastern Local School District Board of Education is a "public employer" 

as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). 

2. The Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OEA/NEA is an 

"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. §4117.01(D) and is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit of the District's regular and certificated personnel and 

tutors who work 1000 hours or more per school year. 



SERB Opinion 2006-004 
Case Nos. 2002-ULP-10-0667, 2002-ULP-10-0668, 

2003-ULP-01-0009, & 2003-ULP-01-0010 
Page 12of13 

3. The Eastern Local School Support Personnel, OEA/NEA is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive representative for a 

bargaining unit of the District's regular full-time and regular part-time non-certificated 

employees. 

4. The Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OEA/NEA violated 

O.R.C. §4117.11(8)(7) by picketing the residence of School Superintendent Treva 

Harmon, a public official or representative of the public employer, on October 9, 11, 16, 

and 18, 2002. 

5. The Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OEA/NEA violated 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(7) by picketing the residence of School Superintendent Treva 

Harmon, a public official or representative of the public employer, on October 9, 11, 16, 

and 18, 2002. 

6. The Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OEA/NEA violated 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(7) by picketing the place of private employment of School 

Superintendent President Stephanie Knipp, a public official or representative of the public 

employer, on December 10 and 13, 2002. 

7. The Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OEA/NEA violated 

O.R.C. §4117.11(8)(7) by picketing the place of private employment of School 

Superintendent President Stephanie Knipp, a public official or representative of the public 

employer, on December 10 and 13, 2002. 
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V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Eastern Local Classroom Teachers 

Association, OENNEA and the Eastern Local Classroom Teachers Association, OENNEA 

committed unfair labor practices when they violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(7) by engaging in 

picketing related to a labor relations dispute at the residence of Superintendent Treva 

Harmon, a public official or representative of the public employer, on October 9, 11, 16, 

and 18, 2002, and at the place of private employment of School Board President 

Stephanie Knipp, a public official or representative of the public employer, on December 10 

and 13, 2002. The Respondents are ordered to: (1) cease and desist from engaging in 

picketing related to a labor relations dispute at the residence or place of private 

employment of any public official or representative of the public employer and from 

otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11{B)(7), (2) post the Notice to Employees 

furnished by the State Employment Relations Board for sixty days in all of the usual and 

normal posting locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the 

Respondents work, and (3) notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 

twenty calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the steps that have been 

taken to comply therewith. 

Verich, Board Member, concurs. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

CASE NO. 05-ULP-02-0089 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

On February 9, 2005, Laura Davis, Karen Peck, Carrie Morgan, and Donna Runeric 
(collectively, "Charging Parties") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Ohio Civil 
Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO ("the Union"), alleging that 
the Union violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (8)(1) and (8)(6). 1 On July 15, 2005, the 
State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") determined that probable 
cause existed for believing that the Union had committed or was committing unfair labor 
practices, authorized the issuance of a complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. On 
December 29, 2005, a complaint was issued. On February 9, 2006, the parties stipulated 
that the Union restrained and coerced Charging Parties in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed by Chapter 4117, in violation of § 4117.11 (8)(1 ), and that it failed to fairly 
represent Charging Parties, in violation of§ 4117.11 (B)(6), by failing to adequately process 
their grievance. 

On February 9, 2006, a hearing was held, wherein testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Did the grievance have a reasonable likelihood of succeeding on the 
merits? 

2. What is the appropriate remedy for the Union's violation of 
§§ 4117.11(8)(1) and (B)(6)? 

1All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117 and all references to 
rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). The Ohio 
Department of Job and Family Services ("ODJFS") is an agency of the State of 
Ohio. (S. 3) 

2. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(D). The Union is the SERB
certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit that includes ODJFS 
employees. (S. 4) 

3. Charging Parties are employed by ODJFS, are members of the bargaining unit 
represented by the Union, and are "public employees" as defined by§ 4117.01 (C). 
(S. 5) 

4. ODJFS and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
effective from March 1, 2003 through February 28, 2006, which contains a 
grievance procedure culminating in final and binding arbitration. (S. 8) 

5. On September 28, 2004, the Akron ODJFS office became the Akron Call Center 
and moved to a new location in Akron, the Ocasek Building at 161 South High 
Street. Previously, the Akron ODJFS office was located at 150 East Market Street 
and was divided into sections. The top floor was the Call Center, and the bottom 
floor was the Processing Center. Within the Call Center, employees were assigned 
various duties, including processing and adjudicating claims as well as call intake. 
Within the Processing Center, employees were assigned the duties of claim 
processing or working in employment services or unemployment compensation. 
Bargaining-unit members working in the Call Center and in the Processing Center 
had the same job classification, Customer Service Representative ("CSR"). (S. 9, 
16; T. 10-13, 113; C. Exh. 2) 

6. In preparation for the move to the Ocasek Building, employee cross-training began 
in February 2004. During cross-training, various bargaining-unit employees moved 
back and forth between the Call Center and the Processing Center. All four 
Charging Parties attended a five-day training session on OJI Benefits System for 

2All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S." All references 
to the Complainant's Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "C. Exh.,"followed by the 
exhibit number. All references to the transcript of hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," 
followed by the page number. References to the stipulations and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are 
intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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unemployment compensation claim processing. The five-day training was the most 
extensive training available. Other CSRs not doing claim processing work were sent 
to a less-extensive, three-day OJI training course. On August 9, 2004, ODJFS also 
began transitioning to the OJI Benefits System. Immediately prior to the transition 
to OJI Benefits System, Charging Parties were doing claim processing work. 
Effective August 9, 2004, Manager Trucell Johnson assigned Charging Parties to be 
cross-trained in the Call Center. At a meeting held on August 6, 2004, Charging 
Parties Davis, Peck, and Morgan were informed that during the transition, all 
employees were going to be asked to perform duties they did not normally perform, 
and to be flexible. When Charging Party Peck inquired, Manager Johnson informed 
her that overtime would not be affected and would continue to be offered by 
seniority. Charging Party Runeric was not at work on August 6 and was informed 
when she arrived at work on August 9 that she would be working in the Call Center. 
(S. 10, 11, 12; T. 21-22, 26-27, 58, 61, 62, 63-64, 65, 116, 140-141, 150-151) 

7. Before September 2004, bargaining-unit member Kai Vang was assigned to the 
Processing Center but worked in employment services, and did very little claim 
processing work. Employment services work involves helping people become re
employed in the community. (T. 31-32, 77) 

8. During the period from August 28, 2004 to September 28, 2004, emergency 
unlimited overtime work involving claim processing was available in the Processing 
Center because of the conversion to the OJI system. Charging Parties were 
available to work overtime during this time period but were denied the opportunity to 
work overtime in the Processing Center. During this time period, the ODJFS 
computer "tree" log-in system continued to reflect that Charging Parties were 
assigned to the Processing Center. Each morning during this time period, each 
Charging Party had to manually change her log-in information so that she could 
access the computer system while cross-training in the Call Center. Charging 
Parties had not been formally transferred to Call Center positions. For a formal 
transfer to occur, a position must be posted and bid on through ODJFS's Columbus 
office. Previously, Charging Party Peck had bid on and been awarded an open Call 
Center position, but was asked by Manager Johnson to decline this transfer so that 
Manager Johnson could elevate an intermittent employee to full-time status. (S. 13, 
14; T. 58, 65, 77-78, 85, 152) 

9. During September 2004, when Charging Party Davis herself was cross-training 
bargaining-unit member Vang on call intake in the Call Center, bargaining-unit 
member Vang was offered the opportunity to work overtime in the Processing 
Center. Employees working in the Benefits Accuracy Measurement ("BAM") unit 
were also offered overtime opportunities in the Processing Center. Cheryl Vires, an 
Investigator, was offered overtime in the Processing Center. Intermittent employees 
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with lower seniority than Charging Parties were offered overtime opportunities in the 
Processing Center. (T. 74, 77, 120, 143, 156, 164; C. Exh. 11) 

10. On September 10, 2004, the Union presented a grievance on behalf of the Charging 
Parties to Manager Johnson. The grievance contested Charging Parties' exclusion 
from the overtime roster for the overtime work in the Processing Center. At some 
point after the grievance was filed, it was altered without Charging Parties' 
permission by deleting language that made the grievance open-ended to include 
future dates of overtime that were not offered to Charging Parties. On 
September 15, 2004, Manager Johnson denied the grievance. Thereafter, the 
Union failed to further process the grievance. (S. 15; T. 46, 72-73, 103, 142; C. 
Exh. 4) 

11. Had Charging Parties been offered the opportunity to work overtime during the 
period from August 28 to September 28, 2004, they would have earned the 
following gross wages, respectively: Charging Party Davis, $1,860.00; Charging 
Party Peck, $1,632.00; Charging Party Runeric, $1,934.30; Charging Party Morgan, 
$1,920.00. (T. 83, 129, 145-147, 167; C. Exhs. 10, 15-17) 

12. Section 13.07 of the CBA provides in relevant part as follows: "Insofar as 
practicable, overtime shall be equitably distributed on a rotating basis by seniority 
among those who normally perform the work." Section 25.01 (A) of the CBA 
provides in relevant part as follows: "A grievance is defined as any difference, 
complaint or dispute between the Employer and the Union or any employee 
regarding the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement." (C. Exh. 1) 

13. Effective September 28, 2004, the Akron Call Center and Processing Center were 
consolidated into one office, the Akron Call Center, and relocated to the Ocasek 
Building. (S. 17; T. 10-13; C. Exh. 8) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. The Grievance Had a Reasonable Likelihood of Success on the Merits 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee 
organization, its agents or representatives, or public 
employees to: 

(1) Restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised 
Code .... 
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*** 
(6) Fail to fairly represent all public employees in a 

bargaining unit[.] 

Where the failure to process a grievance was not based on a decision that the 
grievance lacked merit, but instead results from bad faith, discriminatory conduct, or 
arbitrary behavior, a violation will be found regardless of the merit of the grievance. The 
parties have stipulated that in failing to process Charging Parties' grievance, the Union 
violated§§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and (B)(6). Where improper handling of a grievance is the basis 
of a § 4117.11 (B)(6) charge, the merit of that grievance is not relevant to the finding of a 
violation. The grievance's merit is relevant only for purposes of determining a remedy after 
a violation is found. In re OCSEA, AFSCME, Local 11, SERB 99-009 (5-21-99); In re Ohio 
Health Care Employees Union, Dist. 1199, SERB 93-020 (12-20-93); In re Ohio Civil 
Service Employees Association, SERB 93-019 (12-20-93). Consequently, the next 
question is whether Charging Parties' grievance, had it been processed properly, would 
have likely been meritorious. No damage award will be issued without a finding that the 
grievance was likely to be meritorious since to act otherwise will reward an individual who 
had no contractual right to the remedy sought. In re Ohio Civil Service Employees Assn, 
Local 11, SERB 95-020 (11-8-95). 

A preponderance of the evidence presented supports a finding that Charging 
Parties' grievance had a reasonable likelihood of succeeding on the merits. Under Section 
13.07 of the CBA, Charging Parties should have been offered overtime in the Processing 
Center because they were among those who normally performed the claim processing 
work in question. The failure to offer them overtime clearly violated the contract and was 
grievable under Section 25.01 (A) of the CBA. The parties stipulated to the fact that 
immediately before the transition to OJI Benefits System, Charging Parties were doing 
processing work. During the relevant time period, August 28 to September 28, 2004, the 
Charging Parties had not been permanently transferred to the Call Center, but rather were 
being cross-trained in the Call Center. Their normal work remained Processing Center 
work. The mere fact that Charging Parties were "cross-training" in another department 
does not change the fact that the work they normally performed was processing work. 
Evidence at the hearing supports this proposition. Ms. Johnson maintained throughout her 
testimony that the Charging Parties were being cross-trained. During the meeting the 
Friday before the cross-training began, Charging Parties were told they were going to be 
asked to do work they did not normally do, were asked to be flexible, and were told that 
overtime opportunities would not be affected. Had their Call Center assignments been 
permanent, the computers for the Charging Parties would have been switched over to the 
Call Center "tree" so they would no longer have to switch over to that area manually, and 
the documentation showing them as Processing Center employees would have been 
updated to reflect the transfer. A transfer is permanent in nature, and requires ODJFS to 
follow the posting and bidding process outlined in the CBA. Manager Johnson's argument 
at hearing that all employees who remained in the Akron ODJFS office were eventually 
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going to be doing Call Center work rather than processing work does not change this 
analysis. If this argument were followed to its logical conclusion, then no employee within 
the Akron office would have been eligible for the Processing Center overtime on the dates 
in question. 

Another ground for sustaining Charging Parties' grievance is disparate treatment. 
Charging Parties were treated disparately when they were not offered overtime in the 
Processing Center. The record contains substantial evidence that numerous ODJFS 
employees not doing claim processing work were offered overtime during the time period in 
question. Kai Vang, an employment services employee, was offered the overtime while he 
was being cross-trained in the Call Center. Cheryl Vires, an Adjudicator and later an 
Investigator, was offered the overtime. Members of the BAM Unit were called in for 
overtime, as well as other investigators and supervisors. This disparate treatment and 
selective application of the contract to the detriment of Charging Parties is another basis on 
which Charging Parties' grievance was reasonably likely to have succeeded on the merits. 

The Union's arguments that the grievance did not have a reasonable likelihood of 
success on the merits are themselves without merit. In its post-hearing brief, the Union 
relies upon the testimony of Union Steward Stephanie Uhall, a CSR in the Call Center. 
During the winter of 2003-2004, Union Steward Uhall was told by a more experienced 
Union Steward that she was not eligible for Processing Center overtime work because she 
did not normally perform the work. Union Steward Uhall did not assert, however, that she 
normally performed processing work - only that she knew how to do it and had helped out 
with such work in the past. Union Steward Uhall acknowledged at hearing that a cross
training assignment differed from a permanent move and would not affect the analysis of 
what work a bargaining-unit member normally performed. (T. 1g3-195) The Union also 
argues in its brief that ODJFS has the unfettered right to assign CSRs to whatever work 
management wants the CSRs to do. This argument is in direct conflict with Charging Party 
Peck's testimony that Call Center CSR openings were filled through a posting and bidding 
process. Finally, the Union makes the argument that arbitrators should be consistent in 
their decisions on contract interpretation - but offers no previous arbitration decision 
interpreting the CBA provisions in question. 

B. The Remedy 

Complainant provided ample evidence to quantify Charging Parties' losses. 
Charging Parties clearly identified in their testimony and documentary evidence the amount 
of pay lost from not being offered the overtime to which they were entitled. Each Charging 
Party factored in days she was sick or could not take overtime, and further calculated hours 
of overtime at straight time when their regular workweek did not amount to forty hours. Any 
confusion as to overtime dates and availability or disparity in calculations was explained 
clearly and concisely. Finally, the Union provided no evidence to dispute Charging Parties' 
testimony that they rarely, if ever, refused overtime. 
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If the matter had been properly pursued, the grievance would have had a 
reasonable likelihood of success on the merits. Therefore, the appropriate remedy in this 
case is to issue an order, pursuant to § 4117.12(8)(3), requiring the Union to pay, with 
interest, each Charging Party the respective amount of overtime compensation each would 
have earned if she had been included in the overtime available in the Processing Center 
from August 28 to September 28, 2004; to cease and desist from restraining and coercing 
Charging Parties in their exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117, and from otherwise 
violating § 4117 .11(B)(1 ); to cease and desist from failing to fairly represent all public 
employees in a bargaining unit and from otherwise violating§ 4117.11 (B)(6); and to post 
the attached Notice to Employees for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees who are represented by the Union work. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. Charging Parties Laura Davis, Karen Peck, Carrie Morgan, and Donna Runeric are 
"public employees" as defined by§ 4117.01 (C). 

2. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). ODJFS is an 
agency of the State of Ohio. 

3. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(D). 

4. The Union restrained and coerced Charging Parties in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed by Chapter 4117, in violation of§ 4117.11(8)(1), and failed to fairly 
represent Charging Parties, in violation of§ 4117.11 (B)(6), by failing to adequately 
process their grievance. 

5. Charging Parties' grievance had a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits. 
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 12, 2004, the Greene County Career Center Classified Employees 
Association, OEA/NEA ("Classified Unit") and the Greene County Career Center Education 
Association, OEA/NEA ("Certified Unit") each filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining 
Unit seeking to clarify the existing units by excluding the Financial Aid Specialist ("FAS") 
position from the Classified Unit and including the FAS position in the Certified Unit. On 
December 1, 2004, the Greene County Career Center ("Employer" or "Career Center") filed 
position statements. On February 25, 2005, both bargaining units filed replies. On 
March 17, 2005, the Employer filed a supplement to its position statement. 

On August 25, 2005, after a preliminary investigation, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB") consolidated the two cases, directed these cases to hearing to 
determine the bargaining-unit status of the position in question, and directed the parties to 
mediation. A hearing was held on December 19, 2005, wherein testimonial and 
documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the petitions for clarification should be granted to exclude the FAS 
position from the Classified Unit and include the FAS position in the Certified 
Unit? 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT' 

1. The Greene County Career Center is a "public employer" as defined by Ohio 
Revised Code § 4117.01 (B). 2 The Career Center is composed primarily of two 
programs, a high school vocational program and an adult education program. 
(S. 1, 2) 

2. The Greene County Career Center Classified Employees Association, OENNEA 
and the Greene County Career Center Education Association, OENNEA are 
"employee organizations" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (0). (S.) 

3. The Classified Unit was certified by SERB in 1995 pursuant to a representation 
election. (S. 4; SERB Case No. 95-REP-03-0047) 

4. SERB's order in Case No. 95-REP-03-0047 described the Classified Unit as follows: 

Included: All full-time and regular part-time employees without 
Certification including all job classifications listed in Board 
policy. 

Excluded: Certified staff, confidential employees, substitutes, 
supervisors, and administrators. 

5. Prior to 1995, the classified employees were represented by Ohio Association of 
Public School Employees ("OAPSE"). In the 1995 representation election, Ohio 
Education Association ("OEA") was unanimously elected as the representative of 
the Classified Unit. The Certified Unit did not challenge the representation election. 
(S.5,11,12) 

6. The Certified Unit is a deemed-certified bargaining unit. Article 1 (A) of the 
Recognition clause of the agreement between the Certified Unit and the Career 
Center reads as follows: 

1 All references to the Joint Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the 
stipulation number(s). All references to the transcript of hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," 
followed by the page number(s). All references to the Employer's exhibits in the record are indicated 
parenthetically by "Er. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). All references to the Union's exhibits 
in the record are indicated parenthetically by "U. Exh .. " followed by the exhibit numbers. All 
references to the Joint exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by" JI. Exh.," followed by 
the exhibit number(s). References to the record are intended for convenience only and are not 
intended to suggest that such references are the only support in the record for that related Finding 
of Fact. 

2 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references to rules 
are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise indicated. 
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Article I - Recognition 

Section A For the purposes of negotiations, the Greene Joint 
Vocational School Board of Education will recognize the Greene Joint 
Vocational Education Association/OEA/NEA as the sole and exclusive 
bargaining representative for all regularly employed certificated staff, 
under contract, and employed by the district. Regularly employed 
certificated staff shall be deemed to include all instructors, including 
night school, holding or obtaining limited or continuing contracts of at 
least nine (9) months duration who are not the Superintendent, 
Directors or Supervisors. (Jt Exh. 21) 

7. The recognition clause of the July 1, 1987 agreement described the Certified Unit 
as being the "sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all regularly employed 
certificated staff, under contract, and employed by the district." The recognition 
clause defined "regularly employed certificated staff" as follows: 

Regularly employed certificated staff shall be deemed to include all 
instructors, including night school, holding or obtaining limited or 
continuing contracts of at least nine (9) months duration but excluding 
the Superintendent, Directors or Supervisors. (Jt. Ex. 4) 

8. The recognition clause of the July 1, 1989 through June 30, 1992 agreement 
described the Certified Unit as being "the sole and exclusive bargaining 
representative for all regularly employed certificated staff, under contract, and 
employed by the district." The recognition clause defined "regularly employed 
certificated staff" as follows: 

Regularly employed certificated staff shall be deemed to include all 
instructors, including full-time adult school instructors,,_ holding or 
obtaining limited or continuing contracts, but excluding the 
Superintendent, Directors, or Supervisors. (emphasis in original) (Jt. 
Exh. 22) 

9. The recognition clause of the July 1, 1992 through June 30, 1995 agreement 
described the Certified Unit as being "the sole and exclusive bargaining 
representative for all regularly employed certificated staff, under contract, and 
employed by the district." The recognition clause defined "regularly employed 
certificated staff" as follows: 

Regularly employed certificated staff shall be deemed to include all 
teachers, including full-time adult school teachers, holding or 
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obtaining limited or continuing contracts, but excluding the 
Superintendent, Directors, or Supervisors. (emphasis in original) (Jt. 
Exh. 23) 

10. The recognition clause of the July 1, 1995 through June 30, 1998 agreement 
described the Certified Unit as being "the sole and exclusive bargaining 
representative for all regularly employed certificated staff, under contract, and 
employed by the district." The recognition clause defined "regularly employed 
certificated staff" as follows: 

Regularly employed certificated staff shall be deemed to include all 
teachers, including full-time adult school teachers, holding or 
obtaining limited or continuing contracts, but excluding the 
superintendent, directors, or supervisors. (Jt. Exh. 24) 

11. The recognition clause of the July 1, 1998 through June 30, 2001, and the July 1, 
2001 through June 30, 2004 agreements described the Certified Unit as being "the 
sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all regularly employed 
certificated/licensed staff, under contract and employed by the District." Both 
recognition clauses defined "regularly employed certificated/licensed staff" as 
follows: 

Regularly employed certificated/licensed staff shall be deemed to 
include all teachers, including full-time adult school teachers, holding 
or obtaining limited or continuing contracts but excluding the 
superintendent, directors, or supervisors. (Jt. Exhs. 25, 26) 

12. Jill Bottorff was hired in 1992 for the newly created position of Financial Aid 
Coordinator. The position was placed in the Classified Unit. Prior to Ms. Bottorff's 
hiring, financial aid duties were handled by Irene Krause in the position of Student 
Services Coordinator. Ms. Krause also handled enrollment, registration, 
assessment and student accounts and she was paid according to the teacher's 
salary schedule. Ms. Krause retired in 1999. The Student Services Coordinator 
position was not in either the Classified Unit or the Certified Unit. (S. 6; T. 80, 104-
105, 112-113, 182-183, 300) 

13. Neither the Certified Unit nor the Classified Unit filed any grievance or unfair labor 
practice about the placement of the Financial Aid Coordinator position in the 
Classified Association until 2003. (S. 8) 

14. Ms. Bottorff received and at all times during the course of her employment, has 
continued to hold a non-teaching contract. Ms. Bottorff was initially placed on 
Step 2 of the Secretary salary schedule of the CBA between the Career Center and 
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OAPSE. (S. 9) 
15. In the first negotiated agreement after OEA was elected to represent the Classified 

Unit in 1995, Ms. Bottorff's position title was changed from Financial Aid Coordinator 
to Financial Aid Specialist ("FAS"); however, her duties did not change. This 
position was assigned to the classification of Office Support Personnel. (S. 13; 
T.111-314) 

16. Ms. Bottorff moved up steadily in the steps of the Secretary salary schedule and 
then in the steps of the Office Support Personnel schedule. She obtained her BA in 
Management and Human Development in 2001. (S. 16-29) 

17. The adult education department in which Ms. Bottorff works has eleven full-time and 
140 part-time employees. The full-time employees include coordinators, 
consultants, career development staff, student services (the group into which 
Ms. Bottorff's position falls), and support staff. (T. 253-254) 

18. The Career Center's adult education program has held the designation of Full 
Service Center since 1987. Full Service Centers operate under the Full Service 
Center Guidelines issued by the Ohio Department of Education ("ODE"). 
Compliance with the guidelines allows the adult education program to receive a 
certain amount of funding. In this case, the Career Center receives $18,000 
annually. Compliance with the guidelines is not required to operate an adult 
education program or to offer financial aid services, but only to receive the annual 
funding. (S. 8; T. 33, 34, 207) 

19. According to the Full Service Center Guidelines as amended in 2000, a "certified" or 
"licensed" staff member must be assigned to administer financial aid services. 
Ms. Bottorff has been assigned to administer financial aid services from 1992 to the 
present. According to ODE, a person holding an adult education temporary 
teaching permit satisfies this requirement. No teaching experience is required. (S. 
35; Jt. Exh. 11; T. 11-13, 67) 

20. The FAS position itself does not require a bachelor's degree or a teaching 
certificate, permit, or license. To satisfy the Full Service Center requirements, a 
"certified" or "licensed" staff member must be assigned to administer financial-aid 
services. (T. 11) 

21. The Full Service Center Guidelines use the term "certified" at page 6 and "licensed" 
at page 10, in describing the same qualification. The guidelines do not define the 
terms. (Jt. Exh. 11; T. 11-12) 

22. According to Carolyn Gasiorek of ODE's adult workforce unit, before licensure 
standards were adopted, all required adult education documents were called 
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certificates. They are now called permits. (T. 14-16, 17-18, 20-22) 

23. Persons in adult education with an education background generally have a four-year 
certificate. Persons in adult education with an industry background have a one-year 
adult certificate. After the new licensure standards were adopted, those persons 
from an education background had a four-year license and those from an industry 
background had a one-year adult permit. (T. 37-38, 41-42) 

24. For the 1995-1996, 1999-2000, and 2000-2001 school years, Ms. Bottorff applied 
for and received an adult education temporary teaching certificate from ODE. The 
certificates were issued in the areas of Homemaking and Consumer Education and 
Business Administration/Management. For the 2003-2004 school year, Ms. Bottorff 
was provided and completed an adult education teaching certificate application and 
was issued an adult education teaching permit. For the 2004-2005 and 2005-2006 
school years, Ms. Bottorff applied for and received an adult education temporary 
teaching permit from ODE. The permits were issued in the areas of Office 
Operation and Personal Living. (S. 31, 32, 40) 

25. The teaching document Ms. Bottorff received is good for one year. The 
requirements to obtain this document are a high school diploma, good moral 
character, and a recommendation from the employing school district. The 
document is valid for one year for teaching adults in an adult education program. It 
must be reapplied for each year. (Jt. Exh. 10, p. 18; T. 50, 202-203) 

26. The teaching document Ms. Bottorff received does not enable her to teach primary 
or secondary education. (T. 42) 

27. Ms. Bottorff's primary job duties involve recordkeeping and student financial aid 
assistance both in person and by phone. (Jt. Exh. 6, Tab 311; T. 254-257, 283) 

28. The FAS position description does not include teaching duties. However, in her 
position as FAS, Ms. Bottorff presented a financial aid workshop and taught a 
telephone courtesy class. Ms. Bottorff presented the two-hour financial-aid 
workshop twice in January of the 1995-1996 school year. No textbook was used in 
this class, and no grades were issued in this class. (U. Exh. 7; T. 114-115, 117, 
120-122, 160, 167-168, 257) 

29. Ms. Bottorff taught a three-hour telephone courtesy class at the Career Center and 
in local high schools. Ms. Bottorff taught the telephone courtesy class three times in 
the1999-2000 school year and twice in the 2000-2001 school year. (U. Exh. 8, 9; 
T. 120-123, 125, 167-168, 302) 

30. Two career center employees who hold adult education temporary teaching permits 
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are (or have been) members of the Certified Unit - the Adult Education Public 
Safety Coordinator and the Adult Education Criminal Justice Coordinator. (S. 36; 
T. 140-141, 275-276) 

31. The Adult Education Public Safety Coordinator is not currently a full-time position 
and is not currently a position within the Certified Unit. The person holding this 
position is required to have an Associate's or Bachelor's degree and an Ohio 
license as a certified EMR-Paramedic and/or Firefighter. The person holding this 
position is also required to develop program plans and curriculum and to teach 
classes as necessary. (S. 37, T. 268-269) 

32. The Adult Education Criminal Justice Coordinator is a member of the Certified Unit. 
The person holding this position is required to have a bachelor's degree and an 
Ohio Peace Officers Training Academy ("OPOTA") certification. The OPOTA 
certification allows the individual to teach criminal justice classes for the State of 
Ohio. The Adult Education Criminal Justice Coordinator is also required to develop 
program plans and curriculum, evaluate student performance, and teach classes as 
necessary. This position is filled according to a 184-day contract. (S. 38; T. 266-
268, 331) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Two Petitions for Clarification of Bargaining Unit were filed to have the FAS position 
excluded from the Classified Unit and included in the Certified Unit. The purpose of a 
clarification petition is to determine whether a particular employee or group of employees is 
included in or excluded from an existing bargaining unit based upon the existing unit 
description and the duties performed by the employees in question. Rule 4117-5-01 (E)(2). 
Unit clarification does not alter the status quo, but rather maintains it. !n re Ohio Council 8. 
AFSCME, SERB 95-021 (12-29-95). 

As a deemed-certified bargaining unit, the Certified Unit was already in existence 
when Chapter 4117 became effective on April 1, 1984. The recognition clause in 1987 for 
this deemed-certified unit included "all regularly employed certificated staff, under contract 
and employed by the District. Regularly employed certificated staff shall be deemed to 
include all instructors, including night school, holding or obtaining limited or continuing 
contracts of at least nine (9) months duration who are not the Superintendent, Directors or 
Supervisors." Over time, the recognition clause changed the word "instructor" to "teacher." 
The current recognition clause defines regularly employed certificated staff as "all teachers, 
including full-time adult school teachers, holding or obtaining limited or continuing 
contracts, but excluding the Superintendent, Directors, or Supervisors." 
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The Classified Unit was certified by SERB in 1995 pursuant to a representation 
election; at the time of certification, the recognition clause for the Classified Unit read "all 
full-time and regular part-time employees without certification including all job 
classifications listed in Board policy." The primary distinction between the two units was 
and is teaching versus non-teaching. 

The FAS position was not created until 1992. Many of the financial aid duties 
incorporated into the FAS position were performed by an individual (Ms. Krause) whose 
position as Student Services Coordinator was not included in either bargaining unit. No 
substantive changes have been made in the duties of the FAS position. 

It is within this framework that Ms. Bottorff realized that Ms. Krause had been paid at 
a teacher's level while Ms. Bottorff was being paid at a secretary's level. Upon discussing 
this realization with her supervisor, Ms. Bottorff was told that the Supervisor would observe 
Ms. Bottorffs job performance and then would look at her position the next time salaries 
were discussed. (T. 106). Ms. Bottorff worked at obtaining her college degree, believing 
that it would help her earn more money in the FAS position. (T. 109-110). 

In 2000, a change occurred in the workforce development guidelines requiring an 
individual who performs financial aid duties to be either licensed or certified. Although not 
a requirement for the FAS position itself, it was a requirement if the career center was to 
keep its Full Service Center designation. The guidelines themselves did not define the 
terms certified or licensed. The individuals from ODE, who did not author but who did 
modify the guidelines, were uncertain as to the meaning of the terms. In order to comply 
with the guidelines, Ms. Bottorff's supervisor requested that she obtain a temporary one
year renewable adult education permit. (T. 263). 

Ms. Bottorff observed two other positions that were not teacher positions per se that 
were included in the Classified Unit, the Adult Education Public Safety Coordinator and 
Adult Education Criminal Justice Coordinator positions. Based upon all of these factors, 
Ms. Bottorff determined that she was underpaid and sought to see what action she could 
take to remedy the situation. The Employer told Ms. Bottorff she would have to seek relief 
through the Classified Unit. Either the Employer or the Classified Unit could have 
proposed negotiating to create a new classification within the Classified Unit with a higher 
pay range for the FAS position, to give Ms. Bottorff the pay increase she was seeking. 
Instead, two petitions for clarification were filed. 

The purpose of a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit is succinctly stated in !D. 
re Pickaway County Human Services Dept, SERB 95-015 (9-29-95): 

A Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit seeks a determination of the 
bargaining-unit status of an employee or group of employees based on the 
existing unit description and content, and the duties performed by the 
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employees in question. A unit clarification is essentially a ruling by SERB 
that a position is already covered by the wording of the existing unit 
description. Clarification may involve a change in the roster of bargaining
unit members, but does not involve any substantial change in the content of 
the unit in terms of what work is being performed by employees in the 
bargaining unit. Employees may be clarified into a unit if their duties are 
substantially similar to those performed by employees already in the unit. 
Clarification may involve a change in the written unit description, but only as 
a result of a determination that the employees in question are included or 
excluded based on the existing description and work content of the unit. 

What the Classified and Certified Units are seeking is a ruling by SERB that the FAS 
position is already covered by the wording of the unit description of the Certified Unit. 
Ms. Bottorff's position may be clarified into the Certified Unit only if her duties are 
substantially similar to those performed by employees already in the Certified Unit. The 
Certified Unit has from its inception contemplated teachers. Regularly employed 
certificated staff has been defined in the recognition clause since the inception of the unit 
as: "Regularly employed certificated staff shall be deemed to include all teachers. All 
teachers, including full-time adult school teachers, holding or obtaining limited or continuing 
contracts." The FAS position, currently in the Classified Unit, is not a teaching position. 
The FAS duties do not transform the FAS position into a teaching position. Ms. Bottorff's 
telephone courtesy class (three hours, taught three times one year, two times another 
year) and financial aid workshop (two hours, presented twice one year) are not sufficient to 
consider her position a teaching position. The bulk of her duties are non-teaching. They do 
not involve regular teaching responsibilities such as writing lesson plans, evaluating 
students, and teaching regular classes. 

Since Ms. Bottorffs teaching document was once called a certificate and the 
Workforce guidelines require a certified or licensed person, the petitioners assert that mere 
semantics require the FAS position to be included in the Certified Unit. The recognition 
clause of the Certified Unit did not contemplate inclusion of anyone with any type of 
document called a certificate. Certificated staff, pursuant to the recognition clause of the 
CBA, clearly meant those persons in teaching positions. Just because Ms. Bottorff's 
document was once called a certificate does not make it the same type of certificate 
contemplated in the CBA. The very definition in the recognition clause of the CBA provides 
evidence of its meaning and intent. It does not matter what the document is called; the 
FAS position is not a teaching position. 

Ms. Bottorff and her counsel seemed convinced that as a matter of fairness and in 
return for her hard work that she should gain inclusion into the Certified Unit. If those 
considerations were the standards, she might well be in that unit. The duties she performs, 
however, are not substantially similar to the duties performed by the persons in the 
Certified Unit. Even the two persons who are most similar to her hold adult teaching 
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permits as opposed to teaching certificates. The only two positions that have adult 
education permits and are in the Certified Unit are the Adult Education Criminal Justice 
Coordinator and the Adult Education Public Safety Coordinator. The Adult Education 
Criminal Justice Coordinator position requires a bachelor's degree as well as OPOTA 
certification. The individual holding this position develops program plans and curriculum, 
teaches classes, and evaluates student performance. Although the Adult Education Public 
Safety Coordinator position is not currently filled, the position requires an associate's or 
bachelor's degree and an Ohio EMT-Paramedic or Firefighter license. The position 
requires the development of program plans and curriculum and the teaching of classes. 
The requirements for both of these positions differ from those of the FAS position, which 
requires no degree, no specific license or certification (except for the full service center 
requirements that are fulfilled by an adult education permit}, and involves only occasional 
presentation of a one-time telephone courtesy class or financial-aid workshop. 

Neither the duties performed nor the intent expressed in the recognition clauses 
support, under the standard for a petition for clarification, Ms. Bottorff's argument that the 
FAS position should be in the Certificated Unit. Based upon the foregoing analysis and 
discussion, the two petitions for clarification should not be granted. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Greene County Career Center is a "public employer" as defined by 
§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Greene County Career Center Classified Employees Association, OEA/NEA 
and the Greene County Career Center Education Association, OEA/NEA are 
"employee organizations" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

3. The bargaining unit represented by the Greene County Career Center Classified 
Employees Association, OEA/NEA should not be clarified to exclude the position of 
Financial Aid Specialist. 

4. The bargaining unit represented by the Greene County Career Center Education 
Association, OEA/NEA should not be clarified to include the position of Financial Aid 
Specialist. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 



OPINION 2006-006 
Case Nos. 2004-REP-11-0208 & 2004-REP-11-0209 
Page 11 of 11 

2. The State Employment Relations Board deny the Petitions for Clarification of 
Bargaining Unit. 
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State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

St. Clairsville-Richland City School District Board of Education, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2004-ULP-12-0680 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Mayton, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
August 15, 2006. 

On December 10, 2004, the Ohio Association of Public School Employees, 
AFSCME Local 4, AFL-CIO and its Local 549 ("the Union") filed an unfair labor practice 
charge against the St. Clairsville-Richland City School District Board of Education ("the 
District"), alleging that the District violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11(A)(1) and 
(A)(5). On June 9, 2005, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or 
"Complainant") found probable cause to believe that the District violated O.R.C. 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by releasing documents pertaining to pending grievances to 
the public in the absence of a court order as required by the parties' agreement. 

At hearing, the parties agreed to stipulate the case in its entirety. Stipulations were 
filed on November 14, 2005. Joint exhibits were filed on November 16, 2005. Briefs were 
filed on December 5, 2005. Reply briefs were filed on December 16, 2005. On March 16, 
2006, the Administrative Law Judge issued a Proposed Order, recommending that SERB 
find that the District had not violated Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11(A)(1) and 
(A)(5). No exceptions were filed to the Proposed Order. 

After reviewing the record, the Proposed Order, and all filings in this case, the Board 
adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the Administrative Law Judge's 
Proposed Order, and finds, for the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, incorporated 
by reference, that the District did not violate Ohio Revised Code Sections 4117.11(A)(1) 
and (A)(5) when it released documents pertaining to pending grievances to the public 
pursuant to the Ohio Public Records Act, but in the absence of a court order as required by 
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the parties' collective bargaining agreement. As a result, the Board dismisses the 
complaint and dismisses with prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 

It is so ordered. 

MAYTON, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman, and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

c 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117 .13(D) by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that a copy of this document was served (Jpon each parfy's repr~tative 

by certified mail, return receipt requested, this /!;? li- day of LU-'-~1-<...a.l , . ; . 

2006. 
r 

/. ./ '\ ~: 
1 1 c. 

:>),...._,,_~ &;· - J....4-->() 

DONNAJ. GLANl'~ADMINISTRATIVEASSISTANT 
direc:t\08-15-06.02 
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In the matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

St. Clairsville-Richland City School District Board of Education, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO 2004-ULP-12-0680 

OPINION 

MAYTON, Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on March 16, 2006. No 

exceptions have been filed. For the reasons below, we find thatthe St. Clairsville-Richland 

City School District Board of Education ('1he District") did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it released documents pertaining to pending grievances 

to the public pursuant to the Ohio Public Records Act ("OPRA"), but in the absence of a 

court order as required by the parties' collective bargaining agreement. 

I, BACKGROUND 

The Ohio Association of Public School Employees, AFSCME Local 4, AFL-CIO and 

its Local 549 ("OAPSE") is the deemed-certified exclusive representative for a bargaining 

unit of the District's non-teaching employees. The District and OAPSE were parties to a 

collective bargaining agreement effective from August 1, 2000 to July 31, 2003 ("CBA"), 

containing a grievance procedure that culminated in final and binding arbitration. 

Section 4.6 of the CBA provided in relevant part as follows: "Copies of the documents 
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pertaining to a grievance which has been filed shall be placed only in confidential files of 

the Treasurer of the Board and President of the Union. The Treasurer shall make these 

available only to the members of the Board, the Superintendent, legal counsel and by court 

order. All proceedings shall be destroyed after ten years." (Jt. Exh. 1) 

At all relevant times, OAP SE and the District were in negotiations for a successor 

collective bargaining agreement. On September 14, 2004, a regular meeting of the 

District's board was conducted. Prior to that meeting, a member of the public made a 

public records request for copies of all current grievances in the District's possession. 

The District released the public records that were requested prior to the District's 

regular meeting on September 14, 2004. Among the documents that the District released 

were copies of grievances filed by the Union's bargaining-unit employees. A court order 

necessitating the District's disclosure of the grievances had not been obtained prior to the 

release of the public records. The District also released a copy of a grievance filed by the 

employee organization that represents the District's teaching employees. 

Two additional grievances and a pending unfair labor practice charge filed by or 

through OAPSE on behalf of a member of the bargaining unit were pending at the time of 

the September 14, 2004 request. These documents could not be located at the time of the 

public records request and were not provided. The documents that were provided 

pursuant to the public records request were those required to be filed and maintained by 

the District pursuant to the collective bargaining agreement and on a form required by the 

collective bargaining agreement with OAPSE. 

On September 14, 2004, a Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service ("FMCS") 

mediator was facilitating the negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement. 

The negotiations session immediately prior to September 14, 2004, was held on 

August 23, 2004. During the negotiations session, the District submitted proposals with 
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respect to Article 6, Vacancies and Transfer, and Article 7, Reduction in Force. The 

negotiations session immediately subsequent to September 14, 2004, was held on 

January 20, 2005. 

On September 17, 2004, OAP SE President Richard Holstein submitted a request to 

the District for a copy of the letter that requested copies of the grievances. The District 

timely complied with that request. The District had previously provided records of pending 

grievances filed by the St. Clairsville Education Association, along with other documents 

requested, pursuant to a public records request submitted March 23, 2004. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Jurisdiction 

Complainant and the Union claim an unfair labor practice occurred when the District 

released copies of grievances in violation of Section 4.6 of the CBA, which provides in 

relevant part as follows: "Copies of the documents pertaining to a grievance which has 

been filed shall be placed only in confidential files of the Treasurer of the Board and 

President of the Union. The Treasurer shall make these available only to the members of 

the Board, the Superintendent, legal counsel and by court order." The District's defense is 

that it was required to release the documents because disclosure was pursuant to a public 

records request under O.R.C. Chapter 149, the Ohio Public Records Act. 

Complainant and the Union argue that SERB lacks jurisdiction to entertain the 

District's defense that it was required by OPRA to release copies of the grievances 

requested. Complainant and Intervenor claim that SERB lacks jurisdiction because SERB 

would be required to apply or construe OPRA, which they state only a court can do. They 

conclude that if SERB cannot construe or apply OPRA, SERB also lacks jurisdiction over 

the facts that triggered the defense. The District then argues, by way of motion to dismiss 

the complaint, that if SERB lacks jurisdiction over the District's OPRA defense, it also lacks 
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jurisdiction over the complaint itself, and therefore the complaint should be dismissed. 

Both Complainant's and the Union's argument in this regard and the District's 

motion to dismiss the complaint fail for the following reasons. SERB's jurisdiction is 

determined from all of the facts presented regardless of how they are presented, be it in 

the complaint, the answer, or motion. So tong as the facts are encompassed by O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117, SERB's jurisdiction is apparent. The Ohio Supreme Court has held that 

SERB has "exclusive jurisdiction to decide matters committed to it pursuant to R.C. 

Chapter 4117." Franklin Cly. Law Enforcement Ass'n v. Fraternal Order of Police, Capital 

City Lodge No. 9, 59 Ohio St.3d 167, 1991 SERB 4-55 (1991). Where the question of 

whether noncompliance with a clause in a CBA constttutes an unfair labor practice under 

0. R. C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) is at issue, SERB's subject matter jurisdiction is clearly 

invoked. 

Any contention that SERB cannot apply OPRA to the CBA is incorrect. This 

situation is not one in which the constitutionality of OPRA is being challenged in a SERB 

proceeding, which would be beyond SERB's jurisdiction. At issue in this case is what 

occurs if the parties to a CBA agree to contract terms that conflict with the requirements of 

OPRA. Can OPRA be raised as a defense in an unfair labor practice proceeding before 

SERB? By necessity, an administrative agency (e.g., SERB) has the ability to apply, 

construe, or interpret a statute (e.g., OPRA) as a necessary precedent to its administrative 

action to determine if an unfair labor practice has been committed. J.R. Simplot Co., Inc. v. 

Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 120 Idaho 849, 820 P 2d 1206 (1991); Dean v. State, 250 Kan. 

417, 826 P.2d 1372 (1992). 

The Union cited Cleveland Polir;e Patrolmen's Ass'n v. White, 109 Ohio App.3d 329, 

1996 SERB 4-7 (8'" Dist Ct App, Cuyahoga, 2-1-96) ("CPPA") for the proposition that 

SERB lacks jurisdiction over a claim that asserts rights independent of the CBA and distinct 

from failure to bargain allegations in the unfair labor practice charge. CPPA involved a 
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union filing a complaint in mandamus on the heels of SERB dismissing two unfair labor 

practice charges, stating there was no probable cause to believe the charged party violated 

O.R.C. § 4117.11, and that an alleged violation of the city charter or codified ordinances is 

not within SERB's jurisdiction. The common pleas court dismissed the complaint stating 

that the Plaintiff's claims under the city charter and city ordinances arose from and were 

dependent on the rights created by O.R.C. Chapter 4117, and that Plaintiff could not frame 

its lawsuit as an action against the Defendant for improperly fulfilling its duties under the 

city charter and city ordinances, thereby avoiding SERB's jurisdiction. The court of appeals 

reversed the common pleas court's dismissal of the complaint in part because the 

complaint in mandamus asserted rights independent of the CBA and because the rights 

asserted by the Plaintiff in the mandamus complaint were wholly distinct from the failure to 

bargain allegations asserted in the unfair labor practice charges. 

CPPA does not preclude SERB from having subject matter jurisdiction over the 

complaint or defenses. Jn CPPA, the court cites Franklin Cty. Law Enforcement Assn. v. 

Fraternal Order of Police, Capital City Lodge No. 9, supra, which states: 

In our view, exclusive jurisdiction to resolve unfair labor practice cases 
is vested in SERB in two general areas: (1) where one ... of the parties files 
charges with SERB alleging an unfair labor practice under R.C. 4117.11; or 
(2) a complaint brought before the court of common pleas alleges conduct 
that constitutes an unfair labor practice specifically enumerated in 
R.C. 4117.11, and the trial court therefore dismisses the complaint for lack of 
subject matter jurisdiction. 

CPPA, as well as State ex rel. Rootstown Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn. v. Portage Cly. 

Court of Common Pleas, 78 Ohio St.3d 489 (1997), also cited by the Union, are 

distinguishable in that they involve determinations as to whether a claim of an unfair labor 

practice charge fell within SERB's exclusive jurisdiction, not whether a defense that does 

not arise from O.R.C. Chapter4117 can be raised by the District once jurisdiction has been 

asserted by SERB. 



SERB OPINION 2006-007 
Case No. 2004-ULP-12-0680 
Page 6 of 13 

The Union also cited a dismissal of an unfair labor charge in Billey v. City of 

Lakewood, SERB Case No. 97-ULP-05-0259 (8-25-97) ("Billey'). Mr. Billey filed an unfair 

labor practice charge against the city, alleging that the city failed to uphold the terms of a 

settlement agreement by not allowing him to investigate his own grievance. The dismissal 

directive stated that "it appears that the State Employment Relations Board does not have 

jurisdiction to determine whether the Charged Party violated the Charging Party's right to 

access public records." Since this directive was not a decision on the merits, it had no 

precedential value. Furthermore, Bi//eywas a procedural dismissal without sufficient facts 

to determine the reason therefore. One could not determine whether the right to access 

public records was an essential component of Mr. Billey's charge and, thus, that his charge 

did not relate sufficiently to 0.R.C. Chapter 4117 for SERB to have jurisdiction. 

B. The Documents Released by the District Were Public Records as Defined by 
O.R.C. §§ 149.0111Gl and 149.431Al 

O.R.C. § 149.43 provides in relevant part: 

(A) As used in this section: 
(1) "Public record" means records kept by any public office, 

including, but not limited to, ••*school district units[.] 

O.R.C. § 149.011 provides in relevant part: 

As used in this chapter: 
••• 
(G) "Records" means any document, device or item, regardless of 

physical form or characteristic, including an electronic record as defined in 
Section 1306.01 of the Revised Code, created or received by or coming 
under the jurisdiction of any public office of the state or its political 
subdivision, which serves to document the organization, functions, policies, 
decisions, procedures, operations, or other activities of the office. 

O.R.C. Chapter 149 provides for exemptions from its coverage. Certain public 

records are discretionally exempt. These records are subject to an exemption, but may be 
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released if the public office chooses to waive the exemption. The grievance forms 

released are records kept by the Treasurer of the Board for a ten-year period. Grievances 

are not listed as being discretionally exempt from OPRA. 

Certain records are mandatorily exempt because the public disclosure of these 

records is prohibited by Ohio or federal law. As a result, such records cannot be released 

by a public office in response to a public records request. Grievances are not subject to 

this exemption. Exemptions to OPRA are to be narrowly construed. State ex rel. National 

Broadcasting Co. v. Cleveland (1988), 38 Ohio St.3d 79. Records not subject to any 

exemption, such as grievance records, must be released by law. 

Unless OPRA provides an exemption, an attempt to make records confidential and 

exempt from disclosure under OPRA through the terms of an agreement fails. Parties to a 

public contract such as a settlement agreement or collective bargaining agreement cannot 

avoid OPRA by language in their agreement. For example, in State ex rel. Findlay Pub. 

Co. v. Hancock County Bd. of Commrs., 80 Ohio St.3d 134, 1997-0hio-353, a 

confidentiality provision in a settlement agreement did not preclude disclosure under OPRA 

because the county commissioners could not enter into enforceable promises of 

confidentiality regarding publ'1c records. If a collective bargaining agreement includes a 

destruction-of-documents provision that "conflicts with or fails to comport with all of the 

requirements of the Ohio Public Records Act, then the provision is invalid." Keller v. 

Columbus, 100 Ohio St. 3d 192, 195, 2003-0hio-5599; State ex rel. Dispatch Printing Co. 

v. Wells, 18 Ohio St.3d 382 ("Dispatch f'); State ex rel. Dispatch Printing Co. v. Columbus, 

90 Ohio St.3d 39, 2000-0hio-8 ("Dispatch II") 

In Toledo Police Patrolmen's Assn, Local 10, IUPA v. Toledo, 94 Ohio App.3d 734, 

1994 SERB 4-78 (5-6-94), the Court of Appeals for Lucas County found that the City did 

not breach a collective bargaining agreement provision requiring police officers to 

participate in internal affairs investigations, when the City released police department 
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internal affairs documents pursuant to OPRA. The Court found that the City's promise to 

maintain confidentiality of such records was rendered impossible by law thereby excusing 

non-performance by the City. Since OPRA did not provide an exemption for these records, 

the City was required to comply with the records request under O.R.C. § 149.43. 

C. Refusal to Bargain 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) provide as follows: 

(A) It is unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code(;] 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative * * * pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The key issue is whether the District engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it released documents pertaining to pending 

grievances in the absence of a court order as requested by the parties' agreements. 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 

Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain, 

regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 89-033 (12-20-69). 

The duty to bargain in good faith extends to grievance proceedings; such 

proceedings are "both an extension and an inherent part of the collective bargaining 

process." In re Bryan City Bd of Ed, SERB 97-003 (3-14-97) ("Bryan"). The essence of the 

issue in this case is whether the District violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by 

disregarding the terms of the parties CBA and releasing grievances in response to a public 

records request. The charge and complaint do not allege that the District was under an 
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obligation to provide notice and an opportunity to bargain to the Union prior to honoring the 

public records request. To this extent, analysis of the case under In re Toledo City School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-005 (10-1-01), is unnecessary. 

D. O.R.C. § 4117.101Al Does Not Prevail over OPRA 

Complainant and the Union argue that O.R.C. § 4117.21 required the District to 

maintain the confidentiality of pending grievances. O.R.C. § 4117.21 provides as follows: 

"Collective bargaining meetings between public employers and employee organizations are 

private, and are not subject to section 121.22 of the Revised Code." The argument by 

Complainant and the Union that O.R.C. § 4117.10(A) somehow prevails over OPRA is also 

laid to rest by the Ohio Supreme Court in the Dispatch cases. 

Various courts have concluded that O.R.C. § 4117.21 is limited to collective 

bargaining meetings. In State ex rel. Calvary v. Upper Arlington, 89 Ohio St.3d 229, 233, 

2000-0hio-142, 2000 SERB 4-15, 4-17, the Ohio Supreme Court holds: 

The manifest language R.C. 4117.21 exempts only collective 
bargaining meetings from public disclosure. R.C. 4117.21 authorizes the 
closure of collective bargaining meetings between public employers and 
employee organizations and precludes the disclosure of minutes of those 
meetings under R.C. 149.43. But collective bargaining agreements, tentative 
or otherwise, resulting from the negotiations are not shielded from disclosure. 
(Citations omitted; emphasis in original) 

SERB was equally clear in In re South Euclid-Lyndhurst City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 92-005 (4-21-92) at p. 3-15: 1 

As the Board observed about this provision [O.R.C. § 4117.21] in In re 
City of Dayton, SERB 85-006 (3-14-85): "The command could hardly be 
more plainly stated in English." Collective bargaining meetings are private 

' SERB made specific note of the Hearing Officer's erroneous conclusion while interpreting In ro 
Mentor Village School District Board of Education, SERB 89-011 (5-16-89), that the Board found it 
reasonable to construe O.R.C. § 4117.21 to include communications concerning negotiations as 
well as the actual negotiations process. 
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and are not subject to the public meetings requirement of the Sunshine Law. 
That is all that 4117.21 says and intends to say. The wisdom of this section 
is evident. Negotiation sessions need to be conducted away from the public 
eye. • • • (emphasis in original) 

Trying to apply O.R.C. § 4117.21 to the production of grievances under an OPRA 

request stretches the statutory section beyond any rational reading. Bryan involves an 

employer's commission of an unfair labor practice by unilaterally conditioning its 

participation in grievance meetings on the union's consent to having the meetings tape 

recorded. "The tape recording of grievance meetings, or contractual negotiations, may 

have a chilling effect on the free exchange of proposals and ideas and the give-and-take 

process that is encouraged during those meetings." Id at 3-13. While Bryan extends the 

duty to bargain in good faith from collective bargaining to the grievance procedure, it does 

not extend the privacy component of O.R.C. § 4117.21 to grievances. In the instant case, 

it is the disclosure only of the grievance form itself that is involved. The same logic that 

applies in the case of either disclosure of collective bargaining meetings or grievance 

meetings in terms of any "chilling effect" does not apply to a disclosure of the completed 

grievance form itself. 

The Ohio General Assembly states the overarching mission of SERB as "promoting 

orderly and constructive relationships between all public employers and employees." 

O.R.C. § 4117.22. In order to achieve this purpose, the law governing SERB (0.R.C. 

Chapter 4117) accords great deference to the agreements of public employers and 

employees that are formalized as collective bargaining agreements. For example, the 

parties to a collective bargaining agreement (CBA) are free to include a dispute settlement 

provision in the CBA that actually supersedes the considerable mediation processes -

including fact-finding and, if applicable, conciliation - otherwise required by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.14(C). 

The most sweeping expression of this intent, however, is found in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.10(A), which provides that O.R.C. Chapter 4117 "prevails over any and all other 
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conflicting laws, resolutions, provisions, present or future, except as otherwise specified in 

this chapter or as otherwise specified by the general assembly." This statutory principle 

has been held by the Ohio Supreme Court to extend to the collective bargaining agreement 

itself. "Except for laws specifically exempted, the provisions of a collective bargaining 

agreement entered into pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4117 prevail over conflicting laws." State 

ex rel. Parsons v. Fleming (1994), 68 Ohio St.3d 509, 513, 1994-0hio-172 (citing favorably 

to Cincinnativ. Ohio Council 8, Am. Fedn. of State, Cly. & Mun. Emp., AFL-C/O (1991), 61 

Ohio St.3d 658, paragraph one of the Syllabus). 

Prior to the enactment of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 in 1984, a collective bargaining 

agreement in the public sector context in Ohio was only enforceable to the extent that it 

was not contrary to law. See Struthers City Schools Bd. of Edn. v. Struthers Edn. Assn. 

(1983), 6 Ohio St.3d 308. Confusion over what constituted "contrary to law'' sometimes led 

to protracted litigation. The General Assembly brought order to this confusion by changing 

this rule via 0.R.C. § 4117.10(A). 

The instant case presents a direct conflict between the provisions of a collective 

bargaining agreement and O.R.C. § 149.43. Specifically, Complainant and the Union call 

upon SERB to find that the Respondent committed an unfair labor practice by releasing 

records pertaining to pending grievances contrary to express prohibitions contained in the 

parties' CBA. These grievance-related documents are public records as that term is 

defined in O.R.C. §§ 149.43(A)(1) and (G). 

In a government "of the people, by the people, and for the people", the electorate 

must have broad access to its records if it is to make intelligent and informed decisions. 

Therefore, the Ohio Supreme Court has stated that the guiding principle in deciding public 

records questions is that the public records law should be interpreted liberally in favor of 

disclosure. State ex rel. Warren Newspapers, Inc. v. Hutson (1994), 70 Ohio St.3d 619. 
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In the specific context of a conflict between a CBA and OPRA, the Ohio Supreme 

Court has already held as follows: "R.C. 4117.10(A) was designed to free public 

employees from conflicting laws which may act to interfere with the••• right to collectively 

bargain. If respondent's construction of this provision were accepted, private citizens 

would be empowered to alter legal relationships between a government and the public at 

large via collective bargaining agreements." Dispatch II, supra at 42 (citing favorably to 

and quoting from Dispatch I, 18 Ohio St.3d at 384). "Such a result was beyond the 

General Assembly's contemplation in enacting R.C. 4117.1 O(A)." Dispatch II, supra. 

Stated another way, parties to a collective bargaining agreement should be able, 

under O.R.C. § 4117.10(A), to waive their own statutory rights. They should not, however, 

be able to waive the substantial rights of others who are not party to the CBA. Chief 

Justice Moyer took this concept a step further when he dryly observed that the notion that 

CBAs prevail over all other laws without exception would allow parties to a CBA to "include 

a provision that all disputes between labor and management would be settled by a duel." 

Dispatch II, supra. 

Lest there be any remaining doubt, the Ohio Supreme Court confirmed these 

principles in Keller v. Columbus, supra. In that case, the Court expressed the following 

proposition of law in its Syllabus: "Any provision in a collective bargaining agreement that 

establishes a schedule for the destruction of public records is unenforceable if it conflicts 

with or fails to comport with all of the dictates of the Public Records Act." 

Thus, where a conflict exists between OPRA and§ 4.6 of the CBA, OPRA prevails 

over the CBA. None of Complainant's and the Union's arguments support a finding of a 

violation of 0.R.C. §§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). The District did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it released grievance documents in response to a public 

records request despite the restrictions in § 4.6 of the CBA. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the St. Clairsville-Richard City School 

District Board of Education did not violate Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) 

when it released documents pertaining to pending grievances to the public pursuant to the 

Ohio Public Records Act, but in the absence of a court order as required by the parties' 

collective bargaining agreement. Therefore, the complaint is dismissed, and the unfair 

labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18, 
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City of Cleveland, 

Employer. 

Case No. 2002-REP-06-0116 

DIRECTIVE 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Mayton, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
September 28, 2006. 

On April 11, 2005, the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council 
("MCEOLC") filed a "Petition for Administrative Hearing," in which it requested that the 
State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") appoint a hearing examiner to 
adjudicate certain issues that the Ohio Supreme Court had found, in Consolo v. City of 
Cleveland (2004), 103 Ohio St.3d 362, 2004-0hio-5389, to be within SERB's jurisdiction. 
On August 25, 2005, the Board issued an Order Directing Administrative Hearing 
identifying seven questions to be addressed through the hearing by the Administrative Law 
Judge. 

On February 6, 2006, a hearing was held. Subsequently, all parties filed post
hearing briefs. On July 20, 2006, a Recommended Determination was issued by the 
Administrative Law Judge. On August 16, 2006, the City of Cleveland filed exceptions to 
the Recommended Determination. On August 29, 2006, MCEOLC filed a response to the 
exceptions. On September 1, 2006, the International Union of Operating Engineers, 
Local 18 filed a petition to join the response of MCEOLC in support of the Recommended 
Determination. 
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After reviewing the record, the Recommended Determination, the Employer's 
exceptions, the Employee Organizations' responses to the exceptions, and all other filings 
in this case, the Board construes the Analysis and Discussion in the Administrative Law 
Judge's Recommended Determination as Conclusions of Law; adopts the Introduction, 
Procedural History, Issues, Findings of Fact, and Analysis and Discussion/Conclusions of 
Law in the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Determination, incorporated by 
reference; and finds that: (1) International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 was not 
a deemed-certified bargaining agent on or before April 1, 1984, for those persons 
employed by the City of Cleveland as construction equipment operators; (2) International 
Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 was not the exclusive representative for the 
construction equipment operators at any time during the period of 1994 through 1998; 
(3) the City of Cleveland and International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 
informed the construction equipment operators of the prevailing wage rate agreed to by 
International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 and the City of Cleveland to settle a 
contempt action, but International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 did not negotiate 
a decrease in compensation of those persons employed by the City of Cleveland as 
construction equipment operators with the knowledge or consent of the construction 
equipment operators; (4) no evidence was presented in the record showing that 
International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 informed the City of Cleveland that 
the construction equipment operators themselves, as individual employees, had agreed to 
a decrease in compensation; (5) the wages of the construction equipment operators who 
were appellees in Consolo v. City of Cleveland (2004), 103 Ohio St.3d 362, 2004-0hio-
5389, were not the result of collective bargaining between International Union of Operating 
Engineers. Local 18 and the City of Cleveland; and (6) no evidence was presented in the 
record showing that any benefits package was negotiated or implemented for the 
construction equipment operators until February 2005, which was after SERB certified the 
Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council as the construction equipment 
operators' exclusive representative in January 2003. 

It is so ordered. 

MAYTON, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman; and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

< 
t.. . . ......... -----· I\ .... 

'----··· ·-....... ·; 

CRAIGR. AYTON, CHAIRMAN 
' ,_,. 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 119 .12, by filing a notice of appeal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the 
Franklin County Court of Common Pleas within fifteen days after the mailing of the State 
Employment Relations Board's directive. 
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BETH A. JEWELL 
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RECOMMENDED 
DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On April 11, 2005, the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor 
Council ("MCEOLC") filed a "Petition for Administrative Hearing," in which it requested 
that the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") appoint a hearing 
examiner to adjudicate certain issues that the Ohio Supreme Court had found to be 
within SERB's jurisdiction in Consolo v. City of Cleveland (2004), 103 Ohio St.3d 362, 
2004-0hio-5389. On August 25, 2005, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" 
or "Board") issued an Order Directing Administrative Hearing. In its order, SERB stated 
as follows: 

We have considered the arguments raised by Local 18 and the 
Employer maintaining that the Board possesses no legal authority to 
conduct such a hearing outside the parameters of an unfair labor practice 
charge proceeding. However, in this particular matter, in which the Ohio 
Supreme Court has specifically identified issues that it says must first be 
addressed by SERB, we have decided to exercise our plenary jurisdiction 
to resolve them. We are cognizant of the mandate of Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117.22, which charges SERB with construing Chapter 4117 liberally to 
promote orderly and constructive relationships between public employers 
and public employees. 
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Thereafter, the Board assigned this Administrative Law Judge to take testimony 
for the purpose of preparing recommendations to the Board on seven questions. A 
hearing was held on February 6, 2006, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence 
was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In 1973, the Ohio Supreme Court decided Pinzone v. Cleveland (1973), 34 Ohio 
St.2d 26 ("Pinzone"), holding that, under Section 191 of the City Charter of the City of 
Cleveland, wages for building and construction trades employees working for the City 
should be paid at the prevailing wage rates in the private sector, in accordance with a 
private sector contract between Cleveland Building and Construction Trades Employers 
Association and the Mechanical Contractors Association. The City argued that such 
items as paid sick leave, greater job security and more steady employment could be 
offset against the higher base wage in private industry. The Court disagreed: 
"Permitting an offset for such 'fringe benefits' would necessarily encourage arbitrary and 
probably inaccurate lowerings of the base municipal wage scale. Clearly, this is not the 
intent or meaning of Section 191." Pinzone, supra at 31. 

In State ex rel. lnternatl Union of Operating Engineers v. Cleveland (1992), 
62 Ohio St.3d 537 ("IUOE"), an action in mandamus brought by Local 18 as the 
bargaining representative for construction equipment operators and master mechanics 
(collectively, "CEOs") working for the City, the Ohio Supreme Court issued a writ of 
mandamus ordering the City to pay back and future wages to the CEOs in accordance 
with the City Charter. 

In 2001, forty CEOs filed a complaint in the court of common pleas, asserting that 
the City was not compensating them in accordance with IUOE and the City Charter.' 
See Consolo v. Cleveland (2004), 103 Ohio St.3d 362, 2004-0hio-5389 ("Consolo"). In 
Consolo, the CEOs claimed that the City stopped paying increases in prevailing wages 
after 1993 and that the City stopped paying pension contributions in 1998. The CEOs 
additionally claimed that in 1998, Local 18 negotiated with the City on their behalf but 
without their authorization. The CEOs claimed that Local 18 and the City verbally 
agreed that the CEOs would waive their rights to pension contributions and prevailing 
wage increases. Local 18 and the City argued that the CEOs' claims belonged before 
SERB as unfair labor practices because Local 18 was the CEOs' exclusive bargaining 
representative during the time periods in question. The trial court dismissed the CEOs' 
claims, holding that the allegations were tantamount to unfair labor practice claims and 
thus within SERB's exclusive jurisdiction. The CE Os appealed. Ultimately, the Ohio 
Supreme Court upheld the trial court's dismissal, holding that SERB has the exclusive 
authority to determine whether the CEOs' compensation levels were the result of 
collective bargaining. However, the Ohio Supreme Court noted the following arguments 
asserted by the CEOs as appellees in the Consolo litigation: 

'On January 30, 2003, SERB certified the MCEOLC as the exclusive representative of 
City employees in a bargaining unit including CEOs. 
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It ls Important to note that the appellees' allegations are contrary to facts 
stipulated in IUOE. Appellees assert that Local 18 is not and never has 
been their exclusive bargaining representative. They also assert that the 
R.C. 4115.03(E) definition of "prevailing wage" is controlling. Before 
visiting the prevailing-wage issue, we first focus upon Local 18's 
relationship with appellees. 

The city contends that appellees were in privily with Local 18 in lUOE and 
that the stipulations from IUOE estop appellees from asserting that 
Local 18 is not their exclusive bargaining representative. Collateral 
estoppel, however, does not apply because IUOE does not speak to 
Local 18's current status as collective-bargaining representative. Hence, 
even if appellees m·1ght otherwise have been estopped from litigating 
issues decided by IUOE, the identity of appellees' bargaining 
representative after 1992 was not an issue addressed in that opinion. 
Moreover, Local 18's status was neither actually litigated nor essential to 
our judgment. Local 18's status as a collective-bargaining representative 
appears to have been stipulated in IUOE to demonstrate its standing to file 
suit against the city. Here, appellees agree that Local 18 was a collective
bargaining agent but not their exclusive bargaining agent as contemplated 
by R.C. 4117.05. This distinction was immaterial to our IUOE decision. It 
may be key here. Therefore, IUOE does not bar appel/ees from arguing 
that Local 18 is not their exclusive bargaining agent. 

Consolo, supra at 364-365. The Court concluded, in relevant part, as follows: "If 
appellees' compensation levels were the result of collective bargaining under R.C. 
Chapter 4117, then the city's charter provisions would be inapplicable .... If appellees 
prevail before SERB on their claim that their wages did not result from collective 
bargaining, then the city charter controls." Consolo, supra at 367. 

Following the Ohio Supreme Court's decision in Consolo, the MCEOLC filed its 
"Petition for Administrative Hearing" with SERB. 

Ill. ISSUES 

The following seven questions were presented by the Board for the 
Administrative Law Judge's consideration: 

1. Whether before April 1, 1984, the International Union of Operating Engineers, 
Local 18 ("Local 18") ever was the deemed-certified representative of those persons 
employed by the City as construction equipment operators, who are now represented by 
the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council ("MCEOLC") as their 
exclusive bargaining agent. 
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2. If Question No. 1 is answered affirmatively, how long may a deemed certified 
representative retain that status if Local 18 never complied with the reporting 
requirements of§ 4117.192? 

3. Was Local 18 the "exclusive representative" of those persons employed by 
the City of Cleveland ("Ctty") as construction equipment operators anytime during the 
period of 1994 through 1998? 

4. Did Local 18 negotiate with the City a decrease in compensation of those 
persons employed by the City as construction equipment operators without their 
knowledge or consent? 

5. Did Local 18 falsely inform the City that those persons employed by the City 
as construction equipment operators had agreed to a decrease in compensation? 

6. Were the wages of the construction equipment operators who were appellees 
in Consolo v. Citv of Cleveland (2004), 103 Ohio St.3d 362, [2004-0hio-5389,] the result 
of collective bargaining between Local 18 and the City? 

7. Did the City and Local 18 negotiate and implement a benefits package that 
provided the construction equipment operators described above in Paragraph (6) with 
equal or better benefits than are provided by the City Charter? 

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT3 

1. The MCEOLC is an "employee organization" as defined in § 4117.01(D). (Consent 
Election Agreement, December 2002, SERB Case No. 02-REP-06-0116) 

2. The International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 ("Local 18"), is an 
"employee organization" as defined in § 4117.01(D). (Consent Election Agreement, 
December 2002, SERB Case No 02-REP-06-0116) 

3. The City of Cleveland ("City") is a "public employer" as defined in§ 4117.01(B). 
(Consent Election Agreement, December 2002, SERB Case No. 02-REP-06-0116) 
------- -·--

2 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, unless 
otherwise indicated. 

3 All references to the transcript of hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed 
by the page number(s). All references to the parties' stipulations of fact in the record are 
indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number(s). References to the 
MCEOLC's exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "P. Exh.,' followed by the 
exhibit number(s). References to Local 18's exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically 
by "U. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the City's exhibits in the record 
are indicated parenthetically by "C. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the 
record in the Findings of Fact are for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that 
such reference is the sole support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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4. During the years before and at the time Chapter 4117 became effective, the Civil 
Service Employees Association ("CSEA") represented dues-paying civil service 
employees of the City by filing grievances on their behalf. The CSEA was open to all 
civil service employees, without regard to union affiliation. (T. 23, 57-58, 60) 

5. Before and after Chapter 4117 became effective, the Construction Equipment 
Operators ("CEOs") working for the City received the prevailing wage under Section 191 
of the City Charter. The CEOs relied upon Local 18 to inform the City of the current 
prevailing wage under Local 18's Building Agreement with the Construction Employers 
Association ("Building Agreement"). (T. 46, 111; U Exhs. 11-17; P. Exhs. 34-37) 

6. On March 1, 1983, seven individual CEOs employed in the City's Water 
Department signed a letter to the Commissioner of the Water Department, accepting a 
new policy put in place by the department that clarified when the employees would 
receive overtime pay. Their signatures on the letter are witnessed by local 18 Business 
Representative Dudley Snell. At that time, approximately 50 CEOs were employed by 
the City in various departments, including water, parks, streets, and the municipal power 
plant. (T. 124; C. Exh. 1, p. 7) 

7. In 1987, employee organizations representing several bargaining units of 
employees working for the City entered into collective bargaining agreements with the 
City. These collective bargaining agreements typically involved wages in the amount of 
80 percent of the prevailing wage rate, plus City fringe benefits. Although they were not 
receiving City fringe benefits, the CEOs did not want a collective bargaining agreement 
with a wage rate lower than the prevailing wage. The CEOs rejected the collective 
bargaining agreement proposed by the City. (T. 107-108; C. Exh. 1, pp. 7-9) 

8. Between 1988 and 1996, many CE Os joined Local 18 and signed dues deduction 
authorization cards. (C. Exh. 8) 

9. In 1992, the Ohio Supreme Court granted a writ of mandamus directing the City to 
comply with City Charter Section 191 by paying back and future wages to the City's 
CEOs in accordance with prevailing wage rates. local 18 brought the mandamus 
action on behalf of its members who were working as CEOs for the City. State ex rel. 
lnternatl. Union of Operating Engineers v. Cleveland (1992), 62 Ohio St.3d 
537 ("IUOE"). 

10. On August 6, 1996, a meeting of Local 18 members working for the City was held at 
Local 18's Cleveland headquarters. At this meeting, Local 18 President Dudley Snell 
asked the members if they would like to vote on whether they wanted Local 18 to 
negotiate a contract with the City on their behalf. The members voted not to authorize 
Local 18 to represent them in negotiating a contract with the City. (T. 25-26, 27, 106, 
132; P. Exh. 45) 
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11. After 1993, the City disputed the prevailing wage rate it was required to pay the 
CE Os. The City argued that it was entitled to offset certain items from the private sector 
prevailing wage rate. Local 18 then filed a contempt action to compel the City to comply 
with the terms of the Ohio Supreme Court's decision in IUOE, supra. In 1998, Local 18 
and the City resolved this litigation by agreeing to a calculation of the prevailing wage 
rate that included a deduction for pension contributions. and Local 18 dismissed the 
contempt action. Local 18 President Snell and Assistant City Law Director Thomas 
Corrigan held a meeting with the CEOs to explain how Local 18 and the City had 
calculated the prevailing wage rate. The CEOs were not asked to vote on, and never 
voted to approve, the settlement of the litigation or the calculation of the prevailing wage 
rate. (T. 35-36.134-135, 139-142, 143-144, 159-160; C. Exh. 1, pp. 24-27) 

12. No City records can be found to indicate that the City Council approved a collective 
bargaining agreement between the City and a union that represented a bargaining unit 
including CEOs and master mechanics prior to February 14, 2005. (S., T. 12) 

13. No City records indicate the receipt by the City prior to April 1, 1984, of a request 
for recognition by Local 18 to be the exclusive bargaining representative for a 
bargaining unit which included CEOs and master mechanics. (S., T. 13) 

14. During the period of time from April 1, 1984 to February 5, 2002, SERB has no 
record of certification or recognition for the CE Os employed by the City m its Division of 
Streets or Division of Water. (P. Exh. 48) 

15. On June 28, 2002, the MCEOLC filed a Request for Recognition with SERB, 
seeking to represent a proposed bargaining unit of City employees in the classifications 
of Master Mechanic, Construction Equipment Operator A, and Construction Equipment 
Operator B, within the City's Departments of Public Utilities and Public Service. (SERB 
Case No. 02-REP-06-0116) 

16. Following the execution of a Consent Election Agreement, SERB conducted a 
secret ballot election on January 16, 2003. On January 30, 2003, SERB certified the 
MCEOLC as the exclusive representative of the employees in the proposed bargaining 
unit. (SERB Case No. 02-REP-06-0116) 

V. ANALYSIS ANO DISCUSSION 

RECOMMENDED ANSWERS TO THE SEVEN QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Whether before April 1, 1984, the International Union of Operating Engineers, 
Local 18 ("Local 18") ever was the deemed certified representative of those persons 
employed by the City as construction equipment operators, who are now represented by 
the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Local Council ("MCEOLC") as their 
exclusive bargaining agent. 
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No. After examining the facts, and for the reasons that follow, it is recommended 
that Local 18 never was the deemed-certified representative of the CEOs. 

1983 S 133, § 4, also referred to in SERB Opinions as the "temporary law" or the 
"uncodified law," provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) Exclusive recognition through a written contract, agreement, or 
memorandum of understanding by a public employer to an employee 
organization whether specifically stated or through tradition, custom, 
practice, election, or negotiation the employee organization has been the 
only employee organization representing all employees in the unit is 
protected subject to the time restriction in division (B) of section 4117.05 
of the Revised Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, an 
employee organization recognized as the exclusive representative shall be 
deemed certified until challenged by another employee organization under 
the provisions of this act and the State Employment Relations Board has 
certified an exclusive representative. 

(B) Any employee organization otherwise recognized by the public 
employer without a written contract, agreement, or memorandum of 
understanding shall continue to be recognized until challenged as 
provided in this act, and the Board has certified an exclusive 
representative. 

(C) Nothing in this act shall be construed to permit an employer to 
terminate or refuse to make payroll deductions of dues, fees, or 
assessments to any employee organization pursuant to written 
authorization; except that the deductions may not continue to be made 
after another employee organization has been certified under this act by 
the Board. 

• •• 

(F) This act does not preclude any nonprofit, voluntary, bona fide 
organization which, by tradition, custom and practice, has engaged in the 
processing of grievances for public employees before political subdivision 
civil service commissions as of June 1, 1983, from providing the services it 
has heretofore offered on a voluntary basis or from receiving a voluntary 
check-off of dues. 

In In re City of Akron, SERB 94-012 (4-28-94) ("Akron"), at p. 3-81, SERB 
explained deemed-certified status as follows: 

An employee organization has deemed-certified status if, at the time 
Chapter 4117 went into effect, it was recognized by the employer as the 
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exclusive bargaining representative of certain employees of an employer 
in a specific bargaining unit. Thus, the crucial time for determining 
deemed-certified status is the law's effective date, April 1, 1984. The 
policy behind creating deemed-certified status was to preserve the status 
quo when the new law took effect and to ensure stability in public sector 
labor relations as the state entered an era of regulated collective 
bargaining. 

The controlling factor in determining deemed-certified status is the type of 
relationship existing between the employee organization and the employer 
on April 1, 1984, specifically whether the employer exclusively recognized 
the employee organization as the representative of certain employees of 
an employer in a given bargaining unit at that time. Obviously, the most 
significant indicator of exclusive recognition is a collective bargaining 
agreement or memorandum of understanding between the employee 
organization and the employer in effect on that date, which by its terms 
recognizes the employee organization as the exclusive representative. 
However, exclusive recognition not specifically written might be proven 
through tradition, custom, practice, election, or negotiation. 

In this case, the parties agree that no collective bargaining agreement or other 
writing exists to establish Local 18 as the exclusive representative of the CEOs. Even 
Local 18 asserts that the CEOs limited Local 18's "representation" to periodically 
informing the City of the amount of the prevailing wage under the Building Agreement 
and to representing the CEOs in grievance proceedings. 

SERB examined the concept of exclusive recognition established through 
tradition, practice and negotiation in SERB v. City of Bedford Hts., SERB 87-016 (7-24-
87), affd 41 Ohio App. 3d 21 (11-25-87) ("Bedford Hts."). In Bedford Hts., a 
memorandum of understanding was in effect from January 1984 to December 1985, 
which encompassed the crucial time for deemed-certified status. However, the 
memorandum contained no provision recognizing the employee organization as the 
exclusive representative of the employees. Because the contract was silent on the 
issue of exclusive recognition, the Board looked to the parties' tradition, custom, and 
negotiation to ascertain the employee organization's status. 

The facts in Bedford Hts. are significantly different from those presented in this 
case, where the parties have never entered into a contract. Here, as in Akron, supra, 
the absence of any collective bargaining agreement on April 1, 1984, presents particular 
difficulties in establishing exclusive recognition: 

Although exclusive recognition may conceivably be established without a 
formal contract in existence on April 1, 1984, the party seeking to prove 
such status without a contract has a substantial burden .... A collective 
bargaining agreement, even one without an exclusive recognition clause, 
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is probative of the parties' relationship and may contribute to establishing 
exclusive recognition. The existence of a contract shows that the employer 
and the employee organization conducted negotiations on terms and 
conditions of employment. Typically, the contract identifies the employees 
covered by the contract or the bargaining unit. Where no contract exists, 
status must be proven solely by evidence of live conduct and interaction 
between the parties, which rises to the level of exclusivity. 

Akron, supra at 3-82. 

Here, without a contract, the City and Local 18 rely on dues deductions and 
grievance processing to establish exclusive representative status as of April 1, 1984. 
These factors are not persuasive. Under § 4(C) of the temporary law, an employer 
cannot refuse to make dues deductions under written authorization where no certified 
representative exists. But § 4(C) does not vest an employee organization with deemed
certified status. Under§ 4(F) of the temporary law, an organization does not even have 
to be an employee organization to be allowed to continue processing grievances and 
have dues deducted if such was done as of June 1, 1983. An organization does not 
become deemed certified only by processing grievances and having dues deducted. 
Akron, supra at 3-82. Furthermore, the evidence in the record reveals that both 
Local 18 and the CSEA were involved in processing the CEOs' grievances. Even for 
grievance processing purposes, Local 18 was not an exclusive representative. 

Moreover, the record does not establish that the City ever actually negotiated 
wages with Local 18 before April 1, 1984. The record shows only that Local 18 
periodically wrote letters informing the City of the prevailing wage rate under the 
Building Agreement.4 Even Local 18 does not characterize the CEOs' wages as being 
the result of collective bargaining: "The wages paid the CEOs were based upon the 
City Charter requiring the city of Cleveland, absent a collective bargaining agreement, to 
pay the prevailing wage rate negotiated between construction union and private 
employers. "5 

The only other documentary evidence of pre-April 1, 1984 contact between the 
City and Local 18 is a March 1, 1983 document involving Local 18 members who 
worked in the City's Water Department According to a March 2, 1983 c:over letter sent 
from the Commissioner of the Water Department to the Assistant Commissioner, the 
subject of the document is a staggered work week for the employees. Most significant 
about this document is that it was signed by the employees themselves, 
"acknowledg[ing] their agreement to the policy change." The Local 18 business 
representative's signature appears only in the capacity of witness to the employees' 
signatures. 6 Rather than an indication of exclusive recognition, this document 

'C. Exh. 1. pp. 1-5. 
'Post-Hearing Brief of Local 18, p 11. 
'C. Exh. 1, pp. 6-7. 
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corroborates the hearing testimony of CEO witness Anthony Mangano, who stated that 
he understood that he was on his own regarding conditions of employment.7 

The earliest documentation of specific discussions on working conditions 
between the City and Local 18 are July and August 1987 letters involving efforts to 
negotiate a collective bargaining agreement." Such efforts, even if they culminated in a 
written collective bargaining agreement, could not make Local 18 a deemed-certified 
representative because the critical date, April 1, 1984, had long passed. "Private 
agreements reached after April 1, 1984 cannot bestow on the employee organizations 
involved deemed-certified status and do not confer 4117 rights." Akron, supra at 3-82. 

In sum, the parties in Bedford Hts. engaged in regular, full-fledged contract 
negotiations. The relationship between the City and Local 18 does not rise to the level 
of contract negotiations. In Bedford Hts., the description of the bargaining unit was 
clear. In this case, no evidence of a bargaining-unit description exists. And finally, in 
Bedford Hts., the employee organization had a written memorandum of understanding 
with the City effective January 1984 to December 1985, even though the written 
agreement was silent on the recognition issue. In the instant case, the City and 
Local 18 never signed a written agreement. 

"Section 4 of the Temporary Law was designed to maintain the status quo in 
those public sector employer-employee collective-bargaining relationships predating 
April 1, 1984. But not all the degrees, shapes and forms of collective bargaining 
permitted by Chapter 4117 result in deemed-certified status. Only the existence of 
exclusive recognition on April 1, 1984 creates deemed-certified status after April 1, 
1984." Akron, supra at 3-83 to 3-84. The record in the case at issue does not establish 
that the relationship between the City and Local 18 was one of exclusive recognition on 
April 1, 1984. Thus, Local 18 never was a deemed-certified representative of the CEOs 
employed by the City. 

2. If Question No. 1 is answered affirmatively, how long may a deemed certified 
representative retain that status if Local 18 never complied with the reporting 
requirements of Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.19? 

The answer to Question No. 1 is no. Therefore, Question No. 2 is not applicable. 

3. Was Local 18 the "exclusive representative" of those persons employed by 
the City of Cleveland as construction equipment operators anytime during the period of 
1994 through 1998? 

No, Local 18 was not the exclusive representative of the CEOs at any time. 
Under Question No. 1, supra, Local 18 was not deemed certified. Furthermore, it is 

7 T.96,112. 
8 F.F. No. 7. 
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undisputed that SERB has never certified Local 18 as the exclusive collective
bargaining representative forthe CEOs under§ 4117.05. 

4. Did Local 18 negotiate with the City a decrease in compensation of those 
persons employed by the City as construction equipment operators without their 
knowledge or consent? 

The record demonstrates that in 1998, the City and Local 18 informed the CEOs 
of the prevailing wage rate agreed to by Local 18 and the City to settle a contempt 
action. The CEOs did not consent to the prevailing wage rate agreed upon. 

After 1993, the City disputed the prevailing wage rate it was required to pay the 
CEOs. The City argued that it was entitled to offset certain items from the private sector 
prevailing wage rate. Local 18 then filed a contempt action to compel the City to comply 
with the terms of IUOE, supra. In 1996, Local 18 members working for the City voted, 
at a meeting called by Local 18 President Snell, on whether to authorize Local 18 to 
negotiate a contract with the City. The members voted no. Thereafter, in 1998, Local 
18 and the City resolved their litigated dispute over the calculation of the prevailing 
wage rate. Local 18 President Dudley Snell and Assistant City Law Director Thomas 
Corrigan held a meeting with the CEOs to explain how Local 18 and the City had 
calculated the prevailing wage rate.9 At this meeting, the CEOs were not asked to 
approve or consent to the prevailing wage rate agreed to by Local 18 and the City in 
settlement of the contempt action. 

5. Did Local 18 falsely inform the City that those persons employed by the City 
as construction equipment operators had agreed to a decrease in compensation? 

No. No evidence is present in the record that Local 18 informed the City that the 
CEOs themselves, as individual employees, had agreed to a decrease in compensation. 

6. Were the wages of the construction equipment operators who were appellees 
in Consolo v. City of Cleveland (2004), 103 Ohio St.3d 362, [2004-0hio-5389,] the result 
of collective bargaining between Local 18 and the City? 

No. Collective bargaining cannot be held to have occurred because Local 18 
never was the exclusive representative of the CEOs within the meaning of 
Chapter 4117. The wages paid to the CEOs were based upon the City Charter 
provision requiring the City to pay the prevailing wage rate in the Building Agreement 
negotiated between construction unions and private employers. Every witness who 
testified confirmed that Local 18 informed the City of the amount of prevailing wages 
only, and that Local 18 never was authorized by the CEOs to negotiate terms of 
employment 

'F.F. No. 10. 
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Furthermore, the City and Local 18 do not dispute that they never entered into a 
collective bargaining agreement. The City did not enter into a collective bargaining 
agreement with a bargaining unit of CE Os until February 2005, after SERB certified 
MCEOLC as the CEOs' exclusive representative in January 2003. 

7. Did the City and Local 18 negotiate and implement a benefits package that 
provided the construction equipment operators described above in Paragraph (6) with 
equal or better benefits than are provided by the City Charter? 

No. No evidence is present in the record that any benefits package was 
negotiated or implemented for the CEOs until February 2005, after SERB certified 
MCEOLC as the CEOs' exclusive representative in January 2003. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2004-ULP-10-0568 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairman Mayton, Vice Chairman Gillmor, and Board Member Verich: 
October 12, 2006. 

On October 14, 2004, the City of North Olmsted ("the City") filed an unfair labor 
practice charge against the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 ("the 
Union"), alleging that the Union violated Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(3). On 
April 21, 2005, the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or "Complainant") 
found probable cause to believe that the Union violated Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 4117.11 (B)(3) by attempting to bypass the City's representative and deal directly 
with the legislative body. 

The parties agreed to stipulate the case in its entirety. Joint stipulations of fact and 
joint exhibits were filed in lieu of a hearing on March 16, 2006. Briefs were filed by all 
parties on April 14, 2006. On June 22, 2006, the Board transferred the case from the 
Hearings Section for a determination on the merits. 

After reviewing the joint stipulations of fact, joint exhibits, the parties' briefs, and all 
filings in this case, the Board finds, for the reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, 
incorporated by reference, that the Union violated Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117. 11 (B)(3) when it attempted to bypass the City's representative and deal 
directly with the legislative body. 

The International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from refusing to bargain collectively with the City of 
North Olmsted by attempting to bypass the City's representative and 
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deal directly with the legislative body, and from otherwise violating 
Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(3); and 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

1. Post for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees of the City who are 
represented by the International Association of Fire Fighters, 
Local 1267 work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the 
State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 shall 
cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and 
shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

2. Notify the Board in writing within twenty calendar days from the 
date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been 
taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

MAYTON, Chairman; GILLMOR, Vice Chairman, and VERICH, Board Member, 
concur. 

c AYTON, CHAIRMAN 

You are hereby notified that an ay be perfected, pursuant to Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notic peal with the State Employment Relations 
Board at 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, and with the court 
of common pleas in the county where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to 
have been engaged in, or where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order. 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party's representative 

by certified mail, return receipt requested, this .;76~) day of October, 2006. 

direct\10-12-06 04 



N 0 TICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE STATE EMPLOYMENT 
RELATIONS BOARD, AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State 
Employment Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered 
us to post this Notice. We intend to carry out the order of the Board and to abide by the 
following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Cease and desist from refusing to bargain collectively with the City of North Olmsted by 
attempting to bypass the City of North Olmsted's representative and deal directly with 
the legislative body, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117.11 (B)(3); and 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

1. Post for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees of the City of North Olmsted who are represented by 
the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 work, the Notice to 
Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 shall cease and desist from 
actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

2. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar 
days from the date that this Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken 
to comply therewith. 

SERB v. International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 
Case No. 2004-ULP-10-0568 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 
This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be 
altered, defaced. or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or compliance 
with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 



SERB OPINION 2006-009 I 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2004-ULP-10-0568 

OPINION 

MAYTON, Chairman: 

On October 14, 2004, the City of North Olmsted ("the City") filed an unfair labor 

practice charge against the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 ("the 

Union"), alleging that the Union violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117 11( B)(3). 

On April 21, 2005, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") 

found probable cause to believe that the Union violated O.R.C. §4117.11(B)(3) by 

attempting to bypass the City's representative and deal directly with its legislative body. 

On December 19, 2005, the Complaint and Notice of Hearing was issued. The 

Union filed an Answer admitting every factual allegation contained in the Complaint. On 

March 16, 2006, the parties submitted joint stipulations of fact and joint exhibits in lieu of 

hearing. Subsequently, all parties filed briefs setting forth their legal arguments. On 

June 22, 2006, this case was transferred from the Hearings Section for a decision on the 

merits. For the reasons below, we find that the Union violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(3) 

when it sent the October 2004 letter to the President of City Council, thereby attempting to 

bypass the City's representative and deal directly with the legislative body. 
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I. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. The City of North Olmsted is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(8). (S 1) 

2. The International Association of Fire Fighters Local 1267 is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). The Union is the exclusive representative 

for all full-time employees of the City's fire department. (S. 2) 

3. In February and March 2004, the Union filed several grievances, eight in total, 

alleging that the City had violated the predecessor CBA by adopting or changing various 

policies. The grievances included the overtime rate grievance, acting officer pay grievance, 

shift staffing/time off policy grievance, station manning/callback policy grievance, 

compensatory time off grievance, linen grievance, Boatman overtime grievance, and shift 

manning overtime log policy grievance. As of October 2004, three of these grievances had 

proceeded to arbitration and were pending but had yet to be formally heard. (S. 3) 

4. The City and the Union were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 

effective through December 31, 2003 ("Predecessor Agreement"). The parties were unable 

to negotiate a successor agreement and proceeded to fact finding. (S. 4) 

5. On May 12, 2004, following the expiration of the Predecessor Agreement, the 

City and the Union engaged in statutory fact-finding proceedings pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.14 before Arbitrator Harry Graham. On June 9, 2004, fact-finding recommendations 

were issued for the 2004-2006 CBA between the City and the Union. The fact-finding 

1 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are indicated 
parenthetically by "S., ·followed by the stipulation number. References to the Joint Exhibits in the 
record are indicated parenthetically by• Jt. Exh., ·followed by the exhibit number(s). References to 
the stipulations and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not 
intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of 
Fact. 
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recommendations were not rejected by either party, thereby forming the basis for the 

current CBA, effective January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2006 (Jt. Exh. A). (S. 5) 

6. Based upon the fact-finding report and recommendations, the City and the 

Union, by and through their respective Chief Negotiators, James Dubelko and David 

Boatman, drafted and reviewed language for the 2004-2006 CBA and otherwise prepared 

the final document for signature by the parties. This process included several exchanges 

of draft documents and various forms of communication between the Chief Negotiators 

during the summer and fall of 2004. (S. 6) 

7. In October 2004, Union President David Boatman sent a letter to Thomas 

O'Grady, President of City Council, requesting a special meeting with City Council 

members. The letter stated: "This meeting will cover various topics, including: 

strengthening the line of communication between the local's executive board and city 

council, current pending grievances, and our still unresolved collective bargaining 

agreement." The letter also stated that "if unable to meet with all of council, we will have 

no choice but to take this information the council meeting scheduled on 19, October, 

2004." [sic] (S. 7; Jt. Exh. B) 

8. The City Council did not agree to meet with the Union. (S. 8) 

9. At the time of Respondent's letter to City Council in October 2004, none of 

the grievances referenced in paragraph 3 hereof had actually been heard or decided in 

arbitration, and the parties had not yet formally executed the 2004-2006 CBA. (S. 10) 

10. On October 19, 2004, Union members orally addressed City Council during 

the public comments session of its regular meeting and participated in a discussion with 

Council members and other public officials, including Director of Law Dubelko, which was 

recorded in the Minutes of Council. (S. 11: Jt. Exh. C) 



SERB OPINION 2006-009 
Case No. 2004-ULP-10-0568 
Page 4of10 

11. On November4, 2004, the City adopted Resolution No. 2004-131, approving 

the 2004-2006 CBA and authorizing the Mayor to execute it. (S. 12; Jt. Exh. A) 

12. On May 17, 2005, the Union sent letters to all members of City Council 

apologizing for asking to meet with them. (S. 14; Jt. Exh. D) 

11. DISCUSSION 

The Union is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §4117.11(B)(3), which provides in 

relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization. its 
agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 

••• 
(3) Refuse to bargain collectively with a public employer if the 

employee organization is recognized as the exclusive representative or 
certified as the exclusive representative of public employees in a bargaining 
unit[.] 

"To bargain collectively" is defined in 0.R.C. § 4117.01 (G) and "means to perform 

the mutual obligation of the public employer, by its representatives, and the representatives 

of its employees • • • to resolve questions arising under the agreement." SERB has 

described how bypassing a party's exclusive representative interferes with the collective 

bargaining process as follows: "Bypassing the authorized representative, whether the 

authorized representative of an employee organization or the designated representative of 

a public employer, undermines the statutory scheme, interferes with the planned process 

of negotiations, creates chaos in an otherwise orderly, if difficult, process and, hence, 

constitutes an act in contravention of the obligation to bargain in good faith." In re SERB v. 

OAPSE. Local 530, SERB 96-011 (6-28-96) ("Local 530") at p. 3-93. 

The overriding purpose of O.R.C. Chapter 4117, and therefore SERB, is to promote 

"orderly and constructive relationships between all public employers and their employees." 
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See O.R.C. § 4117.22. In light of this statutory mission, it is particularly incumbent upon 

SERB to protect vigilantly the lines of communication contemplated by the collective 

bargaining process described in O.R.C. Chapter 4117. Attempts to shortcut these lines not 

only contravene the duty to bargain in good faith, they undermine the very principles upon 

which the collective bargaining process is founded. Specifically, attempts to circumvent the 

representatives at the bargaining table who have been duly designated by either the 

employer or employees by appealing directly to the decision makers on issues that are the 

subject of ongoing negotiations serve only to weaken the effectiveness of those people at 

the table. This admonishment applies equally to inappropriate direct contact with 

employee organization members and members of an employer's ultimate decision maker, 

such as a legislative body. 

The issue framed by the facts alleged in the Complaint, admitted in the Answer, and 

agreed to in the Joint Stipulations of Fact is whether the Union failed to bargain in good 

faith in violation of O.R.C. §4117.11(B)(3) by sending a letter in October 2004 to the 

President of City Council. Good-faith bargaining is determined on a case-by-case basis by 

the totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A 

circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. in re 

Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

The content and timing of the parties' actions are relevant factors in determining 

whether O.R.C. § 4117. 11 (B)(3) has been violated. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, supra. 

"Where the parties are in the midst of negotiations and ultimate impasse has not been 

reached, the bargaining teams may not bypass each other to appeal directly to either the 

employees or the employer on issues that are part of ongoing negotiations." Local 530, 

supra at 3-93. In in re OAPSEIAFSCME Local 4, SERB 97-014 (10-10-97) ("Local 4"), 

SERB held thatthe Union did not violate 0.R.C. § 4117. 11 (B)(3) because it communicated 

with the Board of Education after the parties had reached ultimate impasse in their 
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negotiations. SERB distinguished its earlier holding in Local 530 because, in Local 4, the 

parties were not in the middle of negotiations; in fact, the Board of Education - as the 

legislative body - was considering whether to implement its last best offer. Consequently, 

the Union in Local 4 was not presenting bargaining proposals and, thus, was not engaged 

in bargaining activity. 

SERB has previously described "ultimate impasse" as follows: 

Ultimate impasse is a legal concept adopted from the private sector. The test 
developed by the NLRB as to whether there is an ultimate impasse ••• 
appears to be whether there is "no realistic possibility that continuation of 
discussion at that time would have been fruitful." Under NLRB case law the 
existence of an impasse is very much a question of fact, and many factors 
are considered in such factual determinations. •••Thus, an ultimate impasse 
is not a point in time which can be predetermined in theory. It is a case by 
case determination involving the development of a record with enough 
factual data to determine whether at what point good faith negotiations 
towards reaching an agreement have been exhausted. 

In re Vandalia-Butler City Schoof Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 90-003 (2-9-90) at p. 3-10 (citations 

omitted), affd sub nom. Vandalia-Butler City Schoof Dist Bd of Ed v. SERB, 1990 SERB 4-

90 (CP, Montgomery, 10-1-90), affd 1991 SERB 4-81 (2d Dist Ct App, Montgomery, 8-15-

91). 

Here, the Union sent its October 2004 letter to the President of City Council 

although the parties had not reached ultimate impasse in their negotiations for a successor 

collective bargaining agreement. The parties stipulated to the fact that during the summer 

and fall of 2004, the parties were drafting and finalizing the terms of a successor collective 

bargaining agreement. When the Union sent its October 2004 letter to the President of 

City Council, the parties had not yet submitted a final copy of the collective bargaining 

agreement to City Council for approval. 
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The Union also requested in its October 2004 letter that City Council meet with the 

Union to discuss "current pending grievances." SERB has described how bypassing a 

party's exclusive representative during the grievance/arbitration process constitutes bad

faith bargaining as follows: "Where the parties are working to resolve a labor dispute 

through their previously agreed-upon grievance/arbitration mechanism, a direct appeal to 

the employer to resolve the dispute is an illicit bypass of the designated representative. 

Further, this act in contravention of the agreed-upon mechanism for dispute resolution 

evidences bad-faith bargaining in general." In re Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Assn, 

Mentor Patrolmen's Assn, SERB 99-011 (6-24-99) ("Mento!") at p. 3-66. Here, the Union 

requested a special meeting with City Council regarding the parties' "pending grievances" 

before the grievances had been addressed by the parties' previously agreed upon 

grievance procedure. 

In Mentor, SERB found that the Union had bypassed the public employer's 

designated representative by directly communicating with individual City Council members 

through letters, phone calls, and in-person meetings about a grievance filed by the Union. 

Although the Union in Mentor did not specifically request that the City Council members act 

or intervene in the grievance process, SERB found that "the Union's communications in 

this case constitute[d] a direct appeal to the Employer to adjust a grievance, thereby 

bypassing the Employer's selected representatives for the adjustment of the grievances." 

Id at 3-65. 

It is reasonable to conclude in this case that the Union sent its October 2004 letter 

with a request for a special meeting not only to inform City Council about the parties' 

strained labor relationship, but also as a request for City Council to have an effect on the 

parties' labor relationship. After City Council rejected the Union's request for a special 

meeting, several Union members attended and spoke at a public City Council meeting on 

October 19, 2004. There, City employee and Union member Matt O'Donnell made the 
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following statements regarding the Union's grievances and the parties' collective bargaining 

agreement: 

Currently, they [the Union] have approximately 12 outstanding grievances. It 
seems now to be city policy to make them [the Union] grieve everything 
rather than try to reach a solution. The Fire Chief has taken a stance that, if 
anything is not specifically listed in the collective bargaining agreement, then 
it belongs to management rights. That is not correct. But even agreements 
reached through collective bargaining are not being honored. They [the 
Union] will be happy to let a third party decide those issues. 

Jt. Exh. Cat 9. 

Additionally, City employee and Union member Dennis Lambert stated in part atthe 

public meeting: 

Over and above the individual concerns and respect he has for arbitration, 
Council can take a position on this [issue]. He believes from what he heard 
tonight this is an opportunity for Council to generate legislation to enact an 
employee involvement program. • * • [H)e believes the Council has an 
obligation and the power to at least go into committee and to consider an 
employee involvement program that includes sensitivity training on 
management's part and better understanding of where employees fit into the 
picture." 

Jt. Exh. Cat 11. 

Mr. Lambert's request for City Council to enact legislation generated a discussion 

among Council members on whether the Council possesses the power to intervene in tabor 

disputes between the City and the Union. The Council did not have plans to create 

legislation that would affect ettherthe parties' agreed upon grievance process or collective 

bargaining agreement terms, and the Council had not requested public information on 

labor relations between the City and the Union. Thus, this case is distinguishable from 

Local 4, where SERB did not find an O.R.C. § 4117 .11 (B)(3) violation. because the Union 
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members in Local 4 spoke at a public School Board meeting in response to the School 

Board's request for public comments about an official agenda item. Additionally, the 

parties in Local 4 were at ultimate impasse, which differs from the facts of this case. 

Based upon the Union's specific request in its October 2004 letter for a special 

meeting with City Council, the timing of the letter, and the requests made by Union 

members to City Council at the public City Council meeting on October 19, 2004, the Union 

violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(3) by bypassing the City's exclusive representative and 

directly requesting that City Council meet with the Union to discuss pending grievances and 

the parties' successor collective bargaining agreement. The Union's subsequent letter of 

apology to City Council does not mitigate the O.RC. § 4117.11(B)(3) violation. The 

appropriate remedy in this case is the issuance of a Notice to Employees to be posted for 

sixty days. 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of North Olmsted is a "public employer" as defined by 0.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

3. The International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 violated O.R.C. 

§ 4117 .11 (B)(3) when it sent the October 2004 letter to the President of City Council, 

thereby attempting to bypass the City's representative and deal directly with the legislative 

body. 
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IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the International Association of Fire Fighters, 

Local 1267 violated Ohio Revised Code § 4117 .11 (B)(3) when it sent the October 2004 

letter to the President of City Council, thereby attempting to bypass the City's 

representative and deal directly with the legislative body. An Order with a Notice to 

Employees will be issued to the Union requiring the Union to cease and desist from 

refusing to bargain collectively with the City of North Olmsted by attempting to bypass the 

Employer's representative and deal directly with the legislative body, and from otherwise 

violating Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11 (B)(3), and to take the following affirmative action: 

(1) post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining-unit 

employees represented by the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1267 work, 

the Notice to Employees furnished by SERB; and (2) notify SERB in writing within twenty 

calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 

comply therewith. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the matter of 

Professionals Guild of Ohio, 

Petitioner, 

and 

State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, 

Respondent, 

and 

Management Training Corporation, Lake Erie Correctional Institution and 
North Coast Correctional Treatment Facility, 

Respondent. 

Case Nos. 2004-REP-11-0212, 2005-REP-04-0053, & 2005-REP-04-0054 

OPINION 

GILLMOR, Vice Chairman: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"SERB") upon the issuance of a Recommended Determination on April 10, 2007, and the 

filing of exceptions to the Recommended Determination by the Professionals Guild of Ohio 

and cross-exceptions by the Management Training Corporation and the State of Ohio, 

Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, and responses to the exceptions and cross

exceptions. For the reasons that follow, the Board finds that the employees of the 

Management Training Corporation at its Lake Erie Correctional Institution and North Coast 

Correctional Treatment Facility are not "public employees" pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 
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§ 4117.01 (C). As a result, the Requests for Recognition in these cases are dismissed for 

lack of jurisdiction. 

I. BACKGROUND 

On November 22, 2004, and April 7, 2005, the Professionals Guild of Ohio ("PGO") 

filed a total of three Requests for Recognition, seeking to represent certain employees of 

the Management Training Corporation at its Lake Erie Correctional Institution ("MTC-LECI" 

or "LECI") and its North Coast Correctional Treatment Facility ("MTC-NCCTF" or "NCCTF") 

(collectively "MTC"). PGO named the State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and 

Correction ("ODRC") along with MTC-LECI and MTC-NCCTF as the Employer. ODRC 

moved to consolidate and dismiss asserting, in part, that MTC was not a "public employer" 

under Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") Chapter 4117. MTC-LECI and MTC-NCCTF objected 

to the Requests for Recognition, maintaining that the employees in question were not 

"public employees" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01(C). PGO filed a brief in 

opposition to the motion to dismiss and a motion to strike the brief filed by MTC in support 

of ODRC's motion to dismiss. 

After a preliminary investigation, the Board granted the motion to consolidate, 

denied the motion to dismiss, and directed this matter to hearing to determine whether the 

employees in question were public employees and for all other relevant issues. A hearing 

was held on May 23, 2006, May 24, 2006, September 19, 2006, and November 14, 2006. 

The Recommended Determination was issued on April 10, 2007. 

PGO is an "employee organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

MTC is a private corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Delaware. Its headquarters and principal place of business are Centerville, Utah. 



SERB OPINION 2007-001 
Case Nos. 2004-REP-11-0212, 2005-REP-04-0053, & 2005-REP-04-0054 
Page 3 of 13 

O.R.C. § 9.06, as enacted, provides for the private operation and management of 

initial intensive program prisons in Ohio. O.R.C. § 9.06(A)(3)(a) requires on-site monitoring 

and compliance with American Correctional Association ("ACA") standards. 

MTC offers, among other services, private management of state prison facilities. 

MTC contracts with state governments to manage correctional institutions across the 

United States as well as internationally. MTC operates LECI and NCCTF pursuant to 

contracts with ODRC. ODRC has no ownership or controlling interest in MTC. The 

contracts provide that the partners, employees, officers, and agents of MTC will not be 

deemed to be personnel of ODRC. 

Under the LECI and NCCTF contracts with ODRC, MTC operates and manages 

both facilities in exchange for per-diem, per-prisoner payments from ODRC. MTC receives 

no other funding from ODRC. MTC pays all operating expenses, including employee wages 

and benefits, from its own funds and is not reimbursed by ODRC for any of its costs to 

operate the prisons. ODRC purchases oversight services from MTC. The contracts 

designate the level of oversight ODRC is purchasing from MTC by specifying a certain 

number of mandatory posts and the times or days per week during which these posts are 

required to be staffed. The contracts do not require MTC to employ a particular number of 

people to provide the requisite staffing. 

The State of Ohio ("State") owns the land and the actual physical structure of each 

prison. The State has provided much of the initial equipment, replacement of which is the 

responsibility of MTC. The State has provided heavy, installed equipment, which remains 

the property of the State and the replacement of which is the responsibility of the State. 

According to the contracts with MTC-LECI and MTC-NCCTF, ODRC employs an on

site monitor at LECI and NCCTF to monitor compliance with MTC's contracts with ODRC. 

The on-site monitor visits both prisons and prepares a monthly report for ODRC. If the on-
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site monitor notes non-compliance with the contract, the monitor may give instructions or 

may make requests of MTG to remedy the contract breach. The on-site monitor's authority 

does not extend to non-contractual deficiencies. 

MTG hires the petitioned-for employees to work at LEGI and NGGTF. The 

employee submits an application to MTG. MTG conducts interviews, employment

reference checks, and drug screenings. Minimum qualifications are specified in the 

contracts. The MTG facility warden makes the final hiring decision after an MTC hiring 

committee recommends the top three candidates. The employee signs an employment 

contract with MTC setting the employee's salary and other benefits. The new employees 

receive orientation and training from MTG. MTG provides an employee handbook for new 

employees, rules of conduct, substance-abuse policy, conflict-of-interest policy, and 

information on employee benefits. The only employees over whom ODRG has right of final 

approval are the Warden, Deputy Wardens, Chief of Security, Facility Investigator, Food 

Service Manager, and Medical Administrator. 

MTC conducts performance evaluations and determines raises and bonuses for the 

petitioned-for employees. Bonuses are paid to MTG employees based on the employee's 

performance and MTC's overall profitability. MTC employees have received wage 

increases in years when ODRC employees did not and in years in which the per-diem fee 

paid by ODRG did not increase. MTC is responsible for administering discipline and for 

laying off staff. MTC determines the fringe benefits that will be offered to the petitioned-for 

employees. The petitioned-for employees receive health insurance through an MTG

sponsored health plan. 

MTC provides uniforms, patches, and badges for the petitioned-for employees. 

MTG assigns new employees to a post and a shift. MTG pays the petitioned-for employees 

with checks drawn on MTC accounts. MTG is responsible for all withholdings from the 

petitioned-for employees' paychecks, including state and federal taxes, FICA payments, 



SERB OPINION 2007-001 
Case Nos. 2004-REP-11-0212, 2005-REP-04-0053, & 2005-REP-04-0054 
Page 5of13 

and pension contributions. MTG is responsible for all unemployment and workers' 

compensation premiums associated with the petitioned-for employees' employment. MTG 

assigns overtime for the petitioned-for employees and approves all time-off requests. 

If ODRG wishes to impose an additional service on MTG, MTG is not required to 

assume services not covered under the contract. To add an additional service with an 

associated cost increase, MTC and ODRC must agree to an amendment of the contract. If 

ODRG does not want to pay the additional costs, it can waive MTG from those services. 

MTG hires its own subcontractors without ODRG approval. With regard to MTG's 

employees, ODRG's only interests are that the employees meet the minimum qualifications 

for their positions and that a background check and drug screening are completed. ODRG 

cannot require MTG to terminate an employee who does not meet the minimum 

qualifications or who does not pass the background check, but ODRG may require that the 

employee work for an MTG facility other than LEGI or NGGTF. MTG has its own on-site 

HR managers at LEGI and NGCTF to handle employee issues. 

MTC employees are not subject to ODRC policies for travel, political practices, 

employee grooming, performance review, selection, retention, promotion, screening and 

interviewing committees, interim appointments, initial probationary period, overtime for 

both exempt and FLSA-eligible employees, payroll and timekeeping, workers 

compensation, Family and Medical Leave Act, monitoring of administrative leave, military 

service leave and notice requirements, return-to-work partnership policy, service of legal 

process and representation, insurance coverage, employee grievances, exempt-employee 

grievance procedure and professional-career services. The contracts between ODRG and 

MTG do not require MTG to adopt particular work rules or employment policies. 

PGO did not file an election petition with the National Labor Relations Board 

("NLRB") with regard to any of the employees covered by the Requests for Recognition 
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filed by PGO in these cases. PGO witness in this matter, Hiram McPherson, a corrections 

officer at MTC-LECI, applied for employment with MTC, received an offer of employment 

from MTC, signed an employment agreement with MTC, received orientation training by 

MTC, and received copies of MTC's employee handbook, rules of conduct, substance

abuse policy, conflict-of-interest policies, and information regarding benefits, including 

MTC's 401 (K) plan. MTC assigned him to a post and a shift. He received paychecks from 

MTC and was notified by MTC as to any changes in his compensation. He was supervised 

by an MTC officer and received performance evaluations and disciplinary notices from 

MTC. At hearing, John Jones, a PGO witness who was also a corrections officer at MTC

LECI, acknowledged that his terms and conditions of employment were controlled by MTC. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. SERB is not required to wait for the NLRB to decline jurisdiction before 
exercising jurisdiction 

O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) provides in relevant part as follows: 

As used in this chapter: 

"Public employee" means any person holding a position by 
appointment or employment in the service of a public employer, including 
any person working pursuant to a contract between a public employer and a 
private employer and over whom the national labor relations board has 
declined jurisdiction on the basis that the involved employees are employees 
of a public employer[.] (emphasis added) 

PGO is seeking to represent individuals who are working pursuant to a contract 

between a public employer (ODRC) and a private employer (MTG). PGO has not filed a 

petition with the NLRB with regard to any of the employees covered by the Request for 

Recognition. Thus, the NLRB has neither accepted nor declined jurisdiction. 
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In Hamilton v. State Emp. Relations Bd., 70 Ohio St.3d 210 (1994), 1994-0hio-397 

("Hamilton"), a transit union filed a Request for Recognition with SERB seeking to 

represent 23 bus drivers and mechanics. The union named the City of Hamilton as the 

employer. The city objected, asserting that these individuals were not "public employees" 

because they were employed by a private company that was responsible for managing the 

day-to-day personnel matters and assigning bus drivers to routes. The Ohio Supreme 

Court declined to follow a "strict construction" of the language in O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) 

because to do so ignored the "liberal construction mandate" in O.R.C. § 4117.22. Instead, 

the Court, supra at 213, held: 

[T]he language in RC. 4117.01(C) referring to the declination of 
NLRB jurisdiction is merely illustrative of who may be considered public 
employees for the purposes of collective bargaining. • • • In our view, the 
statutory provision simply relates one of many situations where SERB may 
determine certain employees to be public employees. Thus, the fact that the 
NLRB did not or has not declined jurisdiction over the transit workers in issue 
is not determinative of SERB's jurisdiction[.] 

The Ohio Supreme Court, having already found that it is not necessary for the NLRB 

to decline jurisdiction in order for SERB to exercise its jurisdiction, has already decided this 

issue. SERB is bound by this precedent. 

B. PGO Exhibits 105, 108, and 111 were not excluded erroneously 

At hearing, the Administrative Law Judge refused to admit into evidence PGO 

Exhibits 105, 108, and 111 in their entirety. Objections to these exhibits were made for 

lack of authentication, lack of foundation, and no showing of relevance. A review of the 

record revealed that PGO Exhibit 105 was not identified by any witness; PGO Exhibits 108 

and 111 were identified by a witness. Pages 1, 30, 33, 41, 54, and 76 of PGO Exhibit 111 

were admitted into evidence without objection. The record did not contain testimony 

regarding foundation or relevance for the remainder of PGO Exhibits 105, 108, and 111. 
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Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-1-11(A)(2) provides that individuals conducting 

hearings like the one herein "shall have the authority" to take certain actions, including to 

"receive relevant evidence and exclude irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitious 

evidence[.]" PGO's exceptions and its brief in support do not explain how these exhibits 

are relevant or how their exclusion is erroneous. The record supports the conclusion that 

these exhibits have not been excluded erroneously. 

C. The petitioned-for employees at MTC-LECI and MTC-NCCTF are not "public 
employees" under O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) 

PGO filed three separate Requests for Recognition seeking to represent certain 

employees at MTC- LECI and MTC-NCCTF. The employees in question at MTC-LECI held 

positions as Corrections Officers. The employees in question at MTC-NCCTF held 

positions as Accounting Clerks, Case Managers, Maintenance Workers, Food Service 

Workers, Library Aides, Clerical Workers, Activity Therapists, Instructors, Job Coordinator, 

Support Staff, Corrections Officers and Line Supervisors. MTC objected to the requests. 

ODRC moved to dismiss the requests. The objections and motions to dismiss alleged that 

the employees subject to the requests for recognition were employees of MTC and were 

not public employees pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01(C). 

In Doctors' Professional Assn. v. State Emp. Relations Bd., 2004-0hio-5839, ,-r15 

(101
h Dist Ct App, Franklin, 11-4-2004) ("Doctors"), the appellate court held in part: 

For purposes of recognition requests under R.C. 4117.05(A), an initial 
inquiry must be whether the persons that the organization seeks to represent 
are public employees, because if persons are not "public employees," as 
defined by R.C. 4117.01(C), then the persons are not subject to the 
provisions of R.C. Chapter 4117. Hence, an organization cannot seek 
R.C. 4117.05 recognition as the exclusive representative of persons, if the 
persons it seeks to represent are not public employees. 
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O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) defines a "public employee" as follows: 

"Public employee" means any person holding a position by 
appointment or employment in the service of a public employer, including any 
person working pursuant to a contract between a public employer and a 
private employer and over whom the national labor relations board has 
declined jurisdiction on the basis that the involved employees are employees 
of a public employer[.] (emphasis added) 

The issue in the instant case is whether the petitioned-for employees are employees 

of ODRC or MTC. If they are employed by ODRC, they are employed in the service of a 

public employer, an agency of the State of Ohio. If the petitioned-for employees are 

employed by MTC, they are employed by a private corporation and are not employed in the 

service of a public employer. 

The Ohio Supreme Court in Hamilton determined that the city, rather than the 

management company, was the employer of the transit employees, thus making those 

employees subject to SERB's jurisdiction. The Court used the "right to control" test 

previously articulated at Syllabus 2 in Gillum v. Indus. Comm., 141 Ohio St. 373, 48 N.E.2d 

234 (1943) ("Gillum"): 

Whether one is an independent contractor or in service depends upon 
the facts of each case. The principal test applied to determine the 
character of the arrangement is that if the employer reserves the right 
to control the manner or means of doing the work, the relation created 
is that of master and servant, while if the manner or means of doing 
the work or job is left to one who is responsible to the employer only 
for the result, an independent contractor relationship is thereby 
created. 

In Hamilton, the Court found that the city owned, controlled, and set policy for the 

transit system. The city categorized operating expenses as an obligation of the city. The 

city provided all of the funding for the transit system, owned all of the buses, and set the 
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routes and fares. The general manager of the transit system was selected with the city's 

approval. 

The Court found that the duties delegated to the transit company were merely 

ministerial. The crucial point was the fact that the city provided all of the funding for the 

transit company. Because the city totally controlled the transit company's funding, the 

Court found that the transit company lacked the type of discretion to bargain meaningfully 

with the union that an actual employer would possess. The Court was cognizant of the 

extent of control and the particular items controlled by the city, and of the relationship of 

those items to effective collective bargaining. The Court cited Nat'/. Transp. Serv., Inc., 

240 N.L.R.B. 565 (1979), where the NLRB stated that, under the National Labor Relations 

Act, the "right to control test" contemplates "whether the Employer has sufficient control 

over the employment conditions of its employees to enable it to bargain with a labor 

organization as their representative." The Court also held: 

Our decision in this regard is similar to the reasoning of the National 
Labor Relations Board in Res-Care, Inc., (1986), 280 N.L.R.B. 670,673, 'if an 
employer does not have the final say on the entire package of employee 
compensation, i.e., wages and fringe benefits, meaningful bargaining is not 
possible.' See, also, PHP Healthcare Corp. (1987), 285 N.L.R.B. 182, 184. 

In the instant case, MTC provides private management of various state prison 

facilities in addition to other services. ODRC has no ownership or controlling interest in 

MTC. Under contracts with ODRC, MTC operates and manages LECI and NCCTF in 

exchange for per-diem, per-prisoner payments from ODRC. MTC interviews the applicants 

for the positions included in the Requests for Recognition; it also conducts employment

reference checks and drug screenings. MTC provides the uniforms, patches, and badges 

for the employees. MTC pays the employees by checks drawn on accounts belonging to 

MTC. MTC is solely responsible for all withholdings from the employees' checks, including 

state and federal taxes, FICA payments, and pension contributions. MTC determines 
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salaries and fringe benefits for employees. MTC assigns and approves overtime for all 

employees and receives and approves time-off requests. MTC gives its employees 

performance evaluations in accordance with its own policies and procedures. MTC makes 

all promotion, layoff, and discipline decisions regarding its employees. These factors all 

describe employment conditions for the MTC employees. 

ODRC's only role is to require compliance with the terms of the contract into which 

MTC voluntarily entered with ODRC. The contracts require compliance with both ACA 

standards and ODRC standards. ODRC's involvement is limited to monitoring compliance 

with the terms of the contracts. 

In Doctors, the court found that, although Social Security Administration regulations 

governed virtually every detail of the manner in which contracting medical consultants 

evaluated disability claims for the State of Ohio, Rehabilitation Services Commission 

("RSC"), this extensive oversight did not establish RSC's control under Hamilton. The court 

held at ,-i30: 

The fact that RSC requires the consultants to comply with SSA regulations 
does not equate to RSC's right to control the activities of the consultants. 
Stated differently, to the extent that SSA regulations control the activities of 
the consultants, these regulated aspects are not controlled by either the 
consultants or RSC, and therefore could be viewed as inconsequential to the 
determination of whether the consultants are employees of RSC. 

Furthermore, ODRC's interest and involvement are limited to matters that would not 

be bargainable with the petitioned-for employees. These matters include minimum 

qualifications, selection of high-level managers (not petitioned-for employees), physical 

facilities and fixtures, number of posts, and times and days of week the posts must be 

manned. The details that ODRC is concerned with are those details that relate to services 

to inmates or to the security of the institution. The matters purely under the control ofMTC 
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are those that directly relate to the terms and conditions of employment of the petitioned

for employees. 

In Gillum, supra at 382, the Ohio Supreme Court describes the relationship that now 

exists between ODRC and MTC: 

As stated in 27 American Jurisprudence, 488, Section 7: "As a 
practical proposition, every contract for work to be done reserves to the 
employer a certain degree of control, at least to enable him to see that the 
contract is performed according to specifications. The employer may 
exercise a limited control over the work without rendering the employee a 
mere servant, for a relation of master and servant is not inferable from a 
reservation of powers which do not deprive the contractor of his right to do 
the work according to his own initiative, so long as he does it in accordance 
with the contract * * *" 

ODRC merely requires MTC to comply with the terms of the contract into which it entered. 

ODRC's control of MTC is limited to the terms of the contract. In order to operate a private 

prison, a private corporation must comply with ODRC standards and ACA standards, both 

of which are incorporated into the contract. These standards bear no relationship to 

factors related to effective collective bargaining. In Hamilton, supra at 214, the Ohio 

Supreme Court recognized this nexus when it held that, by the city controlling the transit 

company's funding, the transit company "lacks the discretion to meaningfully bargain with 

the union in the collective bargaining context that a true employer would possess." 

In various cases involving actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, courts found that "day-to

day management of private contractors performing government functions do not generally 

constitute state action." For example, in George v. Pacific- CSC Work Furlough, 91 F.3d 

1227 (91
h Cir. 1996), a private company operating a prison under government contract 

discharged appellant, who then sued the company alleging he was discharged in retaliation 

for making statements about unsafe working conditions. The trial court granted summary 
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judgment for the company. The U.S. Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. 

The appellate court found that the company was not a state actor for purposes of a§ 1983 

action and the fact that the company performed the traditional government function of 

incarcerating prisoners under contract with the government did not cause its action in 

discharging appellant to be state action. 

In the present case, the overwhelming weight of the evidence shows that the 

petitioned-for employees are employed by MTC. MTC controls all relevant aspects of their 

employment and retains the discretion to bargain meaningfully with the union in the 

collective bargaining context as required by Hamilton. Thus, the employees of MTC-LECI 

and MTG- NCCTF are not "public employees" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State Employment Relations Board finds that 

Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.01(C) does not require the National Labor Relations Board to 

decline jurisdiction before SERB exercises its jurisdiction, and that the employees of the 

Management Training Corporation at its Lake Erie Correctional Institution and North Coast 

Correctional Treatment Facility are not "public employees" pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.01 (C). As a result, the Requests for Recognition in Case Nos. 2004-REP-11-0212, 

2005-REP-04-0053, and 2005-REP-04-0054 are hereby dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. 

Mayton, Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On June 7, 2006, the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., ("FOP"), 
filed a Request for Recognition under Ohio Revised Code ("0.RC.") § 4117.05, 1 seeking to 
represent a proposed bargaining unit of employees of the Muskingum Watershed 
Conservancy District ("Employer"). On June 28, 2006, the Employer filed an Objection to 
Request for Recognition and a Petition for Representation Election-Employer. On 
September 14, 2006, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB') directed this case 
to hearing to determine an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant issues. 

On March 19, 2007, a hearing was held during which testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented. On March 27, 2007, the parties supplemented the record with an 
additional joint stipulation of fact. Subsequently, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether Assistant Park Superintendents are supervisors within the meaning 
of§ 4117.01(F)? 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio AdminiS:rative Code, Chapter 4117. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Employer is a "public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C § 4117.01 (B). (S.; 
T. 5-6) 

2. The FOP is an "employee organization" within the meaning of O.R.C § 4117.01(D). 
(S.; T. 6). 

3. The Employer manages and controls land in 18 Ohio counties and operates 5 major 
parks: Tappan Lake, Seneca Lake, Atwood Lake, Charles Mill Lake, and Pleasant 
Hill Lake. (T. 12) 

4. At each of the five major parks, the Employer employs both year-round and 
seasonal staff and offers full amenities and programming, including campgrounds, 
marinas, boating opportunities, launch ramps, swimming, hiking trails, nature 
programs and other activities. The season for programming and activities runs from 
April to October. (T. 12-14, 20-21) 

5. The FOP's proposed bargaining unit consists of full-time employees in the 
classifications of Assistant Park Superintendent ("APS"), nine employees; Park 
Ranger/Technician, six employees; and Park Ranger, one employee. (S.; T. 6) 

6. The Employer's Manager of Operations is Mark Jukich, and the Employer's Park 
Operations Administrator and Chief Ranger is Scott Barnhart. (T. 12) 

7. The Employer's four Park Superintendents are Tony Luther (Atwood Lake), Dan 
Mager (Charles Hill and Pleasant Hill lakes), Gary Parrish (Seneca Lake), and John 
Birney (Tappan Lake). The APSs report to the Park Superintendents. (T. 15-16; 
Er. Doc. A, pp. 4-11) 

8. The two Assistant Park Superintendents at Atwood Lake are Jeremy Hoffer and Ed 
Davy. (T. 17) 

2 All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.", followed 
by the page number. References to the Joint Stipulations of Fact entered into at hearing are 
indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the transcript page number. References to the 
Employer's Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Er. Exh.," followed by the exhibit 
letter. The Employer also introduced "Documents" into the record. These materials are referenced 
by "Er. Doc.," followed by the document letter References to the transcript, stipulations, and 
exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest 
that such references are the sole support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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9. At Atwood Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Hoffer: Facility Attendants, Park Attendants, Park Technicians, and Activities 
Staff. (T. 18; Er. Doc. A, p. 7) 

10. At Atwood Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Davy: Gate Attendants, Park Rangers, and Park Rangerffechnicians. (T. 19; 
Er. Doc. A, p. 7) 

11. At Charles Mill Lake, the Park Superintendent, Dan Mager, directly supervises the 
Park Technicians and Park Attendants. (T. 23) 

12. The Assistant Park Superintendent at Charles Mill Lake is Steve Rice. (T. 23) 

13. At Charles Mill Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Rice: Gate Attendants, Activities Staff, Park Rangerrrechnicians, and Park 
Rangers. (T. 23; Er. Doc. A, p. 8) 

14. The two Assistant Park Superintendents at Pleasant Hill Lake are Andy Seib and 
Bill Martin. (T. 24) 

15. At Pleasant Hill Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Seib: Park Technicians; Park Attendants; Gate Attendants; and Kokosing 
Mohawk Camp Supervisors, Facility Attendants, and Park Attendants. (T. 24, 27; 
Er. Doc. A, p. 9) 

16. At Pleasant Hill Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Martin: Park Rangerffechnicians, Beach Guards, Activity Staff, and Park 
Rangers. Mr. Martin also is the Regional Ranger Supervisor, which requires him to 
do the scheduling for the Park Rangers at both Charles Mill and Pleasant Hill lakes. 
(T. 27; Er. Doc. A, p. 9) 

17. The two Assistant Park Superintendents at Seneca Lake are Lucas Pace and Lynn 
Lyons. (T. 28; Er. Doc. A, p. 10) 

18. At Seneca Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Pace: Park Rangerffechnicians, Activities Staff, Beach Guard, and Park 
Rangers. (T. 28; Er. Doc. A, p. 10) 

19. At Seneca Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Lyons: Gate Attendants, Park Technicians, Park Attendants, and Facility 
Attendants. (T. 28; Er. Doc. A, p. 10) 
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20. The two Assistant Park Superintendents at Tappan Lake are Jared Oakes and Joe 
McGlothlin. (T. 29; Er. Doc. A, p. 11) 

21. At Tappan Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. Oakes: Park Technicians, Park Attendants, Facility Attendants, Activities and 
Naturalist Staff, and Boat Rental Attendants. (T. 29; Er. Doc. A, p. 11) 

22. At Tappan Lake, employees in the following classifications report directly to 
Mr. McGlothlin: Park Rangerrrechnicians, Beach Guard, Gate Attendants, and 
Park Rangers. (T. 29; Er. Doc. A, p. 11) 

23. The number of employees employed at each park varies based both on the size of 
the park and the season of the year. On average, each of the parks employs 
between 30 and 50 people during the peak season, which lasts from April through 
October. The busiest time of year for all of the parks is the time between Memorial 
Day and Labor Day. In its Personnel Policy Manual, the Employer categorizes the 
vast majority of the employees who report to the APSs as "Group 4," or "seasonal," 
employees, for the purposes of benefits and other terms and conditions of 
employment; however, the parties do not dispute that, under Chapter 4117, these 
employees are "public employees." Each year, seasonal employees are hired as 
the parks prepare for the peak season. Each year, the Employer terminates the 
seasonal employees at the end of the peak season, when their services are no 
longer needed. The vast majority of seasonal employees who work one year return 
the following year. Seasonal employees average, in the aggregate, more than 500 
hours of work annually. (S.; T. 20-21, 35, 116; Supplemental Joint Stipulation of 
Fact filed March 27, 2007; Er. Doc. B) 

24. Each of the parks employs a small staff of between six and eight people during the 
off-season, which lasts from November through March. Each year, the number of 
seasonal employees employed at each park gradually declines from September to 
December, and then gradually increases from February to May. During the off
season, the APSs work on maintenance projects in the parks alongside the other 
year-round employees. (T. 20-21, 30, 32, 33) 

25. The primary duty of both seasonal and full-time Park Rangers is law enforcement. 
Park Rangerrrechnicians do a combination of law enforcement and maintenance 
work. The APSs and the Park Superintendents are certified by the Ohio Peace 
Officer Training Academy. Park Superintendents and APSs can respond to a law 
enforcement emergency when a Park Ranger is not available. (T. 23-24, 117-120) 
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26. At each park, the APSs interview and recommend the hiring of the seasonal 
employees. Most of the interviews are conducted by the APSs alone; sometimes, a 
seasonal employee joins the APS in the interview. (T. 45-46, 47-48, 63, 95, 116) 

27. The APSs issue lower-level discipline, primarily in the form of verbal and written 
warnings, to the employees they supervise. (Er. Exh. B) 

28. Toward the end of the peak season, the APSs evaluate the job performance of the 
seasonal employees they supervise. The performance evaluations are used to 
determine whether the employee evaluated is eligible to be rehired the following 
year. The APSs frequently end the performance evaluations with a statement 
indicating whether the employee is "welcome back next season." (T. 36, 214; Er. 
Exh. A) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Definition of "Supervisor" 

The primary question in this matter is whether the APSs are "supervisors" within the 
meaning of § 4117.01 (F), which defines "supervisor" and provides in relevant part as 
follows: 

'Supervisor' means any individual who has authority, in the 
interest of the public employer, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay 
off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline 
other public employees; to responsibly direct them; to adjust 
their grievances; or to effectively recommend such action, if 
the exercise of that authority is not of a merely routine or 
clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment[.) 

An individual will be excluded from a bargaining unit if the record contains 
substantial evidence that the employee has the authority to perform one or more of the 
functions listed in § 4117.01 (F), actually exercises that authority, and uses independent 
judgment in doing so. In re Mahoning Countv Dept of Human Services, SERB 92-006 (6-5-
92)("Mahoning"), at 3-19. Those individuals found to be supervisors under§ 4117.01 (F) 
are not considered "public employees" pursuant to § 4117.01 (C); consequently, a public 
employer cannot be compelled to bargain collectively with them. Mahoning, at 3-19. 
Supervisory issues are a question of fact in each case, and such status must therefore be 
determined on a case-by-case basis. In re Lucas County Recorder's Office, SERB 85-061 
(11-27-85). The burden of establishing an exclusion from a bargaining unit under 
§ 4117.01 (C) rests upon the party seeking it. In re SERB v Fulton County Engineer, 
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SERB 96-008 (6-24-96); Oakwood Healthcare Center, 348 NLRB No. 37 (2006) 
("Oakwood Healthcare"), slip op. at 9 (construing analogous federal statute) (citing Dean & 
Deluca New York, Inc., 338 NLRB 1046, 1047 (2003). 

In construing the statutory definition of a supervisor, recognition must be given to the 
basic reality in the public sector that final decisions regarding areas such as hiring, 
discipline, and salaries are reserved to persons far removed from the employee's 
immediate supervision. See,~. Sweetwater Union High School District, 1 PERC i"J 10 
(CA EERB, 1976). The ability to effectively recommend these changes in employment 
status, as described in § 4117.01(F), is accorded great weight in the public sector. 
Section 4117.01 (F) directs SERB to find that an employee is a supervisor if the employee 
has the authority to effectively recommend the promotion, discharge, or hiring of other 
employees. An "effective recommendation" has been defined as one "which, under normal 
policy and circumstances, is made at the chief executive level or below and is adopted by 
higher authority without independent review or de novo consideration as a matter of 
course." Davenport v. Public Employment Relations Board, 264 N.W.2d 307, 319, 98 
L.R R.M. 2582, 2590-2591 (IA S.Ct., 1978). SERB cited this definition with approval in In re 
University of Cincinnati, SERB 89-028 (10-12-89) at 3-193. 

B. The Use of "Independent Judgment" 

SERB has held that to be a statutory supervisor, an "individual must not be using 
judgment of a routine or clerical nature." In re Ohio Attorney General, SERB 2000-002 (3-
3-00)("0hio Attorney General"), at 3-21. Independent judgment is the "opportunity to make 
a clear choice between two or more significant alternative courses of aciion without plenary 
review or approval." Ohio Attorney General, supra. 

While the decisions of the National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB") are not binding 
upon SERB, Oakwood Healthcare, supra, is instructive because of its analysis of the 
phrase "Independent judgment." In order to be found to use "independent judgment," a 
putative supervisor "must at minimum act, or effectively recommend action, free of the 
control of others and form an opinion or evaluation by discerning and comparing data." 
Oakwood Healthcare, supra. slip op. at 8. Essentially, "a spectrum [exists] between the 
extremes of completely free actions and completely controlled ones, and the degree of 
independence necessary to constitute a judgment as 'independent' under the [National 
Labor Relations] Act lies somewhere in between these extremes." Oakwood Healthcare, 
supra, slip op. at 8. In determining whether independent judgment is exercised, "the 
[NLRB] must assess the degree of discretion exercised by the putative supervisor." Id. 
Ultimately, an alleged supervisor does not use "independent judgment" if that judgment "is 
dictated or controlled by detailed instructions, whether set forth in company policies or 
rules, the verbal instructions of a higher authority, or in the provisions of a collective
bargaining agreement." Id. However, the existence of policies and procedures is not 
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dispositive, and "does not eliminate independent judgment from decision-making if the 
policies allow for discretionary choices." Id. 

C. Using Independent Judgment, the APSs Discipline and Effectively Recommend the 
Hiring of Seasonal Employees 

A preponderance of the evidence reveals that the APSs utilize "independent 
judgment" in disciplining seasonal employees and in completing performance evaluations 
of seasonal employees that effectively allow these individuals to be rehired the following 
season or not. Thus, the APSs fall under the definition of "supervisor" as outlined in 
§ 4117.01 (F). The Employer's exhibits include records of many verbal and written 
warnings the APSs have issued to their subordinate employees. While the Progressive 
Discipline section of the Personnel Policy Manual provides a description of the steps in 
progressive discipline, and a list of "examples of infractions of rules of conduct that may 
result in disciplinary action," this section3 does not further dictate to supervisory staff how to 
administer discipline in any specific situation. A review of this section in conjunction with 
the verbal and written warnings in the record reveals that the Employer's discipline policy 
allows for discretionary choices by the APSs. The APSs exercise independent judgment in 
meting out the warnings and addressing the rules infractions with the employees involved. 
For example, APS Davy issued a verbal warning to Parks and Recreation employee Ralph 
Grasselli, who left work without explaining his reason for leaving. Mr. Grasselli 
subsequently explained that he left work because he was upset with another employee and 
"needed time to cool down.·· APS Davy instructed Mr. Grasse Iii on how to appropriately 
handle such a situation should it occur in the future. APS Hoffer issued a written warning 
to Parks and Recreation Employee Ashley Eckleberry, in which APS Hoffer addressed not 
only Ms. Eckleberry's excessive tardiness but also her communication with her crew 
leader. Ms. Eckleberry was not completing her assigned duties. APS Hoffer prepared a 
list of actions to be taken by both the crew leader and Ms. Eckleberry to ensure that 
Ms. Eckleberry completed her duties adequately and in a timely manner. The action plan 
also addressed Ms. Eckleberry's expressed concern that the crew leader was not 
distributing the workload evenly.4 

APSs have the authority to discipline other public employees, and use independent 
judgment in so doing. The numerous performance evaluations in the record confirm the 
disciplinary role of the APSs. In one such evaluation, APS Hoffer wrote of Della Long, the 
seasonal Gate and Registration Supervisor, that "[t]here rarely is a situation that requires 
corrective action."5 This comment indicates that an APS has the authority, and is even 
sometimes required, to take "corrective action" against a subordinate employee. The 

3 Er. Exh. Doc. B, at pp. 701 :1-701 :2. 
4 Er. Exh. B, at pp. 5-6, 9-10. 
5 Er. Exh. A (emphasis added). 
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performance evaluations completed by the APSs also reveal that the APSs have the 
authority to effectively recommend whether seasonal employees will be rehired or not for 
the following season. 

In their performance evaluations, APS Hoffer makes ringing endorsements of 
seasonal Gate Attendants Wilber Derwacter and Jerry Charley, saying that they are 
"welcome to return next season."6 Also, APS Hoffer wrote that Richard Anderson, a 
seasonal Park Ranger, was "more than welcome back next season."7 To welcome 
employees back suggests that, should they choose to return the following year, they will be 
rehired. The evidence in the record confirms that the Employer normally follows the rehire 
recommendations made by the APSs. Thus, the APSs have made effective 
recommendations that public employees will be rehired. This authority meets another 
criterion for supervisor status within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (F). 

As previously noted, each APS completes performance evaluations for subordinate 
employees, most of which make either an explicit or implicit recommendation of whether or 
not the person would be rehired in subsequent years. Though the FOP argues that this 
duty is merely clerical in nature, a closer examination reveals that the APSs are required to 
use independent judgment in making their recommendations. When considering whether 
or not an employee should be rehired, the APSs evaluate all of the experience they have 
had with the employee. The criteria range from measurable factors such as accuracy, 
attendance and punctuality to such intangibles as interpersonal skills and work habits. 
Often the APS considers how many seasons the employee has worked for the Employer, 
or considers other work completed that the employee was not assigned to do. These 
different types of mental processes, taken as a whole, form a mosaic of independent 
judgment. 

The FOP points out that the Park Superintendent also signs the evaluations, 
suggesting that the APS is merely a middleman in the process of evaluations and that the 
ultimate authority rests with the Park Superintendents. However, closer review detracts 
from this line of reasoning. What is telling is that the evaluations are completed by the 
APS and signed by the APS and the employee at various points throughout the end of the 
summer, but finally signed by the Park Superintendent much later, sometimes in excess of 
a month or two. Also, the Park Superintendents signed several performance evaluations 
on the same date, suggesting that they sign off on them in one sitting.8 This evidence 
verifies Mr. Barnhart's testimony that the APS's evaluation of an employee is relied upon 

6 Id. 
7 Id. The evaluations of APS Hoffer are cited here as examples; more evaluations addressing the 
eligibility of the employee to return the following year are evident in Er. Exh. A. 
'Er. Exh. A, performance evaluations completed by Jared Oakes (each of 15 evaluations completed 
and signed by the employee and the APS in August 2006 is signed by Park Superintendent Birney 
on September 15, 2006). 
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by the Employer. Because the Park Superintendents themselves merely play an 
administrative or oversight role in this process, this evidence cannot defeat the conclusion 
that the performance evaluations and other evidence in the record demonstrate that the 
APSs are statutory supervisors. 

For the reasons stated, the APSs are supervisors within the meaning of 
§ 4117.01 (F), and thus must be excluded from the bargaining unit proposed by the FOP. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Muskingum Watershed Conservancy District is a "public employer" as defined 
by §4117.01(8). 

2. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(D). 

3. Assistant Park Superintendents are excluded from the definition of "public 
employee" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (C) because they are supervisors within 
the meaning of "supervisor" as defined by§ 4117.01 (F). 

4. The following described unit is appropriate for collective bargaining: 

INCLUDED: All Full-Time Park Rangers and Park Ranger/Technicians. 

EXCLUDED: Assistant Park Superintendents and all other employees. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is respectfully recommended that: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board direct a representation election in 
accordance with § 4117.07 and the rules set forth in Chapter 4117-5 in the 
bargaining unit described below: 

INCLUDED: All Full-Time Park Rangers and Park Ranger/Technicians. 

EXCLUDED: Assistant Park Superintendents and all other employees. 
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OPINION 

MAYTON, Chairman: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"SERB") upon the issuance of a Proposed Order on March 20, 2007, and the filing of 

exceptions to the Proposed Order by the Respondent, City of Cincinnati ("the City"), 

responses to the exceptions by Complainant SERB and the Intervenor, Fraternal Order of 

Police, Queen City Lodge No. 69 ("the FOP"), and the oral arguments presented by the 

parties to the Board. For the reasons that follow, the Board finds that the City violated 

Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) in Case No. 2005-ULP-03-0126 

by insisting to impasse on its proposals to remove the Assistant Police Chiefs from a 

deemed-certified bargaining unit, that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A){5) 

in Case No. 2005-ULP-09-0482 by unilaterally negotiating individual employment contracts 

with Assistant Police Chiefs Cureton and Demasi while bypassing the FOP, and that the 

City did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2). 
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I. BACKGROUND 

The City is a charter municipality with home-rule authority as provided by the Ohio 

Constitution. The FOP is the deemed-certified, exclusive representative for a bargaining 

unit comprising all sworn members of the City's Police Division. 

The City and the Union were parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective 

December 10, 2000 through December 31, 2002, containing a grievance procedure that 

culminates in final and binding arbitration. The FOP and the City were also parties to a 

collective bargaining agreement effective December 22, 2002 through December 18, 2004. 

The FOP and the City are parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective 

December 19, 2004 through December 2, 2006 ("successor CBA"). 

On August 1, 2001, the City Council passed an emergency ordinance placing on the 

November 6, 2001 ballot a 2001 Charter Amendment modifying Article V of the City 

Charter (the "Charter Amendment"). On November 6, 2001, the Charter Amendment 

passed with a majority of votes. Under the terms of the Charter Amendment, if a person 

holds a position in the classified civil service and that position becomes unclassified under 

the terms of the Charter Amendment, such person shall be deemed to hold a position in 

the classified civil service until he or she vacates the position; after that time the position 

shall be filled as an unclassified position. In this case, the position of Assistant Police 

Chief became unclassified under the Charter Amendment; under the Charter Amendment's 

terms, future vacancies would be filled through appointment by the City Manager. The 

Charter Amendment, also referred to as Issue 5, did not state that Assistant Police Chiefs 

should be removed from the deemed-certified bargaining unit. 

In 2004, the FOP and the City began negotiations for the successor CBA. During 

negotiations, the City proposed removing all references to Assistant Police Chief from the 
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agreement, including the recognition clause. On November 15, 2004, the City posted a 

Job Opportunity for the "unclassified appointment" to the position of "Assistant Police Chief 

(Executive Officer)" and a second position of "Assistant Police Chief." The Assistant Police 

Chief (Executive Officer) position is not a bargaining unit position. 

On January 4, 2005, the FOP forwarded a letter to Ursula McDonnell, the City's 

Supervising Human Resources Analyst, copying Jonathan Downes, the City's Chief 

Negotiator, indicating, among other things, that "[i]t is the FOP's position that the 

composition of the Bargaining Unit is under the exclusive jurisdiction of SERB and the City 

may not take that matter to impasse. The FOP was unwilling to proceed to impasse on any 

of those issues." 

In the January 2005 submissions to the fact-finder, the FOP objected to the City 

taking bargaining-unit composition to impasse. In its January 12, 2005 submission to the 

fact-finder, the City proposed to delete the Lieutenant Colonel/ Assistant Police Chief from 

the Bargaining Unit, stating, in part: 

The City proposes removing references to "Assistant Chiefs" from all 
sections of the Supervisors' collective bargaining agreement. The City 
proposes removing the positions of "Assistant Chiefs" from the Supervisors' 
bargaining unit altogether. Numerous compelling reasons exist for removing 
the Assistant Chiefs from the bargaining unit. The most compelling reason 
for removing the Assistant Chiefs from the bargaining unit is that it is the will 
of the electorate of the City. Second, the Assistant Chiefs are managerial, 
executive positions properly excluded from the bargaining unit. (See Jt. 
Exh. 1, Tab 6(A)) 

On February 25, 2005, the fact finder issued a report and recommendation. The 

fact-finding report was rejected by the FOP. 
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In its May 2005 submission to the Conciliator, the FOP objected to the City taking 

bargaining-unit composition to impasse. In its May 13, 2005 submission to the Conciliator, 

the City proposed grandfathering into the bargaining unit the current Assistant Police 

Chiefs, but removing all Assistant Police Chiefs appointed pursuant to Issue 5 from the 

bargaining unit, stating in part as follows: 

With respect to Definitions, Article 1, Recognition, and Article 7, Section 32, 
Assistant Police Chiefs, the Employer proposes removing the Assistant Chief 
classification from the bargaining unit for employees hired or promoted to the 
classification after the effective date of Charter Amendment Issue 5. This 
proposal is necessary due to the passage of Charter Issue 5 placing the 
classification of Assistant Chief in the unclassified service. It is the position 
of the City for this Conciliation that the individuals currently serving the rank 
of Assistant Chief would continue to be "covered by" this Agreement (i.e. 
grandfathered). Once the positions in the rank of Assistant Chief become 
vacant, the positions would no longer be included in the bargaining unit. 

The parties proceeded to conciliation, and on June 7, 2005, a conciliation award and 

opinion was issued. As it relates to the City's proposal to remove references to the 

Assistant Police Chiefs from the Supervisors' Agreement, the Conciliator awarded the 

FOP's position maintaining current language. 

On June 22, 2005, the City announced the appointment of Captain Michael Cureton 

to the position of Assistant Police Chief. On July 7, 2005, the FOP filed a grievance 

alleging a violation of various contract provisions with regard to Assistant Police Chief 

Cureton's appointment to the position of Assistant Police Chief, as well as an allegation 

that "the agreement between Captain Cureton and the City of Cincinnati changes and/or 

conflicts with and/or is different from the Labor Agreement by and between the parties in 

the areas set forth above." Assistant Police Chief Cureton's appointment was not made 

from a Civil Service List for the rank of Assistant Police Chief. 



SERB OPINION 2007-003 
Case Nos. 2005-ULP-03-0126 & 2005-ULP-09-0482 
Page 5 of 23 

On June 23, 2005, the City announced the appointment of Captain James Whalen 

to the position of Assistant Police Chief (Executive Officer). Assistant Police Chief 

Whalen's appointment was not made from a Civil Service List for the rank of Assistant 

Police Chief. 

As a result of a lawsuit filed by Vincent Demasi, et al., against the City of Cincinnati, 

et al., in Court Case No. A0502426, the City appointed Mr. Demasi to the position of 

Assistant Police Chief on November 21, 2005, pursuant to the November 21, 2005 

settlement agreement. On November 22, 2005, the court signed an Agreed Entry 

Approving Settlement and Dismissing Action. The FOP was not a party to this lawsuit or 

settlement agreement. 

The FOP filed a grievance alleging a violation of various contract provisions with 

regard to Assistant Police Chief Demasi's appointment to the position of Assistant Police 

Chief, as well as an allegation that "the agreement between Captain Demasi and the City 

of Cincinnati changes and/or conflicts with and/or is different from the Labor Agreement by 

and between the parties in the areas set forth above." The grievance was assigned 

Grievance No. 27-05, and was scheduled to be arbitrated on August 30, 2006. In a letter 

dated November 28, 2005, the FOP requested that Assistant Police Chief Demasi's 

appointment be included in the unfair labor practice charge in Case No. 2005-ULP-09-

0482. 

Assistant Police Chiefs Cureton and Whalen each accepted the City's offer letters, 

which list certain wages and benefits. The offer letters also stated, in part: "The position of 

Assistant Police Chief is an unclassified position within the City of Cincinnati and, as a 

result, acceptance of this offer will result in your being considered an at-will employee." 

Assistant Police Chief Demasi and the City agreed, as part of a settlement of the lawsuit, 

Court Case No. 0502426, "to appoint Mr. Demasi to the rank of Assistant Police Chief in 
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the Cincinnati Police Department with his terms and conditions of such appointment to 

Assistant Police Chief being set forth in a letter attached to the settlement agreement and 

incorporated by reference," which stated, in part: "The position of Assistant Police Chief is 

an unclassified position within the City of Cincinnati and, as a result, acceptance of this 

offer will result in your being considered an at-will employee." The City did not negotiate 

with the FOP over the City's offer letters to Assistant Police Chiefs Cureton or Whalen. 

The City did not negotiate with the FOP over the City's settlement with Assistant Police 

Chief Demasi. 

The Charter Amendment, Issue 5, states in part, "[t]he positions of police chief and 

assistant police chief shall be in the unclassified civil service of the city and exempt from all 

competitive examination requirements. The city manager shall appoint the police chief and 

assistant police chiefs to serve in said unclassified positions." The Charter Amendment, 

Issue 5, states in part, "[t]he incumbent officers in the police chief and assistant police chief 

positions at the effective date of this Charter provision, shall remain in the classified civil 

service until their positions become vacant after which time their positions shall be filled 

according to the terms of this section." 

On October 25, 2004. in City Proposal #2, the City first proposed removing the 

Assistant Police Chief classification from Article 1, Recognition, of the parties' Supervisors' 

Agreement. During the fact-finding hearing, representatives of both the City and the Union 

met with the fact-finder and agreed to submit their positions/proposals regarding Issue 5 to 

the fact-finder based upon the parties' written submissions without any testimony and/or 

other oral presentations. The fact-finder's Report and Recommendation recommended 

maintaining current language in Article 1, Recognition, of the Supervisors' Agreement. 

At the Cureton arbitration hearing before Arbitrator Mollie Bowers, the Union 

explicitly stated to Arbitrator Bowers that it was not pursuing at the arbitration hearing the 
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portion of the original grievance which dealt with the appointment of Mr. Cureton to the 

classification of Assistant Police Chief, and Arbitrator Bowers did not consider the 

appointment process when issuing her award regarding the grievance. On April 7, 2006, 

the arbitrator issued an award granting the grievance. The City moved to vacate the award 

in the Hamilton County Court of Common Pleas, and the Union moved to confirm the 

award. On February 5, 2007, the common pleas court denied the City's motion to vacate 

and granted the Union's motion to confirm. 

The FOP had notice of Mr. Demasi's lawsuit against the City, but did not intervene in 

the matter. The City took no action to add the FOP as a party to the litigation. 

Assistant Police Chiefs Demasi or Cureton did not file a grievance alleging any 

denial of a provision or benefit contained in the parties' CBA. Both Assistant Police Chiefs 

Demasi and Cureton were still employed by the City, and neither Assistant Police Chief 

had been disciplined by the City, when the parties submitted this matter for decision on 

Joint Stipulations of Fact and Joint Exhibits in lieu of evidentiary hearing. The FOP did not 

file a grievance or unfair labor practice charge contesting the $13,000 payment to another 

bargaining-unit member as a result of, or concerning the promotions of other bargaining

unit employees subject to, the Agreed Entry Approving Settlement and Dismissing Action, 

Case No. A0502426. 

On March 3, 2005, the FOP filed an unfair labor practice charge, Case No. 2005-

ULP-03-0126, with SERB. On July 15, 2005, SERB determined that probable cause 

existed for believing the City had committed or was committing an unfair labor practice in 

Case No. 2005-ULP-03-0126, authorized the issuance of a complaint, and referred the 

matter to an expedited hearing. 
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On September 1, 2005, the FOP filed another unfair labor practice charge, Case 

No. 2005-ULP-09-0482, with SERB. On December 15, 2005, in Case No. 2005-ULP-09-

0482, SERB determined that probable cause existed for believing that the City had 

committed an unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

SERB consolidated Case Nos. 2005-ULP-03-0126 and 2005-ULP-09-0482, authorized the 

issuance of a complaint, and referred the matters to hearing. On October 20, 2005, SERB 

vacated the direction to an expedited hearing in Case No. 2005-ULP-03-0126 and directed 

the matter to a hearing. 

On August 29, 2006, the City filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment in the 

Hamilton County Court of Common Pleas. The case was assigned Case No. A0607369. 

In the Complaint, the City asked the court to determine the rights, duties, and obligations of 

the City and the FOP pursuant to the court entry referenced in paragraph no. 26 thereof. 

The City also requested a permanent injunction to enjoin the FOP from proceeding to 

arbitrate Grievance No. 27-05. When the parties filed the Joint Stipulations, the court had 

not ruled in Case No. A0607369. On December 29, 2006, the court issued an Entry 

Denying Plaintiff's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment in Case No. A0607369. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. History of deemed-certified bargaining-unit changes 

Deemed-certified bargaining units are established through a provision in the 

uncodified law, Section 4(A) of Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133, 140 Ohio Laws, Part I, 336, 367 

[hereinafter Section 4(A)], which provides in relevant part as follows: 

Exclusive recognition through a written contract, agreement, or 
memorandum of understanding by a public employer to an employee 
organization whether specifically stated or through tradition, custom, practice, 
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election, or negotiation the employee organization has been the only 
employee organization representing all employees in the unit is protected 
subject to the time restriction in division (B) of section 4117.05 of the Revised 
Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, any employee 
organization recognized as the exclusive representative shall be deemed 
certified until challenged by another employee organization under the 
provisions of this act and the State Employment Relations Board has 
certified an exclusive representative. 

In Ohio Council 8, AFSCME v. Cincinnati, 69 Ohio St.3d 677, 1994 SERB 4-37 

(1994) ("Ohio Council 8"), the Ohio Supreme Court rejected an employer's unilateral 

attempt to alter the composition of a deemed-certified bargaining unit. The Court struck 

down an administrative rule, former Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-5-01 (F), because 

it authorized adjustments or alterations to deemed-certified collective bargaining units 

absent a challenge by another employee organization and subsequent certification of an 

exclusive representative, which is forbidden by Section 4(A). 

In State ex rel. Brecksville Ed. Assn. v. SERB, 74 Ohio St.3d 665, 1996 SERB 4-1 

(1996) ("Brecksville"), the Ohio Supreme Court found that Ohio Council 8 applied only to 

unilateral employer petitions. The Court also held at 667, 1996 SERB at 4-3, that 

Section 4(A) does not deprive SERB of jurisdiction to consider a petition jointly filed by an 

employer and an exclusive bargaining representative requesting SERB to amend the 

composition of a deemed-certified bargaining unit: 

First and foremost, we note that the language of Section 4(A) of 
Am.Sub.S.B. No. 133 does not expressly protect the composition of the 
bargaining unit. [emphasis in original]. Section 4(A) provides that the 
deemed certified unit shall remain deemed certified until challenged by 
another organization. It does not exclude, expressly or otherwise, SERB 
jurisdiction under the facts of this case; nor does it preclude the addition of a 
group of employees to an existing bargaining unit where no one opposes the 
action. [emphasis added]. 
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In In re Groveport Madison Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 98-011 (07-23-98) 

("Groveport Madison"), we were faced with a unilateral filing by the deemed-certified 

exclusive representative that was opposed by the employer, and we held: 

In light of Ohio Council 8 and Brecksville, we decline to act favorably 
on a unilateral attempt by either the employer or the exclusive representative 
to alter the composition of a deemed-certified bargaining unit when such an 
attempt is opposed by the other party. In Brecksville, the Court declared that 
cooperative solutions are the express objective of Ohio's Public Employee 
Collective Bargaining Law. [footnote omitted] To allow an exclusive 
representative to unilaterally initiate alterations to the composition of a 
deemed-certified bargaining unit over an employer's objections would not 
promote cooperative solutions and would be contrary to Section 4(A)'s 
express objective. Further, since Ohio Council 8 already prevents an 
employer from unilaterally initiating changes in a bargaining-unit's 
composition to which it previously agreed, then allowing an exclusive 
representative to do so is inherently inconsistent and would create an 
imbalance in these bargaining relationships. Consequently, the Request for 
Recognition in the present case must be dismissed. Of course, the dismissal 
of this Request for Recognition does not prevent the Employee Organization 
from representing these employees in a separate bargaining unit. 

In Ohio Council 8, Am. Fedn. of State, Cty. & Mun. Emp., AFL-CIO v. State Emp. 

Relations Bd., 88 Ohio St.3d 460, 2000-0hio-370, 2000 SERB 4-13, Syllabus ("AFSCME"), 

the Ohio Supreme Court held: "A deemed certified employee representative and an 

employer may resolve disputes concerning bargaining unit composition through their 

collective bargaining agreement's grievance procedure." The Court recognized the Public 

Employees' Collective Bargaining Act [O.R.C. Chapter 4117] "acknowledges that certain 

employers and bargaining groups have long histories, predating the Act, of resolving 

differences through collective bargaining and through dispute resolution mechanisms such 

as arbitration." Id at 463, 2000 SERB at 4-14. In addressing its decisions in both Ohio 

Council 8 and Brecksville, the Court stated that "historic relationships should be allowed to 

agree between themselves about the makeup of bargaining units. or to choose the best 

method of resolving differences in that regard. (emphasis added)" Id. 
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It is against this backdrop that the City asks SERB to create a fourth method of 

change to deemed-certified units by allowing a party to use the statutory dispute resolution 

procedures of fact finding and conciliation to modify to composition of the deemed-certified 

bargaining unit. We find that this request is contrary to the express objective of 

Section 4(A) and the Ohio Supreme Court's direction. The Court allowed changes as a 

result of the parties agreeing "between themselves" or as the result of a collective 

bargaining agreement's grievance procedure. Until the parties "choose the best method of 

resolving differences" in their collective bargaining agreement to be the fact-finding or 

conciliation processes, we cannot recognize these statutory procedures for this purpose. 

B. C/NCINNA Tl I 

1. SERB's Opinion and Order: 

In In re City of Cincinnati, SERB 2005-006 (9-21-2005) ("Cincinnati f'), the FOP filed 

an unfair labor practice charge against the City alleging that the City violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally changed the terms and conditions of 

employment for Assistant Police Chiefs when it did not promote Captain Gregoire to a 

vacancy in the position of Assistant Police Chief, all of which occurred after the voters 

enacted the 2001 Charter Amendment. After a hearing before a SERB Administrative Law 

Judge, the Board ultimately found that the Cincinnati did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A}(5}, dismissed the complaint, and dismissed with prejudice the 

unfair labor practice charge. The FOP appealed to the Court of Common Pleas of 

Hamilton County, which reversed the Board. Queen City Lodge No. 69, Fraternal Orderof 

Police v State Emp. Relations Bd., Court Case No. A0508286 (CP, Hamilton, 8-25-2006). 

2. The Common Pleas Court's Decision: 

The Common Pleas Court assigned the case to a Magistrate; after he issued his 

Decision and objections were filed to it, the Common Pleas Court found the objections to 
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the Magistrate's Decision were not well taken, accepted and adopted the Magistrate's 

Decision as its own without further elaboration, thereby setting aside SERB's order and 

remanding the matter to SERB for further adjudication consistent with the Magistrate's 

Decision. 

The Magistrate found that the Charter Amendment directly modified the grievance 

procedures in the CBA when it recategorized the APC position as employment at will, 

thereby eliminating the protection of the grievance procedure. The Magistrate also found 

that the Charter Amendment modified the CBA's promotion procedures. As a result, the 

Magistrate found that SERB erred in holding that the Charter Amendment did not conflict 

with the CBA. 

The Magistrate then looked at whether the conflict constituted an unfair labor 

practice. The Magistrate found that SERB correctly determined that the midterm changes 

in APC promotion procedures required collective bargaining. The Magistrate stated that 

the City's passing of the ordinance placing the Charter Amendment on the ballot 

constituted an unfair labor practice unless the ordinance fell within one of the two SERB

created exceptions under Toledo. 

The Magistrate then reviewed SERB's finding that the voters constituted a "higher

level legislative body" under the second exception in Toledo. The Magistrate found 

SERB's definition was inconsistent with the Ohio Revised Code. The Magistrate then 

found that the City, by enacting the ordinance that put the Charter Amendment on the 

ballot, "put in motion a process which ultimately modified the existing CBA without the 

negotiation by and agreement of the Union." As a result, the Magistrate found the City did 

not have clean hands and the course of action "contradicts the spirit of, and is inconsistent 

with, the objectives of Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code." 
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3. The Court of Appeals' Decision: 

On appeal, the 151 District Court of Appeals reversed the common pleas court and 

upheld the Board's order. State Emp. Relations Bd. v Queen City Lodge No. 69, Fraternal 

Order of Police, 2007-0hio-5741 (1 51 Dist Ct App, Hamilton, 10-26-2007). The Court of 

Appeals determined that the common pleas court improperly reviewed SERB's decision de 

novo and did not properly defer to SERB's findings that were supported by substantial 

evidence in the record. 

The Court of Appeals agreed with SERB's interpretation of the CBA article dealing 

with "Terminal Benefits." The Court of Appeals found that the record demonstrated that 

SERB reviewed the CBA and, relying upon the finding of its administrative law judge, 

concluded the CBA did not specify the promotional process for APCs. The parties had 

stipulated to the fact that past promotions were governed by the Rule of 1. The Court of 

Appeals reasoned that if there had been a provision in the CBA governing promotions, like 

the lower court found, then the parties would not have needed to stipulate to this fact. 

"Essentially, what the [lower] court did here was to substitute its judgment for that of SERB. 

That was improper." 

Although the CBA contained a Management-Rights provision, the Court of Appeals 

found that SERB properly concluded that the City would ordinarily be required to bargain 

over the promotion process for APCs. The lower court agreed with SERB that the Toledo 

decision was the controlling precedent governing midterm bargaining, which contains 

exceptions involving "exigent circumstances" or legislative actions by a "higher-level 

legislative body." 

SERB had found that the voters constituted a "higher-level legislative body," which 

encompassed a "higher-level legislative body," under the second exception in Toledo. 

SERB had based its determination on the fact that the term "higher-level legislative body or 
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authority" was not defined in the Ohio Revised Code, but instead was an agency-created 

concept. The Court of Appeals held: "SERB itself created the term. Thus, as SERB 

correctly noted, it could define the term as long as the definition was consistent with the 

objectives of R.C. Chapter 4117." Id at ,-i32, Slip Op at p. 12. 

SERB had relied on the fact that the City's electorate enacted the Charter 

Amendment, not the city council, in determining that these circumstances fit the second 

exception in Toledo. The Court of Appeals stated that "a city council cannot agree to a 

collective-bargaining agreement, then pass an ordinance abrogating it. But that is not what 

happened here." Id at ,-i33, Slip Op. at p. 12. 

The Common Pleas Court had found SERB's definition was inconsistent with the 

Ohio Revised Code for two reasons. The Court of Appeals saw nothing wrong with 

SERB's interpretation of a "higher-level legislative authority." The Court of Appeals noted 

that "if the citizens of Cincinnati, in passing a charter amendment, are not a 'higher-level 

legislative authority,' then any charter amendment could never affect future collective 

bargaining. On its face, that is impossible-both the city and any union could simply ignore 

the charter, which is the highest authority in city governance." Id at ,-i37, Slip Op. at p. 14. 

The Court of Appeals, unlike the lower court, perceived no difference in whether the 

amendment was put on the ballot by council or by individuals gathering signatures; "either 

way, the voters have the last word." Id. 

The Court of Appeals found that the lower court's reversal of SERB's reasonable 

legal interpretation of what constituted a "higher-level legislative authority" was erroneous. 

The Common Pleas Court had failed to defer, applied the wrong standard of review, and 

abused its discretion. 
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C. The unfair labor practice charges 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code* * *; 

(2) [D]ominate * * * or interfere with the formation * * * of any 
employee organization[;] 

* * * 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The primary issue is whether the City committed an unfair labor practice in violation 

of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 }, (A)(2}, and (A){5) when the City utilized the statutory impasse 

proceedings in an attempt to remove Assistant Police Chiefs from a deemed-certified 

bargaining unit. 

Section 4117.01 (G) defines "to bargain collectively" as follows: 

"To bargain collectively" means to perform the mutual obligation of the public 
employer, by its representatives, and the representatives of its employees to 
negotiate in good faith at reasonable times and places with respect to wages, 
hours, terms and other conditions of employment and the continuation, 
modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective bargaining 
agreement, with the intention of reaching an agreement, or to resolve 
questions arising under the agreement. * * * 

The duty to bargain includes the duty to bargain in good faith. Good-faith bargaining 

is determined objectively using a "totality of the circumstances" test. In re 

Dist 1199/HCSSU!SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain, 

regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 
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1. The City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it attempted 
to remove Assistant Police Chiefs from the supervisorv bargaining unit 
during conciliation. 

A review of all of the evidence reveals that the City refused to bargain in good faith 

during conciliation with the FOP. During negotiations for the successor CBA, the City 

rejected a tentative agreement ("TA") that would have provided for a newly negotiated 

agreement and continued to include the Assistant Police Chiefs in the deemed-certified 

bargaining unit. During fact finding under O.R.C. § 4117.14, the City continued to propose 

to remove any and all references to APCs from the Agreement. The fact finder rejected 

these arguments and recommended affirmation of the TA. The FOP rejected the fact

finder's report. 

After the rejection of a fact-finding report, O.R.C. § 4117.14 provides in relevant part 

as follows: 

(D) If the parties are unable to reach agreement within seven days 
after the publication of findings and recommendations from the fact-finding 
panel or the collective bargaining agreement, if one exists, has expired, then 
the: 

(1) Public employees, who are members of a police or fire 
department, members of the state highway patrol, deputy sheriffs, 
dispatchers employed by a police, fire or sheriffs department or the state 
highway patrol or civilian dispatchers employed by a public employer other 
than a police, fire, or sheriffs department to dispatch police, fire, sheriffs 
department, or emergency medical or rescue personnel and units, an 
exclusive nurse's unit, employees of the state school for the deaf or the state 
school for the blind, employees of any public employee retirement system, 
corrections officers, guards at penal or mental institutions, special police 
officers appointed in accordance with sections 5119.14 and 5123.13 of the 
Revised Code, psychiatric attendants employed at mental health forensic 
facilities, or youth leaders employed at juvenile correctional facilities, shall 
submit the matter to a final offer settlement procedure pursuant to a board 
order issued forthwith to the parties to settle by a conciliator selected by the 
parties. The parties shall request from the board a list of five qualified 
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conciliators and the parties shall select a single conciliator from the list by 
alternate striking of names. If the parties cannot agree upon a conciliator 
within five days after the board order, the board shall on the sixth day after its 
order appoint a conciliator from a list of qualified persons maintained by the 
board or shall request a list of qualified conciliators from the American 
arbitration association and appoint therefrom. 

(2) Public employees other than those listed in division (0)(1) of 
this section have the right to strike under Chapter 4117. of the Revised 
Code[.] 

After the rejection of the fact-finding report, the parties moved to conciliation under 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(0)(1 ). At conciliation, the City continued to propose that the Assistant 

Police Chiefs be removed from the bargaining unit. It is at this point that the City engaged 

in bad faith bargaining. The City's proposal was rejected by the conciliator, who wrote as 

follows: "The Fact-Finder's recommendation stands. The language in the most recent 

CBA stays and the FOP's position to maintain the current language in the Definition and 

Recognition section of the contract is ordered." 

An objective review of the City's conduct results in the determination that the City 

violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) 1 and (A)(5) by insisting to impasse on its proposal to 

remove the Assistant Police Chiefs from the bargaining unit. Citing Section 4(A), SERB 

has held that a deemed-certified representative cannot be displaced except by a 

competing employee organization. In re Univ of Cincinnati, SERB 85-022 (5-24-85). 

SERB also has rejected several attempts by unions to unilaterally petition for the 

modification of a deemed-certified bargaining unit. In re Groveport Madison Local School 

Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 98-011 (1998). See also, In re Urbana City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., 

SERB 98-012 (1998). In In re Cuyahoga County Human Services Dept, SERB 98-008 (4-

30-98) ("Cuyahoga"), SERB set forth the standard under which employees can be severed 

1 The O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) allegation is a derivative violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5) in this 
instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 26a SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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from deemed-certified bargaining units, holding that absent evidence of substantial 

changes or of inadequate, disparate representation by an employee organization, no basis 

exists for granting a severance petition. 

The Ohio Supreme Court also has addressed the circumstances under which 

parties can achieve changes to the composition of deemed-certified bargaining units. 

Initially, the Court held that O.R.C. Chapter 4117 allows changes to a deemed-certified 

bargaining unit upon challenge by and subsequent certification of a rival employee 

organization. Ohio Council 8. supra. In Brecksville, supra, the Court held that a deemed

certified employee organization and an employer could agree, through a petition jointly filed 

with SERB, to ask SERB to amend the composition of a deemed-certified bargaining unit. 

Finally, in AFSCME, supra at Syllabus, the Court held: "A deemed certified employee 

representative and an employer may resolve disputes concerning bargaining unit 

composition through their collective bargaining agreement's grievance procedure. 

(emphasis added)" 

Key to the Court's holding in AFSCMEwas the principle that orderly and cooperative 

resolution of disputes and the policy interest of stability in labor relationships is furthered 

when the parties "agree between themselves about the makeup of bargaining units, or** * 

choose the best method of resolving differences in that regard." Id. In AFSCME, the 

parties' choice of the grievance process to resolve disputes over bargaining-unit 

composition was evident because the collective bargaining agreement at issue contained 

language specifying when newly-created positions would be added to the bargaining unit. 

When the employer created a new position but did not place it in the bargaining unit, the 

employee organization filed a grievance alleging a violation of this specific contract 

language. Ultimately, an arbitrator resolved the parties' dispute. The Court held that 

O.R.C. Chapter4117 was not violated when the parties used the grievance-arbitration 

process to resolve their bargaining-unit dispute. Id. 
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The recognition clause in the 2002-2004 CBA does not set forth any agreement 

between the FOP and the City regarding amendments to the composition of the deemed

certified bargaining unit. Rather, the clause states that the City agrees to recognize the 

FOP as the exclusive representative of the previously-defined "sworn members" of the 

City's Police Department. Thus, this language does not reflect the parties' agreement upon 

a process to amend the composition of the bargaining unit. 

The mere recitation in a recognition clause of the positions contained in a bargaining 

unit, whether deemed certified or Board certified, does not, without more, make the 

composition of the bargaining unit a mandatory subject of collective bargaining. Cases 

decided under the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA") are persuasive in this regard. As 

noted by the U.S. Second Circuit Court of Appeals in a case arising under the NLRA: 

The statute imposes on labor and management alike a duty to bargain in 
good faith with respect to wages, hours and other conditions of 
employment.. .. This duty "does not compel either party to agree to a 
proposal," as Section 8(d) states, "or require the making of a concession," 
and the [National Labor Relations] Board ["NLRB") has no power to settle 
any of those questions. By way of contrast, it not only has power, but is 
indeed directed, to decide what is the appropriate bargaining unit in each 
case. 

Douds v. Longshoremen (/LA), 241 F.2d 278, 282 (2d. Cir. 1957). Thus, the scope of the 

bargaining unit is a permissive, not a mandatory, subject of bargaining. Further, while 

under the NLRA a bargaining unit may be altered by agreement of the parties, it is an 

unfair labor practice for either party to insist to impasse on a permissive proposal that 

employees be added to or excluded from a certified bargaining unit. Id; Salt River Valley 

Water Users' Ass'n, 204 NLRB 83 (1973), enf'd, 498 F.2d 393 (91
h Cir. 1974); United 

Technologies Corp., 292 NLRB 248 (1989), affd, 884 F.2d 1569 (2d Cir. 1989). We 

concur with this reasoning. 
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Therefore, we find that, under Section 4(A) and O.R.C. Chapter 4117, it is an unfair 

labor practice for either party to insist to impasse on a permissive proposal that employees 

be added to or excluded from a deemed-certified bargaining unit. Thus, we further find in 

the present case that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by insisting to 

impasse on its proposal to remove the Assistant Police Chiefs from the bargaining unit. 

2. The City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 {A)(1) and {A)(5) when it bypassed 
the FOP and negotiated individual employment contracts with certain 
Assistant Police Chiefs. 

After the conciliator's award was issued, the City, essentially ignoring the terms of 

the successor CSA, entered into employment contracts directly with certain Assistant 

Police Chiefs without duly negotiating with the FOP. On June 22, 2005, the City entered 

into a contract with Captain Cureton, which provided for him to become an Assistant Police 

Chief. This employment contract was entered into without any discussion or negotiation 

with the FOP. Furthermore, the contract contains provisions that directly contradict the 

existing supervisors' collective bargaining agreement, including, among other items, 

different residency requirements and disciplinary provisions. The City entered into a 

similarly worded contract with Captain Demasi, also without negotiating with the FOP. 

The City entered into Captain Demasi's individual employment contract as part of a 

settlement of a common pleas court action filed against the City by individual employees. 

In this action, the City filed memoranda with the court stating that the Assistant Police Chief 

positions (other than Executive Officer) were within the FOP bargaining unit. The City 

claims that the FOP waived its right to challenge the individual employment contract 

entered into in settlement of this litigation. The FOP was not a party to this action, and the 

City never invited the FOP to participate in the settlement negotiations. Indeed, the parties 

stipulated that the FOP was not involved in the negotiations leading to the individual 

employment contracts reached with APCs Cureton and Demasi. In neither instance did the 

City have the right to unilaterally avoid its obligations under the CSA. 
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The recognition clause of the CBA provided in part as follows: 

"Exclusive bargaining rights" shall be interpreted to mean that the City shall 
not negotiate, meet or confer with any person, group of persons, 
associations or unions other than the Fraternal Order of Police, Queen City 
Lodge No. 69, for purpose of effecting or attempting to effect a change in the 
terms of this Agreement as it applies to any provision of this contract, and 
shall not permit any City employee or agent to adopt or continue any policy, 
procedure or program which is in conflict with any provision of this contract. 

The Ohio Supreme Court has held that an employer has a duty to bargain 

collectively and exclusively with the designated exclusive representative of a bargaining 

unit. State Emp. Relations Bd. v. Miami Univ. (1994), 71 Ohio St.3d 351, 1995 SERB 4-1. 

This duty extends unless and until the employee organization is no longer the exclusive 

representative. Id. In In re Findlay City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 88-006 (1988), the 

employer, as here, bypassed the exclusive representative and negotiated directly with 

employees, and we found a violation because the employer ignored its obligation to 

bargain with the union. 

The parties have stipulated that the FOP has at all relevant times been the exclusive 

bargaining representative, having never waived that right nor relinquished it upon 

challenge. To simply avoid its responsibility to negotiate with the exclusive representative 

of the Assistant Police Chiefs, as the City has done, is an attempt to abrogate the 

obligations set forth in O.R.C. Chapter 4117. Therefore, we that the City violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 )2 and (A)(5) when it refused to bargain with the exclusive representative of 

its employees by directly negotiating individual employment contracts for Assistant Police 

Chiefs covered by a collective bargaining agreement with the FOP. 

2 The O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) allegation is a derivative violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5) in this 
instance. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268 SERB 93-013 (6-25-93) at n.14. 
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3. The City did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2). 

The record does not contain any facts to support the allegation that the City became 

involved in the internal administration or leadership of the FOP. The records also does not 

indicate that the City, by requesting changes to the composition of an FOP bargaining unit, 

has interfered with the formation of the employee organization itself. The facts of this case 

are readily distinguishable from those of In re Pierce Twp, Clermont County, SERB 2001-

008 (12-12-01), in which SERB found an O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2) violation when the 

employer took action to eliminate all positions within a local union's proposed bargaining 

unit while a Petition for Representation Election was pending. Therefore, the City did not 

violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(2) when it bypassed the FOP and negotiated individual 

employment contracts with certain Assistant Police Chiefs. Since Complainant and 

Intervenor have failed to meet their burden of proof for this allegation, it is dismissed. 

D. REMEDY 

The parties will be ordered to return to the status quo ante effective June 7, 2005, 

the date on which the conciliation award and opinion was issued, to remedy the City's 

unilateral acts. Consequently, the City must rescind the individual employment contracts 

with Assistant Police Chiefs Cureton and Demasi and afford these employees the wages, 

hours, and terms and conditions of employment set forth in the current collective 

bargaining agreement between the City and the FOP. In addition, a cease-and-desist 

order will be issued, along with a Notice to Employees, to be posted by the City for sixty 

days where employees represented by the FOP work. 



SERB OPINION 2007-003 
Case Nos. 2005-ULP-03-0126 & 2005-ULP-09-0482 
Page 23 of 23 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds that the City of Cincinnati violated 

Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) in Case No. 2005-ULP-03-0126 by 

insisting to impasse on its proposals to remove the Assistant Police Chiefs from a deemed

certified bargaining unit, that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (5) in Case 

No. 2005-ULP-09-0482 by unilaterally negotiating individual employment contracts with 

Assistant Police Chiefs Cureton and Demasi while bypassing the FOP, and that the City 

did not violate O.R.C. §4117.11(A)(2). As a result, a cease-and-desist order will be 

issued, along with a Notice to Employees, to be posted by the City for sixty days where 

employees represented by Fraternal Order of Police, Queen City Lodge No. 69 work, and 

the order will require the parties to return to the status quo ante effective June 7, 2005, the 

date on which the conciliation award and opinion was issued. 

Gillmor, Vice Chairman, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

OHIO CIVIL SERVICE EMPLOYEES 
ASSOCIATION, AFSCME LOCAL 11, AFL-CIO, 

Respondent. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

CASE NO. 05-ULP-05-0296 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

On May 25, 2005, Anna M. Davis filed an unfair labor practice charge against the 
Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO (the "Union" or 
"OCSEA"), alleging that the Union violated Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11 (B)(6). 1 On 
October 6, 2005, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") 
determined that probable cause existed for believing that the Union had committed or was 
committing unfair labor practices, authorized the issuance of a complaint, and referred the 
matter to hearing. On March 9, 2006, a complaint was issued. On July 6, 2006, Ms. Davis, 
through her representative, filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance 
with Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-1-07(A}. 

On August 1 and 28, 2006, a hearing was held, wherein testimonial and 
documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Did the Union timely raise a statute of limitations defense to the unfair 
labor practice charge and complaint? 

2. Did the Union fail to timely process Ms. Davis' grievance? 
3. Was the Union's conduct in processing Ms. Davis' grievance arbitrary, 

discriminatory, or in bad faith? 

1All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references to 
rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise indicated. 
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4. Did the grievance have a reasonable likelihood of success on the 
merits? 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

Background 

1. The State of Ohio ("State") is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). The 
Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction ("DRC") is a state agency. The 
Richland Correctional Institution ("RCI") is an institution within DRC. (S. 1) 

2. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(D). The Union is the SERB
certified exclusive representative of certain State employees, including Correction 
Officers. (S. 2) 

3. The State and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
effective from March 1, 2003 through February 28, 2006, which contains a 
grievance procedure culminating in final and binding arbitration. The State and the 
Union also were parties to a previous CBA effective from 2000 to 2003. (S. 5) 

4. Ms. Davis was employed by DRC as a Correction Officer at RCI. While so 
employed, she was a member of the Union. (S. 7) 

DRC Policies 

5. DRC Policy No. 404-03, "Unauthorized Relationships," effective March 2, 1998 to 
December 17, 2001, defined "Unauthorized Relationship," in relevant part, as 
follows: 

2All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S." All references 
to the Complainant and Intervenor's joint exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "C&I 
Exh.," followed by the exhbit number. All references to the Intervenor's exhibits in therecord are 
indicated parenthetically by "I. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number. All references to the Union's 
exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh.," followed by the exhibit letter. All 
references to the transcript of hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed by the page 
number. References to the stipulations and exhibits in the Findings of Fact are intended for 
convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the 
record for that related finding of fact. 
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A relationship with any individual under the supervision of the 
Department, an ex-inmate, or anyone under the jurisdiction of 
a criminal court, which has not been approved by the 
Appointing Authority. Prohibited activities include, but are not 
limited to: 

• The exchange of personal letters, pictures, phone calls, 
or information with any individual under the supervision 
of the Department/criminal court or friends or family of 
same; 

• Engaging in any other unauthorized personal or 
business relationship(s) with any current or former 
individual under the superv1s1on of the 
Department/criminal court or friends or family of same; 

• Visiting with any individual under the supervision of the 
Department or under the jurisdiction of a criminal 
court[.] ... 

DRC Policy No. 404-03 provided in section V as follows: 

It is the policy of the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and 
Correction to prohibit any type of unauthorized relationship 
between its employees and any person under the supervision 
of the Department or under the jurisdiction of a criminal court 
without approval. All employees are expected to have a clear 
understanding that the Department considers any type of 
unauthorized relationship with an individual under its 
supervision or under the supervision of a criminal court to be a 
serious breach of security and these relationships will not be 
tolerated. 

6. The Unauthorized Relationships Policy was amended effective December 18, 2001, 
but the substance of the above-quoted provisions did not change. The policy was 
subsequently amended effective October 17, 2004, and no longer prohibits 
relationships with family or friends of inmates. (C&I Exhs. 2, 3, 28; R Exh. B) 

7. When a DRC employee has an "inmate nexus," the employee is required to report 
the relationship by completing an Inmate Nexus form. The form provides as follows: 
"Examples of an inmate nexus are: A relative by blood or marriage, a neighbor, a 
friend, an ex-spouse, a close family friend, an ex-boyfriend or girlfriend, or any 
individual with whom you have or had a personal or business relationship." On the 
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form, the employee may also request authorization from DRC to continue the 
relationship. (T. 23-28, 50-51, 165-169; C&I Exhs. 7, 28) 

8. DRC conducts yearly in-service training on employee policies. Ms. Davis received 
training on the Standards of Employee Conduct and on the Unauthorized 
Relationships Policy. (T. 168-169, 194; R. Exhs. A, B) 

The Discharge of Ms. Davis 

9. In January and March 2002, DRC Investigator Russ Albright conducted 
investigatory interviews of Ms. Davis. A predisciplinary hearing was held on March 
26, 2002. In April 2002, DRC terminated Ms. Davis from her Correction Officer 
position for violating Rules 36 and 46(A) of the DRC Standards of Employee 
Conduct. Rule 36 reads "Actions that could harm or potentially harm the employee, 
fellow employee(s) or a member of the general public." Rule 46(A) reads "The 
exchange of personal letters, pictures, phone calls, or information with any 
individual under the supervision of the Department or friends or family of same, 
without express authorization of the Department." (S. 8; C&I Exh. 4, at pp. 16-18; 
C&I Exh. 5, 6; R. Exhs. A, B) 

10. The investigatory interviews revealed that Ms. Davis had a personal relationship 
with Dewayne Larkins. Mr. Larkins was incarcerated in the Ashland County jail in 
April 2001. Ms. Davis visited him about five times and wrote letters to him while he 
was in the county jail. Mr. Larkins was transferred from the county jail to Lorain 
Correctional Institution on September 26, 2001, and then to RCI on October 22, 
2001. On November 11, 2001, Ms. Davis completed an Inmate Nexus form for 
Inmate Larkins, in which she described him as a friend and wrote that she did not 
think it would be a problem for him to remain at RCI. She did not request 
permission to continue the relationship with him. After Mr. Larkins became a 
prisoner at RCI, Ms. Davis' interactions with him were incidental, consisting of 
saying hello. (C&I Exh. 7; R. Exh. B) 

11. The investigatory interviews revealed that from May 21, 2001 to January 18, 2002, 
Ms. Davis made frequent telephone calls to her ex-boyfriend Robert Dillon, with 
whom she remained close. During this time period, Mr. Dillon's brother was 
incarcerated at RCI. (R. Exh. A) 

12. The investigatory interviews revealed that from May 21, 2001 to January 18, 2002, 
Ms. Davis made frequent telephone calls to Katrisa Powell, her best friend. During 
this time period, Ms. Powell's fiancee was incarcerated at RCI. (R. Exh. B) 
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13. Joe Le Master was a Correction Officer and Union member at Mansfield Correctional 
Institution ("MANCI"). In February 2000, he was given a ten-day suspension for 
violating Rule 46 and 7 when he harbored his cousin, Arthur J. Riggs, a paroled 
fugitive with a warrant from the Adult Parole Authority and another for domestic 
violence charges for allegedly assaulting his girlfriend. When Mr. Riggs was 
arrested at Mr. LeMaster's place of residence, drug paraphernalia was found and 
Mr. Riggs admitted that he was using drugs in the residence just prior to his arrest. 
(T. 263-265; C&I Exh. 22) 

14. Donald Lucas was a Correction Officer and Union member at MANCI. In July 2000, 
he was removed for violating Rule 46(8) when it was discovered that he was having 
an inmate do his homework. Pursuant to a grievance settlement agreement in late 
December 2000, Mr. Lucas was given his job back, and his removal was converted 
to a time-served suspension. The third paragraph of the second page of the 
settlement agreement provides as follows: "All parties to this Agreement hereby 
acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is in no way precedent setting. This 
Agreement shall not be introduced, referred to, or in any other way utilized in any 
subsequent arbitration, litigation, or administrative hearing except as may be 
necessary to enforce its provisions and terms." (T. 266-268; C&I Exh. 24) 

15. Sharon Shoemaker was a Correction Officer and Union member at North Central 
Correctional Institution. In December 1999, she was given a ten-day suspension for 
violating Rule 46(A) and (F) when it was discovered that she had developed a 
personal relationship with an inmate. Ms. Shoemaker admitted that she discussed 
personal problems with the inmate, was getting close to him, and had kissed him. 
(T. 109-11 O; C&I Exh. 23) 

The Grievance Process 

16. Under the heading, "Discharge Grievances," section 25.02 of the 2000-2003 CSA 
provides in part as follows: 

The Agency shall forward a copy of the grievance with the 
grievance number to the Office of Collective Bargaining at the 
time the grievance is filed at Step Three (3). The Agency shall 
conduct a meeting and respond within sixty (60) days of the 
date the grievance was filed at Step Three (3). If the grievance 
is not resolved at Step Three (3), the parties shall conduct a 
mediation within sixty (60) days of the due date of the Step 
Three (3) response. Nothing in this Section precludes either 
party from waiving mediation and proceeding directly to 
arbitration. The Union may request arbitration of the grievance 
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within sixty (60) days of the date of the mediation, but no more 
than one hundred eighty (180) days from the filing of the 
grievance. 

(C&I Exh. 1, p. 69) 

17. Roy Steward, an RCI employee, has been the Chief Union Steward at RCI since 
1998. Mr. Steward handles grievances at Step 3. After Step 3, Mr. Steward is 
responsible for processing the paperwork to advance the grievance to Step 4. A 
Union Staff Representative, who is a full-time employee of the Union, is responsible 
for handling the grievance at Steps 4 and 5. Mr. Steward assists the Union Staff 
Representative at Step 4, mediation, and Step 5, arbitration. When Mr. Steward 
first became a Union Steward, the Union provided eight hours of training on the 
collective bargaining agreement, grievance processing, time frames, and related 
matters. (T. 155-156, 171-172, 177-178) 

18. Discharge grievances are automatically started at Step 3. At Step 3, grievances are 
filed with DRC Labor Relations, Central Office, in Columbus, Ohio. (T. 156) 

19. Mr. Steward's normal practice is to process a grievance to Step 4 immediately upon 
his receipt of management's Step 3 response. After he receives management's 
Step 3 response, Mr. Steward completes an "Appeal and Prep Sheet." The Appeal 
and Prep Sheet is a Union form that is mailed to the State's Office of Collective 
Bargaining ("OCB") and to the Union's central office in Columbus, Ohio (T. 157, 
179-181) 

20. On May 7, 2002, the Union filed a discharge grievance with the State on behalf of 
Ms. Davis. Under the CBA, the Union had 180 days from May 7, 2002, to request 
arbitration of the grievance. (S. 9; T. 173-17 4; C&I Exh. 1, p. 69) 

21. A Step 3 hearing was held for Ms. Davis' grievance on June 6, 2002. By a 
response dated June 26, 2002, the State denied the grievance at Step 3. Mr. 
Steward prepared and mailed an "Appeal and Prep Sheet." (S. 1 O; T. 159; C&I 
Exh. 9) 

22. At the Union's central office, upon receipt of an Appeal and Prep Sheet, the Union's 
Grievance Coordinator enters the information from the Appeal and Prep Sheet into 
the Union's computer system, and a mail merge program automatically generates a 
letter demanding arbitration. By letter dated April 5, 2004, the Union notified the 
State that the Union was appealing Ms. Davis' grievance to arbitration. (S. 12; 
T. 307-308, 354; C&I Exh. 10; R. Exhs. D, E) 
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23. All arbitration requests and Union approvals of grievances for arbitration are 
"conditional" and subject to the Union's further review of the totality of the 
circumstances of the grievance. The demand for arbitration letter stays in effect 
once it is sent, unless and until it is withdrawn. (T. 346-347, 354) 

24. Step 4 mediation sessions are scheduled and held quarterly. The OCB 
representative, Labor Relations Officer, and Union Staff Representative receive 
schedules quarterly for the mediations to which they are assigned. After he mailed 
the "Appeal and Prep Sheet," Mr. Steward became concerned about the timeliness 
of the processing of the grievance and asked Union Staff Representative James 
McElvain several times about the status of Ms. Davis' grievance. The grievance 
was not scheduled for mediation until 2004. On April 21, 2004, the Union and the 
State had a Step 4 mediation session on Ms. Davis' discharge grievance. At 
Ms. Davis' mediation session, OCB representatives raised the issue of timeliness, 
claiming that they had not received the paperwork to process Ms. Davis' grievance 
to Step 4. Nonetheless, the Union and OCB proceeded to hold the Step 4 
mediation session. Ms. Davis' grievance was not settled at mediation. (S. 11; 
T. 159-162, 163-164, 173-174, 179, 198-199, 200, 232, 234, 315-316; R. Exh. E) 

25. Grievances other than discharge grievances that are not resolved at Step 4 are 
reviewed by the Union's Arbitration Committee. If a discharge grievance is not 
resolved at Step 4, the Staff Representative presents the grievance to the Union's 
Discharge Review Committee, which meets monthly. The grievant is invited to 
attend the Discharge Review Committee meeting. The Discharge Review 
Committee is a subcommittee of the Arbitration Committee, and consists of three 
members of the Arbitration Committee. The Discharge Review Committee meeting 
is also referred to as "Step 41/2." (T. 163-164, 310-311, 326-327, 329) 

26. On May 27, 2004, the Union sent Ms. Davis a letter indicating that the Discharge 
Review Committee would be reviewing her grievance on June 15, 2004. On 
June 16, 2004, the Union notified Ms. Davis that it was conditionally advancing her 
grievance to arbitration. An arbitration hearing was scheduled for August 23, 2004, 
but when Ms. Davis called RCI Union Steward Robert White as instructed by Staff 
Representative McElvain, she was told only that the hearing had been canceled. 
(T. 43, 46, 84; S. 13; C&I Exhs. 11, 12) 

27. The Union's Discharge Review Committee met on December 16, 2004, and decided 
not to arbitrate Ms. Davis' grievance. In a letter dated December 16, 2004, the 
Union communicated to the State that the Union was not advancing five grievances 
to arbitration, including Ms. Davis' grievance. (S. 14; C&I Exh. 15) 
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28. In a letter dated December 21, 2004, the Union informed Ms. Davis that it would not 
be arbitrating her grievance. The Union explained its reasoning as follows: 

It is your position that management violated this language 
when it removed you from your Correction Officer (CO) 
position effective April 2002 based on an alleged violation of 
DR&C Standards of Employee Conduct, - Rule #36 -Actions 
that could compromise or impair the ability of an employee to 
effectively carry out his/her duties as a public employee; and 
Rule#40 - Unauthorized relationship (A) The exchange of 
personal letters, pictures, phone calls or information with any 
individual under the supervision of the Department or friends or 
family of the same, without express authorization of the 
Department. (emphasis in original) You ask as a remedy that 
management reinstate you to your CO position with back pay 
and benefits and make you whole. 

The Union has the burden to prove that the Employer has 
violated the contract, which means that it must provide 
evidence and documentation of the alleged wrongdoing. The 
Committee did not find evidence to support the conclusion that 
a violation of the language cited occurred. 

Specifically, the Committee determined that you attempted to 
manipulate the system by concealing your true relationship 
with an inmate; you also established unauthorized contacts 
with other inmates and their family members. Due to the nature 
of your work - a CO in a prison and the fact that inmate 
favoritism could compromise the safety of other inmates and 
staff which could subject the State of Ohio to liability, the 
Committee concluded that it would be highly unlikely that an 
arbitrator would rule in favor of the union based on the totality 
of the facts. Additionally, in most cases, grievances not 
advanced in a timely fashion according to the time periods 
found in the contract are found to be procedurally defective, 
and procedural defects regarding timeliness issues are 
routinely cited by arbitrators as a reason for grievance denial; 
as such, the Committee further determined that it appears that 
your grievance was not advanced in a timely fashion. 
(emphasis added) 
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While we understand that the events that gave rise to your 
grievance are important, our ability to pursue issues through 
the arbitration process is limited, in most cases, to specific 
violations of language in the contract, appropriate remedies, 
procedural correctness and proof of our position. For the 
reasons stated above, the Discharge Review Committee 
declined to move your grievance forward to arbitration. 

(C&I 16) 

29. Ms. Davis appealed the decision of the Discharge Review Committee. Union 
General Counsel Sandra Bell handled Ms. Davis' appeal and upheld the Discharge 
Review Committee's decision, stating in relevant part as follows: 

This letter is in response to your appeal of the Discharge 
Review Committee's decision not to pursue your grievance to 
arbitration. You stated in your investigatory interview that she 
[sic] were aware of the nexus rule and had received training on 
the subject. Although you completed nexus forms, you 
appeared to be less than forthcoming with all of the information 
about yourr [sic] true relationship with an inmate. Phone 
records, letters and pictures support the employer's position 
that you were less than honest about her [sic] relationship 
which was apparently more than friendship, and continued 
longer than indicated. Granted the rule have [sic] changed 
since the grievant was removed. However, alleged violations 
occurred at the time the former rule was in effect. The former 
rule in the department's code of conduct should be and was 
applied to this case. The rule did not change until 
approximately two (2) years following your removal. 

After reviewing the information presented to the Committee 
and additional information you provided in your appeal, I find 
there is not sufficient evidence to warrant reversing the 
Committee's decision. 

Therefore, your appeal of the decision of the Discharge 
Review Committee is denied. 

(C&I 17, 18, 19) 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Statute of Limitations 

Both the Ohio Revised Code' and the Ohio Administrative Code state that 
generally, an unfair labor practice charge must be filed within 90 days of the alleged unfair 
labor practice. SERB has held that the ninety-day limitations period begins once two 
conditions are met: ( 1) the Charging Party obtains actual or constructive knowledge of the 
alleged unfair labor practice; and (2) the alleged unfair labor practice charge caused actual 
damage to the Charging Party. In re City of Barberton, SERB 88-008 (7-5-88); aff'd sub 
nom. SERB v. City of Barberton, 1990 SERB 4-46 (CP, Summit, 7-31-90). 

Rule 4117-7-04(A) states as follows: "A respondent's answer to an unfair labor 
practice complaint shall be filed within ten days from receipt of the complaint or 
amendment to the complaint but in no event later than the commencement of the hearing. 
Such answer shall include a specific admission, denial, or explanation of each allegation of 
the complaint. ... The answer shall include a specific statement of any affirmative defense. 
Failure to state an affirmative defense in the answer shall constitute a waiver of such 
affirmative defense, except the defenses of failure to state a cause of action, 
unconstitutionality of the statute, or lack of subject matter jurisdiction, which defenses may 
be raised at any time." 

In this case, the Union asserts in its Post- Hearing Brief for the first time that Ms. 
Davis did not file her unfair labor practice charge in a timely manner. The Union did not 
assert this defense in its Answer, prehearing statement, or through pleadings or motions. 
In accordance with Rule 4117-7-04(A), SERB has held that the a statute of limitations is an 
affirmative defense which is waived unless raised in the Answer to a Complaint. In re 
Central State Univ, SERB 89-027 (10-5-89). Since the Union did not raise the statute of 
limitations defense earlier, the Union has waived its right to assert this affirmative defense. 

Moreover, the Union has admitted and stipulated that Ms. Davis' unfair labor 
practice charge was filed properly. On July 13, 2006, the Union filed an Answer admitting 
the allegations of paragraph 3 of the Complaint, which states that the Charging Party, "Ms. 
Anna M. Davis filed an unfair labor practice charge with SERB pursuant to and in 
accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and 0.A.C. Rule 4117-7- 01." Furthermore, the 
parties' August 1, 2006 Joint Stipulation of Facts states in paragraph 3 that Ms. Davis 
properly filed an unfair labor charge with SERB in accordance with O.R.C. §4117.12(B) 
and O.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01. The Union in this case has waived its right to assert an 
untimeliness defense to Ms. Davis' unfair labor practice charge. 



SERB OPINION 2007-004 
Case No. 2005-ULP-05-0296 
Page 11 of 16 

B. The Union Violated § 4117.11(B)(6) by Processing Ms. Davis' Grievance in an 
Arbitrary Manner 

Section 4117 .11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee 
organization, its agents or representatives, or public 
employees to: 

*** 
(6) Fail to fairly represent all public employees in a 

bargaining unit[.] 

When an unfair labor practice is charged because a union has allegedly violated its 
duty of fair representation, SERB will look to see if the union's actions are arbitrary, 
discriminatory, or in bad faith. If any of these components are found, there is a breach of 
the duty. The Complainant has the burden of proving that the union did not fairly represent 
its bargaining-unit members. In re OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, SERB 98-010 (7-22-98) 
("OCSEA/AFSCME I"). Where the failure to process a grievance was not based on a 
decision that the grievance lacked merit, but instead results from bad faith, discriminatory 
conduct, or arbitrary behavior, a violation will be found regardless of the merit of the 
grievance. In re OCSEA, AFSCME, Local 11, SERB 99-009 (5-21-99) 
("OCSEA/AFSCME II"). 

A union acts arbitrarily by failing to take a basic and required step. The basic and 
required steps a union must take when fulfilling its duty of fair representation will vary 
depending upon the nature of the representation. One of these representation functions is 
the processing of a grievance. Id. Failure to take a basic and required step while 
performing a representation function creates a rebuttable presumption of arbitrariness. 
Once that burden has been met, the Union must come forth with its justification or viable 
excuse for its actions or inactions. OCSEA/AFSCME II, supra, at 3-48. 

Under the facts of this case, the Union acted arbitrarily when it failed to take the 
basic and required step of advancing Ms. Davis' grievance to Step 5 in a timely manner. 
The contract language is clear: a grievance must be advanced to Step 5, arbitration, no 
later than 180 days after the date the grievance was filed. Thus, the Complainant met its 
burden to provide evidence necessary to create a rebuttable presumption of arbitrariness. 

The evidence in the record demonstrates that the Union was unable to offer 
adequate justification or viable excuse for its inaction. In fact, at hearing the Union's 
witnesses had no explanation for the Union's failure to timely request arbitration. The 
grievance was filed on May 7, 2002. Under the terms of the CBA, the due date for the 
Step 3 response was sixty (60) days from the grievance filing date. Sixty days from May 7, 
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2002, was Saturday, July 6, 2002. The next business day was Monday, July 8, 2002. The 
Step 3 response was issued by DRC on June 26, 2002, well within this time frame. 
According to the CBA, at this point either party could choose to waive mediation and 
proceed directly to arbitration; or the parties could conduct a mediation hearing within 
sixty (60) days from the due date of the Step 3 response. Consequently, the parties should 
have conducted the Step 4 mediation hearing on or before Tuesday, August 6, 2002. They 
did not. However, presumably in recognition of the kinds of delays that can occur when 
mediations are scheduled on a quarterly basis, the CBA also provides that the Union may 
request arbitration "no later than 180 days from the filing of the grievance." One hundred 
eighty days from May 7, 2002 was Sunday, November 3, 2002. The next business day 
was Monday, November 4, 2002. 

Consequently, the Union should have processed the grievance to the arbitration 
step by requesting arbitration on or before November 4, 2002, unless by this date it had 
made a decision that the grievance lacked merit. Instead, on April 5, 2004, the Union 
mailed the Request to Arbitrate. Union Steward Steward had no explanation for this delay; 
neither did OCSEA General Counsel Sandra Bell, even after her internal investigation in 
December 2004. Mr. Steward testified that he processed the Appeal and Prep Sheet to 
advance the grievance to Step 4, mediation, on June 26, 2002. However, the Appeal and 
Prep Sheet, introduced into evidence at hearing as Respondent's Exhibit D, is stamped, 
"Reviewed By Grievance Coordinator April 5, 2004." According to Ms. Bell, her 
investigation confirmed that, consistent with the stamp on the Appeal and Prep Sheet, the 
Union's Grievance Coordinator did not process the appeal and issue the computer
generated Request for Arbitration letter until April 5, 2004, well outside all applicable time 
frames. 

The Union's own witness confirmed that Union officials were aware of the time 
problems with Ms. Davis' grievance but failed to take action. Mr. Steward testified that he 
tracked the grievance after he mailed the Step 4 appeal and noticed that the grievance did 
not appear on the list of cases set for the quarterly Step 4 mediations. Mr. Steward further 
testified that he contacted Staff Representative McElvain, who said he didn't know why it 
wasn't on the list, but that it was still within time. Staff Representative McElvain told 
Mr. Steward to check to see if Ms. Davis' was on the next quarterly mediation list. The 
grievance was not on the next list, and Mr. Steward testified that he kept calling Staff 
Representative McElvain about the status of the grievance, but the Staff Representative 
took no action. Therefore, the evidence is clear that the Union was aware that it had failed 
to timely request arbitration long before OCB raised the timeliness issue in the mediation 
hearing. The Union's alleged belated consideration of the merits of the grievance cannot 
excuse its failure to timely process the grievance. The Discharge Review Committee did 
not even convene to assess the merits of Ms. Davis' grievance until June 2004, long after 
the 180-day time frame for an appeal to arbitration had expired. 
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As Union witnesses testified at hearing, if Step 4 mediation does not result in the 
resolution of a grievance, the grievance is referred to the Union's Discharge Review 
Committee. After Ms. Davis' April 21, 2004, mediation session, the Union notified 
Ms. Davis of the Discharge Review Committee hearing to be held on June 15, 2004. She 
attended the hearing. On June 16, 2004, the Union notified Ms. Davis that it was 
conditionally advancing her grievance to arbitration. An arbitration hearing was scheduled 
for August 23, 2004, but the hearing was canceled without explanation. Three months 
later, Ms. Davis was notified that the Committee would be reviewing her grievance again on 
December 14, 2004. She appeared before the Committee and repeated the same story 
and provided the same information to the same questions asked in the prior meeting. This 
time the Committee wrote a letter to Ms. Davis stating that her grievance did not have 
merit, and "the Committee further determined that it appears that your grievance was not 
advanced in a timely fashion." Thus, the Union even has admitted that it failed to timely 
process Ms. Davis' grievance. 

It must also be said that the Union sat on its rights to the detriment of Ms. Davis. 
The Union spent a significant amount of time at hearing trying to establish whether and 
when Mr. Steward mailed the Appeal and Prep Sheet, and whether and when OCB 
received it. The timing of the Step 4 mediation hearing is a non-issue in light of the clear 
contract language, which places the burden on the Union to request arbitration within 
180 days from the grievance filing date. This timeline was running regardless of whether 
and when a mediation hearing was held. In any event, it can be inferred from the 
testimony that Staff Representative McElvain did not attempt to contact OCB or to do any 
other research regarding the reason for the delay in scheduling the mediation, even though 
Mr. Steward brought Ms. Davis' grievance to the Staff Representative's attention several 
times. Moreover, the contract provides either party with the option to waive Step 4 and 
proceed directly to Step 5. If OCB was intentionally or unintentionally delaying the 
mediation, the union had every right to bypass Step 4 and proceed directly to arbitration to 
ensure that timelines were maintained. 

C. Ms. Davis' Grievance Had a Reasonable Likelihood of Succeeding On the Merits 

"Where improper handling of a grievance is the basis of a §4117.11 (B)(6) charge, 
the merit of that grievance is not relevant to the finding of a violation." In re 
OCSEA/AFSCME Local 11, SERB 2006-005 (6-22-06) (citations omitted). The above 
discussion clearly shows that the OCSEA violated R.C. §4117.11 (B)(6). Consequently, at 
a minimum, a cease and desist order and notice posting must be issued for the violations. 
In re Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627, SERB 04-006 (8-5-04); In re Ohio Council 8, 
AFSCME. AFL-CIO, SERB 04-005 (8- 5-04); In re Ohio Council 8 AFSCME Local 11, 
SERB 99-009 (5-21-99). Once the violation is found, SERB must make a determination of 
the merits of the grievance in order to determine the appropriate remedy. In re Ohio Health 
Care Employees Union, Dist. 1199, SERB 93-020 (12-20-93); In re Ohio Civil Service 
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Employees Association, SERB 93-019 (12-20-93). Consequently, the next question is 
whether Ms. Davis' grievance, had it been processed properly, would have likely been 
meritorious. 

Ms. Davis' grievance had a reasonable likelihood of succeeding on the merits had 
the Union moved it properly through the grievance process. In this regard, it is of the 
utmost significance that Ms. Davis was terminated for an alleged Rule 46A violation, and 
Rule 46(A) reads "The exchange of personal letters, pictures, phone calls, or information 
with any individual under the supervision of the Department or friends or family of same, 
without express authorization of the Department." This rule does not even mention 
relationships with individuals under the jurisdiction of a criminal court, which was 
Mr. Larkins' status at the time of Ms. Davis' relationship with him. Therefore, by the 
express terms of the rule, Ms. Davis' Rule 46A violations consisted of friendships with 
friends or family of current inmates, rather than relationships with inmates themselves. 
The level of seriousness of such infractions can be inferred from the fact that as of 
October 2004, DRC no longer prohibits Correction Officers from having such relationships. 

Complainant provided three compelling examples of Correction Officers who were 
charged with Rule 46 violations that were arguably more heinous and certainly at least as 
heinous as Ms. Davis' violation. The disciplines of Correction Officers Lucas, LeMaster, 
and Shoemaker are appropriate comparables. These disciplines are for Correction 
Officers from other nearby institutions, but they are all bargaining unit members 
represented by OCSEA, and subject to the same employee standards of conduct. Two of 
the comparable individuals received a reasonable penalty for their offenses and didn't need 
to grieve the discipline. Correction Officer Lucas grieved his termination, which was 
subsequently rescinded under the terms of a settlement agreement with the Union. Had 
the Union been able to mediate Ms. Davis' grievance at Step 4, armed with the LeMaster 
and Shoemaker disciplines and the Lucas settlement, but without the timeliness issue 
hanging over its head, a resolution would have been more likely. Even if the grievance did 
not settle at Step 4, it is considerably more likely that it would have settled prior to 
arbitration, as countless cases do. Finally, if the grievance did not settle prior to arbitration, 
it is reasonably likely that an arbitrator would have reviewed the facts of Ms. Davis' case

3 compared it to the LeMaster and Shoemaker disciplines, and overturned the termination. 
Ms. Davis, who broke off her personal relationship once Mr. Larkins became incarcerated 
at RCI, cannot be said to have engaged in conduct more odious than that engaged in by 
Correction Officers LeMaster and Shoemaker, namely, harboring a fugitive who was under 
the supervision of the Department in one's own home and developing a personal 
relationship with a current inmate. The discipline Ms. Davis received, termination, is not 
consistent with the suspensions issued to the other Correction Officers, who retained their 
jobs. It is reasonably likely that Ms. Davis would have received some discipline, but the 

3 Pursuant to its terms, the Lucas settlement would not have been admissible at Ms. Davis' 
arbitration. 
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arbitrator would have eliminated the disparity and awarded discipline consistent with that 
meted out to the other Rule 46 violators. Based upon the comparables, it is reasonably 
likely that the arbitrator would have rescinded Ms. Davis' removal and imposed a 
suspension of ten days or less. 

Ms. Davis' loss in back pay is not speculative; it is quantifiable. She was able to 
provide her work history during her testimony, thus enabling actual calculations to be 
made. Pursuant to these calculations, which are set forth in Appendix A to this Proposed 
Order, Ms. Davis incurred approximately $89,067 in lost back wages, less mitigation, from 
her termination date through October 19, 2006, the parties' briefing deadline. Ms Davis 
continues to incur $124 per week in unmitigated lost wages. This does not include any 
raises, overtime or other benefits to which she would be entitled, but provides for what she 
would have earned at $14.29 per hour, her wage at the time of her termination, less what 
she actually earned through mitigation. This is not to say that Ms. Davis would not have 
received some discipline; only that the punishment meted out would better fit the violation 
by using the other three disciplines as a benchmark. 

When a union fails to properly and timely advance an employee's grievance to the 
next step and abandons pursuit of a remedy, as was done here, the union has committed 
an unfair labor practice in violation of§ 4117 .11 (B)(6). Furthermore, if Ms. Davis' grievance 
had been properly pursued, the grievance would have had a reasonable likelihood of 
success on the merits. Therefore, the appropriate remedy in this case is for the Board to 
issue an order, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code § 4117.12(B)(3), requiring the Union to 
cease and desist from failing to fairly represent all public employees in a bargaining unit 
and from otherwise violating O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B}(6), and an order requiring the Union to 
pay Ms. Davis an amount representing her out-of-pocket back pay loss of $89,067, plus 
$124 for each week from October 19, 2006 to the date of the Board's final order in this 
matter, and an order that the Union post the attached Notice to Employees for sixty days in 
all of the usual and normal posting locations where DRC Correction Officers who are 
represented by the Union, work. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. Anna M. Davis was a "public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01 (C). 

2. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01(B). The Ohio 
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction is an agency of the State of Ohio. 
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3. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01 (D). 

4. The Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME Local 11, AFL-CIO 
violated§ 4117.11 (B)(6) by arbitrarily failing to timely process Ms. Davis' grievance. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an Order, pursuant to 
§ 4117.12(B)(3), requiring the Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME 
Local 11, AFL-CIO, to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Failing to fairly represent all employees in a bargaining unit by failing 
to timely process Anna M. Davis' grievance, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(6). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Pay Anna M. Davis the amount of $89,067, plus $124 for each week 
from October 19, 2006 to the date of the Board's Final Order in this 
matter; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio Civil Service 
Employees Association, AF SC ME Local 11, AFL-CIO work, the Notice 
to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations Board 
stating that the Ohio Civil Service Employees Association, AFSCME 
Local 11, AFL-CIO shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps 
that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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OHIO COUNCIL 8, AMERICAN FEDERATION 
OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL 
EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO, 

: CASE NO. 07-REP-02-0021 
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and 

LORAIN/MEDINA COUNTY COMMUNITY-BASED : 
CORRECTIONAL FACILITY, 

Respondent. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

RECOMMENDED 
DETERMINATION 

On February 2, 2007, Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County, and 
Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO ("Ohio Council 8") filed a Petition for Representation 
Election under§§ 4117.05 and 4117.07, seeking to represent certain employees of the 
Lorain/Medina County Community-Based Correctional Facility ("CBCF"). 1 The CBCF 
responded by filing objections, asserting that § 4117.01(C)(18) exempts the subject 
employees from the definition of "public employee" for purposes of public sector collective 
bargaining. On May 22, 2007, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB") directed 
this matter to hearing to determine an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant 
issues, and directed the parties to mediation. 

On October 30, 2007, a hearing was held, wherein testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented. Subsequently, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

1All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117. 
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II. ISSUE 

Whether the employees in the proposed bargaining unit are exempted from 
the definition of "public employee" under§ 4117.01 (C)(18)? 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. Ohio Council 8 is an "employee organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). 
(February 2, 2007 Petition for Representation Election, Case No. 07-REP-02-0021) 

2. A community-based correctional facility is a secure rehabilitative residential facility 
where convicted felons who do not receive mandatory prison terms may be 
committed. A community-based correctional facility commitment usually involves 
rehabilitative treatment for alcohol/drug/other substance abuse addictions. (S. 1, 2; 
Ohio Revised Code §§ 2301.52, 2929.16, and 2929.17) 

3. The CBCF is situated at 9892 Murray Ridge Road in the City of Elyria, County of 
Lorain and State of Ohio. (S. 3) 

4. The CBCF houses 56 men and 16 women who have been convicted of fourth or 
fifth degree felonies and who have violated some type of sanction in community 
control. The court has committed such individuals to the CBCF as a last measure 
before sending them to prison. About 98 percent of the individuals committed to the 
CBCF have violated a sanction related to alcohol or drug abuse. At the CBCF, the 
individuals typically participate in a 120-day cognitive behavior program taught by 
CBCF staff. The CBCF also has G.E.D., chemical dependency, job readiness and 
community service programs. The goal of the programs is to rehabilitate the 
individuals so they can return to society as law-abiding citizens. (S. 2; T. 16-18; Jt. 
Exh. E) 

5. Presently, the CBCF employs a staff of approximately 35 people, including 1 part
time and 13 full-time employees in the classification of Resident Advisor I, the 
classification of employees included in the proposed bargaining unit. (S. 4; Jt. 
Exhs. 1-1, 5, 7) 

2All references to the transcript of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by "T.," followed 
by the page number. All references to the Joint Exhibits are indicated parenthetically by "Jt. Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit letter. All references to the Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically 
by "S. ,"followed by the stipulation number. References to the transcript and exhibits in the Findings 
of Fact are intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are 
the sole support in the record for that related finding of fact. 
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6. The petitioned-for employees were not subject to a collective bargaining agreement 
on June 1, 2005. (T. 26) 

7. The job duties of a Resident Advisor I are akin to those correctional/confinement 
duties usually and customarily performed by correction officers at a county jail or by 
prison guards at a state prison. (S. 5; Jt. Exhs. 1-6, 7) 

8. In August 1995, a Judgment Entry was filed in the Court of Common Pleas of Lorain 
County, Ohio. The Entry was titled, "In the Matter of the Formation of a Judicial 
Corrections Board (JCB) for the Purposes of Establishing a District Community 
Based Correctional Facility and Program for the Use of the Common Pleas Courts, 
general Division, in Lorain and Medina Counties, Ohio." The Entry provided as 
follows: 

In compliance with Sections 2301.51 to 2301.56, inclusive, of 
the Ohio Revised Code, we, the undersigned Judges of the 
aforementioned counties, hereby form a Judicial Corrections 
Board comprised of the member Judges of the General 
Division of each of the following CommonPleas [sic] Courts: 
Lorain and Medina Counties. 

The original of this Judgement [sic] Entry shall be filed with the 
Clerk of the Common Pleas Court of Lorain County who shall 
then forward certified copies of the same to the Clerk of 
Medina County for filing therein. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

The Entry was signed by four Lorain County Common Pleas Court judges and two 
Medina County Common Pleas Court judges. (T. 22-23; Jt. Exh. B) 

9. On August 10, 2005, the judges who formed the JCB adopted a resolution 
"accepting the By-Laws for the Lorain/Medina Counties Community Based 
Correctional Facility." Among other provisions, the by-laws provide, in Article I, that 
the JCB membership "shall consist of the general division Judges of the Common 
Pleas Court of Lorain and Medina Counties." The by-laws provide, in Article II, for 
meetings of the JCB. The by-laws provide, in Article Ill, for the officers of the JCB. 
Article V, titled "Implementation," directs that "[t]he original of this Journal Entry ... 
shall be filed in the Clerk of Courts of Lorain County, Ohio and said Clerk shall 
forward a certified copy of same to the Medina County Clerk of Courts for filing 
therein." (Jt. Exh. A) 
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10. Michael Willets has been Executive Director of the CBCF since July 1, 2005. 
Currently, Mr. Willets reports to the Facility Governance Board ("FGB") and the 
Judicial Advisory Board (JAB") of the CBCF. The FGB and JAB were established 
by Journal Entry dated October 31, 2006, after Amended Substitute House Bill 162 
("H.B. 162") became effective. Among other revisions to the law governing 
community-based correctional facilities, H.B. 162 made changes in the facilities' 
governance structure. (T. 19; Jt. Exhs. C, D, F) 

11. From 1990 to 2005, Mr. Willets was the Chief Probation Officer for Lorain County. 
In this capacity, in 1995, at the direction of the judges of the Lorain County Common 
Pleas Court, he worked with Medina and Lorain Counties and Ohio Department of 
Corrections, Division of Parole and Community Services, to establish the JCB and 
the CBCF under Ohio Revised Code§§ 2301.51 to 2301.56 as then in effect. Mr. 
Willets dratted the August 2005 Entry establishing the JCB. Mr. Willets served on 
the Citizens' Advisory Board of the CBCF from 1995 until October 2006, when 
citizens' advisory boards were abolished by House Bill 162. (T. 22-24; see former 
§ 2301.53) 

12. Mr. Willets assisted in the hiring of the CBCF's first Executive Director, Marilyn 
Brundige, and he worked with Ms. Brundige on a grant for the operation of the 
facility. (T. 24) 

13. On October 31, 2006, a Journal Entry captioned "in the matter of Lorain Medina 
Community Based Correctional Facility Judicial Advisory Board" and titled 
"Establishment; Appointment to Judicial Corrections Board; 2301.51A)(3) 
Appointment to Facility Governing Board" was filed in the Court of Common Pleas of 
Lorain County, Ohio. The Journal Entry stated that under H.B. 162, the obligations, 
powers and responsibilities previously held by the JCB would be assumed by the 
CBCF's Facility Governing Board. The Journal Entry further provided that the 
judges wished to continue the operation of the existing CBCF The Journal Entry 
created the JAB and made initial appointments to the FGB. (Jt. Exh. C) 

14. On February 16, 2007, the FGB adopted by-laws for the governance of the CBCF. 
(Jt. Exh. D) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Section 4117.01(C) provides in relevant part as follows: 

"Public employee" means any person holding a position by 
appointment or employment in the service of a public 
employer, including any person working pursuant to a contract 
between a public employer and a private employer and over 
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whom the national labor relations board has declined 
jurisdiction on the basis that the involved employees are 
employees of a public employer, except: 

*** 

( 18) Employees of community-based correctional facilities and 
district community-based correctional facilities created under 
sections 2301.51 to 2301.58 of the Revised Code who are not 
subject to a collective bargaining agreement on June 1, 2005. 

Section 4117.01 (C)(18) specifies that employees of community-based correctional facilities 
"created under" §§ 2301.51 to 2301.58, who were not subject to a collective bargaining 
agreement on June 1, 2005, are exempt from the definition of "public employee" for 
purposes of public-sector collective bargaining. The evidence in the record reveals, and 
the parties agree, that the petitioned-for employees were not subject to a collective 
bargaining agreement on June 1, 2005. However, Ohio Council 8 argues that the record 
does not contain evidence demonstrating that the CBCF is operating in compliance with all 
provisions within§§ 2301.51 to 2301.58, and that, therefore, the CBCF has not proven by 
a preponderance of the evidence that it was "created under" these sections. This 
argument fails. 

Together, a preponderance of the testimonial and documentary evidence reveals 
that in 1995, the CBCF was initially created under the prior version of the law applicable to 
community-based correctional facilities,§§ 2301.51 to 2301.56, and that it is continuing to 
exist under these sections as amended by H.B. 162 and now numbering§§ 2301.51 to 
2301.58. Mr. Willets testified that he was involved in the formation of the CBCF and that it 
was created under these sections. Counsel for Ohio Council 8 asked no questions of 
Mr. Willet and offered no rebuttal evidence. The mere fact that the documentary evidence 
in the record does not recite every single facet of the law under former §§ 2301.51 to 
2301.56 does not controvert Mr. Willets' testimony that the CBCF was created under these 
sections. The evidence is clear, in Finding of Fact No. 4, that the CBCF is performing the 
residential, rehabilitative functions that the parties stipulated are the functions of a 
community-based correctional facility. The documentary evidence that is in the record 
corroborates Mr. Willets' testimony that the CBCF was formed by a JCB formed under 
these Revised Code sections. See Joint Exhibits A and Band Findings of Fact Nos. 8 and 
9. It is appropriate to draw the inference from the testimony and these two documents that 
the CBCF was "created under" these sections. No evidence exists that the CBCF was 
formed in any other manner, or that its formation has been found to be defective. No 
subsequent journal entry or other form of evidence exists in the record to contradict the 
inference that the CBCF was "created under" these sections. 
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Furthermore, the evidence reflecting the current status of the CBCF reveals that it 
continues to exist under these provisions as amended by H.B. 162. The terms of the 
October 2006 Journal Entry and the February 2007 bylaws both cite to the provisions of 
§§ 2301.51 to 2301.58. Ohio Council 8 asserts that the October 2006 Journal Entry does 
not set forth the correct method for making appointments to the FGB under the current 
language of § 2301.51 (E). However, no provision of these statutes provides that a 
community-based correctional facility ceases to exist as a creature of such statutes if it is 
not in compliance with any given provision. Executive Director Willets' testimony is clear 
that the CBCF was formulated under and exists only because of these statutory provisions. 
A finding that the CBCF was created under§§ 2301.51 to 2301.58 does not require that 
SERB determine that the CBCF is in strict compliance with the terms of every component 
of every statutory section applicable to community-based correctional facilities. 

Accordingly, the Resident Advisor I employees who are the subject of the Petition 
for Representation Election are excluded from the definition of "public employee" under 
§ 4117.01 (C)(18) because they are employees of a district community-based correctional 
facility created under§§ 2301.51 to 2301.58 and were not subject to a collective bargaining 
agreement on June 1, 2005. Because the proposed bargaining unit consists wholly of 
employees who are not "public employees" eligible to organize under Chapter 4117, the 
Petition for Representation Election should be dismissed. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the foregoing, the following Conclusions of Law are recommended: 

1. Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, 
AFL-CIO is an "employee organization" within the meaning of§ 4117.01 (D). 

2. The employees that are the subject of the Petition for Representation Election are 
exempt from the definition of "public employee" under§ 4117.01 (C)(18). 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following recommendations are respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss the Petition for Representation 
Election, with prejudice. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

MUNICIPAL CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT 
OPERATORS' LABOR COUNCIL, 

Rival Employee Organization, 

and 

MUNICIPAL FOREMEN AND LABORERS 
UNION, LOCAL 1099, 

Incumbent Employee Organization, 

and 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, 

Employer. 

CASE NO. 06-REP-12-0180 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

RECOMMENDED 
DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 26, 2006, the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor 
Council ("CEO Union") filed a Petition for Representation Election under Ohio Revised 
Code §§ 4117. 05 and 4117. 07, 1 seeking to sever a group of employees of the City of 
Cleveland ("City") that are part of a larger unit represented by Municipal Foremen and 
Laborers Union, Local 1099 ("Local 1099"). On May 22, 2007, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Board") denied the motion to dismiss and directed this case to 
hearing to determine an appropriate bargaining unit, including whether to sever the 
petitioned-for employees from the existing bargaining unit, and for all other relevant issues. 

'All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter4117, and all references 
to administrative code rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117. 
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A hearing was held on October 3, 2007. The City was served with a copy of the 
Board's Notice of Hearing and Prehearing Order, and notified of all scheduled prehearing 
and hearing dates, but did not participate in the prehearing conference or evidentiary 
hearing. On November 15, 2007, the CEO Union and Local 1099 filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Whether the CEO Union has demonstrated facts establishing that the 
severance standard set forth by the Board in In re State of Ohio, 
SERB 95-012 (6-30-95), and In re Cuyahoga County Human Services 
Dept, SERB 98-008 (4-30-98), has been met? 

2. If so, whether the proposed bargaining unit is an appropriate unit for 
collective bargaining? 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The City is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. Local 1099 is an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (0). (S.; T. 6) 

3. The CEO Union is an "employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(0). (S.; 
T. 6) 

4. Since 1981, Local 1099 has represented a bargaining unit of City employees 
including the City's Real Estate Maintenance Workers ("REMWs"). (T. 167, 237) 

5. The REMWs are part of a "deemed certified" bargaining unit of Local 1099, having 
existed prior to the enactment of Chapter 4117. (T. 166; Exh. 1) 

6. Currently, about 50 REMWs are in the bargaining unit. This number has remained 
relatively constant since 1981. (T. 238, 239) 

2 All references to the Joint Stipulations of Fact are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the 
stipulation number(s). All references to Local 1099's exhibits in the record are indicated 
parenthetically by "Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the record are intended 
for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the only support in 
the record for that related Finding of Fact. 
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7. Local 1099 and the City were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
effective from April 1, 2004 to March 31, 2007. The parties are currently in 
negotiations for a successor CBA. (T. 57-58, 177-182, 218; Exh. 7) 

8. The REMWs' duties include cutting grass, removing debris and trash. light 
mechanical repairs, cleaning vacant lots and vacant structures, moving furniture, 
and driving tractors. On occasion, REMWs operate end loaders and backhoes to 
remove debris and clean vacant lots. REMWs receive a $3.80 per hour plus 
adjustment for each hour they operate an end loader or backhoe. (T. 130-132, 240, 
250; Exh. 7, Article L, p. 45) 

9. Seven REMWs are qualified to operate end loaders and backhoes. On average, 
qualified REMWs use end loaders and backhoes for about nine percent of their 
yearly hours worked. (T. 254, 256; Exh. 153

) 

10. REMWs also operate farm tractors and use tractor attachments to cut grass. All 
REMWs are qualified to operate farm tractors. (T. 131, 254, 256) 

11. Since the creation of the REMW classification in 1981, the duties and functions of 
this position have remained substantially the same. The only substantial change in 
the job description over the past 26 years was the change in job title from "real 
estate maintenance man"to the gender-neutral "real estate maintenance worker" in 
2001. (f. 242, 251; Exhs. 9, 10) 

12. REMWs work exclusively within two sections of the Division of Park Maintenance 
and Properties, which is under the City's Department of Parks, Recreation, and 
Properties. One section is called "Parks," and the other is called "Vacant Lots." Each 
section has a mission. The mission for Parks is "to provide safe and attractive 
parks," and the mission for Vacant Lots is "to maintain vacant lots and vacant 
structures throughout the City of Cleveland." For one to three decades these 
operations, missions, programs, and administrative categories within the City have 
remained the same. (T. 124-126, 128, 129, 130, 143, 238, 249-250) 

13. Only two REMWs assigned to the Parks section are qualified to use end loaders, 
and these REMWs use end loaders significantly less than the REMWs in the 
Vacant Lots section. (T. 134, 156) 

14. Local 1099 uses a standard operating procedure for all grievances. REMWs' 
grievances are handled in the same manner as those of all Local 1099 bargaining 
unit members. (T. 139, 233-234) 

3 Exhibit 15 reflects the hours REMWs operated such equipment in 2005; the number of hours of 
such work during that year is typical ofthe number of hours worked annually. (T. 133) 
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15. In 2007, Local 1099 bargaining unit members filed 83 grievances. Of those 83, 8 
were filed by REMWs. Thus far, two have been resolved favorably, and the rest 
remain pending. Currently, two REMW grievances are pending arbitration. (T. 188, 
226-227) 

16. REMW Lee Ritterbeck testified that the REMWs take a "back seat" to other 
bargaining unit members. Mr. Ritterbeck complained primarily about how Local 
1099 handled his grievances. Mr. Ritterbeck admitted that every grievance he has 
filed has been processed. He filed a grievance over not being paid for 48 hours he 
worked. Local 1099 processed the grievance, and Mr. Ritterbeck was paid. Mr. 
Ritterbeck filed another grievance over end-loader plus adjustments. This grievance 
is being processed and is currently in mediation. (T. 22, 28-29, 39-40, 42, 46, 136, 
141, 192, 228) 

17. Local 1099 has 55 stewards in the bargaining unit. Of those 55, 11 are REMWs. 
REMWs also sit on the labor/management committee, which meets to discuss non
negotiable items with management. REMW Lillian Ponder sits on the Local 1099 
Executive Board, and as part of her duties, Ms. Ponder attends all bargaining 
sessions with the City. (T. 168-169, 170-171, 192-193) 

18. Before Local 1099 begins contract negotiations with the City, it holds a proposal 
meeting open to all bargaining-unit members. All bargaining-unit members are 
invited to attend. Local 1099 sends a notice of the proposal meeting to each 
steward. Each steward is required to post the proposal-meeting notice in his or her 
shop. At the meeting, Local 1099 Business Manager Paul Wells reads through each 
article in the collective bargaining agreement out loud. He reads through the article 
three times, and after each reading he will ask the bargaining-unit members if they 
have any proposals. During the meeting, three recorders take notes on the 
proposals. The Executive Board reviews the notes from the proposal meeting and 
crafts a proposal packet to send to the City. (T. 34, 175-176, 178) 

19. Currently, Local 1099 is negotiating a successor CBA with the City. This year, at 
least six REMWs attended the proposal meeting. REMW Ritterbeck made 
proposals at the meeting. Several REMW-specific proposals discussed at the 
meeting were sent to the City. Local 1099 presented about 150 main frame 
proposals-Le., proposals that effect all bargaining unit members-and at least 
three proposals that specifically apply to REMWs. (T. 57-58, 177-182, 218) 

20. In the past, the parties have resolved grievances that are pending during contract 
negotiations at the negotiating table. Local 1099 has a proposal on the negotiating 
table that, if agreed upon, would resolve Mr. Ritterbeck's pending end-loader 
grievance. (T. 190) 
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IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. The Standard for Severing a Group of Employees from the Existing Bargaining Unit 

Determining an appropriate bargaining unit in an original action is vastly different 
from disturbing an existing bargaining unit that has been functioning for some years. While 
the former calls for consideration of community interest and other factors of the kind 
referenced in § 4117.06(B}, the latter calls for a demonstration of extraordinary 
circumstances in order to overcome a presumption that the existing unit is appropriate. 
The policy of protecting existing bargaining units is rooted in the realization that labor 
relationships are as complicated and fragile as all other human relationships. 
Consequently, stability and predictability are keys to their success. Preserving well
functioning Board-certified units promotes orderly and constructive relationships between 
public employers and their employees and allows SERB to comply with the mandate of 
§ 4117.22. The statute must be construed to promote such relationships. In re State of 
Ohio, SERB 95-012 (6-30-95) ("State of Ohio"). 

In numerous cases, SERB has acknowledged that unit structure is not etched in 
stone and changes in units are inevitable and necessary. In re State of Ohio, SERB 87-030 
(12-17-87); In re State of Ohio, Department of Corrections, SERB 92-009 (6-25-92); and lo. 
re Cincinnati Technical College, SERB 94-018 (10-17-94). SERB took into account 
changes in legislation, changes in classifications and job duties, and changes in an 
employer's operations or administrative structure, recognizing that these factors could 
cause a unit that was appropriate at its inception to turn into an inappropriate or 
unworkable unit infested with conflicts of interest or neglected members. Thus, in State of 
Ohio, supra at 3-90, SERB adopted a standard allowing the severance of a group of 
employees from an existing bargaining unit when changes are necessary, while at the 
same time protecting the stability of existing bargaining units. In order to achieve 
severance, a petitioner must meet at least one of the following severance standards: 

1. Since the establishment of the existing unit, substantial 
changes have taken place in the classifications, job duties, 
working conditions, or other circumstances of the petitioned-for 
employees making the existing unit inappropriate or 
unworkable; or 

2. Since the establishment of the existing unit, substantial 
changes in circumstances have taken place showing the 
existence of a conflict of interest between the petitioned-for 
employees and other employees in the unit making the existing 
representation inadequate; or 
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3. Since the establishment of the existing unit, substantial 
changes have taken place in the employer's operations or 
administrative structure making the existing unit inappropriate 
or unworkable; or 

4. The history of collective bargaining in the existing unit shows 
inadequate representation of the petitioned for employees and 
disparity in the quality of representation provided to them as 
distinguished from that provided employees in the unit. 

If a petitioner meets one of the foregoing standards, SERB must still determine whether the 
petitioned-for unit is an appropriate unit under§ 4117.06, which provides as follows: "The 
board shall determine the appropriateness of each bargaining unit and shall consider 
among other relevant factors; the desires of the employees; the community of interest; 
wages, hours, and other working conditions of the public employees; the effect of over
fragmentation; the efficiency of operations of the public employer; the administrative 
structure of the public employer; and the history of collective bargaining." The CEO Union 
has devoted most of its post-hearing brief to an analysis of the § 4117.06 factors. 
However, this analysis is not reached unless one of the severance standards first has been 
established. 

B. The CEO Union Has Not Met the Standard for Severing the REMWs from the 
Existing Bargaining Unit 

For the reasons that follow, the CEO Union has not demonstrated that any of the 
severance standards exist to justify the removal of the REMWs from the existing deemed
certified bargaining unit. The CEO Union asserts in its post-hearing brief, which contains 
no citations to the record, that it has put forth evidence to justify severance on the basis of 
the second and fourth severance factors. However, the record does not support the CEO 
Union's contention. 

In examining the second severance factor, the CEO Union concedes that no 
substantial or extraordinary change has taken place in the classification, job duties, 
working conditions, and other circumstances of the REMWs that would demonstrate a 
conflict of interest between the REMWs and other employees in the deemed-certified 
bargaining unit. Both Local 1099 and the City also confirmed that no changes have 
occurred, let alone a substantial change. Indeed, since the creation of the REMW 
classification in 1981, the most substantial alteration is the name change from "real estate 
maintenance man" to "real estate maintenance worker." (T. 136-137, 158, 242; Exhs. 9-
10). 
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In examining the fourth severance factor, the record contains no evidence to support 
the CEO Union's claim that the history of collective bargaining demonstrates inadequate 
representation or disparity in the quality of representation of REMWs as compared to the 
rest of the bargaining unit. All of Mr. Ritterbeck's grievances have been processed by Local 
1099. Edward Kral, the other REMW who testified at the hearing, complained about Local 
1099's representation, but he never has filed a grievance. Moreover, Mr. Kral never has 
spoken at any of the union meetings he has attended, nor did he attend the proposal 
meeting Local 1099 held in preparation for negotiations for the successor CBA. An 
examination of Mr. Kral's testimony reveals that he has a habit of trying to resolve his work
related concerns on his own, rather than asking his union for help. Mr. Ritterbeck claims 
that the REMW end-loader plus adjustment grievance has taken a "back seat," but Local 
1099's proposal to settle the grievance is part of the current contract negotiations with the 
City. The overwhelming evidence shows that all REMW grievances have been processed 
according to Local 1099's standard operating procedure, and that these grievances are 
processed just like any other bargaining-unit member's grievance. It is true that two 
REMWs have filed duty-of-fair-representation unfair labor practice charges against 
Local 1099. However, SERB has dismissed both charges with prejudice. (T. 234-237) 

REMWs sit on the Executive Board of Local 1099, sit on the negotiating committee, 
and serve as stewards for Local 1099. REMWs sit on the labor/management committee. 
REMWs have specific contractual provisions applicable to them in the collective bargaining 
agreement. They are paid more when they perform skilled craft work and end loader work. 
Article L of the CBA is entitled "Special Rates." REMWs are entitled to a $3.80/hour plus 
adjustment for operating an end loader or backhoe. They also are entitled to 80 percent of 
the skilled craft rate when performing skilled craft work. REMWs receive the same wage 
increases as other members of the bargaining-unit. (T. 55, 138) 

Local 1099 holds proposal meetings before each new contract negotiation with the 
City of Cleveland. All bargaining unit members are invited to attend. Local 1099 sends a 
notice of the proposal meeting to each steward. Each steward is required to post the 
proposal-meeting notice in his or her shop. At the meeting, Business Manager Wells reads 
through each article in the collective bargaining agreement out loud. He reads through the 
article three times, and after each reading he will ask the bargaining-unit members whether 
they have any proposals. Three recorders take notes on each proposal. The Executive 
Board reviews the notes from the proposal meeting, and crafts a proposal packet to send 
to the City. This year, three REMW-specific proposals were sent to the City, along with 
nearly 150 across-the-board proposals. 

The parties agree that Mr. Wells did say to CEO Union President Frank Madonia, in 
reference to the pending petition at issue herein, words to the effect of "we can settle this 

4 Exh. 7, p. 45, 1111158, 160. 
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the normal way or the ghetto way." (T. 27, 76, 98) The record reflects that Mr. Wells 
directed this statement toward Mr. Madonia, and what he meant by the "ghetto way" was to 
"have a hollering, cussing-out match." (T. 77-78, 197) Mr. Wells did not direct this 
statement to the Local 1099 bargaining-unit members who were present, about 4 people 
according to Mr. Madonia's recollection. (T. 78-79) Mr. Madonia understood the statement 
to refer not to Local 1099's bargaining-unit members but to the CEO Union, which filed the 
severance petition. (T. 78) 

The CEO Union can provide no evidence suggesting either an extraordinary change 
in circumstances or a history of collective bargaining that demonstrates inadequate or 
disparate representation. Therefore, the standard for severance of the REMWs from 
Local 1099, has not been met. The CEO Union's Petition for Representation Election 
should be dismissed, with prejudice. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Cleveland is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. Municipal Foremen and Laborers Union Local 1099 is an "employee organization" 
as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

3. Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council is an "employee 
organization" as defined by§ 4117.01 (D). 

4. Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council has not met the 
severance standard. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing, the following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board dismiss the Petition for Representation 
Election with prejudice. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Board Member; 

On February 20, 2007, the Professionals Guild of Ohio ("the PGO") filed a Request 

for Recognition, with the appropriate showing of interest, seeking to represent a bargaining 

unit of corrections officers employed by the Lucas County Correctional Treatment Facility 

Governing Board ("Governing Board"). On March 8, 2007, the Governing Board filed a 

Petition for Representation Election, Objections to the Request for Recognition, and a 

motion to stay the representation election. On August 23, 2007, the State Employment 

Relations Board ("SERB" or ·•the Board") directed this matter to hearing to determine if the 

employees in question are public employees and for all other relevant issues. 

The parties agreed to submit joint stipulations of fact, joint exhibits, and 

simultaneous legal briefs directly to the Board for a decision on the merits. For the reasons 

below, we find that the employees of the Governing Board subject to the Request for 

Recognition filed by the PGO are "public employees" under Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") 

§ 4117.01(C), and that the proposed bargaining unit is an appropriate unit under O.R.C. 
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§ 4117.06. As a result, the Governing Board's objections to the Request for Recognition 

are denied, and a direction to election pursuant to the Governing Board's Petition for 

Representation Election shall be issued. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. On October 12, 2006, Amended Substitute House Bill 162, 1261
h General 

Assembly ("HB 162") became effective. HB 162 transferred from courts of common pleas 

to counties the authority to establish a community-based correctional facility ("CBCF"). In 

addition, HB 162 eliminated judicial corrections boards and designated Facility Governing 

Boards as the employers of CBCF employees. (Stipulation ["Stip."] 1) 

2. Prior to the enactment of HB 162, the Lucas County Correctional Treatment 

Facility ("Lucas County CTF") was governed by a Judicial Corrections Board composed_ of 

the Judges of the Lucas County Court of Common Pleas ("Judges"). (Stip. 2). 

3. Lucas County CTF is one of eighteen "community-based correctional 

facilities" ("CBCF) in Ohio, and was a CBCF on and before June 1, 2005. (Slip. 3 and 14). 

4. With the enactment of HB 162, Lucas County established a Facility 

Governing Board ("Employer"), composed of members appointed by the County 

Commissioners and Judges, to govern Lucas County CTF. (Slip. 4). 

5. The Employer is responsible for administering the operations of the Lucas 

County CTF pursuant to O.R.C. §§ 2301.51 through 2301.58. (Stip. 5). 

1All references to the joint stipulations of fact filed on November 1, 2007, are indicated 
parenthetically by "Stip." followed by the stipulation number. References to the joint stipulations in 
the Findings of Fact are for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such reference is 
the sole support for that related finding of fact. 
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6. HB 162 amended O.R.C. § 4117.01. Specifically, O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(18), 

as amended, provides: 

"Public employee" means any person holding a position by 
appointment or employment in the service of public employer. .. except; 

* * * 
(18) Employees of community-based corrections facilities and 

district-based correctional facilities created under Sections 2301.51 to 
2301.58 of the Revised Code who are not subject to a collective bargaining 
agreement on June 1, 2005. 

(Slip. 6). 

7. A provision in the uncodified law, Section 4 of HB 162, provides: 

The amendment of Section 4117.01 of the Revised Code by this act 
preserves the nonexempt collective bargaining status of employees of 
community-based correctional facilities and programs and district community 
based correctional facilities and programs who are covered by a collective 
bargaining agreement existing on June 1, 2005. These employees shall 
maintain their non-exempt status beyond the termination date of the existing 
collective bargaining agreement. All employees of community-based 
correctional facilities and programs and district-based correctional facilities 
and programs who are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement on 
June 1, 2005, shall be exempt from collective bargaining rights under 
Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code. 

(Slip. 7). 

8. The Employer is a "public employer" as the term is defined in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(8.) (Slip. 8). 

9. Corrections officers working at Lucas County CTF are employees of the 

Lucas County Facility Governing Board. (Slip. 9). 



SERB Opinion 2008-003 
Case No. 2007-REP-02-0036 
Page 4of10 

10. Since January 1999, the Judges believed they were operating under the 

permissive authority provided by O.R.C. § 4117.03(C); the Judges recognized the PGO as 

the exclusive representative of corrections officers employed at Lucas County CTF and 

entered into collective bargaining agreements covering these corrections officers with the 

PGO. Since January 1999, the PGO and the Judges entered into multiple successive 

collective bargaining agreements. (Stip. 10). 

11. On June 1, 2005, corrections officers at Lucas County CTF were subject to 

a collective bargaining agreement that had become effective on January 1, 2005, and 

subsequently expired on December 31, 2006. (Stip. 11). 

12. The Employer and PGO stipulate that, other than Lucas County CTF, no 

Ohio correctional treatment facilities were subject to a collective bargaining agreement on 

June 1, 2005. (Stip. 12). 

13. Before HB 162 became effective, the Employer and the PGO considered 

and treated the corrections officers employed at the Lucas County CTF as being excluded 

from the definition of "public employees" under the exception for court employees found in 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(8). The Employer and the PGO had not presented the issue to SERB 

for a determination of the status of the corrections officers. (Slip. 13). 

14. The Employer and the PGO stipulate that the proposed bargaining unit is 

appropriate and is defined as corrections officers, excluding probationary employees, 

employed by the Employer at the Lucas County CTF. (Slip. 15). 

15. The Employer and the PGO stipulate to the admissibility of all documents 

contained in their joint exhibits. These documents are titled "Organizational Chart"; "PGO 

Union Contract"; "Corrections Officers Job Description"; "CTF Handbook"; "Benefits"; 
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"Employment"; "Ethics"; "General"; "Leaves"; "Safety and Emergency"; and "Affidavits." 

(Slip. 16). 

16. The PGO and the Employer stipulate that they waive an evidentiary hearing 

and submit the issue directly to the Board for determination. (Stip. 17). 

17. On October 13, 2006, the Employee Organization filed a Notice to 

Negotiate with SERB in Case No. 2006-MED-10-1239, seeking to bargain with the 

Employer regarding the corrections officers at the Lucas County CTF. (Stip. 18). 

18. On February 6, 2007, SERB dismissed the Notice to Negotiate on the 

ground that the PGO had hitherto not been certified as the exclusive representative of 

corrections officers at the Lucas County CTF. (Stip. 19). 

19. On February 20, 2007, the PGO filed a Request for Recognition with SERB 

concerning corrections officers at the Lucas County CTF. (Slip. 20). 

20. On or about March 8, 2007, the Employer filed with SERB objections to the 

PGO's Request for Recognition, a Petition for Representation Election, and a motion to 

stay the representation election. (Stip. 21 ). 

21. On or about August 23, 2007, SERB directed the case to hearing to 

determine if the corrections officers employed at the Lucas County CTF are public 

employees and for all other relevant issues. (Slip. 22). 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. § 4117.03(C) provides in relevant part: 
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[N]othing in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code prohibits public employers 
from electing to engage in collective bargaining, to meet and confer, to hold 
discussions, or to engage in any other form of collective negotiations with 
public employees who are not subject to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code 
pursuant to division (C) of section 4117.01 of the Revised Code. 

Believing they were operating under the authority provided by O.R.C.§ 4117.03(C), 

the Judges have voluntarily recognized and collectively bargained with the PGO as the 

exclusive representative of corrections officers employed at Lucas County CTF. The 

Judges and the PGO have entered into multiple successive collective bargaining 

agreements covering these employees since January 1999. 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(18) specified that employees of community-based correctional 

facilities created under O.R.C. §§ 2301.51to2301.58, who were not subject to a collective 

bargaining agreement on June 1, 2005, were exempt from the definition of "public 

employee" for purposes of public-sector collective bargaining. On June 1, 2005, the 

corrections officers at Lucas County CTF were subject to a collective bargaining agreement 

that had become effective on January 1, 2005, and subsequently expired on December 31, 

2006. The petitioned-for employees were subject to a collective bargaining agreement on 

June 1, 2005. 

Under Section 4 of HB 162, the amendment of O.R.C. §4117.01 "by this act 

preserves the nonexempt collective bargaining status of employees of community-based 

correctional facilities and programs and district community based correctional facilities and 

programs who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement existing on June 1, 2005." 

These employees maintain their non-exempt status beyond the effective date of HB 162 

and the termination date of the existing collective bargaining agreement. 

The Employer asserts that the language used in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(18) is 

ambiguous. The uncodified law in Section 4 of HB 162 states that the act "preserves the 
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nonexempt collective bargaining status" of the employees at issue. Assuming for the sake 

of argument that the Employer is correct about an ambiguity in the language in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C)(18), the uncodified portion of the act clearly removes this confusion. Further, 

the Employer's secondary argument that the non-legislative drafters of the act expressed 

their intent to "preserve the status quo" attempts to create an ambiguity where none existed 

with the Ohio General Assembly, especially since neither the codified nor the uncodified 

portions of the act uses the phrase "preserve the status quo." 

The Employer contends that the phrase "preserves the nonexempt collective 

bargaining status of employees of community-based correctional facilities and programs 

and district community based correctional facilities and programs who are covered by a 

collective bargaining agreement existing on June 1, 2005," somehow conveys discretionary 

authority for the public employer to recognize and bargain with the employees' 

representative. 

"When the meaning of the statute is unambiguous and definite, it must be applied as 

written and no further interpretation is necessary." State ex rel Moorehead v. Indus. 

Comm., 112 Ohio St.3d 27, 2006-0hio-6364, 1] 18 citing State ex rel Savarese v. Buckeye 

Local School Dist Bd of Edn (1996), 7 4 Ohio St.3d 543, 545, 660 N.E.2d 463, 1996-0hio-

291. We find that the language used in O.R.C. § 4117.01(C)(18) is unambiguous and 

definite. 

We are left asking what the General Assembly was preserving through this statutory 

change. The legislature excluded from the definition of "public employee" in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C)(8) "[e]mployees and officers of the courts, assistants to the attorney general, 

assistant prosecuting attorneys, and employees of the clerks of courts who perform a 

judicial function." Were the corrections officers working at Lucas County CTF court 

employees? In Five-County Joint Juvenile Detention Center v SERB, 1989 SERB 4-81, 4-
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84 (1 oth Dist Ct App, Franklin, 7-18-89), the Tenth District Court of Appeals looked at a 

similar situation, and it observed: 

Id. 

The employees of JDC [Five-County Joint Juvenile Detention Center] 
are responsible for the supervision, education and care of the juveniles 
placed in the facility; however, they have no independent decision-making 
authority as to the disposition of those juveniles. While the court may 
consider the recommendations of JDC staff and rely on their day-to-day 
observations of a child's behavior, such recommendations are only that and 
have no binding effect Thus, it is clear that employees of JDC are not 
officers of the court. 

The court also looked at whether such employees were "employees of the court": 

While there is no doubt the juvenile court judges have daily contact 
with employees of JDC and are consulted on a regular basis by the board of 
trustees as to management procedures and policies, the juvenile court 
judges do not exercise that degree of control necessary to make employees 
of JDC court employees. All decisions regarding employees are made by the 
superintendent and the board of trustees. The interaction between the court 
and detention center employees required by Juv. R. 7 [Juvenile Rule 7] is not 
sufficient to make them employees of the court. The judges have no 
authority to hire, discipline or discharge JDC employees, do not assign job 
duties and do not direct the manner in which job duties are performed. 

In the facts before us, we cannot reach a different conclusion as to these 

employees, especially when looking at the legislature's language that the amendment 

"preserves the nonexempt collective bargaining status" of these employees. If they were 

already excluded from the definition of "public employee," there would not be any 

"nonexempt collective bargaining status" to preserve. 

Accordingly, the corrections officers who are the subject of the PGO's Request for 

Recognition and the Employer's Petition for Representation Election meet the definition of 
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"public employee" under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). They were employees of a community

based correctional facility created under O.R.C. §§ 2301.51 to 2301.58 who were subject 

to a collective bargaining agreement on June 1, 2005. Because the proposed bargaining 

unit consists wholly of employees who were "public employees" with non-exempt status 

described in 0.R.C. § 4117.01(C)(18}, a representation election should be conducted 

pursuant to the Employer's Petition for Representation Election. 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The corrections officers employed by the Lucas County Correctional 

Treatment Facility Governing Board are not exempt employees of community-based 

correctional facilities and district community-based correctional facilities, created under 

O.R.C. §§ 2301.51to2301.58, who were not subject to a collective bargaining agreement 

on June 1, 2005, under O.R.C. § 4117.01(C)(18). 

2. The corrections officers who are the subject of the Request for Recognition 

and the Petition for Representation Election are "public employees" within the meaning of 

O.R.C. § 4117.01(C). 

3. The Professionals Guild of Ohio is an "employee organization" within the 

meaning ofO.R.C. §4117.01(0). 

4. The Lucas County Correctional Treatment Facility Governing Board is a 

"public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

5. The bargaining unit proposed in the Request for Recognition is appropriate 

and is defined as follows: 
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Included: Corrections Officers employed at the Lucas County 
Correctional Treatment Facility 

Excluded: Probationary employees employed at the Lucas County 
Correctional Treatment Facility 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the employees of the Lucas County Correctional 

Treatment Facility Governing Board subject to the Request for Recognition filed by the 

Professionals Guild of Ohio are "public employees" under Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.01(C). and that the proposed bargaining unit is an appropriate unit under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.06. As a result, the Governing Board's objections to the Request for Recognition 

are denied, and a direction to election, pursuant to the Lucas County Correctional 

Treatment Facility Governing Board's Petition for Representation Election, shall be issued. 

Brundige, Chairperson, and Mayton, Vice Chairperson, concur. 
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BRUNDIGE, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "the 

Board") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Recommended 

Determination, the filing of exceptions and a response to the exceptions, and oral 

arguments that were heard on June 18, 2008. For the reasons that follow, we find that the 

collective bargaining agreement between the parties contains a valid mutually agreed upon 

dispute resolution procedure, that the City did not waive its rights under the mutually 

agreed-upon dispute resolution procedure, and, therefore, that the statutory dispute 

resolution procedure established in Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.14 is 

inapplicable. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council ("the Union") and 

the City of Cleveland ("the City") were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 

effective from February 14, 2005 through March 31, 2007. On December 1, 2006, the 

Union filed a Notice to Negotiate concerning negotiations for a successor CBA with the 
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City, which was served on an attorney in the City's Law Department. The Union indicated 

in its Notice to Negotiate that the parties did not have a mutually-agreed upon alternative 

dispute resolution procedure ("MAD"). 

On December 14, 2006, SERB sent correspondence to an attorney in the City's Law 

Department and counsel for the Union acknowledging receipt of the Notice to Negotiate 

and stating in pertinent part: "In review of the Notice to Negotiate, we understand that the 

parties do not have a mutually agreed dispute settlement procedure to resolve any 

impasses in current negotiations and that the statutory dispute settlement procedure is to 

apply." 

On December 29, 2006, the City's bargaining representative, filed a Notice of 

Appearance with SERB. The parties commenced negotiations on January 11, 2007. On 

February 15, 2007, SERB sent a notice to the parties' representatives notifying them, 

among other things, of SERB's appointment of a mediator, and that the statute specified 

that either party may request a fact-finding panel at any time after the appointment of a 

mediator. 

On February 20, 2007, at the parties' third negotiation session, Mr. Stewart Roll, 

counsel for the Union, demanded that the parties proceed to mediation per the terms of the 

Agreement. During discussions regarding the scheduling of said mediation, Mr. Roll 

directed that the mediation had to occur within three days per the requirements of the 

"Voluntary Dispute Settlement Procedure" contained in the CBA, and that he would contact 

the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service ("FMCS") in that regard. Mr. Jon Dilena, 

counsel for the City, suggested that an FMCS mediator may not be available in such short 

order and suggested retrieving a few dates over the ensuing three weeks from the FMCS 

mediator. When Mr. Roll expressed some reluctance to follow that suggestion, Mr. Dilena 

indicated he was not willing to schedule three mediation sessions over the course of the 

next three days. Mr. Roll then contacted FMCS in order to secure a mediator. Following 
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communications with the federal mediator, the Union agreed to a schedule of mediation 

dates beyond the three-day limitation identified in the CBA. 

The parties conducted mediation sessions on March 6, 19, and 26, and April 2, 

2007, but did not reach an agreement. At the close of mediation, the Union requested that 

the 2005-07 CBA be extended. The City would not agree to extend the CBA beyond 

April 2, 2007. 

After being told that the City would not extend the CBA, Mr. Roll sent a letter dated 

April 3, 2007, to the City's Law Director, notifying him of the expiration of the parties' CBA 

and demanding payment to the Union's members of the applicable prevailing wage. By 

letter and e-mail dated April 26, 2007, Mr. Roll requested SERB to appoint a fact finder 

pursuant to O.R. C. § 4117.14(C)(3). The e-mail reflected that Mr. Dilena was copied; the 

letter did not reflect that Mr. Dileno was copied. 

By a letter received April 30, 2007, the Union requested the appointment of a fact 

finder pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(3). On May 2, 2007, a letter was sent by SERB to 

the Union and the City with the names of potential members of the fact-finding panel; the 

letter requested a selection by May 9, 2007. Mr. Dilena asserted that the May 2, 2007 

letter was not received by his office until May 9, 2007. 

By a letter received May 9, 2007, the Union again requested the appointment of a 

fact finder. On May 9, 2007, Mr. Dilena forwarded a facsimile to SERB and Mr. Roll that 

stated in pertinent part: "In response to your notification of a fact-finding panel regarding 

the above-referenced negotiations, I am writing to inform you that the parties have a written 

alternative dispute resolution procedure which does not culminate in fact-finding (See, 

Attached). Therefore, under the terms of R.C. §4117.14(C)(1 )(f) fact-finding is not a proper 

or lawful dispute process[.]" 
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On May 14, 2007, SERB's Bureau of Mediation issued a letter appointing Joseph W. 

Gardner as the fact finder and directing him to hold a hearing and issue a report no later 

than May 28, 2007. On May 21, 2007, the City filed an emergency motion to stay 

negotiations until SERB resolved whether the parties were under a MAD, as the City 

contended, or were eligible for the appointment of a fact finder, as the Union contended. 

On May 22, 2007, the Board granted the City's emergency motion to stay 

negotiations with the stay of negotiations remaining in effect through June 7, 2007. On 

May 23, 2007, the Board received the Union's opposition to the emergency motion to stay. 

On June 1, 2007, the Board received the City's supplemental brief in support of its motion 

to stay and a request for hearing. On June 5, 2007, the Union filed a reply to the City's 

supplemental brief. On June 6, 2007, the City filed its surreply to the Union's reply brief. 

On June 7, 2007, the Board directed this case to hearing to determine whether the 

parties were under the statutory procedure or a MAD. The Board also granted a stay of the 

statutory fact-finding procedure, but did not grant a general stay of negotiations. At 

hearing, the parties agreed to stipulate the case in its entirety. 

The Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Determination was issued on 

October 23, 2007. The Administrative Law Judge recommended that the Board find that 

the parties' CBA, which expired on March 31, 2007, contained a valid MAD and, therefore, 

that the statutory dispute resolution procedure established in O.R.C. § 4117.14 was 

inapplicable. On February 7, 2008, the Board granted the Union's "Request for Oral 

Argument." On June 18, 2008, the parties' representatives presented oral arguments to 

the Board. 
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II. DISCUSSION 

A. What Is A Mutually Agreed Upon Dispute Settlement Procedure ("MAD")? 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(C) provides in part as follows: "In the event the parties are unable 

to reach an agreement, they may submit, at any time prior to forty-five days before the 

expiration date of the collective bargaining agreement, the issues in dispute to any mutually 

agreed upon dispute settlement procedure which supersedes the procedures contained in 

this section." The entire intent and purpose of a MAD is to tailor a procedure to 

accommodate the specific needs of the parties. In re Niles City Bd of Ed, SERB 91-010 

(11-8-91) at 3-58. 

SERB's policy is to intervene as little as possible in the contractual provisions of the 

MAD. Id. SERB will intervene where a MAD is faulty and inoperative, e.g., the MAD was 

ambiguous and open to various interpretations and manipulations, [Weathersfield Local 

Board of Education, SERB 91-009 (11-8-91 )] or the MAD's provisions rendered it virtually 

inexhaustible [In re Mad River-Green Local Board of Ed, SERB 88-016 (9-29-88)]. It is the 

parties' own responsibility to draft a thoughtful and proper MAD; further: 

[P]arties have to realize that while they are under no obligation to agree to a 
MAD, once they choose to adopt a MAD they have a responsibility to write 
one that lends to a peaceful resolution and one that has finality. The parties 
then have a duty to bargain in good faith and give the process a chance to 
work. * * * The parties who voluntarily enter into a MAD are expected to be 
bound and obligated by their creation and should not expect SERB to let 
them avoid compliance with the MAD they freely and voluntarily agreed to. 

In re Niles City Bd of Ed, supra. 
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B. Was the CBA's "Voluntary Dispute Settlement Procedure" a MAD? 

The parties negotiated a CBA that was effective from February 14, 2005 through 

March 31, 2007. That agreement included an article that was titled "Voluntary Dispute 

Settlement Procedure." It provided as follows: 

Either the City or the CEO Union may initiate negotiations by letter of 
submission forwarded to the other party within ninety (90) days prior to the 
expiration date of the current Agreement. The parties shall hold their first 
negotiation session within ten (10) calendar days from the notification of the 
intent to negotiate. At this time, they will jointly notify SERB of the 
commencement of negotiations and impasse procedures identified in this 
Agreement in compliance with the procedure provided and then in effect 
under Revised Code Section 4117.14 and related sections. 

All negotiations sessions shall be closed to the public and media and 
conducted during times mutually agreed upon by the respective parties, and 
the parties agree not to "go public" with the issues of the negotiations without 
giving the other party prior notice of such intent. 

If fifty (50) days prior to termination, tentative agreement on all items 
is not reached, either party may use the services of the Federal Mediation 
and Conciliation Service (FMCS), as follows: FMCS shall be contacted by 
either party so that mediation may start within three (3) days after petitioning 
FMCS or the date mutually agreed upon. 

Once started, mediation shall continue until tentative agreement is 
reached on all unresolved items with mediation sessions being held at the 
direction of the mediator. 

In the event that the parties are unable to reach agreement by 
March 31, 2007, or a date mutually agreed upon, all of the terms in this 
Agreement shall be deemed exhausted, provided the parties may extend the 
Agreement by mutual agreement. 

One of the questions before the Board is whether this provision constitutes a MAD. 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(1)(f) states that the dispute settlement procedures may include 

various forms of arbitration as well as "[a)ny other dispute settlement procedure mutually 
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agreed to by the parties." The Union advances two arguments why the "Voluntary Dispute 

Settlement Procedure" does not constitute a MAD. First, the Union argues that the section 

that discusses mediation allows that the parties "may" use FMCS to provide mediation 

services. Second, the Union argues that because the process does not end in a final and 

binding conclusion to bargaining, there cannot be a MAD. Both arguments fail. 

The evidence shows the language of the CBA was mutually agreed to by both 

parties and clearly constitutes a MAD. The fact that the CBA allows either party to exercise 

or decline to exercise a right does not detract from the agreement reached and is 

consistent with the intent of the legislation in O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(1 )(f) to allow maximum 

flexibility to the parties to resolve labor-management disputes in the way that works best for 

them. SERB has not declared a MAD to be deficient because it contained only mediation 

as its sole alternative-dispute resolution. To the contrary, SERB has held valid a procedure 

consisting only of mediation utilizing FMCS' services in In re Vandalia-Butler City School 

Dist, SERB 86-012 (3-27-86). "[T]he MAD will be sustained absent some compelling public 

policy against it." Id at 250. 

In In re Niles Cty Bd of Ed, supra, SERB approved the use of a mediation-only MAD. 

SERB stated "in the case at issue the MAD is clear and its exhaustion point is specific, i.e. 

the expiration date of the contract. The fact that mediation is the sole requirement under a 

MAD does not render it faulty. The parties in this case chose not to fall under the statutory 

dispute resolution procedure and instead to have a MAD." Id at 3-56. Thus, a mediation

only process can be a valid MAD. 

The second argument is also counter to the purpose of the statute. The legislature, 

in its wisdom, in enacting O.R.C. Chapter 4117 allowed non-safety employees the right to 

strike as the ultimate tool in the union arsenal for dispute resolution. 
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[T)he General Assembly manifestly intended more flexibility for job actions by 
public employees permitted to strike than those who were not (strike 
prohibited employees). This being so, the provisions of the statute permitting 
parties to adopt a mutually agreeable alternative impasse procedure (MAD) 
in place of that provided by R.C. 4117.14 must be treated more liberally 
when "strike permissive" employees rather than "strike prohibited" employees 
are involved. 

In re Vandalia-Butler City School District, supra at 250 [footnotes omitted]. It also reserved 

for management the right to unilaterally implement its final offer if there is no meeting of the 

minds and the Union does not exercise its right to strike. 

If the Union argument prevailed, SERB would be creating a situation wherein all 

public employees would have their bargaining disputes resolved by submission to a final 

and binding process. Many parties have elected to bypass the fact-finding process in favor 

of mediation with the conclusion of the MAD returning the parties to their rights as 

enumerated in O.R.C. § 4117.14(D)(2) and other relevant sections of the Code. 

This position is clearly in opposition to the distinction drawn in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.14(D)(1) that separates safety forces from non-safety forces. According to the 

position advanced by the Union in the oral argument, a mediation-only process is not a 

valid MAD because "a mediator cannot implement dispute resolution"; if the parties 

concluded a mediation-only MAD without having reached an agreement, the result would 

leave the parties in some kind of bargaining "limbo." Oral Argument Transcript, pp. 6, 25-

26. The Union interprets O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(1) as defining a MAD as dispute resolution 

by a neutral's decision. This position is a misreading of O.R.C. Chapter 4117. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.14(C)(1 )(a) through (e) gives options for MADs that end with a decision being made 

by a neutral. This list, however, is not exhaustive. The element of a decision by a neutral 

is not a statutory requirement. 
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A legally binding MAD must be mutually agreed to and must have a point of 

conclusion. The "Voluntary Dispute Settlement Procedure" provides such a concluding 

point when it states in its final paragraph: "In the event that the parties are unable to reach 

agreement by March 31, 2007, or a date mutually agreed upon, all of the terms in this 

Agreement shall be deemed exhausted, provided the parties may extend the Agreement by 

mutual agreement." Once the MAD is exhausted, strike-permissive employees could 

exercise their right to strike. 

The Union argues that its position that O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(1) requires dispute 

resolution by a neutral's decision is supported by 0.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(3), which provides 

for fact finding any time after the appointment of a mediator. A plain reading of the statute 

reflects that the procedures outlined in O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(2)-(6), (D), and (G) all 

constitute the statutory dispute resolution procedures under which parties with no MAD fall. 

Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-03{A) states: 

The parties may, at any time, agree to submit any or all issues in dispute to 
any mutually agreed-upon dispute settlement procedure authorized by 
section 4117.14 of the Revised Code which procedure shall supersede the 
procedure set forth in rules 4117-9-04, 4117-9-05, and 4117-9-06 of the 
Administrative Code, and in divisions (C)(2) to (C)(6), (D), and (G) of 
section 4117.14 of the Revised Code. 

The Union further argues that the City waived its right to assert that the agreement 

contained a MAD. The Union bases its waiver argument on the City's failure to object to 

the Union's Notice to Negotiate. The Notice to Negotiate form had the "NO" box checked 

as to whether the parties had a MAD. The cover letter from the Union referenced 

provisions contained in the "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" portion of the CBA. 

Both were dated December 1, 2006. The City responded with a letter pointing out that the 
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Union's notice was premature, but the City agreed to meet during the week suggested by 

the Union and gave notice of its intent to modify the terms of the 2004-2007 CBA. 

SERB has previously held that the waiver of a statutory right must be clear and 

unmistakable. In re City of Lakewood, SERB 88-009 (7-11-88) aff'd 1990 SERB 4-35 

(8th Dist Ct App, Cuyahoga, 621-90); In re Pickaway Ross Joint Vocational School District 

Bd of Ed, SERB 87-027 (11-19-87); In re Cuyahoga County Commrs, SERB 89-006 (3-15-

89). For a party to have waived a contractual right, such waiver must have been clear and 

unmistakable. West American Insur. Co. v. Skaggs, 1988 Ohio App. LEXIS 1038 ("West 

American Insur.") (4th Dist Ct of App, Ross County, 3-25-88). As stated in West American 

Insur., "to make out a case of implied waiver of a legal right, there must be a clear, 

unequivocal, and decisive act of the party[.]" Id. at p. 5. See also, Directory Concepts, Inc. 

v. Smith, 2004-0hio-3666 (3'd Dist Ct App, Crawford, 7-12-04) (waiver, absent expressed 

statements, must be established by clear and unequivocal acts). 

The "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" agreed to by the parties has not been 

clearly and unmistakably waived. The CBA procedure was referred to in the cover letter 

accompanying the Union's Notice to Negotiate. At the parties' third negotiation session, 

the counsel for the Union demanded that the parties proceed to mediation per terms of the 

agreement. This action could occur within 50 days of the expiration of the CBA, whereas 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(B) calls for negotiations to commence 60 days prior to the expiration of 

the CBA. During discussions about scheduling the mediation, counsel for the Union 

directed that the mediation had to occur within three days per the requirements of the 

"Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" in the CBA. The statutory procedure requires 

SERB to appoint a mediator to assist in the collective-bargaining process. The Union did 

not avail itself of the services of the SERB mediator, instead contacting FMCS directly in 

accordance with the terms of the CBA's "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure." 
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Once mediation concluded and the CBA expired, the Union demanded its members 

be paid the prevailing wage pursuant to applicable external law, a request that would be at 

odds with the continuance of the statutory dispute-resolution procedures. The evidence 

presented in this case clearly indicates that the CBA between the parties contains a valid 

MAD. Therefore, the statutory dispute resolution procedure does not apply, and the 

Bureau of Mediation's order directing the parties to fact-finding should be rescinded. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, the Board finds that the collective bargaining agreement 

between the parties contains a valid mutually agreed upon dispute resolution procedure, 

that the City did not waive its rights under the mutually agreed-upon dispute resolution 

procedure, and, therefore, that the statutory dispute resolution procedure established in 

Ohio Revised Code § 4117.14 is inapplicable. Consequently, the statutory dispute 

resolution procedure established in Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.14 is inapplicable, and the 

order to fact finding is rescinded. 

Mayton, Vice Chairperson, and Verich, Board Member, concur. 
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VERICH, Vice Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"the Complainant") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, 

the filing of exceptions and responses to the exceptions, and oral arguments that were 

heard on October 9, 2008. For the reasons that follow, we find that the City of Cleveland 

("the City") did not violate Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when 

it eliminated health insurance benefits for the bargaining-unit members represented by the 

Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council ("the MCEOLC") after the 

MCEOLC abandoned the collective bargaining process when it pursued its bargaining-unit 

members' rights under the application of external law. As a result, the complaint is 

dismissed, and the unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The MCEOLC is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the City's 

Construction Equipment Operators. The City and the MCEOLC were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement ("CBA") effective from February 14, 2005 through March 31, 2007, 
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which contained a grievance process that culminated in final and binding arbitration. The 

CBA contains a valid mutually agreed upon dispute resolution procedure. See In re City of 

Cleveland, SERB 2008-004 (8-27-08). 

A section of the CBA titled "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" provides in 

part as follows: "In the event that the parties are unable to reach agreement by March 31, 

2007, or a date mutually agreed upon. all of the terms in this Agreement shall be deemed 

exhausted, provided the parties may extend the Agreement by mutual agreement." The 

CBA also contained a provision concerning health insurance. 

On December 1, 2006, the MCEOLC filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB in Case 

No. 2006-MED-12-1380. By a letter dated February 15, 2007, SERB appointed a mediator 

to assist the parties with their negotiations. The parties met in negotiation sessions on 

January 11, 2007. February 6, 2007, and February 21, 2007. The parties had a mediation 

session scheduled for April 2. 2007. 

By a letter dated and hand delivered on April 2. 2007, the City's representative. 

wrote that "it is the City's position that based on the Union's latest proposal, the parties 

have reached an impasse in these negotiations. However, since we have previously 

agreed to schedule today's mediation session and extend the terms of the contract to this 

point, the City will mediate in good faith in the hopes that we can overcome this apparent 

impasse." 

The MCEOLC had requested on several occasions that the City agree to extend the 

CBA. The City refused to extend the CBA beyond the agreed-to mediation date of April 2. 

2007. By a letter dated April 3, 2007. the MCEOLC responded to the City that the CBA 

had expired, and the MCEOLC demanded that MCEOLC bargaining-unit members be paid 

the prevailing wage starting on April 1, 2007. and thereafter. The City and the MCEOLC 
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disagreed as to what was the correct prevailing wage and whether the prevailing wage 

contained a dollar component for health and welfare; the parties began litigating those 

issues. 

On April 19, 2007, the City's representative wrote to the MCEOLC's representative 

indicating that since the City would be applying "external law" [statutory law as opposed to 

the terms of the CBA, including but not limited to, the applicable prevailing wage rate 

recognized by the state under Ohio law or the federal Consolidated Omnibus Budget 

Reconciliation Act of 1985 ("COBRA")] regarding all terms and conditions of employment, 

the City intended to cease providing any benefits, including but not limited to health 

insurance, longevity, paid holidays and accrual of vacation and sick leave, to the MCEOLC 

bargaining-unit members as of April 30, 2007. 

The City's representative wrote to the MCEOLC's representative on April 27, 2007, 

stating that the City had rejected the MCEOLC's latest suggestion to maintain the status 

quo until the Ohio Supreme Court ruled on the prevailing wage issue. The April 27, 2007 

letter also indicated that the City would be applying the prevailing wage and "external law" 

as demanded in the MCEOLC's April 19, 2007 letter. The April 27, 2007 letter said that 

since the demand required significant administrative effort to implement, the effective date 

for changes in wages, benefits, and dues deductions would be May 1, 2007. 

Before the effective date of the CBA, the MCEOLC members were permitted to 

purchase City health insurance directly from the City with pre-tax dollars at the City's cost. 

After application of external law, the City refused the MCEOLC's request to allow the 

MCEOLC bargaining-unit members to purchase their health insurance through the City at 

the City's cost. Although the City believed that its calculation of the prevailing wage 

contained a dollar component for health and welfare, the City decided to offer coverage 

under COBRA to the affected employees. The affected employees received a COBRA 
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notice of continuing health care, and these employees could choose to remain in the City's 

health plan for up to 18 months of coverage at the City's rate plus a 2 percent 

"administrative fee." 

MCEOLC bargaining-unit members had to make application for COBRA coverage. 

As a result, bargaining-unit members were unable to immediately access COBRA benefits, 

resulting in individuals who had medical expenses during this time having to pay out of 

pocket and then apply through COBRA for reimbursement. 

The parties had one negotiation session after the April 2, 2007 mediation session; 

the negotiating session was held on July 3, 2007. On November 19, 2007, the City 

informed the MCEOLC that the parties were at impasse in negotiations and, as a 

consequence, beginning December 1, 2007, the City would be implementing its last written 

proposal that was presented on March 22, 2007. The City also indicated that if the 

MCEOLC believed a minimal change to their proposal or some other circumstance 

warranted another attempt at mediation, they would reconvene. On November 19, 2007, 

and April 2, 2007, the Union was still willing to negotiate with the City. After a prevailing 

wage was implemented, and through November 19, 2007, correspondence between the 

City and the MCEOLC evidenced a mutual willingness to continue negotiations. 

By a letter dated November 19, 2007, the City's representative informed the 

MCEOLC's representative that the City would implement its last, best proposal with what 

were described as very minimal adjustments. On November 20, 2007, the City Benefits 

Manager issued a memorandum to MCEOLC bargaining-unit members without benefits 

that they were "now eligible for Medical, Dental, Vision and Life Insurance effective 

December 1, 2007." 
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On November 30, 2007, the MCEOLC filed a complaint in mandamus with the Ohio 

Supreme Court, Case No. 2007-2227, seeking a writ of mandamus to compel the City to 

pay the prevailing wage rates in the private sector to the Construction Equipment 

Operators and Master Mechanics. On February 20, 2008, in a merit decision without 

opinion, the Ohio Supreme Court granted a writ of mandamus to compel the City to pay the 

Construction Equipment Operators and Master Mechanics the difference between the 

prevailing-wage rates set forth in the Construction Employers Association Building 

Agreement between the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 and its 

branches, and the Construction Employers Association, and the lower rates they have 

been paid for the period beginning April 11, 2007. 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative ••• pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

At issue is whether the City engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally eliminated health insurance benefits for the 

MCEOLC bargaining-unit members. Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of 

the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention 

of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City 

School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 
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In State ex rel. Boggs v. Springfield Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn., 82 Ohio 

St.3d 222, 1998-0hio-249 ("Boggs"), the collective bargaining agreement expired, and the 

union was notified by the employer that it was considering subcontracting its transportation 

services to a private company, which was permitted under the terms of the agreement. 

The union gave notice of its intent to strike and then implemented the strike. The Ohio 

Supreme Court found that the bargaining-unit employees indicated their intent not to be 

bound by the terms of the expired agreement by returning to work after expressing their 

desire to be governed by statutory law rather than the expired agreement and by filing an 

action in mandamus asserting that they were entitled to the protection offered by O.R.C. 

§ 3319.081. The Ohio Supreme Court held: "Where a collective bargaining contract 

executed pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4117 includes an express termination date, the 

agreement may be deemed to continue by implied mutual assent after that date only until 

such time as either party to the agreement acts in a manner inconsistent with the inference 

that both parties wish to be governed by the contract." Boggs at Syllabus. 

In the present case, the City and the MCEOLC were parties to a CBA effective from 

February 14, 2005 through March 31, 2007, which contained a grievance process that 

culminated in final and binding arbitration. The CBA contained a valid mutually agreed 

upon dispute resolution procedure. See In re City of Cleveland, SERB 2008-004 (8-27-08). 

According to the "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" in the CBA: "In the event that 

the parties are unable to reach agreement by March 31, 2007, or a date mutually agreed 

upon, all of the terms in this Agreement shall be deemed exhausted, provided the parties 

may extend the Agreement by mutual agreement." 

The parties appeared to fall clearly within the scenario envisioned by the Ohio 

Supreme Court in its Boggs decision. They had a "collective bargaining contract executed 

pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4117." The CBA included an "express termination date" of 

March 31, 2007. The parties agreed to extend the CBA to April 2, 2007; the City refused to 
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extend the CBA beyond April 2, 2007. On November 30, 2007, the MCEOLC filed a 

complaint with the Ohio Supreme Court seeking a writ of mandamus; such action must be 

viewed as the MCEOLC acting "in a manner inconsistent with the inference that both 

parties wish to be governed by the contract." The Court granted the requested writ of 

mandamus on February 20, 2008. 

The MCEOLC abandoned the collective bargaining process when it pursued its 

bargaining-unit members' rights under the application of external law, i.e., the writ of 

mandamus. As a result, the City no longer had a duty to bargain with the MCEOLC over 

the bargaining-unit members' health insurance benefits. The City's responsibility was set 

forth by the Ohio Supreme Court in its October 20, 2008 Entry following several post

judgment motions when the Court stated in relevant part: 

It is therefore ordered that respondents [the City] immediately comply with 
the writ by paying the city's construction-equipment operators and master 
mechanics the difference between the prevailing-wage rates set forth in the 
Construction Employers Association Building Agreement between the 
International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 and its branches, and 
the Construction Employers Association and the lower rates that they have 
been paid for the period beginning April 11, 2007 and thereafter as long as 
there is no collective bargaining agreement and the Cleveland Charter 
requires paying these employees the prevailing wage rates. 

Since the parties' mutually agreed-to dispute resolution procedure ("MAD") has been 

exhausted, the parties can commence a new series of negotiations with the filing of a 

Notice to Negotiate, by either the employer or employee organization, in an effort to enter 

into a collective bargaining agreement. Such an agreement is plainly anticipated in the 

Ohio Supreme Court's language. Unless the parties enter into a new MAD, they will be 

governed by the statutory procedure in O.R.C. § 4117.14. The status quo for the parties is 

what has been granted already by the Ohio Supreme Court. Consequently, the parties 

would be negotiating the equivalent of an initial collective bargaining agreement. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, the State Employment Relations Board finds that the City of 

Cleveland did not violate Ohio Revised Code §§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it 

eliminated health insurance benefits for the bargaining-unit members represented by the 

Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council after the MCEOLC abandoned 

the collective bargaining process when it pursued its bargaining-unit members' rights under 

the application of external law. As a result, the complaint is dismissed, and the unfair labor 

practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

Brundige, Chairperson, concurs. 
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VERICH, Vice Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"the Complainant") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, 

the filing of exceptions and responses to the exceptions, and oral arguments that were 

heard on October 9, 2008. For the reasons that follow, we find that the City of Cleveland 

("the City") did not violate Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when 

it eliminated health insurance benefits for the bargaining-unit members represented by the 

Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council ("the MCEOLC") after the 

MCEOLC abandoned the collective bargaining process when it pursued its bargaining-unit 

members' rights under the application of external law. As a result, the complaint is 

dismissed, and the unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The MCEOLC is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the City's 

Construction Equipment Operators. The City and the MCEOLC were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement ("CBA") effective from February 14, 2005 through March 31, 2007, 
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which contained a grievance process that culminated in final and binding arbitration. The 

CBA contains a valid mutually agreed upon dispute resolution procedure. See In re City of 

Cleveland, SERB 2008-004 (8-27-08). 

A section of the CBA titled "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" provides in 

part as follows: "In the event that the parties are unable to reach agreement by March 31, 

2007, or a date mutually agreed upon, all of the terms in this Agreement shall be deemed 

exhausted, provided the parties may extend the Agreement by mutual agreement." The 

CBA also contained a provision concerning health insurance. 

On December 1, 2006, the MCEOLC filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB in Case 

No. 2006-MED-12-1380. By a letter dated February 15, 2007, SERB appointed a mediator 

to assist the parties with their negotiations. The parties met in negotiation sessions on 

January 11, 2007, February 6, 2007, and February 21, 2007. The parties had a mediation 

session scheduled for April 2, 2007. 

By a letter dated and hand delivered on April 2, 2007, the City's representative, 

wrote that "it is the City's position that based on the Union's latest proposal, the parties 

have reached an impasse in these negotiations. However, since we have previously 

agreed to schedule today's mediation session and extend the terms of the contract to this 

point, the City will mediate in good faith in the hopes that we can overcome this apparent 

impasse." 

The MCEOLC had requested on several occasions that the City agree to extend the 

CBA. The City refused to extend the CBA beyond the agreed-to mediation date of April 2, 

2007. By a letter dated April 3, 2007, the MCEOLC responded to the City that the CBA 

had expired, and the MCEOLC demanded that MCEOLC bargaining-unit members be paid 

the prevailing wage starting on April 1, 2007, and thereafter. The City and the MCEOLC 
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disagreed as to what was the correct prevailing wage and whether the prevailing wage 

contained a dollar component for health and welfare; the parties began litigating those 

issues. 

On April 19, 2007, the City's representative wrote to the MCEOLC's representative 

indicating that since the City would be applying "external law" [statutory law as opposed to 

the terms of the CBA, including but not limited to, the applicable prevailing wage rate 

recognized by the state under Ohio law or the federal Consolidated Omnibus Budget 

Reconciliation Act of 1985 ("COBRA")] regarding all terms and conditions of employment, 

the City intended to cease providing any benefits, including but not limited to health 

insurance, longevity, paid holidays and accrual of vacation and sick leave, to the MCEOLC 

bargaining-unit members as of April 30, 2007. 

The City's representative wrote to the MCEOLC's representative on April 27, 2007, 

stating that the City had rejected the MCEOLC's latest suggestion to maintain the status 

quo until the Ohio Supreme Court ruled on the prevailing wage issue. The April 27, 2007 

letter also indicated that the City would be applying the prevailing wage and "external law" 

as demanded in the MCEOLC's April 19, 2007 letter. The April 27, 2007 letter said that 

since the demand required significant administrative effort to implement, the effective date 

for changes in wages, benefits, and dues deductions would be May 1, 2007. 

Before the effective date of the CBA, the MCEOLC members were permitted to 

purchase City health insurance directly from the City with pre-tax dollars at the City's cost. 

After application of external law, the City refused the MCEOLC's request to allow the 

MCEOLC bargaining-unit members to purchase their health insurance through the City at 

the City's cost. Although the City believed that its calculation of the prevailing wage 

contained a dollar component for health and welfare, the City decided to offer coverage 

under COBRA to the affected employees. The affected employees received a COBRA 
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notice of continuing health care, and these employees could choose to remain in the City's 

health plan for up to 18 months of coverage at the City's rate plus a 2 percent 

"administrative fee." 

MCEOLC bargaining-unit members had to make application for COBRA coverage. 

As a result, bargaining-unit members were unable to immediately access COBRA benefits, 

resulting in individuals who had medical expenses during this time having to pay out of 

pocket and then apply through COBRA for reimbursement. 

The parties had one negotiation session after the April 2, 2007 mediation session; 

the negotiating session was held on July 3, 2007. On November 19, 2007, the City 

informed the MCEOLC that the parties were at impasse in negotiations and, as a 

consequence, beginning December 1, 2007, the City would be implementing its last written 

proposal that was presented on March 22, 2007. The City also indicated that if the 

MCEOLC believed a minimal change to their proposal or some other circumstance 

warranted another attempt at mediation, they would reconvene. On November 19, 2007, 

and April 2, 2007, the Union was still willing to negotiate with the City. After a prevailing 

wage was implemented, and through November 19, 2007, correspondence between the 

City and the MCEOLC evidenced a mutual willingness to continue negotiations. 

By a letter dated November 19, 2007, the City's representative informed the 

MCEOLC's representative that the City would implement its last, best proposal with what 

were described as very minimal adjustments. On November 20, 2007, the City Benefits 

Manager issued a memorandum to MCEOLC bargaining-unit members without benefits 

that they were "now eligible for Medical, Dental, Vision and Life Insurance effective 

December 1, 2007." 
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On November 30, 2007, the MCEOLC filed a complaint in mandamus with the Ohio 

Supreme Court, Case No. 2007-2227, seeking a writ of mandamus to compel the City to 

pay the prevailing wage rates in the private sector to the Construction Equipment 

Operators and Master Mechanics. On February 20, 2008, in a merit decision without 

opinion, the Ohio Supreme Court granted a writ of mandamus to compel the City to pay the 

Construction Equipment Operators and Master Mechanics the difference between the 

prevailing-wage rates set forth in the Construction Employers Association Building 

Agreement between the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 and its 

branches, and the Construction Employers Association, and the lower rates they have 

been paid for the period beginning April 11, 2007. 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.RC. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code***; 

* * * 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative *** pursuant to 
Chapter4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

At issue is whether the City engaged in bad-faith bargaining in violation of O.RC. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally eliminated health insurance benefits for the 

MCEOLC bargaining-unit members. Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of 

the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention 

of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City 

School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 



SERB Opinion 2008-005 
Case No. 2007-ULP-05-0214 
Page 6 of 8 

In State ex rel. Boggs v. Springfield Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn., 82 Ohio 

St.3d 222, 1998-0hio-249 ("Boggs"), the collective bargaining agreement expired, and the 

union was notified by the employer that it was considering subcontracting its transportation 

services to a private company, which was permitted under the terms of the agreement. 

The union gave notice of its intent to strike and then implemented the strike. The Ohio 

Supreme Court found that the bargaining-unit employees indicated their intent not to be 

bound by the terms of the expired agreement by returning to work after expressing their 

desire to be governed by statutory law rather than the expired agreement and by filing an 

action in mandamus asserting that they were entitled to the protection offered by O.R.C. 

§ 3319.081. The Ohio Supreme Court held: "Where a collective bargaining contract 

executed pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4117 includes an express termination date, the 

agreement may be deemed to continue by implied mutual assent after that date only until 

such time as either party to the agreement acts in a manner inconsistent with the inference 

that both parties wish to be governed by the contract." Boggs at Syllabus. 

In the present case, the City and the MCEOLC were parties to a CBA effective from 

February 14, 2005 through March 31, 2007, which contained a grievance process that 

culminated in final and binding arbitration. The CBA contained a valid mutually agreed 

upon dispute resolution procedure. See In re City of Cleveland, SERB 2008-004 (8-27-08). 

According to the "Voluntary Dispute Resolution Procedure" in the CBA: "In the event that 

the parties are unable to reach agreement by March 31, 2007, or a date mutually agreed 

upon, all of the terms in this Agreement shall be deemed exhausted, provided the parties 

may extend the Agreement by mutual agreement." 

The parties appeared to fall clearly within the scenario envisioned by the Ohio 

Supreme Court in its Boggs decision. They had a "collective bargaining contract executed 

pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4117." The CBA included an "express termination date" of 

March 31, 2007. The parties agreed to extend the CBA to April 2, 2007; the City refused to 
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extend the CBA beyond April 2, 2007. On November 30, 2007, the MCEOLC filed a 

complaint with the Ohio Supreme Court seeking a writ of mandamus; such action must be 

viewed as the MCEOLC acting "in a manner inconsistent with the inference that both 

parties wish to be governed by the contract." The Court granted the requested writ of 

mandamus on February 20, 2008. 

The MCEOLC abandoned the collective bargaining process when it pursued its 

bargaining-unit members' rights under the application of external law, i.e., the writ of 

mandamus. As a result, the City no longer had a duty to bargain with the MCEOLC over 

the bargaining-unit members' health insurance benefits. The City's responsibility was set 

forth by the Ohio Supreme Court in its October 20, 2008 Entry following several post

judgment motions when the Court stated in relevant part: 

It is therefore ordered that respondents [the City] immediately comply with 
the writ by paying the city's construction-equipment operators and master 
mechanics the difference between the prevailing-wage rates set forth in the 
Construction Employers Association Building Agreement between the 
International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 18 and its branches, and 
the Construction Employers Association and the lower rates that they have 
been paid for the period beginning April 11, 2007 and thereafter as long as 
there is no collective bargaining agreement and the Cleveland Charter 
requires paying these employees the prevailing wage rates. 

Since the parties' mutually agreed-to dispute resolution procedure ("MAD") has been 

exhausted, the parties can commence a new series of negotiations with the filing of a 

Notice to Negotiate, by either the employer or employee organization, in an effort to enter 

into a collective bargaining agreement. Such an agreement is plainly anticipated in the 

Ohio Supreme Court's language. Unless the parties enter into a new MAD, they will be 

governed by the statutory procedure in O.R.C. § 4117.14. The status quo for the parties is 

what has been granted already by the Ohio Supreme Court. Consequently, the parties 

would be negotiating the equivalent of an initial collective bargaining agreement. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, the State Employment Relations Board finds that the City of 

Cleveland did not violate Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it 

eliminated health insurance benefits for the bargaining-unit members represented by the 

Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council after the MCEOLC abandoned 

the collective bargaining process when it pursued its bargaining-unit members' rights under 

the application of external law. As a result, the complaint is dismissed. and the unfair labor 

practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

Brundige, Chairperson, concurs. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Vice Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of an Amended Proposed Order on January 8, 2008, 

and the filing of exceptions to the Proposed Order by Respondent Brookfield Local School 

District Board of Education ("the District"), responses to the exceptions by Intervenor 

Brookfield Federation of Teachers, OFT/AFT ("the BFT") and Counsel for Complainant, 

and the oral arguments presented by the parties to the Board on July 10, 2008. For the 

reasons that follow, we find that the District violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally reducing the salaries of bargaining-unit 

employees, by abolishing the bargaining-unit position of Technology Coordinator and 

replacing it with the non-bargaining-unit position of Computer Network/Support Technician 

position, and by replacing bargaining-unit nursing positions with nonbargaining-unit clinical

assistant positions without first bargaining those changes. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

The BFT is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of all eligible, 

certificated personnel employed by the District. Eligible, certificated personnel include all 

full-time and part-time regular classroom teachers, guidance counselors, remedial 

teachers, nurses, librarians, and tutors. The superintendent, principals, assistant 

principals, and casual substitute teachers are excluded from the bargaining unit. 

On December 4, 2001, the BFT and the District tentatively agreed to the Master 

Agreement, effective from July 1, 2002, through June 30, 2005. On December 18, 2001, 

the BFT and the District tentatively agreed to a one-year extension to the Master 

Agreement, from July 1, 2005 through June 30, 2006. The final draft was not completed 

until May 2002. The Master Agreement and its one-year extension were executed as a 

single document with two cover pages between May 20, 2002, and June 5, 2002, by the 

BFT representatives and by the District President, Treasurer, and Superintendent. The 

Master Agreement ("the BFT Agreement") was modeled after the parties' previous Master 

Agreement and extension. The BFT Agreement contained a grievance process that 

culminated in binding arbitration. 

On February 28, 2006, the BFT filed a Notice to Negotiate in SERB Case No. 2006-

MED-02-0180. At the time of hearing and oral argument, the parties had not reached a 

successor collective bargaining agreement. 

On June 28, 2006, at a Special Meeting, the District's legislative body, the School 

Board, approved a "Salary Notice Resolution." The Salary Notice Resolution, effective 

September 1, 2006, set the 2006-2007 salaries based on the 2004-2005 salary schedule, 

thereby reducing current salaries by 3.5 percent. 

The Technology Coordinator position was established in the mid-1990s. The District 

hired Karen Marshall as a full-time teacher during the 1977-1978 school year. During the 

1992-1993 school year, Ms. Marshall assumed the duties of Technology Coordinator (then 

called Computer Coordinator). Ms. Marshall held the position of Technology Coordinator 

full-time from the 1999-2000 school year through the summer of 2006. She was paid 
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under the labor contract between the BFT and the District. BFT union dues were deducted 

from her paycheck. 

Sally Schneider served as part-time Technology Coordinator for the elementary 

buildings. Both Ms. Marshall and Ms. Schneider had teaching responsibilities. Both 

Ms. Marshall and Ms. Schneider were employed as certificated personnel. For four of her 

final five years with the District, Ms. Marshall served only as Technology Coordinator and 

did not teach any classes. 

In June 2006, Ms. Marshall told the District that she was retiring. On May 14, 2006, 

the District posted a Technology Education vacancy notice on line for a part-time 

Technology Coordinator. In her role as Technology Coordinator, Ms. Marshall performed 

every duty listed in the job announcement for CNST. On June 17, 2006, the School Board 

voted to abolish a "Technology Coordinator" position. 

During a public meeting held on July 19, 2006, the School Board approved the hiring 

of a nonbargaining-unit part-time "Computer Network/Support Technician" ("CNST") from 

August 1, 2006, through July 31, 2007. Dave Cessna was hired by the District as the 

CNST. Mr. Cessna performed work that was previously performed by Ms. Marshall. 

Mr. Cessna did not perform any teaching duties. The duties of the CNST were always 

performed by bargaining-unit employees. The District did not negotiate with the BFT over 

the loss of bargaining-unit work that hiring Mr. Cessna as CNST would entail. 

The District employed Rhonda Zebrowski as a full-time school nurse from the 1989-

1990 school year through a portion of the 2005-2006 school year at the middle school and 

high school. The District also employed Donna Yassall as a part-time nurse at the 

elementary schools. Both nursing positions were part of the BFT bargaining unit. Both 

Ms. Zebrowski and Ms. Yassall filed grievances over their RIFs. The grievances were 

denied. 

During a public meeting held on August 16, 2006, the School Board approved the 

abolishment of one full-time nursing position and one part-time nursing position in the 
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bargaining unit represented by the BFT. On August 16, 2006, the Superintendent sent a 

recall notice offering Ms. Zebrowski part-time employment as a school nurse, four hours 

per day rotating throughout the District. She remained on the recall list for a full-time 

nursing position with the District. 

On August 25, 2006, the School Board entered into a contract with Ready Nurse 

Staffing Services to provide the District with the services of two part-time Clinical 

Assistants. Ready Nurse Staffing Services performed the same work that the school 

nurses had performed. 

During negotiations in the spring of 2006, the District proposed replacing the school 

nurses and having their work performed by non-bargaining unit persons. The BFT did not 

agree. The matter was not bargained during the negotiations either to conclusion or 

ultimate impasse. 

During the entire term of the BFT Agreement, no one from the District indicated that 

the District had a problem with the length of the BFT Agreement. The Notice to Negotiate 

for the successor agreement was filed on February 28, 2006. 

The parties exchanged proposals on February 28, 2006. The first negotiation 

session was March 6, 2006. The District had 28 proposals. The BFT had 26 proposals. 

Mr. Pasquerilla, the District's Chief Negotiator, insisted that until monetary issues were 

resolved, the District was not discussing any other issues. Citing financial difficulties, the 

District proposed a reduction in wages back to the 2004-2005 salary schedule. The 

March 6, 2006 meeting lasted two hours. 

Another meeting date of March 20, 2006 was set. The Superintendent cancelled 

the meeting via e-mail to BFT President Sally Schneider. The e-mail stated that the District 

was unable to sign for any wage increase, but that the District would like to meet again 

once there was an acceptable counter-proposal on salaries. 
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BFT President Schneider wrote the Superintendent on March 22, 2006, asking the 

District for counter-proposals to the 20 counter-proposals the BFT submitted to the 

District's 27 original proposals and asking for available dates to meet On March 29, 2006, 

the Superintendent responded that the District's initial proposals had not changed. The 

BFT responded on April 6, 2006, stating that although counter-proposals had been 

exchanged on the three economic issues requested by the District, the District had not 

accepted or given counter-proposals on the 17 counter-proposals given by the BFT and 

renewing its request for meeting dates. 

The Superintendent's secretary called on April 24, 2006, and asked to meet on 

April 27, 2006. The BFT could not meet on April 27, 2006, but offered meeting dates on 

May 3, 8, 10, 12, 17, 18, 19, 23, 24,and 25, 2006. The Superintendent responded by letter 

on April 28, 2006, saying he would like to meet on May 8, 2006, to discuss further 

negotiation dates and that the District could meet on May 13, 20 or 27, 2006. The BFT 

responded by e-mail on May 1, 2006, and asked to meet on May 10 or May 18, 2006. 

The parties met on May 10, 2006, and again on May 27, 2006. The BFT and the 

District reached four tentative agreements during their two- hour meeting on May 10, 2006. 

By letter dated May 12, 2006, the BFT suggested meeting on May 27, 2006. The 

parties met on May 27, 2006. The District wanted the BFT to pick out the most important 

proposal to discuss. The BFT wanted to discuss all the proposals on an individual basis. 

Mr. Pasquerilla refused, and the meeting ended. 

The District asked for negotiations the weekend after June 7, 2006, via a letter to 

BFT President Schneider, who was not at work due to a death in the family. No meetings 

occurred before the School Board passed its resolution on June 28, 2006, reducing 

salaries to the 2004-2005 salary schedule. The School Board's resolution acknowledged 

that the District had been negotiating a new contract with the BFT, and that the District and 

the BFT were "subject to ongoing negotiations." On August 7, 2006, the District sent a 

letter to the BFT requesting continued negotiations and offering dates in August 2006. 



SERB Opinion 2008-006 
Case No. 2006-ULP-09-0467 
Page 6of12 

On August 8, 2006, BFT President Schneider wrote to the Superintendent that she 

had forwarded the dates to another necessary attendee who was on vacation and that she 

would contact the Superintendent when she received a response. BFT President 

Schneider wrote the Superintendent on August 17, 2006, reiterating her two previous 

requests for information about the nursing positions. She also reiterated her question as to 

whether the District had changed its position on any of the proposals. 

By letter to SERB of June 1, 2006, the Superintendent requested a SERB mediator 

for the contract negotiations. The parties met with a SERB mediator on August 31, 2006. 

The Superintendent wrote the BFT President on September 12, 2006, asking to 

continue negotiations and requesting dates. BFT President Schneider wrote the 

Superintendent on September 14, 2006, saying Mr. John Creatura would be contacting the 

mediator to continue negotiations. The Superintendent delivered a December 13, 2006 

letter to BFT President Schneider suggesting December 2006 dates to continue 

negotiations. On December 21, 2006, BFT President Schneider wrote to the 

Superintendent and indicated that Mr. Creatura had contacted the mediator and they could 

not meet on the December 2006 dates suggested by the District. 

The parties met with the mediator in the spring of 2007. The parties reached a 

tentative agreement on March 15, 2007. The BFT ratified the agreement. The School 

Board rejected the tentative agreement. The District, through its counsel's letter of 

June 24, 2007, offered a formal proposal to settle the contract and suggested meeting in 

July 2007. During the meetings in March 2007 and May 2007, the BFT offered to reduce 

its percentage salary request and offered to pay a portion of health-care costs. 

The District was placed in "fiscal caution" on December 22, 2005, and in "fiscal 

watch" on March 2, 2006. The Treasurer employed at the District since December 2004 

first checked for the existence of a "412 certification" in the spring when the District's 

counsel requested her to do so. The Treasurer found numerous other contracts with 

outside vendors that should also have had a "412 certification" but did not. At the time the 

tentative agreement was reached, the Treasurer believed that the District had sufficient 
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funds to carry out the tentative agreement. Mr. Pasquerilla, one of three new board 

members elected in November 2006, campaigned against the school levy. The School 

Board had not put any additional school levies on the ballot at the time of hearing. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Refusal to Bargain 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Ohio Revised Code[;] 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 

Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A circumvention of the duty to bargain, 

regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

O.R.C. § 4117.08(A) provides that bargaining is appropriate for "all matters 

pertaining to wages, hours, or terms and other conditions of employment." The three- part 

balancing test in In re Youngstown City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 95-010 (6-30-95) 

("Youngstown") is unnecessary when the subject matter at issue is an inherently 

managerial prerogative not affecting wages, hours, or terms and conditions of employment 

or pertains only to wages, hours, or terms and conditions of employment, or is preempted 

by legislation. In Youngstown at p. 3-78, SERB cited In re Portage Lakes Joint Vocational 

School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 93-009 (6-2-93), aff'd 1994 SERB 4-88 (CP, Summit, 9-27-94) 

and stated: "In a case involving the unilateral changing of hours and benefits of a 

bargaining unit position by the employer, again SERB did not rely on a balancing test to 
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reach the conclusion that hours and benefits are mandatory subjects of bargaining[.]" In 

that case, SERB held that a unilateral change of a mandatory subject without bargaining 

constituted a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 

An employer must exhaust all efforts at good-faith bargaining prior to declaring 

ultimate impasse and unilaterally deciding to implement its "last. best, final" offer or it 

violates the duty to bargain in O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A) (5). Twinsburg City School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2005-010 (12-2-2005) ("Twinsburg"). An employer's failure to 

maintain the terms of an expired collective bargaining agreement (i.e., the status quo ante) 

prior to ultimate impasse constitutes bad-faith bargaining in contravention of O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). In re Crestline Exempted Village School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 

06-003 (3-21-2006) ("Crestline"). "Freezing the status quo ante after a collective 

bargaining agreement has expired promotes industrial peace by fastening a noncoercive 

atmosphere that is conducive to serious negotiations on a new contract. Thus, an 

employer's failure to honor the terms and conditions of an expired collective bargaining 

agreement pending negotiations on a new agreement constitutes bad faith bargaining." In 

re Cuyahoga County Commrs, SERB 89-006 (3-15-89) at p. 3-29 (citations omitted). 

Ultimate impasse is the point at which good-faith negotiations toward reaching an 

agreement have been exhausted. In re Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 

90-003 (2-9-90) ("Vandalia-Butler"), aff'd sub nom. Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of 

Ed v. SERB, 1990 SERB 4-90 (CP, Montgomery, 10-1-90), aff'd 1991 SERB 4-81 (2d Dist 

Ct App, Montgomery, 8-15-91 ). In the present case, the District's resolution reducing 

bargaining-unit members' wages stated that the parties were still negotiating when the 

reduction was made. Thus, the parties were not at ultimate impasse at this pivotal time. 

8. Reduction in Teacher Salaries 

Teachers' salaries fall squarely within 0. R.C. § 4117.08(A). They are a mandatory 

subject of bargaining. The District has made a unilateral change in the CSA by altering the 
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teachers' salaries without bargaining. Application of the Youngstown balancing test is not 

necessary. 

The District argues that it could make a unilateral change for several reasons. The 

District argues that its agreement with the BFT had an expiration date more than three 

years after its execution date and was therefore invalid under O.R.C. § 4117.09(E). The 

District argues its only option was to "continue" salaries at the level of the last "valid" year 

of the agreement, thereby reducing the salaries from the 2006-2007 salary level to the 

2004-2005 salary level. 

O.R.C. § 4117.09(E) provides: "No agreement shall contain an expiration date that 

is later than three years from the date of execution. The parties may extend any 

agreement, but the extensions do not affect the expiration date of the original agreement." 

This statute does not specify the time period during which an extension must be 

completed. 

The parties were cognizant of O.R.C. § 4117.09(E) when they agreed to the Master 

Agreement and the extension. The Master Agreement is a three-year agreement. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.09(E) recognizes the validity of a contract extension. The Master Agreement and 

the extension were not executed contemporaneously. Consequently, this case does not 

present a four-year agreement as the District contended. 

The District honored the terms of the Master Agreement and the extension as long 

as the District benefitted from doing so. It should be noted that the District continued to 

comply with non-financial aspects of the extension. 

The District also argued that the entire CBA was void ab initio under O.R.C. 

§ 5705.412(C) 1 because a certificate of adequate revenues was not executed when the 

1 O.R.C. § 5705.412 provides in part as follows: 

No subdivision or taxing unit shall: ... 
(D)(1) Except as otherwise provided in division (D)(2) of this section and section 

5705.55 of the Revised Code, make any contract or give any order involving the expenditure 
of money unless there is attached thereto a certificate of the fiscal officer of the subdivision 
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Master Agreement and one-year extension were executed. This argument was already 

rejected in Crestline, where the employer argued that the lack of a "412 certificate" allowed 

it to eliminate the step increases due bargaining-unit members from the prior contract for 

the upcoming school year. In addition, the record in this case clearly demonstrates that 

many of the District's contracts did not contain such a certificate. 

The District also argues that exigent circumstances existed. Since the parties were 

cognizant of O.R.C. § 4117.09(E) when they agreed to the Master Agreement and the 

extension, as discussed above, any exigent circumstances upon which the District relies 

were in existence at the time of negotiations. Consequently, the "exigent circumstances" 

exception in In re Toledo City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 99-005 (3-5-99), does not apply. 

C. Abolishment of Nurses' Positions 

In Lorain City School Dist Bd of Edn v State Emp. Relations Bd, (1988), 40 Ohio 

St.3d 25, 1989 SERB 402 ("Lorain"), the Ohio Supreme Court held at Syllabus 3: "The 

reassignment of work previously performed by members of a bargaining unit to persons 

outside the unit is a mandatory subject for collective bargaining under 

R.C. 4117.0B(A)and(C)." A subject of bargaining is not rendered less than mandatory 

under Lorain due to an employer's alleged financial exigencies. Thus, this argument in 

support of the District's actions with regard to the school nurses fails. 

D. Abolishment of Technology Coordinator Position 

The District argues that the Technology Coordinator position was abolished and a 

new Computer Network/Support Technician position was created. The District further 

that the amount required to meet the obligation or, in the case of a continuing contract to be 
performed in whole or in part in an ensuing fiscal year, the amount required to meet the 
obligation in the fiscal year in which the contract is made, has been lawfully appropriated for 
such purpose and is in the treasury or in process of collection to the credit of an appropriate 
fund free from any previous encumbrances. This certificate need be signed only by the 
subdivision's fiscal officer. Every such contract made without such a certificate shall be void, 
and no warrant shall be issued in payrrent of any amount due thereon. *** 
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argues that the Technology Coordinator position is not a bargaining-unit position. The 

record reflects that the vast majority, if not all, of the Technology Coordinator duties are 

now performed by the Computer Network/Support Technician position. To the extent the 

duties are the same, the record does not reflect that the District ever tried to bargain the 

transfer of the identical duties from bargaining-unit employees to the new nonbargaining

unit position. 

The recognition clause of the BFT Agreement provides as follows: 

The Brookfield Federation of Teachers, hereinafter referred to as the 
"B.F.T", is recognized by the Brookfield Board of Education, hereinafter 
referred to as the "Board", as the exclusive representative of all eligible 
certificated personnel employed by the Board. Eligible certificated personnel 
include all full-time and part-time regular classroom teachers, guidance 
counselors, remedial teachers, nurses, librarians and tutors. This definition 
excludes Superintendent, principals, assistant principals and casual 
substitute teacher. 

The B.F.T. shall be the recognized bargaining agent for the unit until 
challenged and replaced in accordance with Ohio Revised Code 
Section 4117. 

The Technology Coordinator position has always been filled by an individual who 

had some teaching duties. The parties have treated this position as a member of the 

bargaining unit represented by the BFT. The District's argument that this position was 

never in the bargaining unit is not supported by the weight of the evidence in the record 

and must be rejected. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the District violated Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally reducing the salaries of bargaining-unit 

employees, by abolishing the bargaining-unit position of Technology Coordinator and 

replacing it with the nonbargaining-unit position of Computer Network/Support Technician 



SERB Opinion 2008-006 
Case No. 2006-ULP-09-0467 
Page 12 of 12 

position, and by replacing bargaining-unit nursing positions with nonbargaining-unit clinical

assistant positions without first bargaining those changes. As a result, a cease-and-desist 

order will be issued, along with a Notice to Employees, requiring the District to: (1) return 

the salaries of all BFT bargaining-unit members to the 2005-2006 level, retroactive to 

July 1, 2006, (2) re-establish the full-time and part-time nursing positions and re-hire both 

bargaining-unit members, paying backpay and all benefits to the full-time and part-time 

nurses, less any offset for wages and benefits earned since the time of layoff, until such 

time as the District and the BFT bargain in good faith as required by Lorain City School Dist 

Bd of Edn v State Emp. Relations Bd, (1988), 40 Ohio St.3d 25, 1989 SERB 4-2; (3) re

establish the bargaining-unit position of Technology Coordinator until such time as the 

District and the BFT bargain in good faith as required by Lorain City School Dist Bd of Edn 

v State Emp. Relations Bd, (1988), 40 Ohio St.3d 25, 1989 SERB 4-2; (4) return to the 

status quo ante, (5) bargain in good faith with the BFT on all mandatory subjects of 

collective bargaining; (6) post the Notice to Employees issued by the State Employment 

Relations Board for sixty days in all usual and customary posting locations where 

employees represented by the BFT work; and (7) notify the State Employment Relations 

Board in writing within twenty calendar days from issuance of the Order of the steps that 

have been taken to comply therewith. 

Brundige, Chairperson, concurs; Spada, Board Member, abstains. 
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OPINION 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"the Complainant") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, 

the filing of exceptions and responses to the exceptions, and oral arguments that were 

heard on October 23, 2008. For the reasons that follow, we find that the Amalgamated 

Transit Union Local 268 ("Union" or "ATU Local 268") did not violate Ohio Revised Code 

("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (8)(1), (8)(2), and (8)(6) by failing to conduct a fair election because 

William H. Nix ("Charging Party") failed to exhaust available remedies as provided in the 

Amalgamated Transit Union lnternational's Constitution. As a result, the complaint is 

dismissed, and the unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On December 30, 2005, Mr. Nix filed an unfair labor practice charge against ATU 

Local 268, alleging that the Union violated 0. R.C. §§ 4117.11 (8)(1 ), (8)(2), and (8)(6) by 

restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of guaranteed rights, causing or 

attempting to cause the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("Employer" or 

"GCRTA") to interfere with the employees' rights, and failing to represent all of the 
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employees in the bargaining unit. This charge was dismissed on March 16, 2006, by the 

State Employment Relations Board ("SERB"), but subsequently reinstated after 

reconsideration was granted. 

Also, on December 30, 2005, Mr. Nix filed an unfair labor practice charge (Case 

No. 2005-ULP-12-0680) against the GCRTA, alleging that the Employer violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(8). On November 9, 2006, SERB found probable cause 

to believe that unfair labor practices had occurred in both cases, consolidated the cases for 

hearing, authorized the issuance of a complaint, and directed the matter to hearing. 

A complaint was issued on April 10, 2007. An amended complaint was issued on 

June 7, 2007, and a second amended complaint was issued on July 24, 2007. On 

January 19, 2007, Mr. Nix filed a motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance 

with Rule 4117-1-07(A). On April 24, 2007, ATU Local 268 filed a motion to dismiss the 

complaint. On August 1, 2007, GCRTA filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. A hearing 

was held on August 1, 2, and 3, 2007, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was 

presented. Subsequently all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

On March 31, 2008, the Administrative Law Judge issued the Proposed Order, 

recommending that the Board find that the Union violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) and 

(B)(6) by failing to conduct a fair election, that the Union did not violate O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (B)(2}, and that the Employer did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A}(1 ), (A)(2), and 

(A)(8). No exceptions were filed to the Proposed Order regarding the charge and 

complaint against the Employer in Case No. 2005-ULP-12-0681, and pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.12(B)(2}, the proposed order became the order of the Board on August 28, 2008. 

The Union filed exceptions to the Proposed Order in Case No. 2005-ULP-12-0680. 

Mr. Nix and Counsel for Complainant filed responses to the exceptions. The Board sua 

sponte directed the parties to appear before it for oral arguments, which were presented on 

October 23, 2008. 
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II. BACKGROUND 

ATU Local 268 is the deemed-certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit 

of GCRTA's Grade 1-6 employees. Mr. Nix is employed by the GCRTA, is a "public 

employee" as defined by 0. RC. § 4117.01 (C), and is a member of the bargaining unit 

represented by the Union. The GCRTA and the Union were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement effective from August 1, 2003 through July 31, 2006 ("CBA"), which 

contained a grievance process that culminated in binding arbitration. 

"Turkey Pass-Out" 

Mr. Nix and Ronald Jackson were both candidates for President of the Union 

running in the December 6, 2005 Union primary election against the incumbent Union 

President, Gary Johnson, Sr. Each year, just prior to Thanksgiving, the Union holds a 

"Turkey Pass-Out" for its members. The Union brings in a truck full of turkeys, and 

members present their identification cards to pick up a free turkey. The Turkey Pass-Out 

in 2005 took place on November 18, 19, and 20, 2005. 

Wearing at-shirt with his picture on it and with the wording "Vote Gary Johnson for 

President," Mr. Johnson passed out turkeys from the back of a semi truck in the parking lot 

Mr. Johnson shook members' hands and asked for their support. Some of Mr. Johnson's 

supporters at the "Turkey Pass-Out" handed out key chains in support of Mr. Johnson. 

On November 18, 2005, Mr. Nix attempted to pass out his campaign fliers in the 

parking lot Union Financial Secretary Ed Butler told Mr. Nix that campaigning was not 

allowed in the parking lot and that Mr. Nix had to remain on the sidewalk. Mr. Nix 

campaigned from the sidewalk on November 18. On November 19, Mr. Nix came to the 

parking lot and observed Mr. Butler wearing a Johnson t-shirt. Mr. Butler attempted to get 

Mr. Nix to leave by threatening to call the police. Union Business Agent David Yakimow 

told Mr. Nix to get off the property, but Mr. Nix remained in the parking lot campaigning all 

day on November 19 and all day November 20. 
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December 6, 2005 - Voting Issues 

A primary election was held by the Union on December 6, 2005. The election of 

new officers was conducted under its local bylaws and the constitution of the Amalgamated 

Transit Union ("International"), the Union's parent body. Mr. Nix, Mr. Johnson, and Ronald 

Jackson were the three candidates running for Union President. 

By virtue of his position as Financial Secretary!Treasurer, Mr. Butler was in charge 

of the election; he appointed the election committee and co-chairs. Mr. Butler appointed 

Clifton Cardwell as committee chairman. The other committee members were Calvin 

Casey, Geraldine Boone, Lester Austin, and David Holland. No candidate had input into 

the choice of the election committee or co-chairs. 

Mr. Casey had supported Mr. Johnson in a previous election. Mr. Cardwell, 

Ms. Boone, and Mr. Austin all supported Mr. Johnson. Mr. Nix did not raise his concern 

with anyone prior to the election that the majority of the election committee had supported 

or was supporting Mr. Johnson. 

Mr. Nix received campaign literature from Mr. Jackson in the mail. How Mr. Jackson 

obtained the mailing list was not established. 

The GCRTA has an established practice of permitting Union members to be absent 

from work without pay for the purpose of conducting Union business as long as the request 

is made in writing by the Union and does not interfere with operational needs. The practice 

applies to persons who wished time off to campaign for any of the office seekers as well as 

other non-election related union business, including the union basketball team playing in an 

out-of-state tournament. A request made pursuant to this practice would not count as an 

absence under GCRTA's attendance policy. Mr. Nix was aware of the practice. 

At the September 13, 2005 membership meeting, Mr. Nix asked Mr. Johnson about 

the number of observers he could have at the election. Mr. Johnson directed him to the 

GCRTA. Mr. Nix also asked if a third party could conduct the election and if retirees and 

part-timers could vote. Mr. Johnson told him that part-timers and retirees in good standing 
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could vote and that nothing in the lnternational's constitution or bylaws provided for third 

parties conducting elections. 

Mr. Nix told his supporters to try to take vacation days for the primary election to be 

his observers. Lois Spears and Wanda Ware were able to get time off. Nicky Washington, 

Darius Scott, and Wayne Bender were denied by GCRTA due to operational needs. No 

requests for time off were made to the Union by Mr. Nix's supporters. 

Ms. Washington and Ms. Scott requested time off from GCRTA for the general 

election. Ms. Washington and Ms. Scott did not receive the days off because there were 

no openings. 

Mr. Nix requested the Thursday, Friday, and Monday before the election off from 

GCRTA as well as Election Day. Mr. Nix was first told he could not have the days off 

because two other individuals had requested them off. GCRTA then gave Mr. Nix 

Thursday and Friday off. When Mr. Nix reported to work Monday he was told he had 

Monday off as well. 

Mr. Nix did not raise the issue of what he believed to be an insufficient number of 

observers for him at either the primary or general election until after the general election. 

Mr. Nix was able to have two observers on December 20, 2006, at the general election. 

Anyone off on Union business to campaign would be paid by the candidate for time lost or 

not paid at all. 

As a result of the primary election, Mr. Nix received 559 votes, Mr. Johnson received 

434 votes, and Mr. Jackson received 391 votes. 

December 20, 2005 - Voting Issues 

Since no candidate for President received a majority vote in the December 6, 2005 

primary election, a runoff election was scheduled for December 20, 2005. Mr. Nix and 

Mr. Johnson were the two candidates for President. 

Tellers were appointed for each voting location. Two Tellers served at each location 

except for the Union Hall and RTA Main office where voter turnout was generally lighter. 
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According to Union bylaws, Tellers were permitted to alternate their supervision of the 

ballot box if voter turnout was light. Tellers were chosen by the Union Executive Board 

members at the voting location where they served, usually based on their previous election 

experience. Once the Tellers were selected, the Financial Secretary requested time off for 

them in writing from GCRTA. GCRTA approved the Union's request to have the Tellers off 

for the 2005 primary and general elections. Tellers were paid by the Union. 

The Tellers picked up the ballot box, supplies, and Teller instruction sheets the day 

before the election (either primary or general). The box contained ballots, pencils, voter 

sign-in sheets, and perimeter tape. Tellers were provided with tape and a lock to secure 

each ballot box. The instruction sheet listed Clifton Cardwell's cell phone number in case 

Tellers had questions. 

Tellers kept ballots, box, and other information overnight at their homes, in their 

cars, or in the locked Executive Board room at one of the districts. Each Teller had a list of 

eligible voters for the location they served as Teller. The list was generated by GCRTA, 

given to Financial Secretary Butler, and listed every Union member eligible to vote at each 

location. 

Retirees who were Union members in good standing were eligible to vote and were 

supposed to vote in the Union Hall. If retirees tried to vote at their former work location, 

Tellers were to call the Union Hall to check to make sure the retiree was eligible to vote 

since their names would not appear on the voter eligibility list for that location. 

Prior to the first vote being cast, the first person voting initialed that he or she had 

observed that the ballot box was empty. The box was to be locked and taped, and the first 

voter initialed the tape to confirm the box was empty when he or she voted. 

Tellers were to tape the floor at each voting location to create a 26-foot perimeter 

around the ballot box. Only voters, Tellers, and election observers were to be within the 

perimeter. No campaigning was to take place within the perimeter. Campaigners were not 

to be at the ballot tables. Tellers were to enforce the perimeter and to call Financial 

Secretary Butler or an election co-chair if a violation was observed. 
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In order to vote in the general election a voter was to show his or her GCRTA ID to 

the Tellers, who then checked the eligibility list. If the person was eligible, he or she signed 

the sign-in sheet, the voter's badge number was recorded on the sign-in sheet, and the 

stub numbers of the ballot given to the individual was recorded on the sign-in sheet. The 

voter was to complete the top stub portion of the ballot with his or her name, badge 

number, and work location, tear it off, return it to the Teller so the Tellers could count the 

stubs and compare the number of stubs with the number of people voting. Sometimes 

voters would put the entire ballot including top stub into the ballot box. 

For the general election on December 20, 2005, there were ten voting locations. At 

each voting location an attempt had been made to tape off a 25-26 foot perimeter around 

the ballot box in which campaigning was not to occur. None of the voting locations 

provided a curtain or any other method to ensure privacy while voters cast their ballots. 

At the Triskett location during the December 20, 2005 election, numerous tables 

were pushed back approximately ten feet from the table holding the ballot box. Individuals 

were passing out literature, wearing !-shirts, or speaking to voters in support of 

Mr. Johnson. Some of Mr. Nix's supporters were talking to voters. 

Mr. Nix did not observe a lock on the box at Triskett during the voting. He brought 

this observation to the attention of one of the Tellers who said someone must have walked 

off with it. By the time the ballot box appeared for counting, it had a lock on it. 

Individuals at Triskett were voting in the kitchen or on a nearby counter. 

Campaigners were talking to voters in the kitchen. These areas were outside the taped 

perimeter. 

Voter John Bornoff was confronted by three people campaigning for Mr. Johnson as 

he walked up to the table to get his ballot. They tried to convince him Mr. Nix was not a 

good candidate. Voter Diana Barnes observed campaigners attempting to influence votes 

after they had ballots and Tellers doing nothing to stop it. 

At the Hayden location during the December 20, 2005 election, although 

campaigners stayed 10 feet away from the perimeter, they were yelling across the room 
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"you know who to vote for" or "we know who you voted for." Campaigners approached 

individuals who had picked up ballots to try to convince them to vote for Mr. Johnson. 

Campaigners for Mr. Johnson handed out literature for Mr. Johnson to the voters. 

At the Harvard location during the December 20, 2005 election there was not a 25-

foot taped perimeter. Voters cast their ballots at lunch tables, at tables by the television or 

in the pool room. Voters were able to cast their ballots in the pool room free of 

campaigners. 

The ballot box in the Union Hall location was in Mr. Johnson's office, a room that 

contains Mr. Johnson's desk and a large conference room table. Only one Teller was at 

this location. 

The Count 

The polls closed at 6:00 p.m. The Tellers were to take the ballot boxes to the 

Holiday Inn by 6:30 p.m. for counting. The ballot box from the Rail Shop did not arrive until 

approximately 7:00 p. m. Eric Ross, one of the Tellers at the Rail Shop, explained that he 

had been delayed by assisting in getting a spill kit for a janitor at Tower City for a clean-up 

and also because he stopped to get gas. 

The ballot boxes were all taped upon arrival. Mr. Nix witnessed the arrival of the 

boxes. All boxes were placed on the floor in the middle of the counting room. The election 

chairs carried the boxes to the count tables, removed the tape, and unlocked the boxes. 

Before each box was counted, the co-chairs would open the boxes, point the box toward 

the observers, and then empty the ballots on the table where they were sorted into two 

piles, one for each candidate. 

One person at each table called out the votes while three Tellers recorded the vote. 

Counters who served as Tellers did not count the ballots from their own location. When 

the Counters reached the same result, the Tellers and callers signed off on the tally sheet. 

The vote was then taken to the Union's Office Manager, who verified the Tellers had 
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reached the same result. Candidates and observers including Mr. Nix and his observers 

were able to observe the count and keep their own counts. 

At the December 20, 2005 run-off election between Mr. Nix and Mr. Johnson, 

Mr. Nix received 694 votes, and Mr. Johnson received 708 votes. The only complaint 

made by Mr. Nix and his observers at the count was the late ballot box from the Rail Shop. 

Mr. Nix indicated he was satisfied with Mr. Ross's explanation. Neither the lnternational's 

constitution nor the Union's bylaws provide for an automatic recount. Mr. Nix has never 

requested a recount. 

Challenge Issues 

On December 28, 2005, Mr. Nix filed a timely challenge to the election results under 

the constitution of the International Union. Section 14.8 of the lnternational's constitution 

and General Laws provides as follows: "Challenges. Any member who is entitled to vote 

may challenge the conduct or results of an election by filing, within ten (10) days of the 

counting of the ballots, a challenge to the incumbent S. T. of his or her L. U. 1 to such effect. 

The S.T. shall submit the challenge for decision to the executive board, subject to final 

ruling by the membership." 

On December 28, 2005, Mr. Nix filed a challenge to the election results. The 

challenge was mailed, faxed, and hand delivered to Mr. Butler and was mailed to the 

International. Mr. Butler prepared a response to Mr. Nix's challenge for the Executive 

Board. 

On January 5, 2006, Mr. Nix wrote a letter to Mr. Johnson, as local President, 

requesting to be present and to present evidence of his election challenge at the Executive 

Board meeting and the membership meeting. No written procedures existed for conducting 

the general election (other than the teller instruction sheet), to challenge the results of the 

election, for the ballot count, and to challenge the eligibility of voters. Other than his written 

1 
According to Section Two, "Abbreviations," of the ATU's Constitution and General Laws, "S. T." 

stands for Secretary-Treasurer and" L. U." stands for Local Union. 
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challenge, Mr. Nix had no opportunity to present witnesses, documents, or other evidence 

to the Executive Board. 

A fax was sent to Attorney John Masters on January 10, 2006, at 10:04 a.m. from 

Attorney Robert E. Davis's office, stating: "Mr. Nix should be at Local 268 office at 3:00 

p.m. today for the Executive Board meeting." It was not established if or when the fax was 

received. 

Mr. Nix was working on January 10, 2006, from 5:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Mr. Butler 

told the Executive Board that Mr. Nix had been notified of the meeting but chose not to 

attend. 

Mr. Nix appeared at the General Membership meeting. Mr. Butler read the 

challenges to the membership. As Mr. Nix attempted to take the podium to speak, 

Mr. Jackson made a motion not to hear the challenges. The motion was seconded but not 

voted upon. Mr. Nix reached the podium and spoke for approximately three minutes when 

he was interrupted by Mr. Johnson, who said Mr. Nix was out of order because there was a 

motion on the floor. Mr. Johnson called for a vote by dividing the house. Mr. Johnson told 

members who wanted to hear the challenges to go to one side of the room and those who 

did not want to hear the challenges to go to the other side of the room. 

Mr. Butler told the membership the vote was not for a new election, it was a vote 

only on whether or not to hear Mr. Nix's challenge. Mr. Johnson said the vote was to 

determine whether to proceed with the challenge and to allow Mr. Nix to bring witnesses, 

collect evidence, and testify. Mr. Bornoff, who was also present at the membership 

meeting, understood that the vote was to accept the ballots as read. 

By letter dated March 16, 2006, Mr. Nix filed a further appeal as to the conduct of 

the December 2005 Union election to International President Warren S. George. By a 

letter dated May 9, 2006, International President George denied Mr. Nix's appeal. 

Mr. George concluded that "while some minor irregularities may have occurred, there is no 

evidence that they had an adverse impact on the outcome of the election. Based on a 

careful review of the information provided, we find that insufficient evidence was provided 
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to establish that any of the election procedures or local Union actions impacted the election 

in such a way to warrant overturning the election." 

The lnternational's constitution provides for the following additional levels of appeal, 

which Mr. Nix did not pursue: 

a. Appeal of the International President's decision to the lnternational's 
General Executive Board and; 

b. Appeal of the lnternational's General Executive Board's decision to 
the regular Convention of the International. 

The next regular Convention of the International was to be held in September 2007. 

Mr. Nix did not file any further appeals pursuant to the lnternational's constitution. The 

time for Mr. Nix to file further appeals pursuant to the International constitution has lapsed. 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The Union is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1 ), (B)(2), and (B)(6), 

which provide as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, 
public employer, its agents, or representatives to: 

( 1) Restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code. This division does not 
impair the right of an employee organization to prescribe its own rules with 
respect to the acquisition or retention of membership therein, or an employer 
in the selection of his representative for the purpose of collective bargaining 
or the adjustment of grievances[.] 

*** 
(2) Cause or attempt to cause an employer to violate division (A) of 

this section. 
*** 
(6) Fail to fairly represent all public employees in a bargaining 

unit[.] 
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1. The O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(2) allegation 

The Union is alleged to have violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(2), which provides that it 

is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization to cause or attempt to cause an 

employer to violate division (A) of O.R.C. § 4117.11. No evidence was introduced at 

hearing to prove the Union caused or attempted to cause GCRTA to violate O.R.C. 

§4117.11(A). 

Individuals wanting time off to participate in the election process could obtain such 

time off one of two ways. They could request any paid leave they might be entitled to in 

accordance with the CBA. Three supporters of Mr. Nix chose this route and were granted 

time off. Persons wishing time off could also avail themselves of the GCRTA's practice 

that allowed Union members to be absent from work without pay for the purpose of 

conducting Union business as long as the request is made in writing by the Union and does 

not interfere with operational needs. This request could be for campaigning, working, or 

for observing at an election or other non-election-related union business. This practice has 

been in effect for ten years, and Mr. Nix was aware of the practice. 

The GCRTA received numerous requests from the Union for time off around the 

primary and general elections. The requests did not signify which candidate the requestor 

was supporting. Mr. Nix's supporters and others who requested time off from GCRTA were 

either granted the time off or not depending upon GCRTA's operational needs. It was 

never proven that GCRTA knew that the Union was using its requests for time off for Union 

business in an inherently coercive or discriminatory fashion or that GCRTA was part of 

some conspiracy in that regard. The GCRTA simply dealt with the leave requests it 

received pursuant to the CBA and the requests it received from the Union for time off for 

union business. 

Mr. Johnson told Mr. Nix his request for observers was "between him and GCRTA." 

Neither Mr. Johnson's actions nor his role in the process were under the control of GCRTA. 

Although Mr. Nix testified he was aware of the process but thought Mr. Johnson's 
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statement meant he could not avail himself of the process, Mr. Nix did not make a request 

to Mr. Johnson or anyone else in the Union to request time off for observers nor did he 

bring this issue to GCRTA's attention. 

Thus, the alleged collusion between the Union and the GCRTA to somehow 

conspire against Mr. Nix was not proven. The alleged attempts on the Union's part to 

cause GCRTA to violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A) were also never proven by a preponderance 

of the evidence. 

2. The O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(8)(1) and (8)(6) allegations 

Under O.R.C. § 4117.03(A)(1), public employees have the right to "(f]orm, join, 

assist, or participate in, or refrain from forming, joining, assisting, or participating in, except 

as otherwise provided in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code, any employee organization of 

their own choosing." Internal union policies or practices can violate rights guaranteed by 

O.R.C. § 4117.03, and thereby constitute unfair labor practices, despite the fact that they 

arise in the course of internal union affairs. 

The issues presented in this case are whether the Union violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (B)(1) or (B)(6) by conducting its election for president in the manner in which it 

did or by the way it handled the appeals filed regarding that election. The Union asserts 

that SERB lacks the subject matter jurisdiction to decide this issue. We disagree. SERB 

has made it clear in A TU that its reluctance to involve itself in union affairs does not 

absolve unions from their statutory obligations to their members, and internal union policies 

that violate O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights are not immune from SERB scrutiny simply 

because they arose in the exercise of internal union affairs. Quite simply, SERB has 

subject-matter jurisdiction of any activity that may constitute an unfair labor practice even if 

it occurs in the context of internal union affairs. 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(1 )-(B)(8) offer protection and redress to employees who feel 

their rights have been infringed upon by their exclusive representative. While SERB has 

always shown a reluctance to interfere in internal union affairs, that reluctance does not 
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relieve the SERB of its statutory duty to assure members' rights are protected. SERB 

clearly does have the jurisdiction to decide this case. 2 

SERB has previously articulated its practice of restraint concerning matters involving 

internal union affairs. In re Northeast Ohio Sewer Dist, SERB 85-031 (6-24-85), In re 

Adkins, SERB 85-064 (12-31-85), In re Mad River-Green Local BdofEd, SERB 86-029 (7-

31-86), In re Sycks, SERB 87-008 (5-15-87), and In re Amalgamated Transit Union, 

Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93)("ATU"). "[T]his practice does not, and has never, 

absolved employee organizations from their statutory obligations to their membership. 

Internal union policies or practices that violate rights protected under Chapter 4117 are not 

immune from scrutiny as violations of 0. R. C. § 4117 .11(B)(1) simply because they arise in 

the course of internal union affairs." ATU at 3-82. Union policies that prevent certain 

employees from attending union meetings, electing a representative to the union board, or 

seeking any type of elected office, restrain the employees in the exercise of their O.R.C. 

§ 4117.03 rights and may constitute an unfair labor practice under O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(1 ). 

Id. 

Mr. Nix had the O.R.C. § 4117.03 right to participate in the employee organization 

by running for office. A review of the Findings of Fact point to several problematic areas of 

union behavior. These include the lack of attention that was given to providing voting 

locations that comport with both the letter and the spirit of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 by 

providing the ability for a voter to exercise a meaningful secret ballot. Privacy for the voters 

was virtually non-existent at the voting locations. In addition, the Union did not follow its 

own written procedures while conducting its election as evidenced by the Tellers' actions. 

Likewise, any internal appeals process that has the victorious candidate presiding 

presents, at the very least, an appearance of impropriety. 

2 A strong argument can be made in this case that the evidence shows the Union failed to 
comply with O.R.C. § 4117.19(C)(4). But such a complaint is not pending before this body. Instead 
the Charging Party has chosen to utilize theunfair labor practice process. 
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Before SERB considers the merits of an alleged O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(1) violation, 

internal union remedies must be exhausted. Id. With only a ninety-day statute of 

limitations for filing an unfair labor practice charge, a matter may not be resolved through 

internal union means within this period. Charging parties must file their charges with SERB 

in a timely manner while they pursue the exhaustion of internal union remedies. Whether 

to hold in abeyance the investigation of the charge (while a charging party exhausts the 

internal union remedies) will be determined by SERB on a case-by-case basis. 

Mr. Nix filed a challenge to the election results on December 28, 2005. Mr. Nix filed 

his unfair labor practice charge in this matter on December 30, 2005. The Union's 

Executive Board denied the challenge. Mr. Nix's challenge was the subject of a chaotic 

membership meeting on January 9, 2006, which resulted in his challenges not proceeding. 

During the membership meeting, Mr. Nix was able to address the membership only for a 

few minutes before he was interrupted by Mr. Johnson, the winning candidate who called 

for a vote. Mr. Nix filed another appeal with the International Union that was denied on 

May 9, 2006, incredibly enough, citing insufficient evidence. 

Mr. Nix's next options were to appeal the International President's decision to the 

lnternational's General Executive Board and then to appeal that decision to the 

lnternational's regular convention. The final step in the Union appeals process would not 

have occurred until the International convention in 2007. Mr. Nix did not pursue these 

options internally with the Union. 

Notwithstanding the concerns raised in the hearing process, SERB has been 

consistent in insisting that the person who has brought the charge is duty bound to exhaust 

all available remedies prior to presenting the matter to SERB. In this case, Mr. Nix failed to 

appeal the International President's decision to the lnternational's General Executive 

Board, which was the next step in the Appeal process pursuant to the lnternational's 

Constitution. An unfair labor practice charge can be filed to preserve the statutory time 

limits concurrent with the exhaustion of an available internal remedy. Because Mr. Nix did 

not exhaust his available remedies it would be an unwarranted intervention into internal 
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union business for SERB to decide whether an unfair labor practice has been committed. 

Thus, we do not reach the question whether the Union violated 0. RC. § 4117.11 (B)(1) or 

(B)(6) because the internal union remedies were not exhausted.3 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we fail to find that Amalgamated Transit Union Local 268 

violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11(B)(1) or (B)(6) when William H. Nix failed to 

exhaust available remedy as provided in the lnternational's Constitution. We also find that 

the ATU did not cause or attempt to cause the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit 

Authority to violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A), and therefore ATU did not violate Ohio Revised 

Code §4117.11(B)(2). As a result, the complaint is dismissed, and the unfair labor 

practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, concurs; Spada, Board Member, abstains. 

3 When an employee organization's actions are so egregious and continuous that they 
render both the election and the election-appeals process meaningless, the actions have, in 
essence, totally denied an employee the right to participate in the employee organization. Although 
we do not reach that question in this case, our restraint should not be construed as approval of the 
Union's actions in this matter. 
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OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, and 

the filing of exceptions by the Tuscarawas Township Board of Trustees, Stark County ("the 

Respondent"), the Cross-Exception filed by the General Truck Drivers and Helpers Local 

Union No. 92, affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters ("Local 92"), and 

the Complainant's response to the exceptions and cross-exception. For the reasons that 

follow, we find that the Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(6) when it failed to follow the contractual procedure for discipline 

and grievances. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Local 92 is the exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of employees of the 

Respondent's Road Maintenance and Road Department. The bargaining unit was 
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composed of three employees when the unit's certification was amended by the Board on 

January 17, 2007. SERB Case No. 2006-REP-10-0146. 

The Respondent and the General Truck Drivers and Helpers Union Local 113 

("Local 113"), affiliated with the IBT, were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 

effective from January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2006 ("the 2004-06 Agreement"), 

which contained, in Article VIII, a grievance procedure that culminated in final and binding 

arbitration. Effective at the close of business on September 16, 2005, Local 113 was 

merged into Local 92. On September 16, 2005, Local 92 Secretary/Treasurer Gregory Van 

Dress sent a letter to the Township informing it of the merger and that Local 92 would be 

Local 113's successor to the 2004-06 Agreement. 

On July 19, 2006, the Township's Law Director, Randall M. Traub, notified Local 92 

of the Township's intent to negotiate a successor collective bargaining agreement. Law 

Director Traub wrote: 

I do note that the actual Collective Bargaining Agreement at issue is between 
the International Brotherhood of Teamsters Local Union 113 [sic], but it is my 
understanding that the General Truck Drivers and Helpers Local Union 
No. 92, for whom you serve as Vice President, should actually be the contact 
for negotiations concerning the Collective Bargaining Agreement and for the 
implementation of new policies at Tuscarawas Township. 

On October 16, 2006, Local 92 filed with SERB a Notice to Negotiate and served it 

upon the Township's bargaining representative. On November 16, 2006, SERB's Bureau 

of Mediation appointed a mediator to assist the parties in the collective bargaining process. 

The parties were in negotiations for a collective bargaining agreement to succeed the 

2004-06 Agreement. On October 17, 2006, the Township sent a letter to Local 92 with 

information about payroll withholding of union dues. 

On October 18, 2006, the Township held a special meeting and voted to order the 

three bargaining-unit employees, Dennis Britton, William Faber, and Jerry Knerr, to attend 

a special meeting on October 20, 2006. The Township asked Law Director Traub to 

contact the union representative. At the Township's October 20, 2006 special meeting, 
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Law Director Traub stated that the Township had to comply with the terms of the 2004-06 

Agreement and suggested that the Township reschedule the special meeting with the 

employees, require the same three employees to attend, and authorize the issuance of a 

written notice to be signed by the employees, verifying that they had received written notice 

of the special meeting. The October 20, 2006 special meeting was rescheduled to 

October 25, 2006. 

The written notice of the special meeting is dated October 23, 2006, and reads in 

relevant part as follows: 

TO: Road Department 
FROM: John Speicher, [Township] Board President 
SUBJECT: Mandatory Attendance on October 25, 2006 

Please be advised that the Board of Trustees of Tuscarawas Township 
passed a resolution at the October 20, 2006 special meeting requiring your 
mandatory attendance at a special meeting of the Board of Trustees for 
Tuscarawas Township on October 25, 2006 at 7:00 p.m. 

You are required to bring your union representative to the meeting as 
Article X of the Collective Bargaining Agreement will be invoked. 

At the special meeting on October 25, 2006, the Township terminated the 

employment of William Faber and Jerry Knerr. On October 26, 2006, Local 92 filed 

grievances with the Township over Mr. Faber's and Mr. Knerr's terminations. 

On October 27, 2006, Local 92 filed a Petition for Amendment of Certification with 

SERB to reflect the merger of Local 113 into Local 92 and to amend the certification to 

show Local 92 instead of Local 113 as the exclusive representative. The Township did not 

oppose the petition. The petition was granted by SERB on January 4, 2007. SERB's 

"Amendment of Certification" provided in part as follows: 

In support of the petition, the Employee Organization has provided 
information verifying that the standards set by the [State Employment 
Relations] Board in In re Montgomery County Joint Vocational School Dist Bd 
of Ed, SERB 89-010 (5-11-89), and in In re Ohio Federation of Teachers, 
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AFT AFL-CIO, SERB 96-007 (6-7-96), have been met. The Employer has 
filed a letter stating it does not oppose the petition. Appropriate internal union 
procedures have been followed, and substantial continuity still exists. No 
questions concerning representation are pending. 

On October 31, 2006, at its regular meeting, the Township recognized that the 

October 26, 2006 grievances of Mr. Faber and Mr. Knerr had been filed and that "certain 

procedures" needed to be followed. On November 1, 2006, the Township notified Local 92 

in writing that the grievances were "not 'set forth fully' as required. * * * Once you have 

properly submitted the grievance, it will be processed in a timely manner." On 

November 1, 2006, and November 7, 2006, respectively, Local 92 filed amended 

grievances with the Township over Mr. Faber's and Mr. Knerr's terminations. 

The Township refused to process the grievances to arbitration, claiming it had no 

agreement with Local 92. Local 92 requested that an arbitrator be selected to hear the 

grievances, but the Township rejected the request. The Township did extend the terms of 

the 2004-06 Agreement during the ongoing collective bargaining negotiations. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The Township is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(5), and 

(A)(6), which provide as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Ohio Revised Code or an 
employee organization in the selection of its representative for the purposes 
of collective bargaining or the adjustment of grievances. 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code; 

(6) Establish a pattern or practice of repeated failures to timely 
process grievances or requests for arbitration of grievances[.] 
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A. Substantial Continuity Existed Between Local 113 and Local 92, Eliminating any 
Question of Representation Arising from the Merger; No Change in Bargaining 
Representative Occurred; and Local 92 Has Standing to Process the Grievances 

The Township argues as a defense that it is not obligated to arbitrate the termination 

grievances because at the time the terminations occurred and the grievances were filed, 

SERB had not yet granted Local 92's Petition for Amendment of Certification. Therefore, it 

argues, Local 92 was not a party to the 2004-06 Agreement and thus had no standing to 

arbitrate the grievances. This argument is without merit. When a union affiliation or 

merger takes place, it must be determined whether a question of representation is raised, 

which may invoke the representation procedures under O.R.C. § 4117.05, or whether the 

action is simply an internal union affair with substantial continuity resulting in no change in 

bargaining representative. In re Montgomery County Joint Vocational School Dist Bd of 

Ed, SERB 89-01 O (5-11-89) ("Montgomery JVS"). "[S]ubstantial continuity between the 

pre- and post-affiliation local ensures that there is no question of representation emanating 

from the change." Id. at 3-58. 

SERB has not addressed the specific issue presented in this case, in which the 

successor labor organization is actually a continuation of the earlier representative 

following a merger of sister locals affiliated with the same national organization. The 

National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB"), however, has addressed this issue. It is well

settled that SERB may look to NLRB decisions for guidance, and SERB has done so 

previously when considering union affiliation issues. See, e.g., Montgomery JVS. 

Specifically, the NLRB has held that when a merger of sister locals affiliated with the 

same international occurs, such as with IBT Locals 113 and 92, the surviving local 

"succeeds to the bargaining rights previously vested" in the merged local, effective from the 

date of the merger. Failure to recognize and bargain with the successor local violated 

Sections 8(a)( 1) and (5) of the National Labor Relations Act. Syscon Int'/, Inc., 322 NLRB 

539, 544 (1996) ("Syscon"). In Syscon, the merger of two International Brotherhood of 

Electrical Workers locals resulted in the surviving local succeeding to the bargaining rights 
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previously vested in the merged local. The NLRB held that the employer was obligated to 

recognize and bargain with the surviving local "and has been since January 1, 1995 [the 

date of the merger)." Id. 

Once certified by the NLRB or voluntarily recognized by an employer as the majority 

representative of bargaining-unit employees, a union enjoys a presumption of continued 

majority support, and the employer has a corresponding continuing obligation to recognize 

and bargain with the union. A change in internal structure or affiliation does not necessarily 

change this obligation. The NLRB has consistently held that a party seeking to avoid its 

bargaining obligation by virtue of such a change has the burden of demonstrating that the 

change was not accomplished with minimal due process or was sufficient to raise a 

question concerning representation. Id.; Sullivan Bros. Printers, Inc., 317 N.L.R.B. 561, 

563 (1995). We hereby adopt this NLRB standard as our own. 

SERB already determined in Case No. 2006-REP-10-0146 that the merger of 

Local 113 into Local 92 followed internal-union procedures and met the substantial

continuity test. No question of representation was raised as a result of the merger. 

Indeed, the Township put forth no evidence and presented no arguments to the contrary, 

either in response to Local 92's Petition for Amendment of Certification or in this unfair 

labor practice proceeding. The Township stated in a letter to SERB regarding the 

representation case that it had no objection to, and did not oppose, the amendment of 

certification in that case. 

The Township cites Franklin County Bd of Comm'rs v. SERB, (Franklin Cty. 1989), 

64 Ohio App.3d 113 ("Franklin County"), and United Electrical, Radio and Machine 

Workers of America (UE) v. Star Expansion Industries, Inc., 246 F.Supp. 400 (S.D.N.Y. 

1964) ("UE'') in support of its position. These cases are readily distinguishable. Franklin 

County involves the issue of when a public employer's bargaining obligation attaches after 

SERB holds a representation election. No representation election took place in this case 

because no question of representation was raised by the merger. In UE, the incumbent 

union processed a termination grievance to arbitration. The applicable collective 
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bargaining agreement subsequently expired. Thereafter, the incumbent union was 

decertified, and a new union was certified. Both unions claimed the right to arbitrate the 

termination grievance. The issue presented in UE was whether the union that started 

processing the grievance retained the right to process it to conclusion after expiration of the 

applicable collective bargaining agreement and notwithstanding the decertification. In 

contrast, Local 113 was merged into another local, not decertified. Mr. Faber's and 

Mr. Knerr's grievances arose over a year after Local 113 was merged into Local 92. Unlike 

the incumbent union in UE, Local 113 cannot process the grievances to arbitration since 

Local 113 no longer exists. 

When substantial continuity exists, as a matter of law no change in bargaining 

representative has occurred, even though the bargaining representative may, post

affiliation or post-merger, have a different union name or local union number. In light of the 

substantial continuity between IBT Locals 113 and 92, no change in bargaining 

representative occurred when Local 113 merged into Local 92. Accordingly, Local 92 was 

and is a party to the 2004-06 Agreement and has standing as the exclusive bargaining 

representative to process the termination grievances to arbitration. In Montgomery JVS, 

almost a year passed between the date the affiliation was approved by the membership 

and the date the union filed its Petition for Amendment of Certification. Thus, the timing of 

an amendment of certification is irrelevant; rather, the dispositive factor is whether 

substantial continuity exists. 

The Township is required to recognize and bargain with Local 92 as the successor 

to Local 113 under the 2004-06 Agreement. As demonstrated by the stipulated facts and 

joint exhibits, the Township itself recognized Local 92 as the successor to the 2004-

06 Agreement following the merger in 2005, both before and after the filing of the subject 

grievances. This recognition included continuing the terms and conditions of the 2004-

06 Agreement, honoring the dues check-off provisions and remitting such dues to Local 92, 

inviting Local 92 to the disciplinary proceedings consistent with the 2004-06 Agreement, 

negotiating a successor agreement to the 2004-06 Agreement with Local 92, and, initially 
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processing the subject grievances under the 2004-06 Agreement. It is clear that Local 92 

was and continues to be the exclusive representative for the bargaining-unit employees, 

notwithstanding the Township's belated and erroneous claim that, for purposes of 

arbitrating the subject grievances, Local 92 was not party to the 2004-06 Agreement. 

Consequently, the Township's defenses to the unfair labor practice charge are 

without merit. The Township, at all relevant times to the unfair labor practice charge here, 

has been obliged to recognize Local 92 from the date of merger in 2005 and process the 

subject grievances under the 2004-06 Agreement. The Township cannot selectively 

decide that for purposes of the termination grievances it will not recognize Local 92. By 

failing and refusing to process the grievances under the 2004-06 Agreement, the Township 

has violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(6). 

B. A Public Employer's Refusal to Process Grievances and Requests for Arbitration 
Violates O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(6) 

When a violation of 0. R. C. § 4117 .11 (A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an 

objective rather than subjective one. In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., 

SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 

1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist. Ct. App., Pickaway, 12-7-95). A violation will be found if, under 

the totality of the circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the employees were 

interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by 

the public employer's conduct. In re Hamilton County Sheriff, SERB 98-002 (1-23-98), aff'd 

sub nom. Hamilton County Sheriffv. SERB, No. A98-00714 (Mag. Dec., CP, Hamilton, 10-

9-98). For example, an O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) violation was found when a transportation 

supervisor told pubic employees who were engaged in strike activity that "if they did not 

come back to work from the strike, they would lose their jobs." In re Springfield Local 

School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97-007 at 3-49 (5-1-97). These statements were considered 

"overtly threatening" because they were tied directly to the individuals' protected activity. 
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A public employer must process grievances and requests for arbitration. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (A)(6) "contains a specific unique violation for failure to process grievances and 

requests for arbitration of grievances." In re Franklin County Sheriff, SERB 91-001 (1-8-91) 

("Franklin County Sheriff') at 3-2, affd sub nom., Franklin County Sheriff's Dept v. F.0.P. 

Capital Lodge No. 9, 1991 SERB 4-70 (CP, Franklin, 7-2-91), upheld, Franklin County 

Sheriff's Dept v. SERB, 1992 SERB 4-16 (1 O" Dist Ct App, Franklin, 1-28-92). 

In Franklin County Sheriff, the employer refused to process certain grievances to 

arbitration; the employer argued that it was justified in doing so because the grievances 

were not arbitrable (they pertained to the assignment and promotion of bargaining-unit 

members). Instead of submitting the question of arbitrability to an arbitrator, the employer 

filed a declaratory-judgment action in common pleas court seeking the court's opinion of 

the arbitrability of the disputed grievances. The union filed an unfair labor practice charge 

with SERB. SERB concluded that the employer's refusal to arbitrate the grievances 

constituted a violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(6), stating that "the legislature 

clearly defined the employer's obligation and responsibility in processing grievances. This 

is a consequential part of the legislature's overall design to provide a consistent 

mechanism for dispute resolution in promoting orderly and constructive relationships 

between all public employers and their employees." Id at 3-2 to 3-3. 

SERB has previously discussed what constitutes a "pattern" of failing to process 

grievances in In re Cuyahoga County Sheriff's Dept, SERB 90-017 (9-28-90) and in 

Franklin County Sheriff, but has not addressed what constitutes a "practice" of failing to 

process. The 10th District Court of Appeals, in Franklin County Sheriff's Dept v. SERB, 

1992 SERB 4-16, 4-17 (10th Dist. Ct App., Franklin, 1-28-92) held: "The unfair labor 

practice charge under [O.R.C. § 4117.11 ](A)(6) was, of necessity, not founded on any one 

specific act but, rather, consisted of a course of conduct which, when taken as a whole, 

established a pattern or practice." 

In this case, the failure to process these grievances, or allow them to advance to 

arbitration under the guise of dealing with a separate union, is clearly an O.R.C. 
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§ 4117.11 (A)(6) violation. The Township has demonstrated a practice that is based on a 

willful decision carried out over the course of repeated and continuous conduct by the 

Township. While not occurring over a sufficient number of occurrences to constitute a 

"pattern," it was certainly sufficient to form a "practice." 

Thus, the Township's refusal to process and arbitrate Mr. Faber's and Mr. Knerr's 

grievances violates O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(6). The Township's obligation to 

process grievances through arbitration is set forth in Article VIII of the 2004-06 Agreement. 

Article X of the 2004-06 Agreement requires "just cause" for employee discipline and the 

presence of a Union officer in the case of suspension or discharge. See Jt. Exh, 1, p. 11. 

The Township has recognized these contractual requirements during the disciplinary 

process. The grievances concern employee discipline, a subject matter covered by the 

2004-06 Agreement, and the Township is obligated under O.R.C. Chapter 4117 and the 

2004-06 Agreement to process the grievances through arbitration. By failing to do so, the 

Township violates O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(6). 

C. A Refusal to Process and Arbitrate Grievances Does Not Automatically Violate 
O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5). 

Complainant has the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that an 

unfair labor practice has been committed. 0.R.C. § 4117.12(B)(3). The 2004-

06 Agreement contains the grievance machinery that culminates in final and binding 

arbitration. The grievance procedure is an extension of the collective-bargaining process. 

In re Bryan City Bd of Ed, SERB 97-003 (3-14-97). But the Township's refusal to process 

the grievances to arbitration does not automatically constitute a refusal to bargain under 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5). The circumstances of each case will determine whether the 

employer's conduct constitutes a refusal to bargain. Therefore, the Township's refusal to 

process the grievances, standing alone, does not also violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5). 

In addition, we must address the finding of derivative violations since it was 

mentioned in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order. In In re Amalgamated 
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Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93), at n.14, the Board stated that a violation 

of 0. R. C. § 4117. 11(A)(1) is a derivative violation of 0. R. C. § 4117. 11 (A)(5); the Board 

also stated that a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(1) was not a derivative violation of other 

violations of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B). This approach appears to hold that each subsection of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A) or (B) does not stand on its own, which is contrary to the expressed 

language and purpose of O.R.C. Chapter 4117. Therefore, we now expressly reject the 

previous practice concerning so-called derivative violations in favor of review of each 

individual charge. 

D. Remedy 

The Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order recommends the following remedy: 

(1) Immediately schedule the termination grievances of William Faber 
and Jerry Knerr for arbitration and arbitrate the grievances in accordance 
with the procedures set forth in the 2004-06 Agreement; 

(2) Post the Notice to Employees furnished by the Board, which 
states that the Township shall cease and desist from the actions set forth in 
paragraph A and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph B, for 
sixty (60) days in all usual and customary posting locations where employees 
represented by the General Truck Drivers and Helpers Local Union No. 92 
work; and 

(3) Within twenty calendar days from issuance of the Order, notify the 
Board in writing of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

We find that this remedy meets the requirements of O.R.C. § 4117.12. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, the Board finds that the Tuscarawas Township Board of 

Trustees, Stark County, violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(6), but not 

(A)(5), when it failed to follow the contractual procedure for discipline and grievances. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"the Complainant") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order 

and the filing of exceptions and responses to the exceptions. For the reasons that follow, 

we find that the Salem Fire Fighters, Local 283, IAFF did not violate Ohio Revised Code 

("0.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (B)(1) or (B)(2) by insisting on maintaining current contract language 

and pursuing a permissive subject of bargaining through the statutory process in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.14. As a result, the complaint is dismissed, and the unfair labor practice charge is 

dismissed with prejudice. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Salem Fire Fighters, Local 283, IAFF ("the Union" or "Respondent") is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit of employees of the City of Salem ("the City"). The City 
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and the Union were parties to a CBA effective from July 1, 2005 through June 30, 2008 

("2005-08 Agreement"). 

The City and the Union commenced negotiations for a successor agreement in 

May, 2008 (Case No. 2008-MED-04-0488). The City proposed the elimination of the 

"minimum staffing clause" (Article XXI, Section E) in the 2005-08 agreement, which 

required a minimum of four men per shift. The Union's position statement for the fact

finding hearing stated in pertinent part: 

The Union wants a three (3) year contract beginning July 1, 2008 and ending 
June 30, 2011. All terms and conditions in the current Collective Bargaining 
Agreement shall be the terms and conditions in the new Collective 
Bargaining Agreement with the dates changed to reflect the new date of the 
Agreement and changes in the rates of pay for each year of the contract as 
requested in "B" below. 

On September 11, 2008, a fact-finding hearing was held. The Union and the City 

both maintained their positions on Article XXI, Section E. On October 16, 2008, the fact

finder issued his recommendation in favor of the Union as to retaining the terms and 

conditions of the 2005-08 Agreement in the successor agreement. Both the City Council 

and the Local membership voted to approve the fact-finder's report. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The Union is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (B)(2) and (B)(3), which 

provide in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents. or representatives, or public employees to: 

* * * * 
(2) Cause or attempt to cause an employer to violate division (A) of 

this section; 
(3) Refuse to bargain collectively with a public employer if the 

employee organization is recognized as the exclusive representative or 
certified as the exclusive representative of public employees in a bargaining 
unit[.] 
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O.R.C. §4117.11(B)(2) is violated when an employee organization causes or attempts 

to cause an employer to engage in an unfair labor practice. The question here is whether the 

Union caused or attempted to cause the City to violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5). 

The first requirement to show O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(2) has been violated is the "cause 

or attempt to cause" requirement; the second requirement to show O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(2) 

has been violated is that the attempt, if successful, will cause the employer to engage in an 

unfair labor practice. In re Toledo Federation of Teachers ("TFT), SERB 97-001 (1-10-97). 

Causing or attempting to cause an Employer to engage in conduct that is not an unfair 

labor practice does not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(2). Id at 3-4. Thus, the Union did not 

violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(2). 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(3) is violated when an employee organization refuses to bargain 

with the public employer or the employee organization engages in acts constituting bad-faith 

bargaining. The subject of bargaining at issue is that of minimum manning. Article XXI, 

paragraph E of the 2005-08 Agreement required a minimum staffing level of four men per 

shift. The City sought to change the current contract language to allow a minimum staffing 

level of three men per shift. The Union sought to maintain all terms and conditions of the 

existing CBA, with dates changed to reflect dates of the new agreement and changes of 

rates of pay for each year as requested, and including the minimum manning clause. The 

parties presented their respective positions to a fact-finder who ruled in favor of the Union. 

Both the City and the Union accepted the fact-finder's report. 

All parties in this action argued the applicability of the balancing tests enumerated in 

SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 95-010 (6-30-95) ("Youngstown") 

in support of their respective positions. Through this opinion, we re-affirm and clarify the 

Youngstown standards as well as offer guidance to the next steps following the 

determination of "permissive" vs. "mandatory" subjects of bargaining in the negotiation 

process. 

Youngstown states in relevant part at 3-79: 
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[O]nce a perm1ss1ve subject has been included in a collective 
bargaining agreement, it does not become transformed into a mandatory 
subject of bargaining. The included subject is enforced like a mandatory 
bargaining subject, but its continuation depends upon the contract terms. 

Assuming for the sake of argument, the provision of minimum staffing at issue in this 

case is a permissive subject of bargaining, its inclusion in the previous collective bargaining 

agreement alters its application and treatment. Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.08(C)(9) states: 

The employer is not required to bargain on subjects reserved to the 
management and direction of the governmental unit except as affect wages, 
hours, terms and conditions of employment, and the continuation, 
modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective bargaining 
agreement[] (emphasis added). Once the permissive subject is included in 
the CBA then the Union has an absolute right to bargain over "the 
continuation, modification, or deletion" of this "existing provision." 

Changes in permissive subjects that are currently included in a collective bargaining 

agreement must be made during the course of bargaining. The employer may properly 

bring to the attention of the fact finder or conciliator the fact that the subject being 

discussed is permissive in nature. The fact finder is not bound to accept the employer's 

position or to exclude the subject from the resultant fact finder's report. Instead, it remains 

an "unresolved issue"; the fact finder must apply his or her judgment within the perimeters 

established by O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(J). Likewise, a conciliator is not bound to accept the 

employer's position or to exclude the subject from the resultant conciliator's report. 

The argument that these negotiations must not proceed to impasse or to be 

presented to the agreed to or statutory impasse procedure, is also not well founded. 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(3)(a) states: 

The fact-finding panel shall, in accordance with rules and procedures 
established by the board that include the regulation of costs and expenses of 
fact-finding, gather facts and make recommendations forthe resolution of the 
matter. The board shall by its rules require each party to specify in writing the 
unresolved issues and its position on each issue to the fact-finding panel. 
The fact-finding panel shall make final recommendations as to all the 
unresolved issues. (emphasis added). 
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It is clearly within the purview of the fact-finding panel or any other duly constituted 

dispute resolution mechanism to consider fill unresolved issues and to make 

determinations and recommendations regarding each pursuant to the criteria enumerated 

in Ohio Administrative Code ("O.A.C.") Rule 4117-9-05(J) and (K). O.R.C. §4117.14 

addresses "unresolved issues"; it does not make any distinction between permissive or 

mandatory subjects of bargaining. The plain language of the statute is that it applies to 

both types of bargaining subjects. Consequently, the Union cannot commit an unfair labor 

practice by taking an unresolved issue to fact-finding, even if it is a permissive subject of 

bargaining. Thus, the Union did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(3). 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Salem Firefighters Local 283, IAFF did not 

violate Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117 .11 (8)(2) or (8)(3) when it insisted on maintaining 

current contract language and pursuing a permissive subject of bargaining through the 

statutory process in Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.14. Therefore, the unfair labor practice 

charge and the complaint should be dismissed with prejudice. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 



SERB OPINION 200'.J-003 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Teamsters Local Union No. 348, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

Clerk of Courts, Stow Municipal Court District, 

Employer. 

Case No. 2008-REP-03-0047 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "the 

Board") upon the issuance of an Administrative Law Judge's Recommended 

Determination, the filing of exceptions, and a response to the exceptions. For the reasons 

that follow, we find that the employees in the proposed bargaining unit are "public 

employees" within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.01(C), and 

therefore, they are eligible to engage in collective bargaining under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 

I. BACKGROUND 

On March 10, 2008, Teamsters Local Union No. 348 ("Union") filed a Request for 

Recognition under O.R.C. §§ 4117.05, seeking to represent certain employees of the Clerk 

of Courts, Cuyahoga Falls Municipal Court District ("Clerk" or "Employer") comprising the 

following proposed fourteen-member bargaining unit: eleven "Deputy Clerks of Court"; one 

"Secretary/Deputy Clerk"; and one "Civil Bookkeeper." The Clerk did not file a response. 
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On January 2, 2009, the Municipal Court and Clerk of Courts moved to the City of 

Stow. The Court is now called the Stow Municipal Court District under O.R.C. 

§ 1901.01 (E). 

On April 28, 2008, the Judges of the Cuyahoga Falls Municipal Court filed a letter 

with SERB, asserting that O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(8) exempted the employees in the 

proposed bargaining unit from the definition of "public employee" for purposes of public 

sector collective bargaining. On July 31, 2008, SERB directed this matter to hearing to 

determine if the employees in question were "public employees" and, if they were found to 

be, to determine an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other relevant issues. On 

September 9, 2008, the Clerk filed a notice stating that she would not appear at the 

prehearing conference or evidentiary hearing and would not present any evidence. On 

September 19, 2008, the City of Stow filed a motion to intervene, and on October 1, 2008, 

the Court and its Judges (collectively, "the Court") filed a motion to intervene. The motions 

were granted in accordance with Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-1-07. 

Following a hearing on November 3, 2008, the Administrative Law Judge issued a 

Recommended Determination, recommending that the Board find that the employees in 

the proposed bargaining unit do not fall within statutory exemption in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C)(8); that they are "public employees" for purposes of public sector collective 

bargaining; and, consequently, that the Union be certified as the exclusive representative 

for the proposed bargaining unit. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Standard to be Applied 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 provides that all "public employees" are entitled to 

representation for collective bargaining purposes. According to O.R.C. § 4117.01(C), the 

scope of "public employee" generally includes "any person holding*** employment in the 

service of a public employer." There are several exceptions, but only one is pertinent here. 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(8) excludes "[e]mployees and officers of the courts, assistants to the 
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attorney general, assistant prosecuting attorneys, and employees of the clerks of courts 

who perform a judicial function[.]" O.R.C. § 1901.31 (H) defines the role of employees of a 

municipal clerk of courts who are deputy clerks: 

Deputy clerks of a municipal court * * * may be appointed by the clerk and 
shall receive the compensation, payable in either biweekly installments or 
semimonthly installments, as determined by the payroll administrator, out of 
the city treasury, that the clerk may prescribe, except that the compensation 
of any deputy clerk of a county-operated municipal court shall be paid out of 
the treasury of the county in which the court is located. * * * Each deputy 
clerk shall take an oath of office before entering upon the duties of the 
deputy clerk's office and, when so qualified, may perform the duties 
appertaining to the office of the clerk. The clerk may require any of the 
deputy clerks to give bond of not less than three thousand dollars, 
conditioned for the faithful performance of the deputy clerk's duties. 

Our reading of O.R.C. § 1901.31(H) leads us to conclude that nothing therein 

requires every deputy clerk to perform a "judicial function" that would make them 

automatically subject to the exemption of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). Instead, O.R.C. § 1.47(8) 

requires us to give meaning to each word used. Thus, only a subset of municipal clerks, 

that is, those "who perform a judicial function," fall within the statutory exception. Our task 

therefore is to determine whether these employees perform a judicial function. 

Long ago, the Ohio Supreme Court defined the proper role of the judiciary. "[A]s 

distinguished from ministerial duties involving no discretion," judicial power involves "the 

exercise of judgment and discretion in the determination of questions of right in specific 

cases affecting the interests of persons or property." Stanton v. State Tax Commission, 

1140hio St. 658, 671, 151 N.E. 760, 764 (1926). This concept involves two distinct 

elements: (1) the nature of the decision-making capability, that is, whether it involves the 

exercise of judgment and discretion, and (2) the outcome of the decision, that is, whether 

the exercise of discretion and judgment actually affects the rights or interests of persons or 

property. In general, the Ohio courts have tended not to rely upon the second of these 

elements. 
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For whatever reason, the courts have taken a diametric approach in applying this 

definition. Essentially, they define judicial functions exclusively as those duties that involve 

the exercise of discretion and judgment, leaving all other duties not involving independent 

judgment or discretion as ministerial or clerical. Hocking Valley Railway Co. v. Cluster Coal 

& Feed Co. (1918), 97 Ohio St. 140. The proper distinction in defining a judicial function is 

between discretionary and nondiscretionary or ministerial functions." Blankenship v. 

Enright, 67 Ohio App.3d 303 (101
h Dist Ct App, Franklin, 1990). 

Up to this point, neither SERB nor the Ohio courts have provided significant 

guidance in explaining what constitutes independent judgment and discretion in the context 

of judicial functions as related to the exemption noted in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). SERB has 

had occasion to articulate the meaning of independent judgment in the context of another 

exemption from collective bargaining. The "supervisor" exemption excludes those 

employees who use independent judgment and discretion in exercising their authority with 

regard to supervisory decisions such as hiring, discharging, and disciplining other 

employees. O.R.C. § 4117.01(F). 

In Twinsburg Firefighters Local 3630 v. SERB, 2001SERB4-19 (CP, Franklin, 10-

23-01 ), the Fire Captains exercised independent judgment and, thus, were excluded from 

collective bargaining because their job duties required them to use "discretion and ma[ke] 

decisions or recommendations without consulting their superior" and, furthermore, "their 

decisions were routinely upheld and their recommendations followed[.]" Id. Thus, the term 

discretion and independent judgment does not require that the decisions made by an 

employee have a finality that goes with unlimited authority and a complete absence of 

review. 

Instead, just as the National Labor Relations Board has also held, the employee 

"must at minimum act, or effectively recommend action, free of the control of others and 

form an opinion or evaluation by discerning and comparing data" in order to exercise 

independent judgment. Oakwood Healthcare Center, 348 NLRB 686, 693 (2006). If the 

proper standard was confined solely to a determination of independent judgment and 

discretion, however, there would be nothing to distinguish a judicial function from a 
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supervisory function or an administrative function, which also require independent 

judgment and discretion. 

The Ohio courts have usually incorporated an additional, substantive component to 

their judicial-function analysis by finding that an act is a judicial function only when it 

involves the "determination of a fact or legal principle affecting the rights of the parties." 

Bombardier Capital, Inc. v. W. W Cycles, Inc., 155 Ohio App.3d 484, 2003-0hio-6716 (71
h 

Dist Ct App, Mahoning, 2003); in this case, the Seventh District Court of Appeals was 

confronted with whether an administrator's action in extending the deadline for filing a brief 

is a judicial function. Even though such action involves independent judgment and 

discretion in determining whether to extend the deadline, the court held that the act is not a 

judicial function, reasoning that the administrator "did not determine a fact or legal 

principle. Instead, he [the administrator] simply performed his duty in setting the dates for 

the certain items on the court's docket." Id at 491, 2003-0hio-6716 at ii 32. 

Similarly, in Hocking Valley Railway Co. v. Cluster Coal & Feed Co., supra, the Ohio 

Supreme Court held that the act of the clerk in entering judicial findings in a record did not 

constitute a judicial function. The Court stated that because categorizing an action as a 

judicial function "presupposes the use of mental processes in the determination of law or 

fact," the act of entering judicial findings "can by no possibility be construed as a judicial 

function;" rather, such action is "purely ministerial." Id at 142. "Any determination of a fact 

or legal principle upon which the rights of one or more of the parties before the court is 

decided is an exercise of the judicial power which may not be delegated to the clerk." 

State v. Wilson, 102 Ohio App.3d 467, 472 (2d Dist Ct App, Montgomery, 1995) citing 

Hocking Valley Railway Co. v. Cluster Coal & Feed Co., supra. 

Thus, we conclude that the proper test must ask not only whether the function 

involved independent judgment and discretion, but whether it involved the determination of 

a fact or legal principle affecting the rights of one or more parties. Such a test, we 

recognize, will likely result in very few judicial functions, if any, being delegated to clerk 

employees without running afoul of the Ohio Constitution, which prohibits a judge from 

delegating "any determination of a fact or legal principle upon which the rights of one or 
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more of the parties before the court." Bombardier Capital, Inc. v. W. W Cycles, Inc., supra 

at 491, 2003-0hio-6716 at ii 32. Nevertheless, this construction of the statute is compelled 

in light of contemporary case law. Whether the delegation of such duties violates the Ohio 

Constitution is a matter for the Ohio courts, not SERB, to decide. 

In applying the foregoing analysis, we conclude, for the purposes of O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117, that a judicial function is performed when the act in question involves the 

exercise of independent judgment and discretion in the determination of a fact or legal 

principle affecting the rights of one or more of the parties. Because this standard 

constitutes an exemption that precludes public employees from exercising their otherwise 

guaranteed statutory right to collective bargaining, especially as it must be "construed 

liberally for the accomplishment of the purpose of promoting orderly and constructive 

relationships between all public employers and their employees" through 0. R.C. § 4117 .22, 

it is to be construed broadly in favor of the employee. 

Finally, we address the frequency with which one must perform an act that is 

otherwise determined to fit our definition of a judicial function. To be sure. the plain 

language of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C)(8) does not require a minimum quantum with which one 

must perform a judicial function. But the purpose of 0. R.C. Chapter 4117, especially as it 

must be viewed through O.R.C. § 4117.22, is to grant collective bargaining rights to all 

public employees, subject only to certain limited exceptions. 

Even if it is concluded that certain judicial functions can be delegated, to deny those 

rights for the mere de minimis performance of a single judicial function would turn the 

statute on its head; it would open up the possibility of endless abuse by employers who 

sparingly delegate an occasional judicial function to each of their employees. We cannot 

construe the exception so broadly. Therefore, we find that an employee must perform a 

judicial function on a substantial and regular basis. As with all public-employee 

determinations, such a determination necessarily involves a case-by-case inquiry that the 

finder of fact should examine in light of all the surrounding circumstances. 
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B. Application of the Standard 

A review of the duties that the municipal clerks of court actually perform reveals that 

most are simply ministerial and not judicial in nature. First, the Court and the City of Stow 

contend that the municipal clerks of court perform judicial functions and thus are included 

in the O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) exemption when they administer oaths and issue subpoenas. 

The Ohio Supreme Court, however, has already held that both administering oaths and 

issuing subpoenas are not judicial functions. The power to administer oaths is a 

"ministerial*** not a judicial" duty. Waiwick v. State, 25 Ohio St. 21 (Ohio 1874). "Issuing 

subpoenas is a ministerial, not a judicial function." State v. Warner (1990), 55 Ohio 

St.3d 31. Therefore, this act is not a judicial function. 

Second, the Court and the City of Stow argue that the clerks perform a judicial 

function because they grant continuances of up to one week in minor misdemeanor traffic 

matters. We disagree. Instead, we agree with the Seventh District Court of Appeals that 

granting continuances, like extending filing deadlines, is a ministerial function. Although it 

may involve even significant judgment and discretion, it does not involve the determination 

of a fact or legal principle. Therefore, this act is not a judicial function. 

Finally, the Court and the City of Stow argue that the employees in this case perform 

a judicial function when they sign arrest warrants that accompany criminal complaints filed 

by police officers. Even if this Board determined that the signing of arrest warrants was a 

judicial instead of a ministerial function, which we have not, it fails to meet the "regular and 

substantial" test. In this case, the Administrative Law Judge found that the Municipal 

Clerks of Court only performed this function as a small percentage (2-5%) of their duties. 

Although this performance might have occurred on a "regular" basis, such a small 

percentage does not constitute the performance of a judicial function on a "substantial" 

basis under these circumstances. Therefore, these employees do not perform a judicial 

function on a "regular and substantial basis" such that they are excluded as public 

employees from the right to engage in collective bargaining under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the State Employment Relations Board finds that the 

employees of the Clerk of Courts of the Stow Municipal Court District in the proposed 

bargaining unit are "public employees" within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.01 (C). Therefore, these employees are eligible to engage in collective bargaining 

under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

Spada, Board Member: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, the 

filing of exceptions by Counsel for Complainant, and the filing by the Sylvania Township 

Trustees, Lucas County ("Township" or "Respondent"). For the reasons that follow, we find 

that the Township did not violate Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(3) 

when it disciplined Sgt. Robert Colwell, but that the Township did violate O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (A)(1) when it threatened to discipline Patrolman Todd Sia man if he filed a 

grievance. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Todd Slaman was employed by the Sylvania Township Police Department for 

approximately twenty years, the past ten as a Detective. While working as a Detective, 

Mr. Slaman received a special assignment to the Northwest Ohio Fugitive Task Force, a 

combined FBI and local agency task force created to investigate cases with a federal 
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connection or nexus. Mr. Slaman served on the Task Force for approximately five years, 

and during that time he drove a vehicle provided by the FBI. 

In February 2007, FBI Agent Matt Eagles, Mr. Slaman's immediate Task Force 

supervisor, informed Township Police Chief Robert Metzger that Mr. Slaman's vehicle had 

incurred some damages while in Mr. Slaman's possession. Initially, Chief Metzger did not 

discuss the issue with Mr. Slaman. Chief Metzger had hoped that Mr. Slaman would come 

to him to report the damage; Chief Metzger felt that it was more appropriate for the FBI to 

handle the investigation. 

On May 1, 2007, Agent Eagles notified Mr. Slaman of the dent to the vehicle and 

told him to report it to Chief Metzger, which he did. Chief Metzger then told Mr. Slaman to 

write a memo about the damage and to get estimates of a repair. Mr. Slaman did as 

instructed and also sent a memo to Chief Metzger on May 17, 2007. Chief Metzger 

forwarded the memo to Agent Eagles for investigation. Following his investigation, Agent 

Eagles concluded that Mr. Slaman knew about the damage before May 1, 2007, and had 

failed to report it. 

On June 13, 2007, Chief Metzger called Mr. Slaman to a meeting, attended only by 

Chief Metzger, Deputy Chief Robert Boehme, and Mr. Slaman, at Chief Metzger's office. 

During the meeting, Chief Metzger informed Mr. Slaman that, because of his dishonesty 

about the vehicle damage, he was being removed from the Task Force. Mr. Slaman was 

also informed that he was being reassigned to Road Patrol, rather than back to the 

Detective Bureau, because the Township had a sufficient number of Detectives at the time. 

To allay Mr. Slaman's concerns that the transfer would appear as discipline, Chief Metzger 

told Mr. Slaman that it would not appear as discipline in his file and that if another officer or 

employer asked about the situation, Chief Metzger would indicate that it was a transfer. 

Chief Metzger then informed Mr. Slaman that if he decided to contest the transfer or 

file a grievance, the Township would be required to do a complete investigation, from which 

discipline could result. Before this statement, Mr. Slaman did not make any reference to 

filing a grievance or to the grievance process, nor had he previously filed a grievance or 

unfair labor practice charge. 
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On June 26, 2007, Mr. Slaman filed a grievance over his reassignment The 

Township conducted a full investigation in response, and as a result, determined that no 

discipline should be taken. Subsequently, an arbitrator ruled that Mr. Slaman's 

reassignment to Road Patrol was a violation of the collective bargaining agreement and 

that he should have remained assigned to the Detective Bureau. Mr. Slaman was ordered 

to be reinstated and all reference to the investigation removed from his file. 

Sgt Robert Colwell has been employed by the Township's police department for 

22 years, including nearly 10 years as a Detective. Sgt Colwell is President of the 

Command Officers bargaining unit 

On January 8, 2008, Sgt Colwell was transferred to the Road Patrol. Sgt Colwell 

served Chief Metzger with Mr. Slaman's grievance regarding his transfer to the Road 

Patrol. 

In April 2007, as a result of recommendations from an earlier study of Township 

operations, a policy was implemented requiring daily case logs to be filled out The daily

activity-log requirement was created by virtue of an April 19, 2007 general order. The order 

required each detective to complete a daily activity log and submit it to the Detective 

Sergeant by the end of each work day or the beginning of the next, "especially 

concentrating on those activities that require a detective to be out of the building." Lunch 

breaks and coffee breaks were not usually recorded. On April 19, 2007, a mandatory 

detective meeting was held to discuss the general order. Sgt Colwell attended the 

meeting. 

Sgt Colwell called Township Trustee Pam Hanley to set up a meeting with her to 

discuss Mr. Slaman's grievance and some other miscellaneous issues. On June 19, 2007, 

while on duty, Sgt Colwell met with Trustee Hanley about Mr. Slaman's grievance. 

Sgt Colwell agreed to meet with Trustee Hanley at a coffee shop a mile and a half from 

the station at 8:30 a.m. on June 19, 2007. The meeting lasted approximately one-half 

hour. Trustee Hanley told Sgt Colwell that she thought Mr. Sia man had "messed up," that 

she felt Chief Metzger's actions were appropriate, and that she thought Sgt Colwell should 

speak directly to Chief Metzger about the issue. Sgt Colwell also asked Trustee Hanley if 
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the board of trustees had done a background check on Chief Metzger as he (Sgt. Colwell) 

believed Chief Metzger had had some problems in some of his other employment. 

Chief Metzger solicited union comments and suggestions on a proposed disciplinary 

policy and held a meeting on June 26, 2007, to obtain input. Sgt. Colwell attended the 

June 26, 2007 meeting, at which he expressed his belief that Chief Metzger's proposed 

disciplinary policy violated the CBA and the Ohio Revised Code. The proposed disciplinary 

policy became effective in August 2007, and incorporated some of the comments and 

criticisms received on June 26, 2007. 

Approximately 30 minutes after the June 26, 2007 meeting, Administrative 

Lieutenant Frank Arvay, who supervised the Detectives, gave Sgt. Colwell a one-day 

suspension for failing to put his June 19, 2007 meeting with Trustee Hanley on his log. 

The log made it appear that Sgt. Colwell was in the office during the time that he was out of 

the office meeting with Trustee Hanley. 

Sgt. Colwell grieved the suspension. The arbitrator ordered back pay and that the 

discipline be removed from his personnel file. Sgt. Colwell had two prior disciplines when 

he received the one-day suspension. Sgt. Colwell had no discipline before Chief Metzger 

became Chief. 

The CBA allows on duty time to discuss union business if permission is obtained 

prior to doing so. Chief Metzger did not charge or discipline Sgt. Colwell for failing to obtain 

permission to discuss union business on duty time. Sgt. Colwell called Trustee Hanley 

after their meeting to tell her about the log violation and told her that he had been 

protecting her since he did not think she would want Chief Metzger to know they had had a 

meeting. 

Trustee Hanley did not understand Sgt. Colwell's statement as she had no problem 

with Chief Metzger knowing that they had met. Trustee Hanley talked to Township 

Administrator Hugh Thomas prior to and after her meeting with Sgt. Colwell. Administrator 

Thomas called Chief Metzger, told him that Sgt. Colwell had just had a meeting with 

Trustee Hanley, and that Chief Metzger should look into it. Chief Metzger then asked 

Lt. Arvay to investigate. 
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After consulting with counsel and Lt. Arvay and reviewing Lt. Arvay's investigation, 

Chief Metzger decided on June 22, 2007, what action to take. On June 25, 2007, Chief 

Metzger told Lt. Arvay to give Sgt. Colwell a one-day suspension because Sgt. Colwell's 

daily log for June 19, 2007, did not show him being out of the building to meet with Trustee 

Hanley. Chief Metzger told Lt. Arvay to issue the discipline after the June 26, 2007 

meeting, since Sgt. Colwell would be present at the meeting. Lt. Arvay followed Chief 

Metzger's order. 

On October 2, 2008 a Complaint was issued. A hearing was held December 11, 

2008, wherein testimony and documentary evidence were presented. Subsequently, both 

parties filed post-hearing briefs. On April 7, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued her 

Proposed Order, recommending that the Board find that the Township did not violate 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) or (A)(3). 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The Township is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3), which 

provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Ohio Revised Code or an 
employee organization in the selection of its representative for the purposes 
of collective bargaining or the adjustment of grievances . 

••• 
(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any 

term or condition of employment on the basis of the exercise of rights 
guaranteed by Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code. 

In the Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge recommended that the Board 

find that the Township did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) when it threatened to 

discipline Todd Slaman if he filed a grievance. We reach a different conclusion regarding 

the Township's conduct toward Mr. Slaman. 
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Complainant has the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that an 

unfair labor practice has been committed. O.R.C. § 4117.12(B)(3). When a violation of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an objective rather than 

subjective one. In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), 

aff'd sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist. Ct. 

App., Pickaway, 12-7-95); In re Tuscarawas Township Board of Trustees, Stark County, 

SERB 2009-001 (8-31-2009). A violation will be found if, under the totality of the 

circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the employees were interfered with, 

restrained, or coerced in the exercise of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by the public 

employer's conduct. In re Hamilton County Sheriff, SERB 98-002 (1-23-98), aff'd sub nom. 

Hamilton County Sheriffv. SERB, No. A98-00714 (Mag. Dec., CP, Hamilton, 10-9-98); In 

re Tuscarawas Township Board of Trustees, Stark County, supra. 

This objective inquiry must necessarily entail a thorough review of the circumstances 

under which the alleged misconduct occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights 

of employees. Because it is not a subjective test, Chief Metzger's intent and Mr. Slaman's 

subjective view of Chief Metzger's statements are not a part of SERB's consideration. The 

statements should be viewed in the context of the totality of the conduct and the 

circumstances under which they were made. In re Springfield Local School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 97-007 (5-1-97); In re Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed, 90-003 (2-9-

90). 

Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1), a public employer commits an unfair labor 

practice when it interferes with, restrains, or coerces employees in the exercise of the rights 

guaranteed in O.R.C. Chapter 4117. To establish this violation, the Complainant must 

prove two elements: (1) that the activity that the employer is alleged to have discouraged 

is a right protected by O.R.C. Chapter 4117, and (2) that the employer's conduct with 

respect to the exercise of that right sufficiently amounts to interference, restraint, or 

coercion. 

As to the first inquiry, it is well-established that filing a grievance is a protected right 

under 0. R.C. Chapter 4117. In 0. R. C. § 4117.03(A)(2), the filing of grievances pursuant to 
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a collective bargaining agreement falls under the statutory right of public employees to 

"[e]ngage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other 

mutual aid and protection." In re Bryan City Bd. of Ed., SERB 97-003 (3-14-97) (finding 

that the grievance process is both an extension of and an integral part of the collective 

bargaining process). In O.R.C. § 4117.03(A)(5), public employees have the right to 

"[p]resent grievances and have them adjusted." Because Chief Metzger's statements may 

have a discouraging or chilling effect on the right to file a grievance, the Complainant has 

satisfied the first element. 

Having answered the first inquiry in the affirmative, our second step is to determine 

whether the conduct amounts to interference, restraint, or coercion. A violation will be 

found if, under the totality of the circumstances, an employee would reasonably perceive 

the actor's conduct as interfering with, restraining, or coercing an employee in the exercise 

of his 0.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights. 

Because we conclude that the primary purpose of O.R.C. §4117.11(A)(1) is to 

prevent the impact of certain conduct, as well as the conduct itself, the focus of our inquiry 

here is on the employee; the intent of the actor is not the controlling factor. O.R.C. 

§ 4117 .11 is not intended to handcuff the employer in objectively communicating important 

information about the effects of contemplated action, but only to prevent the exploitation of 

such consequences in a manner that could well dissuade or prevent a reasonable 

employee from exercising his or her rights. Our inquiry is therefore objective, rather than 

subjective. An objective standard is especially apt here because it avoids the uncertainties 

and unfair discrepancies that can plague a judicial effort to determine an individual's 

unusual subjective feelings. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Railway Co. v. White, 

548 U.S. 53 (2006). 

An employee's subjective perception is not wholly irrelevant. In many cases, it may 

help to inform our objective inquiry. To the extent that our prior case law creates any 

confusion as to the relevance of the employee's subjective interpretations of employer 

conduct, we clarify that the employee's perception is not controlling, but it is not irrelevant. 

As with any indicia of reasonableness, the employee's subjective view must be judged in 
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accordance with the totality of the circumstances; thus, it will necessarily be determined on 

a case-by-case basis. 

We turn next to apply the facts of this case. Mr. Slaman alleges that Chief Metzger 

made certain statements that amounted to threatening discipline or adverse action as a 

consequence of filing a grievance. This Board and the National Labor Relations Board 

("N.L.R.B.") recognize that a threat of consequences for engaging in protected activity may 

constitute interference, restraint, or coercion. This Board also recognizes, consistent with 

the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the National Labor Relations Act 

("NLRA"), that not all employer communications conveying potential, adverse 

consequences for engaging in protected activity will amount to a threat. For example, in 

N.L.R.B. v. Gissel Packaging Co., 395 U.S. 575, 617 (1969), the U.S. Supreme Court 

noted that§ B(c) of the NLRA "merely implements the First Amendment" by establishing 

"an employer's free speech right to communicate his views to his employees." The Court 

also observed, however, that "[a]ny assessment of the precise scope of employer 

expression ... must be made in the context of its labor relations setting," and that "an 

employer's rights cannot outweigh the equal rights of the employees to associate freely." 

Id. 

The question is whether a reasonable person would perceive the employer's 

communication as a threat, or as merely an objective prediction or statement contemplating 

adverse consequences. In this case before us, we find the nexus between the discussion 

at hand and the statement highly probative. At one extreme, if Chief Metzger and 

Mr. Slaman had been discussing a matter wholly unrelated to the grievance and Chief 

Metzger had told Mr. Slaman that he would be disciplined if he filed a grievance, there 

would be no question that a reasonable person would perceive the statement as a threat. 

At the other end of the spectrum, a reasonable person would likely not find threatening the 

same response to a direct question by the employee about the consequences of filing a 

grievance. 

This case is a closer call because Mr. Sia man had asked whether his transfer would 

appear as discipline on his file. He did not, however, inquire about the effects of 
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challenging the decision to transfer him; yet, Chief Metzger proceeded, unsolicited, to 

communicate the possible effects of filing a grievance. Under these circumstances, a 

reasonable person would find that the employer's statement was sufficiently threatening to 

dissuade Mr. Slaman from the full exercise of his guaranteed rights. 

Therefore, we find that the Township did violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) when it 

threatened to discipline Mr. Slaman if he filed a grievance. Consequently, we amend 

Conclusion of Law No. 5 to read: "The Township did violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) when 

it threatened to discipline Patrolman Slaman if he filed a grievance." 

The appropriate remedy for this violation of 0. R.C. § 4117 .11(A)(1) is to issue a 

cease-and-desist order, with a Notice to Employees, ordering the Township to: (1) cease 

and desist from interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of rights 

guaranteed in O.R.C. Chapter 4117 by threatening an employee with discipline if he/she 

files a grievance and from otherwise violating O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ); (2) post the Notice 

to Employees furnished by the Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting 

locations where these bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio Patrolmen's 

Benevolent Association work; and (3) notify the Board in writing within 20 calendar days 

from the date that the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply 

therewith. 

In the Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge recommended that the Board 

find that the Township did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(3) when it disciplined 

Sgt. Colwell. As President of the Command Officers unit, Sgt. Colwell filed various 

grievances on behalf of members, including Mr. Slaman, and served the grievances on 

Chief Metzger. Sgt. Colwell responded to Chief Metzger's request for input from the Union 

on a new proposed disciplinary policy. Therefore ,Sgt. Colwell was involved in union 

activity that was known by the Township. 

The evidence, however, does not support a finding that Sgt. Colwell's union activity 

was the basis for Sgt. Colwell's discipline for a log-book violation. Sgt. Colwell argues that 

his criticism of Chief Metzger's proposed disciplinary policy resulted in Sgt. Colwell 

receiving the discipline. The evidence fails to support this theory for several reasons. 
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First, on the proposed disciplinary policy, as well as other policies, Chief Metzger sought 

input and suggestions, which he was not required to do. 

The evidence also reflects that the decision to discipline Sgt. Colwell for the activity

log violation predated the meeting at which Sgt. Colwell states that he criticized Chief 

Metzger's proposed policy. Shortly after Sgt. Colwell's meeting with Trustee Hanley, Chief 

Metzger became aware from the Township Administrator that the meeting had occurred 

and that Chief Metzger should "look into it." Whether Chief Metzger routinely monitored for 

activity-log violations is irrelevant since the Township Administrator's notification provided a 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason to take action. 

Through Administrative Lt. Arvay, Chief Metzger imposed a discipline that was more 

severe than an arbitrator later deemed permissible under the CBA. Since the discipline 

was decided by Chief Metzger on June 22, 2007, and was communicated to Lt. Arvay on 

June 25, 2007, the discipline was not related to Sgt. Colwell's union activity. The meeting 

that Sgt. Colwell argued was the basis for the Chiefs discipline did not take place until 

June 26, 2007. 

Also, Sgt. Colwell was in the wrong with regard to the activity log. The CBA 

provided for release time for union business if it was approved in advance by the 

supervisor. Even if his meeting with Trustee Hanley constituted union business, Sgt. 

Colwell did not request release time or prior approval as required by the CBA. Sgt. Colwell 

told Trustee Hanley that he had been protecting her by not putting the meeting on his log. 

Consequently, this statement demonstrated Sgt. Colwell's understanding that the meeting 

should have been included on his log, and it also weakened the Complainant's argument 

that Sgt. Colwell should not have been disciplined because the activity-log requirement was 

fairly new, was the first in the Township in 15 years, and they were still working "the bugs" 

out of it. 

Sgt. Colwell was not confused about the policy and its requirements: he purposefully 

kept the meeting out of his log, purportedly because he thought Trustee Hanley would not 

want Chief Metzger to know that she and Sgt. Colwell had a meeting. Instead, it appeared 

that Sgt. Colwell was the one who did not want Chief Metzger to know about the meeting 
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where Sgt. Colwell called Chief Metzger's employment history into question. Sgt. Colwell's 

activity log reflected that he was in the office, on the premises during the time he was out 

of the building meeting with Trustee Hanley. Rather than a half-hour gap of undesignated 

time, the activity log reflected a situation that was inaccurate. 

Complainant failed to show that Sgt Colwell was treated differently than other 

similarly situated employees. No evidence of disparate treatment was presented. 

Complainant also attempted to show that Chief Metzger failed to follow progressive 

discipline with regard to Sgt. Colwell, but the evidence reflected that progressive discipline 

was only applicable with regard to the attendance policy. 

Sgt. Colwell had no discipline from 1987-2006 until Chief Metzger arrived. Since 

2006, Sgt. Colwell received two written reprimands prior to the discipline relating to the 

activity log. Chief Metzger can be stricter than previous chiefs so long as his conduct is not 

based on a discriminatory reason. A nexus was not shown to exist between the discipline 

Sgt. Colwell received and his union activity. 

Lt. Arvay testified that he probably would have given Sgt. Colwell something less 

than a one-day suspension for the log-book violation. "The punishment may be harsher 

than the Union, the Complainant, another employer, or even this Administrative Law Judge 

would have recommended, but SERB will not question the severity of the punishment so 

long as it was not meted out because of [the employee's] protected activity." In re Brimfield 

Twp, SERB 2001-003 (4-30-01) at 3-19. In the absence of evidence of anti-union animus. 

"the fact is that the employee knowingly committed the offense and took his chances on 

the employer's punishment." Id. 

The Township articulated a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the action it has 

taken against Sgt. Colwell. Complainant failed to show that the reason has no basis in 

fact, did not actually motivate the challenged conduct or was insufficient to warrant the 

challenged conduct. The Complainant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence 

that the Township took adverse action against Sgt. Colwell because of his exercise of 

protected activity or that the Township's actions interfered with, restrained, or coerced Sgt 
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Colwell in the exercise of his O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights. Thus, no violation was 

established for this conduct. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the Sylvania Township Trustees, Lucas 

County did not violate Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(3) when it disciplined 

Sgt. Robert Colwell, but that the Sylvania Township Trustees, Lucas County did violate 

Ohio Revised Code § 4117 .11 (A)(1) when it threatened to discipline Patrolman Todd 

Slaman if he filed a grievance. The Township is ordered to: (1) cease and desist from 

interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of rights guaranteed in 

Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by threatening an employee with discipline if he or she 

files a grievance and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code§ 4117 .11(A)(1 ); (2) post 

the Notice to Employees furnished by the Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal 

posting locations where these bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio 

Patrolmen's Benevolent Association work; and (3) notify the Board in writing within 

20 calendar days from the date that the Order becomes final of the steps that have been 

taken to comply therewith. 

Brundige, Chairperson, and Verich, Vice Chairperson, concur. 



I SERB OPINION 2010-001 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Lima Public Library Board of Trustees, 

Respondent. 

Case Nos. 2007-ULP-05-0199, 2007-ULP-10-0564, & 2007-ULP-10-0565 

OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order. 

Each of the parties filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. The Ohio Association of 

Public School Employees, AFSCME Local 4, AFL-CIO and its Local 776 ("OAPSE") and 

Counsel for Complainant filed responses to the exceptions filed by the Lima Public 

Library Board of Trustees ("Library Board"). The Library Board filed a response to 

OAPSE's exceptions and a motion to strike the exceptions filed by Counsel for 

Complainant. On December 17, 2009, the Board denied the motion to strike. For the 

reasons that follow, we find that the Library Board violated Ohio Revised Code 

("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) in Case No. 2007-ULP-05-0199 and that the 

Library Board violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(2) in Case Nos. 2007-ULP-10-

0564 and 2007-ULP-10-0565. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

OAPSE is the Board-certified exclusive representative for a combined bargaining 

unit of the Library Board's professional and nonprofessional employees. OAPSE and 

the Library Board were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("2004-06 CBA"), 

effective from January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2006, which contained a 

grievance process that culminated in binding arbitration. 

On October 10, 2006, OAPSE filed a Notice to Negotiate (Case No. 2006-MED-

10-1222) with SERB and served it on the Library Board. The parties met at the library 

for negotiations. At the conclusion of the second day of bargaining, the parties reached 

a tentative agreement ("TA"). Both the union and management negotiating teams 

agreed to recommend the TA. 

The Article 111, Dues Deduction provision of the 2004-06 CBA states in relevant 

part: "If 90% of bargaining unit members are members of the Union, employees who 

are not members of the Union shall pay to the Union an agency fee as a condition of 

employment with the Board. Such agency fee shall begin when the 90% membership 

occurs." The Article Ill, Dues Deduction provision of the TA reduced the percentage of 

bargaining-unit members who were required to be members of OAPSE to 70 percent for 

the agency-fee provision to be triggered. OAPSE initially asked for 50 percent. On or 

about December 8, 2006, the union membership ratified the TA. 

The Library Board had historically opposed fair-share fees. The 2001-2003 CBA 

contained no agency-fee provision. During the 2003 negotiations, even though it was 

opposed to a fair-share fee, but as part of the give-and-take of contract negotiations, the 

Library Board agreed to the 90-percent figure since such a figure would reflect 

overwhelming support for OAPSE. 

The management negotiating team warned the union negotiating team that the 

Library Board had historically opposed fair-share fees and that the Library Board might 

well decide that the lower threshold for fair share was a "deal breaker." Despite this 

warning, OAPSE's negotiating team asked Scott Shafer, the Library Director and a 

Library Board negotiating team member, to present the TA to the Library Board. 
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Mr. Shafer agreed to present the TA containing the 70 percent agency-fee provision to 

the Library Board. 

The minutes of the December 19, 2006 Library Board of Trustees meeting (Joint 

Exhibit 2), regarding the topic "Collective Bargaining Agreement 2007-2009," state: "Dr. 

[Wilfred) Ellis made a motion to accept the presented contract except for the fair share 

provision. Mr. Rapp seconded. Motion carried." (Emphasis added). 

At the December 19, 2006 Library Board meeting, Denise Holler, OAPSE Vice 

President and member of the OAPSE negotiating team, asked the Library Board 

members if they realized their position could take everyone back to the table. Dr. Ellis 

said at the December 19, 2006 Library Board meeting that because of the agency-fee 

provision, the Board could not accept the contract. 

Deputy Clerk Treasurer Jane Pahl's notes from the December 19, 2006 Library 

Board meeting reflect: "Collective Bargaining Agreement all okay except Dr. Ellis-re'fair 

share prov" [sic], and that the Board's position would put them back into negotiations. 

Minutes from a December 19, 2006 Department Head meeting (Joint Exhibit 2), 

state: "The Board accepted the collective bargaining unit's position except for the fair 

share clause. After the first of the year the union may decide to go to a Mediator to help 

resolve the issue." 

OAPSE and the Library Board met with a mediator in January 2007 and 

February 2007 in unsuccessful attempts to resolve the issue. The Library Board 

received a fax from a local media outlet (WLIO-NBC Lima) that consisted of a notice 

WLIO had received from OAPSE indicating in part, "Fact: The Library Director and their 

high priced Cleveland Attorney entered into a tentative agreement which they both 

agreed to recommend to the Library Board. The tentative agreement contained a 

change in the 'Union Security Provision'. Fact: The Board rejected the agreement, 

refusing to follow the recommendation of the Director and their own Attorney." 

On August 16, 2007, the Library Board sent out notices with paychecks titled 

"Your Attention Please .. .," which included, in addition to information on the monthly staff 

meeting and the Library Board's participation in the Allen County Fair, information on 

how to join OAPSE and how to withdraw from OAPSE. The Library Board sent out an 

e-mail to library staff containing similar information. 
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The Library Board has sent out "Your Attention Please ... " paycheck notices for 

the last eighteen months, but prior to August 2007, the notices had never included 

information on how to join or withdraw from OAPSE. 

On September 6, 2007, OAPSE served a notice of intent to picket on the Library 

Board, indicating that a picket would take place on September 22, 2007. The notice of 

intent to picket stated that the Employer and OAPSE were currently parties to a CBA 

that expired December 31, 2006. 

A banner was placed on the library windows before the picket, which stated: 

"Library Staff Supports Lima Library Board in saying NO to Forced Union Dues. Union 

membership down 16% this year." Signs were placed around the grounds before the 

picket. One sign stated: '1f Library Staff Wanted to Pay Dues, They Would Have 

Already Joined the Union"; another sign stated: "NEWS FLASH: Library Staff Dropping 

Out of Union: Membership Down 16% This Year"; a third sign stated: "What Local 776 

Hasn't Told Library Staff: Pay Dues or Lose Your Job. Union big wigs in Columbus 

need your money." 

The Library Board's Meeting Room Policies and Procedures ("MRPPs") provide 

that meeting rooms are reserved no more than three months in advance and are 

available on a first-come, first-served basis. The MRPPs provide that meetings must 

end at least fifteen minutes before the library closing time. The MRPPs provide that 

meeting rooms may not be used more than three times a year by the same group or 

individual and that a contract must be completed, signed, returned with maintenance fee 

payment and accepted at least two weeks before the meeting, before a meeting room 

would be considered reserved. 

Since its certification in 1985, OAPSE has used a library meeting room for union 

meetings. The procedure has been that OAPSE President and book mobile driver 

Kathy Stark would ask OAPSE Vice President Denise Holler or one of the other union 

officers to call the Assistant Department Head of Maintenance to reserve a meeting 

room. OAPSE had previously used the meeting room for meetings approximately six 

times per year, usually requesting the room a week in advance. The meetings were 

held after library hours. OAPSE was never charged a maintenance fee for a meeting 

room. 
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In the situation giving rise to the instant case, OAPSE Secretary Cindy Nichols e

mailed a request to Assistant Library Director Candace Newland on September 25, 

2007, three days after the picket. Ms. Nichols' request was based upon Ms. Newland's 

August 23, 2007 e-mail reminder that such meetings be scheduled either through her or 

Scott Shafer. Ms. Nichols requested the use of the auditorium on the third Friday of 

every month at 5:00 p.m. for their union meetings. Ms. Nichol's e-mail included a 

request for the dates of October 19, 2007, November 16, 2007, December 21, 2007, 

January 18, 2008, February 15, 2008, March 21, 2008, and April 16, 2008. 

Ms. Newland answered the e-mail stating: "It is not the responsibility of the Lima 

Public Library to provide a meeting place for your group especially when OAPSE's 

ultimate purpose is to undermine the management of the Library. Given the events of 

the past week, a local union hall would better suit your needs. For this reason, I must 

deny your request." 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

In the Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge ("the ALJ") recommended 

that the Board find that: (1) the Library Board did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) 

and (A)(5) by failing to sign the successor agreement; (2) the Library Board did violate 

O.R.C. §4117.11(A)(1) by denying union members access to a meeting room; and 

(3) the Library Board did violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by hanging a banner 

and displaying lawn signs during OAPSE's picket encouraging union employees to 

withdraw from OAPSE. For the reasons set forth below, we agree with the ALJ's 

second and third recommendations; we disagree with the ALJ's first recommendation 

and instead find that the Library Board did violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) in 

Case No. 2007-ULP-05-0199 by failing to sign the successor agreement. 

Initially, we note that SERB dismissed two earlier cases, Case Nos. 2006-ULP-

12-0618 and 2007-ULP-02-0048. Those cases involved the same parties as the 

present cases. The dismissal directive issued by SERB in Case Nos. 2006-ULP-12-

0618 and 2007-ULP-02-0048 found that no probable cause existed to believe the 

Library Board violated O.R.C. § 4117.11. In dicta, SERB made a statement regarding 

the Library Board of Trustees' failure to either accept or reject the proposed tentative 
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agreement during its December 19, 2006 meeting (Case No. 07-ULP-02-0048). In 

Case No. 2007-ULP-05-0199, the Library Board raised the issue of res judicata with 

respect to the dismissal of Case No. 2007-ULP-02-0048. The ALJ addressed that issue 

in the Proposed Order. We agree with the ALJ's conclusion that SERB's dismissal of 

Case No. 2007-ULP-02-0048 did not raise any issues with respect to the doctrine of res 

judicata in the present cases. 

The dismissal directive SERB issued in Case Nos. 2006-ULP-12-0618 and 2007-

ULP-02-0048 does not constitute a decision on the merits of whether the Library Board 

failed to properly accept or reject the tentative agreement under O.R.C. § 4117.1 O(B). 

The ALJ noted that a SERB dismissal that does not result from the issuance of a 

complaint and a formal hearing on the merits is not a final appealable order and such a 

dismissal is not an adjudication. The ALJ further noted that case law has established 

that the doctrine of res judicata does not apply to a finding of "no probable cause" by an 

administrative agency. 

The Supreme Court of Ohio has held that res judicata, whether issue preclusion 

or claim preclusion, applies to those administrative proceedings that are "of a judicial 

nature and where the parties have had an ample opportunity to litigate the issues 

involved in the proceeding[.]" Superior's Brand v. Lindley (1980), 62 Ohio St.2d 133, 

syllabus; Consumers' Counselv. Pub. Utit. Comm. (1985), 16 Ohio St. 3d 9, 10; Wilson 

v. Semco, Inc., 152 Ohio App.3d 75, 2002-0hio-4965 (3'd Dist Ct App, Marion, 2002); 

Doan v. Southern Ohio Administrative District Council, Intl. Union of Bricklayers & Allied 

Craftworkers, 145 Ohio App. 3d 482 (101
h Dist Ct App, Franklin, 2001). 

A. The Library Board Violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11/All1l and /All5l by Failing to 
Sign and Execute the Successor Agreement. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 
of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation or 
administration of any employee organization, or contribute financial or 
other support to it; except that a public employer may permit employees to 
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confer with it during working hours without loss of time or pay, permit the 
exclusive representative to use the facilities of the public employer for 
membership or other meetings, or permit the exclusive representative to 
use the internal mail system or other internal communications system; 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of [its] 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified 
pursuant to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

O.R.C. § 4117.10(B) provides in relevant part as follows: 

The public employer shall submit a request for funds necessary to 
implement an agreement and for approval of any other matter requiring 
the approval of the appropriate legislative body to the legislative body 
within fourteen days of the date on which the parties finalize the 
agreement, unless otherwise specified, but if the appropriate legislative 
body is not in session at the time, then within fourteen days after it 
convenes. The legislative body must approve or reject the submission as 
a whole, and the submission is deemed approved if the legislative body 
fails to act within thirty days after the public employer .submits the 
agreement. The parties may specify that those provisions of the 
agreement not requiring action by a legislative body are effective and 
operative in accordance with the terms of the agreement, provided there 
has been compliance with division C of this section. If the legislative body 
rejects the submission of the public employer, either party may reopen all 
or part of the entire agreement. (emphasis added) 

Case law has established that under the provisions of 0. R.C. § 4117.1 O(B), the 

legislative body must either accept or reject the submission as a whole. In In re City of 

Martins Ferry, SERB 89-021 (8-23-8g), the union and employer bargaining teams were 

negotiating agreements for two bargaining units. When they reached tentative 

agreements for both units, the employer submitted the tentative agreements to its city 

council for approval. The city council took the agreements under consideration and 

then made counter offers that were communicated to the union's bargaining teams. 

SERB held that when "the legislative body chose to pick and choose and to begin 

negotiations anew with the union, they failed to properly and timely reject the agreement 

in accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.10(B)." Although the SERB order was reversed by 

the common pleas court in SERB v. City of Martins Ferry, 1990 SERB 4-63 (CP, 

Belmont, 8-9-90), the SERB order was ultimately reinstated by the ih District Court of 
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Appeals, Belmont County in SERB v. City of Martins Ferry, 1991 SERB 4-62 ( ih Dist 

Ct App, Belmont, 6-6-91). The appellate court reasoned: 

The foregoing reasoning leads us to one conclusion that, pursuant 
to R.C. 4117.10(B), when a tentative agreement is submitted to a 
legislative body, the legislative body may do one of two things. It may only 
approve or reject the tentative proposal within 30 days of submission. 
Failure to so act by the legislative body shall trigger a deemed approval of 
the tentative agreement. 

Id at 4-65. 

In In re East Palestine City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 86-011 (3-20-86), the 

employer's representative reached a tentative agreement with the exclusive 

representative and presented the requisite submission to the legislative body, i.e., the 

school board. The legislative body failed to act within the 30-day limit in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.10(B). We held that when the school board failed to act within 30 days on the 

tentative agreement, "the provisions of R.C. 4117 .1 O(B) were activated. School board 

inaction allowed the tentative agreement to become the contract by operation of law." 

Id at 247. 

Then, what of the failure to execute the written agreement? We find that the 

1986 decision clearly sets forth the responsibilities and consequences for legislative 

bodies and is still applicable today: 

When an agreement is reached, it must be incorporated in a signed 
and executed agreement. Failure to sign and execute is an unfair labor 
practice. Such omission constitutes an interference with employees' rights 
and the refusal to bargain. 

In this case the respondent employer did not reject the tentative 
agreement within the statutorily required 30-day interval. Therefore, it is 
deemed approved and final under the statute, and the failure to execute a 
contract incorporating the terms of the tentative agreement was a violation 
of R.C. 4117.11(A)(1} and (5). 
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Id at 248. 1 The SERB Order was affirmed on appeal by the common pleas court, East 

Palestine City School Dist Bd of Ed v SERB, SERB 1987 4-22 (CP, Columbiana, 1-21-

87), except that the court did not require the posting of the cease-and-desist order by 

the employer. On appeal, the appellate court affirmed the SERB Order and reinstated 

the posting of the cease-and-desist order. East Palestine City School Dist Bd of Ed v 

SERB, SERB 1987 4-91 (ih Dist Ct App, Columbiana, 12-15-87). 

In the present case, the motion made by Dr. Willis Ellis at the Lima Public Library 

Board of Trustees meeting on December 19, 2006, was to accept part of the tentative 

agreement and to reject another part of it. This action is reflected in the meeting's 

minutes, which state, in pertinent part, "Dr. Wilfred Ellis made a motion to accept the 

presented contract, except for the fair share provision." (emphasis added) The 

action attempted by the Library Board at the December 19, 2.006 meeting was 

insufficient to either accept or reject the tentative agreement "as a whole" and therefore 

such action did not meet the statutory requirements of O.R.C. § 4117.1 O(B). As a result, 

the tentative agreement was deemed accepted pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.10(B). 

Based on the foregoing analysis, we find that the Lima Library Board of Trustees 

violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by refusing to sign the successor 

agreement. 

We agree with the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth in the ALJ's 

Proposed Order with respect to the conclusion that the Library Board violated O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (A)(1) by denying union members access to a meeting room. We also agree 

with the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth in the ALJ's Proposed Order 

with respect to the conclusion that the Library Board violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) 

and (A)(2) by hanging a banner and displaying lawn signs during a union picket 

encouraging bargaining-unit employees to withdraw from OAPSE. Lastly, we agree 

with the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth in the ALJ's Proposed Order 

1 The SERB Order was affirmed on appeal by the common pleas court in East Palestine 
City School Dist Bd of Ed v SERB, SERB 1987 4-22 (CP, Columbiana, 1-21-87), except that the 
court did not require the posting of the cease-and-desist order by the employer. On appeal, the 
appellate court affirmed the SERB Order and reinstated the posting of the cease-and-desist 
order. East Palestine City School Dist Bd of Ed v SERB, SERB 1987 4-91 (7'h Dist Ct App, 
Columbiana, 12-15-87). 
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with respect to the issue regarding the Library Board's request for attorney fees. 

Accordingly, we deny the Library Board's request. 

B. Bifurcation. 

On August 25, 2008, the Complainant filed an agreed joint motion to bifurcate the 

hearing, requesting a separate hearing on the issue of remedy if the Proposed Order 

concluded that the Library Board violated O.R.C. Chapter 4117 by failing to sign and 

execute the successor agreement. The agreed motion was made and granted. 

Because SERB has determined that the Lima Public Library Board of Trustees violated 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to execute the collective bargaining 

agreement, this matter will be remanded to the Hearings Section, which will convene a 

hearing specifically on the question of remedy and any remedy awarded as the result of 

the reconvened hearing will be in addition to the findings listed herein. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds that the Lima Public Library 

Board of Trustees violated Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) in Case No. 

2007-ULP-05-0199 by failing to sign and execute the successor agreement, that the 

Lima Public Library Board of Trustees violated Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11 (A)(1) in 

Case No. 2007-ULP-10-0564 by denying union members access to a meeting room, 

and that the Lima Public Library Board of Trustees violated Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and (A)(2) in Case No. 2007-ULP-10-0565 by hanging a banner and 

displaying lawn signs during a Union picket encouraging bargaining-unit employees to 

withdraw from OAPSE. Accordingly, we adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, as amended, in the Proposed Order, deny the Library Board's request for attorney 

fees, and remand this matter to the Hearings Section for a hearing on the appropriate 

remedy with regard to the Employer's violation of Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117 .11(A)(1) 

and (A)(5) in Case No. 2007-ULP-05-0199 by failing to sign and execute the successor 

agreement. 

As for Case Nos. 2007-ULP-10-0564 and 2007-ULP-10-0565, the Library Board 

is hereby ordered to: (1) cease and desist from interfering with, restraining, or coercing 
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employees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 

Chapter 4117 by denying union members access to a meeting room and from otherwise 

violating Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11(A)(1); (2) cease and desist from interfering with 

the administration of an employee organization and interfering with, restraining, or 

coercing employees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 

Chapter 4117 by hanging a banner and displaying lawn signs during OAPSE's picket 

encouraging bargaining-unit employees to withdraw from OAPSE and from otherwise 

violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2); (3) cease and desist from 

interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 

guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 and failing to bargain collectively with 

the representative of its bargaining-unit employees by refusing to sign a collective 

bargaining agreement that has become effective pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117 .1 O(B) and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and 

(A)(5); (4) post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 

bargaining-unit employees represented by OAPSE work, the Notice to Employees 

furnished by the State Employment Relations Board, stating that the Lima Public Library 

Board of Trustees shall cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraphs (1), (2), 

and (3), and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (4); (5) notify the 

State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar days from the date 

the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith; and 

(6) comply with any remedy subsequently ordered by the State Employment Relations 

Board in Case No. 2007-ULP-05-0199. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

BRUNDIGE, Chairman: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations 

Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of joint stipulations by the parties and 

the subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. The issue to be decided is whether the 

actions taken by the Cincinnati City School District Board of Education ("CPS" or 

"Respondent") constitute unfair labor practices in violation of Ohio Revised Code 

("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11(A(1), (A)(5), and (A)(S). For the reasons set forth below, we find 

that Respondent violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(5), and (A)(S) by refusing to 

bargain with the Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction Trades Council 

("GCBTC") concerning the wages, hours, and terms and other conditions of 

employment of the carpenters employed by Respondent. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The Cincinnati City School District Board of Education is a "public 

employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). (Stipulation ["Stip."] 1) 

2. The Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction Trades Council is a 

council whose members are building trade unions and/or joint district councils. SERB 
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has determined that GCBTC is an "employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (D). (Stip. 2; Exhibit 1) 

3. On April 19, 1985, SERB conducted a representation election for certain 

employees of Respondent in a bargaining unit that included carpenters. The results of 

the election were unanimous for GCBTC. Accordingly, SERB certified GCBTC as the 

exclusive representative of that bargaining unit (including carpenters) in Case Nos. 84-

VR-09-1949 and 84-RC-05-0915. (Stip. 4; Exhibit 2) 

4. Under Article Ill, Section 1 of the GCBTC Bylaws, "Membership in the 

[GCBTC] shall be Local Unions and/or Joint District Councils affiliated with National or 

International Building and Construction Trades Unions, affiliated with the AFL-CIO[.]" 

(Slip. 5) 

5. Individual employees are not "members" of GCBTC. No craft employees, 

including carpenters, employed by CPS have ever been "members" of GCBTC. 

(Stip. 6) 

6. Each local trade union or joint district council affiliated with GCBTC is 

entitled to elect delegates to GCBTC according to the procedure in Article Ill, Section 3 

of the GCBTC Bylaws. Members of affiliated craft unions including carpenters and 

other craft employees of CPS are not eligible to vote to elect any of the delegates of 

GCBTC. (Stip. 7) 

7. Under Article V of the GCBTC Bylaws, the Local Union or Joint Council 

affiliated with GCBTC remit quarterly payments to GCBTC based on the number of 

hours worked by members of affiliates, including such members at CPS. GCBTC does 

not collect dues from employees. (Stip. 8) 

8. CPS employs approximately 40 workers in the "building trades," including 

electricians, glaziers, carpenters, painters, plumbers, and tinsmith-sheet-metal workers. 

Most of the "building trades" employees at CPS are members of building trade unions 

who historically referred these individuals to employment with CPS at the request of 

CPS. The building trade unions are those labor organizations that represent individuals 

employed in the "building trades" (e.g., bricklayers, carpenters, glaziers, cement 

masons, electricians, laborers, painters, plumbers, sheet metal workers). (Slips. 12-13) 
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9. Each affiliated craft union is a separate labor organization and is affiliated 

with GCBTC. The affiliated craft unions/joint councils perform representative functions, 

such as grievance handling. GCBTC asserts that the representative functions are 

delegated by GCBTC to its affiliated craft unions or joint councils. (Slips. 9, 12, and 13) 

10. GCBTC's Executive Secretary is the chief negotiator and spokesperson in 

contract negotiations, and he deals directly with CPS administrative officials during the 

term of the contract. It is common for a "multi-trade" public employer, such as CPS, the 

City of Cincinnati, Hamilton County, and the Metropolitan Housing Authority, to 

negotiate a single contract covering all of its building trades workers with GCBTC. 

Although these contracts generally set forth on their face that they are between GCBTC 

and the public employer, they are signed by GCBTC and each of the affiliated craft 

unions whose members are employed by that public employer, all of whom participate 

in all bargaining negotiations with the employers. Such contracts are ratified at a 

meeting conducted by GCBTC. CPS employees who are members of craft unions 

affiliated with GCBTC are entitled to vote at the contract ratification meeting. A majority 

vote of these employees who are in attendance at the contract ratification meeting 

determines whether the proposed contract is ratified. Business agents and 

representatives of the craft unions and GCBTC's Executive Secretary are not entitled to 

vote. (Stip. 14) 

11. Since 1980, CPS has negotiated several collective bargaining agreements 

with GCBTC. The various GCBTC-affiliated trade unions, some of whose members are 

employed by CPS, all participated in these collective bargaining negotiations and all 

signed the collective bargaining agreements resulting from these negotiations. (Stip. 15) 

12. At CPS, designated craft employees in the bargaining unit are on the 

bargaining committee and participate in negotiations of collective bargaining 

agreements. Bargaining-unit employees serve on the employee benefits committee 

established by CPS. (Stip. 45) 

13. Prior to December 2001, carpenters employed by CPS, except lntervenors 

John C. Zimmer, Michael Ewing, and Robert Leach, were members of the local unions 

affiliated with the Southwest Ohio District Council of Carpenters ("Carpenters Union"}, 
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which was a District Council affiliated with GCBTC. Prior to December 2001, the 

Carpenters Union participated in negotiations for collective bargaining agreements that 

included carpenters employed by CPS; executed collective bargaining agreements 

along with the other crafts; historically investigated and processed grievances of 

carpenters employed by CPS; and collected dues from carpenter members as 

authorized by the collective bargaining agreements and the CPS carpenters. (Slip. 19) 

14. By 2001, a majority of the carpenters employed by CPS had resigned their 

membership in the Carpenters Union. (Stip. 20) 

15. On March 20, 2001, SERB issued a "Dismissal of Petition for 

Representation Election" setting forth that GCBTC remains the Board-certified exclusive 

representative of the employees in the multi-craft bargaining unit, including the 

carpenters (Case No. 2000-REP-04-0093). (Exhibit 8) 

16. On April 24, 2001, lntervenors John C. Zimmer, Robert Leach, and 

Michael Ewing employed by CPS filed an unfair labor practice charge (Case No. 2001-

ULP-04-0249) against the Carpenters Union. (Stip. 22) 

17. On December 20, 2001, the CPS carpenters and the Carpenters Union 

agreed to a settlement of the unfair labor practice charge in Case No. 01-ULP-04-0249. 

As a part of the settlement agreement, the Carpenters Union disclaimed all interest in 

representing carpenters at CPS. Since the date of the settlement, the Carpenters Union 

has not participated in any dealing with the GCBTC in relation to CPS or with CPS 

directly. (Stip. 24) 

18. GCBTC was not a party to the unfair labor practice charge in Case 

No. 2001-ULP-04-0249 or the settlement agreement resolving that charge. (Stip. 24) 

19. CPS has not remitted union dues or fair-share fees on behalf of 

carpenters employed by CPS to the Carpenters Union, GCBTC, or any other entity from 

2002 to the present. GCBTC has claimed entitlement to a fair-share fee on behalf of 

carpenters employed by CPS since the 2001 Settlement Agreement in Case No. 2001-

ULP-04-0249, and CPS has rejected that claim. (Stip. 28) 

20. In 2003, the CPS carpenters initiated a lawsuit against the Carpenters 

Union. The 2003 litigation concerned the carpenters' efforts to recover dues improperly 
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collected by the Carpenters Union. This litigation did not involve GCBTC as a party and 

did not address the efficacy of GCBTC's status as the Board-certified exclusive 

representative of the CPS carpenters. (Slips. 31 and 32) 

21. CPS asserts that at some point during the summer of 2004 it received an 

undated petition signed by CPS carpenters indicating that they considered themselves 

unrepresented; the petition was never presented to GCBTC prior to this case. Neither 

CPS nor the carpenters communicated with GCBTC regarding this petition. This 

petition was not filed with SERB. (Stip. 33; Exhibit 16) 

22. From March 2005 through September 2005, representatives for GCBTC 

and CPS communicated via letters and telephone calls regarding the matter of the fair

share-fee provisions of the collective bargaining agreement. On June 13, 2005, 

GCBTC also filed a grievance regarding the issue of fair-share fees but could not 

pursue this action because the collective bargaining agreement did not contain an 

arbitration clause. (Exhibits 17 - 23) 

23. On December 27, 2005, GCBTC filed an unfair labor practice charge 

(Case No. 2005-ULP-12-0674) against CPS. On April 15, 2006, SERB dismissed the 

unfair labor practice charge as untimely filed. (Slip. 52; Exhibit 31) 

24. On August 10, 2006, GCBTC filed an unfair labor practice charge (Case 

No. 2006-ULP-08-0400) against CPS. On January 22, 2007, SERB dismissed the 

unfair labor practice charge as untimely filed. (Slip. 53; Exhibit 32) 

25. On December 8, 2006, GCBTC and CPS began negotiating for a 

successor collective bargaining agreement. On December 8, 2006, negotiators for CPS 

met with the chief spokesperson for GCBTC - GCBTC Executive Secretary Joseph 

Zimmer - and with representatives from some of the other trade unions whose 

members were employed by CPS. The Carpenters Union did not participate in this 

meeting or any subsequent negotiation sessions. (Stip. 46) 

26. On December 8, 2006, GCBTC and CPS exchanged initial proposals for 

contract negotiations. CPS gave Mr. Zimmer a contract proposal that, among other 

changes, would remove the "carpenter" job classification from the recognition provision 

in Article 1. Mr. Zimmer responded by informing CPS negotiators on December 8, 
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2006, that GCBTC was the exclusive representative for all employees in the bargaining 

unit, including carpenters. Mr. Zimmer further informed CPS negotiators that it was 

clearly unlawful for the carpenters to be excluded from the bargaining unit. CPS 

responded that it did not consider the carpenters to be in the bargaining unit. (Slips. 47 

and 48; Exhibit 29) 

27. Mr. Zimmer left the December 8, 2006 meeting with the impression that 

CPS would review the legality of its position regarding representation of the CPS 

carpenters. (Slip. 48) 

28. On January 25, 2007, CPS met with GCBTC and representatives from all 

other trade unions whose members are employed by CPS except for the Carpenters 

Union. At this bargaining session, CPS negotiators told GCBTC's representative that 

the carpenters employed by CPS could not be represented by GCBTC. (Slip. 50) 

29. On February 9, 2007, CPS met with GCBTC and representatives from all 

other trade unions whose members are employed by CPS, except for the Carpenters 

Union. At this bargaining session, CPS negotiators informed GCBTC's representative 

that CPS would bargain separately with the carpenters employed by CPS. (Slip. 50) 

30. On March 26, 2007, GCBTC filed an unfair labor practice charge with 

SERB pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and Ohio Administrative 

Code ("O.A.C.") Rule 4117-7-01. (Slip. 54) 

31. On August 23, 2007, SERB determined that probable cause existed for 

believing Respondent had committed or was committing an unfair labor practice, 

authorized the issuance of a complaint, referred the matter to an expedited hearing, and 

directed the parties to unfair labor practice mediation. (Slip. 55) 

32. On March 18, 2008, a Complaint and Notice of Expedited Hearing was 

issued. An Answer was filed by Respondent on March 28, 2008. Multiple motions for 

continuance and/or to change hearing dates were granted. On April 9, 2009, 

"Stipulations of Parties" were jointly filed. On April 28, 2009, one of the intervening 

carpenters filed a motion to dismiss. On May 18, 2009, the motion was denied by the 

administrative law judge. 
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33. On August 3, 2009, the parties filed a joint motion to transfer the case 

from the Hearings Section to the Board. The joint motion was granted, and this case 

was transferred to the Board for a decision on the merits. 

34. The parties agreed to waive the evidentiary hearing in this matter and to 

submit the case on Briefs, Joint Stipulations of Fact, and Stipulations of Evidence 

directly to the State Employment Relations Board members. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The issue presented in this case is whether Respondent committed unfair labor 

practices in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(5), and (A)(8) by refusing to 

bargain with GCBTC concerning wages, hours, and terms and other conditions of 

employment for employees classified as "carpenters" on January 25, 2007, and 

February 9, 2007. O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 
of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

••• 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative certified pursuant 
to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

••• 
(8) Cause or attempt to cause an employee organization, its 

agents, or representatives to violate division (B) of this section. 

CPS does not dispute that it refused to bargain with GCBTC concerning the 

wages and other conditions of employment of the CPS carpenters on January 25, 2007, 

and February 9, 2007. The parties stipulated that they began negotiations for a 

successor collective bargaining agreement on December 8, 2006. At that time, the 

parties exchanged initial contract proposals. 

The initial contract proposal from CPS contained several changes, including the 

removal of the carpenter classification from the recognition clause of the collective 

bargaining agreement. GCBTC's representative objected to the removal of the 
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carpenter classification and informed CPS' representatives that it was unlawful for CPS 

to unilaterally change the composition of the bargaining unit during contract 

negotiations. CPS's representatives responded that CPS did not consider the 

carpenters to be in the multi-craft bargaining unit. 

GCBTC's representative left the December 8, 2006 meeting with the impression 

that CPS would review the matter regarding representation of the carpenters. CPS's 

representatives do not recall indicating that they would review the matter. CPS 

stipulated that its representatives apprised GCBTC's representative during contract 

negotiations on January 25, 2007, that the carpenters employed by CPS could not be 

represented by GCBTC. CPS stipulated that its representatives informed GCBTC's 

representative during a bargaining session on February 9, 2007, that CPS would 

bargain separately with the carpenters. 

Respondent argues in its brief that: (1) the charges in this case were untimely 

filed pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.12(B), or in the alternative, the charges are time barred 

by the doctrine of !aches; (2) GCBTC is not an "employee organization" within the 

meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D); (3) the CPS carpenters have been unrepresented 

since December 20, 2001; and (4) the charges in this case are barred by the principles 

of res judicata. For the reasons set forth below, we find Respondent's arguments 

without merit. 

A. The Charges in this Case Are Timely Filed Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and 
O.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01 (A) and Are Not Barred by the Doctrine of Laches. 

1. O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and 0.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01(A) 

Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and 0.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01(A), an unfair labor 

practice charge shall be filed with this Board within ninety days after the alleged unfair 

labor practice was committed. The ninety-day time limit begins once two conditions are 

met: (1) the Charging Party obtains actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged 

unfair labor practice; and (2) the alleged unfair labor practice charge caused actual 

damage to the Charging Party. In re City of Barberton, SERB 88-0008 (7-5-88); aff'd 

sub nom. SERB v. City of Barberton, 1990 SERB 4-46 (CP, Summit, 7-31-90). 
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Respondent argues that GCBTC has had more than adequate notice that CPS 

did not consider GCBTC to be the carpenters' bargaining representative. CPS points 

out that it has not remitted union dues or fair-share fees to the Carpenters Union, 

GCBTC, or any other employee organization on the carpenters' behalf since 2002. 

CPS claims that based on its refusal to remit union dues or fair share fees, GCBTC 

knew, or should have known, that CPS was refusing to recognize GCBTC as the lawful 

representative of the carpenters. 

CPS contends that the correspondence exchanged between CPS and GCBTC 

from approximately March 2005 to September 2005, proves that GCBTC knew that 

CPS did not recognize GCBTC as the carpenters' representative. In reading the 

correspondence between the parties (Exhibits 17 through 23), we note that the focus of 

this correspondence is on GCBTC's claim that it is entitled to fair-share fees for the CPS 

carpenters under the terms of the collective bargaining agreement. The 

correspondence reflects that GCBTC claimed it was entitled to fair-share fees for the 

CPS carpenters under the terms of the contract and that CPS repeatedly denied that 

the contract provisions provided for such fees for GCBTC. 

CPS never stated in its correspondence that GCBTC was not the craft 

employees' exclusive representative. Instead, CPS took the position that, under the 

terms of the collective bargaining agreement, GCBTC was not contractually entitled to 

fair-share fees. We note that CPS asked for proof of GCBTC's status as exclusive 

representative, but CPS then disregarded the document submitted by GCBTC. This 

document plainly demonstrated that GCBTC is the Board-certified exclusive 

representative of the CPS carpenters. 

We note that GCBTC filed a grievance concerning the fair-share fees issue on 

June 13, 2005, but CPS never met with GCBTC regarding the grievance. GCBTC was 

unable to pursue the grievance because the collective bargaining agreement did not 

provide for arbitration. We also note that at the same time this correspondence is being 

exchanged, CPS carpenters remained covered under the collective bargaining 

agreements in all respects as in the past, including the 2004 - 2006 collective 

bargaining agreement. Therefore, we conclude that the correspondence and other 
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communications and actions by the parties in 2005, taken as a whole, are insufficient to 

put GCBTC on notice that CPS did not recognize GCBTC as the carpenters' exclusive 

representative and would not bargain collectively with GCBTC concerning the terms and 

conditions of employment of the CPS carpenters. 

Respondent further argues that GCBTC received notice on December 8, 2006, 

during the parties' initial meeting to begin contract negotiations for a successor 

agreement. The initial contract proposal from CPS contained several changes, 

including the removal of the carpenter classification from the recognition clause of the 

collective bargaining agreement. GCBTC's representative objected to the removal of 

the carpenter classification and informed CPS's representatives that it was unlawful for 

CPS to unilaterally change the composition of the bargaining unit during contract 

negotiations. CPS's representatives responded that CPS did not consider the 

carpenters to be in the multi-craft bargaining unit. 

Although CPS's representatives informed GCBTC's representative at the 

December 8, 2006 meeting that CPS considered the carpenters to be unrepresented, 

CPS' representatives apparently left GCBTC's representative with the impression that 

CPS would review the legality of their position regarding the CPS carpenters' 

representation. On January 25, 2007, CPS' representatives notified GCBTC during 

contract negotiations that the carpenters employed by CPS could not be represented by 

GCBTC. On February 9, 2007, CPS's representatives informed GCBTC's 

representative during a bargaining session that CPS would bargain separately with the 

carpenters. 

With regard to the actions of the CPS carpenters, we find that the evidence 

establishes that GCBTC did not learn that a majority of the CPS carpenters considered 

themselves unrepresented until CPS presented a copy of an undated petition. The 

petition appeared to have been signed by a number of CPS carpenters, and it indicated 

that they considered themselves unrepresented. GCBTC did not know of this petition 

until CPS presented a copy during the drafting of stipulations in this case. 

CPS asserts that at some point during the summer of 2004 it received the 

undated petition. No evidence was presented to establish that this petition was ever 
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presented to GCBTC prior to this case, that CPS or the carpenters communicated with 

GCBTC regarding this petition prior to this case, or that this petition was filed with SERB 

as a Petition for Decertification Election in accordance with O.A.C. Rule 4117-5-01 (D). 

Additionally, we note that there was litigation between certain CPS carpenters 

and the Carpenters Union, which was initiated by the CPS carpenters in 2003. The 

2003 litigation concerned the carpenters' efforts to recover dues improperly collected by 

the Carpenters Union. This litigation did not involve GCBTC as a party and did not 

address the efficacy of GCBTC's status as the Board-certified exclusive representative 

of the CPS carpenters. 

Based on the above analysis, we conclude that the 2003 litigation and the covert 

2004 petition did not provide GCBTC with notice that CPS did not recognize GCBTC as 

the exclusive representative and therefore would not bargain collectively with GCBTC 

concerning the wages and other conditions of employment of the CPS carpenters. 

Therefore, it was not until CPS unequivocally stated to GCBTC's representative during 

contract negotiations on January 25, 2007, that CPS would not allow GCBTC to act as 

the exclusive representative of the CPS carpenters that GCBTC received notice that 

CPS was refusing to bargain collectively with GCBTC concerning the terms and 

conditions of employment of the CPS carpenters. 

When CPS refused to recognize GCBTC as the exclusive representative of the 

CPS carpenters during contract negotiations on January 25, 2007 and February 9, 

2007, GCBTC suffered actual damage when it was prevented from fully representing all 

of the members of the multi-craft bargaining unit at that time. GCBTC filed an unfair 

labor practice charge on March 26, 2007, sixty-one days after CPS refused to bargain 

with GCBTC over hours, wages, and terms and other conditions of employment of the 

CPS carpenters. Thus, GCBTC's unfair labor practice charge was timely filed within the 

ninety-day time limit set forth in O.R.C. § 4117.12(8) and O.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01 (A). 

2. Doctrine of Laches. 

Respondent argues that the charges in this case are barred by the equitable 

doctrine of !aches because GCBTC unreasonably delayed in filing a claim concerning 
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its representative status of the CPS carpenters. Black's Law Dictionary, Eighth Edition, 

defines the term "laches" as follows: 

1. Unreasonable delay in pursuing a right or claim - almost always an 
equitable one - in a way that prejudices the party against whom relief is 
sought... 
2. The equitable doctrine by which a court denies relief to a claimant who 
has unreasonably delayed in asserting the claim, when that delay has 
prejudiced the party against whom relief is sought. .. 

The elements of a laches defense are: (1) unreasonable delay or lapse of time in 

asserting a right; (2) absence of an excuse for such delay; (3) knowledge, actual or 

constructive, of the injury or wrong, and (4) prejudice to the other party. State ex rel. 

Meyers v. City of Columbus, 71 Ohio St.3d 603 (1995). Prejudice will not be inferred 

from a mere lapse of time. State ex rel Chavis v. Sycamore City School Dist. Bd. of 

Edn. (1994), 71 Ohio St.3d 26. 

As discussed above, we have determined that the unfair labor practice charges 

set forth in the Complaint in this case occurred on January 25, 2007, and February 9, 

2007, and that GCBTC timely filed its unfair labor practice charge regarding these 

actions approximately sixty days later on March 26, 2007. Respondent presented no 

evidence to establish that sixty days was an unreasonable delay in filing the unfair labor 

practice charge in this case or that CPS was materially prejudiced by the sixty-day 

"delay." According! y, Respondent has not established the elements of the !aches 

defense. 

Respondent further argues that the doctrine of laches is also applicable in this 

case because CPS relied on the terms of the 2001 Settlement Agreement in Case 

No. 2001-ULP-04-0249. Respondent's argument is wholly without merit for the 

following reasons. The 2001 Settlement Agreement in State Employment Relations 

Board v. Southwest Ohio District Council of Carpenters, Case No. 2001-ULP-04-0249, 

settled a dis pute between SERB, the Carpenters Union, and the CPS carpenters. 

Specifically, the agreement disclaimed the Carpenters Union's interest in representing 

the CPS carpenters. With regard to GCBTC, it is important to note that GCBTC was not 

a party to the agreement and the agreement was silent on the issue of GCBTC's 
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representative status. Therefore, because the 2001 Settlement Agreement addressed 

neither the composition of the multi-craft bargaining unit at CPS nor GCBTC's 

representative status with respect to this bargaining unit, the 2001 Settlement 

Agreement did not provide any type of notice or statement regarding these subjects. 

B. GCBTC Is an "Employee Organization" as Defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (0). 

Respondent argues that GCBTC is not an "employee organization" as defined by 

O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) as to the CPS carpenters. Respondent acknowledges in its brief 

that SERB has certified GCBTC as the exclusive representative of the multi-craft 

bargaining unit that includes CPS carpenters. "If GCBTC is a representative at all, it is 

undeniably 'Board certified.' In 1985, prior to the Settlement Agreement, GCBTC was 

nominally certified as the exclusive bargaining representative for CPS's craft 

employees[.]" Brief of Respondent Cincinnati Public Schools, page 18. 

Respondent is correct with regard to GCBTC's status as the Board-certified 

exclusive representative of the CPS multi-craft bargaining unit. In 1985, SERB issued a 

Certification of Election Results and of Exclusive Representative in the case captioned, 

In the Matter of Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction Trades Council and 

Cincinnati Board of Education, Case Nos. 84-VR-09-1949 and 84-RC-05-0915. SERB 

certified the multi-craft bargaining unit as a unit appropriate for the purposes of 

collective bargaining to include several crafts, including carpenters. 

SERB also certified GCBTC as the exclusive representative of all of the trades 

employees in the multi-craft bargaining unit at CPS. Moreover, we note that SERB 

confirmed GCBTC's status as the exclusive representative of all of the trades 

employees in the multi-craft bargaining unit at CPS, including the carpenters. The 

bargaining-unit description was included in the Consent Election Agreement that 

preceded the secret-ballot election. 

On March 20, 2001 SERB issued a "Dismissal of Petition for Representation 

Election" in In the Matter of Cincinnati Public Schools Carpenters, and Southwest Ohio 

District Council of Carpenters, and Cincinnati Board of Education, Case No. OO-REP-04-

0093. The March 20, 2001 Dismissal set forth that GCBTC remains the Board-certified 
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exclusive representative of the employees in multi-craft bargaining unit, including the 

carpenters. No appeal of that decision was perfected. Therefore, the dismissal 

remained in effect, and this issue had not been raised with SERB since that time. 

Because SERB has certified GCBTC as the exclusive representative of the multi

craft bargaining unit that includes carpenters, the parties in this case are bound by the 

provisions of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 and O.A.C. Chapter4117-5 with respect to 

bargaining with the Board-certified exclusive representative and with respect to 

changing the composition of this bargaining unit or its exclusive representative. There 

is no evidence that the carpenter classification has been removed from the multi-craft 

bargaining unit or that GCBTC as the Board-certified representative has been changed 

through any type of petition action set forth in O.R.C. Chapter 4117 and O.A.C. 

Chapter 4117-5. 

Notwithstanding GCBTC's status as the Board-certified representative of the 

multi-craft bargaining unit at CPS, Respondent argues that GCBTC is not an "employee 

organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (0) because GCBTC's bylaws lack 

an individual membership provision and dues deduction provision, because no craft 

employees at CPS have ever been members of GCBTC, and because GCBTC does not 

perform representative functions other than assisting with negotiations. 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (0) defines the term "employee organization" as follows: 

"'Employee organization' means any labor or bona fide organization in which public 

employees participate and which exists for the purpose, in whole or in part, of dealing 

with public employers concerning grievances, labor disputes, wages, hours, terms, and 

other conditions of employees." 

SERB has consistently interpreted the above definition of "employee 

organization" broadly. For example, in In re City of Port Clinton, SERB 95-002 (2-27-

95), SERB found that a group of 325 local entities affiliated with an international union 

that represented public and private nonprofit employees in collective bargaining is an 

"employee organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). In that case, 

SERB noted that it did not matter that the group had no constitution, by-laws, elected 

officials, or other formal structures. In In re City of Cleveland, SERB 88-004 (4-19-88), 
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SERB found that the rival organization met the statutory definition of an "employee 

organization" even though the organization lacked a constitution, elected officers, 

membership meetings, and dues collection. In that case, SERB noted that the 

employees participated in the organization and the organization had the purpose of 

bargaining over wages and other conditions of employment. 

In this case, the evidence established that craft employees at CPS have both 

participated in negotiations lead by GCBTC and also participated in the administration 

of the collective bargaining agreements negotiated by GCBTC since 1980. Because 

GCBTC is an organization in which public employees participate and because GCBTC 

exists, in whole or in part, for the purpose of collective bargaining, GCBTC fulfills the 

statutory definition of an "employee organization" set forth in O.R.C. § 4117.01(0) 

Further, we note that GCBTC has historically functioned as an employee organization 

representing public- and private-sector employees and has been determined by SERB 

in various cases over the years to be an "employee organization" within the meaning 

O.R.C. §4117.01(0). 

C. The CPS Carpenters Have Been Represented by GCBTC as the Board-Certified 
Exclusive Representative of All Employees in the Multi-Craft Bargaining Unit at 
CPS Since 1985. 

Respondent argues that the CPS carpenters were rendered unrepresented by 

the terms of the 2001 settlement agreement in State Employment Relations Board v. 

Southwest Ohio District Council of Carpenters, Case No. 2001-ULP-04-0249 (2001 

Settlement Agreement). Upon careful review of the parties involved and the terms of 

the 2001 Settlement Agreement, we find that this agreement has no impact on 

Respondent's duty to bargain collectively with GCBTC concerning wages and terms and 

other conditions of employment of the CPS carpenters. GCBTC was not a party to the 

2001 Settlement Agreement; this agreement only disclaims the Carpenter Union's 

interest in representing the CPS carpenters; and this agreement is silent on the issue of 

GCBTC's status as the Board-certified exclusive representative of the multi-craft 

bargaining unit established by SERB. 
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While the 2001 Settlement Agreement settled a dispute between SERB (as the 

Complainant in an unfair labor practice proceeding), the Carpenters Union, and the CPS 

carpenters, the agreement did not change GCBTC's status as the Board-certified 

exclusive representative of this multi-craft bargaining unit or alter the composition of the 

multi-craft bargaining unit. Once the Carpenters Union disclaimed interest in performing 

any representative functions for the CPS carpenters, GCBTC, as the Board-certified 

exclusive representative, was required by 0.R.C. Chapter 4117 to assume a// 

representative functions for the CPS carpenters as well as to continue to represent the 

other job classifications that comprise the multi-craft bargaining unit. 

Additionally, the evidence indicates that GCBTC continued to act as the 

exclusive representative of the CPS carpenters by negotiating with CPS concerning the 

carpenters' rate of pay and other working conditions under successor collective 

bargaining agreements, including the 2004-2006 collective bargaining agreement. 

Respondent contends that the CPS carpenters have not been covered by any 

successor collective bargaining agreements since the 2001 Settlement Agreement and 

were inadvertently left in the recognition clause of the 2004-2006 collective bargaining 

agreement. 

Although Respondent contends that the CPS carpenters have not been covered 

by any successor collective bargaining agreements since 2001, CPS presented no 

evidence to rebut GCBTC's assertion that the CPS carpenters received from CPS the 

wages, benefits, and working conditions as set forth in the 2004-2006 collective 

bargaining agreement. Given that the CPS carpenters apparently received the wages 

and benefits of the contract, we find Respondent's claim that the CPS carpenters were 

not covered by successor collective bargaining agreements unpersuasive. 

Similarly, we are not persuaded by Respondent's argument that the contracts' 

recognition provisions have never included GCBTC and therefore CPS is not required to 

recognize GCBTC as the exclusive representative of the employees in the multi-craft 

bargaining. Respondent cited no case law or provision in O.R.C. Chapter 4117 that 

would allow CPS to unilaterally decide to recognize and deal directly with an ad-hoc, but 
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formally unrecognized, employee organization, and expressly exclude the Board

certified bargaining representative. 

D. The Charges in This Case Are Not Barred by the Principle of Res Judicata. 

Lastly, Respondent argues that the charges in this case are barred by the 

principles of res judicata, specifically, the doctrines of issue preclusion and claim 

preclusion. Respondent notes that in SERB v. Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor 

Council, 9 OPER 'IJ 1228 (March 5, 1992), SERB determined that the doctrines of issue 

and claim preclusion apply in SERB proceedings. 

Black's Law Dictionary, Eighth Edition, defines the term "res judicata" as follows: 

... 1. An issue that has been definitively settled by judicial decision. 2. An 
affirmative defense barring the same parties from litigating a second 
lawsuit on the same claim, or any other claim arising from the same 
transaction or series of transactions and that could have been - but was 
not - raised in the first suit. The three essential elements are (1) an 
earlier decision on the issue, (2) a final judgment on the merits, and (3) the 
involvement of the same parties, or parties in privily with the original 
parties. Restatement (Second) of Judgments§§ 17, 24 (1982). 

Respondent argues that the charges in this case are barred by the doctrine of 

issue preclusion because these charges raise the same issues as were raised in Case 

Nos. 2005-ULP-12-0674 and 2006-ULP-08-0400. The evidence in the record 

establishes that the unfair labor practice charges in Case Nos. 05-ULP-12-0674 and 06-

ULP-08-0400 involved the same parties as the present case and concerned GCBTC's 

claim that it was entitled to receive fair share fees under the terms of the collective 

bargaining agreement. The recognition issue raised in the present case was not raised 

in the two prior cases. Additionally, SERB dismissed Case Nos. 2005-ULP-12-0674 

and 2006-ULP-08-0400 as untimely filed and thus did not issue any judgments on the 

merits of the issues raised in these two cases. Accordingly, the doctrine of issue 

preclusion does not apply to bar the Complaint in this case. 

Respondent argues that even if SERB were to find that the recognition issue was 

not raised in the prior cases, the recognition issue certainly could have been raised and 

is part of the same transaction or occurrence that gave rise to the fair-share-fees issue. 
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Respondent contends that such a finding is all that is necessary for the present charges 

to be barred by the doctrine of claim preclusion. The two prior cases cited by 

Respondent were not litigated. Thus, SERB did not issue any decision on the issues or 

judgments on the merits. Accordingly, the doctrine of claim preclusion does not apply to 

bar the charges in this case. 

In summary, Respondent CP S violated 0.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(5), and 

(A)(8) by refusing to bargain with the Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction 

Trades Council ("GCBTC") concerning the wages, hours, and terms and other 

conditions of employment of the carpenters employed by Respondent CPS. 

Specifically, Respondent CPS interfered with the exercise of rights guaranteed in 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 by refusing to bargain collectively with GCBTC, the Board-certified 

exclusive bargaining representative of the multi-craft bargaining unit that includes 

carpenters, and Respondent CPS interfered with GCBTC's ability to represent these 

bargaining-unit members by choosing to deal directly with the carpenters. 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Cincinnati School District Board of Education is a "public employer" as 

defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). 

2. The Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction Trades Council is an 

"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) and is the Board-certified 

exclusive representative for the bargaining unit of the Cincinnati School District Board of 

Education's building trades employees, including "carpenters." See Case Nos. 84-VR-

09-1949 and 84-RC-05-0915. 

3. On January 25, 2007 and February 9, 2007, the Cincinnati School District 

Board of Education violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(5), and (A)(8) by refusing to 

bargain with the Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction Trades Council 

concerning the wages, hours, terms, and other conditions of employment of the 

carpenters employed by the School Board. 
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IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the Cincinnati City School District 

Board of Education committed unfair labor practices when they violated O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(5), and (A)(8) by refusing to bargain with the Greater Cincinnati 

Building and Construction Trades Council concerning the wages, hours, terms, and 

other conditions of employment of the carpenters employed by Respondent on 

January 25, 2007 and February 9, 2007. The Respondent is ordered to: (1) cease and 

desist from interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of rights 

guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, from refusing to bargain collectively 

with the exclusive representative of its carpenter employees recognized pursuant to 

Ohio Revised Code Chapter4117, from causing or attempting to cause an employee 

organization, its agents, or its representatives to violate Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.11(A)(8), and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11(A)(1), 

(A)(5), and (A)(8); (2) immediately recognize the Greater Cincinnati Building and 

Construction Trades Council as the exclusive representative for purposes of collective 

bargaining of all CPS carpenters; (3) post the Notice to Employees furnished by the 

State Employment Relations Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting 

locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Greater Cincinnati 

Building and Construction Trades Council work, stating that Respondent Cincinnati 

Public Schools shall cease and desist from the action set forth in paragraph (1) and 

shall take affirmative action set forth in paragraph (2); and (4) notify the State 

Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar days from the date the 

ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order on 

April 27, 2009, the filing of exceptions by the City of Reynoldsburg ("the City"), Counsel 

for Complainant's response to the exceptions, the parties' notices of supplemental 

authority, and the oral arguments presented to the Board by the parties' representatives 

on October 21, 2009. For the reasons that follow, we find that the City did not violate 

Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally changed 

the healthcare benefits for the bargaining-unit employees during negotiations for the 

parties' initial collective bargaining agreement. Consequently, we dismiss the complaint 

and dismiss with prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

The United Steelworkers of America, AFL-CIO-CLC ("USW" or "Union") is the 

exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of employees in the City's 

Water/Wastewater, Street Division, Storm Water/Utility Division. and Parks and 

Recreation Department. On March 29, 2006, the USW sent a letter to Reynoldsburg 

Mayor Robert McPherson notifying the City of the USW's desire to meet as soon as 

possible to negotiate the terms and conditions of a collective bargaining agreement 

("CBA"). Enclosed with the letter was a copy of the Notice to Negotiate being filed with 

the Board, as well a "Collective Bargaining Information Request" requesting certain 

information from the City in anticipation of negotiations. 

The City did not meet with the USW to begin negotiations at that time, but the 

City did provide the USW with some of its requested information. Upon receipt of part 

of the requested information from the City, the USW contacted the City again in 

August 2006 to begin negotiations. The parties had their initial negotiations meeting on 

November 21, 2006. 

The USW and the City attempted to negotiate all non-economic issues before 

addressing economic issues. On March 19, 2007, a Petition for Decertification Election 

was filed by James W. Sayre, Jr., a bargaining-unit member, in SERB Case No. 2007-

REP-03-0045. 

On March 30, 2007, the City moved to stay negotiations of the first CBA pending 

the outcome of the decertification election. On April 26, 2007, the Board granted the 

City's motion to stay negotiations. On June 5, 2007, the USW prevailed in the 

decertification election and remained the exclusive representative for the Board-certified 

bargaining unit of the City's employees. 

Shortly after prevailing in the decertification election, the USW notified the City 

that the employees wanted to resume negotiations. The parties resumed negotiations 

on August 29, 2007. The parties met with a Board mediator on October 1, 2007, 

October 29, 2007, and December 10, 2007. The parties did not meet again for 

purposes of negotiations until February 27, 2008. 
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In January 2008, Brad McCloud was elected Mayor of the City, replacing former 

Mayor Robert McPherson. By letter dated November 13, 2007, the City notified the 

Union it would make changes to their health insurance plan effective December 1, 2007. 

Monthly premiums for the affected employees would increase for the month of 

December 2007. The City also claimed it would implement a Health Savings Account 

plan at a higher monthly premium contribution for the affected employees effective 

January 1, 2008. At this time, the USW was still in negotiations for its first CBA. The 

City of Reynoldsburg initiated this change in the health insurance plans. 

Through November 30, 2007, nonbargaining-unit City employees and USW 

bargaining-unit employees paid a premium contribution of $15.67 per month for single 

health insurance coverage and $31.81 per month for family health insurance coverage. 

The November 13, 2007 letter stated that city employees would have to pay an 

increased premium contribution of $16.58 per month for single health insurance 

coverage and $47.48 per month for family health insurance coverage for the month of 

December 2007. 

Effective January 1, 2008, all USW bargaining-unit members and all 

nonbargaining-unit employees, with the exception of the City Auditor and one City 

Council member, began paying $31.92 per month for single coverage and $80.00 per 

month for family coverage under the new Health Savings Account implemented by the 

City. This premium increase and change to a Health Savings Account did not apply to 

the City Auditor and a City Council member who are still under the old insurance plan. 

On January 3, 2008, the City sent correspondence to the USW concerning the 

new health insurance plan implemented by the City on January 21, 2008. In 

January 2008, the City made a contribution to the health savings accounts of those 

employees represented by the USW who were participating in the City's health 

insurance plan. The City contributed $1,000 to the health savings accounts for all single 

participants and $2,000 to the health savings accounts for all family participants. The 

City contributed an additional $1,000 to employees with single coverage and $2,000 to 

employees with family coverage in June 2008. 
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In January 2008, the City made a contribution to the health savings accounts of 

all nonbargaining-unit City employees who were participating in the City's new Health 

Savings Account plan. The City contributed $1,000 to the health savings accounts for 

all single participants and $2,000 to the health savings accounts for all family 

participants in January 2008. The City contributed an additional $1,000 to employees 

with single coverage and $2,000 to employees with family coverage in June 2008. 

As of the hearing date of February 10, 2009, members of the USW bargaining 

unit had not received a wage increase since the Board's certification of the bargaining 

unit in 2006, and an initial CBA had not been reached. Nonbargaining-unit employees 

of the City received wages increases in 2006, 2007, and 2008. The City indicated that it 

could not implement wage increases for these bargaining-unit employees because, to 

do so, would breach its duty to maintain the status quo. 

On December 18, 2007, the USW requested that the Board provide the parties 

with a fact-finding panel in order to reach their first CBA with the City. The USW and 

the City mutually agreed on a fact finder for the fact-finding hearing held on September 

12, 2008. The USW members in the bargaining unit unanimously approved the fact

finding report. The fact-finding report was rejected by the Reynoldsburg City Council. 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 
of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the Revised 
Code***; 

• • • 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 
employees recognized as the exclusive representative *** 
pursuant to Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code[.) 
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The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the Respondent has committed an unfair labor practice. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.12(B)(3). At issue is whether the City engaged in bad-faith bargaining in 

violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally changed the 

healthcare benefits for the bargaining-unit employees during negotiations for the parties' 

initial collective bargaining agreement. Good-faith bargaining is determined by the 

totality of the circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSU/SEIU, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A 

circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In 

re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

In order to promote orderly and constructive labor relations, an employer must 

maintain the status quo ante after the conclusion of a successful election "at least as 

long as negotiations continue." NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 743 (1962). Once good

faith negotiations have exhausted the prospects of concluding an agreement, however, 

the employer does not commit an unfair labor practice by making unilateral changes 

that are reasonably comprehended within pre-impasse proposals. Id. at 746. Unilateral 

changes to the status quo are permissible, therefore, only after the employer has 

bargained in good faith to the point of impasse with the employees' exclusive 

representative. The question presented in this case is whether there are any 

circumstances under which unilateral changes themselves are part of the status quo. 

Although the term "status quo" generally connotes the "situation that currently 

exists," BLACK'S LAW D1cnONARY 1448 (8th ed. 2004), when annual changes to a 

condition of employment are part of an established pattern or practice, the existence of 

such changes is, in fact, part of the current situation. In NLRB v. Allied Products Corp., 

548 F.2d 644 (6th Cir.1977), the United States Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals found that 

a unilateral change in wages can constitute part of the status quo, reasoning that the act 

is violated by a unilateral change in the "existing wage structure, whether that change 

be an increase, or the denial of a scheduled increase." Id. at 653 (emphasis added). 

Thus, in some circumstances it will be an unfair labor practice to grant unilaterally a 

wage increase, and in others it will be an unfair labor practice to deny unilaterally a 

wage increase. Id. at 652-53 (citations omitted). 
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Similarly, the Board has held that certain changes can become part of the status 

quo. For example, in In re Chester Twp Police Dept, SERB 92-014 (9-2-92) at p. 3-45, 

the Board held that after a union has been certified as the exclusive representative, the 

employer "need not grant increases simply on the basis of established practice or 

custom. It need only grant preannounced increases or those to which it has become 

obligated by law." See also In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-

001 (3-24-93) at p. 3-4, where the Board reviewed the employer's conduct and the 

status quo and, although finding no violation, stated that it "will continue to scrutinize 

carefully those situations where employers make changes which directly affect the 

employment terms of unit employees" during the post-election, pre-certification period. 

The Board recognized "that management must be able to exercise normal discretion in 

maintaining its operations." Id. It is noteworthy that two of the factors examined were 

the absence of union animus and the rational explanation for the action taken. 

In NLRB v. Ta/sol Corp., 155 F.3d 785 (6th Cir.1998) ("Talsof'), the U.S. Sixth 

Circuit Court of Appeals found that when faced with a situation in which an employer 

has made unilateral changes to "wages or other working conditions when it is subject to 

the statutory duty to bargain ... the critical inquiry is whether there existed an established 

practice or status quo." Id. at 794 (internal citations omitted). In conducting this inquiry, 

the Court looked to whether a practice was longstanding, whether the employer created 

an employee expectation of the change or non-change, and whether the employer 

announced a policy or took other action consistent with formal policy change. Id. (citing 

Hyatt Corp. v. NLRB, 939 F.2d 361,371 (6th Cir. 1991)). In addition, the Court of 

Appeals for the District of Columbia stated that even if some discretionary components 

are involved in a wage increase, when the criteria for determining discretionary wage 

increases are fixed, the employer must "continue to apply the same criteria and use the 

same formula for awarding increases" as done previously. Daily News of Los Angeles v. 

NLRB, 73 F.3d 406, 412 (D.C.Cir.1996); see also Hyatt Corp., at 369. 
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Ill. APPLICATION 

To the extent it is applicable, we adopt the Ta/sol standard and apply it under 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117. Thus, unilateral changes to terms and conditions of employment 

may constitute lawful maintenance of the status quo ante when the public employer can 

produce evidence of an established pattern or practice of implementing those changes 

on a prior basis. Relevant considerations in this inquiry include whether a practice is 

longstanding, whether the employer created an expectation on the part of employees, 

and whether the employer announced a policy or taken other action consistent with a 

formal policy. The present case, however, concerns healthcare, a unique term and 

condition of employment that, for pragmatic and economic reasons, must be treated 

more restrictively. 

Healthcare is among the most essential conditions of employment; thus, 

unilateral changes to healthcare, like wage increases, may constitute maintenance of 

the status quo in certain circumstances where such change is actually part of the status 

quo. Yet, healthcare is also unique from other conditions of employment. Insurance is 

typically provided by a third-party entity, and under the current model, the many pay for 

the few; that is, everyone in the plan pays a set rate, and the unidentified future users 

reap the benefits. As a result, where bargaining units are particularly small, both the 

employer and the employees would be at a substantial disadvantage if they were 

unexceptionally forced to separate for coverage purposes nonbargaining-unit 

employees from bargaining-unit employees. 

This case involves a small bargaining unit of only seventeen individuals. A health 

insurance carrier may not be willing to bid such a small unit and any bids may be cost 

prohibitive to the employer. Usually, the bargaining process will serve as an effective 

and proper mechanism for balancing this tension. But this is not true when the first 

contract negotiation does not result in a timely-concluded agreement. Consequently, 

although we are convinced of the general pragmatic and doctrinal reasons for permitting 

unilateral changes in the healthcare arena, the circumstances under which granting 

such changes as permissible must be more limited. 
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This case presents us with one such situation. Several factors aid in our analysis. 

First, this case involved the initial collective bargaining agreement between the parties; 

there was no existing contract language, precedent, or established framework for 

resolving the bargaining-unit issue with the USW. The status quo in this initial 

negotiating session was actually for management to make decisions concerning health 

insurance at its discretion. Second, the City demonstrated a consistent willingness to 

bargain with the USW for several years throughout the post-certification period; it was 

only after no agreement had been reached that the unilateral changes were 

implemented. Third, the changes are subject to future negotiations. Together, these 

factors satisfy the Ta/sol standard. 

To bolster our conclusion, we further note that there was no evidence of bad-faith 

motives on the part of the City in the instant case. Rather, the City articulated a valid 

business justification for its decision. This justification serves as evidence of a lack of 

bad faith, which is relevant, but not determinative. Because the bargaining unit was 

especially small in number, it was reasonable for the City to believe that to make 

changes for nonbargaining-unit employees and not for bargaining-unit employees would 

be unduly burdensome. Albeit not determinative, the absence of employer bad faith 

serves as a useful safeguard against inequitable consequences that might otherwise 

flow from unilateral, status quo changes. In situations where both sides have negotiated 

without evidence of bad faith for a long amount of time in forming their initial collective 

bargaining agreement, an employer does not alter the status quo when it makes a 

necessary unilateral change and such change was actually in line with the prior status 

quo. 

Finally, notwithstanding the foregoing analysis, we cannot logically conclude bad

faith bargaining in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) or (A)(5) on the facts of this 

case. Prior to filing this unfair labor practice charge, the parties agreed, albeit 

tentatively, on the terms of the healthcare provision, and consequently, neither party 

designated healthcare as being at impasse and healthcare was not presented to the 

fact finder. Thus, in order to conclude that the employer committed an unfair labor 

practice we would have to find, essentially, that the City failed to bargain to impasse on 
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an issue that never reached impasse because, in fact, it was agreed upon during 

bargaining. Absent compelling justification to the contrary, we decline to find a violation 

on such untenable grounds. 

The USW contends that it agreed on the terms of the healthcare plan only 

subject to an implied condition, i.e., as a quid pro quo to the City's accepting the fact

finder's recommendation on wages. While the logic of the USW is understandable, the 

record simply does not support a finding that the legislative body's decision to exercise 

its statutory right to reject the fact-finder's report constituted bad-faith bargaining, nor do 

such circumstances cure the USW's failure to designate healthcare as an impasse 

issue. Thus, we reject the USW's contention. As a result, we find that the Complainant 

has not met its O.R.C. § 4117.12(8)(3) burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of 

the evidence that the City has committed an unfair labor practice. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the City of Reynoldsburg did not 

violate Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally changed the 

healthcare benefits for the bargaining-unit employees during negotiations for the parties' 

initial collective bargaining agreement since we find that this action was not inconsistent 

with the City's obligation to maintain the status quo ante. Consequently, we dismiss the 

complaint and dismiss with prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order and 

the filing of exceptions by the Nimishillen Township Board of Trustees, Stark County 

("Respondent" or "the Township") and the Complainant's response to the exceptions. 

For the reasons set forth below, we find that the Respondent violated Ohio Revised 

Code ("0.R.C.") §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by interfering with employees of the 

Nimishillen Township Road Department employees in their efforts to unionize. We 

further find that Respondent did not commit an unfair labor practice when it terminated 

the employment of Road Department Superintendent Christopher Peterson because our 

review of the evidence in the record reveals that Mr. Peterson was not a "public 

employee" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). 
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I. BACKGROUND 

On November 13, 2006, the Utility Workers Union of America, .AFL-CIO ("Union") 

filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Township, alleging that the Township 

violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(3). On April 12, 2007, the Board 

determined that probable cause existed to believe that the Township had committed an 

unfair labor practice by interfering with the employees' attempt to unionize and by 

terminating the employment of Christopher Peterson because he engaged in protected 

activity. The Board authorized the issuance of a complaint, referred the matter to 

hearing, and directed the parties to unfair labor practice mediation. 

On April 9, 2008, a Complaint was issued. A hearing was held August 21, 2008 

and September 30, 2008, wherein testimony and documentarf evidence were 

presented. Subsequently, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. On February 11, 2009, 

the Administrative Law Judge issued her Proposed Order, recommending that the 

Board find that the Township violated O.R.C. §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2). and (A)(3). 

II. ADOPTED FINDINGS OF FACT 

On December 17, 2009, the Board adopted the Findings of Fact in the 

Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order; they are set forth below in relevant part 

(without reference to Stipulations or Transcript cites on which they are based): 

1. Nimishillen Township Board of Trustees, Stark County ("Township") is a 

"public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Utility Workers Union of America, AFL-CIO ("Union") is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

3. Christopher Peterson has worked for the Township Fire Department for 27 

years. For the past 10 years, Mr. Peterson has worked as a Division Fire Chief, EMT, 

and Firefighter. From January 27, 2006 to November 9, 2006, Mr. Peterson was also 

employed as the Township's Road Department Superintendent, with an annual salary of 

$34,000. Mr. Peterson initially served a 180-day probationary period. * * * 
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4. During the time period when Mr. Peterson was employed as Road 

Superintendent, the three Township Trustees were Lisa Shafer, Michael Lynch, and 

Todd Bosley. 

5. As Road Department Superintendent, Mr. Peterson was one of four full-

time employees in the Road Department. Mr. Peterson worked alongside the other 

members of the Road Department 75 percent of the time. Mr. Peterson's job duties 

included operating machinery; maintaining the Road Department's facilities; repairing 

Road Department equipment; plowing snow and salting roads; maintaining drain pipes; 

installing, maintaining, and repairing culverts and ditches; maintaining Township signs; 

mowing in Township right-of-ways; and performing manual road repair work. 

6. All Road Department employees were authorized to make purchases of 

up to $2,500 without the Trustees' prior permission. 

7. Mr. Peterson signed Road Department employees' work logs and time 

cards and signed sick leave forms and vacation leave forms. Overtime was infrequent; 

when the need for overtime occurred, Mr. Peterson asked Road Department staff 

whether they wanted to work the overtime. If the employees wanted compensatory 

time instead of overtime, Mr. Peterson communicated this request to the fiscal office. 

8. The four full-time Road Department employees were a close-knit group 

and got along well with each other. Mr. Peterson prepared monthly and daily work 

schedules for the Road Department. A typical workday included meeting for coffee as a 

group in the morning and then heading out to do assignments such as patching 

Township roads, installing a culvert, and loading compost. When Mr. Peterson was 

hired, each Road Department employee already had a set route for salting and plowing 

snow. 

9. Using the prior year's list as a guideline, Mr. Peterson prepared and 

prioritized a list of needed Township road repairs. Mr. Peterson assessed the Road 

Department's equipment and recommended repair or replacement. Mr. Peterson 

recommended that the Trustees purchase a $5,000 pressure pump for use in cleaning 

driveway culverts, but at their September 14, 2006 meeting, the Trustees declined to 
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follow this recommendation, concluding that such a purchase was "neither practical nor 

feasible." 

10. Mr. Peterson prepared and presented the Road Department report at 

Trustees' meetings. Mr. Peterson wrote a Road Department column for the Township 

newsletter. Mr. Peterson was responsible for responding to Township resident 

complaints. Mr. Peterson and the Stark County Engineer communicated in writing on 

road-related matters including roads, ditches and signs. 

11. Working with the Township's Fiscal Officer and Assistant Fiscal Officer, 

Mr. Peterson prepared the Road Department's annual budget, using the prior year's 

budget as a guideline. 

12. On April 13, 2006, Mr. Peterson was given a leave of absence from his 

position in the Fire Department. Trustee Shafer and Sharon Miller, the Township's 

attorney, testified that the leave of absence was a result of an issue that arose in the 

Fire Department involving the Fire Chief, who is Mr. Peterson's brother; Mr. Peterson; 

and a Firefighter with whom the Fire Chief was romantically involved. However, 

Mr. Peterson testified, and the Township's April 13, 2006 meeting minutes reflect, that 

Mr. Peterson desired more time to focus on the Road Department and would be taking 

a leave of absence from the Fire Department. 

13. From January to July 2006, Trustee Shafer was Mr. Peterson's direct 

contact with the Trustees. Trustee Shafer was employed full-time in Canton, so she 

and Mr. Peterson communicated primarily by e-mail. 

14. In July 2006, Mr. Peterson's probationary period was extended for an 

additional 90-day period. Trustees Bosley and Lynch voted in favor of the extension; 

Trustee Shafer voted against it because she wanted to terminate Mr. Peterson's 

employment as Road Superintendent. Trustee Shafer was unhappy with Mr. Peterson's 

work on the "Groffre Project," which involved tree clearing and wood removal. 

15. On August 11, 2006, the Trustees developed a list of three objectives 

intended as guidance for Mr. Peterson after his probation was extended. Because his 

regular work as an owner of local pizza shops kept him in close daily proximity, Trustee 
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Lynch was assigned the responsibility of working with Mr. Peterson and overseeing 

Mr. Peterson's progress on the objectives. 

16. Mr. Peterson and the three other Road Department employees signed 

Union "showing-of-interest" cards on September 22, 2006. On October 15, 2006, the 

Union filed a Request for Recognition, seeking to represent a bargaining unit of "All 

Road Department Employees." On November 3, 2006, the Union re-filed the Request 

for Recognition because the first filing did not include the original "showing-of-interest" 

cards. 

17. After the Township received the Union's Request for Recognition, 

Township Trustee Lynch held a meeting with Road Department employees Jamie May, 

Brad Bair, and Dan Wayt at the Firehouse Restaurant. At the meeting, Trustee Lynch 

asked the employees what it would take for the union organizing efforts to go away. 

Trustee Lynch told the employees that the cost of health insurance would increase if the 

department organized. 

18. Trustee Lynch spoke separately with Mr. Peterson. Trustee Lynch told 

Mr. Peterson that he, Trustee Lynch, was upset that Mr. Peterson did not bring the 

union organizing efforts to the Trustees' attention, and that this could jeopardize 

Mr. Peterson's job. During a discussion with Mr. Peterson about other matters, Trustee 

Lynch stated that the union organizing efforts needed to go away, and that he did not 

know if Mr. Peterson's job could be saved. 

19. Trustee Lynch told a local newspaper that there was no place in the 

Township for a union. 

20. On November 9, 2006, at a public meeting, the Township Trustees voted 

2-1 to terminate Chris Peterson's employment as Road Superintendent. Trustee Bosley 

cast the dissenting vote. Trustees Shafer and Lynch told Mr. Peterson that he was 

being terminated because of the union and because of poor performance. 

21. Within an hour after the November 9, 2006 meeting, Trustee Lynch 

telephoned Mr. Peterson. Trustee Lynch expressed regret for Mr. Peterson's 

termination, offered to help Mr. Peterson find other employment, and told Mr. Peterson 
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that the union issue was one of the reasons for his termination. Upset, Mr. Peterson 

terminated the telephone conversation. 

22. On November 13, 2006, the Township filed a Petition for Representation 

Election-Employer. On April 22, 2007, after a secret-ballot election, SERB certified the 

Union as the exclusive representative for the bargaining unit of all full-time and part-time 

employees of the Township's Road Department. 

23. Mr. Peterson's leave of absence from the Fire Department ended on 

August 5, 2006. Mr. Peterson continues to be employed as a Division Fire Chief in the 

Fire Department. 

Ill. ADDITIONAL FINDINGS OF FACT 

On February 11, 2010, the Board adopted the Additional Findings of Fact set 

forth below: 

24. From January 27, 2006 to November 9, 2006, Christopher Peterson was 

employed by the Nimishillen Township Board of Trustees as the Township's Road 

Department Superintendent. Trustees Michael Lynch and Todd Bosley testified that a 

written job description for the Road Department Superintendent position was made 

available to Mr. Peterson and he was urged on several occasions to read the 

description. Mr. Peterson testified that he never viewed the written job description for 

the Road Department Superintendent and asserted that he learned the specifics of his 

position from reading the Ohio Revised Code. Mr. Peterson acknowledged during his 

testimony that he was responsible for performing substantially all the job duties 

described in the Road Department Superintendent written job description. (Transcript 

pages ["T."] 14-18, 52-53, 83-84, 133-134, 166-167, 254, 280, 340, 406-413; 

Respondent's Exhibit 3) 

25. As Road Department Superintendent, Mr. Peterson was the only 

department employee responsible for planning the daily and monthly road maintenance 

work to be completed by the Road Department employees, preparing the Road 

Department's annual budget, and communicating with the Township Trustees regarding 

the activities of the Road Department. (T. 52-58, 83-84, 133-134, 236, 400-413) 
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26. The Township Trustees relied solely upon Mr. Peterson to direct Road 

Department employees in their work activities and to ensure that road maintenance 

work was timely and properly completed. The Township Trustees relied solely upon 

Mr. Peterson to handle any problems or situations that arose within the Road 

Department. (T. 52-58, 83-84, 133-134, 236, 406-407) 

27. Mr. Peterson directed all three Road Department employees on a daily 

basis. (T. 221, 234-236) 

28. Mr. Peterson was responsible for approving or denying employees' leave 

requests and signing off on employees' work logs, timecards, and leave requests before 

these documents were submitted to the Township's Fiscal Officer. Mr. Peterson had 

the authority to discipline employees but never had the occasion to use his authority. 

Mr. Peterson made recommendations and decisions related to hiring Road Department 

employees. (T. 130-134) 

IV. DISCUSSION 

The Township is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A}(2}, and 

(A)(3), which provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117[;] 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation or 
administration of any employee organization[;] 

(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any 
term or condition of employment on the basis of the exercise of rights 
guaranteed by Chapter 4117[.] 

In the Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge ("the ALJ") recommended 

that the Board find that: (1) Christopher Peterson was a "public employee" within the 

meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C); (2) the Township terminated Mr. Peterson's 

employment as Road Department Superintendent because he exercised rights 

guaranteed under Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code; and (3) the Township interfered 
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with the Road Department employees' efforts to unionize, in violation of O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(3). When Trustee Lynch met with the bargaining-unit 

employees in the Road Department following the filing of the Request for Recognition, 

asked them what it would take to make the union go away, and then told them that their 

health insurance costs would increase if they organized, the Township interfered with, 

restrained, and coerced them in the exercise of their rights under O.R.C. Chapter 4117, 

thereby violating O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) and were clearly an attempt to interfere with 

the formation of the Union, thereby violating O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(2) as well. 

For the reasons set forth below, we disagree with the ALJ's recommendation that 

Christopher Peterson was a "public employee" within the meaning of O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C), and, instead, find that there is substantial evidence in the record 

demonstrating that Mr. Peterson was a "supervisor" and a "management level 

employee" as defined by O.R.C. §§ 4117.01(F) and (L). As a "supervisor" and a 

"management level employee," Mr. Peterson did not have any rights under O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117. Therefore, we find that the Township did not violate Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.11 (A)(3) when it terminated Mr. Peterson's employment. 

A. Christopher Peterson was a "Supervisor" 

O.R.C. § 4117.01(F) defines the term "supervisor" as follows: 

"Supervisor" means any individual who has authority, in the interest of the 
public employer, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, 
discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other public employees; to 
responsibly direct them; to adjust their grievances; or to effectively 
recommend such action, if the exercise of that authority is not of a merely 
routine or clerical nature but requires the use of independent judgment. 

As SERB has recognized since In re University of Cincinnati, SERB 89-028 (10-

12-89) at p. 3-192: 

The determination regarding whether individuals should be accorded 
supervisory status is a difficult question due to the infinite gradations of 
authority between the employer and the rank and file. The degrees of 
difference in the case of "supervisors" and "employees" can be so subtle 
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that deciding who is a supervisor must practically involve a large measure 
of discretion. 

Three factors must be reviewed to determine whether a position is excluded from 

the coverage of O.R.C. Chapter 4117. As SERB found in Jn re Mahoning County Dept. 

of Human Services, SERB 92-006 (6-5-92) at p. 3-19, an individual will be excluded 

from a bargaining unit, pursuant to. O.R.C. § 4117.01(F), "so long as the record 

contains substantial evidence that the employee has the authority to perform one or 

more of the functions listed in that section, actually exercises that authority and uses 

independent judgment in doing so." 

At the outset, we note that the public employer in this case, the Nimishillen 

Township Board of Trustees, is a small, part-time legislative body. We also note that 

this case involves the Nimishillen Township Road Department, which is a small 

department comprised of four employees. Our analysis begins with an examination of 

the organizational structure of the Road Department in relation to Christopher 

Peterson's role as Road Department Superintendent and in relation to the public 

employer (the Board of Trustees). The testimony and evidence presented at the record 

hearing established that, during the time period relevant to this case, the Road 

Department was composed of four full-time employees, including Mr. Peterson. 

The Township appointed one employee, Mr. Peterson, to the position of Road 

Department Superintendent. As Road Department Superintendent, Mr. Peterson 

reported directly to the Board of Trustees on a monthly basis at the Board's Township 

meetings. There were no other supervisors or management-level employees above 

Mr. Peterson in the Road Department's organizational structure The testimony 

established that none of the Township Trustees oversaw or otherwise directly managed 

the Road Department employees in their work. 

Instead, the Township Trustees relied solely upon Mr. Peterson to direct the 

activities of the Road Department and to report its activities at the Board's monthly 

meetings. With these factors in mind, we turn our analysis to the scope and nature of 

the job duties assigned to Mr. Peterson. The testimony presented at record hearing 

established that Mr. Peterson held the position of Road Department Superintendent for 
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approximately ten months. Mr. Peterson spent approximately seventy-five percent of 

his work time working alongside the Road Department employees performing road 

maintenance duties. 

The testimony also established that Mr. Peterson had additional responsibilities 

as Road Department Superintendent. Specifically, Mr. Peterson was responsible for 

approving or denying employees' leave requests and signing off on employees' work 

logs, timecards, and leave requests before these documents were submitted to the 

Township's Fiscal Officer. Mr. Peterson was responsible for preparing the department's 

annual budget and submitting the budget to the Township's Fiscal Officer. Mr. Peterson 

utilized the previous year's budget as a guideline and worked with the Fiscal Officer and 

Assistant Fiscal Officer in preparing the Road Department's annual budget. 

Mr. Peterson was also responsible for utilizing his technical expertise to assess 

roads and determine the order that the Township's road work would be completed. 

Mr. Peterson reported to the Stark County Engineer with respect to the Township's road 

maintenance. Mr. Peterson prepared and prioritized a list of needed Township road 

repairs and submitted it to the Township Trustees. Mr. Peterson assessed the Road 

Department's equipment and recommended repair or replacement. 

Five witnesses offered testimony at the record hearing regarding Mr. Peterson's 

authority to direct employees' work and make recommendations and decisions 

regarding hiring and disciplining employees. During his testimony, Mr. Peterson 

acknowledged that he had the authority to direct the Road Department employees in 

their work. He also acknowledged that he had authority to determine whether or not to 

pursue disciplinary action against an employee and to make recommendations and 

decisions regarding hiring employees. 

Trustees Michael Lynch, Lisa Shaffer, and Todd Bosley confirmed that 

Mr. Peterson was given the authority to direct Road Department employees in their 

work, to make recommendations regarding hiring, and to discipline employees, if 

needed. Road Department employee Brad Bair also offered testimony regarding 

Mr. Peterson's authority. Mr. Bair testified that Mr. Peterson directed the work of the 

employees in the Road Department. While Mr. Bair viewed the employees in the Road 
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Department as a team that worked together, he did affirm that he followed 

Mr. Peterson's work directions. 

Although the testimony presented indicated that Mr. Peterson did not have to 

closely manage the Road Department employees, who were familiar with the work that 

needed to be done and who worked well together, we find it significant that 

Mr. Peterson, Mr. Bair, and all three Township Trustees testified that Mr. Peterson had 

the authority to direct employees in their work, as needed, and to make changes in work 

schedules when he determined it necessary to do so, such as during weather situations 

that impacted roads. Similarly, the testimony indicated that Mr. Peterson had the 

authority to determine whether to approve or deny leave requests in the context of 

scheduled road maintenance and he had the authority to determine if employees 

needed to work overtime to complete road maintenance work. 

We note that the evidence in the record indicates that hiring actions and overtime 

situations within the Road Department were infrequent occurrences and that 

Mr. Peterson routinely approved leave requests and never had the occasion to exercise 

his authority regarding employee discipline. The infrequency of such personnel actions 

in this case is not unusual when one considers that there were only three other 

employees besides Mr. Peterson in the Road Department, that these employees 

worked extremely well together, and that Mr. Peterson's tenure as Road Department 

Superintendent lasted only ten months. Although Mr. Peterson did not have the 

occasion to discipline an employee, we find that the testimony presented at record 

hearing established that the Township Trustees gave Mr. Peterson the authority to take 

such action if needed. 

We further note that the ALJ viewed Mr. Peterson's role as Road Department 

Superintendent as that of a "leadman" rather than a "supervisor." We disagree. While 

many of Mr. Peterson's duties were routine in nature and were not supervisory duties, 

the above analysis clearly indicates that certain of Mr. Peterson's duties were 

supervisory in nature, as contemplated by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F). Specifically, 

Mr. Peterson's responsibility to direct employees' work in order to ensure that the road 

maintenance work was timely and properly completed. The fact that Mr. Peterson did 
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not have to exercise his supervisory authority often does not diminish his authority in 

this regard. As previously noted, the Township Trustees relied solely upon 

Mr. Peterson to direct the activities of the Road Department by planning the daily and 

monthly road maintenance jobs to be completed by the department's employees, to 

report the department's activities at the Board's monthly meeting, and to handle any 

problems or situations that arose within the Road Department. 

Based upon the foregoing, we conclude that there is substantial evidence in the 

record to establish that Christopher Peterson, in his position as Nimishillen Township's 

Road Department Superintendent, was a "supervisor" within the meaning of O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(F). 

B. Christopher Peterson was a "Management Level Employee" 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (L) defines the term "management level employee" as follows: 

"Management level employee" means an individual who formulates policy 
on behalf of the public employer, who responsibly directs the 
implementation of policy, or who may reasonably be required on behalf of 
the employer to assist in the preparation for the conduct of collective 
negotiations, administer collectively negotiated agreements. or have a 
major role in personnel administration. [Emphasis added.] 

In determining whether Mr. Peterson's role as Road Department Superintendent 

was a "management level employee" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01(L), we 

remain mindful that this case involves a small, part-time governmental body and a small 

department of four employees. In our analysis of Mr. Peterson's job duties in relation to 

the Board of Trustees, we find that some of the same responsibilities that demonstrate 

Mr. Peterson was a "supervisor" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F) also indicate that 

Mr. Peterson played a major role in personnel administration and was expected to serve 

the Township Trustees with respect to personnel matters, including collective 

bargaining. Specifically, we find it significant that the Board of Trustees assigned 

Mr. Peterson the responsibility to direct the activities of the Road Department, supervise 

department employees, and report the activities of the department directly to the Board 
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of Trustees. There were no other supervisors or management level employees above 

Mr. Peterson in the organizational structure of the Road Department. 

The evidence in the record established that Mr. Peterson was responsible for 

keeping payroll records, including approving or denying employees' leave requests and 

signing off on employees' work logs and timecards. Mr. Peterson was also responsible 

for scheduling vacations and overtime within the Road Department and making 

recommendations regarding hiring and discipline. We find that Mr. Peterson's 

aforementioned job duties demonstrate that he played a major role in personnel 

administration within Nimishillen Township. 

With regard to the responsibility "to assist in the preparation for the conduct of 

collective negotiations" as described in O.R.C. § 4117.01(L), we interpret this phrase to 

include within the preparation process early activities related to collective bargaining, 

including employee discussions regarding organizing under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. The 

testimony and documentary evidence established that Mr. Peterson, as the Township's 

Road Department Superintendent, was responsible for directing activities of the Road 

Department and reporting department activities directly to the Township's Board of 

Trustees. 

We find that Mr. Peterson's responsibility to direct the activities of the Road 

Department and to report the department's activities to the Township Trustees strongly 

demonstrate that the Board of Trustees reasonably expected Mr. Peterson would report 

efforts to unionize the Road Department and that Board of Trustees would be able to 

call upon Mr. Peterson to assist in the preparation for the conduct of collective 

negotiations as unionization progressed. The fact that testimony at hearing revealed 

that the Board of Trustees was upset with Mr. Peterson for failing to notify it that Road 

Department employees were discussing unionizing supports our conclusion that 

Mr. Peterson was expected to serve the Board of Trustees as a management level 

employee responsible for communicating matters related to collective bargaining within 

the Road Department in order to assist in the preparation for the conduct of collective 

negotiations. Based upon the foregoing, we conclude that there is substantial evidence 

in the record to establish that Christopher Peterson, in his position as Nimishillen 
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Township's Road Department Superintendent, was a "management level employee" 

within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (L). 

In determining whether a particular individual is a "supervisor" pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(F) and/or a "management level employee" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01(L) 

in situations that involve small governmental bodies, such as the Nimishillen Township 

Board of Trustees, the Board will take into consideration the following factors: (1) the 

size of the public employer; (2) the chain of command within distinct departments of the 

Employer's organizational structure; and (3) the scope and nature of the job duties 

assigned to the position alleged to be a supervisory and/or management level position 

under the aforementioned statutory definitions. Based upon the foregoing, we conclude 

that there is substantial evidence in the record to establish that Christopher Peterson, in 

his position as Nimishillen Township's Road Department Superintendent, was a 

"supervisor" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01(F) and a "management level 

employee" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (L). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

On December 17, 2009, the Board amended Conclusion of Law No. 4 and 

adopted the Conclusions of Law, as amended, in the Administrative Law Judge's 

Proposed Order. On February 11, 2010, the Board amended Conclusion of Law No. 3 

and adopted the Conclusions of Law, as amended, in the Administrative Law Judge's 

Proposed Order. The Conclusions of Law, as amended, are set forth below: 

1. The Township is a "public employer" as defined in [O.R.C.] § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Union is an "employee organization" as defined by [O.R.C.] 

§ 4117.01(D). 

3. Christopher Peterson was not a "public employee" as defined in [0.R.C.] 

§ 4117.01(C). 

4. The Township violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by 

interfering with employees of the Township's Road Department in their efforts to 

unionize; the Township did not violate Ohio Revised Code §4117.11(A)(3) when it 

terminated the employment of Chris Peterson. 
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VI. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the Nimishillen Township Board of 

Trustees, Stark County did not commit an unfair labor practice when it terminated the 

employment of Road Department Superintendent Christopher Peterson because our 

review of the evidence in the record reveals that Mr. Peterson was not a "public 

employee" pursuant to Ohio Revised Code § 4117.01(C). We further find that the 

Respondent committed unfair labor practices in violation of Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by interfering with the Nimishillen Township Road 

Department employees' attempt to unionize. The Respondent is ordered to: (1) cease 

and desist from interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of 

their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by interfering with the 

Nimishillen Township Road Department employees' attempt to unionize and from 

otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117 .11 (A)(1) and 4117 .11 (A)(2); (2) post for 

sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining-unit 

employees represented by the Union work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the 

State Employment Relations Board stating that the Nimishillen Township Board of 

Trustees, Stark County, shall cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (1) 

and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (2); and (3) notify the State 

Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar days from the date the 

Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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Before Chairperson Brundige, Vice Chairperson Verich, and Board Member 
Spada: December 17, 2009. 

On February 27, 2009, the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. 
filed Petitions for Representation Election for each of two bargaining units. On July 23, 
2009, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or "the Board") directed the 
matter to hearing before the Board to determine whether the petitions were barred by an 
existing agreement between Multi-County Juvenile Attention System ("the Employer'') 
and Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 
AFL-CIO. On September 16, 2009, the parties agreed to present the matter to the 
Board, in lieu of a hearing, under the stipulated facts. The two employee organizations 
filed briefs in this matter: the Employer did not attend the prehearing conference and did 
not otherwise participate in the hearing on this matter. 

After reviewing the record, stipulations, briefs, and all other filings in these cases, 
the State Employment Relations Board adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
Law in the attached Board Opinion, incorporated by reference, finding that the two 
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Petitions for Representation Election were filed by the Fraternal Order of Police after the 
"contact bar" went into effect and were barred, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117.07(C)(6). Thus, the petitions are hereby dismissed. 

It is so ordered. 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson; VERICH, Vice Chairperson; and SPADA, Board 
Member, concur. 

TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

Any party desiring to appeal shall file a Notice of Appeal with the State 
Employment Relations Board at 65 East State Street, 1 ih Floor, Columbus, Ohio 
43215-4213, setting forth the order appealed from and the grounds of the party's 
appeal. A copy of such Notice of Appeal shall also be filed with the Court of Common 
Pleas of Franklin County, Ohio. Such Notices of Appeal shall be filed within fifteen (15) 
days after the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order as provided in 
Section 119.12 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 
this c>it<>.~ day of March, 2010. 

LIGIA M. SAPP, ADMI~ TIVE ASSISTANT 

direct/12-17-09.07 
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OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

These representation cases come before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "the Board") upon the filing of joint stipulations of fact by the parties and the 

subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. The issue to be decided is whether the two 

Petitions for Representation Election filed by the Fraternal Order of Police, seeking to 

represent the bargaining units of Cooks, Maintenance Workers and Repair Workers 1 & 

2 (Case No. 2009-REP-02-0026) and Youth Leaders 2 & 3 (Case No. 2009-REP-02-

0027) in six counties employed by the Multi-County Juvenile Attention System are 

barred by Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.07(C)(6). 
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On July 23, 2009, the Board directed the matter to hearing to determine whether 

the petitions were barred by contract as the result of the issuance of the fact-finder's 

report on January 30, 2009, and the Certifications of Fact-Finding Vote by Multi-County 

and AFSCME on February 6, 2009 and February 9, 2009, respectively, or whether the 

contract bar did not go into effect until March 27, 2009. For the reasons set forth herein, 

the Board concludes that the FOP's Petitions for Representation Election were barred 

pursuant to 0.R.C. § 4117.07(C)(6). 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Multi-County Juvenile Attention System ("Multi-County") is a "public 

employer'' as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). (Stipulation ["Stip."] 1) 

2. Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees, AFL-CIO ("AFSCME") is an "employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(0). (Stip. 2) 

3. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. ("FOP") is an 

"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). (Stip. 3) 

4. On October 25, 2007, SERB certified AFSCME as the exclusive 

representative of the following bargaining unit of employees of Multi-County: "All full

time and part-time Service and Maintenance employees of the Multi-County Juvenile 

Attention System, including Cooks; Maintenance Repair Workers 1 and 2 employed by 

the Employer in Carroll, Columbiana, Holmes, Stark, Tuscarawas, and Wayne 

Counties." On December 13, 2007, SERB certified AFSCME as the exclusive 

representative of the following bargaining unit of employees of Multi-County: "All full

time and part-time Youth Leaders 2 and 3 employed by the Employer in Carroll, 

Columbiana, Holmes, Stark, Tuscarawas, and Wayne Counties." (Stip. 4) 

5. On March 26, 2008, AFSCME filed two Notices to Negotiate for the 

purpose of negotiating an initial collective bargaining agreement for these two 

bargaining units of employees. (Stip. 5; Case Nos. 2008-MED-03-0364 and 2008-MED-

03-0365) 
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6. Over the next several months, the parties held multiple bargaining 

sessions, but no agreement was reached. Impasse was declared, and the parties 

proceeded to fact finding. With the help of fact-finder Virginia Wallace-Curry, the parties 

negotiated for three more days, reaching tentative agreement on several issues and 

electing to proceed to hearing on the remaining unresolved issues. (Case Nos. 2008-

MED-03-0364 and 2008-MED-03-0365) 

7. On January 30, 2009, Fact-finder Virginia Wallace-Curry issued a report 

and recommendation. which incorporated "all tentative agreements reached between 

the parties during the course of negotiations" and set forth recommendations regarding 

the other unresolved issues. (Stip. 6; Case Nos. 2008-MED-03-0364 and 2008-MED-

03-0365) 

8. On February 5, 2009, a Petition for Decertification Election was filed with 

SERB for these two bargaining units. SERB subsequently issued a Notice to 

Employees stating: "Any organization that claims to represent or is known to have an 

interest in representing any employees in the proposed unit may file a motion to 

intervene accompanied by evidence in support of intervention * * * no later than the 

close of business on March 2, 2009." No motions to intervene were filed. (Stip. 7; Case 

No. 2009-REP-02-0020) 

9. On February 6, 2009, Multi-County filed Certifications of Fact-finding Vote 

accepting the fact-finding report and recommendation. (Stip. 8) 

1 o. On February 9, 2009, AFSCME filed Certifications of Fact-finding Vote 

accepting the fact-finding report and recommendation. (Stip. 9) 

11. Within days of ratification, AFSCME spokesperson Louis Maholic 

contacted the Multi-County spokesperson and demanded that Multi-County execute the 

collective bargaining agreement ("CBA"). However, Multi-County refused. The parties 

then engaged in several discussions regarding the execution of the CBA, and Multi

County persisted in its refusal. (Case Nos. 2008-MED-03-0364 and 2008-MED-03-

0365) 

12. On February 27, 2009, the FOP filed a Petition for Representation Election 

for each of these two bargaining units. (Stip. 10) 
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13. On March 5, 2009, SERB dismissed the Petition for Decertification 

Election. (Stip. 11; Case No. 2009-REP-02-0020) 

14. On March 27, 2009, Multi-County and AFSCME filed with SERB a 

collective bargaining agreement that was executed on March 19, 2009, and has the 

effective dates of March 19, 2009 through March 18, 2012. (Stip. 12; Case Nos. 2008-

MED-03-0364 and 2008-MED-03-0365) 

15. On July 23, 2009, the Board directed the matter to hearing before the 

State Employment Relations Board to determine whether the petitions were barred by 

any existing agreement between Multi-County and AFSCME. On September 16, 2009, 

the FOP and AFSCME agreed to present the matter to the Board, in lieu of a hearing, 

under the stipulated facts contained herein. (Multi-County did not appear at the 

prehearing conference and did not otherwise participate in the hearing on this matter.) 

II. DISCUSSION 

There are three "stop signs" that can occur in the representation process. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.05(B) contains a "certification bar'' that prevents an employer from voluntarily 

recognizing, or SERB from certifying, an employee organization as the exclusive 

representative where an exclusive representative already exists "if there is in effect a 

lawful written agreement, contract, or memorandum of understanding between the 

public employer and another employee organization"; this section applies to both Board

certified and deemed-certified exclusive representatives. 

0.R.C. § 4117.07(C)(6) contains an "election bar" that prohibits SERB from 

conducting an election in a bargaining unit during the 12 months following a Board

conducted election. O.R.C. § 4117.07(C) also contains a "contract bar" and provides in 

relevant part as follows: 

(C) The board shall conduct representation elections by secret 
ballot cast, at the board's discretion, by mail or electronically or in person, 
and at times and places selected by the board subject to the following: 

* * * 
(6) The board may not conduct an election under this section in 

any appropriate bargaining unit within which a board-conducted election 
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was held in the preceding twelve-month period, nor during the term of any 
lawful collective bargaining agreement between a public employer and an 
exclusive representative. (emphasis added) 

Petitions for elections may be filed with the board no sooner than 
one hundred twenty days or later than ninety days before the expiration 
date of any collective bargaining agreement, or after the expiration date, 
until the public employer and exclusive representative enter into a new 
written agreement. 

For the purposes of this section, extensions of agreements do not 
affect the expiration date of the original agreement. 

The "election bar" is our focus in the present case. "Under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.07(C)(6), SERB may not conduct an election in a bargaining unit during the term 

of a lawful collective bargaining agreement." In re Fairfield County Human Services 

Dept, SERB 99-020 (6-30-99) at p. 3-126. Although a Petition for Representation 

Election may be filed during the window period occurring "no sooner than one hundred 

twenty days or later than ninety days before the expiration date of any collective 

bargaining agreement," the "contract bar" precludes SERB from conducting an election 

challenging an incumbent union's exclusive representation rights during the term of the 

collective bargaining agreement. 

The "contract bar" doctrine has a twofold purpose. On one hand, it affords the 

contracting parties and the represented employees a reasonable period of uninterrupted 

stability in their relationship. This stability allows the union to focus its resources, 

undividedly and without risk of usurpation, on advocating for its employees and on 

fostering its relationship with the employer, rather than warding off competition from rival 

unions. Stability also adds integrity and meaning to the election process. When a union 

wins an election, it gains exclusive representation rights-not just for a given instant, but 

for the duration of the agreement. 

On the other hand, stability is not intended to be absolute or permanent. 

Therefore, O.R.C. § 4117.0?(C) helps to preserve employee free choice by providing 

them the opportunity, at reasonable times, to change or eliminate their bargaining 

representative if they wish to do so. The statute thus prevents an incumbent from 
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indefinitely insulating itself against legitimate challenges to its status as the exclusive 

representative. 

With these important yet arguably competing interests in mind, we turn to the 

narrow question presented in this case: 

When the parties submit their collective bargaining negotiations to fact 
finding under 0.R.C. § 4117.14(0), what constitutes a "lawful collective 
bargaining agreement" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4117.0?(C) 
sufficient to prevent SERB from conducting an election until after the 
existing agreement expires? 

The parties offer two competing theories. AFSCME contends that the contract 

bar begins once both parties have ratified the fact-finder's report and recommendations. 

FOP argues that ratification is not sufficient; the contract bar does not begin until both 

parties have executed the collective bargaining agreement. Guided by notions of plain 

statutory interpretation, legislative intent, and sound labor policy, we agree with 

AFSCME and conclude that ratification is sufficient to begin the contract bar. 

We begin our statutory analysis by noting, importantly, that the term "collective 

bargaining agreement" is not used in the language of the contract bar doctrine. If the 

legislature intended for the contract bar to apply only when a collective bargaining 

agreement has been executed, it could have indicated its intention unequivocally with 

ease, simply by using that term. But it did not. Instead, the statute explicitly states that 

the contract bar activates during the term of any lawful collective bargaining agreement 

between a public employer and an exclusive representative." Thus, the plain language 

of the statute signals that the legislature intended the contract bar to apply to a broader 

scope of circumstances than merely an executed collective bargaining agreement. 

Having concluded that the statute contemplated contract bar coverage beyond 

an executed collective bargaining agreement, we must next determine if a fact-finder's 

recommendation is to be included. 0.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a) provides, in pertinent part 

that "if neither party rejects [the fact finder's] recommendations, the recommendations 

shall be deemed agreed upon as the final resolution of the issues submitted." In other 

words, so long as the fact-finder's agreement is not expressly rejected - whether it is 
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affirmatively approved or merely rejected by an insufficient majority - it shall become a 

governing, binding agreement between the parties. Logically, then, the fact-finder's 

recommendations along with the issues on which the parties had reached tentative 

agreement, constituted a "lawful collective bargaining agreement"; therefore, it falls 

within the literal scope of the "contract bar" doctrine. 

Furthermore, the Board has repeatedly recognized that an employer commits an 

unfair labor practice when it refuses to execute a collective bargaining agreement after 

ratification of the agreement or the imposition of an agreement by operation of law. 

See, e.g., In re East Palestine City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 86-011 (3-20-86); In re 

New Lexington Ed Assn/Ohio Federation of Teachers, SERB 95-009 (6-26-95). By 

precluding the parties' ability to choose whether or (generally) when to execute a 

collective bargaining agreement, the Board makes clear that a ratified agreement 

becomes legally effective before the agreement is executed. It is thus inescapable that 

after an agreement has been ratified but before it is executed, such agreement 

constitutes a "lawful collective bargaining agreement." 

Finally, AFSCME points our attention to legitimate policy reasons supporting this 

interpretation. To demarcate the line at executing an already binding agreement, as 

FOP favors, would confer upon the employer an effective veto power against the union. 

If it chooses, the employer may sign the agreement and submit to the duly elected 

employee representative; or instead, it may refuse to sign and leave open a window 

through which any rival union may enter and compete with the incumbent for 

representation rights. Indeed, noth'1ng in the language of the statute or consistent with 

the intent of the legislature convinces us that the legislature intended to give the 

employer such a power, and we decline to do so here. To conclude otherwise would 

not only run contrary to our previous holdings, it would drastically undermine the 

important balance between stability and free choice that the statute intended and that 

the Board has sought to maintain. 
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Ill. APPLICATION 

In the instant cases, the parties submitted their dispute for fact-finding. The fact

finder then issued its report on January 30, 2009, which incorporated "all tentative 

agreements reached between the parties during the course of negotiations" and set 

forth recommendations regarding the other unresolved issues. After the report was 

issued, the parties held ratification votes. As of February 5, 2009, both AFSCME and 

Multi-County had fully ratified the report. Multi-County then filed a Certification of Fact

Finding Vote accepting the fact-finding report and recommendations on February 6, 

2009. AFSCME followed, filing its Certification on February 9, 2009. Neither party 

rejected the report within seven days of its issuance (and in fact, voted for ratification). 

Therefore, the fact-finding report was "deemed agreed upon as the final resolution of 

the parties"; it constituted a "lawful collective bargaining agreement"; and it thus 

precluded the filing of a representation petition at that time. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Multi-County Juvenile Attention System is a "public employer'' as defined 

by O.R.C. § 4117.01(8). 

2. Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees, AFL-CIO is an "employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). 

3. The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

4. The FOP's Petitions for Representation Election were filed after the 

"contract bar'' went into effect and were barred, pursuant to 0.R.C. § 4117.07(C)(6). 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Petitions for Representation Election filed by 

the Fraternal Order of Police Election are barred, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.07(C)(6), and they are hereby dismissed. 

Vice Chairperson Verich and Board Member Spada, concur. 
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OPINION 

BRUNDIGE, Chairman: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the Municipal Construction Equipment 
Operators' Labor Council's ("Charging Party" or "Intervenor") filing of an unfair labor 
practice charge against the City of Cleveland ("the City" or "Respondent"), alleging that 
the Respondent engaged in direct dealing in violation of Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). The issue to be decided in this case is whether 
Respondent violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when Cleveland Mayor Frank 
Jackson made certain statements to a group of City employees during a February 16, 
2007 meeting at the City's Ridge Road Waste Collection Facility while negotiations were 
taking place between the City of Cleveland and several unions. For the reasons set 
forth below, we find that Respondent did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) 
when Mayor Jackson made statements to certain bargaining-unit employees during a 
February 16, 2007 meeting at the City's Ridge Road Waste Collection Facility. 
Therefore, we dismiss the complaint and dismiss with prejudice the unfair labor practice 
charge. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On April 9, 2007, the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor 
Council ("Charging Party") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of 
Cleveland ("Respondent") and Mayor Frank Jackson. On July 12, 2007, the State 
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Employment Relations Board ("SERB") determined that probable cause existed for 
believing Charged Parties had committed an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio 
Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by meeting with bargaining-unit 
employees in an attempt to intimidate and unfairly circumvent the bargaining process. 

On August 1, 2007, SERB issued "Finding of Probable Cause and Direction to 
Hearing." On October 2, 2008, SERB issued a Complaint and Notice of Hearing. 

On October 2, 2008, Charging Party filed with SERB an application for subpoena 
for Mayor Frank Jackson to require him to appear for a video deposition in this matter, 
and to produce certain documents. 

On November 5, 2008, Respondent filed "Motion to Quash Application for 
Subpoena, or in the Alternative, Motion for Protective Order." The Administrative Law 
Judge ("the ALJ") assigned to the case at that time issued a Procedural Order denying 
Respondent's "Motion to Quash Application for Subpoena, or in the Alternative, Motion 
for Protective Order." 

On November 12, 2008, the ALJ denied Respondent's "Motion to Quash 
Application for Subpoena, or in the Alternative, Motion for Protective Order." 

On November 20, 2008, Charging Party filed a motion to stay the proceeding in 
this case to allow Charging Party and Respondent "time to resolve their differences 
which may obviate the need for SERB to prosecute and take further action with respect 
to this case." The motion was unopposed. 

On November 28, 2008, Respondent filed "Respondent's Motion to Suspend 
Time to Move for Reconsideration of the Administrative Law Judge's Denial of Motion to 
Quash." That motion was unopposed. 

On December 11, 2008, the Board granted Charging Party's motion to stay and 
Respondent's motion to suspend time to move for reconsideration of the denial of the 
motion to quash. 

On January 8, 2009, Charging Party filed a "Motion to Lift Stay and Renew the 
Time to Move for Reconsideration." 

On May 29, 2009, the Board issued a "Directive Granting Motion to Lift Stay." 

On May 29, 2009, Respondent filed "Respondent City of Cleveland's Request 
for Reconsideration Regarding the Administrative Law Judge's Procedural Order." In its 
request for reconsideration, Respondent requested that the Board limit the documents 
requested by Charging Party in its October 2, 2008 subpoena application, contending 
that the request was overly broad. 
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On June 3, 2009, Complainant filed "Complainant's Memorandum Regarding 
Respondent's Motion for Reconsideration." 

On June 5, 2009, Charging Party filed a "Motion to Intervene and Opposition to 
Cleveland's Motion for Reconsideration of Discovery Order." On June 10, 2009, the 
ALJ granted the unopposed motion to intervene. 

On July 9, 2009, the Board voted to postpone the matter and to remand the 
motion for reconsideration to the Chief Administrative Law Judge and the ALJ assigned 
to the case for further review. ("Order of Postponement, and for Discovery 
Reconsideration") 

On August 5, 2009, Intervenor filed a "Motion for Orders to Reverse SERB's July 
9, 2009 Order of Postponement, and for Discovery Reconsideration." 

On August 20, 2009, the Board issued a Directive remanding the motion for 
reconsideration to the Chief Administrative Law Judge and the ALJ assigned to the case 
for further review ("Order of Postponement, and for Discovery Reconsideration"). 

On August 25, 2009, Charging Party/Intervenor filed a "Reply to [Complainant's] 
Opposition to Respondent's Motion for Orders to Reverse SERB's July 9, 2009 Order of 
Postponement and Remand for Discovery Reconsideration." Charging Party/Intervenor 
listed a series of complaints regarding the processing of this matter, including delays 
that it requested. 

In its August 25, 2009 filing, Charging Party/Intervenor also complained that it 
should have received a hearing within 10 days after the service of the complaint on 
October 2, 2008, pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.12(B)(1). In this Board's "Finding of 
Probable Cause and Direction to Hearing" issued on August 1, 2007, the Board stated 
that: 

"Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.12(B), if a party seeks 
to exercise its right to have the hearing conducted within 
1 O days of the issuance of the complaint, the party or its 
representative must give written notification to the 
Executive Director's office within 10 days of the receipt of 
this directive." 

Charging Party/Intervenor received the "Finding of Probable Cause and Direction 
to Hearing" on August 3, 2007. While Charging Party/Intervenor did submit a request 
for continuance of the ULP mediation scheduled for October 5, 2007, to November 5, 
2007, Charging Party/Intervenor did not submit a written notification to the Executive 
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Director's office requesting a hearing within 10 days of the issuance of the complaint as 
required by this Board's "Finding of Probable Cause and Direction to Hearing." 

In its August 25, 2009 filing, Charging Party/Intervenor also stated its desire that 
Mayor Jackson should appear for a trial deposition without delay and that "the hearing 
of the ULP complaint should be completed without further delay." 

On September 3, 2009, the Board responded to Charging Party/Intervenor's 
request that the hearing be completed without further delay and that Mayor Jackson 
should appear for a trial deposition. Specifically, the Board issued a Directive, which 
transferred the matter for hearing by the Board pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.12(B)(1). 
After transferring the matter to the Board for a hearing, the Board reconsidered 
Respondent's motion to quash and the scope of the subpoena duces tecum. In 
"Charging Party's Application for Subpoena" filed October 2, 2008, Charging Party 
requested that the duces tecum portion of the applied-for subpoena "require Mayor 
Jackson to produce the following categories of documents created or distributed from 
August 1, 2006 through the present": 

(1) all email, memoranda and other documents sent or 
received by Mayor Jackson, his office and direct 
reports with respect to Cleveland's position on pay 
raises and/or privatization of jobs currently performed 
by or affecting Cleveland's employees who are 
represented by any union; (2) all email, memoranda 
and other documents sent or received by Mayor 
Jackson, his office and direct reports with respect to 
Cleveland's employment and utilization or replacement 
of its construction equipment operator and master 
mechanic employees, including but not limited to their 
current or proposed compensation. 

Because the finding of probable cause and the complaint issued in this case 
concern whether or not Mayor Jackson made certain statements to members of a 
particular bargaining-unit on February 16, 2007, at the City's Ridge Road Waste 
Collection Garage, the Board determined that the documents requested by Charging 
Party were not relevant to this case. Accordingly, in its September 3, 2009 Directive, the 
Board granted Respondent's motion for reconsideration and its motion for protective 
order. In its September 3, 2009 Directive, the Board also ordered that the trial 
deposition of Mayor Jackson be conducted no later than October 2, 2009, unless the 
parties obtained the consent and approval of SERB's Executive Director to extend the 
time for trial deposition. The parties did not request an extension. The parties ultimately 
decided not to proceed with the trial deposition of Mayor Jackson. 

On October 21, 2009, a Notice of Hearing and Prehearing Order was issued to 
the parties, setting the evidential hearing before the Board on December 2, 2009 and 
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the prehearing before the Board' Staff Attorney on November 3, 2009. By agreement of 
the parties, the prehearing was rescheduled to November 4, 2009. 

On November 3, 2009, Charging Party emailed a motion to stay and continue the 
prehearing and record hearing. On behalf of the Board, the Board's Staff Attorney 
denied the motion to stay the prehearing. Accordingly, the prehearing was held on 
November 4, 2009. On November 6, 2009, Charging Party's "Motion to Stay Scheduled 
Pre-hearing and Hearing" was received by the Board. No response was filed to the 
motion by Counsel for Complainant or Respondent City of Cleveland. Although the 
prehearing had occurred, the Board took action on the motion to stay the hearing 
scheduled to begin on December 2, 2009. The Board voted to deny the "Motion to Stay 
Scheduled Pre-hearing and Hearing" on November 19, 2009. The Board issued a 
Directive denying the "Motion to Stay Scheduled Pre-hearing and Hearing." 

The evidentiary hearing in this matter was held before the full Board on 
December 2, 2009 and January 21, 2010, wherein testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented. 

Ill. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The following parties were present at the first day of the record hearing in this 
matter: Complainant was present through its representative Anne Light Hoke, Assistant 
Attorney General; Charging Party/Intervenor Municipal Construction Equipment 
Operators' Labor Council was present through its representative Stewart D. Roll, 
Attorney at Law; and Respondent City of Cleveland was present through its 
representative Jon A. Dileno, Attorney at Law. Also present at the first day of hearing 
was Theodora Monegan, Assistant Law Director for the City of Cleveland. 

As a preliminary matter, Mr. Roll moved for a continuance, or in the alternative, 
requested that the record be held open for the testimony of Chester Bill and Martin 
Kaznoch. The Board granted Mr. Roll's motion to hold the record open for further 
testimony of Mr. Bill and Mr. Kaznoch. 

At the first day of record hearing, Complainant called Frank Madonia as its first 
witness. Mr. Madonia testified that he is employed by the City of Cleveland as a master 
mechanic. Mr. Madonia noted that he has been the President of the Municipal 
Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council's bargaining unit in the City of 
Cleveland since 2002. Mr. Madonia was asked to describe a February 2007 
conversation he had with Martin Kaznoch, a bargaining-unit member. Mr. Madonia 
recalled that Mr. Kaznoch contacted him to express his disapproval of certain 
statements made by Cleveland Mayor Frank Jackson during a meeting that Mr. 
Kaznoch attended on February 16, 2007. 
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On cross examination, Mr. Madonia acknowledged that he was not present at the 
February 16, 2007 meeting attended by Mr. Kaznoch. 

Respondent called Randell Scott as a witness. Mr. Scott testified that he has 
been employed by the City of Cleveland for twenty-eight years. Mr. Scott testified he 
holds the position of Commissioner of the Division of Streets, which is a division of the 
City of Cleveland's Department of Public Service. He indicated that he has held that 
position for approximately sixteen years. Mr. Scott confirmed that there are a number of 
unions which represent employees who work in the City's Division of Streets, 
employees that include laborers, truck drivers, heavy equipment operators, and clerical 
workers. 

On direct examination, Mr. Scott recalled that a major snow storm hit the City of 
Cleveland during rush hour on or about February 14, 2007. He recalled that the City 
received 16 to 20 inches of snow in a short period of time, followed by very cold 
temperatures with icy conditions. The witness also recalled that employees in the 
Department of Public Service worked around the clock for the first 48 hours after the 
storm to clear the streets and provide waste collection services. Mr. Scott recalled that, 
a few days after the storm, he was notified by the Director of Public Service that Mayor 
Jackson planned to visit a number of the City's garages to personally thank employees 
for their hard work in clearing the streets and providing waste collection services after 
the storm. Mr. Scott stated that he organized a series of three "whistle-stop" meetings, 
which took place between the early morning shift changes on February 16, 2007. He 
recalled that he instructed the Commissioners of Waste Collection and Motor Vehicle 
Maintenance and the district supervisors of the Carriage Garage Facility, the Glenville 
Garage Facility, and the Ridge Road Garage Facility to gather as many of their 
employees as possible to meet with the Mayor on February 16, 2007. Mr. Scott 
indicated that he accompanied the Mayor as he visited the three garages, which were 
located at various points throughout the city. He stated that the meetings were informal 
and brief. 

The Ridge Road Waste Collection Garage at the Ridge Road Facility (Ridge 
Road Facility) was Mayor Jackson's last "whistle-stop" meeting on February 16, 2007. 
Mr. Scott described the Ridge Road Facility as a dual-purpose facility that operates one 
garage for the Division of Streets and one garage for the Division of Waste Collection. 
Mr. Scott recalled that, on the morning of February 16, 2007, there were approximately 
sixty to seventy employees who gathered in a semicircle in the Waste Collection garage 
at the Ridge Road Facility to hear Mayor Jackson speak. Mr. Scott stated that there 
were employees from Waste Collection and Motor Vehicle Maintenance, but he was not 
certain whether there were any employees from the Division of Streets present during 
the Mayor's visit to the Ridge Road Facility. Mr. Scott testified that Mayor Jackson 
thanked the employees for their hard work removing snow and collecting waste after the 
snow storm. Mr. Scott recalled that there were a couple of questions from employees 
who heard the Mayor speak. Mr. Scott stated that an employee from the Division of 
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Waste Collection asked the Mayor whether he was planning to privatize their jobs and 
another employee, possibly a heavy equipment operator, asked if the Mayor was 
planning to purchase new equipment. Mr. Scott stated that the Major responded to the 
employees' questions by stating that he was not planning on privatizing work, and, if the 
employees embraced technology and worked to become more efficient to save the City 
money, he told the employees he would reinvest money in the existing system and in 
new equipment. Mr. Scott recalled that the employees applauded the Mayor at the 
conclusion of the meeting. Upon further questioning, Mr. Scott testified that, during his 
meeting with employees at the Ridge Road Facility, the Mayor did not make statements 
that the City's three-year wage proposal was 0% the first year, 2% the second year, and 
2% the third year. He further testified that the Mayor did not state that it was less 
expensive to hire private contractors to perform work for the City. He also testified that 
the Mayor did not state that the employees should take what the City offers in contract 
negotiations. 

On cross examination by Intervenor's Representative, Mr. Scott stated that the 
meetings on February 16, 2007 were informal, and he indicated that the meetings were 
not recorded and no notes were taken. Mr. Scott was asked if he was familiar with 
Respondent's answer to paragraph 7 of the Complaint issued in this case. Mr. Scott 
responded that he was not familiar with the answer in paragraph 7. Upon further 
questioning, Mr. Scott reiterated that the Mayor did not make any statements in 
reference to the City's wage proposal. Mr. Scott indicated that he had no comment 
regarding the City's answer to paragraph 7 of the Complaint. 

The second day of record hearing was held on January 21, 2010. Complainant 
called Chester Bill as a witness. Upon direct examination, Mr. Bill testified that he is 
employed by the City of Cleveland as a construction equipment operator in the 
Department of Public Service, Division of Streets. He indicated that his job duties 
included road maintenance work and operating a front loader to load salt on the City's 
trucks. Mr. Bill recalled that he worked the 3rd shift at the Ridge Road Facility in 
February 2007. Mr. Bill indicated that he has been a member of the Municipal 
Construction Equipment Operators' bargaining unit in Cleveland since 2004, and he 
noted that has been the Vice President of the Union for the past two and one-half years 

Mr. Bill recalled that on the morning of February 16, 2007, the General Foreman 
informed him that Mayor Jackson would be meeting with employees of the Ridge Road 
Facility at 7:00 a.m. Mr. Bill stated that he was not told of the reason for the meeting. 
Mr. Bill stated that he had no recollection of a major snow storm hitting the City on or 
about February 14, 2007. Mr. Bill recalled that he walked to the Waste Collection 
garage where the meeting was to take place. He estimated that there were 
approximately fifty to sixty employees from 151 and 3rd shifts in the garage waiting for the 
Mayor to arrive. Mr. Bill indicated that there were employees from Waste Collection and 
drivers present at the meeting. 
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Upon further questioning, Mr. Bill testified that the Mayor walked in and 
immediately started to speak to the employees. Mr. Bill hesitatingly acknowledged that 
the Mayor congratulated the employees for their work. Mr. Bill then stated that all he 
remembered about the Mayor's visit was that the Mayor stated that the City's wage 
proposal was "0% the first year, 2% the second year, and 2% the third year." Mr. Bill 
testified that the Mayor pointed at the employees present and told them to make sure 
they learn each others' jobs, and if they did not like it, he could "get 'BFI' in here 
tomorrow." Mr. Bill stated that he interpreted the Mayor's statements to mean that the 
Mayor would privatize jobs and that he could lose his job. Mr. Bill testified that after the 
Mayor spoke about cross training and "BFI," he asked the Mayor if the City was 
planning to purchase new equipment. He recalled that the Mayor responded that the 
City would purchase new equipment in three years, when the City earned money from 
its recycle program. Mr. Bill stated that the meeting was brief and he went home at its 
conclusion. He further stated that he called Union President Frank Madonia to inform 
him of the Mayor's comments regarding privatization. Mr. Bill confirmed that he was 
bothered by the Mayor's comments regarding "BFI." 

Intervenor's Representative asked Mr. Bill if other people performed operators' 
jobs and if he believed that the Mayor's comment regarding privatization meant that he 
could lose his job. Mr. Bill answered both questions in the affirmative. When asked if the 
Mayor's statements concerned him as a negotiator, Mr. Bill answered in the affirmative. 

On cross examination, Mr. Bill acknowledged that no privatization has occurred 
in the City of Cleveland. Mr. Bill reiterated that he had no recollection of the February 
14, 2007 snow storm that prompted the Mayor to meet with employees at the Ridge 
Road Facility on February 16, 2007. Upon questioning regarding "BFI", Mr. Bill indicated 
that "BFI" is a private company. When asked if he knew whether "BFI" employs 
equipment operators, Mr. Bill stated that he did not know anything about the company. 
Mr. Bill was asked to name the other classes of employees who were present at the 
February 16, 2007 meeting at the Ridge Road Facility. In response, Mr. Bill stated that 
there were laborers, truck drivers, general asphalt foremen, and equipment operators 
present at the meeting. Mr. Bill indicated that there were ongoing negotiations for 
several union contracts in February 2007, but he did not know if all the contracts were 
being renegotiated. Upon further questioning, Mr. Bill stated that his question to the 
Mayor regarding new equipment came after the Mayor made his statement regarding 
"BFI." 

On redirect examination by Intervenor's Representative, Mr. Bill stated that the 
City has never required truck drivers to operate construction equipment. 

Respondent called Randell Scott as a rebuttal witness. Mr. Scott testified that the 
employees were made aware of the reason for the February 16, 2007 meetings with the 
Mayor. Mr. Scott stated that the purpose of the Mayor's meetings was to thank 
employees for their hard work plowing streets and performing garbage pickups after the 
February 14, 2007 snow storm. Mr. Scott stated that the Director of Public Service 
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instructed him to arrange the Mayor's meetings with employees and to gather as many 
employees as possible for these meetings. Mr. Scott indicated that there were drivers, 
equipment operators, laborers, and waste collectors present at these meetings. Mr. 
Scott stated that after the Mayor thanked employees at the Ridge Road Facility, the 
Mayor answered a couple of questions. He explained that the Mayor told the employees 
that they all needed to pitch in and help each other. He stated that the Mayor did not 
make any specific statements regarding cross training. Mr. Scott recalled that the Mayor 
stated that employees needed to pitch in and be more efficient and embrace cost saving 
measures. Mr. Scott stated that Mayor told employees that he had no intention of 
privatizing their jobs. Upon further questioning, Mr. Scott noted that the City purchased 
a front-end loader last year. 

Chester Bill was recalled as a witness. Mr. Bill stated that he could not recall if 
Mr. Scott was present for the Mayor's meeting at the Ridge Road Facility on February 
16, 2007. 

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The City of Cleveland ("the City") is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 
4117.01 (B). Frank Jackson is the Mayor of the City, and, as such, is an agent or 
representative of the City. 

2. The Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council ("the Union") is 
an "employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) and is the 
exclusive representative for the bargaining unit of the City's Construction 
Equipment Operators. 

3. In February 2007, the City of Cleveland was engaged in contract negotiations 
with several unions that represented City of Cleveland employees, including but 
not limited to, laborers, waste collectors, truck drivers, and heavy equipment 
operators. 

4. On February 14, 2007, the City of Cleveland experienced a severe snow storm. 
City employees in the Department of Public Service, including heavy equipment 
operators and waste collectors, worked hard to clear the streets and pick-up 
refuse in the aftermath of the storm. The City's Director of Public Service 
instructed Randell Scott, the Commissioner of the Division of Streets, to arrange 
a series of meetings with employees so that Mayor Frank Jackson could 
personally thank the employees for their hard work removing snow and providing 
waste collection services in the aftermath of the recent snow storm. 

5. Mr. Scott organized three "whistle-stop" meetings, which took place during the 
early morning shift changes on February 16, 2007. Mr. Scott instructed the 
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Commissioners of Waste Collection and Motor Vehicle Maintenance and the 
district supervisors of the Carriage Garage Facility, the Glenville Garage Facility, 
and the Ridge Road Garage Facility to gather as many of their employees as 
possible for Mayor Jackson's visits. Mr. Scott accompanied the Mayor as he 
visited the three garage facilities. The meetings were brief and informal, with a 
short period allotted for employees' questions. The Ridge Road Facility was the 
Mayor's last "whistle-stop" meeting on February 16, 2007. 

6. The Ridge Road Facility is a dual-purpose facility that operates one garage for 
the Division of Streets and one garage for the Division of Waste Collection. 

7. On February 16, 2007, approximately sixty employees gathered in a semicircle in 
the Waste Collection garage at the Ridge Road Facility to listen to the Mayor 
speak. Waste collectors from the Division of Waste Collection, equipment 
operators and other employees from the Division of Streets, and employees from 
the Division of Motor Vehicle Maintenance were present. There were at least 
three different unions that represented employees who attended the February 16, 
2007 meeting at the Ridge Road Facility. 

8. Chester Bill is employed by the City of Cleveland as a heavy equipment 
operation. He is a member of the City's Municipal Construction Equipment 
Operators' Labor Council's bargaining unit. The general foreman at the Ridge 
Road Facility instructed Mr. Bill to go to the Waste Collection garage for the 
Mayor's meeting on February 16, 2007. Mr. Bill was one of the approximately 
sixty employees who attended the February 16, 2007 meeting at the Ridge Road 
Facility. 

9. After thanking the employees gathered at the Ridge Road Waste Collection 
Garage for their hard work removing snow and performing waste collection 
services after the February 14, 2007 major snow storm, the Mayor, in direct 
response to a question from an employee regarding contract negotiations, 
referenced the City's wage proposal. In direct response to another question from 
an employee regarding privatization of jobs, the Mayor encouraged employees to 
learn each others' jobs in order to work more efficiently. 

V. DISCUSSION 

The issue to be decided in this case is whether Cleveland Mayor Frank Jackson 
made statements during a February 16, 2007 meeting with certain bargaining-unit 
employees at the City of Cleveland's Ridge Road Waste Collection Facility that 
constituted direct dealing in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (5). 

O.R.C. § 4117.11, states, in pertinent part: 
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(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the 
Revised Code ... 

* * * * 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative 
of his employees recognized as the exclusive representative 
certified pursuant to Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code ... 

* * * * 

A violation under O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) is committed when an 
employer deals directly with bargaining-unit members on mandatory subjects of 
bargaining affecting wages, hours, terms and other conditions of employment, 
circumventing the employees' certified exclusive representative. Past Board decisions 
have explored the issue of "direct dealing" and found that direct dealing "occurs when 
there is an attempt to deal with the union through the employees. rather than the 
employees through the union." Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd. of Ed., SERB 90-
003 (2-9-90) citing General Electric, 150 NLRB 192, 57 LRRM 1491 (1964) 

When a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is 
an objective one rather than a subjective one. In re Pickaway County Human Services 
Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services 
Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist. Ct. App., Pickaway, 12-7-95). A violation will be found 
if, under the totality of the circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the 
employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise of their O.R.C. 
Chapter 4117. rights by the public employer's conduct. In re Hamilton County Sheriff, 
SERB 98-002 (1-23-98), aff'd sub nom. Hamilton County Sheriff v. SERB, No. A98-
00714 (Mag. Dec., Cp Hamilton, 10-9-98). 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 
evidence that an unfair labor practice has been committed. (O.R.C. § 4117.12(B)(3)) In 
this case, the Complainant and Intervenor argue that the City violated Ohio Revised 
Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when the City's Mayor met with a number of the 
City's employees from various bargaining-units while the City and several unions were 
involved in contract negotiations and made statements to these employees that 
represented direct dealing. 

The issue in this case is a narrow one. Paragraphs 7, 8, and 9 of the Complaint 
issued in this case allege that during a meeting with a group of employees at the City's 
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Ridge Road Facility on February 16, 2007, Cleveland Mayor Frank Jackson made the 
following statements: 

(1) Addressed the City's ongoing collective bargaining 
sessions with the Union by stating that the Union negotiators 
would be offered wage increases at 0% for the first year, 2% 
for the second year, and 2% for the third year, and that as 
bargaining continued, the City would negotiate down, not up, 
from these levels. (Paragraph 7 of the Complaint) 

(2) Stated to the employees present that if they did not like 
the arrangement, they should quit and he will privatize their 
jobs. (Paragraph B of the Complaint) 

(3) Stated to the employees present that it is generally less 
expensive to privatize the City's workforce and have 
contractors worry about equipment costs than to purchase 
new equipment that the City cannot afford and that the 
employees should tell their unions to take what the City is 
offering during the negotiations. (Paragraph 9 of the 
Complaint) 

In its Response to the Complaint, Respondent denies that Mayor Jackson made 
the aforementioned statements. Respondent admits that the Mayor spoke to employees 
to thank them for their services performed during a snow storm, when, in direct 
response to questions initiated by employees regarding negotiations, the Mayor made 
reference to the City's wage proposal as well as the City's desire to create more 
efficient operations. (Respondent's Answer to the Complaint.) 

At record hearing, the following three witnesses offered testimony: Frank 
Madonia, who is employed by the City of Cleveland as a master mechanic; Randell 
Scott, who is employed by the City of Cleveland as a division commissioner; and 
Chester Bill, who is employed by the City of Cleveland as a heavy equipment operator. 

We first consider the testimony of Randell Scott, who was called as a witness by 
Respondent. Mr. Scott testified that he has been employed by the City of Cleveland for 
approximately twenty-eight years and has held the position of Commissioner of the 
Division of Streets for the last sixteen years of his employment. Mr. Scott testified that, 
in February 2007, the City of Cleveland was engaged in contract negotiations with 
several unions that represented City of Cleveland employees, including laborers, truck 
drivers, waste collectors, and heavy equipment operators. Mr. Scott testified that on 
February 14, 2007, the City of Cleveland experienced a severe snow storm. Mr. Scott 
testified that City employees in the Department of Public Service, including heavy 
equipment operators and waste collectors, worked hard to clear the streets and pick-up 
refuse in the aftermath of the storm. Mr. Scott testified that the City's Director of Public 
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Service instructed him to arrange a series of meetings with employees so that the 
Mayor could personally thank the employees for their hard work removing snow after 
the recent snow storm. 

Mr. Scott testified that he organized three "whistle-stop" meetings, which took 
place during the early morning shift changes on February 16, 2007. Mr. Scott instructed 
the commissioners of Waste Collection and Motor Vehicle Maintenance and the district 
supervisors of the Carriage Garage Facility, the Glenville Garage Facility. and the Ridge 
Road Garage Facility to gather as many of their employees as possible for the Mayor's 
"whistle-stop" meetings on February 16, 2007. Mr. Scott accompanied the Mayor as he 
visited the three garages. Mr. Scott described the meetings as brief and informal. with a 
short period allotted for employees' questions. The Ridge Road Facility was the Mayor's 
last meeting on February 16. 2007. Mr. Scott described the Ridge Road Facility as a 
dual-purpose facility that operates one garage for the Division of Streets and one 
garage for the Division of Waste Collection. Mr. Scott recalled that there were 
approximately sixty to seventy employees who gathered in a semicircle in the Waste 
Collection garage at the Ridge Road Facility to listen to the Mayor speak. Mr. Scott 
recalled that there were waste collectors, equipment operators, and employees from the 
Division of Motor Vehicle Maintenance present. Mr. Scott testified that a couple of 
employees asked the Mayor questions regarding privatization and new equipment. He 
testified that the Major responded to the employees' questions by stating that he was 
not planning on privatizing work. He testified that the Mayor stated that if the employees 
embraced technology and worked to become more efficient to save the City money, he 
would reinvest money in the existing system and in new equipment. Mr. Scott testified 
that the Mayor did not make any statements regarding the City's wage proposal. 

In evaluating the entirety of Mr. Scott's testimony, we find his testimony regarding 
the purpose of the Mayor's February 16, 2007 "whistle-stop" meetings and the 
arrangements made for these meeting to be credible. Complainant did not present any 
reliable testimony or evidence to rebut Mr. Scott's testimony in that regard. 

As to the statements made by the Mayor at the February 16, 2007 meeting, we 
note that Mr. Scott's testimony was not consistent with the Respondent's answer to 
paragraph 7 of the Complaint. Specifically, Mr. Scott testified that the Mayor did not 
make any statements regarding the City's three-year wage proposal. However. as we 
noted above, Respondent in its Answer to the Complaint explained the context and the 
nature of the statements made by the Mayor. Respondent admitted that the Mayor 
spoke to employees to thank them for their services performed during a snow storm. 
when. in direct response to questions initiated by employees regarding negotiations, the 
Mayor made reference to the City's wage proposal as well as the City's desire to create 
more efficient operations. Respondent never admitted that the Mayor made any specific 
statements regarding wage proposal percentages or bargaining up, not down. as 
alleged in paragraph 7 of the Complaint. 
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Complainant and Intervenor called Frank Madonia and Chester Bill as witnesses. 
Mr. Madonia, who is employed by the City of Cleveland as a master mechanic and who 
currently holds the position of Union President of the Municipal Construction Equipment 
Operators' Labor Council's bargaining unit in the City of Cleveland, testified that he was 
not present at the February 16, 2007 meeting at the Ridge Road Facility. Mr. Bill, who 
is employed by the City of Cleveland as a heavy equipment operator, testified that he 
was present at the Mayor's February 16, 2007 meeting at the Ridge Road Facility. Mr. 
Bill is a member of the Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council's 
bargaining unit in the City of Cleveland. Mr. Bill's job duties include road maintenance 
work and operating a front loader to load salt on the trucks. In February 2007, Mr. Bill 
worked the 3rd shift at the Ridge Road Facility. 

In evaluating the entirety of Mr. Bill's testimony, we find his testimony to be vague 
and unpersuasive. For example, Mr. Bill testified he recalled that the general foreman 
instructed him to attend the Mayor's meeting at the Ridge Road Facility on February 16, 
2007, but he indicated that the foreman did not tell him, or he did not remember being 
told, the reason for the meeting. Mr. Bill further testified that he was told "recently" that 
the meeting was called so that the Mayor could thank employees for their work 
removing snow after the February 14, 2007 snow storm. Moreover, even though Mr. Bill 
was responsible for loading salt on the City's trucks, he testified on both direct and 
cross examination that he had no recollection of the major snow storm that hit the City 
of Cleveland on February 14, 2007. Although Mr. Bill could not recall the February 14, 
2007 snow storm, he was able to recall that there were approximately sixty employees 
present at the February 16, 2007 meeting, and that these employees included laborers, 
truck drivers, general asphalt foremen, and equipment operator Martin Kaznoch. At one 
point during his testimony, Mr. Bill appeared to hesitatingly acknowledge that the Mayor 
did congratulate the employees for their work clearing the snow. However, he then 
testified tha t he did not remember the Mayor thanking employees and that all he 
remembered about the Mayor's visit was that he talked about ongoing negotiations with 
the union. Mr. Bill testified that the Mayor walked into the garage and immediately 
stated to the employees that the City's wage proposal package was "0% the first year, 
2% the second year, and 2% the third year." Mr. Bill offered no further testimony 
regarding the wage proposal statement. Mr. Bill went on to testify that the Mayor pointed 
at the employees present and told them to make sure they learn each others' jobs and if 
they did not like it he could bring in ''BFI" (a private waste collection operator) tomorrow. 
Mr. Bill testified that he interpreted the Mayor's statements to mean that the Mayor 
would privatize jobs and that he could lose his job. 

Mr. Bill's testimony regarding the alleged threat to privatize was unconvincing. 
First, we note that although Mr. Bill testified he was aware that "BFI" is a private 
company, he did not know the company's services and he did not know whether "BFI" 
employed equipment operators such as himself. Second, Mr. Bill's explanation as to 
why he thought his job as a heavy equipment operator with the Division of Streets would 
be in jeopardy was unclear. In that regard, Mr. Bill simply stated that there were "other 
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people" performing operators' jobs and that he believed that the Mayor's comment 
regarding "BFI" meant that he could lose his job. Mr. Bill offered no further testimony 
regarding the "other people" who allegedly were performing operators' jobs or the 
circumstances surrounding this alleged outsourcing of work. Additionally, we find Mr. 
Bill's testimony unconvincing because he alleges that the Mayor told employees he was 
planning to purchase new equipment for the City immediately after he supposedly 
pointed his finger at these employees and threatened to bring "BFI" in here tomorrow. 

After careful review of the testimony presented and evidence admitted, we find 
that the testimony and evidence failed to establish that the Mayor made the statements 
alleged in paragraphs 7, 8, and 9 of the Complaint. Regarding the allegations contained 
in paragraph 7 of the Complaint, we note that although the record established that the 
Mayor mentioned the City's wage proposal in response to a question from an employee, 
no testimony was presented to establish that the Mayor stated to the employees at the 
Ridge Road Facility that the City would negotiate down, not up, from its wage increase 
proposal. Regarding the allegations contained in paragraph 8 of the Complaint, as 
previously noted, we concluded that Mr. Bill's testimony on this issue was not 
convincing. Regarding the allegations contained in paragraph 9 of the Complaint, we 
note that no testimony was presented to establish that that the Mayor told the 
employees at the Ridge Road Facility that it is generally less expensive to privatize the 
City's workforce and have contractors worry about equipment costs than to purchase 
new equipment that the City cannot afford and that the employees should tell their 
unions to take what the City is offering during the negotiations. 

Having determined that Complainant did not prove the allegations as outlined in 
the Complaint, it remains to be determined whether the Mayor's statements regarding 
the City's wage proposal and working more efficiently constitute direct dealing in 
violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). As previously discussed, the testimony 
and evidence contained in the record established that the Mayor of Cleveland briefly 
met with three different groups of employees during the early morning shift changes on 
February 16, 2007. The meetings were arranged so that the Mayor could personally 
thank the employees for their hard work clearing the streets after the City's major snow 
storm of February 14, 2007. The Ridge Road Facility was the third and final meeting on 
February 16, 2007. The employees present during the Mayor's visit to the Ridge Road 
Facility included equipment operators from the Division of Streets, employees from the 
Division of Motor Vehicle Maintenance, and waste collectors from the Division of Waste 
Collection. There were at least three different unions that represented certain 
employees who were present at the February 16, 2007 meeting at the Ridge Road 
Facility. The testimony established that after thanking those employees for their hard 
work, the Mayor, in direct response to a question from an employee asking whether the 
Mayor planned to privatize their jobs, encouraged employees to learn each others' jobs 
in order to work more efficiently. In direct response to a question from another employee 
regarding negotiations, the Mayor referenced the City's wage proposal. 
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In considering the number of different unions that were serving as exclusive 
representative for employees who attended the February 16, 2007 meeting at the Ridge 
Road Facility, the innocuous purpose of the meeting, and the description of the 
statements made by the Mayor in direct response to employee questions, we conclude 
that the Mayor's statements did not rise to the level of direct dealing with employees of 
the City's Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council's bargaining unit. 
We further conclude that the Mayor's statements did not interfere with, restrain, or 
coerce members of the City's Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council's 
bargaining unit in the exercise of their rights under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117., 
or amount to a refusal to bargain with the exclusive representative of the City's 
Municipal Construction Equipment Operators' Labor Council's bargaining unit. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the City of Cleveland did not violate 
Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11(A}(1) and (A)(5) when Cleveland Mayor Frank Jackson 
made statements to certain bargaining-unit employees during a February 16, 2007 
meeting at the City's Ridge Road Waste Collection Facility. Accordingly, we dismiss the 
complaint and dismiss the unfair labor practice charge with prejudice. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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Respondent. 

Case Number 2007-ULP-10-0525 

OPINION 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment 

Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of joint stipulations by 

the parties and the subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. For the reasons set 

forth below, we find that Harrison Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA 

("Respondent" or "the Association") violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") 

Section 4117.11(B)(7) when its members engaged in picketing related to 

successor contract negotiations on a public street outside the place of private 

employment of Harrison Hills City School District Board of Education ("School 

Board") Board member Judy Crawshaw on or about September 26, 2007. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The Harrison Hills City School District Board of Education ("the School 

Board") is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). (Joint 

Stipulation of Fact ["J Stip."] 1) 



SERB Opinion 2010-007 
Case No. 2007-ULP-10-0525 
Page 2 of 7 

2. The Harrison Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA ("Respondent" or "the 

Association") is an "employee organization" as defined by Ohio Revised Code § 

4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive bargaining representative for a bargaining unit 

consisting of all regular part-time and full-time certified/licensed teaching 

employees of the Harrison Hills City School District. (J. Stip. 2) 

3. On October 9, 2007, the School Board filed an unfair labor practice charge 

with SERB pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(B) and 

4117.12(B) and Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-01, alleging that the 

Association had violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(B)(7) and (B)(8). The unfair labor 

practice charge also alleged that the members of the Association who engaged 

in the September 26, 2007 picketing at Judy Crawshaw's private place of 

employment carried an eight-foot sign. (J. Stip. 3) 

4. On January 24, 2008, SERB determined that probable cause existed for 

believing the Association had committed an unfair labor practice by engaging in 

picketing outside the private place of employment of a School Board member in 

violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(7), authorized the issuance of a complaint, 

referred the matter to hearing, and directed the parties to unfair labor practice 

mediation. SERB dismissed all other aspects of the charge, including the O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (B)(8) allegation, for lack of probable cause. (J. Slip. 4). 

5. The School Board and the Association were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement effective from July 1, 2004 through June 30, 2007 

("Agreement"); the Agreement contained a grievance process that culminated in 

final and binding arbitration. (J. Slip. 5) 

6. On or about April 16, 2007, the Association filed a Notice to Negotiate with 

the School Board for a successor agreement. (J. Stip. 6) 

7. On or about January 7, 2008, the parties entered into a collective 

bargaining agreement effective from July 1, 2007 through June 30, 2010. (J. Slip. 

8. Judy Crawshaw is a publicly elected member of the School Board, and as 

such she is a public official. (J. Slip. 8) 



SERB Opinion 2010-007 
Case No. 2007-ULP-10-0525 
Page 3 of 7 

9. As a member of the School Board, Judy Crawshaw served on the School 

Board's negotiating team, and as such she was a representative of the School 

Board. (J. Stip. 9) 

10. In addition to her public sector position with the School Board, Judy 

Crawshaw holds a private sector position with a company known as The Health 

Plan of the Upper Ohio Valley. Therefore, The Health Plan of the Upper Ohio 

Valley is Judy Crawshaw's place of private employment. The Health Plan of the 

Upper Ohio Valley is located at 52160 National Road, East St. Clairsville, Ohio, 

43950. (J. Stip. 10) 

11. On or about September 26, 2007, members of the Association engaged in 

picketing relating to the successor contract negotiations, a labor relations 

dispute, on a public street outside of Judy Crawshaw's place of private 

employment, The Health Plan of the Upper Ohio Valley. (J. Stip. 11) 

12. The Association members who engaged in the September 26, 2007 

picketing outside of Judy Crawshaw's place of private employme~nt did so under 

the inducement and/or encouragement of the Association's governing body. (J. 

Stip. 12) 

13. The members of the Association who engaged in picketing mentioned in 

paragraph 11 were aware that The Health Plan of the Upper Ohio Valley was 

Judy Crawshaw's place of private employment. (J. Stip. 13) 

14. On September 12, 2007, the Association issued a Notice of Intent to Strike 

indicating that its member would commence a strike against the School Board on 

October 1, 2007. (J. Stip. 14) 

15. The Association's members/bargaining-unit employees engaged in a 

strike from October 1, 2007 through October 11, 2007. (J. Stip. 15) 

16. On or about October 11, 2007, the Association and the School Board 

tentatively agreed on a successor agreement. (J. Slip. 16) 

17. The parties agreed to waive the evidentiary hearing in this matter and to 

submit this case on briefs and joint stipulations of fact directly to the State 

Employment Relations Board members. (J. Stip. 17) 



SERB Opinion 2010-007 
Case No. 2007-ULP-10-0525 
Page 4 of 7 

II. DISCUSSION 

The issue presented in this case is whether Respondent Harrison Hills 

Teachers Association violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) by engaging in picketing 

related to successor contract negotiations on a public street outside of Harrison 

Hills City School District Board of Education School Board member Judy 

Crawshaw's place of private employment on or about September 26, 2007. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) provides as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee 
organization, its agents, or representatives, or public 
employees to: 

*** 

(7) Induce or encourage any individual in connection 
with a labor relations dispute to picket the residence 
or any place of private employment of any public 
official or representative of the public employer[.] 

Respondent admits that it engaged in picketing related to successor 

contract negotiations, a labor relations dispute, on a public street outside of 

Harrison Hills City School District Board of Education member Judy Crawshaw's 

place of private employment on or about September 26, 2007 in violation of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(7). (Joint Stipulation #11, #12, and #13) 

In its post-hearing brief, Respondent argues that the unfair labor practice 

charge in this case should be dismissed because O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(7) is 

unconstitutional on its face and as applied. First, we note that this is not the 

proper forum in which to raise a constitutional claim as SERB is an administrative 

agency without authority to declare any portion of its enabling statute 

unconstitutional. "SERB, like other administrative agencies, does not have 

jurisdiction to determine [constitutional] claims." State ex rel. Rootstown Local 

School Dist. Bd. of Edn. v. Portage Cty. Court of Common Pleas (1997), 78 Ohio 
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St.3d 489, 494 (citations omitted) and SERB v. United Electrical, Radio and 

Machine Workers of America (SERB 95-014). Second, we note that it is 

axiomatic that all legislative enactments enjoy a presumption of constitutionality. 

Benevolent Assn. v. Parma (1980), 61 Ohio St.2d 375, 377. A court must, where 

possible, interpret a statute to avoid constitutional difficulty. Frisby v. Schultz 

(1988), 487 U.S. 483. "An enactment of the General Assembly is presumed to 

be constitutional, and before a court may declare it unconstitutional it must 

appear beyond a reasonable doubt that the legislation and constitutional 

provisions are clearly incompatible." State ex rel. Dickman v. Defenbacher 

(1955), 164 Ohio St. 142. SERB, likewise, must interpret and apply the statutory 

provision[s] in a constitutional manner and must presume that the statutory 

provisions are constitutional. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, AFL-CIO, SERB 96-

044 (4-8-96). 

The facts in this case are not in dispute. Respondent is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(0), and ("the School Board") is a 

"public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). Judy Crawshaw is a 

publicly elected member of the School Board, and as such she is a public official. 

On or about April 16, 2007, Respondent filed a Notice to Negotiate with the 

School Board for a successor agreement. On September 12, 2007, Respondent 

issued a Notice of Intent to Strike, indicating that its members would commence 

a strike against the School Board on October 1, 2007. On or about September 

26, 2007, members of Respondent engaged in picketing related to successor 

contract negotiations, a labor relations dispute, Therefore, the record has 

established that Respondent's conduct at the place of private employment of 

School Board member Judy Crawshaw on or about September 2.6, 2007 was in 

violation of Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11(B)(7). 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Harrison Hills City School District Board of Education ("the School 

Board") is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117 .01 (B). 
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2. The Harrison Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(0) and is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit for a bargaining unit consisting of all 

regular part-time and full-time certified/licensed teaching employees of the 

Harrison Hills City School District. 

3. The Harrison Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA violated O.R.C. § 

4117 .11 (B)(7) by picketing the place of private employment of School 

Board member Judy Crawshaw, a public official or representative of the 

public employer, on or about September 26, 2007. 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that Respondent Harrison Hills 

Teachers Association, OEA/NEA has committed an unfair labor practice in 

violation of Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11 (B)(7) by engaging in picketing 

related to a labor relations dispute at the place of private employment of 

School Board member Judy Crawshaw on or about September 26, 2007. 

Respondent Harrison Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

(1) Inducing or encouraging its members to engage in activity that 

violates Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11(B)(7) by engaging in picketing 

related to a labor relations dispute at the place of private employment of 

any public official or representative of the public employer, and from 

otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11 (B)(7). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Post the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 

Relations Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting 
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locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Harrison 

Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA work; 

(2) Provide all bargaining-unit employees represented by the Harrison 

Hills Teachers Association, OEA/NEA with a copy of the posting; 

(3) Provide The Health Plan of the Upper Ohio Valley with a copy of 

the posting; and 

(4) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 

twenty calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the steps 

that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Vice Chairperson Verich and Board Member Spada concur. 
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OPINION 

VERICH, Vice Chairperson: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations 

Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") upon the filing of joint stipulations by the parties and 

the subsequent filing of briefs by the parties. For the reasons set forth below, we find 

that the Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities violated Ohio 

Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11 (B)(B) by engaging in picketing activity related to 

contract negotiations outside of the public meeting of the Mahoning County Board of 

Developmental Disabilities 1 on November 5, 2007. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The Mahoning County Board of Developmental Disabilities ("BOD" or "the 

Employer") is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(8). (Stipulations of 

Fact ["Stip.") 1) 

1 The Mahoning County Board of Developmental Disabilities was formerly known as the 
"Mahoning County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities." Its name was 
changed after Senate Bill 79 was passed and signed into law in July 2009. 
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2. The Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities 

("Respondent" or "MEADD") is an "employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117 .01 (D) and is the deemed-certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit 

of BDD's employees. (Stip. 2) 

3. On November 27, 2007, BDD filed an unfair labor practice charge with 

SERB pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(8) and Ohio Admin. Code 

§ 4117-7-01, alleging, among other things, that MEADD violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(8) 

by engaging in informational picketing at a BDD meeting without providing notice ten 

days in advance. In defense of the charge, MEADD challenged, among other things, 

the constitutionality of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(8). (Stip. 3) 

4. On February 21, 2008, SERB determined that probable cause existed for 

believing Respondent committed an unfair labor practice by engaging in informational 

picketing at a BOD meeting without giving a ten day notice, authorized the issuance of a 

complaint, referred the matter to hearing, and directed the parties to unfair labor 

practice mediation. SERB found no probable cause and dismissed all other aspects of 

the unfair labor practice charge. (Stip. 4) 

5. BDD and MEADD are parties to a collective bargaining agreement 

effective from September 1, 2004 through August 31, 2007 ("the CBA"), which contains 

a grievance-arbitration procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. 

Negotiations over a successor collective bargaining agreement are ongoing. MEADD 

has not engaged in a strike or given to BDD or SERB written notice of its intent to strike. 

(Slip. 5) 

6. On or about June 28, 2007, MEADD filed a Notice to Negotiate with SERB 

and BDD to commence negotiations for a successor contract to the CSA. (Slip. 6) 

7. Beginning at 6:00 p.m. on November 5, 2007, BDD held a public meeting 

pursuant to O.R.C. § 121.22 at a facility known as "The Centre at Javitt Court," which is 

located at 153 Javitt Court, Austintown, Mahoning County, Ohio. (Slip. 7) 

8. At all times relevant, the property located at 153 Javitt Court has been 

owned by the Commissioners of Mahoning County, Ohio. During its normal hours of 
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operation, i.e., weekdays from 7:30 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., the facility is not usually open to 

the general public, but is used primarily as a habilitation center for medically fragile 

clients of BOD and is the site of a retirement program for senior citizens who are 

developmentally disabled; both of these operations are run by BOD pursuant to its 

authority under 0.R.C. §§ 5126.01 et seq. 153 Javitt Court is also one of four Mahoning 

County-owned locations at which BDD's public meetings are held on a rotating basis 

three to four times a year pursuant to O.R.C. § 121.22. (Stip. 8) 

9. Immediately prior to the November 5, 2007 meeting, MEADD, through its 

agents or representatives, engaged in picketing related to the successor contract 

negotiations outside of BDD's meeting. The picketers were expressing their desire for a 

fair contract and their dissatisfaction with the progress of negotiations with BOD. The 

picketing was peaceful in nature, and the picket signs contained messages such as 

"Settle Now," "MEADD Deserves a Fair Contract," and "Tell Superintendent Duck to 

Give us a Fair Deal."2 The picketing took place in the driveway of the 153 Javitt Court 

property located immediately outside the main entrance to the building. In this location, 

the picketers could be seen by members of the general public who were attending the 

BOD meeting as they entered the building. (Stip. 9) 

10. MEADD did not give written notice to BOD or SERB prior to engaging in 

picketing at BDD's November 5, 2007 meeting. (Slip. 10) 

11. The parties agreed to waive the evidentiary hearing in this matter and to 

submit this case on Stipulations and Briefs directly to the SERB members. (Slip. 11) 

II. DISCUSSION 

The issue presented in this case is whether Respondent Mahoning Education 

Association of Developmental Disabilities committed an unfair labor practice in violation 

of Ohio Revised Code §4117.11(B)(8) by engaging in picketing activity related to 

contract negotiations outside of the November 5, 2007 public meeting of the Mahoning 

2 At all times relevant to this matter, Larry Duck was the Superintendent of the 
Employer. 
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County Board of Developmental Disabilities. O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(8) provides as 

follows: 

(8) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its 
agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 

• • • 
(8) Engage in any picketing, striking, or other concerted refusal 

to work without giving written notice to the public employer and to the state 
employment relations board not less than ten days prior to the action. The 
notice shall state the date and time that the action will commence and, 
once the notice is given, the parties may extend it by written agreement of 
both. 

In In re Liberty Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 85-063 (12-6-85), SERB was 

presented with an allegation of picketing without notice in violation of O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11(B)(8), specifically, sympathy picketing by teachers toward striking non

teaching employees. A primary focus was directed to assess the intent in O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (B)(8) and to interpret the notice requirements therein. After identifying six 

interpretive options, SERB adopted two - options a. and f. - for the disposition of the 

probable-cause question in that case, to wit: 

a. The word "picketing" is qualified by "any." Therefore, statutory notice 
is required for all picketing, including sympathy picketing. 

• • • 
f. The General Assembly did not intend to restrict sympathy picketing by 

any requirements other than notice. 

Id at 207. SERB ultimately determined that sympathy picketing, without the prior written 

notice required by O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(8), constituted "a prima facie unfair labor 

practice." Id at 209. 

In In re University of Akron, SERB 86-010 (3-14-86), SERB was presented with 

an allegation of picketing without notice in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(8), 

specifically, the picketing of an investiture ceremony on the university campus. SERB 

held: "The charge does not allege a job action or labor dispute conjoined with the 

picketing. Under these circumstances the picketing is informational only and protected 
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by the picketers' 1•t and 14th Amendment right to freedom of expression." Id at 244 

(footnote omitted). No definition of what constituted "informational picketing" was 

included therein. 

In In re Ohio Civil Service Employees Assn, Local 11, AFSCME, SERB 94-009 

(5-26-94) ("OCSEA /"), SERB's Chief Hearing Officer was presented with an allegation 

of picketing without notice in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(S), specifically the 

picketing regarding the scheduling of employees and the payment of holiday premium 

pay at one of the employer's facilities, the Gallipolis Developmental Center ("the GDC"). 

The picketing occurred adjacent to and on the only road providing egress from and 

ingress to the GDC's facilities, although apparently not on the property owned by the 

GDC. The picketers were carrying signs and handing out leaflets related to the 

scheduling dispute to cars coming and going to the GDC's facilities. No bargaining-unit 

member participated in the "informational picket" during hours that he or she was 

scheduled to work. In the Hearing Officer's Proposed Order that was later adopted by 

SERB as a Board Opinion, the Chief Hearing Officer found that there was a labor 

dispute between the parties - an alleged breach of contract concerning holiday 

premium pay that could have been resolved in the parties' contractual grievance

arbitration process and that was actually resolved in a Labor-Management meeting. 

"[P]urely informational picketing related to First Amendment rights not intended to be 

regulated by [O.R.C.] Chapter 4117, such as in support of political candidates or 

general social issues not related to a labor relations dispute involving a public employer 

or public employee rights under [O.R.C.] Chapter 4117, is not subject to the notice 

requirements of [O.R.C.] § 4117.11(B)(8). Id at 3-63. 

In In re Ohio Turnpike Comm, SERB 95-014 (9-29-95), SERB was presented 

with an allegation of picketing at the residence of a public official or representative in 

violation of O.R.C. §4117.11(B)(7) and picketing without notice in violation of O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (B)(8). The charged party did not deny that its actions violated these two 

sections, but it argued that these provisions were unconstitutional. SERB found unfair 

labor practices had been committed and that it lacked authority to make a determination 
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on the constitutionality of these sections. On appeal, the Court of Common Pleas of 

Cuyahoga County affirmed SERB's order and also found that these sections were 

"constitutionally sound." United Electrical Radio v SERB, 1997 SERB 4-3 (GP, 

Cuyahoga, 2-12-97). On further appeal, the Eighth District Court of Appeals, in United 

Electrical Radio & Mach. v SERB, 1998 SERB 4-41 (81
h Dist Ct App, Cuyahoga, 5-7-98), 

held that the advance notice requirement in O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(8) was 

unconstitutional. It also held that the prohibition on residential picketing was 

unconstitutional, citing and following the Ohio Supreme Court decision in City of Seven 

Hills v. Aryan Nations (1996), 76 Ohio St.3d 304, which held that a trial court abused its 

discretion when it completely banned simultaneous residential picketing by groups with 

contrary views. This appellate decision was appealed to the Ohio Supreme Court, but 

the court did not accept the discretionary appeal. 

In In re City of North Royalton, SERB 99-002 (1-22-99), SERB was presented 

with an allegation that the employer had threatened bargaining-unit members with 

discipline, including discharge, if they exercised their right to picket, in violation of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1). This case involved a public employer's unfair labor practice as 

it unlawfully exercised a self-help remedy. SERB addressed in a footnote that since the 

Ohio Supreme Court declined to hear the appeal in United Electrical Radio & Mach. v 

SERB, supra, the appellate court decision "exists as binding precedent only in the 8th 

Ohio Appellate District, which is composed solely of Cuyahoga County." 

In In re OCSEA, AFSCME Local 11, SERB 2002-004 (10-30-2002) ("OCSEA //"), 

the SERB Administrative Law Judge was presented with an allegation of picketing 

without notice in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(8), again involving actions at the 

Gallipolis Developmental Center ("the GDC"). Four individuals (who were both union 

members and GOG employees), along with non-employees and a GDC employee in a 

bargaining unit represented by a different union, gathered at two locations near the 

GDC campus. One gathering was held on private church property; the other gathering 

was held on city park property alongside a public road. No GDC employee at the 

gatherings was on active work status. No work stoppage occurred during the 
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gatherings. Access to the GDC continued as usual during the time period of the 

gatherings. The Administrative Law Judge found that the picketing was intended to call 

attention to a proposed agency budget cut pending in the legislature by providing 

information to the local community about the loss of services that would be incurred by 

GDC's residents if the budget cut was enacted as proposed; the Union selected the 

date for the picketing precisely because of its proximity in time to finance committee 

hearings on the proposed budget cut. As such, the picketing was concerned with, and 

designed to impact, a matter under consideration by the State as lawmaker, rather than 

by the State as employer. Thus, in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, 

which was later adopted by SERB as a Board Opinion, the Administrative Law Judge 

found that the charged party did not engage in picketing related to a labor relations 

dispute or other activity intended to be regulated under O.R.C. Chapter 4117 and, 

accordingly, did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(8). 

The facts in the present case are not in dispute. Beginning at 6:00 p.m. on 

November 5, 2007, the Employer held a public meeting pursuant to O.R.C. § 121.22 at 

a facility known as "The Centre at Javitt Court," which is located at 153 Javitt Court, 

Austintown, Mahoning County, Ohio. Immediately prior to BDD's November 5, 2007 

meeting, Respondent, through its agents or representatives, engaged in picketing 

related to the successor contract negotiations in the driveway of the 153 Javitt Court 

property located immediately outside the main entrance to the building. The picketers 

were expressing their desire for a fair contract and their dissatisfaction with the progress 

of negotiations with the Employer. 

Respondent did not give written notice to the Employer or SERB prior to 

engaging in picketing at BDD's November 5, 2007 meeting. In Stipulation 9, 

Respondent admitted engaging in picketing activities related to a labor relations dispute 

with BDD in the driveway of 153 Javitt Court, Austintown, Mahoning County, Ohio on 

November 5, 2007. In Stipulation 10, Respondent admitted engaging in picketing 

without providing to BDD or SERB written notice of MEADD's intent to picket ten days 
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prior to the picketing. Therefore, the record established that Respondent's conduct on 

November 5, 2007, was in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(8). 

In its Answer to the Complaint issued in this matter, Respondent asserted as an 

affirmative defense that 0. R. C. § 4117 .11 (8)(8) does not require a ten-day notice prior 

to informational picketing. Even though Respondent did not develop this defense in its 

post-hearing brief, we still must consider this issue. We have long held that any 

picketing that relates to those activities intended by the legislature to be regulated by 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 and falling within SER8's jurisdiction pursuant to O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117 constitutes picketing subject to the notice requirements of 

§ 4117.11 (8)(8). See, e.g., In re University of Akron, supra at 244. Purely informational 

picketing related to First Amendment rights not intended to be regulated by O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117, such as in support of political candidates or general social issues not 

related to a labor relations dispute involving a public employer or public employee rights 

under O.RC. Chapter 4117, is not subject to the notice requirements of O.RC. 

§ 4117.11 (8)(8). See, e.g., In re University of Akron, supra; OCSEA I, supra at 3-62 -

3-63; OCSEA II, supra at 3-21. 

Restrictions on picketing are also recognized in the private sector. In National 

Labor Relations Board v. Retail Store Employers Union, 447 U.S. 607, 100 S.Ct. 2372 

(1980) ("Safeco"), a four-justice plurality held that, because Congress may prohibit 

picketing in furtherance of unlawful objectives, the application of section 8(b)(4), which 

is identical to the language in the Ohio statute, to the facts of that case (involving single 

product consumer picketing) did not violate the First Amendment. Justice Stevens also 

noted that "'the very presence of a picket line may induce action of one kind or another, 

quite irrespective of the nature of the ideas which are being disseminated. Hence those 

aspects of picketing make it the subject of restrictive regulation"' (quoting Justice 

Douglas's concurring opinion in Bakery Drivers v. Wohl, 315 U.S. 769, 62 S.Ct. 816, 

819-20 (1942)). Safeco, 100 S.Ct. at 2379-80. 

In this case, it is undisputed that the MEADD members who were picketing in the 

driveway of 153 Javitt Court on November 5, 2007, carried signs that contained the 
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following statements: "Settle Now," "MEADD Deserves A Fair Contract," and "Tell 

Superintendent Duck to Give us a Fair Deal." Respondent stipulated that the picketers 

were expressing their desire for a fair contract and their dissatisfaction with the progress 

of negotiations with the Board. (Stip. 9) These statements plainly focused on the 

parties' labor relations dispute, not any socio-political cause. Thus, this activity does not 

fall with the realm of "informational picketing." 

Lastly, in its post-hearing brief, Respondent argues that the unfair labor practice 

charge in this case should be dismissed because O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(7) is 

unconstitutional on its face and as applied. First, we note that this is not the proper 

forum in which to raise a constitutional claim as SERB is an administrative agency 

without authority to declare any portion of its enabling statute unconstitutional. "SERB, 

like other administrative agencies, does not have jurisdiction to determine 

[constitutional] claims." State ex rel. Rootstown Local School Dist. Bd. of Edn. v. 

Portage Cty. Court of Common Pleas (1997), 78 Ohio St.3d 489, 494 (citations omitted). 

Second, it is axiomatic that all legislative enactments enjoy a presumption of 

constitutionality. Northern Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Assn. v. Parma (1980), 

61 Ohio St.2d 375. As the Ohio Supreme Court has stated: "A regularly enacted 

statute of Ohio is presumed to be constitutional and is therefore entitled to the benefit of 

every presumption in favor of its constitutionality. This court has held enactments of the 

General Assembly to be constitutional unless such enactments are clearly 

unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." State ex rel. Dickman v. Defenbacher 

(1955), 164 Ohio St. 142, 147. Third, SERB must interpret and apply a statutory 

provision in a constitutional manner and must presume that the statutory provisions are 

constitutional. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, AFL-CIO, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). 

Accordingly, we find that Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11 (B)(8) is applicable in this 

case. Based on the discussion set forth above, we note that the record establishes that 

Respondent's conduct on November 5, 2007, violated Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.11(B)(8). 

O.R.C. § 4117.02(0) provides as follows: 
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Whenever the state employment relations board determines that a 
substantial controversy exists with respect to the application or 
interpretation of this chapter and the matter is of public or great general 
interest, the state employment relations board shall certify its final order 
directly to the court of appeals having jurisdiction over the area in which 
the principal office of the public employer directly affected by the 
application or interpretation is located. The chairperson shall file with the 
clerk of the court a certified copy of the transcript of the proceedings 
before the state employment relations board pertaining to the final order. If 
upon hearing and consideration the court decides that the final order of 
the state employment relations board is unlawful or is not supported by 
substantial evidence on the record as a whole, the court shall reverse and 
vacate the final order or modify it and enter final judgment in accordance 
with the modification; otherwise, the court shall affirm the final order. The 
notice of the final order of the state employment relations board to the 
interested parties shall contain a certification by the chairperson of the 
state employment relations board that the final order is of public or great 
general interest and that a certified transcript of the record of the 
proceedings before the state employment relations board had been filed 
with the clerk of the court as an appeal to the court. For the purposes of 
this division, the state employment relations board has standing to bring 
its final order properly before the court of appeals. 

In In re City of North Royalton, SERB 99-002 (1-22-99), SERB was presented 

with an allegation that the employer had threatened bargaining-unit members with 

discipline, including discharge, if they exercised their right to picket, in violation of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1). This case involved a public employer's unfair labor practice as 

it unlawfully exercised a self-help remedy. SERB addressed in a footnote that since the 

Ohio Supreme Court declined to hear the appeal in United Electrical Radio & Mach. v 

SERB, supra, the appellate court decision "exists as binding precedent only in the 8th 

Ohio Appellate District, which is composed solely of Cuyahoga County." 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Mahoning County Board of Developmental Disabilities (formerly 

known as Mahoning County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental 

Disabilities) is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 
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2. The Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities is an 

"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) and is the exclusive 

representative for a bargaining unit consisting of employees of the Mahoning County 

Board of Developmental Disabilities. 

3. The Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities 

violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(8) by engaging in picketing activities related to contract 

negotiations in the driveway of 153 Javitt Court, Austintown, Mahoning County, Ohio on 

November 5, 2007, without providing the Mahoning County Board of Developmental 

Disabilities and the State Employment Relations Board with written notice of its intent to 

picket ten days prior to the picketing. 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that the Mahoning Education Association of 

Developmental Disabilities committed an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio 

Revised Code § 4117 .11 (B)(B) by engaging in picketing related to a labor relations 

dispute without giving the required written notice to the Mahoning Board of 

Developmental Disabilities and the State Employment Relations Board ten days prior to 

the picketing. The Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities is 

ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Inducing or encouraging its members to engage in activity that 
violates Ohio Revised Code § 4117 .11 (B)(8) by picketing without providing 
the required written notice to the Mahoning Board of Developmental 
Disabilities and the State Employment Relations Board ten days prior to 
the picketing related to a labor relations dispute, and from otherwise 
violating Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11 (B)(8). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Post the Notice to Employees furnished by the State 
Employment Relations Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal 
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posting locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the 
Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities work; 

(2) Provide all bargaining-unit employees represented by the 
Mahoning Education Association of Developmental Disabilities 
Association with a copy of the posting; and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Brundige, Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

STATE OF OHIO, DEPARTMENT OF 
REHABILITATION AND CORRECTION, 
CORRECTIONAL RECEPTION CENTER AND 
VIRGINIA LAMNECK, 

Respondents. 

CASE NO. 08-ULP-12-0520 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 2, 2008, Robert F. Dalton filed an unfair labor practice charge 
against the State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, Correctional 
Reception Center and Warden Virginia Lamneck (collectively, "Employer"), alleging that 
the Employer violated Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and (A)(2). 1 On July 9, 
2009, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB," "Board," or "Complainant") 
determined that probable cause existed to believe that the Employer committed an 
unfair labor practice in violation of §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(2) by obtaining 
communications between Mr. Dalton and a grievant and using the information in a 
grievance-arbitration hearing. 

On October 26, 2009, a Complaint was issued. A hearing was held on 
January 15, 2010, wherein testimonial and documentary evidenc;e was presented. 
Subsequently, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Employer committed an unfair labor practice in 
violation of §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by obtaining communications 
between Mr. Dalton and a grievant and using the information in a 
grievance-arbitration hearing. 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all 
references to rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 41'I7, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). The 
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction ("DRC") is a state agency. The 
Correctional Reception Center ("CRC") is an institution within DRC. Virginia 
Lamneck is employed as the Warden at CRC and is an agent or representative 
of DRC. (S.1, 2) 

2. The Service Employees International Union, District 1199 ("Union") is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01(D) and is the exclusive 
representative for certain employees of the State of Ohio. (S.3) 

3. Robert F. Dalton was employed by DRC as a Psychologist Assistant 2 and was a 
"public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01(C). Mr. Dalton worked at CRC and 
also served as a Union Delegate during the time period relevant to the complaint. 
(S.4; Dalton, 00:01 :12-14) 

4. The State of Ohio and the Union were parties to a collective bargaining 
agreement ("CBA") effective from June 1, 2006 through May 31, 2009, that 
contained a grievance procedure culminating in binding arbitration. (S. 6; Exh. 1) 

5. Article 3.08 of the CBA provides, in part, as follows: 

When feasible ... Union delegates may utilize electronic mail 
and/or facsimile equipment solely for contract enforcement and 
grievance processing matters. Such transmissions will be primarily 
to expedite communication regarding such matters, will be 
reasonable with respect to time and volume, and limited to 
communications with the grievant, if any, appropriate supervisors 
and employee's staff representatives. 

Article 42.05 of the CBA provides as follows: 

No employee should have an expectation of privacy while on 
work time. The Employer may make reasonable use of technology 
to assure that employees are appropriately engaged in work 
activities while on work time. The Employer shall respect 

2 All references to the digital recording of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by the 
witness' name and approximate timing point. All references to the parties' stipulations of fact in 
the record are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number(s). 
References to the Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Exh.," followed by the 
exhibit number(s). References to the record in the Findings of Fact are for convenience only and 
are not intended to suggest that such reference is the sole support in the record for that related 
finding of fact. 
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employees' constitutional and legal rights when it uses technology 
as described in this Section. 

(Exh. 1, pp. 8, 125) 

6. In February 2008, bargaining-unit employee Marilyn Christopher, a Nurse 2 at 
Mansfield Correctional Institution ("ManCI"), filed an incident report, alleging that 
she had received harassing phone calls at work from a fellow employee. ManCI 
investigated the incident and determined that Correctional Program Coordinator 
and bargaining-unit-member Juanita Murphy was responsible for the phone calls. 
On March 12, 2008, following a predisciplinary hearing, DRC terminated 
Ms. Murphy's employment. (S.7; Murphy, 01 :51: Tobin, 03:59--04:11) 

7. On March 13, 2008, Ms. Murphy filed a grievance challenging her termination. 
Ms. Murphy listed three Union Delegates as her grievance representatives, 
ManCI Union Delegate Greg Morrow, Mr. Dalton, and Union Staff Organizer 
Kevin Muhammad. Mr. Dalton represented Ms. Murphy at various points in the 
grievance process and served as second chair at Ms. Murphy's November 7, 
2008 arbitration hearing, while Staff Organizer Muhammad served as first chair. 
(S. 8; Andrews, 04:40; Exh. 2) 

8. On March 19, 2008, Mr. Dalton sent a letter to ManCI Warden Stuart Hudson, 
informing Warden Hudson that Ms. Murphy would be represented at grievance 
Steps 4, mediation, and 5, arbitration, by Mr. Muhammad and Mr. Dalton. 
Mr. Dalton also provided names of employees the Union wanted to testify at the 
Step 4 and 5 hearings, including Ms. Christopher. (Exh. 4) 

9. Shortly after Ms. Murphy's termination, Mr. Dalton emailed Ms. Christopher, 
asking her to call him to discuss Ms. Murphy's case. In April 2008, 
Ms. Christopher forwarded this email to ManCI Labor Relations Officer ("LRO") 
Janet Tobin. Ms. Christopher told LRO Tobin that she, Ms. Christopher, was 
management's witness, and, as such, did not want to speak with Mr. Dalton. 
LRO Tobin told Ms. Christopher that Ms. Christopher could tell Mr. Dalton that 
she did not want to speak with him. On July 1, 2008, Ms. Christopher sent an 
email to LRO Tobin in which she summarized a phone call she had received from 
Mr. Dalton on her personal cell phone the previous day. (Tobin, 03:59-04: 11; 
Exhs. 15, 16) 

10. Because Mr. Dalton resided in Westerville and worked in Columbus, while 
Ms. Murphy resided in Mansfield, they communicated about her grievance 
primarily via email. On June 30, 2008, an email correspondence between 
Mr. Dalton and Ms. Murphy with the subject line, "quick," commenced. The email 
contained a description of Mr. Dalton's attempt to contact Ms. Christopher to 
discuss Christopher's potential testimony at Murphy's arbitration. In the email, 
Mr. Dalton requested Ms. Christopher's phone number because Mr. Muhammad 
wanted Mr. Dalton to call her to "see if [Mr. Dalton] could soften her stance." On 
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or about July 1, 2008, Dalton telephoned Ms. Christopher, but she refused to talk 
with him about the arbitration. (Exh. 3; Dalton, 00:27-00:29, 00:57-00:59) 

11. On July 7, 2008, continuing the "quick" email chain, Ms. Murphy emailed 
Mr. Dalton to ask if "it worked," referring to contacting Christopher. On July 7, 
2008, Mr. Dalton responded that it did not work and that Ms. Christopher did not 
want to talk to him. The email chain continues on July 8, 2008, when 
Ms. Murphy states, "Maybe if we told her we wouldn't drag her through all the 
ugly stuff she has done it would help! I don't know! Did she say anything?" 
Mr. Dalton responded, "Nothing. I hope she doesn't show (to the arbitration.] She 
didn't want to talk about it." Mr. Dalton never attempted to contact 
Ms. Christopher after the July 1, 2008 phone call where Ms. Christopher told 
Mr. Dalton that she did not want to discuss Ms. Murphy's arbitration. (Dalton, 
00:59-01 :01; Exh. 3) 

12. Jon Fausnaugh was employed as an Investigator at CRC for 16 years preceding 
his October 21, 2008 retirement. Mr. Fausnaugh's duties included investigating 
allegations of staff and inmate misconduct. On June 30, 2008, Warden Lamneck 
assigned Mr. Fausnaugh to investigate an incident report filed by CRC employee 
Robin Cooper-Muntz involving Mr. Dalton. Ms. Cooper-Muntz had attached 
various email exchanges between Mr. Dalton and herself to the incident report. 
After reviewing the email exchanges and interviewing Mr. Dalton, Mr. Fausnaugh 
became concerned that Mr. Dalton was engaging in inappropriate political activity 
on work time. (Fausnaugh 02:52, 02:54, 03:20-03:22; Exh. 8) 

13. On July 21, 2008, Warden Lamneck requested that DRC Chief Inspector Gary 
Croft approve access to Mr. Dalton's DRC email and CRC server accounts, and 
on the same day Mr. Croft approved access for Warden Lamneck and 
Investigator Fausnaugh. At the time Mr. Fausnaugh began reviewing 
Mr. Dalton's emails, he was aware that Dalton was an SEIU delegate who 
handled grievances. Mr. Fausnaugh had access to Mr. Dalton's accounts until 
August 18, 2008, and he reviewed a vast quantity of Mr. Dalton's email, dating 
back to 2006. Searching for evidence of inappropriate political activity, 
Mr. Fausnaugh opened each email, read it, closed it, and moved on to the next. 
During this process, Mr. Fausnaugh read the email chain between Mr. Dalton 
and Ms. Murphy with the subject line, "quick." The email chain, which is 
contained in Exhibit 3, included the messages sent from June 30, 2008 through 
July 8, 2008 described in Paragraphs 10-11 hereof. Mr. Fausnaugh became 
curious. Not knowing who Ms. Murphy was, Mr. Fausnaugh contacted CRC's 
LRO, Cathy Merrill. LRO Merrill informed him that Ms. Murphy was a grievant 
formerly employed at ManCI, that Mr. Dalton was her Union delegate, and that 
the emails were related to Ms. Murphy's ongoing grievance. (S. 10; Fausnaugh, 
02:54 to 03:22; Exhs. 3, 5, 8, 9) 

14. LRO Tobin sent Mr. Fausnaugh the April and July 2008 emails she had received 
from Ms. Christopher. (Fausnaugh, supra; Tobin, 03:59-04:11; Exhs. 15, 16) 
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15. During the week preceding Ms. Murphy's arbitration hearing, Mr. Fausnaugh and 
LRO Merrill called the Office of Collective Bargaining ("OCB") and spoke with two 
OCB employees, one of whom was Buffy Andrews, DRC's first-chair 
representative in Ms. Murphy's arbitration. During this phone call, 
Mr. Fausnaugh and LRO Merrill discussed Mr. Dalton's alleged political activity 
and then raised Mr. Fausnaugh's alleged concern that Mr. Dalton was trying to 
intimidate a witness in a pending grievance. Realizing that Mr. Fausnaugh was 
referring to Ms. Murphy's grievance, Ms. Andrews asked Mr. Fausnaugh to 
provide her with the June 30-July 8, 2008 email chain between Mr. Dalton and 
Ms. Murphy. Mr. Fausnaugh complied. Ms. Andrews and Mr. Muhammad 
already had exchanged witness lists and documents. Ms. Andrews did not 
supplement her documents by providing the Union with a copy of the email chain 
she had received from Mr. Fausnaugh, nor did she notify the Union of the 
possibility of using this email chain in the arbitration hearing. (Andrews, 04:51-
04:57) 

16. During Ms. Murphy's November 7, 2008 arbitration hearing, DRC called 
Ms. Christopher as a management witness. While questioning Ms. Christopher, 
Ms. Andrews showed the witness the June 30-July 8, 2008 email chain between 
Mr. Dalton and Ms. Murphy. (S. 11; T.; Exh. 3) 

17. Recognizing the email chain, Mr. Dalton, who was present at the arbitration, 
interrupted the proceedings, announcing that the email chain was his. (Dalton, 
01:04; Andrews, 04:10) 

18. On February 6, 2009, the Arbitrator issued her Opinion and Award finding just 
cause for Ms. Murphy's termination and denying the grievance. (Exh. 2) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Employer is alleged to have violated §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(2), which 
provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117 ... [;] 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation or 
administration of any employee organization, or contribute financial or 
other support to it; except that a public employer may permit employees to 
confer with it during working hours without loss of time or pay, permit the 
exclusive representative to use the facilities of the public employer for 
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membership or other meetings, or permit the exclusive representative to 
use the internal mail system or other internal communications system [.] 

In In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), affd 
sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist Ct App, 
Pickaway, 12-7-95)("Pickaway"), SERB held that when a violation of § 4117.11 (A)(1) is 
alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an objective rather than a subjective one. It must be 
determined whether, under all the facts and circumstances, one could reasonably 
conclude that employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise of 
their Chapter 4117 rights by the employer's conduct. Sections 4117.03(A)(1)-(2) provide 
as follows: 

(A) Public employees have the right to: 

(1) Form, join, assist, or participate in, or refrain from forming, joining, 
assisting, or participating in, except as otherwise provided in Chapter 4117 
of the Revised Code, any employee organization of their own choosing; 

(2) Engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective 
bargaining or other mutual aid and protection [.] 

A thorough review of totality of the circumstances under which the alleged conduct 
occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights of employees must be part of the 
inquiry. Pickaway, supra. 

The question presented is whether the Employer violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and 
(A)(2) when it obtained Mr. Dalton's email messages on the Employer's email system 
without his knowledge and used the email chain contained in Exhibit 3 in Ms. Murphy's 
arbitration proceeding. The Employer argues that Mr. Dalton had no "reasonable 
expectation of privacy" in his work email account. This argument inappositely 
characterizes the issue. Mr. Dalton had the contractual right to use the Employer's email 
system for Union business. As is fully set forth below, the contract language and 
§ 4117.03(A) clearly give Mr. Dalton the right to use the emplojer's email equipment for 
union purposes without unlawful surveillance by the Employer. 

3 In addition, the Employer argues that email on its email system may constitute a public 
record. This argument also mischaracterizes the issue. Moreover, not all emails generated by a 
public agency are "public records" subject to Ohio's Public Records Act. The Ohio Supreme 
Court has held that emails circulated only to a few co-workers that did not document employer 
policy or procedures and were not used to conduct department business do not constitute public 
records. State ex rel. Wilson-Simmons v. Lake Cly Sherriff's Dept. (1998), 82 Ohio St.3d 37, 41. 
The email chain contained in Exhibit 3 was an exchange between two people, only one of whom 
was a current employee. As a Union communication, it did not document any Employer policy 
or procedure, and was not used to conduct Employer business. 

---·--· .. ---·-··--- . 



SERB Opinion 2010-009 
Case No. 2008-ULP-12-0520 
Page 7 

The core issue before SERB, whether the Employer has engaged in unlawful 
surveillance, is one of first impression. Since there is no SERB precedent on point, it is 
helpful to look at precedent from the National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB"). NLRB 
precedent can be instructive when SERB has no binding precedent. The NLRB has held 
as follows: "[A]n employer's mere observation of open, public union activity on or near 
its property does not constitute unlawful surveillance ... the inquiry is whether the [act 
which brought the surveillance charge] has a reasonable tendency to interfere with 
protected activity under the circumstances in each case." Washington Fruit and Produce 
Co., 343 NLRB 1215, 1217 (2005) (citing F.W. Woolworth Co., 310 NLRB 1197 
(1993))("Washington Fruit"). Unlawful surveillance, according to the NLRB, is found 
when, absent proper justification, an employer engages in surveillance of protected 
employee activities and that surveillance "has a tendency to intimidate." Woolworth, 
supra, at 1197. A "mere belief that some misconduct might be afoot" does not justify an 
employer's improper surveillance when, on balance, that surveillance has a tendency to 
interfere with employees' right to engage in protected activity. Id .. (citing Flambeau 
Plastics Corp., 167 NLRB 735, 743 (1967), enfd. 401 F.2d 128, 136 (7th Cir. 1968); 
accord NLRB v. Colonial Haven Nursing Home, 542 F.2d 691, 701 (7th Cir. 1976) ("the 
Board may properly require a company to provide solid justification for its resort to 
anticipatory photographing.")). Examples of proper employer justification for surveillance 
include legitimate employer interests in protecting safety or preventing trespass. 
Washington Fruit, supra. 

Therefore, the appropriate analysis is as follows: (1) did protected activity occur; 
(2) did the employer engage in an act of surveillance of that activity; (3) did the 
surveillance have a tendency to interfere with the protected activity under the 
circumstances of the case; (4) did the employer demonstrate solid justification for the 
surveillance; and, if so, (5) does the employer's proffered reason for the surveillance 
justify the potential interference with protected activity. 

Application of this analysis leads to the conclusion that the actions taken by 
Ms. Andrews, an agent of the Employer, violated § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). As a Union delegate, 
Mr. Dalton had the right under the CBA to use his work email account for Union 
business. While communicating with Ms. Murphy via the email system, Mr. Dalton was 
undoubtedly acting in his union capacity, as he was communicating with her about 
strategies and tactics to be used at her upcoming grievance arbitration. Mr. Dalton was 
clearly designated as Ms. Murphy's union representative for the arbitration during this 
time. Consequently, the email chain Mr. Fausnaugh read during his investigation 
contained protected union activity. Mr. Fausnaugh's actions constitute "surveillance," as 
that term is normally understood, as he was searching through Mr. Dalton's work email 
looking for information to aid in an investigation of Mr. Dalton. 

However, Mr. Fausnaugh, and therefore the Employer, had a legitimate purpose 
in observing and reading the email chain. Mr. Fausnaugh's actions in reviewing 
Mr. Dalton's email for possible political activity were sanctioned under § 42.05 of the 
CBA. Also, it was not immediately clear from the subject line of the email chain, "quick," 
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that the emails contained therein concerned protected Union activity. However, after 
reading the bodies of the emails and speaking with Ms. Merrill, it became obvious the 
emails contained protected Union communications. It is logical to divide the actions 
taken by the Employer into two: the first being Mr. Fausnaugh's discovery and reading 
of the email chain, and the second being the eventual delivery of the email chain to 
Ms. Andrews and her use of it at Ms. Murphy's arbitration. As Washington Fruit and 
Woolworth inform, it is not the act of surveillance itself, but the interference and chilling 
effect on protected activity that is the focus. Going by this instructive doctrine, 
Mr. Fausnaugh's incidental discovery and reading of the email chain was not unlawful 
surveillance; however, Mr. Fausnaugh's communication and forwarding of the email 
chain to OCB and Ms. Andrews' use of the email at arbitration were unlawful because of 
the "tendency to intimidate" public employees in their exercise of protected activity and 
the Employer's lack of proper, solid justification for these actions. 

When Ms. Andrews used the email chain at the arbitration, she interfered with 
protected activities because her action s created a chilling effect. The CBA clearly 
designates email as an appropriate forum to expedite communication about specified 
union matters, including grievances, among Union representatives and the grievants 
they represent. If union members fear that their protected emails are going to be used 
against them, one can readily assume that they will stop using email as a form of 
communication. 

The Employer's alleged legitimate interest in discovering Mr. Dalton's misuse of 
the email system does not justify Ms. Andrews' use of Exhibit 3 in Ms. Murphy's 
arbitration. The scope of Mr. Fausnaugh's investigation did not include email related to 
Mr. Dalton's representation of Ms. Murphy or any of Mr. Dalton's grievance-processing 
activities. Simply put, the Employer's legitimate interest in surveilling this email chain 
ended at the moment Mr. Fausnaugh was informed by Ms. Merrill that the email chain 
related to Mr. Dalton's functions as a grievance representative. The Employer was not 
justified in going beyond mere observation and reading of the email chain. 

The Employer argues that it was justified in printing, sharing, and using Exhibit 3 
at Ms. Murphy's arbitration because it believed that bodies of the emails suggested that 
Mr. Dalton was attempting to coerce witness Christopher to change her testimony. 
However, before the arbitration hearing, Ms. Andrews and management's second-chair 
representative, Labor Relations Officer Tobin, already had Ms. Christopher's own rough 
transcript of the single phone conversation Mr. Dalton had with Ms. Christopher 
regarding her testimony at the arbitration.4 It is apparent from reading Ms. Christopher's 
own recollection that Mr. Dalton was not acting coercively. Mr. Dalton set forth the 
Union's position regarding Ms. Murphy's arbitration and asked Ms. Christopher about 
hers. However, he was not aggressive and did not continue to pursue her after she 
declined to respond and terminated the conversation. Mr. Dalton and the Union never 
contested the fact that Mr. Dalton attempted to contact Ms. Christopher before 

4 Exh.15. 
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Ms. Murphy's arbitration, and it is undisputed that Mr. Dalton never again contacted 
Ms. Christopher after the phone call in which she rebuffed him. 

The Employer's proffered justification for introducing the email chain is not 
persuasive. The Employer even concedes that its use of the email chain at arbitration 
"merely ... reinforced Christopher's testimony as to a collateral, non-decisive point on 
which the union introduced no contrary evidence." (Respondent's Post-Hearing Brief 
at 14). The Union did not present contrary evidence because it did not dispute the fact 
that Mr. Dalton had contacted Ms. Christopher.5 Ms. Andrews introduced the email 
chain while Ms. Christopher was testifying. Ms. Christopher was not a party to the email 
chain; therefore, it was not introduced for her to authenticate. Nor was the email chain 
used to impeach Ms. Murphy; she had not yet testified. In proffering the email chain, 
the only conceivable goal the Employer had was to inflame the arbitration proceedings. 
The email was introduced in an effort to convince the arbitrator that the Union planned 
to intimidate Ms. Christopher by threatening to "drag her through the ugly stuff'; 
however, the evidence is clear that Mr. Dalton was not receptive to Ms. Murphy's 
suggestion and never again contacted Ms. Christopher after his initial call. No legitimate 
justification existed for the Employer to use Exhibit 3. Thus, on balance, its use at the 
arbitration unreasonably chilled the exercise of protected union activity. 

Viewed objectively in accordance with the foregoing factual and legal 
circumstances, it can only be concluded that the Employer violated § 4117.11 (A)(1) 
when it used the emails during Ms. Murphy's arbitration, causing a chilling effect on the 
negotiated right to use the Employer's email equipment for protected union activity. The 
Employer also violated § 4117 .11 (A)(2). Mr. Dalton had the right to use the email system 
to perform his duties as a Union delegate. The Employer interfered with the 
administration of the Union when it sent the email chain to OCB and when Ms. Andrews 
introduced it at the arbitration. 

B. The Remedy 

The Board should issue a cease and desist order and a notice posting in 
accordance with § 4117.11 (B)(3). Complainant also requests an order reinstating 
Ms. Murphy with back pay. Before her termination, Ms. Murphy admitted to engaging in 
the behaviors that caused the Employer to remove her. A review of the arbitration 
award reveals that the arbitrator focused her opinion on an analysis of the evidence 
before the ManCI Warden at the time of Ms. Murphy's March 2008 termination and 
considered all mitigating factors presented by the Union at arbitration. The arbitrator did 
not rely upon the email chain in making her findings. 6 Consequently, the cease and 

5 Likewise, Ms. Andrews and Ms. Tobin contacted Union witnesses, including ManCI 
employee and bargaining-unit member Tina McKeever Dorsey, asking them about their 
testimony before the arbitration hearing. (Dorsey, 03:44-03:49) Ms. Andrews even claimed it 
was standard practice between herself and the Union to interview each other's witnesses 
outside the other's presence. (Andrews, 05:03-05:07) 

6 Exh. 2, Opinion and Award, pp. 11-13. 
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desist order and notice posting will serve as a full and equitable remedy to address the 
violations of§§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and (A)(2). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117.01(B). The 
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction ("DRC") is a state agency. The 
Correctional Reception Center ("CRC") is an institution within DRC. Virginia Lamneck is 
employed as the Warden at CRC and is an agent or representative of DRC. 

2. The Service Employees International Union, District 1199 ("Union") is an 
"employee organization" as defined by§ 4117.01(D) and is the exclusive representative 
for certain employees of the State of Ohio. 

3. Robert F. Dalton is a "public employee" as defined by § 4117.01 (C). 

4. The State of Ohio, by and through its agents described in Conclusion of 
Law 1 above, violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2). 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant to 
Ohio Revised Code § 4117.12(B)(3), requiring the State of Ohio to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the 
exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117 by usin g email communications between a Union 
delegate and a grievant in the grievant's arbitration hearing, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(1); 

(2) Initiating, creating, dominating, or interfering with the 
formation or administration of an employee organization by using 
email communications between a Union delegate and a grievant in 
the grievant's arbitration hearing, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11 (A)(2). 
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B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the 
Service Employees International Union, District 1199, work, the 
Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board stating that the State of Ohio, the Department of 
Rehabilitation and Correction, and the Correctional Reception 
Center shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes 
final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chairperson Brundige, Vice Chairperson Verich, and Board Member 
Spada: May 6, 2010. 

On December 2, 2008, Robert F. Dalton filed an unfair labor practice charge 
against the State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, Correctional 
Reception Center and Warden Virginia Lamneck (collectively "the Respondent"). On 
July 9, 2009, the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or "Complainant") 
determined that probable cause existed for believing the Respondent had committed or 
was committing an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") 
§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (2), authorized the issuance of a complaint, and referred the matter 
to hearing. 

On October 26, 2009, a Complaint was issued. An Answer was filed by 
Respondent on November 9, 2009. On January 15, 2010, a hearing was conducted by 
an Administrative Law Judge. On March 4, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge's 
Proposed Order was issued. On March 29, 2010, the Respondent filed exceptions to 
the Proposed Order. On April 1, 2010, Counsel for Complainant filed a motion for 
extension of time to file its response to the Respondent's exceptions. On April 15, 
2010, Counsel for Complainant filed its response to exceptions. 

Counsel for Complainant's motion for extension of time is granted. After 
reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, Complaint, Answer, Proposed Order, 
exceptions, response to exceptions, and all other filings in this case, we adopt the 
Findings of Fact, Analysis and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the Administrative 
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Law Judge's Proposed Order, incorporated by reference, finding that the Respondent 
violated Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by obtaining communications 
between Mr. Dalton and a grievant and using the information in a grievance-arbitration 
hearing. 

The State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, Correctional 
Reception Center and Warden Virginia Lamneck is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, and initiating, 
creating, dominating, or interfering with the formation or administration of 
an employee organization, by using e-mail communications between a 
Union delegate and a grievant in the grievant's arbitration hearing, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Post the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board for sixty days in all of the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the 
Service Employees International Union, District 1199 work; and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson; VERICH, Vice Chairperson; and SPADA, Board 
Member, concur. 
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TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117 .13(D) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 
1ih Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code 
Rule 4117-7-07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 

this ,.Zf-IA day of May, 2010. 

SANDRA A.M. IVERSEN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 

OPIN IONS/2010-009-ord 



NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 
FROM THE STATE EMPLOYMENT 

RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State Employment 
Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered us to post this notice. 
We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, and initiating, creating, dominating, or 
interfering with the formation or administration of an employee organization, by using e
mail communications between a Union delegate and a grievant in the grievant's 
arbitration hearing, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) 
and (A)(2). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where bargaining
unit employees represented by the Service Employees International Union, 
District 1199, work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and 
Correction, the Correctional Reception Center and Virginia Lamneck shall cease 
and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative 
action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty calendar days 
from the date the ORDER becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 
comply therewith. 

SERB v. State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, Correctional 
Reception Center and Virginia Lamneck, Case No. 2008-ULP-12-0520 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for 60 consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be 
altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 



SERB OPINION 20I0-009 

ST ATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

STATE OF OHIO, DEPARTMENT OF 
REHABILITATION AND CORRECTION, 
CORRECTIONAL RECEPTION CENTER AND 
VIRGINIA LAMNECK, 

Respondents. 

CASE NO. 08-ULP-12-0520 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 2, 2008, Robert F. Dalton filed an unfair labor practice charge 
against the State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, Correctional 
Reception Center and Warden Virginia Lamneck (collectively, "Employer"), alleging that 
the Employer violated Ohio Revised Code §§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(2). 1 On July 9, 
2009, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB," "Board," or "Complainant") 
determined that probable cause existed to believe that the Employer committed an 
unfair labor practice in violation of §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) by obtaining 
communications between Mr. Dalton and a grievant and using the information in a 
grievance-arbitration hearing. 

On October 26, 2009, a Complaint was issued. A hearing was held on 
January 15, 2010, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. 
Subsequently, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Employer committed an unfair labor practice in 
violation of §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(2) by obtaining communications 
between Mr. Dalton and a grievant and using the information in a 
grievance-arbitration hearing. 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all 
references to rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 



SERB Opinion 2010-009 
Case No. 2008-ULP-12-0520 
Page 2 

Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). The 
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction ("DRC") is a state agency. The 
Correctional Reception Center ("CRC") is an institution within DRC. Virginia 
Lamneck is employed as the Warden at CRC and is an agent or representative 
of DRC. (S. 1, 2) 

2. The Service Employees International Union, District 1199 ("Union") is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01(D) and is the exclusive 
representative for certain employees of the State of Ohio. (S.3) 

3. Robert F. Dalton was employed by DRC as a Psychologist Assistant 2 and was a 
"public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01(C). Mr. Dalton worked at CRC and 
also served as a Union Delegate during the time period relevant to the complaint. 
(S.4; Dalton, 0001:12-14) 

4. The State of Ohio and the Union were parties to a collective bargaining 
agreement ("CBA") effective from June 1, 2006 through May 31, 2009, that 
contained a grievance procedure culminating in binding arbitration. (S. 6; Exh. 1) 

5. Article 3.08 of the CBA provides, in part, as follows: 

When feasible ... Union delegates may utilize electronic mail 
and/or facsimile equipment solely for contract enforcement and 
grievance processing matters. Such transmissions will be primarily 
to expedite communication regarding such matters, will be 
reasonable with respect to time and volume, and limited to 
communications with the grievant, if any, appropriate supervisors 
and employee's staff representatives. 

Article 42.05 of the CBA provides as follows: 

No employee should have an expectation of privacy while on 
work time. The Employer may make reasonable use of technology 
to assure that employees are appropriately engaged in work 
activities while on work time. The Employer shall respect 

2 All references to the digital recording of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by the 
witness' name and approximate timing point. All references to the parties' stipulations of fact in 
the record are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation number(s). 
References to the Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Exh.," followed by the 
exhibit number(s). References to the record in the Findings of Fact are for convenience only and 
are not intended to suggest that such reference is the sole support in the record for that related 
finding of fact 
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employees' constitutional and legal rights when it uses technology 
as described in this Section. 

(Exh. 1, pp. 8, 125) 

6. In February 2008, bargaining-unit employee Marilyn Christopher, a Nurse 2 at 
Mansfield Correctional Institution ("ManCI"), filed an incident report, alleging that 
she had received harassing phone calls at work from a fellow employee. ManCI 
investigated the incident and deiermined that Correctional Program Coordinator 
and bargaining-unit-member Juanita Murphy was responsible for the phone calls. 
On March 12, 2008, following a predisciplinary hearing, DRC terminated 
Ms. Murphy's employment. (S.7; Murphy, 01 :51; Tobin, 03:59-04:11) 

7. On March 13, 2008, Ms. Murphy filed a grievance challenging her termination. 
Ms. Murphy listed three Union Delegates as her grievance representatives, 
ManCI Union Delegate Greg Morrow, Mr. Dalton, and Union Staff Organizer 
Kevin Muhammad. Mr. Dalton represented Ms. Murphy at various points in the 
grievance process and served as second chair at Ms. Murphy's November 7, 
2008 arbitration hearing, while Staff Organizer Muhammad served as first chair. 
(S. 8; Andrews, 04:40; Exh. 2) 

8. On Ma'rch 19, 2008, Mr. Dalton sent a letter to ManCI Warden Stuart Hudson, 
informing Warden Hudson that Ms. Murphy would be represented at grievance 
Steps 4, mediation, and 5, arbitration, by Mr. Muhammad and Mr. Dalton. 
Mr. Dalton also provided names of employees the Union wanted to testify at the 
Step 4 and 5 hearings, including Ms. Christopher. (Exh. 4) 

9. Shortly after Ms. Murphy's termination, Mr. Dalton emailed Ms. Christopher, 
asking her to call him to discuss Ms. Murphy's case. In April 2008, 
Ms. Christopher forwarded this email to ManCI Labor Relations Officer ("LRO") 
Janet Tobin. Ms. Christopher told LRO Tobin that she, Ms. Christopher, was 
management's witness, and, as such, did not want to speak with Mr. Dalton. 
LRO Tobin told Ms. Christopher that Ms. Christopher could tell Mr. Dalton that 
she did not want to speak with him. On July 1, 2008, Ms. Christopher sent an 
email to LRO Tobin in which she summarized a phone call she had received from 
Mr. Dalton on her personal cell phone the previous day. (Tobin, 03:59-04:11; 
Exhs. 15, 16) 

10. Because Mr. Dalton resided in Westerville and worked in Columbus, while 
Ms. Murphy resided in Mansfield, they communicated about her grievance 
primarily via email. On June 30, 2008, an email correspondence between 
Mr. Dalton and Ms. Murphy with the subject line, "quick," commenced. The email 
contained a description of Mr. Dalton's attempt to contact Ms. Christopher to 
discuss Christopher's potential testimony at Murphy's arbitration. In the email, 
Mr. Dalton requested Ms. Christopher's phone number because Mr. Muhammad 
wanted Mr. Dalton to call her to "see if [Mr. Dalton] could soften her stance." On 
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or about July 1, 2008, Dalton telephoned Ms. Christopher, but she refused to talk 
with him about the arbitration. (Exh. 3; Dalton, 00:27-00:29, 00:57-00:59) 

11. On July 7, 2008, continuing the "quick" email chain, Ms. Murphy emailed 
Mr. Dalton to ask if "it worked," referring to contacting Christopher. On July 7, 
2008, Mr. Dalton responded that it did not work and that Ms. Christopher did not 
want to talk to him. The email chain continues on July 8, 2008, when 
Ms. Murphy states, "Maybe if we told her we wouldn't drag her through all the 
ugly stuff she has done it would help! I don't know! Did she say anything?" 
Mr. Dalton responded, "Nothing. I hope she doesn't show [to the arbitration.] She 
didn't want to talk about it." Mr. Dalton never attempted to contact 
Ms. Christopher after the July 1, 2008 phone call where Ms. Christopher told 
Mr. Dalton that she did not want to discuss Ms. Murphy's arbitration. (Dalton, 
00:59-01 :01; Exh. 3) 

12. Jon Fausnaugh was employed as an Investigator at CRC for 16 years preceding 
his October 21, 2008 retirement. Mr. Fausnaugh's duties included investigating 
allegations of staff and inmate misconduct. On June 30, 2008, Warden Lamneck 
assigned Mr. Fausnaugh to investigate an incident report filed by CRC employee 
Robin Cooper-Muntz involving Mr. Dalton. Ms. Cooper-Muntz had attached 
various email exchanges between Mr. Dalton and herself to the incident report. 
After reviewing the email exchanges and interviewing Mr. Dalton, Mr. Fausnaugh 
became concerned that Mr. Dalton was engaging in inappropriate political activity 
on work time. (Fausnaugh 02:52, 02:54, 03:20-03:22; Exh. 8) 

13. On July 21, 2008, Warden Lamneck requested that DRC Chief Inspector Gary 
Croft approve access to Mr. Dalton's DRC email and CRC server accounts, and 
on the same day Mr. Croft approved access for Warden Lamneck and 
Investigator Fausnaugh. At the time Mr. Fausnaugh began reviewing 
Mr. Dalton's emails, he was aware that Dalton was an SEIU delegate who 
handled grievances. Mr. Fausnaugh had access to Mr. Dalton's accounts until 
August 18, 2008, and he reviewed a vast quantity of Mr. Dalton's email, dating 
back to 2006. Searching for evidence of inappropriate political activity, 
Mr. Fausnaugh opened each email, read it, closed it, and moved on to the next. 
During this process, Mr. Fausnaugh read the email chain between Mr. Dalton 
and Ms. Murphy with the subject line, "quick." The email chain, which is 
contained in Exhibit 3, included the messages sent from June 30, 2008 through 
July 8, 2008 described in Paragraphs 10-11 hereof. Mr. Fausnaugh became 
curious. Not knowing who Ms. Murphy was, Mr. Fausnaugh contacted CRC's 
LRO, Cathy Merrill. LRO Merrill informed him that Ms. Murphy was a grievant 
formerly employed at ManCI, that Mr. Dalton was her Union delegate, and that 
the emails were related to Ms. Murphy's ongoing grievance. (S. 1 O; Fausnaugh, 
02:54 to 03:22; Exhs. 3, 5, 8, 9) 

14. LRO Tobin sent Mr. Fausnaugh the April and July 2008 emails she had received 
from Ms. Christopher. (Fausnaugh, supra; Tobin, 03:59-04:11; Exhs. 15, 16) 
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15. During the week preceding Ms. Murphy's arbitration hearing, Mr. Fausnaugh and 
LRO Merrill called the Office of Collective Bargaining ("OCB") and spoke with two 
OCB employees, one of whom was Buffy Andrews, DRC's first-chair 
representative in Ms. Murphy's arbitration. During this phone call, 
Mr. Fausnaugh and LRO Merrill discussed Mr. Dalton's alleged political activity 
and then raised Mr. Fausnaugh's alleged concern that Mr. Dalton was trying to 
intimidate a witness in a pending grievance. Realizing that Mr. Fausnaugh was 
referring to Ms. Murphy's grievance, Ms. Andrews asked Mr. Fausnaugh to 
provide her with the June 30-July 8, 2008 email chain between Mr. Dalton and 
Ms. Murphy. Mr. Fausnaugh complied. Ms. Andrews and Mr. Muhammad 
already had exchanged witness lists and documents. Ms. Andrews did not 
supplement her documents by providing the Union with a copy of the email chain 
she had received from Mr. Fausnaugh, nor did she notify the Union of the 
possibility of using this email chain in the arbitration hearing. (Andrews, 04:51-
04:57) 

16. During Ms. Murphy's November 7, 2008 arbitration hearing, DRC called 
Ms. Christopher as a management witness. While questioning Ms. Christopher, 
Ms. Andrews showed the witness the June 30-July 8, 2008 email chain between 
Mr. Dalton and Ms. Murphy. (S. 11; T.; Exh. 3) 

17. Recognizing the email chain, Mr. Dalton, who was present at the arbitration, 
interrupted the proceedings, announcing that the email chain was his. (Dalton, 
01:04; Andrews, 04:10) · 

18. On February 6, 2009, the Arbitrator issued her Opinion and Award finding just 
cause for Ms. Murphy's termination and denying the grievance. (Exh. 2) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

The Employer is alleged to have violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2), which 
provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer. its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of rights 
guaranteed in Chapter 4117 ... [;] 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation or 
administration of any employee organization, or contribute financial or 
other support to it; except that a public employer may permit employees to 
confer with it during working hours without loss of time or pay, permit the 
exclusive representative to use the facilities of the public employer for 
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membership or other meetings, or permit the exclusive representative to 
use the internal mail system or other internal communications system [.] 

In In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd 
sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist Ct App, 
Pickaway, 12-7-95)("Pickaway"), SERB held that when a violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(1) is 
alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an objective rather than a subjective one. It must be 
determined whether, under all the facts and circumstances, one could reasonably 
conclude that employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise of 
their Chapter 4117 rights by the employer's conduct. Sections 4117.03(A)(1)-(2) provide 
as follows: 

(A) Public employees have the right to: 

(1) Form, join, assist, or participate in, or refrain from forming, joining, 
assisting, or participating in, except as otherwise provided in Chapter 4117 
of the Revised Code, any employee organization of their own choosing; 

(2) Engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective 
bargaining or other mutual aid and protection [.] 

A thorough review of totality of the circumstances under which the alleged conduct 
occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights of employees must be part of the 
inquiry. Pickaway, supra. 

The question presented is whether the Employer violated §§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and 
(A)(2) when it obtained Mr. Dalton's email messages on the Employer's email system 
without his knowledge and used the email chain contained in Exhibit 3 in Ms. Murphy's 
arbitration proceeding. The Employer argues that Mr. Dalton had no "reasonable 
expectation of privacy" in his work email account. This argument inappositely 
characterizes the issue. Mr. Dalton had the contractual right to use the Employer's email 
system for Union business. As is fully set forth below, the contract language and 
§ 4117.03(A) clearly give Mr. Dalton the right to use the emplo/er's email equipment for 
union purposes without unlawful surveillance by the Employer. 

3 In addition, the Employer argues that email on its email system may constitute a public 
record. This argument also mischaracterizes the issue. Moreover, not all emails generated by a 
public agency are "public records" subject to Ohio's Public Records Act. The Ohio Supreme 
Court has held that emails circulated only to a few co-workers that did not document employer 
policy or procedures and were not used to conduct department business do not constitute public 
records. State ex rel. Wilson-Simmons v. Lake Cty Sherriffs Dept. (1998), 82 Ohio St.3d 37, 41. 
The email chain contained in Exhibit 3 was an exchange between two people, only one of whom 
was a current employee. As a Union communication, it did not document any Employer policy 
or procedure. and was not used to conduct Employer business. 



SERB Opinion 2010-009 
Case No. 2008-ULP-12-0520 
Page 7 

The core issue before SERB, whether the Employer has engaged in unlawful 
surveillance, is one of first impression. Since there is no SERB precedent on point, it is 
helpful to look at precedent from the National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB"). NLRB 
precedent can be instructive when SERB has no binding precedent. The NLRB has held 
as follows: "[A]n employer's mere observation of open, public union activity on or near 
its property does not constitute unlawful surveillance ... the inquiry is whether the [act 
which brought the surveillance charge] has a reasonable tendency to interfere with 
protected activity under the circumstances in each case." Washington Fruit and Produce 
Co., 343 NLRB 1215, 1217 (2005) (citing F.W. Woolworth Co, 310 NLRB 1197 
(1993))("Washington Fruit"). Unlawful surveillance, according to the NLRB, is found 
when, absent proper justification, an employer engages in surveillance of protected 
employee activities and that surveillance "has a tendency to intimidate." Woolworth, 
supra, at 1197. A "mere belief that some misconduct might be afoot" does not justify an 
employer's improper surveillance when, on balance, that surveillance has a tendency to 
interfere with employees' right to engage in protected activity. !Q. (citing Flambeau 
Plastics Corp., 167 NLRB 735, 743 (1967), enfd. 401 F.2d 128, 136 (?th Cir. 1968); 
accord NLRB v. Colonial Haven Nursing Home, 542 F.2d 691, 701 (?th Cir. 1976) ("the 
Board may properly require a company to provide solid justification for its resort to 
anticipatory photographing.")). Examples of proper employer justification for surveillance 
include legitimate employer interests in protecting safety or preventing trespass. 
Washington Fruit, supra. 

Therefore, the appropriate analysis is as follows: (1) did protected activity occur; 
(2) did the employer engage in an act of surveillance of that activity; (3) did the 
surveillance have a tendency to interfere with the protected activity under the 
circumstances of the case; (4) did the employer demonstrate solid justification for the 
surveillance; and, if so, (5) does the employer's proffered reason for the surveillance 
justify the potential interference with protected activity. 

Application of this analysis leads to the conclusion that the actions taken by 
Ms. Andrews, an agent of the Employer, violated § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). As a Union delegate, 
Mr. Dalton had the right under the CBA to use his work email account for Union 
business. While communicating with Ms. Murphy via the email system, Mr. Dalton was 
undoubtedly acting in his union capacity, as he was communicating with her about 
strategies and tactics to be used at her upcoming grievance arbitration. Mr. Dalton was 
clearly designated as Ms. Murphy's union representative for the arbitration during this 
time. Consequently, the email chain Mr. Fausnaugh read during his investigation 
contained protected union activity. Mr. Fausnaugh's actions constitute "surveillance," as 
that term is normally understood, as he was searching through Mr. Dalton's work email 
looking for information to aid in an investigation of Mr. Dalton. 

However, Mr. Fausnaugh, and therefore the Employer, had a legitimate purpose 
in observing and reading the email chain. Mr. Fausnaugh's actions in reviewing 
Mr. Dalton's email for possible political activity were sanctioned under § 42.05 of the 
CBA. Also, it was not immediately clear from the subject line of the email chain, "quick," 



SERB Opinion 2010-009 
Case No. 2008-ULP-12-0520 
Page 8 

that the emails contained therein concerned protected Union activity. However, after 
reading the bodies of the emails and speaking with Ms. Merrill, it became obvious the 
emails contained protected Union communications. It is logical to divide the actions 
taken by the Employer into two: the first being Mr. Fausnaugh's discovery and reading 
of the email chain, and the second being the eventual delivery of the email chain to 
Ms Andrews and her use of it at Ms. Murphy's arbitration. As Washington Fruit and 
Woolworth inform, it is not the act of surveillance itself, but the interference and chilling 
effect on protected activity that is the focus. Going by this instructive doctrine, 
Mr. Fausnaugh's incidental discovery and reading of the email chain was not unlawful 
surveillance; however, Mr. Fausnaugh's communication and forwarding of the email 
chain to OCB and Ms. Andrews' use of the email at arbitration were unlawful because of 
the "tendency to intimidate" public employees in their exercise of protected activity and 
the Employer's lack of proper, solid justification for these actions. 

When Ms. Andrews used the email chain at the arbitration, she interfered with 
protected activities because her actions created a chilling effect. The CBA clearly 
designates email as an appropriate forum to expedite communication about specified 
union matters, including grievances, among Union representatives and the grievants 
they represent. If union members fear that their protected emails are going to be used 
against them, one can readily assume that they will stop using email as a form of 
communication. 

The Employer's alleged legitimate interest in discovering Mr. Dalton's misuse of 
the email system does not justify Ms. Andrews' use of Exhibit 3 in Ms. Murphy's 
arbitration. The scope of Mr. Fausnaugh's investigation did not include email related to 
Mr. Dalton's representation of Ms. Murphy or any of Mr. Dalton's grievance-processing 
activities. Simply put, the Employer's legitimate interest in surveilling this email chain 
ended at the moment Mr. Fausnaugh was informed by Ms. Merrill that the email chain 
related to Mr. Dalton's functions as a grievance representative. The Employer was not 
justified in going beyond mere observation and reading of the email chain. 

The Employer argues that it was justified in printing, sharing, and using Exhibit 3 
at Ms. Murphy's arbitration because it believed that bodies of the emails suggested that 
Mr. Dalton was attempting to coerce witness Christopher to change her testimony. 
However, before the arbitration hearing, Ms. Andrews and management's second-chair 
representative, Labor Relations Officer Tobin, already had Ms. Christopher's own rough 
transcript of the single phone conversation Mr. Dalton had with Ms. Christopher 
regarding her testimony at the arbitration.4 It is apparent from reading Ms. Christopher's 
own recollection that Mr. Dalton was not acting coercively. Mr. Dalton set forth the 
Union's position regarding Ms. Murphy's arbitration and asked Ms. Christopher about 
hers. However, he was not aggressive and did not continue to pursue her after she 
declined to respond and terminated the conversation. Mr. Dalton and the Union never 
contested the fact that Mr. Dalton attempted to contact Ms. Christopher before 

4 Exh.15. 
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Ms. Murphy's arbitration, and it is undisputed that Mr. Dalton never again contacted 
Ms. Christopher after the phone call in which she rebuffed him. 

The Employer's proffered justification for introducing the email chain is not 
persuasive. The Employer even concedes that its use of the email chain at arbitration 
"merely ... reinforced Christopher's testimony as to a collateral, non-decisive point on 
which the union introduced no contrary evidence." (Respondent's Post-Hearing Brief 
at 14). The Union did not present contrary evidence because it did not dispute the fact 
that Mr. Dalton had contacted Ms. Christopher. 5 Ms. Andrews introduced the email 
chain while Ms. Christopher was testifying. Ms. Christopher was not a party to the email 
chain; therefore, it was not introduced for her to authenticate. Nor was the email chain 
used to impeach Ms. Murphy; she had not yet testified. In proffering the email chain, 
the only conceivable goal the Employer had was to inflame the arbitration proceedings. 
The email was introduced in an effort to convince the arbitrator that the Union planned 
to intimidate Ms. Christopher by threatening to "drag her through the ugly stuff''; 
however, the evidence is clear that Mr. Dalton was not receptive to Ms. Murphy's 
suggestion and never again contacted Ms. Christopher after his initial call. No legitimate 
justification existed for the Employer to use Exhibit 3. Thus, on balance, its use at the 
arbitration unreasonably chilled the exercise of protected union activity. 

Viewed objectively in accordance with the foregoing factual and legal 
circumstances, it can only be concluded that the Employer violated § 4117 .11(A)(1) 
when it used the emails during Ms. Murphy's arbitration, causing a chilling effect on the 
negotiated right to use the Employer's email equipment for protected union activity. The 
Employer also violated § 4117.11 (A)(2). Mr. Dalton had the right to use the email system 
to perform his duties as a Union delegate. The Employer interfered with the 
administration of the Union when it sent the email chain to OCB and when Ms. Andrews 
introduced it at the arbitration. 

B. The Remedy 

The Board should issue a cease and desist order and a notice posting in 
accordance with § 4117.11 (8)(3). Complainant also requests an order reinstating 
Ms. Murphy with back pay. Before her termination, Ms. Murphy admitted to engaging in 
the behaviors that caused the Employer to remove her. A review of the arbitration 
award reveals that the arbitrator focused her opinion on an analysis of the evidence 
before the ManCI Warden at the time of Ms. Murphy's March 2008 termination and 
considered all mitigating factors presented by the Union at arbitration The arbitrator did 
not rely upon the email chain in making her findings. 6 Consequently, the cease and 

5 Likewise, Ms Andrews and Ms. Tobin contacted Union witnesses, including ManCI 
employee and bargaining-unit member Tina McKeever Dorsey, asking them about their 
testimony before the arbitration hearing. (Dorsey, 03:44-03:49) Ms. Andrews even claimed it 
was standard practice between herself and the Union to interview each other's witnesses 
outside the other's presence. (Andrews, 05 03-05:07) 

6 Exh. 2, Opinion and Award, pp. 11-13. 
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desist order and notice posting will serve as a full and equitable remedy to address the 
violations of §§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and (A)(2). 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The State of Ohio is a "public employer" as defined by § 4117.01 (B). The 
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction ("DRC") is a state agency. The 
Correctional Reception Center ("CRC") is an institution within DRC. Virginia Lamneck is 
employed as the Warden at CRC and is an agent or representative of DRC. 

2. The Service Employees International Union, District 1199 ("Union") is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01 (D) and is the exclusive representative 
for certain employees of the State of Ohio. 

3. Robert F. Dalton is a "public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01 (C). 

4. The State of Ohio, by and through its agents described in Conclusion of 
Law 1 above, violated §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(2). 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following is respectfully recommended: 

1. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board issue an ORDER, pursuant to 
Ohio Revised Code § 4117. 12(B)(3), requiring the State of Ohio to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the 
exercise of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117 by using email communications between a Union 
delegate and a grievant in the grievant's arbitration hearing, and 
from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code Section 4117. 11(A)(1); 

(2) Initiating, creating, dominating, or interfering with the 
formation or administration of an employee organization by using 
email communications between a Union delegate and a grievant in 
the grievant's arbitration hearing, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117. 11 (A)(2). 



SERB Opinion 2010-009 
Case No. 2008-ULP-12-0520 
Page 11 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 
locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the 
Service Employees International Union, District 1199, work, the 
Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment Relations 
Board stating that the State of Ohio, the Department of 
Rehabilitation and Correction, and the Correctional Reception 
Center shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(2) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing 
within twenty calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes 
final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant. 

v. 

Hamilton County Commissioners and Ralph Linne, 

Respondents. 

Case Nos. 2007-ULP-08-0425 & 2007-ULP-10-0551 

OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 

"Complainant") upon the issuance of the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, 

the filing of exceptions to the Proposed Order by Hamilton County Commissioners and 

Ralph Linne (collectively "Respondents"), the response to the exceptions by Counsel for 

Complainant, and the oral arguments presented on November 11, 2009. For the 

reasons that follow, we find that Respondents did not violate Ohio Revised Code 

("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(3). 

I. BACKGROUND 

The Greater Cincinnati Building and Construction Trades Council of Hamilton 

County ("the Council") is the deemed-certified exclusive representative for skilled-trades 

employees employed by the Employer. lronworkers Local 44 ("Local 44") is a 

subsidiary of the Council. The Hamilton County Commissioners ("the Employer") and 

the Council are parties to a collective bargaining agreement effective through March 31, 

2008 ("CBA"), which contains a grievance process that culminates in final and binding 
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arbitration. Ralph Linne is the County Facilities Director and, at all relevant times, acted 

as an agent or representative of the Employer. 

Jerry L. Graham was employed by the Employer as a Facilities Maintenance 

Worker, starting in 1997, and later as an Ironworker. While he was employed as a 

Facilities Maintenance Worker, he was in a bargaining unit represented by the 

International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 20 ("IUOE Local 20"), where he was a 

union steward for three years and was also on the bargaining committee. He filed three 

grievances: one in 1992, one in 1998, and one in 1999. 

On March 6, 2006, Ron Weitz retired from an Ironworker position, a position 

contained in the Local 44 bargaining-unit and covered by its CBA with the Employer. 

On April 14, 2006, the Employer sent a letter to Joe Zimmer, Executive Secretary of the 

Council, indicating that the Employer was in the process of deciding if it would fill the 

Ironworker position. 

On or about April 11, 2007, the Employer and Local 44 resolved the unfair labor 

practice charge by entering into a Memorandum of Intent ("MOI") in exchange for 

Local 44 withdrawing a pending unfair labor practice charge (Case No. 2006-ULP-11-

0547). The MOI provided that the then-vacant Ironworker's position would remain 

within the bargaining unit as an Ironworker position and that the position would be filled 

by an Ironworker mutually agreeable to the Employer and the Union. 

The Ironworker position's job-description form listed ironwork as 70% of the job 

duties. On April 23, 2007, the job description was revised to include certain locksmith 

duties such as repairing and rebuilding locks and making keys. Previously the keys, 

locks and repairs were duties belonging to the Carpenters. 

On May 7, 2007, Mr. Graham was awarded the Ironworker position and began 

serving a 180-day probationary period. Mr. Graham believed he was qualified for the 

Ironworker position because of his 20 years' experience as a welder and fabricator and 

his experience teaching high school welding. The Ironworker position previously held 

by Mr. Weitz had not been filled at time of hearing. 

On August 7, 2007, Mr. Graham was given a mid-probationary evaluation by his 

supervisor, David Spitznagel. In the evaluation, Mr. Graham received all "Did Not 
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Achieve" marks except for one "Partially Achieve." Mr. Graham received no training or 

improvement plan after his mid-probationary evaluation. 

Upon receiving the first evaluation of Mr. Graham, Mark Donnelly, 

Mr. Spitznagel's supervisor, told Mr. Spitznagel to "come back and do it again and be 

honest with it." Mr. Donnelly instructed Mr. Spitznagel to add Mr. Graham's bad 

performance into the second evaluation. Mr. Spitznagel testified that the second 

evaluation of Mr. Graham was an accurate reflection of his performance. Mr. Graham 

received no discipline, write-ups, or indication that his work was unsatisfactory prior to 

his performance evaluation. Prior to this performance evaluation, Mr. Graham had not 

received a negative performance evaluation from the Employer. 

The Employer did not provide Mr. Graham with any structured training in his new 

position. The Employer had promised Mr. Graham additional training on cutting keys; 

this training never occurred because approval had not been obtained for the class prior 

to Mr. Graham's mid-probationary evaluation and subsequent termination. Mr. Graham 

reported to work early and attempted to learn locksmith duties on his own time from a 

co-worker. 

While in the Ironworker position, Mr. Graham received and completed 

approximately 300 work assignments. Mr. Graham kept a journal of all his job 

assignments. The Employer was not satisfied with Mr. Graham's work on a jail pod 

door. The Employer complained about the delay in a hand-railing repair made by 

Mr. Graham. Mr. Graham testified that the repair was actually delayed due to safety 

concerns raised by management. 

Mr. Graham admitted that he probably would have repaired a handrail differently 

if he were to repair it today. While Mr. Graham was trying to remove the lock from the 

bottom of a revolving door, the door glass shattered. Mr. Graham put caution tape 

around the door, relocked it, and redirected traffic. Mr. Graham used WD-40 once on a 

lock, but did not do so again after he was instructed not to do so. 

Following a pre-disciplinary hearing, Mr. Graham was terminated on August 24, 

2007, during his probationary period, which was set to end on or about November 3, 

2007. Upon his termination, Mr. Graham requested to be returned to his old position as 
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a Facilities Maintenance Worker with the Employer, but he was not put back in his old 

position. Mr. Graham could not grieve his termination because he was a probationary 

employee. The Employer had not terminated anyone during a probationary period in 

more than 29 years. 

In April 2008, Mr. Graham obtained new employment at an hourly rate of $17.17. 

His hourly rate as Ironworker was $27.38 per hour for 40 hours and also worked 

overtime. Mr. Graham also received unemployment compensation benefits totaling 

$11,206. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The Respondents are alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and 

(A)(3), which provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of 
the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the Ohio Revised Code or an 
employee organization in the selection of its representative for the 
purposes of collective bargaining or the adjustment of grievances. 

*** 
(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any 

term of rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117[.] 

The Respondents argue that Mr. Graham was terminated while in probationary 

status as an Ironworker for unsatisfactory job performance. While different persons can 

reach different conclusions regarding that determination and its fairness, Mr. Graham 

finds himself in the same situation as others who have chosen to leave one position for 

another that contains a probationary period. Absent the finding of a violation of O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117, it is the prerogative of an employer to make such judgments. 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that an unfair labor practice has been committed. O.R.C. § 4117.12(8)(3). To 

demonstrate a prima facie case of discrimination under O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(3), the 

Complainant must establish the following elements: (1) that the individual at issue is a 
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public employee and was employed at all relevant times by the respondent, or the 

individual was an applicant for hire for a position as a "public employee"; (2) that the 

individual engaged in protected activity under O.R.C. Chapter 4117, which fact was 

either known by the respondent or suspected by the respondent; and (3) that the 

respondent took adverse action against the individual under circumstances that could, if 

left unrebutted by other evidence, lead to a reasonable inference that the respondent's 

actions were related to the individual's exercise of concerted, protected activity under 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117. In re Rehabilitation Services Commission, SERB 2005-004 (4-

21-2005). 

Mr. Graham was a public employee, employed by the Respondent Employer at 

all relevant times, thus fulfilling the first element of the test. Mr. Graham engaged in 

protected activity covered under O.R.C. Chapter 4117, thus fulfilling the second element 

of the test. But while the first two elements have been met, the third has not been 

proven. 

The test is not merely if adverse action has been taken. The test is whether the 

Respondent Employer actually took adverse action against the individual under 

circumstances that could lead to a reasonable inference that the Respondent 

Employer's actions were related to the individual's exercise of concerted, protected 

activity under 0.R.C. Chapter 4117. In this case, a thorough review of the record and 

evidence does not lead to such an inference. 

Mr. Graham filed a total of three grievances, the most recent in 1999. If the 

Employer planned to take adverse action against Mr. Graham for filing grievances, it 

certainly could have found an opportunity without waiting for ten years. While 

Mr. Graham served as a Union Steward for three years for IUOE Local 20, the record is 

devoid of any actions taken by him while a steward that raised the ire of management 

enough for its members to conspire to retaliate against Mr. Graham once he moved into 

this new position. Likewise, the record indicates no transactions while Mr. Graham was 

a member of the bargaining committee of IUOE Local 20 that would lead to retaliation or 

any evidence that any other bargaining-team members were retaliated against. 
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It must be noted that all three factors alleged for protected activity took place 

within another bargaining unit, represented by a different exclusive representative 

(IUOE Local 20). If anti-union animus were to be found, against which union would it be 

directed? 

The matter of the proper implementation of the Memorandum of Intent ("MOI") is 

not the question before SERB. To believe that Mr. Graham was removed because the 

employer entered into some clandestine conspiracy to first settle an unfair labor practice 

("ULP") charge against IUOE Local 20, then to select Mr. Graham for the position 

named in the MOI, and then to remove him so the Employer could renege on the ULP 

settlement entered into with the lronworkers, is an interesting thesis .. 

But there must be at least some evidence that such an elaborate effort has been 

taken in order for this Board to find a statutory violation. If that evidence exists, it is not 

in the record before us. When the facts of this case are viewed in their entirety, the 

record does not establish any causal link between Mr. Graham's protected activity and 

the Employer's action. Thus, the Complainant failed to establish a prima facie case for 

an O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(3) violation. 

Even if a prima facie case had been established, Charged Party has persuasively 

rebutted the presumption of a statutory violation. The lack of nexus (and temporal 

proximity in the matter of the filing of the grievances) would provide a persuasive 

rebuttal to a prima facie case under these facts. A neutral finder of fact may have 

empathy for Mr. Graham and his situation. The record indicates that Mr. Graham may 

have not gotten a "fair shake" in his new position; however, it is not the task of this 

Board to dispense industrial justice as it appears to us. Rather, we are to enforce 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117, and the record is devoid of any evidence of antiunion animus or 

discriminatory intent toward Mr. Graham. 

When a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is 

an objective one rather than a subjective one. In re Pickaway County Human Services 

Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services 

Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (41
h Dist. Ct. App., Pickaway, 12-7-95). A violation will be found 

if, under the totality of the circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the 
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employees were interfered with. restrained, or coerced in the exercise of their O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117 rights by the public employer's conduct. In re Hamilton County Sheriff, 

SERB 98-002 (1-23-98). aff'd sub nom. Hamilton County Sheriff v. SERB, No. A98-

00714 (Mag. Dec .. CP Hamilton. 10-9-98). affd No. C-990040 (1 51 Dist Ct App, 

Hamilton. 8-27-99). For the reasons expressed above, the Complainant failed to 

establish by a preponderance of the evidence that a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) 

occurred. Thus. the Employer did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(3). 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the Hamilton County 

Commissioners and Ralph Linne did not violate Ohio Revised Code §§4117.11(A)(1) 

and (A)(3) when Jerry L. Graham was terminated, following a pre-disciplinary hearing. 

during his probationary period. Accordingly, we dismiss the complaint and dismiss with 

prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 

Verich. Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations 

Board ("the Board" and "Complainant") upon the issuance of the Administrative Law 

Judge's Proposed Order. the filing of exceptions to the Proposed Order by both 

Harrison Hills City School District Board of Education ("the District") and Harrison Hills 

Teachers' Association ("Union"). responses to the exceptions by these parties and 

Counsel for Complainant. and oral arguments presented by the parties' representatives. 

The issue to be decided is whether the District violated Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") 

§§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(2). For the reasons that follow, we find that the District 

violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) by communicating with employees concerning subjects 

of ongoing collective bargaining negotiations. We further find that the District did not 

violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2) through such communications and did not violate O.R.C 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(2) through the school principal's conversation with bargaining

unit members who were picketing. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

In the spring of 2007, the District and the Union began negotiations for a 

successor collective bargaining agreement to the one set to expire on June 30, 2007. 

With negotiations stalling and a strike approaching imminently, the parties prepared for 

mediation on September 30, 2007. 

During mediation, the District issued its last, best, and final offer. The Union 

negotiating team then proceeded to a membership meeting that had been previously 

scheduled for 7:00 p.m. Because the mediation session lasted longer than expected, 

the Union did not arrive at the meeting until approximately 8:00 p.m. Consequently, the 

Union did not make written corrections to the document it had prepared comparing its 

proposals with the District's proposals as of September 26, 2007. Instead, the Union 

gave attendees a copy of the September 26 offer and communicated the changes 

orally. The union membership rejected the District's offer. The next day, October 1, 

2007, the membership went on strike. 

Also on October 1, 2007, the Superintendent discovered an envelope in his office 

containing a document and anonymous note. The note indicated that the document 

reflected what the Union had disseminated to attendees at the previous evening's 

membership meeting. Neither the Superintendent nor any administrator was present at 

the membership meeting; they had no information supporting the veracity of the author; 

and no one made any effort to corroborate the document's truthfulness. The document 

did not reflect the District's actual last, best, and final offer made on September 30, 

2007. 

Based on the anonymous letter, the District posted on its website a press release 

declaring that the Union had misrepresented its position regarding a non-reprisal 

clause. Subsequently the District issued a second press release, indicating that the 

Superintendent planned to ask the Union leadership to allow the membership to vote on 

either a tentative agreement (if one was reached during the mediation session) or the 

District's last offer. This request was also made directly to the Union's bargaining team 

during previous negotiations. 
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These were not the only press releases posted on the website, however. 

Between September 24, 2007, and October 8, 2007, the District published numerous 

releases. One news release stated: "The [Union] arrived late for the meeting and was 

unprepared to engage in meaningful negotiations." Another referred to "the strike that 

the [Union] choose to bring about." Finally, a third quoted the Superintendent as saying: 

"[T]he District agreed to every aspect of the Union's requirements, and still the Union 

chose to continue this unfortunate strike .... You wonder if the [Union] wants a strike for 

a strike's sake." 

Meanwhile, on the morning of October 2, 2007, while picking up the newspaper 

in front of the school, High School Principal James Rocchi saw Music Director Brent 

Ripley, who was picketing nearby with a group of teachers. The two began a 

conversation. As they discussed how the teachers and students were faring during the 

strike, four or five other teachers joined the conversation. One teacher commented that 

the District had not offered a non-reprisal clause, to which Mr. Rocchi replied that it was 

his understanding that a non-reprisal clause had, in fact, been offered. Mr. Rocchi then 

stated that one of them had misinformation: either the District was not telling the truth 

or the Union was not telling the truth. 

On October 3, 2007, the Union filed the unfair labor practice charge herein, 

alleging that the District had violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(5). The 

Board found probable cause to believe the District had violated (A)(1) and (A)(2), 

dismissed the (A)(5) allegation, and directed the matter to hearing. A complaint was 

issued on December 22, 2008. On July 27, 2009, a hearing was held before a SERB 

Administrative Law Judge. On October 27, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge's 

Proposed Order was issued. Exceptions were filed by the Union and the District. On 

February 11, 2010, the Board directed the parties' representatives to appear before it 

and present oral arguments. The oral argument was conducted on February 24, 2010. 
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II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 
of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation or 
administration of any employee organization[.] 

This case presents two primary legal issues. The first issue is whether the 

District violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) [hereinafter "(A)(1)"] and O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (A)(2) (hereinafter "(A)(2)"] when it communicated with bargaining-unit 

members by posting information on its website concerning the subjects of an ongoing 

negotiations. The second issue is whether the District violated (A)(1) and (A)(2) when 

High School Principal Rocchi engaged in discussion with bargaining-unit members, 

while they were engaged in picketing, regarding the negotiations between the Union 

and the District. 

A. The District Violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) Via Its Web-postings 

Whether the District violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) depends on both the 

general standard for finding an (A)(1) violation as well as how that standard applies to 

communications from an employer to an employee to correct a mistake. In order to 

determine whether the District violated (A)(1 ), it is necessary to examine (A)(1) as well 

as its application to employer communications correcting a mistake before applying 

(A)(1) to the case at hand. 

1. O.R.C. §4117.11(A)(1), Generally 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) explicitly prohibits conduct that interferes with, restrains, 

or coerces employees in the exercise of their rights under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. While 

simple on its face, a literal interpretation of this provision is both overly narrow and 
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overly broad. First, it is too narrow because it suggests that only subjective, 

individualized, and immediate interference, coercion, or restraint is sufficient to trigger a 

violation. But we disposed of this interpretation, at least in part, in In re Pickaway 

County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), aff'd sub nom. SERB v. 

Pickaway Human Services Dept, 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist Ct App, Pickaway, 12-7-95) 

(hereinafter "Pickaway'). 

In Pickaway, we held that determining whether the employer violated (A)(1) is 

based on objective, rather than subjective, criteria - that is, "whether under all the facts 

and circumstances one could reasonably conclude that employees were interfered with, 

restrained, or coerced" in the exercise of their Chapter 4117 rights." Id at 3-3. 

Furthermore, this inquiry includes a "thorough review of the circumstances under which 

the alleged misconduct occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights of 

employees." Id. Thus, it is well-settled that the scope of inquiry may extend broader 

than the effect on the particular employee toward whom an action is directed; it also 

includes the effect on other employees. 

What is not precisely clear from Pickaway, however, is whether the reasonable 

likelihood of interference, restraint, or coercion is alone sufficient or whether, instead, it 

is but one factor in determining a violation. In In re Springfield Local School Dist Bd of 

Ed, SERB 97-007 (5-1-97) ("Springfield'') at p. 3-49, in addressing statements made by 

a supervisor to bargaining-unit employees while they were on strike about possibly 

losing their jobs if they did not return to work, SERB stated: ''The statements should be 

viewed in the context of the totality of conduct and the circumstances under which they 

were made." SERB found the statements were "overtly threatening because they were 

tied directly to the individuals' protected activity." Id. In that case, SERB concluded 

thusly: "Considering the context and content of these statements, one may reasonably 

conclude that the employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise 

of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by the supervisor's conduct." Id at 3-50. 

In the case at hand, we conclude that a reasonable likelihood of harm is 

sufficient. To require actual evidence of interference would punish the resilient 

employee whose unwavering conviction refuses deterrence. And perhaps more 
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importantly, it would also place a practical circumscription on the safeguards of (A)(1) by 

limiting coverage merely to employer conduct with an immediate, discernible impact on 

the current employee toward whom the action is directed without paying due regard for 

the possible latent, prospective impact on that employee and on other employees as 

well. 

For these reasons and SERB's position already set forth in Springfield, we now 

expressly join the National Labor Relations Board in holding that an employee can 

establish interference, restraint, or coercion solely by demonstrating that the employer's 

action reasonably tends to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 

of their protected activity. See, e.g., Clark Bros., Inc., 70 NLRB 802, 806 (1946). Thus, 

establishing that a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) occurred does not depend on 

whether the interference, restraint, or coercion succeeded or failed, but on whether an 

employer engaged in conduct reasonably tending to interfere with the free exercise of 

employee rights. Accord id and Springfield. 

In addition to problems of narrowness, a literal interpretation of (A)(1) also 

sweeps too broadly because it would create a violation every time any employer action 

is likely to create interference with an employee's rights, even while the employer is 

engaging in legitimate exercise of managerial discretion. We find this position 

untenable. When enacting O.R.C. § 4117.11, the legislature specifically articulated 

several actions that violate the Act. 1 Yet, construing the broad (A)(1) literally to 

proscribe any conduct that is reasonably likely to interfere with, restrain, or coerce 

protected activity would the render the other, specific provisions virtually superfluous. 

Indeed, every time an employer discharges an employee in the wake of union activity, 

even if for some other legitimate reason, the employee may be deterred from future 

union activity. To find (A)(1) liability in this instance, where there is no overt threat or 

evidence showing a reasonable likelihood of intent to interfere with, restrain, or coerce 

bargaining-unit employees in exercising O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights would abrogate 

those paramount prerequisites of intent that safeguard legitimate managerial decision 

making. 

1 E.g., O.R.C. §4117.11(A)(2). (3), (4), and (5). 
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In the absence of contrary language, we conclude that the legislature must have 

intended to place some limitation on the protections of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1). The 

manifold benefits of such a limitation include (1) reducing statutory redundancy; 

(2) protecting the employer's business prerogative in related decision making; and 

(3) maintaining employee protections against the limitless possible illegitimate invasions 

of essential rights. 

In order to honor these distinct concerns appropriately, we hold that to establish 

an (A)(1) violation, the Complainant must demonstrate not only the reasonable 

tendency of the complained action to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in 

exercising their rights, but that the interference, restraint, or coercion outweighs any 

competing legitimate managerial right. This approach is consistent with the position of 

the United States Supreme Court and the National Labor Relations Board with respect 

to the (A)(1) analog in the National Labor Relations Act, §8(a)(1) [29 U.S.C. 

§ 158(a)(1)). See Darlington Manufacturing v. NLRB, 380 U.S. 263 (1965) ("Darlington 

Manufacturing']; Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLRB, 324 U.S. 793, 797-98 (1945) 

("Republic Aviation Corp."). See also Business Services by Manpower, Inc. v. N.L.R.B., 

784 F.2d 442, 453-54 (2d. Cir. 1986) (determining whether §8(a)(1) protects employees' 

rights to honor "stranger" picketing depends upon a balancing of employer's interests 

against those of employees, a balancing that must be performed on a case-by-case 

basis and not on a rigid, formalistic application of rules applicable in other contexts); 

NLRB v. William S. Carroll, Inc., 578 F.2d 1 (1st Cir.1978) ("Whether or not [§8(a)(1 )) 

has been violated depends on a case by case balancing of the right of the employee to 

express his union sympathies and the right of the employer to conduct his business."). 

In Darlington Manufacturing, for instance, the United States Supreme Court held 

that although a plant shutdown may have a significant chilling effect on unionization, an 

employer's decision to close its plant will never violate §8(a)(1) because the decision to 

close a plant is so clearly within managerial prerogative that it cannot be outweighed by 

the employees' interest in preserving §7 [29 U.S.C. § 157] protection. Darlington 

Manufacturing, supra at 268. In other words, the reasonably likely effect of the 

shutdown will never be the source of a violation under these circumstances. Such a 
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decision could, however, violate §8(a)(3) [29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3)), even though an 

employer has an immense interest in retaining the right to choose to shut down its plant, 

if the purpose of the decision is to achieve a chilling effect on unionization among 

employees at other plants. Id. Thus, a violation of §8(a)(1) depends on the reasonably 

likely effect of an employer action weighed against the legitimate business interests of 

the employer, while §8(a)(3) requires actual intent to discriminate and actual harm but 

will not concern itself with the employer's interests. 

It is important to note that the scope of considered interests is not limited merely 

to broad, abstract concepts. Rather, the practical interaction of the specific interests 

involved in each individual case will be determinative. See Republic Aviation Corp., 

supra at 803-804. For example, in Republic Aviation Corp., the employer had adopted 

a broad rule against soliciting on company property; subsequently, an employee was 

terminated because of union solicitation on the premises. Id at 803. Even though the 

employer's rule against solicitation was enforced against all solicitations and was not 

discriminatorily applied against union solicitation, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the 

NLRB's finding that the discharge constituted a §8{a)(1) violation, namely that the 

employer's interest in maintaining productivity and discipline was outweighed by the 

employees' interest in self-organization because the rule prohibited solicitation even on 

the workers' own time, such as breaks and lunches. Id at 804. 

By contrast, where a no-solicitation rule covers only non-working time, the NLRB 

with the Court's approval has upheld discharges in violation of such rules, even though 

the discharge may hinder union activity, because the employees' ability to organize is 

less affected while the employer's interest remains the same. Peyton Packing Co., 49 

N.L.R.B. 828, 843 (1943). Thus, the scope of the employer action may affect the 

reasonable likelihood of interference with employee protected activity as well as 

whether such action constitutes an unfair labor practice. 

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that an employee may establish a viable 

(A}{1) claim without showing actual interference, restraint, or coercion against the 

specific employee against whom the action is directed. It is sufficient that the action has 

a reasonable tendency to interfere with, restrain, or coerce any employee in the 
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exercise of his or her protected rights under O.R.C. Chapter4117. The employee, 

however, must also show that his or her interests in maintaining protection outweigh any 

legitimate business interest of the employer in taking the disputed action. Additionally, 

we reiterate that any determination of interference, restraint, or coercion must be based 

on the totality of the circumstances and the context in which the action was taken. 

Pickaway, 1995 SERB at 4-46. 

2. O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) Aoolication to Collective Bargaining 
Communications from Employer to Employees 

Prior to an election, an employer is permitted to communicate candidly and 

vigorously with its employees. See In re Montgomery County Bd. of Mental Retardation 

and Developmental Disabilities, SERB 88-012 (9-15-88). Such an exercise of free 

speech is not only well grounded in the First Amendment, it is also essential to a fair 

and meaningful representation campaign. "Open, active exchange of information is 

imperative to enable voters to make informed choices." Id at 3-62. The Board has 

promulgated rules to "ensure a free atmosphere for the development of opinions and 

the dissemination of information and ideas for and against representation for purposes 

of collective bargaining." O.A.C. Rule 4117-5-06(0). 

Once the employees have certified a union as their exclusive representative, 

however, an employer's relationship with its employees, individually and collectively, 

must change. Specifically, the employer may no longer deal directly with its employees 

concerning mandatory subjects of bargaining, i.e., terms and conditions of employment. 

In re Mentor Exempted Village School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-011 (5-12-89). 

Such direct communications not only "create dissension in the union's ranks, 

damage its relationship with the employees it is representing, and put it in a defensive 

bargaining position," Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed v SERB, 1991 SERB 4-

81, 4-82 (2d Dist Ct App, Montgomery, 8-15-91), but perhaps most importantly, they 

circumvent the employees' axiomatic right of union representation. Consequently, an 

employer's direct communications with its employees regarding the status of 

negotiations, even where truthful, may constitute unlawful direct dealing in violation of 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(5), and (A)(8). In re Mentor Exempted Village School Dist 
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Bd of Ed, SERB 89-011 (5-12-89). A complainant may thus establish a prima facie 

violation by presenting evidence sufficient to sustain a finding that the employer more 

likely than not made communications with employees concerning wages, hours, or other 

terms and conditions of employment. 

From this principle, it does not follow necessarily that an employer may never 

communicate with its employees, however. Where an employer makes direct 

communications with its employees concerning the subject of collective bargaining, the 

ostensible purpose and predictable effect of such communications are to circumvent the 

union in some way, thereby infringing on the employees' right of union representation. 

Accordingly, the employer's legitimate managerial interest in making the 

communications is comparatively slight, while the infringement on protected employee 

activity is significant. 

But where an employer initiates communication with employees solely in 

response to, and for the limited purpose of, correcting a union's material 

misrepresentation of its proposals, the employer's interests are different. Although a 

public employer may not possess the same First Amendment rights as a private 

employer and although O.R.C. Chapter 4117 may not contain a free speech proviso as 

in §Sc of the NLRA [29 U.S.C. § 158(c)], the union's right of representation likewise is 

not without limitation. In this instance, the employer's purpose is no longer to avoid the 

union, but rather to ensure that its attempts to establish agreeable employment 

conditions are fairly considered. 

The employees' interests are different here as well. Most often, an employer's 

proposal is, to some large degree, a product of the negotiation process. Therefore, 

when a union misrepresents the product of negotiations, it undermines the negotiation 

process, it undermines the union itself, and consequently, it undermines effective 

representation altogether. 

To prohibit an employer from correcting its proposal would thus contradict the 

very purpose that the general rule against communication -preserving effective 

representation - that it purports to serve. Furthermore, allowing the employer to 

correct misrepresentations may well dissuade an employee organization from 
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opportunistically misrepresenting the employer's bargaining position in order to provoke 

a strike or other expedient concerted activity. Section 8c of the NLRA expresses a right 

of noncoercive free speech to employers to communicate directly with employees. In 

the absence of such express language, but consistent with our responsibilities under 

O.R.C. § 4117.22, we recognize such an implied privilege under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. 2 

Thus, the substantial benefit to employers, to unions, to employees. and to the public

sector collective bargaining process supports granting an employer the implied privilege 

to correct union misrepresentations in certain situations. 

Yet, we are also mindful that the policies supporting such a privilege must not be 

used to subterfuge fundamental employee protections against employer interference 

with the representation process. We therefore recognize that the employer has but two 

limited options to avoid an unfair labor practice charge for communicating with 

employees concerning the subject of negotiation. First, it may rebut the prima facie 

case, presenting evidence that it did not make communications with its employees in 

the aforementioned regard. In this case, the fact finder must weigh the evidence 

presented by both sides, but the ultimate burden of persuasion remains with the 

employee. 

Alternatively, the employer may utilize this privilege as an affirmative defense. 

When a union misrepresents an employer to its employee-members in a manner that 

the employer may reasonably expect will materially undermine its labor relations, the 

employer is entitled to make a limited, concise response to correct the 

misrepresentation. In order to avail itself of this limited, extraordinary action, however, 

the employer must satisfy the following conditions by a preponderance of the evidence: 

(1) that the statement is, in fact, untrue; (2) that it is of sufficient significance that it 

would reasonably be expected to influence the current bargaining climate; (3) that the 

misinformation materially interferes with the bargaining process; and (4) that prior to 

2 In In re Mentor Exempted Village School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-011 (5-16-89) n.9, 
the Board acknowledged that an employer may communicate accurate, noncoercive 
communication of its bargaining proposals to its employees without committing an unfair labor 
practice in certain circumstances. 
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making a correction, the employer first notified the union of the error and provided a 

reasonable opportunity to correct the alleged misinformation. 

Applying our framework to the case sub judice, we find that the School District 

violated (A)(1) when it when it posted on its website certain information regarding the 

terms of its proposed collective bargaining agreement and when it made a request on 

its website that the employees vote on either a tentative agreement or the District's last 

best offer. 

Because the District did not dispute making the communications, nor did it 

dispute whether the communications were designed to reach, and did reach, 

employees, the Union has made a prima facie case. And for the same reasons, the 

District has not articulated evidence sufficient to rebut the prima facie case. Finally, the 

District cannot establish an affirmative defense, for nothing in the record suggests that 

the District met the fourth element - that it informed the Union of the alleged 

misinformation and offer it a chance to correct. We conclude, therefore, that the District 

violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1) when, through its website directed at employees, it 

attempted to correct alleged misrepresentations in its proposal and when it advised the 

employees to vote on a last best offer or tentative proposal. 

B. The District Did Not Violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2) Via Its Web-postings 

A public employer commits an O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(2) violation when it 

dominates or interferes with the formation or administration of an employee 

organization. Whether the employer violated (A)(2) is determined without regard to 

beneficent employer motive, or even other amicable effects on employees. See NLRB 

v. Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co., 308 U.S. 241, 251 (1939) ("Newport 

News"). Thus, in Newport News, the U.S. Supreme Court sustained an NLRB order to 

disestablish an invalid employee organization, finding it immaterial that the committee 

"had in fact not engendered, or indeed had obviated, serious labor disputes in the past, 

or that any company interference in the administration of the plan had been incidental 

rather than fundamental and with good motives." Id. 
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While an (A)(1) violation requires only a reasonable tendency to interfere with 

employees' exercise of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights, to establish an (A)(2) violation 

requires substantial evidence of material harm to the union in the administration or 

performance of its duties. See In re Springfield Local School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 97. 

007 (5-1-97) ("Springfield'). If the actions of the employer did not prevent the union 

from performing any of its administrative duties, nor interfere with its administration. 

then no violation is found. Id. Thus, in Springfield, SERB found no violation of the Act 

where the actions of the employer were never directed at the union and where the 

union's continued existence was not influenced by the employer's actions. 

In this case, the Union contends that the District interfered with the performance 

of its duties as bargaining agent because it created distrust among its members, and 

thus the Union was forced to alter its bargaining strategy. Without any substantial 

evidence that this distrust actually created an economic hardship or otherwise materially 

affected the Union in some way, we find that the Union has not shown actual 

interference with the administration if its duties. Therefore, we conclude that the District 

did not violate (A}(2) when it communicated with bargaining-unit members through its 

web postings. 

C. The District Did Not Violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) or (A)(2) Via Principal 
Rocchi's Conversations with Picketing Bargaining-unit Members 

Finally, the Union contends that the District violated O.RC. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and 

(A)(2) when Principal Rocchi conversed with Music Director Ripley and other teacher

picketers. Because the District did not delegate to Principal Rocchi authority to speak 

on its behalf with regard to collective bargaining matters, his conversations with union 

members cannot impose (A)( 1) or (A)(2) liability on the District. 

Although the question of who may act on behalf of a party to collective bargaining 

is one of first impression before this Board, under the National Labor Relations Act 

questions of agency are generally resolved according to common-law principles. 

NLRB v. Local 64, Falls Cities District Council of Carpenters, 497 F.2d 1335, 1336 (6th 

Cir.1974); Carbon Fuel Co. v. United Mine Workers of America, 444 U.S. 212, 217, 100 



SERB OPINION 2010-011 
Case No. 2007-ULP-09-0516 
Page 14 of 16 

S.Ct. 410, 414, 62 L.Ed.2d 394 (1979). We see no reason to depart from this rule and 

find support for it under Ohio case law. For example, in Miller v. Kilcullen, 2009-0hio-

5723, '1124, the Fifth District Court of Appeals stated: 

Accordingly, as dictated by Ohio law, "an 'agency relationship' is a 
consensual fiduciary relationship between two persons where the agent 
has the power to bind the principal by his or her actions, and the principal 
has the right to control the actions of the agent. Evans v. Ohio State 
Univ., 112 Ohio App.3d 724_. [101

h Dist Ct, App, Franklin, 7-23-96] appeal 
not allowed, 77 Ohio St.3d 1494. "Agency is the fiduciary relation which 
results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another that 
the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and consent by 
the other to so act." Restatement of the Law 2d, Agency (1958). 

Moreover, the principal is not liable for the conduct of an agent unless the agent 

is acting within the scope of his authority, Fay v. Swicker, 154 Ohio St. 341, 347-48 

(1950), whether expressly or impliedly conferred. See Damon's Missouri, Inc. v. Davis, 

63 Ohio St.3d. 605, 608 (1992). A party who claims that a principal is responsible for 

the acts of an employee is obligated to prove the agency and scope of the employee's 

authority. Aetna Gas. & Sur. Co. v. Leahey Const. Co., 219 F.3d 519, 2000 FED App. 

0227P (6th Cir. 2000) (applying Ohio law); Brown v. Christopher Inn Co., 344 N.E.2d 

140 (10th Dist.1975). 

While Principal Rocchi may have been an agent by virtue of his employment with 

the Harrison Hills School District. there is no evidence in the record to suggest that he 

was expressly or impliedly delegated authority to represent the principal-employer 

District in bargaining. Collective bargaining was not part of his express job duties, and 

he was neither actually present at the bargaining table nor otherwise played a 

significant role in negotiating on behalf of the employer. Nor does the evidence indicate 

that Principal Rocchi represented himself as having authority on bargaining matters. 

Finally, the nature of Principal Rocchi's employment respective to the District does not 

reasonably create the perception that he has authority to speak on behalf of the District 

in bargaining. 

Moreover, even if Principal Rocchi was authorized to communicate on behalf of 

the District for the purposes of bargaining, the conversation that took place between 
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Principal Rocchi and the picketing bargaining-unit members is not sufficiently likely to 

interfere with employees' protected activity to violate (A)(1 ). Principal Rocchi did not 

attempt to bargain with or otherwise engage in negotiations with the teachers, nor did 

he offer benefits, make threats. or otherwise attempt to influence the teachers. He 

simply stated that the information he had received through his bargaining 

representatives differed from the information that the union members received through 

their representatives. 

Additionally, the context of the communication does not support a finding of 

interference. The conversation occurred outside, in front of the school, rather than in a 

conference room or the principal's office. And the communication was not made during 

an organized meeting or agenda; rather, it arose in the course of a casual conversation 

between a principal and his teachers while the principal was picking up the newspaper. 

Taking into account the content of the communication and the context in which it was 

made, we fail to see how such an exchange would be reasonably likely to interfere with 

the right to exclusive representation in bargaining or any other 0. R.C. Chapter 4117 

rights. 

Furthermore, the record is utterly void of any evidence that the effects of 

Principal Rocchi's conversation materially burdened the administration of the union to 

create a cause of action under (A}(2). In sum, the District did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(2) through the communications from Principal Rocchi to 

picketing bargaining-unit members. Principal Rocchi was not expressly or implicitly 

delegated authority to speak on behalf of the District with regard to bargaining matters. 

Moreover, even if such authority could be implied, the District still did not violate (A)(1) 

because the totality of the circumstances and the content of the communication do not 

reasonably tend to interfere with employees' exercise of protected rights, and the 

District still did not violate (A)(2) because the communication was not shown to 

materially interfere with the administration of the Union. 
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Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we conclude that the Harrison Hills City School 

District Board of Education violated Ohio Revised Code §4117.11(A)(1) via its web

postings directed to employees. We conclude further that the District did not violate 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2) via such web-postings and did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(2) through Principal Rocchi's conversation with picketing union 

members. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur 
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OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or 

"the Board") following a Request for Recognition filed by the Hamilton Police Captains, 

Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge 38 ("the Captains" or "the Employee Organization") on 

June 2, 2009, under Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.05. The Employee 

Organization seeks to represent Police Captains of the City of Hamilton ("the 

Employer") in its Police Department. On June 18, 2009, the Employer filed objections to 

the request. On December 3, 2009, the Board directed the matter to hearing to 

determine an appropriate bargaining unit and for all other matters. A hearing was 

conducted by the full Board on March 11, 2010. 

The Board has reviewed all of the evidence in the record, and for the reasons 

that follow, concludes that the proposed bargaining unit in the Request for Recognition 

is the "unit appropriate for purposes of collective bargaining" under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.06(A). Therefore, Hamilton Police Captains, Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge 38 
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is hereby certified as the exclusive bargaining representative for all the employees in 

the proposed bargaining unit 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge 38 is an "employee organization" as defined 

by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

2. The City of Hamilton is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

3. Neil Ferdelman is the Chief of Police for the City of Hamilton, Ohio. (T. 

Ferdelman 4:57) 

4. The City of Hamilton Police Department employs two individuals as Police 

"Captains," an Administrative Captain and an Operations Captain. (T. Ferdelman 

7:10) 

5. Captain Joseph Murray in charge of the Operations Bureau of the Police 

Department, and Captain Steve Poulemanos commands the Administrative 

Bureau. (T. Ferdelman 7:40) 

6. Captain Murray has attended contract negotiations with unions on behalf of 

management. He attended these negotiations at the request of Chief of Police 

Neil R. Ferdelman and never went without Chief Ferdelman. His purpose in 

attending the meetings was to gather information for Chief Ferdelman. 

Additionally, in at least one instance, a Sergeant and Lieutenant attended a 

negotiation on behalf of management without Captain Murray or Captain 

Poulemanos. Neither Captain Murray nor Captain Poulemanos was a signatory 

to the collective bargaining agreements. (T. Ferdelman 60:34, 68:15; T. Murray 

94:58, 98:50) 

7. Chief Ferdelman reserves final decision power over all policy decisions. 

Captains Murray and Poulemanos, as well as anyone else in the department, can 

suggest policy changes to Chief Ferdelman, but Chief Ferdelman has the 

ultimate discretion to accept or reject these suggestions. Once a new policy has 

been implemented, it is the duty of sergeants and lieutenants to distribute the 
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policies to the employees on their shifts so that it will be implemented. (T. Murray 

83:20, 94:00) 

8. Captains Murray and Poulemanos have each acted as Acting Chief when Chief 

Ferdelman is away from the office. In this role, they still answer to Chief 

Ferdelman, who is always available via his Blackberry. In addition, department 

regulations specifically state that anyone acting in the capacity of Acting Chief 

does not have the power to hire or fire personnel or make major policy changes 

without approval of the Chief of Police. (T. Ferdelman 56:55, 62:50; T. Murray 

120:53; Employers' Exhibit C) 

9. Captain Murray signed papers to lay off dispatch workers while serving as Acting 

Chief. He did so under the supervision of and at the request of Chief Ferdelman, 

who was in contact with Captain Murray despite being physically absent from the 

office. Captain Murray had no input on the drafting of the letters or which 

individuals were laid off. (T. Ferdelman 67:05) 

10. Both Captain Murray and Captain Poulemanos attend disciplinary conferences. 

Chief Ferdelman is the hearing officer at these conferences and determines the 

discipline for the employees. The investigation of disciplinary charges is done by 

sergeants and lieutenants. No one in the department, including Captains Murray 

and Poulemanos, can suspend an employee without approval of Chief 

Ferdelman. (T. Ferdelman 61 :07; T. Murray 103:05) 

11. Unionized employees such as sergeants have served in the position of Acting 

Chief of Police when Captains Poulemanos and Murray are unable to serve as 

Acting Chief. (T. Murray 121 :33) 

II. DISCUSSION 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 provides that all "public employees" are entitled to 

representation for collective bargaining purposes. O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) defines "public 

employees" as follows: 
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(C) "Public employee" means any person holding a position by 
appointment or employment in the service of a public employer, • • * 
except: 
• • • 

(6) Confidential employees; 
(7) Management level employees; 

• • • 
(10) Supervisors[] 

The sole issue in this case is whether Captains Murray and Poulemanos are 

"public employees" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). Because Captains Murray and 

Poulemanos work for a public employer, they are public employees unless they meet 

one or more of the O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) exemptions. In particular, they would not be 

considered public employees if they fall under O.R.C. § 4117.01(C)(6), (C)(7), or (C)(9) 

Because Captains Murray and Poulemanos do not meet the standards for these 

exemptions, they are "public employees" under the meaning of the term as defined by 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). 

In analyzing such a case, the Board starts with the assumption the persons in 

question are public employees. The burden of establishing an exclusion from a 

bargaining unit under O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) rests upon the party seeking it. In re Fulton 

County Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96); In re Franklin Local School District Board of 

Education, SERB 84-008 (11-8-84). 

In the present case, it is incumbent on the employer to demonstrate that the 

Police Captains meet one or more of the relevant statutory exemptions enumerated in 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). There are three that must be examined: "supervisor," 

"confidential employee," or "management level employee." 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (K) states: "Confidential employee" means • • • any employee 

who works in a close continuing relationship with public officers or representatives 

directly participating in collective bargaining on behalf of the employer. The record 

demonstrates that the Police Captains are not confidential employees. While Captain 

Murray testified that he attended contract negotiations, it was at the request of and on 
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behalf of Chief Ferdelman that he went. Furthermore, Captain Murray described the 

purpose behind his attendance as merely informational. 

Chief Ferdelman accompanied Captain Murray to each of these negotiations. 

Even after attending the negotiations, Captain Murray was not a signatory to the 

collective bargaining agreements as a participant in the negotiations. Finally, Chief 

Ferdelman testified that Sergeants and Lieutenants had attended negotiations on behalf 

of management without either Captain present. Attending negotiations for informational 

purposes on behalf of management, like the Police Captains did here, does not by itself 

meet the standard of a confidential employee. 

For some of the same reasons articulated above, the Police Captains are not 

"management level employees" under O.R.C. § 4117.01(L) because neither Police 

Captain is an "individual who formulates policy on behalf of the public employer, who 

responsibly directs the implementation of policy, or who may reasonably be required on 

behalf of the public employer to assist in the preparation for the conduct of collective 

negotiations, administer collectively negotiated agreements, or have a major role in 

personnel administration." 

While Chief Ferdelman receives input from his Police Captains regarding policy 

decisions, he alone makes the final determinations. In addition, Chief Ferdelman takes 

similar input from employees at all levels and does not exclusively confer with Captains 

Murray and Ferdelman; Captain Murray testified that he has no more authority to 

suggest policy change than any other member of the organization. Once a policy 

change is made, neither Captain has the final responsibility for implementation; 

Sergeants and Lieutenants on each shift explain the new policies to the employees on 

their shift and ensure that each employee understands and can implement the new 

policy. For the reasons stated above, the Police Captains are not management level 

employees. 

Finally, In In re State of Ohio, Rehabilitation Dept, SERB 99-023 (9-17-99), the 

employees in question were called upon to serve as hearing officers at pre-disciplinary 

hearings, were found to have a major role in personnel administration, and were found 

to be management level employees. Herein although both Captains Murray and 
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Poulemanos attend disciplinary hearings, Chief Ferdelman serves as the hearing officer 

and makes the determination regarding discipline beyond the level of a written 

reprimand. The record lacks sufficient evidence to show that the Police Captains are 

"management level employees" under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (L). 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(F) "Supervisor" means any individual who has authority, in the 
interest of the public employer, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, 
promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other public employees; 
to responsibly direct them; to adjust their grievances; or to effectively 
recommend such action, if the exercise of that authority is not of a merely 
routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment, 
provided that: ... 

• • • 
(2) With respect to members of a police ... department, no 

person shall be deemed a supervisor except the chief of the department or 
those individuals who, in the absence of the chief, are authorized to 
exercise the authority and perform the duties of the chief of the 
department. * * * 

Supervisory issues are a question of fact in each case, and such status must 

therefore be determined on a case-by-case basis. In re Lucas County Recorder's 

Office, SERB 85-061 (11-27-85). An individual will be excluded from a bargaining unit if 

the record contains substantial evidence that the employee has the authority to perform 

one or more of the functions listed in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F), actually exercises that 

authority, and uses independent judgment in doing so. In re Mahoning County Dept of 

Human Services, SERB 92-006 (6-5-92). The Police Captains lack the authority to 

make personnel decisions that would make them eligible for the supervisor exemption. 

Captains Murray and Poulemanos serve as Acting Chief of Police when Chief 

Ferdelman is away from the office; however, the Police Department's General Orders 

stipulate that "a member serving in the capacity as Acting Chief of Police shall not have 

the authority to hire or fire departmental personnel, nor make major departmental policy 

changes without consultation with the Chief of Police." Employers' Exhibit C. At least 

one Sergeant has served in the position of Acting Chief when both Captains 

Poulemanos and Murray were unable to serve as Acting Chief. Finding of Fact No. 11. 
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Captain Murray's signature did appear on papers notifying dispatch workers of 

the termination of their employment as part of city layoffs while Chief Ferdelman was on 

vacation. Captain Murray exercised no discretion, however, in making these decisions 

and did not draft the wording of the letters he signed. In fact, Captain Murray was in 

constant contact with Chief Ferdelman through Chief Ferdelman's Blackberry even 

though Captain Murray was serving as Acting Chief. The record lacks sufficient 

evidence to show that the Police Captains have discretionary authority "to hire, transfer, 

suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other public 

employees; to responsibly direct them; to adjust their grievances; or to effectively 

recommend such action" and therefore do not meet the statutory definition of 

"supervisor." 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we determine that the Police Captains are 

"public employees" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(C), that the proposed bargaining 

unit in the Request for Recognition is the "unit appropriate for purposes of collective 

bargaining" under O.R.C. § 4117.06(A), deny the Employer's objections, and certify the 

Hamilton Police Captains, Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge 38 as the exclusive 

representative of the bargaining unit composed of Police Captains. 

Vice Chairperson, Verich; and Board Member, Spada, concur 



SERB OPINION 2010-013 

ST ATE OF OHIO 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, 
LOCAL 268, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 2008-ULP-11-0495 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 17, 2008, Terry McGrady filed an unfair labor practice charge against 
the Amalgamated Transit Union. Local 268 (the "Union"), alleging that the Union violated 
Ohio Revised Code§ 4117. 11 (B)(1) 1 On April 23, 2009, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") dismissed the charge. On June 15, 2009, Mr. McGrady 
filed a motion for reconsideration On December 17, 2009, SERB granted the motion for 
reconsideration and found probable cause to believe that the Union violated 
§ 4117. 11 (B)(1) by denying Terry McGrady's right to run for Union office and appealing the 
Union membership's decision to allow Mr. McGrady to run in a rerun election. 

On February 24, 2010, a complaint was issued. A hearing was held on April 29, 
2010, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, both 
parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Whether the Union violated § 4117.11(B)(1) by denying 
Mr. McGrady's right to run for Union office. 

2. Whether the Union violated§ 4117. 11(B)(1) by appealing the 
Union membership's decision to allow Mr. McGrady to run in a 
rerun election. 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("GCRTA") is a "public 
employer" as defined by§ 4117.01(B). (S.) 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union ("ATU"), Local 268 ("Union"), is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01(0) and is the deemed-certified 
bargaining representative of certain employees of GCRTA. (S.) 

3. Terry McGrady is an employee of GCRTA, a member of the bargaining unit 
represented by the Union, and a "public employee" as defined by § 4117.01 (C). (S.) 

4. The Union and GCRTA were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
effective from August 1, 2006 through July 31, 2009 ("CBA"), which contained a 
grievance process that culminated in binding arbitration. (S.) 

5. Section 4 of the Union's Constitution and Bylaws requires candidates for 
Union office to be in continuous good standing for two years and to have attended at 
least six regular meetings in each of the two years preceding the election. (S.) 

6. The Union canceled two regular meetings during 2007. Section 13.3 of the 
ATU International Constitution and Bylaws provides that if the Local seeks permission 
from the International President ("IP") to not hold a regular meeting and the IP grants the 
request, all Local members will be granted credit for attendance at that meeting for the 
purpose of eligibility for office. (S.) 

7. Section 14.8 of the ATU International Constitution and Bylaws allows 
challenges to the conduct and results of an election. Any member who is entitled to vote 
may challenge the conduct or results of an election by filing a challenge within 1 O days of 
the counting of the ballots with the incumbent Secretary Treasurer of the Union. The 
Secretary Treasurer shall submit the challenge for decision to the Union Executive Board, 
subject to final ruling by the Union membership. (S.) 

2 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are indicated 
parenthetically by "S." References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by 
"JI. Exh.,"followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the Respondent's Exhibits in the record 
are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh ." followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the 
digital recording of the evidentiary hearing are indicated parenthetically by the witness'name and 
approximate timing point. References to the record in the Findings of Fact are intended for 
convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the 
record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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8. Under Section 23 of the ATU International Constitution and Bylaws, any 
member who believes he or she has received unfair treatment from the Union has the 
right of appeal from the Union's final decision to the IP, from the IP to the General 
Executive Board ("GEB"), and from the GEB to the regular Convention of the ATU 
International. Under Section 23, all appeals must be forwarded through the IP. (S.) 

9. In early November 2008, Mr. McGrady announced that he was running forthe 
office of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations. On November 13, 2008, the 
three-member Union Scanning Committee determined Mr. McGrady was ineligible to run 
for office because he was credited with attendance at only three meetings in 2007, the 
first of the two years preceding the election. (S.) 

10. The Scanning Committee determined that members Wayne Bender, Michael 
Carlisle, Tina Johnson, Charles Spivey and Tim DeFranco were ineligible to run for their 
respective offices because of their failure to attend the requisite six meetings. (Jt.Exh. 3) 

11. The Scanning Committee also determined that another member, Willie 
Lawson, was ineligible to run for the office of Executive Board Member, Rail Operations, 
due to his failure to attend the requisite six meetings; however, the committee allowed 
Mr. Lawson to run for office for the stated reason that he "was the only nominated 
candidate for the position." Subsequently, Mr. Lawson was installed as an Executive 
Board Member. (S.) 

12. The Scanning Committee had credited Mr. McGradywith attendance at three 
meetings in 2007: the February and September 2007 canceled meetings for which all 
members were given credit, and the November 2007 meeting. On November 14, 2008, 
Mr. McGrady was permitted to meet with Union Secretary Treasurer Roger Kwiatkowski 
to review the attendance rosters for 2007. Mr. Kwiatkowski acknowledged at least one 
additional meeting, in October 2007. that Mr. McGrady had attended but had not been 
given credit for by the Scanning Committee. This increased Mr. McGrady's credited 
meeting attendance for 2007 from three to four meetings. Mr. McGrady informed 
Mr. Kwiatkowski that he physically attended both the July and August 2007 meetings. 
However, because he did not fill out an attendance card at either of these meetings, they 
were not counted. (S.; McGrady, 17:47-34:29) 

13. A primary election was held on December 2, 2008, and a general election 
was held on December 16, 2008. Mr. McGrady's name was not on either ballot. (S.) 

14. On December 23, 2008, Mr. McGrady filed a challenge to the conduct and 
results of the election pursuant to his right under Section 14.8 of the ATU International 
Constitution. Mr. McGrady copied the IP on the correspondence. (S.) 
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15. Mr. McGrady challenged the election on two grounds: (1) that he had 
attended the requisite six meetings in 2007, and (2) that he was treated less favorably 
than Mr. Lawson, who did not meet the attendance requirement but ran unopposed for a 
different Executive Board position. In accepting his challenge, the Union membership 
agreed that Mr. McGrady had actually attended the July and August 2007 meetings. 
Consequently, the Union membership concluded that Mr. McGrady had met the six
meeting attendance requirement and was an eligible candidate. (McGrady, 46:00-48:00) 

16. On January 13, 2009, the Union Executive Board met and voted not to 
accept Mr. McGrady's challenge to the election. However, on the same night, the Union 
membership voted to accept Mr. McGrady's challenge to the election. A re-run election 
was to be held with Mr. McGrady's name on the ballot for Executive Board Member, 
Triskett Operations. (S.) 

17. On January 15, 2009, before a rerun election was held, Secretary Treasurer 
Kwiatkowski appealed the membership's decision upholding Mr. McGrady's challenge. 
Mr. Kwiatkowski sent two separate appeals to the IP: one in his capacity as Union 
SecretaryfTreasurer and the other purportedly on behalf of the Union membership. Also, 
on January 27, 2009, Union member Joel Gulley, who had been elected without 
opposition to the position of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations, appealed the 
membership's decision pertaining to Mr. McGrady to the IP. (S.) 

18. The IP dismissed Mr. Kwiatkowski's appeal on behalf of the membership for 
lack of standing. On February 25, 2009, the IP sustained both Mr. Kwiatkowski's and 
Mr. Gulley's individual appeals and determined that Mr. McGrady was ineligible to run for 
office. The IP found that Mr. McGrady had never claimed he missed meetings due to his 
work schedule and that even if Mr. McGrady was given credit for the two (2) canceled 
meetings in 2007, he would still fall short of the attendance requirement. (S.) 

19. The IP applied his interpretation of Sections 13.3 and 14.2 of the ATU 
International Constitution and Bylaws in rendering his decision. Section 13.3 provides 
that if a local union seeks permission from the IP to not hold a regular meeting and the 
request is granted, all Union members will be granted credit for attendance at that 
meeting for the purpose of eligibility for office. Section 14.2 allows a local union to give a 
Union member credit for a missed meeting if the Union member's regular work schedule 
prevented his or her attendance, provided that the member requests the credit within ten 
days following the meeting. But Section 14.2 further states that a member who has 
attended five or fewer meetings 1n one of the preceding two years is ineligible to run for 
office unless he or she was excused from or granted credit for "each and all of the 
remaining regular" meetings. The IP reasoned that in order to meet the six-meeting 
requirement, Section 14.2 requires actual physical attendance instead of credit granted 
for attendance. Therefore, even if Mr. McGrady had actually attended the July and 
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August 2007 meetings as the Union membership had concluded, this still placed his 
actual 2007 attendance at only four meetings. Mr. McGrady did not produce evidence 
that he had been excused from or granted credit for attendance at each of the other 
regular meetings in 2007. Thus. according to the IP, the Union membership could not 
bring Mr. McGrady's 2007 meeting-attendance total to six meetings by using his credits 
for the two canceled meetings (Jt. Exh 16) 

20. On or about March 30, 2009, Mr. McGrady sent a "request for reconsideration 
of: IP's formal ruling on appeals of Kwiatkowski and Gulley (Election Challenges of 
Defranco and McGrady); Alternatively Appeal to the General Executive Board." (S.) 

21. On or about April 8, 2009, the IP issued a letter in response to Mr. McGrady's 
request for reconsideration. In his letter, the IP wrote, in relevant part, that "it [was] not 
appropriate for [McGrady] to invoke and participate in the appellate procedures set forth 
under Section 23 of the ATU Constitution and General Laws because McGrady had filed 
a legal action with the State Employment Relations Board." Consequently, Mr. McGrady 
exhausted all of his internal union remedies. (S.) 

22. On April 23, 2009, SERB dismissed Mr. McGrady's unfair labor practice 
charge for lack of probable cause. (S) 

23. On June 15, 2009, Mr. McGrady filed a motion for reconsideration of SERB's 
dismissal of his ULP charge on the grounds that he had requested reconsideration of the 
IP's ruling and had received the April 8, 2009 response informing him that because he 
had filed a charge with SERB he could not invoke appellate procedures under Section 23 
of the ATU International Constitution and Bylaws. (S.) 

24. On December 17, 2009, upon review of the original investigation and the new 
information submitted, SERB determined that probable cause existed for believing that 
ATU Local 268 had committed or was committing unfair labor practices, authorized the 
issuance of a complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. (S.) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Relevant Statutes and Decisions 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its agents, or 
representatives, or public employees to: 
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(1) Restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in 
Chapter4117. of the Revised Code. 

Because §4117.11(B)(1) is analogous to §4117.11(A)(1) in that it prohibits 
restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117, 
SERB has found it appropriate to assess§ 4117.11 (B)(1) allegations 1n the same manner 
as§ 4117.11 (A)(1) allegations. SERB utilizes an objective case-by-case analysis to assess 
whether particular conduct violates § 4117.11(A)(1). In re Pickaway County Human 
Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93). Similarly, when a § 4117.11 (B)(1) violation is 
alleged, SERB will determine whether, under all the facts and circumstances, one could 
reasonably conclude that employees were restrained or coerced, or that their rights under 
§ 4117.03 were interfered with. In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-
013 (6-25-93)("1n re ATU"). It has not been SERB's practice to unnecessarily interfere in 
internal union affairs. However, this practice does not absolve employee organizations 
from their statutory obligations to their membership. In In re ATU, supra at 3-82, SERB 
explained its approach as follows: 

Internal union policies or practices that violate rights protected under 
Chapter 4117 are not immune from scrutiny as violations of O.R.C. 
§ 4117.11 (B)(1) simply because they arise in the course of internal union 
affairs. Rather, union practices which coerce employees in the exercise of 
their statutory rights will be as closely scrutinized as employer practices 
alleged to violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1). 

Before SERB considers the merits of an alleged § 4117.11 (B)(1) violation, internal 
union remedies must be exhausted. In re ATU, supra. At the same time, SERB has 
recognized the 90-day statute of limitations for filing unfair labor practice charges. A matter 
may not be resolved through internal union means within this period. Accordingly, SERB 
advised charging parties to file such charges in a timely manner, with the understanding 
that they may be held in abeyance pending exhaustion of internal Lmion remedies. Id. 
Mr. McGrady's unfair labor practice charge is now ripe for review, as it was timely filed and 
the parties have stipulated that his internal union remedies have been exhausted.3 

Section 4117.03(A)(1) guarantees public employees the right to participate in an 
employee organization of their choosing. Participation in an employee organization 
includes the right to seek office within the organization. In re ATU, supra. Section 4117.19 
requires that every employee organization file with SERB a registration report accompanied 
by copies of the organization's constitution and bylaws. Section 4117.19(C)(4) confirms the 
right to seek office, providing the following: 

3 F.F. 22. 
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The constitution or bylaws of every employee organization shall require 
periodic elections of officers by secret ballot subject to recognized 
safeguards concerning the equal right of all members to nominate, seek 
office, and vote in the elections, the right of individual members to participate 
in the affairs of the organization, and fair and equitable procedures in 
disciplinary actions. 

As is fully set forth below, under the totality of the facts and circumstances, the 
Union's actions interfered with and restrained Mr. McGrady in his exercise of the right to 
seek local union office, in violation of§ 4117.11(8)(1). By interpreting Section 14.2 as 
requiring "actual" attendance at six meetings, the IP overturned the Union membership's 
decision that Mr. McGrady did in fact comply with the meeting-attendance requirements. 
The IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 would also eliminate the candidacy of Mr. McGrady's 
opponent, Mr. Gulley. The Union utilized the IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 to overturn 
Mr. McGrady's challenge to the election and prevent him from being a candidate for the 
Union office of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations. However, the Union utilized 
its local practice of using meeting-cancellation credit toward the requisite six meetings to 
allow Mr. Gulley to run unopposed for that office. This unequal application of the meeting
attendance requirement interfered with and restrained Mr. McGrady in his effort to run for 
Union office. 

SERB may examine analogous federal precedent for guidance in first-impression 
cases. The United States Supreme Court has ruled that union elections are to be modeled 
after general elections, and that the local union membership is the best judge of whether a 
candidate is qualified. Wirtz v. Hotel, Motel and Club Emp. Union Local 6, 391 U.S. 492, 
499-502 (1968). "Congress plainly did not intend that the authorization ... of 'reasonable 
qualifications ... ' should be given a broad reach." !Q. at499. Eligibility qualifications should 
be construed narrowly with deference given to the local membership. Because 
Section 14.2 is ambiguous and eligibility requirements are matter of local discretion, it was 
a violation of § 4117.11 (B)(1) to overturn the Union membership's decision that 
Mr. McGrady was eligible for candidacy. 

B. Unequal Application of the IP's Ruling 

The IP wrote a letter on February 25, 2009, that served as a formal ruling 
overturning the Union membership's determination in favor of Mr. McGrady's challenge to 
the Union's 2008 officer elections. The IP did not find that Mr. McGrady's challenge was 
untimely. Nor did the IP dispute Mr. McGrady's attendance at the July and August 2007 
meetings, acknowledging that this "factual question was resolved in Mr. McGrady's favor."4 

The IP instead based his determination on the fact that the Union membership counted 

4 (Jt. Exh. 16, p. 3) 
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attendance credit granted for the canceled February and September 2007 meetings toward 
the six required meetings. The IP ruled that treating credited attendance the same as 
"actual" attendance for eligibility purposes was inconsistent with the language of 
Section 14.2. 

After determining that Mr. McGrady had physically attended four meetings and had 
received credit for attending two. the IP pointed out that Mr. McGrady had supplied no 
evidence that he had been excused from or granted credit for attendance at the "other six 
regular meetings in 2007." Thus, because Mr. McGrady "actually" only attended four 
meetings, he needed to be excused from or granted credit for all the remaining eight 
meetings in order to meet the meeting-attendance requirement of six meetings. 
Mr. McGrady's evidence showed that he was granted credit only for the canceled meetings 
in February and September. Therefore, he was ineligible for candidacy under the IP's 
interpretation of Section 14.2. 

The Union now argues that for purposes of granting credit for canceled meetings, 
the phrase, "each and all of the remainin~ meets [sic]," within Section 14.2 means all the 
meetings afferthe first meeting attended. The interpretation the Union now suggests is not 
the interpretation it followed when it denied Mr. McGrady the opportunity to run for election 
but permitted Mr. Gulley to run as the only eligible candidate from Triskett Operations. In 
November and December 2008, the Union was following its local practice of crediting all 
members for attendance at canceled regular meetings, without regard to the number of 
meetings a member actually attended or the number of meetings from which a member 
was excused. All Union members, including Mr. McGrady, had two attendance credits for 
the canceled 2007 meetings. Thus. once Mr. McGrady demonstrated that he had actually 
attended the July and August 2007 meetings as well as the October and November 2007 
meetings, it was the Union membership's opinion that he met the six-meeting eligibility 
requirement for candidacy. 

Neitherthe actual practice of the Union, nor the interpretation it proffered at hearing 
and in its post-hearing brief, was followed by the IP. The IP based his ruling on the fact 
that although Mr. McGrady's evidence demonstrated he attended four meetings and was 
credited for two meetings in 2007, he failed to supply evidence that he had been excused 
from or granted credit for the "other six meetings in 2007."6 If the July meeting is counted 
as Mr. McGrady's first meeting, then he either physically attended or was excused from 
every remaining meeting. If the February credit for attendance is counted as 
Mr. McGrady's first meeting, then only four months are unaccounted for until July, which 
has been credited to Mr. McGrady by the Membership's decision. Therefore, the only 
interpretation of the "other six meetings" must include December 2006, which is counted 

5 (Roger Kwiatkowski, 2:49:00-2:53:30) 
6 (JI. Exh. 16) 
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towards the 2007 eligibility year, as well as January, March, April, May, and June 2007. By 
counting December and January, the IP is clearly interpreting "each and all of the 
remaining" meetings to mean each of the other meetings of the year in question, not "each 
and all of the remaining" meetings after the first meeting a member attended. 

The IP's interpretation resulted in a final ruling denying Mr. McGrady his opportunity 
to run for office. But applying the IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 results in the finding 
that Mr. McGrady's opponent, Mr. Gulley, was not eligible for candidacy either. Mr. Gulley 
attended the June, July, August, October, and November 2007 meetings and received 
credit for the cancellation of the February and September meetings.7 Under the Union's 
actual practice, Mr. Gulley was eligible because cancellation credit for a meeting is 
equivalent to actual attendance, bringing his attendance total to seven meetings. Under 
the IP's interpretation of Section 14.2, Mr. Gulley is ineligible because he "actually" 
attended only five meetings and was not excused from or granted credit for each and all of 
the remaining five meetings of the year: December, January, March, April, and May. The 
IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 was used to deny Mr. McGrady his challenge while the 
Union's alternative interpretation of Section 14.2 was used to affirm Mr. Gulley's eligibility. 
The use of differing interpretations of§ 14.2 interferes with and restrains Mr. McGrady's 
equal right to seek Union office and therefore violates§ 4117.11(B)(1). 

C. Deference to Membership when Eligibility Requirement is Ambiguous 

Section 14.2 is ambiguous and subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. 
Secretary Treasurer Kwiatkowski interpreted Section 14.2 as allowing the use of meeting
cancellation credit toward achieving the requisite six meetings. 6 William Nix, the Union 
President, also interpreted Section 14.2 as allowing the use of cancellation credit toward 
achieving the requisite six meetings 9 The IP interpreted Section 14.2 as requiring actual 
attendance in order to achieve the requisite number of meetings unless the member was 
credited for or excused from all other meetings in the eligibility year. 10 

The existence and substance of the attendance requirement is a matter of local 
Union discretion. Section 14.2 states in part as follows: "such [local union] may, through its 
bylaws and with approval of the I. P., affirmatively declare that no such meeting attendance 
requirement shall be applied as a condition of eligibility for any office of the [local union]."11 

Not only is the totality of the attendance requirement local-specific, certain practices 
regarding the application of the attendance requirement are local-specific. In addition to the 
Union's meeting-cancellation credit practice, Union President Nix explained to the IP that 

7 (R. Exh. 3) 
8 (Roger Kwiatkowski, 2:36:10) 
9 (Jt.Exh. 15, p. 4) 
10 (Jt.Exh. 16, p. 4) 
11 (Jt.Exh. 1, pp. 64-65) 
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"Local 268 has had a practice of waiving the membership meeting requirement when a 
member who is ineligible for office is unopposed."12 In this case, the Union has chosen to 
apply a meeting-attendance requirement. Union leadership should defer to the Union 
membership's application of the meeting-attendance requirement, particularly where, as 
here, the language setting forth the requirement is ambiguous and subject to multiple 
interpretations. 

D. Eligibility Requirements should be Narrowly Construed 

The overall congressional purpose of the federal Labor- Management Reporting and 
Disclosure Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 401-531 ("LMRDA"), upon which Chapter 4117 is partially 
based, is to prevent anti-democratic tendencies and procedures within unions. Wirtz, supra 
p. 7, 391 U.S. at 499. Union members are to be treated with proper deference in regard to 
their reason and ability to assess the qualities of union candidates. Jn Wirtz, the United 
States Supreme Court stated as follows 

[The argument that a rule is necessary to keep inexperienced members out 
of office] assumes that rank-and-file union members are unable to 
distinguish qualified from unqualified candidates for particular offices .... But 
Congress' model of democratic elections was political elections in this 
country, and they are not based on any such assumption. Rather, in those 
elections the assumption is that voters will exercise common sense and 
judgment in casting their ballots. [The union] made no showing that citizens 
assumed to make discriminating judgments in public elections cannot be 
relied on to make such judgments when voting as union members. 

Jsl at 504. 

Furthermore. the Court has recognized that the best means for "assuring the 
election of knowledgeable and dedicated leaders ... is to leave the choice of leaders to the 
membership in open democratic elections, unfettered by arbitrary exclusions." United 
Steelworkers of America, Local 3489, AFL-CIO v. W.J. Usery, 429 U.S. 305, 312 (1977). 
Although not binding on SERB, the Court's interpretation of the LMRDA is informative. 

At the federal level, meeting-attendance requirements have been struck down on 
numerous occasions as violative of§ 401 (e) of the LMRDA. See,~. Local 3489 v. Usery, 
429 U.S. at 310 (attendance requirement that results in the exclusion of 96.5 percent of 
members hardly seems to be a "reasonable qualification"); Donovan v. Local 25. Sheet 
Metal Workers, AFL - CIO, 613 F Supp. 607, 609-611 (D.C.Tenn. 1985) (rule is invalid 
because it significantly curtails the number of eligible candidates and there is no substantial 

12 (Jt.Exh 15, p. 4) 
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connection between the requirement and the ability to hold office); Doyle v. Brock, 
821 F.2d 778, 784-85 (D.C.Cir. 1987) (unreasonableness is judged by the undemocratic 
effect of the meeting-attendance requirement); Herman v. Local Union, 1011, United 
Steelworkers of America AFL-CIO, 59 F.Supp.2d 770, 775-80 (N.D.lnd.1999) (large 
undemocratic effect in addition to the time necessary to meet qualification makes 
attendance rule invalid). Complainant has not challenged the overall validity of the meeting
attendance requirement or provided information regarding the percentage of employees 
disqualified by the current rule, so this is an issue for another occasion. However, meeting
attendance requirements should be construed narrowly and in a manner that reflect the 
wishes of the union members. 

V. REMEDIES 

The appropriate remedies in this case are for SERB to issue an order requiring the 
Union to cease and desist from violating§ 4117.11 (B)(1 ), and to conduct a new election for 
the remainder of the current term for the position of Executive Board Member, Triskett 
Operations, including Terry McGrady on the ballot. 

VI. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority is a "public employer" as defined 
by§ 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, violated§ 4117.11(B)(1). 
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Before Chairperson Brundige, Vice Chairperson Verich, and Board Member 
Spada: August 12, 2010. 

On November 17, 2008, Terry McGrady filed an unfair labor practice charge 
against the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268 ("Respondent"). On April 23, 2009, 
the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or "Complainant") dismissed 
Mr. McGrady's unfair labor practice charge, which alleged that ATU Local 268 violated 
Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11(B)(1) by denying him his right to run for union 
office. On June 15, 2009, Mr. McGrady filed a motion for reconsideration of the 
dismissal of his unfair labor practice charge. On December 17, 2009, the Board, upon 
review of the original investigation and the new information submitted, determined that 
probable cause existed for believing that Respondent had committed or was committing 
unfair labor practices in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(1), authorized the issuance of 
a complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. 

On February 24, 2010, a Complaint was issued. An Answer was filed by 
Respondent on April 22, 2010. On April 29, 2010, a hearing was conducted by an 
Administrative Law Judge. On June 22, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge's 
Proposed Order was issued, recommending that the Board find that Respondent 
violated O.R.C. §4117.11(B)(1). On July 13, 2010, Respondent filed exceptions to.the 
Proposed Order. On July 23, 2010, Counsel for Complainant filed a response to the 
exceptions. 

After reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, Complaint, Answer, Proposed 
Order, exceptions, responses to exceptions, and all other filings in this case, the Board 

--
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adopts the Findings of Fact, Analysis and Discussion, and Conclusions of Law in the 
Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, finding that Respondent violated Ohio 
Revised Code §4117.11(B)(1) by denying Terry McGrady the right to run for union 
office. 

The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268 is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Restraining or coercing Terry McGrady in the exercise of his rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by disparately applying 
the International President's formal ruling on Mr. McGrady's eligibility for 
candidacy for Union office, by not giving deference to the Union 
membership's interpretation of the eligibility requirements for candidates 
for Union office, and by otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117.11(B)(1). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Conduct a new election for the position of Executive Board Member 
of Triskett Operations to cover the remainder of the current term, 
listing only Terry McGrady and Joel Gulley as eligible candidates; 

(2) Cooperate with the SERB appointed Elections Monitor, Craig 
Young, in scheduling and conducting a re-run election within thirty 
(30) days of the date of this Order between the two individuals who 
were nominated for the position of Executive Board Member, 
Triskett Operations, to wit: Terry McGrady and Joel Gulley; 
immediately upon the tallying of the election results the successful 
candidate shall assume the position of Executive Board Member, 
Triskett Operations, and shall serve the remainder of the 2008 term 
that commenced January 1, 2009; 

(3) Post for sixty (60) consecutive calendar days in all the usual and 
customary posting locations where bargaining-unit members 
represented by the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268 
members work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the State 
Employment Relations Board stating that the Amalgamated Transit 
Union, Local 268, shall cease and desist from the actions set forth 
in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 
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(4) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
twenty calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson; VERICH, Vice Chairperson; and SPADA, Board 
Member, concur. 

N. EUGE BRUNDIGE, CHA ERSON 

TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.13(D) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 121

h 

Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-
07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 

this /,f~ day of August, 2010. 
I 

SANDRA AM. IVERSEN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 

OPINIONS/2010-013-ord 



NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 
FROM THE STATE EMPLOYMENT 

RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State 
Employment Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered 
us to post this notice. We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations 
Board and to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Restraining or coercing Terry McGrady in the exercise of his rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by disparately applying the 
International President's formal ruling on Mr. McGrady's eligibility for 
candidacy for Union office, by not giving deference to the Union 
membership's interpretation of the eligibility requirements for candidates for 
Union office, and by otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11 (B)(1). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Conduct a new election forthe position of Executive Board Member of 
Triskett Operations to cover the remainder of the current term, listing 
only Terry McGrady and Joel Gulley as eligible candidates; 

(2) Cooperate with the SERB appointed Elections Monitor, Craig Young, 
in scheduling and conducting a re-run election within thirty (30) days 
of the date of this Order between the two individuals who were 
nominated for the position of Executive Board Member, Triskett 
Operations, to wit: Terry McGrady and Joel Gulley; immediately upon 
the tallying of the election results the successful candidate shall 
assume the position of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations, 
and shall serve the remainder of the 2008 term that commenced 
January 1, 2009; 

(3) Post for six1y (60) consecutive calendar days in all the usual and 
customary posting locations where bargaining-unit members 
represented by the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268 members 
work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the Amalgamated Transit Union, 
Local 268, shall cease and desist from the actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B); and 

(4) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty 
calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the steps that 
have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, Case No. 2007-ULP-09-0516 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Noti-ce must remain posted for 60 consecutive days from the date of posting and must not 
be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board. 
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STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, 
LOCAL 268, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 2008-ULP-11-0495 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 17, 2008, Terry McGrady filed an unfair labor practice charge against 
the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268 (the "Union"), alleging that the Union violated 
Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11 (B)(1). 1 On April 23, 2009, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") dismissed the charge. On June 15, 2009, Mr. McGrady 
filed a motion for reconsideration. On December 17, 2009, SERB granted the motion for 
reconsideration and found probable cause to believe that the Union violated 
§ 4117.11 (B)(1) by denying Terry McGrady's right to run for Union office and appealing the 
Union membership's decision to allow Mr. McGrady to run in a rerun election. 

On February 24, 2010, a complaint was issued. A hearing was held on April 29, 
2010, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, both 
parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Whether the Union violated § 4117.11 (B)(1) by denying 
Mr. McGrady's right to run for Union office. 

2. Whether the Union violated§ 4117.11 (B)(1) by appealing the 
Union membership's decision to allow Mr. McGrady to run in a 
rerun election. 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. The Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority ("GCRTA") is a "public 
employer" as defined by§ 4117.01(8). (S.) 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union ("ATU"), Local 268 ("Union"), is an 
"employee organization" as defined by § 4117.01(0) and is the deemed-certified 
bargaining representative of certain employees of GCRTA. (S.) 

3. Terry McGrady is an employee of GCRTA, a member of the bargaining unit 
represented by the Union, and a "public employee" as defined by§ 4117.01 (C). (S.) 

4. The Union and GCRTA were parties to a collective bargaining agreement 
effective from August 1, 2006 through July 31, 2009 ("CSA"), which contained a 
grievance process that culminated in binding arbitration. (S.) 

5. Section 4 of the Union's Constitution and Bylaws requires candidates for 
Union office to be in continuous good standing for two years and to have attended at 
least six regular meetings in each of the two years preceding the election. (S.) 

6. The Union canceled two regular meetings during 2007. Section 13.3 of the 
ATU International Constitution and Bylaws provides that if the Local seeks permission 
from the International President ("IP") to not hold a regular meeting and the IP grants the 
request, all Local members will be granted credit for attendance at that meeting for the 
purpose of eligibility for office. (S.) 

7. Section 14.8 of the ATU International Constitution and Bylaws allows 
challenges to the conduct and results of an election. Any member who is entitled to vote 
may challenge the conduct or results of an election by filing a challenge within 10 days of 
the counting of the ballots with the incumbent Secretary Treasurer of the Union. The 
Secretary Treasurer shall submit the challenge for decision to the Union Executive Board, 
subject to final ruling by the Union membership. (S ) 

' References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are indicated 
parenthetically by "S." References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by 
"Jt. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the Respondent's Exhibits in the record 
are indicated parenthetically by "R. Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the 
digital recording of the evidentiary hearing are indicated parenthetically by the witness' name and 
approximate timing point. References to the record in the Findings of Fact are intended for 
convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole support in the 
record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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8. Under Section 23 of the ATU International Constitution and Bylaws, any 
member who believes he or she has received unfair treatment from the Union has the 
right of appeal from the Union's final decision to the IP, from the IP to the General 
Executive Board ("GEB"), and from the GEB to the regular Convention of the ATU 
International. Under Section 23, all appeals must be forwarded through the IP. (S.) 

9. In early November 2008, Mr. McGrady announced that he was running for the 
office of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations. On November 13, 2008, the 
three-member Union Scanning Committee determined Mr. McGrady was ineligible to run 
for office because he was credited with attendance at only three meetings in 2007, the 
first of the two years preceding the election. (S.) 

10. The Scanning Committee determined that members Wayne Bender, Michael 
Carlisle, Tina Johnson, Charles Spivey and Tim DeFranco were ineligible to run for their 
respective offices because of their failure to attend the requisite six meetings. (Jt.Exh. 3) 

11. The Scanning Committee also determined that another member, Willie 
Lawson, was ineligible to run for the office of Executive Board Member, Rail Operations, 
due to his failure to attend the requisite six meetings; however, the committee allowed 
Mr. Lawson to run for office for the stated reason that he "was the only nominated 
candidate for the position." Subsequently, Mr. Lawson was installed as an Executive 
Board Member. (S.) 

12. The Scanning Committee had credited Mr. McGradywith attendance atthree 
meetings in 2007: the February and September 2007 canceled meetings for which all 
members were given credit, and the November 2007 meeting. On November 14, 2008, 
Mr. McGrady was permitted to meet with Union Secretary Treasurer Roger Kwiatkowski 
to review the attendance rosters for 2007. Mr. Kwiatkowski acknowledged at least one 
additional meeting, in October 2007, that Mr. McGrady had attended but had not been 
given credit for by the Scanning Committee. This increased Mr. McGrady's credited 
meeting attendance for 2007 from three to four meetings. Mr. McGrady informed 
Mr. Kwiatkowski that he physically attended both the July and August 2007 meetings. 
However, because he did not fill out an attendance card at either of these meetings, they 
were not counted. (S.; McGrady, 17:47-34:29) 

13. A primary election was held on December 2, 2008, and a general election 
was held on December 16, 2008. Mr. McGrady's name was not on either ballot (S.) 

14. On December 23, 2008, Mr. McGrady filed a challenge to the conduct and 
results of the election pursuant to his right under Section 14.8 of the ATU International 
Constitution. Mr. McGrady copied the IP on the correspondence. (S.) 
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15. Mr. McGrady challenged the election on two grounds: (1) that he had 
attended the requisite six meetings in 2007, and (2) that he was treated less favorably 
than Mr. Lawson, who did not meet the attendance requirement but ran unopposed for a 
different Executive Board position. In accepting his challenge, the Union membership 
agreed that Mr. McGrady had actually attended the July and August 2007 meetings. 
Consequently, the Union membership concluded that Mr. McGrady had met the six
meeting attendance requirement and was an eligible candidate. (McGrady, 46:00-48:00) 

16. On January 13, 2009, the Union Executive Board met and voted not to 
accept Mr. McGrady's challenge to the election. However, on the same night, the Union 
membership voted to accept Mr. McGrady's challenge to the election. A re-run election 
was to be held with Mr. McGrady's name on the ballot for Executive Board Member, 
Triskett Operations. (S.) 

17. On January 15, 2009, before a rerun election was held, Secretary Treasurer 
Kwiatkowski appealed the membership's decision upholding Mr. McGrady's challenge. 
Mr. Kwiatkowski sent two separate appeals to the IP: one in his capacity as Union 
Secretary!Treasurer and the other purportedly on behalf of the Union membership. Also, 
on January 27, 2009, Union member Joel Gulley, who had been elected without 
opposition to the position of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations, appealed the 
membership's decision pertaining to Mr. McGrady to the IP. (S.) 

18. The IP dismissed Mr. Kwiatkowski's appeal on behalf of the membership for 
lack of standing. On February 25, 2009, the IP sustained both Mr. Kwiatkowski's and 
Mr. Gulley's individual appeals and determined that Mr. McGrady was ineligible to run for 
office. The IP found that Mr. McGrady had never claimed he missed meetings due to his 
work schedule and that even if Mr. McGrady was given credit for the two (2) canceled 
meetings in 2007, he would still fall short of the attendance requirement. (S.) 

19. The IP applied his interpretation of Sections 13.3 and 14.2 of the ATU 
International Constitution and Bylaws in rendering his decision. Section 13.3 provides 
that if a local union seeks permission from the IP to not hold a regular meeting and the 
request is granted, all Union members will be granted credit for attendance at that 
meeting for the purpose of eligibility for office. Section 14.2 allows a local union to give a 
Union member credit for a missed meeting if the Union member's regular work schedule 
prevented his or her attendance, provided that the member requests the credit within ten 
days following the meeting. But Section 14.2 further states that a member who has 
attended five or fewer meetings in one of the preceding two years is ineligible to run for 
office unless he or she was excused from or granted credit for "each and all of the 
remaining regular" meetings. The IP reasoned that in order to meet the six-meeting 
requirement, Section 14.2 requires actual physical attendance instead of credit granted 
for attendance. Therefore, even if Mr. McGrady had actually attended the July and 
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August 2007 meetings as the Union membership had concluded, this still placed his 
actual 2007 attendance at only four meetings. Mr. McGrady did not produce evidence 
that he had been excused from or granted credit for attendance at each of the other 
regular meetings in 2007. Thus, according to the IP, the Union membership could not 
bring Mr. McGrady's 2007 meeting-attendance total to six meetings by using his credits 
for the two canceled meetings. (Jt. Exh 16) 

20. On or about March 30, 2009, Mr. McGrady sent a "request for reconsideration 
of: IP's formal ruling on appeals of Kwiatkowski and Gulley (Election Challenges of 
DeFranco and McGrady); Alternatively Appeal to the General Executive Board." (S.) 

21. On or about April 8, 2009, the IP issued a letter in response to Mr. McGrady's 
request for reconsideration. In his letter, the IP wrote, in relevant part, that "it [was] not 
appropriate for [McGrady] to invoke and participate in the appellate procedures set forth 
under Section 23 of the ATU Constitution and General Laws because McGrady had filed 
a legal action with the State Employment Relations Board." Consequently, Mr. McGrady 
exhausted all of his internal union remedies. (S.) 

22. On April 23, 2009, SERB dismissed Mr. McGrady's unfair labor practice 
charge for lack of probable cause. (S.) 

23. On June 15, 2009, Mr. McGrady filed a motion for reconsideration of SERB's 
dismissal of his ULP charge on the grounds that he had requested reconsideration of the 
IP's ruling and had received the April 8, 2009 response informing him that because he 
had filed a charge with SERB he could not invoke appellate procedures under Section 23 
of the ATU International Constitution and Bylaws. (S.) 

24. On December 17, 2009, upon review of the original investigation and the new 
information submitted, SERB determined that probable cause existed for believing that 
ATU Local 268 had committed or was committing unfair labor practices, authorized the 
issuance of a complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. (S.) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Relevant Statutes and Decisions 

Section 4117.11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, its agents, or 
representatives, or public employees to: 
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( 1) Restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code. 

Because §4117.11(B)(1) is analogous to §4117.11(A)(1) in that it prohibits 
restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117, 
SERB has found it appropriate to assess§ 4117.11 (B)(1) allegations in the same manner 
as§ 4117.11 (A)(1) allegations. SERB utilizes an objective case-by-case analysis to assess 
whether particular conduct violates § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). In re Pickaway County Human 
Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93). Similarly, when a§ 4117.11(B)(1) violation is 
alleged, SERB will determine whether, under all the facts and circumstances, one could 
reasonably conclude that employees were restrained or coerced, or that their rights under 
§ 4117.03 were interfered with. In re Amalgamated Transit Union. Local 268, SERB 93-
013 (6-25-93)("1n re ATU"). It has not been SERB's practice to unnecessarily interfere in 
internal union affairs. However, this practice does not absolve employee organizations 
from their statutory obligations to their membership. In In re ATU, supra at 3-82, SERB 
explained its approach as follows: 

Internal union policies or practices that violate rights protected under 
Chapter 4117 are not immune from scrutiny as violations of O.R.C. 
§ 4117.11 (B)(1) simply because they arise in the course of internal union 
affairs. Rather, union practices which coerce employees in the exercise of 
their statutory rights will be as closely scrutinized as employer practices 
alleged to violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

Before SERB considers the merits of an alleged § 4117.11 (B)(1) violation, internal 
union remedies must be exhausted. In re ATU, supra. At the same time, SERB has 
recognized the 90-day statute of limitations for filing unfair labor practice charges. A matter 
may not be resolved through internal union means within this period. Accordingly, SERB 
advised charging parties to file such charges in a timely manner, with the understanding 
that they may be held in abeyance pending exhaustion of internal union remedies. !Q. 
Mr. McGrady's unfair labor practice charge is now ripe for review, as it was timely filed and 
the parties have stipulated that his internal union remedies have been exhausted.3 

Section 4117.03(A)(1) guarantees public employees the right to participate in an 
employee organization of their choosing. Participation in an employee organization 
includes the right to seek office within the organization. In re ATU, supra. Section 4117.19 
requires that every employee organization file with SERB a registration report accompanied 
by copies of the organization's constitution and bylaws. Section 4117.19(C)(4) confirms the 
right to seek office, providing the following: 

3 F.F. 22. 
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The constitution or bylaws of every employee organization shall require 
periodic elections of officers by secret ballot subject to recognized 
safeguards concerning the equal right of all members to nominate, seek 
office, and vote in the elections, the right of individual members to participate 
in the affairs of the organization, and fair and equitable procedures in 
disciplinary actions. 

As is fully set forth below, under the totality of the facts and circumstances, the 
Union's actions interfered with and restrained Mr. McGrady in his exercise of the right to 
seek local union office, in violation of § 4117.11 (B)(1 ). By interpreting Section 14.2 as 
requiring "actual" attendance at six meetings, the IP overturned the Union membership's 
decision that Mr. McGrady did in fact comply with the meeting-attendance requirements. 
The IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 would also eliminate the candidacy of Mr. McGrady's 
opponent, Mr. Gulley. The Union utilized the IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 to overturn 
Mr. McGrady's challenge to the election and prevent him from being a candidate for the 
Union office of Executive Board Member, Triskett Operations. However, the Union utilized 
its local practice of using meeting-cancellation credit toward the requisite six meetings to 
allow Mr. Gulley to run unopposed for that office. This unequal application of the meeting
attendance requirement interfered with and restrained Mr. McGrady in his effort to run for 
Union office. 

SERB may examine analogous federal precedent for guidance in first-impression 
cases. The United States Supreme Court has ruled that union elections are to be modeled 
after general elections, and that the local union membership is the best judge of whether a 
candidate is qualified. Wirtz v. Hotel, Motel and Club Emp. Union Local 6, 391 U.S. 492, 
499-502 (1968). "Congress plainly did not intend that the authorization ... of 'reasonable 
qualifications ... ' should be given a broad reach." !Q. at 499. Eligibility qualifications should 
be construed narrowly with deference given to the local membership. Because 
Section 14.2 is ambiguous and eligibility requirements are matter of local discretion, it was 
a violation of § 4117. 11(B)(1) to overturn the Union membership's decision that 
Mr. McGrady was eligible for candidacy. 

B. Unequal Application of the IP's Ruling 

The IP wrote a letter on February 25, 2009, that served as a formal ruling 
overturning the Union membership's determination in favor of Mr. McGrady's challenge to 
the Union's 2008 officer elections. The IP did not find that Mr. McGrady's challenge was 
untimely. Nor did the IP dispute Mr. McGrady's attendance at the July and August 2007 
meetings, acknowledging that this "factual question was resolved in Mr. McGrady's favor."4 

The IP instead based his determination on the fact that the Union membership counted 

4 (Jt. Exh. 16, p. 3) 
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attendance credit granted for the canceled February and September 2007 meetings toward 
the six required meetings. The IP ruled that treating credited attendance the same as 
"actual" attendance for eligibility purposes was inconsistent with the language of 
Section 14.2. 

After determining that Mr. McGrady had physically attended four meetings and had 
received credit for attending two, the IP pointed out that Mr. McGrady had supplied no 
evidence that he had been excused from or granted credit for attendance at the "other six 
regular meetings in 2007." Thus, because Mr. McGrady "actually" only attended four 
meetings, he needed to be excused from or granted credit for all the remaining eight 
meetings in order to meet the meeting-attendance requirement of six meetings. 
Mr. McGrady's evidence showed that he was granted credit only for the canceled meetings 
in February and September. Therefore, he was ineligible for candidacy under the !P's 
interpretation of Section 14.2. 

The Union now argues that for purposes of granting credit for canceled meetings, 
the phrase, "each and all of the remainin~ meets [sic]." within Section 14.2 means all the 
meetings after the first meeting attended. The interpretation the Union now suggests is not 
the interpretation it followed when it denied Mr. McGrady the opportunity to run for election 
but permitted Mr. Gulley to run as the only eligible candidate from Triskett Operations. In 
November and December 2008, the Union was following its local practice of crediting all 
members for attendance at canceled regular meetings, without regard to the number of 
meetings a member actually attended or the number of meetings from which a member 
was excused. All Union members, including Mr. McGrady, had two attendance credits for 
the canceled 2007 meetings. Thus, once Mr. McGrady demonstrated that he had actually 
attended the July and August 2007 meetings as well as the October and November 2007 
meetings, it was the Union membership's opinion that he met the six-meeting eligibility 
requirement for candidacy. 

Neither the actual practice of the Union, nor the interpretation it proffered at hearing 
and in its post-hearing brief, was followed by the IP. The IP based his ruling on the fact 
that although Mr. McGrady's evidence demonstrated he attended four meetings and was 
credited for two meetings in 2007, he failed to supply evidence that he had been excused 
from or granted credit for the "other six meetings in 2007."6 If the July meeting is counted 
as Mr. McGrady's first meeting, then he either physically attended or was excused from 
every remaining meeting. If the February credit for attendance is counted as 
Mr. McGrady's first meeting, then only four months are unaccounted for until July, which 
has been credited to Mr. McGrady by the Membership's decision. Therefore, the only 
interpretation of the "other six meetings" must include December 2006, which is counted 

5 (Roger Kwiatkowski, 2:49:00-2:53:30) 
6 (Jt. Exh. 16) 
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towards the 2007 eligibility year, as well as January, March, April, May, and June 2007. By 
counting December and January, the IP is clearly interpreting "each and all of the 
remaining" meetings to mean each of the other meetings of the year in question, not "each 
and all of the remaining" meetings after the first meeting a member attended. 

The IP's interpretation resulted in a final ruling denying Mr. McGrady his opportunity 
to run for office. But applying the IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 results in the finding 
that Mr. McGrady's opponent, Mr. Gulley, was not eligible for candidacy either. Mr. Gulley 
attended the June, July, August, October, and November 2007 meetings and received 
credit for the cancellation of the February and September meetings.7 Under the Union's 
actual practice, Mr. Gulley was eligible because cancellation credit for a meeting is 
equivalent to actual attendance, bringing his attendance total to seven meetings. Under 
the IP's interpretation of Section 14.2, Mr. Gulley is ineligible because he "actually" 
attended only five meetings and was not excused from or granted credit for each and all of 
the remaining five meetings of the year: December, January, March, April, and May. The 
IP's interpretation of Section 14.2 was used to deny Mr. McGrady his challenge while the 
Union's alternative interpretation of Section 14.2 was used to affirm Mr. Gulley's eligibility. 
The use of differing interpretations of§ 14.2 interferes with and restrains Mr. McGrady's 
equal right to seek Union office and therefore violates§ 4117.11 (B)(1 ). 

C. Deference to Membership when Eligibility Requirement is Ambiguous 

Section 14.2 is ambiguous and subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. 
Secretary Treasurer Kwiatkowski interpreted Section 14.2 as allowing the use of meeting
cancellation credit toward achieving the requisite six meetings. 8 William Nix, the Union 
President, also interpreted Section 14.2 as allowing the use of cancellation credit toward 
achieving the requisite six meetings. 9 The IP interpreted Section 14.2 as requiring actual 
attendance in order to achieve the requisite number of meetings unless the member was 
credited for or excused from all other meetings in the eligibility year. 10 

The existence and substance of the attendance requirement is a matter of local 
Union discretion. Section 14.2 states in part as follows: "such [local union] may, through its 
bylaws and with approval of the l.P., affirmatively declare that no such meeting attendance 
requirement shall be applied as a condition of eligibility for any office of the [local union]."11 

Not only is the totality of the attendance requirement local-specific, certain practices 
regarding the application of the attendance requirement are local-specific. In addition to the 
Union's meeting-cancellation credit practice, Union President Nix explained to the IP that 

7 (R. Exh. 3) 
8 (Roger Kwiatkowski, 2:36: 10) 
9 (Jt.Exh. 15, p. 4) 
10 (Jt.Exh 16, p. 4) 
11 (Jt.Exh. 1, pp. 64-65) 
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"Local 268 has had a practice of waiving the membership meeting requirement when a 
member who is ineligible for office is unopposed."12 In this case, the Union has chosen to 
apply a meeting-attendance requirement. Union leadership should defer to the Union 
membership's application of the meeting-attendance requirement, particularly where, as 
here. the language setting forth the requirement is ambiguous and subject to multiple 
interpretations. 

D. Eligibility Requirements should be Narrowly Construed 

The overall congressional purpose of the federal Labor- Management Reporting and 
Disclosure Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 401-531 ("LMRDA"), upon which Chapter 4117 is partially 
based, is to prevent anti-democratic tendencies and procedures within unions. Wirtz, supra 
p. 7, 391 U.S. at 499. Union members are to be treated with proper deference in regard to 
their reason and ability to assess the qualities of union candidates. In Wirtz, the United 
States Supreme Court stated as follows: 

[The argument that a rule is necessary to keep inexperienced members out 
of office] assumes that rank-and-file union members are unable to 
distinguish qualified from unqualified candidates for particular offices .... But 
Congress' model of democratic elections was political elections in this 
country, and they are not based on any such assumption. Rather, in those 
elections the assumption is that voters will exercise common sense and 
judgment in casting their ballots. [The union] made no showing that citizens 
assumed to make discriminating judgments in public elections cannot be 
relied on to make such judgments when voting as union members. 

& at 504. 

Furthermore, the Court has recognized that the best means for "assuring the 
election of knowledgeable and dedicated leaders ... is to leave the choice of leaders to the 
membership in open democratic elections, unfettered by arbitrary exclusions." United 
Steelworkers of America. Local 3489. AFL-CIO v. W.J. Userv. 429 U.S. 305, 312 (1977). 
Although not binding on SERB, the Court's interpretation of the LMRDA is informative. 

At the federal level, meeting-attendance requirements have been struck down on 
numerous occasions as violative of§ 401 (e) of the LMRDA. See, ltll. Local 3489 v. Usery, 
429 U.S. at 310 (attendance requirement that results in the exclusion of 96.5 percent of 
members hardly seems to be a "reasonable qualification"); Donovan v. Local 25, Sheet 
Metal Workers, AFL - CIO, 613 F.Supp. 607, 609-611 (D.C.Tenn. 1985) (rule is invalid 
because it significantly curtails the number of eligible candidates and there is no substantial 

12 (Jt.Exh. 15, p. 4) 
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connection between the requirement and the ability to hold office); Doyle v. Brock, 
821 F.2d 778, 784-85 (D.C.Cir. 1987) (unreasonableness is judged by the undemocratic 
effect of the meeting-attendance requirement); Herman v. Local Union, 1011, United 
Steelworkers of America. AFL-CIO, 59 F.Supp.2d 770, 775-80 (N.D.lnd.1999) (large 
undemocratic effect in addition to the time necessary to meet qualification makes 
attendance rule invalid). Complainant has not challenged the overall validity of the meeting
attendance requirement or provided information regarding the percentage of employees 
disqualified by the current rule, so this is an issue for another occasion. However, meeting
attendance requirements should be construed narrowly and in a manner that reflect the 
wishes of the union members. 

V. REMEDIES 

The appropriate remedies in this case are for SERB to issue an order requiring the 
Union to cease and desist from violating§ 4117.11 (B)(1 ), and to conduct a new election for 
the remainder of the current term for the position of Executive Board Member, Triskett 
Operations, including Terry McGrady on the ballot. 

VI. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the entire record herein, this Administrative Law Judge recommends 
the following Conclusions of Law: 

1. The Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority is a "public employer" as defined 
by§ 4117.01(B). 

2. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, is an "employee organization" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(0). 

3. The Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, violated§ 4117.11 (B)(1). 
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Before Chairperson Brundige, Vice Chairperson Verich, and Board Member 
Spada: August 18, 2010. 

On June 26, 2009, the Professionals Guild of Ohio ("Intervenor") filed an unfair 
labor practice charge against the Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities 
("Respondent"). On October 2, 2009, the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" 
or "Complainant") determined that probable cause existed for believing that Respondent 
had committed or was committing unfair labor practices, authorized the issuance of a 
complaint, and referred the matter to hearing to determine whether Respondent violated 
Ohio Revised Code ("O. RC.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3) by not providing 
regularly-scheduled raises to proposed bargaining-unit employees because they 
requested a representation election. 

On January 8, 2010, a Complaint was issued. An Answer was filed by 
Respondent on January 19, 2010. On March 4, 2010, a hearing was conducted by an 
Administrative Law Judge. On April 16, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed 
Order was issued, recommending that the Board find that Respondent violated O R.C. 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3). Intervenor and Respondent each filed exceptions 
to the Proposed Order. Responses to the exceptions were filed. 

On July 22, 2010, the Board voted to take action in this matter. Although the 
recommendation to the Board included finding a violation, the recommendation did not 
include the full remedy. After reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, Complaint, 
Answer, Proposed Order, exceptions, responses to exceptions, and all other filings in 
this case, the Board rescinds its action taken at the July 22, 201 O Board meeting; grants 
Respondent's motion to clarify its exceptions; adopts the Findings of Fact and 

:z 
~, 

z 
-< 



Order 
Case No. 2009-ULP-06-0357 
August 18, 2010 
Page 2 of 3 

Conclusions of Law in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, finding that 
Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3) by 
unilaterally denying expected annual wage increases to all Registered Service 
Worker 1 s ("RSW 1 s") after a Petition for Representation Election was filed but before 
the election occurred; sets aside the election results in Case No. 2009-REP-05-0062 
and orders a new election to be conducted by mail ballot as soon as practicable as 
determined by the Representation Section in consultation with the parties. 

The Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities is ordered to: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise 
of their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117; 

(2) Initiating, creating, dominating, or interfering with the formation or 
administration of an employee organization, and 

(3) Discriminating in regard to terms or conditions of employment on 
the basis of the exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4117 by denying all Registered Service Worker 1 s their 
annual across-the-board wage increase after the Petition for 
Representation Election was filed but prior to the holding of the 
representation election, and otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Provide access to Professionals Guild of Ohio representatives to 
meet with Registered Service Worker 1 s during non-work time; 

(2) Cooperate with the SERB Representation Section and the 
Professionals Guild of Ohio to schedule the rerun representation 
election, 

(3) Post for 60 consecutive calendar days in all of the usual and 
customary posting locations where Registered Service Worker 1s 
work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the Board stating that 
Respondent shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (8) therein, and 

(4) Notify SERB via electronic mail within 20 calendar days from the 
date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to 
comply therewith. 
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It is so ordered. 

BRUNDIGE, Chairperson; VERICH, Vice Chairperson; and SPADA, Board 
Member, concur. 

N. EUGE~NDIGE, CHAIR~SON 

TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.13(D) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 
121

h Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code 
Rule 4117-7-07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 

this \(\+\\ day of August, 2010. 

OPINIONS/2010-014-ord 
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OPINION 

BRUNDIGE, CHAIRPERSON: 

The Board adopts the Findings of Fact, Analysis and Discussion, and 

Conclusions of Law in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, which are 

incorporated by reference in this opinion. The Board additionally opines on the 

following subjects: 

A. Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11(A)(2) Violation 

Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11(A)(2) declares it an unfair labor practice 

for any public employer, its agents, or its representatives to "[i]nitiate, create, dominate, 

or interfere with the formation or administration of any employee organization." In the 

present case, the Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities 1 ("DD Board") 

violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(2) by interfering with the formation of an employee 

organization by the Registered Service Worker 1s ("RSW 1s"). 

1 The Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities was formerly known as the 
"Clark County Board of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities." Its name was 
changed after Senate Bill 79 was passed and signed into law in July 2009. 
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Whether a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2) has occurred is determined 

objectively and without regard to the motivations of the employer. NLRB v. Newport 

News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Co., 308 U.S. 241, 251 (1939). To determine if an 

employer has interfered with the formation of an employee organization, the relevant 

question is whether "employees were not afforded the full freedom in their choice of 

representatives which the [statute] affords." See, e.g., In the Matter of M.E. Blatt Co., 

47 NLRB 1055, 1070 (1943). 

Here, the DD Board's actions did interfere with the freedom of the employees to 

decide if they wanted to choose a representative. The DD Board took several actions 

that would objectively interfere with the ability of the RSW 1s to organize. First, the DD 

Board withheld the raise normally given to the RSW 1s during June or July while 

granting a raise to all other employees who normally received it. Additionally, the 

communications from the DD Board, read by a reasonable person, would suggest that if 

the RSW 1 s were to select an exclusive representative thus resulting in the DD Board 

being required to negotiate, that the outcome might be less favorable that the raises that 

were granted to other employees .. 

Finally, the DD Board posted materials suggesting that unionization would be a 

poor decision for the RSW 1s. Taken together, these actions created an atmosphere in 

which the DD Board interfered with the freedom of the RSW 1 s to elect a 

representative. As a result, the DD Board violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(2) by interfering 

with the formation of a union. 

B. Remedies 

The Proposed Order from the Administrative Law Judge recommended that the 

Board set aside the representation election results and order a new election, issue a 

cease and desist order requiring the DD Board to cease violating Chapter 4117, forbid 

future violations, and ordering the DD Board to post the attached notice to the RSW 1 s 

detailing its intention to cease and desist from taking actions that violate Chapter 4117. 

The Board agrees with the Administrative Law Judge for the following reasons. 

The status quo between the DD Board and the RSW 1s was for annual wage 

increases to occur every June or July. The DD Board failed to maintain the status quo 
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in this case because by granting wage increases to all non-unionized employees while 

denying any increase to the RSW 1s. In June 2009, the only non-unionized employees 

who did not receive the annual wage increase were the RSW 1s, who awaited a 

representation election. This action may have caused some of the RSW 1 s who initially 

favored Union representation to vote against representation in order to receive their 

annual wage increase. As a result, the failure to grant the wage increase to the 

RSW 1s, along with the communications of the DD Board to the RSW 1s, sufficiently 

disrupted the "laboratory conditions" needed for a fair election. In re General Shoe 

Corp., 77 N.L.RB. 124, 127 (1948). Therefore, in order to return the parties to the 

status quo, the tainted election must be thrown out, and a new election ordered. 

Although we find this remedy is available through an unfair labor practice charge, 

as we have here, we would have reached this conclusion much more readily via a 

representation case. This Board is hesitant to impose a new election as a remedy 

through the unfair labor practice channel except in circumstances such as those before 

us, where the parties can only be restored to the status quo through the ordering of a 

new election. 

We concur with the Administrative Law Judge that it is not appropriate to simply 

certify the PGO as the exclusive representative in that the will of the employees must 

ultimately be the determining factor regarding union representation. In order to provide 

a "level playing field," it is necessary to provide access to PGO representatives to meet 

with RSW 1's during non-work time, and we so order. 

We find that Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1), (A)(2), 

and (A)(3) by unilaterally denying expected annual wage increases to all Registered 

Service Worker 1 s ("RSW 1 s") after a Petition for Representation Election was filed but 

before the election occurred; set aside the election results in Case No. 2009-REP-05-

0062 and order a new election to be conducted by mail ballot as soon as practicable as 

determined by the Representation Section in consultation with the parties; and issue an 

order with a Notice to Employees requiring Respondent to cease and desist from: 

(1) interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 

guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, (2) initiating, creating, dominating, or 
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interfering with the formation or administration of an employee organization, and 

(3) discriminating in regard to terms or conditions of employment on the basis of the 

exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by denying all 

Registered Service Worker 1 s their annual across-the-board wage increase after the 

Petition for Representation Election was filed but prior to the holding of the 

representation election, and otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), 

(A)(2), and (A)(3), and to take the following affirmative action: (1) provide access to 

PGO representatives to meet with RSW 1 s during non-work time; (2) cooperate with the 

Representation Section and the Intervenor to schedule the rerun representation 

election, (3) post for 60 consecutive calendar days in all of the usual and customary 

posting locations where Registered Service Worker 1s work, the Notice to Employees 

furnished by the Board stating that Respondent shall cease and desist from actions set 

forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B) 

therein, and (4) notify SERB via electronic mail within 20 calendar days from the date 

the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

C. Conclusion 

For the reasons set forth above, we conclude that the Clark County Board of 

Developmental Disabilities committed unfair labor practices in violation of Ohio Revised 

Code§§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3) by unilaterally denying expected annual wage 

increases to all Registered Service Worker 1 s. 

VERICH, Vice Chairperson, and SPADA, Board Member, concur. 
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Appendix A (Incorporated bv Reference into SERB Opinion 2010-014): 

STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

Complainant, 

v. 

CLARK COUNTY BOARD OF 
DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO. 2009-ULP-06-0357 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On June 26, 2009, the Professionals Guild of Ohio ("PGO" or "Intervenor") filed 
an unfair labor practice charge against the Clark County Board of Developmental 
Disabilities ("DD Board" or "Respondent"), alleging violations of Ohio Revised Code 
§§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(3). 2 On October 2, 2009, the State Employment 
Relations Board ("SERB" or "Complainant") determined that probable cause existed to 
believe that the Employer committed unfair labor practices by not providing regularly
scheduled raises to proposed bargaining-unit employees because they requested a 
representation election. 

On January 8, 2010, a Complaint was issued. On January 15, 2010, PGO filed a 
motion to intervene, which was granted in accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). A 
hearing was held on March 4, 2010, wherein testimonial and documentary evidence 
was presented. Subsequently, all parties filed post-hearing briefs. 

II. ISSUE 

Whether the Employer violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2) and (A)(3) by not 
providing regularly-scheduled raises to Registered Service Worker 1 s 
("RSW 1 s") because they requested a representation election. 

2 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117, and all 
references to Rules are to the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117. 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT3 

1. The Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities is a "public employer" as 
defined by§ 4117.01(B). (S. 1) 

2. The Professional Guild of Ohio is an "employee organization" as defined by § 
4117.11(D). (S. 2) 

3. On May 29, 2009, the PGO filed a Petition for Representation Election (Case No. 
09-REP-05-0062) seeking to represent all regular full-time and part-time 
Registered Service Worker 1 s of the DD Board. At the time of the petition, the 
PGO had greater than 50 percent support from the RSW 1s. Currently, regular 
full-time and part-time RSW 1 s are non-bargaining unit/non-union employees of 
the DD Board. (S. 3; T. Mcclendon 6:54) 

4. Assistant Superintendent Jennifer Rousculp sent a letter dated June 16, 2009, to 
the home of each RSW 1 stating that the RSW 1 s would not receive a raise that 
year while the election was pending because doing so would violate Ohio state 
law. The letter refers to the raises as "typically voted on by the Board in June and 
implemented accordingly." (Exh. 2) 

5. At its June 16, 2009 meeting, the DD Board approved and implemented a 
resolution increasing wages by 2.5 percent for all non-union employees except 
for the RSW 1s. The wage increase was made retroactive to June 8, 2009 
through June 20, 2010. It was within the DD Board's power to withhold wage 
increases from all non-bargaining unit employees, but the Board chose not to, as 
such a decision would contradict its normal practice of granting wage increases 
in June/July of each calendar year. (S. 5; T. Bartee 1 :48:00) 

6. In a readily visible area of the main hallway in its Quest facility, where RSW 1s 
work, the DD Board posted the resolution from its June 16, 2009 meeting, stating 
that all non-bargaining unit employees except the RSW 1 s were receiving a 2.5 
percent wage increase and indicating that the RSW 1 s' decision to seek a 
representation election resulted in the decision to withhold the wage increase. (T. 
McCabe 28:46) 

7. The DD Board has enacted resolutions granting wage increases to all non
bargaining-unit employees for the past 10 years on or about the following dates: 
June 16, 2009; June 17, 2008; May 15, 2007, June 19, 2007 and/or July 17, 
2007; June 20, 2006; June 28, 2005; April 20, 2004; May 20, 2003; June 18, 
2002; March 20, 2001; and/or May 29, 2001; May 16, 2000 and/or July 18, 2000. 
For the past 1 O years, wage increases for non-bargaining-unit employees 
became effective on or about the following dates: June 21, 2000; June 18, 2001; 

3 All references to the digital recording of the hearing are indicated parenthetically by 
"T.," followed by the witness' name and approximate timing point. All references to the parties' 
stipulations of fact in the record are indicated parenthetically by "S.," followed by the stipulation 
number(s). References to the Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Exh.," 
followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the record in the Findings of Fact are for 
convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such reference is the sole support in the 
record for that related finding of fact. 
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June 17, 2002; June 16, 2003; June 14. 2004; June 13, 2005; June 12, 2006; 
June 11, 2007; June 9, 2008; June 8, 2009. Since 1993, RSW 1 s received wage 
increases every June or July. Although the percentage amount of the annual 
wage increase varied from year to year, some increase always occurred. (S. 6; T. 
McCabe 21 :00; 23:30) 

8. According to Jennifer Wade, Human Resources Director for the Respondent, not 
providing RSW 1 s with a wage increase in June 2009 was "contrary to what [the 
DD Board has] done" in the past. (T. Wade 1: 11 :45) 

9. According to Lucas Michael Bartee, 20-year DD Board member, all non
unionized employees expected wage increases in June or July of each calendar 
year. Superintendent Jennifer Rousculp also testified at hearing that employees 
expected action to be taken regarding compensation in June or July of each 
calendar year. (T. Bartee 1 :50:00; Rousculp 2:03:00) 

10. Before the representation election, the DD Board circulated a document to all 
RSW 1s with the heading: "Do you need the union? OR Does the union need 
you?" This document refers to the union organizers as "salespeople." (C/I Exh. A) 

11. The representation election was held on September 10, 2009. The result of the 
representation election was that fourteen (14) of the forty-nine (49) valid ballots 
cast were for PGO while thirty-four (34) ballots were cast for "no representative." 
PGO challenged one ballot, while the DD Board challenged no ballots. (S. 7; 
Exh. 6; Exh. 5) 

12. At all relevant times, RSW 1 s eligible to vote in the representation election were 
employed by the DD Board. (S. 1, 3) 

13. On or about September 15, 2009, the DD Board approved a resolution increasing 
the wages of RSW 1s by 2.5 percent. The wage increase was made retroactive 
to June 8, 2009 through June 20, 2010. (S. 8) 

14. On June 26, 2009, the PGO filed an unfair labor practice charge with the State 
Employment Relations Board. (S. 9) 

15. On October 1, 2009. SERB issued a Finding of Probable Cause and Direction to 
Hearing. (S. 10) 

IV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

Complainant alleges the DD Board violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3), 
which provide in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents, or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the 
exercise of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 ... [;) 

(2) Initiate, create, dominate, or interfere with the formation 
or administration of any employee organization, or contribute 
financial or other support to it; except that a public employer 
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may permit employees to confer with it during working hours 
without loss of time or pay, permit the exclusive 
representative to use the facilities of the public employer for 
membership or other meetings, or permit the exclusive 
representative to use the internal mail system or other 
internal communications system [;] 

(3) Discriminate in regard to hire or tenure of employment or 
any term or condition of employment on the basis of the 
exercise of rights guaranteed by Chapter 4117 of the 
Revised Code. 

In In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), affd 
sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (4th Dist Ct App, 
Pickaway, 12-7-95) ("Pickaway"), SERB held that when a violation of§ 4117.11 (A)(1) is 
alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an objective rather than a subjective one. It must be 
determined whether, under all the facts and circumstances, one could reasonably 
conclude that employees were interfered with, restrained, or coerced in the exercise of 
their Chapter 4117 rights by the employer's conduct. In addition, the provisions of 
§§ 4117.03(A)(1) and (A)(2), state as follows: 

(A) Public employees have the right to: 

(1) Form, join, assist, or participate in, or refrain from 
forming, joining, assisting, or participating in, except as 
otherwise provided in Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code, 
any employee organization of their own choosing; 

(2) Engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of 
collective bargaining or other mutual aid and protection[.] 

A thorough review of the totality of the circumstances under which the alleged conduct 
occurred and its likely effect on the guaranteed rights of employees must be part of the 
(A)( 1) inquiry. Pickaway, supra. 

To demonstrate a prima facie case of discrimination under § 4117.11 (A)(3), the 
Complainant must prove the following elements: (1) the employee at issue is a public 
employee and was employed at relevant times by the Respondent, or the individual was 
an applicant for hire for a position as a "public employee"; (2) the employee engaged in 
concerted, protected activity under Chapter 4117, which fact was either known by the 
Respondent or suspected by the Respondent; and (3) the Respondent took adverse 
action against the employee under circumstances that could, if left unrebutted by other 
evidence, lead to a reasonable inference that Respondent's actions were related to the 
employee's exercise of concerted, protected activity under Chapter 4117. SERB v. 
Rehab. Servs. Comm., SERB 05-004 (4-21-05). 
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The DD Board violated §§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ), (A)(2), and (A)(3). During 
representation elections, management is forbidden to take any action that may 
"prejudice, or potentially prejudice, a free choice." In re Lucas Cty. Bd. of MRDD, SERB 
86-048 (12-4-86). As a general rule, wage increases or other benefits may not be 
granted by an employer, regardless of intent, during the representation election 
campaign; however, when an employer has "an established practice or custom" of 
providing a benefit, that benefit becomes status quo that must be maintained during 
representation elections. Id. Federal precedent is consistent with the concept of 
continuing to provide benefits expected thanks to an established practice or custom 
after a petition for representation election is filed but prior to the election. See NLRB v. 
Allied Products Corp., 548 F.2d 644 (6th Cir.1977) (the NLRA is violated by a unilateral 
change in the "existing wage structure, whether that change be an increase, or the 
denial of a scheduled increase.") (emphasis added); NLRB v. W.T. Grant Co., 208 F.2d 
710 (4th Cir. 1953) ("Certainly, it cannot be laid down as a governing rule that during a 
union campaign, management must deny to its employees increased advantages which 
in the absence of the campaign would be granted."); Louisburg Sportswear Co. v. 
NLRB, 462 F.2d 380 (4th Cir. 1972) (negative purpose of a pay raise is negated if it can 
be shown that the announcement is consistent with established company practice, or 
was planned and settled upon before the organizing campaign began); American Mirror 
Co., 269 NLRB 1091 (1984) (periodic wage increases were given and, therefore, one 
was granted during an organizing campaign, but prior to certification); Wilhow Corp., 
244 NLRB 303 (1979) (employer gave employees pay raises during union organizing 
campaign when evidence demonstrated an existing company policy and employees in 
stores not subject to organizing activity also received wage increases). Established 
practices and customs are, by their definition, not conditioned on the presence of formal 
requirements, obligations, or policies, such as compensation policies. 

The DD Board failed to maintain the status quo in this case because, by its own 
admission, all non-unionized employees received across-the-board annual wage 
increases of some amount around June or July. In June 2009, the only non-unionized 
employees who did not receive the annual wage increase were the RSW 1s, who 
awaited a representation election.4 This action may have caused some of the RSW 1s 
who initially favored Union representation to vote against representation in order to 
receive their annual wage increase. 

The status quo between the DD Board and the RSW 1s was for annual wage 
increases to occur every June or July. "When annual changes to a condition of 

' That the DD Board granted two wage increases in 1993 is irrelevant. The central 
concern is the wage increases that became expected on the part of employees at a particular 
time during the year because of their reoccurrence over multiple years. Benefits added by the 
DD Board in 2001 and 2003, such as funeral days and tuition reimbursement, are similarly 
irrelevant for this reason. 



SERB Opinion 2010-014 
Case No. 2009-ULP-06-0357 
Page 10of13 

employment are part of an established pattern or practice, the existence of such 
changes is, in fact, part of the current situation." SERB v. City of Reynoldsburg, SERB 
2010-003 (3-30-10). At hearing, witnesses from both parties testified that the wage 
increases were expected and dated back at least 17 years. (T. McCabe 21:00; Wade 
55:00; Bartee 1 :50:30; Rousculp 2:03:00). All parties agreed that although the annual 
increases varied in amount, some increase always occurred. The DD Board's Human 
Resources Director referred to the increases at hearing as "annual, across-the-board 
[wage] adjustments." (T. Wade 55:00). The DD Board's current President stated that it 
was reasonable for non-unionized workers to expect a wage increase of some kind 
because "that's ... what's happened [in the past]." (T. Bartee 1 :50:30). Superintendent 
Rousculp stated non-unionized employees "would expect action as to compensation" 
around June or July of every year. (T. Rousculp 2:03:00). Finally, in his own Post
Hearing Brief. the DD Board's counsel refers to the practice as the "annual increase for 
the past 10 years" and "the wage increase [that occurred] at the same time in years 
past." 

In addition to the oral testimony at hearing, the DD Board's own documents 
identify the wage increase as being part of the status quo. The letter from 
Superintendent Rousculp to all RSW 1s dated June 16. 2009, identifies DD Board wage 
increases as "typically voted on by the Board in June and implemented accordingly."5 

This language confirms that the wage increases were part of the DD Board's status quo 
with the RSW 1s. 

Though all parties admit there is no express or written rule stating wage 
increases must occur or be considered at any set point during the year, all also admit 
that it was normal for non-bargaining-unit employees to expect an annual wage 
increase to occur around June or July. The facts establish a "practice or custom" of 
providing this benefit, making it part of the status quo at the DD Board. As such, that 
status quo could not be changed during the time between the filing of the petition for 
election and the election itself; i.e., the DD Board should have applied the wage 
increase as if the RSW 1 s had not filed a petition for representation election. The mere 
fact that the amount of the annual increase varied somewhat from year to year is 
without consequence. Even if some discretionary components are involved in a wage 
increase, when the criteria for determining discretionary wage increases are fixed, the 
employer must "continue to apply the same criteria and use the same formula for 
awarding increases" as done previously. Daily News of Los Angeles v. NLRB, 73 F.3d 
406, 412 (D.C. Cir. 1996). Accordingly, once the DD Board determined the amount of 
the 2009 annual across-the-board increase, the DD Board should have awarded that 
increase to the RSW 1 s in June 2009, just as it did for all other non-unionized 
employees. 

Under§ 4117.11 (A}(1 ), it is a violation for employers to interfere with. restrain, or 
coerce employees from exercising their rights under Chapter 4117. Here, the DD Board 

Exh. 2 (emphasis added). 
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violated§ 4117.11(A)(1) by failing to provide RSW 1s with their annual wage increase at 
the normal time in an effort to dissuade RSW 1s from voting in favor of affiliating with 
the PGO. The Employer's intentions in this case are clear from their own 
correspondence. Superintendent Rousculp's June 16, 2009 letter reads, in part, as 
follows: 

Unfortunately, the Board had no control over when the union 
filed its petition for a representation election. However, once 
the petition was filed, the Board was prohibited from 
increasing your wages. Once the election is over, the Board 
will either be able to act regarding your wages in FY 2009 or 
will be negotiating with the union regarding wages, hours, 
benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. 6 

This language implies that the PGO was responsible for the failure of RSW 1 s to 
receive their scheduled wage increase and also might cause the RSW 1 s to lose a 
chance at any sort of wage increase at all. 

While not necessary to find a violation under the objective standard, the evidence 
also suggests that employees were coerced by the DD Board's actions. At hearing, 
retired RSW 1 Ruth McCabe testified that the June 16, 2009 letter sent by Assistant 
Superintendent Rousculp to all RSW 1 s caused several RSW 1 s to vote against Union 
representation because they wanted their annual raise. (T. McCabe 27:50). Before the 
DD Board announced its decision to withhold the annual wage increase, there was a "lot 
of interest" among the RSW 1s to unionize. (T. McCabe 18:50). Viewed objectively 
under the totality of the circumstances, the actions taken by the DD Board restrained 
and coerced employees from engaging in the protected activity of freely choosing to 
vote for or against representation, without changes to the status quo influencing their 
decisions. Section 4117.11(A)(1) is violated when there is a change to the status quo. !D. 
re Lucas Ctv. Bd. of MRDD, SERB 86-048 (12-4-86). 

The DD Board's reliance on the National Labor Relations Board's 1968 decsion 
in Uarco Inc. and lnt'I Printing Pressmen and Assistants' Union of North America, AFL
CIO, 169 NLRB 1153 (1968), is misplaced. Though factually similar to the present case 
in some respects, Uarco is different in one key aspect: in that case, the employer made 
clear that all its employees, both unionized and non-unionized, would receive the then
prevailing wage rates for their trade, in conformance with the company's annual 
practice. In this case, by contrast, the DD Board's June 16, 2009 letter to all RSW 1s 
reads: "Once the [representation] election is over, the Board will either be able to act 
regarding your wages in FY 2009 or will be negotiating with the union regarding wages, 
hours, benefits and other terms and conditions of employment."7 The italicized language 
implies that if the RSW 1 s choose representation by the PGO, then they may not 

Exh. 2. 
Exh. 2 (emphasis added). 
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receive the wages their non-unionized co-workers receive. In addition, the DD Board 
posted a letter titled, "Do you need the union? OR Does the union need you?" on the 
bulletin boards viewed by the RSW 1 s. This letter implies several negative aspects of 
unions in general, including dishonesty, high cost, and complication of the work 
environment. 8 Also, the DD Board sent a letter to RSW 1s dated September 4, 2009, 
that listed several biased facts concerning the PGO itself; these facts implied that RSW 
1 s, should they choose representation by the PGO, would receive lower wages, pay 
high Union dues, be compelled to work holidays, and endure other negative 
experiences as a result of unionizing under the PG0.9 The Uarco opinion heavily 
emphasized the lack of a coercive environment in its reasoning, while these exhibits 
evidence a coercive environment at the DD Board prior to the representation election. 
Furthermore, SERB precedent in SERB v. City of Reynoldsburg, SERB 2010-003 (3-30-
10), stands for the proposition that unilaterally denying an expected wage increase is an 
unfair labor practice. 

The DD Board intended to dissuade the RSW 1 s from voting in favor of 
unionization by denying RSW 1s their annual wage increase as its regular time. This 
conduct also violated§ 4117.11(A)(2) because the DD Board interfered with the efforts 
of the PGO to organize and represent the employees in the proposed bargaining unit. 

The DD Board also discriminated against the RSW 1s in violation of O.R.C. § 
4117 .11 (A}(3). The RSW 1 s are public employees who engaged in the protected activity 
of petitioning for a representation election. After the petition for representation election 
was filed, the DD Board took the adverse action of denying the RSW 1s their annual 
wage increase, while providing all other non-unionized employees with a wage increase 
at the normal June/July time. The DD Board freely admits this action was based solely 
on the filing of the petition for representation election. Moreover, "the ultimate issue in a 
discrimination case is anti-union animus," and the evidence includes correspondence 
sent by the DD Board to the RSW 1 s in anticipation of the representation election 
portraying unions in a negative light. The DD Board failed to rebut the prima facie case 
of discrimination presented by the Complainant. The DD Board discriminated against 
RSW 1 s in violation of § 4117.11 (A)(3) when it failed to give RSW 1 s the wage increase 
given to all other non-unionized employees. 

V. REMEDIES 

The appropriate remedies in this case are for SERB to set aside the representation 
election results and order a new election issue a cease and desist order requiring the 
DD Board to cease violating Chapter 4117, forbid future violations, and ordering the DD 
Board to post the attached notice to the RSW 1 s detailing its intention to cease and 
desist from taking actions that violate Chapter 4117. An employer's conduct during a 
representation election campaign can prevent a free and untrammeled election and 

• 
C/I Exh. A . 
C/I Exh. B. 
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necessitate a rerun election. In re Montgomery County Combined Health Dist., SERB 
92-001 (1-23-92) ("An employer's statements that employees will lose benefits, wage 
increases, and retirement and civil service status are coercive and violate the hygienic 
conditions necessary for a free and untrammelled (sic] election."). If merely threatening 
the loss of a benefit can violate the hygienic conditions needed for a free and 
untrammeled election, then the actual loss of a benefit must be a more persuasive 
indicator of a tainted election. Here, testimony provided at hearing indicated that the 
withholding of the annual wage increase potentially swayed the votes of some RSW 1s 
from favoring representation to voting against representation. It is clear that the hygienic 
conditions necessary for a free and untrammeled election were disturbed in this case 
and SERB must set aside the original election's results and order a new election as 
soon as practicable. 

VI. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities is a "public employer" as 
defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). 

2. The Professional Guild of Ohio ("PGO") is an "employee organization" as defined 
by§ 4117.11(D). 

3. The Clark County Board of Developmental Disabilities violated §§4117.11 (A)(1 ), 
(A)(2), and (A)(3) by unilaterally denying expected annual wage increases to all 
RSW 1 s after a Petition for Representation Election was filed but before the 
election occurred. 



NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 

II 
FROM THE STATE EMPLOYMENT 

RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD, 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After a hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the State 
Employment Relations Board has determined that we have violated the law and has ordered 
us to post this notice. We intend to carry out the order of the State Employment Relations 
Board and to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of 
their rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117; 

(2) Initiating, creating, dominating, or lnterlering with the fonnation or 
administration of an employee organization, and 

(3) Discriminating in regard to terms or conditions of employment on the 
basis of the exercise of rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4i17 by denying 1111 Registered Service Worker 1s their 
annual across-the-board wage increase after the Petition for 
Representation Election was filed but prior to the holding of the 
representation election, and otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(3). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Provide access to Professionals Guild of Ohio representatives to meet 
with Regiatered Service Worker 11 during non-work time; 

(2) Cooperate with the SERB Representation Section and the 
Professionals Guild of Ohio to schedule the rerun representation 
election, 

(3) Post for 60 consecutive calendar days in all of the usual and 
cuetomary posting locationa where Registered Service Worker 11 
work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the Board stating that 
Respondent shall cease and de1ist from action• set forth in 
paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative action set forth in 
paragraph (B) therein, and 

(4) Notify SERB via electronic mail within 20 calendar days from the date 
the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply 
therewith. 

SERB v. Clark County Board of Developmental DlsabllltlN, Caae No. 2009-ULP-09-0357 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

Thi• NoUce muat ... main posted for GO conaecuUve daya from the data of poating and 
muat not be aft.red, dehic•d, or cov1red by any other materflll. Any qunUona 
concerning thl• Notice or compliance with Its provlalont may be dlNGtld to the Stata 
Employment Relotiona Boord. 



SERB OPINION 2010-015 

ST ATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Twinsburg Fire Captains, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

City of Twinsburg, 

Employer. 

Case No. 2009-REP-06-0072 

OPINION 

Brundige, Chairperson: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" 

or "the Board") following a Request for Recognition filed by the Twinsburg Fire 

Captains ("the Captains" or "the Employee Organization") on June 18, 2009, 

under Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") § 4117.05. The Employee Organization 

seeks to represent Fire Captains of the City of Twinsburg ("the Employer"). On 

June 26, 2009. the Employer filed objections to the request. On December 17, 

2009, the Board directed the matter to hearing to determine an appropriate 

bargaining unit and for all other matters. A hearing was conducted by the full 

Board on March 18, 2010. 

The Board has reviewed all of the evidence in the record. For the reasons 

that follow, we conclude that the Fire Captains are "public employees" as defined 

by O.R.C. § 4117 01 (C) and that the proposed bargaining unit in the Request for 

Recognition is the "unit appropriate for purposes of collective bargaining" under 

O.R.C. § 4117.06(A). Therefore, Twinsburg Fire Captains is hereby certified as 
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the exclusive bargaining representative for all the employees in the proposed 

bargaining unit. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Twinsburg Fire Captains is an "employee organization" as defined by 

O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). 

2. The City of Twinsburg is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(6). 

3. Clay Morris is the Director of Human Resources for the City. His duties 

include contract administration, hiring, termination, and grievance process 

administration. Shortly after taking office, Mr. Morris changed discipline 

procedures so that discipline in every department in the city, including the 

fire department. would be consistent with the rest of the city with final 

decision making authority resting with the Human Resources Director. 

4. The Captains do not conduct review of proposals made by the Lieutenants 

and Firefighters; those proposals are sent directly to the Fire Chief along 

with any budget proposals made by the Captains. 

5. Captains, Lieutenants, and Firefighters have conducted interviews of 

applicants for open positions and made recommendations to the Fire 

Chief that applicants be hired. However, the Fire Chief makes the 

decision on whether to actually hire the applicant, and he has used his 

discretion at times to deny the recommendation of the interviewers. 

6. The main role for Captains today is to actively participate in fire 

suppression and EMS duties. 

7. Insofar as Capta!ns are involved in the formation and implementation of 

policy, it is at the request and under the direction of the Fire Chief. 

8. The Captains do have some ability to make scheduling decisions for the 

other employees. However, these decisions are restricted to situations in 

which they are acting to meet minimum standards for the number of 

employees on duty at a particular time. In making these scheduling 
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decisions, the Captains must follow directives issued by the Fire Chief 

instructing the Captains on the process they must follow. Furthermore, 

this duty is not limited to Captains; anyone acting as a Shift Commander, 

including Lieutenants, must make these scheduling adjustments. 

9. Captain Simon administers the Driver Training Program and was involved 

in the adoption of MABAS. Both of these actions, though, were at the 

direction or under the supervision of the Fire Chief. Captain Simon was 

ordered by the Fire Chief to run the Driver Training Program after Captain 

Bender passed away, and the Fire Chief retains control over the program. 

After Captain Simon suggested a modification of the MABAS system, he 

worked with the Fire Chief, who made the ultimate decisions on any 

changes or modifications. 

10. While Captain Basso presides over the Fire Safety Committee, that 

committee is just one of several committees within the Fire Department, 

and Captains do not preside over all of those committees. The lesson 

plans implemented in training are created by Firefighters. After the 

Captains approve the lesson plans, the Fire Chief must also approve the 

plans before implementation. The Captains have no discretion to 

determine what drills are done in training. 

11. The Fire Department must have all discipline approved by the City's HR 

Department. The Captains were informed that all disciplinary matters 

must be referred to the City's HR Department and approved by the City. 

12. Since 2000, the Captains have not routinely attended collective bargaining 

agreement negotiations between the City and IAFF Local 3630. 

II. BACKGROUND 

In 2000, the Union filed an Opt-In Request for Recognition seeking to add 

Lieutenants and Captains to the existing bargaining unit. (See Case No. 2000-

REP-02-0035) The City filed an Objection to the Request for Recognition. After 

the Union and the City stipulated that the Lieutenants were to be included in the 
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bargaining unit and the Captains were not supervisors pursuant to O.R.C. 

§4117.01(F), SERB held a hearing to determine whether the Captains were 

management level employees pursuant to § 4117.01 (L). SERB determined in 

2000 that the Captains were. in fact, management level employees and thus 

excluded from the bargaining unit since they did not meet the definition of "public 

employee" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117 01 (C). 

Subsequent to this ruling, the City restructured its Fire Department. At the 

time of the 2000 decision, the Fire Department had a Chief, an Assistant Chief, 

and four Captains one of whom served as the Fire Prevention Officer. Since 

that time, the Fire Department expanded to six Shift Captains, and the positions 

of Fire Prevention Officer and Assistant Chief were not filled. Furthermore, the 

City hired a new Director of Human Resources, Clay Morris, in January 2007. 

Mr. Morris' duties include contract administration, hiring, termination, and 

grievance process administration. Upon taking office, Mr. Morris changed 

discipline procedures so that discipline in every City department, including the 

fire department, would be consistent with the rest of the city with final decision 

making authority resting with the Human Resources Director. The Request for 

Recognition herein was filed in June 2009; the City filed an Objection alleging 

that the Captains were not "public employees" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01(C). 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

The issue in this case is whether the Captains are "management level 

employees" and thereby excluded from the definition of "public employee" under 

O.R.C. § 4117 01, which provides in relevant part as follows: 

As used in this chapter [O.R.C. Chapter4117]: 
* • * 
(C) "Public employee" means any person holding a 

position by appointment or employment in the service of a public 
employer * * * except: 
* * * 

(7) Management level employees; 
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* * * 
(L) "Management level employee" means an individual 

who formulates policy on behalf of the public employer, who 
responsibly directs the implementation of policy, or who may 
reasonably be required on behalf of the public employer to assist in 
the preparation for the conduct of collective negotiations, administer 
collectively negotiated agreements, or have a major role in 
personnel administration. * * * 

O.R.C. § 4117 01 anticipates that limited, top-level, management authority 

can be shared with high--ranking department personnel, exempting them from the 

definition of "public employee" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). The scope and 

quality of managerial duties is, by its nature, limited. Therefore, a valid measure 

of the duties is to review the proportional part of a work force that the City is 

contending should be excluded. The burden of establishing an exclusion from a 

bargaining unit under 0 R.C. § 4117.01(C) rests upon the party seeking it. In re 

City of Hamilton. SERB 2010-012 (8-12-2010); In re SERB v Fulton County 

Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96); In re Franklin Local School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 84-008 (11-8-84). 

Here, the City has failed to establish that the Captains have continued to 

meet the criteria for "management level employees." The size of the workforce 

and the current assignment of the Captains to be actively involved in day-to-day 

fire suppression support a finding that the City has failed to meet its burden to 

prove that the six Captains are involved in policy making to the extent that such 

duties would exclude them from collective bargaining. In addition, the City has 

not presented evidence to show that the Captains meet any of the other 

exceptions to "public employee" listed in O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). As a result, the 

Captains should not be excluded from the bargaining unit. 

A. The Previous Pet1t1on in Case No. 2000-REP-02-0035 

On February 23, 2000, the Twinsburg Fire Fighters IAFF, Local 3630 

("Local 3630") filed an Opt-In Request for Recognition seeking to add 

Lieutenants and Captains to the existing bargaining unit of employees of the 
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Employer. The Employer filed a timely Objection to the Request for Recognition, 

asserting that certain employees in the proposed unit were management level 

employees and that the proposed unit was not appropriate. On June 6, 2000, the 

Board directed the matter to hearing to determine an appropriate unit and for all 

other relevant issues. 

Before the hearing in Case No. 2000-REP-02-0035, the parties agreed 

that the only issue to be resolved was whether the Captains were management 

level employees; the parties stipulated that the Captains were not supervisors 

and that the Lieutenants would be included in the unit. An evidentiary hearing 

was held. Subsequently, the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended 

Determination was issued on August 31, 2000. 

On September 20, 2000, Local 3630 filed exceptions to the 

Recommended Determination one week after the time for filing exceptions had 

expired. Local 3630 also flied a motion for evidentiary hearing to consider "newly 

discovered" evidence, all of which came into existence after the hearing was 

held. On September 29, 2000, the Employer filed a motion to strike Local 3630's 

exceptions and a memorandum in opposition to the motion for evidentiary 

hearing. On October 10, 2000, Local 3630 filed a motion for leave to file 

exceptions to the Recommended Determination. On October 16, 2000, the 

Employer filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion for leave to file 

exceptions. 

Since Local 3630's exceptions were not filed "within ten days after 

service," as required by Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-1-13, and 

Local 3630 had not filed a motion for extension of time before the exceptions 

period expired. the Board, on October 19, 2000, granted the Employer's motion 

to strike Local 3630's exceptions to the Recommended Determination because 

the exceptions were untimely filed, and struck the exceptions from the record. 

Local 3630 filed a motion for leave to file exceptions. This request was 

submitted after the time period for filing exceptions had expired. The Board 

denied that motion on October 19, 2000. 
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Local 3630 also filed a motion for evidentiary hearing to consider what it 

described as "newly discovered"" evidence. "Newly discovered evidence refers 

to evidence that was in existence at the time of the administrative hearing but 

which was incapable of discovery by due diligence; however, newly discovered 

evidence does not refer to newly created evidence." Steckler v. Ohio State Bd. 

of Psychology, 83 Ohio App.3d 33, 38 (Ohio App. 8 Dist. 1992). Local 3630's 

proposed evidence was not "newly discovered" evidence since it did not exist at 

the time of the administrative hearing. Id. Consequently, the Board, again on 

October 19, 2000, denied the motion for evidentiary hearing. 

After reviewing the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended 

Determination and the record, the Board adopted the Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law in the Recommended Determination, finding that the 

Captains were "management level employees" pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 

§ 4117.01 (L) The Board denied the Opt-In Request for Recognition seeking to 

add the Captains to the existing unit via voluntary recognition; granted the Opt-In 

Request for Recognition as it applied to the Lieutenants; and added the 

Lieutenants to the existing bargaining unit. 

Local 3630 then appealed the Board's Directive in Case No. 2000-REP-

02-0035. On October 22, 2001. the Court of Common Pleas, Franklin County, 

found that the Captains were properly excluded from the existing bargaining unit 

because the record supported the Board's finding that they were management 

level employees and, therefore, exempt from collective bargaining; consequently, 

the Court affirmed the Board's Directive. Twinsburg Firefighters, Local 3630 v 

SERB, 2001SERB4-19 (CP, Franklin, 10-23-2001). 

B. Captains Are Not Policy Makers within the Definition of O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). 

First, the Captains do not make policy. The main role today for these 

Captains is to actively participate in fire suppression and EMS duties. This role 

signifies a substantive change from the previous petition in 2000, at which time 

Captains only went out on 25% or fewer of the calls. Insofar as Captains are 
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involved in the formation and implementation of policy, it is at the request and 

under the direction of the Fire Chief. For instance, Captain Hobart prepares a 

purchase budget, and other Captains, Lieutenants, and Firefighters prepare other 

budgets. 

All of these budget proposals are sent to the Fire Chief, who conducts an 

independent review of the proposals before sending them to the Mayor's Office 

for approval. The Captains conduct no such review of the proposals made by the 

Lieutenants and Firefighters; those proposals are sent directly to the Fire Chief 

along with any budget proposals made by the Captains. Similarly, Captains, 

Lieutenants, and Firefighters have conducted interviews of applicants for open 

positions and made recommendations to the Fire Chief that applicants be hired. 

The Fire Chief, however, makes the decision on whether to actually hire the 

applicant. The Fire Chief has used his discretion at times to deny the 

recommendation of the interviewers. 

In 2000, Captain James Hartung (at the time, Assistant Chief Hartung) 

testified that the Captains had recently recommended changes to the Standard 

Operating Procedures (SO.P's) and Standard Operating Guidelines (S.O.G.'s). 

Since that time, however, all changes in the S.O.P.'s and S.O.G.'s have gone 

through the Assistant Chief and the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief must approve 

changes to the S.O.P.'s and S.O.G.'s just like he must approve any other policies 

that the Captains, Lieutenants. or Firefighters suggest. 

The Captains do have some ability to make scheduling decisions for the 

other employees. But these decisions are restricted to situations in which they 

are acting to meet minimum standards for the number of employees on duty at a 

particular time. In making these scheduling decisions, the Captains must follow 

directives issued by the Fire Chief. instructing the Captains on the process they 

must follow. Furthermore, this duty is not limited to Captains; anyone acting as a 

Shift Commander, including Lieutenants, must make these scheduling 

adjustments. 
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Captain Simon administered the Driver Training Program and was 

involved in the adoption of MABAS. Both of these actions, though, were at the 

direction or under the supervision of the Fire Chief. Captain Simon was ordered 

by the Fire Chief to run the Driver Training Program after Captain Bender passed 

away, and the Fire Chief retained control over the program. After Captain Simon 

suggested a modification of the MABAS system, he worked with the Fire Chief, 

who made the ultimate decisions on any changes or modifications. 

Additionally, while Captain Basso presides over the Fire Safety 

Committee, that committee is just one of several committees within the Fire 

Department, and Captains do not preside over all of those committees. The 

lesson plans implemented in training are created by Firefighters. After the 

Captains approve the lesson plans, the Fire Chief must also approve the plans 

before implementation The Captains have no discretion to determine what drills 

are done in training. 

C. Captains Do Not Ha'{e Personnel Administration Duties 

The Captains do not have personnel administration duties. The City's HR 

Director, Clay Morris, has changed the manner in which discipline is handled 

within the Fire Department. Under Mr. Morris' changes, the Fire Department 

must have all discipline approved by the City's HR Department. The Captains 

were informed that all disciplinary matters must be referred to the City's HR 

Department and approved by the City 

The Captains do have a role in Step 2 of the grievance procedure, as 

dictated by the Collective Bargaining Agreement. In this role, the Captains 

review the findings made by the Lieutenants in Step 1 of the grievance 

procedure. If a Captain believes that the grievance may move beyond Step 2, 

the Captain consults with the Fire Chief before acting and the Captain discusses 

with the Fire Chief how the grievance should be handled. 

Additionally, Captain Bender was part of the negotiating team for the 

collective bargaining agreement in place in 2000. At that time, the Fire Chief 
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expected the Captains to be involved in future contract negotiations. Since that 

time, however. the Captains have not routinely attended collective bargaining 

agreement negotiations between the City and IAFF Local 3630. 

Since 2000, the Fire Department and the City have made structural 

changes. Because of those changes and the resulting effects on the duties of 

the Captains within the Fire Department, the Captains no longer meet the 

definition of management level employees pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (L). As 

such, the Captains are "public employees" under O.R.C. § 4117.01(C) and 

should not be excluded from the bargaining unit. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Twinsburg is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(B) 

2. Twinsburg Fire Captains is an "employee organization" as defined 

by O.R.C. § 4117 01 (D). 

3. The Captains in the City of Twinsburg's Fire Department are "public 

employees" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C), and the bargaining unit that was 

proposed in the Request for Recognition is the "unit appropriate for purposes of 

collective bargaining" under O.R.C. § 4117.06(A). 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State Employment Relations Board 

finds that the Captains in the City of Twinsburg Fire Department are "public 

employees" within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code § 4117.01 (C). Thus, 

these employees are eligible to engage in collective bargaining under Ohio 

Revised Code Chapter 4117. The City of Twinsburg's objection is denied, the 

Request for Recognition is granted, and the Twinsburg Fire Captains are certified 

as the exclusive representative for all of the employees listed in the proposed 

bargaining unit. 

Verich, Vice Chairperson, and Spada, Board Member, concur. 
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AFL-CIO, 
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and 

Akron Metropolitan Housing Authority, 

Employer. 

Case No. 2009-REP-12-0160 

OPINION 

VERICH, Vice Chairperson 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or 

"the Board") following a Petition for Amendment of Certification filed under Ohio 

Administrative Code ("0.A.C ") Rule 4117-5-01 (E) by the Employee Organization, Ohio 

Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO 

("AFSCME"). In its Petition, AFSCME seeks to amend the existing bargaining unit to 

include the newly created position of Network Administrator. The Employer, Akron 

Metropolitan Housing Authority ("Akron MHA"), filed Objections to the Petition, arguing 

that the Network Administrator position meets the criteria for exclusion from the 

definition of "public employee" under Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.01 (C)(7) or 

(C)(10). 

On May 6, 2010. the Board directed the matter to hearing to determine whether 

the existing bargaining unit should be amended to include the current Network 

Administrator position. The hearing was conducted by the full Board on August 18, 

2010. 
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The Board has reviewed all the evidence in the record. For the reasons that 

follow, we conclude that the current position of Network Administrator does not meet the 

criteria for exclusion from the definition of "public employee" under O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.01(C)(7) or (C)(10) and that the current position of Network Administrator 

shares a community of interest with other members of the bargaining unit identified in 

the Petition for Amendment of Certification. 

I. JOINT STIPULATIONS OF FACT AND EXHIBITS 

1. Akron Metropolitan Housing Authority is a public employer within the meaning of 
O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

2. Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 
AFL-CIO is an employee organization within the meaning of O.R.C. 
§ 4117.01(0). 

3. AFSCME is the Board-certified representative of a bargaining unit of employees 
of Akron MHA 

4. From March 6, 2000 through November 30, 2009, Patricia Taylor was employed 
by the Akron MHA in the classification Hardware Technician and was a member 
of the bargaining unit represented by AFSCME. 

5. As a Hardware Technician, Ms. Taylor's 
Warner, Information Systems Director. 
following 

immediate supervisor was Steven 
Ms. Taylor's duties included the 

a. Installing computer hardware and providing technical assistance to Akron 
MHA employees using that hardware; 

b. Installing computer software and providing technical assistance to Akron 
MHA employees using that software; 

c. Providing technical assistance with respect to the MHA's local area 
network (LAN) and wide area network (WAN) connections, including 
running cables and making new connections; 

d. Costing out potential equipment, hardware and software purchases; 
e. Maintaining documentation with respect to the MHA's computer systems 

and maintaining an inventory of the MHA's software and hardware; and 
f. Creating and maintaining a procedure manual/handbook to be used in the 

event she is absent from work. 

6. A copy of the job description for Hardware Technician (date April 2002) was 
provided by the parties and identified as Jt. Ex. B. 
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7. On December 1, 2009, Ms. Taylor began to be employed by the Akron MHA in 
the classification of Network Administrator. 

8. As a Network Administrator, Ms. Taylor's immediate supervisor is Steven 
Warner, Information Systems Director. Ms. Taylor's duties include the following: 

a. Installing computer hardware and providing technical assistance to MHA 
employees using that hardware; 

b. Installing computer software (including installing a new operating system, 
10-MAS) and providing technical assistance to MHA employees using 
that software; 

c. Providing technical assistance with respect to the MHA's local area 
network (LAN) and wide area network (WAN) connections, including 
running cables and making new connections; 

d. Costing out potential equipment, hardware and software purchases; 
e. Maintaining documentation with respect to the MHA's computer systems 

and maintaining an inventory of the MHA's software and hardware; 
f. Backing up the MHA's server/computer data in the event her supervisor is 

absent from work; 
g. Creating and maintaining a procedure manual/handbook to be used in 

the event she is absent. 

9. A copy of the job description for Network Administrator (dated June 2009) was 
provided by the parties and identified as Jt. Ex. C. 

10. At all times relevant to this matter, the Akron MHA and AFSCME have been 
parties to a collective bargaining agreement that has been in effect from 
October 1, 2009 through September 30, 2012. A copy of that collective 
bargaining agreement was provided by the parties and identified as Jt. Ex. D. 

11. Since Patricia Taylor became the Network Administrator, no permanent 
employee has been hired or assigned to replace the Hardware Technician 
position. Beginning around April 2010, the Akron MHA contracted with a private 
temporary employment agency, Tech Systems, to fill the vacant Hardware 
Technician position. 

12. At all times relevant to this matter, no permanent employee has been hired or 
assigned to perform the duties of the Help Desk Representative position. At all 
times relevant to this matter. the MHA has contracted with a private temporary 
employment agency, Carey Staffing Associates, to fill the vacant Help Desk 
Representative position. 

13. A copy of the current table of organization for the Akron MHA was provided by 
the parties and identified as JI. Ex. E. 
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II. ADDITIONAL FINDINGS OF FACT 

14. As a Hardware Technician, Ms. Taylor's work hours were 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Ms. Taylor's office was located at 100 West Cedar Street in Akron, although 
Ms. Taylor was required to travel from site to site within the Akron MHA to 
perform her duties. As Hardware Technician, Ms. Taylor received pay at the rate 
of $23.17 per hour and earned both comp time and overtime in the approximate 
amount of $5,000 per year. (Er. Ex. A; Ex. 11; T. Taylor at 46:00) Ms. Taylor's 
job duties required her to interact with other bargaining-unit employees. 
(T. Taylor at 47.39) 

15. As a Network Administrator, Ms. Taylor continues to perform the same job duties 
that she performed as Hardware Technician. (T. Taylor at 49:09) Ms. Taylor 
continues to work at the Akron MHA's administrative offices at 100 West Cedar 
Street, Akron, as she did prior to her promotion. (T. Taylor at 51 :55) Ms. Taylor's 
work hours continue to be 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. As a Network Administrator, 
Ms. Taylor is required to travel from site to site within the Akron MHA to perform 
her job duties, as she did prior to her promotion. (T. Taylor at 49:09) Ms. Taylor's 
job duties require her to interact with bargaining-unit employees, as she did prior 
to her promotion (T. Taylor at 52 15, 52:40) Upon her promotion, Ms. Taylor 
received a pay increase to the rate of $30.03 per hour. (Er. Ex. A) 

16. Upon her promotion, Ms. Taylor was given a higher level of permission on the 
Akron MHA's server, so that she can now independently log herself in and out of 
the system. (T. Taylor at 49:09) 

17. As Hardware Administrator, Ms. Taylor is required to direct the work of two 
employees of temporary agencies Curtis Brinely, employed by Tech Systems 
and working in the classification of Hardware Technician, and Dan 
Gerstenberger, employed by Carey Staffing Associates and working the 
classification of Help Desk Representative. (T. Brinely at 22:00; T. Gerstenberger 
at 23:00; T. Warner at 7:34) 

18. During all times relevant to this matter, there have been only two permanent 
employees within the Akron MHA's Information Systems Department: Network 
Administrator Patricia Taylor and Information Systems Director Steven Warner. 
The other two individuais working in the Department of Information Systems are 
employees of temporary agencies: Curtis Brinely and Dan Gerstenberger. 

19. The decision to use employees of temporary agencies to fill the Hardware 
Technician and Help Desk Representative positions was made by Steven 
Warner. Mr. Warner also flatly rejected Ms. Taylor's recommendations regarding 
retention of employees of temporary agencies on two occasions. 
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20. Ms. Taylor assigns work to Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger and signs their 
time sheets. (T. Taylor at 33:49. 34:32) Mr. Warner also assigns work directly to 
these employees of temporary agencies. There have been occasions when the 
work assignments given to the employees of temporary agencies by Mr. Warner 
have taken precedence over what Ms. Taylor has given these employees. 

21. Steven Warner initiated the coaching session involving Mr. Brinely by bringing to 
Ms. Taylor's attention concerning regarding Mr. Brinely's work performance. 
(T. Taylor at 1: 11 :04) Steven Warner and Patricia Taylor attended the coaching 
session with Mr. Brinely in early July 2010. 

22. Patricia Taylor participated in an interview panel of three Akron MHA employees 
that included Steven Warner for the interview of Curtis Brinely. 

23. Akron MHA presented no evidence to establish that a contract exists between 
Akron AMH and the private employers/temporary agencies that employ Curtis 
Brinely and Dan Gerstenberger. Akron MHA presented no evidence to establish 
that the National Labor Relations Board has declined jurisdiction over the private 
temporary agencies that Akron MHA has supposedly contracted with to perform 
the Hardware Technician and Help Desk Representative classifications. 

24. The job description submitted by Akron MHA was created subsequent to the 
filing this petition and contradicts the testimony before the Board. Consequently, 
the job description was given very little consideration in this matter. 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

From March 6, 2000 until November 30, 2009, Patricia Taylor served as 

Hardware Technician for Akron MHA. Effective December 1, 2009, Ms. Taylor was 

promoted to a new position in Akron MHA's Information Systems Department, Network 

Administrator, which was not in the bargaining unit. Subsequently, AFSCME filed the 

Petition for Amendment of Certification herein to amend the existing unit to include the 

Network Administrator position. Akron MHA timely filed Objections, arguing that the 

Network Administrator position meets the criteria for exclusion from the definition of 

"public employee" under O.RC. §§ 4117.01(C)(7) and/or (C)(10). On May 6, 2010, the 

Board directed the matter lo hearing to determine whether the existing bargaining unit 

should be amended to include the current Network Administrator position. 
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During the time period relevant to this proceeding, Akron MHA's Information 

Systems Department has been composed of two permanent employees: Information 

Systems Director Steven Warner and Network Administrator Patricia Taylor. Two 

individuals from two private temporary employment agencies have been brought in by 

Mr. Warner to assist the Department Curtis Brinely, employed by "Tech Systems," and 

Dan Gerstenberger, employed by "Carey Staffing Associates." At the time of the 

hearing in this matter, Mr. Brinely was working in as a Hardware Technician and 

Mr. Gerstenberger was working as a Help Desk Representative. 

The issue presented is whether the position of Network Administrator, held by 

Patricia Taylor, is an appropriate classification for inclusion in the existing Board

certified bargaining unit or whether the position should be excluded on the basis that it 

is supervisory, management-level, and/or lacks a community of interest with the Board

certified bargaining unit. O.R.C. § 4117.01 provides, in pertinent part: 

* * * 
(C) "Public employee" means many person holding a position by 

appointment or employment in the service of a public employer, including 
any person working pursuant to a contract between a public employer and 
a private employer and over whom the national labor relations board has 
declined jurisdiction on the basis that the involved employees are 
employees of a public employer, except: 

* * * 
(7) Management level employees; 
* * * 
(10) Supervisors; 
* * * 
(F) "Supervisor means any individual who has authority, in the 

interest of the public employer, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, 
promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other public employees; 
to reasonably direct them; to adjust their grievances; or to effectively 
recommend such action, if the exercise of that authority is not a merely 
routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment, .. 
[Emphasis added.] 

* * * 
(L) "Management level employee" means an individual who 

formulates policy on behalf of the public employer, who responsibly directs 
the implementation of policy, or who may reasonably be required on 
behalf of the public employer to assist in the preparation for the conduct of 
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collective negotiations, administer collectively negotiated agreements, or 
have a major role in personnel administration. 

• * * 
The burden of establishing an exclusion from a bargaining unit under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (C) rests upon the party seeking it. In re City of Hamilton, SERB 2010-012 (8-

12-201 O); In re Fulton County Engineer, SERB 96-008 (6-24-96); In re Franklin Local 

School District Board of Education, SERB 84-008 (11-8-84). 

A. The Network Administrator Position Is Not a "Supervisor" as Contemplated by 
O.R.C. § 4117.01(F). 

Akron MHA argues that as Network Administrator, Patricia Taylor, supervises two 

public employees as defined by O.R.C. §4117.01(C) and that the Network 

Administrator position she holds constitutes a supervisory position pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(F). We disagree. 

Our analysis begins with a review of the scope and nature of the Network 

Administrator's job duties. The testimony and evidence establishes that after being 

promoted from Network Technician to Network Administrator, Ms. Taylor continues to 

perform the same software and hardware maintenance duties she performed as 

Network Technician. In addition to those duties, Ms. Taylor is required to direct the 

work of the two employees of temporary agencies, Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger. 

Ms. Taylor also has a higher level of permission on the Akron MHA's server that allows 

her to independently log in and out of the system. 

With regard to the supervisory duties outlined in O.R.C. § 4117.01(F), the 

evidence fails to establish that the Network Administrator has independent authority to 

hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline 

employees. In terms of the authority to effectively recommend such actions, we find 

that the testimony establishes that while Ms. Taylor may make certain 

recommendations regarding the work of the two employees of temporary agencies, her 

authority is limited, and her recommendations do not appear to carry significant weight. 

Mr. Warner. not Ms. Taylor, determined the need to bring in the two employees 

of temporary agencies Mr. Warner flatly rejected Ms. Taylor's recommendations 
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regarding retention of the employees of temporary agencies on two occasions. With 

regard to Mr. Gerstenberger's job performance, it is noted that it was Mr. Warner, not 

Ms. Taylor, who determined that a coaching session was necessary. Further, it was 

Mr. Warner, not Ms. Taylor, who initiated the process. Thus, Ms. Taylor's role was 

limited to preparing talking points for the coaching session to assist Mr. Warner, and 

she attended the coaching session. 

The evidence also shows that while Ms. Taylor has participated in the interview 

of at least one candidate, she was merely an equal participant on a hiring panel and 

therefore was not individually responsible for the hiring recommendation. Additionally, it 

should be noted that while Ms. Taylor does assign work to the two employees of 

temporary agencies, Mr. Warner also assigns work directly to these individuals. There 

have been occasions when the work assignments given by Mr. Warner to these 

individuals have taken precedence over those given by Ms. Taylor. 

Although the evidence demonstrates that Ms. Taylor performs supervisory 

functions, such as approving Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger's time sheets and 

assigning some work, these responsibilities are limited and routine. Such limited duties 

are insufficient to establish that Ms. Taylor has the "right to control" the work of these 

employees or the authority to effectively supervise them as contemplated by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(F). 

With regard to the employment status of Curtis Brinely and Dan Gerstenberger, 

Akron MHA asserts that the "right to control" test is determinative of whether or not a 

worker from a temporary service firm is a "public employee" under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (F). 

Akron MHA argues that Ms. Taylor has the "right to control" the work of two temporary 

employees, Curtis Brinely and Dan Gerstenberger, and, therefore, they are public 

employees supervised by Ms. Taylor. 

The Supreme Court of Ohio set out the "right to control" test as the principal 

common law test for determining whether a person is an independent contractor in 

Hamilton v. State Emp. Relations Bd. (1994), 70 Ohio St.3d 21, 213, quoting Gillum v. 

Indus. Comm. (1943), 141 Ohio St 373, paragraph 2 of the Syllabus, as follows: 
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"Whether one is an independent contractor or in service depends 
upon the facts of each case. The principal test applied to determine the 
character of the arrangement 1s that if the employer reserves the right to 
control the manner or means of doing the work, the relation created is that 
of master and servant, while if the manner or means of doing the work or 
job is left to one who is responsible to the employer only for the result, an 
independent contractor relationship is thereby created." 

Initially, we note that no evidence was presented to establish that Akron MHA's 

employment of Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger fulfills the requirements of a "public 

employee" pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). No evidence was presented to establish 

that a contract exists between Akron MHA and the private employers/temporary 

agencies that employ Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger. 

Normally. the burden of establishing that an employee is not covered by O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117 lies with the party moving for such exclusion. In re City of Hamilton, 

SERB 2010-012 (8-12-2010). In this case, however, the coverage status of the two 

employees of temporary agencies is only at issue to the extent that the employer seeks 

to exclude another employee. Ms. Taylor, from the unit. In such instance, it would be 

anomalous for the employee to bear the burden of establishing that the employees of 

temporary agencies are excluded from the unit. Such a requirement would effectively 

shoulder her with the burden of proving her own inclusive status. For this reason, and 

consistent with our holding in In re City of Hamilton, supra, we conclude, in this 

instance, that the burden of establishing that the temporary employees/employees of 

temporary agencies are excluded from coverage must lie with the Employer. 

O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C) initially defines "public employee" as "any person holding a 

position by appointment or employment in the service of a public employer, including 

any person working pursuant to a contract between a public employer and a private 

employer and over whom the national labor relations board has declined jurisdiction on 

the basis that the involved employees are employees of a public employer." No 

evidence was presented to establish that the National Labor Relations Board has 

declined jurisdiction over the private temporary agencies that Akron MHA has 
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supposedly contracted with to perform the Hardware Technician and Help Desk 

Representative classifications. 

We further note that the evidence does not support a conclusion that Ms. Taylor 

has the "right to control" the work of Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger. As previously 

discussed, the weight of the testimony and evidence presented established that 

Ms. Taylor has limited authority with respect to directing two temporary employees 

working at the Akron MHA. We conclude that the limited authority Ms. Taylor exercises 

with respect to the work of Mr. Brinely and Mr. Gerstenberger does not constitute a 

"right to control" their work. Rather, the evidence indicates that Information Systems 

Director Warner is the individual who exercises a high level of independent judgment 

and supervisory/managerial authority over the workers employed by the Information 

Systems Department. 

The evidence in the record does not support a finding that Mr. Brinely and 

Mr. Gerstenberger, the two employees of temporary agencies, are "public employees" 

under O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C). Consequently, the record does not support a finding that 

the Network Administrator supervises any public employees. Thus, the Network 

Administrator Position is not a "supervisor" under O.R.C. §§ 4117.01(C)(10) or (F). 

B. The Network Administrator Position Is Not a "Management Level Employee" as 
Contemplated by O.R.C. § 4117.01(L). 

In its Position Statement, Akron MHA argues that Ms. Taylor should be excluded 

from the bargaining unit under the managerial exemption. As noted above, an 

individual is a "managerial employee" if he or she formulates policy on behalf of the 

public employer. responsibly directs the implementation of policy, or may reasonably be 

required on behalf of the public employer to assist in the preparation for the conduct of 

collective negotiations, administer collectively negotiated agreements, or have a major 

role in personnel administration. 

Akron MHA has provided no evidence that Ms. Taylor performs the functions of a 

managerial employee. No evidence has been presented to establish that Ms. Taylor 
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regularly attends ma nagement-level meetings, that she has the authority to adjust 

grievances, or that she has the authority to bargain collectively on behalf of Akron MHA. 

There is no evidence establishing that Ms. Taylor formulates policy. To the extent that 

Information Systems Director Warner permits Ms. Taylor to make any policy 

recommendations at all or implement same, the testimony indicates that those activities 

are infrequent and are limited to her area of responsibility. Therefore, we find 

Ms. Taylor's limited responsibilities with regard to the formulation or implementation of 

Information Systems Department polices do not meet the policy formulation 

requirements of the managerial exemption under O.R.C. § 4117.01(L). 

C. As Network Administrator, Patricia Taylor Shares a Community of Interest with 
Other Bargaining Unit Employees. 

Lastly, Akron MHA argues that the Network Administrator position lacks a 

community of interest with the bargaining-unit employees; however, Akron MHA 

does not explain why this position lacks a community of interest. We decline to 

speculate.1 

AFSCME argues that Ms. Taylor's unrebutted testimony establishes that she 

continues to perform the duties she performed as Hardware Technician, that she shares 

the same work hours as the bargaining-unit employees, and that she continues to 

spend the majority of her day interacting with employees in every classification in the 

bargaining unit, except one. With respect to the pay raise Ms. Taylor received at her 

promotion, AFSCME argues that when one takes into consideration both the comp time 

and overtime she earned as a Hardware Technician, the pay increase was not drastic, 

and, in itself, is not sufficient to justify the exclusion of Ms. Taylor from the bargaining 

unit. 

-----------~ 

1The following factors used to determine unit appropriateness are contained in O.R.C. 
§ 4117.06(8): (1) the desires of the employees; (2) the community of interest; (3) wages, hours, 
and other working conditions of the public employees; (4) the effect of over-fragmentation; 
(5) the efficiency of operations of the public employer; (6) the administrative structure of the 
public employer; and (7) the history of collective bargaining. 
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IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Akron Metropolitan Housing Authority is a "public employer" as defined in Ohio 
Revised Code§ 4117.01(B). 

2. Ohio Council 8, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 
AFL-CIO is an "employee organization" as defined in Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117 01(0). 

3. The current position of Network Administrator does not meet the criteria for 
exclusion from the definition of "public employee" of either O.R.C. 4117.01 (C) (7) 
or(10). 

4. The current position of Network Administrator shares a community of interest 
with other members of the bargaining unit identified in the Petition for 
Amendment of Certification. 

5. The bargaining unit described in the Petition for Amendment of Certification is the 
"unit appropriate for purposes of collective bargaining" under O.R.C. 
§ 4117 06(A). 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State Employment Relations Board finds 

that the current position of Network Administrator does not meet the criteria for 

exclusion from the definition of "public employee" under Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117.01(C)(7) or (C)(10) and that the current position of Network Administrator 

shares a community of interest with other members of the bargaining unit identified in 

the Petition for Amendment of Certification. Consequently, the Employer's objections 

are denied, the Petition for Amendment of Certification is granted, and the bargaining 

unit is amended accordingly. 

Brundige, Chairperson, and Spada. Board Member, concur. 
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OPINION 

ZIMPHER, Chair: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations Board 

("SERB" or "the Complainant") upon the issuance of a Complaint and a hearing held by the 

Board on January 11, 2011. The parties filed post-hearing briefs on February 22, 2011, 

and reply briefs on February 28, 2011. For the reasons below, we find that the City of 

Toledo ("the Respondent") did not violate Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and (A)(5) 

when it unilaterally increased the health-care premiums for members of the Toledo Police 

Command Officers' Association and rescinded its 10% payment into the Toledo Police 

Command Officers' Association's pension fund. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. The City of Toledo ("the City") is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01(B). (Complaint ,-r 1: Answer ,-r 1 ) 

1 References to the record are intended for convenience only and are not intended to 
suggest that such references are the sole support in the record for the related Finding of Fact. 
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2. The Toledo Police Command Officers' Association ("TPCOA") is an 

"employee organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (0) and is the deemed-certified, 

exclusive representative for the Command Officers employed by the City. (Complaint 112; 

Answer 111.) 

3. On May 3, 2010, TPCOA filed an unfair labor practice charge with SERB, 

pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. §4117.12(8) and O.A.C. Rule 4117-7-01. 

(Complaint 11 3; Answer 111.) 

4. On June 3. 2010, SERB determined that probable cause existed for believing 

that the City had committed or was committing unfair labor practices, authorized the 

issuance of a complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. (Complaint 114; Answer111.) 

5. Negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement ("CSA") began 

in October 2008, and the CSA was ratified by City Council in August 2009. The CBA is 

effective from January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2011, although the CSA was not 

actually finalized and approved until August 18, 2009. The parties' CSA contains a 

grievance process that results in final and binding arbitration. (Complaint 11 5; Answer 111; 

Complainant's/Intervenor's Exhibit 1.) 

6. Articles 2109.64 and 2109.65 of the parties' CBA address matters pertaining 

to health-care insurance premiums and pension benefits, respectively. Article 2109 .64 

provides cost caps of $25.00, $45.00. or $55.00 on the amount bargaining-unit members 

pay for health insurance premiums. depending upon an individual's coverage. Article 

2109.65 provides that the City is to pick up the full employee pension contribution amount, 

which is currently 10%. (Complaint 116; Answer 111.) 

7. On March 30, 2010, City Council passed City of Toledo Ordinance 103-10, 

which unilaterally increased TPCOA members' health insurance premiums and eliminated 

the City's pension pick-up requirement. The City claimed the existence of exigent 

circumstances. (Complaint 11 7; Answer 111.) 

8. On March 31, 2010, TPCOA filed a class action grievance regarding the 

changes made in the March 30, 2010 Ordinance 103-10. On April 5, 2010, Director of 

Public Safety Shirley Green denied the grievance. On April 22, 2010, Chief Michael 
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Navarre denied any wage-related grievance filed after April 22, 2010, stating that such 

grievances were "not subject to arbitration because they involve unilateral changes to the 

Collective Bargaining Agreement, via the enactment of Ordinance 103-10, that affects 

wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment within the meaning of 

R.C. 4117.08(C)." (Complaint,-i 8; Answer111.) 

9. Since that time, the City has repealed the exigent circumstances ordinance 

covering other unions, specifically AFSCME Locals 7 and 2058 and the Toledo Fire Chiefs' 

Association. The City negotiated concessions with each bargaining unit, other than the 

TPCOA, regarding pension pick-up and contractually required health insurance co-pays for 

members of the Toledo Police Patrol Association, a much larger bargaining unit than the 

TPCOA. Further, the City has restored its pension pick-up for exempt employees who are 

not covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Except for TPCOA, the City has entered 

into memorandums of understanding with all other bargaining units in the City and has 

rescinded those units' exigent circumstances ordinances. (Complaint 119; Answer 113.) 

10. Ordinance 103-10 increases the bargaining-unit members' health-insurance 

premiums and rescinds the City's payment of 10% pension pick-up. 

11. On or about March 31, 2010, TPCOA filed a class-action grievance regarding 

the changes made in the March 30, 2010 Ordinance 103-10. 

12. On or about April 5. 2010, Director of Public Safety Shirley Green denied the 

class-action grievance mentioned in paragraph 11. 

13. On or about April 22, 2010, Chief Michael Navarre, acting as an agent or 

representative of the City. began denying all wage-related grievances filed after April 22, 

2010, stating that such grievances were "not subject to arbitration because they involve 

unilateral changes to the Collective Bargaining Agreement, via the enactment of Ordinance 

103-10, that affects wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment within the 

meaning of R.C. 4117.0B(C)." 

14. On or about April 19, 2010, the City repealed the "exigent circumstances" 

ordinance covering AFSCME Locals 7 and 2058 and the Toledo Fire Chiefs' Association. 

Except for TPCOA, the City has entered into memorandums of understanding with all other 
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bargaining units in the City and has rescinded those units' "exigent circumstances" 

ordinances. 

15. City Council has now approved a budget surplus of $1.1 M and plans to add 

60 police officers in 2010. 

16. The City is using the repeal of the City's contribution to TPCOA's pension 

fund to pay for the new police officers. 

17. The fiscal year for the City is the calendar year, January 1 through December 31. 

18. Mayor Michael Bell was elected Mayor of Toledo in November 2009, and took 

office on January 4, 2010. (Transcript f'T'] 141) 

19. When Mayor Bell took office, a balanced budget for the City's general fund had 

been proposed in November 2009 by the previous City administration, but had not been 

enacted or approved by City Council. (T 139) 

20. When Mayor Bell took office on January 4, 2010, the budget deficit for Fiscal 

Year 2010 was projected to be $37 million. The carry-over budget deficit from Fiscal Year 2009 

was $8.4 million er 139) 

21. The City was required by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5705 and the Toledo City 

Charter to have a balanced budget for each fiscal year, approved by City Council, on or before 

March 31 of the fiscal year. For Fiscal Year 2010, the City was required to have a balanced 

budget that was approved by City Council by March 31, 2010. (T. 141) 

22. The City had no "rainy-day" fund to help balance the budget (T. 176) 

23. The projected income tax receipts for Fiscal Year 2009 were $202.3 million, which 

was less than the $211 million that had been stated in the first budget proposal submitted in 

November 2009. Income tax receipts constitute the majority of the funding for City's general 

fund budget (T 140, 143) 

24. The costs of all safety forces including the command officers ofTPCOA, are paid 

for out of the City's general fund budget (T 146-47) 

25. Mayor Bell met with the leaders of all of the unions, including the TPCOA, on 

January 10, 2010. to discuss the budget deficit and enlist the help of the unions to address the 

shortfall. (T 144-45) 
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26. Mayor Bell also met with members of the community, including business leaders, in 

January and February of 2010 to discuss the budget Union leaders were invited to those 

meetings as well. and some leaders did attend and participate. (T. 150-54) 

27. Mayor Bell and his staff also met directly with Toledo citizens, in each of the six 

City Council districts. to discuss the budget and seek input on closing the deficit (T 150-54) 

28. 1 he process of balancing the general fund budget involved a multi-step strategy 

of: cutting expenditures; increasing revenue through fee increases to the general public; selling 

City-owned assets and, seeking concessions from City employees. (T. 157) 

2g. On February 10, 2010, the general fund deficit was projected to be $48.2 million 

for Fiscal Year 2010. This amount included a 2009 carry-over deficit of $8.4 million. (T. 155-56) 

30. 1he $48.2 million deficit is approximately 24% of the 2009 revenues of 

$202 million. 

31. Also on February 10. 2010, Mayor Bell and his staff specifically met with leaders 

of all eight (8) of the City's bargaining units. At that meeting, the budget deficit was discussed 

and each union was asked for mid term contract concessions. (T. 154-55, 166-67; City Exhibit 

["City Exh."] 28) 

32. At the February 10. 2010 meeting, the Mayor proposed, for all City employees. 

eliminating pension pick-ups requ1ririg employees to pay twenty percent (20%) of their health 

care costs. and a ten percent (10%) wcige reduction. (T. 154-55, 166-67; City Exh. 28) 

33. Ali of tr1e union leaders. 1nc!uding TPCO A's, were requested to respond to the 

Mayor's request for concessions by February 25, 2010. (T. 154-55,166-67; City Exh. 28) 

34. During the month of February 2010, the mayor and his staff continued to meet 

with citizens of Toledo to discuss the general fund budget and gather ideas to balance the 

budget. (T. 158-59; City Exh. 8 and 9) 

35. Many ideas to balance the budget were proposed, including imposing an 

entertainment tax. which was an ndditional fee for sporting events and concerts. That tax was 

not adopted dur' to strong opposition (T 165 City Ex. 10) 
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36. None of the unions including the TPCOA, responded by February 25, 2010 

response date. (T. 165: City Ex. 10) 

37. On Friday. February 26, 2010. the members of Toledo City Council were 

provided with proposed budget ordinances. which included the ordinances declaring exigent 

circumstances. 

38. During the first half of March, 2010, the Mayor and his team discussed with 

members of City Council different ways to balance the budget. Due to cutbacks and other 

measures, on March 15. 2010 the budget deficit was reduced to $28.4 million. (T. 167-69; 

City Exh. 12) 

39. One option that was considered to address the $28.4 million deficit was layoffs of 

City employees including police patrol officers and command officers. (T. 167-69; City 

Exh. 12) 

40. On March 22. 2010. the Toledo police patrolman's union ("TPPA"). the largest 

safety force urnon. reached a tentative agreement to accept mid-contract concessions to help 

balance the budget. That agreement was rejected by the union membership. 

41. Also on March 22. 2010. Mayor Bell and his staff met with the TPCOA 

leadership; the TPCOA was given a specific dollar amount, $902,000, to reach in concessions. 

To reach that amount. suggestions were made about eliminating or reducing pension pick-up 

payments by the City increasing the employees' share of heath care costs. but the Union was 

free to reach that amount by other concessions. No agreement was reached between the City 

and TPCOA (T 82-84, 247-48) 

42. On March 23. 2010, the fire fighters union ("Local 92") reached a tentative 

agreement on concessions. Local 92's membership did ratify that agreement. 

43. The concessions reached by Local 92 totaled $3.3 million in savings. (T. 184) 

44. On March 24. 2010, the Toledo Blade reported on the tentative agreements 

reached between the C1\y and the TPPA and Local 92. Those articles. detailed the union 

concessions. 

45. Having not neard froni the TPCOA leadership since the March 22. 2010 meeting, 

Safety Director Shirley Green called union president Sergeant Terry Stewart on March 26,2010. 
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and inquired as to whether the union was able to offer any concessions (T. 89. 248-49) 

46. Sergeant Stewart did not offer any concessions. (T. 89, 2'.48-49) 

47. On March 30. 2010. ·r oledo City Council passed a number of ordinances that 

enacted a balanced budget for Fiscal Year 2010. Those ordinances included measures to 

increase revenue. decrease expenditures as well as a declaration of exigent circumstances. an 

elimination of pension pick-ups, and ;m increase in health care costs for all exempt City 

employees, and all members of 6 of \he 8 City bargaining units. (T. 141-42) 

48. Had Toledo City Council not taken any action to balance the budget. it would have 

been impossible for the City to pay !ts bills past April 1, 2010. The City would have shut down 

at that point 

49. Members of 2 City bargaining units, Local 92 and Teamsters, were excepted from 

the elimination of pension pick ups and an increase in health care costs. 

50. Also included in the budget ordinances was an increase in the refuse pickup fee for 

all City residents. 

51. On March 31.2010. Mayor Bell signed the budget ordinances into law. The 2010 

general fund budget was balanced. 

52. In mid-April 2010. members of 4 other City bargaining units reached agreement 

with the City on concessions. 

53. On April 21. 2010, the TPCOA reached tentative agreement with the City. The 

membership voted. and rejected, the agreement. 

54. On May 14, 2010 after a mediation with TPPA leadership, the City reached a 

second tentative agreement with TPPA That agreement was ratified by TPPA members. 

55. By reaching agreement with the TPPA, the City was able to avoid laying off 

125 police officers. (T. 18182: City Exh. 21) 

56. No employees were laid off as a result of balancing the City budget. 

57. The TPCOA never reached agreement with the City regarding concessions. 

58. The TPCOA was the only City bargaining unit that did not reach an agreement. 
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II. DISCUSSION 

The City is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5), which state 

in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, or 
representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;) 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative * * * pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the Respondent has committed an unfair labor practice. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.12(B)(3). 

Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the circumstances. In re 

Dist 1199/HCSSU!SEIU, AFL-CIO, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). Pursuant to O.R.C. 

§ 4117.01 (G), the duty to bargain does not compel either party to agree to a proposal or 

require either party to make a concession. A circumvention of the duty to bargain, 

regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, 

SERB 89-033 (12-20-89); NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 82 S.Ct. 1107 (1962). 

In In re Franklin County Sheriff, SERB 90-012 (7-18-90) ("Franklin County Sheriff) 

at pp. 3-79 - 3-80. SERB found that the language of O.R.C. Chapter4'117 establishes that 

the statutory dispute resolution procedure does not apply to midterm disputes. "In the 

absence of a settlement procedure, the Board will deal with specific incidents on a case-by

case basis." Id at 3-80. 

In In re SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 95-010 (6-30-95) 

("Youngstown'), SERB discussed the requirements for midterm bargaining over subjects 

not covered by the collective bargaining agreement. SERB held that an employer may 

implement its last, best offer when the parties have reached ultimate impasse in bargaining 
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or when the employer has made good-faith attempts to bargain the matter before time 

constraints necessitated the implementation of its last, best offer. Id. 

Ultimate impasse is the point at which good faith negotiations toward reaching an 

agreement have been exhausted. Jn re Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 

90-003 (2-9-90) ("Vandalia-Butler'). During negotiations for a successor agreement, the 

employee organization may pursue issues that required mandatory midterm bargaining and 

were not resolved by mutual agreement as part of its overall contract negotiations, 

including the submission of the issues to any applicable dispute settlement procedure that 

may include binding conciliation or arbitration, or the right to strike as permitted by statute. 

SERB has not yet addressed what standard to apply to determine whether an unfair labor 

practice has been committed when a party unilaterally modifies a provision in an existing 

collective bargaining agreement. 

Management decisions that are found, on balance, to be mandatory subjects must 

be bargained before implementation. upon notice by the employer and timely request by 

the employee organization, except where emergency situations render prior bargaining 

impossible. In re Toledo City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-005 (9-20-2001) ("Toledo 

Schools"); SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 95-010 (1995) 

("Youngstown"). The Toledo Schools decision states the controlling legal principle: 

Where the parties have not adopted procedures in their collective 
bargaining agreement to deal with midterm bargaining disputes, SERB will 
apply the following standard to determine whether an unfair labor practice 
has been committed when a party unilaterally modifies a provision in an 
existing collective bargaining agreement after bargaining the subject to 
ultimate impasse as defined in Vandalia-Butler: 

A party cannot modify an existing collective bargaining 
agreement without the negotiation by and agreement of both 
parties unless immediate action is required due to (1) exigent 
circumstances that were unforeseen at the time of negotiations 
or (2) legislative action taken by a higher-level legislative body 
after the agreement became effective that requires a change to 
conform to the statute. 

In addition, to clarify Youngstown, follow Franklin County Sheriff, and assure 
consistency in future cases involving issues not covered in the provisions of 
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a collective bargaining agreement, but which require mandatory midterm 
bargaining, SERB will apply the same two-part test as stated above. 

This case does not involve the "higher-level legislative body" exc:eption under Toledo 

Schools; the Toledo City Counc1: is the 'same-level" legislative body for the public employer in this 

case. Thus. the second part of the foregoing test is inapplicable herein. The issue before us is 

whether immediate action was required by the City due to exigent circumstances that were 

unforeseen at the time of negotiations, thereby requiring the City to modify an existing 

collective bargaining agreement without the negotiation by and agreement of both parties. 

Michael Bell was elected to the office of Mayor of the City of Toledo in November 2009. A 

balanced budget for the City's general fund had been proposed by the previous City 

administration in November 2009, but a budget for Fiscal Year 2010 had not been enacted or 

approved by City Council. Upon taking office on January 4, 2010, Mayor Bell was presented 

with a budget deficit for riscal Year 2010 that was projected to be $37 million. 

The carry-over budget deficit from Fiscal Year 2009 was $8.4 million. The City had no 

"rainy-day" fund to help balance the budget The projected income tax receipts for Fiscal 

Year 2009 was $202.3 million, which was less than the $211 million that had been stated in the 

first budget proposal submitted :n November 2009. Income tax receipts constitute the majority 

of the funding for City's general fund budget. The costs of all safety forces, including the 

command officers of TPCOA, are paid for out of the City's general fund budget. 

On January 10 2010, Mayor Bell met with the leaders of all of the unions, including the 

TPCOA, to discuss the budget deficit and enlist the help of the unions to address the shortfall. 

Mayor Bell also met with members of the community, including business leaders, in January and 

February of 2010 to discuss the budget Union leaders were invited to those meetings as well; 

some leaders did attend and participate. 

Mayor Bell and his staff also met directly with Toledo citizens. in each of the six City 

Council districts, to discuss the budget and seek input on closing the deficit. The process of 

balancing the general fund budget involved a multi-step strategy of: cutting expenditures; 

increasing revenue through fee increases to the general public; selling City-owned assets: and, 

seeking concessions from City employees. 
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On February 10, 2010, the general fund deficit was projected to be $48.2 million for 

Fiscal Year 2010. This amount included a 2009 carry-over deficit of $8.4 million. The 

$48.2 million deficit was approximately 24% of the Fiscal Year 2009 revenues of $202 million. 

The $48.2 million deficit was the largest ever faced by the City, and was the result, in large part, 

of a steep decline in income tax revenue collected by the City. 

Also on February 10. 2010. Mayor Beli and his staff specifically met with leaders of all 

eight of the City·s bargaining units. Ai 1hat meeting, the budget deficit was discussed and each 

union was asked for mid-term contract concessions. At that meeting, Mayor Bell proposed. for 

all City employeos elirrnnating pension pick-uos, requiring employees to pay twenty percent 

(20%) of their health-care costs. and a ten percent (10%) wage reduction. All of the union 

leaders, including TPCOA's. were requested to respond to the Mayor's request for concessions 

by February 25, 2010. 

"Exigent circumstances" are a "situation that demands unusual or immediate action and 

that may allow people to circumvent usual procedures." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, EIGHTH 

EDITION. The employer's predicament--facing a 24% funding deficit and requiring a budget that 

must be balanced submitted to the legislative body, and a balanced budget adopted by said 

legislative body in less than three months. with potential spending reductions spread across six 

different bargaining units as well as exempt employees - certainly fits the description of exigent 

circumstances in the present case. 

Mayoral Candidate Michael Bell while campaigning for the office, attempted to 

ascertain the City's financial situation. He was told that the City had a potential deficit for the 

next fiscal year of $10-15 million in April 2009. $20 million during the summer of 2009, and 

$30 million by the election. He was later told that the potential deficit would be $37 million (in 

December 2009) then $40 million (by the time he took office in January 2010), and finally 

$48.2 million (in February 2010). With a moving target that escalates from a potential deficit 

of 5% of expenditures to 24% of the Fiscal Year 2009 revenues, it would have been 

impossible to have foreseen those changes at the time that negotiations concluded in 

July 2009. This foreseeability determination is further complicated by the retroactivity 
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within the CBA - it was negotiated in July 2009, but is effective from January 1, 2009 

through December 31, 2011. 

Taking all of the facts together, we find that the City did not commit an unfair labor 

practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117 .11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it modified its existing 

collective bargaining agreement with the TPCOA without the negotiation by and agreement 

of both parties because immediate action was required due to exigent circumstances that 

were unforeseen at the time of negotiations 

Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Toledo is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(8). 

2. The Toledo Police Command Officers' Association is an "employee organization" 

as defined by 0 R C. § 4117.01!0) and is the deemed-certified. exclusive representative forthe 

Command Officers employed by the City. 

3. The City's general budget fund deficit of $48.2 million for Fiscal Year 2010 was 

not foreseeable at the time of the negotiations between the City and the TPCOA in the summer 

of 2009. The City was faced with a $48.2 million deficit and a March 31, 2010 deadline to fix it 

or face a City government shutdown if the budget was not balanced by March 31, 2010, the 

City would have insufficient funds to continue operating essential services, i.e., police, fire, and 

refuse-collection services. 

4. In order to balance the budget and avoid a shutdown, immediate action was 

required by City Council to address the exigent circumstances that were not foreseeable at the 

time of the negotiations between the City and the TPCOA in 2009. 

5. The City did not commit an unfair labor practice in violation of Ohio Revised Code 

§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally increased the health-care premiums for 

members of the Toledo Police Command Officers' Association and rescinded its 10% payment 

into the Toledo Pol;ce Command Officers· Association's pension fund. 
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IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons above, we find that Respondent City of Toledo did not violate Ohio 

Revised Code §§ 4117 .11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally increased the health-care 

premiums for members of the Toledo Police Command Officers' Association and rescinded 

its 10% payment into the Toledo Police Command Officers' Association's pension fund. As 

a result, the Complaint is dismissed, and the unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with 

prejudice. 

Spada. Vice Chair, concurs in the foregoing Opinion; Brundige, Board Member, 

concurs in part and dissents in the final determination in a separate Dissenting Opinion. 
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OPINION 

BRUNDIGE 

On April 8, 2009, the Mahoning Education Association of Developmental 

Disabilities ("the Union") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Mahoning 

County Board of Developmental Disabilities ("the Employer"), alleging violations of Ohio 

Revised Code ("0.R.C.") §§ 4117.11(A)(1), (A)(2), (A)(5), and (A)(8). The charge was 

precipitated by two supposed instances of misconduct. In the first, the Union alleged 

that the Employer engaged in direct dealing with bargaining .. unit members by 

intentionally leaving a document entitled "MEADD Negotiations Management Update" 

where members would find it. The Union also alleged that the Employer failed to 

maintain the status quo when it refused to arbitrate any current or future grievances. 

On July 23, 2009, the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board") found 

probable cause to believe that both instances violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and 

(A)(5). All other aspects of the charge, including the O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(2) and 

(A)(8) allegations, were dismissed for lack of probable cause. 

On February 4, 2010, the Board issued a complaint. On April 7, 2010, an 

evidentiary hearing was held in which testimonial and documentary evidence was 
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presented. Afterward, both parties filed post-hearing briefs. The Administrative Law 

Judge issued a Proposed Order on April 13, 2010, recommending that the Board find 

that the Employer did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(5). 

On September 2, 2010 the Union filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On 

September 7, 2010, the Union's representative filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. 

On September 20, 2010, the Employer filed a response to the exceptions. For the 

reasons set forth in this opinion, we find that the Employer did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(5) as related to the first charge of direct dealing. 

I. BACKGROUND 

On September 1, 2004, the parties entered into a collective bargaining 

agreement ("CBA") that expired on August 31, 2007. On June 26, 2007, the Union filed 

a statutory Notice to Negotiate with the Employer, and the parties began negotiations 

for a successor collective bargaining agreement. As of the date of the hearing, the 

parties had not obtained a successor agreement. 

In April 2008, a union member filed a grievance. The grievance went through the 

levels identified in the expired CBA's grievance procedure. Because no resolution was 

achieved, the grievance was ultimately submitted for "final and binding arbitration," as 

required by the expired CBA. 

Before arbitration. the Employer raised the question of arbitrability. The 

arbitration was then bifurcated. On January 13, 2009, an arbitration hearing was held 

regarding whether "the grievance procedure and arbitration clause remained in effect 

after the Agreement expired so that the grievance is arbitrable[.]" On March 18, 2009, 

the arbitrator rendered a decision. concluding that he was "without jurisdiction." 

On April 2, 2009, Victor Marchese. chief spokesperson for the Union, was 

handed a piece of paper from a bargaining-unit member. The member told him it had 

been found on top of a tow motor, in an area where there were only bargaining-unit 

members. The document was entitled "MEAD NEGOTIATIONS MANAGEMENT 

UPDATE," and it contained information about the ongoing negotiations between the 
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Union and the Employer. Who found the document, who authored it, and why it was 

created, however, remained unknown. 

II. DISCUSSION 

In the Proposed Order the Administrative Law Judge ("the ALJ") recommended 

that the Board find the following (1) that the Union timely filed its unfair labor practice 

charge; (2) that the Employer did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(5) when a 

bargaining-unit member obtained the "Negotiations Management Update" document; 

and (3) that the Employer did not violate O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) or (A)(5) by refusing 

to arbitrate a grievance as required by the parties' expired collective bargaining 

agreement. 

We agree with the ALJ's first and second recommendations, and we adopt her 

Conclusions of Law with regard to these recommendations. We do not adopt the ALJ's 

third recommendation, however. That issue, for the reasons set forth below, is moot. 

"The doctrine of mootness is rooted in the 'case' or 'controversy' language of 

Section 2, Article Ill of the United States Constitution and in the general notion of 

judicial restraint." Bradley v. Ohio State Dept. of Job & Family Servs., 2011-0hio-1388, 

il 11, (10th Dist Ct App, Franklin, 3-24-2011) citing James A. Keller, Inc. v. Flaherty 

(1991), 74 Ohio App 3d 788, 791. "While Ohio has no constitutional counterpart to 

Section 2, Article 111, the courts of Ohio have long recognized that a court cannot 

entertain jurisdiction over a moot question." Id. 

"The duty of every judicial tribunal is to decide actual controversies by a 

judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot 

questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles or rules of law which cannot 

affect the matter in issue in the case before it." Miner v. Witt (1910), 82 Ohio St. 237, 

238, 92 N.E. 21, 22, (quoting Mills v. Green (1895), 159 U.S. 651, 653, 16 S.Ct. 132, 

133, 40 L.Ed. 293, 293-294). A case becomes moot before a court when, as a result of 

subsequent events. "the legal issue is no longer amenable to review[,] such that judicial 

relief would serve no purpose." Cleveland Branch, NAACP v. City of Parma, 263 F.3d 

513, 530-31 (6th Cir.2000); see also Sinclair Refining Co., 145 NLRB 732 (1963) 
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(holding, in the context of an information request, where the employer subsequently 

furnishes the precise information requested, the case should be dismissed as moot) 

and Ohio Civ. Serv. Emp. Assn., AFSCME, Local 11, AFL-CIO v. Ohio Dept. of Transp., 

104 Ohio App 3d 340 (Tenth Dis\1995) ("OCSEA v. AFSCME'). 

In OCSEA v. AFSCME, for example, OCSEA filed an unfair labor practice charge 

with SERB, alleging that the unilateral implementation of a "no-smoking" policy by the 

Ohio Department of Transportation ("ODOT") violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and 

(A)(5), and asserting that the policy was a mandatory subject of bargaining under 

O.R.C. §§ 4117.0S(A) and (C). While the parties were awaiting SEHB's final order, the 

governor of Ohio issued an executive order to prohibit smoking in most State facilities, 

including those operated by ODOT. As a result, OCSEA moved to withdraw its unfair 

labor practice charge and to dismiss SEHB's complaint on the grounds that the 

executive order, which superseded ODOT policy, had rendered the controversy 

regarding ODOT's no-smoking policy moot. 

SERB denied OCSEA's motion, finding that the case raised the larger issue of 

how to identify subjects of mandatory bargaining under O.R.C. § 41 '17.08. Accordingly, 

SERB issued an opinion and order, setting forth a new balancing test for distinguishing 

between subjects of mandatory and permissive bargaining. 

OCSEA appealed. Although the trial court upheld SERB's order, the Tenth 

District reversed, stating 

[A]s a result of the executive order which created a smoke free work place in 
most state facilities, ODOT employees are prohibited from smoking at work, 
even if OCSEA were to prevail on its claim respecting the 'no-smoking' policy 
adopted by ODOT. The executive order thus rendered moot the justiciable 
controversy between the parties as any order requiring ODOT to bargain 
over the implementation of a smoking policy was foreclosed by the executive 
order. 
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Id. Thus, SERB's decision was vacated 1 

The Tenth District Court of Appeal's decision in OCSEA v. AFSCME controls 

here as well. In April 2008, an individual filed a grievance. The grievance proceeded 

through the grievance procedure in accordance with the collective bargaining 

agreement, and then it was submitted for arbitration. Sometime before the SERB 

proceeding, however, the grievance was settled. The Union therefore, does not seek 

relief pertaining to the specific grievance that went to arbitration that caused this action 

to be filed; that grievance was ultimately settled. The Union argues, rather, that the 

Employer is bound to follow the grievance and arbitration procedure for "future 

grievances that may arise during the on-going negotiations." ALJ Recommendation, 

p. 10 (Emphasis added). 

Because this controversy was rendered moot by settlement of the underlying 

grievance, any further opinion we might render on the survival of arbitration provisions 

past expiration of collective bargaining agreement would be, in effect, an advisory 

opinion. 0.R.C. Chapter 4117 does not authorize SERB to issue advisory opinions. Id. 

Moreover, were we to issue an opinion on this issue and then use it in the future, that 

decision may be deemed an improperly promulgated rule. See, e.g., Ohio Nurses 

Assn., Inc. v. Ohio State Bd. of Nursing Edn. & Nurse Registration (1989), 44 Ohio 

St.3d 73, 540 N.E.2d 1354. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, we do not adopt the Administrative Law Judge's 

third recommendation and dismiss as moot the refusal-to-arbitrate allegation. As also 

stated above, we agree with the Administrative Law Judge's first and second 

recommendations, adopting the recommended Conclusions of Law with regard to these 

'Arguably. even if the supervening executive order negated a duty to bargain, the Board 
could still have declared that OCSEAs refusal to negotiate over a no-smoking policy was, al the 
time, an unfair labor practice. The intervening executive order, then, would merely have limited 
the remedy. But by dismissing the case for mootness, the court implicitly rejected that 
argument. See. e g, SERB v Mad River-Green Local Board of Education, 1988 SERB 4-1 
(2d Dist Ct App, Clark. 12-28-87). 

---------
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recommendations. Therefore, as to the remaining allegations, we find that the 

Mahoning County Board of Developmental Disabilities did not violate Ohio Revised 

Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) or (A)(5) Consequently, we dismiss the complaint and dismiss 

with prejudice the unfair labor practice charge. 

Spada concurs. Verich did not participate in the opinion. 
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Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Spada and Board Member Brundige: 
February 3, 2011. 

On January 19 2010. the Elyria Fire Fighters. Local 474. IAFF ("the Intervenor") 
filed an unfair labor practice charge ag1m1st the City of Elyria and Mayor William Grace 
("the Respondents") alleging that the Respondents had violated Ohio Revised Code 
("0.RC ') §§411711(A)(1) 2wd (A)(5). On .C\pril 8. 2010, the State Employment 
Relations Board ('the Board" or 'Complainant"! determined that probable cause existed 
to believe !hi!'. the r:~espondents had committe:d 01 were committing an unfair labor 
practice in v1olat1on of 0 RC. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by releasing specific 
barga1rnng proposals to the media during negotiations in an attempt to directly deal with 
the bargaining unit members The Eloard also <iuthorized the issuance of a Complaint 
and referred the matter to an expedited hearrn~1. On July 13, 2010. a Complaint was 
issued 

A hearing was r1eld on September 3, 2010. The parties filed post-hearing briefs. 
The Adrrnn1strat1ve Law Judge issued the Proposed Order on November 3. 2010. 
recommending that the Board find that the Respondents had not committed an unfair 
labor practice On November 23, 2010. the Intervenor filed exceptions to the Proposed 
Order On November 24. 2010. Counsel for Complainant filed exr;eptions to the 
Proposed 01der On Decer:1ber 3, 2010. the Respondents filed a response in 
oppos1t1on to the exceptions 
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Alter reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, Complaint, Answer. transcript, 
and all other filings 1n this case, the Board adopts the Findings of Fact, Analysis and 
Discussion oind Conclusions of Law in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order, 
incorporated by reference, finding that Hie Respondents did not violate Ohio Revised 
Code§§ 4117 11(A)(1) and (A)(5) because their actions did not rise to the level of direct 
dealing as oroh1b1ted by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117. Consequently, the 
complaint is dismissed, and the unfair labor practice charge is dismissed with prejudice. 

!tis so ordered. 

/IMPHER, Chair. SPADA, Vice Charr. and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, concur. 

/ , :::;,-7. 
llv-t ,/' ' / 

J c-/ I ---------
w CRAIG ZIMf'HER. CHAIR ? 

TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117. 13(D) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed tram and \'le grounds of appeal with tl1e court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair icibor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business. within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State tmployment Relations Board's order A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street. 121

h 

Floor. Columbus. Ohio 43215-4213. pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-
07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of ~r11s document was served upon each party by certified 

mail, return 'ec.:eipt requesteti. and upon eacr party's representative by ordinary mail. 
'·L'l this 1 ___ day ot June. 2011 
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v. 

CITY OF ELYRIA AND MAYOR WILLIAM 
GRACE, 

Respondents. 

CASE NO. 2010-ULP-01-0013 

BETH A. JEWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 

PROPOSED ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On January 19. 2010, the Elyria Fire Fi9hters, Local 474, IAFF ('Union"), filed an 
unfair labor practice charge against the City of Elyna (the "City") and Mayor William Grace 
(collectively the City and Mayor Grace are ref1?rred to as "Respondents"), alleging that 
Respondents violated Ohio Revised Code§§ 4'117. 1 1 (A)(1) and (A){5). 1 On April 8. 2010, 
SERB found probable cause to believe that Respondents violated §§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and 
(A)(5) by releasing specific bargaining proposals to the media during negotiations in an 
attempt to directly deal with the membership. On July 13, 2010, a complaint was issued. 
On July 19. 2010, Charging Party filed a motion !o intervene, which was unopposed and 
granted 1n accordance wrth Ohio Adm. Code Rule 4117-1-0?(A). 

A hearing was he~d on September 3. 2010, wherern testimonial and documentary 
evidence was presented Subsequently. all parties tiled post-hearing briefs. 

Did Respondents violate §§ 4117. 11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by releasing specific 
bargaining proposals to the media durinq negotiations in an attempt to 
directly deal with the membership? 

All references to statutes are to the Ohio R1~vised Code, Chapter 4117, unless otherwise 
indicated 
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Ill. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

1. Tho City is a public employer as def1nec 1n § 4117 01 (B). (S.) 

2. Tho Union is an 'employee organization'' as defined in§ 4117.01(0) and is the 
Board-certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of City employees. (S.) 

3. The City and the Union were parties to a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") 
that expired on July 11, 2009. The parties are currently rn negotiations for a 
successor agreement. n1e Cf3A contained a grievance procedure that culminated 
in frnal and binding arbitration (S ) 

4. On July 17, 2009, the McGrath ConsJl'ing Group issued a revised independent 
audrt of the City's Fire Department ("McGrntn Report"). The McGrath Report was 
posted on the City's website !'he report contained a section titled "Human 
Resources." which contains the observation that "[t]he consultants have never 
encountered a srtuatron of so m<.rny allowable days off in any previous study[.]" The 
report further reads. "ajn issue that will need to be negotiated will be the excessive 
amount of time off provided' within the Cl3A (T. 111-114, R. Exh S, pp. 88. 92. 
112) 

5. Wrlli;im M. Grace is the Mayor of the Crtf Mayor Grace rs a member of the City's 
bargaining team. (S.) 

6. On November 23. 2009 the City and the Union exchanged their initial written 
bargaining proposals (S.) 

7. Dean Marks rs a Crty Fire Fighter. Mr Marks has served as Union President for the 
past three years Mr. Mmks cha,rs the Union's bargaining committee. (T. 16-17) 

8. n10 Union's bargaining commit1ee 1s comprised of up to eight members. 
Negot1at1ng and decision-making during collective bargaining negotiations rs done 
exc1us1vely by the bargcirning corPrnrttee (T 17, 18, 88) 

'References 1n the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are indicated 
parentc1etica11y by 'S " r<eforences to the U01on s fxhit>lt are rndicated parenthetically by "U. Exh P." 
followed by the page number(s; References to th,, Respondents' Exhibits in the record are 
indicated parenthetically by "R E:xh ,'followed by thr3 -axh1bit number(s). References to the digital 
recording of the evidentrary hea·ing are 1ndrcatecl parenthetically by the witness' name and 
approximate t1m1ng pornt References !o the recorcJ rn the Frndings of Fact are intended for 
convenience only and nre not intended to suggest thal such references are the sole support in the 
record for the related F1mJrng of Fact 
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9. The Union filed a Notice to Negotiate a successor CBA on June 9. 2009. The 
parties met for the first t me on July 28, .2009. The Union made a verbal proposal 
for a one-year extens1or of the CSA. The Ciiy proposed bargaining ground rules. 
(T 19. 20, 22) 

10. The parties met for a second time on Octol)er 14, 2009. The parties were unable to 
agree upon bargaining ground rules and the City withdrew its proposed ground 
rules (T 23. 211, 222-223) 

11. The parties met for a third time on November 18, 2009. The Union intended to 
exchange all written proposals oil Hie meeting However, the City did not have its 
proposals ful'y p:epared. The parties then agreed to mutually exchange all 
proposals on November 23. 2009. (T. 19 23-24) 

12. Ur<1on President Marks and City Saf,'!ty Director Chris Eichenlaub mutually 
exchanged the parties' written proposals on November 23, 2009. (T 19-20) 

13. The parties met on December 16, 20(19, and discussed the parties' written 
bargaining proposals. While each propc·sal was reviewed, the vast majority of the 
meeting was spent discussing the City's proposed cutting of the Fire Fighters' 
floating holiday \line vacatior'. t1ol1day, <ind sick leave benefits. (T. 25, 31-32) 

14. "Float1r1g holiday time." or "FHT." is set forth under Article 10, "Work Schedule and 
Hours The Fire ~ 1gl1ters have tre abilit) t~ schedule the FHT hours off or work the 
t'1flle and place the hours in an FHT "bank" for payment in cash at a later date. 
IT 29 JtExt1.1.pp l-9) 

15. As set forth 1n the City's written proposa,s and discussed on December 16, 2009. 
the City proposed to el1m1nate floating hol 1day time in its entirety from Article 10 of 
the CGA (T 153-154, U Exh fJ. pp. 1-:<) 

16. O:ie 'tour' of duty for a Fire Fighter is one 24-hour shift. Under Article 15, 
"Vacation." the Fire Fighters receive vacation per year based upon a scale of 
seniority 6 tours of vacaton (144 hours) lic.1tween 1and6 years of seniority; 9 tours 
of vacation (216 hours) between 7 and 1 3 years of seniority: 12 tours of vacation 
(?88 hours) between 14 and 20 years of seniority; and 15 tours of vacation 
(360 hours) w1tt1 2.1 or more years of seriority (JI Ex 1, p. 13: T. 28) 

17. As set forth 1n the City's written proposals and discussed on December 16, 2009, 
the City proposed to reduce the Fire Fighters' yearly vacation time as follows: for 
seniority between 1 and 6 years. from 144 hours to 100 hours: for seniority between 
7 EJnd 13 years. from 216 hours to 1:;0 hours; for seniority between 14 and 



SERB Opinion 2011-003 
Case No ?O«O ULP-·01-0013 
Page 4 of 15 

20 years from 288 to 200 hours: and for seniority of 21 or more years. from 360 
ho~rs to 250 hours. (T 29-30 154-155; LJ. Exh P. p. 3) 

18 Under Article 16, "Holidays," the Fire "ighters receive 8 tours off per year in 
recogn1t1on of the 13 holidays described in the CBA, along with one 24-hour 
personal day an equivalent of 9 total tour·; oft. (T. 30; Jt. Exh. 1 p. 14) 

19. As set forth 1n the City's written proposa sand discussed on December 16, 2009, 
the City proposed to reduce the Fire Fighters holiday leave from 9 tours to 6.5 
tours (T 30. 155: U. Exh. P, p 5) 

20. Under Article 19. "Sick Leave," the Fire F if1hters may receive up to 15 tours of sick 
leave per year. depending upon the rate at which the Fire Fighter accrues and uses 
sick le~ve (T 30 31; .Jt Exh 1. pp. 20 2:') 

21. As set forth in the City's written proposals and discussed on December 16. 2009, 
the City prcposed to reduce the Fire Fi9Mors sick leave from a maximum of 15 
tours f.Jl~r year to a maximum of 6.25 tour:; per year. (T. 31, 157-158; U Exh. P, 
p 8) 

22. At the December 16. 2009 bargaining rneeting. Mayor Grace stated that the 
purpose of the City's proposed cuts in the f'ire Fighters' leave benefits was to bring 
the Fire Fighters more 1n line with Police Department employees, who work a 40-
hour week. According to Mayor Grace, tl1e Fire Fighters had too much time off 
under thr, cun·en1 CBA compared to City employees who work a 40-hour week. 
(T 21 28, 158-159) 

23. /\t the conclusion of the December 16, 2009 bargaining session, the parties 
schedu,ed their next bargaining session fer January 20, 2010. (T. 32, 160) 

24. On January 14, 2010, Union President Marks received a phone call from Lisa 
l~oberson, a reporter for the local new~1paper. the Elyria Chronicle-Telegram 
('Chron1cie .. ). Reporter Robersori stated rhat she was doing a story on negot1at1ons 
between the union and the City Ms. Robe1·son told Mr. Marks that she had spoken 
with the Mayor concerning the ncgotiaticns Mr. Marks told Ms. Roberson that he 
would 'lot discuss the details of the negotiations publicly (T. 34-35) 

25 On January 15 2010. the Chronicle pul)l1shed an article under Ms. Roberson's 
byline titled. Elyria starts fire talks," sL'btitled "City leaders seeking time-oft 
concessions from firefighters · .. mion." lh0 article read that "[t]he city is asking the 
'ocal firefighters union to agree to give up some vacation and sick days as well as 
several l1ours of floating holiday time for t~e same pay," and that "[t]he changes 
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were proposed during recent contract talks between the administration and 
lnternatio~al Association of Firelighters Local 474, which represents 52 firefighters 
1n Elyria.·· (Jt. Exh. B) 

26. Tr-e January 15, 2010 newspaper article either directly quotes Mayor Grace or 
attributes the following statements to him. 

Mayor Bill Grace said Elyria fimfighters make pay comparable to 
Elyria police officers, but in comparison have a contract that allows 
them lo have s1gnificantiy more paid time off. In light of recent 
frnancial cnallenges facing the c1t·1. now is the time to bring those 
numbers 1n l:ne he said. 

"If they are truly intent on being professionals, they have to be willing 
to come to work more,· ho said. "I think most people would argue that 
the person who 1s more dedicated to their profession is the person 
that comes to work. They can still make the amount of money they're 
ma~ing now We JUSt need them to come to work more." .. 

"It's important for the cornmunity tc understand our position and that 
our hands are tied,' Grace said ·11 will be up to the Fire Department 
or eventually an arbitrator to give us something. All we are doing is 
asking · 

Grace said negotiations will continue and may even go to arbitration in 
the future. where there are no gua1·antees on the outcome 

'If cities like Elyria are to have tu I Hime fire departments, they will 
r1ave to accept changes" he said "They can blame Mayor Grace, but 
Mayor Grace can't print money " 

While Grace said he understands f;refighters work 24-hour shifts, he 
said what cannot be forgotten is the fact that they work 50-11our work 
weeks. wr11ch equates tu two 74-hour shifts and part of another day 
eacr V'<eek. 

"I hey work more hours a week so t1ey should receive more hours of 
paid t1rne off, but not ·1n the way 1t i~. currently set up," he said. 

(Jt Exh B, pp 1-2) 
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27. Mayor Grace testified that the above quotes and statements were not exact. but 
were ·close' and ··the genera! gist' of what he said to the reporter. (T. 163-173, 
178-180) 

:28. The January 15, 201 O newspaper article also attributed the following statement to 
the Mayor: 

Grace said the police contract is not out of line with the rest of the 
work force and that the proposals presented to the fire union are an 
citternpt to bring tt1eir contract in lin•'J with that of police officers[] 

(J: Exi'. B. ~- 2) 

:~9 Mciyor Grace initially testified th<Jt Hie paril'/ goal was "an overall sEintiment" that he 
expressed. ar.d H"at 1t was ·a general reforence to the discussion that. .. there is an 
attempt to get parity." The Mayor later testified that he did not discuss specific 
bargn1ning proposals with the rned1a. and that his statements to the reporter were 
about f'owerPoint slides·· on the Fire Fighters' benefits. (T. 174-177) 

30. Hie January 15. 2010 newspaper ar11cle continued as follows: 

Grace said at the beginning of negotiations the administration and fire 
union would not agree on the rul·~S of negotiating. Without that 
separate contract in place, state bargaining rules came into play 
State rules do not bar public discussion, Grace said. 

(J:FxB,p1) 

'.l 1. After rev1ewrng the January 15. 2010 article, Union President Marks contacted the 
Un•ol'·s legal counsel and req~ested tha:: the bargaining session scheduled for 
January 20 2010 be cancellec:. \ r 40) 

<12. By letter dated January 15, 2010, Union outside legal counsel Ryan Lemmerbrock 
not1!1ed the City's labor representative. Robin L Bell. that the Union believed that 
the Mayor Grace's actions were in violation of R C 4117.21: that they constituted an 
attempt to interfere with, rest'ain. or coerce Union members in the exercise of their 
rights under R.C Chapter 411!; and that they constituted an attempt to circumvent 
the Union's bargaining representatives and negotiate directly with the members in a 
public forum. As a result, the Union cancelled the bargaining meeting scheduled for 
January 20. 2010. Hie notice was faxed to Gell on January 15, 2010. (JI. Exh. C) 
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33. On January 16. 2010. the Chronicle published an article under Ms. Roberson's 
byline titled. "Retirement opens door for E'l'lria firefighter." The article referred to the 
City's bargairnng proposals to Hie Union and read in part as follows 

fhc accumulation of so much vacation holiday, floating holiday and 
sick time 's so1'1e'.hing ti'e mayor is trying to limit by asking the union 
to agrr;e :o reduce the number of days off firefighters receive each 
year !he change. if accepted by the union, will bring the Fire 
Department more 1n line with the amount of time off police officers are 
allowed. Grace said. "While they are taking off sick time during their 
careers. they still have hundreds cf "lours of sick time they are getting 
paid for at the end of their careers amount to thousands of dollars," he 
said "We are asking them to cl1angc this for the sa~:e of the 
department and the city." 

(Jt t:x11 o. po 1 2) 

:34_ Mayor Grace acknowledged reterring to Hl<'~ accumulation of vacation, holiday, and 
sick t 1rne 1n his conversation with Ms. Roberson (T 181·183) 

35. The January 16, 2010 newspaper article' also contained a chart detailing the Fire 
Fighters "current deal" 'or vacation. holi:!ay and personal time. and sick time 
benefits. comparing those benefits to "pror: osed changes" for vacation, holiday and 
personal t1rne. and sick time benefits. and current Police Officer vacation. holiday 
and personal t1rne, and sick time benefits fhe summary of"proposed changes." as 
detailed 1n the article. is identical to the changes proposed by the City in its 
bargaining proposals dated November 23. 2009 (T 43; Jt Exh. IJ. p_ 2) 

36_ Mayor Grace acknowledged that the "Proposed changes" to the Union's CBA. as 
detailed in the article, reflected the same changes proposed by the City in its 
bargaining proposals. (T 184 185) 

37. On January 11. 2010, the Chrorncle published an opinion·editorial titled, "Time for 
change. and subtitled "With tre city's dire finances. firefighters need to convince us 
their overtime is warranted." The DP·ed article chastised the Union for"complaining 
that rlyna Mayo• Bill Grace has gone Jublic with his campaign for contract 
concess1or~s[.j' The article further read in pari as follows. 

The danger gives the city and the union an incentive to get more 
firefighters to come to work. In the absence of more money the only 
way to do 'tis to reduce tl1e cost of employing each one of them. Uh
oh. So rnucr1 for the sl1ared inc~nt1ve. right? Sounds like the 
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firefighters would have to accept pi;1y cuts Remarkably, that's not the 
case The mayor is asking only that firefighters come to work more 
often. not that they take a cu\ in ba:;e pay (Yes, they would sacrifice 
some overtime pay. but that's exactly what the department needs to 
lower its cosis.) Do firefighters work too little now? Well, they get 
39 percent more holidays and personal days than police, 44 percent 
more vacation time and 240 percent more sick time, according to the 
Grace administration's calculation,, 

(Jt [xh E) 

38. W'1en quest1cno::l whether he told the newspaper that he asked the Fire Fighters to 
come to work more often, Mayor Grace ·esponded, "[n]ot in those words." The 
Mayor stated ~e was "comparing a 40 how employee to a 50-hour employee .. and I 
did say you Know, cumulatively we need them to come to work nnore." (T 187) 

39. Mayor Grace testified that he read the articles when they were published: that he 
spoke to the Chronicle reporter on a daily basis. meeting at City Hall and at the 
newspaper. and that although not all of the quoted statements attributed to him 
were accurate. he did not notify the newspaper the Union, or City Council that he 
had been misquoted IT. 197-198. 202-21)3) 

40. According to Union President Marks. mos·!, if not all, of the Union's members read 
the nowspapcJr cirt1cles relatirg to the f''re Fighters' negotiations with the City. 
Mmks began mce1v1ng phone calls from rrembers, questioning Marks as to what 
was go:ng ::m 111 negot1at'cns. Less senior barga1n1ng unit members were asking 
whether the Union would have to accc.,t changes to maintain a full-time Fire 
Department andlor prevent layoffs M:ire senior members were telling the 
negot1at1ng committee not to accept concessions. The membership, as a whole, 
was ask ng for further details about the negotiations. (T 39-40, 43, 48-49) 

41. Union Vice-President Graig Carr:p. a City F'ire Fighter, testified that Fire Fighters at 
the station read the Chronicle articles. Camp stated that many younger Fire 
Fighters were concerned about retaining '·heir Jobs. while some more senior Fire 
F1gl1ters were concerned cibout retaining their benefits, creating friction between the 
two groups on the Un1on·s bargaining stance. (T 102-103) 

42. Sy letter dated January 19, 2010 to the undersigned. the City's representative. Bell, 
a~know:edged receiot of the undersigned's January 15 letter and unfair labor 
vact1ce cha1ge. and asked that the parties schedule a new bargaining session. (Jt. 
F xh f I 
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43. On January 19, 2010, during a regular City Council meeting, Mayor Grace stated 
that ·the last week marked approx:mately the six .. month anniversary of the fire 
audit ·and that' t11e newspaper was asking where [does the City] stand, [and] what 
progress has been made on the subject of the audrt." The Mayor stated that one of 
the subjects of the audit was 'compensation." and that he wanted to "explain this to 
the media, and .. wanted to of course mention this and bring this forward to city 
council. and . the balance of the public. as 1t relates to [compensation]." Mayor 
Crace then began a PowerP01nt prcsontalion comparing the Fire Fighters' vacation. 
holiday. and sick leave benefits to tr.c City's Police Officers' vacation. holiday, and 
srck leave benefits. (Jt Exh G; Jl. Exh. H, at 4:53-5:09, 5 53-1440) 

44. Mayor Grace's Power Point p1 esentation at the City Council meeling set forth the 
specific vacation. holiday. and sick leave lienefits of Elyria Police Officers. then set 
forth the proportional increase in the levE I of those benefits if the Police Officers 
worked a 50-hour workweek rather than a 40· hour workweek. This hypothetical 50-
hour "comparison employee" would receive the following yearly vacation time as 
follows for seniority between 1 and 0 yPars. 100 hours; for seniority between 7 and 
13 years "5() hours for sen1or1ty between 14 and 20 years. 200 hours:: and for 
sen:or ty oi 21 or more years 250 hoc:rs. The comparison employee would receive 
'6 5 Hol1C1ays & f'ersonal1year" and 6.25 sick days/year." (Jt. Exh G, pp. 13-14) 

45. While discussing the PowerPoint slides, Mayor Grace explained that the Fire 
Fighters' time off benefit levels were estalJlished at a time when the Fire Fighters 
worked a 72- hour workweek. I le stated that the Fire Fighters' time off benefits 
should have been reduced when their weekly hours of work were reduced in the 
past He referred to the need for "parity" and a "fair comparison" between the time 
off benefits of Fire Fighters and Police Officers. stating the Fire Fighters' current 
benefit accruals exr:eed thP. '·fair, comparable· revels. (JI. Ex H. time 7:43-14:40; 
Jt. bl' G, pp. 13-14) 

46. L1eute~ant Robert Krugman. a member of the Union's bargaining committee at the 
lime att:cri0ed the January 19 2010 City Council meeting. Lt. Krugman submitted a 
pet1!10" tc speak and stated to City Counjl that the City should just "put the Fire 
l'1gh!e's on a 40 hour workweek." and tr1en the Fire Fighters would be equal to other 
City ernployees (T 93-96; Jt Exh. H. at ~i3 35) 

47. f>y letter dated February 1. 2010. Union counsel Lemmerbrock responded to 
Consultant Bell's letter of ,January 19. 201 O. Mr. Lemmerbrock wrote that the Union 
would not engage in public bargaining. requested that the City execute proposed 
wound rules enclosed with the letter. and asked Ms. Bell contact him to schedule 
dates for bargaining The Un,on wanted to return to the bargaining table, but with 
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the understanding that nothing else would be released to the public. (T. 47; Jt. 
Exh I) 

48. On February 5. 201 O the Chronicle published an article titled, "Elyria fire union files 
complaint against mayor, city" The Febr Jary 5. 2010 newspaper article reads in 
part as follows: 

Grace said he does not believe the charge is warranted. He 
explained that the city and fire union could not agree on the rules for 
negotiating and without that separate agreement he was not 
prohibited from speaking out 

·Clearly I was walking a fine line in the process. but I do not 
c•ow. nor did I then, think I was acting in bad faith," he said. "I 
think 1t is important that the public sees what we are faced with 
1'.l the process 1 he public is calling for change and I merely 
wanted to show the circumstsnces in which we have to operate 
to achieve change." 

(Jt. Exh J. p. 1) 

49. By letter dated February 8. 2010. Consultant Bell advised Union counsel that the 
City would not· return to tr1e negotiation of ground rules," and requested dates for 
scheduling a bargaining sess:on. (Jt Fxh. K) 

50. In a lotter dated February 23, 2010. Union counsel Lemmerbrock wrote to 
Consultant Bell that tho Union was willing lo meet with the City for bargaining if the 
C1;y agreed. in writing. that 1t would ba1ga1n privately, not unilaterally release 
inforrmit1on concerning negotiations, ancJ not attempt to directly deal with the Union 
membership Mr l emmerbrock wrote that if the City would not agree, the parties 
should proceed to fact-finding. (Jt. Exh. L) 

51. In a letter dated Marct1 5, 2010, Ms. Bell responded to Mr Lemmerbrock that the 
Union was conditioning meeting on the erncution of ground rules. Ms. Bell offered 
the Union the options of providing additional dates for bargaining or proceeding to 
fact-finding (Jt Exh. M) 

52. l3y lette: cJated March 10. 2010, Union counsel advised Bell that if the City was 
unw1l'1ng to cornm1t 1n writing not to publ'lcly bargain or engage in direct dealing then 
Iha p«rt1es could proceed to fact-finding. 1Jt t::xh N) 
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53. By letter dated March 15. 2010, Bell notified Union counsel that the City was 
requesting a fact· finding panel from SERB. (Jt Exh. 0) 

JV. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

A. Relevant Cases and Statutes; Burden of Proof 

Section 4117 11 provides in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice fm a public employer, its agents. or 
representatives to: 

( 1) Interfere with. restrain. or coe1·ce employees in the exercise of 
r1gt1ts guaranteed ;n Cr1apter 4117 ... [:] 

(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of its 
ernployees recognized as the exclusive representative••• pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Cod,?[.] 

Io determine whether an employer violated R C. 411711 (A)(1 ). the inquiry must be 
base'1 on ob1ective. ratr.er than subjective criteria•. l_n_c~Pickaway County Human Services 
Dept SEkB 93-001 (3-24-93) affir.ITled ;:l_FRB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 
1995 SERB 4-46 (4 Dist. Ct App, P1cki;way. 12-7-95) It must be determined whether. 
under all the facts and circumstances, one could r3asonably conclude that employees were 
interfered with. restrained. or coerced 1n the exercise of their Chapter 4117 rights by the 
employers conduct. Furthermore the inquiry includes a "thorough review of the 
circui11;;tunces uncJer which the alleger1 misconduct occurred and its likely effect on the 
guaranteed rights of erlployees. 

r r1e acialysis "does not depend on wt1ether the interference, restraint, or coercion 
succeeded or failed. but on whether an ernployer engaged in conduct reasonably tending 
to interfere with the free exercise of en1ployee rigt1ts ·· St::RB v. Harrison Hills City School 
Dist. IM_.off_;cj_. SEF~B 2010-011 (8 12 2010) ("l:i2111son Hills"). To establish a violation of 
R.C. 4117.11 (A)(1 ). lhe Compiainant must demonstrate not only the reasonable tendency 
of the complained action to interfere with. restrain. or coerce employees in exercising their 
rights but that thP 1nterfprencc. restraint. or coercion outweighs any competing legitimate 
managericil 11ght. lcj. A pr;ma fac·10 v1ol;.ition 1s established by "presenting evidence 
suff1c 0 11'. to sustain a 'ind111g that H;c employer more likely than not made communications 
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with employees concerning wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment," 
Id, 

A circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is 
unlawful. LQ_!e Mayfield City School Dist Eld of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89) An employer 
may no+ deal directly with its employees concerning mandatory subjects of bargaining, ill 
re Mento·_i=xcmEtnd VillLlge Schogl_l:Jj,;;J_B_Q_ of Ed_ SERB 89-011 (5-12-89)("Mentor"). To 
establ1sri a violation of R.C 41 1 7 11(A)(5), tho Cornplainant must prove by a 
prepondeca~ce cf '.he evidence that the employer engaged in direct dealing with 
employees Ho'hever. to prove a violation of RC. 411 l 11 (A)(1) in the context of an 
employer's commcrnicat1on witr·, employees durin,~ coi!ective bargaining, the Complainant 
must also provo that tho direct dealing reasonably tended to interfere with, restrain, or 
coerce tt1e free exercise of employee r1ghts guar13nteed by Chapter 4117', Harrison Hills, 
supra 

B. Direct Dealing Case Precedents 

SE:: RB and the courts recognize the irnportant policy considerations that underlie the 
proh1b1tion on direct dealing. By directly dealing with employees and circumventing their 
exclusive representative, an employer ·not only breache[s] the rules and terms of the 
relationship, but also undercu:s the status of t1e exclusive representative, potentially 
impairing the [union] s relationship and effectiveness with the employees it represents" 
Directly dealing with employees "creale[s] dissension ir1 the union's ran~:s. damage[s] its 
relat1onsh1p with Hie employees it 1s representin~J, and put[s] it in a defensive bargaining 
position. V<:JrH:bli<iJ:l1J.tler City Scr10ol Dis_L Bd. o· Ed, v. SERB, 1991SEf~B4-81 (2d Dist. 
Ct. App . Montgomery, 8-15-91 )(citing In re Findl<1_Y.C1ty_§_g_hool Dist. Bd, of Ed,, SERB 88-
006 (5 1 3 85 )(Vandalia-Buller"), Direct dealing i:; "inconsistent with the employer's duty to 
bargain and 1riterferes wrth Hie erriployees' bas11; rights to representation and collective 
barga1n1ng, 1n violation of RC 4117.11(A)(1) and tA)(5), Id. Directly dealing with 
employees, circumvcnt[s] trio employees axiomatic right of union representation, Hamson 
Hrlls, suw_e 

SE::R8 held recently that an employer's general expression of work goals, made to 
employees duMg nenotiat1ons, dicJ not amount to direct dealing. In re City of Cleveland. 
SERB 201 o DOG (3 26 201 Ol In ~_ilY__Qf_<;:levelan_c:I, the employer-mayor held three 
meetings w1\'1 the purpose of tllank1ng employeeo for their hard work during an emergency 
snowstorm. Id in clirect response to questions from employees, the mayor referenced the 
City's w<Jge proposal. the privatization of 1obs, 2'"d encouraged the employees to work 
more eff.cieritly and learn each otrers' jobs in o,·der for him to reinvest money into new 
equiprnen~ Id 
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By contrast. in Meo_ti;i_c. supra_, the em~·loyer sent a memorandum directly to 
bargaining unit employees explaining the status of negotiations, issues agreed upon, 
unresolved issues. and proposals and counterproposals made by each party without 
editorial comment SERB held that the report ~.ent to the bargaining unit constituted a 
circumvention of the exclusive representative 111 the bargaining process 1n violation of 
R.C. 4117 , i (A)(1) and (A)(5) Id 

In '{cind9li_a-Butl~! supra, the employer delivered a letter to all bargaining unit 
members during negotiations for a collective bargaining agreement. The letter summarized 
ongoing negotiations between the employer and the union's bargaining committee. warned 
the union membership that the bargaining rnmm-ttee may not present the employer's last 
best offer. and c<rntioned the union r-ie111bersh1p not to be led into a strike. Id. The letter 
also •nv1tcd u1'1on :nembers to discuss negotiations with the employer. !Q SERB held that 
the employers direct communication with the cn1p•oyees interfered with. restrained, and 
coerced cmp:oyees 111 the exerc'se o' their rights and constituted a refusal to bargain 
collectively v11th tre exclus1vfl represen'ation, in •1iolatron of §§ 4117 11 (J~)(1) and (A)(5). 

In f::l_a_·r1~mn Hills_. ~u_p_r9. the employer posted on its website terms of its proposed 
collective bargaining agreement and a request that the employees vote on a tentative 
agreement or the employers last best otter. SERB held that the posting constituted direct 
commun1catron wrth employees. Id. The emplo·1er circumvented the union's bargaining 
team by directly dealing with the union mcmber:;hip which infringed on the employees' 
right ot union representation in violation of § 4117 .11(A)(1) Id. 

/\ union did not engage in direct deal1r·g when its comments directed at the 
employer occ•Jrred after impasse and did not amount to negotiations. OAP SE, Local 530 v 
SERG. 138 Ohio /\pp. 3d 832 (2000) (lQ.Qal 53Q'). In Local 530, the union president and 
a negot1at1rig tearn me1nber spoke at sd1ool board meetings, during which the two 
disct:ssP-d the negiltive consequences of the school d1stncts subcontracting proposal and 
the poss1b1l1ty of " strike. lQ. They did not make any proposals to the school board 
members. make any specific refere~ces to bar9ain1ng proposals, or make any specific 
references to contract terms. Id at 839. l he court of appeals held that the union members' 
comrnents d1cJ not afT1ount to negotiations since the representatives did not submit any 
offers to the employer and the statements did not negatively affect or disrupt negotiations 
i_cJ_ at 83,J ~~rther tlce cour. noted that public discussion the subcontracting issue was not 
a disclosure of the negotiations proceedings because 1t was a known 'Tialter of public 
concern i_cJ_ at 840. 

Before impasse 1s reached i'l collective bargaining, if the purpose of a 
comrwnicat1on ,snot to mform the employer about the status of the labor relationship but 
rather is des.gned to affect ttiat relationship, then that communication is tantamount to 
bypassing tee designated bargaining represen'.at1ve. In re lnt'I Assn. of Firefighters, 
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Local 1267 SERB 2006009 (10-20-2006) ('Local 1267'). In Local 1267, the union 
president sent a letter to the city council to rcaue!;t a meeting to discuss strengthening the 
commun1cat1on between the union and ernploye·, to discuss pending grievances, and to 
discuss the unresolved collective bargaining agreement. [cl The letter read that if a private 
meet rg was •10t able to be arranged Hien the union members would attend the next city 
council meet;ng. IQ. The union members attended the next city council meeting and 
requested the enactment of legislation that wou d further their cause. ~~- None of these 
comrnun1cat1ons was first solicited by the employer Id_ SERB found the union's direct 
requests to the legislative body for action to rise to the level of direct dealing. JQ_ 

C. Newspaper Articles are Hearsay 

Respondents argue that the newspaper articles quoting and paraphrasing Mayor 
Graco <.Fe 11ears;iy and that hearsay evidence cannot be used to form the basis for a 
finding of an unfair labor practice. The Ohio Admi 0.istrative Code addresses the application 
of rules of evidence 1n quas1-1ud1cial proceedings :iefore SERB. Ohio Administrative Code 
Rule 411 7-7 05 provides 1n percinent part as follows 

(f\) In cor1ducting hearings under section 411712 of the Revised Code, the 
board a board member. or an administrative law 1udge assigned to hearthe 
case shall not be bound by the rules of evidence prevailing in the courts but 
rnay take into accoun\ all reliable evidence tending to prove the existence or 
nonexistence ot an unfo1r labor practice 

Newspaper anicles arc hearsay ~l<ite v~_()_IJ 6/9 N.E. 2d 1173, 1177 (Ohio 1996). 
The purpose of oxc:Lld1ng hearsay is to avoid Hm introduction of statements that could be 
unrel1abie because the declarant 1s unavailable for cross examination. JQ Accordingly, 
newspaper articles <Jre general1y inadrr11ss1ble as they do not fall within any of the statutory 
exceptions Id Following suit, the Board of Tax Appeals ("STA") acted to exclude hearsay 
evidence from an administrative hearing due t1J the legitimate concern of journalistic 
puffery Leroy Jenkins E::v9ngel_i?~_A§~_r1. v. Joall!rnnc_e. 2000 WL 1727432. '4 (2000). The 
BTA noted that 1t gave the bearsay evidence ·r.o weight" 1n its decision since 1t had not 
been corrobcratecJ IJy any direct evicience !_c! Ti1e B !A's approach to hearsay evidence 
mirro1s SERR s. 'iearsay evidence. while 1t rnay be admitted at a hearing. is not sufficient 
to support a: nding d fact U'1less it •s corioborated by other, non-hearsay, evidence. 

Although administrative agencies are given leeway in applying the hearsay rule. the 
agency must support its decision with "reliable, probative. and substantial evidence." H.K 
Trading v Oh_1_o_~~o_r___(;ontrQl_C_om111. 2010 Ohi;i-913. ~39 (10th Ct. App.). Further, the 
agency should not Del upon evidence thut is not adrn1ssible or competent. !_c:I. at~ 41 
(emphasis added). l"el1able. the quai1fier used in §4117-7-05, has been defined by the 
Ohio Supreme Court as' [d]ependab1e· that is. 1t can be confidently trusted. In order to be 
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reliable. there must be a reasonable probability that the evidence is true." Id. In H.K. 
Trading a decision of Hie Liquor Control Commission was overturned because a 
substantial portion of tr1e evidence relied upon was hearsay, even though prior stipulated 
offenses were on Hie record. lg_. at im 41-45. 

D. The Respondents Did Not Commit an Unfair Labor Practice Under 
Chapter 4117 of the Ohio Revised Codi~. 

Neither Comola1nant nor the Union called the author of the newspaper articles as a 
witness cit till: hcaririg, oind Hie newspaper articlE-s do not fall into any of the exceptions to 
the rewsay rule. n1e newspaper articles provide the majority of the evidence of alleged 
direct dealing invo~v1ng specific bargaining proposals. Srnce the Complainant failed to offer 
first-hand testimony reg;irding the statements in the ar11cle. only the statements the Mayor 
admitted to at hearing should be conside,ed as evidence of the alleged direct dealing. 
Although 1t 1s true thcit the Ohio Administrative Code a!lows SERB discretion to admit 
hearsay evidence case law cautions that administrative bodies should not act solely on 
inadmissible or incompetent evidence. t:LJ$-'_Jradinq Ctr , Inc. v. Ohio Liquor Control 
Comm_ 201 O Ohio-913 1'] 41 (Ohio App. 10 Dist.). Since the evidence is hearsay, it is 
unverifiable by itsPlf Because the stotemcnts the Mayor allegedly made to the newspaper 
reporter. as attrrbuted to him in the articles. were not test1f1ed to by the repor1er herself at 
the hearrng, the compr:tence of the alleged statements as evidence was not established. 
Further_ O!'iio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-05 allows SERB discretion in admitting 
hearsay evidence If hearsay evidence is dPemeci unreliable. then it falls outside the scope 
of §4117 7 05 As such newspaper evidence shJuld not be dispositive of an unfair labor 
practice and only trie evidence testified to iP the h"arrng should be considered. Overall, the 
statements thP Mayor conceded to at the he<:Hin~J do not rise to the level of direct dealing 
as proti1tiited by§ 411 I 11 cf the Oh:c Revised Code The statements do not contravene 
the polices tr1at underlie the ban on direct dealing, nor do the statements amount to an 
attemp'. to negotiate directly w1tri rep:esented ernp1,cyees 

1 he cewspaper articles at issue were not directly distributed by the employer in its 
official capacity to the employees, in contrast with the communications in !farrison Hills and 
Vandal11l_:_Butler Respondents did not publish the communications and ensure that they 
were delivered to the employees. Instead the oirt1·~les were drafted by a person unaffiliated 
with employer and d1strrbuted for anyone to read The author could have written the articles 
from any angle The City had no control over the contents of the articles This case is vastly 
different from the 1nsta11cos in wh1cr1 an employer or its agents intended to directly 
communicate w1tt1 employees by prov1d1ng the m3terial 1n print, electronic or verbal form 

In l_Qcoi_1__11_Ej7, the communication expressly asked for a meeting between the 
barg«1ning ur·it and the employer, or else threatened action by the bargaining unit In 
Hamson Hills the employer expressly requested that the employees vote on its last best 
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offer In Var1_d_<,il1a-Butler, the employer directly 21ppealed to the employees to not go on 
strike In the case at hand_ the only comparable remark would be the statements attributed 
to the Mayor about tt1e need for Frrc f'rghtcrs to come to work more (T.187) The exact 
wordr~g of this statement is disputed but even read rn the light most favorable to the 
Complainant it does not rise to tho level of d reel negotiations with employees. The 
expression of the need for employees to be at work more was a general statement about 
goals and public policy, not <J direct. specific 1·equ'3St for action or an offer of any type. This 
situation is s11nrlar to that addressed in City of Clev.~ia_ocj in which the employer did not 
commit an unfair labor practice by making general statements directly to employees, 
encouraging thern to learn each others JObs ancl to work more efficiently In the case at 
hand Mayor Grace drd not even speak directly to employees_ Further, whatever 
statements the Mayor did make were solicited fmrn r1in1 by the reporter. He did not seek 
out the pubi1cat1on ot his statements_ 

The statements adrnitted to by Mayor Grace do not contravene the policies that 
underlie the ban on direct dealing. See Vai:i:t@.l~a_-Jl_\!_tl_e_r In his testimony at hearing, Mayor 
Grace conceded :hat tho newspaper articles co11veyed his general sentiment about the 
need fo' ·parity_" (T_ 176) Mayor Grace later testified that he did not make the verbatim 
statefl"ents referenced rn the January 15, 2010 article. but rather that he discussed the 
PowerPornt slides wrth the reporier. Cf 174-177) He said that he referenced the 
accumulation ot vaciltion, holiday, and sick time. and admitted that he made a statement to 
the effect th<it the Fire Fighters needed to come to work more often_ (T. 181-183) He also 
testified that he compared 40-hour ernployeer; to 50-hour employe1~s. and that he 
discussed tho McGrath report and •he financial consequences of the Gurrent contract. 
(T_ 187. 199) Such statements do not amount to specific bargaining proposals. The 
references to parity merely represent the employer's overarching goals_ The references to 
the accumulation of vacation, holid<iy, and sick time are matters of public record and 
knowledge. and ttie same goes for the r1ypothetical 50-hour employee comparison. the 
McGrath Report. and all matters cancer ning the r;urrent contracts. The McGrath Report 
and the Crty's collective bargarnrng ag'eements v-.ith ali employee organizations within the 
City arc public record_ 

c;eneral d1scussron of overarching bargaining goals and matters of public record do 
not constitute direct dealing_ Unlike the communications in Vandalia-Butler and Mentor, no 
evidence was presented that suggested t'1at Mayor Grace discussed the employee 
organrzatron s pos:tion on or reaction to any matter. The overarching goal of the City to 
reduce paid ti:ne oft was well--known :n light of the McGrath Report: therefore, the Mayor's 
public discussion of !hrs goal should not be of such surprise as to be the proximate cause 
of the alleged dissension between more- and less-senior bargaininf1-unit members. 
Add1t1onaliy, the City and the Union had no baroarnrng ground rules in place regarding 
public communrcatrons. The media is involved in -:fie affairs of a public employer to such a 
degree that news coverage over matters that could possibly affect the public employees is 
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inevitable Sirnilcic to the subcontracting at issce 1n Local 530, the subject of the Fire 
Fighters leave benetits was a known matter of public affairs. The Union President and Vice 
President reoortcd an increase in phone call~. auost1ons, and direct input from the 
barga1ning-un1t rriembers directly to the negot1at1ng committee. The response of 
bargaining unit rnernhers was no more disruptivo than would be expected in the normal 
course of n1edia coverage of a public employer. One could easily imagine the same 
reaction to a news article on anticipated budget ·:uts by a city. 

T ne Mayor's statements do not amount to direct dealing because they do not 
amount 10 an Jttern:Jt !o bypass the exclusive ro•presentat1ve and negotiate directly with 
employees S_e~ ~oc.al .. 1 :Z.2L ~UQr.§. Hie testimony at the hearing does not support a 
finding l"at the Mayor discussed the spccif;c bargain'ng proposals and counterproposals of 
either pa1ty MenLor. §uprn. Rather tho rnatlers Jiscussed were known matters of public 
affairs. The s1aten'ents in the newspaper articles are different from communications 
directly delivered to employees as a result of offic1cil action on behalf of the employer 
Neither Mayor Grace nor other City representatives rssued official press releases or 
appealed to t'le employees via letter or email or on tt1e City's website ;2ee Harrison Hills 
and Vandalia-Butler. su.pgi_. The statements in the newspaper articles did not seek the 
partic1pat1on of the employees by directly appealing to them to act in any way. The 
statements do not constitute oiers to the emplo:1ees. 

At the City CoJncil meeting the Mayor did not discuss specific bargaining proposals 
or counter proposals of either party, unlike the cornrnun1cations in Mentor and Vandalia
Butler supra_ nie general se~timents and facts and figures expressed by the Mayor do not 
amount to srec•frc l!argain1ng proposals, although they may allow a person to glean what 
some cf the proposals might be. lurther it is a so important that statements about the 
employee organization's bargaining positions wer•C? not attributed to the Mayor These types 
of statements would be rnore likely to unde1mine rhe union negotiating team's relationship 
with its members Statements about the goal of parity and factual information about the 
current benefit levels of various groups of employees are not specific bargaining proposals. 
Further. lrke the public statements made in L.ocal 530, the statements made by the Mayor 
were generally ot public concern and public record 

8ecause the statements made by the Mayor do not constitute prohibited direct 
dealing with tho c1nployees rGpresented by the Union. Respondents did not violate 
§§ 4117 11(Ai(1) or (A)(5). 

V, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

The Elyria f'ire Fighters, Local 474, IAF~ is an "employee organi.rntion" as 
defined by § 4117 01 (D) 
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2. The City of Elyria is a "public employer" as defined by§ 4117 01(B). 

3. Respondents did not violate §§4117.1'(A)(1) and (A)(5) because their 
<Jct1ons did not rise to the level of direct dealing as prohibited by 
Chapter 4117 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon the foregoing. the following i:; respectfully recommended that: 

1. l he State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board di:;miss the unfair labor practice charge and 
complaint, with pre1udice. 
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Case No. 2010-ULP-08-0333 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

<.fl 

Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Spada, and Board Member Brundige: June 16, 

On August 30, 2010, Rootstown Education Association ("Charging Party" or 
"Intervenor") filed an unfair labor practice charge against Rootstown Local School 
District Board of Education ("Charged Party" or "the School District"), alleging that the 
School District violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by 
unilaterally implementing a salary freeze and by refusing to bargain in good faith. On 
November 19, 2010, the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 
"Complainant") determined that probable cause existed to believe that Charged Party 
violated 0.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to maintain the status quo during 
negotiations when it implemented a salary freeze, authorized the issuance of a 
complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. 

On December 7, 2010, a Complaint was issued. On December 10, 2010, a 
motion to intervene was filed by Charging Party. The motion to intervene was granted. 
On December 13, 2010, an Answer to the Complaint was filed by the School District. 
On February 8, 2011, an evidentiary hearing was held. The parties filed post-hearing 
briefs. On March 8, 2011, the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order was issued, 
recommending the Board find that the School District did not violate O.R.C 
§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing to maintain the status quo during negotiations 
when it implemented a salary freeze. 

-
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On March 29, 2011, Intervenor filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On 
March 31, 2011, Counsel for Complainant filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On 
April 8, 2011, Respondent filed a response to the exceptions to the Proposed Order. 

After reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, Complaint, Answer, Joint 
Stipulations, Proposed Order, exceptions, response to exceptions, and all other filings in 
this case, the Board amends Joint Stipulations of Fact No. 13 to read: 

"At the meeting, the School District passed Resolution 2010-08-34 
freezing "the movement and placement of administrative, teaching and 
non-teaching employees on the relevant salary/wage schedules applicable 
to the administrative, teaching and non-teaching employees of the Board," 
effective with the start of the 2010-2011 school year (July 1, 2010), at the 
levels received by the employees during the 2009-2010 school year."; 

amends Conclusion of Law No. 3 to read: "The School District violated Ohio 
Revised Code §§ 4117. 11 (A)(5), but not (A)(1 ), when it unilaterally instituted a wage 
and step freeze for the 2010-2011 school year."; 

and adopts Joint Stipulations of Fact Nos. 1 through 12, 14, 15, and 16, as 
amended, Additional Findings of Fact Nos. 18 and 20, and Conclusions of Law and 
Joint Stipulations of Fact, as amended, in the Proposed Order, finding that the School 
District violated Ohio Revised Code§ 4117.11(A)(5), but not (A)(1), when it unilaterally 
instituted a wage and step freeze for the 2010-2011 school year. 

Respondent Rootstown Local School District Board of Education is hereby 
ordered to take the following actions: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST,FROM: 

Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by unilaterally changing a term of the contract during 
negotiations that affected the wages of bargaining-unit members by 
refusing to award step increases under the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117.11(A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Grant step increases to all eligible bargaining-unit members 
retroactive to dates such raises should have been received; 
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(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Rootstown 
Education Association, OEA/NEA work, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Rootstown Local School District Board of Education shall cease 
and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) therein and shall 
take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B) therein; and 

(3) Notify the Board via electronic mail within 20 calendar days from 
the date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken 
to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

Zimpher, Chair; SPADA, Vice Chair; and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, concur. 

foe. ' -;;z ~ 
W.CRAIG~ER,~~ 

TIME AND Mi;THOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.13(D) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 1zlh 
Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-
07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 

this ']th day of July, 2011. 

General/06-16-11 02 
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State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Rootstown Local School District Board of Education, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2010-ULP-08-0333 

OPINION 

ZIMPHER, Chair: 

This unfair labor practice" case comes before the State Employment Relations 

Board ("the Board," "Complainant," or "SERB") upon the issuance of the Administrative 

Law Judge's Proposed Order, the filing of exceptions to the Proposed Order by both 

Intervenor, Rootstown Education Association, OEA/NEA ("the Union"), formerly known 

as the Rootstown Teachers Association, and Counsel for Complainant, and the filing of 

a response to the exceptions by Respondent, Rootstown School District Board of 

Education ("Respondent" or "the School District"). The issue to be decided is whether 

Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by 

unilaterally instituting a wage and step freeze for the 2010-2011 school year. For the 

reasons set forth below, we find that Respondent violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5), but 

not (A)(1 ), when it unilaterally instituted a wage and step freeze for the 2010-2011 

school year prior to exhausting the dispute resolution procedure for a successor 

agreement. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

The material facts in this case are not in dispute. The Union and the School 

District are parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA") effective by its terms 

from August 1, 2007 through July 31, 2010. The CBA contains a grievance-arbitration 

procedure that culminates in final and binding arbitration. The Union is the deemed

certified bargaining representative for employees identified in Article 1, Section A of the 

CBA. 

The CBA required, and the bargaining-unit employees always received, 

automatic annual step increases pursuant to the salary schedule and procedure 

contained in Articles 25 and 26 of the CBA. Since the expiration of the CBA, the parties 

substantially complied with the provisions of the expired agreement, except for the step 

and education increases. 

On February 25, 2010, the Union filed a Notice to Negotiate with the School 

District. The parties began negotiations for a successor CBA on or about April 27, 

2010. 

The School District presented the Union with its initial proposals, which included 

a proposal to maintain the base salary in existence for the previous 2009-201 O school 

year, eliminate step increment movement for the 2010-2011 school year, but permit 

salary schedule movement for additional educational training for the 2010-2011 school 

year. This proposal was rejected by the Union on May 13, 2010. The School District 

resubmitted that proposal as a counterproposal on June 14, 2010. 

On August 13, 2010, the School District's Legal Counsel verbally notified the 

Union's Chief Negotiator Anne Thomas that the School District intended to pass a 

resolution on August 16, 2010, to freeze the bargaining-unit members' salaries at the 

2009-2010 levels. On August 16, 2010, prior to the scheduled School District meeting, 

the Union delivered a letter to Superintendent Andrew Hawkins demanding that the 

School District cease and desist from unilaterally freezing the bargaining-unit members' 

salaries. At the scheduled meeting later that day, Respondent passed Resolution 2010-

08-34 freezing "the movement and placement of administrative, teaching and non

teaching employees on the relevant salary/wage schedules applicable to the 
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administrative, teaching and non-teaching employees of the board." The freeze was 

effective with the start of the 2010-2011 school year (July 1, 2010) at the levels received 

by the employees during the 2009-2010 school year. 

At the time the School District passed Resolution 2010-08-34 on August 16, 

2010, the parties had not reached a successor agreement and had not reached ultimate 

impasse. The parties continued to conduct negotiations after the passage of 

Resolution 2010-08-34 by meeting for approximately three negotiating sessions after 

Respondent acted to unilaterally to freeze the salary and steps, with the last session 

taking place in early November 2010. 

II. DISCUSSION 

Respondent is alleged to have violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5), 

which state in relevant part as follows: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise 
of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code or an 
employee organization in the selection of its representative for the 
purposes of collective bargaining or the adjustment of grievances. 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative or certified 
pursuant to Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code; 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the Respondent has committed an unfair labor practice. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.12(B)(3). Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the 

circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSU!SEIU, AFL-C/O, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). The 

duty to bargain does not compel either party to agree to a proposal or require either 

party to make a concession, pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01(G). A circumvention of the 

duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield City 

Schoo/ Dist Bd of Ed., SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 
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In the present case, Respondent is alleged to have engaged in bad-faith 

bargaining in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it failed to maintain 

the status quo ante during negotiations for a successor collective bargaining agreement 

with the Union. Respondent and the Administrative Law Judge assigned to this case 

recommend that SERB modify established legal precedent relating to the status quo 

ante because of the economic challenges facing many public entities in the State of 

Ohio, including Respondent, and ultimately find that Respondent did not violate O.R.C. 

§§ 4117. 11 (A)(1) or (A)(5) when it unilaterally instituted a wage and step freeze prior to 

exhausting the dispute resolution procedure for a successor agreement. 

For the reasons that follow, we decline to alter the established legal precedent 

relating to the status quo ante rule and, instead, will continue to follow such legal 

precedent, including but not limited to, that set forth in In re Cuyahoga County Commrs., 

SERB 89-006 (3-15-89); In re University of Cincinnati, SERB 93-007 (5-13-93); In re 

City of Circleville, SERB 2005-007 (10-5-2005); In re Crestline Exempted Village School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2006-003 (3-21-2006); In re City of Reynoldsburg, SERB 2010-

003 (3-30-2010); and In re Clark County Bd of Developmental Disabilities, SERB 2010-

014 (8-19-2010). 

We begin our analysis with a review of several significant SERB opinions 

regarding the status quo ante rule. In In re Crestline Exempted Village School Dist Bd 

of Ed, SERB 2006-003 (3-21-2006) ("Crestline"), SERB addressed a fact pattern 

essentially identical to the one presented in this case, specifically, the failure of the 

Crestline School Board to honor the status quo ante regarding step increases during 

negotiations for a successor CBA. In Crestline, SERB began by distinguishing the facts 

it was considering from those of State ex rel. Boggs v. Springfield Local School Dist. Bd. 

of Edn. (1998), 82 Ohio St.3d 222, 1998-0hio-249. "The record does not support a 

finding that the Employer has manifested a similar intention to no longer be bound by 

the terms of the expired agreement. Instead, the Employer continued to honor most of 

the terms of the expired CSA expect for several about which grievances were filed and 

with regard to the step increases contained in the salary index incorporated into the 

CSA. Thus, we are not presented with a Boggs scenario." SERB then concluded: "We 

find that when the Employer unilaterally changed a term or condition of employment by 
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refusing to award step increases under the collective bargaining agreement, which 

directly affected the wages of bargaining-unit members, the Employer committed an 

unfair labor practice in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5)." 

In Crestline, SERB cited In, re Cuyahoga County Commrs., SERB 89-006 (3-15-

89), which provides the rationale for the status quo ante rule: 

Freezing the status quo ante after a collective bargaining agreement has 
expired promotes industrial peace by fastening a non-coercive 
atmosphere that is conducive to serious negotiations on a new contract. 
Thus, an employer's failure to honor the terms and conditions of an 
expired collective bargaining agreement pending negotiations on a new 
agreement constitutes bad faith bargaining. [Citing Laborers Health & 
Welfare Trust v. Advanced Lightweight Concrete, 779 F. 2d 497 (9th Cir. 
1985); NLRB v. Haberman Construction Co., 618 F. 2d 288, 105 LRRM 
2059 (5th Cir. [NLRB] 1980); and NLRB v. Katz 369 U.S. 736, 82 S.Ct. 
1107, 8 LEd(2d) 230, 50 LRRM 2177 (1962)] 

Prior to Crestline, SERB noted in In re University of Cincinnati, SERB 93-007 (5-

13-93) the following regarding the impact of the expiration of a parties' contract on their 

negotiations for a successor agreement: "It is a well-established principle of collective 

bargaining law that even after 'contract expiration, parties can change employment 

terms only through mutual agreement or, if ultimate impasse is reached, through the 

employer's implementation of its last best offer." (Citing NLRB v. Katz, supra) 

In In re City of Circleville, SERB 2005-007 (10-5-2005), SERB provided 

additional guidance regarding the status quo ante rule. "The status quo ante includes 

carryover of all prior contract provisions in an expired contract because O.R.C. 

Chapter 4117, unlike most other labor statutes, requires bargaining over the 'deletion of 

an existing provision of a collective bargaining agreement.' O.R.C. § 4117.01(G). 

Thus, a contract provision such as the one at issue, stating that the contract is 

'exhausted' on its expiration date unless the contract is extended by mutual agreement, 

does not affect or operate to waive the separate status quo ante rule." 

In In re City of Reynoldsburg, SERB 2010-003 (3-30-2010), SERB provided 

guidance regarding the effect of an established pattern or practice on the status quo 

ante rule. "When annual changes to a condition of employment are part of an 
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established pattern or practice, the existence of such changes is, in fact, part of the 

current situation." Therefore, as part of the current situation, annual changes to a 

condition of employment, such as wage increases, must be maintained under the status 

quo ante rule. 

In In re Clark County Bd of Developmental Disabilities, 2010-014 (8-19-2010), 

SERB considered a situation involving the status quo of an annual wage increase where 

the amount varied from year-to-year. "The mere fact that the amount of the annual 

increase varies somewhat from year to year is without consequence." (Emphasis 

added). In that case, SERB found that there was an established pattern of granting a 

wage increase that included an identifiable fixed factor, which was timing. As a result, 

the employer was obligated to continue to award increases until the parties either 

reached a successor agreement or ultimate impasse. "Ultimate impasse" had already 

been defined as the point at which good-faith negotiations toward reaching an 

agreement had been exhausted. In re Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 

90-003 (2-9-90) ("Vandalia-Butler'), aff'd sub nom. Vandalia-Butler City School Dist Bd 

of Ed. v. SERB, 1990 SERB 4-90 (CP, Montgomery, 10-1-90), aff'd 1991 SERB 4-81 

(2d Dist Ct App, Montgomery, 8-15-91). 

In the case before us, the evidence established that the parties' CBA required, 

and the bargaining-unit members always received, automatic annual step increases 

pursuant to the salary schedule and procedure contained in Articles 25 and 26 of the 

CBA In accordance with the established legal precedent cited, supra, step increases 

for years of service and education are annual changes of employment that are part of 

an established pattern or practice agreed to by both parties in their CBA. The annual 

increases are part of the current situation, and as such, they must be maintained under 

the status quo ante rule until the parties reach a successor agreement or until ultimate 

impasse. 

The record reflects that since the expiration of the parties' CBA, the parties have 

complied with the provisions of the expired agreement, except for the step and 

education increases. There is no dispute that, on August 16, 2010, while the parties 

were still engaged in negotiations for a successor CBA, Respondent passed 

Resolution 2010-08-34 unilaterally instituting a wage and step freeze for the 2010-2011 
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school year. There is no dispute that Respondent had not made a last, best, and final 

offer to the Union, nor had the parties reached ultimate impasse when Respondent 

passed Resolution 2010-08-34 on August 16, 2010. Moreover, the evidence reflects 

that the parties continued to conduct negotiations after Respondent passed 

Resolution 2010-08-34 by meeting for approximately three negotiating sessions. 

Therefore, under the holding in Crestline, as well as in the line of SERB opinions 

cited above, we find that Respondent violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5) when it 

unilaterally instituted a wage and step freeze during negotiations prior to exhausting the 

dispute resolution procedure for a successor agreement. With respect to the alleged 

0. R. C. § 4117 .11 (A)(1) violation, we note that prior to 2009 SERB considered violations 

of other O.R.C. § 4117.11(A) sections to carry a "derivative" violation of O.R.C. 

§ 4117.11 (A)(1 ). See, e.g., In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 

(6-25-93). 

The derivative-violation practice was abandoned in In re Tuscarawas Twp Bd of 

Trustees, SERB 2009-001 (8-31-2009) at 3-8, wherein SERB stated: 

In addition, we must address the finding of derivative violations 
since it was mentioned in the Administrative Law Judge's Proposed Order. 
In In re Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 268, SERB 93-013 (6-25-93), 
at n.14, the Board stated that a violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) is a 
derivative violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5); the Board also stated that a 
violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(1) was not a derivative violation of other 
violations of O.R.C. §4117.11(B). This approach appears to hold that 
each subsection of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A) or (B) does not stand on its own, 
which is contrary to the expressed language and purpose of O.R.C. 
Chapter 4117. Therefore, we now expressly reject the previous practice 
concerning so-called derivative violations in favor of review of each 
individual charge. 

Accordingly, while the evidence clearly established that Respondent's actions in 

this case violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5), we must consider as a separate issue 

whether Respondent's actions violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). When a violation of 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an objective one rather 

than a subjective one. In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-

24-93), affd sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (41
h 
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Dist. Ct. App., Pickaway, 12-7-95). A violation will be found if, under the totality of the 

circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the employees were interfered with, 

restrained, or coerced in the exercise of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by the public 

employer's conduct. In re Hamilton County Sheriff, SERB 98-002 (1-23-98), affd sub 

nom. Hamilton County Sheriffv. SERB, No. A98-00714 (Mag. Dec., CP Hamilton, 10-9-

98), aff'd No. C-990040 (1st Dist Ct App, Hamilton, 8-27-99). In considering the totality 

of the circumstances presented in this case, we find that Respondent's actions did not 

interfere with, restrain, or coerce bargaining-unit employees in the exercise of their 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

We now turn to Respondent's argument that it did not have the duty to maintain 

the status quo ante until the parties reached a successor agreement or until ultimate 

impasse. First, Respondent argued in its post-hearing brief and its response to 

exceptions to the Proposed Order that it had statutory authority to implement a 

unilateral uniform wage reduction pursuant to O.R.C. Chapter 3319, most particularly, 

O.R.C. § 3319.12. 

Respondent's assertion is without merit. 0.R.C. § 4117.1 O(A) unequivocally 

states that O.R.C. Chapter 4117 prevails over any and all other conflicting laws except 

as otherwise specified by the Ohio General Assembly. In State ex rel. Parsons v. 

Fleming (1994), 68 Ohio St.3d 509, 513, 628 N.E.2d 1337, the Ohio Supreme Court 

stated: "Except for laws specifically exempted, the provisions of a collective bargaining 

agreement entered into pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4117 prevail over conflicting laws." 

Therefore, since there is no preemption language contained in the sections of O.R.C. 

Chapter 3319 cited by Respondent and since O.R.C. § 4117.08 mandates that the 

continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective bargaining 

agreement is subject to collective bargaining, Respondent was obligated to continue its 

annual step increase during negotiations for a successor agreement until the parties 

reached a successor agreement or ultimate impasse. 

Respondent also argues in its exceptions to the Proposed Order that SERB 

should consider whether "exigent circumstances" were present when Respondent acted 

to unilaterally freeze the salary and steps of bargaining-unit members. We disagree. 

The principle of "exigent circumstances" within the context of O.R.C. Chapter 4117 is 
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set forth in In re Toledo City School Dist Bd. of Ed. SERB 2001-005 (10-1-01). In that 

case, SERB determined that the presence of "exigent circumstances," which may allow 

for the unilateral modification of a collective bargaining agreement, is only applicable to 

situations that involve mid-term bargaining. "A party cannot modify an existing 

collective bargaining agreement without the negotiation by and agreement of both 

parties unless immediate action is required due to (1) exigent circumstances that were 

unforeseen at the time of negotiations[.]" Therefore, since the matter before us does 

not involve mid-term bargaining, the "exigent circumstances" principle is not applicable. 

Finally, we address two arguments put forth by the Administrative Law Judge in 

her Proposed Order. First, the Administrative Law Judge argues that freezing employee 

salaries at the rate paid the last year of the expired contract does maintain the status 

quo ante, and second, she argues that the current legal precedent and governing 

statutes could result in Respondent being tied to an expired contract whose terms could 

continue for ad infinitum. 

With regard to the status quo ante rule, we note that the parties' CBA, the 

testimony presented, and applicable legal precedent plainly establish that the status quo 

ante is to grant annual step increases pursuant to the salary schedule and procedure 

contained in parties' expired agreement. This situation is evidenced by the fact that 

Respondent had to pass a resolution to institute a wage and step freeze for the 2010-

2011 school year. Respondent has absolutely no discretion in the matter according to 

the terms of the contract. A wage freeze deviates from the specific terms of the salary 

schedule and from the established practice and custom of granting annual step 

increases. See In re In re Cuyahoga County Commrs. SERB 89-006 (3-15-89); In re 

City of Circleville. SERB 2005-007 (10-5-2005); In re Crestline Exempted Village School 

Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2006-003 (3-21-2006); and In re City of Reynoldsburg, SERB 

2010-003 (3-30-10). 

Additionally, we note that case law has established the fact that the percentage 

of annual step increases are not fixed for each year of a three-year contract is without 

significance when determining the status quo ante. See In re Clark County Bd of 

Developmental Disabilities, SERB 2010-014 (8-19-2010), supra. In this case, according 

to Articles 25 and 26 of the parties' expired CBA, the amount of the base salary would 
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be fixed at $32,795.00, with a 2.9% annual percentage increase, until such time as the 

parties reached a successor agreement or ultimate impasse. 

With regard to the Administrative Law Judge's concern that Respondent could be 

tied to an expired contract whose terms could continue ad infinitum, it is well established 

that the status quo ante period exists only until ultimate impasse is reached, and that 

ultimate impasse is reached under Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-9-02(E) when 

the statutory dispute resolution procedures or a mutually agreed upon dispute resolution 

procedure is exhausted. Thus, Respondent was under no obligation to maintain the 

status quo ad infinitum. 

The testimony and evidence in the record establish that Respondent failed to 

honor an express term of the parties' expired collective bargaining agreement prior to 

exhausting the dispute resolution procedure for a successor agreement. 

Ill.REMEDY 

Based upon the foregoing, an Order with a Notice to Employees should be 

issued ordering the Rootstown School District Board of Education to do the following: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its 
employees by unilaterally changing a term of the contract during 
negotiations that affected the wages of bargaining-unit members by 
refusing to ward step increases under the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code 
§ 4117.11(A)(5). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Grant step increases to all eligible bargaining-unit members 
retroactive to dates such raises should have been received; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Rootstown 
Education Association, OEA/NEA work, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that 
Rootstown School District Board of Education shall cease and 
desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 
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(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board via electronic mail 
within 20 calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of 
the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, we find that the Respondent, Rootstown School 

District Board of Education violated Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11 (A)(5), but not (A)(1 ), 

when it unilaterally instituted a wage and step freeze for the 2010-2011 school year 

prior to exhausting the dispute resolution procedure for a successor agreement. An 

Order with a Notice to Employees shall be issued to the School District ordering it to 

cease-and-desist from refusing to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative 

of its employees by unilaterally changing a term of the contract during negotiations that 

affected the wages of bargaining-unit members by refusing to ward step increases 

under the Collective Bargaining Agreement, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised 

Code§ 4117.11(A)(5); and ordering it to take the following affirmative action: (1) grant 

step increases to all eligible bargaining-unit members retroactive to dates such raises 

should have been received; (2) post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting 

locations where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Rootstown Education 

Association, OEA/NEA work, the Notice to Employees furnished by the Board stating 

that the School District Board of Education shall cease and desist from actions set forth 

in paragraph (A) therein and shall take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B) 

therein; and (3) notify the Board via electronic mail within 20 calendar days from the 

date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

Spada. Vice Chair, and Brundige, Board Member. concur. 
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Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Spada, and Board Member Brundige: June 30, 

On September 1, 2010, the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association ("Charging 
Party" or "Intervenor") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the Respondent, City 
of Munroe Falls ("Respondent"), alleging that Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code 
("0.R.C.") §§ 4117. 11(A)(1), (A)(3), and (A)(5). On October 14, 2010, the State 
Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or "Complainant") determined that probable 
cause existed to believe that the City had committed or was committing unfair labor 
practices in violation of O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5), but not (A)(3), authorized 
the issuance of a Complaint, and referred the matter to an expedited hearing. 

On November 3, 2010, a Complaint was issued. On December 21, 2010, the 
parties submitted joint stipulations of fact and joint exhibits in lieu of evidentiary hearing. 
Subsequently, all parties filed briefs setting forth their legal arguments. On February 3, 
2011, the Board construed the joint stipulations of fact as a joint motion and transferred 
the case from the Hearings Section to the Board for a decision on the merits. 

After reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, Complaint, Answer, Joint 
Stipulations, Proposed Order, exceptions, response to exceptions, and all other filings in 
this case, the Board issues a Board Opinion, incorporated by reference, with supporting 
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, finding that Respondent violated Ohio 
Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it failed to maintain the status quo and 
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unilaterally implemented terms and conditions of employment for the Full-Time 
Sergeant without bargaining to ultimate impasse. 

Respondent City of Munroe Falls is hereby ordered to take the following actions 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter4117, and from refusing 
to bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its employees, 
by failing to maintain the status quo and by unilaterally implementing 
terms and conditions of employment for the bargaining-unit employee 
without bargaining to ultimate impasse, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code§§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Return to the status quo ante, including providing equitable relief to 
the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association and its bargaining
unit member for any losses sustained as a result of the unilaterally
implemented changes, and bargain in good faith with the Ohio 
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association toward a successor CSA; 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio 
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association work, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
City of Munroe Falls shall cease and desist from actions set forth in 
paragraph (A) therein and shall take the affirmative action set forth 
in paragraph (B) therein; and 

(3) Notify the Board via electronic mail within 20 calendar days from 
the date the Order becomes final of the steps that have been taken 
to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

Zimpher, Chair; SPADA, Vice Chair; and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, concur. 

},,_/ c z .. ( 
iW&fA1GzltiP~ • 
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TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117 .13(0) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 1 z!h 
Floor, Columbus. Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-
07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 

this \ ?>~ day of July, 2011. 

General/06-30-11.02 



N 0 TICE TO 
EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDE~ OF THE STATE EMPLOYMENT 
RELATIONS BOARD, AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After the parties submitted joint stipulations of fact and joint exhibits in lieu of an evidentiary 
hearing, the State Employment Relations Board has determined that we have violated the 
law and has ordered us to post this Notice_ We. Respondent City of Munroe Falls, intend 
to carry out the Order of the State Employment Relations Board and to abide by the 
following 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, and from refusing to 
bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its employees, by 
fading to maintain the status quo and by unilaterally implementing terms and 
conditions of employment for the bargaining-unit employee without 
bargaining to ultimate impasse, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised 
Code §§ 4117 11(A)(1) and (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

( 1) Return to the status quo ante, including providing equitable relief to 
the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association and its bargaining-unit 
member for any losses sustained as a result of the unilaterally-
1mplemented changes, and bargain 1n good faith with the Ohio 
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association toward a successor CBA, 

(2) Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining-unit employees represented by the Ohio Patrolman's 
Benevolent Association work, the Notice to Employees furnished by 
the State Employment Relations Board stating that the City of Munroe 
Falls shall cease and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) 
therein and sha!J take the affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B) 
therein; and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board via electronic mail 
within 20 calendar days from the date the Order becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. City of Munroe Falls, Case No. 2010-ULP-09-0338 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 

This Notice must remain posted for sixty consecutive days from the date of posting and must not be 
altered, defaced or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this Notice or 
compliance with its prov1s1ons may be directed to the State Employment Relations Board 
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OPINION 

SPADA, Vice Chair: 

On September 1, 2010, the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association ("the 

OPBA") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of Munroe Falls ("the City"), 

alleging that the City violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.RC.") §§4117.11(A)(1), (A)(3), 

and (A)(5). On October 14, 2010, the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" or 

"Complainant") determined that probable cause existed to believe that the City had 

committed or was committing unfair labor practices in violation of O.R.C. 

§§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5), but not (A)(3), authorized the issuance of a Complaint, and 

referred the matter to hearing. On November 3, 2010, a Complaint was issued. On 

November 10, 2010, the OPBA filed a Motion to Intervene, which was granted in 

accordance with Rule 4117-1-07(A). 

On December 21, 2010, the parties submitted joint stipulations of fact and JOint 

exhibits in lieu of evidentiary hearing. Subsequently, all parties filed briefs setting forth 

their legal arguments. On February 3, 2011, the Board construed the joint stipulations 

of fact as a joint motion and transferred the case from the Hearings Section to the Board 

for a decision on the merits. 

For the reasons below, we find that the City violated 0. RC. §§ 4117 .11 (A)(1) 

and (A)(5) by failing to maintain the status quo and by unilaterally implementing terms 
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and conditions of employment for the Full-Time Sergeant without bargaining to ultimate 

impasse. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT1 

1. The City of Munroe Falls is a "public employer" as defined in § 4117.01 (B). 

(S.) 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee 

organization" as defined in § 4117.01(D), and is the Board-certified bargaining 

representative for the City's Police Sergeant bargaining unit (S.) 

3. The OPBA was first certified as the exclusive bargaining representative for 

a bargaining unit of "Full-Time Sergeants" on August 22, 1991. The OPBA was again 

certified as the exclusive bargaining representative on April 29, 2004, pursuant to a 

Petition for Amendment of Certification that the City did not oppose. In 1991, the 

bargaining unit had two members. Since 2004, the unit has consisted of only one 

member; currently, Sergeant David Smith is the only member of the bargaining unit. 

(S.; Exhs. 1, 2) 

4. The applicable collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") between the City 

and the OPBA was dated April 1, 2007 to March 31, 2010. (S.; Exh. 3) 

5. On November 23, 2009, the OPBA timely notified the City, pursuant to 

Article 30 of the CBA, that the OPBA intended to negotiate a successor agreement. (S.; 

Exh. 4) 

6. On December 17, 2009, the City's Law Director acknowledged the 

OPBA's notice and encouraged the OPBA to provide an outline of the issues to be 

addressed by all three OPBA bargaining units in the City in the upcoming negotiations. 

(S.: Exh. 5) 

1 References in the record to the Joint Stipulations of Fact filed by the parties are 
indicated parenthetically by "S." References to the Joint Exhibits in the record are 1nd1cated 
parenthetically by "Exh.," followed by the exhibit number(s). References to the record are 
intended for convenience only and are not intended to suggest that such references are the sole 
support in the record for the related Finding of Fact ("F.F."). 
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7. On March 11, 2010, the OPBA and the City met for the purposes of 

negotiating successor CBAs for all three OPBA bargaining units, including the 

sergeant's bargaining unit. (S.) 

8. On March 12, 2010, the OPBA filed a Notice to Negotiate a successor to 

the CBA covering the sergeant's unit. (S.; SERB Case No. 2010-MED-03-0300; Exh. 6) 

9. On April 15, 2010, the OPBA and the City bargained to impasse for all 

three bargaining units, including the sergeant's unit. (S.) 

10. On April 20, 2010, the OPBA wrote to SERB and requested a separate 

panel of fact finders for each set of negotiations. (S.; Exh. 8) 

11. On April 27, 2010, SERB sent a list of fact finders to the parties. (S.; Case 

No. 201 O-MED-03-0300; Exh. 9) 

12. On May 5, 2010, the City Law Director notified SERB and the OPBA that 

the City would not be selecting a fact finder for the sergeant's bargaining unit as the City 

was not willing to recognize a single-member unit for collective bargaining purposes. 

(S.; Exh. 10) 

13. After May 5, 2010, the City and the OPBA mutually selected fact-finder 

Virginia Wallace-Curry to serve as neutral for the fact-finding in Case No. 201 O-MED-

03-0300 (S.) 

14. On May 7, 2010, the OPBA notified SERB of the parties' mutual selection 

of Ms. Wallace-Curry to serve as fact finder in Case No. 2010-MED-03-0300. (S.; 

Exh. 11) 

15. On August 30, 2010, the City Law Director notified fact-finder Wallace-

Curry that "the City of Munroe Falls has informed the OPBA that it does not intend to 

recognize the Police Sergeants Bargaining Unit as it is now a single member unit[.]" (S.; 

Exh. 13) 

16 The parties did not proceed to fact finding, as the City refuses to recognize 

Sergeant Smith's single-member bargaining unit. (S.) 

17. On August 27, 2010, the City passed Resolution #16-2010 setting forth 

the rate of pay for Police Sergeant contrary to the terms of the expired CBA. (S.; 

Exh. 12) 
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18. Beginning in September 2010, the City has refused to consider the merits 

of several grievances filed by Sergeant Smith for alleged violations of the CBA, 

including grievances concerning holiday pay and health insurance premium 

contribution (S.) 

II. DISCUSSION 

At issue is whether the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) by failing 

to negotiate a collective bargaining agreement with a bargaining unit consisting of only 

one employee. 0. R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) state in relevant part as follows 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its agents, 
or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 
of rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[;] 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of his 

employees recognized as the exclusive representative * * * pursuant to 
Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code[.] 

The Complainant has the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the Respondent has committed an unfair tabor practice. O.R.C. 

§ 4117.12(B)(3). Good-faith bargaining is determined by the totality of the 

circumstances In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, AFL-CIO, SERB 96-004 (4-8-96). A 

circumvention of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In 

re Mayfield City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89); NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 

736, 82 S.Ct. 1107 (1962). 

After a collective bargaining agreement expires, parties to that agreement can 

change terms and conditions of employment only through mutual agreement or if 

ultimate impasse is reached. In re City of Circleville, SERB 2005-007 (10-5-2005) 

("Circleville"). A unilateral change to the status quo ante is a violation of law because 

terms and conditions of employment continue in effect until the parties reach "ultimate 

impasse." Id. The status quo ante is a middle period between official contract 

expiration and the exhaustion of the dispute settlement procedures under O.R.C. 
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§ 4117 14 or an alternative, mutually agreed-upon dispute resolution procedure. The 

status quo ante includes carryover of all prior provisions in an expired agreement 

because O.R.C. § 4117.01(G) requires bargaining over the continuation, modification, 

or deletion of a contract term. Circleville, supra. 

It is well established that the obligation of maintaining the status quo ante does 

not end until ultimate impasse is reached. Id. Ultimate impasse cannot occur until such 

time as the parties have at the least exhausted either ( 1) the statutory dispute resolution 

procedures under O.R.C. § 4117.14 or (2) their own mutually agreed upon dispute 

resolution procedure. In re Columbus, SERB 85-004 (2-6-85). 

Ultimate impasse did not occur in this case. The parties stipulated that the City 

refused to go to fact-finding. (F.F. 17) It is undisputed that, after the expiration of the 

CBA on March 31, 2010, the City made unilateral changes to the status quo ante. The 

City passed Resolution #16-2010 setting forth the rate of pay for Police Sergeant. 

Resolution #16-2010 sets forth terms and conditions of employment that conflict with 

the terms of the CBA. (F.F. 18. Exh. 12) Consequently, the evidence supports a finding 

that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(5) by refusing to bargain and by failing to 

maintain the status quo ante following the expiration of the CBA. 

The City defends its refusal to bargain by arguing that the plain language of 

O.R.C. Chapter 4117 provides only for collective bargaining units containing more than 

one employee. According to the City, upon reading the text of the statute, the only 

reasonable conclusion that one can reach is that the statute is intended to provide 

protections only to those individuals engaged in group activity, meaning that single

member units are not protected by Ohio law. O.R.C. § 4117.03 grants public 

employees the right to engage in "concerted activities for the purpose of collective 

bargaining" and to "bargain collectively" with their employers. O.R.C. § 4117.04(A) 

refers to bargaining units comprised of "employees," not the singular "employee." 

The City argues that a review of the words used in O.R.C. §§ 4117 03 and 

4117.04 reveals that the text relates only to actions taken by more than one person 

The City cites decisions from other states and the National Labor Relations Board 

("NLRB") that hold that single-member bargaining units are not appropriate and will not 
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be recognized and urges that SERB find these decisions persuasive. The arguments 

the City presents are the same arguments that SERB considered and rejected in In re 

City of Wauseon, SERB 88-019 (12-23-88) ("Wauseon"). 

In Wauseon, SERB addressed, and overruled, the employer's objections to an 

employee organization's Petition for Representation Election seeking to represent a 

proposed bargaining unit consisting of one full-time police sergeant. SERB recognized: 

The National Labor Relations Act and the collective bargaining laws of 
numerous other states contain language similar to O.R.C. Chapter 4117 in 
many areas, including representation and unit design. However, the 
statute of no other jurisdiction contains the restriction on police unit 
structure set forth in O.R.C. §4117.06(0)(6). That provision requires that: 

With respect to members of a police department, [the Board 
shall not] designate as appropriate a unit that includes rank 
and file members of the department with members who are 
of the rank of sergeant or above. 

Wauseon, supra at 3-114 (emphasis in original). 

Because O.R C. § 4117.06(0)(6) precluded the City of Wauseon's only police 

sergeant from being included in the bargaining unit of rank and file officers, SERB went 

on to hold that the proposed single-member bargaining unit was permissible: 

Thus, where there is no other possible unit configuration, where the 
employee seeks representation by an established employee organization 
that also represents other units in collective bargaining, and where no 
harmful effects to the Employer's efficiency or structure are demonstrated, 
this Board will find single-employee units are appropriate. 

Wauseon, supra at 3-116 (emphasis added). 

Several years after SERB decided Wauseon, the New York Public Employment 

Relations Board ("NY PERB") considered whether a bargaining unit could be comprised 

of a single police sergeant in Town of Crawford Police Benevolent Ass'n v. Town of 

Crawford (February 29, 2000), 33 Off Dec. of NY. Pub. Employ. Rel. Bd. '11 3008 

("Crawford') NY PERB found that "collective bargaining presupposes that there is 
'J 

more than one eligible person." Id. While New York's bargaining Jaw does not contain 
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a provision analogous to O.R.C. § 4117.06(0), other factors made the inclusion of the 

Town of Crawford's police sergeant with rank and file officers inappropriate. In contrast 

to SERB's analysis in Wauseon, however, the fact that the sergeant did not fit into any 

other bargaining unit did not affect NY PERB's analysis: "That our determination leaves 

the sergeant unrepresented does not warrant a contrary finding." Crawford, supra. 

In addition to citing Wauseon, Complainant argues that the single-member status 

of the bargaining unit does not relieve the City of its obligation to bargain with the OPBA 

for the following reasons: (1) the law of this state, specifically O.R.C. § 4117 04(B), 

requires bargaining with the representative of employees recognized as the exclusive 

representative or certified pursuant to O.R.C. Chapter 4117, without qualification or 

reservation regarding the size of the bargaining unit; and (2) it is SERB, and not the 

public employer, who has exclusive jurisdiction under O.RC. § 4117.06 to determine 

the unit appropriate for collective bargaining. 

O.R.C. § 4117.04(B) provides that "[a] public employer shall bargain collectively 

with an exclusive representative designated under section 4117.05 of the Revised Code 

for purposes of Chapter 4117." No statutory provision exempts from collective 

bargaining public employers faced with the prospect of negotiating with the exclusive 

representative of a single-member unit. No statutory provision automatically eliminates 

a Board-certified exclusive representative in the event its membership declines to one 

person. O.R.C. § 4117.04(B)'s bargaining obligation deals specifically with the public 

employer and the exclusive representative of its public employees, and does not 

consider the number of employees in the unit. 

Under O.R.C. § 4117.06, SERB has exclusive jurisdiction to determine the unit 

appropriate for collective bargaining. Exercising its exclusive jurisdiction, SERB 

decided in both 1991 and 2004 that the bargaining unit of "Ali Full-Time Sergeants" was 

appropriate for collective bargaining. Wauseon stands for the proposition that the 

single-member bargaining unit is appropriate under the particular circumstances of that 

case, which are mirrored by the ones in this case. Sergeant Smith is represented by an 

established employee organization that also represents other City units in collective 

bargaining, and the City has not argued that it has been impacted by harmful effects to 
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its efficiency or structure. By refusing to negotiate with the Board-certified exclusive 

representative, the City has violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5). 

Accordingly, while the evidence clearly established that the City's actions in this 

case violated O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5), we must consider as a separate issue whether 

the City's actions violated 0 RC. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). When a violation of 0. RC. 

§ 4117.11 (A)(1) is alleged, the appropriate inquiry is an objective one rather than a 

subjective one. In re Pickaway County Human Services Dept., SERB 93-001 (3-24-93), 

aff'd sub nom. SERB v. Pickaway Human Services Dept., 1995 SERB 4-46 (41
h Dist. Ct 

App., Pickaway, 12-7-95). A violation will be found if, under the totality of the 

circumstances, it can be reasonably concluded that the employees were interfered with, 

restrained, or coerced in the exercise of their O.R.C. Chapter 4117 rights by the public 

employer's conduct In re Hamilton County Sheriff, SERB 98-002 (1-23-98), aff'd sub 

nom. Hamilton County Sheriff v. SERB, No. A98-00714 (Mag. Dec, CP Hamilton, 10-9-

98), aff'd No. C-990040 (1'1 Dist Ct App, Hamilton, 8-27-99). 

The OPBA was first certified as the exclusive bargaining representative for a 

bargaining unit of "Full-Time Sergeants" on August 22, 1991. The OPBA was again 

certified as the exclusive bargaining representative on April 29, 2004, pursuant to a 

Petition for Amendment of Certification that the City did not oppose. In 1991, the 

bargaining unit had two members. Since 2004, the unit has consisted of only one 

member. The City, by exercising its right to fill or not fill a vacant position in the 

bargaining unit, has essentially created the one-person bargaining unit. The City has 

refused to consider the merits of several grievances filed by the bargaining-unit member 

for alleged violations of the CBA, including grievances concerning holiday pay and 

health insurance premium contribution. 

In State Emp Relations Bd. v. Miami Univ. (1994), 71 Ohio St3d 351, 1994-

0hio-189, 1995 SERB 4-1, the Ohio Supreme Court held that an Ohio public employer 

may not unilaterally withdraw recognition of and/or refuse to bargain collectively with an 

incumbent union, despite any good faith doubt the employer may have concerning the 

union's continuing majority status. In discussing the public employer's responsibilities 

under O.R.C. Chapter4117, the Court stated: "The duty to bargain with an exclusive 
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representative continues so long as the representative maintains its exclusive status. 

Once certified, the representative's exclusive status is maintained until the 

representative is displaced in accordance with the procedures set forth in 

R.C. 4117.07." 

The OPBA is still the Board-certified exclusive representative of the bargaining 

unit The City's refusal to recognize the existing Board-certified exclusive 

representative, under the totality of the circumstances presented in this case, interferes 

with, restrains, or coerces the bargaining-unit employee in violation of O.R.C. 

§4117.11(A)(1). 

While Ohio's Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act has similarities with 

the National Labor Relations Act and other states like New York on provisions regarding 

bargaining-unit composition, Ohio has not enacted a statutory provision prohibiting one

person bargaining units. Further, such units are not our preference. In this case, a 

larger unit was originally certified by SERB but was reduced to only one person through 

attrition and the City's decision to not hire employees to fill vacancies. Whether we will 

certify a one-person unit under an initial representation petition is not automatic, 

especially if the employee could be included in a larger bargaining unit under O.R.C. 

§ 4117.06; likewise, it is not a question we can reach herein. 

Ill.REMEDY 

Based upon the foregoing, an order with a Notice to Employees should be issued 

ordering the City of Munroe Falls to do the following: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 and refusing to 
bargain collectively with the exclusive representative of its employees by 
implementing terms and conditions of employment contradictory to the 
terms of the expired CBA without bargaining to ultimate impasse, and from 
otherwise violating Ohio Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5). 
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B. Take the following affirmative action: 

(1) Return to the status quo ante, including providing equitable relief to 
the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association and its bargaining
unit member for any losses sustained as a result of the unilaterally
implemented changes, and bargain in good faith with the Ohio 
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association toward a successor CBA; 

(2) Post for 60 consecutive calendar days in all the usual and 
customary posting locations where bargaining-unit employees 
represented by the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association work, 
the Notice to Employees furnished by the State Employment 
Relations Board stating that the City of Munroe Falls shall cease 
and desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the 
affirmative action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within 
20 calendar days from the date the ORDER becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Munroe Falls is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. 

§4117.01(B). 

2. The Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association is an "employee 

organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). 

3. The City of Munroe Falls violated O.R.C. §§4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5) 

when it refused to recognize or negotiate with the Board-certified exclusive 

representative by failing to maintain the status quo and by unilaterally implementing 

terms and conditions of employment for the bargaining-unit employee without 

bargaining to ultimate impasse. 

V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons stated above, we find that the City of Munroe Falls violated Ohio 

Revised Code §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it failed to maintain the status quo and 

unilaterally implemented terms and conditions of employment for the Full-Time 

Sergeant without bargaining to ultimate impasse. A cease-and-desist order with a 

Notice to Employees shall be issued to the City ordering it to (1) return to the status quo 
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ante, including providing equitable relief to the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association 

and its bargaining-unit member for any losses sustained as a result of the unilaterally

implemented changes, and bargain in good faith with the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent 

Association toward a successor CBA; (2) post for 60 consecutive calendar days in all 

the usual and customary posting locations where bargaining-unit employees 

represented by the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association work, the Notice to 

Employees furnished by the Board stating that the City of Munroe Falls shall cease and 

desist from actions set forth in paragraph (A), and shall take the affirmative action set 

forth in paragraph (B), of the Notice to Employees; and (3) notify the Board in writing 

within 20 calendar days from the date the order becomes final of the steps that have 

been taken to comply therewith. 

Zimpher, Chair, and Brundige, Board Member, concur. 
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In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823, et al., 

Respondents. 

Case Nos. 201 O-ULP-09-0365 through 201O-ULP-09-0374 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Spada, and Board Member Brundige: 
November 17, 2011. 

On September 13, 2010, the City of Urbana ("City'') filed unfair labor practice 
charges against the Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823, et al. 
("Respondents" or "Union"). On December 2, 2010, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("Board," or "Complainant") determined that probable cause existed to believe 
that Respondents had committed or were committing unfair labor practices in violation 
of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11(B)(3), authorized the issuance of a 
complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. 

On December 16, 2010, a complaint was issued. In lieu of an evidentiary 
hearing, the parties agreed to submit proposed stipulations of fact, joint exhibits, and 
legal briefs on March 14, 2011. The parties further agreed to submit the record directly 
to the Board for a decision on the merits. On March 17, 2011, the Board issued a 
Directive transferring the case from the Hearings Section to the Board. 

On June 16, 2011, the Board issued a Directive ordering the parties to appear for 
an evidentiary hearing to take testimony and evidence regarding the issue of whether 
the bargaining-unit members who circulated a petition seeking to amend the City of 
Urbana's Charter regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions of 
employment were acting as agents of the Union. The evidentiary hearing before the full 
Board was held on August 4, 2011. 

After reviewing the unfair labor practice charges, complaint, answer, proposed 
joint stipulations of fact, legal briefs, testimony, and documentary evidence, and all other 
filings in this case, the Board issues a Board Opinion, incorporated by reference, with 
supporting Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, finding that Respondent Urbana 
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Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823 did not violate Ohio Revised Code § 
4117.11 (B)(3) when it circulated a petition seeking to amend the City of Urbana's 
Charter regarding wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment. 

It is so ordered. 

ZIMPHER, Chair; SPADA, Vice Chair; and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, concur. 

~Z·y<__ 
W. CRAIG ZIMPHER, :t~ """"' 

TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.13(D) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must also 
be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 1 zlh Floor, 
Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 
this /?"'- day of November, 2011. 

ERIN E. CONN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823, et al., 

Respondents. 

Case Nos. 2010-ULP-09-0365 through 2010-ULP-09-0374 

OPINION 

ZIMPHER, Chair: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("Board," 
"Complainant," or "SERB") upon the City of Urbana's ("City" or "Employer") unfair labor 
practice charges filed against the Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823, et 
al. ("Respondents" or "Union"), alleging violations of Ohio Revised Code ("0.R.C.") §§ 
4117.11 (B)(2) and (B)(3). On December 2, 2010, the Board determined that probable 
cause existed to believe that Respondents had committed unfair labor practices in 
violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(3) but not (B)(2), authorized the issuance of a 
complaint, and referred the matter to an evidentiary hearing before an administrative 
law judge. In lieu of an evidentiary hearing, the parties agreed to submit proposed 
stipulations of fact, joint exhibits, and their respective legal briefs on March 14, 2011. 
The parties further agreed to submit the record directly to the Board for a decision on 
the merits. 

Upon review of the information submitted by the parties, the Board determined 
that further information was needed. Accordingly, the Board issued a Directive on June 
16, 2011, directing the parties to appear for an evidentiary hearing to take testimony 
and evidence regarding the issue of whether the bargaining-unit members who 
circulated a petition seeking to amend the City of Urbana's Charter regarding wages, 
hours and other terms and conditions of employment were acting as agents of the 
Union. The evidentiary hearing was held before the full Board on August 4, 2011. 
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For the reasons that follow, we find that Respondents did not violate O.R.C. § 
4117.11 (B)(3) when it circulated a petition seeking to amend the City of Urbana's 
Charter regarding wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The City of Urbana ("Employer" or "City") is a charter municipality with home-rule 
authority as provided by the Ohio Constitution. 

2. The City is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(B). 

3. The Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823 ("Union" or "Respondent') 
is an "employee organization as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(D) and is the deemed
certified exclusive representative for a bargaining unit of the Employer's firefighters. The 
Union is also the Board-certified bargaining representative for the Employer's Fire 
Department employees who are captains. 

4. During all times relevant to this case, Christopher Jones, David M. Torsell, John 
D. Dale, Phillip D. Kellenberger, Dean Douglas Edwards, Christopher Logan, 
Christopher W. Massie, Mark E. Keller, and James R. Lyons ("Respondents" or 
"Charged Parties") were employed by the City of Urbana, were public employees 
pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.01 (C), and were members of IAFF Local 1823. 

5. All charges regarding Captain David M. Torsell were withdrawn and he is no 
longer a party to this unfair labor practice charge. 

6. During all times relevant to this case, Bruce Evilsizor has been employed by the 
City of Urbana as Director of Administration. Mr. Evilsizor presented testimony at the 
August 4, 2010 evidentiary hearing. 

7. On September 13, 2010, the City of Urbana filed ten unfair labor practice charges 
with SERB, pursuant to and in accordance with O.R.C. § 4117.12(B) and O.A.C. Rule 
4117-7-01. 

8. On December 2, 2010, SERB determined that probable cause existed for 
believing that the Union committed or was committing unfair labor practices, 
consolidated the individual unfair labor practice charges, authorized the issuance of a 
complaint, and referred the matter to hearing. 
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9. In lieu of an evidentiary hearing, the parties agreed to submit proposed joint 
stipulations of fact, joint exhibits, and their respective legal briefs on March 14, 2011. 
The parties further agreed to submit the record directly to the Board for a decision on 
the merits. The record was developed further via an evidentiary hearing held on August 
4, 2011. 

10. The City and the Union are parties to a current collective bargaining agreement 
("CBA"), effective from November 15, 2008 through November 14, 2011. The CBA 
contains a grievance-arbitration process that culminates in binding arbitration. 

11. The City and the Union have not negotiated a successor agreement. 

12. Article 3 of the parties' CBA sets forth a Management Rights clause that 
specifically reserves as exclusive management rights, inter alia, the right to determine 
the size and duties of the work force, staffing patterns, and to discontinue any 
department or division. 

13. In early 2010, the City conducted Labor/Management meetings with the 
exclusive representatives of the City's bargaining-unit members to address the City's 
budget shortfall. The City sought wage and benefit concessions of 10% from each of its 
divisions during the first six month period of 2010. 

14. On June 16, 2010 and July 8, 2010, Labor/Management meetings were held to 
address the budget reduction process for the second six month period (August 2010 
through January 2011 ), which involved IAAFF labor units working under the anticipated 
layoff notice issued by the City in December 2009. 

15. On July 12, 2010, Bruce Evilsizor issued a Memorandum concerning: "Budget 
Reduction Process for 2nd Six Month Period (August 201 O through January 2011 )." The 
memorandum was issued to "Firefighters c/o Jason Croker" and "Fire Captains, IAFF 
c/o Mark Keller." 

16. The July 12, 2010 Memorandum was a follow-up to the Labor/Management 
meetings of June 16, 2010 and July 8, 2010, and it set forth a timeline for 
implementation of the continued 10% budget reduction, including the layoffs within the 
IAAFF labor units. 

17. During all times relevant to this case, Jason Croker has been President of 
Firefighters IAFF Local 1823. In 2010, Mr. Croker formed a committee named the 
"Firefighters Charter Amendment Committee." The Firefighters Charter Amendment 
Committee was funded by the International Association of Firefighters in the amount of 
$2,887.55. The Firefighters Charter Amendment Committee sought to circulate a 
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petition to place on the November 2010 ballot an amendment to the City of Urbana's 
Charter that would require the City to establish a Fire Division to provide fire, 
emergency, medical, and rescue services and to "be the sole and exclusive, publicly
funded enterprise providing these services." The amendment would also have required 
the City to: (1) employ no fewer than twenty-three employees; (2) employ all as full-time 
employees; and (3) fill vacancies within ninety days. 

18. Approximately two weeks after the June 16, 2010 Labor/Management meeting 
with IAFF Local 1823, eight of the bargaining-unit members listed in paragraph 4 wore 
Union t-shirts while circulating the Firefighters Charter Amendment Committee's petition 
to amend the City's Charter to require the City to establish a Fire Division to provide fire, 
emergency, medical, and rescue services and to "be the sole and exclusive, publicly
funded enterprise providing these services." The amendment would also require the 
City to: (1) employ no fewer than twenty-three employees; (2) employ all as full-time 
employees; and (3) fill vacancies within ninety days. 

19. The petition circulated by Respondents was successful and the proposed Charter 
Amendment was placed on the ballot for the November 2010 election. The amendment 
did not pass. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The issue in this case is whether Respondents violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(3). 
Specifically, the Union is alleged to have circumvented its duty to bargain in good faith 
through the actions of Union members who circulated a petition to place on the 
November 2010 ballot an amendment to the City of Urbana's Charter regarding wages, 
hours, and other terms and conditions of employment, thereby bypassing the public 
employer's designated bargaining representative. O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(3) provides, in 
pertinent part: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee organization, 
its agents, or representatives, or public employees to: 
• • • 
(3) Refuse to bargain collectively with a public employer if 
the employee organization is recognized as the exclusive 
representative or certified as the exclusive representative of 
public employees in a bargaining unit. 
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The principal purpose of O.R.C. Chapter 4117, and therefore SERB, as the 
administrative and adjudicatory body created under said chapter, is to promote "orderly 
and constructive relationships between all public employers and their employees." See 
O.R.C. § 4117.22. In light of this statutory mission, it is particularly incumbent upon 
SERB to protect vigilantly the lines of communication contemplated by the collective 
bargaining process described in O.R.C. Chapter 4117. Attempts to shortcut these lines 
not only contravene the duty to bargain in good faith, they undermine the very principles 
upon which the collective bargaining process is founded. In re International Assn of 
Firefighters, Local 1267, SERB 2006-009 (10-20-2006). 

Good faith bargaining is determined on a case-by-case basis by the totality of the 
circumstances. In re Dist 1199/HCSSUISEIU, SERB 96-04 (4-8-96). A circumvention 
of the duty to bargain, regardless of subjective good faith, is unlawful. In re Mayfield 
City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 89-033 (12-20-89). 

As a threshold matter, we must determine whether the Union members who 
committed the alleged misconduct were acting as agents of the Union since a union 
does not manifest itself through the actions of all its members per se, but only those 
employees who are acting as agents of the union within the scope of their authority. See 
In re Harrison Hills Teachers Ass'n, SERB 2010-007 (3-31-2010), and Kitchen Fresh, 
Inc., 716 F.2d 351, 355 (61

h Cir. 1983). In Kitchen Fresh, Inc., the court determined that 
in order to find that an employee is acting as an agent of a union, a party must show 
that the union actually "instigated, authorized, solicited, ratified, condoned or adopted" 
the employee's actions or statements. See also, Kux Mfg. v. NLRB, 890 F.2d, 804, 809 
(61h Cir. 1989). 

The testimony and evidence presented before the Board established that certain 
Union members circulated a petition to amend the City's Charter to permanently add, 
inter alia, a minimum manning provision for firefighters. The testimony and evidence 
further established that the Union members who circulated the petition to amend the 
City's Charter did so under the encouragement of IAFF Local 1823 Union President 
Jason Croker, who organized and actively participated in the efforts by the firefighters to 
amend the City's Charter. The evidence also established that, in early 2010, the City 
held a number of labor/management meetings with representatives of the City's 
bargaining-unit members to address a budget shortfall. The City sought wage and 
benefit concessions of 10 percent from each of its divisions. During the budget 
reduction process, Mr. Croker established the "Firefighters Charter Amendment 
Committee." The sole funding source for the committee was the International 
Association of Firefighters. On June 10, 2010, the City and the Union held a 
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labor/management meeting wherein the City notified the Union that layoffs within the 
firefighter bargaining units would proceed as announced in the City's December 2009 
layoff notice. Approximately two weeks after the June 10, 2010 labor/management 
meeting, eight Union members wearing Union t-shirts individually circulated the 
Firefighters Charter Amendment Committee's petition to amend the City's Charter. As 
President of IAFF Local 1823, Mr. Crocker provided support for the petition to amend 
the City's Charter by writing a letter to the Editor of the Urbana Daily Citizen, by 
providing statements for an article regarding the amendment that appeared in the 
Springfield News-Sun, and by establishing a webpage encouraging voters to vote in 
favor of the amendment put forth by the Firefighters Charter Amendment Committee. 

We find that the aforementioned evidence is more than sufficient to establish 
that the Union instigated, authorized, and condoned the actions of its members in the 
circulation of the petition to amend the City's Charter; therefore, the record supports the 
conclusion that these employees were acting as agents of the Union. Having 
established that Union members were acting as agents of the Union when they 
circulated the petition to amend the City Charter, we must now consider the alleged 
violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(3). 

As previously noted, the unfair labor practice charge in this case involves the 
Union's attempt to change the parties' existing CBA during the term of the agreement by 
circulating a petition to amend the City's Charter to permanently add, inter alia, a 
minimum manning provision for firefighters. A review of Article 3 of the parties' CBA 
reveals that this agreement clearly states that the City has the exclusive right to 
determine the size of the work force. 

As noted above, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 generally provides for the 
duty to bargain before implementing change to an existing collective bargaining 
agreement. However, SERB has recognized that parties to an existing collective 
bargaining agreement must be able to respond to particular situations that arise during 
the term of the agreement. In In re Toledo City School Dist Bd of Ed, SERB 2001-005 
(9-20-2001) ("In re Toledo"), SERB held that a party cannot modify an existing collective 
bargaining agreement without agreement of both parties unless immediate action is 
required due to "exigent circumstances" that were unforeseen at the time or legislative 
action by a "higher-level legislative body" after the agreement became effective that 
requires a change to conform to the statute. [Emphasis added.] 

Although the Union's proposed amendment to the City's Charter was 
disapproved by the electorate, we find the mid-term bargaining standard set forth in In 
re Toledo helpful in determining whether the Union's actions with respect to the 
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circulation of the petition to amend the City's Charter violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(3). 
The specific component of the In re Toledo standard relevant to this case is the 
legislative action taken by a "higher-level legislative body" after a CBA becomes 
effective that requires a change to the CBA to conform. 

SERB defined the term ''higher-level legislative body" in In re Cincinnati, SERB 
2005-006 (9-8-2005) ("In re Cincinnati'). In that case, Cincinnati's City Council placed 
an emergency ordinance amending the City's Charter with respect to a certain 
promotional process on an upcoming ballot to be voted on by the City's electors. The 
City also was attempting to remove a number of positions that had been placed in the 
classified service by the City Charter. SERB found that the voters of the City of 
Cincinnati constituted a "higher-level legislative body" under In re Toledo. SERB 
therefore concluded that the City did not have to bargain with the Union over the 
changes to the established promotional process. SERB reasoned as follows: 

When the voters decide an issue at the ballot box, they are 
acting as a 'higher-level legislative authority' to the City 
under the second exception to the bargaining requirement 
set forth in Toledo. Id. 

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeals reversed the Court of Common 
Pleas of Hamilton County, which had reversed SERB's Order. In upholding SERB's 
Order, the Court of Appeals stated that "if the citizens of Cincinnati, in passing a charter 
amendment, are not a 'higher-level legislative authority' then any charter amendment 
could never affect future collective bargaining. On its face, that is impossible - both the 
city and any union could simply ignore the charter, which is the highest authority in city 
governance." State Emp. Relations Bd. v. Queen City Lodge No. 69 Fraternal Order of 
Police, 174 Ohio App.3d 570, 2007-0hio-5741 

As previously noted, the issue in this case is whether the Union violated O.R.C. § 
4117.11 (B)(3) by circulating a petition seeking to amend the City Charter regarding 
wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment, thereby bypassing the 
Employers' bargaining representative. Therefore, our focus is on the Union's actions in 
initiating the Charter amendment process. 

In In re Cincinnati, SERB determined that although the City Council voted to 
authorize the placing of the Charter amendment on the ballot, it was not the City Council 
that enacted the change. Instead, the electorate was responsible for the change. In In re 
Cincinnati, SERB focused on the nature of the process that enables the people to make 
laws at the local level. The process of approving a Charter amendment involves first a 
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republican process of representatives of the people putting that amendment on the 
ballot, and then a democratic process of the people approving or disapproving the 
amendment. See Ohio Constitution, Article XVIII - Municipal Corporations § Section 
18.09 

In accordance with In re Cincinnati, we find that the Union did not have to bargain 
with the City in order to circulate a petition to place an amendment of the City's Charter 
on the ballot. Accordingly, the Union did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(3) when it 
circulated a petition seeking to amend the City of Urbana's Charter regarding wages, 
hours, and terms and conditions of employment. 

While we are mindful of the legal precedent cited above, we note that an 
adjudicatory agency, as any other body, has a duty, in light of certain circumstances 
and developments, to review and reevaluate prior decisions. SERB is not precluded 
from reconsidering prior opinions, especially if they should be inconsistent with practical 
or workable public policy. 

In that vein, we note that as the adjudicatory agency charged with enforcing the 
collective bargaining laws set forth in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, we are 
concerned that the type of conduct under review in the instant case has the potential to 
undermine the collective bargaining process by disrupting the lines of communication 
essential to this process. A legislative body is commonly understood, under the scheme 
of our system of democratically elected government, as a deliberative body of persons 
vested by the electorate with enacting laws, and executing other ministerial 
responsibilities, including, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117, the ratification 
or rejection of collective bargaining agreements. The long established and accepted 
concept of delegated power to elected representatives bestows on such bodies 
authority and accountability, and implies that elected officials enjoy that delegated 
authority to set and execute the necessary functions entrusted to them by the larger 
body politic. Therefore, we caution both public employers and employee organizations 
that deal with public employers to be circumspect when considering taking any action to 
secure through a charter amendment terms and conditions of employment that are 
different from those in the parties' existing CBA. Such actions will be closely scrutinized 
in future unfair labor practice charges that come before the Board and the Board will 
make its determinations on a case-by-case basis. 
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Ill. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of Urbana is a "public employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (B). 

2. The Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823 is an "employee 
organization" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01 (D). 

3. The Urbana Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 1823 did not violate O.R.C. § 
4117.11 (B)(3) when it circulated a petition seeking to amend the City of Urbana's 
Charter regarding wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment. 

IV. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons stated above, we find that the Urbana Firefighters Association, 
IAFF Local 1823 did not violate Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11 (B)(3) when it circulated a 
petition seeking to amend the City of Urbana's Charter regarding wages, hours, and 
terms and conditions of employment. 

Spada, Vice Chair, and Brundige, Board Member, concur. 
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In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 2010-ULP-08-0304 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Spada, and Board Member Brundige: 
November 17, 2011. 

On August 2, 2010, John Timothy Shook, who was a bargaining-unit member of 
Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association in August 2010, filed an unfair labor 
practice charge against the Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association 
("Respondent"), alleging that Respondent breached its duty of fair representation in 
violation of Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11 (B){6). On November 18, 2010, the 
State Employment Relations Board ('the Board" or "Complainant") found probable 
cause existed to believe Respondent committed an unfair labor practice by engaging in 
actions that were arbitrary, discriminatory or in bad faith in violation of O.R.C. § 
4117.11(8)(6), authorized the issuance of a complaint and directed the matter to an 
evidentiary hearing. An Administrative Law Judge was assigned to this case and a 
complaint was Issued on January 31, 2011. 

An evidentiary hearing was held on April 14, 2011. The parties filed post-hearing 
briefs. The Administrative Law Judge issued a Proposed Order on June 7, 2011, 
recommending that the Board find that Respondent did not violate O.R.C. § 
4117. 11 (B)(6) when it negotiated a Memorandum of Understanding that changed the 
parties' contractual layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union President by saving him 
from layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member John Timothy Shook. On 
June 30, 2011, Counsel for Complainant filed exceptions to the Proposed Order. On 
July 12, 2011, Respondent filed its response to the exceptions. 

Upon a comprehensive review of the unfair labor practice charge, complaint, 
answer, testimony, documentary evidence, the Proposed Order, exceptions, response 
to exceptions, and all other filings in this case, for the reasons set forth in the attached 
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Opinion, incorporated by reference, Conclusion of Law No. 3 in the Proposed Order is 
amended to read: "The Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association violated O.R.C. § 
4117.11(8)(6) when it executed a Memorandum of Understanding on May 6, 2010 that 
altered the parties' contractual layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by 
saving him from layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member John Timothy 
Shook."; the Joint Stipulations, Additional Findings of Fact, and Conclusions of Law, as 
amended, in the Proposed Order are adopted, finding that the Clark-Shawnee Local 
Education Association violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(8)(6) when it executed a 
Memorandum of Understanding on May 6, 201 O that altered the parties' contractual 
layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by saving him from layoff while 
causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member John Timothy Shook. 

The Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association is ordered to: 

A. Cease and Desist From: 

1. Failing to fairly represent all of its bargaining-unit members by 
executing a Memorandum of Understanding that altered the parties' 
contractual layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by 
saving him from layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining-unit 
member John Timothy Shook, and from otherwise violating Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.11 (B)(6). 

8. Take the Following Affirmative Action: 

1. Fairly represent all of its bargaining-unit members employed by 
Clark-Shawnee Local School District Board of Education; 

2. Assure that any future memoranda of understanding, which alter 
the express language of the parties' collective bargaining 
agreement, are ratified by the Union membership; 

3. Implement procedures to ensure that all union officers are actively 
involved in matters pertaining to the representation of bargaining
unit members employed by Clark-Shawnee Local School District 
Board of Education; 

4. Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Clark
Shawnee Local Education Association, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association shall cease and desist 
from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative 
action set forth in paragraph (8); and 
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5. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty 
calendar days from the date that this Order becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

It is so ordered. 

ZIMPHER, Chair; SPADA, Vice Chair; and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, concur. 

~4~ 
W. CRAIG ZIMPHER, cJ c:::::::::__ 

TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's order. A copy of the notice of appeal must also 
be flied with the State Employment Relations Board, al 65 East State Street, 12th Floor, 
Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 
on this 1-:t~ day of November 2011. 

ERIN E. CONN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
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OPINION 

ZIMPHER, Chair: 

This unfair labor practice case comes before the State Employment Relations 
Board ("the Board," "Complainant," or "SERB") upon the issuance of the Administrative 
Law Judge's Proposed Order, the filing of exceptions to the Proposed Order by 
Counsel for Complainant, and the filing of a response to the exceptions by Respondent, 
Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association. The issue to be decided is whether 
Respondent violated Ohio Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.11(8)(6). For the reasons 
set forth below, we find that Respondent violated O.R.C. §4117.11(8)(6) when it 
executed a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") that changed the parties' 
contractual layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by saving him from 
layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member John Timothy Shook. 

I. SUMMARY OF FACTS 

The material facts in this case are undisputed and are stated as follows: During 
the time period relevant to this proceeding, the Clark-Shawnee Local School District 
Board of Education ("the Employer" or "School Board") and Clark-Shawnee Local 
Education Association ("the Union" or "Respondent") were parties to a collective 
bargaining agreement ("CBA") effective by its terms from July 1, 2007 through June 30, 
2010. The parties' CBA contains a grievance-arbitration procedure that culminates in 
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final and binding arbitration. During the time period relevant to this proceeding, John 
Timothy Shook was a non-dues paying bargaining-unit member of the Clark-Shawnee 
Local Education Association and Steve Tincher was president of the Clark-Shawnee 
Local Education Association. 

Article II, Section G of the parties' CBA provides that when the parties have 
reached a tentative agreement, reduced that agreement to writing, and approved same, 
the agreement constitutes the CBA between the parties. 

Article XXll of the parties' CBA contains a procedure for a Reduction in Force 
("RIF" or "layoff"). The RIF provision in the CBA states that reductions shall first be 
covered by attrition. If additional reductions are necessary, such reductions shall be 
executed by seniority. The CBA defines "seniority" as the number of years of service 
with the School District. The seniority list is to be comprised of each area of certification 
with certified/licensed personnel placed on all lists for which they are certified/licensed. 
The CBA further states that those teachers on limited contracts with the least seniority 
in the teaching field affected shall have their contracts suspended first. An individual 
who is recalled under the CBA shall have the right to return to the same seniority level, 
contractual status, and total sick leave accumulation. 

There is nothing in the RIF provision of the parties' CBA that allows for the least 
senior teacher in a teaching field identified for reduction to displace or force the transfer 
of another teacher in a teaching field not identified for reduction (a non-affected 
teaching field). There is no provision in the parties' CBA that allows a teacher with dual 
certification to displace a less-senior teacher in a teaching field not identified for 
reduction. 

On or about April 27, 2010, Clark-Shawnee School Board Superintendant 
Deborah Finkes met with Union President Steven Tincher and Labor Relations 
Consultant Kerri Newgard to discuss a RIF for the 2010-2011 school year. Ms. Newgard 
is employed by the Ohio Education Association and assigned to assist the Union with 
negotiating collective bargaining agreements and representing the membership 
regarding various employment matters. Ms. Newgard assisted the Union with the RIF 
process for the 2010-2011 school year. The School Board's legal counsel, Lisa 
Burleson, also was present at the meeting. Ms. Finkes presented a document that 
showed the School Board's RIF calculations, which listed reductions of three High 
School positions and one Elementary School position. The least senior teachers in the 
aforementioned areas were listed as Julie Dwyer in High School English, Mike 
Garberich in High School Math, Steve Tincher in High School Business, and Todd 
Musser in First Grade. A document that showed the Union's layoff calculations also was 
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presented at the meeting. Ms. Newgard's hand-written notations appear on both of the 
layoff documents admitted at hearing and identified as Respondent's Exhibits 6 and 7. 

On May 6, 2010, the School Board passed a Resolution that implemented a RIF 
for the 2010-2011 school year. The May 6, 201 O Resolution identified First Grade, High 
School Business, High School English, and High School Math as the teaching fields that 
would be affected by the RIF. The Resolution states that four teaching contracts in 
those teaching fields would be suspended. The Resolution also states that the School 
Board and the Union mutually agreed to enter into a one-time only MOU to specifically 
address how the above-mentioned suspensions would be implemented. Mr. Tincher, 
Ms. Newgard, Ms. Finkes, and Ms. Burleson worked together to create the MOU. 

On May 6, 2010, Superintendent Finkes, on behalf of the School Board, and 
Union President Tincher, on behalf of the Union, signed the MOU that changed the RIF 
provision of the parties' CBA. The MOU allowed for a teacher who is reduced in force 
pursuant to the terms of the CBA to be able to displace another teacher with less 
seniority in another teaching field, if the reduced teacher has dual certification in the 
other teaching field. This new provision would then allow for the reduction in force of a 
teacher in a teaching field not identified for reduction by the School Board. The MOU 
states that it is "inconsistent with and outside the negotiated language regarding 
reduction in force contained in Article XXll, Reduction in Force, of the parties current 
Contractual Agreements (2007-2010)." The May 6, 2010 MOU was not submitted to the 
Union membership for ratification. On May 7, 2010, the School District notified John 
Timothy Shook and Todd Musser that they were to be laid off for the 2010-2011 school 
year.1 

Under the terms of the RIF provision of the parties' CBA, and according to the 
teaching fields identified for reduction in the School Board's May 6, 201 O Resolution, the 
two teachers reduced in force should have been First Grade teacher Todd Musser and 
High School Business teacher Steve Tincher. However, with the MOU in place that 
provided for dual-certification to be considered in the layoff process, Mr. Tincher was 
not laid off. Instead, High School Math Teacher Mike Garberich, who had more seniority 
than Mr. Tincher, was forced to transfer to High School Music because he held a dual 
certificate in math and music. As a result of Mr. Garberich's involuntary transfer, Mr. 
Tincher moved into an open math position at the Middle School instead of the more
senior Garberich, and Mr. Garberich displaced Mr. Shook in High School Music. 

1 Although four positions were identified as part of the reduction in force for the 2010-2011 school year, 
two of the reduced positions were ultimately covered by attrition. As a result, only two teachers needed to 
be laid off as part of this reduction in force. 
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II. DISCUSSION 

Respondent is alleged to have violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(6) when it executed 
an MOU on May 6, 2010 that modified the parties' contractual layoff provision, thereby 
favoring the Union president by saving him from layoff while causing the layoff of 
bargaining-unit member John Timothy Shook. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(6) states, in relevant part, as follows: 

(B) It is an unfair labor practice for an employee 
organization, its agents or representatives, or public 
employees to: 

••• 

(6) Fail to fairly represent all public employees in a 
bargaining unit; 

SERB has generally followed the development of federal labor law principles 
when interpreting the breach of the duty of fair representation. With respect to Ohio 
Revised Code§ 4117.11(BX6), SERB has applied the federal landmark decision in 
Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171, 190, 87 S.Ct. 903, 916 ("a breach of the duty of fair 
representation occurs only when a union's conduct toward a member of the collective 
bargaining unit is arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith"). A union acts arbitrarily by 
failing to take a basic and required step. Venc/ v. Int'/ Union of Operating Engineers, 
137 F. 3d 420. The basic and required steps a union must take when fulfilling its duty of 
fair representation will vary depending upon the nature of the representation. Id. 

In In re OCSENAFSCME Local 11, SERB 98-010 (7-22-98) ("In re OCSEN 
AFSCME''), SERB held that arbitrariness, discrimination, and bad faith are distinct 
components of the same duty and should be reviewed on an equal basis. When an 
unfair labor practice is charged because a union has allegedly violated its duty of fair 
representation, SERB will determine whether the union's actions are arbitrary, 
discriminatory, or in bad faith. A breach of the duty of fair representation exists if any of 
these components are found. 

In In re OAPSE, SERB 93-021 (12-21-93) ("OAPSE''), SERB stated that" ... any 
preference by an employee organization in supporting one unit member over another for 
the reason that the preferred one is a union official is clearly an action of discrimination 
and bad faith in violation of the duty of fair representation. Thus, employee 
organizations should be on notice that special care is warranted whenever a contractual 
clause is in dispute between two unit members, one of who is a union official." Id. at 3-
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123. See also Lewis v. Tuscan Dairy Farms, 25 F.3d 1138, 146 LRRM 2601(2d Cir. 
1994) (union president breached duty of fair representation by telling employees 
seniority would be dovetailed if plant purchased after secretly agreeing with new 
purchaser that seniority lists would not be dovetailed. President's actions violated 
bylaws, which required membership ratification and approval of contract modification). 

In the case before us, Union President Steve Tincher entered into a one-time 
only MOU on behalf of the Union with the School Board to modify the RIF provision of 
the parties' CSA at same the time the School Board passed a Resolution to implement 
a RIF for the 2010-2011 school year. As a result, Mr. Tincher was able to avoid being 
laid off by virtue of his dual certification in math and Tim Shook, a teacher in a teaching 
field not identified for reduction, was laid off. 

The Union's stated reason for entering into the May 6, 2010 MOU was to protect 
the most senior and the most certified of its membership. In her Proposed Order, the 
Administrative Law Judge concludes that the Union's stated reason was rational and the 
Union's actions were not arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith; therefore, the Board 
should find that the Union did not violate O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(6). 

Upon a comprehensive review of the testimonial and documentary evidence 
contained in the record, we find that the evidence is more than sufficient to establish 
that Respondent violated its duty of fair representation when it entered into the May 6, 
201 O MOU. Specifically, the evidence demonstrates that the Union's stated reason for 
entering into the May 6, 2010 MOU was a pretext for the Union president to avoid being 
laid off at the expense of a Union member who did not hold office in the Union and thus 
lacked the same power to alter the parties' CSA. 

Events that followed shortly after the Union president received notification of the 
impending layoff show that the Union president's primary objective in creating the May 
6, 2010 MOU was to save himself from layoff. The testimonial and documentary 
evidence established that Mr. Tincher and Labor Relations Consultant Kerri Newgard 
knew at the end of April 2010 that the School Board's RIF calculations identified Mr. 
Tincher for reduction under the RIF provision of the parties' CBA. The evidence reveals 
that Mr. Tincher, Ms. Newgard, School Board Superintendent Deborah Finkes, and the 
School Board's legal counsel, Lisa Burleson, worked together to create the May 6, 2010 
MOU that changed the parties' CSA. Ms. Newgard testified that she worked closely with 
Mr. Tincher to develop various layoff scenarios, and she indicated that they had a 
number of discussions with Superintendent Finkes and Ms. Burleson regarding how 
layoffs should occur. Ms. Newgard further testified that she entrusted the actual drafting 
of the May 6, 2010 MOU to Ms. Burleson. Mr. Tincher testified that he signed the MOU 
as drafted. 
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According to the May 6, 2010 MOU, a teacher who is reduced in force pursuant 
to the terms of the CBA may, if the teacher possesses certification/licensure in another 
teaching field, displace or force the transfer of another teacher with less seniority in the 
other teaching field. The new provision thus allows for the reduction in force of a teacher 
in a teaching field not identified for reduction by the School Board. 

The testimony and documentary evidence further established that Mr. Tincher 
utilized the provisions of the May 6, 2010 MOU, along with a calculated involuntary 
transfer of another employee, to avoid being laid off at the expense of bargaining-unit 
member Tim Shook. Specifically, the unrebutted testimony and documentary evidence 
shows that at the time of the RIF, an open math position at the Middle School was 
available. Mr. Tincher was dual certified in math and business. Mike Garberich, who 
was a math teacher at the High School, had more seniority than Mr. Tincher and he was 
dual certified in math and music. Mr. Garberich testified that Superintendent Finkes 
contacted him on or about Sunday, May 2, 2010, requesting that he meet her at the 
High School that evening to discuss issues regarding his employment. Mr. Garerich met 
with Ms. Finkes, Mr. Tincher, and the High School Principal that evening. At that 
meeting, Mr. Garberich was informed that he must transfer to High School Music or be 
reduced in force. Mr. Garberich chose to transfer to High School Music. As a result of 
Mr. Garberich's involuntary transfer, Mr. Tincher moved into the open math position at 
the Middle School instead of the more-senior Garberich, and Mr. Garberich displaced 
Tim Shook in High School Music. 

Had the RIF provisions of the parties' CBA been followed by allowing Mike 
Garberich to exercise his seniority and take the middle school math position, Mr. 
Tincher would have been reduced in force. Instead, Mr. Tincher, who had less seniority 
than Mr. Garberich but who was dual certified in math and business, was allowed to 
assume the math position against the terms of the CBA and to the detriment of Mr. 
Shook, who did not teach in any of the affected teaching fields identified by the School 
Boa rd for reduction. 

We note that Mr. Tincher and Ms. Newgard could have taken measures to avoid 
allegations of wrongdoing with respect to the May 6, 2010 MOU. They could have met 
with the Union membership to explain the effect and value of the MOU and they could 
have sought ratification of the MOU. Additionally, we note that Mr. Tincher could have 
removed himself from the process of the MOU and allowed the vice-president or 
another Union officer to work with Ms. Newgard on creating the MOU. Instead, Mr. 
Tincher chose not to disclose the development of the MOU to bargaining-unit members 
and he continued to involve himself in the process to change the layoff provision in the 
parties' CBA. 
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The Union argues that it was not required to seek the Union membership's 
approval because the purpose of the May 6, 2010 MOU was to clarify the contract and 
memorialize the parties· past practice concerning the mechanics of a reduction in force. 
We disagree. The May 6, 2010 MOU, by its own terms, was entered into to change the 
contract. The MOU signed by the Union president on behalf of the Union expressly 
states that it is "inconsistent with and outside the negotiated language regarding 
reduction in force contained in Article XXlll, Reduction in Force, of the parties current 
Contractual Agreements (2007-2010)." While there was testimony at hearing that the 
parties interpreted the RIF provision differently and had a past practice that utilized 
attrition and transfers to avoid RIFs, we find that the plain language of the RIF provision 
of the CSA in effect at the time did not permit the use of dual certification to displace or 
force the transfer of another teacher with less seniority in a teaching field not identified 
for reduction. Therefore, since the May 6, 201 O MOU changed the terms of the parties' 
CBA, Mr. Tincher should have sought the Union members' ratification of the MOU. 
Moreover, we note that Labor Relations Consultant Kerri Newgard recognized the 
intrinsic value of taking such action in her testimony when she acknowledged that the 
Union could seek ratification of any MOU because, "it does not hurt to get ratification to 
cover [yourself)." 

The Union also argues that it did not seek ratification of the May 6, 201 O MOU 
because it had not sought ratification of past MOUs. We find this argument 
unpersuasive for two reasons. First, the Union membership had already spoken on the 
issue of how a RIF would be conducted when they ratified the CBA. Article XXll clearly 
states that if additional reductions are needed after attrition, "it shall be done through 
seniority." Since the May 6, 2010 MOU changed the RIF provision of the parties' CBA, 
Mr. Tincher and Ms. Newgard were obligated as representatives of the Union 
membership to seek ratification. Second, Mr. Tincher and Ms Newgard should have 
taken special care by having the Union membership ratify the May 6, 201 O MOU 
because It was to the benefit of the Union president, whose job was spared at the 
expense of a bargaining-unit member by changing the criteria by which teachers were 
identified for reduction in force. 

Therefore, given that the May 6, 2010 MOU resulted in a union official going from 
the list of teachers identified by the School Board for reduction pursuant to the CBA to 
being safely employed under the terms of a self-executed MOU to the detriment of a 
union member who was not in a teaching field identified for reduction, we conclude that 
the Union's actions were discriminatory and in bad faith as they failed to fairly represent 
all of the Union's bargaining-unit employees. 
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Lastly, we address Mr. Shook's allegations that the Union violated its duty of fair 
representation by failing to assist him in processing his grievance and failing to appeal 
his grievance to arbitration. In her Proposed Order, the Administrative Law Judge 
concludes that the record did not establish that the Union acted arbitrarily, 
discriminatory, or in bad faith in processing Mr. Shook's grievance. 

We agree with the Administrative Law Judge that the testimony and evidence 
presented regarding the processing of Mr. Shook's grievance is insufficient to support a 
conclusion that the Union denied Mr. Shook representation or failed to represent him 
during the grievance process. The testimony indicates Mr. Shook asked Mr. Garberich 
to accompany him to the first and second levels of his grievance but Mr. Garberich 
specifically testified that he was not asked to continue to represent Mr. Shook at the 
other levels. Mr. Shook did not rebut Mr. Garberich's testimony. The record indicates 
that Mr. Shook's brother, who is an attorney, represented him at levels three and four. 

The final issue concerns the Union's refusal to take Mr. Shook's grievance to 
arbitration. We conclude that while this fact, standing alone, is not dispositive of a 
violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (8)(6) in this case, given that the Union's conduct 
regarding the May 6, 2010 MOU is the subject of Mr. Shook's grievance, we find that 
the Union's refusal to take his grievance to arbitration further supports the conclusion 
that the Union's actions regarding the May 6, 2010 MOU violated O.R.C. § 
4117.11(8)(6). 

Based on the foregoing, we find that Respondent, Clark-Shawnee Local 
Education Association violated 0.R.C. § 4117.11 (B)(6) when It executed the May 6, 
2010 MOU that changed the parties' contractual layoff provision, thereby favoring the 
Union president by saving him from layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining unit 
member Tim Shook. 

Ill. REMEDY 

An order with a Notice to Employees should be issued ordering the Clark
Shawnee Local Education Association to do the following: 

A. Cease and desist from: 

1. Failing to fairly represent all of Its bargaining-unit members by 
executing an MOU on May 6, 2010 that altered the contractual 
layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by saving 
him from layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member 
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John Timothy Shook, and from otherwise violating Ohio Revised 
Code Section 4117.11(8)(6). 

B. Take the following affirmative action: 

1. Fairly represent all of its bargaining-unit members employed by 
Clark-Shawnee Local School District Board of Education; 

2. Assure that any future memoranda of understanding, which alter 
the express language of the parties' collective bargaining 
agreement, are ratified by the Union membership; 

3. Implement procedures to ensure that all union officers are actively 
involved in matters pertaining to the representation of bargaining
unit members employed by Clark-Shawnee Local School District 
Board of Education; 

4. Post for sixty days in all the usual and normal posting locations 
where bargaining-unit employees represented by the Clark
Shawnee Local Education Association, the Notice to Employees 
furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that the 
Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association shall cease and desist 
from actions set forth in paragraph (A) and shall take the affirmative 
action set forth in paragraph (B); and 

5. Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing twenty 
calendar days from the date that this Order becomes final of the 
steps that have been taken to comply therewith. 

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Clark-Shawnee Local School District Board of Education is a "public 
employer" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(8). 

2. The Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association is an "employee organization" 
as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.01(0). 

3. The Clark-Shawnee Local Education Association violated O.R.C. § 4117.11(B)(6) 
when it executed a Memorandum of Understanding on May 6, 2010 that altered the 
parties' contractual layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by saving him 
from layoff while causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member John Timothy Shook. 
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V. DETERMINATION 

For the reasons stated above, we find that the Clark-Shawnee Local Education 
Association violated Ohio Revised Code § 4117.11(B)(6) when it executed a 
Memorandum of Understanding on May 6, 201 O that altered the parties' contractual 
layoff provision, thereby favoring the Union president by saving him from layoff while 
causing the layoff of bargaining-unit member John Timothy Shook. A cease and desist 
order with a Notice to Employees shall be issued to the Clark-Shawnee Local Education 
Association. 

Spada, Vice Chair, and Brundige, Board Member, concur. 
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BEFORE THE ST ATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

State Employment Relations Board, 

Complainant, 

v. 

City of Green, 

Respondent. 

Case Number 2012-ULP-11-0301 

ORDER 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Schmidt, and Board Member Brundige: 
February 20, 2014. 

On November 28, 2012, the Green Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 2964 
("Union" or "Intervenor") filed an unfair labor practice charge against the City of Green 
("City" or "Respondent"), alleging that the City violated Ohio Revised Code (O.R.C.) §§ 
4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) by unilaterally reassigning bargaining-unit work to part-time 
non-bargaining unit employees. On January 31, 2013, the State Employment Relations 
Board ("SERB," "the Board," or "Complainant") determined that probable cause existed 
to believe that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally 
reassigned bargaining-unit work to part-time non-bargaining unit employees, authorized 
the issuance of a complaint, and directed the matter to hearing. 

On March 25, 2013, a complaint was issued and the matter was set for an 
evidentiary hearing before an Administrative Law Judge. On April 30, 2013, the Union 
filed a motion to intervene, which was granted pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code 
Rule 4117-1-07. A hearing was held on June 28, 2013. Subsequently, the parties filed 
post-hearing briefs. On October 31, 2013, the Administrative Law Judge issued a 
Proposed Order, recommending that the Board find that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 
4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally reassigned bargaining-unit work to part
time non-bargaining unit employees. On November 22, 2013, the City filed exceptions 
to the Proposed Order. On December 2, 2013, Intervenor and Complainant's Counsel 
filed separate responses to the City's exceptions to the Proposed Order. 

After reviewing the unfair labor practice charge, complaint, answer, Proposed 
Order, exceptions, responses to exceptions, and all other filings in this case, for the 
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reasons set forth in the attached Opinion, which is attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference herein, the Board hereby adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 
in the Proposed Order, finding that the City of Green violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) 
and (A)(5) when it unilaterally reassigned bargaining-unit work to part-time non
bargaining unit employees. 

Respondent, City of Green, is hereby ordered to take the following action: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally reassigning 
bargaining unit work to part-time non-bargaining unit personnel, and from 
otherwise violating O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1). 

(2) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by refusing to bargain 
collectively with the Union by unilaterally reassigning bargaining unit work to part
time non-bargaining unit personnel, in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Return to the status quo ante the bargaining unit work of the full-time 
firefighters in the City of Green Fire Division prior to October 1, 2012. 

(2) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining unit members represented by the Union work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating 
that the City of Green shall cease and desist from the action set forth in 
paragraph (A) above. 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty (20) 
calendar days from the date the order becomes final on the steps that have 
been taken to comply therewith. 

It is ordered. 

ZIMPHER, Chair, SCHMIDT, Vice Chair, and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, concur. 
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TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

You are hereby notified that an appeal may be perfected, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 4117.13(0) by filing a notice of appeal setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the court of common pleas in the county 
where the unfair labor practice in question was alleged to have been engaged in, or 
where the person resides or transacts business, within fifteen days after the mailing of 
the State Employment Relations Board's Order. A copy of the notice of appeal must 
also be filed with the State Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 1ih 
Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Rule 4117-7-
07. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 
this JQ-i°"'- day of February 2014. 

ERIN E. CONN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 



II . 
. NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 

FROM THE 
STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF 
THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After an evidentiary hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the 
State Employment Relations Board has determined that the City of Green has violated the 
law and has ordered City of Green to post this notice. The City of Green intends to carry 
out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

( 1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally reassigning 
bargaining unit work to part-time non-bargaining unit personnel, and from 
otherwise violating O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(1 ). 

(2) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by refusing to bargain 
collectively with the Union by unilaterally reassigning bargaining unit work to 
part-time, non-bargaining unit personnel, in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Return to the status quo ante the bargaining unit work of the full-time 
firefighters in the City of Green Fire Division prior to October 1, 2012. 

(2) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining unit members represented by the Union work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that 
the City of Green shall cease and desist from the action set forth in paragraph 
(A) above. 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty (20) 
calendar days from the date the order becomes final on the steps that have 
been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. CITY OF GREEN 

Case No. 2012-ULP-11-0301 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

This Notice must remain posted for 60 consecutive days from the date of posting and must 
not be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this 
Notice or compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations 
Board. 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 
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OPINION 

Zimpher, Chair: 

This matter comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" 
"SERB" or "Complainant") upon the issuance of the Administrative Law Judge's 
Proposed Order in the above-referenced case. The City of Green ("City") filed 
exceptions to the Proposed Order and the Green Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 
2964 ("Union" or "Intervenor") and Counsel for Complainant filed responses to the 
exceptions. For the reasons set forth below, we find that the City of Green violated Ohio 
Revised Code ("O.R.C.") §§ 4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally assigned 
bargaining unit work performed exclusively by full-time firefighters to part-time non
bargaining unit firefighters. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Prior to June 2001, the parties' collective bargaining agreements (CBAs) 
contained references to using non-bargaining unit, part-time employees in the City's 
Fire Department. As the City moved from a combination part-time and full-time 
firefighter staff to an exclusively full-time firefighter staff, the parties agreed to delete the 
references to the use of part-time employees. As of June 2001, the City's Fire 
Department has been staffed exclusively with full-time firefighter/paramedics 
("firefighters") and the emergency response and related safety-service work performed 
in the City's Fire Division has been performed exclusively by full-time bargaining unit 
members since that time. 
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Since April 1, 2001, the parties' CBAs have contained a minimum staffing clause 
that requires the City's Fire Department to be staffed each shift by full-time bargaining 
unit members to meet minimum staffing requirements of ten on-duty, full-time 
firefighters. 

In 2010 and 2011, the parties negotiated a successor CBA. The City's labor 
negotiator, Michael Esposito, and former fire chief, Robert Calderone, represented the 
City during negotiations. During the first bargaining session, the City presented the 
Union with several proposals to modify the CBA, including proposals to delete the full
time firefighter minimum staffing level in Article 20 and add language that would allow 
the City to establish part-time firefighter positions. As the first bargaining session 
concluded, the City handed the Union a "Notice of Intent," wherein the City announced 
its intent: "to establish and utilize part-time firefighter/medics to assist in avoiding 
overtime, covering time off, meeting its service needs, and performing duties that it 
otherwise determines necessary." The "Notice of Intent" was not a bargaining proposal 
and the City considered the reintroduction of part-time firefighters in the Fire Division a 
separate issue from using part-time firefighters to meet the minimum staffing level. 

The parties discussed the use of part-time personnel at various times during the 
2010-2011 negotiations. The City remained focused on its initial proposal to eliminate 
the minimum staffing level of full-time bargaining unit members in order to use part-time 
personnel to reduce overtime costs. The parties proceeded to fact finding on eleven 
unresolved issues, including the issue of eliminating the minimum full-time staffing 
clause and the use of part-time personnel for staffing. 

The City's proposal at fact finding was to eliminate minimum full-time staffing 
language in the CBA and add language to allow the City to establish part-time firefighter 
positions. In rejecting the City's proposal, the fact finder addressed the City's concerns 
regarding overtime costs by recommending the City utilize dayshift personnel on their 
regularly scheduled work hours to meet the minimum staffing requirements in the 
parties' CBA, and reduce the on-duty, full-time staffing level from ten to nine. The City 
rejected the fact finding report and the parties proceeded to conciliation. 

At conciliation, the City abandoned its proposal to add language to the contract 
that would eliminate the minimum full-time staffing level and allow the use of part-time 
personnel. Instead, the City, in its final offer, proposed that the minimum full-time 
staffing level be reduced from ten to nine in specified circumstances. The parties 
participated in mediation and were able to resolve all outstanding issues, except for 
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health insurance. The parties' agreement regarding Article 20, Section 5 allows the City 
to reduce the on-duty, full-time staffing level from ten to nine in certain circumstances; 
there is no language in the parties' CBA that allows the City to use part-time personnel. 
The parties signed a tentative agreement that resolved, inter alia, the full-time minimum 
staffing/part-time personnel issue on October 18, 2011. 

The Conciliator's Final Offer Settlement Award was issued on November 7, 2011. 
On July 18, 2012, the City's former fire chief, Robert Calderone, issued a memorandum 
announcing that the City " ... will begin using part-time fire medics to supplement our 
response shift staffing in the very near future .... " The Union immediately requested to 
bargain the issue. The City refused to bargain. In October 2012, the City hired part-time 
firefighters to perform emergency response work. 

II. DISCUSSION 

The sole issue in this case is whether the City violated O.R.C. §§ 4117.11(A)(1) 
and (A)(5) by unilaterally assigning bargaining unit work performed exclusively by full
time firefighters to part-time non-bargaining unit firefighters. 

O.R.C. § 4117.11 states, in relevant part: 

(A) It is an unfair labor practice for a public employer, its 
agents or representatives to: 

(1) Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the 
exercise of the rights guaranteed in Chapter 4117 of the 
Ohio Revised Code or an employee organization in the 
selection of its representative for the purposes of collective 
bargaining or the adjustment of grievances. 

*** 
(5) Refuse to bargain collectively with the representative of 
his employees recognized as the exclusion representative or 
certified pursuant to Chapter 4117. of the Revised Code; 
*** 

The Board agrees with the Administrative Law Judge's conclusion that the 
evidence contained in the record establishes that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 
4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally assigned bargaining unit work performed 
exclusively by full-time firefighters to part-time non-bargaining unit firefighters. We take 
this opportunity to review the case law regarding this issue. 
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We begin by noting that in its Exceptions to the Proposed Order, the City relies 
on SERB v. Youngstown City School Dist. Bd. of Ed., SERB 95-010 to argue that its 
decision to assign bargaining unit work to non-bargaining unit part-time employees is 
entirely within its management rights under O.R.C. § 4117.08(C). The analysis to 
determine whether a subject is a mandatory subject of bargaining set forth in 
Youngstown is inapplicable in this case. The controlling case in this matter is Lorain City 
School Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. State Employment Relations Board, 40 Ohio St.3d 257 
(1988). In Lorain, the Ohio Supreme Court held that the reassignment of bargaining unit 
work to non-bargaining unit employees is a mandatory subject of bargaining under 
O.R.C. § 4117.08. The Court addressed this issue as follows: 

... [a] review of the letter and intent of RC. 4117.08, as well 
as the case law, demonstrates that SERB correctly 
concluded that the reassignment of bargaining unit work to 
non-bargaining unit persons is a mandatory subject of 
bargaining. The elimination of bargaining unit work comes 
within the meaning of "terms and conditions of employment." 

Therefore, we hold that public employer must bargain with its 
employees regarding a management decision to the extent 
that such decision "affects wages, hours, terms and 
conditions of employment." Thus, the reassignment of work 
previously performed by members of a bargaining unit to 
persons outside the unit is a mandatory subject for collective 
bargaining under R. C. 4117. OB(A) and (C). Contrary to the 
appellee's admonitions, this does not mean that 
management rights would be abrogated. Requiring appellee 
to bargain does not require that an agreement be reached. 
It does, however, provide a process whereby employees will 
be consulted about decisions which have a profound impact 
on them and, thus, industrial peace will be preserved and 
promoted. [Emphasis added] 

Id. at 262 

SERB has consistently followed Lorain. See In re City of Akron, SERB 99-014 (6-
24-99) ("it is the unilateral 'reassignment of work previously performed by members of a 
bargaining unit,' not the erosion of the bargaining unit, that violates O.R.C. §§ 
4117.11(A)(1) and (A)(5)"), citing Lorain; In re Brookfield Local School Dist Bd of Ed, 
SERB 2008-006 (11-18-2008) ("the Ohio Supreme Court held at Syllabus 3: 'The 
reassignment of work previously performed by members of a bargaining unit to persons 
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outside the unit is a mandatory subject for collective bargaining under RC 4117.0B(A) 
and (C).' A subject of bargaining is not rendered less than mandatory under Lorain due 
to an employer's alleged financial exigencies"); SERB v. Canton School Dist Bd of Ed, 
SERB HO 1995-H0-010 (11-23-94), syllabus ("reassignment of bargaining unit work to 
non-bargaining unit employees is a mandatory subject of bargaining under RC 
4117.0B(A) and 4117.0B(C); clearly, exclusive performance of certain work by 
bargaining unit employees for a full year gives rise to an obligation on the employer's 
part to bargain before transferring the work outside the unit"). 

The City further argues that the evidence presented at the hearing failed to 
establish that there was a reassignment of work previously done by the bargaining unit 
employees, as required by Lorain. Contrary to the City's assertion, the evidence 
contained in the record is sufficient to support the conclusion that the City did reassign 
work previously performed exclusively by the full-time firefighters' bargaining unit 
members to non-bargaining unit personnel. The testimony of the City's former fire chief 
and the testimony of Firefighter Matthew Craddock established that emergency 
response and related safety-service work performed in the City's Fire Division has been 
performed exclusively by the Union's full-time bargaining unit members from June 2001 
until October 1, 2012, when the City began to use part-time, non-bargaining unit 
firefighters to perform emergency response work. The Union submitted a copy of a 
memorandum from Lt. H. Wilson that contains the work schedule of part-time, non
bargaining unit personnel in the Fire Division. Captain Jeff Funai testified that he was 
responsible for training the part-time, non-bargaining unit personnel and he stated that 
these part-time employees are performing the emergency response work previously 
performed exclusively by the Union's bargaining unit members. The City did not rebut 
any of this evidence. 

The City also argues that the evidence demonstrates that the City "thoroughly 
bargained" the use of part-time personnel during the parties' contract negotiations. We 
disagree. A review of the testimonial and documentary evidence reveals that the City 
did not bargain with the Union regarding the employment of part-time personnel to 
supplement the full-time emergency response shift staffing in the Fire Division. Although 
the City provided a "Notice of Intent" regarding the use of part-time personnel at the 
beginning of negotiations, the City indicated that the "Notice of Intent" was not a 
proposal. During his testimony, the City's former fire chief explained that the "Notice of 
Intent" was not a bargaining proposal and that the City considered eliminating minimum 
staffing for full-time bargaining unit members and instead utilizing part-time non
bargaining unit employees a separate issue from hiring part-time employees to 
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supplement existing full-time minimum staffing. The former fire chief acknowledged that 
he did not make this distinction clear to the Union's bargaining team during negotiations. 

With regard to the City's bargaining proposals on the subject of part-time 
personnel, it is important to note that the City's proposals were always made in 
conjunction with the City's goal to eliminate the minimum staffing level of full-time 
bargaining unit members. The parties proceeded to fact finding on eleven unresolved 
issues, including the minimum staffing clause/part-time personnel issue. The City's 
proposal at fact finding was to eliminate the minimum full-time staffing language in the 
CBA and add language to allow the City to establish part-time fire/medics in the Fire 
Division. In rejecting the City's proposal, the fact finder addressed the City's concerns 
regarding overtime costs by recommending the City utilize dayshift personnel on their 
regularly scheduled work hours to meet the minimum staffing requirements in Article 20 
and reduce on-duty full-time staffing to nine. The City rejected the fact finding report and 
the parties proceeded to conciliation. 

Conciliation hearings were held on October 18, 2011 and October 21, 2011. The 
parties requested that the conciliator mediate the outstanding issues on October 181

h, 

and that day was devoted to mediation. The parties were able to resolve all outstanding 
issues, except for health insurance. The City's labor negotiator testified that at 
conciliation the City abandoned its proposal to eliminate the CBA's full-time minimum 
staffing and did not pursue adding language to the contract regarding the use of part
time personnel. Instead, the City proposed that the full-time minimum staffing level be 
reduced from ten to nine in certain circumstances. The parties signed a tentative 
agreement that changed the language in Article 20, Section 5 to allow the City to reduce 
the full-time minimum staffing level from ten to nine under specified circumstances. 

Based on the parties' October 18, 2011 agreement, the Union considered the 
issue of the use of part-time personnel resolved at conciliation. However, on July 18, 
2012, the City's former fire chief issued a memorandum announcing that the City " ... will 
begin using part-time fire medics to supplement our response shift staffing in the very 
near future .... " The Union requested to bargain the issue. The City refused to bargain. 
In October 2012, the City hired part-time firefighters to perform emergency response 
work. 

Lastly, the City argues that Green City Ordinance 242.01 authorizes the use of 
part-time employees and takes precedence over the collective bargaining laws 
contained in O.R.C. Chapter 4117. The City's argument is not well-taken. 
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The City cannot use Green City Ordinance 242.01 to circumvent its duty to 
bargain under O.R.C. Chapter 4117. O.R.C. § 4117.10(A) expressly states that "[t]his 
chapter prevails over any and all other conflicting laws, resolutions, provisions, present 
or future, except as otherwise specified in this chapter or as otherwise specified by the 
general assembly." In City of Kettering v. SERB (1986), 26 Ohio St.3d 50, the Ohio 
Supreme Court determined that the concerns addressed in O.R.C. Chapter 4117 are of 
statewide concern and the provisions of this chapter prevail over any conflicting laws or 
ordinances of a municipal corporation. See also Franklin County Law Enforcement 
Ass'n v. Fraternal Order of Police, Capital City Lodge No. 9 (1991 ), 59 Ohio St. 3d 167, 
170. 

Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.08(A), all matters pertaining to wages, hours, or terms 
and other conditions of employment and the continuation, modification, or deletion of an 
existing provision of a collective bargaining agreement are subject to collective 
bargaining between the public employer and the exclusive representative. As noted 
above. case law has established that the reassignment of work exclusively performed 
by bargaining unit employees to non-bargaining unit employees affects terms and 
conditions of employment and therefore is a mandatory subject of bargaining under 
O.R.C. § 4117.08. Lorain, supra at 262. The evidence established that the City did not 
bargain the reassignment of bargaining unit work performed exclusively by full-time 
firefighters to part-time non-bargaining unit firefighters. The City's refusal to bargain 
constitutes a violation of both 0. R. C. §§ 4117 .11(A)(1) and (A)(5). Id. 

It is important to note that SERB's decision in this case does not render the 
management rights set forth in O.R.C. § 4117.08(C) meaningless, as the City contends. 
Rather, this decision reaffirms legal precedent that O.R.C. Chapter 4117 requires all 
public employers and employee organizations to bargain in good faith regarding 
mandatory subjects of bargaining. The duty to bargain in good faith does not require 
that the parties reach an agreement; rather, it requires that the parties engage in 
meaningful discussions regarding clearly defined proposals. See SERB v. Akron City 
School Dist Bd of Ed, 1994 SERB 4-5 (3-3-94); See also Lorain, supra at 262. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that that the City violated O.R.C. §§ 
4117.11 (A)(1) and (A)(5) when it unilaterally assigned bargaining unit work performed 
exclusively by full-time firefighters to part-time non-bargaining unit firefighters. A cease 
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and desist order with a Notice to Employees shall be issued to the City of Green as 
follows: 

Respondent, City of Green is hereby ordered to: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally reassigning 
bargaining unit work to part-time non-bargaining unit personnel, and from 
otherwise violating O.R.C. § 4117 11 (A)(1 ). 

(2) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their 
rights guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by refusing to bargain 
collectively with the Union by unilaterally reassigning bargaining unit work to part
time non-bargaining unit personnel, in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Return to the status quo ante the bargaining unit work of the full-time 
firefighters in the City of Green Fire Division prior to October 1, 2012. 

(2) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining unit members represented by the Union work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating 
that the City of Green shall cease and desist from the action set forth in 
paragraph (A) above. 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty (20) 
calendar days from the date the order becomes final on the steps that have 
been taken to comply therewith. 

Schmidt, Vice Chair, and Brundige, Board Member, concur. 
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-m NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 
FROM THE 

STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 
POSTED PURSUANT TO AN ORDER OF 

THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 
AN AGENCY OF THE STATE OF OHIO 

After an evidentiary hearing in which all parties had an opportunity to present evidence, the 
State Employment Relations Board has determined that the City of Green has violated the 
law and has ordered City of Green to post this notice. The City of Green intends to carry 
out the order of the State Employment Relations Board and to do the following: 

A. CEASE AND DESIST FROM: 

(1) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by unilaterally reassigning 
bargaining unit work to part-time non-bargaining unit personnel, and from 
otherwise violating O.R.C. § 4117.11(A)(1). 

(2) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights 
guaranteed in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 by refusing to bargain 
collectively with the Union by unilaterally reassigning bargaining unit work to 
part-time, non-bargaining unit personnel, in violation of O.R.C. § 4117.11 (A)(5). 

B. TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: 

(1) Return to the status quo ante the bargaining unit work of the full-time 
firefighters in the City of Green Fire Division prior to October 1, 2012. 

(2) Post for 60 days in all of the usual and normal posting locations where 
bargaining unit members represented by the Union work, the NOTICE TO 
EMPLOYEES furnished by the State Employment Relations Board stating that 
the City of Green shall cease and desist from the action set forth in paragraph 
(A) above. 

(3) Notify the State Employment Relations Board in writing within twenty (20) 
calendar days from the date the order becomes final on the steps that have 
been taken to comply therewith. 

SERB v. CITY OF GREEN 

Case No. 2012-ULP-11-0301 

BY DATE 

TITLE 

This Notice must remain posted for 60 consecutive days from the date of posting and must 
not be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. Any questions concerning this 
Notice or compliance with its provisions may be directed to the State Employment Relations 
Board. 

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

Cleveland Metropolitan School District Board of Education, 

Employer, 

and 

Service Employees International Union, District 1199, AFL-CIO, 

Employee Organization. 

Case No. 2013-MED-01-0024 

ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DEEM FACT FINDING REPORT AGREED UPON 
!OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chair Zimpher, Vice Chair Schmidt, and Board Member Brundige: 
February 20, 2014. 

This case comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("Board" or 
"SERB") upon the Cleveland Metropolitan School District Board of Education's ("CMSD" 
or "Employer") "Motion to Deem Fact Finder's Recommendation Agreed Upon; 
Invalidate the Vote of SEIU District 1199, and Other Appropriate Relief." 

On January 10, 2013, the Employer filed a Notice to Negotiate pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.14 and Ohio Administrative Code ("O.A.C.") Rule 
4117-9-02. The Employer properly served Service Employees International Union, 
District 1199, AFL-CIO ("SEIU District 1199" or "Union") with the Notice to Negotiate. 
The parties engaged in negotiations for a successor agreement but were unable to 
reach an agreement. The parties proceeded to fact finding and selected SERB Neutral 
Nels E. Nelson as the fact finder. 

October 31, 2013, Mr. Nelson issued his fact-finding report. On November 7, 
2013, the Employer filed its certification of fact-finding vote, wherein it accepted the 
October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report. On November 8, 2013, the Union filed its 
certification of fact-finding vote. 

On November 18, 2013, the Employer filed a "Motion to Deem Fact Finder's 
Recommendation Agreed Upon; Invalidate the Vote of SEIU District 1199, and Other 
Appropriate Relief." On November 27, 2013, the Union filed a "Memorandum in 
Opposition to the Employer's Motion to Deem Fact Finder's Recommendation Agreed 
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Upon; Invalidate the Vote of SEIU District 1199, and Other Appropriate Relief." On 
December 9, 2013, the Employer filed "District's Reply to Union's Memorandum in 
Opposition of District's Motion to Deem Fact Finder's Recommendation Agreed Upon; 
Invalidate the Vote of SEIU District 1199, and Other Appropriate Relief." 

Pursuant to O.R.C. § 4117.14, O.A.C. Rule 4117-1-01, and O.A.C. Chapter 
4117-9, SERB directed this matter to an inquiry based upon the allegations contained in 
the Employer's motion concerning the propriety of the election procedures established 
by SEIU District 1199 for the CMSD November 2013 fact finding vote. 

On December 16, 2013, SERB's Office of General Counsel issued a Notice of 
Inquiry Date/Procedural Order, notifying the parties of the inquiry date and the issues 
to be addressed. Subsequently, the parties filed evidentiary motions. On January 8, 
2014, SERB's Office of General Counsel issued a Procedural Order addressing those 
motions. The inquiry was held before SERB's staff attorney on January 14, 2014, at 
which time testimony and documentary evidence was presented. Subsequently, the 
parties filed post-inquiry briefs. 

On January 30, 2014, SERB's staff attorney submitted an Inquiry Report and 
Recommendation to the Board, recommending that the Board: (1) find SEIU District 
1199's election procedures violated O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a) and O.A.C. Rule 4117-
9-05; (2) grant CMSD's motion finding the November 2013 fact-finding vote of SEIU 
District 1199's CMSD bargaining unit rejecting the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding 
Report invalid; and (3) deem the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding report agreed upon. 

After reviewing the pleadings of the parties, the Inquiry Report and 
Recommendation, post-inquiry briefs, and the evidence contained in the record, the 
Board hereby: (1) adopts, in its entirety, the staff attorney's Inquiry Report and 
Recommendation in this matter, which is attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference herein; and (2) grants the Employer's November 18, 2013 motion and finds 
the November 2013 fact-finding vote of SEIU District 1199's CMSD bargaining unit 
rejecting the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report invalid and deems the October 31, 
2013 Fact-Finding Report agreed upon. 

It is so ordered. 

ZIMPHER, Chair, SCHMIDT, Vice Chair, and BRUNDIGE, Board Member, 
concur. 
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TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

Any party that desires to appeal the order of the State Employment Relations 
Board shall file a Notice of Appeal with the State Employment Relations Board at 65 
East State Street, 1 ih Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4213, setting forth the order 
appealed from and the grounds of the party's appeal. A copy of such Notice of Appeal 
shall also be filed with the Court of Common Pleas of Franklin County, Ohio. The 
aforementioned Notices of Appeal shall be filed within fifteen (15) calendar days after 
the mailing of the State Employment Relations Board's order, as provided in Section 
119.12 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this document was served upon each party by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, and upon each party's representative by ordinary mail, 
on this Ql Qfh.-. day of February, 2014. 

ERIN E. CONN, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN 
SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF 
EDUCATION, 

Employer, 

and 

SERVICE EMPLOYEES 
INTERNATIONAL UNION, 
DISTRICT 1199, AFL-CIO, 

Employee Organization. 

CASE NO. 2013-MED-01-0024 

INQUIRY REPORT AND 
RECOMMENDATION 

INTRODUCTION 

This case comes before the State Employment Relations Board ("the Board" or 
"SERB") upon Cleveland Metropolitan School District Board of Education's ("Employer" 
or "CMSD") "Motion to Deem Fact Finder's Recommendation Agreed Upon; Invalidate 
the Vote of SEIU District 1199, and Other Appropriate Relief." On December 13, 2013, 
the Board directed this matter to an inquiry based upon the allegations contained in the 
Employer's motion, specifically, whether Service Employees International Union, District 
1199, AFL-CIO ("Employee Organization" or "SEIU District 1199" or "Union") conducted 
a proper election in November 2013 for its CMSD bargaining-unit members to vote on a 
fact-finding report. 

The inquiry was held before SERB's staff attorney on January 14, 2014, at which 
time testimonial and documentary evidence was presented. Prior to the presentation of 
evidence, the parties' pending motions were addressed as follows: (1) SEIU District 
1199's motion to bifurcate the hearing and motion requesting SERB produce a witness 
to testify were denied and (2) CMSD's motion to supplement the record and request an 
additional issue be added to the notice of inquiry was granted, in part. It is noted that the 
request for an additional item regarding the union's election procedures was not 
necessary in view of SERB's December 16, 2013 Notice of Inquiry Date/Procedural 
Order, which set forth all relevant issues and included a detailed request for information 
from SEIU District 1199 regarding its election procedures and tally of votes. It is further 
noted that SEIU District 1199 provided the information requested and a proper 
foundation was laid for its admission into evidence. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The parties entered into a collective bargaining agreement effective July 1, 201 O 
through June 30, 2013. The agreement did not contain an alternative dispute 
settlement procedure ("MAD"). 

2. On January 10, 2013, CMSD filed a Notice to Negotiate pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code ("O.R.C.") § 4117.14 and Ohio Administrative Code ("O.A.C.") 
Rule 4117-9-02. CMSD properly served SEIU District 1199 with the Notice to 
Negotiate. 

3. Although the parties participated in a number of bargaining sessions for a 
successor agreement, they were unable to resolve all of their issues. Rather than 
request a fact-finding panel from SERB, the parties agreed to appoint Fact Finder 
Nels E. Nelson to conduct the fact-finding. Nels E. Nelson is a SERB neutral and 
appears on SERB's Roster of Neutrals, pursuant to O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-01. The 
parties notified Mr. Nelson of his appointment in July 2013. Mr. Nelson conducted 
a fact-finding hearing and mediation sessions with the parties in September and 
October 2013. 

4. On October 31, 2013, Mr. Nelson issued his Fact-Finding Report, in accordance 
with 0.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(L). 0.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(M) provides a seven-day 
period for the parties to conduct an election to vote to accept or reject the fact
finding report. The seven-day period began November 1, 2013, and ended 
November 7, 2013. CMSD's election for the fact-finding report took place on 
November 6, 2013, at the scheduled CMSD School Board meeting. SEIU District 
1199's fact-finding election took place on November 4, 5, 6, and 7, 2013. 

5. On November 7, 2013, CMSD timely filed its certification of fact-finding vote, 
wherein it accepted the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report within twenty-four 
hours after the vote count, in accordance with O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(M). On 
November 8, 2013, SEIU District 1199 timely filed its certification of fact-finding 
vote, wherein it rejected the report within twenty-four hours after the expiration of 
the seven-day voting period, in accordance with O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(M). 

6. On November 18, 2013, CMSD filed its "Motion to Deem Fact Finder's 
Recommendation Agreed Upon; Invalidate the Vote of SEIU District 1199, and 
Other Appropriate Relief." On November 27, 2013, SEIU District 1199 filed a 
response opposing CMSD's motion. 

7. On December 12, 2013, pursuant to its powers under O.R.C. § 4117.14 and 
O.A.C. Rule 4117-1-01, SERB directed this matter to an inquiry based upon the 
allegations contained in CMSD's November 18, 2013 motion. 
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8. At the inquiry, both CMSD and SEIU District 1199 admitted that their 2010-2013 
collective bargaining agreement did not contain a MAD. The parties further 
admitted that they did not have a written MAD governing the fact-finding process 
during their 2013 negotiations for a successor agreement. 

9. SEIU District 1199 called Joshua D. Norris as a witness. Mr. Norris has been 
employed by SEIU District 1199 for approximately six and one-half years, and he 
has held the position of Public Division Director for the past two and one-half 
years. Mr. Norris' previous positions with SEIU District 1199 include 
Administrative Organizer, State Team Organizer, and Public Division 
Coordinator. As Public Division Director, Mr. Norris is responsible for overseeing 
all public employee units represented by SEIU District 1199. His duties include 
overseeing all contract negotiations, including fact-findings. Mr. Norris has 
participated in both statutory fact-findings and fact-findings conducted pursuant 
to a MAD. Mr. Norris has a staff of nine organizers and one coordinator. 

10. Mr. Norris was updated regularly on the parties' 2013 contract negotiations and 
was directly involved in the ratification process following the issuance of Fact 
Finder Nels E. Nelson's Fact-Finding Report on October 31, 2013. 

11. Upon issuance of the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report, SEIU District 1199 
notified both full dues paying CSMD bargaining-unit members and fair share fee 
bargaining-unit members of the recommendations contained in the fact-finding 
report and the date of the fact-finding vote. Full dues paying members have more 
rights than fair share fee members. One such right afforded full dues paying 
members and not fair share fee members is the right to vote on union matters, 
including but not limited to, union bylaws and fact-finding reports. Fair share fee 
members may become eligible to vote immediately upon completing a union 
membership application. 

12. Nicholas Speelman manages SEIU District 1199's database of members. At the 
inquiry, Mr. Speelman provided the lists for the CMSD bargaining unit's election 
on the fact-finding report. In managing the database, Mr. Speelman established 
that there were 570 active members at the time of the November 2013 fact
finding election. Mr. Speelman explained that the union's membership list is 
updated on a regular basis due to frequent changes in the composition of the 
membership. (SEIU District 1199 Exhibits 8, 13, 15, and 16) 

13. In order to meet the three-fifths vote of its total membership to reject the October 
31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report, as required by O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a), SEIU 
District 1199 needed 342 vote-eligible members of the CMSD bargaining unit to 
vote in the November 2013 election. 
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14.At the inquiry, SEIU District 1199 submitted a copy of its election notice for the 
vote on the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report. This notice was distributed to 
CMSD bargaining-unit members on October 31, 2013 via CMSD's email system 
and, on November 1, 2013, via CMSD's interoffice mail. The notice was sent to 
both full dues paying members and fair share fee members. Although the notice 
indicated that there were 774 full dues paying members as of October 31, 2013, 
that number erroneously included fair share fee members. SEIU District 1199's 
database manager, Nicholas Speelman, established that the correct number of 
full dues paying members who were eligible to vote at that time was 570. (SEIU 
District 1199 Exhibits 2, 3, and 13) 

15.SEIU District 1199's October 31, 2013 election notice for the CMSD bargaining 
unit's fact-finding vote, reads, in relevant part: 

*** 
SEIU District 1199 CMSD Chapter vote will take place on 
WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2013. Voting will be held at the 
Union Hall, 1771 E. 301

h Street, Cleveland OH. Informational 
meetings and voting will be held as follows: 

11 :00 am - 12:00 pm, 3:30 pm - 4:30 pm, and 5:15 pm - 6:15 pm 

Voting will only take place during these times. You must be a 
full dues paying member in order to cast a vote. If you are a fair 
share fee member, you will be given the opportunity to complete a 
Membership Application and cast a vote. You must be present to 
cast a vote. There will be no voting by proxy. 

It is imperative that all SEIU District 1199 CMSD Chapter 
members attend these meetings and cast their vote. The outcome 
of the vote will determine whether or not the Fact Finder's 
Recommendation is accepted or rejected by the SEIU District 
1199 CMSD Chapter members. In order for the Fact Finder's 
Recommendation to be rejected, 3/5 of the SEIU District 1199 
CMSD Chapter full-dues paying members must reject the 
report .... 

16. In addition to the November 6, 2013 in-person vote, SEIU District 1199 provided 
CMSD bargaining-unit members with the option to vote electronically. 

17.Josh Harris is the IT Data Coordinator for SEIU District 1199. Mr. Harris 
administered the electronic voting for CMSD bargaining-unit members through 
the online survey site "www.surveymonkey.com." At the inquiry, Mr. Harris 
described the online process and noted the settings on the survey that were 
established to preserve the secrecy of the ballot and to prevent double voting. 
Mr. Harris identified copies of the vote tally reports he generated from the online 
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site for SEIU District 1199's Public Division Director, Josh Norris. These reports 
provided the names of the CMSD bargaining-unit members who voted and a tally 
of the number of "accepted" and "rejected" votes. The reports did not identify how 
a particular member voted. 

18.SEIU District 1199 Public Division Director Josh Norris identified copies of three 
email election notices sent by SEIU District 1199 to full dues paying CMSD 
bargaining-unit members, informing these members that they may vote either 
online via a designated email link or in person. (SEIU District 1199 Exhibit 4) The 
first notice regarding electronic voting was sent on November 4, 2013 at 6:43 
p.m. to 539 recipients; the second notice was sent on November 5, 2013 at 9:17 
a.m. to 47 recipients; and the third notice was sent on November 5, 2013 at 1:00 
p.m. to 391 recipients. The content of the notices reads, in relevant part: 

Members may vote online 11/4/2013 6:30pm until 11/6/2013 
9:00am ... 

19. IT Data Coordinator Josh Harris testified that he sent a report of the vote tally at 
the close of electronic voting on November 6, 2013 to SEIU District 1199 Public 
Division Director Josh Norris. The vote tally showed a total of 38 online votes (37 
rejected the report and 1 accepted). (SEIU District 1199 Exhibit 7) 

20. Marquis Frost is the Administrative Organizer for SEIU District 1199. Ms. Frost 
was responsible for conducting the November 6, 2013 in-person vote for the 
CMSD bargaining-unit members. At the inquiry, Ms. Frost testified that the in
person voting ended at 6:15 p.m .. at which time the votes were tallied. Ms. Frost 
confirmed that she sent the tally list with the total number of "accepted" and 
"rejected" votes to SEIU District 1199 in Columbus. The in-person tally revealed 
that 296 bargaining unit members voted (294 rejected the fact-finding report and 
2 accepted the report). The total number of vote-eligible members of the CMSD 
bargaining unit who voted at the close of voting on November 6, 2013 was 334 
(296 in-person and 38 online). (SEIU District 1199 Statement; Exhibits 7 and 8) 

21. Approximately fifteen hours after the votes were tallied on November 6, 2013 and 
sent to Josh Norris at SEIU District 1199 in Columbus, SEIU District 1199 
reopened electronic voting until 12:00 a.m. on November 7, 2013. SEIU District 
1199 sent four email election notices to CMSD bargaining-unit members who had 
not yet voted. These notices read, in relevant part: 

Our records indicate that you have not yet exercised your 
right to vote on this important decision regarding your future 
contract. The vote will remain open November 7, until 
midnight. You can vote by following the instructions below ... 
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22. The first of the November 7, 2013 email election notices was sent at 2:57 p.m. to 
170 recipients; the second was sent at 4:05 p.m. to 3 recipients; the third notice 
was sent at 4:32 p.m. to 2 recipients; and the fourth notice was sent at 5:01 p.m. 
to 155 recipients. At the close of voting at midnight on November 7, 2013, the 
total number of additional CMSD bargaining-unit members who voted 
electronically was 29. (SEIU District 1199 Exhibit 4) 

ISSUE 

The issue in this case, whether SEIU District 1199 properly rejected the October 
31, 2013 Fact Finding Report, raises two questions: (1) did the parties have a MAD or 
were they required to follow the statutory dispute settlement procedures established in 
O.R.C. § 4117.14 and O.A.C. Rules 4117-9-03 and 4117-9-05 and (2) was the election 
process established by SEIU District 1199 for its CMSD bargaining unit's fact-finding 
vote proper? 

DISCUSSION 

1. Notwithstanding the Parties' Assertions, the Parties Did Not Have a MAD, and, 
therefore, were Required to Follow the Statutory Dispute Settlement Procedures 
Established in O.R.C. § 4117.14 and O.A.C. Rules 4117-9-03 and 4117-9-05. 

O.R.C. § 4117.14 provides, in relevant part: 

(C) In the event the parties are unable to reach an agreement, they 
may submit, at any time prior to forty-five days before the expiration 
date of the collective bargaining agreement, the issues in dispute to 
any mutually agreed upon dispute settlement procedure which 
supersedes the procedures contained in this section. 

(1) The procedure may include: 

(a) Conventional arbitration of all unsettled issues; 

*** 

(f) Any other dispute settlement procedure mutually agreed to by 
the parties. 

*** 

(E) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the parties, 
at any time, from voluntarily agreeing to submit any or all of the 
issues in dispute to any other alternative dispute settlement 
procedure ... 

*** 
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O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-03(B) specifies the requirements for a MAD: 

A mutually agreed-upon dispute settlement procedure shall be filed 
via electronic mail with the board within five days of its execution. 
Where a mutually agreed-upon dispute settlement procedure is a 
provision in an existing collective bargaining agreement, a copy of 
the provision shall be filed with the notice to negotiate ... 

It is well established that a legally binding MAD under O.R.C. § 4117.14 must be 
a mutually agreed upon written agreement that is unambiguous on its face and has a 
point of conclusion. See In re Niles City of Bd of Ed, SERB 91-010 (11-8-91) (if parties 
adopt a MAD, "they have a responsibility to write one that lends itself to the possibility of 
resolution and one that has finality"); In re Weathersfield Local Bd of Ed, SERB 91-009 
(11-8-91) (a MAD is insufficient if it does not address the parties' situation); In re City of 
Cleveland, SERB 2008-004 (8-27-2008) (SERB will intervene where a MAD is faulty 
and inoperative), citing In re Weathersfield Local Bd of Ed. 

In this case, although the parties asserted that they had a MAD governing their 
November 2013 fact-finding, the evidence clearly establishes that they did not execute 
such an agreement under the requirements of O.R.C. § 4117.14. The parties admitted 
at the inquiry that their 2010-2013 collective bargaining agreement did not contain a 
MAD. The parties further admitted that they did not execute a written MAD. 

In its post-inquiry brief, SEIU District 1199 argues that SERB lacks subject matter 
jurisdiction to consider this matter. SEIU District 1199 contends that because the parties 
deviated from SERB's statutory fact-finding procedure, they created a MAD by 
operation of law. SEIU District 1199's argument is premised upon: (1) its statutory 
reading of O.R.C. § 4117.14 and O.A.C. Chapter 4117-9; (2) its method of selection of a 
fact finder and the actions of that fact finder; and (3) the alleged actions of SERB. SEIU 
District 1199's argument is not persuasive. 

SEIU District 1199 relies upon a select number of code provisions in O.R.C. § 
4117.14 and O.A.C. Chapter 4117-9 and SERB's fact-finding guidelines to support its 
argument. With regard to SERB's guidelines, it is important to note that all of these 
publications clearly state that the guidelines are not comprehensive and are not binding 
on SERB in its subsequent determination of procedural or substantive law. SERB's Fact 
Finding Hearing and Report Guidelines also states that the parties continue to be 
responsible for knowing all statutory and rule provisions governing the statutory dispute 
settlement procedure. With regard to the statutory and rule provisions, it is important to 
note that SEIU District 1199's select reading of the statutory provisions and 
administrative rules is misleading. O.R.C. § 4117.14 and 0.A.C. Chapter 4117-9 
provide a comprehensive and detailed dispute settlement procedure and these code 
provisions must be read in pari materia in order to properly apply the law. Such a 
reading reveals that a public employer and an employee organization serving as 
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exclusive representative under O.R.C. Chapter 4117 have only two options; they may 
follow the statutory dispute settlement procedures and administrative rules or execute a 
MAD that complies with the requirements in O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-03. Because the 
parties admitted that they failed to follow the applicable statutory procedures to create a 
MAD, their November 2013 fact finding is governed by the statutory dispute settlement 
procedures and the motion before the Board regarding SEIU District 1199's fact-finding 
election procedures is within SERB's exclusive jurisdiction to consider. See State ex rel. 
Cleveland v. Sutula, 127 Ohio St.3d 131, 2010-0hio-5039 ("The State Employment 
Relations Board has exclusive jurisdiction to decide matters committed to it pursuant to 
R.C. Chapter 4117"). 

Correspondingly, the parties' failure to follow the statutory procedures in their 
selection of a fact finder and the actions of that fact finder do not create a valid MAD 
under O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-03. Although Fact Finder Nels E. Nelson treated the parties' 
fact-finding as if they had a MAD and billed the parties more than is permitted by SERB 
in the case of statutory fact-finding procedures, it is noted that O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-03 
allows parties to mutually agree to establish a rate of pay in excess of the rate 
established by the Board without entering into a MAD. More importantly, neither Fact 
Finder Nelson's understanding of the parties' fact-finding process, nor the parties' 
understanding establishes a MAD under O.R.C. § 4117.14 and O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-03. 
In fact, the parties' divergent opinions regarding the specifics of their purported 
unwritten agreement exemplifies the reason for the requirements in O.A.C. Rule 4117-
9-03. See In re Niles, supra ("the Board cannot emphasize enough the importance of 
the parties own responsibility to draft a thoughtful and proper MAD"). Id. at 3-58. 

With respect to SERB's actions, SEIU District 1199 contends that it was not 
required to follow the statutory dispute settlement procedures for the parties' 2013 fact
finding due to allegedly inaccurate information it received from SERB regarding the 
union's obligations under O.R.C. § 4117.14 and due to SERB's failure to publish the 
employee organization's vote to reject the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report as 
required by O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a). SEIU District 1199's Public Division Director 
Joshua Norris testified that upon receiving the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report 
entitled "State Employment Relations Board Mutually Agreed Dispute Settlement 
Procedure Fact-Finding Report," he sought guidance from SERB regarding the union's 
obligations and purportedly received information that SERB does not intervene in a 
parties' fact finding if they have a MAD. 

Although the record indicates that SERB did not publish the union's vote rejecting 
the fact-finding report and may or may not have provided Mr. Norris with imprecise 
information regarding the applicable statutory requirements, this does not absolve 
SEIU District 1199 of its responsibility to ensure that the November 2013 fact-finding 
election procedures established for the CMSD bargaining unit were valid. This 
responsibility is particularly important in a situation where an employee organization, or 
an employer, contemplates implementing a process that is a significant departure from 
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specific and detailed statutory and administrative rules that govern the process. In 
considering the nature of this responsibility, it must be noted that the knowledge and 
experience of SEIU District 1199's Public Division Director cannot be overlooked. He 
testified that he is responsible for overseeing all public sector contract negotiations, 
including fact finding done as a result of a MAD or following the statutory process. If the 
Public Division Director was at all uncertain as to SEIU District 1199's legal obligations 
with respect to the CMSD fact-finding vote, he had the responsibility to seek advice 
from legal counsel before he made the decision to proceed with an election process 
that deviated considerably from the requirements set forth in O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05. 

Having determined that the parties did not have a MAD and therefore were 
required to follow the statutory dispute settlement procedures set forth in O.R.C. § 
4117.14 and O.A.C. Rules 4117-9-03 and 4117-9-05, the Board must review the 
election procedures established by SEIU District 1199 for the CMSD bargaining-unit 
members to vote on the October 31, 2013 Fact Finding Report. 

B. The Election Procedures Established by SEIU District 1199 for the Members of 
the CMSD Bargaining Unit to Vote on the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report 
were not in Compliance with the Statutory Dispute Settlement Procedures set 
forth in O.R.C. § 4117.14 and O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05. 

O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a) provides, in relevant part: 

Not later than seven days after the findings and 
recommendation are sent, the legislative body, by a three
fifths vote of its total membership, and in the case of the 
public employee organization, the membership, by a three
fifths vote of the total membership, may reject the 
recommendation; if nether rejects the recommendation, the 
recommendation shall be deemed agreed upon as the final 
resolution of the issues ... If either the legislative body or the 
public employee organization rejects the recommendations, 
the board shall publicize the findings of fact and 
recommendation of the fact-finding panel. The board shall 
adopt rules governing the procedures and methods for public 
employees to vote on the recommendations of the fact
finding panel. 

0.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(M) sets forth the procedures for the conduct of an 
election upon an employee organization's receipt of a fact-finding report. It reads, in 
relevant part: 

Immediately upon receipt, the exclusive representative shall 
make available, by posting or by other method reasonably 
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calculated to inform the members of the employee 
organization in the unit, the findings, recommendation, and 
summaries of the fact-finding panel together with a notice of 
the dates, times, and places where the employee 
organization's members in the unit may vote to approve or 
reject the recommendations of the fact finding panel. A 
secret ballot shall be conducted by the exclusive 
representative at the date, time, and places set forth in the 
notice .... Each member of the employee organization in the 
unit shall at the time and place of election be issued a ballot 
containing a choice of "approve" and a choice of "reject" the 
recommendations of the fact-finding panel. There shall be no 
voting by proxy. The ballots shall be tallied immediately upon 
conclusion of the election. 

In In re Miami University, SERB 86-030 (8-7-86), the Board noted that while an 
election of an employee organization on a fact-finding report is essentially an internal 
affair, "assuring the integrity of elections on fact-finding reports and protecting them 
from manipulation is one of SERB's responsibilities." In that case, the Board addressed 
a dispute between an employee organization and an employer regarding the employee 
organization's vote to reject a fact-finding report. The employee organization had tallied 
votes immediately upon the conclusion of the election and announced that they were 
one vote short of those needed for rejection. Subsequently, the employee organization 
allowed another officer, who had arrived five minutes late, to vote. In granting the 
employer's motion to deem the fact-finding report agreed upon, the Board found that 
the late vote was invalid because it jeopardized the safeguards established in O.A.C. 
Rule 4117-9-05. The Board noted that O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05 requires an employee 
organization to conduct a fact-finding election by secret ballot at the date, time, and 
places set forth in the election notice sent to its union members. Ballots must be tallied 
immediately upon the conclusion of the election, and once the ballots have been 
tallied, the election process is concluded and closed to further balloting. Id. at 306. 

In this case, the evidence establishes that SEIU District 1199 manipulated the 
CMSD bargaining unit's November 2013 fact-finding vote and failed to follow the 
election requirements set forth in O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05. First, it should be noted that 
O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05 does not provide for a combination of electronic voting and in
person voting that allows an employee organization to obtain vote tallies prior to the 
close of the voting period set forth in the employee organization's election notice. 
Second, O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05 does not provide for multiple election notices with 
different information regarding dates, times, and places of the election. The October 
31, 2013 election notice sent to SEIU District 1199's CMSD bargaining-unit members 
clearly stated that voting would only take place in-person on November 6, 2013 at the 
times and place specified in the notice. This election notice was sent to all CMSD 
bargaining-unit members via email on October 31, 2013, and via inter-office mail on 
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November 1, 2013. However, on November 4, 2013, SEIU District 1199 sent another 
election notice to full dues paying members of the CMSD bargaining unit that included 
the option to vote either in-person or online. The online voting period was from 6:30 
p.m. on November 4, 2013, until 9:00 a.m. on November 6, 2013. SEIU District 1199 
sent two additional election notices on November 5, 2013, indicating that the electronic 
voting option was available until 9:00 a.m. on November 6, 2013. 

In addition to sending CMSD bargaining-unit members varied election notices, 
SEIU District 1199 received tallies of the electronic vote and the in-person vote after 
the close of voting at 6:15 p.m. on November 6, 2013. The vote tally revealed that the 
CMSD bargaining-unit membership vote total was 334 (296 in-person and 38 online). 
The vote tally was eight votes short of the 342 total membership vote needed to reject 
the October 31, 2013 Fact-Finding Report. After receiving these tallies, SEIU District 
1199 sent another election notice to CMSD bargaining-unit members who had not yet 
voted. The November 7, 2013 election notice stated that the online vote would be open 
until 12:00 a.m. on November 7, 2013. SEIU District 1199 sent a total of four notices on 
November 7, 2013. The record shows that 29 CMSD bargaining-unit members voted 
electronically on November 7, 2013. The November 7, 2013 electronic vote added to 
the 334 vote tally from November 6, 2013 was sufficient to meet the three-fifths 
membership vote required by O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a). 

Although the evidence established that SEIU District 1199 failed to follow the 
safeguards established by 0.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05 and manipulated the CMSD 
bargaining unit's November 2013 fact-finding vote, the union argues in its post-inquiry 
brief that it fulfilled the requirements imposed upon a statutory fact-finding under 
O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6) and O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05(M). The evidence does not support 
SEIU District 1199's position in this regard. SEIU District 1199 created an election 
process not contemplated by the statutory dispute settlement procedures and used this 
process to manipulate the CMSD bargaining unit's vote to obtain the three-fifths 
membership vote required by the statute to reject the fact-finding report. As previously 
noted, SERB has the responsibility to assure the integrity of elections on fact-finding 
reports and protect them from manipulation. In re Miami, supra. Therefore, in order to 
protect the integrity of elections on fact-finding reports, the Board should find the SEIU 
District 1199 CMSD bargaining unit's November 2013 fact-finding vote invalid. 

CONCLUSION 

In conducting a combination of electronic voting and in-person voting, whereby 
the electronic voting was reopened after the ballots had been tallied at the conclusion 
of the voting period established in the October 31, 2013 election notice, SEIU District 
1199 violated the provisions of O.R.C. § 4117.14(C)(6)(a) and O.A.C. Rule 4117-9-05 
and manipulated the vote. Therefore, it is recommended that the Board grant CMSD's 
motion and find the November 2013 fact-finding vote of SEIU District 1199's CMSD 
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STATE OF OHIO 
BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMl;NT, RELAtTIONS BOARD 

In the Matter of 

International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 20, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

City of Hamilton, 

Employer. 

Case No. 2015-REP-01-0004 

ORDER GRANTING PETITION FOR CLARIFICATION OF BARGAINING UNIT 
(OPINION ATTACHED) 

Before Chair Zimpher and Vice Chair Schmidt: October 29, 2015. 

The International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 20 ("Employee 
Organization" or "Union") is the deemed-certified exclusive representative of a 
bargaining unit comprised of approximately 67 employees of the City of Hamilton 
("Employer" or City"). The City owns and operates its own municipal electric utility 
system. Electric generation, transmission, and distribution fall within its Department of 
Electric. 

On January 6, 2015, the Union filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 
seeking to clarify whether City employees working at the City's Meldahl Hydroelectric 
Power Plant in the job classification of Meldahl Plant Operator are members of the 
existing deemed-certified bargaining unit. On January 29, 2015, the Employer filed 
objections to the petition claiming that the State Employment Relations Board ("SERB" 
or "the Board") does not have jurisdiction over the employees at the Meldahl 
Hydroelectric Power Plant, as the plant is physically located in the state of Kentucky. 
Additionally, the Employer asserts that a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit is 
not the proper mechanism to address the bargaining-unit status of the employees in 
question. 

On April 16, 2015, SERB directed this case to a hearing to determine jurisdiction 
and the bargaining-unit status of the employees in question. On May 12, 2015, a 
procedural order was issued ordering the parties to submit stipulations of fact and legal 
briefs regarding whether SERB has jurisdiction to determine the bargaining-unit status 
of the employees working at the City's Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant in the job 
classification of Meldahl Plant Operator and, if so, whether the Board should clarify the 
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existing deemed-certified bargaining unit's description to include the job classification of 
Meldahl Plant Operator, thereby including these employees in the existing deemed
certified bargaining unit. The parties timely filed their stipulations of fact and briefs. 

On August 17, 2015, Administrative Law Judge Marcie M. Scholl (ALJ) issued a 
Recommended Determination, recommending the Board find that: (1) SERB has 
jurisdiction to consider the bargaining-unit status of the City employees assigned to the 
Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant located in the State of Kentucky; (2) a Petition for 
Clarification of Bargaining Unit filed pursuant to O.A.C. § 4117-5-01 (E)(2) is the proper 
mechanism to address the question of whether the Meldahl Plant Operator job 
classification is properly included in the existing bargaining unit; (3) the existing 
deemed-certified bargaining unit's description properly includes the job position/ 
classification of Meldahl Plant Operator and; (4) the employees in the Meldahl Plant 
Operator job classification working at the Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant should be 
included in the existing bargaining unit. 

On September 8, 2015, the Employer filed Exceptions to the Recommended 
Determination. On September 18, 2015, the Union filed its Response to Exceptions. 
Thereafter, the Board reviewed the record. 

After reviewing the Recommended Determination, exceptions, response to 
exceptions, the parties' stipulation of facts and legal briefs, and all other filings 
contained in the record, the Board adopts the reasoning set forth in the ALJ's 
Recommended Determination finding that SERB has jurisdiction to consider the 
bargaining unit status of the employees assigned to the City's Meldahl Hydroelectric 
Plant and that the existing deemed-certified bargaining unit description properly 
includes the job position/classification of Meldahl Plant Operator. Accordingly, the Board 
adopts and incorporates by reference the Findings of Fact, Analysis and Discussion, 
Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations set forth in the Recommended 
Determination; grants the Employee Organization's Petition for Clarification of 
Bargaining Unit; clarifies the existing deemed-certified bargaining unit's description to 
include the job position/classification of Meldahl Plant Operator; and includes the 
employees in the Meldahl Plant Operator job classification working at the Meldahl 
Hydroelectric Plant in the existing bargaining unit in accordance with 0.A.C. § 4117-5-
01. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

ZIMPHER, Chair; and SCHMIDT, Vice Chair, concur. 

.... 
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TIME AND METHOD TO PERFECT AN APPEAL 

This is a final appealable order. Any party that desires to appeal this order of the 
State Employment Relations Board shall file a Notice of Appeal setting forth the final 
order appealed from and the grounds of appeal with the Franklin County Court of 
Common Pleas within fifteen (15) days after the mailing of the State Employment 
Relations Board's order. The Notice of Appeal shall also be filed with the State 
Employment Relations Board, at 65 East State Street, 121

h Floor, Columbus, Ohio 
43215-4213, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 119.12. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

NE A PHELPS-WHI 
LABOR RELATIONS ADMINISTRATOR 
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BEFORE THE STATE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD 

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF 
OPERATING ENGINEERS, 
LOCAL20, 

Employee Organization, 

and 

CITY OF HAMILTON, 

Employer. 

CASE NO. 2015-REP-01-0004 

MARCIE M. SCHOLL 
Administrative Law Judge 

RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On January 6, 2015, the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 20 (Union), 
filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit under Ohio Administrative Code (0.A.C.) § 
4117-5-0l(E)(2),1 seeking to clarify if City of Hamilton (Employer) employees working at the 
Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant in the classification of Meldahl Plant Operator are members 
of the bargaining unit. On January 29, 2015, the Employer filed objections claiming the State 
Employment Relations Board (SERB) does not have jurisdiction over the employees at the 
Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant, as it is physically located in the state of Kentucky. 
Additionally, Employer asserts the Union should have filed a Petition for Amendment of 
Certification. On April 16, 2015, SERB directed this case to hearing to determine jurisdiction 
and the bargaining unit status of the employees in question. 

On May 12, 2015, a procedural order was issued ordering the submission of stipulations 
with regard to the facts of this case as well as briefs on the question of whether or not SERB has 
jurisdiction to determine the bargaining unit status of the employees in question and, if so, what 
that bargaining unit status should be. Both parties submitted stipulations and briefs by the June 
19, 2015 deadline. This appears to be a case of first impression before the Board. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Does SERB have jurisdiction to determine the bargaining unit status of the employees assigned 
to the Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant? 

2. Is a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit the proper mechanism to address the bargaining 
unit status of the employees at the Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant? 

3. Are the employees assigned to the Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant in the classification of 
Meldahl Plant Operator part of the existing bargaining unit? 

1 All references to statutes are to the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 4117 and all references to administrative code 
rules are 10 the Ohio Administrative Code, Chapter 4117. 
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IIL SPITULATIONS OF THE PARTIES 

I. The City of Hamilton is an Ohio municipal corporation, the county seat of ButJer County, and 
has an approximate population of 62,000. 

2. The International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 20 is the deemed-certified exclusive 
representative of a bargaining unit comprised of approximately 67 City employees. 

3. The City owns and operates its own municipal electric utility system. 

4. Electric generation, transmission, and distribution fall within its Department of Electric. 

5. In 2010, the City and American Municipal Power, Inc. obtained a license issued by the United 
States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") to develop a new, renewable energy 
hydroelectric generating facility called the Meldahl Hydroelectric Project ("Meldahl Project" or 
"Project"). 

6. The Meldahl Project is located on the southerly side of the Ohio River in Bracken County, 
Kentucky. The address of the Project is 9505 Mary Ingles Highway, Foster, Kentucky 41043. 

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT2 

I. The City is a "public employer" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 41I7.01 (B). (E. Br. p. 3) 

2. The IUOE is an "employee organization" within the meaning of O.R.C. § 4 I 17.0 l (D). (E. Br. p. 
3) 

3. IUOE bargaining unit members are "public employees" as defined by O.R.C. § 4117.0l(C). (E. 
Br.p.3) 

4. The City of Hamilton ("City") and the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement, 
which terminated on August 31, 2013. Despite negotiations for a successor agreement and 
participating in fact-finding, no new agreement was reached. Therefore, the parties are operating 
under the terms and conditions of the expired agreement. (Er. Br. p. l) 

2 References to the Employer's Exhibits in the record are indicated parenthetically by "Er. Ex.," followed by the 
exhibit letter. A reference to the Employer's Brief in the record is indicated by "Er. Br.," followed by the page 
number. References to the Employee's Attachments in the record are indicated parenthetically by "E. Attach.," 
followed by the attachment number. References to Employee's Brief in the record are indicated parenthetically by 
"E. Br.," followed by the page number. References to the exhibits and attachments in the Findings of Fact are for 
convenience only and do not suggest that such references are the sole suppo11 in the record for that related finding of 
fact. 
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5. Both prior and subsequent to becoming the deemed certified exclusive representative of a 
bargaining unit of public employees of the City of Hamilton, IUOE Local 20 bargaining unit 
members continuously have performed the duties of hydroelectric plant operators (under varying 
classification descriptions) for the City of Hamilton within its self-owned and operated municipal 
electric utility system. (E. Br. p. I) 

6. The duties of the Meldahl Plant Operators are, excepting perhaps the operation of more modern 
equipment, virtually identical to those of bargaining unit members classified as Plant Utility 
Worker, who have operated hydroelectric plants for the City in the State of Ohio for decades. (E. 
Br. p. 2) 

7. The City's electric generating facilities include the Third Street Power Plant (coal and natural 
gas) located in Hamilton, Ohio; the Ford Canal Hydroelectric Plant located adjacent to the Third 
Street Power Plant in Hamilton, Ohio; the Greenup Hydroelectric Power Plant located on the 
Ohio River in Franklin Furnace, Ohio; and most recently, the Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant 
located on the Ohio River in Foster, Kentucky. (E. Br. pp. 3-4) 

8. The Department of Electric includes several bargaining unit positions, including Plant Utility 
Worker and Hydroelectric Operator, both of which are identified in the parties' labor agreement. 
(E. Br. p. 4) 

9. The current Plant Utility Worker classification is derived from 2 former classifications: 
Hydro[ electric] Operator, and Auto[matic] Equipment Operator I. (E. Br. p. 4) 

I 0. On or about May 31, 1979, the duties of those 2 former classifications were merged into a single 
classification of Power Plant Utility Worker. (E. Br. p. 4) 

11. The Power Plant Utility Worker Classification is reflected in the City's 1983 Classification and 
Compensation Plan. (E. Br. p. 4) 

12. At the time Local 20 was deemed certified, the classification of Power Plant Utility Worker 
(comprised in part of the duties of the former classification of Hydro[ electric] Operator) was and 
remained in the bargaining unit. (E. Br. p. 4) 

13. The current classification of Plant Utility Worker constitutes the formerly titled Power Plant 
Utility Worker classification. (E. Br. p. 4) 

14. Plant Utility Workers are employed at the City's Third Street Power Plant and adjacent Ford 
Canal Hydroelectric Plant. Their duties include the operation, inspection, maintenance, 
monitoring, and recording of the various systems comprising the Ford Canal Hydroelectric Plant, 
and those duties have and continue to be performed by IUOE Local 20 bargaining unit members. 
(E. Br. pp. 4-5) 

15. The City acquired the Greenup Hydroelectric Plant in or about 1988. At the time of acquisition, 
the City and Local 20 executed a Memorandum of Agreement recognizing hydroelectric 
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operators at the Greenup Hydroelectric Plant as included in the bargaining unit, and amended 
their collective bargaining agreement accordingly. The classification of Hydroelectric Operator 
was established. The duties of Hydroelectric Operators (Greenup) were and continue to be 
performed by IUOE Local 20 bargaining unit members. (E. Br. p. 5) 

16. The City established a classified service description for the position of Meldahl Plant Operator. 
In 2014, the City filled 8 vacancies in the Meldahl Plant Operator classification; 2 vacancies 
were filled by the transfer of Hydroelectric Operators from the Greenup Hydroelectric Plant, and 
6 were filled with new hires. Subsequently, 1 of the new hires transferred to the Greenup 
Hydroelectric Plant, but quit before assuming the position. Two vacancies currently exist in the 
Meldahl Plant Operator classification. (E. Br. p. 5) 

17. Meldahl Plant Operators are employed in the classified service of the City of Hamilton. They 
receive their paychecks from the City of Hamilton, and participate in OPERS. They are subject 
to the City's employment policies and procedures, and subject to the City's Civil Service 
Commission. The City already has acknowledged to the Board that it hires and employs the 
Meldahl Plant Operators. (E. Br. p. 6) 

18. Kentucky has no comparable Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act purporting to define 
"public employee" or "public employer." (E. Br. p. 10) 

I 9. Kentucky law requires all out-of-state employers performing work in Kentucky to carry a 
separate insurance policy through an approved carrier in accordance with Kentucky's Workers' 
Compensation Act. (E. Br. pp. 10-11) 

V. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

1. SERB Jurisdiction 

The first question presented is whether SERB has jurisdiction over employees assigned to 
the Meldahl Hydroelectric Power Plant since their work location is located outside of Ohio? 
Section 4 I 17.01 (B ), defines "public employer" in relevant part as: 

(B) "Public employer" means the state or any political subdivision of the state 
located entirely within the state, including, without limitation, any municipal 
corporation with a population of at least five thousand according to the most 
recent federal decennial census[.] . . . "Public employer" does not include the 
nonprofit corporation formed under section 187.01 of the Revised Code. 

There is no dispute as to whether or not the City is located entirely within the State of 
Ohio and that it has a population of approximately 62,000 residents. In this case, these two 
criteria are all that is required for the City to meet the definition of a public employer. 

Section 4117.01 (C) defines a "public employee" in pertinent part as: 
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(C) "Public employee" means any person holding a position by appointment or 
employment in the service of a public employer, including any person working 
pursuant to a contract between a public employer and a private employer and over 
whom the national labor relations board has declined jurisdiction on the basis that 
the involved employees are employees of a public employer[.] 

The employees in question are not under the jurisdiction of the NLRB nor do they meet 
any of the seventeen exceptions listed in § 4117.01 (C). The City proffers that because the 
employees are assigned to a work site in another state, they are outside the jurisdiction of SERB. 
Nowhere in the definition of "public employee" does it speak to any geographic limitations on an 
employee's work site. The Union points to State ex rel. Natalina Food Co. v. Ohio Civil Rights 
Com'n, 55 Ohio St.3d 98 (1990) as controlling in this case. The Ohio Civil Rights Commission 
(OCRC) had the authority to hear a claim of discrimination brought by an employee of an Ohio 
company that lived and worked in West Virginia. Id. at 100. The company, Natalina, was unable 
to cite any "statutory or constitutional authority that definitively prevents the OCRC from 
exercising jurisdiction over the claim of a nonresident employee who works outside Ohio for an 
Ohio employer." Id. Just as in Natalina, there is no statutory or constitutional authority 
preventing SERB from exercising jurisdiction over the employees at the Meldahl Hydroelectric 
Plant. 

The City points to § 4117 .02(J) as evidence the jurisdiction of SERB is limited to those 
assigned to work sites in the State of Ohio. This reading is to misunderstand the context of the 
statute. The statute is speaking to the physical office or meeting location of the Board and not the 
employees it has jurisdiction over. Section 4117.02(1) reads in full: 

(J) The principal office of the state employment relations board is in 
Columbus, but it may meet and exercise any or all of its powers at any other 
place within the state. The state employment relations board may, by one or 
more of its employees, or any agents or agencies it designates, conduct in any 
part of this state any proceeding, hearing, investigation, inquiry, or election 
necessary to the performance of its functions; provided, that no person so 
designated may later sit in determination of an appeal of the decision of that cause 
or matter. (emphasis added). 

Additionally, the City uses § 41 l7.02(K)(5) to attempt to show the Board does not have 
jurisdiction over the employees in the Meldahl Plant Operator classification. This reading also 
misunderstands the context of the statute. This section speaks to some of the many services 
SERB must provide. Collecting information relating to conditions of employment does not imply 
geographical limits. Simply because this section states "public employees throughout the state," 
it does not imply employees assigned to work sites outside of the State of Ohio are excluded. 
Section 4117.02(K)(5) reads in full: 

(K) In addition to the powers and functions provided in other sections of this 
chapter, the state employment relations board shall do all of the following: 
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(5) Make studies and analyses of, and act as a clearinghouse of infonnation 
relating to, conditions of employment of public employees throughout the state 
and request assistance, services, and data from any public employee organization, 
public employer, or governmental unit Public employee organizations, public 
employers, and governmental units shall provide such assistance, services, and 
data as will enable the state employment relations board to carry out its functions 
and powers. 

In its brief, the City points to the requirement it must comply with the laws of Kentucky. 
This requirement imposed by Kentucky, on out of state employers does not excuse the City from 
also complying with applicable Ohio law. In referencing the City's requirement to comply with 
the Kentucky Worker's Compensation Act and carry workers' compensation insurance on their 
employees in Kentucky, it fails to disclose those employees have the ability to file a claim under 
the City's Ohio policy or the Kentucky policy. "Revised Code Section 4123.54 states: 'If any 
employee ... [is] awarded workers' compensation benefits ... under the laws of another state, the 
amount awarded ... , whether paid or to be paid in future installments, shall be credited on the 
amount of any award of compensation or benefits made to the employee ... by the bureau.' 
Turner v. Admr., 2003-0hio-2405, Cf 16 (2nd Dist Miami). There is no conflicting Kentucky law 
with the Ohio Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act Even if such a law existed, the 
employees are under the control of the City and thus the jurisdiction of SERB. 

The City points to language the Union wanted in the successor CBA as evidence the 
Union recognized SERB's lack of jurisdiction over the employees working at Meldahl. However, 
the proposed language states in part, " ... should the Employer decide to retain current non-unit 
staff in such new facility ... " It is not contested the City acquired a new facility; the new facility 
did not come with employees. The City hired six new employees and transferred two from the 
Greenup Hydroelectric Plant. Even if this language survived in the CBA, it would not apply to 
the current situation. 

Meldahl Plant Operators are employed in the classified service of the City, receive their 
paychecks from the City, and contribute to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System. 
Additionally, the City hires the employees, subject to the employment policies and procedures of 
the City, and subject to the City's Civil Service Commission. The Hydroelectric Operator, Plant 
Utility Worker, and Meldahl Plant Operator classification descriptions, all report to a supervisor. 
All of this evidence taken together leans heavily in the direction of the City having exclusive 
"right to control" over the tenns and conditions of the employees work. 

The Supreme Court of Ohio in City of Hamilton v. SERB, 10 OS(3d) 210, 1994 SERB 4-
60 (1994) stated "[w]hether one is an independent contractor or in service depends upon the facts 
of each case. The principal test applied to detennine the character of the arrangement is that if 
the employer reserves the right to control the manner or means of doing the work, the relation 
created is that of master and servant, while if the manner or means of doing the work or job is 
left to one who is responsible to the employer only for the result, an independent contractor 
relationship is thereby created. See, also, Natl. Tran.sp. Serv., Inc. (1979), 240 N.L.R.B. 565, 
where it was stated that under the National Labor Relations Act the 'right to control' test 
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contemplates 'whether the employer has sufficient control over the employment conditions of its 
employees to enable it to bargain with a labor organization as their representative.' Id. at 565" 

The jurisdiction of SERB over matters arising out of § 4117 is well established. "The 
State Employment Relations Board has exclusive jurisdiction to decide matters committed to it 
under RC Ch 4117[.J" The State ex rel. Fratenuil Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. 
Court of Common Pleas of Franklin County et al., 1996 WL 34403630, at *1. "General 
Assembly has entrusted State Employment Relations Board (SERB) with responsibility of 
administering Ohio Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act and has bestowed upon it the 
special function of applying the statute's provisions to the complexities of Ohio's industrial life; 
in so doing, it has delegated to SERB the authority to make certain policy decisions, and judicial 
review is limited to whether SERB's policy is unreasonable or in conflict with the explicit 
language." Union of State, Cty. & Mun. Workers of Ohio v. Ohio Council 8, AFSCME, AFL
CIO, Local 1746, 136 Ohio App.3d 147, 736 N.E.2d 55 (10th Dist.1999). 

There are no statutory or constitutional exclusions of public employees employed by an 
Ohio public employer, but assigned to a work site in another state. Even though the employer 
must comply with some laws of Kentucky, it is not exempt from Ohio laws that may or may not 
overlap with Kentucky law. Using the "right to control" test, the employees working at the 
Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant are exclusively under the control of the City. Therefore, SERB has 
jurisdiction over the Meldahl Plant Operators. 

2. Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 

The second issue to be addressed is whether the Petition for Clarification of Bargaining 
Unit is the proper mechanism for deciding if employees assigned to the Meldahl Hydroelectric 
Power Plant in the classification of Meldahl Plant Operator are members of the bargaining unit. 
The City contends the Union improperly filed a Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 
when it should have filed a Petition for Amendment of Certification. 0.A.C. § 4117-5-
0l(E)(1)(2) defines the differences between a Petition for Amendment of Certification and a 
Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit 0.A.C. § 4417-5-0l(F) speaks to limitations on a 
Petition for Amendment of Certification submitted by a deemed certified bargaining unit. 0.A.C. 
§ 4417-5-0l(G) states that the number of employees being added to a bargaining unit by a 
Petition for Amendment of Certification must be substantially smaller than the number of 
employees in the existing unit 

(E) In the absence of a question of majority representation, a petition for 
clarification of an existing bargaining unit or a petition for amendment of 
certification may be filed by the exclusive representative or by the employer. The 
purposes of such petitions are: 

(l) For amendment of certification, to alter the composition of the unit by adding, 
deleting, or changing terminology in the unit description; 
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(2) For clarification of a unit, to determine whether a particular employee or 
group of employees is included or excluded from the unit based upon the 
existing unit description and the duties of the employees in question. 
(emphasis added). 

(F) For a unit that is deemed certified pursuant to division (A) of section 4 of 
Amended Substitute Senate Bill 133 of the I 15th General Assembly, a petition 
for unit clarification or amendment may be rded at any time. Unless a petition 
for amendment of such a unit is submitted by mutual request, the board will not 
consider amendment unless the petition is filed by the deemed-certified employee 
organization and is not opposed by the employer. (emphasis added). 

(G) When a petition to amend certification seeks the addition of a group of 
employees to the existing unit, such addition may be permitted only if the number 
of employees to be added is substantially smaUer than the number of employees 
in the existing unit. 

It is of no smaH consequence the job duties of aU three of these classifications are 
substantially similar. 0.A.C. § 41 l.17-5-0l(E)(2) hinges on whether or not a particular 
employee, or in this case, group of employees, is included or excluded from the unit on the 
existing unit description and the duties of the employees in question. See, In re Ohio State 
Troopers Assn, SERB 2000-003 (3-27-00). SERB has '1urisdiction to consider petitions to 
clarify a 'deemed certified' bargaining unit; this jurisdiction is exclusive." Ohio Council 8 v. 
State Emp. Relations Bd., 9th Dist Summit No. 18829, 1998 WL 668265, *4 (Sept 30, 1998) 
sub nom. Ohio Council 8, Am. Fedn. of State, Cty. & Mun. Emp., AFL-CIO v. State Emp. 
Relations Bd., 88 Ohio St.3d 460, 2000-0hio-370, 727 N.E.2d 912 (2000). 

SERB held clarification of a bargaining unit "is basically a ruling by SERB that a 
position is covered by the existing unit description's wording. Clarification may involve a 
change in the membership of the unit, not a change in the nature or description of the work. In 
other words, an employee may be added by 'clarification' into the unit if her duties are similar to 
the duties of the employees already in the unit." In re Greene County Career Center Classified 
Employees Assn, SERB 2006-006 (6-28-06). See, also In re Pickaway Cty. Human Servs. Dept., 
SERB No. 95-015 (Sept. 29, 1995). Based on the comparison of the three job classifications in 
question, no change to bargaining unit duties or responsibilities will occur. There is strong 
support for this as evidenced by the City transferring two current bargaining unit members to the 
Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant The City contends that since the current agreement under Article I, 
Section I, does not list the Meldahl Plant Operator classification, SERB should exclude it. More 
compelling is the group of positions specifically excluded. The current agreement "excludes all 
office employees, electricians, supervisors and others having the power or authority to hire, fire 
or impose discipline or effectively to recommend such action." The Meldahl Plant Operator 
classification duties and responsibilities do not fall within any of the specifically excluded 
groups listed. 
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Clarification will change the names on the roster of the bargaining-unit, but the work is 
substantially similar to those employees already covered by the collective bargaining agreement. 
There are no new job classifications with dissimilar duties from those already in existence 
attempting to be injected into the existing bargaining unit. "As used in OAC 4 117-5-01 and 
OAC 4117-5-02, 'amendment' of the certification of a bargaining unit is a 'redesigning' with 
new bounds for membership; 'clarification' of a unit, on the other hand, involves a factual 
inquiry as to 'whether a particular job description brought the job within or outside the 
boundaries of an included or excluded job category.'" In re University of Cincinnati (University 
Hospital), SERB 85-022 (5-24-85). 

The City is concerned the addition of those in the Meldahl Plant Operator classification 
will upset the status quo of the unit. However, by adding names of employees, two of which are 
already members of the bargaining unit and perf onning substantially similar duties, SERB is not 
interfering with the status quo. "When bargaining units are amended, there is greater potential for 
interference with the status quo of the unit than when a unit is clarified [.] * * * [UJnit 
clarification does not alter the status quo, but rather maintains it." Univ. of Toledo v. Ohio State 
Emp. Relations Bd., 2012-0hio-2364, 971 N.E.2d 448, 456, 'J[ 29 (10th Dist.). (quoting In re 
Ohio Council 8, AFSCME, SERB No. 95-021 (Dec. 29, 1995)). The issue of the Union having 
deemed-certified status is moot. Since the inclusion of the Meldahl Plant Operator class will not 
alter the status quo or the content of the work being performed by employees in the bargaining 
unit, the petition for clarification is proper. 

3. Meldahl Plant Operator Representation 

The third question to address is whether the employees assigned to the Meldahl 
Hydroelectric Power Plant in the position of Meldahl Plant Operator are part of the existing 
bargaining unit. This case involves the classifications of Meldahl Plant Operator, Hydroelectric 
Operator, and Plant Utility Worker. Plant Utility Workers operate the Ford Canal Hydroelectric 
Plant, Hydroelectric Operators are assigned to the Greenup Hydroelectric Plant, and Meldahl 
Plant Operators are assigned to the Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant. Having completed an in depth 
assessment of the job duties performed by these three classifications, it is not difficult to see they 
are substantially similar. The differences exist merely in class title, the order in which duties are 
arranged, and the verbiage used. Additionally, two current bargaining unit members in the class 
of Hydroelectric Operators from the Greenup Hydroelectric Plant transferred to fill two of the 
original vacancies at the Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant. 

While the title listed on the classification descriptions are different, the duties are 
essentially the same. The City asserts that the duties amongst the three classifications are 
"distinctly different," but offers no evidence as to how they substantially differ. 'The burden of 
establishing an exclusion from a bargaining unit under§ 4117.01 rests upon the party seeking it." 
In re State Employment Relations Board, Complainant Fulton County Engineer, Respondent, 
1996 WL 34403588, at *17. 

In Toledo, as in this case, the Union is asking SERB to look at the duties and 
responsibilities of the classification in question. Univ. of Toledo v. Ohio State Emp. Relations 
Bd., 2012-0hio-2364, 971 N.E.2d 448, 457, CJ[ 33 (10th Dist.). The College of Nursing faculty 
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members in Toledo fell within tenured and tenure-track faculty. Id . .. AAUP-UT's petition for 
clarification, filed pursuant to Ohio Adm. Code 4117-5-0l(E)(2), did not seek to alter or amend 
the description of the bargaining unit by adding or deleting an entire job classification. Rather, 
the petition asked SERB to determine whether the duties and responsibilities of the College 
of Nursing faculty members fell within the bargaining unit's existing description of 
occupations and therefore should be included within the unit. SERB's clarification that the 
College of Nursing faculty members belonged within the unit thus was not a determination 
regarding bargaining unit appropriateness under R.C. 4117.06(A), but a determination that the 
appropriate bargaining unit. comprised of tenured and tenure-track faculty members, included 
the College of Nursing faculty members." Id. (emphasis added). While Meldahl Plant Operator is 
not specifically listed in the collective bargaining agreement. it is consistent with the holding in 
Toledo they be allowed to join the existing bargaining unit based on duties and responsibilities. 
By adding the Meldahl Plant Operator classification to the bargaining unit, SERB is not adding 
an entire job classification. The difference between Meldahl Plant Operator and those 
classifications already in the bargaining unit are in name only. The duties and responsibilities 
remain the same, regardless of the class title. Based on the findings of fact, the City failed to 
meet its burden establishing why the Meldahl Plant Operator classification should be excluded 
from the existing bargaining unit 

VI. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. SERB has jurisdiction over City of Hamilton employees in the Meldahl Plant Operator 
classification working at the Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant in the State of Kentucky under § 
4117. 

2. A Petition for Clarification of Bargaining Unit is the proper mechanism to address the 
question of whether employees in the Meldahl Plant Operator classification working at the 
Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant can be included in the existing bargaining unit in accordance 
with O.A.C. § 4117-5-0l(E)(2). 

3. Employees in the Meldahl Plant Operator classification working at the Meldahl 
Hydroelectric Plant should be included in the existing bargaining unit in accordance with 
0.A.C. § 4117-5-0l(E)(2). 

VII. RECOMMENPATIONS 

It is respectfully recommended that: 

l. The State Employment Relations Board adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 
set forth above. 

2. The State Employment Relations Board admit those employees in the Meldahl Plant 
Operator classification working at the Meldahl Hydroelectric Plant into the existing 
bargaining unit in accordance with O.A.C. § 4117-5-0 I (E)(2). 
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